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PREFACE.

The history of Camberland County comprised in the present volume has been compiled according to

the following plan

:

I. A Greneral History of the County,

n, A history of the City of Portland.

III. A history of each of the towns of the county.

IV. Bi(^raphical Sketches, with portraits, on steel, wood, and stone, of men of more or less prominence

in different parts of the county, arranged according to their respective towns, or in connection with the

histories of those interests with which the subjects have been most intimately identified in their business or

professions.

The advantages of ijiiv arrangement, we think, are obvious. While it furnishes to each town its

appropriate history, much more economically than could be afforded in separate volumes, it also gives the

publisher a larger territory in which to dispose of his work, and in that degree enables him to add to its

excellence and value. It also conduces to a more orderly and systematic classification of the materials

which make up the volume. It is common to include in town histories a great deal of matter that is of a

general character, or common to all the towns, and such matter is usually repeated in each separate history

of a town. But in the plan of the present work these repetitions are entirely avoided by placing all the

matter of a general character in the general history, and only that which is strictly local in the town

histories.

The plan of the work is such as is deemed, upon the whole, best adapted to the orderly classification

of the large amount of matter which such a county must necessarily furnish,—a county whose settlement

dates back two hundred and fifty years, and whose varied resources and interests have been developed by

a people remarkable for their intelligence, thrift, and enterprise. It would be strange if such a people,

during a period of two and a half centuries, in many respects the most eventful of modern times, had not

made history enough to fill one volume, however large, to say nothing of the doings of their savage

predecessors, or of the voyages of discovery and efforts at colonization which prepared the way for tl>eir

advent to tliese shores.

In this preparatory history Maine evidently took the lead, being the first to plant tiie standard of

civilization on the New England coast. This is true, whether we consider the French or the early Euglisli

settlements. Maine was the beginning, and not the outgrowth of an older colony : the early promoters of

settlements on her shores—the Pophams, the Gilberts, and the Gorges—were, in truth, the fathers of New

England colonization. Sir Ferdinando Grorges and his associates pro(!ured the first New England charter

in 1606, and the second in 1620; and Gorges was active in the mean time in promoting settlements upon

the coast of Maine, at least a dozen years before the landing of the Pilgrims at Plymouth. He was among

the first to persuade the Pilgrims to leave Holland, and procured for them their final charter, upon which

all the legal titles of the " Old Colo«y" are based.
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PREFACE.

But this history belongs to the State rather than to a single county : in the present work the writer haa

attempted only such an outline of the early discoveries and settlements in jVIaine as seemed necessary to

fairly connect the subject with his local history. This ia given in two or three of the preliminary chapters.

It is unnecessary here to enumerate the authors consulted in the present volume, as thev are generally

referred to in the foot-notes or in the text of the work. Much is due, however, to the labors of our prede-

cessors, especially to those of the late Hon. 'William "Willis, LL.D., the liistorian of Portland, and a large

contributor to other historical collections, whose eminent and exhaustive labors have left little to be under-

taken in the way of original research within the limits of the subjects treated of by him. The most that

we have attempted in that direction has bera a thorough examination and comparison of the works of this

author with other sources of evidence and information, with a view to obtaining the most accurate facts of

history. To this we have added a large amount of original matter relating to the city of Portland, to the

towns, to several important chapters of the general history, and many biographical sketches of citizens.

The history contained in the present volume has been compiled with great care and labor, yet it has

been a pleasure to the writer. The citizens of the county, in nearly every locality, have manifested an in-

terest in the work, and many have freely and cheerfully aided in the collection of materials. Our thanks,

and those of the publishers, are due to Gen. J. Marshall Brown, of Portland, for valuable aid and sugges-

tions. Also to Hon. "W. W. Thomas, Sr., Hon. Nathan Clifford, Hon. Edward Fox, Hon. Lot Morrill,

Hon. Charles W. Groddard, "William E. Grould, Esq., Hon. Israel Washburn, Jr., Geoi^ E. B. Jackson,

Esq., Fabius M. Ray, Esq., Nathan Webb, Esq., Greu. Charles P. Mattocks, and others, of Portland; to Gren.

Joshua L. Chamberlain, of Brunswick ; and to Mr. S. M. Watson, librarian, by whose courtesy we have had

access to many books of reference in the city library, and to the valuable collections* of the Willis Room in

that institution.

In connection with the town histories, our thanks are also due to Hon. Warren H. "V^intoii, of Grav

;

Hon. N. S. Littk'field and Professor A. F. Richardson, of Bridgton ; Hon. Robert Euds, of Naples ; G.

Holden, Esq., of Otisfield; Capt. Augustus W. Corlis, of Yarmouth; James Bunks and Seth Bailey, E-iq.,

of Freeport; Col. Samuel True, of Cumberland; Capt. H. Hight, of Scarborough; Hon. William GooUl

and Thomas L. Smith, of Windham; Moses Plummer, of Pownal; Charles P. Haskell, Esq., and Rev.

Otis Sawyer, of New Gloucester; Hon. Horatio J. Swasey, of Standish; Hon. Frederick Robie and Hon.

John A. Waterman, of Gorham; Samuel Ingalls and Daniel T. Richardson, Esq., of Baldwin; Hon. Jesse

Plummer, of Raymond; Samuel S. Brown and Lyman W. Holden, of Casco.

Besides these many other gentlemen have aided us in procuring matter for our local histories of towns

and villages, whose names are too numerous to be mentioned in this connection. We are indebted to the

editors of the city and county press, to the 'clerk of the courts and his assistants, to many clergymen and

members of school boards and town clerks, who have courteously and freely rendered us assistauce in various

ways.

December 24, 1879.

w. w. c.
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HISTORY
OF

CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

BY W. W. CLAYTON.

CHAPTER I.

EAHIiT VOYAGES AND DiaOOVEBIES ON THE
COAST OF UAINE.

Discovery of Verrazano—Charts of New France—Norumbega

—

French Fort on the Penobscot—Expedition of De Monta—Voyages

and Charts of the Coast, by Champlain—French Settlement at St.

Croix,

Our local history may be properly iotrodaced by some

general remarks respectiug the early voyages and discoveries

on this coast. It was only six years after Columbus had

discovered the West India Islands that the Cabots (John

and Sebastian) sailed from England, and, making a voyage

to North America, passed along this coast, though nothing

definite is learned from them respecting it. Twenty-six

years later, in 1524, the coast of Maine was discovered by

Giovani da Ven-azano, an Italian navigator, who had been

sent on an exploring expedition by Francis I., king of

France. The name Norumbega, by which it was called by

the natives, was taken to France, and probably to Italy, by

this explorer, and soon found its way into the maps and

charts of those countries as a designation of the coast from

the Gulfof St. Lawrence to the semi-tropical regions towards

Florida. Thus, in the charts of Ramusio, the Italian geogra-

pher, prepared, as lie says, for students in Italy, in 1 556,

there is a chart of New France, in which the coast soutii-

westward from Nova Scotia appears under this ancient abo-

riginal name. The remarks accompanying this chart were

made by Crignon, the French geographer, who had accom-

panied the famous French captain, Parmentier, in his

voyage to America in 1529. He says, " Going beyond the

Cape of the Bretons, there is a country contiguous thereto,

the coast of which trends to the west a quarter southwest

to the country of Florida, and runs along for a good five

hundred leagues, which coast was discovered fifteen years

ago by Master Giovaui da Verrazano in the name of the

king of France and Madame la Regente ; and this country

is called by many ' La Francaes,' and even by the Portu-

guese themselves. Its end is towards Florida under 78°

west and 38° north. The inhabitants of this country are

a very pleasant, tractable, and peaceful people. The country

abounds with all sorts of fruits. There grow oranges, al-

monds, wild-grapes, and many other fruits of odoriferous

trees. The country is named by the natives 'Norumbega,'

• 2

and between it and Brazil is a great gulf in which are the

islands of the West Indies discovered by the Spaniards."*

This first name, applied by European geographers to the

coast of Maine, was afterwards used in a more restricted

sense. Thus we find Andre Thevit, the French navigator

who visited the Penobscot in 1556, applying it to that

river, probably because it was deemed, at that time, the

chief river, and therefore entitled to the general name of

the country. Describing his entrance into the Penobscot,

he says, " Here we entered a river which is one of the

finest in the world. We call it Norumbega. It is marked

on some charts as the Grand River. The natives call it

Agency. Upon its banks the French formerly erected a small

fort, about ten leagues from its mouth. It was called tlic

Fort of Norumbega, and was surrounded by fresh water."f

We learn from this that the French, at a very early day,

claimed the eastern part of the State of Maine ; that charts

had been made of its coasts and principal riversy and that

they had built a fort on the Penobscot, ten leagues above

its mouth, before tiie year 1556. Thirty-two years bufore

this Verrazano had taken pcssession of it in the name of

the king of France, and had formed some sort of a league

or treaty with the natives.

The maps of Ramusio, above referred to, were made

from the study of the original charts and reports of voy-

ages undertaken by the Spanish, Portuguese, and French

navigators. In his remarks accompanying the collection

he says he " had compiled these maps, such as they were,

not because he thought them perfect or complete, but be-

cause he wished to satisfy the desire of Italian students,

entertaining the hope that in some time to couie they would

be improved."!

The results of the voyages of Champlain along the coast

of Maine, in 1605-6, were embodied in a carefully-pre-

pared chart, and, in connection with a personal narrative of

his expeditions, published in Paris, in 1613. " It is alnio»t

incredible," says the author of a late paper read before the

Maine Historical Society, on the subject of these voyages,

" that, in the histories of the United States, New England,

and Maine, scarcely an allusion is made to this expedition

under Champlain. Bancroft devotes a few lines to the op-

* Maine Historical Collections, vol. i. p. 2.'51.

f Singularities of Antarctic France, otherwise called America.

X Maine Hist. Coll., vol. i. p. 227.
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erations of De Monts, under the dates of 1G05-6, but does

not mention Clianiplain's agency. Williamson, quoting

from Belknap, gives the same date. Folsom notes the

landing at Saco. Judge Godfrey gives a somewhat de-

tailed account of the discoveries in the Penobscot, but

erroneously makes the date 1605, and De Monts one of the

party. I'alfrey gives three pages to Gosnold, one to Pring,

and one to Weymouth, but dismisses the French discov-

eries in a few disparaging lines, emphasizing the fact of

their having landed at Cape Cod, but giving no account of

the detailed operations on the coast of Maine."*

Happily, the time has come when a truer history of

these events can bo written without any coloring from the

prejudices of nationality and religion ; and to this end the

valuable paper of the author above quoted furnishes an im-

portant contribution. We shall follow General Brown's

paper substantially in the remaining portion of this pre-

liminary chapter

:

" In 1603, Champlain sailed with Dn Pont-Grav6 and

explored the St. Lawrence. The following year he joined

the company of De Monts, not, as some historians assert,

the pilot of the expedition, but especially commissioned,

it would appear, by the king himself, a royal geographer,

ordered to make discoveries and prepare maps and charts,

and report directly to the crown. Three years he remained

here, faithfully carrying out, under circumstances of great

hardship and peril, the instructions he had received, and

the record he has left is a marvel of accuracy, patience, and

indomitable courage. The entire coast line of the Gulf of

Maine was reconnoitered and described, and charts made of

the principal harbors, which were, in 1613, published at

Paris under his own supervision.

" The expedition of De Monts was prepared with great

deliberation, and its composition arranged with thoughtful

reference to the needs and possibilities of the future colony.

The company numbered on its rolls soldiers inured to

foreign service, sailors who were familiar with American

waters, skilled mechanics, and gentlemen of rank.

" De Mouts was the first to leave France, sailing from

Havre de Grace on the 7th of April in a vessel commanded

by Captain Timoth^e ; with him were the Sieurs de Pout-

rincourt and Champlain, and other gentlemen. Three

days later, on the 10th, the other vessel, commanded by

Captain Morel, of Honfleur, with the Sieur de Pont-Grav6

and the rest of the company, sailed with stores to join De

Monts at Canccaa, which had been selected as the rendez-

vous.

" When at sea, however, De Monts changed his plans

and directed his course to a port fartlicr to the westward.

On the 1st of May he sighted Sable Island, on the 8th the

main land at Cape la Heve, and on the 10th made a harbor

at the present Liverpool, called by him ' Port Rossignol.'

On the 13th the paity disembarked at ' Port au Muuton,'

and proceeded to erect shelters, having determined to await

here the arrival of their consort, in search of whom a small

party was sent toward Canceau in a shallop with letters of

advice.

" Meanwhile, on the 19th of May, Champlain, aceom-

• Gen. John Marshall Brown, of Portland.

panied by the Sieur Ralleau, secretary of De Monts, and

ten men, left ' Port au Mouton' for the purpose of making

a reconnoissance of the coast. He rounded Cape Sable,

passed along the west coast of Nova Scotia, and penetrated

the Bay of Fundy to nearly the site of Annapolis, and then

returned to ' Port au Mouton' about the middle of June.

On the following day the company, now increased by the

arrival of the other vessel, abandoned their temporary

shelters. Following the course which Champlain had

previously taken, they diligently explored the south and

north shores of the Bay of Fundy, but without determining

upon the place for their settlement. Leaving the mouth

of the St. John River, and proceeding westward, they

landed first upon an island, which, from the great number

of birds resembling magpies {niargog), they named ' L'Isle

aux Margos' (the little cluster is now known as 'The

Wolves'). Farther to the westward could be seen other

blands, says Champlain, one of lai^e extent, called by the

natives ' Manthane,' a name which, under the disguise of

' Mcnan,' it .still bears.

" After leaving ' Isles aux Margos' they came to a river

in the main land, and passing by the present site of East-

port, they entered the broad expanse of Passamaquoddy

Bay. Ascending the river, they came to a point where

were two islands, on the larger of which the little colony

disembarked and began at once the necessary preparations

for their winter's residence. The narrative of Champlain

gives a simple but vivid picture of this diminutive settle-

ment of the ' Holy Cross,' so short-lived that its very site

was for more than a century unknown. It is now called

Neutral, or De Monts Island, and the river is fitly called

by the name which the ill-starred adventurers piously gave

to the firet organized attempt to plant a colony on the

shores of Maine.

" It is well known that the vexed question of the pre-

cise northeastern boundary of the United States was only

determined by the identification of this i>Iand, so that in

more senses than one the little spot has acquired a national

importance.

" On the last day of August De Poutrincourt was sent

back to France with Secretary Ralleau, the former to make

arrangements for his own adventure at Port Royal, the latter

to pat in order some of the affairs of the company. What
followed we give, as nearly as space will allow, in Cham-

plain's own words

:

"'After the departure of the ressel«,' be says, 'the Sieur de Monta
determined to Bend an expedition, without loss of time, along the

const of Noriunbetjne, and this he committed to my charge, which was

much to my liking. To this end I left St. Croix the 2d of Septem-

ber, 1604, with a pntuiche of seventeen or eighteen tons, twelve

Siiilors, nnd two savages as guides. This day we found the vessels of

the Sieur de Poutrincourt, which were anchored at the mouth of the

river on account of the bad weather, and from this spot we cuuld not

move until the fifth of the same month, and then when two or three

leagues at sea the fig came up so thick that we soon lost their ves-

sels from sight. Continuing our course along the coast we made this

day some twenty-five leagues and passed by a grcatquantity of islands,

shallows, and reefs, which e.\tend seawards in places more than four

leagues. We have named the islands " Leu iilet Itamjeei." . . . This

same day we pa8.«ed quite near an island which is some four or five

leagues long nnd were nearly lost on a little rock just under water

which made a small hole in our bark near the keel. . . . The island

is very high, and so oleft in places that at sea it appears as if seven
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or eight mountftina were rftnged side by side. ... I have named this

islnnd " L'ltle det ilmitii-deierla;" its latitude is 44i°. The next morn-

ing, 6th of September, we made two le:igues and perceived a smoke in

a creelt wliiub wa« at the fout of the mountains and saw two canoes

propelled by sarages, who came within mnsket shot to reconnoitre us.'

" At this point, which would appear to be on the southern

or southwestern shore of Mount Desert, Champlain appears

to have anchored for the night, for he says that on the fol-

lowing day, which was the 7th of September, the natives

returned, and after receiving presents in exchange for fisih

and game, consented to guide the adventurers to their own

home at Peimtegonet, where they said their chief Bmaliez

was.

" We quote again from Champlain :

*'
' I think that this rirer is the same called by several pilots and his-

torians Xontwbefjttef and which has been described by most of them

as brY)ad and spacious, with very many islands, with its entrance in

43^ to 43^° of latitude, or, according to others, in 44° more or \^ii

As for the longitude, I have never read or heard any one speak of it.

They say, also, there is a great city well peopled with savages, adroit

and skillful, and used to the manufacture of cotton. I am sure that

most of those who speak of these things have never sceu them and

derive their authority from men who know no more than them.^elves.

I am ready to believe that there are some who have seen the mouth

of the river (i.e., the bay), because there are a great many islands

there and it is in 44*^. But there is no appearance of any one's hav-

ing entered there, for tbey would have described it in quite another

fashion in order to rid many of the doubt. I shall, therefore, narrate

truly all that I have discovered and seen from the beginning aa far as

I have been.'

" Champlain then describes in great detail the physical

features of that wonderful portion of the coast called Penob-

scot Bay, which he makes extend from Mount Desert in

the cast to the promontory of liediiLedec on the west (the

present Owl's Head). Midway, and out at sea, he describes

that singularly picturesque island named byhim'Zt^ Haute,'

—a name it still bears. Fish of all kinds abound, and game,

which make the numerous islands a frequent resort for the

natives during the season. On the western shore are the

mountains of Bedaliedec (the Camden hills of the present

day), and everywhere are wooded islands, low-lying rocks,

and dangerous reefs. With the scrupulous care which char-

acterizes him everywhere, he gives the necessary directions

for entering the head-waters of the bay.

" ' Coming to the south,' he says, ' of the "/«/« Haute," and ranging

along the shore for a quarter of a league where are some rocks Juat

out of water, and then heading to the west until you open all the

islands which lie to the north of this island, and yon may be sure that

when you see the eight or nine summits of hie dee Monte-deeerte and

the heights of Bedabedec you are directly opposite the river ofNonim-

begite ; to enter, you mu^t head to the north towards the very high

mountains of Bedabedec, and you wilt see no islands before you, and

can enter safely with plenty of water.'

" Entering the bay, Champlain proceeded, under the

guidance of the savaged he had taken at Mount Desert,

to the narrows at the mouth of the river, and ascended the

river to the point where the Kenduskc:^ stream enters it

at Bangor. He speaks with enthusiasm of the scenery,

the river-banks covered with verdure, and here and there

hvely stretches of meadow. At this point his progress was

arrested by the falls. So he remained here and landed.

The great oaks on the shore seemed to form a sort of park,

to have been planted, he says, ' for pleasure,' but no city,

no population skilled in the domestic arts ; neither there

nor anywhere ou shore or on island was, as he says, ' any

town or village, or any appearance of there having been

any," only one or two squalid huts covered with bark after

the fashion which they had seen practiced at the St. Croix

and on the shores of the great bay.

" Here they met Bessnhez, the chief or captain of the

tribe, and Cubahia, who had jurisdiction over a family or

tribe to the westward, perhaps at what is now Belfast. Great

stir there was among the dusky natives at the sight of the

strangers, dancing and singing, and much consumption of

tobacco. But Cubahis drew himself apart from the noisy

throng for a while, because, as the narrative says, ' it was

the first time he had ever seen Christians.'

"On the 17th of September, the day after all these

festivities, Champlain took the altitude and found 45° 25'

north latitude and began the descent of the river, and so

continued coasting to the westward. At what we judge to

be St.'George's River their native guides left them, because

the savages of the QulnUiequy were their enemies. We
quote again

:

"
' We ranjed along the coast some eight leagues t^ the westward

as far as an island distant some ten leagues from the Qiiiin'bfqnt/,

where we were obliged to stop on account of bad weather and contrary

winds; in one part of our route we passed a quantity of islands and

breakers, very dangerous, and shelving out into the sea some leagues.'

" At this point the weather and heaJ-winJi, and the

scarcity of provisions, compelled our hardy adventurers lo

retrace their steps. On the,23d of September, three weeks

after leaving St. Croix, they set about on their return, and

in nine days after were greeted by their companions.

" Champlain received no intelligence of any Europeans

on the coast, and found no fixed settlements of natives.

The savages lived on the head-wuters of the rivers and along

the great carrying-places which constituted a thoroughfare

from one end of the Acadian Peninsula to another, so that,

as Champlain was informed, one could go from the St. Croix

to the St. John and so to Quebec, or to the Penobscot

and Kennebec, and so by the Chaudi^re to the St. Law-

rence. The vast network of rivers and lakes made com-

munication easy and rapid. That no tidings were received

of any Europeans on t'-.e coast is doubtless satisfactory evi-

dence that at this time, in 1604, and indeed within the

memory of the generation then living, there had been no

attempt at colonization, or even any exploration of the coun-

try within the limits traversed by Champlain.

" During the month of Champlain's absence the little

band had busied themselves to make preparations for the

winter, and the accession to their number of the returned

adventurers only gave new vigor to their efforts. Shelter

was provided, but it was scanty enough for the inclement

season, and disease of irresistible virulence clutched at these

poor waifs from the shores of sunny France, and closed their

eyes to all earthly things. When the spring opened the

little cemetery had in it thirty-five graves,—nearly as many

dead as living left to mourn their loss. Dispirited at such

great muifurtunes, De Monts resolved to abandon his plan-

tation and return to France ; but on the 15th of June the

little band was gladdened by the news of the arrival of two

vessels bringing men and provisions.
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"
' On the seventeenth of the month,' soya Champluin, ' the Sieur de

Monts decided to seek for a place better suited for habitation than

ours, and on the eighteenth he left the island of St. Croix with some

gentlemen, twenty sailors, and two savages, Pmimmiat and his wife,

whom be did not wish to leave behind, and whom we took with na as

a guide to the country of the Aliunuchiquoiaf hoping bj means of her

to see and learn more of the country, for she was a native of it.

" ' So ranging along the coast between Menaiie, which is about three

leagues from the main land, we came to the southward of the " Ttleg

Ranijf-ta** and anchored at one where there were so mtiny crows that we

named it " Idt am Conieillet ;" from thence we made " L'UU dei

Munta deterU" which is at the entrance of the river NurttmbetjHe, as

1 have said before; thence wo went some five or six 'leagues among
seveml islands.'

" These were doubtless the Fox Islands, and here thej

found a good hurbor. On the 1st of July they set sail to

the westward and made some twenty-fire leagues, passing

the islands and reefs Champlain had noticed in the previous

voyage, and reaching the mouth of the Quinibeqiiy, as

Champlain says, they anchored some three hundred yards

.from the entrance in five or six fathoms.

"
' At the entrance there is an island quite high which we have named

" La Turtue" Aiid between this and the main land are some scattered

islands apd rocks, covered at high water, but the sea breaks over them.'

The " /We de la Tortue" and the river are SSE. and XNW.'

" They were delayed here by the fog, but on the 5th of

July they began the exploration of the river. They were

now obviously in the Sheepscot River, which seems to have

been called also Quinibequy by the natives. At some dis-

tance up the river they narrowly escaped being lost on a

rock which they grazed in passing; farther on they met

some savages in two canoes ; by the aid of the wife of their

guide they accosted these hunters and secured their services

as guides to their chief Manthoumemier. Proceeding some

miles, they passied through a beautiful country with fine

meadow-lands and little streams ; then they passed by an

island some four leagues long, and at last reached the head

of the river, probably where is now Wisoasset. Here was

Manfhoumervier, their chief, and some twenty-five or thirty

savages. There was at first some timidity on the part of

the natives, but the conference resulted amicably, presents

were exchanged, and a species of offensive and defensive

alliance concluded between the two parties. On the follow-

ing morning, nnder the guidance of the savages, the party

descended the river by another passage than that of the

previons ascent, with the intention of reaching a lake, so

called, which appeared to be a well-known resort of neigh-

boring tribes. What follows we give in Champlaia's words

:

"
' Passing by some islands, each of the savages left an arrow near

a cape by which all must pass ; they believe that unless they do this

the devil will bring about some misfortune; they live in this super-

stition as well aa many others. Near this cape we passed a fall of

water ; but it was not done without great difficulty, for although we

had a fair and fresh wind, and carried all the sail we possibly could,

we were obliged to take a hawser ashore and fasten it to the trees and

then pull with all our strength, and thus by main force and the favor-

ing wind we got through. The savages who were with us carried

their canoes along the shore, being unable to make headway with their

paddles. After having passed the fall we saw beautiful meadow-

lands. I was much astonished at this fall because we descended easily

with the tide, but at the fall it was against us, but above the fall it

ebbed as before, much to our satisfaction. Pursuing our route, we

came to a lake which is three or four leagues long, with islands in it.

Here descend two rivers, the Quinibequy, which cornea from the north-

east, and another, which comes from the northwest, by which ifnrchitn

and SaziiioH wefe tp pome; but having waited thp whole of this day

without seeing them we resolved to keep our time employed, and so

weighed anchor and came to the mouth of the river.'

" Time will not permit a full translation of the very in-

teresting description which follows. It is evident that

Champlain ascended the Sheepscot to the northern ex-

tremity of Westporti descended the river on the west side

of the island, passed close to what is now called Hocka-

mock Point, pulled the vessel through upper Hellgate and

so entered the Kennebec proper, and passed on to Merry-

meeting Bay. The descent was made by the true channel

to the site of Fort Popham, where they probably anchored,

unless they made a harbor a little farther to the westward.

From the Indians Champlain received an accurate descrip-

tion of this noble river; they told him it was the great

route to the St. Lawrence, and explained to him the con-

nection between it and the Chandiere, describing, in fact,

the very route by which, one hundred and seventy years

later, the intrepid Arnold carried his brave little army to

the very walls of Quebec. They further told him that

there were no Indians on the coast, but that in the interior,

probably meaning Norridgewock, they lived and cultivated

the soil.

" On the 8th of the month the party, previously de-

tained by the fog, set sail to the westward, probably taking

a direct course for the headland of Cape Elizabeth, for they

passed without entering Casco Bay, which Champlaiii de-

scribes as full of islands, and beyond them to the west great

mountains where dwells a savage chief named 'Aneda.'

The next day coasting along they saw sigmi of habitations,

smokes in the main land which seemed to invite them, and

many of the natives, more than eighty in number, dancing

and gesticulating on the shore. The vessel came to oif

what is now Old Orchard Beach, and anchored inside of

what is now Stratton's Island. Here there was a friendly

conference with the natives, and from this point they made
a visit to an island, ' which,' in Champlain's language, ' is

very beautiful, having fine oaks and walnuts ; the soil is

cultivated, and bears vines with good grapes in their season.

They were the first we had seen since leaving Cape ' La
Heve.' This we called 'i'l's/e de Bacchus.' One can.

with difficulty recognize under this description the Rich-

mond Island of the present day. The lofty oaks and wal-

nuts and luxuriant vines have disappeared, and all that

remains of the spot which, perhaps more than any other

on the coast, with the exception of Pemaquid, was in the

early days the resting-place of trade and active enterprise,

is a bare, wind-swept field, uninviting to all but the storm-

beaten sailor who seeks shelter nnder its lee.

"
' At high water,' Champlain continues, ' we weighed

anchor and entered a little river (the Saco), which we could
not do sooner on account of a bar, on which at low tide

there is but one-half a fathom of "water, but at the flood a
fathom and one-half, and at the spring tide two fathoms

;

within are three, four, five, and six,'—a very accurate de-

scription of the physical features apparent to this day.

Champlain, with his customary exactness, enters into minute

details of the habits, appearance, and character of the peo-

ple. ' The river,' he says, ' was called the river of the

Chouaeoet country.' They landed and examined the little

gardens of the inhabitants ; Champlain and De Monts were
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interested in the culture of maize. ' They plant,' says the

narrative, ' in gardens, sowing three or four grains in one

spot, and then with the shell of the " slgnoc" they gather

a little earth around it : three feet from that they sow again,

and so on.'

" We can scarcely improve, even now, on this method of

planting that wonderful grain which Champlain calls ' wlieat

of India,' and we Indian corn. A word may be in place

with reference to the singular agricultural implement used

by the natives. Champlain says it was the shell of the

iignoc, a remarkable fish, to which, later on, he gives some

pages of description. It was simply the curious shell of

the horseshoe crab, and those who are familiar with it can

readily understand how serviceable it may have been in

their simpler gardening operations. Champlain made a

chart of this harbor, giving all the prominent features of

the coast and river line, with soundings. Just as he had

conscientiously done before at the Kennebec, at St. Croix,

on the shore of the Bay of Fundy, and Nova Scotia. These

were all studies for the maps which, as royal geographer,

it was his special mission to prepare.

"On the 12th of the month, or probably on the 11th,

because he says it was on Sunday and Sanduy was on the

11th, the little band left ' Chouacoel.^ They made some

twenty miles to the westward, but contrary wind? compelled

them to anchor ; on the mainland where they went ashore

were meadow-lands of great extent, but only two natives

were seen, who fled at their approach. They saw great

quantities of starlings, whose song, like the blackbirds of

their own country, doubtless brought many thoughts of

France ; and there were wild grapes also, and walnuts, and

luxuriant verdure. The coast, he says, was sandy, as in-

deed it had been since they lefl the Kennebec. The head-

wind continuing, they retraced their route some six miles,

and anchored at the harbor at Cape Porpoise, which Cham-

plain calls ' Port aux Isles,' on account of the three islands

which furnish shelter there. But his observing eye had

noticed the entrance of the Kcnncbunk River, and he gives

also a very correct description of this harbor, with such

sailing directions as would make the passage easy to any

navigator who might follow him. His computation of the

latitude of this point is correct to within five one hundredths

of a degree. It was not until the 15th of the month that

they were able to proceed upon their journey. By the long

sea beaches of Wells and York and Hampton they coasted,

but with no inducement to seek a harbor ; and so as the sun

was setting they steered to the southward, passed the Mer-

rimac and its surrounding marshes, which in the dim

twilight seemed like a great bay, caught a glimpse in the

east of the Isles of Shoals, and at last anchored, under the

shelter of Cape Ann, to await the day.

*' We have no immediate interest in their explorations to

the southward ; it is interesting to know that they crossed

Massachusetts Bay, entered on the 18th of the month the

harbor in which, fifteen years later, the Pilgrim Fathers

found their home, rounded the sandy promontory of Cape

Cod, and terminated their southward journey at what is now

Nanset. Evidently no knowledge of Gosnold's expedition

had reached our adventurers, for Champlain gives his own

names to the places he visited, and to Cape Cod gives the

more appropriate designation of Cap Blanc, the White

Cape.

" On the 23th of July, De Moots, finding his stores

rapidly diminishing, decided to return to St. Croix. On
his return he stopped again at Chouacoet and here had an

interview with ' Marchim,' the Sagamo of Casco Bay,

' who,' says Champlain, ' had the reputation of being one

of the bravest men of his country, and he had a fine man-

ner, ,and all his gestures and movements were grave and

dignified, savage though he was.' They gave him pres-

ents, and he in return gave them a young Etcchemin from

the eastward, an Indian boy whom he had made prisoner

in some foray. From the Saco they proceeded to the Ken-

nebec, ari'iving there on the 29th of July. Here they had

an interview \yith a chieftain named Aiiassoii.

" Again we quote from Champlain :

"^ He told us thore w.is a resael »ix leagues from the harbor which

bad been engaged ia fishing, and the people on board bad killed five

savages of this river, under the pretense of friendship, and according

to his description we judge them to be English, and named the inland

where they were *' Le Nef," because at a distance it bad that appear-

ance.'

" (That is, it looked like the hull of a ship.) This was

Monhegan, and in these few lines are tlie only allusions by

Champlain to contemporary English discoveries on the coast.

The vessel was the ' Archangel,' under George Weymouth.
" From the Kennebec our adventurers steered for ' Isle

Haute,' arriving on the last of July, where they anchored

awaiting the dawn. August 1st they proceeded to Cop

Cornei/le, whera they passed the night; on the 2d they

arrived at the old plantation at St. Cioix, where they found

a vessel with supplies from France.

" With reference to this second voyage of Champlain, a

few points are to be noticed. The previous discoveries were

passed by without further investigations ; the party did not

even enter Penobscot Biiy, but the exploration of the Sheep-

scot and Kennebec was thorough.

" The Indians were in the interior, and while they ap-

peared to have had some knowledge of Europeans, it was

not of such a character as to warrant an opinion that, within

their memory, there had been any white settlements on the

coast. Chouacoet was the most important point discovered,

and here appears to have been the only settlement of the

aborigines which had a permanent character.

" Dissatisfied, both with his settlements at St. Croix, and

his discoveries to the south and west along the coast, De
Monts now determined to transplant his colony to Port

Royal. He himself returned to France. But Champlain

could not leave his work unfinished ; he decided to remain,

and his simple, modest narrative gives us a vivid picture

of the preparations made for the ensuing winter. His hope,

as he says, was to make new dbcoveries in the directiou of

Florida.

" On the 1st of March, 1606, the Sicur du Pont-Grave

fitted out a vessel of about eighteen tons. On the 16th,

all being ready, they set sail, but were obliged to seek a

harbor on an island to the south of Grand Menan. On
the following day they made some fifty miles to the west-

ward, probably near Mount Desert, but a severe storm so

buffeted them that, in the little harbor where they had an-
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chored, they were driven ashore. After repairin<!; the frail

bark they returned to Port Royal. On the 29th of April

they made another attempt, only to meet with fresh disas-

ters, for, at the entrance to Port Royal, they were again

cast ashore, losing their vessel, and running imminent risk

of their lives.

" Disheartened at these disasters, and the non-appearance

of the vessels which were expected with supplies, Du Pont

decided to return to France, and, on the 16th of July, they

abandoned Port Royal, leaving two men who had bravely

volunteered to remain and guard the property which was

\e(t behind. After having rounded Cape Sable, however,

they were gladdened by the sight of a shallop, in which

was Sieur Ralleau, secretary of De Munts. He announced

the arrival of the ' Jona.s,' a vessel bringing new accessions,

under the command of Poutrincourt, to the colony, among

others the versatile advocate Lescarbot, the future historian

of New France. So they gladly retraced their steps, and,

on the 3 1 St of July, arrived once more at Port Royal. Tlie

new-comers set to work with commendable vigor, and the

Story of their daily avocations, as narrated by Lescarbot, is

exceedingly entertaining ; but with this our limits will not

permit us to dwell. Du Pont decided to return to France

and take with him all the company who passed with him

the previous winter, with a few exceptions. Among those

Champlain, who says, ' I remained also, with the Sieur de

Poutrincourt, intending, by the grace of God, to finish and

perfect the chart which I had commenced of the country

and the coast.'

" After one ineffectual attempt, the party left Port Royal

on the 5th of September, 1606. On the 7th they anchored

in the St. Croix ; on the 8th they visited, in a small boat,

the island where De Monts had spent the dreary winter of

1604-5. They found some traces of the gardens, still bear-

ing some of the pot-herbs planted so long before, and some

grain self-sown, and in excellent condition. Returning to

their vessel, they coasted to the westward, to proceed directly

to the extreme limit of the discoveries of the preceding year

;

so to lose no time, on the 12th they turned towards Choua-

coet, and reached the river on the 21st. Lescarbot gives

some details of this nine days' voyage.

" They were four days in reaching Penobscot Bay, hav-

ing stopped en route to repair their little- craft. Passing

through the Fox Islands, they reached the mouth of the

Kennebec, where they were again in peril on account of the

' great currents which are peculiar to the place.' It would

appear also from Lescarbot that the party landed at Cape

Elizabeth before reaching Suco, but upon this point there is

some doubt. Champlain adds that the Indians at Choua-

coet had finished their harvest, and that he did not fail to

taste the grapes on the island of Bacchus, which were ripe

and quite good. From this point they made Cape Ann,

and so to the southward ; but the voyage was without fruit.

In a conflict with the natives they lost several of their com-

pany. On the 28th of October they set sail from Mala-

barre for the Isle Haute. On the 31st, between Mount

Desert and the mouth of the Machias, they lost their rud-

der, and were in imminent peril. With much ingenuity

they succeeded in reaching a harbor, but not until the 14tb

of November, after many dangers and disasters, did they

reach Port Royal. Of their enthusiastic reception, the

feasting and masquerading which followed, the long winter

enlivened by Lescarbot's wit, and the bonhommie of their

versatile and vivacious nation, our limits will not permit us

to give any description. For the purpose of this hasty in-

vestigation we hive nothing to do with the future of the

colony. So far as we know, the three voyages of Cham-

plain are the first thoroughly intelligible contribution to the

cartography of Maine."

A few remarks respecting the earliest French settlements

on this coast will close the present chapter. On the 8th

of November, 1603, Di Monts received of Henry IV. of

France, the charter under which the settlement at Port

Royal, already referred to, was made. The charter of Aca-

dia embraced all the country from the fortieth to the forty-

sixth degrees of north latitude, although the territory was

never practically claimed farther west than the Kennebec.

De Monts having obtained a commission as Lieutenant-

General of France, in 1604, fitted out the expedition of

which we have already given an account in connection with

the operations of Champlain. He sailed to the mouth of

the St. Croix, where the company spent one winter, and

then proceeded to establish a colony on the other side of

the Bay of Fundy, at a place called by them Port Royal,

now Annapolis, Nova Scotia. From this place the Jesuit

mission was established on one of the coast islands of Maine,

called Mount Desert.

De Monts having retired from the colony at Port Royal,

Poutrincourt, one of his companions, assumed command,

and in 1608 sent Biencourt, his son, to France for snpplies

of men and provisions for the colony. Two Jesuit priests,

Biard and Mosse, returned with the expedition to take

charge of the spiritual interests of the plantation, and to

extend their missionary labors among the Indians. Soon

their ambition to rule also the civil affairs of the colony

manifested itself, and a quarrel arose between them and the

government. Biencourt, in the absence of his father in

France, caused the priests to remove to Mount Desert,

where they established a mission and erected a fort called

St. Sauveur.'" Here they planted gardens, laid out

grounds, and entered with zeal upon the work of their

mission ; but they were not permitted long to enjoy this

state of seclusion. The occupation of Port Royal, St.

Croix, and Mount Desert, with a small post at the mouth

of the Penobscot, the garrisoning of these posts, and the

disposition of the French to extend their settlements still

farther to the west, aroused the alarm of the government

established by the first English settlers in Virginia, and, in

1613, they sent Capt. Argall to dislodge the French. In

the summer of that year he seized the forts at Mount

Desert, St. Croix, and Port Royal, and carried their ship

and pinnace, together with their ordnance, cattle, and pro-

visions, to Jamestown. The French power in this quarter

was thus interrupted, and it was a number of years before

it recovered from this disaster. The conflicting claims

growing out of the respective Freneh and English charters

were never finally settled till the downfall of Canada, nearly

a hundred and fifty years later.

* Sullivan, p. 15C. Hatc'jinson, xxiii., p. 3.
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The English occupied the country exclusively as far east

as the Kennebec, and the French, except when dispossessed

by treaty or actual force, had exclusive occupation as fiir

west as the Penobscot. The country between these two

rivers was debatable land, both parties continually claiming

it, and each occupying it by intervals. In the commission

to the French Governor before the treaty of Utrecht in

1713, Acadia is described as extending to the Kennebec,

and the whole was then ceded to the English. But in the

construction of that treaty, the French restricted the ter-

ritory to Nova Scotia.

CHAPTER IL

BXPLOBATIONS AHTD TEMPORARY SETTLE-
MENTS BT THE ENOIiISH.

Penobscot and Casco Bnya Discovered by Martin Pring—Voyage of

Captain Weymouth—Situation of Pentecost Harbor—Charter of

Eiog James I.—First New Gngliind Colony—Fort St. George—Cap-

tain Smith—Sir Ferdinando Gorges—A'arious Trading and Fishing

Voyager to Maine.

Up to the beginning of the seventeenth century no at-

tempt had been made by the English to plant a colony in

North America. Exploring vessels had been sent out by

the government, under the command of John and Sebastian

Cabot, as early as 1498 and 1499, and had sailed along the

northern coast of the United States, but nothing further

was done in thi.s direction for more than a centurv. In

1602, Gosnold sailed along the coast of Maine, and in 1603,

Martin Pring discovered Penobscot and Casco Bays, and

sailed six miles up the Saco River. The voyage of George

Weymouth, in 1605, was the first attempt which had been

made to sail due west from England to the coast of North

America. His course brought him to Monhegan Island,

eighteen miles from the main land at Boothbay. He an-

chored three miles north of the island, which he named St.

George, in honor of his patron saint, in a harbor which he

called Pentecost Harbor. The vessel in which he arrived

was named the " Archangel." He remained upon the coast

for several weeks, proceeding in his pinnace sixty miles up

a most excellent river, and carrying home with him five In-

dians, whom he treacherously decoyed into his vessel, three

of whom he gave to Sir Ferdinando Gorges, by whom one

of them was sent back in 1607 with Capt. George Popham.

James Rosier, an English gentleman, who accompanied

Capt. Weymouth as chronicler, wrote a glowing account of

the newly-discovered country in 1605, but omitted all

names and observations of latitude and longitude, in order

to prevent navigators of other nations from seeking the

same spot. The consequence has been that the river has

been guessed to be the Hudson, the James, the Saco, and

more recently the Penobscot, the Kennebec, and the arm of

the sea north of Monhegan, running up to South ^Thomas-

ton, and known oa the St. George. Capt, George Wey-
mouth also discovered the fishing-banks, which are still

known as the George's banks; and although his name has

failed to displace the olden Indian name of Monhegan,

there is a strong presumption that the nameless river which

he found may still wear, like the banks, the name of his

patron saint. Dr. Belknap, the historian of New Hamp-

shire, however, conjectured that Weymouth had ascended

the Penobscot River, and this opiuion was generally fol-

lowed, until the late John McKeen, of Brunswick, sug-

gested that Hosier's description better fitted the Kennebec,

and a few years later the Rev. David Cushman, of Warren,

contended that the St. George River was intended. All

these conjectures were set at rest by the publication, in

1849, by the Hakluyt Society (and afterwards by the His-

torical Societies of Maine and Massachusetts) of William

Strachey's account of the Popham settlement, written not

later than 1018, and preserved in manuscript in the British

Museum. Strachey was the secretary of the Virginia Com-

pany, and was in Virginia from 1610 until 1G12. He says,

in so many words, that Capt. Weymouth made a search

" sixty miles up the most excellent and beneficyall river of

the Sachadehoc,'' and that Weymouth's report was the occa-

sion of the expedition under Capt. Popham in 1607, when

nn attempt was made to found a colony on the Sagadahoc.

But the Sagadahoc is only another name for the waters of

the Kennebec below Merryineeting Bay, including the

waters which flow out through the passage opposite to Bath

into the Sheepscot, and the Sheepfscot itself, which may be

regarded as one of the mouths of the Kennebec.

The expedition of Capt. Weymouth, together with the

active movements of the French at this period, served to

awaken an interest in England, and iu April, 1G06, a

charter was obtained from King Jumes for the whole ex-

tent of country lying between the thirty-fourth and forty-

fourth degrees of north latitude. This large tract was divided

between two companies ; the first, reaching to the forty-

first degree of north latitude, was bestowed upon a London

company, the founders of the settlement at Jamestown,

Va. ; and the northern part was granted to a company of

adventurers in the town of Plymouth. Under this charter

the adventurers sent out colonies in 1607. With the

colony destined for Virginia we have nothing to do in

this connection. The one from Plymouth, destined for the

northern shores, consisted of two ships and one hundred

men, under command of Capt. George Popham, as presi-

dent, and Capt. Raleigh G''.bert, as admiral. They sailed

from Plymouth on the 31 st of May, and arrived at Mon-

hegan, on the coast of Maine, August 11th, and thence

continued on to the Kennebec, where they planted them-

selves on the west bank of the river, upon the peninsula

now known as Hunnewell's Point, called by the Indians

Sabino. This was the first English colony, not merely in

Maine, but upon the whole New England coast. Here

they erected Fort St. George, on the site of which the

United States government has built a fort called Fort

Popham, in honor of the first governor or president of the

colony.*

Although the ample preparations and otlier circum-

stances attending the expedition show that the adven-

turers intended to make a permanent settlement, yet a suc-

cession of peculiarly unfavorable circumstances terminated

* In August, 1862, the Maine Historical Society, and a very large

concourse of people, assembled here to celebrate the two hundred and
fifty-6fth anniversary of the planting of the colony.
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the hopes and ezisteDce of the colony in one year from its

commencement. They retired from the contest with savage

and inhospitable nature with strong prejudices against the

country, feeling, as Smith has said, that it was a " cold,

barren, rocky,, mountainous desert." Prince says that

" they branded the country as over cold, and not habitable

by our natives." " The colony," says Willis, " arrived late

in the season, and had but little time to make those prep-

arations which Were necessary to protect them from the

severities of our climate in an inhospitable wilderness."

From this time, for several years, little was done on the

coast of Maine except fishing and trading with the natives.

The two principal actors in this enterprise^were Sir Francis

Popham and Sir Ferdioando Gorges, the latter, as a fiiture

ruler and promoter of colonization, destined to play a

very important part in the affairs of the colony. In 1614

an expedition was fitted out by these gentlemen, under com-

mand of Capt. John Smith, ' to take whales, and also to

^ make trial of mines of gold and copper." If these failed,

"fish and furs were then to be their refuge."* Smith

adds, " We found this whale-fishing to be a costly conclu-

sion ; we saw many and spent much time in chasing them,

but could not kill any, they being a kind ot juhartex, and

not the whale that yields fins and oil, as we expected."

They were also disappointed in the mines, and he thinks the

representation was "rather the device of the master to get

a voyage than any knowledge he had of any such matter."

During this voyage Captain Smith leil his vessel, and with

eight men in a boat traversed the whole coast from Penob-

scot to Cape Cod. He describes Casco Bay as follows

:

'' Westward of Kennebeke is the county of Ancocisco, in

the bottom of a large, deep bay, full of many great isles,

which divide it into many great harbors."f
In 1615, Capt. Smith was again employed by Gorges

and others to visit N«w England, with a view of beginning

a settlement there. For this purpose he was furnished with

two ships, and a company of sixteen men to leave in the

country. He was driven back to port in a violent storm,

which carried away his masts. On the second attempt he

was captured by the French. It does not appear that this

celebrated adventurer ever came to America after 1014.

He published his description of New England in London,

in 1616, and died in that city in 1631.|

Every year after this vessels were sent to the coast to

trade with the natives and to fish, many of which made

profitable voyages. In 1615, Sir Richard Hawkins sailed

from England with a commission from the Council of

Plymouth§ to do what service he could for them in New
England, but on his arrival here he found a destructive war

prevailing among the natives, and he passed along the coast

to Virginia.||

In 1616 four snips from Plymouth and two from London

made successful voyages and obtained full cargoes of fish,

* Smith's New Eugland, p. 175.

( The same Dame is given to this bay by Jocelyn, and the natives

about it are called the Aucociacoea by Gorges in his America Painted

to the Life, p. 43.

+ Willis' History of Portland.

§ This council consisted of thirteen members, appointed by the king,

fur the management of the company.

II

Prince, ii. i'A
;
quoted by Willis.

which they carried to England and Spain. Sir F. Gorges

also, the same year, sent out a ship under the charge of

Richard Vines, who afterwards became prominent in the

early history of Maine. He passed the winter at the mouth

of Saco River, from which circumstance the place received

the name of Winter Harbor, which it still bears.

In 1618, Capt. Edward Rocroft was sent by Gorges in a

ship of two hundred tons to fish upon the coast. He cap-

tured a French brig lying in one of the harbors, sent her

crew in his own ship to England, and retained the brig with

a view to winter here, but some of his men conspiring to

kill him and run away with the prize, he put theui on shore

at Sawguatock (Saco), and in December sailed for Virginia.

The men who were thus left succeeded in getting to Mon-

hegan Island, where they spent the winter, and were re-

lieved in the spring by Capt. Desmer, in another of Gorges'

ships. It is probable that at this time, buildings or tem-

porary shelters had been erected upon the island, as it bad

become a convenient resort for fishermen.

CHAPTER IIL

ABOBIGIlTAIi IWHABITANTS.

Tribal Divisions—Abenaques—Etechemins—Sokokis—Canlbas—An-

asagunticooks—Migration of the Tribes Eastward—Tarratinefl

—

Vincent de St. Costine—Tabular Statement of Indians in Maine

—

Nuted Chiefs and Sachems.

The Indians who inhabited this portion of Maine at the

time of the advent of the first Europeans wore undoubtedly

all of one race or tribe,—the Aheitaqiies, or " Jlen of the

East." Farther to the eastward there dwelt the Eteche-

mins, or " Eastland People," who were a tribe, or rather a

number of tribes, belonging originally to the same general

family. Williamson says, '' They were all, without doubt,

descendants of the same original stock, and for an unknown

period after the discovery of America the tribes were prob-

ably members of the same political family, differing little in

language, looks, habits, or ideas of confederative union." It

would appear from the testimony of Capt. Francis, of the

Peuohscot tribe, who is admitted to have been excellent

authority on the subject, that the migration of the tribes was

eastward from the Saco River, where the oldest of them had

their ancient seat. He assured Mr. William.son that all the

tribes between the Saco and the St. John, both inclusive,

were brothers ; that the oldest lived on the Saco ; that each

tribe was younger as we pass eastward, like the sons of the

same father ; though the one at Passamaquoddy was the

youngest of all, proceeding from those upon the rivers St.

John and Penobscot. " Always," he says, " I could under-

stand these brothers very well when they speak ; but when

the Micknwcks or the Algonquiiis, or Canada Indians speak,

I cannot tell all what they say.^

The Abenaques were divided into four tribes, viz. : the

Sulcokis, or Sacoes, sometimes called Sockhigones, who lived

on the Saco River; the Anasagunticooks, who held dominion

upon the Androscoggin ; the Canibas, or Kenales, who had

<[ Drake's Book of the Indians, iii., page 173.
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their villages upon tiie Kennebec ; and the Waicenocks,

who inhabited the country castirard of Kennebec to and

including the river St. George.

The Sokokts, or S'lco Indians, were a numerous people

till the first Indian war. The immediate residence of their

sagamores was upon Indian Island, just above the lower

falls. Two of them, Fluellcn and Capt. Sunday, conveyed

lands, but when their successor, Squandu, died, the glory

seemed to depart from the tribe, and it gradually wasted

away. In 1615 there were two branches of the tribe and

two principal villages. One was within the great bend of

the river, at Pegwackot, or Fryeburgh ; the other fifteen

or twenty miles below, on the banks of the Great Ossipee.

Here, before King Philip's war, they employed English

engineers and carpenters, and built a strong fort of timber,

fourteen feet in height, with bastions, intending it as a pro-

tection against the Mohawks.* The Afohawks and their

associates of the Five Nations were at this time a terror to

all the tribes of New England as far east as the Kennebec

Iliver. They had carried their conquests into Canada, sub-

jugating the once powerful nation of the Hurom; had

conquered and placed under tribute the tribes on Long

Island and on the Connecticut ; had subdued the Eria and

Neutral Nation in Western New York, driven the Adiron-

dues from their strongholds across the St. Lawrence, con-

quered the Andastes of the Susquehanna, the Delawares

on the bay and river of that name, and had carried their

victorious arms into the valleys of the Ohio and the Missis-

sippi. Smith, in his " History of New York," says that

all the surrounding tribes had been conquered by them, and

that they acknowledged their subjection by paying them

tribute. The Five Nations were enemies of the French

and allies of the English, and were a very important factor

in determining which nation should hold permanent pos-

session in North America.

There is one instance related in the history of New
Hampshire in which the powerful aid of the Mohawks was

invoked against the French Indians from Penobscot, the

Tarratines, who were pushing their depredations as far

west as the settlements in that region. In 1G77 two

messengers, Majs. Pinchon and Richards, were sent to the

country of the Mohawks to secure their aid in driving out

the Tarratines. They were kindly received, and promised

to render the assistance sought. Accordingly, some parties

of them came down the country about the middle of March,

and the first alarm was given at Amoskeag Falls, where the

son of Wonnolancet, being hunting, discovered fifteen In-

dians on the other side, who called to him in a language he

did not understand ; upon which he fled, and they fired

nearly thirty shots at him without effect. Presently they

were discovered in a woods near Cochecho. Maj. Waldron

sent out eight of his Indians, whereof Blind Will was one,

to make further discoveries. They were all surprised to-

gether by a company of Mohawks ; two or three escaped,

the others being all killed or taken prisoners. Will was

dragged away by his hair, and, being wounded, perished

in the woods on a neck of land formed by the confluence

of Cochecho and Isinglass Rivers, which still bears the

» See La Houtan ; Gorge?, p. 85 ; Hubbard'f Indian War«, p. 389.

3

name of Blind Will's Neck.f This was evidently a mis-

take on the part of the Muhawks, supposing that the friendly

Indians sent out by Maj. Waldron, for purposes merely of

inspection, were a band of the enemy. Blind Will had

been a brave ally of the English in King Philip's war.

No people ever defended their native country with more

valor and obstinacy than did the Sokokts theirs, especially

in Lovell's war. A number of them, relinquishing the

French interest in 1744 for the ranks of the English, at

the siege of Lou'wbourg distinguished themselves among

the bravest soldiers. Afterwards they could muster only

about a dozen fighting men, and before the capture of

Quebec the tribe had become extinct.J

The Aiiasagmiticooks, or Amarascoffiiis, as they arc

called by Mather, Hubbard, and some others, were origi-

nally a numerous and powerful tribe, inhabiting the coun-

try upon the waters of the Androscoggin, from its source

to Merrymeeting Bay, and on the west side of the Ken-

nebec to the sea. At Pejepscot, or Brunswick Falls,

they had their usual encampments or place of resort. This

was one of the great trails or passes between the eastern,

and western tribes, where the savages met in council to

plan expeditions against the English.§

The Anasagunlicooks were a warlike people. A short

distance above the Great Falls they had a fort, which was

destroyed by the English in 1690. " No tribe," says Wil-

liamson, " was less interrupted in their fishing and fowling,

and yet none were more uniformly and bitterly hostile to-

wards the colonists." There were two reasons for this

:

the first wxs that the early European explorers, particularly

the Portuguese and the Englbh, had been treacherous

towards them, decoying them into their vessels and kidnap-

ping their chief men of rank, and taking them away to

foreign countries ;|| and in ' the second place they were

under the influence of the French, who taught them to

hate and distrust the English. The venal and mercennry

character of some of the early traders also destroyed their

confidence, and they wreaked their first revenge upon those

of that class nearest to them. At the first sound of Philip's

war they fell upon the plantation of Thomas Purchase, the

original settler, killed his cattle, and carried away most of

his effects. Tarumkin, Worumbo, and Hagkius, their sag-

amores, were brave men, but the tribe wasted away during

the wars, and in 1744 they were able to muster only one

hundred and sixty fighting men. Warumbo and five other

sagamores sold the lands between Sagadahoc and Maquoit,

to the sea and the islands, July' 7, 1683.^ These Indians

were the earliest whom the French drew off to the St.

Francois settlement in Canada.

f Belknap's History of New Hampshire, i. 125.

^ Mnseachusetts Letter-Book, p. 114; Douglas, p. 153.

i Sullivan, p. 178.

II
Casper Cortereal, the Portuguese navigator, in 1500, enticed fifty-

seven of the natives (men and boys) on board his ship, and luring

tbem below deck, closed the hatchways upon them, and carried them
off to sell them as slaves iu Spain.

Weymouth, the captain of the "Archangel," in 1605, kidnapped in

a similar manner five native?, all mtn of rank, and took them, with

their canoes, bows, and arrows, to England. One of them, Squantum,

after bis return, was the first Indian who visited the Pilgrims on their

arrival at Plymouth. See Life of Miles Stundish.

^ Kennebec Claims, p. 7.
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When the Revolution commenced, there were only about

forty of the tribe, who made the shores, the ponds, and tlie

islands of the Androscoggin their principal home. Philip

Will, who afterwards became a chief of this tribe, was in

the siege of Louisbourg at the age of fourteen, and was

taken prisoner by the French. Remaining with the rem-

nant of hb tribe, he was brought up in the family of Mr.

Crocker, where he was taught to read and write the Eng-

lish language, and arithmetic. He was six feet three inches

in height and well proportioned. The tribe made him chief,

and for many years he was instrumental in preventing their

utter extinction.*

The Pejepseot Indians were, io all probability, a sub-tribe

of the Anaiagunticooki. They had customary places of

resort, if not permanent places of residence, at the Bruns-

wick'Falls, at Maquoit, and at Mare Point It is now con-

sidered probable, from the remains and relics found there,

that the latter was the place of one of their villages in the

sixteenth century. The plague which broke out among

them about the year 1615 or 1616 so reduced them that,

in the latter year, they numbered only fifteen hundred war-

riors. They were still farther reduced in number by war-

fare and other causes, so that there were, according to one

authority, on Nov. 24, 1726, only five Indians in the tribe

over sixteen years of age. John Hegon was their sachem

at this time. Twenty-five years later there were one hun-

dred and sixty warriors in the tribe. This was a large

increase, but yet it shows how Weak the tribe had become.

The settlement of the region occupied by this tribe, sub-

sequent to the time of King Philip's war, presents contin-

ual scenes of carnage and destruction, midnight massacres

and conflagrations, until the tribe itself became extinct.

The language of the Abenaki nation has been carefully

studied by many competent students, but the difficulties in

the way of thoroughly understanding the different dialects

are so great that much uncertainty still exists, both as to

the correct pronunciation and derivation, and also as to the

meaning of very many of the names formerly applied to

localities.

Tlie CanU'OM had their residence on the Kennebec River,

where, Hubbard says, " were great numbers of them when

the river was first discovered." The tribe consisted of two

or three branches ; for while Monquine, Kcnnebis, Abba-

gadussett, between 1648 and 1665, in the capacity of chief

sagamores, conveyed to the English all the lands (ten miles

in width) on each side of the river from Swan Island to-

WessaruDsctt River, Elderiimken, another sagamore, made

conveyances on Steven's and Muddy Rivers in 1 670 ; and

Esscmenosque certified in 1653 that the n^on of Teconnet

belonged to him and the wife of Watchogo. The principal

residence of Kennebis, the head-chief, and of his predeces-

sors of the same rank and title, was on Swan Island, in a

most delightful situation, and that of Abbagadussett be-

tween a river of his name and the Kennebec, on the north-

em borders of Merrymeeting Bay. The territories which

the tribe claimed extended from the sources of the Kenne-

bec to Merrymeeting Bay, and included the islands on the

eastern side of the Sagadahoc to the sea.

* UutchiDson, p. 266.

While Jeffreys, Charlevoix, La Houtan, and others call

this tribe the CuniLat, the name of " Non-idgeicockx" is

given them by Mather, Douglass, and most modern Eng-

lish writers,—evidently from the name of their famous vil-

lage. This was the residence of the French missionaries, who

early taught the tribe the forms of worship and doctrines

of the Roman Catholic religion. The derivation of the

name Norridgewock has been given as follows :
" ' Norridge'

{falls), and ' wock' (snioofh water), i.e., little falls and

intervab of smooth water above and below.''f This old

village of the Indians was a very pleasant site opposite the

mouth of Sandy River. It was the general and almost the

only resort of the tribe immediately afler their ranks be-

came thinned, and a spot consecrated to them by every

sacred and endearing association.

The Wavcenoeks inhabited the country east of the Ken-

nebec to and including the St. George River. Cupt. Smith,

while in the harbor of the latter river, in 1608, was urged

by the natives to pay court to the great Bashaba, the ruling

prince or superior chief. The early colonists also, at the

mouth of the Kennebec, were urged by the natives to pay

their respects to this great chief Moxus, Weguoganet,

Wivourua, and succeeding sagamores sold lands to the

English at Woolwich, Damariscotta, and other places in

that quarter.

The habitation of the Bashaba was near Pemaquid. But

subsequent to his death the principal headquarters of the

tribe was on the westerly side of the Sheepscot River, near

the lower falls. From this circumstance Hubbard speaks

of them as the " Sheepscot Indians."

Broken and wasted by the disasters of the great war in

which the Bushaba was slain, they were never afterwards

either powerful or numerous. In 1747 there were only two

or three families of them remaining, and in a few years

after all of them were induced by the French to join the

St. Frangois settlement in Canada. They were a brave,

active people. Capt. Francis said the name Waicenocks

signifies " very brave, /earing nothing.'' According to

Capt. Smith they were strong, beautiful, and very witty.

The men had a perfect constitution of body ; were of comely

proportion and quite athletic. They would row their canoes

faster, be says, with five paddles than his own men could

their boats with eight oars. They had no beards, he says,

and thought ours counterfeits. Their women, though of

lower stature, were fleshy and well formed,—all habited in

skins, like the men. This tribe w'as always in alliance with

the Canibax, unchanging in peace and in war, and appear

in this character till their last treaty with the English.

The other division of the aboriginal people of Mainc,-^—

the Etechemins,—inhabiting the eastern portion of the

State, we can only briefly mention. The geographical ter-

ritory of the tribes of this division is placed by Hermon

Moll, upon his map of the English Empire in America,

along the banks and at the heads of the rivers Penobscot

and St. John, oastwardly to the Gulf of St. Lawrence, and

southwardly to the Bay of Fnndy. The charter of Nova

Scotia to Sir William Alexander, 1620, mentions the Bay

of Fundy as dividing " the Etechemins on the north from

f Cspt Francis, qaoted by Willinmaon, i. 467.
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the Souriqiuiis, or Michmacki, on the south." This great

tribe, or nation, of Indians was divided into the Tarraliiies,

the native inhabitants of the Penobscot ; the Openagos, or

Qunddy, Indians, who had their residence on the Schoodic

and Passamaquoddy Bay ; and the Mareehitei, who inhab-

ited the great Biver St. John, called by them the Ouy-

gondy.

Of the Tarratiaes, Williamson says, " They were a

numerous, powerful, and warlike people, more hardy and

brave than their western enemies, whom they often plun-

dered and killed." According to Hubbard and Prince,

they kept tho sagamores, between the Piscataqua and the

Mystic, in perpetual fear. After the conquest and glory

achieved in their battles with the Bushaba and his allies,

they were not, like their enemies, wasted by disease and

famine. They retained their valor, animated by success

and strengthened by an early use and supply of firearms,

with which they were furnished by the French. Less dis-

turbed than the western tribes in the enjoyment of their

possessions, and also more discreet, they were always re-

luctant to plunge into hostilities against the English, and

hence were neutral, and were even supplied with provisions

by Massachusetts during the first Indian war.*

The most notable fact in the history of these Indians

was the settlement among them of the Baron Vincent de

St. Custine, who married four or five wives of their nation,

one the daughter of Madokawando, chief sagamore of the

tribe. Bom at Oleron, a province in France, Castine ac-

quired an early taste for adventure. He was of noble birth,

well educated, and of good abilities, all of which obtained

for him an appointment of colonel in the King's Budy-

Guard, from which office he was transferred to the command

of a r^ment called the " Corignan Sali^res." Afterwards,

through the influence of the Governor-General, the baron

and his troops were transferred to Canada. At tho close of

tho war the regiment was disbanded, and he himself dis-

charged from the service. Taking umbrage probably at

the treatment he received, and actuated by motives never

fully divulged, as Li Houtan says, " he threw himself upon

the savages."

His settled abode was on the peninsula where D'Aulney

had resided, and where he found means to construct a com-

modious house for trade and habitation. He was a liberal

Catholic, though devout and punctilious in hb religious

observances, having usually in his train several Jesuit mis-

sionaries. He learned to speak with ease the Indian dialect

;

he supplied tho Indians with firearms, and taught them the

art of war ; he traded with them, made them presents, and,

being a man of fascinating manners and address, he soon

gained a complete ascendency over the whole tribe. He
lived in the country about thirty years, and, as Abb^ Rey-

nal says, " conformed himself in all respects to. the manners

and customs of the natives." Castine hud several daughters,

to whom " he gave liberal portions and married handsomely

to Frenchmen, and one son, ' Castine the younger,' who was

a man of distinction and excellent character.

" The Governors of New England and of Canada, ap-

prised of his influence, wealth, and military knowledge,

*4 Maesacfauietti Records, pp. 50, 06.

were, for obvious reasons, the courtiers of his friendship

and favor.''f

NOTED CHIEFS AND SACHEMS.

Madokawando, tho great chief of the Penohtcot tribe,

was the adopted son of a chief called Assiminasqua. " He
was not an enemy, nor do we learn that his people had

committed any depredations until after some English

spoiled his corn and otherwise did him damage." | The

English, seeing that a storm was gathering, sent agents to

try to conciliate the Indians. The latter in the course of

the interview said, " Wo were driven from our com last

year by the people about Kennebec, and many of us died.

We had no powder and shot to kill venison and game with

to prevent it. If you English were our friends, aa you

pretend you arc, you would not suffer us to starve as we

did." A council was agreed upon at Taconnct. Mugg
was sent as a messenger to Squando, and divers Androi-

coggia sachems had repaired to the place. On the arrival

of the English they were honored with a salute, and con-

ducted into the council-house. Madokawando presided

over the negotiations -, with him were associated Assimin-

asqua, Tarumkin, Hopchood, Mugg, and many attendants.

Assiminasqua was the chief speaker, who said, " It is not

our custom when messengers come to treat for peace to

seize upon their persons, as sometimes the Mohawks do

;

yea, as the English have done, seizing upon fourteen

Indians, our men, who went to treat with you,—setting a

guard over them and taking away their guna. This is not

all, but a second time you required our guns, and demanded

us to come down unto you, or else you would kill us. This

was the cause of our leaving both our fort and our corn, to

our great loss."

This speech caused great embarrassment to the English,

who could not but disapprove of the conduct complained of,

and they told the Indians that tho parties who did these

things could not be punished, as they were beyond the reach

of their jurisdiction. The Indians were not satisfied with

this answer. In the afternoon Taramkin was the orator.

He said, " I have been to the westward, where I have found

many Indians unwilling to make peace ; but fur my own part

I am willing," which he confirmed by taking the English by

the hand, as did seven or eight of iiis men, among whom
were Mugg and Uobinhood's son. Tho English had now,

as Ifiey supposed, got matters under good progress, but Ma-

f \yilUam80n girea the folluwing table, allowing the number of lo-

dinn warriora in Maine in 1616, or before they began to be reduced

by wars ivitb the whitea :

Abeuaqne9 eatimated thua,

—

WHrrlura.
Sutokit 1»0»

AHataguHticovlu 1600
CV(Hi&<u 1 500
Watniioela 1100

5,000
EtecheMtiit thna,

—

TarratiHa 2400
Opeiiagot 1400
Martchitist 2200

6,000

Total 11,000

The whole populaiion of Indiana at tbia time in Maine w:ta eati-

mated at thirty-amen thouaand.

X Drake, Book of tho Indiana, iii., p. 1 04.
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dokawando interposed :
" What are we to do for powder and

shot when our corn is consumed ? What shall we do fur a

winter's supply ? Must we perish, or must we abandon oar

country and fly to the French for protection?" The Eng-

lish replied that they would do what they could with the

Governor. " Some might be allowed them for necessity."

Madokawando added, " We have waited a great while al-

ready, and now we expect you will say ya or no." The

English rejoined, " You say yourselves that many of the

western Indians would not have peace, and therefore, if we

sell you powder, and you give it to the western men, what

do we hut cut our oicn throattf It is not in our power,

without leave, if you should wait ten years, to let yon have

powder." Here, as might reasonably have been expected,

ended the negotiation, and massacre and bloodshed soon

after desolated that part of the country. The firmness of

Madokawando in adhering to the interests, and what he

conceived to be the undoubted riffliti of his people, decided

the fate of the English settlements. At the close of the

war of 1C75, this sachem's people had among them about

sixty English captives. The historians of the war have all

observed that his prisoners were remarkably well treated.

A sister of this chief was taken prisoner by Major Waldron,

at Pemaquid, in 1677, the sachem himself being absent on

a long hunting tour. Madokawando planned and carried

into execution the expedition against York, which, early in

the morning on the 5th of February, 1692, laid the settle-

ment in ashes, all except three or four garrisoned hoases.

About seventy-five of the inhabitants were killed and eighty

taken prisoners. The wretched captives were hurried into

the wilderness, and many of them died by the way. Rev.

Shubael Dummer, the minister of the place, was one of the

first victims; he was shot as he was mounting his horse at

his own door. His wife was among the captives, and died in

captivity. In this destruction of York some French were

with Madokawando and his Indians, and it is believed that

Baron Castine, his son-in-law, took part in the expedition.

In Novemt>er, 1691, Madokawando and other eastern

chiefs had signed a treaty with the English, in which they

had agreed to surrender the English captives at Wells,

in the spring. The time came, and the Indians were not

there, being afraid, as was supposed, of the warlike appear-

ance of the English. After waiting a while Capt. Converse

surprised some of them and brought them in by force to

the garrison at Storcr's house, which he strengthened by

the' addition of thirty-six men. " These," says Mather,

" were not come half an hour to Storer's house, en the 9th

of June, 1691, nor had they got their Indian weed fairly

lighted, and into their mouths, before fierce Moxus, with

two hundred Indians, made an attack upon the garrison,

but were repulsed, and soon drew olf. Madokawando was

not here in person, but when ho knew of the disaster of

his chief captain, he said, ' Mi/ brother Moxut has missed

it nolo, but I. will go myself the next year, and have the

dog. Convene, out of his hole.^
"

The old chief was as good as his word. He appeared

before the garrison, June 22, 1692. With him were

Moxus, Egeremet, and Worumbo, and two French officers,

Portneufand Labrocre. His men had incautiously alarmed

the inhabitants by firing upon some cattle they met in

the woods, which, running in wounded, gave them timely

notice to escape to the garrison. Converse had but fifteen

men on duty, but fortunately two sloops with about as

many more had arrived the day before. Disappointed in

their attempt to take the garrison, the Indians attacked the

vessels, setting fire tff one of them by means of fire-arrows,

but it was extinguished, and with their ammunition spent

and General Labrocre slain, they retired in the night after

a two days' siege, leaving several of their dead behind.

They took one Englishman, John Diamond, whom they

tortured in a most barbarous manner.

On the 9th of May, 1694, Madokawando conveyed to

Sir Willisim Phips the tract of land, on both sides of the

St. Geoi^'s River, bounded east by Wessamesskek River,

west by Hatthett's Cove Island, thence by a line to the

upper falls of St. George's River ; also Mastomquoog and

St. George's Islands. He died in 1698, and was succeeded

by Wenamowet. Before his death he had written to the

Governor of Massachusetts to send a vessel to Sagadahoc

with goods to redeem the captives. It was accordingly

sent, and Atkinson, his wife, and about forty others were

redeemed.

In 1690, Tobias Oakman was taken by the Indians at

Black Point, at which time he says he personally knew Eg-

eremet, who was then chief sachem of Kennebec ; Squando,

who was then chief sachem of Saco ; Moxos, who was then

chief sachem of Norridgewock ; Sheepscot John, who was

then chief sachem of Sheepscot ; and Orumby (Worumbo),

who was then chief sachem of 'Pejepseot.

Madokawando and Squando were the most powerful

sachems with whom the early English colonists had to deal.

They are described by Hubbard as " a strange kind of mor-

alized savages
;
grave and serious in their speech, and not

without some show of a kind of religion. It is also said

they pretend to have received some visions and revelations

by which they have been commanded to worship the great

God and not to work on the Lord's day." These notions

are attributed to their intercourse with Catholic priests.

These two celebrated persons held in their hands fur a time

the destinies of the eastern country. Mugg was the primx

minister of the Penobscot sachem, an active and' shrewd

leader, bat who, by his intimacy with English families, had

worn off some of the ferocities of the savage character.

Squando.—This chief, whom Mather calls " a strange,

enthusiastical sagamore," was a sachem of the Sokoki* or

Saco tribe. Hubbard says he was " the chief actor, or,

rather, the beginner" of the eastern war of 1675, and pro-

ceeds to account for the origin of the hostility of Squando

by attributing it to the rude and indiscreet act of some Eng-

lish seamen, who either for mischief overset a canoe in

which was Squando's wife and child, or to -see if young

Indians could swim naturally like animals of the brute cre-

ation, as some had reported.* The child went to the bot-

tom, but was saved from drowning by the mother diving

down and bringing it up. But " within a while after the

said child died. The said Squando, father of the child,

hath been so provoked thereat that he hath ever since set

» " They can swim naturally, striking their paw« under their throat

lilte a dog, and not spreading their arms as wo do."

—

Jocef^n't Voy-

aije^j 142.
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himself to do all the mischief he can to the English."

Squando instigated the burning of Saco, Sept. 18, 1675.

His fertile and ingenious mind, like that of the great

Ottawa chief, Pontiac, devised a fearful engine of de-

struction, wherewith they intended to attack and demol-

ish the garrison. " A noise of axes and other tools had

been heard in the neighborhood of the saw-mill, and it was

expected the Indians were preparing some engine with

which to accomplish their object, and it proved true. A
cart with four wheels had been constructed, and on one end

they had erected a breastwork, while the body of the cart

was filled with birch-bark, straw, powder, and such like in-

flammable substances, for the ready consummation of tlieir

stratagem. The approach of this formidable machine dis-

mayed some of the English in the garrison, but they were

encouraged by their ofScers to stand to their posts. As
the enemy were forcing their engine towards the garrison

one of the wheels stuck in a gutter, which caused them to

swing round nearly broadside to the English, who, taking

advantage of the situation, poured into their assailants a

deadly fire, which soon scattered them, and the garrison

was not further molested."

Although Squando had been instrumental in the revolt-

ing murder of the Wakely family at Casco, on the 12th of

September, 1675, the young girl (eleven years old) who

had been taken captive, and had passed through all the

tribes from the Sokokis to the Narragantetts, was restored

by him to the English at Dover. Hubbard, referring to

this act of Squando's, calls him a. " strange mixture of mercy

and cruelty," and Williamson observes that " his conduct

exhibited at different times such traits of cruelty und com-

passion as rendered his character difficult to be portrayed."

Hubbard, in one place, calls him " an enthusiastical, or,

rather, diabolical, miscreant." Drjke remarks, " His abil-

ities in war had gained him this epithet."'*'

Squidragusset was a sachem over a tribe on the Pre-

Bumpscot River, and a creek near the mouth of that river

still bears his name. He and his company, in October,

1631, killed Walter Bagnull, a trader, who was the first to

establish himself upon Richmond Island, burnt his house,

and plundered his property. He subsequently conveyed

lands on the Presumpscot to the English. He had an

as.sociate by the name of Black Will, who was hanged for

his part in the murder of Bagnall, by a company which had

been fitted oMt in Massachusetts to intercept a pirate on the

coast, near Pemaquid. This was in 1G33, on the return

of the party to Richmond Island.

Moxus was sometimes called Agamagus. When delegates

were sent into the eastern country to make peace with the

Indians, in 16!)9, his name stood first among the signers of

the treaty.f He concluded another treaty with Governor

Dudley in 1702. The next year, in company with Wanun-

gouct, Assacambuit, and a number (^ French, he invested

Capt. March in the fort at Casco. After using every en-

deavor to take it by assault, they had recourse to the fol-

lowing stratagem : they began at the water's edge to

undermine it by digging, but were prevented by the timely

* Book uf the In Viaar, iii., p. 104.

f Magnolin, rii. 94.

arrival of an armed vessel under Capt. Southack. They had

taken a vossel and a great quantity of plunder. About two

hundred canoes were destroyed and the vessel retaken.

Moxus was at Casco again in 1713, to treat with the Eng-

lish, and at Georgetown, upon Arrosic Island, in 1717,

where he was attended by seven other chiefs.

Mugg was a chief among the Androscnggina, and one of

the most conspicuous actors in the war of 1675-76. An
account of his capture of the garrison at Black Point (Scar-

borough) will be found in another part of this history.

This chief entertained ambitious plans for the conquest of

the English. - When Francis Curd was a prisoner among

his people he told him that ho " had found out the way to

burn Boston," and laughed much about the English, say-

ing " he would have all their vessels, fishing-islands, and

whole country," and bragged about his great numbers.

Drake says he was killed at Black Point, May 16, 1677,

and quotes the " History of New England," !»s follows

:

" Lieut. Tippin, who commanded the garrison, made a suc-

cessful shot upon an Indian that wns observed to be very

busy and bold in the assault, who at that time was deemed

to be Symon, the arch villain und incendiary of all the east-

ward Indians, but proved to be one almost as good as him-

self, who was called Mogg."

This chiefmust not be confounded with Mogg,—generally

known as Mogg Megone,—who was killed at the time of

Rale's death (1724), and who belonged to the Saco Indians.

Simon (or Symon, as the name is sometimes spelled) had

his residtnce upon the Merrimac River, in the vicinity of

Newbury, as lute as 1G77. He was associated with four

others, Andrew, Peter, Godfrey, and Joseph, who were

called " Christian ludiuns." Simon and Andrew arc called

by Hubbard " the two brethren in iniquity.'' They were

probably the worst of a gang whose atrocities blacken the

page of the early Indian wars. They burnt the house of

Edward Weymouth, at Sturgeon Creek, in April, 1077
;

they fell upon the house of Thomas Kimball, of Bradford,

killed him, and carried off his wife and five children into

the wilderness. They were taken and imprisoned, and,

according to a writer of that time, " should have been

killed," but they made their escape, and Simon, with a

band of Indians, came to Falmouth and shed the fii-st blood

here of the war, in the orchard of Anthony Brackett, who

lived on what is now known as the Deering farm, near

Back Cove, in the town of Deering. Brackett was com-

pelled to give himself up as a captive or be shot on the

spot. Nathaniel Mitton, a brother of Mrs. Brackett, was

killed, and Brackett's wife and five children taken captives.

The particulars of this attack on the settlement at Falmouth,

the engagement, and the escape of the prisoners, are given

further on, in the history of the first Indian war.

Kankuniagus and Worumbo were the two chiefs who,

with their band of Indians, fell upon Colonel Church on his

landing at Cusco, in September, 1600. Church had taken

Woruiubo's fort on the Androscoggin, about twenty-five

miles from its mouth, and among the prisoners were Kan-

karaagus' wife and sister and four children, and two children

of Worumbo. A few days after. Church landed at Casco,

and the Indians, who had hastened there and were waiting

in ambi'.sh, fell upon him by surprise, and were not beaten
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off for some time, aod then only by hard fighting. This

was on the 21st of September. Church had seven men

killed and twenty-four wounded, two of whom died in a

day or two after.*

Hopehood was a chief nearly as celebrated and as much

detested in his time as the chiefs of whom we have spoken.

He was chief of the Androicoggin tribe, often called the

Norridgewoekt, and was the son of Robiohood. Our first

notice of him is in Philip's war, at an attack on a house in

Newichewannock, now Berwick. Fifteen persons (all women

and children) were in the house, and Hopehood, with only

one besides himself (Andrew, of Saco, whom we have be-

fore mentioned), thought to surprise them, and would have

accomplished their purpose bat' for a young woman in the

house who held the door till all the others had made their

escape unobserved. He and hb companions hewed down

the door and knocked the. girl on the head, and, supposing

her to be dead, left; her. They took two children, whom a

fence had prevented from escaping, killed one, and carried

off the other alive. The young woman afterwards recov-

ered. This chief, and his Indians and French allies, de-

stroyed the settlement of Salmon Falls in January, 1 690,

taking two forts, reducing twenty-seven houses to ashes,

taking fifty-four prisoners, and burning two thousand do-

mestic animals in the bams which they set on fire.f

- Monquine, alias Natabanada, the son ofold Natawormett,

sagamore of the Kennebec River, sold to William Bradford

and others all the land on both sides of the river, " from

Cussenocke- upwards to Weasernunsicke," Aug. 8, 1618.

The signature to the deed is " Monquine, alias Dumhauda."

Then follows :
" We, Agodoademago, the sonne of Washe-

mett and Tassueke, the brother of Natanahada, do couv-

ent freely unto the sale to Bradford, Paddy, and others.'';];

Eenebis was a sachem, from whom it has been supposed

the name of the Kennebec River was derived. In 1649 he

sold to Christopher Lawson all the lands on the Kennebec,

up as high as Taconnet Falls, now Winslow. The latter

place was the residence of the great chief Essiminasqua.

The residence of Kennebis was upon Swan Island. This

island was purchased of Abbigadosset, in 1667, " by Hum-
phrey Davy, and afterwards claimed by Sir John Davy, a

sergeant-at-law."

CHAPTER lY.

CHABTBBS AITD LAND-QBAITTS.

Charter of 1620—Coanoil of Plymouth—SettlemcDt of the Pilgrinu

—

Grant to Sir WilliaiD Alexander^—Sir FerdinaDdo Gorges—Cspt.

Thomas Mnion—Grants by the Plymoath Council—Surrender of

the Charter to the King—Summary of Grants under the Charter

—

Character of the Early Settlements.

In 1620 a new charter was obtained of King James by

the Northern Company, bearing date November 3d. It

embraced the territory lying between the fortieth and forty-

eighth parallels of north latitude, including the country

* Letter of Col. Church to Governor Hinckley, of Plymouth,

t Belknap's History of New Hampshire.

X People of Plymouth.—William Poddy died in Boston. His grave-

stone irns dug out of the rubbish under the old State-House in 18it0.

from Philadelphia to the Bay of Chaleur, which empties

into the Gulf of St. Lawrence. The patentees were the

Duke of Lenox, the Marquises of Buckingham and Hamil-

ton, the Earls of Arundel and Warwick, Sir Ferdinando

Gorges, and thirty-four others, who were styled the council,

established at Plymouth, in the county of Devon, for the

planting, ruling, ordering, and governing of New England,

in America.

Under this patent were all the grants made which origi-

nally divided the country between the Hudson and the Pe-

nolwcot Rivers ; beyond these bounds the patent of 1 620

had no practical operation.

While these patentees were procuring a new charter, the

more successfully to prosecute their designs of private emolu-

ment, another company was arising of an entirely different

character, who, without concert with the patentees, or with-

out their concurrence, and it may even be said without any

design of their own, were to give the strongest impulse to the

colonization of New England, and to stamp their peculiar

features upon its future destinies. The English residents

at Leyden had determined to seek security and freedom of

worship in the wilderness of America, and in the summer

of this year commenced their voyage for the Hudson River.

But, either by design or accident, they fell short of their

destination, and arrived at Cape Cod on the 10th of No-

vember, 1620. In this neighborhood they resolved to re-

main, and having selected the spot which they named

Plymouth, they established there the first permanent set-

tlement that was made in New England. The French had

then a plantation at Port Royal, and the English had set-

tlements in Virginia, Bermuda, and Newfoundland. The

nearest plantation to them was the one at Port Royal.

On the 10th of September, 1621, the northeastern part

of the territory included in the charter to the Council of

Plymouth was granted by James I. to Sir William Alex-

ander.§ This was done by the consent of the company, as

Gorges, in his description of New England, declares. The

grant, to which the name of Nova Scotia was given, ex-

tended from Cape Sable north to the St. Lawrence ; thence

by the shore of that river and round by the sea to the

first point ; included Cape Breton and all the islands within

six leagues of the western, northern, and eastern parts,

and those within forty leagues south of Cape Sable. Sir

William was engaged in this adventure by becoming ac-

quainted with Capt. Mason, who a short time before had

returned from Newfoundland. In 1622, Sir William Alex-

ander subdued the French inhabitants within his grant,

carried them prisoners to Virginia, and planted a colony

there himself.||

New England being now brought into notice by the

respectability of the persons who had engaged in its cause,

and especially by the profits derived from the fish and fur

trade, the intercourse, with it was yearly increasing. lu

1621, ten or twelve ships from the west of England pro-

cured full cargoes of fish and fur; in 1622, thirty-five

ships ; in 1633, forty ships ; and in 1624, fifty ships were

engaged in the same trade. So great seems to have been

J 2 Prince, p. III.*

II
2 Has., p. .187, quoted by Willis.
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the excitement in this new channel of speculation that the

Pljmooth Company found it necessary to procure a procla-

mation from the king, bearing date Nov. 6, 1622, to pro-

vent " interloping and disorderly trading" upon the coast.*

It is alleged in the proclamation that persons without

authority committed intolerable abuses there, not only by

destroying timber and throwing their ballast into the

harbors of the islands, but by selling warlike implements

and ammunition to the natives, and teaching them their

use.

Aug. 10, 1622, the Council of Plymouth granted to Sir

Fcrdinando Gorges and Capt. John Mason, two of their

company, " all the lands situated between the rivers Merri-

mack and Sagadehock, extending back to the great lakes

and the river of Canada."f
In 1623 they sent over David Thompson, Edward and

William Hilton, and others, who commenced a plantation

upon the west side of the Piscataqua River, which was the

first settlement in New Hampshire, and the beginning of

the present town of Portsmouth.^ Gorges and Mason

continued their joint interest on the Piscataqua, having

procured a new patent in 1631, including all their improve-

ments on both sides of the river, until 1634, when they

made a division of their property ;§ Mason took the western

side of the river, and Gorges the eastern, and they each

procured distinct patents fur their respective portions, which

they afterwards separately pursued.

Gorges did not confine his attention exclusively to Pis-

cataqua, even while he continued a partner in -the Laconia

patent; for in February, 1623, we find that he had already

a plantation established upon the island of Monbegan.

This was probably for the accommodation of the fishermen
;

but it bad become of sufficient importance to draw thither

the persons settled in Massachusetts Bay for supplies.||

This plantation must have been commenced in 1621 or

1622, and was the Jirit which continued for any length

of time upon any part of the territory of Maine. Monbe-

gan is a solitary island, about twelve miles southeast of

Pemaquid Point, which is the nearest main land. From

this island the transition to the main was easy ; and from

the concourse of vessels to this neighborhood in the fishing

season, it might naturally be expected that here settlements

would be early formed. Such appears to have been the

fact, and we find that in 1625 a settlement was commenced

at New Harbor, on Pemaquid, which continued to increase

without interruption until the destructive war of 1675.

On the 15th of July, 1625, John Brown, of New Har-

bor, purchased of Capt. John Somerset and Unongoit, two

Indian sachems, for fifty skins, a tract of laud on Pemaquid,

extending eight miles by twenty-five, blether with Mus-

congus Island.^ The next year Abraham Sburt was'sent

over by Alderman Aldsworth and Giles Elbridge, merchants

of Bristol, as their agent, and was invested with power to

purchase Monbegan for them. This island then belonged

* Jeremiah Dummec's Mem., 1, 3d sea., Maaa. Uiet. Coll., p. 232.

t I Hutchinson, p. 285. Hub. N. E., p. 614.

i Pr. 133, An. of PorUmo.

J 1 Uelk., N. H. App.

li
Fr. 127, Morton's Mem., 109. ,

f Report of Mass. Com. on the Pemaq. Title, 1811, 107.

to Abraham Jennings, of Plymouth, of whose agent Shurt

purchased it for fifty pounds.

In 1626 the government of Plymouth colony established

a trading-house on Bagaduce Point, at the mouth of the

Penobscot, and first gave this name to that river. The

Indian name was Penobsceag, or Penobscook ;
the French

called it Pentaqueatte, or Pentegoet.** The Baron de St.

Castino afterwards erected his fort upon the site of the old

trading-house, and that spot, together with the adjacent

territory, still perpetuates the name of one of the most

persevering enemies the early colonists had to contend

with. In 1632 the French rifled this trading-house of

property to the value of about five hundred pounds sterling.

The same government, having obtained a patent on the

Kennebec, erected in 1628 a house for trade up the river,

and furnished it with corn and other commodities for sum-

mer and winter."}"!"

In 1628, Thomas Purchase settled upon land now in-

cluded within the limits of Brunswick, having obtained a

patent from the Plymouth Council. George Way was

associated with him in the patent, which included lands

lying on both sides of the Pejepscot, on the eastern end of

Androscoggin River, on the Kennebec River, and Casco

Bay.Jt

In 1628 the Massachusetts Company procured a charter

from the Council of Plymouth, and in June sent over Capt.

John Eodicott and a few associates to take possession of the

grant. They arrived in September at Naumkcag (Salem),

and laid the foundation of that respectable town and the

colony of Massachusetts.

In 1629, Aldsworth and Elbridge sent over to Shurt a

patent from the Council of I'lymouth for twelve tliousand

acres of land on Pemaquid, bounded north by a line druwu

from the head of the DumarLscotta to the head of the

Mnscongus River, and from thence to the sea, including

the islands within three leagues of the shore. Here was

commenced the first permanent settlement on the main

land within the territory of this State by any European

power. Thomas Elbridge, the son of Giles, the patentee,

came over a few years afterwards and held a court within

this patent, to which many of the inhabitants of Monhegan
and Damariscove repa'.ed, and made acknowledgment of

submission. This place, from its numerous harbors and

islands, possessed many advantages of trade as well as of

farming and fishing, and rapidly increased in population

and business. An additional grant was made to the same

persons in 1632, in which it is recited that the land is

" next adjoining to this place, where the people or servants

of said Giles and Robert are now settled, or have inhabited

for the space of three years last past."§§

On the 12th of February, 1630, the Council of Plymouth

made two grants on the Saco River, each being four miles

upon the sea, and extending eight miles into the country.

** Sullivan's Hist, of Maine, 36, 38, and 9 Moss. Hist. Coll., 209.

tf Pr. 62, 2d part.

iX History of Brunswick.

JJ In 1673 there were no less than one hundred and fifty-six families

east of Sagadahoc, and near one hundred fishing-vessels owned be-

tween Sagadahoc and St. George's River.

—

Sit. I>aci»' Statement to

the Council in 1675.
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The grant upon the west side of the river was made to

John Oldham and Richard Vines. Oldham had lived in

the country six years, partly within the Plymouth and

partly within the Massachusetts jurisdiction, and Vines had

become acquainted with the country by frequent voyages to

it, and spending one winter in the place where his patent

was situated. It is mentioned in the deed that the patentees

had undertaken to transport fifty persons there within seven

years, to plant and inhabit it. The conditions were com-

plied with, and Vines, who was the manager of the colony,

took possession, June 25, 1G30, and entered with zeal and

ability into the means of converting it into a source of

profit.

The patent upon the east side of the river was given to

Tliomas Lewis and Richard Bonighton. The patentees un-

dertook to transport fifty settlers there in seven years at

their own expense. Livery of seizin was given June 28,

1631, and the proprietors, in person, successfully prosecuted

the interest of their patent. Such were the beginnings of

the towns of Biddeford and Saco, and tiie lands continue

to be held under those patents to this day.

Oldham* never appears to have entered upon his grant.

Vines occupied it fifteen years, and sold it in 1 645, in which

year, or early the next, he wont to Barbadoes, where he

probably died. Lewis died on his estate previous to 1640,

without male issue. Bonighton continued to enjoy his por-

tion of the patent to a ripe old age, when he was gathered

to his fathers, leaving a large estate to his children.f

In 1630 the colony of Plymouth procured a new charter

from the council for a tract of lund fifteen miles on each

side of the Kennebec River, extending as far up as Cobbise-

contee. Under this grant they carried on trade with the

Indians upon the river for many years, and in 1 660 sold

the title for four hundred pounds sterling to Messrs. Tyng,

Brattle, Boies, and Winslow.J

March 13, 1630, a grant was made to John Beauchamp,

of London, and Thomas Levcrett, of Boston, England, of

ten leagues square, between Muscougus, Broad Bay, and

Penobscot Bay. Large preparations were immediately

made fur carrying on trade there, and agents were em-

ployed. This was originally called the Lincoln grant, and

afterwards the Waldo patent, a large part of it having

been held by Brigadier Waldo, to whose heirs it descended.

It now forms the county of Waldo.§

In the course of the year 1630 the Council of Plymouth

granted to John Dye and others forty miles square, lying be-

tween Cape Porpoise and Cape Elizabeth. This was named

the Province of Ligouia, though commonly known in early

times as the Plough patent, either from the ship called the

" Plough," which brought over the first company, or from

the circumstance that the adventurers were generally hus-

bandmen, while the usual employment of others upon the

coast was fishing and commerce. The first company ar-

rived at Winter Harbor, in the summer of 1G31, in the ship

" Plough," but, not being satisfied with the prospects of the

^ Oldham was killea by the Indians off Block Island, July 20, 1C36.

— Wiiithfop.

t Folsum's HiFt. of Saco and Biddcfjrd.

X Archives of Maine Historical Society.

J Willis' Ilist. of Portland.

country, most of them continued on tc) Boston and Water-

town, where they were soon broken up and scattered. In

1643 the grant fell into the hands of Alexander Rigby,

under whom a government was established. This subject

will be adverted to more particularly hereafter. The claim

to soil and sovereignty in that province occupies consider-

able space in the history of this portion of Maine, and gave

birth to a conflict with Gorges, which was only settled by the

submission of all parties to the government of Jlassachu-

setts.

The next grant we meet with was that of Black Point,

now part of Scarborough, to Thomas Cammock, dated Nov.

1 , 1 63 1 . This was made also by the Council of Plymouth,

and extended from Black Point River to the Spurwink, and

back one mile from the sea. Cammock is supposed to have

been a relative of the Earl of Warwick, one of the members

of the council. He was one of the company sent to Pis-

cataqua, and was there as early as 1631. Possession of his

grant, which included Stratton"s Islands, lying about a mile

from tho Point, was given to him by Capt. Walter Neale,

May 23, 1633.|| The patent was confirmed to him by

Gorges in 1640; the same year he gave a deed of it to

Henry Jocelyn, to take eflFect after the death of himself

and wife. He died in the West Indies in 1643 ; Jocelyn

immediately entered upon possession, and married 3Iurga-

rct, his widow. The tract is now hold under this title, by

conveyances from Jocelyn to Joshua Scottow, July 6, 1666.

Dec. 1, 1631, the Council of Plymouth granted to

Robert Trelawny and Moses Goodyeare, merchants of

Plymouth, England, the tract lying between Cammock's

patent and " the Bay and River of Casco, extending north-

wards into the main land as far as the limits and bounds of

the lands granted to the said Capt. Thomas Cammock do

and ought to extend."^ This included Cape Elizabeth, but

Winter, the agent of the proprietors, contended for a larger

extent north than seemed to be within a just construction

of the grant, which, under the management of Winter's at-

torney and executor, Robert Jordan, led to a severe contest

of many years' continuance.** The limit claimed included

nearly all the ancient town of Falmouth and part of Gor-

ham. In 1640 the court decided that Forc River was the

true northern boundary of the grant, being the " Ciisco

River" named in the patent ; but a certificate was soon

after obtained and sent to England, founded, as was

claimed, on the statements of the Indians and ancient set-

tlers, that the court had made a mistake, and that the Pre-

sempscot was the true Casco River. Thb again revived

the controvei'sy, and kept open a most unhappy quarrel,

which lasted during the lives of the first settlers.ff

In 1 634, Edward Godfrey procured of the Council of

Ply&iouth a grant to himself and associates, Samuel Mav-

eriok, William Hooke, and others, of twelve thousand

acres of laud on the north side of the river Agamenticus.

II
York Records.

% Ibid.

*^ See History of Cape Elizabeth, in this rolume.

ft There is n traditioD in the Jordan family that tho wife of a son

of the first Robert Jordan, needing some papers to keep her pastry

from burning, took from a chest of papers Trelawny "a patent and used

it for that purpose, which thus perished, like many other ancient and
valuable manuscripts.
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The sarae year another grant was made of twelve thousand

acres on the west side of the river to Ferdinando Gorges,

grandson of Sir Ferdinando. Edward Godfrey had settled

at Agamcnticus, now York, in 1632, two years before his

patent was obtained. He was for several years an agent

for the Laconia Company ut I'iscataqua. After he estab-

lished himself in Maine his activity and intelligence soon

brought him into notice. Sir Ferdinando Gorges appointed

him a counselor of his province in 16-tO ; in 1642 he was

mayor of Gorgiana. Ho was chosen Governor by the

people in the western part of the province in 1649, and

was the first in Alaine who exercised that office by election.

He died about 1661.

We have now touched briefly upon all the grants and

settlements made upon the coast of Maine previous to 1634.

It will be perceived that the grants were all obtained from

the Council of Plymouth, notwithstanding the patent to

Gorges and Mason of 1622, which extended from the Mor-

rimac to Sagadahoc, and nominally covered the whole ter-

ritory. From this circumstance it would be natural to

conclude that the patent of 1622 was unexecuted, and that

no title passed by it ; and it appears by the opinion of Sir

William Jones, the attorney-general in 1679, that the

" grant was only sealed with the council seal, unwitnessed, no

seisin endorsed, nor possession ever given with the grant."*

This idea is corroborated by the facts that Gorges was sit-

ting at the council board, and was a party to all the subse-

quent conveyances which parcelled out the land within the

limits of that patent ; and. that both he and Mason received

a grant with six or seven others in 1631 of a small tract

on both sides of the Piscataqua, which included the im-

provements they had previously made there. It the patent

of 1622 were valid, it would have been wholly useless to

have procured another within the same limits.

The settlements which commenced at Plymouth in 1620

now dotted the whole coast from Cape Cod to the Bay of

Fundy ; they were indeed few and far between, but an in-

tercourse was kept up among them by their common weak-

ness and wants, as well as for the purposes of trade. And
although Massachusetts was the most powerful of the whole,

and from motives of religious zeal, no doubt sincere, dis-

countenanced the less strict settlers upon this coast, who on

such matters differed from them both in doctrine and prac-

tice, she fain would profit by their fish and fur, which

enabled her to procure from Europe articles oP»the first

necessity for the infant colony.

John Jocelyn, the traveler, who visited his brother

Henry at Black Point in 1638, sailed along the coast from

Boston to that place in July. He says, " Having refreshed

myself for a day or two upon Noddle's Island, I crossed

the bay in a small boat to Boston, which was then rather

a village than a town, there being not above twenty or

thirty houses."f
" The 12th day of July I took boat for

the eastern parts of the country, and arrived ut Black Point,

in the province of Maine, which is 150 miles from Boston,

the 14tb day. The country all along, as I sailed, being no

other than a mere wilderness, here and there by the sea-side

a few scattered plantations with as few houses."|

» 1 Hutch., 285; Hub., 614.

t Ibid., 20.

4

f Jocelyn's Voyogea, 19.

Tlie Council of Plymouth continued their operations until

June 7, 1635, when they surrendered their charter to the

king. During their existence as a corporation, a period of

fourteen years and seven months, they were not inactive.

In 1621 they relinquished a large proportion of their patent

in favor of Sir William Alexander, and assented to a con-

veyance by the king to him of all the territory lying east

of the river St. Croix and south of the St. Lawrence,

embracing- the provinces of Nova Scotia and New Bruns-

wick.

It may not be amiss to recapitulate here in a brief man-

ner the various grants of the Plymouth Council within the

limits of the State of Maine. They are as follows

:

1. 1622, Aug. 10, to Sir Ferdinando Gorges and Capt.

John Mason, from Merrimuc to the Kennebec Rivers^

2. 1626, Nov. 6, to the Plymouth adventurers a tract on

Kennebec River, which was enlarged in 1628.

3. 1630, Jan. 13, to William Bradford and his asssociates,

fifleen miles on each side of the Kennebec River, extend-

ing up to Cobbisecontee ; this grant Bradford transferred

to the Plymouth adventurers.

4. 1630, Feb. 12, to John Oldham and Richard Vines,

four miles by eight miles on the west side of the Saco River

at its mouth.

5. 1630, Feb. 12, to Thomas Lewis and Richard

Bonighton, four miles by eight, on the east side of Saco

River at the mouth.

6. 1630, March 13, to John Beauchamp and Thomas

Leverett, ten leagues square, on the west side of Penobscot

River, called the Lincoln or Waldo patent.

7. 1630, to John Dy and others the province of Ligonia,

or the Plough patent, lying between Cape Porpoise and

Cape Elizabeth, and extending forty miles from the coast.

8. 1631, Nov. 1, to Thomas Cammock, Black Point,

fifleen hundred acres.

9. 1631, Dec. 1, to Robert Treluwny and Moses Good-

yeare, a tract between SpurwinTc River and Casco Bay.

10. 1632, June 6, to Thomas Purchase and George

Way, a tract known as Pejepscot, lying between the Ken-

nebec and Androscoggin Rivers and Casco Bay, including

the present town of Brunswick.

11. 1632, to Robert Aldswortk and Giles Elbridge, a

tract on Pemaquid Point.

12. 1634, to Edward Godfrey and others, twelve thou-

sand acres on the river Agamenticus.

13. 1634, to Ferdinando Gorges twelve thousand acres,

on the west side of the river Agamenticus.

We take the following quaint description of the settle-

ments in Maine in 1670, five years before the first outbreak

of Indian hostilities, from " John Jocelyn's Voyages :"§

" Town! there are not many in this province. Kittery, situated not

far from Posoatawo^, is the most populous. Kext to that, eastward,

is seated by a river near the sea Gonjiaua, a majorultte, and the

metropolitan of the province. Further to the eastward is the town of

Wellt. Cape Porpns, eastward of that, where there is a town of the

same name, the bouses scatteringly built; all these towns have store of

salt and fresh marsh, with arable land, and all well stocked with

cattle. About 8 or nine miles to the Eastward of Cape Porpiu is

^Villter Harbour, a noted place for fishers ; here they have many
stages. Saco adjoins to this, and both make one scattering town of

J Jocelyn returned to England in 1671.
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large «xtvnr, well stored with cattle, arable land and marsheii, and a

^aw-mill. Six miles to the eastward of Saco, and 40 miles from

Oeorgiana, U seitted (be town of B/nck Point, consisting of about 50

dwelling-houEes, and u magazine, or dugnunej scntteriugly built; they

hare store ofneat and horses, of sheep nour upon 7 or 800, much arable

and marsh, salt and fresh, and a corn-mill. To the southward of the

/VtiK (upon which are stages for fishermen) lie two small islands;

beyond the Point, North eastward runs the rirer of Spurwink. . . .

" Fojr miles from Black Point, one mile from Spurwink River, east-

ward, lyeth Richmond's Island, whose long, is 317° 30" and lat. 43"

34'; it is 3 miles in circumference, and hath a passable and grarelly

ford on ibe north side, between the main and the sea at low water;

here are found esoellect whetstones, and here likewise are stages fur

fishermen. Nine miles eastward of Black Point lieth scatteringly the

town of Ctt^co upon a large bay, stored with cattle, sheep, swine,

abundance of marsh and amble land, a corn-mill or two, with stages

for fishermen. Further eastward is the town of Eenncbeo, seated upon

the river. Fui thcr yet eastward is Sagndebook, where there are many
bouses scattering, and all along stages for fishermen ; these two are

stored with cattle and com lands. . . .

"Twelve miles from Casco Bay, and passable for men and horsop, is

a lake a&llei by the Indians Sebag, on the brink thereof, at one end,

is the famous rock shaped like a moo§e deer or helk, diaphnnouny and

called the Moose Rock. Hero are found stones like chrystnis and

lapis specularis or mnscoria glass, both white and purple. . . .

" From Sagudehock to Nora. Scotia is called the Duke of York's

province, here Pomaquid, Moutinicus, Mobegan, Capeanawhagen,

where Capt. Smith fisht for whales,Muscataquid, all filled with dwell-

ing-houses and stages I'ur fishermeu, and have ]tlenty uf cattle, arable

land, and marsbed."

Mr. Jocelyn also in the same book gives the following

account of the occupations and character of the ancient in-

habitants, page 207

:

"The people in the Province of Maine may be divided into magis-

trates, husbandmen or planters, and fishermen; of the magistrates

some be royalists, the rest perverse spirits, the like are the planners

and fishers, of which some be planters and fishers both, others meor

fishers.

" Handicraftsmen there are but few, the tumelor or cooper, smiths

and carpenters are best welcome amongst them, shopkeepers there are

none, being supplied by the Massachusetts merchants with all things

they stand in need of. English shoes are sold for 8 or 9 shits, a pair,

worsted stockings of 3«. Qd. for 7 and 8«. a pair, Douglas, that is sold

in England fur I or 2 and 20 pence an ell, for 48. a yard, serges of 2

or 3«. a yard, fur 6 and 7 shillings.

" They have a custom of taking tobacco, sleeping at noon, sitting

long at meals, sometimes four times a day, and now and then drink-

ing a dram of the bottle extraordinarily * *. They feed generally

upon as good flesh, beef, pork, mutton, fowl, and fish as any in the

world besides. Their servants, which are for the most part English,

will not work under a half a crown a day, when they are out of their

time, although it be for to make hay, and for less I do not see how

they can, by reason of the deamesa of clothing. If they hire them

by the year, they pay them 14 or £15 at the year's end, in oorn, cat-

tle, and fish ; some of these prove excellent fowlers, bringing in as

many aa will maintain their master's bouse, besides the profit that

accrues by their feathers.

'^The fishermen take yearly upon the coast many hundred kentals

of cod, hake, haddock, pulluck, Ac, <fi;c., which they split, salt, and

dry at their stages, making three voyages in a year. When they

share their fish, which is at the end of every voyage, they separate

the best from the worst, which is known when it is clear like a lanthom

horn and without spots; the second sort they call refuse fish, ihiit is,

such as is SHlt-burnt, spotted, rotten, and carelessly ordered; these

they put off to the Massachusetts merchants, the merchantable for 30

and 32 reals a kental (112 pounds), the refuse for 9and 10«. the quin-

tal. The merchants send the merchantable fish to Lisbon, Bilbo, Bur-

deaux, Marsilcs, Talloon, Rochel, Roan, and other cities of France,

to the Canaries with claw-board and pipe-staves, which is there and

at the Charibs a prime commodity. The refuse fish they put off at

the Charib Islands, Barbadoes, Jamaica, <tc., who feeii their Negros

with it.

" To every shallop belong four fishermen, a master or steersman, a

Midshipman, and a foremast man and a shore man, who washes it out

of the salt nod dries it upon bundles and tends their cookery.

" Thesje often get in one voyage 8 or £U a man, but it doth some of

them little good, for the merchant to increase his gain by putting off

his commodity in the middest of their voyages, and at the end thereof

comes in with a walking tavern, a bark laden with-the legitimate bloud

of the rich grape, which they bring from Phial, Madera, Canaries,

with brandy, rum, the Barbadoes strong water, and tobacco; coming

a shore he gives them a taster or two, which ?o charms them, that for

no persuasions will they go to sea, although fair and seasonable

weather for 2 or 3 days, nay, sometimes a whole week, till they are

wearied with drinking, taking a shore 2 or 3 hhds. of wine and rum

to drink when the merchant is gone.

" They often have to run in debt for their necessaries on account of

the lavish expense fur drink, and are constrained to mortgage their

plantations, if they have any, and the merchant, when the time is ex-

pired, is sure to turn them out of house aud home, seiiing their plan-

tations and cattle, poor creatures, to look out for a new habitation in

some remote place, where they begin the world again.

"Of the same nature are the people in the Duke's province, who,

not long before I left the country, petitioned Mass. to take them into

their government'."

CHAPTER V.

ESTABLISHMENT OF CIVIL QOVEKNMENT.

Sovereignty not granted by the Original Charter—Right of Govern-

ment secured by Gorges—Province of New Somersetshire—'First

Generiil Court of Maine—Province of Ligonia— Effect of the Civil

War in England—Richard Vines—George Cleaves—Alexander

Rigby—The Governments of Gorges and Rigby Overthrown—In-

dependent Government under Edward Godfrey—Subrois&ion to the

Authority of Massachusetts.

The patent granted by James II. to the " Council for the

Affairs of New England," Nov. 3, 1620, contained powers

of civil government to the council and their successors, but

it soon became a question whether these powers were trans-

ferable, with a conveyance of any part of the territory

within the limits of the grant. This point, it is believed,

was never directly decided, although it may be inferred

from the practice of some of the patentees that the general

impression was adverse to such transfer. The Slassachu-

setts patentees and Sir Ferdinando Gorges each procured a

confirmation of their grants from the king, with power to

govern their respective pruviuces. But with regard to

Alason's grant of New Hampshire, which was not confirmed

by the king, the two chief justices of England agreed that

it conveyed no right of sovereignty, the great Council of

Plymouth, under whom he claimed, " having oo power to

transfer government to any."

The surrender of their charter by the Plymouth Council

in June, 1635, prepared the way for the establishment of

civil government in the province. On the 25th of April,

1635, a short time before the surrender of their charter,

the council had a meeting at Whitehall, in London, at

which they prepared a declaration of the causes which in-

duced them to take this important step, as follows

:

" For as much as we have found by a. long experience that the

faithful endeavors of some of us that have sought the plantation of

New England, have not been without frequent and inevitable troubles

as companions to oar undertakings from our first discovery of that

coast to the present, by great charges and unnecessary expenses

and also by depriving us of divers of our dear friends and faithful

servants employed in that work abroad, whilst ourselves at home were
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assaulted with sharp litigious questions, both befuro tbo privy council

and the parliament, hnring been presented as a grievance to the com-

monwealth. The affections of the multitude were thereby disheart-

ened, and so mnch the more by how much it pleased God about that

time to bereare us of the most noble and principal props thereof, as

the Duke of Lenox, Marqnii of Hamilton, and many other strong

stays to the weak building. Then followed the claim of the French

ambassador, taking adrantage of the divisions of the sea-coast between

ourselves, to whom we made a just and satisfaetory answer. Nerer-

thclfss, these crosses did not draw upon us such a disheartened weak-

ness a« there only remained a carcass, in a manner breathless, till the

end of the lost parliament, when the Massachusetts Company obtained

their charter, and afterwards thrust out the undertakers and tenants

of some of the council ; withal riding over the heads of those lords

and others that had their portion usigned unto them in their late

majesty's province."

After a further eoameratioD of grievances they soy they

found matters " in so desperate a case," by reason of the

complaints made against them and the procedure in Massa-

chusetts, they saw no remedy for " what was brought to

ruin," but for his majesty to take the whole business into

his own hands.

''After all these troubles, and upon these considerations, it is now
resolved that the patent shall be surrendered unto his majesty."

In the same instrument they provided for all existing

titles made by them, and prayed the king to confirm the

grants which they had divided among themselves. These

were recorded in a book which accompanied the surrender.

In that division the territory now called Maine was dis-

tributed to three of the patentees ; Gorges' share extended

from the Piscataqua to the Kennebec, or Sagadahoc ; an-

other portion was between Sagadahoc and Femaquid ; the

third from the Pemaquid to the St. Croix.* The propri-

etors of the two latter-divisions are not named, and there

appears to be no evidence that any occupation was had of

them under this title. The division among the patentees

was made by lot, on the 3d of February, 1635, the grant

was executed April 22d,f and on the 7th of June following

the president and council made a full transfer of their char-

ter to the king. They at the same time urged upon the

king the necessity of taking away the charter of Massachu-

setts, and of appointing from among the lords proprietors a

general governor for the whole territory, which probably

would have been done but for the breaking out of the civil

war.

We have only now to follow, the history of one division

of this great charter,—that granted to Sir Ferdinando

Gorges, which embraced the original province of Maine,

extending from the Piscataqua to the Kennebec River.

Gorges lost no time in improving his acquisition. He gave

to his province the name of New Somersetshire, from the

county in England in which his estates were situated, and

the same year sent over as Governor his nephew, Capt.

William Gorges.| The proprietor could establish no civil

government without authority from the king, and Gorges

was therefore indefatigable in procuring the necessary

requisite for perfecting his title to the sovereignty, as well

as to the soil of his province. His labors for this object

were crowned with complete success April 3, 1639
; but

* Gorges' Narrative.

t 1 Uai., 383; Doug., 387.

i Jocelyn, 1 Chron. Chalm. Annnls, 473.

prior to this William Gorges had arrived in the country,

and held at Saco, March 21, 1636, the first court in this

State of which we have any record. The members of this

court are styled commissioners, and the record commences

as follows:

"At a meeting of the commissioners at the bouse of Capt. Richard

Bunighton. in Saco, this 2Ist day of March, 1836, present Capt. Rich-

ard Bonighton, Capt. William Gorges, Cnpt. Thomas Cnmmock, Mr.

ITenry Jocelyn, Gent., Mr. Thomas Purchase, Mr. Edward Godfrey,

Mr. Thomas Lewis, Gent."J

" At this court four persons were fined five shillings each

for getting drunk. George Cleaves{{ was fined five shillings

for rash speeches, and ' Mr. John Bonighton^f for inconti-

nency with Ann, his father's servant, is fined forty shillings,

and said Ann twenty shillings, and he to keep the child.'

The jurisdiction of this court seems to have been co-exten-

sive with the limits of the province, the commissioners

present being from each extremity, and from the centre. It

does not appear that it was held by virtue of any commis-

sion, although that fact may be reasonably inferred. We
have been able to find no record of this court later than

1637 ; but the few memoranda that have been preserved

prove to us that the early settlers, notwithstanding "the

smallness of their number, were influenced by the same

litigious spirit and the same passions which characterize a

denser population, and a more refined state of society. Ac-

tions of trespass and slander occur frequently on the

record.'''*

" In 1636 the court passed an order, ' That every planter

or inhabitant shall do his best endeavor to apprehend or kill

any Indian that hath been known to murder any English,

kill their cattle, or in any way spoil their goods, or do them

violence, and will not make them satisfaction.' While they

were thus endeavoring to protect their own rights from the

aggression of the natives, they were not unmindful of the

duties they owed that race ; and the next year the same

court ordered that Arthur Brown and Mr. Arthur Mac-

worth make John Cosinsfj" give full satisfaction to an Indian

for a wrong done him.

" What sort of government or civil regulation existed,

previous to the establbhment of this court, we have no

means of determining. Probably each plantation regulated

its own affairs and managed its own police without aid from

or communication with the others. The usual mode in the

other colonies, in absence of higher authority, was by

agreement among the settlers, in writing, called a combina-

tion. Such was the course adopted at Plymouth, at Pis-

cataqua, and in the western part of Maine in 1649 ; and it

§ Cammock and Jocelyn lived at Black Point, now Scarborough
;

Purchase lived at Pejepscot, now Brunswick ; Godfrey, at Agamenti-

ous, now York ; Lewis, at Winter Harbor, near the present Biddefunl

Pool.

II
We find this name spelled Gleevet by Mr. Willis, but other au-

thorities and the uniform modem spelling give it as above.

^ John Bonighton was the son of Richard ; he was- notorious for

turbulence and insubordination during his life.

«» Willis' Hist. Port.

ff Cosins was born 1596; he lived on an island near the mouth of

Royall's River, in North Yarmouth, which be bought of Richard

Vinos, 1645, and which still bears his name, until be was driven off

in the war of 1676. He moved to York, where ho died at a very ad-

vanced nge, after 16^3.
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is believed, from the fullowing record, that this was done

at Winter Harbor

:

"'Feb. 7, 1630. It ia ordered that Mr. Thomas Lewis shall appear

the Dext court-da; at the now dwelling-boiue of Thomaa Williamg,

there to answer hia contempt, and to shew cause why he will not de-

lirer up the cnmbhtatiim belonging to us, and to iinswer such actions

as are commenced against him,'

" In the settlement upon the Neck, and at the mouth of

Presumpscott River, the number of inhabitants was so

small, that, connected as the persons in each were to its

head, there was probably no call for the exercise of civil

authority before the existence of courts here. And in re-

gard to the plantation on Richmond's Island, we may sup-

pose that Winter, nnderhis general authority, controlled all

ita affairs.

" It appears by the records of the earliest court, that the

forma of the trial by jury were observed, which have ever

since continued, although in the early stages of our history,

more power over issues of fact was assumed and exercised

by the court than is consistent with modern practice.

" In the confirmation of Gorges' title by the king, in

1639, powers ofgovernment were conferred almost absolute.*

In this charter, the name it now bears, was first bestowed

in honor of the king's wife, who held a province of that

name in France. It is described as extending from the

Piscataqoa River to the Kennebec, and up those rivers

to their furthest heads, or until one hundred and twenty

miles were completed, with all the islands within five leagues

of the coast. The religion of the Church of England was

established as the religion of the province. The charter

conferred upon Gorges an unlimited power of appointment

to office : to make laws with the assent of the majority of

the freeholders ; to establish courts from which an appeal

laid to himself; to raise troops, build cities, raise a revenue

from customs, establish a navy, exercise admiralty jurisdic-

tion, erect manors, and exclude whom he chose from the

province. Such powers were never before granted by any

government to any individual, and he succeeded in procur-

ing them by the most untiring efforts, all the other mem-

bers of the council having failed to accomplish a similar

object. His grandson, Ferdinando, in his account of Ainer-

ica,f says,

—

"
' Be no sooner had this province settled upon him, but he gave

public notice that if any would undertake by himself and his asso-

ciates, to transport a competent number of inhabitants to plant in

any of his limits, he would assign unto him or them such a proportion

of land as shonld in reason satisfy them, reserving only to himself a

small high rent as two shillings or two shillings six pence for a hun-

dred acres per annum.'

" The following extract, from Sir F. Gorges' narrative,

will show the manner in which he regulated the admin-

isbration of the province

:

"'First, I divided the whole into eight bailiwicks or counties, and

those again into sixteen several hundreds, consequently into parishes

and tythinga as people did increase and the provinces were inhabited.

The form of government : 1st. In my absence I assigned one for my
lieutenant or deputy, to whom I adjoined a chancellor far the deter-

mination of all differences arising between party and party, for meum

and tuum, only next to him, I ordained a treasurer for receipt of the

public revenue ; to them I added a marshal for the managing the

militia, who hath for his lieutenant a judge-marshal and other officers

to the marshal court, where is to be determined nil criminal and cap-
ital matters, with other misdemeanors or contentions for mutters of
honor and the like. To these I appointed an admiral with his lieuten-

ant or judge for the ordering and determining of maritime causes.

Next, I ordered a master of the ordinance, whose office is to take

charge of all the public stores belonging to the militia, both for sea

and land
; to this I join a secretary for the public service of myself

and council. These are the standing councillors, to whom is added
eight drputiet, to be elected by the freeholders of the several counties,

as councillors for the state of the country, who are authorized by

virtue of their places to sit in any of the aforesaid courts, and to be

assistants to the president thereof.' |

" This magnificent outline was never filled up ; the mate-

rials were lamentably deficient. Gorges proceeded on the

2d September, 1639, to appoint his officers, and granted a

commission at that time to Sir Thomas Jocclyn, Richard

Vines, P^., his steward-general, Francis Champemoon,§

Esq., his nephew, Henry Jocelyn and Richard Bonightoo,

Esquires, William Hooke,|| and Edward Godfrey, Gent., as

counselors, for the due execution of justice in his province,

and establisilied in the same commission certain ordinances

for their regulation.^ Another commission was issued by

him on the 10th of iMarch following, in which the name of

Thomas Gor<ie3, whom he styles his cousin, is substituted

for Sir T. Jocelyn, but similar in other respects to the

former. He gives as a rea.son for the new commission the

uncertainty whether the other arrived, and his desire that

justice might be duly executed in the province. The first

commission did arrive, and a general court was held under

it, at Saco, June 25, 1640,** before Thomas Gorges reached

the country. This was the first general court that ever as-

sembled in Maine, and consisted of ' Richard Vines, Rich-

ard Bonighton, and Henry Jocelyn,. Esquires, and Edward

Godfrey, Gent., counselors unto Sir Ferdinando Gorges,

Kt., proprietor of this province for the due execution of

justice here.' It does not appear that any deputies were

present. The following officers were sworn at this court,

viz., Vines, Bonighton, Jocelyn, and Godfrey, as counsel-

ors, Roger Garde, register, Robert Sanky, provost-marshal,

Thomas P]lkins, under-marshal, Nicholas Frost, constable

of Piscataqua, Mr. Michael Mitton, constable of Casco, and

John Wilkinson, constable of Black Point. This court had
jurisdiction over all matters of a civil or criminal nature

arising within the province. At the first session there were

eighteen entries of civil actions and nine complaints.

" Thomas Gorges arrived in the course of the summer

;

Winthropft says of him that ' he was a young gentleman of

the Inns of court, a kinsman of Sir F. Gorges, and sent

by him with a commission for the government of his prov-

• Hai„ i. 442,
f-

Ibid., 49.

% Narrative, p. 46. This narrative was written in 1640, and pub-
lished by his grandson in 1658 ; he also says in it (p. 50) : " I have
not sped so ill, I thank my God for it, but I have a house and home
there, and some necessary means of profit by my saw-mills and corn-
mills, besidiB some annual receipts, sufficient to lay the foundation of
greater mutters now the government is established." The unfortunate
knight did not anticipate so soon being deprived of his possessions,
and stripped of all his golden prospects.

J Champernoon lived in Kittery.

II
William Hooke lived in Agamcnticus or Kittery. Sir Thomas

Jocelyn, I think, never came to this country. I find no subsequent
mention of him.

^ Sull., Appcn.

" Y. Reo.

ft 2 Wiuth., 9.
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ince of Somersetshire. He was sober and well disposed,

and was verj careful to take advice of our magisti-ates how

to maoage his affairs.' He held his first court at Saco,

Sept. 8, 1640, assisted by the counselors before mentioned.*

At this session there were pending twentj-eight civil actions,

of which nine were jury trials ; and thirteen indictments,

which were tried by the court without the intervention of

a jury ; four of them were against George Burdett, minister

of Agamenticus, for adultery, breach of the peace, and in-

continency, and what appears singular, Burdett recovered

judgment in two actions for slander against persons for re-

porting the very facts for which he was at the same court

found guilty and punished. The court passed an order

that the General Court should be held at Saco every year,

on the 25th of June ; they also divided the province into

two parts, one extending from the Piscataqua to Kcnne-

bnnk ; the other from Kennebunk to Sagadahoc ; and in

each division established an inferior court, to be held three

times a year, which had cognizance of all cases except

' pleas of land, felonies of death, and treason.' An order

also was passed that all the inhabitants ' who have any

children unbaptized should have them baptized as soon as

Tiny minister is settled in any of their plantations.'

" The government seemed now to have been placed on a

respectable footing, and to have afforded hope of perma-

nency; but in 1642 the civil war broke out in England,

the influence of which extended to the colonies, and de-

stroyed all that Goi^es had so long labored to establish.

He was a firm Episcopalian and royalist, and joined the

king's party with the same zeal which had governed all his

former life ; although he was more than seventy years old,

he did not hesitate to buckle on his armor and trust him-

self once more to the chance of war in defense of his prin-

ciples and the person of the king. But interested individ-

uals were not idle to take advantage of this state of things

to aggrandize themselves, and to gratify feelings of jealousy

and hatred against those who were unfriendly to them or

stood in their way. Among such, circumstantial evidence

would seem to place George Cleaves. Early in 1643 we

find him in England, and the 7th of April of that year,f

Col. Alexander Bigby, an ardent republican, and a member

of parliament, purchased of the surviving proprietors of the

province of Ligonia, or a part of them, a conveyance of

their charter. It is inferred that he was stimulated to this

undertaking by Cleaves. Cleaves probably took advantage

of political prejudices in England, to gain power in the

province for himself; he had not been noticed by Gorges

among the officers of his government ; and with Trelawny

and his agent he had openly quarrelled. He therefore

addressed himself to Rigby, who had warmly espoused the

republican side, and no doubt persuaded him to engage in

the speculation of purchasing Ligonia, which was a dor-

mant-title, and under existing circumstances, but a nominal

interest, in the hope that by the aid of political machinery

it might be elevated to a real and valuable estate. We are

inclined to the opinion that Cleaves was active in this meas-

ure, because he was appointed by Rigby his first deputy

for the government of the province, and because he suc-

• T. Rcc. t Sal., 312.

ccedcd in obtaining a confirmation from him of the valuable

grant in Falmouth, originally made to him by Gorges in

1637. Another circumstance which throws su.«picion upon

Cleaves, is an attempt upon the character of Richard Vines,

the leading supporter of Gorges. On the 28th of April,

1643, he procured a commission from the parliament,

directed to Governor Winthrop, Arthur Macworth, Henry

Bode,| and others, to examine into certain articles ex-

hibited by him to parliament against Vines. It appeared

at the court held at Saco in October, 1645, that Cleaves

had himself affixed the names of the principal planters, viz.,

Macworth, Watts, Alger, Hamans, West, Wadleigh, Wear,

Robinson, etc., to the petition to parliament without any

authority from them, and which they severally, under oath

in court, disclaimed ; declaring ' that they neither saw nor

knew of said articles until the said George Cleaves did come

last out of England,' and that they ' could not testify any

such things as are exhibited in the said petition.' It does not

appear thatGovernor Winthrop accepted the commission, and

Macworth and Bode both refused to act. Cleaves arrived

at Boston, in 1643, with his commission from Rigby, to

act as his deputy in the government of Ligonia.§ Knowing

that he should have to contend against an authority already

established, he petitioned the General Court of Massachu-

setts to afford him their protection. This they declined

doing, but were willing that the Governor should write an

unofficial letter in his favor. Tiioy wished probably to

render what assistance they could to a representative of the

popular party in England, without involving themselves in

the result of its ill success. The letter of the Governor did

not have the desired effect of procuring the submission of

Gorges' friends to the authority of Cleaves; for when

Cleaves proclaimed his commission at Casco, and called a

court there, Vines, the deputy of Gorges, opposed his pro-

ceeding, and called a court at S;<co. The inhabitants, of

course, divided, tliose of Casco principally joined Cleaves,

although some dissented, as appears by ati order of the

court, held at Saco, October, 1645, assuring them of protec-

tion. ||
Vines was resolutely supported by Macworth, in

Casco, and, it may be supposed, by the principal inhabi-

tants of Saco and Black Point, and he was elected deputy

Governor for the following year. In this juncture. Cleaves

wrote to Vines that he would submit the decision of

the question, as to jurisdiction, to the government of

Massachusetts, until a final determination could be had

from England ; but Vines not only declined the arbitration,

but imprisoned Richard Tucker, who was the bearer of the

communication, and required a bond for his appearance at

court and his good behavior, before he released him. Upon

this violence, Cleaves and his party, about thirty in number,

wrote to the Governor of Massachusetts for assistance, and'

offered themselves as parties to the confederacy of the

united colonies. The Governor returned an answer un-

l Bode lived in Wells.

5 2 Winlh., 154; Hub., 36S.

[|

" Ordered by joint congent that we will aid and protect the in-

babitan's of Casoo Ba; as namely, Mr. Arthur Macworth and all

etbera in confcderaoy with u> there, and their eftAtea from all oppo-

sition, wrong, and injury, that may be offered them by Mr. Qeorge

Cleaves or any under him." Y. Eeo.

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found
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favorable to their claim for admission to the confederacy,

objecting that ' they had an order not to receive any but

such as were in a church way.'* Afterward, in April,

1644, Vines went to Boston with a letter from the com-

missioners of Sir F. Gorges, and between twenty and thirty

other inhabitants of the province ; but without effect ; they

would render aid to neither party : and although their pre-

dilections were undoubtedly on the side of Rigby, with

their usual cautions policy they withheld themselves from

any interference in the disputes here, recommending both

parties to live in peace, until the controversy should be

definitively settled by the authorities in England. Cleaves

continued to maintain a feeble sway, and must eventually

have submitted to the authority of Gorges, had not the

party of Rigby been triumphant in England ; the distress

to which he was reduced will appear from his letter to the

government of Massachusetts of July 3, 1645 :

"
' To the honoured govemoar and deputy governour, imd court of

awia'anti of the Maseocbusotti colony, there. Hononn-d sin, uiny it

please you, 1 have lately received from Mr. Rigby, letters uf instruc-

tion and advice to proceed in the government of Ligonia, and because

we are opposed by Mr. Vines and others, his confederates, that we

could nut proceed according to our instructions, and being daily

threatened, and are still in danger of our lives, and also to have our-

selves seized on by them for not submitting to a pretended authority

to them given by Sir F. Oorges, without any lanful commission, and

thereupon we are in danger of being mined and undone, unless the

Lord do move your hearts to protect' us with your assistance. I do

not hereby presume to direct you, but humbly crave leave to show

mine opinion, which is that if you will be pleased to write but your

general letter to our opponents to deter them from their illegal pro-

ceedings, and a letter to our people of Ligoiiia, to advise and encour-

age them, that notwithstanding Mr. Vines and the rest do oppose, that

they may and ought to adhere to Mr. Righy's lawful authority. I

hope you may not need to pat yourselves to any further trouble to

finish the work, but in so doing you will much oblige Mr. Rigby unto

yon all, who doubtless would have sent over other order at this time if he

had known the ii^uries ofilered him and us. These let'ers now come

are in answer of ray letters sent to him on my firt>t arrival and not of

my last nor of the ... of the commissioners, as you may see by the

date of them. 1 herein shall send you Mr. Rigby's letter of request

to you and also a lettt-r of his to me, whereby you may see how the

parliament approves of bis proceeding, and that we may expect fur-

ther orders forthwith, and in the interim we do most humbly beseech

you to afiurd us such speedy assistance as the necessity of our prosent

condition requires, and we shall forever petition the throne of grace

for you all, and rest your humble servants. George Cleaves, for and

in behalf of the people of Ligonia.'f ,

" This letter produced no alteration in the policy of Mas-

sachusetts, and in October following, Vines held his court

as usual, assisted by Richard Bonighton, Henry Jocelyn,

Francis Robinson, Arthur Macworth, Edward Small, and

Abraham Preble.| It being represented at this court, that

not having heard from Sir Ferdinando Gorges of late for

establishment of government,' they proceeded to elect

Richard Vines, Esq., deputy Governor for the year, and

' if he should depart, Henry Jocelyn to be deputy in his

place.' They also laid a tax for the charges of the Gen-

eral Court, in which Casco is assessed ten shillings, Saco

eleven shillings, Gorgiana§ one pound. Piscataqua, which

a 2 Winth., 155.

t From files in Secretary's office, Mass.

^ Robinson lived in Saco, Macworth in Casco, Preble in Agamenti-

cus. These persons may be supposed to he tbe leaders in their re-

spective plantations of the party of Gorges.

§ Agamenticus, now York, was incorporated as a city by Gorges in

included Kittery and Berwick, two pounds ton shillings.

Tlie ccrtificatea before referred tOj respecting the articles

exhibited against Vines by Cleaves, were offered, and his

practices censured ; but some allowance is undoubtedly to

be made by us for the unfavorable light in which Cleaves

appears in this transaction, since we receive the representa-

tion of it from bitter and prejudiced opponents, who acted

under the highest degree of excitement, and having no op-

portunity to hear the exculpation of the accu-sed party.

' Vines sold his patent to Dr. Child in October, 1645,

and soon after left the province.
||

Henry Jocelyn suc-

ceeded to the office of deputy Governor. The contest had

increased to such a height, that in the beginning of 164G

Cleaves was threatened with personal violence ; he therefore

once more appealed to Massachusetts to aid him in this

emergency. The other party also making their representa-

tions to the same power, that government addressed a letter

to each of them, persuading them to suspend their hostili-

ties, and live in peace until the arrival of the next ships, by

which it was expected that an order would come from the

commissioners of the colonies to adjust the controversy. On

receiving these letters, both parties came to the determina-

tion of referring the subjects of contention between them to

the arbitration of the court of assistants of Massachusetts, to

be held at Boston, June 3, 1646. At the time appointed.

Cleaves and Tucker appeared in support of Rigby's title,

and Henry Jocelyn and Mr. Roberts for Gorges.^f

" The result of this arbitration was inconclusive and un-

satisfactory. Winthrop** says',

—

''
' Upon u full hearing, both parties failed in their proof. The

plaintiff (Cleaves) could liot prove the place in question to be within

his patent, nor could derive a good title of the patent itself to Air.

Rigby, there being six or eight patentees, and the assignment from

only two of them. Also the dereudant had no patent of the province,

but only a copy thereof attested by witnesses which was not pleadable

in law. Which so perplexed the jury that they could find fur neither,

but gave in a iion titjtut. And because both parties would have it

tried by a jury, the magistrates forebore to deal any further in it."

" The government of Massachusetts were undoubtedly

quite willing that the cause should take this direction, they

preferred to keep neutral and not identify themselves with

either party until they could safely do it under the decision

of the commissioners for the plantations in England. This

decision arrived soon after, and declared Rigby to be the

' rightful owner and proprietor of the province of Ligonia,

by virtue of conveyances, whereby the planting, ruling,

ordering, and governing the said province is settled.' The

1641, by the name of Agamenticus ; the next year a new charter was

granted, giving it the name of Gorgiaoa ; Thomas Gorges was ap-

pointed the first mayor by the charter. This tax exhibits the relative

value of the settlements in Maine at that time, if Casco were fully

taxed, of whioh, from its having a separate government, there may be

some doubt.

II

Vines must have had one daughter at least. I find a petition to

Andros on Massachusetts files from Vines Ellacott for Cousins' Island

in Casco Bay, in whioh he styles himself a grandson of Capt. Richard

Vines.

^ I think there must be some mistake in this name ; I find no such

person in the province at that time; a Giles Roberta subsequently

lived at Black Point. I have thought it probable that Francis Rob-
inson was intended ; he was a respectable magistrate of Gorges' Court

at this period, and lived at Saco.

w 2 Winth., 2J6.
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commissioners further ordered that all the inhabitants of

said province should yield obedience to Rigby ; and the

f^vernment of Massachusetts was required, in case of resist-

ance, to render support to his authority.*

" Winthropf says that the decision of the commissioners

brought the bounds of the patent to the sea-side, when by

the language of it, it fell twenty miles short : this explains

what he before said in speaking of the evidence adduced

by Cleaves in support of Rigby's title, that the grant did

not cover tlie disputed territory.

" This decree was the result of political events in Eng-

land ; the republican party was now triumphant, and Gor-

ges, who had been taken prisoner at the siege of Bristol in

1645, and imprisoned, was probably now dcad:| although,

why the title to the province of Ligonia was not good, as

to the soil at least, may be di£Bcult to comprehend. The

patent bears date previous to the title of Gorges, setting

aside the grant of 1622, which appears never to have been

executed ; the proprietors came over and took possession,

and no evidence remains that the patent was ever relin-

quished, or the title revoked. Bat the sovereignty or the

right of government is placed on a different ground, and

not having been transferred to the proprietors that we have

any evidence of, must have reverted to the king, with the

surrender of the grand patent by the Council of Plymouth.

The question then arises, whether the charter of the king

to Gorges, conveyed the right of government to him within

the province of Ligonia, which was then held under

another and dbtinct title. But this question we sball not

stop to discuss.

" Cleaves, now triumphant over his adversaries, assumed

undisputed sway in the whole province of Ligonia, extend-

ing from Cape Porpoise to Cape Elizabeth, including both.

Under this government were the settlements at Cape Por-

poise, Winter Harbor and Saco, Black and Blue Points, now

Scarborough, Spurwink, Richmond's Island, and Casco.

Saco was the largest, and the next, those of Spurwink and

Richmond's Island. He immediately commenced making

grants in his newly acquired territory : as early as May,

1647, he granted to Richard Moore four hundred acres in

Cape Porpoise, and in September of the same year he con-

veyed to John Bush a tract ' in the village of Cape Por-

pus ;' he also made grants in Scarborough and Falmouth,

all of them as the agent of Col. Alexander Rigby, presi-

dent and proprietor of the province of Ligonia.§

" Records of only three courts held by Cleaves are now

to be found, and these are very imperfect ; one relates to a

court held at Black Point, by George Cleaves, Henry Joce-

lyn, and Robert Jordan, in which merely the appointment

of an administrator is noticed ; and the others held at

Casco, in September and December of the same year, ex-

liibit the proceedings which took place on the petition of

Robert Jordan, the executor of John Winter, for the

allowance of his claim against Trelawny. The style of

^ Sullivan, 314, who cites an ancient British manuscript.

t 2. .'520.

X In JuDe, 1647, Gorges' friends, in the western part uf the State,

addrefsed a letter to his heirs.

^ Rigby was a sergeant at law, and one of the Barons of the Ex-

chequer in the liingdum of Englaudj Cleaves was styled deputy

president.

the court, as we learn from Jordan's petition, was the

' General Assembly of the Province of Ligonia.' We owe

the preservation of this record to the vigilance of private

interest, and not to the care of public ofiBccrs. The re-

peated changes in government, the confusion of the times,

but most of all, the desolation spread over the whole eastern

country by Indian hostilities, have been fatal to the pres-

ervation of any perfect records either of the courts or towns.

" INDEPENDENT OOVERNMENT.

" After the decision which separated Ligonia from the

province of Maine, and the death of Gorges, the people in

the western part of the State, in 1649, formed a combina-

tion for their own government, and elected Edward God-

frey their Governor ;{|
the first General Court under this

combination was held at Gorgiana (York), in July of that

year. In consequence of the state of affairs in England,

which deprived them of the aid of their chief proprietor,

they petitioned parliament in 1G51, to take them under

their protection and confii-m their independent govern-

ment ;f but pariiameiit not regarding their petition, they

were obliged in 1652 to submit to the jurisdiction of Mas-

sachusetts. Hutchinson, speaking of this period and this

province, says, ' the people were in confusion and the au-

thority of government at an end.''''*

" Wo have no means of determining with precision how

the government in Ligonia was constituted. We find a

general assembly in existence, and suppose it was formed

upon the plan of that in Massachusetts, or of that proposed .

by Gorges: that is, by assistants or counselors appointed

by the president or his deputy, and deputies chosen by the

people. In fact Edward Rigby, son of Alexander, in a

letter written in 1652 to the province, speaks of the six

assistanli and thejuilges. The proceedings of the assembly

in September, 1648, are subscribed by George Cleaves,

deputy president, Wm. Royall, Henry Watts, John Cossons,

Peter Hill, and Robert Booth.ft We meet with nothing in

the records which indicate that the affairs of the province

were not correctly administered, and conducted without

confusion or interruption, until the death of Rigby, the

chief proprietor, which took place in August, 1650.JJ After

the news of this event, tho old opposition to Rigby's govern-

ment was revived, and we may conjecture from Edward

Rigby's letter, before referred to, that the object of the

opposition was to form a comMiiation and establish an

independent government ; he writes, that if they do ' not

desist from their private and secret combinations and prac-

tices and join with him, his deputy and other officers for

the peace of the province, he will take such course as shall

not only force a submission, but also a reparation for all

their misdeeds.' This letter was dated London, July 19,

1652, and addressed to ' Mr. Henry Joceling, Mr. Robert

Jordan, Mr. Arthur Macworth, Mr. Thomas Williams, as

also to Robert Booth, Morgan Howell, John Wadleigh,

1 Sul., 320. ; 1 Mass. H. Col.

i Sul., 322.

«« 1 Hut., 183.

ff Royall and Cossons were from Wcsteustogo, now North Yarmouth,

Hill and Booth were from Saco, and Watts from Scarborough.

tt 1 Haz., 570; Sul., 317.
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Jonas Bailey, Thomas Morris, Hugh Mosier, and to all

others whom these may concern, these present in Livonia.'*

It appears by this letter, that Cleaves was then in England,

for he says, ' I shall with all convenient speed, not only

ftitd hack Mr. Cleaves, bat a near kinsman of my own.'

" How the government was conducted after this time we

have no means of ascertaining ; Cleaves did not return )intil

afler Feb. 20, 1653, and although the majority of the

inhabitants of Cape Porpoise and Saco submitted to the

jurisdiction of Massachusetts, in 1652, he contrived to keep

up some show of power in the eastern part of the province

until the submission of the remaining inhabitants in 1658.

" Massachusetts having now extended her jurisdiction to

the Saco River, continued her exertious, without relaxation,

to spread it over the whole of her claim. But she was

resisted in the eastern part of the province, both upon

political and religious grounds. The most influential men

cast of Saco River were decidedly Episcopalian in their

form of worship, and looked with dread upon the uncom-

promising, and we may add, untolerating spirit of the puritan

government of Massachusetts. At the head of this party

were Robert Jordan, Henry Jocelyn, and Arthur Macworth,

alt firm in the faith, possessing great influence, and deter-

mined to resist while there was hope of success. On the

other hand, George Cleaves and others were stimulated in

their opposition by the possession of power which they

were anxious to maintain. In 1654, Jordan was committed

to prison in Boston, and, about the same time, he and

Jocelyn were summoned by the Greneral Court to appear

before the commissioners at York, which they declined

doing; in 1657 a letter was addressed to them by liie

government, but without effect, urging them to meet their

commissioners at York ' appointed for settling government

in the eastern parts. 'f

" In 1655, Cleaves went to Boston in behalf of the in-

habitants of Ligonia to protest against the proceedings of

Massachusetts. On the 24th of October the government

returned him a formal answer, in which they urged their

claim, exhibiting their patent and the report of the persons

who had surveyed their bounds ; they stated that they de-

sired to treat the inhabitants of the province which fell

within their limits with civility and friendship, but insisted

on their right to the jurisdiction over the territory to their

utmost eastern limits. They say,

—

"'We have not endeavored to infringe the liberties of the planters

of those landfl, bat hare offered them the same with ourselves, nor to

enrich ur ease ourselves by taxing their estates, we expeot no more

than what they formerly did, vie, to bear their own charges; nor do

we seek to pat upon theoi that which we ourselves would count un-

equal, viz., to l>e subject to anch laws and constitutions made by others

without their consent.'^

"In August, 1656, seventy-one persons, inhabitants of

Saco, Cape Porpoise, Wells, York, and Kittery addressed a

petition to Cromwell, praying to be continued under the

government of Massachusetts, alleging that they were ' a

* Williams and Booth lived in Saco, and submitted to Massachusetts

in 1653; Howell lived in Cape Porpoise, and Wadlcigh in Welle, and
they severally submitted in 1653. Morris and Mosier lived in Casco

Bay, and Bailey at Black Point.

I Massachusetts Records.

J 1 Haz., 59S.

people few in number, and those not competent to manage
weighty affairs, our weakness occasioning distraction, our

paucity divi-sion, our meanness contempt.'§

"In 1657, the General Court appointed new commission-

ers, and issued a new summons to the inhabitants east of Saco

River to meet them at York, which they failing to do, the

commissioners issued another notice requiring the inhabi-

tants to appear at the General Court to be held in Boston,

Oct. 14, 1657. But instead of regarding this summons.

Cleaves sent in a paper, ' wherein he declared,' as the court

in their records state, ' against the legality of their proceed-

ings and the resolution of tho inhabitants to deny submission

to them.' The court then add,

—

" * We do hereby declare our right and claim to those parts, and the

injnrions refusal of the inhabitants there, concerning which we shall

seriously advise what for the future may be most expedient for us,

yet/fir the pfeteitty jadga it best to 8urcea«e any /nrther pt'otecntion,*^!^

"Notwithstanding this declaration, they did not long

' surcease' further to prosecute their claim ; for in May fol-

lowing (1658) they appointed commissioners to proceed to

the disputed territory to receive the submission of the in-

habitants. The commissioners were required ' to repair to

Black Point, Richmond's Island, and Casco, or some such

one place, within the county of York, as they shall judge

meet, there to take in the inhabitants thereof into our

jurisdiction.'^ The commissioners in their return say,

that having issued summonses to all the inhabitants resid-

ing within the line proposed to appear before them,

" * After some serious debate of matters betwixt us, removal of somo
doubts, and our tendering some nets of favor aud privilege to them,

tho good band of God guiding therein, by a joint consent, we mutually

accorded in a free and comfortab'o close.'^'^

" The form of submission was as follows

:

'"We, the inhabitants of Black Point, Blue Point, Spurwink, and
Casco Bay, with all the islands thereunto belonging, do own and ac-

knowledge ourselves to be subject to the government uf Massachusetts

Bay, in northeast, as appears by our particular subscriptions in refer-

ence to those articles formerly granted to Dover, Kittery, and York,
which are now granted and contirmed unto us, together with some ad-

ditions as upon record doth appear.'

" This was signed by twenty-nine persons, of whom the

thirteen following lived in Falmouth, viz. : Francis Small,

Nicholas White, Thomas Standford, Robert Corbin, Na-

thaniel Wallis, John Wallis, George Lewis, John Phillips,

George Cleaves, Robert Jordan, Francis Neale, Michael

Mitton, Richard Martin. The remainder, with the excep-

tion of John Bonighton, who lived in Saco, were inhabi-

tants of Black and Blue Points.

" The following is the substance of the articles of agree-

ment entered into between the inhabitants and tho commis-

sioners, and may be found at large on York Records :ff
" 1. The obligations entered into were to be void if the

jurisdiction of Massachusetts was not allowed by the govern-

ment of England.

" 2. Indemnity and oblivion ' freely granted.'

J Haz., 603.

II

Massachusetts Files.

^ Massaobusetts Records.

«* Ibid.

tt B. i., p. 7S. The first volume of the collections of the Maine His-
torical Society will also contain this document.
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" 3. The privileges granted to Dover, Portsmouth, Kit-

tery, Wells, and Saco, granted to the people here.

" 4. In appeals to Boston, the appellant to have cost if

he recover, if not, to pay treble cost.

" 5. To have copies furnished them of the privileges

granted Dover, etc.

" 6. Their civil privileges not to he forfeited for differ-

ences in religion, ' but their regulations therein must be

according to penal laws.'

" 7. Those places formerly called Black Point, Blue

Point, and Stratton's Islands henceforth to be culled Scar-

borough.

" 8. ' Those places formerly culled Spurwiak and Casco

Bay from the east side of Spurwink River to the Clap-

board Islands in Casco Bay, shall run back eight miles into

the country, and henceforth shall be called by tlie name of

Falmouth.'

" 9. Falmouth and Scarborough shall immediately estab-

lish their bounds.

" 10. ' The towns of Falmouth and Scarborough shall

have commission courts to try causes an high as fifty

pounds.'

" 11. The two towns of Scarborough and Falmouth are

to send one deputy yearly to the court of election, and have

liberty to send two if they see cause.

" 12. The name Yorkshire is given to so much of the

former province of Maine as fell under the jurisdiction of

Massachusetts, and in consideration of its extent, and the

difficulty of obtaining the presence here of any of the assist-

ants, it is granted

:

"'1. That with theconseot of the inhabitants of the aforesaid towns

of Scarborough and Falmouth, we do con&titnto and appoint the right

trusty Henry Jocclyn, Esq., Mr. Robert Jordan, Mr. George Cloaves,

Mr. Henry Watts, and Mr. Francis Neale commissioners fur the year

ensuing, invested with full power, or any three uf them, for the trial

of all causes without a jury within the liberties of Scarborough and

Falmouth, not exceeding the value of fifty pounds, and every one of

said commissioners have granted tbem magistratical power to hear

and determine small causes, as other magistrates and assis'ants,

whether they be of a civil or of a criminal nature.'

" Any of said commissioners were authorized to grant

warrants, examine oflFenders, commit to prison, administer

oaths, and to solemnize marriages, and any three of them were

empowered to commission ' military officers under the degree

of a captain.' Jocelyn Jordan, Capt. Nicholas Shapleigh,

Mr. Edward Rishworth, and Mr. Abraham Preble were in-

vested with ' magistratical power throughout the whole

county of York.' Five associates were authorized to be

chosen yearly for the county courts, instead of three, and a

court was appointed to be held in September of every year

at Saco or Scarborough, as well as at York.*

" These and some other regulations, not important to be

noticed, having been adopted, and the commLs-sioners having

declared that ' the change of the government hath made no

change in any man's former right, whether in respect of

lands, chattels, goods, or any other estate whatsoever,' they

adjourned on the 16th of July, 1G58."

PURCHASE OP MAINE BY MASSACHUSETTS.

In 1676 the jurisdiction of Massachusetts over Maine

and New Hampshire was annulled. The enemies of the

» Yorli Res.

colony in England had besieged the ear of the king and so

far abused it as to create a prejudice which gave the inhab-

itants on this side of the Atlantic no little uneasiness. A
quo warranto was issued, and they were required by a let-

ter from the king, dated March 10, 1676, to send over

agents to answer the charges exhibited against them. They

were so far successful as to procure a confirmation of the

charter with its original bounds, but the jurisdiction of

Massachusetts over Maine and New Hampshire was an-

nulled, and those provinces respectively restored to the

heirs of Grorge^i and Mason.

When this decision reached the colony, its government,

ever watchful over its interests, immediately took measures

to secure the province of Maine by purchase. For this

purpose they employed John Usher, a merchant of J3oston,

to negotiate with Mr. Gorges, a grandson of Sir Ferdi-

nando, for the purchase of his property. The undertaking

was successfully accomplished, and Usher received a deed

of the whole province from Piscataqua to Sagadahoc, in

1677, which, on the loth of March, 1G78, he by inden-

ture conveyed to the government and company of Massa-

chusetts for twelve hundred and fifty pounds sterling.

This ended all controversy between Massachusetts and

the Gorges family respecting the .soil and government of

Maine ; but not so with the English government, to whom
the transaction gave great offense. The latter contended

that the jurisdiction over a colony or province was inalien-

able, and that by the conveyance, although Massachusetts

might have acquired a right to the soil, she acquired none

to the government, which consequently reverted to the

crown. And they went so far as to require an assignment

of the province from Massachusetts on being repaid the

purchase-money. But the government of the colony kept

steady to their purpose, justified their purchase as having

been done by the desire of the inhabitants, and were

wholly silent on the subject of the reconveyance."!" The

subject was continually agitated until iti was finally settled

by the charter of 1691, which not only included the prov-

ince of Maine, but the more remote province of Sagada-

hoc, and carried the eastern boundary of Massachusetts to

the western limits of Nova Scotia.

" Ailer the purchase of Maine, many persons in Massa-

chusetts were desirous of selling the province to defray the

expense of defending it during the late war, which was

estimated at eight thousand pounds. A committee of the

General Court was appointed for this purpose, but the vote

was reconsidered before any further measures were taken

on the subject.

' It now became necessary to adopt a new form of gov-

ernment for the province, since the jurisdiction was no

longer claimed as a matter of right under the patent of

Massachusetts, but as proprietor by right of purchase.

She was no longer to be represented in the General Court

as an integral part of her chartered territory, but a local

proprietary government was to be established over the

province, such as was authorized by the charter to Gorges.
'' In pursuance of this plan, Thomas Danforth, then

f The agents in 1G82 wore authorized to give up the deeds of .Maine

if it would be the means of saving the charter; otherwise not. 1

Hutch., iO'i. The sacrifice did not become necessary.
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exercising the oflBce of deputy Governor of Massachusetts,

was appointed President of Maine in 1679, and invested

with powers for its government in subordination to its new

proprietor. He repaired to York in March, 1680, pro-

claimed his authority, exhibited his commission, and con-

stituted a government composed of a deputy President, a

Council, and an Assembly consisting of the representatives

of the people. The first General Assembly was held March

30, 1680, at York.

" It cannot be disguised that this state of things was not

agreeable to many persons in the province, and they did not

cordially submit to it. In 1680 a petition was transmitted

to the king, signed by one hundred and fifteen persons

living in different parts of the province, remonstrating

against the new government, and praying to be restored to

his immediate authority. Sixteen at least of the petition-

ers lived in Falmouth. They complain of the imposition-

of a tax of three thousand pounds upon the three towns of

Wells, Kittery, and York, as an intolerable burden after

the heavy losses sustained during the late Indian war.

" In the first General Assembly all the towns in the

province were represented but Cape Porpoise, Scarborough,

and Falmouth ; Walter Gendall appeared from the latter

town, but having no certificate of his election was not al-

lowed a seat. Anthony Brackett was appointed by the

court Lieutenant of Falmouth, and Thaddeus Clarke £n-

CHAPTER VI.

THE FIBST INDIAN "WAB, 1675.

Plunder of the House of Thomas Purchase—Fight at New Meadows
—Attack OB Sparwink and Falmouth—Capture and Escape of the

Bracketts—Surrender of the Garrison at Black Point—The Settle-

ments Deserted—Treaty with the Indians—Sketch of the Prisoners

—Trial of Walter Gendall.

The occasion of the outbreak of hostilities on the Ken-

nebec was a precautionary attempt to disarm the Indians in

that section, on the reception of the news of King Philip's

war. The Indians began to suspect that the object of the

English was to deprive them of the means of their subsist-

ence, and by degrees to take their land from them. They

had also acquired a strong prejudice against Thomas Pur-

chase, who had for many years been trading among them

and whom they charged with wronging them in his bar-

gains. Hence they made their first attack upon his house

early in September, 1675. Purchase, however, was absent

from home, and the savages contented themselves with

plundering the premises. They took what weapons, pow-

der, and liquor they could find, ripped up the feather-beds

for the sake of the ticking, killed a calf and several sheep,

and proceeded to make merry. Purchase's son returned

home while this was going on, and being discovered by the

Indians, was obliged to flee for his life. He was followed

for some distance by an Indian with a gun, but succeeded

in making his escape. The party offered no violence to any

one in the house, but told them that others would crmu and

treat them worse.

Some few days after this occurrence, a party of twenty-

five settlers having collected for the purpose, went in a

sloop and two boats to New Meadows River, near the house

of Mr. Purchase, to gather and secure the growing crops,

and also to reconnoitre. Here they found a number of In-

dians pillaging the neighboring houses. In attempting to

get between the Indians and the woods, they came upon

three of their spies. One of these they shot while he was

attempting to reach the liver; the second was wounded,

but escaped across the stream to a canoe ; the third escaped

and gave the alarm. The Indians, however, remained con-

cealed until the corn was all gathered and the boats loaded,

when they suddenly gave their war-whoop, rushed upon the

men, wounded several, and carried oif the boat-loads of corn

in triumph. Some time in the next year Purchase's house

was burned, and he was compelled to leave.'*'

This attack upon them without justification removed

from the Indians all restraint. They had seen the blood of

their companions causelessly shed, and they now only sought

opportunities for revenge. The houses in every plantation

were so much scattered, rendering it necessary to garrison

so many different points, that little could be done in the

way of fortification, but the able-bodied men were formed

into train-bands, and were constantly on the lookout. About

this time a company of Indians visited Falmouth, and a

son of George Ingersoll and another man were killed by

them as they were out fowling. Several houses were burnt,

among others that of Lieut. Ingersoll ; several at Capisic,

and Robert Jordan's, at Spurwink. Sir. Jordan had barely

time to escape from his house when it was destroyed with

all its contents. Ambrose Boaden, Sr., who lived on the

west side of the river opposite Jordan's, was probably killed

at the same time.

It is estimated that from the beginning of August till

the end of November, 1675, there were killed in the prov-

ince about fifty English and over ninety Indians.f In No-

vember, the government of Massachusetts organized a force

to attack the remote Indian settlements at Ossipee and

Pequawkett, with a view of disabling them from renewing

their depredations in the spring ; but this was prevented by

the severity of the winter, the snow falling by the 10th of

December to the depth of four feet in the woods, and the

privations of the Indians compelling them to sue for peace.

They repaired in quite a large body to Maj. Waldron, at

Dover, where terms were mutually agreed upon, but the

fitful truce was only of short duration. Hostilities were re-

newed in a more fearful form early the next summer, by the

Saco and Androscnggin Indians, assisted by the scattered

intermediate tribes. The chief Squando, of Saco, was one

of the most artful and daring leaders. The Andioscoggins

were commanded by the famous sagamore, Robinhood.

The Penobscots were subsequently engaged in the war under

Mugg and Madokawando, and performed their full share

of the work of desolation and death upon the defenseless

inhabitants of the frontiers.

At the commencement of the war there were over forty

families in Falmouth, the names and locations of most of

' Maiue Historical Collectioua, iii., p. :ilo.

t Willi,'" History of Portland, p. I'JS.



THE FIRST INDIAN WAR, 1675.

wliom we have given in the history of the town in another

part of this wori:.

After the destruction of the Wukely family and the mur-

der of young Ingersoll, many families left the place and

sought refuge in the more thickly-settled and secure parts

of the country. The Jordan family went to Piscataqua,

James Andrews and his mother Muckworth went to Bos-

ton, and John Phillips to Kittery. The larger number,

however, went to Salem, where they were afterwards, by

vote of the town, admitted with their families to citizen-

ship. The vote was taken on the 11th day of January,

167b', and is recorded as follows: "These persons above

named, being driven from their habitations by the barbarous

heathen, are admitted as inhabitants into the town, they

most of them informing that they have provisions for them-

selves and families for one year."* The persons thus re-

ceived were George Ingei-soll, George Ingersoll, Jr., John

Skillings, Goodman Staudford, John Wallis, Franci.s Neale,

and Jenkin Williams, besides several from Saco and other

towns of the province, to the number of twenty-one.

" By this withdrawal from the scene of action the vic-

tims of the tomahawk were considerably reduced, but still

enough were left to keep the knife of the sacrifice deeply

tinged." The war broke out again in the summer of 1676,

on a more extended scale. All the tribes from the Pis-

cataqua to the Penobscot were engaged in it. The Indians

had various pretexts for the renewal of hostilities, but the

real cause was the influence of the disaffected Narragansell

Indians, who, smarting under the loss of their property,

had proceeded eastward and fomented a spirit of hostility

among the eastern tribes. A noted Indian, Simon, who

had not long before escaped from prison in Dover, where

he had been confined for his former murders, made his way

to Falmouth by means of a counterfeit pass, which he had

ingenioiisly provided himself with, and here he insinuated

himself into the confidence of Brackett, who lived upon a

large farm at Back Cove. On the 9th of August, some of

the neighboring Indians had killed one of Brackett's cows,

and Simon offered to bring the offenders to him for punish-

ment, which he pretended to do early on the morning of the

11th; but the Indians whom he brought were a party of

his own confederates, who immediately entered Brackett's

house and took all the guns they could find, giving

Brackett the choice either of serving them or being in-

stantly killed. He chose the former alternative. The In-

dians then bound him and his wife and negro servant, and

carried away their five children. Nathaniel Mitton, a

brother of Brackett's wife, made some resistance and was

killed on the spot. From Brackett's the party proceeded

round the Cove to the Presumpseot River, where they

killed Robert Corbiu, Humphrey Durham, and Benjamin

Atwell, who were engaged in making hay on Corbin's farm.

Corbin's wife, with the wife of one of the others, and chil-

dren of the third, who, being in one of the neighboring

houses and hearing the alarm, had escaped in a canoe, were

overtaken and captured ; also James Ross, the constable of

the town, with his wife and children. The Indians pro-

ceeded to other houses in the vicinity, where they killed

» Salem town records, quoted by Willia.

some of the inhabitants and made captives of othere. The

alarm was immediately communicated to another part of the

town by Richard Pike, who resided on the west side of

Mussel Cove. Pike and another man were in a boat on

the I'iver a little above Corbin's house when they heard the

report of the guns ; they immediately turned back and saw

an English boy running towards the river in great haste, and

a volley of shot was fired which passed over their heads.

Simon hailed them to come on shore, but they hurried

down the river and warned the people to escape to the

garrison-house, and such as could not escape, to fire upon

the Indians who were coming against them. Some of the

Indians passed over to the Neck, where they shot John

Munjoy, the eldest son of George Munjoy, and Isaac

Wakely. Three men going to the harvest-field of An-

thony Brackett, saw Thomas Brackett shot down and his

wife and children taken. They then made their escape to

Munjoy's garrison at the lower end of the Neck, which

had become a place of refuge. But this place being

deemed insecure, the refugees abandoned it and fled to

Bang's Island, at the mouth of the harbor. From this

place Mr. Burroughs immediately wrote to Henry Jocelyn

at Black Point (Scarborough) for succor. After they had

secured themselves upon the island, they recollected that u.

quantity of powder had been left in one of the places in

town, and needing it, as well as fearing it would fall into

the hands of the enemy, they made an attempt to secure

it, which they succeeded in doing, bringing away one barrel

from the house of Jlr.^VilliS. The next day George Lewis,

George Felt, and some others, who had been overlooked by

the murderous band in their work of destruction, arrived

safely at the island. In this attack upon the town thirty-

four persons were killed and taken captive. The following

names of the killed are given in " Willis' History of Port-

land" : Benjamin Atwell, Thomas Brackett, Robert Corbin,

Humphrey Dearborn, Nathaniel Mitton, John Munjoy, and

Isaac Wakely. The same authority gives the prisoners as

follows : Anthony Brackett, his wife, five children, and

negro servant ; Thomas Brackett, wife, and three children
;

Corbin's wife ; the wife of Atwell or Dearborn, the children

of the other, and James Ross, with his wife and children :

making seventeen pcjons, exclusive of the unknown

number of children in the families of Ross and Atwell or

Dearborn. Others were killed and captured whose names

are not mentioned.

The Indians proceeded with their captives from Fal-

mouth to the Kennebec River. On the 14th of August

the war began in that quarter, in the first scenes of which

the Indians of this locality were probably not engaged.

Richard Hammond's house was attacked on that day, and

he and Samuel Smith and Joshua Grant were killed. The
Indians then divided ; eleven went up the river and cap-

tured Francis Card and his family, while the remainder

went to Arrowsio Island, now Georgetown, took the fort

by surprise, killed Capt. Thomas Lake, one of the chief

proprietors, with many others, and wounded several, among
whom was Capt. Silvanus Davis, afterwards a prominent

inhabitant of Falmouth. Here they were joined by the

Indians from Falmouth and those who went up the river

and laid plans for future depredations. On this occasion
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Anthony Brackett and his family escaped out of their hands

by means of an old birch canoe which his wife repaired

with a needle and thread fonnd in a deserted house. Hub-

bard says,

—

" In that old canoe they crossed a water eight or nine miles broad,

and when they came on the south side of the bay, they might hare

been in aa mnch danger of other Indians that had lately been about

Black Point and had taken it; but they were newly gone; so things

on all sides thus concurring to help forward their deliverance, they

oame safely to Black Point, where also they met with a vessel bound

for Piscataqua, that came into that harbor but a few hours before they

came thither, by which means they arrived safe in Piscataqua River

soon after."

On the 23d of September, a number of those persons

who bad been driven from Casco and the vicinity, being

forced by the distress which their families were suffering

for the necessaries of life, ventured to go upon Munjoy's

Island* to procure provisions, there being a number of

sheep there. They had scarcely landed (six or seven

men) when the Indians fell suddenly upon them, and

although they defended themselves with desperate cour-

age from the ruins of a stone house to which they had

retreated, yet they were all destroyed. George Felt

was one of them, and was much lamented. He was a

useful and enterprising man, and had been more active

against the Indians than any other in the vicinity. He
left a family who moved to Chelsea, in which neighbor-

hood his descendants are yet living. His wife was a

daughter of Jane Macworth, by whom he had three sons,

George, Samuel, and Jonathan.

As soon as news of hostilities reached the government

of Massachusetts, measures were taken to afford protection

and assistance to the inhabitants. The- government dis-

patched one hundred and thirty English and forty friendly

Indians, under command of Cupts. Hawthorn, Sill, and

Hunting, who were to be joined by such forces as could

be raised in the province. They proceeded by the coast

to Falmouth, where the headquarters of the enemy were

supposed to be. They arrived at Casco Bay on the 20th

of September, and although every plantation west of it

had suffered depredations from the enemy, they met with

but two Indians on their march. One they killed, and the

other escaped at Falmouth to Back Cove and warned hb
comrades of the approach of the forces. They had been

heard a short time before threshing in Anthony Brackett's

bam, but they had all disappeared. This expedition effected

no permanent advantage; wherever the troops appeared the

enemy fled from their presence.

The forces left this part of the country about the begin-

ning of October, and about a week afterwards the Indians

rallied one hundred strong, and on the 12th of October

made an assault upon Black Point. The inhabitants had

collected in the garrison of Henry Jocelyn, who endeavored

to negotiate a treaty with Mugg for their safe retreat.

But when he returned from this service to the garrison,

)ie found that the inhabitants had all fled, and carried their

property with them, so that he was left alone with his

family aqd servants, and was obliged to surrender at dis-

cretion.

They next proceeded to Richmond's Island. A vessel

* Now Peak's Island.

was lying here belonging to Mr. Fryer, of Portsmouth,

which had been sent, by the solicitation of Walter Gendall,

to preserve the property upon the island. While they

were engaged in this duty they were attacked by a multi-

tude of the enemy. Owing to the unfavorable state of the

wind, they were unable to get their vessel out of the

harbor. The enemy seized the advantage and proceeded

to cut the cable of the vessel, while part of them stood

ready to shoot down every man who appeared on her deck

to render any assistance. Under these circumstances the

vessel was driven on shore, and the crew, consisting of

eleven persons, were taken prisoners. Among them was

James Fryer, son of the owner, a respectable young man

of Portsmouth, who afterwards died of wounds received in

that engagement; also Walter Gendall, who became of

service to the enemy as interpreter and messenger.

The affair at Richmond's Island was the last in this

quarter during the war, and it may truly be said to have

ceased here for the want of victims to feed upon. Jlugg,

who had led the Indians in the two last attacks, seemed

now to be desirous of peace, and for that purpose went to

Portsmouth on the 1st of November, taking James Fryer,

and offered to enter into a treaty. The commanding oflicer

there not being authorized to negotiate, sent him to Boston,

where, on the 6th of November, articles of pacification were

entered into with the government by Mugg, in behalf

of Madokawando and Cheberina, sachems of Penobscot.

Mugg, as a pledge of his fidelity, consented to remain a

hostage until the property and captives were restored.

There was great reluctance ou the part of the Indians to

comply with the treaty, and on one pretext and another

they evaded the principal articles. The attempt at peace

in the latter part of 1676 proved unsuccessful, and the war

was continued through the next year, spending its force prin-

cipally in the western part of the province. Simon, who com-

menced the tragedy at Casco, was not idle in its closing

scenes. On the 16th of May a party under Mugg attacked

the garrison at Black Point, which was resolutely defended

for three days, in the latter of which the active leader of

the besiegers having been killed, the siege was precipitately

abandoned. This ill success was, however, avenged on the

same spot in the following month, when a large force hav-

ing been sent there without any experience in the kind of

warfare, were drawn into an ambuscade and nearly all de-

stroyed.

In the summer the enemy were checked near the seat of

their power by the interference of Maj. Andros, Governor

of New York, who sent a force to protect the interest of

the Duke of York in his province. He established a

strong garrison at Pemaquid, which overawed the Indians

of that neighborhood, and the next spring they made pro-

posals to the government for peace. The commissioners

appointed to treat with them—Messrs. Shapleigh and

Champeifoon, of Kittery, and Fryer, of Portsmouth—pro-

ceeded to Casco, where they met the Indians, and mutually

signed articles of peace on the 12th of April, 1678.

By this treaty the people were permitted to return to

their habitations, and it was agreed that they should occupy

them without molestation, paying annually to the Indians

a tribute of one peck of corn for each family, except Maj.
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Pendleton, of Saco, who, having u large estate, was requh'ed

to pay one bushel annually. The captives were all returned,

and an end was put to a relentless war in which whole fam-

ilies were sacrificed, human nature exposed to detestable

cruelties, and property wantonly destroyed.

We give from " Willis* History" the following brief notice

of some of the persons from Falmouth who were taken cap-

tives :

"The wife of Anthony Brackett perUhed in the first year of her

captivity. She was Mary, a daughter of Michael Mitton; her chil-

dren were Joshau, who died in Grecnlnnd, and was father of Anthony

and Joshua, who owned the large tract of land extending from Clark's

Point across the Neck to Back Cove. Her other children were Sarah,

who married John Hill, of Portamoathf and Mary, who married

Christopher Mitchell, of Kittery. They did not return to Falmouth.

James Ross and bis family were restored, and afterwards lired in Fal-

mouth. Walter Gendall was subsequently an inhabitant of Falmouth,

and then of North Tannoath, where he was killed. He had exposed

himself to suspicion, while a prisoner among the enemy, of having

betrayed the English, and was tried for the offense at Boston, io Sep-

tember, 1677. The record is as foUowa:

"'Walter Gendall, of or near Black Point, being presented and in-

dicted by the grand jnry, and lett to trial, was bronght to the bar and
was indicted by the name of Walter Gendall, for not having the fear

of God before his eyes, and being instigated by the devil, in the time

of the war with the Indians, in a perfidious and treacherous way,

against the inhabitants of this colony's peace and safety, sought to

b<>tray them into the enemy's hands by bis endeavour and counsel,

contrary to the peace of our sovereign lord the king, his crown, and

dignity, and the law of this commonwealth—To which indictment he

pleaded not guilty, and referred himself for his trial to the bench.

The magistrates having duly weighed the indictment and the evi-

dences in the case produced against him, found him guilty of the in-

dictment, and do therefore sentence him to run theguantelope through

the military companies in Boston on the 10th inst., with a rope about

his neck; that he forfeit all his lands to the country, and be banished

out of this jurisprudence, to be gone by the 6th day of October next

on penalty of perpetual imprisonment if he return again, and dis-

charging the costs and charges of this prosecution.'

"What was the nature of the offense for which this severe punishment

was inflicted does not appear; that there was some misinformation to

the court al>out i^ may be inferred from the fact that he was soon after

restored to the possession of bis lands and to public confidence. In

July, 1680, we find him acting as one of the commissioners of Fal-

mouth; in IdSI, he was appointed by President Danforth to regulate

the settlement of North Yarmouth ; in 1 683, Fort Loyal, in Casco,

was committed to his care, and in 1684 he was a deputy to the G'^n-

eral Assembly of this province. Gendall's name occurs first in Fal-

moath as a juryman, in 1666; in 1669 he exchanged farms with

Michael Madiver, of Black Point, and is then culled 'Planter dwell-

ing in the towu of Falmouth.' June 3, 1680, he bought of 'George

Felt, Sr., of Casco, planter,' one hundred &crea 'on the westward side

of George Felt's ould house in Casco Bay ;' this tnu:t adjoined Falmouth

line, and was afterwards occupied by Gendall."

CHAPTER VII.

FBONOH AITD INDIAN "WAB, 1688.

Indian Allies of the French—Inflnence of the Missionaries and Agents

—Efforts to Protect the Settlements—Death of Walter Gendall—

Pemaqaid Bestrojed—Major Church and Two Yessels of War at

Falmouth—Battle in Brackett's Orchard—Surprise and Slaughter

of the English on Munjoy Hill—Fort Loyal taken—Destruction of

Falmouth.

Thk Indiana of Maine, and particularly that portion of

them east of the Kennebec River, were allies of the French.

The English, although they had at first been received by

every token of friendship on the part of the savages, in

many instances betrayed the confidence reposed in them,

overreached them in trade, and by many acts of perfidy

and injustice invoked their vengeance. It was no fault of

the early settlers themselves, as a general rule, that they

became the victims of savage cruelty, and that their homes

were plundered and destroyed. The seeds which bore these

natural fruits had been planted for them by the first Eng-

lish navigators on the coa.4t of New England. To add to

this feeling of hostility, which was perpetuated by tradition

among the Indians, and awakened by every fresh outrage

pei-petmtod upon them by venal and unscrupulous traders,

the French agents and missionaries lost no opportunity to

excite in their minds the deepest hatred and animosity

towards their English neighbors. ''The French," says

Mr. Willis, " were more hostile to the English than the

savages themselves, and, although they could not impart to

their savage allies the same jealousies and the same motives

of action, yet they could stimulate them by the hope of

plunder, the love of revenge, and religious prejudices, to

stain their tomahawks in the blood of an iuoSensive popu-

lation." The French missionaries and other influential men

of that nation residing among the Indians in the eastern

part of Maine at this period hud acquired an absolute in-

fluence over their minds by addressing them through the

terrors and hopes of religion, as well as by appealing to

their temporal interests.*

At this time the Baron de St. Custine and the missionary

Thury were residing on the Penobscot. Castine had con-

nected himself by marriage with the chief sachem of that

country, and had formed a strong alliance with the tribes.

The English had plundered his property and claimed juris-

diction over his estate. This was not merely a personal

affront, but a national quarrel, inasmuch as the English

and French were rival claimants of the territory occupied

by the baron, and the cause of the latter was espoused not

only in Canada, but in France itself. In this war, there-

fore, the Indians may be regarded simply as the allies of

the French. The missionary, in his zeal for the Catholic

faith and the extension of the dominion of France, had

taught his flock that by exterminating the whole English

race from the soil they would be doing God's service, and

they would thereby recover their ancient importance as

masters and owners. It is not to be supposed that the In-

dians were unwilling listeners to such preaching, or reluct-

ant doers of the work which it commanded. The promised

assistance from Canada rendered them bold and menacing,

and they entered the houses of the inhabitants in an inso-

lent and offensive manner. " They gave out that they

would make war upon the English, and that they were

animated to do so by the French."f

The Indians commenced operations in August, 16S8, by

killing cattle on the eastern plantations and threatening the

Uvea of the people. Attempts were made to allay the dis-

turbailce. In September, Capt. Tyng wrote from Fal-

* Bomazeen, a noted chief, told one of the Boston ministers that the

French had taught the Indians that " the Lord Jesus Christ was of

the French nation, that his mother, the Virgin Mary, was a French

lady, and that it was the English who hod murdered him."

—

Moth,

Mag.

f Hutchinson's Papers, Mass. Hist. Society's Coll.
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uiouth that he was engaged in a treaty with the Indians,

but feared that Casco would be the centre of trouble. The

magistrates in Saco seized sixteen or twenty of those who

had been the chief actors in that quarter during the last

war, with a view of bringing their followers to a treaty and

preventing the dreaded catastrophe. The leaders were sent

under a guard to Falmouth. The Indians retaliated, rob-

bing the English and taking prisoners. Mr. Stoughton,

one of the Governor's council, came on to Falmouth with

troops, hoping to compromise and prevent the effusion of

blood, but was unsuccessful in this pacific purpose. The

prisoners were ordered to Boston, and the inhabitants to

protect themselves in garrisons. To carry oat this latter

order, Capt. Walter Gendall proceeded to North Yarmouth

with a company of soldiers, in September, to construct

stockades on both sides of Royal River, for the defense of

that place. While there he was attacked by seventy or

eighty Indians, and ader a severe conflict, succeeded in

chasing them away, with the loss of several lives on both

sides. This was the first blood spilt in the war. In the

evening Capt. Gendall and his servant crossed over the river

and were both killed in an ambuscade. John Royall and

another person were taken prisoners, but Royall was ran-

somed by Baron St. Custiue.

Gov. Andros, hoping by mild mea.sures to avert the

impending calamity, reletised the Indians who had been

arrested, and restored to them their arms without any con-

dition as to the prisoners and property which had been

taken in retaliation. On the 20th of October, he issued a

proclamation requiring them to deliver up their captives

and surrender for trial those persons who had been con-

cerned in the murder of the English^ The mea.sures of

conciliation and the proclamation were alike ineffectual

;

and early in November the Governor raised a force of about

seven hundred men and marched through the country as

far east as Pemaquid. Here he established a garrison of

thirty-six men of the standing force under command of

Capt. Anthony Brackett and Lieut. Weems, and left two

new companies of sixty men, each under command of

Capts. Tyng and Minot, for its defense. He also stationed

garrisons at each of the settlements on the coast. The gar-

rison at Falmouth consisted of sixty men under command
of Capt. George Lockhart. The whole number of troops

disposed of in this manner in Maine, and the province east

of the Kennebec, was five hundred and sixty-eight,—^a force

sufficient to have protected the frontier, had it been per-

mitted to occupy the stations wherein it had been dis-

turbed. But the expedition was fruitless of any other good

consequences, and in April, 1689, the authority of Guv.

Andros was subverted by a popular excitement, which the

people afterwards had cause to regret, for the new govern-

ment was weak and irresolute.

In April, 1689, the Indians renewed their hostilities at

Saco, but without doing much injury. In June Dover was
surprised and Major Waldron cruelly murdered with several

other inhabitants. In the course of the summer the Indiaus

on the Penobscot were joined by the French, and systematic

operations commenced on the settlements east of Casco Bay.

Pemaquid was taken, and all the inhabitants in that region

driven from their homes. They sought protection under

the fort at Falmouth. The fort was very insufficiently

provided for both in respect to ammunition and provisions,

and an appeal was made to the government by Messrs.

Brackett, Townsend, and Ingersoll, which had the effect of

arousing it from its lethargy ; and in August, Major Swain

was sent by land with seven or eight companies, to protect

the eastern towns. Also, in September, Major Benjamin

Church, who had done effective service in the Plymouth

Colony in King Philip's war, arrived at Falmouth by

water, having raised a force a&iong his old soldiers, with

some volunteer troops and friendly Indians. The instruc-

tions to Major Church were signed by President Banforth,

who had been restored to his government June 28th, and

by the commissioners of the united colonies, Sept. 18,

1689, and indicated that earnest work wiis intended. Two

men-of-war and other small vessels for transportation ac-

companied the expedition. It was agreed that the soldiers

should " have the benefit of the captives and all lawful

plunder, and a reward of £8 per head fur every fighting

Indian man taken by them, over and above their stated

wages."

Church, on his arrival, immediately concocted with the

chief men a plan of operations. The Indians were in con-

siderable force in the vicinity of Falmouth.* At dawn of

day, September 21st, they made their appearance upon An-

thony Brackett's farm at Buck Cove,f aud upon Capt.

Hall's company hastening forward an engagement took

place in Brackett's orchard.
_
Capt. Hull was soon sup-

ported by the remainder of the English force stationed on

the side of the creek, who galled the enemy by firing over

the heads of Hall's soldiers. After maintaining the fight

for some time in this manner, Church determined to attack

the enemy in the rear, and, having communicated his plan

to Capt. Hall, proceeded up the creek to the bridge which

then crossed it, probably in the same place where one now

stands. The enemy perceiving his object immediately re-

treated, and he, supposing they had made for the bridge, or

sought some other passage into the town, returned to the

bridge, and finding no trace of them there, hastened

across the neck to the south side by Clark's Point, where,

finding the cattle feeding quietly in Lieut. Clark's field, and

perceiving no trace of the enemy, he hastily retraced his

steps, and, " passing over the burnt land and through the

brush," formed a junction with Capt. Hall's company,

which had borne the brunt of the battle. He now gave

orders for the whole army to pursue the enemy ; but, learn-

ing that most of the ammunition that was suitable for the

guns was spent, he gave up his design and returned with

the dead and wounded to the fort. The engagement had

continued about six hours. Of Capt. Hall's soldiers six

were killed, viz., Thomas Burton, Edward Ebens, Thomas
Taxter, Thomas Berry, John Mason, and David Holmes

;

of Capt. Davis' company, two, viz., Giles Rowe and An- •

drew Alger, belonging to the garrison ; one Indian, a ncTO
belonging to Col. Tyng, and Capt. Brackett, either killed

or taken prisoners,—eleven in all. The wounded were

of Capt. Davis' company, James Freeze, Mr. Bramhall

Thomas Brown, and Mr. Palmer, inhabitants of Falmouth

* Judged to be three or four hundred stron<y.

X The farm lately owned by Jitineii Deering.
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and six friendly Indians, making a total of twenty-one

killed and wounded. Freeze, Branihall, and one Indian

died of their wounds after the battle. The loss of the In-

dians is not known. They fled precipitately, and lefl be-

hind them " evidences of having sustained considerable

damage."* Willis says, " The enemy met with so warm a

reception at Falmouth, and found the country so well pro-

tected, that they retreated into their forests and committed

no further depredations during the year.''

Hostilities, however, were only suspended till the next

spring (1690), when they were participated in more largely

by the French. In the quaint language of Cotton Mather,

they were " halfone and half t'other, half ludianized French

and half Frenchified Indians." In February they had

marched from Canada on the ice of Lake Champlain, and

made a descent upon Schenectady, New York, destroying

that place and killing about sixty persons.f " On the 18th

of March, another party commanded by Artel, a Frenchman,

and Hopehood, " that memorable tygre," destroyed the

settlement at Salmon Falls " with fire and sword."

" Capi. Willard, an experienced officer from Salem, wiio

had been stationed in Falmouth,| was ordered in February

to pursue the enemy to their headquarters ; on his departure

the command of the fort devolved upon Capt. Davis. It

does not appear that there were any regular troops left here,

and the defense of the place depended upon the courage and

exertions of the inhabitants. While they were in this

situation, a party of the French, some of whom had assisted

in the affair at Schenectady, formed a junction with the

eastern Indians, under Madokawando, and were discovered

in the beginning of May passing in a large fleet of canoes

across Casco Bay. From the direction of their course the

people of Falmouth entertained hopes that their destination

was to a more remote part of the country ; but in this they

were disappointed. In a few days they were discovered

lurking in this vicinity, and Robert Greason, a Scotchman,

one of the inhabitants who lived upon the Presumpscot

River, fell into their hands. As soon as it was known that

they were in the neighborhood, strict orders were given i'or

the people to confine themselves to their garrisons, and to

keep constant watch to prevent surprise. There were then

in addition to Fort Loyal, four garrison houses in this part

of the town, whose local situation we have not the means of

accurately determining; one was on Munjoy Hill, near the

burying-ground, at the stoue house of Capt. Lawrence.

Sullivan says another stood ' where Bearing's house now

stands ;' this was at the foot of Exchange Street, and was

probably the house of Lieut. George IngersoU, which oc-

cupied that spot ; he says another stood on the rocky ground

south of where the first meeting-house stands. He cites no

authority for determining these localities, and probably

derived them from tradition, which we have found a most

unsafe guide in inquiries of this nature. It would seem

» Uutohinaon's Papers, quoted by Willis.

f Watson's Lake Cbainplain; Barbour's Hietorj of New York;

Sylvester's History of Saratoga.

X CapU Willard wrote from Salem in November to the Governor,

that his men at Casco needed supplies, that the parents of bis soldiers

were much displeased because they had not returned as promised.

He proposed that Dr. Haraden be encouraged to visit the soldiers in

Casco and take care of them. Ann. of Salem, 293.

entirely unneces.sary to have so many garrisons in (he im-

mediate vicinity of the fort, and we have thought simie

of these defenses may have been in the more remote parts

of the town for the protection of the inhabitants there.

Elihu Gullison's house was established by the council of

war in November preceding as a principal garrison house,

but we cannot determine its situation.

" Thaddcus Clarke, lieutenant of a company of town

soldiers, imprudently neglected the precaution which had

been given to keep his men within the garrison ; being

desirous to discover something of the movements of the

enemy, ho went out with about thirty ' of the stoutest

young men,' to the top of what we suppose wsis Munjoy

Hill, which was then covered with woods. We give the

sequel of this unhappy adventure in the language of

Mather :§

*'
' The outlet from the town to the wood was through a lane that

had a fence on each side, which bad a certain l}lock-ltou»e\\ at one end

of it ; and the English were suspicions, when tbey came to enter the

lane, that the Indians were lying behind the fence, because the cnttle

stood staring that war, and would not pass into the wood as they used

to do. This meltlesouie company then run up to the fence with an

huzza ! thinking thereby to discourage the enemy, if they should be

lurking there; but the enemy were so well prepared for them, that

tbcy answered them with an horrible vengciincc. which killed the Hl-u-

tenant and thirteen more on the spot, nnd the rest escjipcd with much

ado uDto one of the garrisons.'

" After this disheartening and ominous event, the enemy

immediately attacked the garrisons ; these were r&solutcly

defended; but at night, their 'ammunition being nearly ex-

hausted, the besieged abandoned their posts and drew off to

Fort Loyal. Next morning, being the 16th of May, the

enemy set fire to the houses, and laid siege to the fort with

their whole force. The local situation of the fort was

highly favorable to their design : it was situated on a rocky

bluff fronting the harbor, at the base of which the enemy

could work securely beyond the reach of its guns.^f The

number of the assailants was so much more numerous than

that of the English, that the latter deemed it not prudent

to leave their defenses. The siege was carried on five days

and four nights, when at last, many of the English having

been killed and wounded, the remainder capitulated on the

20th of May. The foUowirg account of the attack and sur-

render, by Capt. Silvauus Davis, the commander of the

fort, will not be uninteresting

:

" ' Myself having command of a garrison in Falmouth for the de-

fense of the same, a party of French from Canada, joined with a

company of Indians, to the number of bctwi.\t four and live hundred

French and Indians, set upon our fort. The 16th of May, 1690, about

dawning, began our fight: the 20th, about three o'clock, afternoon,

we were taken. They fought us five days and four nights, in which

time tbey killed and wounded the greatest part of our men, burned

all the houses, and at last we were forced to have a parley with them

in order for a surrender. We not knowing that there was any French

among them, set up a flag of truce in order fur a parley. We de-

manded if there were any French among them, and if they would

give us quarter. They answered, that they were Frenchmen, nnd that

tbey would give us good quarter. Upon this answer, we sent out to

them again, to know from whence thoy came, and if they would give

uagood quarter, both for our men, women, and chitdren, both wounded

J Mag., 2, bZi.
II

Probably Lawrence's house.

^ This bluff probably retains the same general features it had then
;

the fort stood in the rear of a three-story house situated at the foot of

King Street.
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and aotind, and that we should have liberty to march to the next Eng-

lish town, and hare a guard for our defense and safety unto the next

English town—then we would surrender ; and also thnt the Governor

of the French should hold up bis hand and swear by the great and

ever-living God that the several articles should be performed. AH
which he did solemnly swear to pcrrorm ; but as soon as they had us in

their custody they broke their articles, suffered our women and children

and our men to be made captives in the hands of the heathen, to bo

cruelly murdered and destroyed many of them, and cspeciiilly our

wounded men ; only the French kept myself and three or four more

and carried us overland for Canada. . . . About twenty-four days we

were marching through tbe country for Quebec, in Canada, by land

and water, carrying our canoes with ue. The chief of the Indians

that oome against us were those Indians that we had in hold, that Sir

Edmond Andross ordered to be elcared, and Sieur Castine and Ma-

dockawando, with their eastern forces. The French tbiit took us came

from Canada, in February last past, designed for tbe destruction of

Falmouth, by order from the Governor there, tbe Earl of Frontenao.*

The commander's name was Mons. Burniffe : his lieutenant's name was

Mens. Corte de March, who was at the taking of Schenectady. They

brought several Indians with them from Canada, and made up tbe

rest of their furcea as they marched through the woods from Canada.

But I must say, they were kind to me in my travels through the coun-

try. Our provisions were very short—Indian com and acorns—hunger

made it very good and God gave it strength to nourish. I arrived at

Quebec the l-Jtli of June, 1691). . . . I was at Quebec four months, iind

was exchanged for a Frenchman Sir Wm. Pliips bad taken the 15tb

of October, IBQO.'f

" The names of but few of the persona who perished in

the unhappy fall of Falmouth are preserved, and those in-

cidentally. Among the killed were Lieut. Clarke and the

thirteen young men of his company, who were left dead

upon the spot, as before noticed.

" Thomas Cloice and Seth Brackett, son of Anthony,

were killed, but it is not known whether they were among

the slain of Clarke's company or not. It appears by the

Danvers records that Thomas Alsop, Edward Crocker, and

George Bogwell were killed at Casco, in 1G90. Joseph

Ramsdell, a soldier from Lynn, was also killed. Capt.

Robert Lawrence was mortally wounded, and Anthony

Brackett, Jr., James Ross, and Peter JIoitbII were among

the prisoners. It is to be regretted that a more perfect

record of the sufferers in this catastrophe has not been pre-

served. We have been indebted to ancient depositions

taken to perpetuate evidence for the few names we have

been able to present. In this disaster the town records

were destroyed,J together with all other combustible or

destructible property in town, and the once flourishing

settlement exhibited an entire and melancholy ruin.§ It

* Davis makes sad work with French names and titles. He calls

Count Frontenao " the Earl of Frontenac," Partnenf, " Mans. Bur-

niffe," and Courtemanche, " Mons. Corte de March." Otherwise, his

report contains a correct statement of facts.

t The original paper is on file in tbe Massachusetts office of State.

i It has been intimated that the town records were carried to Can-

ada; but it is not probable that the enemy would take pains to pre-

serve and tran.^port so great a distance documents which to them had
no sort of value. Judge Freeman mentioned tbe report to me, but

he had no authority for it but tradition. Hud there been a reasonable

ground for I he idea, the subsequent settlers would have obtained

them at n time when their loss was severely felt and produced great

confusion in titles.

J William Vangban, Charles Frost, and Richard Martyn wrote to

Boston from Portsmouth, May 19, 1690, that they had just beard of

the attack on Casco. That two men from Spurwink garrison, on

hearing tbe firing at Casco, went to see about it. When they cume
near, "they saw but two bouses standing, the fuit on fire, and the

enemy vt>ry numerous thereabout." On Iho l!2d of May they wrote

was visited by Sir William Phips and Maj. Church in

August, 1692, on an expedition east, when they buried the

bones of the slain, as they were bleaching upon the soil,

and removed the cannon of the fort, which had been too

large for Indian tninsportation.

" After the capture of Fort Loyal the garrisons at Pur-

pooduck, Spurwink, and in Scarborough were so disheart-

ened that they abandoned their posts and retreated upon

Saco. In a few days after, the people in the latter place

drew off to Wells and left the country east of that settle-

ment wholly depopulated and unprotected.

" Maj. Church was sent to this bay again in September

to harass the enemy The expedittua on its return

anchored for a night off Purpooduck Point; and the ac-

commodations on board the vessels being limited, three

companies encamped in a deserted house on shore. At

the dawn of day the Indians attacked the camp, and an

obstinate engagement ensued, during which the troops from

the vessels were landed. The enemy were driven off, with

the loss of thirteen canoes. Several were killed and

wounded on both sides. One ludlan prisoner was taken, ' a

lusty man, who had Joseph RamsdeU'.s scalp by his side.'{|

" Falmouth became the scene of no more engagements

during the war. A single anecdote relating to the place,

told by Mather with high relish, may close the subject.

As the Indians were passing through ' deserted Cascj,' in

1U94, the squaws desired the young men to shoot some

hoi-ses that were straying about jCapt. Brackett's orchard,

as they were suffering from hunger ; but the young men,

wbhing to have some sport first, caught one of the horses,

and making a baiter from the mane and tail, a son of the

famous Higon mounted the steed for a ride, and to secure

him from falling, he had his legs tied under the horse's

belly. But no sooner was the horse at liberty than he set

out at full speed ' through brier and brake,' without regard

to the feelings or the wailings of his rider. Nothing more

was seen of poor Higon but a leg, which was buried with

great lamentation in Capt. Bmckett's cellar.

" The war continued until 1698, when a treaty of peace,

concluded at Ryswick, in 1697, between the English and

French, having been announced, and Madokawando being

dead, all obstructions to an accommodation were removed.

Articles of agreement were entered into in October, and a

treaty was finally executed at Mare's Point, iu Casco Bay,

January 7, 1699. The close of the war presents a sad

spectacle, at which time the whole territory of Falmouth,

which before the war was covered with an active and enter-

prising population, was a perfect blank,—a thoroughfare

for the savage, and a resort for beasts of prey."^

again that the vessels they had sent discovered that the enemy, three

or four hundred strong, had possession of Casco, and as thoy ap-

proached the fort they were fired upon ; and while they stayed, the

remainder of the fort and houses were burnt; that threo or four bun
dred people, mostly women and children, had arrived at Portsmouth
from the eastward, and that the vessels reported that Black Point
Kichuiond's Island, and Spurwink were burning as they passed.

(Gen. Court files.)

The Generol Court, in October following, ordered a payment for

wages to be made to the wives and relations of the soldiers who wore
slain or taken at Casco.

II

Church. t Willij' Hist. Port.
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CHAPTER VIII.

FRENCH AND INDIAN WARS OF 1702 AND 1722.

Destruction of Sparwink—Siege of New Casco—P'ort saved hy arri-

val of an Armed Vessel—Indians generally engaged in the War

—

DestruotioQ of Brunswick—Bounty offered for luUian Scalps—Suc-

cess of the English—French and Indian Settlement at Norridge-

wock Destroyed—Peace of 1 726.

On the breaking out of the war between France and

England, in 1702, apprehensions were entertained by the

government of Massachusetts that the eastern Indians

would again ccmmence liostilities. To prevent this ca-

lamity Gov. Dudley, in the summer of 1703, visited the

coast as far as Pemaquid, and held conferences with the

Indians. He succeeded iu getting thum to agree to a grand

council, which x«setubled on the 20th of June of that year,

at the fort in New Casco, and iu un umicubic manner a

treaty of peace was concluded. The sachems assured the

Governor that they aimed- at nothing more than peace, and

protested that " as high as the sun was above the earth so

far distant should their designs be of making the least breach

between each other."* As a pledge of their sincerity, they

presented him with a belt of wampum, and each party

added a great number of stones to two pillars which had

been erected at a former treaty, and called the Ttco Brothers

in testimony of their amicable agreement.
j~

This, however, was a hollow pretense ; for, at the very

time, treacherous designs were concealed under these pacific

manifestations, and the savages had protracted the treaty

several days in espectatiun of the arrival of a French force,

with a view tp destroy the English commissioners. This

statemei>t denves coiiiirmatiou from the fact that within

two months from the date of the treaty, " the whole eastern

country was in conflagration, no house standing, nor garri-

son uuattacked."! In Augu.st, 1703, the enemy, consisting

of five hundred French and lodians, invaded the frontier,

and, dividing into small parties, unexpectedly attacked all

the settlements from Casco to Wells. The inhabitants of

Purpooduck were the most severe sufferers in this sudden

onset. There were nine families then settled upon and near

the Point, who were not protected by any garrison. § The

Indians came suddenly upon the defenseless hamlet when the

men were absent, killed twenty-five persons and took several

prisoners. Among the killed were Thomas Lovitt and his

family, Joel Madeford, or JMadiver, and the wives of Josiah

and Benjamin Wallis, and of Michael Webber.{| The wife

• Penhallow. f Willis.

I Penhallow. About this time the French hod drawn ofif a great

number of Indian families from the Pettobticot, ytHvUtgewitck, Suco,

and Pequakett tribes, and settled them at St. Francois, in Canada, as

a protection against the Six Nations, who were in the English interest.

These were afturwards called the Hi. Frunvuin Indians, and were lot

loose by the French from time to time to prey upon the defenseless

frontiers of New Hampshire and Massachusetts. 2 Hutch., 131.

'i
This was subsequently called Spring Point, and probably received

its name from an excellent and unfailing spring which issues from

the bank just above high-water mark.

[j
Madeford or Madiver was the son of Michael Madlver, who lived

at Purpooduck before the first war ; the name does not exist here now,

nor in the country to our knowledge. The Indians ripped open Web-

ber's wife, who was pregmint, and took two children from her.

6

i of Jos-^ph Wallis was taken captive ; Josiah Wiillis iii:iJo

\\\>i escape to Black Point with his sou John, then seven

years old, part of the way upon his back.^ Spurwink, prin-

cipally occupied by the Jordan family, was attacked at the

same time, and twenty-two persons by the name of Jordan

were killed aud taken prisoners. Dominieus Jordan, the

third son of the Rev. Robert, was among the killed, and

his family, consisting of six children, were carried to Can-

ada.** His brother Jeremiah was among the prisoners, who

was subsequently called French Jeremy, from the circum-

stance of his having been carried to France. The whole

country, from Purpooduck Point to Spurwink, was covered

with woods, except the few spots which the inhabitants had

cleared. This aflxirdcd facilities to the Indians for conceal-

ment and protection. From these coverts they made their

sudden and cruel visits, then returned to mingle again with

the other wild tenants of the forest, beyond the reach of

pursuit.

" The enemy next directed their attention to the fort at

New Casco. This was the most considerable fort ou the

eastern coast, and was the central point of defense for all

the Settlements upon Casco Bay jf
"j" under its protection sev-

eral persons had collected to revive the fortunes of the town.

Maj. March commanded the garrison at this time, consist-

ing of but thirty-six men. The enemy practiced a strata-

gem in hopes of taking the fort without loss of lives, aud

for this purpose their able chiefs Moxus, Wanungonet, and

Assacombuit sent a flag of truce to the commanding officer,

soliciting a conference, under pretense that they had some-

thing important to communicate. At first Maj. March

declined the invitation, suspecting some treachery, but

afterwards as they seemed to be tew in number aud un-

armed, he concluded to meet them, taking the precaution to

post two or three sentinels, where they might be ready in

case of danger. On his arrival at the place of meeting,

they saluted him civilly, but immediately drew their toma-

hawks from under their robes, aud violently assaulted him,

while others in ambush shot down one of the sentinels.

March, being a man of uncommon strength, as well as cour-

age, wrested the tomahawk from one of the assailants, and

successfully defended himself until Sergt. Hook arrived

from the fort with a file of ten men, and rescued him from

his perilous situation. Mr. Phippen and Mr. Kent, who

accompanied Maj. March, being less able from advanced

age to resist this savage attack, were overpowered and

slain. J;J
The enemy being disappointed in their main ob-

^ Deposition of John Wallis, who was living in 1760. The family

of Wallis, which was Ibrmerly so numerous here, is nearly run out

;

some of them spell the name Wallace ; they are all descendants of

John Wallis, who lived at Purpooduck before the first war, and was

selectman in 16S1; they returned herefrom Gloucester, Cape Ann.
o« Sue History of Cape Elizabeth.

fl In 1703, the fort was enlarged and bods and bedding were fur-

nished for the first time, by order of goveriimcnt.

XX Penhallow speaking of the slaughter of Phippen and Kent, says,

" Being advanced in years, they were so infirm, that I might say

of them as Juvenal did of Priam, they had scarce blood enough left

to tlege the knife of the sacrifice," David Phippeu was the son of

Joseph, who lived at Purpooduck as early as 1650. In the previous

war the family moved to Salem, and David was probably the only one

who returned. He had purchased in 1B99 a large tract on the Pre-

sumpscot Uiver of George Felt, Francis Neal, and Jenkin Williams,
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ject, destroyed the cottages or huts in the vicinity, and

h\id siege to tlie fort. From the weaicness of the garrison,

the utmost vigilance was required on the part of the com-

manding officer to prevent surprise ; he consequently di-

vided his men into three companies of twelve each, who

interchanged watching every two hours, without intermis-

sion, for six days and night?. At the end of that time the

enemy received an addition to their force, when the whole

amounted to five hundred French and Indians, and were

commanded by M. Bobussin, a French officer. This re-

inforcement had just returned from a successful incursion

upon the western towns ; they had taken one sloop, two

shallops, and considerable plunder, and were flu.shed with

victory. They immediately commenced undermining the

fort on the water-side, and as this was situated upon an

elevated bank, they could work securely out of the range of

its guns, and were protected by a superior force from the

danger of a sally. They had proceeded two days and nights,

and would probably soon have succeeded in their attempt,

had not the garrison fortunately been relieved by the arri-

val of a province armed vessel, commanded by Capt. South-

ack, which interrupted their plans. Southack retook their

prizes, forced them to raise the siege, and shattered their

navy, consisting of two hundred canoes. The Indians made

a hasty retreat, but still hovered in the vicinity of Casco

Bay, which was a central situation for them, and the waters

of which furnished them with an inexhaustible supply of

provisions. In the autumn of 1703, they surprised a vessel

in the bay, killed the master and three men,'and wounded

two more. They occasionally practiced upon their prison-

ers the most revolting cruelties ; in one instance a woman

who had been killed, was exposed in a brutal manner with

her infant fastened to her breast, and left to perish. In

Casco, Col. Church relates that an English .soldier was

found, in the early part of the war, with a stake driven

through his body, his head cut o£F, and a hog's head placed

on his shoulders, and his heart and inwards taken out and

hung around his body. The eastern towns were not the

only places which suffered in this war. Deerfield and other

settlements in the western part of Massachusetts were cut

off, and many lives were destroyed and property laid waste

on the whole frontier, both of that province and New
Hampshire.

" To arm a force sufficient to repel their cruel invaders,

government deemed it necessary to call to its aid the avarice

of the people, and they offered a bounty of £40 for every

Indian scalp that should be brought in. This excited a

spirit of enterprise in the inhabitants, which made them

endure incredible hardships in pursuing the enemy through

(ihe forests in the depth of winter to procure this valuable

merchandise.

" After the melancholy events of 1703, Falmouth was

pntirely deserted of inhabitants, and did not become the

scene of further cruelties during the war. Saco, Scarbor-

pugh, and the places in this province farther west were con-

tinually harassed, and lost many of their active and promis-

Tfhich tbej bought qf the Indians in 1677. He came down no doubt

to improve this estate extending from Congin to about half a mile

below the lower falls. He left four children, oqe of whom, Anna,

married John Green, of Salem.

ing young men, as well as the aged, and women and chil-

dren. The war was crowded with scenes of cruelty and

blood, similar to those of the last wars, and which give to

Indian hostilities a ferocious and horrible celebrity. The

war was particularly distinguished by the capture of Port

Royal, ill Nova Scotia, from the French, which was after-

wards Called Annapolis, in honor of Queen Anne.

" The fort in Falmouth continued to be maintained

during the war, although not without considerable opposi-

tion. In 1704, Col.. Church gave his strong testimony

against supporting it.* In 1710 the House of Representa-

tives passed a resolve to abandon it, which was non-con-

curred in the council ; they say, ' Whereas the first and

sole end of settling a garri-son at Casco Bay was for a

trading-house to accommodate the eastern Indiana in time

of peace, but upon the breaking out of the war, it was

thought necessary to enlarge the said garrison and luiike it

more defensive, supposing it might be advantageous for the

covering the fishery, and to recruit our forces that might

march towards the headquarters of the enemy ; but by ex-

perience it is known that the fort is of little or no security

to our fishery, or of any advantage to our marching forces,

but of great expense and charge, etc' It is therefore ' or-

dered that the forces be withdrawn, etc' Several attempts

were made to induce the Governor to relinquish the fort

here as an unnecessary public burden, but he would not

consent to it. In 1715 the House voted to garrison Pejep-

scot fort, situated at the falls in Brunswick, and to aban-

don that at Casco ; a committee reported that ' the fort or

trading-house at Ca.sco, which being much out of repair, we

are of opinion it is for his majesty's service that it be

slighted, and no longer continued ;' and they recommended

repairing Pejepseot fort and drawing twenty men, the num-

ber at Ca.sco, for Arrowsic The Governor replied, ' I shall

give orders to draw out nineteen men and an ensign from

Casco fort for Arrowsic, and also raise fifteen men for

Brunswick, but cannot see rea.son at present to demolish

Casco fort until his majesty's pleasure be known.' The

House adhered to their resolution, and after reciting their

Ibrmer vote, and asserting that the Governor had power by

the charter to demolish forts without orders from the king,

voted that no more money be drawn from the public treas-

ury to pay officers or soldiers at the fort of Casco, after

September 1st ncxt.f

" Maj. Samuel Sloody, in the early part of the war,

succeeded Muj. March in the command at Casco fort; he

received frequent communications from the enemy, and wa!>

the organ of correspondence between them and the govern-

ment. In 1713, hostilities having ceased in Europe,^ the

Indians sent a flag of truce to Maj. Moody desiring peace,

and requesting that a conference might be had at Casco.

The Governor being notified of their application, consented

* Church aavB, "To conclude all, if your Excellency will be plensed

to make yourself great and us a happy people, as to the destroying

of our enemies and easing of our taxes, etc., be pleased to draw forth

all those forces now in pay in all the eastward parts, both at Saco and

C((»co Bat/ ; for those two trading-houses never did any good, nor

never will, and ore not worthy the name of Queen's forts."

I Mass. Rec.

+ The treaty of Utrecht was signed July 13, 1713 ; hostilities had
ceased some time before.
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to enter into a treaty with them, but insisted on their meet-

ing him at Portsmouth. At that place articles of pacifica-

tion were entered into July 13, 1713, by delegates on the

part of the Indians from the tribes on the St. John, Ken-

nebec, Amcriscoggin, Saco, and Merriuiac, which were

accepted and formally confirmed by a great body of Indians

who were assembled at Falmouth wailing the result. When

the several articles were read and explained to them, they

expressed their satisfaction by loud demonstrations of joy.

Thus was peace concluded after ten years of constant agita-

tion in New England, under circumstances which gave hope of

long continuance. By one of the articles the English were

allowed to enter upon their former settlements without

molestation or claim on the part of the Indians ; while to

the latter was reserved the right of huntingj fishing, and

fowling, as freely as they enjoyed in 1693. There was a

stipulation in the treaty that the government should estab-

lish convenient trading-houses for the Indians, where they

might obtain their supplies without the fraud and extortion

which had been practiced in former years. In pursuance

of this article, a trading-house was established at Winter

Harbor and another in Falmouth.*

" Hutchinson estimates the loss to the country by the

three late Indian wars as follows :
' From 1 675, when

Philip's war began, to 1713, five thousand or six thousand

of the youth of the country had perished by the enemy, or

by distempers contracted in the service ; nine in ten of these

would have been fathers of families, and in the course

of forty years have multiplied to near one hundred thousand

sou Is. 'f

" In 1715, Governor Dudley having been superseded in

the government of Massachusetts, the House of Represen-

tatives seized the opportunity to secure the demolition of

the fort at Casco, and passed the following resolve in June,

1716:

"'Tbig house being informed that tbe rotes to demolish Ciisco fort

and remore tbe stores from thence have not bevn fully complied with,

which this bouse apprehend may be of dangerous consequence by ox-

posing his majesty's stores and tbe few people that still remain there,

contrary to the acts of this court, to the insults of tbe Indians.

"' Kesolced, that his Hon. the Lieutenant-Governor be desired to

direct a full performance of the votes of this court, and order the re-

moving of tbe stores to Boston, and tbe entire demolishing ot tbe fort

and the houses therein, without delay.

'

" This order was immediately carried into execution, and

a sloop was dispatched from Boston to remove the stores

belonging to the government to that place. Maj. Moody,

who had probably continued at the fort until it was demol-

ished, and Benjamin Larrabee, the second in command,

with the other persons who had occupied the houses which

were ordered to be destroyed, removed their residences to

the Neck, now Portland."

THE FRENCH AND INDIAN WAE OP 1722.

The peace of 1713 was of short duration. The French,

taking alarm at the rapid encroachments of the English

» The government was at the expense of furnishing merchandise

for these establishments, and providing a person to attend tbcm, who

was called a Truckmaster; they occasioned a continual expenditure,

with but little satisfaction to the Indians. The one at Fulmuutb was

nut long continued, and the failure of the governmeut in tliis par-

ticular becam*-^ subject of complaint. 2 N. H. Coll., 240.

t 2. 133.

upon territory which they were unwiUinv^ to surrender,

employed the influence of two Jesuit luissionaries, Fathers

Rule and La Chassc, to arouse the opposition of the Indians

to the extension of English settlements ca.st of the Kenne-

bec. Gov. Shute called the Indians together in council, at

Arrowsic Island, in 1717, and although they nominally

confirmed the treaty of Ryswick, which had been sinned at

the conclusion of the last war, yet they distinctly stated

their objections to Eiiirlish .settlements being extended be-

yond certain mills which were then erected on the Ken-

nebec, and to the construction of forts in that region for

the security of the inhabitants.^ In 1719, they demanded

that the English settlers should be removed from their

lands, and an outbreak was only then prevented by the

presence of a small force on the frontiers. In 1720 they

were persuaded by the French to commit open depreda-

tions, and parties from the Norrilgewock and Penobscot

tribes killed some cattle and threatened the lives of the

Engliiih.

The Nova Scotia Indians proceeded to further extremi-

ties ; they surprised the English at Canso, robbed thetu of

everything, and killed three or four persons. Further hos-

tilities at this time were prevented by Col. Walton, of New

Hampshire, who was detached with a force of two hun-

dred men to <;uard the froutiers.§ In August, 1721, a

party of two hundred Indians, accompanied by their spir-

itual leaders. Rale and La Chasse, under French colors and

armed, went to Arrowsic and held a " talk" with Capt.

Penliallow, who commanded the fort there. This, ended

without satisfaction to either party ; the Indians being en-

tirely under the influence of their priests, were permitted

to do nothing which would infringe upon French power or

influence. They left a letter for the Governor, in which

they uttered serious complaints against the English for un-

justly invading their property, depriving them of the coun-

try which God had given them, and threatening it they did

not remove from their lands in three weeks they would

kill them, burn their houses, and destroy their cattle. The

English endeavored' to obtain a conference, but were unable

to effect it without the presence of the luissionaries. The

Itidians were accompanied by M. Crozier, from Canada, and

a son of the Baron de Sf. Castine. The government, irri-

tated by the conduct of the French, determined to attempt

the removal of what they apprehended to be the cause

of all the trouble. For that purpose a force of three hun-

dred men was raised in 1721, and sent to Norridgewock,

under Col. Thomas Westbrook, with orders to seize Father

Rdle and bring him to Boston. No other success attended

this expedition than the seizure of the private papers

of the Jesuit, among which was his correspondence with

the Governor of Canada, which developed the secret machi-

nations of the French to influence, and send upon our de-

fenseless frontiers, a barbarous foe.

X 2 Hutchinson, 108, 237; 1 Douglass, 199.

§ The government afterwards sent Col. Walton, Maj. Moody, Cupts.

Harmon, Peahallow, and Wuinwright, to demand satisfaction of the

chiefs for these outrages. Patrick Rogers, in 1773, testified that he

lived at (xeorgetown in 1720 or 1721, and at that time there was not

one bouse that he knew of between Ijeorgetown and Annnpolis, ex-

cept one at Damariscore.
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This invasion of their headquarters exasperated the

enemj in an unusual degree, and although the government,

perceiving by the ill success of the expedition that they

had made a false step, endeavored by presents to conciliate

the chiefs, their vengeance was visited in the following

season upon the unoffending inhabitants of the frontiers.

In June, 1722, a party of sixty men in twenty canoes cap-

tured nine families in Merrymeeting Bay, and committed

depredations on the coast east of the Kennebec, which was

soon followed by the destruction of Brunswick.*

Immediately aAer information of this latter event reached

Boston, the Governor and Council made a formal declara-

tion of war.f Col. Walton, of New Hampshire, was the com-

manding officer of the forces on this coast, with whom Muj.

Moody, of Falmouth, was associated as second in command.

But disputes having arisen between Gov. Shute and the

House ofRepresentatives, the unhappy consequences were felt

even in the management of the military service. Complaints

were preferred against Walton and Jloody ; they were sum-

moned by the House to answer before it, and the Governor

was desired to dismiss them from the service. The Gov-

ernor contended that it was his prerogative, as captain-gen-

eral of the province, to appoint military officers, and super-

intend and control the military operations, and denied

their right to interfere in it. They, on the other hand,

threatened to withhold the resources for carrying on the

war. In this difficulty, a sort of compromise was made by

which the two principal officci'S were ordered to Boston,

where they underwent an examination before the House,

and finally, after the departure of Gov. Shute from the

province, were dismissed from the service without any suf-

ficient reason having been assigned for it, and Col. Thomas

Westbrook, of Portsmouth, N. H., appointed to the chief

command. The principal ground of the opposition in the

House to these officers seems to have been that they were

disposed to follow the instructions of the Governor, rather

than a branch of the Legislature ; the complaints in fact

proceeded from political and not personal considerations.

The Governor was so much disgusted with the opposition

he met with in the province, that he secretly obtained leave

to return home, and left the country in January, 1723.

The administration and the conduct of the war devolved

upon Wm. Dummer, the Lieutenant-Grovernor.

" The Lieutenant-Governor, after some opposition, in con-

sideration of the exposed state of the country, having grati-

fied the House by the removal of Walton and Moody from

command, the war from that time was carried on with

spirit. Premiums were voted for scalps and prisoners,^ and

money raised for the enlistment and support of troops. In

January, 1723, soldiers were stationed at Falmouth as fol-

lows: on the Neck, twenty-four men in three garrisons,

viz., at Maj. Moody's, Ingersoll's, and Wass' ; in Purpoo-

duck, at Sawyer's and York's, four men and a corporal ; ' at

* In September they followed np their saccesees by attacking

Georgetown ; they were not able to take the fort, but they killeil fifty

head of cattle and burnt twenty-six dwelling-bonacs.—2 Hutch., 268.

—Penhallow. In 1722, thirty men were stationed at Falmouth, and

twenty at North Yarmouth.—Williamson, 2, 118.

t July 25, 1722.

X £100 for each scalp was voted to the Tolnnteers and £60 to reg-

ular soldiers.

Spurwink, at Mr. Jordan's, where a ferry is kept, three

men, under the care of a corporal ;' at Black Point, nine

men, and to be recruited. In September following the gar-

risons at Purpooduck and Spurwink were increased, the

former to twelve and the latter to nine men. These were

placed under the command of Lieut. Dominicus Jordan.

In February an expedition was sent to Penobscot, under

Col. Westbrook, and another to Norridgewock, under Capt.

Harmon, but both were unsuccessful. The enemy remained

in their retreats until the weather became suitable to open

the campaign, when they divided into small parties and har-

assed the whole line of frontier settlements. In April they

took eight persons in Scarborough and Falmouth, and killed

some, among whom was Sergt. Chabb, of the Scarborough

garrison. They passed westward and committed depreda-

tions in Berwick, Wells, and York. In Jane they attacked

Roger Deering's garrison-house, in Scarborough, killed his

wife, Thomas Larrabee, and his son, and took three of his

children, and Mary Scammon, John Hunnewell, and Robert

Jordan, prisoners. No further injuries were done in this

neighborhood during the remainder of the season ; but on

the opening of spring, in 1724, the enemy were again found

renewing their desultory attacks. In May they killed one

man and wounded another at Purpooduck. In July they

mortally wounded Solomon Jordan as he was going out of

the garrison at Spurwink. The next day Lieut. Joseph

Bean, with a file of soldiers, went in pursuit of the enemy,

and overtook a party consisting of thirty men. These he

attacked, and having killed one of their leaders, the rest

fled, leaving behind twenty-five packs, twelve blankets, a

gun, and several other articles. The scalp of the slain In-

dian was carried to Boston, for which Bean and his company

received one hundred pounds. The early part of the cam-

paign had been unfortunate to the English. Numerous par-

ties of the Indians were scattered over the country, plundering

and murdering the inhabitants and eluding all pursuit. The
government, discouraged by the ill success which attended

thei" efforts to check the progress of this marauder warfare,

determined to beard the lion in his den. For this purpose

they.fitted out an expedition, in August, of four companies,

consisting of two hundred and eight men, commanded by

Capts. Harmon, Moulton, Brown, and Bean, to proceed to

Norridgewock, the headquarters of thi.s warlike tribe. The
undertaking was crowned with complete success. On the

23d of August they surprised and entirely destroyed the

settlement, consisting of the Catholic chapel, the cottages

which were spread around it, together with all their canoes.

The number of the enemy killed and drowned in the attack

was about eighty, among whom was Father Rale, who, as

he was considered the principal cau.sc of the cruel visits of

his flock, was regarded as the greatest trophy of the war.§

§ Father Rtlle had lired among these people over thirty years,

having first arrived from France at Quebec in October, 1689, during
which period he bad been unremitting in bis exertions to convert the
natives to the Catholic faith. A few years before the time of which
we are speaking he procured a chnpel to be built at NurKdgewock
the seat of a numerous tribe, in which he bad placed a bell. His in-

flu>^ni-e was very extensive, and deserved, not less for his zeal and
entire devotion to their service, than for his learning and talents

lie was master of the learned languages, and wrote the Latin with
cla-^sical purity. He taught many of his converts to write, and corre-
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" This .ichierement was celebrated througliout New Eng-

land, as the greatest performed since Philip's war, and it

was no less distinguished in its consequences as breaking

the power of a tribe which had exercised a commanding

influence over Indian counsels, and over the fate of our

settlemeuts.*

" The next and last considerable engagement in this war

took place at Pequakett, now Fryeburg, in May, 1725, by a

party of thirty-four volunteers, under Capt. Lovell. The

company unfortunately fell into an ambush and many of

them- were destroyed ; but they rendered so good an account

of their lives as to check all further depredations from that

quarter during the war. Paugus, their cruel chief, and a

number of his companions, were slain. The English, aflor

sustaining themselves until the close of the day against

more than double their number, were left in possession of the

field ; they lost ten killed and six mortally wounded, among

whom were Capt. Lovell, Lieut. Farwell, and Ensign Rob-

bins : eight only returned home.f
" Soon after this unfortunate affair, the government,

understanding that the Penobscot Indians were desirous of

peace, sent commissioners to St. Greorges to meet the head

men of that tribe. A conference was held there, which

resulted in a cessation of hostilities, and proposals for a

peace to be entered into at Boston. A delegation of the

tribe soon after proceeded to Boston, and a treaty was exe-

cuted Dec. 15, 1725. By one of the articles, it was agreed

that the treaty .should be ratified at Falmouth in the fol-

lowing May, by all the eastern tribes. The time of the

ratification was subsequently postponed to the 20th of June,

and again to July ; at which time Lieut.-Gov. Dummer,

with a majority of the council, and a number of the repre-

sentatives, together with Lieut.-Gov. John Wentworth, of

New Hampshire, accompanied by a committee of the Council

and House of that State, and Paul Mascareue, delegated by

the Governor of Nova Scotia, proceeded to Falmouth. The

Indians did not arrive until July 29th, when forty of the

Penobscot tribe came in, and in the afternoon of that day

the conference commenced. Several days were spent in

negotiations, which were closed on the 4th of Augustj and

on the 5th, the peace was publicly ratified in the meeting-

house. A public dinner, furnished by government, was

sponded with them in their own langnage. He said " he knew all the

languages in this vaat desert." The French writers place him among

the saints, while his English contemporaries gire him a place the very

opposite. He died in the sixty-serenth year of bis age. The dic-

tionary of the Abenaquit language, which he prepared, has been

translated for publication at Cambridge, where it has been deposited

more than one hundred and fifty years.

> A detailed account of the e.tpedition may be found in 2 Hutch.,

279, and PenbaUow, 108.

f Rer. Mr. Symmes, of Bradford, published an account of this

unfortunate affair at the time. See aUo Belkn. K. H. This erent

was commemorated at Fryeburg in May, 1825, by a large collection of

people from different parts of the State; the late Oorernor Lincoln

delivered a poem, and Charles S. Davies, Esq., of this town, an oration

on the occasion ; the latter was soon afler published. A procession

moved to the scene of action on the margin of a pond, where appro-

priate remarks were made by Col. Bradley, of Fryeburg; » public

dinner and a ball in the evening lent their attractions to the day. Two

of our inhabitants, Matthew and William Scales, who had moved to

North Tarmouth, were killed there in April, this year, in an .ittaok

on the garrison.

given at the commencement, and another at the close of

the negotiations ; the commissioners of JIassachusetts and

the Indians remained here a week after the ratification in

interpreting the treaty and ' fully settling some other

matters,' when the latter were transported by government

to St. Georges, and the commissioners sailed for Boston.;^

The Peiiobscols on this occasion acted for the Wawenocks,

the Arreguntonocks, and the St. Francois. Penhallow, an

accurate observer, says, ' In these conferences the discretion

and prudence of the savages was discernible.' One instance

of their prudence and sagacity deserves to be noticed. ' One

of the first things,' says Penhallow, ' that the Indians de-

sired of our Governors, was, that they would give orders that

the vessels in the harbor, as well as the taverns ashore,

might be restrained from selling any liquors to their young

men.' The Governor approved of this precaution, and gave

the order accordingly. When the first day of the confer-

ence, which was Saturday, was over, the Governor said to

them, ' To-morrow is the Lord's day, on which we do no

business.' ' Lorou,' their speaker, answered, ' To-morrow is

our Sabbath ; we also keep the day.'

" In 1727, the tribes which had not been represented at

the conference of the former year notified the government

of Massachusetts of their desire to make a public couGr-

mation of the peace. To this the Governor assented, and

informed them that he would meet them at Falmouth, in

July, for that purpose. Accordingly, with a delegation

from New Hampshire and Massachusetts, he met the tribes

of Arreffiinlonocks, Wawenoclcs, Norrldgewoclcs, and Peuob-

scots in that place, when the articles of the peace were

publicly and solemnly confirmed by the respective parties.

There were over two hundred Indians present, and more

than forty gentlemen in the delegation from the two pro-

vinces. The conferences were hold in a spacious tent on

Munjoy's Hill, where on the close of the negotiations a

public dinner was provided at the expense of government,

of which both parties partook. Mr. Smith, in his Journal,

says the Indians appeared ' with French colors, and made a

great show.' This was the largest collection of people that

had ever assembled in town, and the inhabitants were ill pre-

pared in provisions and accommodations for so large an addi-

tion to their numbers; on their departure, Mr. Smith adds,

' they left us quite bare and nothing of the country's pro-

dace left, only three bushels of corn and some small things.'

"

CHAPTER IX.

FHENOH AlTD INDIAN VTA-B. OF 1744.

Causes of the War—Preparations by the Government of Massachu-

setts—Local and Foreign Events of the War—Fort Loyal Armed
and Qarriaoned—Siege and Capture of Louisbourg—Final Couflict

and Downfall of Canada.

" In 1740, the death of Charles VI., Emperor of Ger-

many, gave occasion for a fierce war for the Austrian suc-

cession, in which, before its close, all the powers of Europe

and North America were engaged. It was opened by Fred-

X Mr. Smith's Journal.
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erick, the young king of Prussia, for the recovery of Silesia

from the chivalric Maria Theresa. The elector of Bavaria

cluimed to succeed Charles VI., and being supported by the

electoral college, adverse to the pretensions of Maria The-

resa, he soon enlisted a powerful alliance in aid of his cause.

The accession of France to this alliance was a signal not to

be mistaken, that England, with the German possessions

and prepossessions of her monarch, would throw herself

into the confederacy of the opposite party. So general was

the expectation of this event in this country, that fur some

months previous to the declaration of war by England

against France in 1744, the General Court of Massachusetts

had anticipated approaching danger, and made some prepa-

rations to meet it. As early as April, 1742, the govern-

ment ordered a breastwork and platform for ten twelve-

pounders to be built on Falmouth Neck for the defense of

the harbor, and appropriated four hundred pounds to pay

the expense, the labor and stores to be furnished by the

town. This work was erected on the bank, on the eastern

side of King Street. In 1743, the General Court appro-

priated twelve hundred and eighty pounds for the defen.se

of the eastern frontiers, and the same year commissioners

were appointed to select suitable places for block-houses, of

which six were ordered to be supplied between Berwick and

Falmouth, and six further east; the commisiionei-s were

here in December.

" The population of Maine at this time was short of twelve

thousand •* the territory furnished two regiments, the first

extending as far east as Saco, containing sixteen hundred

and fifty-five men, was commanded by Col. Wni. Pepperell

;

the other, including the remainder of the soldiers, twelve

hundred and ninety strong, was under the command of Col.

Samuel Waldo. Falmouth supplied five hundred of this

number, being more than any town in Maine f We have

not been able to obtain the number furnished by the other

towns.

" In May, 1744, news of the declaration of war by Eng-

land reached this country, and gave increased activity to all

the preparations for a vigorous defense. Our people were

not yet exempted from the fear of Indian depredations, nor

was it so long since they had experienced them that all

memory of them had been lost ; they immediately entered

with earnestness on those measures of security which former

suflferings had taught them to appreciate, and so pressing did

they rcgai-d the occasion that even the church-going bell was

drowned in the busy note of preparation.;]; The provincial

government in June raised one- thousand men, of which six

hundred were designed for the defense of the eastern couu-

try.§ Sixty-five of these troops were posted in different

garrisons in Falmouth, of whom two were stationed in Ilev.

Mr. Smith's house, which had been constructed and used

for a garrison some years before.

" In addition to these precautionary measures, the gov-

s' Williamson, 2, 212. t J^Duglis' Sum.

J
" May 20, 1744, People are at work at Nortli-Yarmouth and this

town about their garrisons tu-day. Not a very full meeting, people

fearing to come." May 25, " All the talk and thought now is about

war. People are everywhere garrisoning."—.S'»»///i'« Juiini.

J Two hundred and seventy were stationed at Ueorge's Fort and
Broad Bay, fifty at Pemaquiil, and fifty at Sheep-cot.— 1 Doug., 384.

ernment entered into a treaty with the Pciiobucol Indians

at George's Fort, in July, who bound them.sulves, as did

also the other Indians on this side the Penobscot River, to

remain neutral during the war. In faith of this treaty, the

troops in this quarter were discharged, excepting one scout-

ing company, under the command of Capt. Jordan. This

oflSoer was accompanied by three Indians of the Saco tribe,

whose families were settled at Stroudwater, and supported

by government. Pacific overtures were unsuccessful with

the S.^. John and Cape Sable Indians, who had acquired the

feelings and views of the French, and entered into all their

plans. When it was found that they would nut join the

English, nor remain neutral, war was formally proclaimed

against them in November, and the Pmiobscots were re-

quired to render assistance to subdue them, in pursuance of

former treaties. This requisition, as might have been ex-

pected, was not complied with, and these children of the

forest, by a natural attraction, were soon found fighting by

the side of their red brethren against the English. War

was therefore declared against them in August, 1745, and

a high premium offered for scalps.

" This subtle and vindictive enemy being again lot loose

from all restraint, started up from their swamps and mo-

ra.sses, harassing the whole line of settlements, and com-

mitting depredations upon the undefended plantations.

Two companies were employed as scouts between Saco and

Brunswick, which were unable to find the Indians collected

in any force ; but individuals and small parties would make

sudden onsets for reprisal or revenge, and as suddenly^ dis-

appear. Ill August a party was discovered in Gorham,

which was then a frontier post containing but few settlers,

and in September some scattered Indians were traced in the

neighborhood of Falmouth ; one was fired upon at Long

Creek, and a few days after, a son of Col. Gushing of Pur-

pooduck was killed by them. Four companies of volunteers

were raised in Falmouth in September, and others in the

neighboring towns to go in quest of them. They were all,

however, unsuccessful ; for scarce had the presence of the

enemy created alarm upon the whole frontier, than they

suddenly retired far beyond the reach of observation. They

were seen no more in this neighborhood during the year,

but in the spring of 1746 they came in stronger force and

hung round this vicinity the whole season. On the ItUli

of April, ten of them appeared at Gorham, where they

killed a man by the name of Briant aud his four children,

and killed or curried away his wife and several other persons.

In June they attacked the family of Wescott on Long

Creek, killed and scalped two men and took their clothes

and three guns; this was done by seven Indians, when

there were twenty-five soldiers within a gunshot of the

place. A day or two after, an Indian was fired at from

Mr. Frost's garrison at Stroudwater, and five days after

another was seen near the causeway at the foot of Bi-amhali's

hill. These indications of the presence of so subtle and

dangerous an enemy, together with the appearance of lar'er

bodies on the coast at Georges and Sheepscot, created an

unusual alarm among the people, and the inhabitants at

Fidmouth united vigorously in erecting a block-house fur

the common defense. They hovered around the town all

the summer, seizing every opportunity to plunder property
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and take captives or destroy life : they became so desperate

as even to come upon the Neck after spoil ; in August, one

was discovered in Brackett's swamp. In the same month

one of Mr. Proctor's family and two other persons were

killed in Falmonth, and Philip Greeley in North Yarmouth,

where about thirty Indians were discovered. The people

here were kept in constant agitation during the season by

these repeated depredations ; and the terror was more lively,

as it was caused by an enemy who could not be confronted,

and whose secret aud sudden visitations were marked by

desolation and blood.

" But this excitement was raised to the highest point of

fearful apprehension in the latter part of September, not

only here but along the whole coast, by an expected inva-

sion from France. On the 10th of September a French

fleet, consisting of eleven sail of the line, with frigates, fire-

ships, and transports, under the command of the Duke

d'Anville, containing over three thousand troops, arrived in

Nova Scotia, with the avowed purpose of visiting the whole

coast of New England with destruction. On the receipt

of this news, the country was aroused to a sense of its dan-

ger, fifteen thousand men were in one week, the last of Sep-

tember, marched iuto Boston for the protection of that

place, and the people of Salem, Marblehead, and other

towns upon the coast in Massachusetts moved their efiects

into the country. The alarm extended to Falmouth, and a

meeting of the inhabitants was called to consider the ex-

pediency of sending away the records, and to take other

precautionary measures. It was voted to transport the town

books to Newbury, and many people packed up their prin-

cipal articles to send to a place of safety.* On the 16th

of October a public fast was kept on account of the danger,

to pray that it might be averted. But in the midst of this

alarm and thes6 preparations, news was received that an

epidemic prevailed in the French fleet, that their admiral

was dead, and that a violent gale of wind had dispersed the

fleet and had destroyed some of the best ships. This was

one of the most signal deliverances 'that New England had

experienced. The French had sent out a powerful arma-

ment, well appointed in all respects, breathing out threat-

enings and slaughters upon the devoted colonies; and

nothing, apparently, but a succession of the most disastrous

circumstances to the enemy, prevented their entire destruc-

tion. By an unaccountable remissness in the English gov-

ernment, no naval force was sent after the French into these

seas, so that the coast was lefl wholly unprotected by any

human arm.

" The spring of 1747 witnessed the renewal of Indian

hostilities and alarm ; in March the inhabitants of Fal-

month put three swivels into the Rev. Mr. Smith's house,

which was used as a garrison. The enemy appeared first

in Scarborough, April 13th, where they killed one man, and

the next day they were seen in several places ; at Sacca-

rappa they took a man by the name of Knight and his two

^ In case of attack by hU Christian Majesty's fleet our little rillnge

did not mean to surrender without firing a gun, for the town voted

on this occasion that the " selectmen apply to Capt. Moses Pearson

for the use of his tico great guiu, to be placed on Spring Point, and

tu get four barrels of powder, balls, and flints for the use of the

town!"

sons, and in another part of the town, the same week, they

killed a Mr. Elliot and his son, and took one captive. On

the 21st. of April a party attacked the family of Mr. Fos-

ter, whom they killed, and carried away his wife and six

children, and killed several cattle ; the people here pursued

them, and reported that they were about fifly in number;

the next day Stephen Bailey was fired upon by a party of

seven, near Long Creek.

" These numerous and aggravated attacks aroused the

people in the neighborhood to adopt some measures of pro-

tection. The government, although appealed to, had pro-

vided but one company of fifty men for the defense of this

frontier, and thirty of those were stationed at Topsham to

guard government timber, while the Indians were hovering

over every settlement from Topsham to Wells. In this

emergency a company of twenty-six volunteers was imme-

diately raised in Falmouth, who placed themselves under

the command of Capt. Isaac Ilsley ; another was raised in

Purpooduck, and another in North Yarmouth. Capt.

Ilsley transported two whale-boats to the Sebago pond, fur

the purpose of pursuing them in that direction. These

prompt measures had the efiect of keeping the enemy at

bay, although during the whole summer the settlements

were in a state of feverish exeitement.f lu the latter part

of August the arrival of a cartel from Canada with a num-

ber of our soldiers intimidated the Indians, so that they re-

treated from this quarter of the country, and were no more

seen for that season. The next spring they reappeared,

with an accession of numbers, at Brunswick and North

Yarmouth, and waylaid the road even to New Caisco : in

which places they killed several persons, took a number of

prisonei-9, and destroyed many buildings. But in the be-

ginning of July the happy tidings of a suspension of arms

in Europe, which resulted in the treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle,

put an end to the destructive warfare in this territory and

relieved tJie people from further apprehension.

" The most considerable event of this war, and indeed the

greatest achievement which had taken place at any previous

time ill the colonies, was the capture of Louisbourg, iu the

Island of Cape Breton, June 17, 1745. This was the

strongest fortification upon the continent, and was particularly

obnoxious to the people of Massachusetts by the refuge it

afibrded to those who sought every occasion to disturb

their fisheries and interrupt their commerce. The con-

quest was accomplished by the New England militia, con-

sisting of three thousand six hundred men, assisted by an

English and provincial fleet, and aided by a combination of

fortunate circumstances beyond the anticipation of the most

sanguine adventurer. The enterprise was a very popular

one, and soldiers were easily enlisted; the number from

Falmouth was about fifty, besides those who entered the

service and were stationed at other places.^

" The news of the capture was received here as in other

parts of the colonies with the utmost enthusiasm ; Mr.

Smith says, ' we fired our cannon five times and spent the

f The Indians this summer were accompanied by some Frenchmen.

:;: Feb.. 22, 1745, Mr. Smith says, "All the talk is about the expe-

dition to Louisbourg. There is a marvelous zeal and concurrence

through the whole country with respect to it, such us the like was

never seen in this part of the world."
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afternoon at the fort rejoiciag ;' and again the next day,

which was Sunday, he says, ' our people were again all day

rejoicing, and extravagantly blew off a vast quantity of

powder.' The soldiers in the neighborhood who survived

the expedition petitioned the government for a township of

land as a remuneration for their services and sufferings,

which was granted in 1750, and now forms part of the

town of Standish ; which, until its incorporation in 1785,

bore the name of Pearsontown.* Mr. Pearson commanded

a company raised principally in Falmouth in the ezpedition,f

and after the surrender of the city he was appointed agent

for Sir William Pepperell's regiment, and treasurer of the

nine regimenta employed in the siege, to receive and dis-

tribute the spoils of the victory. The amount of booty

divided among the officers and soldiers of the several com-

panies was £3578 5s. 5d. old tenor, principally in specific

articles, besides about $18,UU0, the proceeds of the sales of

captured property. Capt. Pearson remained at Louisbourg

the remainder of the year 1745 and part of 1746, superin-

tending the construction ofbarracks and a hospital, and the re-

pair of the fortifications, and in the spring he was sent home

by Governor Shirley with a plan to procure a frame for ad-

ditional barracks, and lumber to complete the works.j;

* " The names of these survivors luay be foun 1 sauseribed to the

petition, which was as follows :

** To the Hun. Spencer Phips, Esq., Lieutenant-Governor and Com-
mander-in-Chief in and over Hid Majesty's Province of the Mas-

sachusetts Bay, in New England, and to the Honorable the Council,

and House of Representatives, in General Court assembled, Jan-

uary, A.D. 174H.

'^ The petition of us, the subscribers, humbly sheweth, That where-

as we were in the expedition agaiust Louisbourg and the settlement

adjacent, then under the command of the French King, being in said

service, not only until but for some considerable time after the reduc-

tion thereof, to the obedience of the King of Great Britain, and some

of us detained there for the defense of Louisbourg until relieved by

his Majesty's troops from Gibraltar, being about sixteen months from

the time of entrance into said service to our arrival at our respective

homes ; the fatigue of said service your Excellency and Honours are

well knowing to, and our wages hat low while in said service, and as

(many of us) were put out of our usiml way of bui>ine88, it termi-

nated very detrimental to us, and as many of us have no lands for set-

tlement nor wherewith to purchase any. Therefore we pray your

honours to grant us a township, of the contents of six miles square,

of some of the unappropriated lands of said Province, somewhere in

the county of York, to be settled by your petitioners in such time and
under such restrictions as your Excellency and Honours, in your
known wisdom, shall see meet to enjoin us, and as your petitioners in

duty bound will ever pray.

" Mo*e« PeartOHy George Kniyht, Itaac Ihley, Jacob Ctefford, Jamet
Spriiujer, Jeremiah Springer, Jeremiah Springer, Jr., Gamaliel Pole,

Nath'l. lugeriotl, Satmitl Grave; Ebeiiezer Giiitin, Jatiiee Gilkey,

David Dowty, Benja. Smeetter, Jeremiah Pote, Samuel Clark, Thomat
Braekett, Elitha Pote, Samuel Lunt, jr.. Job Limt, Samuel Uodgekine,

John Clark, John Anderson, Moeee Hogdekiua, Jothua Braekett, Phillip

Hodgakine, John Fowle, John Rubiiou, Hichard Temple, Stephen Clark,

John Clark, Jacob True, Jotinh Buniwel, Samuel Lowell, John Owen,
jr., Jacob Gruffam, Jothua Moody, John Irith, William Reed, Abra-
ham Sawyer, John RoberU, Penivel Berton, George Williumi, William
Pitman, John Ayre, Samuel Atioood."

t George Knight was his lieutenant. The company was raised in

March, 1745. Samuel Waldo was brigadier-general, and second in

command of the land forces. The chief command was assigned to

Wm. Pepperell, who was knighted on the occasion of the success. It

was highly creditable to Maine that the two highest officers in this

brilliunt expedition should have been taken from the only two regi-

ments in our territory, Pepperell's and Waldo's.

J Moses Pearson was bom in Newbury, in 1697, and was by trade

Several of the soldiers from Falmouth died at Louisbourg,

aft«r the surrender, of the camp fever, and others were

killed at Menas in an attack on that place in January, 1747,

by the French and Indians, among whom were Capt. Jones

and Moses Gilman. Ebenezer Hall and Mr. Roberts died

at Annapolis about the same time, and in the May follow-

ing a number were killed and captured by Indians in an

attack on the fort at Pemaquid.

" The pay of the troops in the expedition to Louisbourg

was, for a captain, in old tenor bills, eighteen pounds a

month ; lieutenant, twelve pounds ; a soldier, five pounds

;

the bounty for enlisting was four pounds, a month's wages in

advance, and twenty shillings a week for subsistence. At

the same time corn was thirty shillings a bushel, old tenor,

or three shillings in silver, and flour ten pounds a hundred

pounds, old tenor, equal to about nine dollars a barrel in

our money. The expense of this expedition to Massachu-

setts was one hundred and seventy-eight thousand pounds

sterling, which was reimbursed by the English government.

" The war had been very prejudicial to the people of the

province in the loss of many lives, the interruption of the

lumbering business,—the principal source of the prosperity

of the inhabitants,—and the advance in price of all the

articles of living. Capt. Pearson, in a letter to Governor

Shirley, July 7, 1746, writes,

—

" ' I find the Indian enemy very busy and bold, so as to put the

greater part of our lumbermen from their duty in lumbering to their

arms and scouting for the defense of their families, and others taken

into the service for Canada.'

"The suspension of hostilities in Europe extended its

beneficial influence on this side of the Atlantic, although

its full fruits were not gathered until after the puace was

concluded in October, 1748. As soon as intelligence of

the ratification of the treaty reached Boston, Governor Shir-

ley took measures to communicate with the Indians, and,

finding them disposed to listen to an accommodation, com-

missioners were appointed to meet them in Falmouth."^

The treaty was concluded on the I6th of October, upon

the principles of Mr. Dummer's treaty of 1726, and was

a joiner. He moved here in 172S or 1729, and came at once into

notice by the activity of his mind and the interest he took in the

affairs of the town. Within the first ten years of his residence here,

he filled the offices of a committeeman to adjust the difficulties

between the old and new proprietors, town clerk, selectman, and town

treasurer. In 1737, 1740, and 1749 he represented the town in the

General Court. In 1760, on the establishment of the county of Cum-
berland, he was appointed the first sheriff, and held the office until

1768; in 1770 be was appointed a justice of the Court of Common
Pleas, the duties of which he continued lo discharge until the Revolu-

tion. About 1730 he purchased the land opposite the new custom-

house, extending to Middle Street, of Daniel IngersoU, and built a
house there on Fore Street, in which he lived until it was destroyed

in the fire of 1775; onjiis death the property descended to his heirs,

in whose possession it now remitins; he was a largo proprietor in this

town and Standish. He died in 1778, aged eighty-one. His children

were Mary, Elizabeth, Sarah, Eunice, Anne, and Lois; he left no son

to perpetuate his name. These married Benjamin Titoomb, Joseph
Wise, Timothy Pike, Dr. Deane, Uuniel Dole, and Joshua Freeman.

J They were Thomas Hutchinson, John Choute, Israel Williams

and James Otis, from Massachusetts, and John Downing and Theo-
dore Atkinson, from New Hampshire. The Rev. William Welstead
accompanied them as chaplain, and Colonel Cotton as clerk. Sir

William Pe|.perell had been appointed at the head of the commission
but had sailed for Englani before the treaty look place.
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signed by six chiefs of the Wawenock tribe, eight of the

Norridyewock, and five of the Penohscot tribe.

In less than two months afler this an affray toolc place

at Wiscasset between the English and Indians, in which

one of the latter was killed and two wounded. This un-

happy affair prodaced a strong sensation throughout the

province. One of the Englishmen—Albee—was tried at

York and acquitted ; the other was arrested, but not tried.

This created a dissatisfaction among the Indians which no

overtures of conciliation on the part of the government

could allay, and which the French availed themselves of the

occasion to foster and encourage.

In August, 1750, the Penobscot tribe was in arms, and

the French were discovered furnishing them with supplies.

The next month they were joined by Indians from Canada,

and a general alarm prevailed at the threatening aspect of

affairs.

" Within a few days parties of the enemy were seen in

Gorham, Windham, and Falmouth; one hundred men were

raised here and in Scarborough to scout from Saco to Geor-

ges, and Capt. Ilsley, ready to take the lead on occasions of

this sort, marched the first company of scouts into the

woods in September. These prompt measures had the

effect of protecting our settlements for that season, but

early the next spring the enemy was found lurking again in

our vicinity, which, accompanied by the sudden revolution

in the circulating medium of the country occasioned by

calling in the paper, and a severe epidemic which was raging

violently in this province, produced incalculable di.streas

among our people.* The inhabitants of this town suffered

but little from the Indians this season, although they ap-

peared at different points of our territory during the spring

and summer. One man only, Job Bumell, was killed at

New Casco. The regiment commanded by Col. Ezekiel

Cushing, of Cape Elizabeth, furnished fifty men for the

service, and in the course of the summer, the government

having made arrangements to enter into negotiations with

the Indians, a new draft of one hundred men was made

from the same regiment to escort and protect the commis-

sioners.f The peace of 1749 was confirmed at St. Georges

Aug. 3, 1751, by some of the tribes, and a temporary ces-

sation of hostilities followed. Conferences were also held

in 1752 and 1753 with the Indians, who continued in a

very unquiet state. At the conference in 1753 at St.

Georges, the Indians admitted that they had received a let-

ter from the French missionary stimulating them to adopt

some measures in defense of their rights and their territory.

WAE or 1754-59.

" After the peace of 1748, the two great European powers

who were struggling for supremacy in North America, hav-

ing perceived the growing importance of the immense do-

* Mr. Smith'a Journal notices thete fjots us followa :
" 1751, April

24, It i> a melancholy time aa ever the country knew, Ist ou acoount

of the great convulsion and perplexities relating to a medium, some

towns not haring raised any money for public taxes, nor chosen offi-

cers; 2d, with respect to a war with the- Indians; 3d, the epidemic

ferer; 4th, the coldness and wetness of the spring."

The fever prevailed throughout this town, and a number of persons,

especially ohildren, died of it in October and November, 1760.

f Smith's Journal.

7

minions they possessed on this side the Atlantic, each turned

its attention to secure its power and to prepare for future

difficulties. Commissioners had been appointed in 1749

by France and England to adjust the boundaries between

their respective possessions, who, after numerous sessions and

elaborate discussions at Paris, were unable to arrive at any

satisfactory result. The French claimed the Kennebec

River as the western boundary of their province of Acadia,

and erected forts in that province to secure a passage over-

land to Quebec. They also strengthened their positions in

tho rear of the English settlements, and erected new forts

even upon the territory of the English Colonies. Their

design was to connect their provinces of Louisiana and

Canada, by a chain of forts which might enable them to

keep up a communication, and while they secured them

from invasion to be ready to seize any favorable opportunity

to pursue offensive operations against their ancient enemy.

It may easily be imagined that these hostile manifestations

could not be viewed with indifference by a nation so jealous

as the English, and loud complaints of these encroachments

were made on both sides of the Atlantic. But the French,

although they amused the English a while with the hope

of giving them satisfaction, yet their object being solely to

gain time, no reparation was made or intended. It was

therefore evident that resort must be had to arms. To

meet this emergency the British government recommended

a convention of delegates from the several colonies with a

view to produce unity of action and a more powerful com-

bination of their forces. The meeting took place at Al-

bany, June 19, 1754, and was one of the most respect-

able assemblies, and, as the prototype of those of the

Revolution, the most important in its consequences, of any

which had been convened on this continent. It was one

object of this meeting to conciliate the western Indians, on

whom the French had long been practicing their seductions,

but although large presents were distributed, the measure

entirely failed ; the French had secured an influence over

the waudering tribes which could not be dissolved by any

art which the English were able to use.

" While this course was being pursued to engage the

alliance of the western Indians, Governor Shirley was en-

deavoring to secure the favor of those in the east, and at

the same time to take such steps as in case of failure would

protect the frontier from their incursions. It had been

rumored that the French had established a settlement

between the Kennebec and Chaudiere Rivers, with a view

to secure tho passes from Quebec to Maine, and to facilitate

the march of their forces into New England. This report,

although it afterwards appeared to have been unfounded,

created great alarm in Massachusetts and Maine, and the

government immediately ordered a body of eight hundred

men to be raised to break up the supposed settlement and,

by suitable fortifications in that part of the country, to

prevent the inroads of the enemy. Governor Shirley took

the immediate command of the expedition, and, to avoid

giving offense or alarm to the Indians, he invited them to

a conference to be held at Falmouth, in June, and, in the

mean time, vigorously prosecuted his preparations for the

ulterior purposes of the enterprise.

" On the ^Ist of Juno forty-two Indians of the Norridge-
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icock tribe, punctual to their engagement, arrived here : tlie

Governor, with a quorum of the Council and a number of

representatives, arrived on the 26th, and were received

with great attention.* On the day after their arrival a

public dinner was given to them in the court-house : the

town was filled with people. The transports, with eight

hundred troops, had arrived a day or two before, under the

command of General Winslow, and had formed a camp on

Bangs' Island, and it is probable that the soldiery contrib-

uted to swell the crowd'and magnify the parade. The con-

ference wa.s held on the 28th of June. The Governor asked

the consent of the Indians to build a fort at Ticonnet and

another at Cushnoc Falla,'|' and proposed to them the ratifi-

cation of former treaties. They took time to consider these

propositions, and, on the 1st day of July, they gave their

answer assenting to the peace, but refusing to grant permis-

sion to erect the forts. The treaty was, notwithstanding,

signed on the 2d of July, and on the 3d it was ratified,

when their usual dance took place. The Indians leil town

on the same day, three of their young men going to Boston,

the remainder returned home.J On the 5th, twenty-five

Indians of the Penobscot tribe arrived, and the Governor

met them the same day in the meeting-house, and on the

next closed a treaty, in which they bound themselves to

remain at peace should hostilities with the French take

place. The Governor continued in this neighborhood until

July 30th, when he sailed for the Kennebec and proceeded

to Ticonnet, where he marked out the site of a fort on a.

point formed by the junction of the Sebasticook with the

Kennebec, which, when completed, was named Halifax.

A part of the expedition proceeded up the river to the

portage, and, seeing no vestiges of French or Indians, they

returned without having rendered service at all equivalent

to the expense of the expedition. The Governor revisited

this town on the 3d of September, and departed for Boston

on the 8th.

" This was one of the busiest seasons that our inliubi-

tants had ever witnessed. The town was kept in confusion

the whole summer, and for many years after, it was com-

mon to refer to the occasion as a measure of time, and the

expression ' the year that Governor Shirley's treaty was

made,' was as familiar before the Revolution as ' house-

hold words.' Mr. Smith, after noticing in his journal the

departure of the Governor, exclaims, ' Thus ended a sum-

mer's scene of as much bluster as a Cambridge commence-

ment, and now comes on a vacation when our house and

the town seem quite solitary !' One can readily imagine

what an excitement must have been produced in town by a

collection of the dignitaries of government and the repre-

sentatives of two dreaded Indian tribes, when he reflects

* The Gorernor took lod^ngs at the houae of Jiibez Fox, Esq., who

was a member of the Counoil ; he Hved od the weat side of Exchange

Street, in a bouve that had belonged to Phineaa .Tunea. Among Ihe

gentlemen present were Measra. Danforth, Oliver, Bourn, Hnbbard,

Lincoln, Wheelwright, Minot, and Hancock.

f Ticonnet is at the junction of the Sebasticook and Kennebec Rivera,

in the town of Winslow ; Cushnoc is now Augusta.

I The canoes of the Indians were hauled up on the bank where the

custom-house now stands, the ledge being then entirely covered with

earth. The place was subsequently used as a aiiip-yurd, which broke

the ground, and the soil has since been all washed away.

that the village on the Neck, where all the parade was ex-

hibited, contained but one hundred and forty or one hun-

dred and fifty families, making a population of about one

thousand, and that the high officers of government were

then invested by public opinion with vastly more reverence

and splendor than at present exists. There were few houses

in town which could give suitable accommodations to such

visitors, and those must have been necessarily crowded. Mr.

Smith sa3's, in anticipation of the event, ' we have been paint-

ing and fitting up our house for the treaty which is approach-

ing,' and June 28th, he says, ' yesterday and to-day we

had a vast concourse dined with us, at our expense.'§

" Notwitiistanding the precautions of the previous year,

the commencement of 1755 found all the colonies from

Virginia to the St. Lawrence engaged in a war with the

Indians, and with the French of the neighboring provinces.

As early as April the Indians appeared in Gorham and

killed several persons, and all the frontier towns were har-

assed and sustained injury in the lives and property of their

inhabitants. The whole country was alarmed by these

attacks and by the appearance of a French fleet upon the

coast. The government was makiug great exertions to

prosecute the war with vigor; but these were spent rather

for distant and brilliant operations than for securing the

people from the marauding attacks of the savages. Two

thousand New England troops sailed from Boston in May,

1755, to subdue the French in Nova Scotia, and achieved

a signal victory in June.

" In May, 1756, a report having been brought to Falmouth

that a body of one hundred and twenty Indians were coming

upon the frontier and were about spreading themselves from

Brunswick to Saco, four companies of volunteers were im-

mediately raised from among our people, and under the

command of Captains Milk, Ilsley, Skiliings, and Berry,

went out in pursuit of them. Capt. Skiliings marched in

the direction of Windham, and succeeded in saving the

people and property of that place ; he arrived in season to

put the enemy to flight soon after they had commenced an

attack upon the inhabitants, in which one was killed and

one wounded and scsdped. The Indians left five packs, a

bow, a bunch of arrows, and several other articles. On
another occasion the same year, when a report reached here

that the fort at St. Georges was attacked, a number of our

young men proceeded without delay to offer their assist-

ance. || In April, 1757, Joseph Cox and Mr. Bayley, of

this town, fitted out a small expedition, on private account,

against the Penobscot Indians, and returned early in June,

bringing with them two canoes, a quantity of oil, fish, and

feathers, and the scalps of two men whom they had killed.

The war in our part of the country was carried on in this

desultory manner on both sides ; tlie out-settlements were

kept in continual alarm by small divisions of the enemy

scattered over the province, and lighting, like the wary

§ Mr. Smith was, however, compensated at the close of this scene,

for he says, July 2Sth, '* Capt. Osborne sailed for Boston, having paid

mo one hundred pounds for my bouse.*'

ll

The next year, in September, an alarm having been given of a

great firing at Georges, and it being supposed that the I'ort there was

attacked, one hundred and fifty men, mostly volunteers, immediately

luiatened by wntcr to its relief.

—

Smith's Jottru.



FRENCH AND INDIAN WAR OF 1744. 51

b:iwk, wherever spoil was easy to bo obtained ; no regular

efforts were made by either party.

" The war was not formally declared by the English until

May, 1756, although hostilities in America had commenced

two years before ; the king in his declaration states that

ever since the treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle, the French had

been making encroachments upon his American subjects,

and had, in 1754, without any previous notice, broke out

into acts of open hostility and seized an English fort on the

Ohio.* All attempts to procure reparation having been

unavailing, the last resort of injured nations was applied.

The first three years of the war had been generally unsuc-

cessful ; it had been conducted at great expense and with-

out much system. But in 1753, under the vigorous ad-

ministration of the elder Pitt, Engli.sh affairs, both in

Europe and America, assumed a new aspect, and her arms

became triumphant. In pursuance of a recommendation

from Mr. Pitt, the General Court resolved to raise seven

thousand men for an expedition against Canada ; this was

the lai^ost force ever raised by the province, but the hope

of conquering Canada and driving from their neighborhood

an enemy by whom they were exposed to continual fear and

loss, stimulated them to an extraordinary effort. About

six hundred men of this force were raised in Maine, and

sailed for Kittery to join the army on the 21st of May.

The result of the campaign was very unfavorable ; the

principal object of the expedition, the capture of Tioonde-

roga, failed, and our army of about fifteen thousand men

disgracefully abandoned the siege, and retreated with loss

of men and munitions of war before an inferior force. The

ill success may be attributed partly to the fall of the accom-

plished Lord Howe, at the commencement of the attack.

The effect of thLs disa.ster was somewhat diminished by the

capture of Louisbourg, which capitulated to our arms July

26th ; the siege had been carried on with great spirit, and

the garrison did not surrender until they had lost fifteen

hundred men, and the town was a heap of ruins.f The

number of prisoners was five thousand six hundred and

thirty-seven. The arrival of this intelligence at Falmouth

on the 17th of August occasioned great joy, and the people

spent the aftei-noon and most of the night in rejoicing.^

The next year, the war was pursued with larger preparations

and a more determined spirit on the part of the mother-

country. The provinces also partaking of the zeal which

animated the ministry at home, raised large supplies of men

to co-operate in the favorite design upon Canada. Massa-

chusetts raised six thousand eight hundred men, of whom

two thousand five hundred served in the garrison at Louis-

bourg, several hundred in the navy, three hundred joined

General Wolfe before Qucbec,§ and the remainder served

under General Amherst, who entered Canada by Lake

Champlain, with a triumphal progress, capturing in his

course the forts at Ticonderoga, Crown Point, and Niagara.

* This was Fort Du Queane^ now Pirtsburgh.

|* There were found in this fortress two hiindred and twenty-one

pieces of cannon, eighteen mortars, and a large quantity of stores and

ammunition.

J Smith's Journal, Aug. 17, 1758.

^ Among the persons from Falmouth who served in Wolfe's army

Brig. Preble, then a captain, John Waiie, afterwards a coiunel, and

AVillism M'Lellaa.

"It was one of the conditions imposed by the General

Court in voting the last division of this large enlistment of

soldiers, that four hundred men of the fevy should be em-

ployed under the direction of the Governor, to erect a fort

at the mouth of Penobscot River. In pursuance of this

plan. Governor Pownal went to Penobscot in May|| and

constructed upon a point in the town of Prospect, since

called Fort Point, one of the most substantial and well-

appointed fortifications that had ever been erected in Maine.^

Governor Pownal was accompanied" in this expedition by

Brig.-Gen. Waldo, who, being a large proprietor in the

Waldo patent, on which the fort was laid out, was deeply

interested in the result of the enterprise.

" But while Gen. Waldo was pointing out to the "Gov-

ernor the limit of his territory in or near Bangor, the

bounds of his own life were fixed; ho suddenly fell, and

expired in a few nioments of an apoplectic fit.*''' The fort

was placed under the command of Capt. Jedediah Preble,

of this town, on his return from Canada in 1759."j'f

" The campaign of 1759 was crowned with complete suc-

cess by the capture of Quebec, on the 17th of September.

No event could have produced greater joy in the colonies

than this. It had been the place from which, for a long

series of years, had issued the decrees that had armed and

let loose upon our frontiers a merciless and remorseless

enemy. Various unsuccessful attempts had been made in

the previous sixty years, at an immense cost and an extrav-

agant waste of life, to drive this power from the continent.

Now that the object of the giost ardent wishes of the colo-

nists was accomplished, public feeling swelled to the highest

note of joy. Mr. Smith, in his journal, says, 'The country

is all in extasy upon the surprising news of the conquest of

Quebec' Information of the battle on tlie plains of Abra-

ham, September 13tli, in which the opposing generals, Wolfe

and Montcalm, were killed, reached here October 14th. On
the 15th and 16th the cannon at the fort were fired, Mr.

Mayo's house was illuminated and siuall-arms were fired in

the evemng.;};! The next evening three mast ships in the

II
He touched in here May 4th, and remained until the Sth.

f It was called Fort Pownal, in compliment tu the Governor, and

cost live thousand pounds, which was repaid by England.

*9 Williamson, 2, 333. Gju. Waldo was son of Jonathan AValdo,

a respectable merchant in Boston, who died in 1731, leaving a large

estate to his five children. He was interested in eastern lands, and
his son, Samuel, was connected with him in these speculations. On
his death, Samuel came into possession of large tracts ^ere and farther

east. The general was the largest proprietor of land in this town for

many years, having purchased the rights of old proprietors previous

to 1730. In 1730 he bought eight hundred acres of the proprietors'

committee, and seized every opportunity to extend bis interest here.

He was an active, intelligent, and persevering man, and spent much
time in town. He died at the age of sixty-three, leaving two sons,

Samuel and Francis, who lived in this town, and daughters, Hannah,
married to Isaac Winslow, of Rosbury, and Lucy, married to Thomas
Flucker, of Boston, who were the parents of the late Gen. Knox's

wife; a third son, Ralph, died young. Gen. Waldo went to England
in 1729 to defend the interest of the Lincoln proprietors, and pub-

lished a pamphlet in vindication of their rights.

ff Mr. Preble had the command of a company of provincial troops

in the expedition against Canada, was in the battle on the plains of

Abraham, before the city of Quebec, and near Gen. Wolfe when he

fell. He was subsequently promoted.

XX Ebenezcr Mayo : his house stood on the west side of King Street,

near the corner of Newbury Street. He was a respectable mcrcfaaut
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harbor were illuminated. The 25th of the same month was

obserTed as a day of public thanksgiving for the brilliant

successes of the campaign.

" The French power in this country having been thus

broken, the Indians, who had fought under it, immediately

sought safety by submission to the conqueror. In the spring

of 1760 the Penobscots, the St. John's, and Pauuamaguoddy

Indians, and those of Nova Scotia, finding they could not,

unaided by French'power and influence, resist the English

arms, entered into a treaty of peace, and from that time for-

ever ceased to become formidable in the northern colonics.

The conquest of Canada was completed Sept. 8, 1760, by

the surrender of Montreal, the other posts of the French

having previously capitulated ; but in Europe the war was

not terminatad until February, 1763. News of the surren-

der of Montreal and the total extinguishment of French

hopes on this continent was received in town Sept. 20, 1760,

and caused a renewal of the rejoicing of the preceding year.

On the evening of September 22d, Rev. Mr. Smith's house

and several others on the Neck were illAminated, and a

public thanksgiving was kept for the reduction of Canada.

" By the treaty of peace, which was signed at Paris, the

French ceded all Canada to Great Britain and Louisiana to

Spain, and thus took leave of the North American conti-

nent, since which they have never had foothold upon it,

save the short period, in the reign of Napoleon, that they

held Louisiana. When it is considered how much blood

had been shed, how much suffering, desolation, and sorrow

had been brought upon the English colonies by the arms

and the influence of the French over the Indians, their ever-

faithful allies, from 1688, we cannot be surprised at the

deep and well-founded satisfaction with which they viewed

the removal of all fear of future alarm and depredation

from that quarter."

CHAPTER X.

FEBIOD OF THE BEVOLUTION.

Preliminary Stages—Committees of Safety and Correspondence—The

Stamp-Act—Burning of Stamps in Falmouth—Rejoicing upon the

Bepeal of the Act—Other Opprepsire Measures—The Non-Impor-

tatioD Agreement—Falmouth acting promptly with Boston—Dec-

laration of the County Convention.

At the time of the breaking out of the Revolutionary

war the settlements in the province of Maine were chiefly

upon the seaboard. In this county the settlements were

mainly upon Casco Bay, extending from New Meadows

River, on the east, to Pine Point, on the west, and includ-

ing the two extremes of Harpswell and Scarborough. The

only interior towns in the county at that time were Gorham,

Windham, and New Gloucester. In what are now Bald-

win, Bridgton, Gray, Raymond, and Standish, there were

small settlements, but they were included in the. territory of

the other incorporated towns. The towns in the order of

(heir relative importance, on the basis of population and

and came here from Boston. H9 left three children,—Appbia, Sim-

eon, and Ebeneier, the last of whom was bom in 1764.

commercial enterprise, were at this time Falmouth, North

Yarmouth, Brunswick, Scarborough, and Cape Elizabeth.

Falmouth was at this period the most important seaport

of the province, and the chief centre of those civic and

military operations which characterized this portion of the

country during the Revolution.

It is not our purpose in this place to enter upon a gen-

eral history of the war, nor of the causes which led to it

;

it is enough for our present purpose if we can put upon

record some of the memorable acts of the people of this

county, and of some of the more important towns compos-

ing it, in a striiggle which changed our country from

colonial servitude to independence, and our people from de-

pendence on a foreign government to the sovereign rights

and liberties of citizenship.

For several years preceding the actual commencement of

hostilities, the danger of a conflict between the colonies and

the mother-country had been anticipated, and Committees

of Safety and Correspondence established in most of the

towns. As to what particular acts were done by these

committees but little is known, as the records which have

been preserved of them are very meagre. It is known,

however, that they kept up a correspondence with similiar

committees of the other towns, more especially with Bos-

ton and the larger places, and were thus made seasonably

acquainted with the condition of affairs over the whole

country. Delegates were also sent to the General Court and

Provincial Congress, and to other important bodies in Bos-

ton and elsewhere, and were active in devising measures of

defense and in shaping the general policy of the colonies

during the preliminary period of .the struggle. In the fall

of 1765, Col. Samuel Waldo was elected by the people of

Falmouth to represent that town in the General Court which

commenced on the 23d of October of that year, and

was instructed to use his utmost exertions to prevent the

execution of the stamp-act in the province of Maine. He
was, however, unfriendly to the " party of liberty," which

at this time constituted a majority of his constituents, and

was never again elected."" The House at this session, by a

strong majority, expressed its disapprobation of the stamp-

act, and was about to pass a resolution instructing the offi-

cers of the courts and custom-houses to proceed to business

as usual without the use of stamped papers, when it was

prorogued by the Governor. Notwithstanding this action,

many of the courts were opened as usual, and the custom-

house officers in Boston granted clearances without being

stamped. In this county the same spirit of defiance to the

obnoxious act prevailed. The Inferior Court assembled at

Falmouth on the 1st of January, 1766, and proceeded to

business as usual, without stamped papers.f It seems that

the custom-house officers here were disposed to enforce the

act, for on the 8th of January a mob assembled and

threatened the custom-house ; and on the 25th another mob
assembled and burned some stamped clearances which had

that day been brought by a brig from Halifax and deposited

with the officer of customs. As soon as the inhabitants

had notice of the fact, they assembled and marched in a

o Josiah Preble, a staunch Whig, was chosen without opposition as

his successor,

f Dcane's Diary, Jan. 1, 1766.
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body to the custom-house and demanded to have the stamps

given to them immediately, demanding that *' an article so

odious to all America" should not be kept there.* After

receiving them they were carried through the town on the

end of a pole, and then committed to a fire prepared for

that purpose, amidst the acclamations of a great concourse

of people.t

The odious stamp-act was repealed in March, 1766, and

the demonstration at Falmouth, on the reception of the

news, w thus described in the Boston Evening Post of the

2d of June :

" On Sanday noon an express was reeeired from Portsmootb, with

the confirmation of the great and glorious news, which seemed to

change the countenances of all ranks of people, and erery friend of

liberty was filled with pleasare and satisfaction,—on which occasion

an anthem was sung after service at church. The morning following

was ushered in with every demonstration of loyalty and joy that

could possibly be expressed, such as ringing of bells, firing of cnnnon

at the fort and on board the shipping in the harbor, having all their

colors displayed, beating of drums, etc., wbcn many loyaLtoasts were

drank, viz.. The Qneen— The Royal Family— The tjreat Pitt—Con-

way—Barrej efc, etc. ; and on Tuesday the same noble spirit ap-

peared. In the evening the houses of the town were beautifnlly

illuminated, fire-works played off, bonfires erected, etc. The whole

concluded with so much order and decorum that it did great honor to

the town."

But, although the stamp-act was repealed. Parliament

continued to levy a tax on the chief articles imported into

the colonies. Falmouth was not long behind Boston in

resisting this by a most peculiar and effective method.

Boston resolved not to use the taxed articles, and, on the

4th of December, 1767, the people of Falmouth " voted

that this town highly approves °of the measures of the town

of Boston, to encourage home manufactures, and that this

town will at all times endeavor to suppress the use of

foreign ones and encourage industry and economy, agree-

ably to the plan proposed by the town of Boston."J

In September, 1768, when a convention had been called

at Fanenil Hall to protest against the order of the British

to send a body of troops to Boston to put down the revolt

against the taxes, Falmouth elected and sent Gen. Preble

as a delegate, with instructions to use every laudable means

within his power to bring about a redress of grievances.

The troops were brought from England and quartered in

Boston, and were a source of great vexation to the people

till March 5, 1770, when they fired upon the citizens and

killed five men. Then the Yankee vengeance was aroused,

and the troops had to be removed ; the soldiers and ofllcers

who fired upon the citizens were committed for trial ; the

tax upon tea and other articles was also modified, but not

in a manner to give the colonies the relief required.

On the 24th of December, 1772, a meeting of the

inhabitants of Falmouth was held, at which " a large and

respectable committee" was chosen to consider what is

convenient to be done in order to redress public grievances,

in answer to a committee of the town of Boston. The

committee consisted of Enoch Freeman, Stephen Long-

fellow, David Wyer, Jr., Theophilus Bradbury, Stephen

• Willis' History of Portland.

t Boston Evening Qazette, Feb. 3, 1766.

X Willis, Hist. Portland.

Waitc, William Slemons, Benjamin Titcomb, Richard Cod-

roan, John Waite, Moses Pearson, Benjamin Mussey, and

Enoch Ilsley.

Wm. Tyng was representative in 1772 and 1773, he was

also sheriff of the county ; he was a prerogative man, but

probably had not taken the decided stand against popular

opinion which he afterwards did, and which obliged him

to fly. The instructions to Mr. Tyng were as follows

:

" Sin,—Whereas we are sensible there is reason to complain of in -

fringements on the liberties of the people of this province, and, as you

are a representative for this town, we would offer a few things for your

consideration on transacting the very important business that may
lay before the General Court at the next session. We are not about to

enumerate any grievances particularly, iia we doubt not the wisdom of

the General Court is amply sufficient to investigate, not only every

grievance, but every inconvenience the province at present lotwrs

under; all we mean is to suggest some method whereby all grievances

may be redressed. And considering the singular abilities and good

disposition of the present Governor, together with his family, being

embarked on the same bottom with ourselves, we know of no expe-

dient more effectual than for the members of the General Court, by a

rational and liberal behavior, to conciliate the affections of his ex-

cellency. The particular mode of doing this, we must leave to their

wisdom and prudence, which on this important occasion they will un-

doubtedly exert, only beg leave to observe that could bis excellency

be prevailed upon to join the other branches of the Legislature in

supplicating the throne for redress of any of our grievances ; it ap-

pears to us the most probable way of obtaining bis majesty's royal

attention and relief."

Up to this time the people of the colonics had hardly en-

tertained the idea of separation from the mother-country.

The tone had been conservative, evincing a desire for mode-

rate and conciliatory measures, hoping that these might

finally prevail with the king and Parliament in securing the

redress which the country demanded. Especially was this

the state of feeling in places remote from Boston, where the

inhabitants had not been wrought up to the same pitch of

excitement. It continued so till after the destruction of the

tea in Boston harbor, and tiie passage by Parliament of cer-

tain arbitrary and oppressive acts, which no longer loft the

colonies in doubt as to the tyrannical intentions of the Eng-

lish government.

" Their whole displeasure was poured out upon Massa-

chusetts. On the 31st of March the Boston port bill was

passed, by which the officers of the customs were removed

from Boston, and all trade interdicted with that place.

This was followed by an act for ' the better regulating the

government of Massachusetts Bay,' by which the appoint-

ment of all civil officers of the colony was taken from the

people and vested in the crown. And a third act, nomi-

nally ' for the impartial administration of justice,' author-

ized the removal of persons indicted for any capital offense

committed in the support of public authority, to England

or some other colony for trial. These acts passed both

houses of Parliament by overwhelming majorities.

" The effect of these severe laws was to unite at once all

parts of the continent in measures of resistance. The

several towns in the province promptly expressed their

sympathy towards the people of Boston, their readiness to

assist them, and their firm determination to aid them in the

great cause of American liberty. On the 14th of June,

the day on which the harbor of Boston was shut, the bell

in Falmouth was muffled and tolled all day without cessa-
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tiou, from sunrise until nine o'clock in the evening,* and

the 29th was observed in town as a duj of fast, on account

of the gloomy state of aflFairs. The next day a meeting of

the inhabitants was held to take into consideration the

alarming state of this province, and of the other provinces,

when it was voted that the Committee of Correspondence be

directed to write a letter of sympathy to the inhabitants of

Boston, and assure them of the encouragement and support

of this town as fur as their abilities extended. They also

voted to write to the principal towns in Ma.ssachusetts to

ascertain their views in relation to the non-importation

agreement. Hopes were still entertained that this engine,

which had operated so powerfully upon the stamp-act, might

again be used with success. With this view endeavors were

made to bring about a union on this point, in which the

people of the several colonics heartily concurred. A public

meeting in New York, held in July, expressed the opinion

' that a non-importation agreement faithfully observed would

prove the most efficacious means to procure a redress of

grievances.' On the 23d of July, Falmouth voted to ob-

serve the non-importation agreement, and the same meeting

recommended that a contribution should be taken in the

several parishes for the relief of the poor in Boston.f On
the 25th of August another meeting was held, on occasion

of a circular from Boston, in anticipation of the arrival of

the two acts of Parliament altering the course of justice

and annihilating the constitution of the province. The

meeting expressed a firm opposition to these obnoxious

measures, their trust that some method of redress would be

adopted by the approaching Congress, and their ardent wish

that harmony with the mother-country might be again

restored. The town at the same time recommended that a

convention should be held of delegates from all the towns

in the county for the purpose of effecting a concert of action

in relation to the non-importation agreement and other

measures of general interest, and appointed a committee to

attend the convention and correspond with other towns on

the subject.;^ In pursuance of this recommendation, a con-

vention of delegates from the several towns in the county

assembled at Falmouth September 21st. A large collection

of people came to town the same day to compel Sheriff

Tyng to refuse compliance with the act of Parliament

regulating civil government in the province."

We give below the report of this convention entire, to-

gether with the remarkably able statement and declaration

put forth by that body. This statement, antedating the

Declaration of Independence by nearly two years, was

prepared, it is believed, by Hon. Charles Freeman, of Fal-

* The act went into operation June 1st, but ressels then within

the harbor were allowed until the 1-lth to depart, after which no ves-

sels were allowed to go in or out except coastwise with provisions for

the sustenance of the inhabitants. The House of Burgesses in Vir-

ginia appointed the first day of June to be kept as a daj of fasting

and prayer; and in Philadelphia the bells were rung muffled, and

business was generally suspended.

f This was hod in the first parish September lUh, the amount raised

in town we cannot ascertain. In February, 1775, Falmouth sent to

Boston OS a donation, fifty-one and a half cords of wood, and Gape

Elizabeth, forty-four and a half cords.

{ The committee consisted of Enoch Freeman, Stephen Longfellow,

Enoch lUley, Samuel Freeman, Richard Codman, and John Waite.

mouth, who was clerk of the meeting and chairman of the

committee.

"Proceedi»tj/9 of the Conventinn of Dehfjalev/mm the toicui t'li Cniiiher-

land Countyf Sept. 21, 1 77-4, at Falmoitth, for the purpoie of effeetimj

a coAcert of action in refntioa to a non-importation afjreeuieHt, etc.

" At a meeting of the following gentlemen, chosen by the several

towns in the county of Cumberland, held at Falmouth, in said county,

on the 21st day of September, 1774, ut the house of Jlrs. Grecle, viz. :

from Falmouth, the Hon. Enoch Freeman, Esq , Stephen Longfellow,

Esq., Mr. Richard Codman, Capt. John Waite, Mr. Enoch lUley, and

Mr. Samuel Freeman; Scarbo^'oiiffh, Capt. Timothy McDaniel, Capt.

Reuben Fogg, Mr. Joshua Fabyan ; Xofth Yurinouth, Mr. John Lewis,

David Mitchell, Esq., Messrs. Jonathan Mitchell, John Gray, William

Cutter; Gotham, Solomon Lombard, Esq., AVillinm Gorbam, Esq.,

Capt. Edmund Pbiney, Capt. Briant Morton, Mr. Joseph Davis; Cape

Elizabeth, Dr. Clement Jordan, Messrs. Peter Woodbury, Samuel

Dunn, Capt. Judah Dyer, Dr. Nathaniel Jones, Mr. George Strout;

Brunewick, Messrs. Samuel Thompson, Samuel Stanwood, Capt. Thos.

Moulton ; Jfai-ptwell, Mr. Joseph Ewing, Capt. John Stover, Mr. An-

drew Dunning; Windham, Messrs. Zorubbabol Honywell, Thomas

Trott, David Barker; Xew Gloucester, Messrs. William Harris, I:<aac

Parsons.

*' The Hun Enoch Freeman, Esq., was chosen chairman ; Mr. Samuel

Freeman, clerk.

"A committee from the body of people, who were assembled at the

entrance of the town, waited on this convention to see if they would

choose a committee of one member out of each town to join tbcui to

wait upon Mr. Sheriff Tyng, to see whether he would act in his office

under the late act of Parliitment for regulating the government.

" On a motion made, Voted, That a messenger be sent to the said

Sheriff Tyng to desire his attendance at this convention. A messenger

then waited upon Mr. Tyng, with the following billet, viz.

.

" * Mr. Sheriff Tyng's company is desired at the convention of the

county, now sitting at Mrs. Greele's.

"SAStLTEL Fl'.EEM.VN', Cleric.

"'Wednesday, Sept. 21, 177+, 11 o'clock .t.M."

"Mr. Tyng accordingly attended, and, after some intorrogationi",

subscribed the following declarations, viz.

:

"'CotJSTT OP CnMBEttLASD, Faljiolth, Sept. 21, 1774.

" ' Whereas great numbers of the inhabitants of this county are now
assembled near my house, in consequence of the false representation

ofsome evil-minded persons, who have reported that I have endeavored

all in my power to enforce the late acts of Parliament relating to this

province, I do hereby solemnly declare that I have not in anj- w y
whatever acted or endeavored to act in conformity to said act of Par-

liament; and in compliance with the commands of the inhabitants so

assembled, and by the advice of a committee from the several towns

in this county now assembled in Congress, I further declare I will not

as sheriff of said county, or otherwise, act in conformity to, or by virtue

of, said acts, unless by the general consent of the said county. I

further declare I have not received any commission inconsistent

with the charter of this province, nor any commission whatever since

the 1st day of July lost.

"'William Trso."

"' Countif of Cumberland.—At the convention of committees from
the several towns in the said county, held at the house of Mrs. Greele,

in Falmouth, in said county, Sept. 21. 1774, Voted, That the foregoing,

by William Tyng, Esq., subscribed, is satisfactory to this convention.

"'Attest: Samuel Freemax.'

" The convention then formed themselves into a committee to accom-
pany Mr. Tyng to the body of the people to present the above decla-

ration, and adjourned to the old town house at three o'clock p.m., the

deliberation to be in public.

" The committee accordingly went with Mr. Tyng, who rend the

declaration to the people, which they voted to be satisfactory, and,

after refreshing themselves, returned peaceably to their several homes.

"Three o'clock p.m., met according to adjournment.

" Voted, That Mr. Samuel Freeman, Solomon Lombard, Esq., Ste-

phen Longfellow, Esq., David Mitchell, Esq., John Lewis, Capt. John
Waite, Samuel Thompson, Capt. Timothy McDaniel, Dr. Nathaniel
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Jones, Tsonc Parsons, Enoch Freeman, Esq., David Darker, and Cnpt.

John Stover be a committee to draw up the sentiments of this conven-

tion and report the same at the adjournment.
'' Then adjourned to Thursday morning at eight o'clock.

" September 22.—Met according to adjournment, when the commit-

tee presented the roUowing report, which, after being read paragraph

by paragraph, was unanimously accepted, viz.

:

"The great concern with which the people of this coanty view the

increasing differences which now subsist between the mother-country

and the colonies, and the dark prospect which some Into acts of the

British parliament have in particular opened to them, has occasioned

the several towns herein to choose committees for this convention, 'to

consider what measures it would be thought expedient to adopt for

the general interest of the coanty in the present alarming situation

of our public affairs.' We therefore, the said committees, pursuant to

the request of our respective towns, guided by a strong attachment to

the interests of our oppressed country, think it proper, with respect

and deference to our brethren in i>ther countries, to make known our

minds, as follows

:

" We think it the indispeui^able duty of every subject of the English

constitution, for our own saki-s as well as that of future generations,

to use his utmost care and endeavor, according to the station he is in,

to preserve the same inviolate and unimpaired; for we regard it not

only as the foundation of all our civil rights and liberties, but as a

system of government rhe best calculated to promote the people's peace

and happiness. And we lament that in the present administration

there are men so lost to nil the principles of honor, equity, and justice

as to attempt a violation of the rights which we have long enjoyed,

and which, while we profess ourselves, as we now declare we do, nlle-

giant subjects to George the Third, our rightful sovereign, we have a

right stitl to enjoy entire and unmolested ; and it is a melancholy con-

sideration that the acknowledged he:ul of this re-pected State should

be induced to pass his sanction to such laws as tend to iho subversion

of that glorious freedom which preserves the greatness of the British

empire and gives it reputation throughout all the nations of the civil

world. It is too apparent that the British ministry have long been

hatching monstrous acta to break our constitution, and aome they have

at length brought forth. We think the colonies deserve a better

treatment from his majesty than this which he assents to. We are his

loyal subjects, and merit his regard, and cannot help thinking that if

he would pursue his own unbiased judgment, and lay aside the selfish

counsel of wicked and designing men, he and his subjects would be

mutually happy, and provocations on both aides cease. But since the

ministry have borne their tyranny to auch a length as to endeavor to

execute their wicked designs by military force in our metropolis, we

fear it is their aim to introduce despotic monarchy. But though

their tyranny and oppression seems now with hasty strides to threaten

all the colonies with ruin and destruction, we hope no vengeance will

affright or wiles allure us to give up our de:ir-buught liberty, that

choicest boon of heaven, which our fathers came iulo these regions to

enjoy, and which we therefore will retain while life, enables us to

struggle for its blessings.

" We believe our enemies supposed we must submit nnd tamely give

up all our rights. It is true a vigorous opposition will subject us to

many inconveniences, but how much greater will our misery he if we

relinquish all we now enjoy, and lay our future earnings at the mercy

of despotic men ? We cannot bear the thought. Distant posterity

would have cause to curse our folly, and the rising generation would

justly execrate our memory. We therefore recommend a manly op-

position to those oruel acts and every measure which despotism can

invent to 'abridge oar English liberties;' and we hope that patience

will possess onr sonls till Providence shall dissipate the gloomy cloud

and restore us to our former hnppy state.

"The late act for regulating the government of this province we

consider in particular as big with mischief and destruction, tending

to the subversion of our charter and our province laws, and in its dire

example alarming to all the colonies. This, through the conduct of

some enemies amotig ourselves, will soon bring us into difficulties

which will require some able counsel to remove. We therefore recom-

mend to eaoh town in this county to instruct their several representa-

tive to resolve themselves, with the other members of the House at

their approaching session, into a Provincial Congress for this purpose,

" To this Congress we shall submit the general interest of the pro-

vince, but, for the particular benefit of this county, we do advise and

recommend,

—

" 1. That the justices of the sessions nnd Court of Common Plena,

and every other civil officer in this county, which no authority cun

remove, but that which constituted them agreeable to charter and our

own provinciiil laws, would religiously officiate in their several de-

partments, as if the aforesaid act had never been invented, and that

every private person would pay a strict obedience to auch officers, be

always ready to protect andto support them, and promote a. due

observance of our own established laws. And if any person whatso-

ever should henceforth in any manner dare to aid the operation of the

said tyrannic act, they should be considered as malignant enemies to

our charter righ's, unfit for civil society, and undeserving of the least

regard or favor from their fellow-countrymen.

"2. That every one would do his utmost to discourage law-suits,

and likewise compromise disputes as much as possible.

"3. That it be recominendud to the Hon. Jeremiah PowcU, Esq.,

and Jedcdiah Preble, Esq., constitutional counselors of this province,

residing in this county, that they would take their places ut the board

the ensuing session as usual.

" 4. We cannot but approve of the recommendation given by the

convention of Suffolk County to the several collectors of province

taxes, not to pay one farthing more into the province treasury until

the government of the province is placed on a constitutional fuunda-

tion, or until the Provincial Congress shall order otherwise; nnd we

recommend the same to the several collectors in this coanty. But we

think it the duty of the several collectors of county, town, and dit>trict

taxes to perfect their collections, and pay the same into their several

treasuries as soon as possible. And here we chink it proper ti> observe,

that though we do not coincide in every instance with our Suffolk

brethren, which may bo owing to a want of knowing all the circum-

stances of affairs, yet we highly applaud their virtuous zeal and

determined resolutions.

" 5. We recommend to every town in this county charitably to

contribute to the relief of our auffering brethren in our distressed

metropolis.

" t}. Lest oppression, which maketh even wise men mad, should

hurry some people into tumults anjd disorders, we would recommend

that every individual in the county use his best endeavors to suppress,

at all times, riots, mobs, and all licentiousness ; and that our fellow-

Bubjects would consider themselves, as they always are, in the presence

of the great God, who loveth order, nnd not confusion.

" 7. That, when a general non-impoitation agreement takes place,

we ihaU look upon it to be the duty of every vendor of merchandise

to sell his goods nt the present rates; and if any person shall exorbit-

antly enhance the prices of his goods, we shall look upon him as an

oppressor of his country. And in order to prevent imposition in this

respect, we recommend that u committee be chosen in each town to

receive complaints against any who may be to blame herein. And if

be shall refuse to wait on such committee, on notice given, or be

found culpable in this respect, his name shall be published in the

several towns of the county as undeserving of the future custom of

his countrymen.

" S. Th^t every one who has it in his power would improve our

breed of sheep, and as far r^ possible, increase thetr number; and

also encourage the raising of flax, and promote the manufactures of

the country.

"9. As the very extraordinary nnd alarming act for establishing

the Roman Catholic religion, and French laws in Canada, may intro-

duce the French or Indians into our frontier towns, we recommend

that every town and individual in this county should be provided

with a proper stock of military stores, according to our province law,

and that some patriotic military officers be chosen in each town to

exercise their several companies, and make them perfect in the mili-

tary art.

'MO. Our general grievances being the subject of deliberation be-

fore the Continental Congress, renders it inexpedient to consider

them particularly : on their wisdom we have a groat dependence, and

we think it will be our duty to lay aside every measure to which we

have .advised that may be variant from theirs, and pay a due regard

to their result.

" And now we think it proper to declare that, as we have been re-

counting the hardships we endure by the machinations of our enemies

at home, we cannot but gratefully acknowledge our obligation to those

illustrious worthies, our friends of the minority, who constantly op-

posed those wicked measures, and would heartily wish that some great

and good men would invent and mark out aome plan that will unite



50 HISTORY OF CUiMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

the parent Stute to theae its colonies, and thereby prevent the effusion

of Christian blood.

" Then, voted, That everj member of this convention be severally

interrogated, whether he now has, or will hereafter take, any commis-

sion under the present act of Parliament for regulating the govern-

ment of this province.

" Xhe members wore accordingly interrogated, and each and every

one of them answered in the negative.

" Voted, That the several committees which compose this conven-

tion, or the major part of each, be, and hereby are, desired to inter-

rogate the civil officers, and other persons whom they may think fit,

in their respective t)Wtts, whether they now have, or will hereafter

take, any commission under the aforesaid act.

" Voted, That the whole proceedings of this convention be by the

clerk transmitted to the press, and also to the town clerks of the

respective towns in this ojunty, as soon as may be.

" Voted, That this conventiou be continued, nnd that the com-

mittee of Falmouth, or the major part of them, be, and hereby are,

empowered on any occa^on that in their opinion requires it to notify

a meeting of the delegates thereof, ct such time and place as they may
think proper, setting forth the occasion thereof.

" Voted, That the thanks of this convention be given to the Hon.

Enoch Freeman, Esq., for his faithful services as chairman.
'* A true copy.

"Attest: Sahdel Fbeehas, Clerk."

CHAPTER XI.

W^AB OF THE BEVOLUTION-.

Battle of Lexington—Troops sent from Falmoath—Capture of Capt.

Mowatt—His Release—Preparations for th'e Defense of the Town

—

Its Destruction by Moivatt—Destitution and Patriotism of the In-

habitants—Military Movements in this Section—Close of the War.

At the outbreak of the war Capt. Mowatt was in com-

mand of a sloop of war at Falmouth—the " Canceau."

News of the battle of Lexington reached the town on the

21st of April, 1775, two days after the engagement, and

the same day a company of soldiers was sent olF to aid the

people in the neighborhood of Boston. The town called a

meeting on the 23d, and took active measures to furnish

ammunition, and issued orders for the drilling of the Min-

ute Men ; a committee was also chosen who were directed

to procure instantly such provisions for the use of the town

as they should deem necessary, and deposit it in a suitable

place, for which the town treasurer was authorized to give

his notes of hand. The committee consisted of Timothy

Pike, Daniel Dole, William Frost, Enoch Ilsley, Benjamin

Titcomb, and Stephen Waite, to whom John Fox, William

McLellan, and Simeon Mayo were afterwards added, while

Joseph McLellan, Thomas Smith, Enoch Ilsley, and Paul

, Little were added to the Committee of Correspondence.

" These prompt and spirited proceedings were adopted not-

withstanding the ' Canceau' was then lying in the harbor,

whose commander was constantly urged to check them by

the vindictive feelings of Colson and others, who had suf-

fered for their non-compliance with the decrees of the pop-

ular party." The next day an alarm was created by the

arrival of two traders, which were supposed to be reinforce-

ments for Mowatt, and many people, under this impression,

moved their property out of town. On the 9th of May
an attempt was made to capture Mowatt's vessel. The plan

seems to have been conceived by Col. Samuel Thompson, of

Branswiclr, who, as we are informed, had for several weeks

previous to the attempt been holding secret meetings at the

house of Aaron Hinckley, in company with Col. Purrinton,

Capt. John Simmons, John Merrill, James Porter, and

others. Here they formed a sort of independent military

organization. Samuel Thompson was chosen colonel, and

John Merrill and Thomas Thompson, captains. Capt.

John Simmons was appointed commodore. This appears as

if the design was to cnptitre the man-of-war, and use it as

an armed vessel against the English. Willis says they

came " with a design to destroy the ship," which is prob-

ably incorrect. The account which we find in Wheeler's

History of Brunswick, Topsham, and Harpswell, says,

" The original plan was to procure a vessel of sufficient

size to carry a company of some sixty or seventy men ; to

disguise the vessel as a wood-uoastcr ; to conceal the men

in the hold ; sail for Portland in the night, go alongside

the ' Canceau,' and board her immediately. The rendez-

vous was to be New Meadows. The disclosure of the plan

altered their arrangements somewhat, but did not deter

them from their design.

" They sailed from New Meiidows on the night of May

8th, and landed on the morning of the 9th, in a grove of

thick trees, at a place called Sandy Point. There were about

fifty armed men, each wearing in his hat a small bough of

spruce. Their standard was a spruce-pole, with a green

top left upon it. Sentinels were posted around their camp,

and several persons who chanced to pass that way were

seized and detained. Pelctiah Haley was sent into town to

obtain what information he was able. About one o'clock

in the afternoon Capt. John Merrill, with two of his senti-

nels, while walking near the shore, saw Capt. Mowatt, with

Rev. Mr. Wiswall, of St. Paul's Church, and his surgeon,

land at Clay Cove, and walk up the hill. They compelled

them to surrender, and immediately sent for Col. Thomp-

son to come and receive Mowatt's sword. This he did, but

returned it immediately. A number of prominent citizens

of Falmouth visited the camp and urged the release of the

prisoners. The ' Spruce Company' were inflexible, but as

night was approaching they concluded to march their pris-

oners to Marston's tavern. About nine o'clock the prisoners .

were released on a promise to return the next morning.

Gen. Preble and Col. Freeman pledging themselves for them.

The prisoners, however, did not keep good their promise.

The company left on Friday. There were other companies

joined them while in Falmouth, and some misdeeds were

committed by soldiers, but there is no positive evidence that

it was by Thompson's men. On their return they took

back some boats belonging to Mowatt. When about leav-

ing, it is said that they were considerably alarmed at the

approach of a fishing-smack belonging in North Yarmouth,

which they erroneously supposed to be a vessel sent out by

Mowatt to capture them.''

This attack of Thompson and his men has been pretty

harshly criticised, but however premature it may have been,

it was, in a measure, successful, and had he been properly

seconded by the citizens of Falmouth, no doubt the " CUu-

ceau" would have fallen into their hands.

The threat of the officer on board the " Canceau," that
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unless the prisoners were given up he " would lay the town

in ashes," produced great excitement in Falmouth. No one

knew but that Thompson would carry them otf by force,

and that the threat would be executed at any moment.

" Our women," says a letter of Freeman's, "^ were every one

of them in tears or praying, or screaming; precipitately

leaving their houses ; especially those whose husband.^ were

not at home, and widows ; hurrying their goods into coun-

trymen's carts, never asking their names though strangers,

or carrying their children either out of town or to the

south end." Before morning, on the night of the arrest,

not only Cul. Phinney's men, but militia from Gorham,

Cape Elizabeth, and Stroudwuter, to the number of six

hundred, bearing the news of the preceding day, came into

town. They were exceedingly exasperated that Mowatt

bad been disciiarged, and seemed determined to destroy his

ship. When it was ascertained that Mowatt had not in-

tended to keep his parole, they vented their rage upon his

hostages, G-en. Preble and Col. Freeman, whom they kept

in confinement that day without dinner, and refused to per-

mit their children to speak to them. Towards evening they

were released on conditions of their furnishing refreshments

to the military then in town.

" The town was now under military government, and the

officers resolved themselves into u board of war. Being

thus organized, they proceeded to call before them persona

suspected of being Tories : old Mr. Wyer, Rev. Mr. Wis-

wall, and Jeremiah Pute attended upon their summons.

They exacted from Capt. Pote money and provisions, and

required him to give a bond of two thousand pounds to

appear before the Provincial Congress and give an account

of his conduct.* The soldiers not being under proper sub-

ordination conducted in an irregular and disorderly manner,

to the disgust and danger of the inhabitants, all wiiose per-

suasions did not prevent them from . committing some ex-

cesses. They rifled Capt. Colson's house and used it as a

barrack, and from Sheriff Tyng's house they took a silver

cup and tankard and his gold-laced hat.f The confusion

was considerably increased by the free use of liquor found

in Colson's cellar ; under this inspiration, a man by the

name of Calvin Lombard went to the water-side at the foot

of King Street, and fired a musket loaded with two balls

at the ' Canceau,' which penetrated deep into her side.

The same day a party of Thompson's soldiera seized Col-

son's boat on the shore, and next day nearly a hundred men

hauled it through the streets to the fields near where the

meeting-house of the third parish stands ; the day after,

another boat was hauled to the same place. These repeated

aggravations called from Mowatt a demand for retribution
;

he required that Lombard should be given up, that the in-

habitants should dispel the ' mob from the country,' as he

called them, and restore the boats, or he would fire upon the

town. These requisitions created considerable alarm, but

• Mr. Wiavrall deolired his abhorrence of the doctrine of paesive

obedience, and that Great Britain had no rigtft to laj internal taxes

;

he declined giring any opinion relative to the late acts of Parliament.

f The property taken from Colson's was valued at one hundred

and forty-one pounds, one shilling, one pence, and from Tyng's at

fifty ponnds. Res. of Prov. Cong. The articles were carried to Gor-

ham by Phinriey's men and scoured. Mr. Tyng's plate was delivered

to Mrs. Ross, the mother of Mrs. Tyng, by order of Congress.

8

the inhabitants at this time averted the danger by assuring

Mowatt that the disturbances proceeded from the country

people and were beyond their control.

J

" After much exertion the people of the town succeeded

in persuading the soldiei-s to return home ; the last company

left town May 1 3th. The soldiers had not at this time learned

subjection to their officers ; they made their own wills the

guide to their conduct, and when Col. Phinney and Col.

Thompson required them to yield obedience to their orders,

replied, ' we have obeyed them long enough, considering what

we have got by it.' While this force remained in town

Mowatt felt uneasy fur the safety of his ship : having heard

that cannon were to be brought from the country to be used

against it, he sent two letters on shore in which he declared

that the moment a shot should bo fired upon him, lie should

consider the town in a state of open rebellion and should

fire upon it. The inhabitants met as early as eight o'clock

in the morning and voted their disapprobation ' of the pro-

ceedings of the armed body, but that they were unable to

resist them.' All further trouble was avoided at this time

by the departure of the soldiery, which was soon followed

by Mowatt and Colson's ships, and the people began again

to enjoy some repose.

"On the day after the battle of Lexington, the Provin-

cial Congress having resolved that an army of thirteen thou-

sand six hundred men should be raised iu the province,

transmitted to every town a circular letter, conjuring the

inhabitants by all the considerations which have weight

among men, to give every aid in forming the army. One

regiment was raised in this county and placed under the

command of Col. Phinney. A convention of the county

assembled on the 29th of May and petitioned Congress that

the regiment might be stationed at Falmouth for the de-

fense of the town and county ; but it being considered that

there was more urgent need of the troops in the neighbor-

hood of Boston, four hundred of the men were ordered

there, and the remainder employed for the defense of the

seaboard, under command of Col. Freeman, of Falmouth.

" On the 7th of June, the ' Senegal,' a ship of sixteen

guns, with two tenders, arrived in the harbor, and on the

12th, the old disturber, Colson, appeared again in his new

ship to take in his cargo of masts which he had procured

some time before. His arrival was the signal of new dis-

turbances ; the people began to get his masts and timber

afloat, and to move them up the river beyond his reach, as

advised by the Committee of Safety. Sheriff Tyng, who

had left town soon after the battle of Lexington to put him-

self under the protection of his friends in Boston, was with

Colson, and at their request their wives were permitted to

visit them ;§ but the committee wrote to them and the cap-

tain of the ' Senegal,' that as Colson was a declared enemy

of the country, and had put the town to great charge and

^ The chairman of the Committee of Safety, in a letter describing

the confused state of things May 11, exclaims, " Good God ! give us a

regular government or we are undone," and again May 13, " God grant

that order may come out of confusion, and that Congress would give

such directions in all parts of the province, that no such tumultuous

assemblies may be seen, heard, or felt again.

—

Freeman't Extract^j

2d pari, p. 41.

§ Mr. Tyng had received from Gov. Gage, in 1774, a colonel's

commission.
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trouble, they woald not consent that he should take in his

cargo. On the 22d of June, one of Colson's boats whicli

was sent up the Presumpscot in search of masts and spars,

as was supposed, was seized by the people, with five men

and three guns. The men were released in two or three

days, but the property was kept. In the same month there

was a general muster of the soldiers, including Col. Phin-

ncy's regiment on the Neck, which made a fine display, and

inspired the people with confidence in their strength ; com-

missions had been granted to Phinney's regiment by the

Provincial Congress in April, and on the first of July they

were confirmed by the Continental Congress. Two com-

panies, commanded by Capts. Bradish and Brackett of Fal-

mouth, belonged to this regimeut. Capt. Brackett marched

his company for Cambridge on the 3d of July; Capt.

Bradish followed in a few days ; a lecture was preached to

Capt. Bradish's company, who all belonged to this town, by

Dr. Dcane, on the 6(h of July previous to their departure.*

" So many of the inhabitants having been withdrawn to

supply the army, attention was bestowed to place the remain-

der in an attitude of defense ; the selectmen were ordered

to deliver a quarter of a pound of powder to each person

who was destitute, but who had a gun and was willing to

defend his country; and a committee was appointed to

mount as many of the cannon belonging to the town as

they thought proper. A few men were also raised and sta-

tioned under the direction of a committee in the most suit-

able places. These measures of preparation were of so ab-

sorbing interest that but little attention was paid to civil

affairs ; the Court of Common Pleas met on the 25th of July,

and adjourned the same day ; the sheriff and crier were

absent, and no jurors had been returned. They did not

meet again until October, ITTB.j"

" The remainder of the summer passed away without any

trouble from abroad, and the interval was employed to see

if all was sound within.]; The towns were generally mak-

ing investigation into the firmness of the principles of the

people, and whenever any act was done by which suspicion

was aroused, the screw of public opinion was immediately

applied.

" Little of interest further occurred in this section of the

country till the 16th of October, when ^^pt. Mowatt again

arrived at the mouth of the harbor with the ' Canceau,'

another ship called the ' Cat,' two schooners, and a bomb-

sloop.

" When the people perceived that it was Mowatt they felt

but little apprehension for themselves, supposing his object

to be to get cattle and provisions ; they therefore sent the

* He was commtssioned major in Col. Timothy Biglow'a regiment,

Jan. 1, 1777. He died in 1818.

f Wm. Tjng was sheriff and Joshua Freeman crier; the judges

were Jeremiah Powell, Enoch Freeman, Moses Pearson, and Jonas

Mason. Oct. 11, 1775, the ProTinoIal Congress issued a commission

ip the name of the " Government and people of Massachusetts Btij,"

appuinttng Powell, Freeman, Mason and Solomon Lombard, justices

of this court ; next d&y John Waite was appointed sheriff.

{ In May, 1775, the selectmen employed Jabez Matthews and David

Dinsmore, of New Gloucester, to go to Quebec, and ascertain if there

were any hostile movements there against the buck settlements of the

province; their route wns by the Kennebec River. Matthews returned

in June, and reported that there was no such design, and was sent to

make report to the Provincial Congress.

—

Fieeiii., 2, 39, 46.

greater part of the two companies here, to guard the islands

where were large stocks of cattle and quantities of hay, and

near which Mowatt had anchored. The next day the wind

being unfavorable, the vessels were warped up the harbor,

and formed in a line fronting the principal settlement on the

Neck. The first intimation the people had of the object of

his cruel visit was by a letter he sent on shore on the after-

noon of the 17th, in which he informed them that he had

been sent to ' execute a just punishment on the town of

Falmouth,' and allowed them but two hours to remove them-

selves and families from the scene of danger.

" The vessels came directly from Boston, and no doubt

can be entertained that the order for the destruction of the

town proceeded from Admiral Greaves, who then com-

manded on this station, whose mind had probably been in-

flamed by the representations of Mowatt, Colson, and otliere.

On the receipt of Mowatt's letter the people on the Neck

immediately assembled and appointed Gen. Preble, Dr. Cof-

fin, and Robert Pagan to wait upon him to ascertain the

cause of the threatened calamity, and see if it could not by

any means be averted. The mission was fruitless ; Capt.

Mowatt informed them that his ordere were peremptory,

that they did not even authorize him to give the inhabitants

any warning, and in so doing he had risked the loss of his

commission. At the earnest entreaty of the committee he

consented to postpone the execution of his severe orders

until eight o'clock the next morning, on condition that the

inhabitants would deliver to him eight small-arms, and

agreed to suspend further proceedings until he could receive

an answer to an express which he would dispatch to the

admiral, provided the people would before eight o'clock the

next morning surrender four pieces of cannon which were

then in town and all their small-arms and ammunition. The

comuiittce frankly told him that they thought the inhabi-

tants would uot submit to this proposition, but promised to

lay it before them and return him an answer.

" On reaching the shore they found tho anxious multi-

tude assembled at the town-house, to whom they reported

the result of their conference. The town without hesita-

tion disapproved of the terms, but in order to gain time fur

the removal of the women and children and the sick, with

as much property as possible, they sent ofiF in the evening

the eight small-arms, and informed the captain that the

town would have a meeting early in the morning and give

a definite reply to his proposal by eight o'clock. The meet-

ing was held, and the inhabitants with a firmness and cour-

age worthy all praise and a better fate, while the loaded can-

non were pointed toward them, resolutely rejected a propo-

sition which carried with it the abject terms of surrendering

their arms to save their property. The same committee was

appointed to convey their determination, and were in-

structed to occupy as much time as possible on board. But

so impatient was Mowatt t'> begin the work of destruction,

tliAt the committee at half-past eight o'clock were requested

to go on shore and only half an hour allowed them to escape

from the coming storm.

" At nine o'clock the firing commenced from all the ves-

sels in the harbor, which kept up a discharge of balls from

three to nine pounds weight, bombs, canisters, shells, grape-

shot, and musket-balls with little cessation until six o'clock
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in the evening. In the mean time parties landed from the

vessels and set fire to various buildings. Tiie inhabitants

were so much occupied in removing their families and prop-

erty to places of safety, that but little resistance was made

to the parties which landed. No plan of defense had been

concerted; the soldiers were scattered, part of them having

that morning returned from the islands, where they had

been on duty, were employed in saving their families and

goods, and the remainder were without any efficient leader;

all, both soldiers and others, were in too great consternation

to make any effectual resistance. There was idso a defi-

ciency of powder, there not being an hour's supply in town.

Had there been one company here well organized and of

sufficient coolness, much of the evil occasioned by strag-

gling marines might have been prevented. Several of the

British were killed and wounded ; none, fortunately, were

killed on the side of the inhabitants, and only one wounded.""

" The town soon presented a broad sheet of flame, which,

aa the buildings were of wood, spread with great rapidity,

and involved all the thickest part of the settlement in one

common ruin. All the houses were destroyed on Fore

Street, from Jordan's Point to Exchange Street but one

;

all on both sides of Middle Street as far west as School

Street, except Sheriff Tyng's, on the corner of the street

that goes into Clay Cove, Theophilus Bradbury's, on the

corner of Willow Street, and Thomas Smith's store, on the

corner of £ssex Street ; every house in King Street and

Turkey Lane, and scattered houses in Fiddle Lane and

Buck Streets, amounting to one hundred and thirty-six

dwelling-houses, besides a hiindsome new court-house, the

Episcopalian church, the town-house, the custom-house, a

fire-engine nearly new, together with barns, and almost every

store and warehouse in town, all the wharves but one or

two short ones, and all the vessels in the harbor except two,

which the enemy took away with them, were burnt.f The

meeting-house ofthe first parish, which was then unprotected

by other buildings, was perforated by several balls and grape-

shot, some of which were found in the ceiling and other parts

when it was taken down, in 1826.J A cannon-ball passed

through the house of Deacon Godman. Tiie house, having a

commanding view of the harbor, was exposed to the fire of

the enemy and considerably shattered ; the front fence stand-

ing OB Middle Street was often set on fire, and extinguished

by the people ; many others were injured in a similar manner.

A great quantity of personal property was unavoidably de-

stroyed, from the scarcity of teams, and the confusion and

alarm of the occasion. Many articles were thrown into the

street aud there left to perish.§ An immense quantity of fur-

9 This was Reuben Clough, who lived on the corner of Plumb and

Fore Streets.

fThe number of buildings, exclusive of dwelling-houses, de-

stroyed, was two hundred and seventy-eight {Eitex Gazette, October

26th), which, with one hundred and thirty-six houses, maltes the total

number of buildings burnt four hundred and fourteen.

J Three persons after dark attempted to set fire to the meeting-

house, bat were interrupted and compelled to retreat. The chande-

lier in the new house is suspended from a cannon-ball which made a

deep wound in the venerable structure.

§ Not more than half the movables wore saved out of the buildings

which were burnt.— /fe^orf of Select Freem., ii. 252. About one

hundred and si.vty families weio turned out of doors.— Dwi'i/ht's

Travel), ii. 172.

niture and other property was piled up indiscriminately, as

it was plucked out of the fire, in the field opposite the head

of High Street, where much of it was destroyed by the rain

of the next day, and much stolen or irrecoverably scattercd.{{

" All the compact part of the town was destroyed, con-

taining a large proportion of the most valuable buildings.

One hundred dwelling-houses only were left standing, many

of which were damaged by balls and the bursting of bombs.

The last house that was burnt was the Rev. Mr. Smith's,

which stood directly fronting King Street; it caught from

Capt. Sandford's, which stood on the northwest corner of

King Street, just before dark, and was the only house burnt

on that side of Congress Street.

" The situation of the inhabitants after the fire was one

of great suffering and distress ; many families who before

that event were in comfortable circumstances, had lost all

their property and were turned houseless, at the commence-

ment of winter, upon the hand of charity ; while on every

quarter poverty and desolation met the unhappy sufferers.

On the 26th of October the town held a meeting and raised

a committee to procure subscriptions for the relief of the

distressed poor of the town. On the 10th of November the

Provincial Congress, on the petition of Samuel Freeman,

then a member from Falmouth', granted two hundred and

fifty pounds to the sufferers, and ordered fifteen bushels of

corn to be dLstributed to each family whose lass deprived

them of the means of purchasing any. In 1776 one-half of

the taxes on the town for 1775 were abated, and in 1779,

on the petition of Enoch Freeman and others, a grant was

made of two thousand pounds to purchase bread and other

necessaries of life for the poor of the town, to be distributed

under the direction of the selectmen."

Some time in the year 1776, a picaroon, commanded by

one Hammon, visited an island in Harpswell, which was in-

habited by a single family, and, with a crew of seven men,

rifled them of their effects in the night, intending to rest

there until day. Receiving information of this dastardly

attack, Capt. Nehemiah Curtis rallied a party, and before

morning captured the boat and crew, and carrying the latter

to Falmouth, lodged them in the county jail. Hammon
managed, through lalsehood, to get at liberty, and immedi-

ately went to the same island with a larger vessel and crew.

Here Curtis and his volunteers again met him, and in the

skirmish that followed one of the miscreants was wounded,

and the rest hurriedly withdrew.^

" The government, in 1775, voted that four hundred men

should be raised for the defense of Maine, to be stationed

at Falmouth, and that the militia should be mustered in

case of invasion. The troops arrived the latter part of

November ; Gen. Joseph Frye, to whom the command of

the station was assigned, oame here November 25th. Many
persons who had been driven from town returned under

protection of the troops, and the few houses which were

standing were over-crowded, and could illy accommodate

the additional number of persons whom the state of things

brought upon the Neck. Mr. Smith, who had retired to

Windham, came to town to preach November 25th, but was

11
The day the town was destroyed was clear and pleasant ; the

next morning it began to ruin, and continued raining for three days.

1] Williamson, p. 429.
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obliged to return, not having been able to get lodgings. In

the latter part of 1775 the distressed situation of the people,

particularly in Maine, was laid before the Provincial Con-

gress, and twelve hundred pounds were granted from the

treasury for their relief.

" Notwithstanding the narrow circumstances in which the

inhabitants of the Neck were now placed,—deprived of their

commerce, cut short of the ordinary supplies,—they abated

nothing of the spirit with which they engaged in the great

cause of freedom. In December, a committee was chosen

to join other towns in convention, to consider measures for

the general safety of the county of Cumberland and this town

in particular. In February, the town voted to recommend to

the Committee of Safety to encourage the manufacture of

saltpetre ; in the same month thirty of our people enlisted

in the Continental army. May 21st a committee was chosen

to repair the forts on the Neck, and on the same day the

following vote was passed, which shows that the people here

had made up their minds in advance on the great question

which was agitating the continent

:

*' * Voted, uHanimouslift as the detenniDation of this town, that if the

honorable Americnn Congress should, for the snfety of the united

colonies, declare them independent of the kingdom of Great Britain,

the inhabitants of this town, in meeting now assembled, will solemol/

engage-with their lives and fortunes to support the Congress in the

measure.'
'*

In April, 1777, a company of eighty men was stationed

at Falmouth, under the command of Abncr Lowell, and

another of forty men at Cape Elizabeth. In JuDuary a

requisition was made on Massachusetts for five thousand

blankets ; the proportion of this county was ope hundred

and twenty-three.

" In June the Greneral Court made provision for stationing

a company of fifty soldiers here, for which they sent ten

cannon. The company was enlisted in this neighborhood

to serve until December, and the command given to Capt.

John Preble.* Capt. Joseph Noyes was appointed to mus-

ter the company ; Wm. Frost was commissary of the forces

stationed in and near Falmouth this year, for the defense of

the sea-coast. In November another company of fifty men

was stationed at Cape Elizabeth for the defense of the har-

bor, and with the one stationed on the Neck was continued

in service until March ; at the same time all the other sol-

diers here were ordered to be dismissed.f Thb year the

militia of the county was reorganized, and in December the

General Court appointed the following officers to the 1st

Regiment in Cumberland, viz. : Peter Noyes, colonel ; Na-

thaniel Jordan, lieutenant-colonel ; James Merrill, 1st major;

and James Johnson, 2d major. These persons all lived in

Falmouth. In the same month every fourth man of the

militia was ordered to be drafted to supply the army.

"A return was made, by order of the General Court, in

January, 1777, of the males of sixteen years and upwards

in each town in the county, as follows : Falmouth, 786,

including 64 Quakers, 12 negroes, and 1 mulatto
; Bruns-

• Capt. Preble was son of Gen. Preble. He had served at Penobscot,

and was an Indian interpreter.

f Iq July, 1776, the General Court ordered a levy of every twenty-

fifth man to fill up the army. Falmouth was exempted from this draft;

thirty-nine were levied in the county.

wick, 198, including 4 belonging to Falmouth ; Scarbor-

ough, 471, including 6 from Falmouth ; North Yarmouth,

404, including 2 from Falmouth; Harpswell, 189, in-

cluding 1 from Falmouth ; Cape Elizabeth, 350."

In 1777 twenty-two men went from Brunswick to Boston

for service in the Continental army. The town of Bruns-

wick this year voted to make provision for the families of

those who were in the Continental service. In April,

1778, John Dunning, Ephraim Graffam, Michael Growse,

William Spear, Jr., and William Skolfield, of Brunswick,

went into the service in the Continental army, and were

sent to Peckskill. Harpswell also furnished five men at the

same time.

The war had thus far been carried on at great sacrifice and

suffering. Many people who were needed to cultivate the

soil had been drawn off to supply the waste of war, while

the consumption of provisions had visibly increased. In

addition to these unfavorable circumstances the season of

1778 had been peculiarly unfortunate, one-half of the crops

having been cut off by the drought. In the early part of

this year provisions were extremely high. Mr. Smith, in

his journal, says, " It is wonderfiil how the people here on

the Neck live for want of bread." Again, in April, he says,

" a grievous cry for bread." The prices in Falmouth, in

1779, were as follows : January, wood, 820 a cord ; April,

Indian meal, $;-{0 a bushel ; May, com, $35 a bushel ; coffee,

$3 a pound; June, molasses, $16 a gallon; coffee, S4 a

pound ;
sugar, $3. June 10th, Mr. Smith says, " A man

asked $74 for a bushel of wl>eat-meal." By the scale in

June, one hundred silver dollars were worth $1342 in

paper, so that the molasses was about $1.20 a gallon in

silver, coffee about 30 cents, and sugar about 23 cents,

and the flour about $5.75 a bushel. In November, 1788,

Mr. Smith says, " Common laborers have $4 a day, while

ministers have but a dollar, and washer-women as much.

It is a melancholy time on many accounts. Lawful money

is worth no more than old tenor; creditors don't receive

an eighth part of their old debts, nor ministers of their

Fortunately, the se:ison of 1779 was wonderfully forward

and productive, and saved the country from the horrors of

a famine. The government, the previous years, had done

all they eould to relieve the scarcity; they had voted

£200,000 and appointed a committee to procure flour and

grain from the South. In 1780, by a resolve of Congress,

a large amount of depreciated paper was taken out of circu-

lation, and a new emission of bills was made by the State,

of far less amount, and to be considered equal to specie.

This passed for a short time at par, but soon followed the

fate of its predecessors, a natural consequence of the heavy

debt and a want of confidence in the ability of government.

In the resolve fur raising two thousand men, in April,

1778, the government mentioned the conduct of Falmouth
" as highly commendable, manly, and patriotic in their

glorious exertions to raise volunteers to reinforce the Con-

tinental army." In April the town raised a company of

fifty volunteers for Gen. Washington's army, to each soldier

of which they paid a bounty of sixty pounds, provided he

furnished himself with equipments and served in the army

till the last of November. In December the town "«ner-
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ously voted to indemDify those persons who had or would

supply the families of those soldiers who were engaged in

the army ; many came forward and furnished the supplies.

In the midst of the summer of 1779, the arrival of an

English fleet in Penobscot Bay, and the capture of Baga-

duoe Point, upon which Castine is situated, in June, pro-

duced a strong sensation throughout the States. The united

feeling of government and people was to drive the enemy

from the soil and preserve the integrity of the territory.

The government immediately organized a force, to consist

of fifteen hundred men, wholly from Massachusetts, and a

fleet consisting of nineteen armed vessels and twenty-four

transports was put in requisition for the occasion. The fleet

was commanded by Com. Saltonstall, and the land forces by

Gen. Solomon Lovell, Gen. Peleg Wadsworth, at that time

adjutant-general of the militia of Massachusetts, being the

second in command. One regiment, under the command of

Col. Mitchell, of North Yarmouth, was raised in this neigh-

borhood, to which Falmouth and Cape Elizabeth contrib-

uted two companies. Capt. Joseph McLellan, of Falmouth,

was commissary of supplies. The expedition was popular,

and the people engaged with alacrity and zeal in it. The

company which was formed on the Neck consisted of vol-

unteers from the families of the most reispectable inhabitants.

Peter Warren was captain; Daniel Mussey, lieutenant;

John Dole, first sergeant; Richard Codman, Daniel Cobb,

Wm. Moody, Stephen Tukey, Hugh McLellan, Micah

Sampson, and Zachariah Baker were privates.

Brig. Thompson, of Brunswick, also had orders to raise

a regiment out of his brigade, of which Capt. Larrabee was

appointed second major. Besides Larrabee's company,

Capt. Actor Patten's company, from Topsham, and Capt.

Nehemiah Curtis' company, from Brunswick and Harps-

well, joined the expedition. They went to Falmouth, and

were placed under command of Col. Mitchell. Capt.

Hinckley also had a company in the expedition ; he was

killed while standing upon a large rock cheering on his

men, and the command devolved upon James Potter (2d).*

Our soldiers sailed on the 18th of July in a transport

sloop from Falmouth, commanded by Capt. William Mc-

Lellan, for Townsend, now Boothbay, the place of rendez-

vous, where they remained a few days for the other forces.

But notwithstanding the spirit with which the people en-

gaged in this enterprise, and the ardent hopes entertained

of its success, the result was very disastrous. The expedi-

tion was hastily got up, and measures were concerted with-

out sufficient prudence and caution. To increase the diffi-

culties, on the arrival of the forces in the Penobscot, the

commanders of the fleet and army disagreed in their plan

of attack. It was, however, determined to make an assault

upon the garrison, and take it if possible by storm. For

this purpose the troops were landed on the north side of

'the promontory at sunrise, where they climbed a precipitous

bluff amidst a heavy fire from the enemy's battery on the

height. Capt. Warren's company from Falmouth was the

first that ascended the cliff and formed, when the enemy

fled to their intrenchments.f They were closely pursued

through a wood which covered this part of the hill ; our

» History of Castine, p. 41, note.

f In tliis assault about siity of onr troops were killed.

troops were eager to follow them to their intreuchmonta,

but were ordered by the general to stop, and were moved

back to the edge of the wood, where they threw up breast-

works and made preparations for a regular siege. It was

believed that had our soldiers not been checked in their

first onset, they would have been able from their superior

force to have entered and dislodged the enemy from their

unfinished works ; such is believed to have been< the opin-

ion of Gen. Wadsworth, whose conduct in the whole course

of the expedition merited unqualified approbation ; he was

in the midst of every danger and suffering ; and our sol-

diers said if the chief command had been intrusted to him,

success would have crowned our arms. Nothing of conse-

quence towards reducing the place was accomplished after

the first day ; the enemy labored assiduously to strengthen

their fortifications, and at the end of a fortnight, on the ap-

proach of a large reinforcement to the British, our army

hastily abandoned their lines in the night and embarked

with their cannon and stores on board their transports,

which immediately commenced moving up the Penob-

scot River. The British pursued, and the whole fleet wiis

abandoned and burnt. Gen. Wadsworth conducted the

retreat with skill, and labored incessantly to keep his little

army together after the disgraceful result. Our troops re-

turned in scattered parties, making the best of their way

home deeply mortified and disappointed.

On the 3d of September, Falmouth was thrown into

great excitement by the appearance in the offing of three

ships of war. The town was full of troops. Cols. Jackson's

and Mitchell's regiments being in the place. No tijue was

lost in making preparations for defense. Three batteries

were occupied and manned,—one on the hill in Free Street,

another at the foot of King Street, and a third on the brow

of Munjoy's Hill. But the fears of the people were soon

dispelled by the arrival of the American frigates " Boston"

and " Dean" with a large prize-ship. The next day another

prize arrived
;
both were men-of-war.

In 1780 the British, feeling secure in their position on

the Penobscot, began to commit depredations upon the in-

habitants on each side of the bay. To counteract these the

General Court ordered a regular force of seven hundred and

fifty men, under the command of Gen. Wadsworth, to be

stationed on the western side of the bay for the protection

of the inhabitants. Two companies were also ordered to

Machias. These troops were raised in Maine, but, not re-

pairing to the place of rendezvous by the time appointed.

Gen. Wadsworth came here from" Camden to hasten the

levy. He wrote to Brig.-Gen. Frost, of York County,

April 27th, urging him, " in the name of public virtue," to

send forward his detachment without further delay. This

letter had the desired effect of hastening on the troops. Of
the regiment of six hundred men, three hundred were sta-

tioned in Falmouth, two hundred were sent to Camden,

and one hundred to Machias. The forts here were put in

order, and preparations made for an effectual resistance.

There were frequent alarms from the Penobscot during the

remainder of the war, which often called out the troops,

but nothing was seriously attempted, if anything was ever

designed from that quarter. Nothing of importance took

place on the Penobscot during the year 1 780, and in the
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winter all the troops returned but a small guard, which re-

mained at Gen. Wadswortli's headquarters at Thomaston.

The British, hearing by a spy the situation of the general,

sent a party of twenty-five men, in February, 1781, to sur-

prise him. They were guided to his quarters at night by

an abandoned traitor, and secured an entrance to the house

before they were discovered. As soon as the alarm was

given the general, who was in bed, seized his blunderbuss

and two pistols, which he kept loaded by him, and defended

himself resolutely in his chamber until he was disabled by

a wound in hits arm, when he surrendered and was taken to

Bagaduce. Hia wife and two children, with a female

friend, who fonned his family, were lefl behind. The gen-

eral was kept a close prisoner until he and Maj. Burton,

another prisoner, ingeniously effected their escape in June

following and returned to Falmouth.

This town, notwithstanding its serious loss at the com-

mencement of hostilitio;, contributed its fall proportion of

men and supplies to support the war, and it is believed

more than any other town in Maine. In 1780 its propor-

tion of beef for the army was twelve thousand three hun-

dred and sixty pounds, and in 1781 nine thousand seven

hundred and ninety-six pounds, and the same year it was

required to furnish forty-one shirts and as many pairs of

shoes and stockings, and one hundred and thirteen blankets.

They also raised a committee of nine .in that year to pro-

cure thirty men to serve during the war, and voted to each

man who would enlist twenty dollars in silver bounty and

ten dollars a month pay. It may safely be affirmed that

no town in the State suffered more or contributed more in

proportion to its means than did Falmouth.

After the attack upon New London and Groton by Ar-

nold, in September of this year, some uneasiness was felt

lest he should extend his visit to this place ; but all fears

were soon turned to the brightest hopes by the arrival of a

large French fleet in the Chesapeake, which gave a pre-

ponderating influence to our arms. Public expectations

centred on the movements in Virginia, and every rumor

from that quarter was eagerly caught. On the 4th of Oc-

tober news was brought to town by hand-bills struck off in

Boston of the surrender of Cornwallis, fifteen days before

that auspicious event took place, which occasioned great re-

joicing. On the 27th of the same month an express arrived

with the joyful and veritable tidings of the great victory at

Yorktown, which elevated the spirits of the people and

scattered all the shadows which the correction of the late

premature information had cast upon them. On the next day,

which was Sunday, the ministers improved the occasion

by suitable discourses, and Monday was spent in public

rejoicing.

CHAPTER XII.

OBGANIZATION OP THE COUITTY.

Civil Dirisions—Early Courts—Coart-HooBes and Jails—Capital

Trials.

CIVIL DIVISIONS.

The whole territory of Maine formed but one county

until Nov. 1, 1760, when the counties of Cumberland and

Lincoln were erected. The former embraced the present

county of Cumberland, and part of Oxford and Andro-

scoggin, and the latter all the country east of them.

Of the early civil divisions of the county of Cumberland,

five towns were incorporated prior to the separation from

York County, viz. : Scarborough, incorporated in 16.58;

Falmouth, in 1658; re-incorporated in 1718: North Yar-

mouth, incorporated in 1680 ; Brunswick, in 1738 ; and

Harpswell, in 1758. The county now contains twenty-five

towns, in addition to the city of Portland. Windham Wiis

incorporated in 1762, Gorham in 1764, Cape Elizabeth

in 1765, New Gloucester in 1774, Gray in 1778, Standish

in 1785, Portland in 1786 (incorporated as a city in 1832),

Freeport in 1789, Durham in 1789, Bridgton in 1794,

Poland in 1795, Otisfield in 1798, Baldwin in 1802,

Minot in 1802, Danville in 1802, Raymond in 1803,

Harrison in 1805, Pownal in 1808, Wcstbrook in 1814,

Cumberland in 1821, Sebago in 1826, Naples in 1834,

Casco in 1841, Auburn in 1842, Yarmouth in 1849, and

Deering in 1871.

The above towns, with the exception of Durham, Po-

land, Minot, Danville, and Auburn, still constitute the civil

divisions of Cumberland County ; the latter, except Dan-

ville, which has entirely disappeared from the list, became

portions of Androscoggin upon the erection of that county,

Slarch 18, 1824. By reference to the civil list, their rep-

resentation in the Legislature up to that period will be

seen.

The boundaries, description, and histories of the several

towns now embraced in the county will be given in a sepa-

rate department of this work, wherein their early settlement,

institutions, and chief industries will be treated of, and

biographical sketches furnished of some of the leading citi-

zens.

As early as 1733, the inconvenience of attending court at

York by people in this part of the country was so severely felt,

that the towns authorized their selectmen to petition to the

General Court to divide the county, or have the courts held

farther east, and it was in consequence of this effort that a

term of the Inferior Court and " Court of General Sessions

of the Peace" were extended to Falmouth, for one session a

year, in June, 1735, and the first term of these courts was

held here in October, 1736, by Chief Justice William Pep-

pcrell, of Kittery. Both courts were held at the same time

and place. The judges were Samuel Came, Timothy Ger-

rish, Joseph Moody, and Jeremiah Moulton ; John Leigh-

ton was sheriff. They all resided west of the Saco River.

The Inferior Court consisted of four judges; the sessions

was composed of all the justices in the county, and they

were " empowered to hear and determine all matters relating

to the conservation of the peace and punishment of offenders,

grant licenses, lay out highways," etc. Thb court con-

tinued till 1808, when it was abolished, and a court con-

sisting of five justices was established in its stead. The In-

ferior Court was established in 1699, and was continued

until 1811, when it yielded to the circuit system, by which

the commonwealth was divided into six circuits, of which

the counties of York, Cumberland, and Oxford formed

one. This continued till after the separation from Massa-

chusetts, when the Court of Common Picas was estab-

lished.
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On the division of the county, in 1760, a term of the

Superior Court was first granted to Cumberland, and held

in Falmouth in June, 1761, for the counties of Cumberland

and Lincoln, but the records of the court were still kept in

Boston. At this time the court was composed of Thomas

Hutchinson, then Lieutenant-Governor of Massachusetts,

Benjamin Lynde, John Cushing, and Peter Oliver. Mr.

Hutchinson was appointed chief justice in 1761, as suc-

cessor to Stephen Sewell, who died in September, 1760.

He was succeeded by Peter Oliver in 1769. The judges

of this court, until 1792, appeared on the bench in robes

and wigs. In summer the robes were of black silk, in

winter of scarlet, with Mack trimmings. The occasion of

leaving them off was the appointment of Judge Bawes to

the bench, who not having been called to the degree of

barrister before his appointment, the other judges on that

account dispensed with their robes. The court at that time

consisted of Francis Dana, chief justice; Increase Sumner,

Robert T. Paine, and Nathan Cushing.

A term of the Superior Court was first established in

Maine in 1699, and was held at Kittery until 1743, when

it was removed to York. In 1761 a term was held in this

county, and in 1786 a term was granted to Lincoln

County to be held the week after its sitting in Falmouth,

which was in June. The number of judges was five until

1800, when it was increased to seven, rendered neca'sary by

the accumulation of business and the burthensome system

which required the courts to consist of a majority of the

judges for the trial of .all causes. In 1805, this change

not remedying the difiSculty, it was reduced to its original

number, and the only effectual cure applied, the introduc-

tion of the nisi prim system, by which the issues are tried

by a single judge.*

During the existence of the Inferior Court the judges

were all paid by fees, and of course their compensation

depended on the quantity of business. The following notes

of the allowances and amount of business during several

years, we quote from Willis

:

"In 1762 they were allowed 5*. 4d. for each entrj, and 1«. for an

appeal. The feea varied at different times ; in 1776 they were allowed

for an entry, 2«. ; in 1779, 4<. ; in 1783, 3<. id.; and on a jury trial,

6<. At the October term in 1777, in thia county, the whole oompen-

lation received by the justices was 5<. 6d. each : there were eleven

entries. At the March term of the same court in 1773 there were

the same number of entries, and the three justices who attended re-

ceived I8«. Sd. each. In October of the same year there were but

seven entries and two jury trials, and the amount of feea divided by

the three justices was £8 U<. On the division of the county, John

Mioot, Esekiel Cushing, of Cape Elizabeth, Enoch Freeman, of Fal-

mouth, and Edward Miiliken, of Scarborough, were appointed justices-t

In February, 1763, Jeremiah Powell, of I^orth Tnrmouth, was ap-

pointed first justice. The first officers of the court were Moses Pear-

son, Sheriff; Stephen Longfellow, Clerk ; and Joshua Freeman, Crier.

There were but two terms a year till after the Revolution, and the

number of entries was small. In 1776 they were but nine; in 1781,

they had -advanced to forty-nine, and continned to inorease until

1785, whe^ they were one hundred and ninety-six. They then began

to decrease in consequence of the depression of trade and a great ez-

citemeut and prejudice which now were displayed against the pro-

fession. In 1788 there were but fifty-two entries; from this time

there was a regular increase, with the exception of one or two years,

until 1807, when they had attained the unexampled number of two

» Willis' History of Portland.

f See list of civil and judicial officers, chapter xxii.

thountnd four hundred and twenty-two entries for the ycnr, being

higher than they have ever fcince been. The great number of failures

at that period gave rise to a vast multitude of suits."

In 1790 three terms of the Inferior Court were estab-

lished, all held in Portland, but in 1791 one of these terms

was removed to New Gloucester, and continued to be held

there until 1805, when it was restored to Portland, where

the courts have ever since been held.

Anciently, when but one court was held in Falmouth,

the commencement of the term, upon the arrival of the

judges, was ushered in by the discharge of cannon at a fort

on the west side of Stroudwater bridge. The court, as now,

was opened by prayer, and on the first day of the term, the

court, bar, and minister dined together. In 1765, Mr.

Smith and Mr. Deane both neglecting to attend to make the

prayer, Judge Powell sharply reprimanded Mr. Deane for

the omission.
;[

At the May term, 1785, an action was brought before

the court and no lawyer was present. The court heard the

parties, examined the witnesses, and committed the cause

to the jury, without the intervention of any attorney; they

brought in their verdict to the general satisfaction of tlie

people.§

At the October term, 1790, there were but four jury

trials in civil cases; after the jury were dismissed and were

raceiving their pay, it was discovered that one of them had

answered during the term to another man's name ; on being

asked his reason for this reprehensible conduct, he said

" that his neighbor Pinkham, who had been drawn, was

sick at home, and had got hira to come in his room."

Says Willis, "The administration of justice waS exceed-

ingly loose both before and immediately after the Revolu-

tion ; the public mind was not corrected and enlightened as

it has since been by the press and the general diffusion of

information; the country was new, population thin, and that

delicate regard of public and private rights was not so

strictly observed as it is at this day. We have frequently

found in the examination of the papers of individuals in-

stances of persons having gone before magistrates and

privately confessing themselves guilty of violations of law,

been discharged on the payment of a small fine.

" We have seen the record of many confessions made

before Enoch Freeman, 'ho was for many years an active

magistrate in Falmouth, for profane swearing, where a fine

of five or six shillings was imposed. In one case of forni-

cation the woman on confession was fined six shillings an.d

discharged. ' John Lowther, physician, confessed that he

broke the peace by striking Sam'l Graffam, cordwainer, the

22d inst., at Brunswick, being highly provoked, and paid a

fine of 48. to the king.' Persons were frequently fined for

absenting themselves from meeting, as late as the times of

Rev. Mr. Deane. In 1757, ' John Hanes confessed he

swore one profane oath ye 12th inst., fined 4s.' ' 1754,

Col. Jedediah Preble is convicted of uttering one profane

oath in my hearing and Deacon Wm. Cotton's, at Mr.

Joshua Freeman's.' But the most singular instance of con-

fession and of extra-judicial punishment that wc have met

J Oct. 6, 1747, Mr. Smith says, " I prayed with the court P. M.
Jnatioe came drunk all day."

§ Fal. Gaz., June22, 17S5.
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with took place in 1785, of which notice was pnblicly

given in the following advertisement

:

"
' FALXO0TH, Aug. 20, 1785.—I, the sabscrib«r, being left to the in-

rintuUion of the devil, hnve stolen and carried away from the store of

Jabei Jones, of New Casco, a part of a side of sole leather, contiury

to the law of Ood and man and the peace of this Commonwealth.

I heartilj ask forgireness for the oSense done to Ood and the public,

and snbmit myself to be pablicly whipped in New Casco, at school-

honse hill, 15 stripes on my naked back as a warning to others.
"

' Isaac Roff, X his mark.

"'Attest:

"'Joseph Wobvell,
"

' Wk. Blackstose.
"

' The above stripes were decently laid on by Samnel Backnam,
eonstable.'

"

At the time courts first began to sit in Falmoath there

was no conrt-honse, nor was there anj regular place for

holding the coarts before the Uevolation. They were gen-

erally held at the town-house, at the foot of Middle Street,

sometimes at the meeting-house, at others in one of the

taverns ; but they were always, with one exception, held

upon the Neck. Smith's Journal, Oct. 4, 1743, says,

" The court this year is kept at Purpooduck, on pretence

of no tavern this side." In 1776, Alice Greele charged

ten shillings six pence fur a room fur the use of the court,

and in 1777 her bill for the same was two pounds eight

shillings.

A large and handsome court-house was commenced by

the county in 1774, oo the site where the town-house had

stood, which had been moved to Congress Street to make

room for it. This building was fifty-four by fifty feet, and

crowned with a belfry. Its erection was superintended by

Stephen Longfellow, Esq., then clerk of the courts. This

building was nearly completed when Mowatt set fire to the

town and it perished in the conflagration.

The frame of the second court-house was raised in Oc-

tober, 1785, and the building was finished the next year.

It was two stories high, with a belfry, and forty-eight by

thirty-four feet in dimensions. Courts were held in the

second story, the first being an open hall. This building

was removed to Court Street in 1816, and the centre of the

next court-house erected on the site the same year. In

1831 two wings were added, each about twenty feet in

width, and projecting a little beyond the line of the front,

to enlarge the public offices and furnish jury-rooms and

lobbies up-stairs. The building was of brick, two stories

high ; the front finished by a pediment, supported by six

columns and pilasters, and surmounted by a belfry, on the

spire of which was a nicely-adjusted pair of scales. The

building, including the additions, cost twenty-three thou-

sand dollars. The building committee consisted of Richard

Hnnnewell, Barrett Potter, and Albeit Newhall.

This court-house was taken down in 1858 to make room

for the present city government building, the west wing of

which is occupied by the county offices and court-rooms:

At the great fire of 1866 this fine building was all destroyed

except the west wing ; the records in the office of the le-
ister of probate were consumed, but the records in the

office of the register of deeds, and those of the United

States courts, which were transferred there for safety, were

saved.

Before the Revolution, the jail stood on Middle Street,

on the site of the old market-house. It was a small build-

ing, eighteen by thirty-three feet, and was taken down in

1799, and the jailor's house removed to Federal Street,

where it was occupied by Samnel Hale. Another juil was

erected in 1799, under the superintendence of John Park,

of Groton, Mass. It^was a stone building, fifty by thirty-

four feet, and two stories high, with rooms in the attic, and

cost about eight thousand dollars. Samuel Freeman and

Judge Oorham were the building committee.

There have been but few capital trials in this connty.

The first which ever took place here was in July, 1772,

when a man named Goodwin was tried and convicted of

murder. He was charged with having thrown a man over-

board from a boat in Casco Bay. There existed some duubt

of his guilt, and he was reprieved three times, but was

afterwards finally executed on the 12th of November,

1772. A great concourse of people, excited by the novelty

of the scene, was collected on the occasion,—said to- have

been the largest ever assembled in Falmouth. Rev. Mr.

Clark, of Cape Elizabeth, preached a lecture to the multi-

tude in the presence of the prisoner, and prayed at the gal-

lows.

The next capital trial which took place here was that of

Geoi^e Pierce, of Otisfield, for the murder of John Mcin-

tosh, of the same town, in 1789. He was tried in July,

1790, and convicted of manslaughter, it being satisfactorily

proved to the court and jury that the killing was done in

self-defense. It appeared that Mr. Pierce was at work upon

a harrow when Mclutosh came up and wished liim to go to

his cornfield and see the damage done by his (Mcintosh's)

horse. Mr. Pierce declined going, and words ensued, ren-

dered sharp by a previous quarrel, when Mcintosh made

towards Pierce with clenched fists, and Pierce, lifting up

his hands to resist him, struck him a blow on the head with

a mallet, which caused his death.

The next case of this nature was that of Thomas Bird

and Hans Hansen, one an Englishman, the other a Swede,

for murder and piracy. They had murdered the master of

a sloop of about thirty tons' burthen, on the coast of Africa,

in 1789, and had come in her to this bay, where they com-

menced a traffic with the inhabitants of Cape Elizabeth.

Information having been given to the naval officer of this

port that a foreign vessel was anchored in Cape Cove, he

proceeded thither to seize her, but she put to sea before he

could accomplish his object. Two vessels were then fitted

out from Falmouth, manned by volunteers, which came

up with her and brought her into port on the 28th of

July.

An examination was had before the Supreme Court, then

sitting here, and they were bound over for trial. Subse-

quent to this the jurisdiction of marine causes having been

3rielded to the United States, the trial was had in the Dis-

trict Court held in Falmouth in May, 1790. It was the

first criminal trial which bad taken place in that court, the

court having been oi^nized in 1789, by tho appointment

of David Sewell, District Judge ; Henry Dearborn, Mar-

shal ; William Lithgrow, District Attorney, and Henry

Sewell, Clerk ; and the court had met for the first time in

December, 1789. The prisoners were defended by John
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FrothiQgham and William Symmes, Esqs., and to gratify

public curiosity, which was much excited, the trial was con-

ducted in the meeting-house of the first parish. At the

close of the first day the jury brought in a verdict of guilty

against Bird, but acquitted Hansen, who was a boy only

nineteen years of age. Sentence of death was impressively

pronounced by Judge Sewell, and the Unhappy man was

executed on the 25th of June following. The execution

took place on Bramhall Hill, at the meeting of the roads

from Back Cove and Stroudwater, and was witnessed by

three or four thousand people.

At the July term, 1791, two boys, James Tool and

Francis Hilton, one eighteen and the other sixteen years

of age, were tried for arson, under a charge of having set

fire to the dwelling-house of William Widgery, of New
Gloucester, in the night, by which it was consumed with

all its contents. One of the boys had confessed that they

committed the crime to avenge themselves on Mr. Widgery

for flogging them. They were defended by Chief Justice

Parsons, who procured their acquittal on the ground that

the confession was extorted, and there being no direct evi-

dence against them.

In July, 1798, Jeremiah Pote, of Falmouth, was tried

and convicted of the murder of his wife. The crime was

committed in a fit of jealousy, and he was sentenced to be

executed in August ; but the time was extended to Septem-

ber on account of his sickness. He died in prison before

the time appointed for his execution arrived. He killed bis

wife with a shovel, and was supposed at the time to have

been intoxicated. This man Pote was the son of Gamaliel,

and grandson of William Pote, who was admitted an inhab-

itant of the town in 1728, and built tlie two-story house

near Woodford's Corner, on the old road from Portland, in

which Rev. Mr. Brown lived and died. William came from

Marblehead, and had seven sons, named respectively Wil-

liam, Samuel, Jeremiah, Gamaliel, Elisha, Thomas, and

Greenfield.*

At the United States District Court in June, .1792, a

trial took place against Skinner, et at., for being concerned

in the slave trade. Judgment was rendered against the

defendants for fitting out a ship and importing thirteen

slaves. They were fined two hundred pounds for fitting

out the ship, and fifty pouuds for each of the slaves im-

ported. John May, Esq., of Portland, was prosecutor, who

received half the fine.

In May, 1808, Joseph Drew, of Westbrook, was tried

for the murder of Ebenezer Parker, a deputy sheriff, by

striking him a blow with a club on the head, of which he

died in the course of a week. The court was held in the

meeting-house of the second parish, and, after a- long and

laborious trial, he was convicted and sentenced to be

hung. He was executed on a gallows erected on Munjoy

Hill, July 21, 1808. Drew was a blacksmith, residing at

Saccarappa. Quimby, a debtor, of whom the sheriff was

in pursuit, had concealed himself in Drew's shop. Drew

undertook to resist the process and protect his friend ; in

doing which, the crime was committed which cost him his

life.

• WUlis' History of Portland.

CHAPTER XIII.

PHYSICAL FBATUBES.

TopogTuphical Description of the Coast—Light-Houses—Portland

Harbor—Topography of the Interior—River Basins—Water- Power

—Elevations—Scenery—Scbago Lalce.

A DESCRIPTION of the physical features of Cumberland

County embraces the topography of the coast and islands,

as well as that of the interior. We shall be guided in our

statements respecting the former by the accurate details of

the United States Coast Survey, which furnishes all the

information necessary upon the subject.

TOPOGRArnT OP THE COAST.

The county has a peculiar coast configuration, being situ-

ated upon Casco Bay, which occupies the entire space be-

tween Cape Small Point and Cape Elizabeth, a distance of

seventeen and three-quarters miles. Its eastern headland.

Cape Small Point, is in latitude 43° 42' 7.5" north ; lon-

gitude 69° 49' 54" west. Its western headland, Cape

Elizabeth, is in latitude 48° 33' 53" north; longitude 70°

11' 45" west. Between these two capes the bay extends

up into the land an average distance of about twelve miles.

It is full of islands, and the shore-line of the main land is

very much cut up by rivers and indented by long and deep

coves. The whole number of islands in Casco Bay is one

hundred and thirty-six. Very many are fertile and under

cultivation, and nearly all are inhabited. Nearly every

island lies northeast and southwest, which is the general

course of Casc_p Bay and of all the rivers and coves con-

tained within its limits.

A stranger, bound to Portland, falling in with the eastern

shores of the bay, would recognize Cape Small Point as the

rocky point crowned with fir, but bare of all trees or vege-

tation from its wooded summit to the sea, towards which

it slopes easily and regularly. A bare, rocky islet south of

it is Glover Rock ; the bare bluff-head a little to the west-

ward is Buld Head ; the half-bare and halfwooded islet seen

up in the bay, to the northwestward of Bald Head, is Wood
Island. West of Wood Island, Mark Island will appear,

low, rocky, and crowned with fir. To the westward of Mark

island, a tolerably high, partly wooded island, showing on

its southwestern face a peculiar, white-looking surface, dotted

with scrub-growth, is Ragged Island.

A tall granite light-tower, appearing to rise from the water,

well to the westward of Ragged Island, is Half-Way Rock

Light-House, built on Half-Way Rock as a guide for the

bay to vessels going either to the eastward or westward. It

shows a fixed white light, varied by red flashes. Far to the

westward of Half-Way Rock will appear the high land of

Cape Elizabeth, and on a clear day the light-house may

plainly be seen. Sometimes, but seldom, Portland Head

Light-House is vbible ; but owing to its insufficient height

it is hidden by its background of trees, except when the sun

shines directly upon it.

New Meadows River.—The shores of Casco Bay must

necessaiily be described in detail ; and beginning at Cape

Small Point and proceeding to the westward we come to

the initial point of our county, or rather its eastern shore

boundary, New Meadows River, which opens into the bay
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between Horse Island, on the east, and Candiz Point (the

sontheastern end of Great Island), on tlie west. We enter

this river and proceed up the tide-water to Howard Point,

the head of navigation on its west branch, holding Harps-

well, the most easterntown of oar county, on the left hand.

The most important island in New Meadows River is Se-

bascodegan, or Great Island, the soathem end of which

presents a gently sloping, wooded point, backed by high

lands, thickly settled and under cultivation. This island

forms the western shore of the river, from its mouth to

Foster Point, five miles above. It is split into three low

points. The westernmost, forty feet high, is called West

Cundiz Point ; the middle. East Cundiz Point, and between

the two is a narrow cove, known as Cromwell Cove. The

easternmost point is called Fort Point, and between it and

East Cundiz is Sandy Cove. Two hundred yards south

from East Cundiz Point lies a low, bare islet, called Rogue

Island, quite bold-to on its eastern shore. The true mouth

of New Meadows River lies between this island and Bear

Island, on the eastern shore. It is three-quarters of a mile

wide and perfectly unobstructed.

Long Island lies in a north and south direction along the

eastern shore of Great Island, and is a mile and three-eighths

in length and quite narrow. At high water there is a pas-

sage between liong and Great Islands for light-draught ves-

sels, but it is bare at low water. Long Island is partly cleared

and under cultivation. From Woodward Point northward

the western shores of New Meadows River are undulating,

of moderate height, and present an appearance of cultivated

farm-homes. About a mile above the point is Cusliman's

Wharf, where ship-building was fo'rmefly a considerable

business, but the wharf and ship-yard are now deserted and

&8t falling into decay.

One mile and a quarter above Woodward Point, and

about a quarter of a mile above Cushman's Wharf, the

river divides, the main channel going off to the northeast-

ward, close to the eastern shore, and on the western side a

deep bay. bare at low water, called Middle Bay. Between

Middle Bay and the main channel is a high, round hill,

facing the southern end of the peninsula separating the

two bodies of water. This is Howard Point. Its crest and

part of its sides are wooded, its shore is steep, and at its

southern extremity is built a large stone wharf, for the use

of vessels loading with stone from a large granite quarry,

where formerly considerable business was done. Half a

mile above this the river is spanned by a permanent bridge,

and it is the head of navigation.

Quohog Bay.—Next westward of New Meadows River,

on the coast-line of this county, is Quohog Bay. This bay is

formed by a deep indentation in the southern shore of Great

Island, and is an excellent harbor of refuge, although other-

wise of no commercial importance. The entrance to it for

vessels is between Yarmouth Island on the east, and Long

Point, the southwestern point of Great Island.

Ridley Cove lies between the west shore of Cundiz Point

and Yarmouth Island. It affords excellent anchorage,

being from five to seven fathoms deep in any part of it. It

is nearly a mile long and three-eighths of a mile wide. Tlie

northern side of this cove is bounded by two small islands,

—Great Hew Island and George Island. A small islet

called Bush Island forms the western boundary of a narrow

but available passage, with not less than twenty-one feet of

water, from Ridley Cove to Quohog Bay.

The land to the westward and northward of Long Point

rises very gradually to a height of about eighty feet, and

about a quarter of a mile to the northward a bluff-head

eighty feet high extends into the bay. Behind this to the

northward rise the high lands of Great Island, diversified

with cleared and cultivated slopes, settlements, and thickly-

wooded hills.

The channel west' of Pole Island to Quohog Bay is eight

fathoms deep as far as the north end of the island, and

beyond that not less than four fathoms. The eastern chan-

nel has five fathoms as far as the north end of Pole Island,

and not less than four as far as Central Island.*

The Gurnet is a long and narrow cove contained between

the southern part of Great Island and Orr's Island. There

was formerly a strait or passage between Great Island and

the northeastern end of Orr's Island, but it is now bridged,

and all communication cut off, except for small boats. The

Gurnet is two miles long, half a mile wide at its mouth,

and gradually contracts, until at its head it is not a quarter

of a mile in width. It is of no importance except as a har-

bor of refuge in northerly storms, and little even then, as

vessels prefer to run into Stover Cove or Harpswell Harbor,

or to anchor on the northern end of Bailey Island.

WilVs Straits, leading into Harpswell Sound, are used

as a cut-off for light-draught vessels, fishermen, and yachts.

They are narrow and extremely crooked, but average six

feet at low water. Mackerel Cove, a deep indentation on

the southwestern side of Bailey Island, is also a good tem-

porary harbor, with five or six fathoms at low water. It is

a great resort for fishermen.

Mtrlconeag and Harpswell Sounds.—Next westward of

the Gurnet are Mcriconeag and Harpswell Sounds, which

are formed by an arm of the sea extending in a northeast-

erly direction for seven miles to the mouth of Stover River.

On the east this arm of the sea is bounded by Bailey, Orr's,

and Great Islands, on the west by Haskell Island and a

long peninsula of the main land called Harpswell Neck.

The southernmost part of this body of water is called Meri-

coneag Sound ; the northern part, from Stover Point to

the mouth of Stover River, Harpswell Sound. Upon the

summit of Little Mark Island, a bare and buld rock lying

a few hundred yards southwest of Haskell Island, is built

a square stone obelisk fitly feet high as a guide to vessels

passing through the bay or bound into Harpswell. It is a

conspicuous mark when standing in from sea anywhere be-

tween Cape Small Point and Cape Elizabeth, and is known

as Mark Island Monument. It was formerly painted in

perpendicular black and white stripes, but long exposure to

the weather has bleached the black and obliterated the

white, so that it now has a uniform, dingy-gray color. Its

geographical position is, latitude, 43° 42' 32" N. ; longi-

tude, 70° 1' 53" W.
The southeastern end of Harpswell Neck presents a reg-

ularly sloping hill about one hundred feet high, cleared and

thickly settled. The land is under cultivation, as, indeed,

* United States Cout Survey.
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is most part of the peninsula. On its southern side it sends

off a long, low, rocky point, nearly three-quarters of a mile

long and very narrow, called Potts Point. Between this

and the northern end of Haskell Island is the eastern en-

trance to a most commodious land-locked harbor called

Potts Harbor.

Barptwell Neck is an irregular-shaped peninsula, about

eight miles long, making off from the main land in a south-

west direction between Harpswell Sound on the east and

Middle Bay on the west. Its shores are much indented by

coves, the principal of which are Stover Cove or Harpswell

Harbor, on the east side of the Neck, Clark Cove, Merri-

man Cove, Widgeon Cove, Mill Cove, also on the east side

and of little importance, being nearly bare at low water.

Long Cove, on the northern side of Orr's Island, is about

a mile and a quarter in length, and only about two hundred

yards wide. Its shores are from eighty to one hundred and

twenty feet high, and perfectly sheltered. On the south

side is Lowell Cove, nearly a mile and a half long, and one-

third of a. mile wide at its mouth. It affords good anchor-

age in from three to five fathoms.

Lotiff Beach.—On the northern side of Great Island

there ia a long cove running to the southwestward, two

miles and a quarter, with an average width of five hundred

yards. This is Long Reach, and it nearly cuts Great

Island into two parts. A strip of land seventy-five yards

wide alone separates the head of the reach from another

narrow and irregular-shaped cove, which makes in on the

eastern side of the island abreast of Pole Island, and one

mile and a half above Long Point. Long Reach has thir-

teen feet at low water seven-eighths of a mile from its

mouth.

Broad Sound.—Next to the westward of Mericoneag

Sound is Broad Sound, extending to Middle and Maquoit

Bays, which lie on the western side of Harpswell Neck.

There is no commerce in either of these bays, but vessels

of large size are often built there. Both afford good anchor-

age, with from two to six fathoms at low water. Broad

Sound is bounded on the north by Stockman and Whale-

boat Islands ; on the east by Little Birch, Upper Flag, and

Haskell Islands ; and on the west by Stave, Ministerial,

and Bates Islands, and a group of bare rocks and rocky

islets lying south of Bates Island. The most prominent of

these rocks is called the Brown Cow, or the Brown Cow of

Broad Sound. Eagle Island lies in the middle of the sound.

Middle Bay is contained between the western shore of

Harpswell Neck on the east and a number of islands of

Casco Bay on the west. On the northeast it is bounded by

the main land. The bay extends northeast, is over six miles

long from Whaleboat Isknd to its head, and little over a

mile wide at its mouth, the width gradually diminishing to

half a mile at Scrag Island, where it unites with Mare

Point Bay. The approaches to this bay from the westward

are mainly through Luckse Sound, a wide and good channel

contained between Long Island and Hope Island on the

west, and Crotch Island on the east. The other islands of

this portion of the sound will be described hereafter.

Marquot Bay is included between Mare Point Neck and

the main land. It lies northeast and southwest ; is three

and three-quarters miles long, and about a mile and a quarter

wide at high water in its widest part. At low water the

channel for vessels of six or seven feet draught is not over

seven hundred yards wide, all the rest of the bay being oc-

cupied by flats nearly bare at low water.* The entrance to

this bay is between Mare Point on the east, and a low, bare

point of the main laud, called Little Flying Point, on the

west. There are several islands off the mouth, and the

passage leading to the bay is full of islands. The main land

on the northwest presents the appearance of a hilly country,

the slopes cleared and cultivated, and studded with houses

near the summits, and the whole backed by woodlands cov-

ering the crests of the hills. The land north of the head

of the bay is high, in some places forming hills of one hun-

dred and fifty and two hundred feet in altitude.

FrenpoTt River The entrance to Freeport River lies

between Moore Point on the east, and Stockbridge Point

on the west. Moore Point is the southwestern end of Wolf

Neck. Stockbridge Point is the eastern extremity of a

peninsula or neck oP land making off from the main land on

the western side. Several islands lie off the mouth of the

river, the principal of which are Bibber Island, which

guards the eastern side of the approach, and Great Mosliier

Island, which guards the western side. On the north side

of Flying Point Neck is a large cove, into the northwest-

ern part of which empties Little River, bare at low water

throughout its length, and much of it occupied by salt

meadows. Above Stockbridge Point a large cove opens on

the western side of the river, between the north shore of Sta-

ples Island and the main land.. This is called Staples Cove,

and is bare at low water. The western shores of Staples

Cove are about eighty feet high, and slope gradually. Strout

Point Village lies on the west bank of Freeport River about

five-eighths of a mile above Stockbridge Point. The gen-

eral course of the river is about northeast from Stockbridge

Point to Bartol Island, a distance of a mile and three-

quarters, but the channel is somewhat crooked. The

principal business in Freeport River is the importation of

lumber and ship timber, and the building of vessels.

At Burtol Island the river divides, one branch going to

the northwestward, along the southeastern shores of Bartol,

and the other running nearly north to a village on the west

bank, called Bartol Point Village. This is the head of

navigation.

Inside Fassaye.—There is an inside passage through

Casco Bay, from Portland Harbor to Freeport River, which

is commonly used by coasters when the wind or sea is un-

favorable for an outside passage. This inside passage be-

gins at Hog Island Ledge, upon which the large granite

fort, called Fort Gorges, is situated, and runs in a north-

easterly direction past Hog Island, Clapboard Island, Basket

Island, Little and Great Chebeag Islands, Cousin Island,

and between Great Chebeag and Littlejohn Islands, and

joins the Luckse Sound Channel off Chebeag Point. The
whole distance is nine miles from Breakwater Light to

Chebeag Point. The water is always smooth, and the

channel in most places wide and deep. Fourteen feet is

the least depth at low water between Mackey Island and

Fort Gorges.

* Uoited States Coast Surrey.
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Fogg Point, Cousin and YarmoiUh Rivers.—One mile

and three-eighths west of the entrance to Freoport River is

Fogg Point, the eastern point of the common entrance to

Cousin and Yarmouth Rivers. The entrance here is three-

eighths of a mile wide between Fogg Point and Parker

Point, which forms its western side. The* land between

Staples Point and Fogg Point is low and bare, with wooded

slopes one hundred feet behind it. Fogg Point is one hun-

dred feel high ; large flats extend from it to the southward

aa far as Cousin Island, there being no passage into Yar-

mouth River between Fogg Point and Bkney Point. The

proper channel leads between Sandy Point, the northwest-

em point of Cousin Island, and Srinkwater Point on the

main land.

Cousin River is a narrow creek about three-quarters of

a mile long, and having an average width of one-eighth of

a mile. It is very shoal, having only three feet at mean

low water.

Yarmouth River passes to the westward between Brown "is

and Parker Points, and is a quarter of a mile wide at its

month. Its course is about west for three-quarters of a

mile, and then turns abruptly to the northwest for about a

mile farther, to Yarmouth Falls Village, situated on its west

bank. The channel is extremely narrow, and has but four

feet at mean low water, or about thirteen feet at high water.

The shores are moderately high, varying from twenty to

sixty feet, mostly cleared and cultivated. The approach to

Yarmouth River from Portland, or from the westward,

leads between Clapboard Island and Prince Point on the

main land.

Pi-ince Point is' a low, broad, cleared and settled cape,

except on the summit, which is forty feet high, and occupied

by groves of trees. Behind it, to the northward, the land

gradually rises to one hundred feet above high-water mark,

and exhibits some ofthe finest farming lands in this vicinity

under a high state of cultivation. Prince Point is seven-

eighths of a mile west of Clapboard Island, and a mile and a

half nbrthwest of Mackey Island.

On the north side of Prince Point, a small cove, bare at

low water, makes in about a quarter of a mile. Its northern

point' of entrance is Bartlett's Point, which has on its

northern side a larger cove, called Mussel Cove. From this

the shore takes a general northeasterly course two miles, to

the entrance to Broad Cove. Three-quarters of a mile

northeast of Bartlett's Point is a small creek or cove called

York Landing, and one mile and one-eighth above this is

Foster's Landing.

Huttey Sound runs between Peak's Island and Long

Island. It has a deep, unobstructed channel, but in easterly

and southerly winds there is a very ugly chopping sea, so

that vessels bound to the eastward usually avoid it by pass-

ing along the western shore of Long Island, through the

inside passage.

MatUh of the Pretumpseol.—The point of entrance to the

Presumpspot River on the west is marked by Martin Point,

•^a long, narrow projection about sixty feet high, fringed

with woods on its eastern end, and having upon its summit

the large square building used as the United States Marine

Hospital. Mackey Point is situated about six hundred and

fifty yards northeast of it, and forms the eastern boundary to

the entrance from the bay. This point is about twenty feet

high, and is cleared and settled. A drawbridge across the

mouth of the Presumpscot River connects the two points.

Above this, the river extends in a northerly direction to the

village of Falmouth Corner, about two miles distant. Half

a mile above Martin Point on the western shore of the

river are situated the-Casco Iron Works. This is as far as

navigation for vessets usually extends, the principal trade

being between this place and Portland.

Portland Harhor.—The city of Portland, which is the

principal maritime port of the State of Maine, lies in lati-

tude 43° 39' north, and longitude 70° 15' west. The

harbor is one of the best on the coast. It is naturally di-

vided into an Inner and an Outer Harbor. The latter is

contained between a line joining Mackey and Great Hog

Island on the northeast, Peaks Island on the cast, House

Island on the south, and the shores of Cape Elizabeth, from

Spring Point to the breakwater, on the west.

Hog Island Roads, properly so called, are contained be-

tween Little Hog Island, Peaks, and House Island.

The Inner Harbor is formed by the waters of Fore

River, which is an arm of the bay, running in a southwest-

by-west direction between the peninsula upon which the

city is built and the north shore of Cape Elizabeth. A
bridge crossing the river, one mile and a quarter to the west-

ward of the breakwater, forms the western boundary of

the harbor. This bridge is called Portland Bridge, and

connects the city with Cape Elizabeth. The Inner Harbor

is a mile and a quarter long iq a northeast and southwest

direction, and at average high tide is about eleven hundred

yards wide. At mean low water this is reduced to a width

of about a thousand yards.

The northeastern end of the city of Portland is built

upon a high hill, called Munjoy Hill, the summit of which

is one hundred and forty feet above sea level. On this hill

stands Munjoy Observatory, a very prominent red tower,

from which marine intelligence, such as the arrival of ves-

sels, etc., is signaled. The breakwater, solidly built of

granite, extends o£F from the extreme northern point of

Cape Elizabeth in a northeast direction six hundred and

fifty yards, and upon its extremity is built a lone tower, or

Bug Light- Bouse, which shows a fixed red light as a guide

to vessels, to enable them to avoid Standiford Ledge, on

part of which the breakwater is built. This light-house is

called Breakwater Light. The light is red until past the

breakwater, bound in, and then shows a faint red approach-

ing to white, and so appears from the anchorage in the

harbor.

Vessels bound to Portland from the eastward, and in-

tending to pass through the bay, leave Seguin Island a mile

and a half, and Cape Small Point about two miles to the

northward, and steer W. \ N. for Portland Head Light.

When off the cape a gray tower will be seen (if the weather

be clear) bearing W. i N., and distant about nine miles.

This is Half-Way Rock Light-House, and will appear, until

within two or three miles of it, as if standing in the water.

It is built upon Half-Way Rock, which is a bare, rocky

islet, about sixteen feet high, situated in Casco Bay, seven

miles and three-quarters E. \ N. from Portland Head Ltght-

House, and nine miles E. N. E. from Cape Elizabeth Light-
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House. The light-house is a granite tower, sixty-six feet

in height, which shows a fixed white light, varied by red

flashes once every minute, from a height of eighty feet

above sea level. The light is of the third order of Fresnel,

and visible in ordinary weather fifteen nautical miles. The

geographical position of the light-tower is latitude 43° 39*

21" north, longitude 70° 02' 13" west.

Portland Head Light-House is built upon Portland Head,

a prominent headland of Cape Elizabeth, three miles and a

half above the pitch of the cape. It is a white tower,

sixty-nine feet high, and shows a fixed white light from an

elevation of one hundred and one feet above sea level. This

light is of the second order of Fresnel, and is visible in

ordinary weather fifteen nautical miles. Close by the light-

house appears a pyramidal structure painted white, and

about thirty feet high, standing at the base of the light-

tower. This is the bell-tower, and contains the fog-bell and

machinery for striking it. There is also another fog-signal,

a second-class DaboU's air-trumpet, giving blasts of eight

seconds at intervals of forty seconds. It is placed in a

building adjacent to the bell-tower. The keeper's dwelling,

which is a white stone building, is connected with the

light-house by a wooden porch. Portland Head Light-

Houae is in latitude 43° 37' 42" north, longitude 70° 1
2'

29" west.

Cape Elizabeth Lights are two towers to the southward

of Portland Head, They stand three hundred yards apart

on a line northeast-by-east and soathwest-by-west, on the

pitch of the cape. The eastern tower (called East Light)

is of stone, striped white and red, there being four broad

red horizontal stripes. It shows a fixed white light of the

second order of Fresnel, from a height of one hundred and

forty-three feet above sea level. The keeper's dwelling is

a whitewashed stone building, connected with the tower by

a wooden walk. The Western Light-House is a white stone

tower, with one vertical stripe on its seaward face, showing

a revolving white light of the second order from a height

of one hundred and forty-three feet above sea level, and

has also a keeper's dwelling connected with it by a wooden

porch. Both towers are fifty-three feet high. In foggy

weather a steam-whistle, ten inches in diameter, gives warn-

ing by two blasts of five seconds each, with an interval of

eight seconds between them, and then a pause of forty-two

seconds every minute.

Back Cove.—On the north side of the city of Portland,

between it and the main land, is a large, nearly circular cove,

called Back Cove. It is nearly all dry at low water ; but

a narrow passage leads to the southward along the eastern

side of tlie cove to a lai^ pier covered with warehouses,

situated on the north side of Portland Peninsula, and on

the south shore of the cove. The entrance to Back Cove

is crossed by two bridges. The easternmost is a railroad

bridge ; the other, which is a quarter of a mile to the west-

ward, is called Tukey Bridge. Both have draws. The

passage for vessels to this cove is well marked by buoys, and

twenty feet at low water can be taken as far up as the

bridge.

Cape Ulizahelli.—The shore-line of Cape Elizabeth, like

that of most of the coast which we have thus far examined,

is much indented by coves, the principal of which, begin-

ning at the pitch of the cape, are Broad Cove, Zeb Cove,

Pond Cove, Ship Cove, and Simonton, sometimes called

Gurry Cove. Broad Cove is about three-quarters of a mile

above. Dyer Point, which b the north point of the pitch of

Cape Elizabeth ; Zeb Cove is a mile and a quarter above

Broad Cove ; Pond Cove is a mile below Portland Head

;

Ship Cove is a small indentation making in on the north

side of the head ; Simonton, or Gurry Cove, is a mile and

a half above the head, and just below Spring Point, on

which is built Fort Preble. This structure is a large gran-

ite fort, surmounted by heavy sod traverses, and, with its

barracks and officers' quarters, presents a picturesque and

impasing appearance. Opposite Fort Preble is House

Island, containing an old square fortification called Fort

Scammel.

The southern extremity of Cape Elizabeth is a somewhat

precipitous bluff, called High Head, and is three-cighth.s of

a mile south of the light-house. The south shores of the

cape take a westerly direction from High Head to a grassy,

sloping point called McKinney Point. From this point the

shore-line turns abruptly to the northward, and, sweeping

gradually round to the west and southwest, forms a large

semicircular cove a mile and a quarter wide. The name

usually given to it is Seal Cove. It is rarely ever used as

a harbor, but its eastern shore is quite a noted place of sum-

mer resort, a large hotel hnving been built there.

Richmond Isfaml.—The western point of the cove, which

is low and sandy, is connected at extreme low tide by. a

sand-bar with Richmond Island, which lies south-southeast

of it about eight hundred yards. This island is of a moderate

height, bare of trees, with the exception of a very small

grove near the summit, about a mile long and eight hun-

dred yards wide in its widest part. Its eastern extremity is

called East Point, and is one mile southwest of High Head.

The island has upon it a house und out-buildings.

The harbor of Richmond Island is on the north side,

between it and the southern shove of Cape Elizabeth, and

is a mile in length, measuring from east to west, by about

three-quarters of a mile in width. It has but few obstruc-

tions to navigation, and may be safely entered at all t>mcs.

To the south of Richmond Island, and between it and the

main land, lie the small islets, Stephen's Rock and the Sis-

ters; and west of the sand-bar, about the same distance from

the main land, lie the group called Ram Island, the Brothers,

and Chimney Rock. These, with Watt's Ledge and West

Ledge, constitute the chief dangers to the passage into

Richmond Island harbor.

Spunoink River.—Passing westward along the main

shore, wo come next to the mouth of the Spurwink River,

which is a deep indentation, or arm of the sea, several miles

in length. This river, being of no importance to naviga-

tion, has been overlooked in the coast survey. The entrance

to the Spurwink is bounded on the east by Surwick Poiut,

and on th6 west by a small point at the upper end of Hig.

gins Beach. The width of the river at its mouth is about

three-fourths of a mile, and its length to the head of tide-

water about two miles. The coast westward from the

mouth of the Spurwink is sandy, and is known as Scar-

borough Beach.

Prout Neck.—The last prominent feature of the coast-
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line of this county, as we complete our iospection of it

westward, is the eastern headland of Saco Bay, known as

Prout or Libbys Neck. This is a peninsula or neck of

land extending in a southerly direction into the ocean. . It is

three miles west of Richmond Island, and a little over fire

miles from Cape Elisabeth. The land is low, and the cen>

tre of the neck is occupied by a thick grove of spruce and

fir, the rest of the surface being dotted thinly with various

kinds of trees. Seen from the westward, one or two houses

and some cleared land show on its western shore.

On the western side of this neck enters Dnnstan or New
River, a small, shallow stream of no commercial importance,

and nearly dry at low water. Its shores are low and sandy,

with a thin growth of spruce and pine and other trees scat-

tered along their length. Several branches enter this river

above tide-water. Its month, between I^ne Point and

Ferry Rock, is quite narrow, resembling the neck of a

bottle. Its chief affluents near the coast are the Nonesuch

and Libby Rivers.

TOPOaBAPHT OF THE INTEEIOB.

The general topographical features of the interior of the

county are marked by no great hills or mountains, the highest

elevations being those northwest of the bed of Sebago Lake,

in Bridgton and on the county line. Tim longest distance

across the county from north to south—from Prout's Neck,

the southern extreme of Scarborough, to the northern limit

of the town of Harrison—is about forty miles. The great-

eat distance east and west is from the northeastern line of

Brunswick to the west line of Baldwin, on the Saco River,

and is about thirty-nine miles. These are the extreme

points. The average width of the county is about twenty

miles, and its average length, from southeast to northwest,

about thirty-six miles. It has, therefore, an approximate

area of about seven hundred and twenty square miles, or,

including the islands, capes, etc., about eight hundred

square miles.

BlVZa BASINS, BITEBS, AND WATEB-FOWEB.

Cumberland County has several important river systems,

which are included wholly or partly within its limits.

These are the Androscoggin, the Presumpscot, the Royal,

the Nonesuch, and the Saco. The importance of these in

a manufacturing point of view leads us to consider them

somewhat at large in this chapter.

The Androtcoggin River, which forms a portion of the

northern boundary of the county, has an extensive drain-

age area occupying the region of country between the

ocean and the northerly outposts of the White Mountains.

In its southern portion it is separated from the Saco basin

by the hydrographio arot of the Presumpscot and Royal

Rivera, but in its northern portion is conterminous with

it The basin of this river, from the ocean to its extreme

sources, is one hundred and ten miles ; its greatest breadth,

from Randolph, N. H., to Fayette, Me., is seventy miles;

its dimensions in Maine are two thousand seven hundred

and fifty square miles; in New Hampshire, about eight

hundred and fifty; making a total of three thousand six

hundred square miles.

Its elevation is considerably greater than that of any

other hydraulic district in the State, its northern portion

being uplifted upon the outlying highlands of the White

Mountains. Nearly the whole of its area is located above

the lowest mill-privil^es, and contributes to the immense

water-power of the main river; The following table will

show some of the principal elevations above tide, although

the points being situated mainly upon the river and upon

railroads, io not show the height of portions of the sur-

rounding country

:

Loailltlea. Taet

Daorille Junction ISO
AabornSUtion 210
Lewiston „.. 2 12

Eaat Livermore -300

Sonth P»ria.„ 370
Locke's Mills Station 710

Bead Bmnford Falls 600
'Bethel Station 640

Androscoggfin at Bethel.... 620
While's Corners ..„ 639
Monnt Pleasant Rirer 632
Leeds Station _ 260

Localities. Feet.

Mechanic Falls 270
Oxford Station^ 310
Qilead 7U0

Stele Line (Q. T. crossing) 680
Oorbam Station ( N. H.) 802
Head uf Berlin Falls (N. H.) 1048

Head Androsooggin Rirer- 3000
Northeast head Magallowa}'

Rirer„ 2640
Northwest head Magallo-
way River 2917

Umbagog Lakes 1511

The Androscoggin proper takes its origin and its name

only from the point of confluence of the Magalloway and

Umbagog Lake waters. Its length is 157 miles. It is fed

by 83 principal lakes and ponds, whose a^regate surface

measures 156.25 sqnare miles. It is estimated that this

river, after deducting one-fourth for evaporation and infil-

tration on its way to tide-water, in its total descent of 1256

feet, will yield a gross power of 200,000 horse, for eleven

hours a day, 312 days in the year.

The only water-power on this river within the limits of

Cumberland County is that at Brunswick, or " Pejopscot

Falls," at the bead of tide-water. The total height of the

fall at this point is 40.83 feet above mean high tide, with

a horizontal distance of 1980 feet. The fall can be in-

creased to 55 feet by raising the upper dam, involving a

comparatively small damage from fiowage, the land on

both sides of the river fur eight miles, to Little River vil-

lage, being mostly high. The rock composing the falls con-

-sists of coarse graphic granite and gneiss. Upon the

middle fall, the rock projects considerably above the water

at many points, serving a.s a natural abutment to the several

sections of the dam. The lower fall is divided about mid-

way by Shad Island, on which mills were formerly built.

There are three pitches, the lowest having a vertical descent

of 15.49 feet, the middle 14.04, and the upper 11.30.

The volume of water available for manufacturing at

Brunswick has been carefully estimated at 125,000 cubic

feet per minute for eleven hours per day at extreme low

run in dry seasons. Tliis is an amount equal to 9676

horse-power, or 397,000 spindles. By raising the dam to

55 feet, it would give a gross power of 12,980 horse, or

519,200 spindles.

The advantages for building manufactories are unsur-

passed on both sides of the river, afibrding ample accommo-

dations for a large manufacturing city. On the Brunswick

side below the village, the ground lies in three extensive

levels of such height and form as to admit of improvement

without grading, and there would be little rock excavations

required in admitting the water to any amount of machinery.

The privil^e is owned by about fifteen proprietors resident

in the vicinity. The proportion of the power now used is

very insignificant, although there is a fine cotton-mill located
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on the middle dam on the Brunswick side, of twenty-five

thoosand spindles, which employs five hundred hands in

the manufacture of fine and coarse sheeting and drills, two

flour-Qiills, and two saw-mills. It is not our purpose,

however, to mention the manufactories in this chapter

;

particulars with reference to these will be found in the

town histories.

Basin of Presiimpseot.—This may be described as lying

between the Saco and the southern part of the Androscog-

gin basins. So far as hydraulic facilities are concerned, it

is the most important basin in the connty. It is highly

elongated, and diminishes in breadth at its head, its greatest

length being filly-two miles, its area five hundred and

twenty square miles.

The streams setting, irom the immediate vicinity of the

northern part of thisbasin, north towards the Androscoggin

at Bethel, and east into Greenwood, have, at their point of

discbarge, a height of about six and seven hundred feet,

respectively, above sea level Songo Pond occupies, of

course, one of the lowest points, is two feet higher than the

Androscoggin near the mouth of Pleasant River (as shown

by the canal surveys), or about six hundred and thirty feet.

Sebago Lake, midway of the basin, has usually been esti-

mated at two hundred and eighty feet above tide, but has

been found by J. F. Andcnon, chief engineer of the Port-

land and Ogdensburg Railroad, to be two hundred und sixty-

seven feet above mean low water in Portland Harbor ; so

that as a whole the district is considerably elevated, and the

fall of its surplus waters correspondingly large.

We give, in this connection, the table of elevations at

different points along the Portland and Ogdensburg Rail-

road within the bounds of this county, as furnished by

Mr. Anderson, upon a base of mean low water as estublished

by engineers of the United States Coast Survey, the initial

point of distances being the west end of the Portland and

Kennebec Railroad Company's freight-house in Portland :

LocHlitiM. DIat
mileti.

Croi'sing of rolling-mills trnok in Portland 1

CroMing of Portland and Rochester Rnilroad track in

Weatbrook 5-4

CroFBJng of highway at Gomberland Mills in Wesi broiik b.i

Ice-Burfoce of Presumpscot River above Cumberland
Mills

'. 5.64

Ice-surfuce of Presumpsoot River at mouth of Ink-

Hom Brook, Windham 7.33

Ice-surface of Presumpsoot River at mouth of Colby

Wright Brook, Windham 9.7

Highway ot Malliwn Falls of Presumpsoot River,

WiDdham ' l"

Highway at Little Falls of Presumpscot River, Wind-
ham 11

loe-snrfaoe of Presnmpscot River at mouth of Black

Brook, Windham 11-1

Highway at Oambo (Oriental Powder Company),

Windham 12

Ice-surface of Presumpscot Crossing above Uambo,

Windham •.- 12.8

Crossing of highway and water-supply pipe, White

Bock Station, Oorham 13.5

Ice-surfoco of Long Olter Pond, Standieh 16

Natural snrface of drift formation around and between

Otter Ponds, Standish 15.17

Ice-surface of Half-Moon Otter Pond, Standish 16.1

Ice-surface of Sebago Lake, six hundred feet from

shore, Standish 17

Highway Crossing at Riohville (plains), Standish 20

Surface of Richville Pond, Standish 21

Divide between Sebngo Lake and Saco River, Standish 22

Highway at Steep Falls of Saco River, Stnndish 21.5

Surface of Quaker Brook (outlet of Dyer Pond, Bald-

win) ;
26

Highway orosting on plains at£a<t Baldwin 26.3

Height
fwt.

22.5

75
72

43

74

76

112

137

113

163

134

214
253

303
260

267
319
284
348
309

263
316

Localities. Dint. Height
Ditles. feet.

Highway crossing, Baldwin 30 324

Surface of Saco River at the mouth of the Ossipee,

Baldwin 32 270

Surface of Dug-Hill Brook, Baldwin.- 32.8 294

Surface of Break-Nrck Brook, Baldwin 34 326

Snrface of Ingalls' Pnnd, near the head of Oreat Falls

of Saco River, Baldwin.... 35.4 352

Snrface of Saco River crossing Hiram and Baldwin
line 36.1 .352

Surfaoe of Saco River, freshet of 1870 360 .

Snrface of Saco River, freshet of 1814 364

To the above may be added the heights in several other

localities, taken from the " Water-Power of Moine," the

elevations being given above high water at Portland, which

we change to mean low water (a difference of nine feet) to

correspond with the above :

Feet.

Turtle Pond, AVindham. 291

Saturday Pond, OtisHeld 513

Divide betwei n Presumpscot and Androscoggin 673

Horsebeef Falls 92

Boudy's Tavern, Windham 288

Oorham nnd Buxton Boundary 183

Parker Pond _ 417

Oumberlond Station 55

Falmouth Station 23

Oprbam Station .-. 211

Pond north of Saccarappa 61

The course of the Presumpscot River is very nearly south-

east, and, regarded as continued in Crooked River, remark-

ably direct, or free from extensive windings from its source

to its mouth, so that its drainage area is very long in pro-

portion to its breadth. But the main stream above Sebago

Lake is to an extraordinary degree diversified with local

and minute sinuosities, which parallel fully the eccentricities

of course of the celebrated river of the east, Meander. The

Presumpscot proper, from Sebago Lake to tide-water, by

the course of the river, is only about twenty-two miles long.

Crooked River is estimated at forty-two miles long, follow-

ing the course of its windings. The annual receipt of

moisture in its valley is estimated in cubic feet fifty-one

billions, and its yearly discharge of waters is twenty billions

four hundred millions cubic feet. The variations in volume,

even in a state of nature, would be comparatively small in

the Presumpscot proper, owing to the great extent and com-

pensating influence of the grand reservoir at its head. But

in addition to this, the natural uniformity of the stream is

assisted by the aitificiul control of the delivery of the lake,

so that for the practical purposes of extensive manufactur-

ing it is constant throughout the year. The volume em-

ployed at Cumberland Mills, estimated from the statement

of George W. Hammond, Esq., is about fifty thousand

cubic feet per minute. This run continued throughout the

working days of the year for ten hours a day would carry

off about ninety-fire billions cable feet. The range from

lowest to highest water is found to be, on the several dams

in Westbrook, from four to five feet, at the Outlet dam four

to five feet. The descent of the river from the lake to tide

—two hundred and forty-seven feet in twenty-two miles—is

at the mean rate of 11.2 feet per mile, or 7'.3 circular meas-

urement.

From the sea to Sebago Lake the basin of the Presump-

scot is underlaid chiefly with mica schist; the river itself,

however, for nearly half the distance flows in a narrow belt

of gneiss. Around and above Sebago Lake granite prevails

exclusively. Excellent building stone is abundant in all



HISTORY OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

parts. The southern portioa of the basin is andulating,

moderately hilly ; the northern rugged and mountainous.

The surface materials predominating are sandy and gravelly.

The southern part has been pretty thoroughly cleared of

forests, while the northern is still in many places heavily

wooded.

The affluents of the Presumpscot are important only as

connecting the river with several of its reservoirs and as

furnishing sites for many small water-powers. The total

number of lakes in this basin-system is forty-five, whose

combined area is ninety-seven square miles, or one square

mile of lake surface to each five and three- tenths square

miles of (he basin. The lakes average two and one-tenth

square miles in surface. The following table will show

the principal reservoirs for water-power of the Presump-

scot River, the areas being given approximately in square

miles:

Sebitgo Lnke 50.00

Triokey Bond _ 0.75

Peab'Mly " _ 1.50

Brandy '.' 1.25

Long " _ 12.00

Pleasant " 2.25

Panther's " 2.75

Kattlesnake, two panda.... 2.75 -

Little Sebago Pond 5.00

Crotchcd Pond -. 2.75

Adams " 0.30

Holt's Pond- 0.30

Steams " _ 1.00

Anonymoos Pond 0.75~
1.50

1.15

1.00

0.75
0.75

0.85

Woods
Thomas " „
Lon^ Pond, Waterlbrd..
Bear Pond..
Moose "

Sodgo
Stone, two ponds.- 1.10

Twenty-three ponds, 90.45 square miles.

There is a dam eight feet high at the outlet of Sebago

Luke, by which a head of four feet is now commanded over

the whole surface. It is capable of being rjised four feet

more without incurring more than very trifling damages

for flowage. A head of six feet, giving a volume of

8,363,520,000 cubic feet, would supply 44,600 cubic feet

per minute for the ordinary working hours of the year.

This (the storage alone, be it observed) would yield on a

fall of 20 feet—as at Cumberland Mills—a gross power of

1688 horse ibr the time specified. It would yield in its

fall of 247 feet to the tide a gross power of 20,846 horse,

—833,840 spindles throughout the year. To this requires

to be added the natural low-mn volume of the river to

arrive at the constant aggregate of its manufacturing power

from Sebago Lake to the sea.

W. H. Jackson, Esq
,
president of the Oriental Powder

Company, wrote for the " Water-Powerof Maine," in 1871

:

"I have run water at Westcott's Falls, where the lake

waters enter the river, for thirty-two days, through four

gates four feet square each, and one six feet square, under

a ten-foot head, with a flow four feet deep over the dam

eighty feet long, and even then have not succeeded in pre-

venting the water from rising six to nine inches above the

four-foot head on the dam, which is all the dam will now

safely carry.'' These figures indicate an enormous waste

of water, much the greater part of which, with a sufficient

dam, could be reserved for manufacturing purposes.

The water of Sebago Lake is shown by analysis to ap-

proach as near to absolute purity as any mass of water of

large volume in the world, so far as known. It is, there-

fore, particularly adapted to use in chemical and bleaching

works, as well as to the purpose of supplying the city of

Portland with an abundance of pure and wholesome water.

(See Portland Water-Works.)

Royal, Nonesuch, and Stroudwaler Rivert.—That por-

tion of the county drained by the Royal River and its

branches is situated between the southern points of the

Presumpscot and Androscoggin basins. It is about twenty-

on^ miles long by twelve broad, and contains an area of one

hundred and seventy square miles. The surface is undu-

lating or moderately hilly, but in no place attains to a very

great elevation. The following are some of the heights at

different points

:

Local itl>4. Feet.

New Oloacester Station 100
Pownal Station 120

North Yarmouth Station .... 95

Yarmouth Junction 75

LocslitlM. Feet.

Summit, Yarmouth k Cum-
berland, Qrond Trunk
Railroad 113

The surface materials of this section are chiefly loam and

clay. More than one-fourth of the surface is wooded.

Gneiss underlies the southern part of the babiu ; mica schist

the northern three-fourths. The Royal is the principal

stream of this section, and is twenty-eight miles in length,

including its chief windings. The total number of streams

represented on the map is thirty-eight. There are six small

ponds. The range from lowest to highest water is six feet

at Yarmouth. The annual rainfall is about 16,500,000,000

cubic feet, of which about 6,000,000,000 are discharged

by the rivers. Large artificial reservoirs have been con-

structed at the head of the main river.

The Nonesuch and Stroudwater Rivers drain a tract of

about one hundred and twenty-five square miles south of

the Presumpscot basin. Two small ponds appear in this

basin. The estimated, discharge of waters is 4,800,000,000.

Lake Sebago.—The scenery about this lake has been

made classic by Whittier and Longfellow. The former, in

his " Funeral Trio of the So Ko Kis,'' says,

—

"Around Sebago's lonely lake

There lingers not a breeze to break

The mirror which its waters make.

" The solemn pines along its shore,

The firs which bang its gray rocks o'er.

Are painted on its glasiy shore.

" The son looked o'er with hazy eye,

The snowy monntain-tops which lie

Piled coldly up against the sky."

The " solemn pines" are not so abundant now, nor the

" firs which hang its gray rocks o'er."

The Songo River is but two and a half miles in a straight

line, yet in passing up it one must sail six miles and make

twenty-seven turns round its tortuous course. Its peculiar

sinuosity is well described by Longfellow in the following

lines:

" Nowhere such a derions stream,

Sare in fancy or in dream.

Winding alow through bnsh and brake,

Links together lake and lake.

" Walled with woods or sandy shelf,
*

Ever doubling on itself,

Flows the stream, so still and slow,

That it hardly seems to flow.

" Nerer errant-knight of old,

Lost on woodland or on wold,

Such a winding path pursued

Through the sylvan salitado.
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" Tn the mirror of its tide

Tangled thicket on each side

Hang united, and between

Floating cloud of eky serene."

The water is clear and deep, aod mirrors with perfect

accuracy the forest and foliage upon its banks.

Near the foot of the lake on the east side is the curious

mass of rock called the " Images," rising nearly seventy

feet perpendicularly, and then sloping in jagged and fanci-

ful shapes for a distance of about thirty feet more. In

these rocks, at the water's edge, is an opening four feet by

six, and about twenty-five feet in extent into the ledge, called

the " Cave," which has a peculiar interest, from the fact

that it was a favorite boyhood resort of Nathaniel Haw-

thorne, who was wont to sail in it in his tiny fishing-boat.

The early home of the great novelist was but a short

distance to the northeast of this spot.

The scenery to the north and west is somewhat rugged

and mountainous. The principal mountain on the west is

Saddleback Mountain, in Baldwin ; on the east. Peaked

Mountain ; and on the north, Mount Kearsarge and the

White Mountain range.

Mount Pleasant, an hour's ride from Bridgton Landing,

is quite a place of summer resort. The road winds amidst

romantic scenery about two miles to the summit, which,

when attained, commands a prospect of about three hundred

miles.

Looking eastward, we perceive at our feet Moose Pond,

and farther on Wood's Pond, Highland Lake, Bridgton

Centre, North Bridgton, and South Bridgton villages, Long

Lake, which resembles some majestic river, and the Bay of

Naples ; and the Harrison and Otisfield hills, beyond which

the distinctive features of the landscape are lost in the

horizon haze. Southward, we behold Saddleback Mountain,

in Baldwin ; Mount Cutler, in Hiram ; and Lake Sebago,

the queen of these inland seas, beyond which we may dis-

cern Portland, and catch the silver gleam of the Atlantic.

In the west is Brownfield, where is seen at certain hours of

the day a faint pennon of smoke following the whirl of the

iron horse through field and forest ; and in its range old

Ossipee, on the shores of Winnipiseogee,—that " most ex-

quisite jewel in the necklace of New England." In the

northwest are seen the Saco River and its lovely valley,

Lovewell's Pond, on whose shores occurred Lovewell's

famous Indian fight in 1725, Round and Pleasant Ponds,

Kezar Pond and River, Jockey Cap, Oak Hill, and Frye-

burg village, the four-toothed summit of Chocorua, and

farther north the tall, isolated, cone-shaped Kearsarge, near

North Conway,—the view bounded in that direction by

the White Mountain range, capped by the sharp dome of

Mount Washington. In the northeast are the pretty vil-

lages of Waterford, near Bear and Hawk Mountains ; and

Norway and Paris Hill may be descried. Some fifty lakes

and ponds may be distinctly seen from the summit by the

naked eye, and the view far surpasses that offered from

Mount Washington, being unobstructed by clouds and

neighboring mountains, and rich in all the varied charac-

teristics of the beautiful, the sublime, and the pictur-

esque.

10

CHAPTER XIV.

INTERNAIi IMPBOVEMENTS.

Post-offloea and Mails—Public Conveyances—Early Roads—Cumber-

land and Oxford Canal—Railroads.

POST-OFFICES AND MAILS.

It was not until the year 1760, the date of the forma-

tion of Cumberland County, that a weekly mail was deliv-

ered farther east than Portsmouth. Before that time letters

were allowed to accumulate till there was a sufficient num-

ber to pay the expense of sending them forward to their

destination, which, of course, as lettere came in slowly,

often delayed their delivery for a considerable length of

time. The only sure method of sending important news

was by a-dispatch or courier-sent especially upon the errand.

The benefit of the English mail system, which was first

regulated in that country by act of parliament in 1660,

was not extended to North America till 1710, when a gen-

eral post-office was established in London for all the British

dominions, under one director called a Postmaster-General,

who had letter offices at Edinburgh, Dublin, New York,

and other convenient places. The deputy Postmaster-Gen-

eral for the colonies was to reside at New York. In 1774,

by the good management of Dr. Franklin, deputy Postmas-

ter-General, the post-office in America had been made to

produce clear to Great Britain three thousand pounds an-

nually. In 1680 Massachusetts appointed John Haywood

postmaster of the whole colony, as previous to that time

letters had been thrown on the exchange in Boston, so that

anybody might take them, and many had thus been lost.

In 1689, Richard Wilkins was appointed postmaster by the

General Court " to receive all letters, and to deliver out tlie

same, and to receive on each one penny." In New Hamp-

shire a post-office was established by the colony at Ports-

mouth in 1693. A line was extended from this point to

Falmouth some time before the Revolution, and an office

was kept by Thomas Child in King Street, though the

date of its establishment or the rate of postage is not known.

Mr. Willis says, " In an old book of Mr. Child's I find

Arthur Savage, under date of Nov. 11, 1766, charged with

the postage of three single letters to Boston, eight pounds,

which is two pounds thirteen shillings four pence for each,

and several other charges of two pounds sixteen shillings

for a letter to Boston or from it."*

The Provincial Congress of Massachusetts, immediately

upon the separation from England, deemed it of importance

to establish lines of communication throughout the colony,

and for this purpose they established a general post-office at

Cambridge in May, 1775, and appointed post-riders upon

the principal routes in the province. These extended as

far east as Georgetown, in this State. Joseph Barnard

carried the mail on horseback between Portsmouth and

Falmouth. There were but three post-offices established

in Maine, one of which was at Kennebunk, kept by Na-

thaniel Kimball, another in Falmouth, kept by Samuel

Freeman, and the third at Georgetown, of which John

Wood was postmaster. The rates of postage fixed at this

» Hist. Portland, p. 192, note.
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period were, fur a distaace not exceeding sixty miles, five

pence one quarter ; from sixty to one hundred miles, eight

pence ; from one to two hundred miles, ten pence two

quarters', from two to three hundred miles, one shilling

one peony. The first post-rider under this arrangement

arrived at Falmouth on Saturday, June 10, 1775. He
continued to cany the mail till October 7th of that year,

the number of letters not exceeding four or five a week.

The General Congress, perceiving the benefit to be de-

rived from a uniform mail establishment throughout the

colonies, assumed the charge of it in July, 1775, and es-

tablished a r^nlar line of posts from Falmouth (now Port-

land), in Maine, to Savannah, Greorgia. Benjamin Frank-

lin was placed at the head of the department, and the first

mail under this system arrived in Falmouth Oct. 7, 1775.

At this period there was bat one line on the whole of this

distance, and as late as 1790 but seventy-four post-offices in

the United States. In 1783 the whole number of letters

sent from the Portland office was fifty-seven ; after this

time they increased rapidly, and amounted in 1785 to sev-

eral hundred. In 1786 the mail was for the first time in

the United States begun to be carried in coaches,—from

Portsmouth, N. H., to Savannah,—^under an act of Con-

gress passed in September, 1785. The advantages of this

new arrangement were not extended into Maine till 1787.

In September, 1786, the Postmaster-General was directed

to enter into " contracts for the conveyance of the mail hy

stage carriages if practicable, for one year from January

next, from Portland to Savannah." This arrangement was'

carried into effect by the enterprise and great exertions of

the old post-rider, Joseph Barnard, who put upon the road

a wagon drawn by two horses in January, 1787. This was

the first attempt to carry passengers in the State of Maine.

It was thought a great enterprise, and Mr. Barnard was

loudly applauded for his zeal and energy. The mail-wagon

lef^ Portsmouth in the morning, reached Kcnnebunk the

first day. Broad's tavern, in Westbrook, the second day,

and arrived at Portland on the morning of the third day.*

It will seem incredible to the present generation that the

immense mail establishment of the United States, with the

innumerable and splendid advantage of mail and passenger

transportation, could have advanced in so short a period from

such humble b^nnings. In 1832 the United States mail

was transported in stages 16,222,743 miles ; in steamboats,

499,301; on horseback and in sulkies, 6,902,977 miles.

The number of post-offices in the same year was 9205, and

the revenue of the department $2,258,570.

It would seem that staging began in the United States

only six years later than in England. In 1828 the Lord

Mayor of London said, " I remember that in 1780 the

first stage-coach was established between London and Maid-

* The following vru Baniard'a first adrertiBemeat :
" Joseph Bar-

Qard, atage proprietor, informs the pablic that the Portland Mtiil

Stage seta off from Mr. Motley's tarern, in this town, every Saturday

morning, arrires on Monday at Portsmouth, where he meets the Bos-

ton stage ; leares Portsmouth on Toesday, and arrives in Portland on

Thnraday. Those Ladiee and Gentlemen who choose this expeditious,

oheap, and commodions way of stage traveling will please to lodge

iheir names with Mr. Motley any time previons to the Stage's leaving

hij house. Price for one person's passage tho whole distance, 20*.

;

baggage 2d, for every pound above 14. Portland, January 20, 17S7."

Stone, and the sluggi^ihueiis of the conveyance may be

guessed at from the fact that the coach set out at six o'clock

in the morning and did not reach its destination (thirty-

eight miles) till eight or nine o'clock at night, and those

who traveled so comfortable a distance used to take leave

of their friends about a week before." Now, over the

same road, they are flying by steam with the velocity of

forty miles an hour.

" In 1788 a new arrangement of the mails was made, by

which it came here from Boston three times a week in

summer and twice a week in winter, and was forwarded to

Pownalborough once a fortnight. As late as 1801 the

mail was four days going to Boston,f and we had a mail

from there but three times a week.

" In December, 1793, the first attempt was made to carry

passengers from Portland to Halloweil in a sleigh, by Caleb

Graffam. He left Portland on Monday morning at seven

o'clock, reached Wiscasset the next day at one o'clock, and

arrived at Halloweil on Wednesday noon. Mr. Graffam

was employed by Thomas B. Wait, publisher of the Cnm-

berland Gazette, to convey the newspaper to Halloweil,

Wiscasset, and the intermediate places. He made the tour

but once a week in summer and once a fortnight in winter

;

and as the mail went but once a fortnight to Wiscasset at

this period, he took letters from the post-office to deliver on

the route, under the direction of the postmaster.

" The income of the office for several years afler its estab-

lishment was of no consideration ; during the latter part of-

Mr. Freeman's term the net amount paid from it to the

government, with the postmaster's compensation, was as

follows, viz.

:

" 1792 To government $340.01 To Mr. Freeman S165.6J.
1795 " " 607.23 " " 185.51.

1800 " " 1000.89 " " 451.48.

1804 " " 1167.70 " " 1044.29.

" The amount paid to government in one year, ending

March 31, 1830, was $4789.89, and for the year ending

March 31, 1832, $4777. lO.J: But the business of the

office may be better estimated by the amount of postage on

letters and papers which pass through it. For the year

ending March 31, 1833, there were received for letters de-

livered at the office $6926 and for newspapers and pam-

phlets $667, making an aggregate of $7593; besides this

the amount of postage on letters distributed and forwarded

to other parts of the State was $37,979."§

The first accommodation stage that commenced running

from this town regularly was in 1818, when it went three

times a week to Portsmouth. There was a line during part

of the war of 1812, when communication by water was in-

terrupted by British cruisers in the bay ; but this was sus-

t In April, 1785, the mail from Boston was delayed between four

and five weeks, daring which time no news was received from the

west. Mr. Smith says, "April 29 the post at last got here, hav-

ing been hindered near five weeks." This delay was owing to the

excessive bad roads. In 1302 no paper? were received from Boston

from February 25th to March 8th, on account of the traveling.

{ The amount of postage paid to government in the State in the

year ending March 31, 1830, wa« $31,922.83.

J This being a distributive office, all the letters for the State pass

through it.
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pended when peace took place for want of encouragement.

In 1832 the number of stages that were employed on differ-

ent routes from this town was twelve, of which five arrived

and departed every day, and the remainder three times a

week ; seven carried mails, the others were accommodation

stages.

The usual mode of traveling, even for some years after

the Revolution, was on horseback, the roads being too bad,

except in winter, to admit of comfortable passing in any

other manner. The judges and lawyers rode their circuits,

and the physicians and ministers made their visits on horse-

back. Chaises came into use here about 1760, for riding

about the town and neighborhood ; they were not, however,

in general use, nor were they generally used by those who
owned them, but kept, like the Sunday dress, to be worn

only on gala days. The Rev. Mr. Smith purchased one in

1765, and Dr. Deane in 1766, and yet the latter mentions in

January, 1770, that he " rode to Joshua Freeman's and

carried his wife behind him."* Dr. Deane has recorded as

a notable fact in 1769 that " at the funeral of Savage's

child there were sixteen chaises in the proces8ion."f This

was probably the whole or nearly the whole number owned

in town. It was not until about thirty years after the

Revolution that a private four-wheeled carriage was kept

by any person in town. Public hacks, which are now

numerous, did not come into common use until about

1818.+

EARLY ROADS.

As the population and business increased, it became

necessary to increase the facilities of traveling. A water

communication had always been kept up with neighboring

towns, and also with those more remote : the coasting trade

between Falmouth and the towns in Massachusetts was

snccessfiilly carried on, and fish and lumber, as well as agri-

cultural products, at that early period found a market there,

for which returns were made in English goods and groceries.

It is believed that two sloops commanded by Capts. English

and Phillips plied regularly between this bay and Boston.

The communications were not, however, as they had for-

merly been, wholly confined to the water ; a road several years

previous to the time of which we are speaking had been laid

out from the ferry-way in Cape Elizabeth, near where it

is now established, which passed round Purpooduck Point

by the water and joined the present road near Simonton's

Cove ; then passing on by the light-house and the head of

Pond Cove as the road is now traveled, it bent westerly and

crossed the cape directly to Spnrwink River, which trav-

elers crossed by a ferry, about a mile from its mouth. It

then kept by the shore the whole distance to Piscataqua,

crossing the several rivers by ferries near their mouths.

This road passed through all the settlements, as they then

clustered upon the coast, but was circuitous and long. It

» These two ohaieea may be supposed to be among the earliest; Mr.

Deane's coat htm £180. Joshaa Freeman lired at Buck Coi-e, on

the farm directly opposite the almshouse.

I Arthur Savage, the comptroller, who lived where Moorehead

afterwards kept tavern in Middle Street.

t In 1320 the number of chaises owned in town were ninety, and

four-wheeled carriages ten. In 18.30, chaises one hundred <\nd one,

carriages sixteen.

was soon found expedient to strike out shorter paths at the

expense of going greater distances through the woods.

In 1686 the Court of Sessions at York granted a ferry

at Nonesuch Point to Silvanus Davis, " for passage of man

and horse over Casco River for the benefit of travelers."

This point was on the south side of Long Creek and be-

tween that and Nonesuch Creek ; the landing on this side

must have been a little above Vaughan's bridge. A road

was laid out from Scarborough to the ferry, which shortened

the distance between the Neck and that place several miles.

In addition to this route, there was a road to Stroudwater

and Capisic which passed along on the bank of the river to

Round Marsh, and thence probably as the road is now trav-

eled to those places. Another road or path was laid out

by the settlements on Back Cove to the Presnmpscot, cross-

ing Ware Creek at the foot of the hill, near the almshouse.

As carriages were not then in use here, these roads may

properly be considered merely foot-paths through the woods,

which then covered the whole territory and overshadowed

the settlements.

In April, 1688, Richard Clements, a surveyor, was re-

quired by the government of Massachusetts to make a sur-

vey of land from Kennebec, " so as to head the several

rivers of Casco Bay, and see where they may be best passed

in order for settling a county road as far westward as Cap-

isic, or any other remarkable place thereabouts toward Saco,

and also observe what places were proper for cross-roads to

each town or settlement." A like warrant was given by

Nicholas Manning, chief magistrate of the Duke of York's

province, for a survey from Pemaquid and New Dartmouth

to the Kennebec.

CUMBERLAND AND OXFORD CANAL.

As early as 1791 a committee was chosen by several

towns in this county to ascertain the practicability of open-

ing a canal from Sebago Pond to the Presumpscot River.

A report was made in September of that year very favor-

able to the design, in which it is said that lumber, produce,

etc., might be brought, if the canal should be opened a dis-

tance of sixty or seventy miles to the falls at Saccarappa.

The plan was prosecuted with considerable zeal by Wood-

bury Storer and some others, who, in 1785, obtained an act

of incorporation, under tLe name of the Cumberland Canal,

to open a canal from the Sebago to the Presumpscot River,

at Saccarappa. Another company was incorporated at the

same time, by the name of the Proprietors of the Falmouth

Canal, for the purpose of uniting the waters of the Pre-

sumpscot River above Saccarappa with those of Fore River.

The leading persons in these projects were Woodbury
Storer, Joseph Noyes, Nathaniel Deering, and Joseph

Jewett.

But the limited capital of our people was not equal to

their enterprising spirit, and subscriptions to the stock could

not be obtained within the ten years fixed by the charter for

the completion of the undertaking. As the time of its ex-

piration drew near, an extension of five years was obtained,

which also passed away without witnessing even a com-

mencement of the work. The undertaking was evidently

more expensive than was contemplated by its projectors, and

iiiueli beyond the means and resources of (he country at
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that period. We may judge of the under-estimate of the

proprietors, by the fact that the amount of property they

were allowed by the first charter to hold was only twenty thou-

sand dollars, which in 1804 was enlarged to one hundred

and twenty thousand dollars. Mr. Storer, whose heart was

bent on carrying this improvement into execution, though

frustrated in his first attempts, did not permit the subject

to pass from hLs mind. Daring the period of commercial

restrictions and war, all projects of improvement were of

course suspended, but immediately afler the separation of

the State, when new life was sent into all the channels of in-

dustry and enterprise, the project was again revived, and in

1821 a charter was procured to construct a canal from

Waterford, in the county of Oxford, to the navigable waters

of Fore River, under the name of the Cumberland and Ox-

ford Canal. The incorporators were Arthur McLellan,

Alvin K. Parris, Charles Whitman, Asa Clapp, Samuel

Andrevrs, Leander Gage, Daniel Brown, Nathaniel Howe,

Enoch Perley, Josiah Whitman, and Ira Crocker, with their

associates and successors.

To aid the projectors in this more extensive scheme, a

lottery was granted to them in 1823, by which they were

authorized to raise the sum of fifty thousand dollars, to en-

able them to accomplish the laudable undertaking.'*' In

1825, as a further measure to promote the design, the en-

terprising projectors procured the Canal Bank to be incor-

porated with a capital of three hundred thousand dollars, of

which it was one of the conditions that a quarter part of its

capital should be invested in the stock of the Cumberland

and Oxford Canal.

Under these advantages, and by the aid of individual

subscriptions, the work-was commenced in 1828. In 1823

the engineer had estimated the whole expense of the work

from Sebago Lake to Fore River, at Stroudwater, at one

hundred and thirty-seven thousand three hundred and forty-

three dollars ; it was eventually extended to the harbor, and

completed in 1830, at an expense of two hundred and six

thousand dollars.

The canal was mortgaged to the Canal Bank, of Portland,

for thirty thousand dollars, July 1, 1829 ; again, for thirty

thousand dollars, Aug. 28, 1829, and Oct. 6, 1830, for

thirteen thousand five hundred dollars. These mortgages

and notes secured thereby were assigned by the Canal Bank

to Isaac Dyer, trustee, for himself and F. 0. J. Smith, Jan.

1-6, 1862. On the 14th of September, 1874, the heirs of

Isaac Dyer conveyed their interest to Charles P. Mattocks,

Esq., of Portland, and on the 23d of November, 1877, the

executors of the late F. 0. J. Smith conveyed their interest

to Mr. Mattocks, who still . holds these interests, together

with nearly all the stock, which was acquired through the

same chain of title.

The canal was an important internal improvement, and

continued to be of great service to this section of the coun-

try till the era of building railroads, when, like most other

canals, it began to decline. It is still operated from Har-

rison to Goff & Plummer's mills, in Grorham.

There was a project started some years ago, daring the

latter years of Mr. Smith's life, to convert the canal, from

* See act granting lottery, laws of 1323, chap. 219.

Lake Sebago to the salt water in Portland harbor, into

a grand fish-breeding establishment, and the matter was

brought before the Legislature, and referred to the Com-

mittee on Fisheries, but no report, we believe, was ever

made. The plan, we understand, still stands open for any

parties who may wish to engage in the enterprise.

RAILEDADS.

The movement in favor of railroads began in Massachu-

setts as early as 1828, by a report to the Legislature setting

forth the advantages of that mode of transportation. In their

actual construction the Boston and Lowell Company took the

lead, obtaining their charter in 1830. This was followed the

next year by the Boston and Providence and Boston and

Worcester Companies, both of which were incorporated in

1831. These three roads were opened in 1835, and so

much exceeded public expectation in their practical working

as to give an impetus to railroad-building. The Boston and

Maine Railroad was incorporated in 1833. For a while

they used fifteen miles of the Lowell road to Wilmington,

and gradually extended their line until it reached South

Berwick, in Maine, where it joined the Portland, Ports-

mouth and Saco road, which was incorporated in 1837, and

opened to Portland in December, 1842.

While these grand enterprises awakened a spirit of emu-

lation in Maine, the direction given to public sentiment

was in opposition to placing additional facilities for trade in

the hands of Boston, which was already seen to be dam-

aging to the interests of Portland, but to open easy and

cheap communication with the interior and with Canada.

Hence, as early as February, 1835, a resolution passed the

State Legislature, requesting the Senators and Representa-

tives in Congress to use their influence with the general

government to procure the aid of a corps of engineers for

the purpose of surveying a track for a railroad from Port-

land or some other point on the seaboard, by navigable

waters in this State, to some point on the border of Lower

Canada. In pursuance of this resolution the United States

government appointed Col. Long, an eminent engineer of

the United States, to make the survey suggested. At the

same session the Governor was requested to appoint two in-

dividuals to visit Quebec and Canada, to procure the co-op-

eration of that province in the great enterprise. Col. Lon<;

immediately proceeded in his work, and before the next

winter completed it, making a careful examination of various

routes, to determine which was most . feasible. The result

of hb survey was in favor of a line from Belfast, on Penob-

scot Bay, to Quebec, as the shortest and most practicable

route from the seaboard. The Legislature, in March, 1836,

" Retohed, That the thanks of the Legislature of Maine be tendered

to Col. Stephen H. Long, for his elaborate and seientifio report of a

reconnoissance of the several routes from the Atlantio to the Canadian

frontier, with a view of ascertaining the most expedient route for a

railroad from the seaboard of Maine to the oitj of Quebeo."

This elaborate and scientific report " was all that ever

came of the enterprise." The financial depression which

followed in 1837 put an end to all further movements for a

railroad till 1839, in which year the subject was revived,

with the general industries of the country, and the Legis-

lature was induced to make an appropriation of four thuu-
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sand dollars for the survey of a route from Portland to Lake

Champlain, the city to pay one-fifth part of the expense. The

survey was made in the summer of 1839, by William L.

Dearborn, civil engineer, and was found to possess great ad-

vantages and facilities for a track, and the prospect of open-

ing a new and large trade with Vermont and the lake

country. But this enterprise also failed for the want of

perseverance and capital.

GRAND TRUNK RAILWAY.

The Atlantic and St. Lawrence Railroad Company (the

predecessor of the Grand Trunk Railway) was incorporated

by the State Feb. 10, 1845, in pursuance of a plan which

had been entered into the preceding year with the govern-

ment and people of Canada, by commissioners sent from

Portland, consisting of Judge Preble, Josiah S. Little, and

John A. Poor. These gentlemen were indefatigable in the

work of their mission, and by their good judgment and ex-

traordinary exertions succeeded in securing the co-operation

of the Canadian government and people in the gigantic

enterprise of connecting by iron bands the Atlantic Ocean

with the St. Lawrence and the great lakes. The confer-

ence led, in both countries, to procuring acts of incorpora-

tion from their respective legislatures for a railroad pro-

ceeding from the seaboard at Portland to the St. Lawrence

at Montreal, forming a junction at the boundary line be-

tween the two countries near the source of the Connecticut

River.

Measures were immediately taken to arouse the public

mind to the importance of the work. Meetings were held

in various towns on the route ; statistics were collected and

spread before the people, and before the close of the year

more than one million of dollars were subscribed, of which

over three-quarters was obtained in Portland alone, for the

accomplishment of one of the grandest enterprises of the

day. The company was organized Sept. 25, 1845, and the

thirteen directors then chosen, at the head of whom was

placed the Hon. Wm. P. Preble, went immediately and

earnestly at work to carry the objects of the charter and

the wishes of the stockholders into operation. On the 4th

of July the construction of the road was commenced. As

Judge Preble, the president of the corporation, threw out

the first shovelful of earth at Fish Point, the entrance to

Portland Harbor, the air was filled with shouts of congratu-

lation from an immense assemblage of persons present on

the interesting occasion. The people and the city of Port-

land entered enthusiastically into the grand improvement,

and pledged their labors and fortunes for its completion.

The work was pushed steadily on, and the first twelve miles

—the most difBcult and expensive of the whole route

—

was opened to North Yarmouth in July, 1848, and in the

autumn to Mechanic Falls, thirty-seven miles. Here Judge

Preble's connection with the company as president ceased,

and Josiah S. Little became his successor. A contract was

entered into at this time on both sides of the line for the

completion of the whole distance in three years. In addition

to the million subscribed, the city of Portland came forward

in 1 848 and procured an act to enable them to advance the

credit of the city, in its corporate capacity, to accomplbh

this grand enterprise, and the city pledged its credit, in

pursuance of the act, to the extent of a million dollars for

the completion of the work.

The work was earnestly and steadily pressed forward, and

the friends of the undertaking had the crowning satisfac-

tion of seeing the ocean and the river united by iron bands

of friendly inter-communication over a space of two hun-

dred and ninety-seven miles, early in 1853. The line has

since been extended to Sarnia, on Lake Huron, a distance of

seven hundred and ninety-four miles, and to Detroit, eight

hundred and sixty-one miles from Portland, on one uniform

gauge of five and a half feet under the control and manage-

ment of one company, with branches from Richmond to Que-

bec, ninety-six miles, and from Quebec to Riviere du Loup,

one hundred and twenty-five miles. This truly magnificent

line is well named "The Grand Trunk Railway."

The distance from Montreal to Boston by the Vermont and

New Hampshire routes is three hundred and eighty-seven

miles, giving Portland the benefit of ninety miles in the

line of distance, which is no inconsiderable item when the

time of transportation and the expense of construction and

repair are taken into consideration. Add to this the ad-

vantages of the best harbor in the United States—as Port-

land Harbor certainly is—and the facilities which the Grand

Trunk Company have furnished for the handling and ship-

ping of freight at their own docks and warehouses, nearer

to Liverpool and the European markets than any other

important seaport in the United States. The company own

seventy-five acres of harbor-frontage in Portland, on the

deep water of the harbor, where vessels of the largest size

ever built may come and receive their cargoes at any season

of the year without obstruction and with perfect safety.

Here they own extensive wharves and warehouses, and an

elevator of large dimensions, into which grain is unloaded

directly from the cars, and from which it is shipped aboard

of vessels and large freight steamers which carry it to foreign

ports. In "Allen's Official Railway Guide," for August,

1878, we find the following notice of the advantages of

Portland Harbor for shipping puiposes :

" The city of Portland has a magnificent harbor, and her

railway facilities have been so arranged as to afford the very

best opportunity for the transaction of commercial business.

The entire wharfage front of the city is traversed by a rail-

way, with branch lines passing down each principal dock, so

that freight may be landed from the vessels directly upon

the cars, or vice versa. This arrangement is the one for

which far-seeing business men in New York and Philadel-

phia have so long unavailingly contended as necessary for

the successful development of those places, and while they

have been contending about the matter Portland has quietly

completed the improvement. Its commerce, large as it is,

is not a tithe of what the admirable arrangements in this

and other respects make it capable of handling, and if

equally good judgments continue to be displayed in the

management of its afiairs in the future a large increase must

naturally follow."

The Grand Trunk Railway throughout its whole length

from Portland to Detroit is fiirnished with steel rails and

iron bridges, making it a first-class road in every respect.

Negotiations have recently been entered into for extending

the road ou a track of its own from Detroit to the cities of
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Chicago and Toledo, and in all probability before this goes

to press the object will have been consummated. The com-

pany have just sold and transferred the eastern end of the

road, from Quebec to Riviere du Loup, to the agents of the

Dominion, to become part of the Inter-Colonial Railway

System, and it is proposed by the company to use the pro-

ceeds for the extension of the road west, and thus secure

an independent competing line to the large grain-shipping

cities. This will free them from the monopoly of Vander-

bilt, who controls the Michigan Central, and be a general

advantage to the public, both east and west.

The Grand Trunk Railway has branches in Canada to

Ottawa, the capital of the Dominion, and in the direction

of the Canada Pacific, one branch to Midland, one to Col-

lingwood, on the Georgian Bay, one to Goderich on Lake

Huron, and one to the city of Buffalo, on Lake Erie. In

the province of Quebec it has a branch to Three Rivers.

In the State of Maine it owns a branch from ' Lewiston

Junction to the cities of Lewiston and Auburn, and at

Mechanic Falls it receives the road of the Buckfield and

Rumford Falls Company, extending to the Androscoggin

River in the town of Canton.

UAINE CENTRAL RAILROAD.

The system of railroads operated by the Maine Central

Railroad Company includes those originally chartered under

the following names : the Androscoggin and Kennebec, the

Kennebec and Portland, the Somerset and Kennebec, and

the Androscoggin. The road from Brunswick to Lewiston

and Leeds Junction is leased to the Maine Central, as are

also the Belfast and Moosehead Lake and the Dexter and

Newport roads. The whole length of road owned or con-

trolled by this company in the State of Maine is three hun-

dred and fifty-five miles.

The Androscoggin and Kennebec Railroad Company was

chartered March 28, 1847, and before the 1st of January,

1850, it had constructed a railroad from Waterville to Dan-

ville, where it connected with the Atlantic and St. Lawrence

Railroad, now the Grand Trunk Railway.

The Penobscot and Kennebec Railroad Company was

chartered April 5, 1845, and constructed a railroad from

Bangor to Waterville, there connecting with the Andro-

scoggin and Kennebec Railroad.

A law was passed in 1856 authorizing the Androscoggin

and Kennebec and the Penobscot and Kennebec to consoli-

date into one company under a new name. The ninth sec-

tion of this act was not acceptable to these companies, and

they did not then consolidate under it. But in 1862 the

ninth section was repealed, and the two companies consoli-

dated on the 9th of September, 1862, and the new corpora-

tion was organized October 28, 1862, under the name of

the Maine Central Railroad Company.

The Kennebec and Portland Railroad Company was

chartered April 1, 1836, and constructed at first a railroad

from Augusta to Yarmouth, connecting with the Atlantic

and St. Lawrence Railroad, and also a branch from Bruns-

wick to Bath. It afterwards extended its railroad from

Yarmouth to Portland.

Under Chapter 220 of the General Laws of 1852, au-

thorizing railroad companies to issue bonds and secure them

by mortgage of their railroad, the Kennebec and Portland

Company, on the 15th of October, 1852, mortgaged their

railroad to secure an issue of two hundred and fifty thou-

sand dollars in bonds. In 1857 a law was enacted pro-

viding for the manner of foreclosing railroad mortgages

and the formation of a new corporation by the mortgagees,

upon the perfection of the foreclosure. In 1859, there

being a breach of the condition of the above-named mort-

gage, proceedings were commenced to foreclose it, and the

title became absolute in the mortgagees on the 18th of

May, 1862. A new corporation was thereupon organized

by the mortgagees, under the name of the Portland and

Kennebec Railroad Company. The old company com-

menced a suit in equity to. test the legality of the fore-

closure, and the court sustained the foreclosure in every

respect.*

The Portland and Kennebec Railroad Company was

organized May 20, 1862. This new company was author-

ized by special act, Jan. 27, 1864j to change its location

near Portland for the better accommodation of its business,

and it did so.

The Somerset and Kennebec Railroad Company was

chartered Aug. 10, 1848, and constructed a railroad from

Skowhegan to Augusta, there connecting with the Kenne-

bec and Portland Railroad. It crossed the Maine Central

Railroad at Fairfield at first, but afterwards connected with

the Maine Central at Waterville, as well as crossed it. On
the 1st day of January, 1864, the Somerset and Kennebec

Railroad was leased to the Portland and Kennebec Railroad

Company under the tenth section of Chapter 651, Laws

of 1856. On the 1st day of June, 1870, this lease was

extended for the term of nine hundred and ninety-nine

years. On the 20th of May, 1870, the Portland and Ken-

nebec Railroad Company leased their railroad and assigned

their lease of the Somerset and Kennebec Railroad to the

Maine Central Railroad Company for the term of nine hun-

dred and ninety-nine years, under the provisions of the said

section ten.

The Androscoggin Railroad was constructed from Farni-

ington to Leeds Junction, where it connected with the

Maine Central Railroad. Under the geneml law, Chapter

220, Laws of 1852, it issued its bond^ and secured them

by a mortgage of its railroad from Faruington to Leeds

Junction. After the making of this mortgage the company

was authorized to extend its railroad across the Maine Cen-

tral to Brunswick, and connect there with the Portland and

Kennebec Railroad. It was provided that the new section

of the railroad should not be subject to the mortgage of the

old portion. The railroad was subsequently extended to

Brunswick. In consequence of a breach of the mortgage

above referred to, it was foreclosed, and the old portion of

the railroad became the absolute property of the mortgagees

May 11, 1865. They formed a new corporation under the

name of the Leeds and Farmington Railroad Company,

which at once took possession of their railroad from Farm-

ington to Leeds Junction, and their title has never been

questioned; so that now the Androscoggin Railroad extends

from Leeds Junction to Brunswick, with a branch to Lewis-

* j9 Maiue Reports, page 9.
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toil, aud tliut puniuD formerly knowa by the uame between

Leeds Janctioa and FurmiDgton is now knowa by the name

of the Leeds and Farmington Railroad.

On the first of June, 1867, the Leeds and Farmington

Railroad Company leased their railroad to the Androscog-

gin Railroad Company for a term of yeai-s. On the 29th

of June, 1871, the Androscoggin Railroad Company leased

its railroad to the Maine Central Railroad Company for the

term of nine hundred and ninety-nine years, and in the same

contract assigned to the said Maine Central Railroad Com-

pany its lease of the Leeds and Farmington Railroad. On
the same day the Leeds and Farmington Railroad Com-

pany confirmed the assignment of their lease, and extended

it to the Maine Central Railroad Company for the term of

nine hundred and ninety-nine years.

Thus on the first day of April, 1872, the Maine Central

Railroad Company was possessed of a lease of the Portland

and Kennebec Railroad, the Somerset and Kennebec Rail-

road, the Androscoggin Railroad, and the Leeds and Farm-

ington Railroad for the term of nine hundred and ninety-

nine years. By an act of February 7, 1872, these corpo-

rations were authorized to unite with the Maine Central

Railroad Company in a mortgage to secure bonds to be

issued by the Maine Central Railroad Company. This

mortgage was executed by the several corporutions named

April 1, 1872, and the bonds of the Maine Central Rail-

road Company secured by it are issued.

In May, 1871, the Maine Central Railroad Company

became the lessee of the Belfast and Moosehead Lake Rail-

road for a term of fifty years ; and Nov. 25, 1868, the Maine

Central Railroad Company procured a lease of the Newport

and Dexter Railroad for a term of thirty years.

This extensive railroad system, now consolidated under

one management, of one uniform gauge, touches tide- water

at four of the most important points in the State, viz., Port-

land, Bath, Belfast, and Bangor. Its main branch, start-

ing from Portland, runs up the Kennebec River via Bruns-

wick and Augusta to Waterville, whence it continues east

to Bangor, with a branch running north from Waterville to

Skowhegan. At Waterville it is intersected by the other

main branch from Portland via Cumberland Junction, Lcw-

iston. Auburn, Leeds, and Belgrade, with a branch north to

Farmington. The connections of the Maine Central Rail-

road are as follows

:

At Portland with Eastern Railroad from and to New

York, Boston, Lynn, Salem, Beverly, Newburyport, Ports-

mouth, Dover, Great Falls, Biddeford, Saco, etc.

At Transfer Station with Boston and Maine Railros^d

from and to New York, Boston, Lawrence, Lowell, Exeter,

Great Falls, Dover, Biddeford, and Saco.

With Portland and Ogdensburg Railroad from and to

Sebago Lake, Fryeburg, North Conway and White Moun-

tains, St. Johnsbury and Johnson, Vt., and the West.

At Westbrook with Portland and Rochester Railroad

from and to New York, Worcester, Nashua, Rochester, etc.

At Yarmouth and Danville Junctions with Grand Trunk

Railway from and to South Paris, Gorham, N. H., Island

Pond, and Montreal.

At Bath with steamer for Boothbay (except in winter,

when it runs from Wiscasset), and with Knox and Lincoln

Railroad from and to Wiscasset, Newcastle, Dumariscotta,

Waldoboro, Warren, Thomaston, and Rockland.

At West Waterville with Somerset Railroad from and

to North Anson and Norridgewock.

At Bangor with Consolidated European and North

American Railway from and to Oldtown, Bangor and Pis-

cataquis Railroad, Bucksport, Mattawarakeag, Houlton,

Woodstock, Fort Fairfield, Caribou, St. Stephen, St. An-

drews, Fredericton, St. John, Halifax, etc.

Change cars at Burnham for Belfast branch, and at New-

port for Dexter branch.

Tourists passing over the Maine Central Railway can

make a pleasant detour by leaving the main line of the

road at Brunswick and taking the branch for Bath. From

Bath numerous little steamers ply to various seaside and

inland resorts in the vicinity,—Boothbay, Squirrel, and

Mouse Island being among the most frequented. These

steamer routes afford some of the best views that can be

obtained anywhere of the combination of rugged hillside

and ocean scenery by which the coast of Maine is especially

distinguished. At Bath connection is also made with the

Knox and Lincoln Railroad, and through passengers for

Rockland and intermediate points are transferred across

the Kennebec River on the ferry steamer without change

of cars. The route of the Knox and Lincoln Railroad is

very nearly at right angles to the line of the numerous

water-courses over which it passes, and the cost of the con-

struction of the road was necessarily heavy. At one point

there is for several miles an- almost unbroken succession,

one after the other, of rock cuts, trestle-works, drawbridges,

and high embankments. The successful maintenance and

operation of a road of this character necessarily requires

considerable skill. The prettily-situated little New England

towns of Wiscasset, Damariscotta, and Thomaston are lo-

cated on the line. Rockland, the terminus of the road, is

on the western shore of Penobscot Bay. There are several

pleasant drives in the vicinity, and from the high hills north

of the town there is a fine view of the bay and surrounding

country. Rockland is the nearest point upon a railway line

from which connection can be made by steamboat to Mount

Desert. At present the steamboat makes tri-weekly trips

only, but it is the intention of the Knox and Lincoln Rail-

road Company to ultimately arrange for regular daily trips,

and to so perfect their through rail connections as to make
the route over their road the most comfortable and conve-

nient one for all summer visitora to the favorite resorts iipon

the island of Mount Desert.

From Bangor north, the European and North American

Railway follows the course of the Penobscot River for a con-

siderable distance, and then strikes east, crossing the St.

Croix River, the boundary line between Maine and New
Brunswick, at Vanceboro. A night train in each direction

has recently been placed upon this road from Bangor to St.

John and return, fully equipped with Pullman palace sleep-

ing-cars, and is rapidly growing in favor with the traveling

public. A handsome parlor-car is also run on the day trains.

This road is the only all-rail route to the many attractive

points in the provinces of New Brunswick and Nova Scotia,

and to numerous points in Northern Maine, where trout

fishing may be enjoyed to perfection.
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PORTLAND AND OQDENSBnBQ BAILBOAD.

This road was chartered in 1867, and opened from Port-

land to Sebago Lake, a distance of seventeen miles, in 1870.

The whole length of the road from Portland to Johnson, at

the foot of Lake Champlain, is one hundred and ninety-three

miles, which was opened for through trarel in 1875. Sam-

uel J. Anderson, Esq., has been president of the corpora-

tion since its organization, and Jonas Hamilton, Esq., super-

intendent.

This line of railroad extends from Portland via Sebago

Lake and the valley of the Saco River through the

Notch of the White Mountains, thence via St. Johns-

bury, Yt., through the Lamoille and Missisquoi Yalleys,

to the foot of Lake Champlain ; the object being to ob-

tain a shorter route than any now existing to Ogdensburg,

and thence to the Great West. It also opens np a large

trade with the interior, and one of the most interesting

sections of New England for tourists and pleasure-seekers.

It is difficult to adequately describe the scenery on the

line of the Portland and Ogdensburg Railroad in passing

through the White Mountains, more especially at the famous

" Notch." It was many times confidently asserted that the

construction of a railroad through the Notch was an impos-

sibility. In spite of all predictions the road has been built,

and exceedingly well built. Its track is in splendid condi-

tion, and the rolling-stock in fine order. The ride through

the mountains on one of the observation cars which are run

by the company is simply delightful. The sides of these

cars are entirely open, although provided with canvas cur-

tains in case of necessity, and from the comfortable cane-

seat revolting chairs with which they are furnished the

numerous beautiful views of the towering peaks and moun-

tain gorges can be enjoyed to perfection. At the " Gate of

the Notch" there is barely room for the railroad on one, and

the narrow wagon-road on the other, side of the little stream

which here forms the headwaters of' the Saco River. To

those whose first ideas of history were derived in early

youth from the famous narrations of Peter Parley the sight

of the " Willey House," the sad fate of the inmates of

which he so graphically describes, is almost as much of a

treat by association, as a relic of remote antiquity, as a visit

to the Acropolis at Athens would be. With enterprising

forethought the management of the road have had the

woods cleared away from the line of the road to the valley

beneath, so that a clear and perfect view .of the house may

be obtained. Sebago Lake, on the line of this road, is a

pretty little sheet of water, with a tiny steamer traversing

its length, reaching the station, which derives its name from

the lake, in time to connect with the afternoon train for

Portland.

Coming over the line of this road from the West, con-

nection is made for Boston by the excellent roads of the

Eastern Railroad Company from North Conway, and of

the Boston and Maine Railroad Company from Boston

and Maine Junction, at the outskirts of Portland. Connec-

tion may also be made for Boston by the steamers of the

International and other companies, and to the north by the

Maine Central and Grand Trunk roads, all the various

lines offering special inducements for tourists and business

travel.

THE POBTLAND, SACO AND POETSSIOUTH BAILBOAD

extends from Portland to Portsmouth, N. H., fifty-two

miles. It is the oldest road in the State, having been char-

tered March 14, 1837, and opened to Portland in Decem-

ber, 1842. It is now leased to the Eastern Railroad Com-

pany for the term of nine hundred and ninety-nine years

from the 21st day of January, 1871.

POBTLAND AND KOCHESTEB BAILBOAD COMPANY.

The Portland and Rochester Railroad Company was

chartered July 30, 1846, under the name of the "York

and Cumberland Railroad Company," with authority to

locate and construct a railroad from some point in the city

of Portland, Cumberland Co., to the villages of Saccarappa,

in the town of Westbrook, and of Gorham ; thence into the

county of York, through the towns of Buxton, Hollis, and

Waterborough to Alfred village ; thence through the towns

of Sanford, North Berwick, and Berwick, to some point in

South Berwick or Berwick, where it will best connect with

a railroad leading to Boston. The corporators were Wil-

liam C. Allen, Benj. J. Herrick, James Thomas, N. D.

Appleton, Joseph Emerson, Israel Cbadboume, Nathan

Dave, J. T. Paine, John Storer, John Powers, Rufus Mcln-

tyre, Nathan Clifford, John Jameson, Moses McDonald,

Moses Dunn, Mills W. Stewart, Nath. J. Miller, Ellis B.

Usher, Daniel Appleton, Isaac Deering, James Leavitt,

Jere. Roberts, Jr., James Irish, Toppan Robie, Josiah

Pierce, Dominious Jordan, Daniel C. Emery, Brice M.

Edwards, Dan. Carpenter, Noah Nason, David Noyes,

William G. Cbadboume, William Swan, Alvah Conant,

Luther Dana, George F. Shepley, and Thomas Hammond.

Opened from Portland to Saco River, eighteen miles, in

February, 1853.

Oct. 4, 1865, the Portland and Rochester Railroad Com-

pany was organized, and succeeded to all the property of

the York and Cumberland Railroad.

Feb. 19, 1866, the Legislature authorized the Portland

and Rochester Railroad Company to change its location

between the towns of Sanford and Berwick, so as to make

a new location from some point in Sanford to the town of

Rochester, N. H. ; and in accordance with this authority a

new location was made, and jthe road was completed to

Rochester in July, 1871.

The indebtedness of the road, Sept. 30, 1878, was as

follows

:

Capital stock $636,011 .06

Bonds, 1st mortgage, six per cent... $700,000.00
" 2d " seren percent. 350,000.00
" 3d " " " 450,000.00

1,500,000.00

$2,136,011.06

In February, 1877, the company having defaulted pay-

ment of the interest on its bonds, the property was placed

in the hands of a receiver.

The line of road as completed extends from Portland,

Me., to Rochester, N. H., fifly-two and one-half miles, and

there connects with the Nashua and Rochester and Wor-

cester and Nashua Railroads, making the shortest and most

direct through route from Maine to New York and the

West.
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Starting from the Grand Truok Railway station in Port-

laad it connects at Morrill's Comers with the Maine Cen-

tral Railroad ; at Cumberland Mills, in Westbrook, it con-

nects with the Portland and Ogdensburg Railroad ; at

Rochester it connects with the Nashua and Rochester Rail-

road and with the BostoD and Maine Cocheeco branch, and

with the Portsmouth, Great Falls and Conway Railroad.

The track and bridges were materially improved in 1877.

Three hundred lineal feet of trestle-bridge at Shaker Pond,

Alfred, were filled with solid earth material, requiring some-

eight thousand cubic yards. The open stringer bridge near

HoUis Centre station, over what is called " Cook> Brook,"

was replaced with a stone arch culvert. The number of tons

of iron and railroad ties put into the track in 1877 equaled

the amount put in the two previous years.

A new station has been built in Portland, at the foot of

Preble Street, for the accommodation of local passenger

travel, and at the foot of Hanover Street a new car-house

and carpenter-shop, ninety-six feet long by thirty-six feet

wide, has been built, affording much-needed facilities for

repairing cars. The station at Gorham has been extensively

repaired and remodeled inside, giving much-improved pas-

senger accommodations. By consent of President Ander-

son, of the Portland and Ogdensburg Raibroad, the station

building at Cumberland Mills, owned by that company, has

been moved to the junction of the tracks, and the south

end finished into a waiting-room for passengers, the north

end being used for freight purposes. Hereafler the station

will be occupied jointly by the two roads.

The cost of the foivgoing improvements has all been

paid, and charged to operating expense account.

Terminal Facilities.—The old depot at the foot of Myrtle

Street, so long occupied by this company, had been for some

years falling into decay, and at last became untenantable.

The alternative was presented to either erect on Back Cove

new station buildings for accommodation of the freight and

passenger traffic, or to enter into arrangements with some

other road to furnish the required accommodations. A con-

tract with the Grand Trunk to furnish all the accommoda-

tions required in the management of the passenger and

freight traffic, including wharf and street facilities, has been

made, thus affording the patrons of the road increased facili-

ties for doing business. The new arrangement went into

effect April 8, 1878. Since that time trains have run to

and from the Grand Trunk station, and the passenger and

freight traffic have been marked with great regularity.

CHAPTER XV.

CUMBBBXiAITD BBITOH AND BAB.

Early Lawyers and Jadges—Bench and Bar from 1725 to 1783

—

Anecdotes tUustratire of the Pre-Rerolationary Courts.

Noah Embrt, of Kitt«ry, was for many years the only

lawyer in Maine. He commenced practice about the year

1725, and, although not regularly bred to the profession,

was a talented and successful practitioner. Mr. Emery was

descended from Anthony Emery, who came from Rurasey,

England, in the ship " James,'' in 1635, and first settled at

11

Newbury, whence he removed to Kittery about 1652, and

settled in that part of the town which is now Eliot, where

the subject of this notice was born on the 11th of Decem-

ber, 1699. His father was Daniel Emery, and his mother's

maiden name was Eliza Gowen. He had been brought up

to the trade of a cooper, as had his ancestor who first came

to this country ; but he exchanged that for the practice of

the law, which he followed successfiilly till his death, in the

year 1762.

His place was filled by his kinsman, Caleb Emery, who

also lived in Kittery, and who quit the practice soon after

the Revolution.

The first regularly educated lawyer who settled in Maine

is believed to have been William Cashing, who graduated

at Harvard College in 1751, and established himself in that

part of the ancient town of Pownalboro' which is now called

Dresden, where he continued in the practice of law till he

was elevated to the bench in 1772. Mr. Cushing resided

with his brother Charles, who was the first sheriff of Lin-

coln County, and for many years af)«r the Revolution the

clerk of the courts in Suffolk. His house stood near the

old court-house in Dresden. At the time Mr. Cushing

commenced practice there, there was no house on the Ken-

nebec River from about two miles above the Dresden court-

house to the settlements in Canada, except the block-houses

at Forts Western and Halifax. The whole country, as a

witness ouce said of it .in court, was an '' eminent wilder-

ness." Mr. Cushing was appointed the first judge of pro-

bate in Lincoln County. He was made chief justice of the

Supreme Court of Massachusetts in 1777, and was the first

who held the office under the yree government of that com-

monwealth. He was transferred to the bench of the Supreme

Court of the United States in 1789, and died in 1810. He
was the last chief justice who wore the large wig of the

English judges, which gave him upon the bench an air of

superior dignity and gravity. Modem customs have put

both the wig and gown out of countenance.

David Sewall, of York, was the next regular practitioner

who established himself in this State. He was a graduate

of Harvard in the class of 1755, and immediately after

reading law commenced practice in Tork, his native town.

In 1777, Mr. Sewall was raised to the bench, and in 1789

was appointed judge of the United States Court for the

district of Maine. During the twelve years in which he

held the office of judge in the State court he usually trav-

eled on horseback, and indeed this is the manner in which

the judges and members of the bar were obliged to travel

before and some years after the Revolution. Judge Sewall

died Oct. 22, 1825, aged ninety, and so pure had his life

been that he remarked to a friend that if he were to lead

his life over again he did not know that he should wish to

alter it.

In the manuscripts of Judge Sewall are preserved many
interesting pre-Revolutionary reminiscences. We have room

only for the following

:

" The ooart consisted at this time of Benj. Lynde, Panl Dudley,

Edmund Quincy, and Addington Davenport. Another anecdote is

related of Mr. Emery, which I will venture to preserve as showing

something of the early manners of the bar. It was anciently the

custom when the business of the court was nearly completed, for the

members of the court and bar, made up of gentlemen from Massa-
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ohoMtta and New Hunpabin, to assemble togetber at tbe tavern for

a social meeting ; on wbicb occasions tbey conatitnted a court among

themselves, appointing one of tbeir number obief justice for tbe trial

of all breacbes of good fellowsbip wbiofa had occurred daring the

term. On one of these meetings Mr. Emery was accused of calling

tbe high sheriff a fool. The fact being proved or admitted, the court

taking into consideration tbe time, manner, and occasion of the

offense, ordered said Emery to pay for this offense, one pipe of tobacco.

And ordered tbe sheriff, who it is said waaSamnel Wheelwright, to pay

one mug offlip for deserving the appellation."

The two distinguished jurists above named, with Caleb

Emeiy, were the only lawyers in Maine in 1760, when the

counties of Cumberland and Lincoln were established. This

event, by multiplying the sittings of courts in the district,

and by establishing a seat of justice at Falmouth, held out

encouragement for persons entering the profession to settle

here. Accordingly, we find, in 1762, two persons,—^The-

ophilus Bradbury and David Wyer, entering upon the prac-

tice in this town.

Mr. Bradbury was a graduate of Harvard College in

1757. He came from Newbury, and previous to his en-

tering npon practice here was engaged in teaching. He ap-

peared for the first time in court at the May term in 1762.

Mr. Wyer was not admitted to the bar till the October term

of the same year, although he appears to have been engaged

in business of the court at the May term, in opposition to

Mr. Bradbury. He was bom at Charlestown, Mass., and

graduated at Harvard College in 1758. Previous to this

time there had been no lawyers in what is now Cumberland

County. The courts had been attended when it was neces-

sary, by practitioners from Massachusetts. In the great

case between the Plymouth and Pejepsoot proprietors, tried

at Falmouth in 1754, Jeremiah Oridley and James Otis, of

Boston, attended for the parties. Justices of the peace

were also in the habit of filling writs and attending to busi-

ness in court. This practice continued after there were

regular practitioners in every county, and those which were

not settled they generally procured some attorney to man-

age in court,—a custom which operated severely upon those

who had spent much money and time to prepare themselves

for the profession, and produced the adoption of a rule by

the barristers and attorneys practicing in Maine in 1770,

whereby they agreed that they " would not enter, argue, or

in any manner assist in the prosecution of causes where the

writs shall be drawn by any person not regularly admitted

and sworn, except in cases ofnecessity." The reason assigned

by the lawyers for this rule was that they thought it '' detri-

mental to the public that persons not r^ularly admitted

and sworn as attorneys should be conntenanced." This rule

produced great excitement among that class of persons who

had been in the habit of doing this business, which was

brought to a focus by the refusal of the Superior Court to

admit a person who had drawn a writ in this manner for

another to manage the cause which had been brought up

by appeal, and the attorneys refusing, under their rule, to

conduct it, the plaintiff was non-suited. Early in 1774,

the subject was brought before the town at a public meet-

ing, and a committee was chosen to " represent the Uwyers'

agreement to the Gleneral Court and pray for redress." The

committee consisted of Enoch Freeman, Stephen Longfel-

low, Benjamin Mussey, Jonathan Morse, and Richard Cod-

man. Nothing further appears to have been done, and it

is probable that the political concerns of more absorbing

interest, then beginning to arise, diverted attention entirely

from the subject, and when the war was over the actors in

the scene had new parts to perform. Still, prejudice against

lawyers was not extinguished by the Revolution ; in many

places it was very strong after the war, and continued so

for many years.

Mr. Bradbury and Mr. Wyer were the only resident law-

yers in Falmouth till 1774, and consequently were invaria-

bly employed upon opposite sides. They were both admit-

ted to the Superior Court in 1765. They kept their offices

in their houses,—Mr. Bradbury's at the comer of Middle

and Willow Streets, and Mr. Wyer's nearly opposite the

north school-honse on Congress Street. In character these

two attorneys were very dissimilar. Mr. Bradbury was

grave and dignified in his deportment, while Mr. Wyer was

full of gayety and wit, the shafts of which did not always

fall harmless upon his adversary. The life of the former

was marked by steadiness and uniformity ; that of the lat-

ter was desultory and irregular ; one was distinguished by

genius, the other by method ; both had qualities to elevate

them in society, and give them fair rank in the courts.

Bradbury was more of a special pleader, and by the weight

of his character and manners had great inflnence with the

court and jury ; but Wyer often carried his point by the

vigorous sallies of his wit, and when he lost the jury he

frequently gained the laugh and the audience.*

They were also opposed in religious sentiments, and at a

time when the cominunity was divided very strongly by a

line between Episcopalians and Congregationalists, and legal

questions . were arising on the subject of taxes and the

rights of the two societies, Wyer was advocating the claims

of the Episcopalians while Bradbury was sustaining the for-

tunes of the old parish. Wyer was upheld by the Royalist

party ; Bradbury received his patron^e from the Whigs.

Notwithstanding these two were all the resident lawyers

at this period, other eminent counselors were called from

abroad in important causes. Previous to the Revolution

Daniel Farnham, of Newbury ; John Chipman, of- Marble-

head ; William Cnshing, of Pownalsboro' ; David Sewall,

of York ; Samuel Livermore and William Parker, of Ports-

mouth, James Otis, Jeremiah Gridley, Jonathan Sewall,

and John Adams, of Boston, attended courts in Falmouth.

Mr. Farnham graduated in 1739, at Harvard College.

His practice here before the Revolution was quite large.

He left one son, William, who lived in Boston. Mr. Chip-

man was the son of Rev. John Chipman, and father of

Ward Chipman, of Brunswick, agent for the British gov-

ernment in the controversy with the United States respect-

ing the boundary-line. While attending court at Falmouth

in July, 1768, he was attacked in the court-house with an

apoplectic fit, of which he died in a few hours. He was a

graduate of Harvard in 1738. Samuel Livermore was judge

of the Superior Court of New Hampshire in 1792, and

was several years chief justice. He was also United States

Senator for eight years, from 1793. His sons, Edward St.

Loe and Arthur Livermore, were each judges of the Su-

•Willis.
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perior Coart of New Hampshire, and the latter chief

justice. Mr. G-ridley was attorney-general of Massachu-

setts, and died Sept. 10, 1767. Mr. Sewall succeeded Mr.

Gridley as attorney-general in 1767. He became a loyalist,

and retired to Bristol, England, in 1775. Of John Adams,

the last mentioned of those distinguished lawyers who at-

tended court here, it only remains to give a few reminis-

cences.

Mr. Adams attended the court here twelve successive

years prior to the Revolution, and boarded with Jonathan

Webb. Jonathan Sewall and Mr. Adams were intimate

friends until the crisis in American politics took place.

Finding they could not change each other's views, they

determined not to discuss the subject any more. This

resolution was taken in this town when the court was

sitting in July, 1774. They were walking upon Munjoy

Hill before breakfast, and earnestly discussing the great

questions which were then agitating the country. The

conversation terminated by Mr. Adams saying, " I see we

must part ; and with a bleeding heart I say it, I fear for-

ever ; but you may depend upon it, that this adieu is the

sharpest thorn on which I ever set my foot." After their

parting here they did not meet again until Mr. Adams
called upon him in London, in 1788, as the ambassador of

the free American States.*

In 1768 there were but six attorneys in Maine, viz.,

Caleb Emery, William Cushing, David Sewall, James Sul-

livan,f Theophilus Bradbury, and David Wyer. Of these

not one was in practice in the country at the close of the

Revolutionary war. Cushing, Sullivan, and Sewall were

on the bench, Caleb Emery had retired, Bradbury had re-

moved to Newbnryport, and Wyer was dead. Mr. Brad-

bury was appointed attorney for the State in 1777, and so

from year to year till his removal fh>m the county, which

took place in 1779. In 1796 he was chosen member of

Congresa from Essex, and was appointed judge of the

Supreme Court in 1797. He died Sept. 6, 1803, aged

sixty-foni. His son, George, subsequently moved to Port-

land, and practiced law, was chosen member of Congress

from Cumberland, and Senator to the State Legislature.

He died Nov. 17, 1823, aged fifty-three years.

Mr. Wyer was appointed king's attorney for the county

frequently before the Revolution. On the destruction of

the town by Mowatt Mr. Wyer removed to Stroudwater,

where he died Feb. 29, 1776, aged thirty-five.

The next attorney who settled here was Theophilus Par-

sons, who was admitted to practice in this county, July,

1774. He graduated at Harvard College in 1769, pursued

his l^al studies with Mr. Bradbury, and at the same time

kept the grammar school on the Neck. He soon came into

full practice, and was often employed in opposition to his

legal instructor. While keeping school, and after his ad-

mission to the bar, Mr. Parsons was unremitting in his

studies, devoting to them his whole time. He was one of

the committee of inspection in Falmouth in 1775, although

but twenty-five years old, and took an active part in the

• Willis' History of Portland.

f Mr, Sullirsn had reeently commenced practice at Arrowsic

Island, a part of Qeorgetown, whence he remored to Biddeford.

measures adopted by the Whigs during his residence here.

He moved to Newburyport in the latter part of 1775.

Mr. Parsons was born in that part of Newbury now called

Byfield, in 1750, his father being the minister of that parish.

He boarded about three years with Deacon Codman, on the

corner of Temple and Middle Streets ; in April, 1775, he

went to board with Dr. Deane. On his removal from Fal-

mouth, he established himself in Newburyport, and subse-

quently in Boston. He was appointed chief justice of

Massachusetts in 1806. It is unnecessary to give here a

further notice of the life of this great man and unrivaled

lawyer ; a brief and interesting view of it may be found in

Chief Justice Parker's address on the opening of the court

in Suffolk, November, 1813, shortly after his decease. He
died in Boston, September, 1813, aged sixty-three, in the

full strength of his intellectual faculties.

After the death of Mr. Wyer, Mr. Bradbury was the

only attorney in the county until the October term in 1778,

when John Frotbingham was admitted to practice in the

Common Pleas. The latter was soon left alooe by the re-

moval of Mr. Bradbury to Newburyport in 1779. The

business at that time was exceedingly small, so much so

that Mr. Frotbingham was induced to unite with his prac-

tice the charge of a school, which he kept several years

after the Revolution. The whole number of entries in

1778 was but nineteen ; in 1779, twenty-six ; and in 1780,

twenty. In the March term, 1780, Mr. Frotbingham was

appointed by the court attorney for the State in this county

;

he continued in practice, enjoying the confidence of his

clients and friends, until he was appointed a judge of the

Common Pleas in 1804.

Mr. Frotbingham was bom in Charlestown, Mass., in

1750, and graduated at Harvard College in 1771. He
kept a school in Greenland, N. H., a short time before he

came here. He held many important offices, and faithfully

discharged all their duties to the satisfaction of the public.

He was inspector of the excise for the district of Maine,

secretary of Bowdoin College on its first orgiinization, rep-

resentative from the town in 1786, town clerk, thirty-four

years clerk of the first parish, twelve years register of pro-

bate, and eight years judge of the Common Pleas. In the

latter part of his life he was deprived of his sight, but bore

his affliction with gre&u patience. In 1784 he married

Martha May, of Boston, by whom he had a large family of

children, four of whom survived him. He died Feb. 8,

1826, aged seventy-six, leaving to his posterity his well-

merited reputation.

The next lawyer who came to Falmouth was Royal

Tyler, son of a gentleman of that name in Boston, who was

one of the king's counselors, and active in the first stages of

the Revolution. Graduating at Harvard College in 1776,

Mr. Tyler came here in 1779. He had an office on Middle

Street, near the head of Plumb Street, but remained only

about two years. During his practice he commenced an

action against an officer of a privateer then lying in the

harbor, and went with the sheriff to arrest him ; the officer

not liking the process, turned upon the deputy and attorney,

carried them both to sea, and landed them at Townsend,

now Boothbay. Mr. Tyler afterwards became chief justice

of the Supreme Court of Vermont.
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The next attorney who established himself here was

Daniel Davis, who started from Boston on horseback, " the

world all before him where to choose," to seek some prom-

ising place wherein to commence practice. He arrived and

fixed his abode on the Neck, in the autumn of 1782. At

this time there were bnt five lawyers in Maine besides Mr.

Davis, viz., Geoi^ Thacher, who then lived in York, but

nextyear removed to Biddeford ; John Frothingham, of Port-

land; Timothy Langdon, of Wiscaseet; Roland Cushing,

youngest brother of Judge William Cushing, at old Pownal-

boro' ; and William Lithgow, at Georgetown. Mr. Davis

continued in practice here until 1803, when he removed to

Boston. He was an eloquent and popular advocate, and

had an extensive practice. In 1833 he was the only sur-

vivor of the lawyers who were in practice at the time he

came here, and of all who came to the town within fifteen

years after him.*

Mr. Davis was appointed in 1796, with William Shep-

herd and Nathan Dane, commissioner to treat with the east-

ern Indians, and in the same year succeeded William Lith-

gow in the office of United States attorney for the district

of Maine. He was repeatedly chosen Representative by the

town, and Senator by the county to the Legislature of Mas-

sachusetts, and while he was Senator, in 1801, he received

the appointment of Solicitor-General for the State of Massa-

chusetts, which he held till 1832, when that, with the

office of Attorney-General, was abolished. In 1786, Mr.

Davia married at Quebec, Louisa Freeman, by whom he

had a large family of children.

As we are leaving the history of the ante-Revolutionary

lawyers, we cannot omit one anecdote preserved by Judge

Sewall, illustrative of the manners of those days. It was

the custom, as I have before observed, for the members

of the court and bar at the close of the session to hold

special courts at the tavern, which were made the occa-

sion of festivity and wit. At one of those seasons, when

the Inf^or Court was held at Biddeford, Hill, Spara-

hawk, Jordan, and Moulton being on the bench, the

court sat at the public-house of one Ladd, there being

no court-house in that town. The late Judge Lowell, of

Newbur3rport, arrived on Monday evening to attend the

court, and called upon landlord Ladd to accommodate him

during the session. Ladd told him his house was full and

he could not accommodate him. Mr. Lowell was obliged

to seek lodgings elsewhere, but supposing Mr. Ladd would

take care of his horse, if he could not receive him, left him

tied at the post in front of the house. It so happened that

the horse was overlooked, and remained tied at the post,

where Mr Lowell left him, all night. On Friday evening

a special court was held at Ladd's for the hearing and de-

termining of small causes of omission and commission that

had occurred during the week. Daniel Farnham, Esq.,

was appointed judge ; among other causes landlord Ladd

was called upon to answer his neglect in not taking care of

Mr. Lowell's horse, and for suffisring him to stand all night

at the door of his tavern. The &ct was not denied, but in

excuse he said that he had told Mr. Lowell that he could

not give him entertainment, as his house was full before he

* Willis' History of Portland.

applied, and he did not recollect that Mr. Lowell, when he

went away, said anything about his horse. Upon this evi-

dence the judge ordered the landlord to pay a single bowl

of good punch for his neglect in not taking proper care of

the horse, and that Mr. Lowell should pay twice as much
for suffering the poor animal to remain all night at the

door. The sentence was carried into immediate execution

for the benefit of the company convened.

Moses Pearson was judge of the court of Common
Pleas for several years before the Revolution. He was

born in Newbury, in 1697, and was by trade a joiner. He
came to Falmouth about the year 1728, and early took an

active part in the affairs of the town. Within the first ten

years of his residence he filled the offices of town clerk,

selectman, and town treasurer. In 1737, 1740, and 1749

he represented the town in the General Court. In 1745

he raised a company in this neighborhood, and joined the

army for the siege of Louisbourg, where he gained the con-

fidence of the commanding officers, and was appointed agent

of Sir William Pepperell's raiment, and treasurer of the

nine regiments employed in the siege, to receive and dis-

burse the spoils of victory. He remained at Louisbourg

throi^h part of 1746, superintending the construction of

barracks, a hospital, and the repairs of the fortifications, and

was sent home by Governor Shirley to procure materials to

complete the works.

In 1760, on the establishment of the county of Cumber-

land, he was appointed the first sheriff, and held the office

till 1768, when William Tyng was appointed. In 1770 he

was raised to the bench of the Common Pleas, and contin-

ued in office until the Revolution. He was a large pro-

prietor in Falmouth and in Standish, which for several

years was called " Pearsontown," it having been granted to

him and several others who were engaged in the Louisbourg

expedition. He owned large property in Portland, which

he left to his heirs. He died June 5, 1778, aged eighty-

one. His wife was Sarah Titcomb, a sister of Col. Moses

Titcomb, who was killed at Ticonderoga in 1755, by whom
he had six daughters and no sons. One of his daughtera

—Lois—married Joshua Freeman in 1750 ; she died

March 21, 1813. Another daughter—Eunice—married

Rev. Samuel Deane, April 3, 1766, and died in 1812.

Sarah married Daniel Dole, and Ann married Benjamin

Titcomb.

CHAPTER XVL

BENCH AITD BAH-(Contiiiuod).

Assoolation of Members of the Bar—Disensaion of Legal Reforms

—

Sketches of Members of the Bench and Bar from 1783 to 1808.

The excitement which existed against lawyers and the

courts to an alarming extent in Massachusetts in 1785, and

some yeara after, was not much felt here ; the Shays rebel-

lion had no advocates in this part of the country. A pre-

judice, however, did prevail against the profession, which

was concentrated and carried into the Legislature in 1790,

by John Gardiner, of Pownalboro', a barrister at law. He
introduced a resolution in January of that year, that the
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Hoas« would resolve itself into a committee of the whole to

take into coDsideration " the present state of the law uod

its profesaors in the commonwealth." He prefaced his

resolution;: bj some able and spirited remarks, which he

sabseqnentiy" enforced and illustrated, against lawyers and

what he termed abases of the law, some of which were

merely imaginary. He objected to the association of mem-

bers of the bar and the formation of bar rules, the modes

of taxing, cost, and> other practices which he termed illegal

and anwarrantable' oburpations. He thought the law onght

to be simplified, thal^nany customs had crept in from the

English law which should be eradicated ; his desire was to

thrust in the knife and remove entirely all those customs

which he and others considered grievances. While the

subject was before the Legislature, Mr. Qardiner, in the

heat of debate and in a highly excited state of feeling, cast

many aspersions upon lawyers, which had a tendency to

bring the whole class into disrepute and encourage the

unfounded prejudice which existed against them outside.

He had not, however, many supporters in the house ; the

bills which he introduced were rejected by large majorities

;

the one to annihilate special pleading was debated with

great eamestneas, and the late Chief Justice Parsons op-

posed it with a power that could not be resisted. Mr.

Gtirdiner was severely handled in the newspapers, and

treated in a manner altogether unworthy of an age of free

inquiry. The editor of a Boston paper was tried in 1791

for a gross libel upon him, but was acquitted ; the defense

seemed to be that Mr. dardiner had rather courted abuse

in the cause of reform than avoided it, and was not there-

fore to be protected from a storm which he had invited.

The effect of this attempt to array the community against

one class of citizens was on the whole to establish the charac-

ter of the profession, which numbered among its members

some of the most learned, virtuous, and patriotic individ-

uals of the country, upon a more firm foundation in public

ikvor than it had before enjoyed.

At this time Judge Parsons drew from Mr. Ghirdiner

the following eulogium :
" This erroneous opinion of the

gentlemen of the profession here was taken from a mere

dictum of the late Mr. Gridley, who, though a mighty pomp-

ous man, was a man of considerable learning and abilities,

in learning and genius, however, almost infinitely inferior

to that great giant of learning and genius, the law member

from Newburyport." Mr. Parsons was then but forty

years old. Mr. Qardiner had been educated in England,

and practiced law in the island of St. Christopher ; he came

to Boston after the Revolution, and soon after moved to

Pownalboro', in the neighborhood of which he had an here-

ditary estate. He was lost by the upsetting of a packet in

which he was going to Boston, in 1793 or 1794. He lefb

one daughter, who married James Lithgow.

Joseph Thomas, bom in Pembroke, Mass., a graduate of

Harvard College in 1786, came to Portland, and took

chaige of the grammar school, and afterwards studied law

vrith his uncle, Daniel Davis, and was admitted to the

Cumberiand bar in May, 1792. He went to Kennebunk,

where he practiced till his death, Jan. 20, 1830.

Samuel Thatcher graduated at Harvard College in 1793,

at the age of seventeen. He studied law in the office of

Jonathan Fay, at Concord, Mass., was admitted in 1798,

and came to Maine and opened an office at New Gloucester,

then half-shire with Portland. In October of the next year

he removed to Warren, Me.

Moses Gill, a nephew of Lieutenant-Governor Gill, with

whom he was prepared for his profession, was a gradu-

ate of Harvard in 1784, and commenced practice in New

Gloucester in 1796. After a practice of about two years

he became dissipated in his habits, returned to Massachu-

setts, and died there in 1832.

Peter 0. Alden, a graduate of Brown University in

1792, was admitted to the Cumberland bar in March, 1797.

His business for a time was very good, but it soon declined,

and, after some success in commercial pursuits, the restric-

tions prior to the war of 1812 caused him to become em-

barrassed, and the latter portion of his life was embittered

by disappointment and poverty. He died in 1843, at the

age of seventy-three years.

In 1789 Salmon Chase and Samuel Cooper Johonnot

came to Portland to practice law, and were both admitted

at the October term of the Common Pleas that year.

Mr. Chase was son of Samuel Chase, of Cornish, N.

H. ; he graduated at Dartmouth College in 1785. He con-

tinued in practice here, rising gradually to the first rank in

his profession, antil his death, Aug. 10, 1806, aged forty-

five years. Mr. Chase was distinguished rather for sound

judgment and accurate research than as an eloquent advo-

cate ; he was a safe counselor, and the interests of his clients

were never neglected by him.- He died much regretted by

the commnnity of which he had been an active and useful

member.

Mr. Johonnot was grandson of the celebrated Dr. Samuel

Cooper, of Boston ; he graduated at Harvard College in

1783, and completed his education in France and Geneva.

He studied law with Governor Sallivan, who was much
attached to him, and introduced him to the bar. He re-

mained abroad long enough to part with all his American

manners and feelings, and although he returned a good

scholar and highly-polished man, he was unfitted altogether

for the practice of his profession among his countrymen. He
spoke the modern languages fluently, was full ofwit, vivacity,

and satire, and an extremely pleasant companion. In 1791

his satirical talent having involved him in a bitter quarrel

with the principal men of the town, he found it necessary for

his own comfort and safety to make a hasty departure. He
went to Boston, and soon after embarked for Demerara,

where he was appointed American consul in 1793, and

accumulated a handsome estate in the commission business.

In 1790, William Symmea, who had been previously ad-

mitted to the bar in Essex County, came to Portland to prac>

tice law. He was a son of Rev. Mr. Symmcs, of Andover,

and a graduate of Harvard in the class of 1780. Mr.

Symmes was a member of the convention of Massachosetts

which adopted the Constitution of the United States, and,

although warmly opposed to that instrument on taking his

seat, he had the good sense to yield his opinion to the able

and enlightened arguments which distinguished that illus-

trious body. He was an able lawyer and advocate, and a

man of much personal pomposity. He died Jan. 7, 1807,

a bachelor, aged forty-five.
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The next attorney who was admitted to the bar and set-

tled in Portland was John Bagley, son of John Bagley,

and a native of the place. He was indeed the first native

of the town or State who was admitted to practice in this

county. He did not, however, continue long at the bar.

He was followed by James D. Hopkins, who was admitted in

1797 ; Gkorge E. Vaughan, son of William Vaughan, who

was admitted in 1798, and was a saccessful practitioner.

The next year, 1799, came Isaac Parker, late chief jus-

tice of Massachusetts, from Castine, and entered at once

upon a large and profitable practice, to which he was emi-

nently entitled by his urbanity, his erudition, and his elo-

quence as an advocate. Mr. Parker was bom in Boston

in 1768, and graduated at Harvard in 1786. He was

twice elected to Congress from the eastern district of Maine,

and while a member in 1799 was appointed by President

Adams marshal of Maine, which office he held till 1803,

when he was removed by President Jefferson. On the 22d

of February, 1800, he pronounced an eloquent eulogy at

Portland on the death of Qen. Washington. In December,

1806, he was elected to the bench of the Supreme Court,

and the next year removed to Boston. In 1814 he was ap-

pointed successor to Chief Justice Sewall. He died in July,

1830, universally lamented.

Chief Justice Parker was descended from John Parker,

who came from Biddeford, England, and settled at the

mouth of the Saco River, and afterwards entered largely

into land speculation at the mouth of the Kennebec.
. The

. son of the. first John and the great-great-grandfather of the

chiefjustice was bom in Saco in 1635, was driven by Indian

hostilities in 1689 from his large possessions on the Ken-

nebec and sought refuge at Fort Loyal, where he and his

son James were killed when the fort was taken in May,

1690. His eldest son, Daniel, moved to Charlestown,

Mass., where he died in 1694, leaving a son, Isaac, who

was grandfather of the chief justice.

In 1800 there were nine lawyers in the county, viz., John

Frothingham, Daniel Davis, William Symmes, Salmon Chase,

James D. Hopkins, George E. Vaughan, Peter 0. Alden,

of Brunswick, and Ezekiel Whitman, of New Gloucester.

To these should be added William Widgery, who practiced

law many years in New Gloucester, in opposition to the

bar rules, and became judge of the Common Pleas, under

the government of Massachusetts. Few men saw more of

the world or figured in a greater variety of ways. He
went very poor to New Gloucester before the Revolution.

During the war, or part of it, he was lieutenant of a priva-

teer commanded by Nathaniel Thompson, in which he dis-

played the remarkable perseverance which characterized his

after-life. He was a member of the convention of Massa-

chusetts which adopted the Constitution of the United

States, and strenuously opposed that instrament in numer-

ous speeches. He was chosen Senator in 1794, and fre-

quently Representative ta the General Court, and was also

elected to Congress. After his removal to Portland he en-

gaged in navigation, and for a time commanded one of his

own vessels, which, on one occasion, by his superior sagacity

and shrewdness, he saved from the hands of the British.

He accumulated a large estate, which he left to his heirs in

1822.

James D. Hopkins was born at Axminster, England, in

1773. and was the son of Thomas Hopkins, a merchant,

who came to Falmouth from England in 1784. He studied

law w|th Daniel Davis, of Portland, then the most brilliant

lawyer at the bar of Maine, and was admitted in 1797.

Although not a college graduate he was a thorough student

and well informed and able in his profession, being an adroit

special pleader and skilled in the laws of real estate. He
practiced here successfully till his death, June 17, 1840.

His first wife was Mary, daughter of John Bi^ley, of Port-

land, whom he married Dec. 18, 1801. She died in about

three months afterwards. In December, 1804, he married

for his second wife, Dorcas, a daughter of Capt. Daniel

Tucker, of Portland, by whom he had three daughters.

Mr. Hopkins had a younger brother, Thomas Hopkins,

who read law with him, and a few months with Judge

Wilde, of Hallowell, and was admitted to the bar of Cum-

berland County in 1805. He commenced practice in

Bridgton, where he remained about a year, and then, in ill

health, removed to Portland, where he died in 1807.

In 1801, Stephen Longfellow was admitted to the bar of

this county, and continued in successful practice in Portland

till his death, in 1849. Mr. Longfellow was born in Gor-

ham. Me., March 23, 1776. He was descended in the

fourth generation from William Longfellow, the first of the

name who came to this country and settled in the Beyfield

Parish, in the old town of Newbury, and who married there,

in 1678, Anne Sewall. His father, grandfather, and great-

grandfather were all named Stephen, the name being de-

rived from Stephen Dummer, the father of Jane Dummer,

the first William Longfellow's wife. His grandfather, the

first of the name who came to Maine, graduated at Harvard

in 1742, and came to Falmouth as the grammar-school

master in 1745. He was fifteen years grammar-school

master, twenty-three years parish clerk, twenty-two years

town clerk, and fifteen years register of probate and clerk of

the Judicial Courts, several of which offices he held at the

same time. His son Stephen held the office ofjudge of the

court of Common Pleas, and died much respected in 1824.

The grandfather died in 1790.

The subject of this notice was a graduate of Harvard

College, which he entered at the age of eighteen. He
studied law with Salmon Chase, of Portland, and was ad-

mitted to practice in 1801. He was a man of excellent

character and good abilities as a lawyer. In 1823-24 he was

Representative from this district in Congress ; in 1826 he

represented Portland in the State Legislature ; in 1828 was

made Doctor of Laws by Bowdoin College ; and in 1833

was president of the Maine Historical Society. He died

Aug. 3, 1849, in the seventy-fourth year of his age.

Barrett Potter, for twenty-five years judge of probate in

this county, was born in Lebanon, Conn., March 8, 1777,

graduated at Dartmouth Collie in 1796, studied law at

Northfield, Mass., and was admitted to the bar in 1801.

In the same year he opened a law-office in North Yarmouth,

where he continued to practice till March, 1805, when he

removed to Gorbam and remained till June, 1806, at which

date, upon the solicitation of Salmon Chase, Esq., he moved

to Portland, and entered into partnership with the latter-

named gentleman. The death of Mr. Chase, in August
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ibllowin^, left Mr. Potter in possession of a lucrative busi-

ness, wiiich, by his own added abilities and popularity, was

rapidly increased. In 1819, Mr. Potter was chosen a

member of the Executive Council of Massachusetts, and in

1820, when the new State of Maine was formed, he was

chosen the first Senator irom Cumberland County. In

1822 he was appointed judge of probate as the successor of

Judge Parris, who had been chosen Governor of the State.

Judge Potter held the office a quarter of a century, and

retired in 1847, at the age of seventy. He married, in

1809, Ann Titcomb, daughter of Hon. Woodbury Storer,

of Portland, by whom he had three daughters, of whom
Mary married the poet Longfellow, and Ann married Peter

Thacher, Esq., an attomey-at-law of Rockland, Me.

William B. Sewall studied law in the office of Judge

Isaac Parker, of Portland. He graduated at Harvard in

1803, in the class with Rev. Dr. Edward Payson, James

Savage, Prof John Farrer, and others of no less brilliant

reputation. Several of these came to Portland to study

law, as the place at that time presented great inducements,

on account of the legal talent centred here; and among

these was William 6. Sewall. He says, " When I went to

Portland, in December, 1803, the students in Judge Par-

ker's office were Samuel D. Freeman, John Wadsworth,

and James Savage. Freeman was for the most part with

his father in office business, and Wadsworth was absent

considerably from ill health, part of the time at Washing-

ton, his father being Representative from Cumberland. In

1804, Abram Eustis was added to our number ; and not

long afterwards Samuel Bryant, a nephew of Maj. Weeks,

began his term of five years. We were all dispersed by the

. appointment of Judge Parker to the Supreme Court in

February, 1806." Eustis went to Boston, and was com-

missioned captain in the United States Artillery ; Bryant

afterwards went into business ; Wadsworth was admitted to

the bar, and had an office in Portland in 1809 ; he after-

wards moved to Hiram, where he died in 1860. Mr. Sew-

all adds, " Horatio Southgate, James C. Jewett, and Wood-

bury Storer, Jr., were, I think, admitted before I went to

Portland. Bray came from Connecticut, and was a short

time in Symmes' office before being allowed to practice in

this State ; he was in practice, when I first came, in Kel-

logg's building."

For a short time after the appointment of Judge Parker

to the bench, Mr. Sewall was in the office of Prentiss Mel-

len, but he completed his studies with Livermore, in New-

buryport, and was there admitted to the Common Pleas.

He came back to Portland, opened an office, and was ad-

mitted to the Supreme Court in Cumberland County. He

was afterwards a partner with Prentiss Mellon, the latter

having so large an outside practice, where he was retained

on important cases, as to make a partner in the office

necessary.

Mr. Sewall was an able lawyer and a man of fine literary

abilities. He contributed many interesting articles to the

old Portland Gazette, when it was edited by Mr. Isaac

Adams, over the signature of " Pilgrim," and with Judge

Bourne, of Kennebunk, prepared the first " Maine Regis-

ter," issued in 1820. He had a great fondness for mathe-

matics, and at the time of receiving his first degree at

Harvard Commencement was assigned " Exercises in Math-

ematics and Astronomy," with two other classmates,—Na-

than Parker and Daniel Swan.

In 1819, on the death of his first wife, Mr. Sewall re-

tired to the old homestead at Kennebunk, where he re-

mained till 1823, when he returned to Portland and took

charge of the editorial department of the Advertiser, add-

ing to it during his management the semi-weekly edition.

He returned permanently to Kennebunk in 1837.

Judge Nathan Weston, who began the practice of law

at New Gloucester, on the removal of Judge Whitman to

Portland, was born in Augusta, July 27, 1782, was educated

at Hallowell Academy and Dartmouth College, studied law

with George Blake, United States district attorney, in

Boston, and was admitted to the bar of Suffolk in 1806.

He at first opened a law office at Augusta, but in the spring

of 1807 removed to New Gloucester, where he remained

till 1810, being elected to the L^islature in 1808. In

1809 he married a daughter of Judge Daniel Cony, of

Augusta, and the next year went there to reside perma-

nently.

In 1811, under the famous "gerrymandering" of the

Common Pleas into Circuit Courts, Mr. Weston was ap-

pointed chief justice of the second circuit. He discharged

the duties of the office with dignity and ability till 1820,

when on the organization of the new State he was appointed

one of the justices of the Supreme Court, and in October,

1834, was made chief justice in the place of Prentiss Mellen,

whose constitutional time had expired. He retired from

the bench in October, 1841, and was succeeded by Chief

Justice Whitman.

Judge Weston's career was one of eminent success.

Though he was called to the bench young and with scarcely

three years' practice at the bar, he acquitted himself with

honor and credit, and retired with the esteem and confi-

dence of his countrymen.

Nicholas Emery, one of the judges of the Supreme

Court of Maine, was born in Exeter, N. H., Sept. 4,

1776, and at the age of twelve became a student in the

famous Phillips Academy in his native town. Here he first

became acquainted with the future great statesman, Daniel

Webster, who then came a young man from his home
somewhat rustic, and entp.ed the school as a student. The
appearance of Mr. Webster at that time—tall and rather

ungainly, clad in a suit of motley homespun, his brows

shaggy, and his large head covered with a mass of black,

unshorn hair—excited the ridicule of some of the young

gentlemen students, who, had they known their subject,

might have been proud of half the brains which he pos-

sessed. Mr. Webster was too sensitive to endure being

made sport of, and was about to retire from the school,

when Mr. Emery, perceiving what was in him, took him
under his patronage, persuaded him to remain, and for some

time, it is said, gave him private lessons. From that time

forward a friendship grew up between Emery and Webster

which lasted through life. The last time Mr. Webster

visited Portland he spoke of his friend. Judge Emery, as

a man of great capabilities, who had never fulfilled his

destiny, although the career of Mr. Emery as a lawyer and

judge had been one of more than ordinary success.
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Mr. Emery graduated at Dartmouth College in 1795,

studied law with St. Loe Lirermore, at Portsmouth, N. H.,

and was admitted to the bar in the autumn of 1798. He
b^n practice at Paisonsfield, whence he removed to Port-

land, in 1807. In the autumn of the same year he married

Ann T., daaght«r of Groremor Gilman, of New Hampshire,

a lady of high accomplishments and excellent character.

In 1834, Mr. Emery was appointed to fill the place of

Judge Weston on the bench of the Supreme Court of

Maine. He faithfully aad promptly discharged the duties

of his appointed station for the constitutional term of seven

years, when he resumed the practice of his profession. It

is not too much to say that he was distinguished both as

an advocate and counselor. His decisions as judge are

fonnd in the eighth volume of the Maine Reports, from

the twelfth to the nineteenth inclusive. On the admission

1820, at which time he was Senator in Congress from

Massachusetts.

Ezekiel Whitman was bom at Bridgewater, Mass., in

1776; graduated at Brown University in 1795. On his

admission to the bar he practiced law at Turner, in that

part of Cumberland now forming the county of Oxford, and

was the only lawyer in that part of the country. He moved

in a few months to New Gloucester, and, as we have seen,

to Portland in 1806. He was appointed chief justice of

the Common Pleas in 1822, being then Representative in

Congress from the Cumberland district.

Simon Greenleaf was bom at Newbaryport, Mass., Dec.

5, 1783; died at Cambridge, Oct. 6, 1853; studied law

with Hon Ezekiel Whitman at New Gloucester; was a

lawyer at Standish, 1806, at Gray, 1807. Removed to

Portland, 1818 ; to Cambridge, 1833 ; was Representative

CHI£F JUSTICE PBENTISS MELLEN.

of the State, he was sent a& the first representative from

Portland. At his death, Aug. 24, 1861, he was, with the

exception of Judge Whitman, then living, the oldest

member of the Cumberland bar.

In 1806, Prentiss Mellen moved here from Biddeford,

and Ezekiel Whitman from New Gloucester, and were fol-

lowed- by Samuel Fessenden and Simon Greenleaf (a coterie

of distinguished lawyers), who had commenced practice in

the smaller towns.

Mr. Mellen was bom at Sterling, Mass., in October, 1764,

and graduated at Harvard in 1784. He practiced law a

few months in his native town, and two years in Bridge-

water, when, by the advice of Judge Thacher, he removed

to Biddeford, and both there and at Portland he had a very

lai^e practice, which extended into every county in Maine.

He was the first chief justice of this State, appointed in

in Maine L^;islature in 1820 ; Reporter of Decisions of the

Supreme Court, 1820-32
; Royal Professor of Law at Har-

vard, 1833-45 ; Dane Professor of Law, 1845-48 ; Emeri-

tus Professor, 1848 till his death. He was a member of

the Massachusetts Constitutional Convention in 1853, and

received his d^ree of A.M. from Bowdoin CoU^e in 1817,

and LL.D. from Harvard in 1834, and Amherst in 1845.

Woodbury Storer was bom in Portland, July 12, 1783.

His father came from Wells to Portland before the Revolu-

tion. He combined in his veins the blood of the Dudleys,

the Hills, the Woodburys, and the Langdons,—all &mous
for their patriotism and heroic qualities in the early Indian

wars, and in the later straggle for independence. Mr. Storer

received his early education at Phillips Academy, Exeter,

N. H., then the highest seminary of its kind in the United

States. He entered in 1789, and two years later began the
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study of law with William Symmes, of Portland. He
had the adrantage of the society of such fellow-students as

Thomas E. Hale (who died in Castine"), William Freeman

(son of Judge Samuel Freeman), James Savaufe, General

Eustis (of Boston), William B. Sewall (of York), Edward

Payson (then preceptor of the Academy), Horatio South-

gate, James C. Jewett, Samuel Deane Freeman (brother of

William), and John Wadsworth,—all graduates of Harvard

College, except three. They had been attracted here as

students by the reputation of Mr. Symmes, Chief Justice

Parker, Daniel Davis, and Salmon Chase.

Mr. Storer continued with Mr. Symmes five years, and

was admitted to the bar in 1805. He commenced practice

in Portland, where he had the benefit of a large circle of

business connections. His progress was steady, and for

more than fifty years he pursued a uniform, consistent, up-

right course of practice, which won for him universal con-

fidence and respect He was a judicious, honorable, and

successful practitioner; was much employed in the admin-

istration of estates, as executor, guardian, and trustee, and

in all these relations was faithful to the rights of his clients

and of all concerned.

At the time of his death, which occurred Juno 24-, 1860,

at the age of seventy-seven years lacking eighteen days, Mr.

Storer was the oldest member of the Cumberland bar with

the single exception of Jonathan Morgan, who was then

eighty-two years old. Mr. Storer took great interest in

public improvements, particularly in the railroads which

have extended their advantages to various parts of the

State. He married, in 1811, Mary Barrett, of Greenfield,

Mass., a niece of Judge Barrett Potter, of Portland, and

granddaughter of Col. John Barrett, of Boston ; but left

no children.

Elisha Pomeroy Cutler, a young lawyer of brilliant talents

and fine promise, was admitted the same year with Mr.

Storer. He was the son of Dr. Robert Cutler, a distin-

guished physician of Amherst, N. H., where he was born

in 1780. He graduated at Williams College in 1798, and

pursued his legal studies with Judge Samuel Dana, of Gro-

ton, Mass. In 1805 he opened an office at North Yar-

mouth, in this county. The town being settled by people

of New England stock, and being thrifty and flourishing,

Mr. Cutler found it a good place for his practice, which ex-

tended to the shire-town and to adjoining towns of the

county. He had not been three years in the place before

he was elected to represent the town in the Legislature,

and was re-elected the two following years, 1809 and 1810.

During this period he distinguished himself as an able

debater, and would have made a figure in political life, as

well as at the bar, had he not been cut down in the prime

of manhood by a pulmonary disease which terminated his

days in August, 1813, at the age of thirty-three.

In 1811, Mr. Cutler married Elizabeth, daughter of Capt.

Judah Delano, of Portland, by whom he had one son, a

merchant in Boston. His widow married Josiah W.

Mitchell, of Freeport, a lawyer and friend of Mr. Cutler's.

Horatio Southgate was admitted to the Cumberland bar

at the October term of Common Pleas held at New Glou-

cester in 1802. He was the son of Dr. Robert Southgate. i

of Scarborough, who was also one of the judges of the
|

12

Common Pleas, and who came from Leicester, Mass., on

horseback, with all lii.s worldly goods in a pair of saddle-

bags. This worthy man, the father of several beautiful

and accomplished daughters, died in 1833, at the age of

ninety-two. His wife, the mother of Horatio and the other

children, was Mary, daughter of Richard King, of Scar-

borough, and sister of the eminent statesman, Rufus King.

Horatio was born in Scarborough in August, 1781, and

at the age of thirteen was placed at the famous Exeter

Academy, where he had for his associates Henry Wads-

worth, who gallantly perished before Tripoli in 1803; Lev-

erett Stonestall, of Salem, Mass. ; the accomplished Joseph

S. Buckminster, afterwards pastor of Brattle Street Church,

Boston ; Augustine and Bushrod Washington, from Vir-

ginia, and Daniel Webster. After his preparatory course at

this celebrated school, he entered the law-office of Salmon

Chase, of Portland, where he studied his profession, and

was in regular course admitted to the bar. He opened his

office in the Canal Bank building, or in a building which

stood on its site, and practiced here (attending to business

part of the time in Scarborough) till 1815, when he was

appointed register of probate for Cumberland County. He
remained in this office twenty-one years, discharging its

duties with singular fidelity, exactness, and promptitude.

In 1830 he prepared the " Probate Manual, containing

forms adapted to the practice of probate courts in the State

of Maine," also the laws relating to the subject—a valuable

and much-needed hand-book.

After the death of his father, Mr. Southgate removed to

Scarborough, and took possession of the old homestead,

where he continued to reside till his death.

CHAPTER XVIL

BENCH AND BAB—(Continued).

Members admitted since 1808—Sketches of Prominent Lawyers and
Judges—Doctors of Laws—-Attorneys and Gounselors-at-Law

practicing in tbe County in IS79.

General Samuel Fessenden, so long and favorably

known as a leading member of the Cumberland bar, was

born in Fryeburg, Me., July 16, 1784. John Fessenden,

the firat of the name in this country, was " admitted a free-

man" of Cambridge, Mass., in 16-11. The branch of the

family in Maine descended from William Fessenden, bom
in 1693, married to Martha Wyeth in 1716, and had eleven

children. His oldest son, William, graduated at Har-

vard ; married Mary Palmer, March 31, 1740, and had six

children, one of whom, William, was the father of Samuel.

He was born in 1747 (O.S.)
;
graduated at Harvard in

1786, and was settled the first minister of the First Parish

in Fryeburg, Oct. 11, 1775, in which office he continued

about thirty years, till his death. May 6, 1805.

Samuel Fessenden, the distinguished subject of this

sketch, graduated at Dartmouth College in 1806. He
studied law in the office of Judge Dana, of Fryeburg ; was

admitted to the bar in 1 809, and opened an office in New
Gloucester, where Judge Weston and Daniel Howard were
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then in practice. This was in the central part of the county,

and was then a place of considerable trade. Professor Green

-

leaf at that time practiced in the adjoining town of Graj,

and was Gen. Fessenden's chief competitor. Their foren-

sic encounters were often scenes of great interest, and

lasted long after they had entered the larger arena of prac-

tice at Portland. In learning and ability it was difficult to

choose between them, although each had his different mode

of attack and defense, and his own peculiar manner of pre-

senting and arguing causes. G.reenleaf was keen, ingenious,

insinuating, and fluent ; Fessenden solid, moderate in man-

ner, pertinacious, and persevering. Both had about equal

weight and influence with the jury.

Gen. Fessenden moved to Portland in 1822, and formed

a partnership with Thomas Amory Deblois, who had

studied law with Samuel A. Bradley at Fryeburg, and

been admitted in 1816. He had practiced first a short

time in Windham before moving to Portland. This part-

nership continued till 1854, when it was dissolved, and

Daniel Fessenden, son of the general, took the place of

Deblois. The latter firm continued till Daniel Fessenden

was elected clerk of the courts in 1861. The general then,

after fifty years of laborious, active, and eminently success-

ful professional service, retired to the quiet scenes of private

life. In 1864 he was the oldest living member but one of

the Cumberland bar. For many years he was the honored

president of the Cumberland Bar Association. He was a

ripe scholar, and a man of no little literary ability. He was

a representative from New Gloucester to the General Court

of Massachusetts in 1814-19. It was while he was a rep-

resentative in 1814, diiicussing the proposition to send dele-

gates to the Hartford Convention, that he made his famous

speech against the national administration, in which he ut-

tered the memorable declaration that he was " ready to take

the constitution in one hand and a sword in the other, and

demand at Washington the constitutional rights of the peo-

ple." He was Senatorin 1818, and it was during that year

that he had his memorable controversy with Gen. King, a

Senator from Lincoln County.

Four of Gen. Fessenden's sons were educated for the

bar, three for medicine, and one for the pulpit. Three

were in Congress in 1864, viz. : Samuel C, a Representa-

tative from the Third Congressional District of Maine

;

William Pitt, the distinguished Senator from Maine ; and

Thomas A. D., elected from the Oxford district, to fill the

unexpired term of Judge Walton.

William Pitt Fessenden, the oldest son, was born in

1806, and early manifested remarkable mental powers. He
entered college before he was thirteen, and graduated

before he was seventeen years of age. He studied his pro-

fession with Charles S. Daveis, of Portland, whose able

counsel and superior line of practice cultivated and devel-

oped that activity of mind, those brilliant powers which

carried him with undeviating step to the head of the bar

in Maine, and to the leadership in the Senate of the United

States, and would have given him the highest seat on the

bench of the Supreme Court of the State if he would have

been willing to sacrifice the noble aspirations of political

for the quiet and solid rewards of judicial office.

Mr. Fessenden was elected first to Congress in 1840

)

j

he had been sent to the Legislature in 1832 and in 1840,

and was four times subsequently returned to that body after

his first term in Congress. In 1854 he was elected to the

Senate of the United- States ; was re-elected in 1859, and

continued in the Senate till he was appointed Secretary of

the Treasury in 1864, in which office he remained till

March, 1865, when he was again elected to the Senate, and

remained Senator until his death in 1869.

Albion K. Pabris, the second Governor of Maine, was

born at Hebron, in this State, Jan. 19, 1788. He was the

seventh in descent from Thomas Parris, of London, through

John, Thomas, Thomas (2d), Benjamin, and Samuel, his

father. He graduated in 1806, at Dartmouth College, and

studied law with Chief Justice Whitman, first at New Glou-

cester and then at Portland, completing his preparation in

the latter place, and being admitted to the Cumberland bar

in 1809. He immediately established himself in Paris,

Oxford Co. From that period his career in politics and in

the line of his profession was one almost, if not entirely,

unprecedented in the history of the county. He went on

from one office to another in rapid succession, in some

instances new places being found for him before he had

fulfilled the time of the old. In 1811 he was appointed

county attorney for Oxford County. In 1813 he was

elected to the General Court of Massachusetts. In 1814

he was chosen Senator for the counties of Oxford and

Somerset, and in November of the same year was elected

member of Congress ; he was re-elected to the Fifteenth

Congress, and while discharging the duties of Representative

was appointed jud^e of the United States District Court

for Maine, as the successor of Judge Sewall. In this year

(1818) he moved to Portland, and the next year (1819)

was chosen a delegate to the convention to frame a consti-

tution for the new State. On the admission of the State

into the Union (1820) he was appointed judge of probate

for Cumberland County (at the same time he was holding

the office of United States District Judge), to succeed the

veteran Samuel Freeman, who had held the office sixteen

years as the successor of Judge Gorham. In 1821 he was

elected Governor of Maine, and, by successive elections, con-

tinued to hold the office five years. He was very popular,

and his administration satisfactory. At its expiration he

was elected to the United States Senate in the place of

John Holmes, whose term of office expired March 3, 1827.

In June, 1828, he was appointed Associate Justice of the

Supreme Court of the State, in the place of Judge Preble,

who resigned on account of his appointment as United

States Minister to the Hague.

It is but justice to say that Judge Parris received un-

qualified approval from the bar and the community for the

ability, promptness, and impartiality of his decisions. But

hardly had he ripened his judicial powers and prepared the

way for fame on the bench when he was called by President

Van Buren, in 1836, to the office of Second Comptroller of

the Treasury of the United States,— an honorable position

and one of more emolument and ease than he had hitherto

held. He conducted the affairs of this office with his usual

promptness and fidelity for a period of fourteen years,

—

through the administrations of Van Buren, Harrison, Tyler,

Folk, and Taylor,—retiring and returning to Portland in
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1850. In 1852 he was chosen mayor of the citj', the dis-

charjje of the duties of which office was his last public

service. He declined a second nomination, and for the

remainder of his life reposed quietly on his many and

well-earned laurels. He died February 11, 1857.

Charles Stewart Daveis was amon<; the best-read

and most highly cultivated lawyers of Maine. He was

bom in Portland, May 10, 1788. His father. Captain

Ebenezer Daveis, was a native of Haverhill, Mass., and au

officer in the war of the Revolution. He came to Port-

land at the close of the war, where he died in 1799, leav-

ing only this one son. Captain Daveis was a large, well-

proportioned man, with a military air and easy, graceful

manners.

Mr. Daveis, the subject of this notice, received the rudi-

ments of his education at the common schools of Portland,

then attended the famous Phillips Academy (the branch at

Andover), and graduated at Bowdoin College in 1807. He
immediately entered as student-at-law in the office of Nicho-

las Emery, who had recently removed to Portland from

Parsonsfield, with a high reputation as a lawyer and advo-

cate. Mr. Daveis while studying law also indulged his

literary taste in writing. He wrot« both poetry and prose

with facility and grace of style, being a frequent contributor

to the old Portland Gazette, whose columns he much en-

livened. The staple of his time was, however, devoted to

the preparation for the bar, to which he was duly admitted

in 1810.

He commenced practice in his native town, which con-

tinued to be the scene of his labors, trials, and triumphs.

He was among the first to engage in equity practice in the

State, at a time when the system was unpopular, both with

the bench and the bar. In this and the admiralty courts

Mr. Daveis took a prominent and leading place, so that his

reputation and business were widely extended, and his pro-

fessional services eagerly sought after, lie became more

familiar with the science of law, especially in its relation to

equity and admiralty practice, than any man in the State,

until that department, chiefly through his independent

labors, had become of sufficient importance to attract others

to its study. He was a fine forensic orator, although, from

his exhaustive habits of study and copiousness of illus-

tration, rather disposed to overload his effi>rts with a

superabundance of citations, and render prolix what would

otherwise be clear, forcible, and beautiful.

Mr. Daveis was equally skilled in the principles of com-

mon law ; he kept up fully with the rapid progress of litera-

ture, was a copious writer, and was often called upon for

occasional addresses. Among these was an address before

the Portland Benevolent Society in 1813 ; a fiinend oration

upon Adams and Jefferson in 1826 ; a Latin address at

Brunswick in 1839, upon the occasion of the inauguration

of Dr. Woods as president of Bowdoin College ; and others.

He also drew up the able and feelfng series of resolutions

upon the death of Chief Justice Story, which were pre-

sented at a meeting of the bar of the Circuit Court of the

United States, at which Mr. Longfellow presided. He

early engaged with ardor in the discussion of the questions

relating to the northeastern boundary, and in 1827 was ap-

pointed by Governor Lincoln agent of the State to inquire

into faet.s relatinf; to it. In that year he made an able re-

port to the Governor on tiie subject, which occupies twenty

octavo pages in the documents of the Legislature. In 1838

he was appointed a special agent in the matter by the gen-

eral government, in pursuance of which he repaired to

Washington, and discharged the duties of his position with

discretion and ability.

Mr. Daveis was Senator from Cumberland County to the

State Legislature in 1841, and was appointed chairman of

the joint select committee on the Northeastern Boundary.

His report on this subject was an able document. He was

one of the early members of the Maine Historical Society,

and a member of the Phi Beta Kappa Society of Harvard

College. Bowdoin College in 1844 conferred upon liim the

degree of Doctor of Laws. He died March 29, 1865.

William Pitt Preble, a distinguished member of the

bench and bar of this county, was a native of York, having

been born in that part of the county called Scotland Parish,

on the 27th of November, 1783. He descended from a

long line of illustrious ancestors. Abraham Preble, who

came from England to Scituate. Mass., in 1637, in 1642

purchased of Edward Godfrey, the agent of Sir Ferdinando

Gorges, a tract of land in Agamenticus, now York, where

he settled and continued to re.side till his death, in 1663.

In 1645 he was one of the council of the government of

New Somersetshire, which was established by Gorges, and

was the first civil government in Maine. He continued to

hold the office as long as that government was maintained.

He was a member of the General Court of the province,

one of the commissioners to hold county courts, treasurer,

and the chief military officer of the province. His de-

scendants have been distinguished in the history of Maine

ever since that time. His son, Benjamin, filled many im-

portant positions. His great-grandson, Brig.-Gen. Preble,

of Portland, was not only conspicuous in public affairs for

half a century, but was the father of the renowned Com.

Edward Preble, and of Ebenezer and Henry, distinguished

merchants, as well as of Jlnoeh, an able ship-master.

Judge Preble's father was Esaias, the son of Samuel, who

was second in descent from the common ancestor, Abraham.

William Pitt Preble graduated at Harvard College in

1806, taking high rank for scholarship, especially mathe-

matics. He studied law m Topsham and Brunswick, com-

pleting his apprenticeship, in the latter place, under the

instruction of Mr. Orr, and commenced practice iu York,

whence he removed to Alfred, and in 1811 was appointed

county attorney for York County. In 1813 he moved to

Saco. In 1814 he received from President Madison the

appointment of United States attorney for the district of

Maine, as successor to Silas Lee, who died that year. In

1818 he moved to Portland, where he ever after continued

to reside. He entered the profession with a clear, discrimi-

nating mind, a high sense of honor, and a worthy ambition,

and consequently made rapid progress toward the higher

eminences of legal science which he ultimately attained.

In 1820, on the separation of the State from Massachu-

setts, Mr. Preble was appointed one of the three judges of

the Supreme Court of Maine. The decisions of this court

which emanated from him exhibit the soundness of argu-

ment and perspicuity of statement for which all his written



92 HISTORY OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

productions were remarkable. He retired from this honor-

able position, in 182S, to accept au important diplomatic

service, having been appointed by President Jackson Min-

ister Plenipotentiary to the Hague, to represent the interests

of this countiy in the northeastern boundary line question,

which the government had submitted to the arbitration of

the king of Holland. Judge Preble was associated with

Mr. Gallatin, Minister to the Court of St. James, in the

management of this famous case. The king of Holland

made his award in January, 1831, not upon its mcriL« and

proofs, but recommending a compromise. Judge Preble

returned home to resist its acceptance by our government.

He was sustained by the government and people of Maine,

and was appointed an agent to proceed to Washington for

the purpose of enforcing the rights of the State. There

was a disposition on the part of the government to accept

the award, which made the task of Judge Preble difficult

and laborious. The matter was not settled at this time, and

in 1832 Judge Preble was again appointed at the head of

a commission, of whom Reuel Williams and Nicholas Emery

were the other members, under whom an agreement was

entered into in July, 1832, by which Maine was to cede to

the United States the territory in dispute in lieu of a grant

of a million acres of land in Michigan. Meantime, renewed

negotiations were opened with Great Britain for the estab-

lishment of the line upon the basis of the treaty of 1783.

These were protracted; irritation increased to exasperation

on both sides until it broke out in what was called the

Aroostook war in 1839. The difficulty was not finally

settled until the English government, in 1841, sent over

Lord Ashburton, with full powers to adjust by compromise

or otherwise the vexed question. This resulted in the

Webster-Ashburton treaty ofAugust, 1842. Judge Preble's

agency in the difficult controversy did not terminate till the

question was settled, his last act in it being in the capacity

of one of the commissioners chosen by the Maine Legislature,

in 1842, to adjust the terms of settlement with the State.

The connection of Judge Preble with the most important

improvement of his time—the opening of the Atlantic and

St. Lawrence Railroad, now the Grand Trunk Railway

—

has been referred to in the history of railroads in a. previous

chapter. It should be added here that, on the 30th of

November, 1845, Judge Preble sailed for England to advo-

cate in that country the interests of the company. In

London he met emissaries who had been sent to create a

prejudice against the route to Portland, and divert the road

to Boston. Incredible efforts were made for this purpose,

and it was with great difficulty that Judge Preble could get

a hearing. He was greatly assisted by the presence of Mr.

Gait, the able representative of the Canadian road, and their

exertions were partially successful. He returned in Febru-

ary, 1846. The next movement was to settle the terms of

union with the Canada company. This was accomplished

to mutual satisfaction in April, and the road went on.

Among the papers which Judge Preble wrote in connec-

tion with the inception of this grand enterprise were " An

Address to the Citizens of Montreal," in 1845, " An Address

to Mr. Gladstone, the English Colonial Secretary," in 1846,

and ''A Memorial to the Governor-General of Canada," in

1847. All these papers bear the marks of his usual ability.

As one of the most influential politicians of the State,

Judge Preble exerted his great strength in behalf of the

separation of Maine from Massachusetts, which was consum-

mated in 1820. As an effective orator and speaker, he has

been thus spoken of: " When all his faculties were raised

into activity by the excitement of a great occasion bis mind

worked with the greatest ease, and he was capable on such

occasions of bringing out an argument that, by its strength

of reasoning, force of illustration, and effective eloquence,

gave him the mastery over others."

In 1812 the number of practicing attorneys in the county

was forty-three ; nineteen of them were in Portland. In

1831 the number in the county was fifty-seven, of whom

thirty-three resided in Portland. lu 1840 the number of

lawyers in the State was four hundred and thirty-seven, of

whom sixty-six belonged to the Cumberland bar. In 1850

the number practicing in the State was five hundred and

twenty-nine, sixty-five of whom resided in Portland.

Ethee Sheplet.—Chief Justice Shepley was the

second son of John Shepley, of Groton, Mass., and Mary,

widow of Capt. Thurlow of the Revolutionary army, a

daughter of Deacon Gibson Stowe. He was born in Gro-

ton, Nov. 2, 1789, and took his degree at Dartmouth Col-

lege in 1811. He began the study of law with Dudley

Hubbard, of South Berwick, Me., continued with Zabdiel

Adams, of Worcester County, and finished with Solomon

Strong, of Hampshire, being admitted in 1814, in which

year he settled in Saco and commenced practice. In 1819

he was elected to represent Saco in the General Court. In

February, 1821, he was appointed United States attorney

for the district of Maine, as successor to William Pitt Pre-

ble, who was placed on the bench of the Supreme Court.

This office he held till he was elected United States Senator

from Maine in 1833. He remained in the Senate till Sep-

tember, 1836, when he was appointed to the bench of the

Supreme Court, to fill a vacancy caused by the resignation

of Judge Parris. In 1848 he was appointed chief justice,

as the successor of Judge Whitman, and discharged the

duties of this high office with signal ability till 1855, when,

his constitutional term of seven years having expired, he

retired from the bench with an exalted and unsullied repu-

tation. His opinions are among the ablest in the Maine

Reports. He prepared the Revised Statutes published in

1857. A short time previous to his death, which occurred

July 20, 1878, Dartmouth College conferred upon him the

honorary degree of LL.D.

Hon. William Willis was born in Haverhill, Mass.,

Aug. 31, 1794, and was the second child of Benjamin and

Mary (McKinstry) Willis, who removed to Portland with

their family in 1803. William was fitted tor college at the

Phillips Exeter Academy, and graduated at Harvard in

1813. He studied law in Boston, whither the family had

removed after a short sojourn from Portland, and was ad-

mitt«d to the Suffolk bar in 1817, in which year he opened

a law office in Boston. Mr, Willis being invited by Prentice

Mellen, became a law-partner with him, in which relation

he continued till the admission of Maine as a State in 1820,

and the appointment of Mr. Mellen to the office of chief

justice of the Supreme Court. He then practiced by him-

self till 1835, when he became a partner with Hon. Wil-
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liam Pitt Fessendea, with whom he practiced continuously

for a period of twenty years.

On the 1st of September, 1823, he married Julia, daugh-

ter of Hon. Ezekiel Whitman, by whom he had nine chil-

dren. The parents survived them all, the mother dying

April 2, 1872.

Mr. Willis was a well-read, able lawyer, and by his ster-

ling integrity, purity and elevation of character, and by his

habits of exactness and accuracy as a counsel and convey-

ancer, sustained a high reputation. He continued busy in

his profession till near the close of his life, although a

large share of his time and attention were devoted to his-

torical and literary pursuits. It is chiefly by his great and

arduous labors in this direction that he will be known and

appreciated by future generations. We have thought it

most appropriate to give this portion of Mr. Willis' life in

the chapter on authors, where a catalogue of his works will

be found.*

Judge Ashub Ware was a graduate of Harvard Col-

lie, and was admitted to practice in Suffolk County in

1816 ; the next year he came to Portland and was admitted

to the Cumberland bar. Here he found, besides the elders

whose names have appeared in the foregoing pages, a class

of young men, destined to uphold the high character of the

bar and to adorn the profession. Among these were Eben-

ezer Everett, of Brunswick ; Joseph Adams, of Gorham
;

William Barrows, of North Yarmouth, whose early death

was greatly lamented ; Thomas A. Deblois, Bellamy Storer,

afterwards judge of the Supreme Court of Ohio ; and John

Anderson, whose successful career at the bar and in politics

will be briefly noticed hereafter.

Mr. Ware's principal object in coming to Portland was

to take editorial charge of the Eastern Argus, which he

immediately did, giving a new character to the paper. He
warmly advocated the policy of separation from Massachu-

setts, and upon the admission of the State into the Union

was rewarded by the office of Secretary of State, which he

held till the election of Judge Parris as Governor, when he

was appointed his successor on the bench of the United

States Court for the district of Maine in 1822. When he

entered upon his duties the admiralty law in this State was

in a crude and imperfect condition. There were no settled

rules established in regard to it, and no published decisions.

He went to work at once to investigate its principles, and

to establish a code of procedure based upon the laws and

usages of commercial enterprise from the earliest time.

His numerous decisions on all branches of this obscure and

difficult science gave it a permanent form, and placed him

among the most eminent jurists of this or any age.

The first volume containing the decisions of Judge Ware,

from 1822, was published in 1849, in an octavo volume of

four hundred and forty-three pages. Others were published

from time to time in the Law Reporter and other periodicals.

Besides, he was a most indefatigable student of general

literature, and constantly employed his pen in able and pro-

found discussions of legal and other topics. He prepared

several articles for Bonvier's new Dictionary, among them

a treatise on " Admiralty Jurisdiction," " The Duty of

* Mr. Willia wa« a member of the State Senate ia 1855.

Mastei's of Vessels," " Privileged Debts," etc. He pre-

pared also an elaborate treatise on •' The Limitations of the

Government of the United States under its Constitutional

Powers." In his writings and addresses his classical knowl-

edge was beautifully displayed without pedantry, and in a

rich and forcible style which shows at once his deep vein

of thought and his fine command of language.

Judge Ware married Sarah Morgridge, and had one son

and two daughters. The son, Joseph Ware, graduated at

Bowdoin College in 1851 ; became a lawyer, and practiced

in Portland till his death.

Judge Ware resigned his position on the bench in the

spring of 1866, having nobly discharged the duties of judge

of the United States Court for the district of Maine for

a period of forty-four years.

George Foster Shepley, late judge of the Circuit

Court of the United States, was the second son of the dis-

tinguished Chief Justice, Ether Shepley, and Anna (Foster)

Shepley. He was born in Saco, Me., on the Ist of Janu-

ary, 1819, and graduated at Dartmouth College in 1837, at

the early age of eighteen.

Having chosen the legal profession, he entered the law

school at Cambridge, where he had the privilege of the in-

struction of Judge Story and Professor Greenleaf How
faithfully and well he improved that privilege is shown by

the high rank as a lawyer he quickly won and ever main-

tained.

When only twenty yeare old he was admitted to practice,

and commenced business at Bangor as a partner of the late

Joshua W. Hathaway, who was soon after made an ai3soci-

ate justice of the Supreme Judicial Court of Maine.

About 1844 he removed to Portland and formed a busi-

ness connection with Hon. Joseph Howard. In 1848, Mr.

Howard was appointed a justice of the highest court in

Maine, and Mr. Shepley assumed the responsibility of a

large and important business, with the confident assurance

of all who had observed him, that young as he was, he was

equal to the work he undertook. He associated with him

John W. Dana, Esq., now deceased, and was recognized as

in the foremost rank of the bar, which numbered among

its active members Gen. Samuel Fessenden. Thomas Araory

Deblois, William Pitt Fessenden, R. H. L. Codman, Ed-

ward Fox, and other distinguished counselors.

In 1853 he was made United States District Attorney

for Maine, by President Pierce, and held the position till

June, 1861, having been re-appointed in 1857 by President

Buchanan. While occupying that office, though called

upon to conduct many important and difficult causes for the

government, he retained the large private practice of former

years, and constantly added to his professional reputiition.

Though entertaining strong politicul convictions in sym-

pathy with the Democratic party, up to 1861 he did not

to any great extent participate in political affairs. But he

was too prominent a person to be permitted to abstain

wholly from the excitement of party conflicts, and in 1850

was elected State Senator. He occasionally addressed con-

ventions and took part in political discussions, never failing,

to add to his reputation and influence. In 1860 he was a

delegate-at-large to the National Democratic Convention at

Charleston, and attended its adjourned session at Baltimore.
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The Maine dele<!ntion was divided five to three,—five for

Mr. Douglas and three for Mr. Guthrie. Among the latter

was Judge Shepley. He took a promineDt part in the con-

vention, and the speech which he made in response to the

call for the State of Maine became famous. In the cam-

paign which followed he supported Mr. Douglas.

Upon the election of President Lincoln he was not found

among those who sympathized with, or apologized for, the

attempt to break up the Union. -He was true to his con-

victions, and on Sept. 27, 1861, accepted a commission aa

colonel of the 12th Maine Yolunteeis, a regiment raised to

form part of the New England division of Gren. Benj. F.

Butler. He lef)i Portland with his command Nov. 24, 1861,

for Lowell, Mass., where he remained till Jan. 1, 1862 ; on

the 12th of February, 1862, be arrived at Ship Island, and

on the 22d of the same month, by G-eneral Order No. 2, of

Department of the Gulf, was placed in command of the 3d

Brigade, consisting of the 12th, 13th, 14th, and 15th

Maine, the 30th Massachusetts Regiments, the 1st Maine

Battery, and "Magee's cavalry.

On 'the occupation of New Orleans he was made military

commandant of that city. In this arduous and responsible

place, he so administered afiairs as to win the respect and

affections of the conquered and embittered inhabitants, and

to secure the confidence and approval of those above him.

His duties were both civil and military, and in both he

manifested prudence, energy, and ability, which were re-

peatedly commended, and on the 3d day of June, 1862,

were honorably recognized by his appointment by President

Lincolir, upon the recommendation of the Secretary of War,

as Military Governor of the State of Louisiana, " with fiill

powers, including the power to establish all necessary offices

and tribunals and suspend the writ of habeas corpits."

July 20th he was appointed brigadier-general to rank from

July 18, 1862. As Military Governor of Louisiana he

fully sustained the high reputation he had established as

commandant of the city.

Upon the inauguration of a civil Governor, he was, at his

own request, relieved by the President, and ordered to re-

port again to the adjutant-general of the army for service

in the field. When he left New Orleans, leading and influ-

ential citizens testified their aj)preciation of his administra-

tion by itn address commencing as follows :

" We, oitizens of New Orleang, arail ouraelves of the opportunity

afforded us by the close of your official career among us, to giro ex-

pression to the sentiments of regard and esteem with which your

character and conduct hare inspired us. For nearly two years you

have performed the delicate and arduous duties of Military Gorernor

of I^ouisiana in a manner beyond all praise, winning in your official

capacity the respect of the whole community, and by your social vir-

tues oonrerting all who have enjoyed the pleasure of your acquaint-

ance into warm personal friends."

Upon being relieved in Louisiana he was ordered to re-

port for duty in the Department of Yirginia and North

Carolina, and was placed in command of the military dis-

trict of Eastern Virginia. This district included Fortress

Monroe, Newport News, Yorktown, Williamsburg, Norfolk,

and Portsmouth, with the line of defense known as Getty's

line, the eastern shore of Virginia, and that portion of

North Carolina north of Albemarle Sound. He again took

the field as chief-of-staff to Maj.-Gen. Weitzel, acting in

that capacity, and for a short time, during the absence of

Gen. Weitzel, commanding the 25th Army Corps. He
continued with the Army of the James to the end of the

campaign, entering Richmond with Gen. Wcitzel's com-

mand,—which were the first troops to enter that city after

its fall,—and was appointed the first Military Governor of

that city. At the close of the war he resigned his com-

mission, July 1, 1865.

In the early part of his military career he was tendered

a nomination for Congress by the Democrats of this district,

but declined in a letter in which he said his highest ambi-

tion was to see his country at peace and prosperous again,

and to be himself at liberty to return to the practice of his

profession.

In November, 1865, he was appointed an as.sociate justice

of the Supreme Judicial Court of this State, but declined

the position.

The events of the war and his own experiences led to a

change of his political relations, and he became identified

with the Republican party, by whom he was elected Rep-

resentative to the State Legislature in 1866, in which he

served with marked ability.

Shortly after the close of the session he resumed the

practice of law, having formed a copartnership with A. A.

Strout, Esq., under the style of " Shepley & Strout." But

he was not long permitted to remain in a private station.

When, in 1869, the judicial system of the United States

was amended by an act providing for the appointment of

circuit judges, he was, without seeking on his part, selected

for the appointment in the first circuit. His commission

was .issued Dec. 22, 1869, and he at once entered upon the

discharge of the laborious and responsible duties of that

high judicial office.

In the years oF his judicial life he was constantly culled

upon to sit in difficult and important cases, and, by his

knowledge, his acumen, and his impartiality, fully proved

the wisdom of his selection for the judgeship. In matters

of patent law his work has been especially severe, and those

best qualified to estimate how he has performed that work

are unanimous in his praise and in according to him the

highest rank as a judge in that branch of the law. Nor

has he failed in any respect to meet the high anticipations

of the public at the time of his appointment, but, rather,

he has commanded the confidence and gained the applause

of the best and soundest lawyers throughout his circuit and

the country.

His mental faculties, originally of high order, were strength-

ened and disciplined by constant study. The range of his

attainments was wide. His taste in literature and art was

cultivated and refined. His eminence was fittingly recog-

nized only a few weeks before his death, by the honorary

degree of LL.D., conferred on him by his alma mater.

Judge Shepley, us was well known to those intimate with

him and enjoying his confidence, was ever a full and strong

believer in the Holy Scriptures, but did not until recently

publicly unite with any religious society. A little more

than a year ago he joined the Episcopal Church and con-

nected himself with the St. Luke's Society of Portland.

That he was a firm and devout believer in the truths of

Christianity there is abundant evidence, and in that faith
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he daily grew stronger, aod found increasing joy. His

religious life was deep aud sincere without ostentation or

dogmatism.

By nature he wa.s kindly and considerate to all men.

His sympathies were quick and his affection strong and

enduring. Only those who have been permitted to see him

in his own home, and surrounded by those whom he loved

and trusted, can imagine how sweet his disposition was, and

how he brought happiness to those around him.

While living in Bangor he married Miss Lucy Hayes, by

whom he had four children,—one son and three daughters.

She died in 1859. Two of the daughters—Mrs. Sclfridge,

wife of Commander T. 0. Selfridge (United States Navy),

and Mrs. Tiffany, wife of a prominent lawyer of St. Louis

—survive their father. In 1872, Judge Shepley married

Miss Helen Merrill, daughter of the late Eliphalet Merrill,

who survives him.

The obituary, published in the Press at the time of

Judge Shepley's decease, to which we are principally in-

debted for the above facts, closes as follows

:

" If the fullness of life is to be reckoned bj the amount of work
well done, we oannot feel that oar honored fellow-citizen has been

prematurely cut off; bat, as we remember how full of strength he

seemed and what capaoity fur usefulness yet remained to him, and

what all men hoped from him, we bow in sorrow at the sudden extin-

guishing of his light."

Judge Shepley died on the 20th of July, 1878; in the

sixtieth year of his age.

For a more adequate sketch of his life and character than

our limited space here permits, we must refer the reader to

the eloquent tribute to his memory by distinguished mem-

bers of the court and bar on the occasion of his decease,

and the appropriate resolutions then passed. These will be

found published with the proceedings of the Circuit Court,

in pamphlet form.

Judge Edward Pox, the successor of Judge Ware on

the bench of the District Court of the United States, and

the present incumbent of that responsible office, was born

in Portland on the 10th of June, 1815. He graduated

at Harvard College in 1834, and at the Harvard Law School

in 1837, in which year he commenced practice in Portland.

Sis legal abilities and thorough preparation soon gave him

command of a large professional practice, in which he con-

tinued without interruption for a period of twenty-five

years. In 1862 he was appointed one of the judges of the

Supreme Court of the State, a position which he honorably

filled, but saw fit to resign in 1863, and returned again to

the practice of his profession. In June, 1866, he was ap-

pointed as the successor of Judge Ware to the bench of

the District Coart of the United States, and has held the

position ever since, discharging its duties with ability and

fidelity.

Judge Fox was married, in 1837, to Lucy Ellen Wins-

low, daughter of Nathan Winslow, of Portland. By

this marriage he has had one sou and one daughter, the

former a graduate of Harvard College and Law School,

who practiced law in Portland till shortly before his death,

which occurred in 1877. His daughter is the wife of Gren.

Francis Fessenden.

Samuel A. BaADLEr, who had been a famous lawyer

in Oxford County, and a friend and college classmate of

Daniel Webster at Dartmouth, came to Portland in 1825,

aod engaged in speculations outside of his profession, in

which he accumulated large property. He died at the house

of his brother Robert, in Fryeburg, Sept. 24, 1844, nearly

seventy years of age.

Judge Joseph Howard was born in the year 1800 at

Brownfield, Oxford Co. At the time of his death he was

seventy-seven years of age. His preliminary education was

obtained at Fryeburg Academy. He graduated at Bowdoin

College in 1821, taking a high rank in his class, and im-

mediately commenced the study of law in the office of

Judge Dana, at Fryeburg. He completed his studies in

the office of Judge Daniel G-oodenow, and was admitted to

the bar in 1824. He first opened an office in Bridgton,

Cumberland Co. Within a year John Burnham, a success-

fill lawyer in Limerick, York Co., died suddenly, and Mr.

Howard immediately removed there, where he remained in

successful practice for twelve or fifteen years. While quite

young he received the appointment of county attorney for

York County, and very ably performed the duties of that

office for about ten years.

In 1837 he removed from Limerick to Portland, and

soon after formed a partnership with Henry B. Osgood, his

brother-in-law, their wives being the accomplished daugh-

ters of Judge Dana and sisters of the late Governor, John

W. Dana. After the decease of Mr. Osgood, he and the

late George F. Shepley, Judge of the United States Circuit

Court, formed a partnership which continued till 1848,

when the senior partner, Mr. Howard, was appointed a

justice of the Supreme Judicial Court. Prior to that time

he had for seveml years filled the office of United States

Attorney for the District of Maine. When his term of

office on the bench of the Supreme Court expired he was

in the prime of life, and soon after formed a partnership

with Sewall C. Strout, Esq., of Portland, which firm con-

tinued several yeai-s, when it was dissolved to enable the

judge to associate with him in business his son-in-law,

Nathan Cleaves, late judge of probate for Cumberland

County. Afterwards Henry B. Cleaves, Esq., late solicitor

for the city of Portland, was admitted as a member of (he

firm, which continued till the death of the subject of this

notice.

From the Memorial of Judge Howard in the sixty-

seventh volume of the Maine Reports, we select a few ex-

tracts bearing upon his life and character.

Hon. N. S. Littlefield said,

—

" The cireamstanoes of hia death were peculiar. On an early day

in the month of December last he left his home in this city with the

intention of spending the balance of that day with his only brother

and family, on the old homestead in Brownfield, and of spending the

next day in Fryeburg, where the Oxford County December term of

this court (Supreme Judicial) was being held by Judge Virgin. Ar-

riving at Brownfield about noon, be went to his brother's home, and

after dinner, it being pleasant, he went out alone and went orer the

farm on which he was bom. Failing to return as soon as expected,

search was made, and his lifeless body was found not far from the

dwelling-house. It was evident that death overtook him while ou his

return from his excursion. Ue had in his hand a bunch of evergreen,

emblematical of his memory, which will twine around our hearts till

they cease to beat. . . .

" As a son, as a brother, as a husband, as a father, as a friend, as a

man, and as a gentleman, he was all that could be desired ; he was as
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near perfection as humanity will allow. As a couDselor he was in all

rMpects reliable nnd safe. As a prosecating officer he was energetic

^d thorough. At a judge he was patien^ affable, untiring, and an

earnest seeker after truth. He would rule a point against counsel in

80 kind and oonoUiator^ a m^ner that the disappointment would be

shorn, to a great extent, of its anpleaaantoess. His opinions on

questions of law are model8M>f conciseness, not at the expense of per-

spicuity*- -He never buried his ideas in words."

•- *- .

, ^ewalhC. Strout, Esq., said,— :^

'M had the pleasare of hia intinute aoqauntance for thirty years,

uine of whiolft.1 was his partner in the practice of lair. This asso-

oiatton tau^t me'to revere fai*^-character, and to lore the man as a

father. Few men possess the power of self-control which he habitn-

ally exercised. . . . His tastes were pare and eleratod. -. . . In his

friendships he was tender and anselfish. His charities were numerons.

... As a jadge he worthily maintained the dignity of the bench."

Judge Barrows said,

—

" I miss his presence and his cordial greeting, and in their stead

I receirethe fnneral garland which year affectionate respect devotes

to decorate his tomb ; and I listen to the tribute you pay to departed

worth, and strive to recognise the fact that in these scenes where he

has so long been busy he will appear no more forever."

Nathan Clutors was bom in Rumoey, Grafton Co.,

N. H., Aug. 18, 1803. His ancestors—of a well-known

English family—emigrated to this country early in colonial

times, and settled in the southern part of New Hampshire.

His grandfather temoved to Rumney, and lived there dur-

ing his life. He served as an officer through the Revolu-

tionary war, and ^as in all the important battleii from

Bunker Hill to Yorktown. The father of the judge also

lived in Rumney until 1820, the time of his death. Nathan

was the only son. His father, although a man much

esteemed in the community where he- lived, was poor, a

farmer, and able to do little more than provide a comfort-

able subsistence for his family. The mother was a woman

of unusual strength and energy of character, and of great

singleness and earnestness of purpose and action. The

early formative influences to which the boy was subjected

were of the purest and healthiest nature, for his was a

home, although quite humble, in which the principles of

honor and morality were both exemplified and taught.

Parental affection had, however, it tscums, cherished no

further expectations for the ixiture of the son than that he

should- succeed to his father's place and pursue the life

which he had led. But, from an early age, different pur-

poses had secretly filled the mind of young Clifford, who,

from his youth, was impelled by a wish to acquire such

knowledge as might qualify him for some more elevated

station in life than the one in which he was born. He re-

ceived the rudiments of ordinary education in the common

schoob of his native town ; but the instruction was of

course meagre, and the terms comprised only those few

months of the year in which farmers could spare their

children from the duties and services of home. Such were

the sources of the boy's learning until, at the age of four-

teen years, he made known to his parents' a desire of ob-

taining an education more liberal than was within the reach

of their means to afford him. Having overcome their re-

sistance to his departure from home, and having obtained

their reluctant consent to become u pupil in Haverhill Acad-

emy, an institution of considerable standing in those days.

he found means to enter the school, and remained there for

three years,—that is, until 1820.

The struggles of bis life may properly be said to have

begun at the time when, bent upon the pursuit of knowl-

edge, this young man first broke away from home and,

relying almost exclusively upon his own efforts, entered

upon a course of academical study. The expedient adopted

by him for obtaining the necessary means of support was

the common one of school-teaching in the common schools

of the country towns of his native State. The proceeds

were small, but they were sufficient. The three years of

school life at Haverhill were subject to interruptions from

this cause, but unflagging industry made up for the ab-

sences and brought rapid progress and high mental disci-

pline. Subsequently to this,' a year spent at the Literary

Institution at New Hampton completed the young man's

academical career, and at the expiration of that time, at the

age of eighteen years, he entered the office of Hon. Josiah

Quincy, a leading lawyer of Grafton County, as a student

at law. This choice of the profession of law was no acci-

dent or sudden decision, but the result of a fixed and settled

preference. The years of preparation had been years of

close and intense study, and they had borne their fruit in a

mind much matured, and in the production of practical views

of life. The instructions of the academy had been supple-

mented by a considerable stock of general reading, so that,

in spite of many difficulties, Mr. Clifford had well fitted

himself fur the study of his chosen profession. To this he

now devoted himself with what had already become charac-

teristic assiduity. At the time of which we are writing,

admission to'the bar of New Hampshire could only be ob-

tained by a candidate, not a college graduate, after a labori-

ous preparation of five years ; but this, although inter-

rupted still by the necessary resort to school-teaching, Mr.

Clifford had faithfully accomplished in 1827. He had also

unaided, and to a very large extent by himself, pursued the

course of classical and other study then prescribed for a

New England college. With no little ^disappointment, he

had relinquished the desire to pursue a college course, from

the privileges of which, by the circumstances of his life at

that time, he considered himself excluded.

In May, 1827, he was admitted to practice in the Su-

preme Court of his native State, and at once removed to

the western part of Maine and established himself at the

town of Newfield, in the county of York. Here his pro-

fessional life really began, although, while a student, his

intelligence and practical knowledge had led to his being

not unfrequently intrusted with the management of cases

of no little importance and intricacy. In consequence of

early-acquired habits of study and reflection, and a memory

of remarkable strength and accuracy, the young lawyer

had brought with him into his newly-chosen field of prac-

tice a substantial fund of legal knowledge and a capacity

trained to apply it to the questions arising out of the busi-

ness of men. He soon, consequently, made his way to the

confidence of the people among whom he lived, and found

himself in the possession of a lucrative and increasing busi-

ness. Not long after his settlement in Newfield, Mr. Clif-

ford was married to Hannah, the eldest daughter of Capt.

James Ayer, at that time a leading citizen of the town.
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Like those of her husband, Mrs. Clifford's ancestors par-

ticipated iu the stru<:gies uud suuriiioes of the Rvvolutiou.

Hannah Ayer was quite youthful when she was married,

and has now for fifly-two years been the constant compaDion

of her husband throughout all the leading pa/>sage8 of his

career. With him, and with undiminished faculties, she

enjoys to-day the long, eventful, and honorable retrospect

which their joint lives afford. A lengthy period of absence

from the State, the larger part of each year of which has

been spent in Washington, has almost entirely removed

Mrs. Clifford from the society of Maine ; but in the sin-

cere love of all who know her she holds a seat, from which,

by no circnmstances possible to her, can she ever be dis-

placed.

Mr. Clifford was early led towards political life, and has

always been a Democrat. Notwithstanding at the time of

his coming to Newfield hardly a score of Democrats could

be found in the town, he was, in 1830, elected by a large

majority to represent it in the State Legislature, and three

times was re-elected to the same o£9ce. In 1833 he was

chosen Speaker of the House of B«presentatives, and in

the following year again received the same honor. Con-

tinued success accompanied him in the practice of his pro-

fession, and in 1834 he was appointed attorney-general of

the State. This o£Bce was then one requiring the exercise

of the highest order of legal ability and acquirement, but

this enlarged and more conspicuous stage of professional

action served only in higher measure to illustrate and exem-

plify the young attorney's talents and learning.

In the exciting political contest of 1838, Mr. Clifford

was nominated and elected to Congress from the First Con-

gressional District of Maine, and was re-elected in 1840.

He left Congress with an established reputation as an able

and accomplished debater and an accurate parliamentarian.

Although originally in favor of the re-election of Mr. Van

Buren, he supported the nomination of Mr. Polk with ardor,

and entered with great earnestness into that campaign.

Mr. Clifford was in the conduct of an extensive practice

when he was invited to become a member of the cabinet of

Mr. Polk as Attorney-General of the United States. The

office was congenial to the tastes of the new incumbent, and

in the channel of his life-long studies and practice. His

administration of its duties was .such as to show himself a

worthy successor of any that had preceded him in that high

station. While a member of the cabinet he was appointed

commissioner to exchange the ratifications of peace between

this country and Mexico at the close of the Mexican war.

After the establishment of peace between the two countries

the commissioner remained in Mexico, under a new ap-

pointment as envoy extraordinary and minister plenipoten-

tiary. In 1849, having returned to this country, he re-

moved to the city of Portland, which has ever since re-

mained his place of residence. Here he again returned to

the practice of the law, which he followed until his appoint-

ment as associate justice of the Supreme Court of the

United States by President Buchanan, in 1858.

When Mr. Justice Clifford took his seat upon the bench

of the Supreme Court nearly all the district judges, were

old men, almost past service, and the appointment of cir-

cuit judges had not then been authorized by the act of Con-

13

gress. The dockets wore crowded with cases, many of long

standing, and, as a colk^equence, an enormous amount of

labor was devolved upon the new judge. To this he ap-

plied himself with great energy. The incessant labor, how-

ever, of several years was required before the business was

reduced to the dimensions of the current cases. For sev-

eral years the judge took scarcely a day of vacation, but all

of the year not consumed in attendance upon the Supreme

Court was spent in the performance of circuit duties.

As a Federal judge, it is not now necessary to say any-

thing of the distinguished subject of this notice. His

active judicial life is still a part of the present time, and

hia character and abilities are the subjects of every-day

honor and respect. His opinions delivered in the Supreme

Court form a respectable part, both in number and impor-

tance, of forty volumes of the reports of the court, to wit

:

Howard, Black, Wallace, and Otto. His judgments upon

the circuit are, in part, embodied in four volumes of " Clif-

ford's Reports," edited by his son, William Henry Clifford,

Esq., of the Cumberland bar. For several years Judge

Clifford has been the senior justice of the court, and after

the death of Chief Justice Chase, became acting chief jus-

tice.

This sketch would still be incomplete if Judge Clifford's

selection as president of the electoral commission of 1877

should be omitted. The events of that memorable period

are still recent, the recollection of them fresh in the public

mind, and many of the actors still survive. The time,

therefore, for an analysis of .the merits of the decision in

connection with the lives of any of the members of that

tribunal has not yet come. But whatever may be the ver-

dict of history concerning the motive or character of the

final adjudication of thai great committee, Americans of the

present generation wjll bear witness that the calmness, wis-

dom, and justice of the venerable presiding officer's rulings

and decisions evoked, in the heat of discussion, a frank .and

universal admiration. Agreeing with the minority of that

body, the president delivered an opinion upon the question

of the Florida returns, and declined to give any judgments

upon the votes of the other contested States.

Six years ago Judge Clifford was privileged to retire from

the bench, with the liberal pension provided by law. But

retirement from active duty is not in accordance with his

habits or disposition. He is still in vigorous health and in

the full possession of matured faculties, trained and dis-

ciplined by great study and a most varied experience. He
has outlived the most of his generation, and still exhibits

no signs of bodily or mental decay. He has crowned the

life of a distinguished lawyer with what seems its most fit-

ting ending, (he character of a wise and great judge. In-

dustry, truthfulness, and fidelity are the prominent traits of

the judge's character. He has, however, always been no-

ticeable for extreme suavity of disposition and urbanity of

manner, iu a combination at least not usual, to wit: with

great force of character and unyielding determination in the

face of difficulties. That roughness or ruggedness of bear-

ing, which in many most estimable men seems to be the

concomitant of energy, is in him supplanted by a sincere

politeness of nature, by a gentleness which shows that great

force of will is not inconsistent with kindness and consider-



98 HISTORY OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

ation for the feelings of others. Witli him, an indomitable

mental and moral constitutiun is cloihcd with a mild and

gracious exterior, and still he is essentially a self-made man.

Daring the scenes of a most active Hfe, he has found time

to repair the defects of the education of early years. His

judicial writings exhibit a clear, compact, and weighty style,

and his memorial notices of some of his brethren who have

fallen asleep, their day of labor ended, abound with grace

and tenderness of expression. The colleges of New England

have not failed in a recognition of his acquisitions and

learning. Bowdoin and Dartmouth Colleges and Brown

and Harvard Universities have at different times conferred

upon him their degrees of Doctor of Laws.

Judge Clifford's fame rests on the abiding foundation of

substantial worth and years of conscientious devotion to ex-

alted duty. Among men he is truly to be considered happy,

for he is living in the ripe season of a long and well-spent

life, rich in honors, in the highest station, with none of the

infirmities of age, surrounded by the love and veneration of

numerous descendants, having deserved and won the cordial

regard and respect of his country.

Hon. Bion Beadbury.—His father, Jeremiah Brad-

bury, a native of Saco, Me., commenced the practice of

law in Biddeford, removed to South Berwick, and was ap-

pointed by President Madison collector of the port of York,

which place he held until 1820, when he was appointed

clerk of the courts, and removed to Alfred. He held this

office for twenty years, and removed to Calais, Me., where

he resided till his death, in 1848.

His mother, Mary Langdon, was daughter of Capt. Seth

Storer, of Saco, and granddaughter of Mrs. John Storer, of

Wells, who was sister of Governor Langdon of New Hamp-

shire, one of the signers of the Declaration of Independ-

ence. Mr. Bradbury's paternal grandfather was a captain

of the Revolution.

Bion Bradbury was bom in Biddeford, York Co., Me.,

Dec. 6, 1811. He received his academic education at

Gorham and South Berwick Academies, and graduated at

Bowdoin Collie in 1830. For the year 1831 be was pre-

ceptor of Alfred Academy. He commenced the study of

law at Alfred with Hon. Daniel Gk>odenow, completed his

legal studies with Hon. William Pitt Preble, of Portland,

and was admitted to the bar at Alfred, York Co., in May,

1834. In July of the same year he commenced practice in

Calais, Washington Co., Me., and soon after formed a law

partnership with Hon. Anson G. Chandler, which continued

until 1838, when Mr. Chandler was appointed to the bench.

In 1842 he was a member of the State Legislature from

Calais, and served on important committees. He was ap-

pointed collector of customs at Eastport, Me., in 1844,

re-appointed by President Polk, and received a second re-

appointment by President Pierce. He was member of the

State Legislature from Eastport in 1849 and 1850, a

member of the National Democratic Convention held at

Cincinnati in 1856, and also at Charleston and Baltimore

in 1860. He was Democratic candidate for Congress in

the Sixth District of Maine in 1858, and defeated by a

bare majority. In 1862 he was elected to the Legislature

from Eastport, as a war Democrat, by the unanimous vote

of both parties, and in 1863 was the Democratic candidate

for Governor.* During all his official relations he continued

the practice of the law, and since his removal to Portland,

in 18G4, has remained constant in the duties of his profes-

sion. As a lawyer, Mr. Bradbury is learned, cautious in

advising litigation, ever giving counsel in favor of compro-

mise and settlement of disputes, and to a remarkable degree

always retains the confidence of both parties. As an advo-

cate, he is persuasive with the jury, skillful in the examina-

tion of witnesses, graceful and spirited in his oratory. As

a legislator, he was one of the foremost debaters, and con-

trolled largely the policy of his party, who sought his advice

constantly. He always took an active part in all matters

of local. State, and national legislation. Not less to be ad-

mired as a citizen and neighbor, he possesses a well-balanced

mind, an evenness of temperament that controls his action at

all times, a frankness of manner that places friends and

strangers alike at ease while engaged in conversation, a

sympathetic heart for the needy, a kind word ever ready to

cheer the less fortunate, and whether surrounded by his

family, engaged in a perplexing case of litigation, or iu

anxious debate in the halls of legislation, he is ever the

courteous, genial, and agreeable gentleman. He married in

1837 Alice, daughter of Johnson Williams, of Brooklyn,

N. Y., and afterwards for many years a resident of Water-

ville. Me. They have five children living,—Albert W., a

practicing lawyer in Portland ; Bion, Jr., attached to the

Coast Survey ; Mary Langdon, widow of the late Charles

C. Wells ; Alice, wife of Charles F. Libby, Portland ; and

Marcia Dow Bradbury.

Hon. Blbridge Gerrt, youngest son of Peter and

Mary Gerry, was born in Waterford, Oxford Co., in the

then province of Maine, Dec. 6, 1813. His father, a native

of Harvard, Mass., at an early age, with a view to the im-

provement of his health, emigrated to Maine, to engage in

the arduous life of a pioneer, clearing the forests and making

himself a future home. He was a good, specimen of the

sturdy stock that in the earlier days conquered our rude soil,

leveled our forests, created our towns, founded our churches

and schools, and lifted the province of Maine into the

dignity of an independent State. He married Miss Mary

Cutler, of Sudbury, Mass., a refined and attractive woman.

For several years he was a Representative in the State Legis-

lature. He was laborious, thrifty, and exact in the man-

agement of his own affairs as well as of those intrusted to

his care, and was universally esteemed for his integrity and

conscientious fidelity to duty. Peter Gerry was a zealous

and active member of the Methodist Church, and his house

was the free and welcome home of the traveling preachers

of that denomination. He was one of four persons to erect

the first Methodist church in Waterford.

With such an example before him, Elbridge Gerry could

scarcely fail in the battle of life to win success. His boyish

pursuits were!* full of vitality and energy. The gun and

fishing-rod were his familiar companions, and the woods,

the hills, and the streams, his favorite resorts. In his own

language, poetically expressed, reciting the glowing memo-

ries of his youth,

—

• In 187i, Mr. Bradbury was the Democratic nominee for Congres!

from Portland.
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" Into the depths of forests sublime

r plunged and traveled, regardless of time :

The dazzling gloom and the wild ixrrar

Hurried the hours and shortened the day.

" The forests, so peaceful, so profound,

Awf 'ly grand in the absence of sound.

Were like silent majesty to me.

Land of mj boyhood, honor to thee !"

He remained at home until sixteen years of age, receiving

only the educational advantages then afforded by the com-

mon schools. During this period, though full of boyish

fun, and not very fond of study, he always led his classes

in the lessons. Self-reliance was characteristic of him from

boyhood.

He acquired the habit of public speaking, for which he

was thereafter noted, in the youthful debates with his school-

fellows, in which were discussed the gravest topics of the

hour, and into which he entered with great earnestness.

Before he was sixteen years old, he had by his own exertions

accumulated several hundred dollars, and being desirous of

obtaining a suitable education for some profession, he en-

tered Bridgton Academy, and at this and other similar in-

stitutions for several years sedulously pursued his studies,

teaching school in the winter months.

An incident occurred when he was about twenty years

old, while visiting at home, which may be appropriately re-

lated here as illustrative of the character of the man. At
a large gathering of the people of Waterford, assembled to

discuss the temperance question, a resolution was offered

that the members of the temperance society should give

their business patronage exclusively to those who belonged

to the association. The clei^ymen, physicians, and other

leading citizens advocated the proposition, no one appearing

in opposition. Young Gerry very reluctantly consented to

assume the negative, and, without previous preparation, he

threw himself with such spirit and ability into the discus-

sion that the veterans pounced upon him from all sides of

the house with great vehemence. The presiding officer, a

grave and venerable clergyman, tried to overawe him, but

without effect. He maintained manfully his ground, and

brought to bear upon the question the weapons of keen wit,

strong logic, and moral, religious, and social reasons, which,

by the verdict of the audience, were of conclusive force.

The victory was his, and established the fact that the young

man had the forensic power which foreshadowed his future

success as a speaker on the platform in the halls of the State

L^islature and Congress, and as an advocate at the bar.

In 1837, Mr. Gerry began to read law in the office of

Hon. Stephen Emery, and in June, 1839, was admitted to

the bar in Oxford County, opened an office in Waterford,

and entered at once upon a large and lucrative practice.

From the commencement of his practice he assumed the

entire control of his own causes, not only as attorney, but

as advocate, and soon rose to the front rank in the county

and State.

In January, 1840, he was elected clerk of the House of

Representatives of the State, and in 1841 he was appointed

a United States commissioner in bankruptcy. In 1842 he

was appointed county attorney by Governor Fairfield, and

in 1843 was elected to the same office by the people. In

1845 he resigned the office of county attorney, the propei

discharge of its duties seriously interfering with his prac-

tice, and for the further reason that he had been elected a

member of the House of Representatives.

This Legislature was marked for its ability, having among

its prominent members such men as Hon. William Pitt

Fessenden, Hon. Phineas Barnes, Hon. E. Wilder Farley,

and Mr. Howe, now United States Senator from Wisconsin,

all leaders of the Whig party. It is due to Mr. Gerry to

say that he took rank at once among the prominent leaders

of the forces on the other side. The session was one of

peculiar interest, from the magnitude of the questions in

debate. His first and ablest speech was on the admission

of Texas, being an exhaustive and logical argument in

favor of the measure, and winning the commendation of

friends and foes alike. As chairman of the committee on

the Dorr Rebellion in Rhode Island he reported a series of

resolutions, which he sustained with great ability. He
was also a member of the committee on the Oregon ques-

tion. The granting of the charter of the Atlantic and St.

Lawrence Railroad, pending at that session, was not only

voted for by Mr. Gerry, but earnestly and effectively sus-

tained by him in debate. At this session, in the absence

of the Speaker, he was elected Speaker pro fern.

In 1848 he was elected a member of the Thirty-first Con-

gress, from the First Congressional District of Maine. It

was a stormy and acrimonious session. It began with a

protracted struggle over the election of Speaker, and the

caucus sessions of each political party were exciting, per-

sonal, and bitter. In the debates on these occasions Mr.

Gerry took conspicuous part, and thus early established a

reputation for courage and ability. The question of slavery

tinged every issue.

The two extremes, the Abolitionists of the North and the

fire-eaters of the South, joined hands in arraying the two

sections against each other. To counteract the mischievous

designs of these men, and with the view to prevent the

bloody collision which he never doubted would otherwbe

ensue, Mr. Gerry, with other patriotic members, labored

earnestly and faithfully, and as the result the threatened

disaster was for the time arrested. At this session the com-

promise measures introduced by Mr. Clay were passed.

Into the discussion of these and related questions, Mr.

Gerry entered with great earnestness. One of his speeches,

reported at length in the Congressional Globe, is a full,

strong, compact presentation of his views upon the rio-hts

and powers of Congress, as well as upon their limitations.

His description of the evils of slavery—its antagonism to

human rights, as well as to the material interests of the

nation—is given with graphic force. But while he de-

nounced the institution, and showed that the sentiment of

the framers of the republic was adverse to its continuance,

he took his stand upon the constitution. Though he had
no doubt of the power of Congress to interdict slavery in

the Territories, he deemed such interdiction in the cases in

issue unnecessary, as nature had itself erected a barrier

which could not be passed. He was, therefore, in favor of

leaving the question to the people of the Territories.

Among the important matters of national concern before

this Congress was that of the reduction of postage to the
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presenc rate. In the light of present experience, it would

hardly seem that this great reformatory measure could have

created much debate. Yet it was then considered by many

a very hazardous experiment, and excited much heated dis-

cussion. Mr. Grerry, with strong faith in its success,—

a

faith which time has fully justified,—sustained the bill by a

clear and concise speech, by his personal influence, and by

his vote.

Among the prominent men who constituted this notable

Congress were Senators Clay, Webster, Calhoun, Benton,

Douglas, Houston, Jeff. Davis, Cass, and Chase, and in the

House, Howell Cobb, Toombs, A. H. Stephens, R. C.

Winthrop, and Griddmgs, of Ohio.

At the close of his term he declined a renomination and

returned to his practice as a lawyer in Waterford. His

business increased to such an extent that he removed to

Portland, where he continued in the active work of his

profession in Oxford, Androscoggin, and Cumberland

Counties for some six years, when his health broke down

and he was compelled to retire.

Although thas for several years in political life, co-

operating earnestly with the leading minds of the Demo-

cratic party, and holding important official positions, Mr.

Gerry was. wise enough to subordinate politics to his pro-

fession. As a public speaker he was bold, aggressive, argu-

mentative, and profoundly in earnest Possessed of an at-

tractive personal presence, tall and straight, nervous, and

ever inspired with his subject, he always commanded the

closest attention of his audiences. His cultivated taste for

general literature, which began in early life and which he

retains, has aided him in all his career and has sweetened

and mellowed the weary hours of a long and painful illness.

As a writer he was terse and logical. He was not only a

good advocate, but was a sound lawyer, well acquainted

with constitutional and the common law. He was ardently

attached to his profession, and his mind had been liberal-

ized by pursuits outside of the law. A question of his-

tory, romance, or law were all equally interesting to him.

Socially, he is genial, fond of conversation with his friends,

and devotedly attached to them. He married, Nov. 22,

1849, Miss Anna St. Clair, the brilliant and accomplished

daughter of Hon. Richard Jenness, of Portsmouth, N>H.,

by whom he has three children,—Alice, who was married

to Mr. A. M. Patterson, of Baltimore; Elbridge, a lawyer

in New York City ; and Elizabeth J. Gerry.

Hon. Josiah H. Dkummond, LL.D., was born in Wins-

low, Me., Aug. 30, 1827, and graduated from Waterville

Collie in 1846. He taught school three years, including

part of the time he was in college, and was admitted to the

bar in October, 1850. He was married December 10th of

the same year. He was elected to represent Waterville in

the Legislature of 1857, also re-elected and chosen Speaker

of the House in 1858, where be won much reputation for

his promptness and ability as a presiding officer. Me was

elected to the State Senate in 1860, and, daring the ses-

sion, was elected attorney-general of the State, to which of-

fice he was re-elected in 1861, 1862, and 1863. In 1860

he removed to Portland ; was elected to the Legislature from

that city to fill a vacancy, was elected Speaker, and declined

a re-election. He was city solicitor of Portland for several

years, and for over six years served on its school committee.

For some years past he has steadily refused political offices,

and devoted himself to his profession, in which he main-

tains a high position as a counselor and advocate, and holds

the position of attorney for important corporations. As a

citizen and as a lawyer no one in the State commands more

thoroughly the confidence and esteem of his fellow-citizens.

In Masonry he has attained such a world-wide reputation

that he may be almost said to have won his greatest fame

there. He was made a Mason in Waterville Lodge, No.

33, in 1849, and was elected its Master in 1856-57. In

1858—59 he was elected Deputy Grand Master of the Grand

Lodge of Maine, and in 1860, 1861, and 1862, Grand Mas-

ter. In 1865 he was appointed chairman of the committee

on foreign correspondence, and has filled that position ever

since, having prepared fifteen annual reports, each making

nearly one hundred and fiily octavo pages of fine type, or a

fairly-dzed volume of itself. This work has been so ably

done, and is so authoritative on Masonic law, that it has

been widely copied in the proceedings of other Grand

Lodges, and has done much to shape Masonic legislation in

this country, especially in r^ard to settling the question of

territorial jurisdiction according to the rules which he so

ably laid down in bis discussion with the Grand Lodge of

England in 1861.

He was made a Royal Arch Mason in Jerusalem Chapter,

at Hallowell, in 1858, and was its second officer in 1859.

In 1862 he was High Priest of Greenleaf Chapter, in Port-

land. From 1860 to 1867 he was an officer in the Grand

Chapter of Maine, being the Grand High Priest in 1866-67.

In 1871 he was elected General Grand High Priest of the

United States for the term of three years.

He received the Cryptic degrees in Portland Council in

1861, and in 1868 presided over the Grand Council.

He was made a Knight Templar in Maine Commandery,

at Grardiner, in 1860, and elected Captain-General the same

year. In 1862 he joined Portland Commandery, and was

at once elected Generalissimo. In 1866 he helped form St.

Alban Commandery, and was its first Commander, being re-

elected in 1867. In the Grand Commandery of Maine he

has held many offices, commencing as early as 1864, was

Grand Commander for the year 1878, and still holds that

office. In the Grand Chapter, he has been chairman of

the committee on foreign correspondence about as long as

in the Grand Lodge, and has also filled the same position in

the Grand Council and Grand Commandery for many years,

so that his Masonic writings fill thousands of printed pages.

He received the degrees of the Ancient Accepted Scot-

tish Rite in 1861-62, and was honored with the thirty-

third degree in the latter year. He was at once elected

Lieutenant Grand Commander, which place he held until he

was made Sovereign Grand Commander of the Supreme

Council for the Northern Masonic Jurisdiction, in 1867.

This office, the highest-in the gift of the fraternity, he has

held since that time, and is considered to have disohai^ed

its duties with singular ability, as, indeed, he has the duties

of every office which he has ever held.

The important positions which he has filled for many

years have made him widely known, and his acquaintance

eagerly sought by his brethren, not only in all parts of
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His great-grandfather, Ebenezer Virgin, came from Eag-

land to Salisbury, Mass., in the year 1722, and was admitted

a proprietor of Pennacoolc (Concord, N. H.), by payment of

twenty shillings, by vote of the committee of the General

Court, February, 1725. He was one of the first settlers of

Concord. His second son, Ebenezer Virgin, was grand-

father, whose ninth and youngest child was Peter C.

Virgin, father of William Wirt Virgin.

Peter C. Virgin was bom in Concord, July 25, 1783.

He removed to Rumford, Me., in 1806, where he married

Sally, daughter of Francis Keyes, one of the first settlers of

Kamford.

He was a student at Harvard College for two years in

early life, was a practicing lawyer in Bumfurd for sixty

years, county attorney, and member of the General Court

for several years, and he was prominently identified with

and a staunch supporter of the old Federalist party. He

died in 1872.

William Wirt Virgin was bom in Rumford, Sept. 18,

1823. He received his preliminary education in the

academies at North Bridgton and Bethel, Me., and grad-

uated at Bowdoin College Vfith the usual honors in 1844.

He studied law with his father, was admitted to the bar in

1847, and removed to Norway, Me., where he practiced law

until 1871.

While a resident of Norway, Oxford Co., he was county

attorney for three years, and a member of the State Senate

in 1865-66. During the latter year he served as pres-

ident of the Senate, and the same year resigned this position,

and was appointed reporter of decisions, which office he

held until December, 1872, when he was appointed a justice

of the Supreme Judicial Court.

As reporter of decisions of the court of which afterwards

he became an associate justice, by his lucid statement of

the case, and his concise and clear exposition in the mar-

ginal notes of the precise points decided, he proved him-

self a worthy successor of the many able Maine re-

porters, of whom the distinguished Simeon Greenleaf was

the earliest.

As a judge his deportment was dignified and courteous,

and his rulings prompt and accurate. To a nice sense of

right he added clear and quicic apprehension of legal prin-

ciples, and extensive acquaintance with reported cases. His

written opinions, found in the " Maine Reports," exhibit his

mental characteristics and force. In style and substance

they are productions on which he may well be content to

rest his judicial reputation. It is to be regretted that, by

the legislation reducing the number of justices of the Su-

preme Judicial Court, the public are to lose the services of

one whose continued judicial career could not fail to be so

useful and honorable to the State.

Judge Virgin has ever been interested in all questions

affecting local and national legislation, and during the

late Rebellion he took an active part in support of the

Union cause. In 1862 he raised the 23d Regiment of

Maine Infantry,—five companies from each of Oxford

and Androscoggin Counties,—of which he was elected

colonel. This regiment was employed about the de-

fenses of Washington and vicinity during their time

of service,—nine months,—and although they were never

in any engagement on the battle-field, yet it is said

that the discipline of this regiment, and their standard

of morality, were not exceeded by any regiments of the

army.
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America, but in Europe ; although, perhaps, the highest

commeodutioD that caa be given him is to say that he is

best beloTed at home, where he is best known. To him

Maine is indebted very largely for the high stand she takes

in the Masonic world, and it is safe to say that after Thomas
Smith Webb, who gave form to Masonry in this country, no

man has done more for it than Mr. Drummond. As an orator,

his fine voice and commanding form make him very attract-

ive ; as a writer, his clear and sharply-cut way of stating

facts make him most convincing ; as a working officer, he

has been always much admired. It is a significant fact,

that when a Masonic address is wanted in Maine, the first

choice almost invariably falls upon him, and the constant

demands of an arduous profession hardly serve to protect

him from continual service in this direction. When Mr.

Drummond commenced his Masonic career there were only

about sixty thousand Masons in this country ; now there

are about six hundred thousand, most of whom are familiar

with his name. With such an immense audience, his writ-

ings cannot but be a power in Masonry. In the midst of

his other multifarious duties he has found time to write a

monitor and digest of Masonic law, which has been adopted

as the standard in this State, and it is understood that he

is turning his attention to important historical work in con-

nection with the order. For this labor he is admirably

qualified, and we may anticipate from him in future even

more brilliant work than that done in the past.

The degree of LL.D. was conferred upon him by Colby

University in 1871.

Moses Morrill Butler was bom in Sanford, Me.,

March 8, 1824, and died in Portland, Me., Oct. 21, 1879.

He was the son of Ichabod Bntler, a practicing lawyer in

that town, and Mary Wise, daughter of Capt. Daniel Wise,

of Kennebunk. His father, by his mother's side, was con-

nected with the Wentworth family of New Hampshire, and

he was bom and brought up in South Berwick. The hill

back of the village iu that town is called Butler Hill to the

present day, having been a part of the family estate.

Mr. Butler was fitted for collie in the schools of Alfred,

Grorham, and North Yarmouth, and entered Bowdoin Col-

lege in 1841, where he gradnated at the head of his

class in 1845. Immediately after graduation he was en-

gaged for a time in teaching a high school in Springvale, at

the same time pursuing his studies to fit him for the pro-

fession of the law. He afterwards studied with Hon. E. E.

Bourne, of Kennebunk, and completed his legal course

with Hon. Samuel Wells, of Portland, subsequently one of

the judges of the Supreme Court of Maine. He was ad-

mitted to the Cumberland bar in 1847. He took the office

vacated by Mr. Wells, and shortly afterwards the business

of Hon. Augustine Haines, district attorney of the United

States, on the latter's retirement from the legal profession.

Subsequently Mr. Butler formed a law partnership with

Hon. William Pitt Fessenden, United States Senator from

Maine, which was continued with the senator's sons, ex-

Mayor Francis Fessenden and James D. Fessenden, register

of the court in bankruptcy. In December, 1873, he formed

a partnership with his nephew, Charles F. Libby, Esq., late

prosecuting attorney for Cumberland County, which was

continued up to the time of his decease.

Mr. Butler was county attorney from 1859 to 1865, Rep-

resentative to the Legislature in 1859, uud wiis Representa-

tive elect at the time of his decease. He was mayor of

Portland in 1877 and 1878, and was a member of the com-

mission appointed to report on the condition of the Port-

land and Ogdensburg and Portland and Rochester Rail-

roads, and what disposition had better be made of them.

He had been a director in the Cumberland Bank, and was

a director of the Portland Fraternity. He was a member

of the First Parish (Unitarian) society, and officiated as

moderator at the parish meetings.

He married, in 1850, Ulive M., only daughter of John

Storer, of Sanford, Me. Of this union were born three

children,—two sons and a daughter,—the oldest of whom,

John Storer Butler, died in infancy. His widow and two

children, Harry and Grace Butler, survive him.

From the beginning Mr. Butler was an able and success-

ful lawyer. In investigation he was laborious, discrimi-

nating, and thorough, and in the conduct of business

prompt and sagacious. He always presented the strongest

point of his case and maintained it with his whole strength.

At a younger age than most of the eminent lawyers he

managed an extensive practice in all branches of the pro-

fession. An untiring student, a convincing advocate, care-

fully preparing his cases, with great powers of cross-exami-

nation and excellent judgment, he soon attained the foremost

rank. At middle age he was prostrated by fever, caused

by excessive labor. Upon bis return to his profession his

accurate learning, his great experience at the bar, his -judi-

cial temperament, and his habits of profound investigation,

united to a firm yet amiable temper and pure life, qualified

him for the highest judicial positions, and he was spoken of

for such service. He would have adorned the bench.

At this period of his life the affairs of the city of Port-

land and its relations with its public enterprises required

examination and advice. The city appointed Mr. Butler

the chairman of a commission for this purpose. To this

work he brought those great qualities which had dbtiu-

guished him at the bar, laboring for his adopted city with

characteristic earnestness, and declining remuneration. In

a report remarkable for its clear exposition of long and in-

tricate relations between the city and its railroads, its correct

estimate of the situation of affairs, the wisdom of its sug-

gestions, and the vigor and propriety of its style, he placed

the whole subject before his fellow-citizens. This invaluable

service made him so pre-eminently suitable that, although

disinclined to public office, he was twice compelled to accept

the mayoralty of the city. His administration of city af-

fairs could not be surpassed. He managed its interests with

an information which no other man possessed, and with re-

sults which no other man has accomplished. His tried

abilities and knowledge of affairs were too valuable to his

fellow-citizens to be suffered out of their service, and he was

now elected to the Legislature at a time of special impor-

tance to the city. Before the assembling of the Legislature,

while in court conducting a trial, he was struck down by

paralysis, which in a few days proved fatal. The universal

sorrow of all parties at his death was the noblest tribute to

his memory. His fellow-citizens lost his services at the

fullness of his powers, when he was most able to serve them.
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and with his place in their regard constaatly increasing.

His official papers show his capacity for public affairs, and

his tribute to his college president, Leonard Woods, deliv-

ered in Portland in 1878, at the annual meeting of the

association of the resident alumni of Bowdoin College, ex-

hibits his power of refined and tender eloquence. A self-

sacrificing, public-spirited citizen, a useful member of his

church, a distinguished lawyer, a kind husband, a wise and

gentle father, and a good man, he evaded no duties and

acted his part well.

The following resolutions on the death of Mr. Butler were

adopted by the City Council of Portland, Nov. 3, 1879

:

" In testimony of sorrow, and as a tribute to the memory of the late

Moses M. Batler, so recently and so acceptably mayor of this city, and
at the time of his death a representative elect to the Legislatare, the

City Council adopt the following resolutions

:

" Boohed, That we recognize in the life and character of Mr. But-

ler, his learning and ability, his fidelity in all his public and private

dnties, his patient industry, his simplicity of purpose, his unassuming

manners, his seal in behalf of public education, social order, and

Christian advancement ; and while we are grateful that we have had

his services so long, we are yet saddened with the thought that we

shall have them no more forever.

" Xetolved, That we tender to his sorrowing family our sincere sym-

pathy in their bereavement in the loss of a devoted husband and kind

and indulgent father.

" Baolved, That these resolutions be extended upon the city records,

as a part of this evening's proceeding?, and that a copy of them be

forwarded to his widow and children by the city clerk, properly

authenticated."

SuxLrVAN C. Andrews.—The Andrews, in this country,

arc descendants from three Englishmen, brothers, who came

over about 1630. John settled at New Haven, Conn., Wil-

liam, at Wallingford, Conn., and Thomas, at Taunton, Mass.

They were descendants of Bishop Lancelot Andrews, D.D.,

an eminent English divine, born in London, 1555, and died

at Winchester House, Sept. 25, 1626. He was successively

bishop of Chichester, of Ely, and of Winchester, and was

made a privy counselor by King James I. He was him-

self a great scholar. William Andrews came to New
Haven, Conn., in 1638, from Hampsworth, England.

' ' Richard Andrews, merchant, in Cheapside, London, Eng-
•' land, a godly man, having leut five hundred pounds to

Plymouth Colony in New England, gave it to the poor.

He was an alderman in London, and was also one of the

associates of the Plymouth Colony, in 1626. Bradford

says the colony of Massachusetts Bay would have failed,

had it not been for the money and credit of the Andrews

of England, in connection with Shirley. Winthrop says

he gave many cattle by Mr. Humiiy, and five hundred and

forty-four- pounds by Mr. Peter, to the colony. Thomas

Andrews was a London merchant, and lord mayor of Lon-

don in 1650, and made Cotton Mather his chaplain.

Thomas Andrews, the emigrant, was a member of the

Greneral Court of the Grovernor and Colony of Massachu-

setts Bay, in New England, in 1629. From this fact it is

supposed he was one who came over in 1630 with Glov-

emor Winthrop and about fifteen hundred persons to settle

Boston. The court had two sessions that year, and he was

one of ,lffi^ auditing committee.

The great-grandfather of Sullivan C. Andrews was David,

who lived in Taanton, Mass. His grandfather, Edward

Andrews, bom in Taunton, Mass., Dec. 20, 1767, went to

Poland, Me., in 1785, where he remained a short time,

and then settled with his family in Paris, Oxford Co., Me.

He married Betsey Nevens, of Poland, a lady of high

moral worth and Christian excellence. They had five sons

and five daughters, who reached manhood and womanhood,

and occupied highly respectable positions in society. One

son, Charles, was a man of dbtinguished ability, both as a

lawyer and politician. He died while a member of Con-

gress, in 1852, a little less than thirty-nine years of age.

Alfred Andrews, father of Sullivan C. Andrews, was

bom in Paris, March 9, 1800, and died Dec. 14, 1864, at

that place. He was a merchant for forty years of his life,

mostly on Paris Hill, but for some years in Portland, where

he removed in 1840. Returning to Paris in 1 844, he retired

from business. He was a man of decided ability and ami-

able character, and respected by all who enjoyed his ac-

quaintance. He was called to fill many places of trust by

his fellow-citizens, and was a member of the State Legis-

lature in 1832 and 1833. He married, in 1824, Eliza St.

Clair, daughter of Caleb Cushman, a soldier of the Revo-

lution, a large land-owner, and a near descendant of Robert

Cushman, the first, or one of the first, clei^men of the

Plymouth Colony.

Sullivan C. Andrews was bom on Paris Hill, June 18,

1825. He received his preliminary education in town and

high schools at home, and at Dixfield and Hebron Academy.

During his residence at Portland he attended the private

English high school of B. F. Fernald, and was prepared

for college in the Portland Academy. He had formed

a desire for the profession of the law, and had received

instruction in the same in the office of his uncle, before

coming to Portland. In 1843, deciding not to take a

full course, he entered the law-office of B. F. Cummings,

of Paris Hill, where he remained a diligent student for

one year, and entered the law department of Harvard

University, at Cambridge, from which he graduated with

the usual honors in 1846, and at the April term of the

same year was admitted to the Portland bar. He then

spent one year in the law-office of his uncle, Hon. Charles

Andrews, then clerk of the Supreme Judicial Court for

Oxford County, and in May, 1847, opened an office in

Buckfield, in the same county, where, in a few years, he

established himself in a large and lucrative practice, oflen

aiding others as senior counsel.

He was honored by his townsmen with various positions

of trust. In 1855 he was elected county attorney for three

years, and in 1867 he was elected a member of the Legis-

lature. He has been a member of the Democratic State

Committee, and was a delegate to the National Convention

at Baltimore, in 1872. In 1864, Mr. Andrews was the un-

successful candidate for member of Congress in the Second

District. In 1873 he removed from Buckfield and settled

in Portland, where he has since resided, and has been

actively engaged in the practice of his profession. Since

1862 he has been engaged largely in outside business, and

in 1877, in connection with ex-Govemor Washburn, Hon.

Otis Hayford, and N. L. Marshall, he purchased the Port-

land and Oxford Central Railroad, running from Mechanic

Falls to Canton, about thirty miles, which they have

thoroughly rebuilt and are now operating successfully.
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Nathan Cleaves, son of Thomas and Sophia

(Bradstreet) Cleaves, of Bridgton, Cumberland Co.,

was bom Jan. 9, 1835. He prepared for college

at Portland Academy, and graduated at Bowdoin

College in 1858. Among the prominent members

of his class were Gen. Jonathan P. Cilley, of Rock-

land ; Gen. Francis Fessenden, late mayor of Port-

land ; Judge Lysander Hill, of Washington ; Hon.

E. B. Neally, of Bangor; Hon. Ellis Spear, late

Commissioner of Patents, Washington, D. C. ; and

Rev. Frank Sewall, President of TJrbana University.

He read law with the well-known law firm of How-

ard & Strout, Portland, and was admitted to the

bar of Cumberland County in April, 1861. He

commenced practice in Bowdoinham, Sagadahoc

Co., Maine, bat removed to Portland in 1862,

and formed a law partnership with Hon. L. D. M.

Sweat, then member of Congress. This relation

continued until July, 1864, when he entered into

partnership with the late Judge Howard, which

was terminated by his death, December, 1877.

He married. May 10, 1865, Caroline, the accom-

plished daughter of Judge Howard, who died at

Augusta, daring the session of the Legislature, in

February, 1875.

He was elected city solicitor of Portland in 1869,

a member of the State L^islature from Portland

in 1871 and 1875, and judge of probate for Cum-

berland County from 1876 to 1880.

Judge Cleaves continues the practice of his pro-

fession! and is associated in business with his brother,

Hon. Henry B. Cleaves.
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HON. MARQUIS D. L. LANE.

Hon. Marquis D. L. Lane, fourth son of John

Lane, was born at Hollis, York Co., June 11, 1825.

He graduated at Dartmouth College in 1848, and

studied law in the office of H. J. Swazy, in Stand-

ish. He began the practice of law in Lowell, Mass.,

but removed to Portland in 1855, and in 1857 was

elected judge of the Municipal Court, which office

he resigned in 1862 to assume the duties of consul

to Vera Cruz, to which position he was appointed

by President Lincoln.

During this most critical period Tie served his

country with marked ability, dignity, and fearless-

ness, and his name is held in respect and honor

because he refused to display the flag of the Unitetl

States when Maximilian, the French invader, en-

tered the port of Mexico, notwithstanding all other

nations saluted him.

On account of the illness of his wife, who was

with him in Vera Cruz, he resigned his position,

and in 1867 returned home to practice his profes-

sion.

In 1868 he was elected Senator from Cuml)erland

County, and re-elected in 1869 and 1870. During

the last year of his service he was chairman of the

judiciary committee. In 1871 he was appointed judge

of the Superior Court, made vacant by the resignation

of Judge Goddard, and entered u{)on the duties of

that office at the November term.

Judge Lane died Sept. 15, 1872, in Portland, of

malarial fever contracted in Virginia, where he was

summoned by the dangerous illness of his brother.

By traveling night and day he arrived in time to

save his brother's life by promptly removing him,

against the protest of the physicians, from the mal-

arial region where he had been brought to the verge

of death. Judge Lane reached home with his brother

just before the September session of his court, ex-

hausted by anxiety, watching, heat, and fatigue; in

spite of which he opened the term, but on the fourth

day he was obliged to yield to a malarial fever

which had fastened upon him, and which afterwards

made such rapid and fatal progress as to terminate

his honorable and useful life at the age of forty-

seven.

He was an attendant of St. Stephen's Church in

Portland, and, although not a member, his loss was

greatly felt by the church. During his residence in

Vera Cruz he was instrumental in building up the

interests of the Episcopal Mission in Mexico.

In all the relations of life Judge Lane acquitted

himself with honor, and his was a character of rare

excellence. All recognized in him the courteous

gentleman, the warm friend, the honest judge.

Judge Lane married Miss Elizabeth Cliadbourn,

daughter of Hon. Benjamin Chadbourn, of Standish.

They have two sons,—Geoi^e E., born May 30,

1856, and Thomas, bom July 4, 1858. Mrs. Lane
now resides in Brunswick, wiiere the eldest son is

studying medicine with Dr. Mitchell, and attending

lectures at the Maine Medical School. The younger

son is a member of the sophomore class of Bowdoin

College.
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Chables Edwakd Cliffobd, eldest son of Mr.

Jostioe Clifford, of the United States Supreme

Court, was born in the town of Newfield, York

Co., Me., Nov. 3, 1828. He received his pre-

liminary education in the Parsonfield and Limerick

Academies; fitted for college at North Yarmouth

Academy, and graduated at Harvard College in

1850. He read law with hia father in Poi-tland,

to which place the family removed in 1849,

and was admitted to the Cumberland County bar

Aug. 1, 1853. After practicing one year with

his father, he formed a law partnership with his

uncle, Hon. C. R. Ayer (Ayer & Clifford) ex-Secre-

tary of State, of Cornish, Me., where he remained

for several years. In 1857 he went to San Fran-

cisco, Cal., where he practiced his profession in the

United States district attorney's ofiSce as assistant.

In 1861 he returned to his native State, and for

ten years following 1863 he was in successful

practice in his native town.

In 1873 he removed to Portland, Me., and

formed a law partnership with his brother, William

Henry Clifford (Clifford & Clifford), which firm

continues the practice of law in the county, State,

and United States courts in 1879. Mr. Clifford

has given little attention to matters of business

outside of his profession.

He was appointed commissioner of the Circuit

Court of the United States for the district of Maine,

April 23, 1877, which office he now holds. He

married, March 25, 1866, Antoinette Ellis, daughter

of Luther and Caroline E. D. Ayer, of Newfield.

They have four sons,—Charles Henry, Nathan

Simpson, Franklin Mason, and Edward Clinton.
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Henby B. Cleaves, son of Thomas and Sophia

(Bradstreet) Cleaves, was bom in the town of Bridg-

ton, Cumberland Co., Feb. 6, 1840. He received

his early education in the common school at home,

and subsequently attended North Bridgton and

Lewiston Falls Academies.

He enlisted as a private in the 23d Maine Regi-

ment (Col. William Wirt Virgin) in September,

1862 ; served until the final discharge of the regi-

ment, at the expiration of its term of service, July

15, 1863.
I

He immediately enlisted with Gren. Francis Fes-
j

senden, who was then recruiting the 30th Regiment

Maine Veteran Volunteers ; was commissioned first

lieutenant, Company F, Dec. 29, 1863, and

ordered to the Department of the Gulf. He par-

ticipated in the various campaigns on the Red

River, in the battles of Sabine Cross Roads,

Pleasant Hill, Cane River (where Gren. Fessenden

lost his leg), and other engagements of the Army of

the Gulf. In August, 1864, he joined the Army

of the Potomac, served throughout the brilliant

campaign of Sheridan in the Shenandoah valley, and

continued with the army in active service until the

surrender of Lee. He was then transferred to the

Department of the Gulf and stationed at Savan-

nah, Gra., and subsequently, Aug. 20, 1865, honor-

ably discharged from service. "He was a brave,

devoted, and capable soldier."

Returning to his native State he began the study

of law with Howard & Cleaves, and was admitted

to the bar Sept. 16, 1868. He soon formed a law

partnership with Hon. Washington Gilbert, of

Bath, Me., but after one year, in 1869, came to

Portland and became a partner with Judge Howard

and Hon. Nathan Cleaves, which relation continued,

under the old firm-name of " Howard & Cleaves,"

until the decease of the senior member of the firm,

Judge Howard, in 1877. He has since been the law

partner of Judge Cleaves. In 1875 he was elected

representative from Portland to the State Legisla-

ture, and re-elected in 1876, serving ajs chairman of

the committee on the judiciary. He was city solicitor

of Portland from 1877 to March, 1879.
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WiixiAM Henky Clifford, thirtl son of Mr.

Justice Clifford, of the United States Supreme

Court, was bom in .the town of Newfield, York

Co., Me., Aug, 11, 1840.

His next elder brother, Nathan James, deceased

in 1868, aged forty-three, graduated at Dart-

mouth College, studied law, and was admitted to

the bar of Massachusetts and Maine. He was ap-

pointed and for several years held the office of clerk

of the United States Circuit Court for the district

of Massachusetts, which position he filled at the

time of his death.

William Henry spent his boyhood in the com-

mon school in his native town. Accompanied his

father, mother, and youngest brother, George Frank-

lin, to Mexico, to which country Justice Clifford

was first sent as commissioner, and afterwards as

minister plenipotentiary, where he obtained a famil-

iarity with the Spanish and French languages, in

the former of which he is a fluent speaker and

ready writer. On returning, the family settled in

Portland. Mr. Clifford prepared for coll^ at

North Yarmouth Academy, under Prof. Woods.

Entered Dartmouth College in 1854, from which

he graduated in 1858. He began the study of law

with the late Judge George F. Shepley, of Port-

land ; completed his lega^ studies with Hon. Benja-

min R. Curtis, of Boston, Mass., aud was admitted

to practice in the State and United States Courts, in

Boston, in 1861. He immediately opened an office

in Portland, Me., where he followed his profession

alone until 1873, when he associated with him his

brother, Charles E. (Clifford & Clifford).

Soon after his admission to the bar he was ap-

pointed commissioner of the Circuit Court of Maine,

the duties of which office he very actively and suc-

cessfully performed for some nine years.

Mr. Clifford has an extensive practice in the

Federal courts, and is largely engaged in {latent

law practice, besides the common law business con-

ducted by the firm. In 1872- he was unanimously

nominated on the first ballot as Democratic candi-

date for member of Congress, bnt a large Repub-
lican majority barred his election.

He was renominated in 1874, but declined the

honor On account of his increasing professional

duties. He has edited and published four volumes

of Justice Clifford's Reports, which comprise his

judgments down to 1876.

Mr. Clifford married, in August, 1866, Ellen

Greeley, daughter of Hon. John B. Brown, of Port-

land. Their children are Nathan James, Matilda

Greeley, John Brown, William Henry, Jr., and Ellen

Ayer.
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On Jan. 1, 1855, he married Britannia C, daughter of

JefiFetson Coolidge, a wholesale merchant of Portland. They
have three children,—Thirza W., Eliza C, and Alfred C.

Adqustine Haines was bom in Portsmouth. N. H.,

March 17, 1810, where he resided until the death of his

father, which occurred when Mr. Haines was fourteen years

of age. His iather was a prominent lawyer in Portsmouth
;

went to Alabama, where he practiced law for several years

;

but failing health cou)pelled his return, and he died on his

sAiiji^T^M
cl-i-n f/

way home. His mother lived to be nearly ninety years of

age, and died June 2, 1878. His ' uncle, Charles G.

Haines, was an eminent lawyer of New York, and at one

time the law partner of Governor Clinton.

Soon afler the death of his father, Augustine entered the

Saco Academy, where he remained about one year, and be-

gan the study of law with ex-Governor Fairfield, of Saco.

He was admitted to the bar of the Court of Common
Pleas, in York County, at the January term, 1831, two

months before completing his twenty-first year, and com-

menced practice as attorney in Common Pleas, at Poland,

in Cumberland County, before Chief Justice Whitman.

He was admitted as an attorney of the Supreme Judicial

Court, Chief Justice Mellen, in 1832 ; as counselor in said

court in 1834. He was appointed attorney for Cumber-

land County in January, 1834, when he moved from Po-

land to Portland, and held the office by executive appoint-

ment and election by the people, excepting parts of two

years, until President Polk's administration, when he was

appointed United States District Attorney, which office he

held from 1845 to 1848, and accepted the agency of the

Laconia Mills, at Biddeford, which position he held until

the spring of 1872, when his health failed him, and he re-

turned to Portland, where he remained until his death,

July 27, 1873. Mr. Haines was a sound lawyer, a safe

counselor, a strong advocate at the bar, and posse.ssed those

elements of character that eminently fitted him for positions

of trust and usefulness. He married Frances, daughter of

Captain John and Olive (Lassell) Patten. His children

are Charles G., of Portland ; Eliza F., and George A.

Haines, a Boston cotton-broker.

The following members of the Cumberland bar have

received the honorary degree of LL.D.

:

Isaac Parker, Harvard, 1814.

Prentiss Mellen, Harvard, 1820 ; Bowdoin, 1820.

Stephen Longfellow, Bowdoin, 1828.

William Pitt Preble, Bowdoin, 1829.

Aahur Ware, Bowdoin, 1837.

Simon Greenleaf, Harvard, 1834 ; Amherst, 1845.

Ezekiel Whitman, Brown, 1843 ; Bowdoin, 1843.

Ether Shepley, Dartmouth.

Charles S. Daveis, Bowdoin, 1844.

George Evans, Bowdoin, 1847.

Wm. Pitt Fessenden, Bowdoin, 1858 ; Harvard, 1864.

Nathan Clifford, Bowdoin, Dartmouth, Brown Univer-

sity, Harvard College.

William Willis, Bowdoin, 1867.

George F. Shepley, Dartmouth, 1878.

There are one hundred and sixty-one attorneys and coun-

selors-at-law now in Cumberland County, one hundred and

twenty-seven of whom are in active practice. Their names

and those of the towns in whieh they reside are as follows :

Portland.—Nathan CliflFord, ex-United States Attorney-

General, ex-Minister to Mexico, and Justice of the Supreme
Court of the United States ; Edward Fox, Judge of the

United States District Court ; William Wirt Virgin, Justice

of the Supreme Judicial Court of Maine
; Charles W.

Goddard, ex-Judge of the Supreme Judicial Court and

Postmaster of Portland ; Joseph W. Symonds, Judge of

the Supreme Judicial Court ; G«orge F. Talbot, ex-United

States District Attorney ; Nathan Webb, late an incum-

bent of the same office ; Wilbur F. Lunt, United States

District Attorney ; Percival Bonney, Judge of the Superior

Court; William Pitt Preble, Clerk of the District Court

of the United States; Josiah H. Drummoud, ex-Attorney-

General of Maine ; Thomas B. Reed, ex-Attomey-6eneral

and Member of Congress ; L. D. M. Sweat, ex-Member
of Congress ; James D. Fessenden, Register in Bankruptcy;

William H. Clifford, ex-United States Commissioner;

Edward M. Rand, United States Commissioner ; Thomas
H. Haskell, County Attorney ; Enoch Knight, Judge of

the Municipal Court ; Llewellyn Kidder, Recorder of the

Municipal Court ; Reuel Small, Reporter of the Superior

Court ; Sewall C. Strout, William L. Putnam, Bion Brad-

bury, John Rand, Nathan Cleaves, Judges of Probate

;

William W. Thomas, Jr., Charles P. Mattocks, Almon A.

Strout, George F. Holmes, George E. B. Jackson, David

H. Drummond, D. W. Fessenden, John H. Fogg, William

H. Fessenden, Alvan A. Dennett, Edward H. Daveis,

Nathaniel Deering, Isaac L. Elder, Francis Fessenden,

Frederic Fox, Fred N. Dow, Joseph A. Locke, Charles B.

Merrill, Charles E. Clifford, Henry B. Cleaves, Josiah Chase,

Jr., Samuel L. Carleton, John C. Cobb, Nathan Cummings,
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8. H. McAlpine, S. B. Beckett, Alden J. Blenthen, A. W.
Bradbury, Moses M. Butler, Sullivan C. Andrews, Samuel

J, Anderson, Elbridge Gerry, Hanno W. Glage, Frederick C.

Nash, James O'Donnell, Melvin P. Frank, Melville A. Floyd,

Elbridge Grerry, Jr., Geoi^ F. Gould, Daring H. lograham,

Aaron B. Holden, George Jewett, Elliot King, Clarence

Hale, Henry C. Hizon, Osgood Bradbury, William P. An-

thoine, John M. Adams, William H. Anderson, Charles E.

Barrett, Aaron W. Coombs, Edward B Cram, Liberty B.

Dennett, Henry Deering, James T. McCobb, Dennis A.

Meaher, J. Pierrepont Neal, Oscar M. Metcalf, Augustus

F. Moulton, George W. Verrill, Henry G. Thomas, L.

Clifford Wade, William H. Motley, Hiiam Knowltoo,

Charles F. Libley, Philip J. Larrabee, William J. Knowl-

ton, John W. Mnnger, John Muasey, Benjamin Kingsbury,

Henry C. Peabody, Edward P. Sherwood, Henry W. Swasey,

Daniel W. Scribner, Herbert M. Sylvester, William M.

Payson, William M. Sargent, Tobias T. Snow, Edward H.

Thomas, George A. Thomas, Edward P. Payson, Byron

D. Verrill, Jabez C. Woodman, Frank S. Waterhonse,

Lindley M. Webb, George Walker, Frank W. Robinson,

George D. Rand, Emery S. Ridlon, Fabius M. Ray, Stanley

T. Pullen, Lewis Pierce, John J. Perry, Geoi^ R. Swasey,

Henry St. John Smith, George M. Seiders, Thomas L.

Talbot, Franklin C. Payson, William A. Golden, Seth L.

Larrabee, Joseph A. Lamson, Willis H. Leavitt, William G.

Faasett, Hannibal H. Emery, Elias Dudley Freeman, Wil-

liam M. Bradley, George E. Bird.

BridgUm.—Nathaniel S. Littlefield, Fred S. Strout,

Samuel C. Smithy Benjamin T. Chase.

Brannoick.—William G. Barrows, Judge of the Supreme

Judicial Court ; Henry Orr, Thomas M. Giveen, Weston

Thompson.

Freeport.—3&mnel Clark, R. Belcher, E. W. Mitchell,

Harrison G. Sleeper.

Gray.—Warren H. Vinton, John D. Anderson.

Gorham.—John A. Waterman, ex-Judge of Probate;

George B. Emery.

Haniton.—Caleb A. Chaplin, Obediah G. Cook.

Deerinff.—Edward Payson, Jason M. Carleton, William

E. Morris.

Naples.—Dsmd H. Cole;

Seboffo.—Edwin L. Poor.

StandUh.—Horatio J. Swasey.

Windham.—Dvi\A P. B. Pride.

TarmtnUh.—^Daniel L.- Mitchell, Barnabas Freeman.

CHAPTER XVIIL

THB CTJlCBEBIiAB'D COTTN'TT Ffi£SS.«

First Newspaper in Maine—Portland Advertiser—First Semi-weelil;

—First Daily—Eastern Argns—Portland Press—Portland Trans-

cript—Leader—Sanday Times—San.

The first newspaper published in Maine was the Fal-

mouth Gazette, and Weekly Advertiser, by Thomas Wait

* The principal fitcts for t^ja chapter are taken from the " Press of

Maine," edited by Joseph firi&n, Esq.

and Benjamin Titcomb, in 1785. Mr. Wait had been pre-

viously connected with the Boston Chronicle, and had come

to Falmouth and established a small stationer's store. Mr.

Titcomb was a native of the place, having been bom here

July 26, 1761, and educated at Dummer Academy, in

Newbury. He had also served an apprenticeship to the

printer's trade in Newburyport, Mass. These two gen-

tlemen formed a partnership, and on the 1 st day of Jan-

uary, 1785, issued the first number of the paper, which,

under various names, has continued to exist till the present

day. We shall head it with the name it now bears, and

under that heading proceed to note the various changes

through which it has passed.

POETLAND ASVEBTISEK.

In 1786 the name of the Falmouth Gazette and Weekly

Advertiser was changed to the Cumberland Gazette. Mr.

Wait continued to conduct it eleven years. Mr. Titcomb

retired from it earlier, and established a rival sheet called

the Gazette of Maine. In 1792 the Cumberland Gazette

was enlarged, and to avoid confusion with the other Gazette

was called the Eaxtem Herald.

The politics of Portland at this time were exclusively

Federalist. The whole of Maine constituted but one con-

gressional district. Yet, in the absence of those party

strifes which were oflen so bitter at a later day, personal

feelings were frequently excited to a high pitch, and

elections were as warmly contested as they fiver have been

since that period. Judge Thacher, of Biddeford, a personal

friend of Mr. Wait's, had represented the district in Con-

gress, and was a r^ular contributor to the paper. As a

writer his wit and sarcasm were of the most exasperating

quality, and he had rendered himself very unpopular in

Portland. He was a candidate for re-election, and, not-

withstanding the feeling which existed, Wait resolved to

stand by his friend. The Gazette of Maine represented

the opposition. During the canvass Wait was assaulted

;

Daniel George, the schoolmaster, and Daniel Davis, after-

wards United States District Attorney, were threatened

with personal violence ; and Samuel C. Johonot, an accom-

plished lawyer, was actually driven out of town. The vote

of Portland stood, for Nathaniel Wells, of Wells, sixty-five;

for Josiali Thatcher, of Gorham, twenty-three ; for Judge

Thatcher, of Biddeford, twenty-one ; and for William Lith-

gow, of Georgetown, one. Judge Thacher was re-elected

on the fourth trial by a majority of sixty votes in the whole

district.

Mr. Wait is described by Willis as " a man of ardent

temperament, strong mind, great firmness and decision of

character, earnest and persevering in whatever he under-

took, and honest in his purpose." He lived on the comer

of Congress and Elm Streets, where Deering Block now

stands. His paper was published "opposite the hay-

market," now Market Square. The difficulties under

which he labored may be appreciated when we remember

the fact, recorded by Parson Smith, that in the spring of

1785 the Boston mail was delayed five weeks by bad roads.

The first attempt to carry passengers East was made in 1793

by Caleb Grafiam, who was employed by Wait to carry the
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newspapers once a week in summer, and once a fortnight in

winter, to Hallowell and intermediate towns.*

In 1792 Mr. Titcomb abandoned the printing business,

and began to preach for a small Baptist society then recently

gathered in Portland, the first meetings of which were

held in his own house. In 1804 he became pastor of the

Baptist Church in Brunswick, where he labored faithfully

and successfully for a period of forty years. He died

Sept. 30, 1848, at the age of eighty-three.

Mr. Wait retired from the Eastern Herald in 179_6, John

K. Baker, one of his apprentices, having in that year

bought and consolidated the paper with the Gazette of

Maine. John Rand, another of his apprentices, issued the

Oriental Trumpet the same year, and in 1798, E. A. Jenks,

still another apprentice, after the Trumpet had fallen dumb,

issued the first number of the Portland Gazette. In this

latter paper Daniel George became interested, who in 1800

became sole owner of the Herald.

This Daniel George was a character. He was a man of

genius, but so exceedingly deformed that he had to be

moved from place to place in a small carriage drawn by a

servant. He came to Portland in 1784 or 1785 from

Newburyport, where he had published almanacs, as he

afterwards did here. He was a printer, but kept a school

in Portland, and had also a small bookstore in Fish Street,

now Exchange.

In 1803 the Democrats (then called Republicans) had

gained sufficient strength to start a newspaper, and the

Eastern Argus was established by Calvin Day and Na-

thaniel Willis, father of N. P. Willis. By a singular

fatality it happened that in the following year the pub-

lishers of both the Federalist papers were taken away.

George died, and soon after Jenks was drowned on Sunday

near Richmond Island, on his passage from Boston. Both

establishments, it appears, were then united under the

management of Isaac Adams, a man of fine abilities, who

had graduated at Dartmouth College in 1796, and came to

Portland to teach school in 1797. In 1802 he opened a book-

store in Jones' Row, and in 1805 purchased the Gazette.

Mr. Adams was for many years a leading citizen, and repre-

sented Portland ten years in the Legislature of Massachu-

setts and seven years in that of Maine, after the separation.

In 1808, Mr. Adams admitted as partner Arthur Shirley,

who had been an apprentice, and who now took charge of

the printing-office. Mr. Shirley's connection with the paper

lasted till 1822, and it was wholly in his hands after 1811,

except that a part of the time his brother, J. Shirley, was

associated with him. It was during the administration of

Messrs. Adams and Shirley that the old Gazette was illu-

minated by the brilliant essays of a cluster of young men,

whose articles, over the signatures of Pilgrim, Prowler,

Night Hawk, and Torpedo, kept the town in good humor.

* Tbdmoa B. Wait was born in that part of Lynn, Masa., called

SauguB, in 1762. He served an apprenticeship to the printer's trade

in Boston. He came to Portland before 1785, and established a book-

store, which was destroyed with all its contents in the fire of 1806.

While in Portland he republished the Commentaries of Blaokstone

complete, importing a company of journeymen printers from Phila-

delphia, of whom Robert Lilly was the foreman. On leaving Port-

land he removed to Boston, where he published the American State

Papers.

14

William B. Sewall, coming here to read law, found his

college classmates, Savage and Payson (then preceptor of

the new academy, and afterwards thedistinguished preacher),

already engaged upon their weekly essays of wit and merri-

ment. Two sons of Samuel Freeman—Samuel Deane and

William—were Harvard contemporaries of Sewall, Savage,

and Payson, and were also contributors to the Gazette. A
little later came the contributions of the Torpedo Club, of

which Charles S. Daveis, Nathaniel Deering, N. Carter, and

N. Wright were the brightest ornaments.

In 1813, William Willis, the historian, came to Portland

and entered upon the study of the law. After completing

his studies in Boston, and being admitted to the Suffolk

bar, he returned to Portland in 1819, to take charge of

Judge Mellen's office, and in the same year was engaged by

Mr. Shirley to furnish editorial articles for the Gazette.

Mr. Willis' connection with the Gazette remained unbroken

till, in 1822, Mr. Shirley having undertaken the publica-

tion of theC/«'M<ian Mirror, edited by Asa Rand, disposed

of the Gazette, which, within the next three or four yeare,

changed hands several times, coming back at last upon Mr.

Shirley, who, in 1826, sold the paper to Jacob Hill and

John Edwards. During the interval before this sale the

paper had been edited by J. D. Hopkins, but mainly by the

modest and learned William B. Sewall, who found these

labors more to his mind than the wranglings of the bar.

Under his management a semi-weekly edition was begun,

with which was revived the old title, Portland Advertiser,

while the weekly edition was still called The Gazette of

Maine.

Mr. Hill (who was a lawyer) edited the paper himself so

long as he retained an interest in it. But on the 1st of

January, 1829, he sold to John and William Edwards.

The new firm casting about for an editor, hit upon Green-

ville Mellen, the poet, but, after a brief trial, found him

unfitted for the place. On the recommendation of John

Neal, who had returned from Europe about two years be-

fore, and was a constant contributor, they next engaged

James Brooks, a young man, who had graduated at Water-

ville a few years before, and was engaged in Portland as

teacher. This engagement proved very successful, as Mr.

Brooks was not only an able and lively writer, but an origin-

ating genius of new methods of journalism. He conceived

the idea of the " Washington Correspondent," then entirely

novel, and persuading the publishers to bear his expenses at

the capital during the session of Congress, wrote thence his

spicy letters, which gave piquancy and zest to the columns

of the Advertiser. The success of this enterprise led Mr.

Brooks to propose to go to Europe as the " special corre-

spondent" of the Advertiser, which was sanctioned by the

publishers, and in 1835 he made the grand tour in that

capacity. But, greatly to the dissatisfaction of his indig-

nant employers, he never returned to Portland. Landing

in New York, he issued the prospectus of The Express

;

writing to Portland, however, that he still intended to

maintain his connection with the Advertiser, and, as soon as

he could get the new enterprise under way, should leave

its management in the hands of his brother, Erastus.

Perhaps that was his purpose; At all events, his return to

Portland remained an open question for about five years, or
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until 1841, after he had tested his chances for an election

to Congress from this district, and had failed. In Novem-

ber of that year the publishers of the Advertiser installed

Phinehas Barnes as editor. Mr. Barnes graduated at

Bowdoin College in 1829, had studied law, and for five

years before accepting the editorship had been Professor,

of Greek and Latin at Waterville. " He brought to his

new task a breadth and thoroughness of culture which lent

new dignity to the paper." He continued to edit it till

1847, when he was succeeded by Henry Carter.

In 1837, John Edwards sold half the paper to Joseph

M. Gerrish, who sold, in turn, to Reuben Ordway,—who

sold to Henry Carter and A. F. Gerrish in 1850. On the

1st of August, 1853, William E. Edwards, after thirty

years in the Advertiser office, sold out to John M. Wood.

Under the management of Mr. Wood the paper seemed to

have declined, on account of much of his attention being

given to other matters. The Atlantic and St. Lawrence

Railroad had just been completed ; Commercial Street had

been opened the year before. In these great enterprises

Mr. Wood had been conspicuous. He was planning a mag-

nificent residence and a grand hotel. His method of con-

ducting the paper was so expensive, that, although the

subscribers had increased, the cost of publishing it exceeded

the profits. His partners, one after another, sold their

shares, and in 1856 he became the sole owner. Mr. Carter

remained a year longer as editor, and was followed by

James G. Blaine (now United States Senator from Maine)

in 1858.

In 1859 the paper once more changed hands, passing

under the control of Messrs. Waldron, Little & Co., who

retained it till Jan. 1, 1861, wh«n it was sold to F. 0. J.

Smith. The editors, while the paper was published by

Waldron, Little & Co., were James G. Blaine and C. C.

Woodman. After the transfer to Mr. Smith, Eliphalet

Case was the principal editor, until his death in the winter

of 1862-63.

In Mr. Smith's hands the Advertiser sacrificed its position

as a Republican paper, thereby leaving a field which was

promptly occupied by the Portland Press, the present Re-

publican morning paper, though the Advertiser did not

succeed in supplanting the Arffus as a Democratic organ.

There being no room for three morning papers in Portland,

the daily issue was suspended after the great fire of 1866.

The weekly publication, however, was continued in an un-

broken series, and in 1868 the subscription list, printing

materials, and sole right to revive the daily edition were pur-

chased by the publishers of the Evening Star, a new name

for the Courier, and the Daily Advei-tiser reappeared as

an evening paper, under the management of its present

editor and publisher, H. W. Richardson.

Mr^ Richardson is an able and vigorous writer and a

practical printer, having learned the trade in the office of

the Waterville Mail before entering college. He graduated

at Waterville in 1853, became tutor in 1855, and was after-

wards assistant, then chief, editor of the Portland Press.

Besides his editorial labors, he has produced a timely work

(spoken of elsewhere) on the financial question of the day,

which has been lately published by the Appletons, of New

York.

In its present field the Advertiser expresses Republican

opinions, but not as a party organ,—aiming primarily at a

faithful publication of the news without reference to its

political bearing, and discussing the events of the day with

reference to principles rather than immediate results.

Among the graduates of the Advertiser office are some of

the leading journalists of the country. James and Erastus

Brooks have already been named. Others are Charles G.

Came, the leading writer on the Boston Journal; Edwin

F. Waters, one of the publishers of the Boston Advei-tiser;

Edward Haskell, managing editor of the Boston Herald;

S. R. Niles, the well-known advertising agent ; Charles G.

Gammon, commercial editor of the New York Journal of

Commerce; Zenas T. Haines, of the New Orleans Press;

and Royal W. Lincoln, of the Portland Press.

FIEST SEMI-WEEKLY.

The first semi-weekly paper in Maine, and probably the

first east of Boston, was an edition of the consolidated East-

em Herald and Gazette of Maine, issued in 1796, by John

K. Baker, a former apprentice of Mr. Wait's. Mr, Baker

seems to have manifested a good deal of newspaper enter-

prise. He had obtained the papers of both the other pub-

lishers, and, occupying the field alone, proposed to furnish

the news more rapidly than by weekly installments. This

might have been practicable but for the impossibility

of getting his papers distributed to subscribers in the

country by mails which only went once a week, and then

chiefly on horseback. This Mr. Baker soon discovered to

be the great difficulty in the way of sustaining a semi-

weekly, and his paper went under. He, however, continued

the weekly issue till 1800, and was succeeded by Daniel

George, who continued it till 1804. Mr. Baker went to

the State of New York, and from thence to Vermont, where

at one time he kept a tavern. It does not appear that he

ever after followed his occupation, although he was consid-

ered a very excellent printer.

FIRST DAILY PAFEB.

The Portland Courier, issued in 1829, was the fii-st daily

newspaper iu the State of Maine. It was inaugurated by

Seba Smith, the original " Jack Downing." Mr. Smith, a

gentleman of fine literary taste, had previously been editor

of the Eastern Argus. He was the husband of Mrs. Eliz-

abeth Oakes Smith, whose superior abilities as a writer are

known throughout the country. Mr. Smith graduated at

Bowdoin College in 1818, and was a man much admired

for his genius and loved for his sweetness and simplicity of

character. Among the several books which he published

the most noted was his " Jack Downing Letters," which

have given him national fame. He also wrote charming

verses, and fills a high niche as a poet. Mr. Smith died a

few years since in Brooklyn, N. Y.

The last proprietor of the Courier was Elbridge G.

Waterhouse. It ceased to exist many years ago. A file

of it is preserved in the library of the Portland Institute.

THE EASTERN ABQUS.

In September, 1803, the Eastern Argus was established

to support the administration of Thomas Jefferson, by Cal-
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vin Day and Nathaniel Willis. On the 8th of November,

1804, Mr. Day retired, and Mr. Willis continued sole pro-

prietor of the paper. Mr.- Willis was father of N. P.

Willis, the poet, and of 3Irs. Parton (" Fanny Pern"). He
suffered persecution from his political oppoaents, and soon

went to jail for the freedom with which he uttered his

sentiments. But Mr. Willis, like all martyrs to the cause

of liberty, turned his persecution to good account. Week
after week the Argus would appear with its flaming leader,

headed " fifth, sixth, or seventh week (as it might be) of

the imprisonment of the editor for daring to avow senti-

ments of political freedom." He lost nothing by being

imprisoned, but was in fact largely the gainer in the end,

for the people, out of that love of fair play inherent in the

human breast, rallied to his support, and his paper increased

in circulation and influence.

It is said that in those days of political bitterness the

printers and compositors, who were required to work at

night on the paper, used to go armed to protect themselves

from assaults of their adversaries, who were supposed to be

lying in wait for them.

In 1808, Francis Douglas purchased the establishment.

Mr. Willis retired and removed to Boston, where he estab-

lished the Boston Recorder, said to have been the first ex-

clusively religious journal in the United States, merged a

few years since with the Congregationah'st. He also estab-

lished the Youth's Companion, which is still published.

In 1820, Mr. Douglas having been killed by the acci-

dental discharge of his gun on his return from a shooting

excursion, Messrs. Todd & Co. became proprietors, and in

1821 the senior partner purchased the whole interest. In

1822, Seba Smith, who afterwards obtained wide celebrity

by his " Major Jack Downing Letters" and other writings,

became a partner and continued four years, retiring in 1826.

During his partnership, in 1824, the Argus was issued

semi-weekly.

In 1831, Charles Holden became a proprietor, but retired

four months later. In 1832, Mr. Todd established the tri-

weekly, and in 1834 sold the establishment to Charles

Holden, who soon associated with himself Ira Berry, and the

following year established a daily edition, continuing also

the tri-weekly and weekly, all of which have been published

ever since.

In 1836, N. W. Green became a partner, and the year

following Ira Berry retired. In 1838, Mr. G-reen retired

and John Appleton became a partner. In 1842, Mr. Ap-

pleton retired and Eliphalet Case became a part proprietor.

In 1845, Mr. Case sold his interest to 0. L. Sanborn, of

the firm of Sanborn & Brother, booksellers, and retired

from the editorial charge of the paper. He was aflerwards

editor of the Cincinnati Enquirer and of the Portland

Advertiser. Holden & Sanborn continued proprietors, with

Benjamin Kingsbury, Jr. (since mayor of Portland), as

editor, until 1855, when the establishment was purchased

by John Appleton, afterwards United States Minister to

Russia, John M. Adams, George P. Emery, since connected

with the Boston Post, N. L. Woodbury, then postmaster

of Portland, Charles Q. Clapp, A. W. N. Clapp, ex-Mem-

ber of Congress, Nathan Clifford, now Justice of the United

States Supreme Court, and George F. Shepley, late Judge

of the United States Circuit Court, the paper beini^ under

the editorial charge of Mr. Appleton, for whom during

1855 Mr. Adams conducted it, Mr. Appleton being Secre-

tary of Legation at London.

In 1857, Mr. William G. Chadbourne and Mr. Augustine

Haines purchased an interest. Mr. Appleton assumed edi-

torial charge of the Washington Union, and by choice of

the proprietors Mr. Adams became editor-in-chief. In 1S58,

Nathan Clifford retired, and in 1859, N. L. Woodbury,

Wijliam G. Chadbourne, and George F. Emery retired, all

selling their interests to Mr. Adams. In 1 S60, John Ap-

pleton sold his interest to Moses McDonald, who soon after

sold to H. C. Barnes. Prior to 1866 Mr. Adams purchased

the interest of all the other proprietors, becoming the sole

owner, and in the great conflagration of that year, July 4th,

the whole establishment was destroyed, the complete files of

the paper and its account and subscription books alone being

saved. The loss was about five thousand dollars above in-

surance. For three weeks the Argus was issued from the

office of William Noyes, of the Saco Independent, who

kindly tendered his facilities for the purpose. The Argus

was then re-established in Portland, and has since been

managed in all departments by Mr. Adams. It has always

been Democratic, consistently maintaining the principles of

Jefferson which it was founded to support.

JOHN MILTON ADASIS.

His father, Nathan Adams, was born Jan. 28, 1778,

and his grandfather, Nathan, born Dec. 1, 1757, was a son

of Ezekiel Adams, of New Ipswich, N. H., whose sister,

Dolly Adams, married Isaac Appleton, the father of the

Boston merchants, Nathan and Samuel Appleton. The

New Ipswich Adamses had the same ancestor as the Mas-

sachusetts family, but were inclined to piety rather than to

politics, producing a whole line of deacons and clergymen

of the strict orthodox faith. The late Nehemiah Adams,

D.D., of Boston (being perhaps the most distinguished),

was cousin of Nathan Adams, father of the subject of this

narrative. His mother, Susan, was the daughter of Ezekiel

Merrill, of Newbury, Mass., also a soldier of the Revolution,

who married Sarah Emery, of the same town, a. lady of

remarkable energy and sagacity, moved to Bethel, Oxford

Co., thence to Andover while it was still a wilderness. She

was the first white child born at Andover ; was educated

at Fryeburg Academy and at Mrs. Putnam's school, Bruns-

wick ; she was a school-teacher ; was the youngest of eight

children, who all lived to marry and raise families. Both

his grandfathers were soldiers of the Revolution. His father

was the first postmaster of Rumford, served in the war of

i 1813 for the defense of Portland, was a public-spirited,

respected, and influential citizen. He contributed one-

fourth to build the first church at Rumford Point. He
fell from a ladder upon the barn floor, causing a fracture of

the skull, and in a few hours died (1830).

John Milton Adams, son of Nathan and Susan (Mer-

rill) Adams, was born in Rumford, Oxford Co., Me., Sept.

22, 1819. On arriving at school age, he attended district

school until ten years old, when his father died, leaving

him the oldest of five children. He was under the instruc-

tion of his mother until fifteen, when he attended one
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term at Turner, and was a student for one term at Bethel

Academy. For two winters following he taught school,

attending Bridgton Academy during the intervening sum-

mer. In the spring of 1838, during what was known as

the "Aroostook war," he volunteered, and was made orderly

in the company of Capt. Joshua I. Hall, of Rumford. It

moved no farther than Augusta, and was discharged after

about one month's service.

In May, 1839, he received an invitation, through the

influence of his life-long friend, Isaac W. Talbot, to take

charge of the academy at New Market, Kent Co., Md. He
promptly accepted, and conducted the school to the entire

satisfaction of the school board until December, 1840, when

the death of a brother called him home. In 1841 he

became a student of Grorham Seminary, then in charge of

Amos Brown, remaining there two years, teaching during

winter vacations. He spent the year 1843 at the French

college at St. Hyacinthe, Canada, where he acquired facility

in writing and speaking the French language. In the

spring of 1844 he began the study of law in the office of

the well-known firm of Fessenden & Deblois, Portland, at

the same time teaching French. In the fall of 1844 he

attended a meeting in the mayor's office, with a dozen

other gentlemen, including the late John A. Poor, to con-

sider the matter of building a railroad to Montreal. This

was the inception of the enterprise in which he afterwards

took an active interest.

The following winter he taught the school at Turner, and

in 1846 he was admitted to the Cumberland bar, and im-

mediately commenced practice in Portland. In 1848 he

formed a law partnership with John A. Poor (afterwards

the well-known railroad man). In 1850—51 he made a

tour of Europe, visiting, most of its capitals and the large

cities, and acting as correspondent of the Railroad Journal

of New York, writing chiefly on the systems of European

railways, and was appointed on the staff of Governor Hub-

bard, whose election he had earnestly advocated before his

departure. In 1852 he was Superintendent of Schools for

Cumberland County, not, however, relinquishing the prac-

tice of the law. In 1855 he edited the Argus for John

Appleton, then secretary of l^ation at London, during

which time the political campaign was very exciting, and

Samuel Wells, the Democratic candidate for Governor, was

elected. In 1856, Mr. Adams was appointed reporter of

judicial decisions, and prepared volumes 41 and 42 of Maine

Reports. He formed a law partnership with Nathan Clif-

ford. In May, 1857, Mr. Clifford being appointed Justice

of the United States Supreme Court, and Mr. Adams being

unanimously selected by the proprietors to the editorial

charge of the Eastern Argut, he relinquished his law prac-

tice and accepted the position, which he has ever since held,

becoming sole proprietor of the establishment only a few

months before its destruction in the conflagration of 1866.

April 16, 1867, he married Adela S., daughter of Wil-

liam W. Hobbs, of Norway. Their children are Susan M.,

Sarah W., and John M. Adams, Jr. Since he has been a

resident of Portland, Mr. Adams has ever been interested

in the prosperity of the city,—its public enterprises and
'

the wel&re of its citizens. His position in connection with

one of the leading journals of the Eastern States for the

past twenty years has brought him face to face with the

great political questions of the State and nation, in the dis-

cussion of which his ready pen, his lucid exposition of facts,

and his prompt and unreserved opinion, expressed through

his paper, have won the confidence of the thinking people

who read its columns. He was a member of the State

Legislature ftom Deering in 1877-78.

THE POETLAND PRESS.

The Portland Press was established in June, 1862, by

Newell A. Foster, J. T. Gilman, and Joseph B. Hall. Mr.

Foster was a Portland printer who had had experience in

publishing, who took a strong and intelligent interest in

politics, and who belonged to an old anti-slavery family in

New England. Mr. Hall was editor of the Aroostook

Herald and Secretary of State. Mr. Gilman was editor

of the Bath Times. At the outbreak of the Rebellion

some earnest, spirited, and patriotic articles which appeared

in the columns of the paper under his control attracted the

attention of leading Republicans, and from that time they

looked to him as the proper man to edit the leading news-

paper of the State. Mr. Gilman brought the subscription

list of the Bath paper, and Mr. Hall that of the Aroostook

paper, to the Maine State Press, the weekly edition of the

Portland Press. Encouragement and pecuniary aid were

given by prominent Republicans in the city, and the paper

became a success. Mr. Gilman's strong and incisive edito-

rials, so thoroughly in sympathy with the spirit of those

stirring days, at once commanded public notice ; but the

success of the venture was due more to the great busine&s

capacity, untiring energy, and intelligent and firm political

convictions of Mr. Foster than to any other one cause.

Until his death, in 1868, he was the controlling spirit of

the Press.

Mr. Hall remained in the firm less than a year. Mr.

Gilman edited the Press, with the exception of less than

a year, until September, 1867, when he was succeeded by

Mr. H. W. Richardson, now editor of the Evening Adver-

tiser. In 1866 the paper sustained a severe blow by the

total destruction of its office and material in the great fire

of that year which burned half of Portland. But, alone of

the dailies in the city, it lost no issue. The paper of the

6th of July appeared four hours after the usual time, printed

on the largest press left in the city,—nine by twelve inches,

—and containing the best account of the conflagration that

appeared that morning. Even before the office was con-

sumed new type and press were ordered, and in two weeks

were in use.

In November, 1868, Newell A. Foster, who had conducted

the business department of the paper from the start, and

was its owner, died. Feb. 26, 186It, the Portland Publish-

ing Company was incorporated, bought the Press and the

printing-house attached, and continued the publication of

the paper. The late George H. Knowlton, of Biddeford,

then assessor of internal revenue for the first district of

Maine, was employed as managing editor. On his death

he was succeeded by George Giffi)rd, of Vassalboro', now

United States Consul at Nantes, in the republic of France.

In March, 1872, Mr. Gifford retired, and was succeeded

by Mr. Stanley T. Pullen, of Portland, who became chief
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EswASD Henby Elwell was born in Portland,

Me., Dec. 14, 1825. His ancestors trace their descent

from the Ellwells of Gloucester, 3fass. William

Patterson, his maternal grandfather, came to this

town in the latter part of the last century, and set-

tled on an estate on Free Street, near its junction

with Middle Street His father, Charles Elwell,

and both his grandfathers were ship-masters, sailing

out of this port. He early manifested a predilection

for the sea, and spent the idle hours of his boyhood

about the shipping in the docks. His education was

gained at the public schools of the city, and at the

age of sixteen he entered a commission store, where

he spent one year. In the year 1842 he entered the

office of the DaMy American newspaper as an ap-

prentice to the printing business. This paper was

then published by Gren. Thomas Todd, and edited

by Benjamin Kingsbury, Jr. He remained there

until the paper was discontinued, a period of two

years and three months. After spending some two

years as a journeyman in the office of the Christian

Mirror, then published by the late Rev. Asa Cum-
mings, he took charge, as foreman, of the office of the

Fre»-Wtll Baptiti Repository, published at Limerick,

Me., where he remained a little more than a year.

He then joined with the late Elwin Plummer in

the enterprise of starting in Portland a new weekly

literary paper, called the Iforthem Pioneer. The
first number of this journal appeared July 1, 1848.

In less than four montii« it gained a circulation of

eleven hundred copiem' "At the end of that time Mr.

Elwell purchased Mr. Plummer's interest in the

paper, and united it with. the Portland Transcript,

then published by the late Erastus E. Grould. Mr.

Elwell took chai^ of the united journals on the

25th of Octol^er, 1848, and has continued as editor

of the Transcript since, a period of over thirty years.

Under his editorial management the circulation of

the Transcript has increased from three thousand to

twenty-two thousand. In continuous service, though

not in years, Mr. Elwell is the oldest editor in the

city. He was one of the founders of the Maine

Press Association, and its first vice-president. He
has served three years as president of the association,

and has always been active in its affairs. In 1871

he made the tour of Europe, writing letters for his

paper which attracted much attention. He is the

author of an historical and descriptive work, entitled

" Portland and Vicinity," and of a pamphlet giving

an account of the editorial excursions to Aroostook

in the years 1858 and 1878, and of the settlement

of that vicinity, both of which have had a large

sale. Mr. Elwell is well known as a lecturer in the

State of Maine, having, during several years, devoted

a portion of his time to the lecture field.

In 1857 he removed from the city to the suburb

of Woodford's Corners, in the town of Westbrook

(now Deering), where he has since resided, serving

four years on the school committee of Westbrook.

In 1852 he married Sarah C, daughter of Capt.

John Polleys, of Portland. Of this union have

been bom eight children, five of whom are living.
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proprietor of tlie paper, and its eilitor-in-cbief and business

manager,—positions he still occupies.

Under its new editorial and business management the

Press has increased its facilities for the collection of news,

widened its range of discussion, kept pace with the rapid

marcbof journalism, and greatly enhanced its material pros-

perity. Originally started as a political paper, it now de-

votes great attention to the varied interests of the State, and

to the consideration of art, science, and literature, aind the

wide range of topics which command the attention of news-

paper readers. Its material pro.«pcrity has kept pace with

its enlarged facilities and the spread of its influence, the

daily edition having a large circulation, and the weekly

Maine State Press being a recognized organ of influence

.in the country districts of Maine.

THE PORTLAND TRANSCRIPT.

This highly successful literary and family paper dates its

origin in 1837, when the first number was issued by Charles

P. Ilsley, who published it for a time in quarto form. Mr.

llsley started the paper without a subscriber, and continued

to conduct it ten years. He had been editor of the Port-

laud Daily Times, issued in 1836 ; he also had charge of

a neatly-printed weekly called the Eclectic, published about

four years by Edwin Plummer, and subsequently Ut leaving

the Transcript, in 1859, was editor of the Evening Courier.

He was a prolific and versatile writer, and a gentleman of

liberal ideas.

The Transcript was for a time published by Short &
Pennell, and by Newell A. Foster. In February, 1845, Mr.

Foster sold it to William H. Jerris, who combined with it

the remains of the American, and continued to publish it

till October, 1846, when he sold it to S. H. Colesworthy,

who put it in folio form, and sold to Erastus E. Gould, a

graduate of the Argus office, in 1848. Mr. Gould restored

the quarto form and carried it on six months, when Edward

H. Elwell became one of the editors and proprietors. Mr.

Elwell and Edwin Plummer had been publishing the North-

ern Pioneer, a weekly literary paper started by them in July,

1848. The Pioneer became the property of Mr. Elwell,

and was united with the Transcript, the latter being pub-

lished by Messrs. Elwell and Gould, under the firm-name

of Elwell & Co. Mr. Gould remained with the Transcript

till his death. Subsequently the Eclectic was united with

the Transcript, which brought in Messrs. Pickard and

Weston. The paper has since been published by Elwell,

Pickard & Co. Mr. Weston, in 1860, sold his interest to

Charles Pickard ; but the firm remains the same, embracing

Mr. Elwell, and the brothers S. T. and C. W. Pickard.

The Transcript has reached a well-deserved rank among

the literary papers of the country, by the patient assiduity

and well-trained ability of its proprietors. Faithful to good

principles and to the best interests of the State, it is received

and appreciated by thousands of families, to whom it is a

most valuable auxiliary in the education of the rising gen-

eration. Its subscription list has reached a point surpass-

ing any other in the State by thousands.

THE LEADER.

This paper is published in the interest of the Greenback

party. It was started by Elliot King, formerly of the A«!o

Era, on the 1st of January, 1879, and ha.s attained a largo cir-

culation. It is a weekly, twenty-eight-coluuin folio, owned

and published by Elliot King. F. Montgomery, editor.

THE NEW ERA,

also Greenback ; first issued Nov. 30, 1877, incorporated as

a stock company. It is under the present editorial man-

agement of F. A. Clark.

THE SUNDAY TIMES.

The first number of this paper was issued Aug. 8, 1875,

by Giles 0. Bailey, editor and proprietor. It still continues

under the same management, having attained a large circu-

lation. The present circulation is about three thoasand. It

is a seven-column folio, issued every Sunday morning.

THE SUNDAY SUN,

by George O. Gosse and Brother, editors and proprietors,

was started March 23, 1879. As a new candidate for pop-

ular favor, it has already achieved quite a success, its cir-

culation being reported at two thousand.

CHAPTER XIX.

COUNTT PRESS-(Coiitinued).

Newspapers and Periodicals—Brunswick Telegrapli—Bowdoin Sci-

entific Review—Bridgton News—Religious Papers—Obsolete Pub-

lications—Miscellaneous.

BRITjS'SWICK.

The Maine Intelligencer, the first paper in Brunswick,

was established in September, 1820. It was edited by

John M. O'Brien, a gentleman who had graduated at Bow-

doin College in 1806. A college club of young men, of

whom Jacob Abbott, now so well known as a writer, was

chairman, contributed to its columns. The paper did not

prove remunerative, and was discontinued at the end of six

months.

T/ie Maine Baptist Herald was begun July 17, 1824.

It was the first paper coinciding with the faith and practice

of the primitive Baptists ever published in the United

States. It was edited about six months by Benjamin Tit-

comb, Jr., a graduate of Bowdoin College in 1806, and son

of the firet printer in JIaine. After this it was under the

sole management of the publishers, and continued weekly

about six years, during the last two years of which it was

called the Eastern Galaxy and Herald. During the latter

part of the period of its publication it had attained to a list

of eleven hundred subscribers.

Tlie Androscoggin Free Press was established in the vil-

lage of Brunswick by Moore & Wells in 1827, and con-

tinued about two years.

The Brvnswick Journal made its first appearance, under

the management of William Noyes, in 1830. Associated

with him a part of the time was Henry W. Fairchild, after-

wards printer of the New England Farmer, in Boston. It

was edited for a short time by Charles Packard, attorney-

at-law, after which Francis D. and John S. Gushing were
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the principal writers. The journal was Whig ia its political

principles, well conducted, and flourished one year and six

months.

The Juvenile Key was commenced in 1831, as a child's

paper, by Joseph Griffin. A considerable portion of the

type work upon it was done by two children of the editor,

aged respectively, at the time of their commencement, nine

and seven years. Their names appeared as the publishers.

This paper was afterwards enlarged, and took the name of

the Family Pioneer and Juvenile Key, in which form it was

published with good success four years.

The Emreptoir, a monthly, was published in 1826-27,

by a club of students in Bowdoiu College, and was printed

by Joseph G-riffin. It continued six months.

The Northern Iris was a monthly issued for six months

in 1829. It was edited by Sumner Lincoln Fairfield, a

gentleman from the South, of considerable ability.

The Eastern Baptist was published by the Baptist Asso-

ciation in 1836. It was edited by Rev. David Nutter,

printed by T. S. McLellan, and continued one year.

The RegvJator, Democratic, published in 1837 by T. S.

McLellan. Continued two years. I. A. Beard, editor.

The Brunswicleer, published in 1842 by T. S. McLellan
;

John Dunlap, editor. Continued one year.

The Forester, published by Noyes & Stanwood in 1845
;

A. S. Stanwood, editor.

The Juvenile Temperance Watchman, edited and pub-

lished by Howard Owen, 1854. At twelve years of age

Mr. Owen manifested his industrious habits by publishing

a little weekly called the Sun, in Roman letters. He is

now one of the enterprising editors and publishers of the

Kennebec Journal, at Augusta.

THE BRUNSWICK TELEGRAPH.

This paper was commenced in 1853 by Waldroti & Moore,

publishers, and William G. Barrows, Esq., editor. The

publishers, in 1856, transferred their interest to George W.
Chase, who published it as editor and proprietor one year,

when Howard Owen, now of the Kennebec Journal, was

admitted as a partner, and took charge of the agricultural

department. In about five months Mr. Owen sold hb in-

terest to Mr. Chase. Early in 1857, Mr. Chase retired

from the paper and went to Bath, where he published the

Masonic Journal and taught music. Mr. A. G. Tenney, a

graduate of Bowdoin in the class of 1835, purchased the

Telegraph cstablishmeut in 1857, reissued the paper, and

has continued to edit and publish it weekly. The character

of the paper has been of the independent type.

Several persons prominently connected with journalism

have heretofore been apprentices in the office of the Tele-

graph. Mr. Owen has already been mentioned. Another

is Mr. Asbury Macomber, publisher of the Suffolk County

Journal, Boston Highlands, Mass.

BOWDOIN SCIENTIFIC REVIEW.

This review is issued fortnightly from Dingley's press,

Lewistown. It was establbhed in 1871, and has proved a

successful organ of contemporary science and kindred sub-

jects. Professor C. F. Brackett, M.D., and G. L. Goodale,

M.D., of Bowdoin College, are the editors.

I

T/te Orient is a paper published every alternate week

j

during the collegiate year by members of the senior class

j

at Bowdoin College. It was established in 1872, by J. G.

Abbott, managing and principal editor.

BKIDGTOK.

Tlie BridgtoH Reporter was first started in Bridgton in

1858, by Samuel H. Noyes, of Nashua, N. H.,.and edited

by Charles Sampson, a native of Bridgton. In a year or

two Mr. Sampson was succeeded by Enoch Knight, of

Lovell, Me., now of the Portland Star, who, in the fall of

1861, went to the war as captain of the 12th Maine, and

was succeeded in the editorial chair by George Warren, of

Gorham. In May, 1862, the Reporter was purchased by

Capt. Horace C. Little, of Auburn, and was edited again by

Mr. Sampson, and aflerwards by Miss Lizzie Flye, of Den-

mark, Me. In the fall of 1863, Augustus Phelps, of Bridg-

ton, bought out Capt. Little and changed the name to T/ie'

Bridgton Sentinel, made it a political paper in the interest

of the Republican party, with David Hale, Esq., of Bridg-

ton, as editor. In March, 1864, the office, with all its con-

tents, was destroyed by fire, and Bridgton was without a

local paper till the advent of

THE BRIDGTON NEWS,

which was established by H. A. Shorey, in September, 1870.

The News is an independent weekly, published at Bridgton

Centre. Mr. Shorey, the editor, is a practical printer, hav-

ing served his time with George E. Newman, of the Eastern

Times office, Bath. After his return from the army (being

breveted major for gallant and meritorious services) he and

Mr. E. Upton purchased and published the Bath Sentinel

and Times (daily and weekly) until Sept. 1, 1869, when

the paper was sold to W. E. S. Whitman. He was also

editor of the Maine Temperance Advocate, begun at Bath

in 1870, and discontinued in August of that year, and in

September, 1870, he established himself in Bridgton. The

News is a well-conducted sheet, serving well the local inter-

est of the town and -vicinity.

RELIGIOUS- NEWSPAPERS.

Notwithstanding the numerous political and other news-

papers which have been issued, struggled for a time and

died, or still survive, the religious press has been well cared

for in Portland within the last half-century. It early re-

ceived the careful attention of its leading men in the various

denominations, and has been well supported.

The Christian Mirror is a Congregational (Trinitarian)

paper, edited and published by Rev. I. P. Warren, D.D.

It has had a period of continued usefulness of over fifty-

seven years, having been established in August, 1822. It

traces its origin to a little band of praying Christians, mem-
bers of Dr. Payson's church. The first editor was Rev.

Asa Rand, of Gorham, who died in 1871, at the age of

eighty-eight. He filled the editorial chair most acceptably

for several years, and during the transition state from Uni-

tarian tendencies to strict evangelical views, managed the

discussions with great discretion. He was succeeded by

Rev. John L. Parkhurst, of Ringe, N. H., who was editor

one year. In 1827, Rev. Asa Cummings, pastor of the
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church at North Yarmouth, assumed the duties of editor,
]

and remained in the capacity pf editor and proprietor

twenty-nine years, or until 1855. Dr. Cummings gradu-

ated at Harvard College in 1817, was tutor there and after-

wards at Bowdoin. He died at sea two days out from

Aspinwall, June 5 or 6, 1856, aged sixty-five, and was

buried in the deep. He was the sixth of sixteen children,

born in Andover, Mass., but his father, Asa, died in Al-

bany, Me., in 1845, aged eighty-five. His great-grand-

father was one hundred and two years old. Dr. Cummings

was a learned and excellent man, a hard-working editor,

and an exemplary Christian. He publbhed the Memoir of

Rev. Dr. Payson.

In August, 1855, Mr. Charles Austin Lord became edi-

tor of the Chrisfian Mirror, having been for several years

associated with Dr. Cummings. Mr. Lord was a native of

Maine, and formerly of the publishing house of Leavitt,

Lord & Co., of New York. He was afterwards for several

years connected with the daily press of St. Louis.

The Christian Intelligencer, the first organ of the Uni-

versalists in Maine, began to be issued as a quarterly of

thirty-two pages octavo, by Rev. Russell Streeter, in Sep-

tember, 1821. It was printed at the Argus office, by Todd

& Smith, at a subscription price of fifty .cents per annum.

It began with two hundred subscribers, and at the end of

the first volume numbered one thousand. At the com-

mencement of the second volume it took the additional

title of Gospel Advocate. Its third, fourth, and fifth vol-

umes were enlarged to royal quarto size, and issued once a

fortnight at one dollar a year. During its sixth year the

form was changed to a royal octavo, and William A. Drew

became assistant editor. In January, 1827, the paper was

removed to Gardiner,—Parker & Sheldon, publishers, and

William A. Drew, editor.

The Sabbath-School Instructor, a juvenile weekly, was

started in May, 1830, by D. C. Colesworthy, Philip Greely,

and William W. Woodbury. Mr. Cutter edited it for the

first two years. He finally sold to C. P. Ilsley, who united

it with the Portland Transcript.

Tlie Christian Pilot, a half-sheet quarto (Universalist

paper), was published by Rev. Menzies Rayner, at one dol-

lar a year, from July, 1832, to July, 1835, when it was

sold to J. C. Hill, removed to North Yarmouth, and edited

by Rev. Zenas Thompson. In July, 1836, it was merged

in the Gospel Banner, published by Rev. William A. Drew,

at Augusta. For a time the Banner and Pilot were pub-

lished simultaneously at Portland.

The Universalist Palladium was begun by Samuel S.

Colesworthy, in October, 1839, and was edited by Rev. C.

C. Burr. It continued to be issued semi-monthly for two

years, when it was merged in the Gospel Banner.

The Eastern Rosebud was the name of a juvenile paper

published about two years by Mr. Colesworthy; also the

Religious Instructor, brought from Norway. Their list was

transferred to the Gospel Banner.

The Maine Wesleyan Journal was begun about 1830, by

Rev. Gershom Fox, who was editor. For the first year or

two it was printed by Todd & Holden, afterwards by

Horatio King. It was finally removed to Boston and

united with Ziun's Hei-ald.

Zion's Advocate, the present Baptist paper, was founded

by Rev. Adam Wilson, editor, and printed by Day & Sum-

ner. Mr. Wilson, after ably conducting it several years,

sold to Kalloch & Smith, and J. B. Foster afterwards be-

came editor and proprietor. For many years it was owned

by Dr. Shailer, who, with J. W. Colcord, conducted it with

great success. Rev. H. S. Burrage is the present editor

and proprietor.

The Freeman's Friend was started in Portland, in 180G,

by J. McKown. It was neutral in politics, and continued

but a short time.

The Independent Statesman made its appearance in

1821, with Joseph Griffin as publisher. He subsequently

took in a partner, Amos C. Tappan. The paper was gotten

up by a combination of politicians to advocate the election

of Gen. Joshua Wingate, Jr., for Governor, in opposition

to Albion K. Parris, the Democratic nominee. The con-

test that year was the most bitter and personal of any polit-

ical campaign ever witnessed in the State ; but Mr. Parris

was elected Governor. l
/-'

The firm of Griffin & Tappan was succeeded by that of

Thayer & Tappan, and soon after Henry R. Stickney be-

came a partner, the firm being Thayer, Tappan & Stickney.

Finally, the whole control of the Statesmiin passed into the

hands of Abijah W. Thayer as editor and publisher. Pre-

vious to this, however, the paper had been edited at differ-

ent times by Nathaniel Deering, N. G. Jewett, and James

P. Vance. Mr. Thayer carried it on about a year, and

then moved to Haverhill, and thence to Northampton,

5Iass., where he died several years ago. Dr. Nathaniel

Low then removed from South Berwick and took charge

of the paper, changing its name to the American Patriot.

William E. Edwards was at this time the printer. Dr.

Low continued the paper about a year, being meantime

appointed postmaster for Portland,—a po.sition which he

held only a few months. The paper expired upon his

removal, and the political faction which established it, after

rallying under the name of National Republican, and sus-

taining their banner a few years, became part of the Whig
party. They had during the first year, by the aid of some

Federalists, obtained a small majority in the House and on

joint ballot. Those who remember this split in the party

regard it as surpassing in rancor and bitterness any political

contest ever known in the State. Canings and personal

assaults were common, and caricatures of the most ludicrous

cast were printed in the Statesman. The small majority,

however, succeeded in making it the State paper.

The Wreath, a family newspaper, was commenced in

1822, by John Edwards, and afterwards continued by A.

W. Thayer. It lasted about one year.

The Experiment, a semi-monthly, quite unique in char-

acter, was commenced about 1825, under the editorship of

James N. Purrinton, afterwards principal of the high

school, in Portland. The articles were all written by a

society of young men, of which Mr. Purrinton was the

head, the design of the paper being mutual improvement

by means of essays, criticisms, discussions, etc. Among
the associates were John B. Brown, Daniel Winslow, Cap-

tain Coffin, the writer, and others. The paper continued

only for a year or two.
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I'he Family Reader, a weekly paper, published and

edited by Seba Smith, was commeDced in November, 1829,

and continued several years.

The Temperance Journal was published for several years

by A. Shirley & Son, and subsequently by Elder Peck,

Brown Thurston, and others. Contemporary with it was

The Peace Washingtonian, published by the Messrs.

Nichols. We have no dates of the commencement or dis-

continuance of these papers. During their existence a

sharp rivalry was kept up between them, each being equally

devoted to the cause of temperance, but differing widely in

their plans and methods. Much good, doubtless, they both

did in their separate spheres.

The Umpire was a weekly Whig paper, and at one period

of its existence a daily also was issued. It was short-lived.

Under the charge of F. 0. J. Smith it warmly advocated

Gen. Taylor's election, but closed its career soon afterwards.

The Orion, a weekly literary paper, edited by James Fur-

bish, was published for a brief period by Mr. Edwards, of

the Umpire.

The Yankee, edited by John Neal, was a famous paper

in its day, though short-lived. It was published weekly

by Jumes Adams, Jr., from its initial date, Jan. 1, 1828.

About eight«en months it continued to be published in

Portland, the city of its birth, when it was united with the

Bachelor » Monthly, including Mrs. Hales Monthly and the

Boston Literary Gazette, and removed to Boston, where it

was published under the conduct of Mr. Ncal and James

Miller, the poet. But, alas ! it could not survive such a

marriage and change of place. As if this were not enough,

however, it had also to be changed in form into a magazine.

It only lived about six months after these fatal changes and

its removal to Boston. The Yankee illustrated during its

period in Portland the peculiarities of its editor in an emi-

nent degree. At the time it was founded Mr. Neal was

thirty-five years old, and a model of ingenuousness and im-

pulse. He was open and frank as the day, yet persistent as

force itself in what he conceived to be right. He published

in his columns articles of astounding boldness and audacity,

but if he found them in error he retracted manfully in the

next issue ; if he believed them true he maintained them

with ur flinching firmness. Mr. Neal will long be remem-

bered both in Europe and America for the productions of

his gifted pen and the eccentricities of his genius.

The World in a Nutshell was a paper similar to the Yan-

kee, begun in 1830. Its forte was universal censure, and

under the disguise of an impersonal editorship, it astonished

and alarmed the community by the exposure of all sorts of

secret misdoings which were little thought to be known.

Who the writers were and how the information got out no-

body could discover. It was a profound and terrible mys-

tery, and no one felt safe while the unseen eye and the

hidden hand lurked in ambush for the faults and foibles of

the community, which were sure to be exposed in a sheet

which made its r^ular appearance no one knew whence.

They could not even find out where the mysterious sheet

was printed. This paper no doubt served a good purpose,

but it continued only for a short time.

The Jeffersonian was removed to Portland from Paris,

Oxford Co., in 1833, by Horatio King, afterwards acting

postmaster-general, who published it several years with

a good degree of success. It was Democratic in politics.

Upon its discontinuance

Tlie Weekly Standard was started by John S. Hartley.

It was continued a year or two, when Mr. Hartley moved

to Washington, and the paper expired.

The Portland Tribune, a literary weekly in quarto form,

was started in 1841 by D. C. Colesworthy, and continued

under his management over four years. Among its con-

tributors were John Neal, William Cutter, Nathaniel Deer-

ing, Mrs. E. Oakes Smith, S. B. Beckett, Charles Holden,

J. W. Mighels, G. W. Light, G. A. Baily, and others.

Many of its original articles were extensively copied. In

1845 this paper was sold to John Edwards, and united

with the Portland Umpire.

The Workingman's Advocate appeared in 1835, edited

by Dr. C. H. McLellan, and published by Day & Sumner.

In about a year its subscribers were transferred to the

Daily Courier.

The Yankee Farmer, by S. W. Cole, began to be pub-

lished in 1836. After several years it was removed to

Boston and united with the Ifew England Farmer.

The Pleagure Boat was a misnamed paper published

several years in Portland by Jere. Hacker, a Friend, who

afterwards removed it to New Jersey. It was cynical in

tone, and not by any means the pleasant and agreeable craft

to sail in which its name would imply.

The Political Nostrum was for a while the organ of a

faction of the Democratic party known at first as the " Mor-

mons" and afterwards as the " Wild Cats." It was issued

between 1835 and 1840, but continued only a short time.

The Journal of Reform was published by D. C. Coles-

worthy in 1836-37. It was the first paper in the State de-

voted to temperance and anti-slavery. The popular anti-

slavery Governor of Massachusetts, John A. Andrew, while

at Bowdoin College, was a contributor to this paper.

The YoutKs Monitor was commenced by D. C. Coles-

worthy in 1839-40, and continued about two years.

The Argus Renewed, a paper so called, appeared in 1839.

It was started by some disaffected parties to displace the old

Argus, and was published by Ira Berry ; but it failed of

its object.

The Eastern Farmer, an agricultural paper issued in

1841, was published for some time by Ira Berry and F. 0.

J. Smith, the latter being editor.

The Genius, a paper devoted to amusing and harmless

vagaries, by Josiah Lord Thomas, was once published in

Portland and continued for some time.

The Portland Daily Express was issued by D. C. Coles-

worthy in 1844, and continued less than a year. The dailies

from the Advertiser and Argus offices having been previously

established, there was no room for a third daily, and it died

after the first volume. It supported Henry Clay for the

Presidency and numbered John Neal among its contributors,

and " yet it was not happy."

The American made its appearance about 1850, a daily

Democratic sheet. The party was then in the ascendency

in the State. For a while it flourished on the pabulum of

State advertising, but soon joined the long procession of its

departed predecessors, coutouiporaries, and succcssui'S.
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The State of Maine (daily, tri-weekly, and weekly) was

commenced in July, 1853, by May & Marble, who removed

the Northern Light from Hallowell on the invitation of

John M. Wood, who was to furnish the money, the editorial

control to be assumed by John A. Poor. Mr. Wood having

bought a controlling interest in the Advertiser abandoned

the State of Maine, and Mr. Poor conducted it till 1859,

when he purchased the Advertiser of Mr. Wood, and, with

Messrs. Waldron and Little as partners, consolidated the

two papers. The State of Maine wa.s Whig in politics,

but its special hobby was the development of the internal

resources of the State.

The Observer, a t«n-cent quarto, was published in 186-i

by Stephen Berry. No editor was avowed, but it was evi-

dently intended for a classical periodical. Its Latin quota-

tions were numerous and apt, but it did not continue long.

The Riverside Echo was established in 1866 for the ad-

vocacy of temperance. It was edited by Rev. J. E. C.

Sawyer, and published by an association.

The Athenaeum, a semi-monthly, was published by S.

Coleman a short time.

The Wreath was commenced in March, 1842. In May
it was doubled in size and issued once in two weeks. It

continued till October, 1843. Was devoted to family in-

terests and Sunday-schools, edited by C. L. Adams, and

published by Brown Thurston.

The Portland Enquirer, edited by John Q. Day and pub-

lished by Brown Thurston, was started in 1848. It was

subsequently edited by Austin Willey, and continued its

weekly visits for some eight years.

The Journal of Education, monthly (forty 8vo pages),

edited by A. P. Stone and twelve prominent teachers of the

State. Published by Brown Thurston. This paper was

started by G. M. Gage, at Farmington, December, 1866,

under the title of the Maine Normal, and was moved to

Portland in June, 1868.

Good Speed, a monthly, commenced by F. J. Rich, in

February, 1871, and sold to H. A. McKenney the following

December.

MISCELLANEOUS PUBLICATIONS.

Messrs. Hoyt, Fogg & Donham publish The North East,

a missionary paper of the Protestant Episcopal Church

in the diocese of Maine. They also publish The Union

Bible Teacher, containing comments for old and young on

the series of Union Sunday-School Lessons, and a complete

set of the Quarterly and Monthly Lesson-Papers on the

" International System" for the use of Sunday-schools.

The Maine State Year-Book and Legislative Manual

has been published by this firm since 1870. It is a direc-

tory of the State and a valuable hand-book of statistics for

ready and convenient reference.

Tlie Helping Hand, an illustrated monthly religious

paper, is published by tbe Young Men's Christian Associa-

tion of Portland.

People's Illustrated Journal, a literary monthly, is pub-

lished by George Stitson k Co.

Home Fireside Magazine is the name of a literary monthly

published by H. Hallett & Co. It was established in April,

1879.

15

Living Issue is a weekly temperance paper published by

the Maine Temperance Alliance.

Portland Price Current is a monthly commercial paper

published by M. N. Rich.

7%e Masonic Token is published quarterly by Stephen

Berry.

CHAPTER XX.

AUTHORS AND ABTISTS.

Sketch of Authors, Native nnd Resident, of Cumberland County

—

Catalogue of their Works—Distinguished Naval Officers—Orators

and Statesmen.

At the head of this list we place Henry Wadsworth

Longfellow, the poet, who was born in Portland on the

27th of February, 1807. The house where he was born

stands on the corner of Fore and Hancock Streets. It is

" an old, square, wooden house upon the edge of the sea."

At the time when it was built by the poet's father, Hon.

Stephen Longfellow, the sea flowed up to the edge of the

road opposite, but it has since been pushed away by the

made land of the Grand Trunk Railway. The house is

three stories, and still in a good state of preservation.

Of the writings of Mr. Longfellow it is unnecessary here

to speak : they are known and admired wherever the Eng-

lish language is spoken, and have been translated into many

foreign languages. As a poet and man of letters he occu-

pies a place second to.no other American author in the

hearts and aflFections of thousands at home and abroad

who have been charmed and inspired to nobler thought

and endeavor by the beauty and purity of his writings.

In his j)oem entitled " My Lost Youth" he speaks of

Portland as
" the beautiful town

That is seated by the sea."

Nathaniel Parker Willis was born in Portland Jan. 20,

1807, but little over a short month earlier than Mr. Long-

fellow. It is rare that two such poets are born in the same

city so near the same time ; a parallel instance probably

cannot be found. Mr. Willis was descended from an an-

cestry of publishers : his father and grandfather, both of

whom were named Nathaniel, having been printers and

journalists by profession. The former was an apprentice

in the same office with Benjamin Franklin
;
the latter estab-

lished the Eastern Argus in Portland, and afterwards re-

moved to Boston, where he founded the Recorder of that

city.

As a poet, journalist, and letter-writer N. P. Willis was

distinguished for his clear, sprightly, and graphic style, and

for his rare skill in the use of words, of which his " Pen-

cilings by the Way" may be taken as a fair example.

The birthplace of N. P. Willis, and of his sister, Sara

Payson Willis (" Fanny Fern"), now Mrs. James Parton, of

Boston, was a two-story frame house in Essex Street. The

cradle in which all the children of the family were rocked

is still preserved. It is of solid mahogany, and was earned

by Mrs. Willis with the labor of her own hands. We find

it stated in AUibone's " Dictionary of Authors'' that the

sales of Miss Willis' " Fern Leaves" series in Europe and
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America amounted to the snm of one hundred and eighty

thousand dollars. Her novels have also had an unprece-

dented popularity.

John Neal, the veteran author, was bom in Portland,

Aug. 25, 1793, of Quaker parentage. A lai^e portion of

his life was spent in his native city, and the last of his

literary labors were devoted to an illustrated sketch-book

of its men and institutions, full of that piquant and racy

style of description of which he was master. Mr. Neal

was one of the most original minds of his time,—too full

of ideas and impulse to pay much regard to the mechanical

part of literature ; frank and ingenious to a fault, a con-

noisseur in art and letters, a severe critic, a generous and

whole-souled friend, a most interesting and agreeable com-

panion. His richly-endowed and well-stored mind was

constantly bubbling over with the exuberance of its treas-

ures. In personal appearance he was a man whom strangers

would stop to gaze at in passing, or be struck with his

presence on meeting him,—tall, commanding, and of a

powerful cast of head and face.

A notable poem of Mr. Neal's, entitled the " Battle of

Niagara," was published as long ago as 1818. He went to

England, where, in 1824, he was one of the contributors to

BlachuDood!s Magazine, and enjoyed the friendship of

Jeremy Bentham. On his return, enriched by foreign

travel and observation, he extended a liberal hand of sym-

pathy and help to every local artist and author whose

promise of success he had the sagacity to foresee and to

predict. Thus he became the patron and confidential

friend of Akers, Codman, Tilton, Simmonds, and many

others, whose latent genius in art and letters he encouraged

and aided in bringing to fruition. As a poet, novelist, jour-

nalist, and contributor to magazine literature Mr. Neal was

a voluminous and successful writer.

Nathaniel Hawthorne, the novelist, although not a native

of this county, spent a portion of his boyhood days in the

vicinity of Lake Sebago. At South Casco, on the Raymond

side, is the Union church, formerly Scribner's Ion, the resi-

dence of Mrs. Hawthorne and the boyhood home of the

great novelist. A short distance above this stood the old

mill, then deserted, in which Hawthorne used to practice

some of his earliest ventures in story-writing. A manu-

script was found there many years afterwards in overhaul-

ing and refitting the mill. The Images at the lower end of

the cape was a favorite resort of the young novelist, where,

it is said, he was accustomed to loiter in his little boat and

visit the " cave" in this peculiar rocky formation. No doubt

the wild scenery and solitude of this situation had something

to do in fostering that poetic susceptibility and retiring

disposition so characteristic of Hawthorne in afler-life.

Among the native sculptors, no doubt, Benjamin Paul

Akers deserves the first place. He was born at Saccarappa,

in the town of Westbrook. He passed his early life in brick-

yards and lumber-mills, occasionally laboring on his father's

little homestead. His first attempt at art was a life-sized

medallion in clay. He had never seen such a head any-

where, either in living form or painting; but, in his own

language, the production was " altogether his own ideal of

the Saviour." He next produced a very excellent bust of

Mr. Bradley, a member of the bar in his neighborhood.

Among the noted works of Mr. Akers were his " Lady

Jane Grey," " Benjamin," and the " Pearl Diver." He
died young in Italy, leaving a brother Charles (or Karl, as

he chose to be called), who was also gifted as a sculptor.

Franklin Simmonds was another sculptor of Portland.

The first of his successful achievements was an ideal statue

of "Roger Williams," executed for the city of Providence,

an admirable embodiment of tbe Puritan character. He

next produced the " Mother of Moses," with a child in her

lap, life size,—so fine a work of art as to fix his reputation

beyond question. He aflerwards completed several beauti-

ful designs for soldiers' monuments, and just before his de-

parture for Italy executed a fine bust of Hon. John B.

Brown, of Portland.

Among landscape painters we mention Charles Codman

and others. Those born here, or making their first appear-

ance here, have given Portland a high reputation.

Charles Codman began as a sign-painter on Middle Street.

He had previously served his time with Willard, the clock-

maker, and exhibited great taste and skill in painting clock-

faces and small landscapes on glass. After this he decorated

in oil tapestry one of the hotels in the city, which first at-

tracted attention to his genius ; then he painted marine

views, summer landscapes, and many pieces of rare merit,

gaining in popularity, so that no local collection was consid-

ered complete without one or more of his pictures in it. He

received many orders from all parts of the country, and was

engaged in his work till the time of his death.

John RoUin Tilton painted some fine pictures among his

early efforts, whicb are in the possession of Hon. J. B.

Brown, Dr. James M. Cnmmings, and others of Portland.

After spending some time in Italy he produced some fine

sketches of scenes in Rome and other parts of Europe, and

his water-colored studies of Egypt, which are considered in

some respects his best work. For these latter he refused

some thousands of dollars. His " St. George of the Sea-

weed Isle" has been much admired, and he has established

a high reputation among American artists.

Another of the landscape painters is Harry Brown, author

of a collection of marine views, which Mr. Neal hus pro-

nounced " rich, exuberant, and overflowing with sunshine

and trutbfulness."

Charles E. Beckett was a painter of some considerable

reputation. He has a daughter, who is thought to surpass

her father in some respects, especially as a colorist.

John B. Hudson, an artist of fine abilities, is resident in

Portland.

The prose writers of Portland and vicinity have been num-

berless, and, almost without exception, above the average.

Samuel Freeman was the editor of Smith's and Deane's

" Journals"—a treasury of household incidents and historic

facts relating to Falmouth and Portland, published in 1821.

Samuel Freeman was the eldest son of Enoch Freeman,

and was born in Falmouth on the 15th of June, 1742.

The family originally settled in Watertown, Mass., but this

branch moved to the Old Colony. He traded and kept

school previous to the Revolution. He first came into

notice as a public man in 1774, when he warmly advocated

the rights of the colonies. In 1775, having just attained

the age of thirty-three, he was chosen sole delegate to the
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Provincial Congress from Fulmouth, and was re-elected in

1776-78
; he was appointed Secretary of Congress in 1775,

the duties of which office he ably and satisfactorily dis-

charged for three yeara. In 1775 he was appointed clerk

of the courts in this county, and held the office, with the

exception of one year in the administratioa of Mr. Gerry,

until 1820, a period of forty-six years. The same year he

received the appointment of register of probate, which he

held until he was commissioned judge of probate in 1804,

the duties of which office he faithfully discharged until

1820. He was also postmaster from 1775 to 1804. The

confidence reposed in him by his fellow-citizens was no less

conspicuous than that of government ; in 1788 he was

elected one of the selectmen of the town, and with the ex-

ception of one year was annually re-elected twenty-five

years. In 1781 he was chosen deacon of the first parish,

and held the office about forty-five years. In 1802 he was

appointed president of the Maine Bank in Portland, which

he held for several successive years, and was also a number

of years president of the overseers of Bowdoin College.

These numerous and varied offices he filled with singular

industry, fidelity, and accuracy, and, by a judicious arrange-

ment of his employments, still had time to spare for the

charities of life. His active and benevolent mind sought

relief from the toils of official duty in the humble walks of

beneficence ; and we find him originating and aiding by his

money, his example, and his personal efforts, all the institu-

tions whose tendency was to elevate the tone of society and

to improve the manners and morals of the people. Not-

withstanding his numerous avocations he turned to account

his peculiar talent as a draughtsman, and published the

Town Officer, Clerk's Assistant, and Probate Directory,

. which, in an age when there were few lawyers and no books

of practical forms in common use, had a very rapid and

extensive circulation, and passed through several editions.

In the latter part of his life, when he had thrown off the

cares of office, Mr. Freeman found employment in digesting

the manuscript journal of the Rev. Mr. Smith, and collect-

ing information relative to the town and county. This he

published in 1821, and thus preserved from destruction

many valuable materials for history. In reading the ex-

tracts from Mr. Smith's " Journal," we cannot but deeply

regret that the editor should have been placed under an

injunction to destroy what he did not use, and that thus by

far the larger portion of the journal is lost forever. Such

are some of. the particulars in the useful and protracted life

of this venerable man. In his domestic and private char-

acter he may be traced by the same lines of kindness, be-

nevolence, and integrity which marked his public course.

He was twice married. His first wife. Miss Fowle, of Water-

town, Mass., died in 1785, at the early age of thirty ; he

married in 1786 the widow of Pearson Jones and daughter

of Enoch Ilsley, with whom he lived forty-four years, and

whom he survived about a year. He died in June, 1831,

aged eighty, leaving children by both of his wives.

He held at one time the several offices of delegate to the

general court, its secretary, clerk of the courts, postmaster,

and register of probate. At another period, he was at the

same time judge of probate, clerk of the courts, postmaster,

selectman, president of the Maine Bank, president of the

board of ovei-seers of Bowdoiu College, deacon of the first

I

church, and an active member of several societies.

Hon. William Willis was by far the most voluminous

historical writer in this portion of New England. Be-

sides the numerous volumes which he wrote and edited,

and his many elaborate papers and articles furnished for

periodicals, he was a constant contributor up to his last

days to the daily press of Portland. He kept a private

diary, which began in 1844, and continued, with scarcely

an interruption of its daily entry, till within four days of

his decease. He had commenced to keep a journal as early

as 1815, but for some cause it was discontinued ; the four

folios, embracing twenty-six years, are all that survive

him. The peculiarities of the seasons and the range of the

thermometer during those twenty-six years may be ascer-

tained with considerable accuracy from this journal. By
his habit of collecting facts respecting people and families,

he was prepared, on the death of almost any person in the

community, to prepare and furnish to the press an obituary

notice surprisingly accurate in all its details. This made

his services of much value in that department, and added

essentially to his qualifications as a historian.

Mr. Willis bequeathed to the Public Library of Portland

a large portion of his own private library and his manu-

scripts ; these contain a folio volume of genealogical and

biographical sketches and memoranda of great interest, as

showing the materials with which he was constantly fur-

nishing himself for future use. The published works of

Mr. Willis were the following :

History of Portland, 1831 ; A Bibliography of the State

of Maine, in Norton's Literary Letter, No. 4, 1859 ; a

similar one, published after his death, on the writers, native

andresident, of Maine,

—

Historical Magazine, March, 1870.

A Summary ofVoyages made to the North Atlantic Coast of

this Continent in the Sixteenth Century,

—

Nem England

Histm-ical and Genealogical Register, April, 1869 ; also,

in the same, an Essay on the Early Collections of Voyages

to America. A Sketch of the Origin and Progress of the

Maine Historical Society,

—

Historical Magazine, January,

1868. A Paper on the Early Settlers of New Hampshire,
—Nerc England Historical and Genealogical Register,

1868. Notice of Folsom's Catalogue of Original Docu-

ments in the English Archives, relating to the Early His-

tory of Maine, 1868
;

Titles conferred on Americans,

—

Historical Magazine, January, 1866. Descent of Hon.

Isaac Royall, and Long Pastorates of the First Parish of

Portland,

—

Historical Magazine, 1866. A Grenealogy of

the McKinstry Family,

—

New England Historical and
Genealogical Register, 1859-60.

For the Law Reporter he furnished reports of causes and

decisions in the Supreme Judicial Court of Maine ; and in

December, 1848, a paper on Judicial Changes in Maine.

He edited all the seven volumes of the " Maine Historical

Collections," and all but one contain one or more valuable

contributions from his pen. He republished the Journals of

Rev. Messrs. Smith and Deane, with copious notes, bio-

graphical sketches, and an introduction, in 1849, and a new
edition of his " History of Portland," in 1865. In 1863
appeared his " History of the Law, the Courts, and the

Lawyers of Maine," one vol., 8vo, pp. 712.
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Mr. Willis was successively elected corresponding and

honorary member of most of the historical societies in the

United States, and in 1867 he received from Bowdoin Col-

lege the honoraiy degree of LL.D. He died on the 17th of

February, 1870. Fitting notices of his death were taken

by the municipal authorities of the city of Portland, by the

Cumberland bar, and by the Maine Historical Society.

The following is a brief notice of other authors and their

works in Portland and Cumberland County

:

Rev. Ichabod Nichols, D.D., was the author of works on

" Natural Theology," " Natural History," and " Hours with

the Evangelists."

Isaac Ray, M.D., produced works entitled " Conversa-

tions on the Animal Economy," and " Lectures on Botany,"

both remarkable for clearness and precision of language.

I>r. Ray went to Eastport from Portland, and afterwards

had chaise of the Insane Asylum at Augusta.

Rev. Edward Payson, D.D., published works on theology •

also Rev. Dr. W. T. Dwight, Rev. Dr. J. W. Chickering'

Rev. Jason Whitman, Rev. Wm. B. Hayden, and Rev. Dr.

Thomas HUI, formerly president of Harvard University.

Rev. Cyrus Bartol, D.D., author of " Church and Congre-

gation," " Radical Problems," etc., lived for a time in Port-

land. Authors in science and natural history,—William

B. Sewall, Dr. J. W. Ingalls.

Nathaniel Deering, a graduate of Harvard in 1810, while

following the law as a profession, devoted his leisure hours

to literature. His chief productions were two five-act

tragedies,—" Carrabassett" and ," Bozzaris,"—which have

been much admired. His miscellaneous tales and poems

contain much of the humor of " Down East" life.

"

Among other poets, resident and native, were Grenville

Mellen, brother of Chief Justice Mellen ; Mrs. B. A.

Oakes Smith, author of "The Sinless Child," and formerly

a prolific contributor to magazine literature; S. B. Beckett,

author of " Hester," a narrative and descriptive poem of

considerable merit. Mr. Beckett is a good prose writer and

statistician, and has for a number of years prepared and

published the directories of Portland.

Mrs. Elizabeth Akers Allen has written poems that have

had a wide circulation, both in book form and through the

periodicals of the day. She is among the most sprightly

and original of newspaper correspondents. Her poem,

" Rock Me to Sleep, Mother," is one of deserved popu-

larity. A critic remarks, " Much of her poetry is really

exquisite." In her contribution and correspondence she

wrote under the nom de plume of " Florence Percy." A
volume of her fugitive poems appeared in Portland just

before her marriage to Mr. Akers, whom she accompanied

to Italy, and buried there. She is now on the editorial

staff of one of the daily papers of Portland.

Mr. D. C. Colesworthy has written quite a large number

of volumes. Among them arc " Chronicles of Casco Bay,"

1850 ; " Old Bureaus," 1861 ;
" Hints on Common Polite-

ness," 1867, and many more. Among writers of tales and

romance are J. H. Ingraham and Charles P. Ilsley, whose tales

of Indian warfare and frontier life in Maine have been very

popular. Of this class also are Mrs. Clara Barnes Martin,

who wrote "Mount Desert," the "Little Nortons," and

others ; Mrs. Margaret J. M. Sweat, in " High-Ways and

By-Ways," " Ethel's Love Life," etc. ; Mrs. Elizabeth

(Payson) Prentice, and Mrs. Ann S. Stephens, the prolific

novel-writer, who lived at one time in Portland, though

bom in Derby, Conn. ; Mrs. W. H. Alderdice, author of a

new novel called " Heart's Delight." Edward Payson, son

of the eloquent divine, Rev. Dr. Payson, has published a

popular novel entitled " Doctor Tom." Rev. Elijah Kel-

logg is the author of many instructive and useful books for

boys, and of romances founded on the incidents of pioneer

life in this portion of Maine, very readable and instnictive.

Other writers are George Payson and Mrs. Samuel Cole-

man ; Bishop Horatio Southgate has written travels ; Prof.

Edward S. Morse has gained distinction as a lecturer and

writer of works on natural history.

We give in addition to the above the following catalogue

of books and authors of this county : Rev. Cyril Pearl,

"Youth's Book," "Spectral Visitants;" Rev. C. Soule,

" Questions on Upham's Mental Philosophy ;" William D.

Warren, " School Geography and Atlas," " Household Con-

secration and Baptism ;" J. O'Donnell, " Juryman's Guide;"

Miss Morrill, " Blacklyn Swamp;" D. C. Colesworthy,

" My Minister," " Sketches of the Character of Rev.

Charles Jenkins;" Rev. C. C. Burr, " Neal Ronello,"

" Discourse on Revivals ;" Rev. George Quinby, " Sermons

and Prayers by Fifteen Universalist Clergymen ;" Daniel

D. Smith, " Lectures on Domestic Duties;" Mra. D. Reed,

'' Wild Flowers ;" Rev. L. L. Sadler, " Lectures on the

Prophecy of Daniel," " Catechism on Matthew's Gospel, in

Two Parts ;" Rev. Jason Whitman, " Helps for Young

Christians," " The Sunday-School," " Discourses on the

Lord's Prayer," "Young Men's Assistant," "Young Ladies'

Aid ;" E. B. Fletcher, " Man Immortal," " The National

Book of the Sabbath ;" William Smith, •' New Elementary

Algebra ;" Benjamin Kingsbury, Jr., " Maine Townsman

and Probate Manual;" Simon Greenleaf, nine volumes of

"Maine Reports;" Moses Sawyer, " Lieutenant Burn," a

novel; Allen H. Weld, -'Progressive Grammar," "Pro-

gressive Parsing-Book," " New Grammar," " Latin Lessons

and Reader;" E. P. Weston, "Northern Monthly," "Views

of Heart and Home ;" J. M. Gould, " History of l-10-29th

Maine Regiment ;" Rev. S. M. Putnam, " Prayers from

the Scriptures," "Old Divines and the Poets;" Rev.

Samuel Deane, D.D., " Pitchwood Hill," a poem, and

" Geological Dictionary, or New England Farmer," 1790
;

P. W. Plummer, " The Carpenter's Guide ;" Mrs. C. W.
D. Strout, "Slippery Paths;" William Warren, D.D.,

"These for Those," " Our Indebtedness to Missions,"

"Twelve Years with Children;" William Wirt Virgin,

" Supplemental Digest of Maine," pp. 620, 8vo ; Vol. 57,

" Maine Reports," pp. 660, 8vo ; Vol. 58, " Maine Re-

ports," pp. 676, 8vo; "Maine Civil Officers;" Walter

Wells, " Water-Power of Maine ;'' Josiah Pierce, " His-

tory of Gorham ;" Thomas Laurens Smith, " History of

Windham ;" Horatio Southgate, " History of Scarborough ;"

Gen. J. Marshall Brown, " Exploring Voyages of Cham-

plain in the Gulf of Maine ;" George Augustus Wheeler,

M.D., and Henry Warren Wheeler, " History of Bruns-

wick, Topsham, and Harpswell ;'' Isaac Parsons, " Account

of New Gloucester;" Edward Russell, " History of North

Yarmouth ;" Augustus AV. Corliss, " Old Times ;" H. W.
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llicliaidbuu, ' Paper Money : A Collection of the Priiicipal

Historical Facts Bearinp; upon the Current Financial Dis-

cussion," D. Appleton & Co., New York, publishers, 1879.

Of officers who have achieved distinction in the navy

this county has the honor of recognizing among its citizens

Com. Edward Preble, son of Brig. Preble, renowned as the

hero of Tripoli ; Rear-Admiral Alden, who fought at Vera

Cruz, New Orleans, and Mobile, and Com. George H.

Preble, a naval officer of long and honorable standing.

Among reformers may be mentioned Gen. Neal Dow,

author of the " Maine Law," the widely-known advocate

of temperance on the principle of prohibition.

Of statesmen and orators, native and resident, this county

may claim Sargent S. Prenti.ss, who was born in Portland,

but who won his reputation at the South ; William Pitt

Fesseuden, the distinguished United States Senator and

ex-Secretary of the Treasury ; Hon. George Evans, formerly

United States Senator from this State; Hon. Israel Wash-

bum, Jr., whose long services in Congress and able admin-

istration as Governor during the early part of the war of

the Rebellion place him among the most honored citizens

;

Hon. George T. Davis, ex-member of Congress from Jlas-

sachusetts, and a gentleman of brilliant reputation, both as

an orator and conversationalist. To these names should be

added those of many eloquent advocates and divines, espe-

cially that of Rev. Dr. Edward Paysoii, early pastor of the

Second Parish, who was the most eloquent preacher of

New England, and perhaps of the United States in his day.

Fuller notice of some of these men will be found in other

portions of this work.

CHAPTER XXL
THE MEDICAL PHOPESSION.

Early Physicians—Maine Medical Association—Cumberland County

Medical Society—Portland School for Medical Instruction—Maine

General Hospital.

Da. Ammi-Ruhamah Cutter, son of William and Re-

becca Cutter, was born in Cambridge, Mass., May 6, 1705,

and graduated at Harvard College in 1725. He was ordained

the firet parish minister in North Yarmouth, Nov. 8, 1730;

married Dorothy, daughter of Jacob and Elizabeth (Stock-

man) Bradbury ; was dismissed from the church in 1735,

on account of Arminian opinions ; after his dismissal he

practiced medicine in North Yarmouth, and later had charge

of the "truck-house" at Saco. While there it is said he

prepared a dictionary of the Indian language, although the

work appears not now to be extant. He was captain of a

company in the Louisbourg expedition, and died of fever

there March, 1746.

His eldest son and namesake was physician-general of

the American army during the Revolution. He was born

March 14, 1734-35, and died in Portsmouth, Dec. 18,

1820. Levi Cutter, a grandson of the elder Dr. Cutter,

was the fourth mayor of Portland, 1834-40.

Dr. Samuel Moody was a surgeon in the army in the

war of 1722, and afterwards received a military appoint-

ment. He died at Brunswick, in 1758, where he was com-

manding officer at Fort George. He wa.s boni Oct. -\).

1699, and graduated at Harvard CoUese in 171S.

Dr. Nathaniel Coffin, Dr. John Lowther, and Dr. Edward

Watts were among the physicians in Portland, or upon the

Neck, prior to the Revolution.

Dr. Nathaniel Jones was a physician of considerable

promise, residing on Cape Elizabeth. He came from Ips-

wich, Mass., and was in successful practice when the war

of the Revolution broke out. He enlisted as a surgeon in

the Bagaduce expedition, in which he contracted disea.se, of

which he died soon after his return.

Dr. Watts married Polly Oxnard, of Boston, in May.

1765, and came to Portland about that time.

The first physician who settled in Bninswick was Samuel

Gyles, who practiced there for a short time previous to his

death, 1738. He came from Salisbury, Mass.

The next physician was William Spear, son of Robert

Spear, one of the early settlers. The period of Dr. Spear's

practice is not certainly known, but he is believed to have

commenced about 1740.

Dr. Phineas Nevers was in Brunswick from 1755 to

1765, and perhaps longer. Nothing is known of him as a

physician.

Dr. Samuel Duncan came to Brunswick from Topshaui

in 1770, and was in practice until his death, in 1784. Ho
was a young man, but was called a skillful physician, and

he had an extensive practice. He lived at New Meadows.

Dr. Ebenezer H. Goss came to Brunswick during the

Revolution. He lived at Maquoit until 1804, when lie

moved to the village, and soon after moved to Paris, Me.

He had an extensive practice, and was accounted a good

physician.

Dr. Balthazar Stilkey was a Hessian surgeon, who came

over with Burgoyne's forces, and after the war (about 1790)

settled in Brunswick, near the present residence of 3Ir.

Martin Storer, north of Cook's Corner. He practiced there

for several years. But little is known of him. He is said

to have been something of a quack.

Dr. Jonathan Richardson Parker was in Brunswick for

one or two years only, about 1799.

Dr. Jonathan Page came to Brunswick in 1795, and

commenced the practice of medicine in 1800. His practice

soon became extensive, and continued increasingly so until

his death, in 1842. He held a highly respectable rank in

his profession. His residence was for many years in the

house just south of the Mason Street church.

Dr. Isaac Lincoln moved to Brunswick from Topsham
in 1820. He enjoyed a very extensive practice until a

short time before his death, in 1868. He held a high rank

in his profession. He was a graduate of Harvard College,

1800, and is supposed to have been the first physician in

Brunswick who had received a collegiate education.

John D. Lincoln, son of Dr. Isaac Lincoln, was a gradu-

ate of Bowdoin College, class of 1843, and of the Medical

School of Maine, cla.ss of 1846. He practiced in Bruns-

wick from 1846 till within a few weeks of his death, in

1877. He was a most excellent physician, and his practice

extended into many of the neighboring towns, and even to

more remote portions of the State.

Other physicians in Brunswick, for a short time only
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have been J. D. Wells, 1829

;

Cushuiuu, 1830; J. E.

Shaw, 1857 ; T. S. Foster, 1864; J. B. Soto, 1871 to 1873.

Of those now residing in Brunswick, Asher Ellis com-

menced practice in Brunswick in 1842, Nathaniel T. Pal-

mer in 1845, Alfred Mitchell in 1865, and Daniel F. Ellis

in 1866.

Although the town of Harpswell has been unable to dis-

pense entirely with the services of physicians, yet it has

done so to a great extent. There have been but four phy-

sicians located in the town, and, with one exception, they

remained but a few years. The practice in the town has

been mainly carried on by Brunswick doctors. Prior to

1840 a Dr. Norton resided in the town for several years.

He was succeeded about 1343 by a Dr. Bliss. In 1850,

or thereabouts, Dr. Dailey settled in this town, and has re-

mained to the present time. In 1870, Dr. J. B. Soto set-

tled here, but remained but one year, when he removed to

Brunswick, where he died.

Dr. Gilbert Winslow began practice in North Yarmouth in

1743, and continued till his death, Jan. 9, 1777. He was

a son of Gilbert and Mercy (Snow) Winslow, bom July

26, 1704, and married Patience, daughter of Elder Samuel

and Abigail Seabury.

Dr. John Bartlett practiced medicine at North Yarmouth

from about 1747 till 1758, at which latter date he removed

to Lebanon, Conn. He came from Duxbury, Mass., and

married Susannah, daughter of Deacon Jedediah and Han-

nah (Scales) Southworth.

William Chase was another physician of North Yarmouth.

He commenced practice in that town in 1760, and continued

till his death, July 22, 1798, at the age of sixty-two.

Edward Russell, M.D., son of Jeremiah Russell, was

bom in Cambridge, Mass.
;
graduated at Harvard, 1750

;

married Hannah, daughter of Parker and Lydia (Phillips)

Clark, July 23, 1767 ; commenced practice in North Yar-

mouth in 1765, and practiced till his death, April 19, 1785.

Ammi-Ruhamah Mitchell, son of Hon. David and Lu-

cretia (Loring) Mitchell, bom May 8, 1762 ; served ten

years in the Massachusetts Legislature, and was elected Sen-

ator in 1808. Dr. Mitchell was very successful in his

practice ; married Phebe, daughter of Capt. William Cut^

ter ; was killed by being thrown from his carriage while on

his way to visit a patient. May 14, 1824. Had by his wife

Phebe a family of twelve children.

Dr. Raynes, Dr. William Chase, and Dr. David Jones

were physicians at North Yarmouth ; Dr. Chase from 1760

till July 22, 1798, when he died, aged sixty-two ; and Dr.

Jones (from Abington, Mass.) from 1785 till his death.

May 14, 1824, aged sixty-two. Another of the early phy-

sicians of the same town was,William Parsons, from Glouces-

ter, Mass.

Dr. Elias Banks, grandfather of Dr. Charles E. Banks,

of Portland, practiced in North. Yarmouth from 1801 to

1811. He was a son of Lieut. Moses and Phebe (Curtis)

Banks, bora in Scarborough, Me., Sept. 11, 1774, and

married Lucretia, daughter of David and Elizabeth (Oakes)

Prince. Dr. Banks at a later day practiced in Danville,

Me. and afterwards in Portland, where he died Feb. 9,

1841. He was a member of the old Maine Medical Society.

Dr. Daniel Clark, from Connecticut, practiced in Yar-

mouth from about 1810 to 1821, when he removed to

Thomaston, Me.

Dr. Gad Hitchcock, a native of Pembroke, Mass., also

practiced in Yarmouth from 1810 to date of his death,

Nov. 17, 1837. He died at the age of forty-nine. Dr.

William B. Gooch removed from this town, where he had

practiced, in 18-14. Among the successful practitioners

here were also Dr. Amos and Dr. William B. Osgood.

Dr. Amos 0.sgood came to the town from Fryeburg.

Dr. Ebenezer Burbank, bora 1794, married Sophronia,

daughter of Wentworth and Mary (Pottle) Bicker, of

Poland, Me.
;

practiced in Yarmouth thirty-seven years

;

died March, 1867, aged seventy-three years. His only son,

Augustus H. Burbank, M.D., now in active practice in

Yarmouth, is a graduate of Harvard Medical College. He

married for his first wife Elizabeth R. Banks, daughter of

Dr. Elias and Lucretia (Prince) Banks, who died in 1870.

His second wife was Miss Thompson', of Yarmouth.

Other physicians of Yarmouth have been Dr. Lewis

Whitney, who died May, 1857 ; Dr. Greene, died 1814

;

Drs. Barston, Loring, Thompson, Harvey, Clark, and Har-

low ; and Dr. Samuel W. Blanchard, who died in 1857,

aged thirty-nine.

Dr. James Bates was an old and popular physician in

Yarmouth. He was the father of the present Dr. James

M. Bates, who was a surgeon in the army during the late

Rebellion, and is now in active practice in Yarmouth. The

other physicians at present practicing in the town are Dr.

W. W. Thomas and Dr. Richard Mace.

Dr. Jacob Mitchell was a physician in Cumberland in

1832. He was a son of Deacon Jacob and Phebe (Buxton)

Mitchell, and married Statira, daughter of Capt. Solomon

L. Blanchard, Dec. 18, 1831.

Note.—John Holmaa, son of John and Ann Holinun,^ of Dorches-

ter, bom Feb. 23, 1638, is supposed to have been a. physician and

sargeon. The York court records, 1681, mention an inquest on the

body of Nathan Bedford '* attended by Mr. Holman, a cbyergeon.'*

This was probably the above John Holmon; who lived on Maine's

Point at the time of the first settlement.

MAINE MEDICAL ASSOCIATION.

Agreeably to a call addressed to a portion of the medical

profession, of Maine, a meeting to secure a permanent or-

ganization of its members throughout the State wus held

at the Tontine Hotel in Branswick, April 28, 1853. Dr.

James McKeen, of Topsham, was chosen chairman, and

Dr. John D. Lincoln, of Branswick, secretary. The fol-

lowing-named gentlemen were appointed a committee to

prepare articles of organization, viz. : Drs. Hill, Briggs, G.

S. Palmer, Libby, Fuller, Garcelon, and Benson, who re-

ported a constitution and by-laws which were adopted by

the association and remained in force till they were super-

seded by the present revised constitution and by-laws. The

members named in the original organization were Isaac

Lincoln, James McKeen, Amos Nourse, Cyrus Bri^s, T.

G. Stockbridge, H. H. Hill, Israel Putnam, Andrew J.

Fuller, John Benson, Nathaniel T. Palmer, C. W. Whit-

more, G. S. Palmer, Ashur Ellis, John Mathews, Joseph

W. Ellis, Cyrus Kendrick, Jr., George E. Brickett, John

D. Lincoln, Alonzo Garcelon, J. W. Toward, R. W. Law-

son, Abial Libby, J. F. Stanley, N. R. Boutelle, John
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Hartwell, Stephen Whitraore, and Richard P. Jcnness,

with such other gentlemen as may hereafter be admitted by

the majority of members present at an annual meeting.

The association wa.s incorporated by the following act of

the Legislature (Chap. 492), approved JIarch 13, 1855 :

" An Act to Incorporate the Maine ifedicitl Aaeociution,

'Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives in

Legislature assembled, as follows :

"SECTION 1, H. H. Hill, John Beuson, John D. Lincoln, Gilman

Oareis, Joseph AV. Ellis, John Hubbard, James JIcKeen, Alonzo

Uarcelon, II. L. K. M'iggin, John Cook, Sylvester Oakes, N. C. Har-

ris, Alcander Burbank, William Kilbourne, J. P. Fesfienden, P. Dyer,

Edmond R. Russel), Isaac Lincoln, John T. Gilman, and others, who

may be elected agreeably to the rules and by-laws hereafter to be es-

tablished, are hereby created a body politic by the name of the Maine

Medical Association, with power to sue and be sued, to hare a common
seal and to change the same, to make any by-laws not repugnant to

the taws of this State, and to take and to hold any real or personal

estate to the value of fifty thousand dollars ; and to give, grant, bar-

gain, sell, and convey the same. The use and income of said estates

to be expended and appropriated to uses consistent with the objects

of said Association, and as the members thereof shall direct.

"Src. 2. The members of said Association may elect a President,

Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer, and such other officers as they

may judge necessary and convenient, determine their respective duties,

and limit the term of their offices, and fill nnj vacancies therein;

and the President and such other officers as they may direct, is hereby

authorized to administer to the officers oatbs, binding them to the

faithful and impartial discharge of the duties of their several offices.

"Sec. 3. At any annual meeting, and at* no other, the members

of the Association may duly elect any suitable person a member of

said Association ; provided, that no person shall be so elected who has

not received the degree of doctor in medicine from some medical in-

stitution duly authorized to confer the same, nor unless be shall have

passed a successful examination, and be approved by the censors of

this A.«80ciation as a suitable person and properly qualified to become

a member thereof.

''Sec. 4. At the first meeting of said Association, and at every

annual meeting thereafter, it shall be the duty of the Association to

choose such number of censors or examiners as they shall deem proper

and necessary for the examination of candidates for election, and

every candidate examined, approved, and elected, shall be entitled to

receive letters testimonial, which the Association is hereby authorized

and empowered to confer, in accordance with its by-laws and consti-

tution.

" Sec. 5. Prior to the adjournment of the first meeting, and of

each succeeding meeting, the time and place of holding the next suc-

ceeding meeting shall be designated, and when the Association dues

adjourn, it shall adjourn accordingly.

"Sec. a. The first meeting of said Association shall be held in

Belfast, in the County of Waldo, on the first Wednesday of June, in

the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and fifty-fire, at

ten of the clock in the forenoon.

"Sec. 7. This Association shall have power to institute local

County Societies in any part of this State, when they mny be satisfied

the science and practice of Medicine and Surgery will be benefited

and elevated thereby, and to annul the same when a majority of the

members present at any annual meeting shall deem its beneficial in-

fluence to hare ceased.
''

List of Membei-s.—The following list contains only the

names of those members of the Maine Medical Association

who have been resident physicians in Cumberland County,

with the place of residence of each, and the date of mem-

bership placed before each year's list

:

1853.—Isaac Lincoln,* Brunswick ; S. H. Tewksbury,

Portland; Joel Houghton, Portland ; Israel T. Dana, Port-

land ;
Sumner B. Chase, Portland ; John T. Gilman, Port-

land ; William C. Robinson,* Portland ; Gilman Daveis,*

» Deceased.

Portland ; A. H. Burbank, Yarmouth ; William Marrett,*

Saccarappa ; John D. Lincoln,* Brunswick ;
Ebenezer

Wells, Freeport.

1854.—Samuel W. Blanchard,* Yarmouth ;
William

Wood, Portland ; Chas. S. D. Fessenden, Portland ; 0. E.

Durgin, Portland ; John C. Plumer, Portland ;
Richard P.

Jenness, Saccarappa ; L. Clinton Gilson, Portland ;
E. P. Le

Prohon, Portland; E. Parsons,* Portland; Alexander Par-

sons, Portland; Charles II. Osgood, Portland; J. F. Durgin,

Portland ; Charles W. Thomas,* Portland ; John E. Dun-

nell,* Harrison ; Henry T. Cummings, Portland.

1857.—Simon Fitch, Portland ; John E. Shaw, Bruns-

wick ; D. 0. Perry,* Portland.

1858.—George H. Nichols, Standish ; William Osgood,

North Yarmouth ; Seth C. Gordon, Gorham ; John Buzzell,

Cape Elizabeth ; George H. Chadwick, Portland ; Thomas

H. Breslin,* Portland; W. R. Richardson, Portland; Wil-

liam Wescott,* Standish; E. Stone, Westbrook ; Thomas

H. Merrill,* Portland ; R. W. Cummings, Portland.

1859.—C. H. Burbank, Portland.

1863.—Josiah T. Day, Jr., Portland ; George L. Good-

ale, Portland ; Horace C. White, Harpswell ; Nathaniel

Shannon, Cape Elizabeth ; Charles Hutchenson, Gray ; J.

P. Webb, Bridgton ; G. L. Kilgore, Windham
; L. W.

Houghton,* Portland ; B. F. Fogg,* Portland.

1864.—A. S. Thayer, Portland ; S. E. Sylvester, Portland.

1865.—Alfred Mitchell, Brunswick ; George E. Webber,

Portland ; Benjamin F. Sturgis, New Gloucester ; Gardner

Ludwig, Portland; William. B. Cobb, Standish; A. M.

Parker, Westbrook ; J. Addison Parsons, Windham
;

Edwin H. Vose, Gorham ;
Thomas F. Perley, Portland

;

J. D. Nutting, Otisfield.

1866.—P. Wadsworth, Jr., Portland; B. T. Sanborn,

Standish ; H. N. Small, Portland; Alden T. Keen, Gorham
;

John De Laski, Falmouth ; S. P. Getehell, Raymond
;

George F. French, Portland
;
Ira C. Sawyer, Naples

; A. 0.

Shaw, Portland ; Daniel F. Ellis, Brunswick ; S. C. Haw-

kins,* Portland.

1867.—Henry P. Merrill, Portland; Eaton S. Hatch,

Portland ; F. S. Hall,* Casco ; J. W. Lowell, Ferry Village
;

Henry H. Hunt, Gorham ; Henry I. Jordan,* Westbrook
;

Frank Carter, Portland ; C. A. Bobbins, Brunswick ; Nel-

son H. Carey, Gorham.

1868.—Joseph Sturtevant, Scarborough
;

Charles 0.

Hunt, Portland; Albion Cobb, Webb's Mills; James G.

Sturgis, Standish.

1869.—Frederic Henry Gerrish, Portland ; Charles E.

Webster, Portland ; J. J. Sturgis, Windham ; J. L. Ben-

nett, Bridgton ; Charles H. Reynolds,* Gorham.

1870.—B. B. Foster, Portland ; S. H. Weeks, Portland

;

Eugene W. Brooks, Portland
; F. A. Stanley, Portland.

1871.—A. Q. Marshall, New Gloucester; B. F. Dunn,

Windham ; Frank E. Hitchcock, Portland ; Reuben D.

Small, Portland.

1872.—Rotheus A. Gray, Saccarappa ; A. P. TopliflF,

Gorham ; J. B. Soto,* Brunswick.

1873.—D. H. Dole, Cape Elizabeth
; C. W. Stockman,

Portland
;
Charles A. Ring, Portland.

1874.—Milton W. Hall, Cumberland; A. Lewis Gau-

bert, Portland
; Charles W. Bray, Portland ; D. M. Tolford,
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Portland ; George W. Jones, Portland ; James A. Spalding,

Portland ; J. L. Horr, Cumberland Mills ; Erastus E. Holt,

Portland ; Egbert T. Andrews, Gray.

1875.—Fred. Quinby, Deering; J. F. Newman, Gray.

1876.—W. G. Frost, Portland ; Abraham G. Wendell,

Portland ; William A. Wheeler, Portland ; George W.
Libby, Saccarappa ; Arthur S. Bird, Portland ; John G.

Pierce, Freeport.

1879.—Augustus P. Dudley, Portland ; Isaac W. Star-

bird, Portland.

Officers and Delegates.—The following resident physi-

cians of Cumberland County have been presidents of the

Maine Medical Association: Isaac Lincoln, Brunswick,

1853; Gilman Daveis, Portland, 1857; J. T. Gilman,

Portland, 1863; S. H. Tewksbury, Portland, 1866; Israel

T. Dana, Portland, 1868; J. M. Bates, Yarmouth, 1875.

Vice-Presidents: John T. Gilman, 1853; J. D. Lincoln,

1859; S.' H. Tewksbury, 1864; Charles W. Thomas, 1865;

J. M. Bates, 1869; E. Stone, 1871; George F. French,

1873; William Osgood, 1877.

Treasurers: Gilman Daveis, 1854; J. D. Lincoln, 1857;

Thomas A. Foster, 1864-78; A. S. Thayer, 1878.

Corresponding Secretaries : John D. Lincoln, Brunswick,

1854; Gilman Daveis, Portland, 1855; W. C. Robinson,

Portland, 1859; S. H. Tewksbury, Portland, 1860; G. H.

Chadwick, Portland, 1861 ; J. D. Lincoln, Brunswick, 1863;

J. M. Bates, Yarmouth, 1865; A. H. Burbank, Yarmouth,

1866; S. H. Weeks, Portland, 1870-78.

Recording Secretaries: A. H. Burbank, Yarmouth, 1857;

G. H. Chadwick, Portland, 1860; Thomas A. Foster, Port-

land, 1862; G^jorge L. Goodale, Portland, 1863-66; E.

O. Vose, Gorham, 1866-68; Charles 0. Hunt, Portland,

1868-78.

Members of Standing Committee:* Composed of one

member from each county for each year. The following

have served from this county: William Marrett, 1854;

John D. Lincoln, 1855; S. H. Tewksbury, 1856; 0. E.

Durgin, 1857; A. H. Burbank, 1858-60; S. C. Gordon,

1860; Israel T. Dana, 1861; W. C. Robinson, 1862; C.

W. Thomas, 1863-65; S. H. Tewksbury, 1865; G. H.

Chadwick, 1866-68;- S. H. Weeks, 1868; H. N. Small,

1869-71; S. C. Gordon, 1871; H. H. Hunt, 1872; S. H.

Weeks, 1873.

Members of Board of Censors: Israel T. Dana, 1874;

A. S. Thayer, 1875-77 ; Frederic Henry Gerrish, 1877-78;

H. H. Hunt, 1878.

Members of Committee on Publication : Charles 0. Hunt,

by, virtue of his office as recording secretary, 1868-79;

H. N. Small, John Buzzell, William B. Cobb, 1874 ; S. C.

Gordon, F. H. Gerrish, 1875; G. F. French, William Os-

good, 1876; S. H. Weeks, C. H. Bray, 1877; A. H. Bur-

bank, G. F. French, C. W. Bray, 1878.

Business Committee : John D. Lincoln, 1876 ; N. A.

Hersom, 1877; S. C. Gordon, William Osgood, 1878.

Delegates to Medical Societies.—New Hampshire Medi-

cal Society : A. S. Thayer, 1874 ; L. Ingalls, 1878.

Rhode Island Medical Society : S. H. Weeks, 1874 ; C.

E. Webster, 1877.

3 Changeil to Board of Censors, 1873.

New York Medical Society : J. M. Bates, 1874 ; S. C.

Gordon, H. N. Small, 1875; Israel T. Dana, C. 0. Files,

W. G. Frost, 1877.

Canadian Medical Society: S. H. Tewksbury, 1874-76;

W. W. Greene, G. Ludwig, 1877 ; G. F. French, 1878.

Yermont Medical Society: N. A. Hersom, William B.

Cobb, 1875; S. H. Weeks, 1876; William B. Cobb, 1877.

Pennsylvania Medical Society: Israel T. Dana, 1875;

S. C. Gordon, C. 0. Hunt, 1877 ; William Osgood, 1878.

Medical School of Maine: T. A. Foster, 1875.

Massachusetts Medical Society : Israel T. Dana, 1876

;

S. H. Weeks, 1877] Israel T. Dana, S. C. Gordon, 1878.

Connecticut Medical Society; N. A. Hersom, 1876; C.

S. D. Fessenden, E. E. Holt, 1877 ; C. E. Webster, 1878.

New Jersey Medical Society: J. M. Bates, 1876; T. A.

Foster, J. M. Bates, 1877.

American Medical Association : William W. Greene, John

D. Lincoln, T. A. Foster, A. S. Thayer, 1876 ; A. S. Thayer,

H. N. Small, George F. French, 1877; H. H. Hunt, 1878.

International Medical Congress: Frederic Henry Gerrish,

1876.

Committee on Maine General Hospital : John T. Gilman,

1874-76.

Geo. Franklin French, of Portland, Me., was born

Oct. 30, 1837, in Dover, N. H. ; he graduated at Har-

vard University (A.B., 1859 ; A.M., M.D., 1862) ; served

three years as a surgeon in the war of the Rebellion, at the

close of which was brevetted lieutenant-colonel for merito-

rious service, subsequently declining a commission in the

regular army. In 1866 he began the private practice of

medicine at Portland, Me., where he continues to reside.

He is a member of the American Association for the Ad-

vancement of Science, American Public Health Associa-

tion, Maine Medical Association, and Cumberland County

Medical Association. He was a prominent contributor to

the " Medical and Surgical History of the War of the -Re-

bellion," the author of " The Treatment of Orthopnoea by

Mechanical Support," " A New Method of Skin-Grafting,"

" Opium Antidote Fraud," and the inventor of several use-

ful surgical instruments, well known to the profession. He
is instructor in practice, and clinical lecturer on diseases

of the skin in the " Portland School for Medical Instruc-

tion,'' and was a member of the original staff of the Maine

General Hospital. During his service in the army he was

in charge of several large hospitals ; Surgeon -in-Chief, 1st

Division, 15th Army Corps, in "Sherman's March to the

Sea," and personal-staff surgeon of Gen. U. S. Grant at

Vieksburg. He was married, Oct. 14, 1863, to Clara H.,

daughter of Dr. Levi G. Hill, of Dover, N. H.

John Taylor Gilman.—From the time of the first

Councilor Gilman, who was born in Hingham, England, in

1624, and settled in Exeter, N. H., about 1648, the political,

ecclesiastical, social, and financial history of New Hamp-
shire was more influenced by the Gilman family than by any

other, for a century and a half at least. Other names, like

those of Wentworth, Waldron, Weares, Stark, Langdon,

Sullivan, and Scammel, were more prominent for a time,

but the Gilmans, though seldom in the highest places, for

more than a century, cauic gradually to the control of affaire.
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which they managed with energy, good sense, and a busi-

ness talent that was indispcniiable, from 1775 till 1810,

when Governor Gilman retired from public life.

Nicholas Gilman, grandfather of Dr. Gilman, was born

Oct. 21, 1731 ; married Ann, daughter of Rev. John Tay-

lor, of Milton, and Elizabeth, daughter of Rev. Nathaniel

Rogers, a descendant of the Pilgrims of Plymouth.

He was treasurer of the State of New Hampshire from

1775 to 1782, when he was succeeded by his eldest son,

John Taylor. He was Continental Loan officer, one of the

chief members of the Committee of Safety, and councilor of

the State from 1777 to the dayof hia death, April", 1783.

His relation to the financial affairs of New Hampshire is

said to have been much as that of Robert Morris to those

of the nation, and he managed them with the same pru-

dence and skill.

John Taylor Gilman was born in 1754, and died in 1828.

He was a volunteer in the Revolutionary army ; a del^ate

from New Hampshire in 1780 to the Hartford Convention

;

a delegate to the Continental Congress in 1782—83, in the

latter year succeeding his father as treasurer of New
Hampshire. This office he resigned to become a commis-

sioner to settle certain accounts for the States, but was re-

elected in 1791. He was Governor of New Hampshire

from 1794 to 1805, and again from 1813 to 1815, when he

declined a re-election.

Hon. Nicholas Gilman, second son, born Aug. 3, 1755,

was a delegate from New Hampshire to the Continental

Congress, from 1786 to 1788 ; a member of the convention

that framed the constitution, and signed that instrument.

After the adoption of the constitution he was elected a

Representative in Congress, from 1789 to 1797 ; and was

a Senator in Congress from New Hampshire, from 1805 to

1814. He died May 2, 1814.

Col. Nathaniel Gilman, third son, and father of the sub-

ject of this sketch, born Nov. 10, 1759, died at Exeter,

N. H., Jan. 26, 1847. He first married, Dec. 29, 1785,

Abigail, daughter of Rev. Woodbridge Odlin, who was born

in 1768, died Aug. 10, 1796 ; second, Dorothy, daughter

of Nathaniel Folsom, of Portsmouth, who was born March

25, 1775, and died Feb. 22, 1859. He succeeded his

eldest brother, John Taylor, in the treasury department,

—

Continental Loan Office,—as early as 1783 ; a member of

the State Senate in 1795 and 1802 ; Representative in

1804 ; and State Treasurer from 1805 to 1814, inclusive,

exclusive of 1809 and 1810. A writer in Exeter says of

him, " He was a man too well known in this community,

and too universally reverenced and beloved, to need an

eulogy."

John Taylor Gilman, son of Col. Nathaniel and Dorothy

(Folsom) Gilman, physician and surgeon of Portland, was

bom in Exeter, N. H., May 9, 1806, and was fitted for

college at Phillips (Exeter) Academy ; admitted to Bow-

doin College, 1822 ;
entered upon his baccalaureate, 1826

;

studied medicine in the office of William Perry, M.D.,

Exeteri N. H., and received medical diploma at Bowdoin in

1829 ; for anatomical and clinical instruction passed por-

tions of the years 1830-31 in PhiladelpiHa ; commenced

the practice of medicine and surgery in Portland, Me.,

Jan. 1, 1832. He was president of Maine Medical Asso-

16

elation 1864 ; overseer and U now a trustee of Bowdoin

College. He is also a trustee of Maine Insane Hospital,

and president of the board of directors of Maine General

Hospital. Of the latter he was one of the founders, and

during his connection with it he has given much time and

money for its support. Dr. Gilman is characterized in the

medical profession for his quickness of perception and

power of ready diagnosis of a case, for his skill and success-

ful treatment of disease, for his activity and prompt atten-

tion when duty requires, and for his ever-gentlemanly

bearing towards all. His integrity in his professional

duties and his acknowledged ability as a physician and sur-

geon have won the confidence of all who know him.

It is a fact worthy of note in the professional career of

Dr. Gilman, that he was the first physician of the State of

Maine who performed the unusual operation of Cfesarian

section, which be did skillfully and successfully. Dr. Gil-

man manied, Aug. 24, 1837, Helen A., daughter of Hon.

Reuel Williams, a United States Senator, of Augusta, Me.

Mrs. Dr. Gilman is a lady of rare sociability and hospi-

tality, and possesses those accomplishments in presiding over

her household afiairs that grace the sphere of woman and

make her home the welcome place for the stranger as well

as for the friend.

Their only daughter, Helen Williams Gilman, is the

wife of John Taylor Gilman Nichols, M.D., of Cambridge,

Mass.

Samuel Henry Tewksbury, M.D., physician and

surgeon of Portland, Me., Fas born in Oxford, Oxford

Co., Me., March 22, 1819. His father, Jacob Tewksbury,

born at West Newbury, Mass., May 27, 1782, studied

medicine with Drs. Brickett and Chase, of Newburyport,

and received his diploma from the Massachusetts Medical

Society in 1802. He commenced practice as a physician and

surgeon in Oxford,—then a part of Hebron, Me.,—where

he was continuously engaged in the duties of his pro-

fession until near the time of his death, which occurred

Feb. 27, 1848. He married Nov. 25, 1809, Charlotte

Nelson, who died March 29, 1869. She was a lady of

fare intellectual and Christian excellence. Dr. Jacob

Tewksbury was one of the founders of the Maine Medi-

cal Society in 1821. He commenced practicing medicine

at a time when difficulties met the physician on every

hand. For fifteen years he traveled on horseback, and

afterwards made his journeys in a two-wheeled chaise,

—

the first brought into that vicinity. He was known as a very

skillful practitioner in medicine and surgery, gifted in the

diagnosis of disease, and made some rare operations in sur-

gery. He was well read in the medical literature of his

time, and had constantly with him and educated many
students for the profession.

His eldest son, George F., graduated at Bowdoin Col-

lege, in the class of '33, at Massachusetts Theological

Seminary, at Andover, in 1837, and is now a Congrega-

tional clergyman at Lyman, Me. His second son, Jacob

M., graduated in the medical department of Bowdoin Col-

lege, in the class of '36, practiced medicine in Oxford and

Wiscasset, Me., for two yeai-s, in Buenos Ayres, South

America, until 1849, when he went to San Francisco, Cal.,

where he acquired eminence and wealth. He died in Feb-
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ruary, 1877. Samuel H., youngest son, prepared for col-

lege at Hebron Academy, studied medicine with his father,

and graduated in the medical department of Bowdoin

Coll^ in the year 1841 . The following winter he attended

lectures at Harvard College, and in the year 1843 began

practice at Frankfort, Me. During the winter of 1843-44,

he further prosecuted his medical studies at the College of

Physicians and Surgeons in New York. After remaining

a short time in Frankfort he returned to Oxford, where, in

1844, he married Diana Eaton, daughter of Cyrus Shaw

of that place, and entered into practice at Oxford with his

father.

Two years after the death of his father he removed to

Portland, where he has remained in the continuous prac-

tice of medicine and surgery, and in the latter ranks among

the first in the State. He was appointed acting assistant

surgeon under Gen. Ande^on. Dr. Tewksbury is known

to the citizens of Portland as kind-hearted, outspoken, and

frank in his ways, persistent to carry forward to a success-

ful completion whatever he conceives to be right, and un-

commonly encouraging to the younger members of the

profession, whom he is ever ready to counsel and assist.

He has a warm attachment for his many friends.

Among the first rare surgical operations performed by Dr.

Tewksbury was Symes' amputation at the ankle-joint, in

1856, upon a lady thirty-three years of age. This operation

was attended with marked success, so that when an artificial

foot was adjusted the patient had power of locomotion to an

almost perfect, degree. Then followed an amputation at the ^

knee-joint upon a boy eleven years of age. In this case,

when the artificial limb was applied, there was no difficulty

experienced in bearing the whole weight of the body on

the stump.

This was the second operation of the kind ever performed

in the State ; the first being made by Dr. Nathan Smith,

in 1824. In 1862 he made an excision of the knee-joint

for anchylosis of four years' standing, the patient being a boy

of nineteen years of age. In this case recovery took place

viith only two inches of shortening. In all he has made

eleven excisions of this joint, nine of which have proved,

successful. In the same year he made an excision of the

hip-joint in a boy six years of age, removing over three inches

of the head of the femur. Recovery took place with only

one and a half inches of shortening, and all the lower mo-

tions of the joint preserved. He has made many operations

for excisions of joints, among them that of the wrist-joint,

which was reported at length in the " Transactions of the

American Medical Association," and has devoted most of

his professional life to conservative surgery; also paying

special attention to. the relief of deformities, in treating

which he has met with a most marked degree of success.

For many years he stood in the front rank of the profes-

sion, in Maine, in gynaecological practice, and many of the

operations for diseases of females were first performed in

the State by his hands. He was the first to operate for

vesico-vaginal fistula ; also vesico-vaginal lithotomy. In

ovariotomy, too, he has won for himself a prominent place

among the surgeons of the country.

He early identified himself with the progress of the Maine

Medical Association, and was chosen president of thut body

in 1866, delivering his inaugural in June of the year fol-

lowing. This address deserves more than passing notice
;

for then, for the first time, did the medical profession of the

State have their attention called to matters of a public char-

acter. The anatomy bill was brought to the notice of the

profession, and Dr. Tewksbury labored zealously but unsuc-

cessfully before the State Legislature in its behalf. He
first called attention to the matter of compulsory vaccination.

In this address, too, the matter of establishing the Maine

Greneral Hospital was first mentioned, and the initiatory

steps towards forwarding this State charity were, upon the

strength of his suggestion, adopted.

Acting upon these suggestions, a committee was at that

time appointed who labored hard and earnestly, and the re-

sult of their labors stands to-day as one of our noblest State

charities,—the Maine General Hospital. No man worked

harder, and no man more earnestly desired the success of

this institution, than Dr. Tewksbury ; and he was not only

the pioneer in founding the institution, but was closely as-

sociated with it from its very foundation to its completion,

and was the first surgeon appointed to enter on duty afler

it was opened for the reception of patients. He continued

in service there until 1878, when differences of opinion

arising in regard to the management of the institution, both

financially and otherwise, between him and the board of

directors, his name was omitted in the election of visiting

surgeons to the institution.

CUMBERLAND COUNTY MEDICAL SOCIETY.

The Cumberland County Medical Society was organized

in November, 1867, at a meeting held for that purpose in

Mechanics' Hall, in the city of Portland. Dr. S. H. Tewks-

bury, chairman of the special committee, called the meeting

to order, and upon his nomination Dr. John T. Gilman was

chosen chairman pro tern., and Dr. S. C. Gordon, secretary.

A committee on credentials was appointed, consisting of

Drs. Weeks, Chadwick, and Buzzell, who reported twenty-

three physicians present. On motion of Dr. Tewksbury,

Drs. Foster, of Portland, Bates, of Yarmouth, and True,

of Freeport, were appointed a committee to prepare and

report a code of by-laws for the government of the society,

which were accordingly reported, discussed, and adopted.

Drs. Tewksbury, Dana, and Buzzell were appointed a com-

mittee on nominations, and at the adjourned meeting held

in the aflemoon, reported the following list of officers, who
were unanimously elected: A. W. Anderson, Gray, Presi-

dent; James M. Bates, Yarmouth, Vice-President ; George

F. French, Portland, Secretary; T. A. Foster, Portland,

Treasurer. Business Committee: George F. French, ex-

officio; A. H. Burbank, Yarmouth; E. Stone, Deering;

W. H. True, Portland ; E. N. Tewksbury, Falmouth.

CONSTITDTIOH.

" Section 1 . The name of- thia sooiety shall be ' The Cumberland
County Medical Sooiety," and iU abject shall be the improvement
of its members in the knowledge and treatment of disease and aooident.

"Sec. 2. The officers of the sooiety shall consist of a President,

Vice-President, Secretary, and Treasurer, and a Business Committee
of fire, the Chairman of which shall be the Secretary.

" Sec. 3. The officers of this sooiety may be elected by hand vote

at each annual meeting, which shall be hoiden in November, at snch

place and on snch day of the month as the Business Committee may
report.
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Thomas Albebt Foster, M.D., son of Thomas D.

.

and Joanna (Carter) Foster, was born in Montville, Waldo

Co., Me., Feb. 20, 1827. He was fifteenth child in a

family of twenty-one children. His father died in 1834,

leaving his widow with a large family and limited means

for their support. The mother, with that devotion to her

children that only a mother can have, did her part well to

continue the best interests of the family, and still lives to

see the result of her moral and religious training as devel-

oped in the mature lives of her children.

At the age of twelve years Thomas A. went into the busy

world to care for himself, unaided pecuniarily, but with

that resolution and force of character that overcomes all

difficulties, and which has been more fully developed in his

subsequent life. His beginning was upon a farm, where

he labored summers, and during the winter season attended

school. His progress was so rapid that at the age of seven-

teen he became a teacher, and for ten successive years, dur-

ing the winter and fall terms, he taught school. He began

the study of medicine, in the year 1853, with Dr. N. R.

Boutelle, a prominent physician of Waterville and Kennebec

County ; attended lectures at the Albany Medical College,

and at the Pennsylvania Medical College in Philadelphia,

and graduated M.D. at the latter institution in the spring

of 1856. He commenced practice with his preceptor at

Waterville, where he remained nearly three years ; further

prosecuted his studies in the Collie of Physicians and

Surgeons in New York, and at Philadelphia during the

winter of 1858-59 ; and in March, 1859, came to Portland,

where he has remained in the continuous practice of his

profession.

Dr. Foster is recognized by the medical profession as a

skilliul physician, conversant with the most modem and

successful treatment of diseases, a careful counselor, and

well read in medical literature. His large practice and

experience during the past ten years in obstetrics has given

him rank among the first physicians in the State, and he is

said to have performed the second operation of Caesarian

section performed in the State of Maine. Interested in local

matters pertaining to the profession, he is a member of

the Medical Club of Portland. He is a member of the

Cumberland County Medical Society, and has filled the

various offices in connection with that organization; and

he is also a member of the Maine Medical Association, and

for two years was secretary, and for fourteen years treasurer

of that society. He was an instructor for ten years in the

Portland Medical School.

Dr. Foster's ability as a writer upon medical subjects,

his clear and concise exposition as found in his various

published reports, have received favorable public and merited

recognition. His first report was upon the sanitary con-

dition of Portland. Embodied in the transactions of the

Maine Medical Association may be found his reports upon
" Epidemics of the State," " The Effects of Psychological

Influence upon Disease," and " A Review of Clarke's Sex

in Education."

Dr. Foster has been married three times. He first mar-

ried, in 1849, Eliza Jane, daughter of Daniel McManus,

of Unity, Me.

His eldest son, Barzillai B. Foster, studied medicine

with his father
;
graduated in the medical department at

Bowdoin College, and is now a practicing physician in Port-

land. His second son, Charles W., is a graduate of Colby

University, and also of the medical department of Bowdoin

College, and practices medicine at Woodford's Comers. His

third son, Henry, died at the age of two years. His wife

died in March, 1853. His second wife was Adelaide,

daughter of Edmund Woodman, of Searsmont, Me., whom
he married in 1857. 3|iedied in 1864, leaving two daughters,

Marietta and Joanna C. For his third wife he married

Mary, daughter of CoL Isaac Woodman, of Searsmont, Me.

The result of this union is one daughter, EUura.
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*'Skc. 4. Any person proposed bv two members and reciiiuiueiuled

by the Bu&iness Committee, having received a two-thirds vote in his

favor at any regular meeting of the society, may become a member by
paying the admission fee and signing the Constitution and By-Lawa.

"Sec. 5. Charges against any member must be made in writing

and passed to the Business Committee, and if deemed of suflSoient

importance by them, a fpeeiat meeting shall be called to act thereon.

By a majority vote of suoh meeting u. member may be censured, im-

peached, or expelled.

" Sec. 6. Any member not having charges or dues standing against

him may obtain an honorable discharge at any regular meeting by

making application therefor through the Secretary.

" Sec. 7. No political or religious question or point of medical

ethics, or alteration or amendment of Constitution and By-Laws, shall

be brought up for discussion at any regular meeting of this society.

" Sic. 8. Ten members shall constitute a quorum for the transac-

tion of business at any regular meeting, but it shall require the action

of twenty-five members to make the business of a fecial meeting

constitutional.

" Sec. 9. This Constitution may be altered or amended by a two-

thirds vote at any epecxal meeting called for that purpose, in the

notice for which the proposed change shall be mentioned."

BT-LAW8.

"Article L The President shall preside at all meetings of the

society, and confine the members in their remarks to the subject under

discussion.

"Art. II. The Vice-President shall perform the duties of the

President in his absence, and in the absence of both President and

Vice-President a President pro tem, must be chosen to perform the

duties of that ofl3ce,

" Art, III. The Secretary shall keep a record of the proceedings

of the society, shall arrange them for publication, shall notify officers

and members of their elections and appointments, shall give at least

three days' notice of all meetings of the society by circular to each

member, and shall present all applicants for membership or honorable

discbarge.

"Art. rV. The Treasurer shall collect all dues and assessments,

receive admission fees and donations, pay all bills properly approved,

and report at each annual meeting the financial condition of the

society. "f^

"Art. V. The Business Committee shall attend to the publication

of thetransactions of the society, act upon all charges preferred against

members, order tpecial meetings to be called when they deem it neces-

sary, report the time and place of regular meetings, appoint at each

regular meeting, at least three members to write essays upon medical

or surgical subjects, to be read at the next regular meeting, appoint

delegates to other medical bodies, pass to the President, at or before

the beginning of each meeting, an order of business, and see that no

unnecessary interruption break in upon that order. They shall also

make inquiry into the character and standing of all applicants for

membership, requiring in all oases positive evidence of a diploma

from some regular medical college before a vote for such applicant

can be taken.

"Art. VI. The admission fee to this society shall be three dollars,

and the annual tax two dollars. By a unanimous vote at a regular

meeting a member may be exempt from taxation, after which he

shall be considered an honorary member.

"Art. VII. The members of the society are invited to preserve

and forward to the Curator of the Maine Medical Association all in-

teresting pathological specimens obtained by them, with a brief his-

tory of the same.

"Art. VIIL A written essay or report should not require more

than thirty minntesln its reading, and no member shall speak more

than twenty minutes upon the same subject without permission from

the President and Bnsiness Committee.

" Art. IX. Officers of this society shall assume the duties of their

offices at the close of the meeting at which they are elected.

" Art. X. All written reports and essays passed to the Business

Committee or read before the society shall be the property of the

society."

Members A. W. Anderson, Gray ; J. M. Bates, Yar-

mouth ; John Buzzell, G. H. Chalvnck, Portland ; W. H.

Cobb,, Standiah ; I. T. Dana, James de Wolf, Simon Fitch,

B. F. Fogg, T. A. Foster, G. F. French, J. T. Gilman,

S. C. Gordon, E. S. Hatch, Portland; R. P. Jenness,

Saccarappa; G. L. Kilgore, Windham; H. P. Jlerrill,

D. 0. Perry, Portland : Nathaniel ^liannon. Cape Eliza-

beth ; H. N. Small, Portland ; E. Stone, Deering ; S. E.

Sylvester, Portland ; E. N. Tewksbury, Falmouth ; S. H.

Tewksbury, A. S. Thayer, Portland ; W. H. True, Free-

port ; S. H. Weeks, Portland.

LIST or OFFICERS.

Presidents.—A. W. Anderson, 1868 ; James M. Bates,

1869; S. H. Tewksbury, 1870; John Buzzell, 1871; E.

Stone, 1872 ; T. A. Foster, 1873 ; William Osgood, 1874
;

S. H. Weeks, 1875 ; Nathaniel Shannon, 1876 ;
Frederic

H. Gerrish, 1877; A. S. Thayer, 1878; H. N. Small,

1879.

Vice-Presidents.—James M. Bates, 1868 ; S. H. Tewks-

bury, 1869 ; John Buzzell, 1870 ; E. Stone, 1871 ; T. A.

Foster, 1872 ; William Osgood, 1873 ; S. H. Weeks, 1874
;

Nathaniel Shannon, 1875; Frederic H. Gerrish, 1876;

William B. Cobb, 1877 ; H. W. Hall, 1878 ; B. T. An-

drews, 1879.

Secretaries.—George F. French, 1868 ; S. H. Weeks,

1869; S. C. Gordon, 1870; H. H. Hunt, 1871; C. E.

Webster, 1872 ; C. 0. Files, 1873-76 ; G. H. Cummings,

1876-78 ; C. E. Banks, 1879.

Treas)irers.—T. A. Foster, 1868 ; H. N. Small, 1869-75
;

B. B. Foster, 1875-78; J. A. Spalding, 1879.

PORTLAND SCHOOL FOft MEDICAL INSTRUCTION.

At the time of the founding of this school, in 1856, the

list of older and best established physicians in Portland em-

braced such men as John T. Gilman, William Wood, Gilman

Daveis, and Charles W. Thomas, men ofwhom any city might

have been proud. Immersed in the cares and occupations

of practice, they were not disposed to take up the laboring

oars in a school. They were ready, however, to give their

hearty encouragement to such an enterprise, and in many

ways to aid its establishment. Prominent among the

younger physicians was Dr. William C. Robinson, and early

in 1856 an agreement was entered into between Dr. Rob-

inson and Dr. Israel T. Dana to take students together,

dividing the work. They invited Dr. Simon Pitch, who

had recently removed to Portland, to join them, and the

first annual announcement of the school was issued March,

1856, under the name of the " Portland Medical School

for Preparatory Instruction."

The instructors of the first year, 1856-57, were Wm. C.

Robinson, M.D., Materia Medica, Midwifery, and Diseases

of Women and Children ; Israel T. Dana, M.D., Physiology,

Pathology, and Practice ; Simon Fitch, M.D., Anatomy,

Surgery, and Chemistry.

By arrangement with the managers the rooms of the

Portland Dispensary were used as school-rooms. They had

two students, N. W. Leighton and Franklin Staples. The

next year the students numbered about half a dozen, and

two rooms in the third story of No. 174 Middle Street

were used as school-rooms. It would be interesting to

follow the progress of the school step by step to its present

well-established and recognized position among institutions
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of a siiuilur character, giving for each year the list of ia-

stnictors and students, but it would swell to too large a

number for our limited space.

Id January, 1858, an act of incorporation was obtained

from the Legislature, Drs. J. T. Gilman, Wm. Wood,

Grilman Daveis, C. W. Thomas, W. C. Robinson, and I.

T. Dana being named corporators, and the corporation was

authorized to hold property to the extent of twenty

thousand dollars.

Id addition to those mentioned as instructors the first

year, the following were added from year to year in the

order named : Drs. Theodore Ingalls, A. M. Paddock, W.
R. Richardson, Charles H. Burbank, Thomas A. Foster,

George L. Goodale, Samuel H. Tewksbury, S. H. Weeks,

William W. Greene, Charles 0. Hunt, Frederic Henry Ger-

rish, B. B. Foster, George F. French, Scth C. Gordon,

Horatio N. Small, Charles W. Bray.

In 1866-67 the number of instructors was eleven, and

the number of students fifteen.

Messrs. Nathan Cummings, John B. Brown, Samuel E.

Spring, A. W. H. Clapp, S. H. Tewksbury, Thomas A.

Foster, and George L. Goodale were elected associate cor-

porators.

An " auxiliary board" was also elected, oonsbting of

thirteen prominent physicians, located Id the different sec-

tions of the State, whose names appeared in the annual an-

nouncement, and whose influence in their respective neigh-

borhoods was expected to be used in favor of the school.

In 1872—73 the number of students was twenty. In

1873—74 the exercises of the school were suspended. The

report at the beginning of 1874—75 says, " We enter

upon the eighteenth year with new facilities. Important

improvements have been made. The number of instruc-

tors has been increased, and the consequent greater division

of labor among the teachers will enable them to offer the

students the results of more special study in each depart-

ment. The course for the ensuing year will therefore be

far more thorough and comprehensive than ever before.

More commodius apparatuses have been secured, and the

accommodations are now ample for all the purposes of the

school." This year the school occupied its permanent rooms

in the elegant Canal Bank building on Middle Street.

Since then the school has maintained more than its usual

degree of prosperity. The following appear in the last

published catalogue as the faculty for the year 1878-79 :

Instructors.—Israel T. Dana, M.D., Theory and Practice of

Medicine (Diseases of the Chest) ; Stephen H. Weeks, M.D.,

Surgery, William Warren Greene, M.D., Ophthalmic and

Clinical Surgery; Charles 0. Hunt, M.D., Materia Medica

and Therapeutics ; Frederic H. Gerrish, M.D., Physiology

and Microscopical Anatomy ; George F. French, M.D.,

Theory and Practice of Medicine ; Seth C. Gordon, M.D.,

Diseases of Women ; Horatio N. Small, M.D., Obstetrics

;

Charles W. Bray, M.D., Anatomy ; Charles A. Ring, M.D.,

Chemistry and Latin; Thos. Fillebrown, D.M.D., Dentistry.

The following remarks from a publbhed report respecting

the instructors and graduates of this school will be found

interesting

:

" Five of the instructors have occupied professorial chairs

in various medical colleges. Dr. Robinson was Professor

of Materia Medica, and also of -Obstetrics, in the Medical

School of Maine, 1862-72. Dr. Dana was Professor of

Materia Medica, and also of Theory and Practice, in the

Medical School of Maine, 1860-69. Dr. Goodale was

Professor of Materia Medica in the Medical School of

Maine, and also of Natural Science and Applied Chemistry

in Bowdoin College, and now fills the chair of Vegetable

Physiology in Harvard University. Dr. Greene has filled

the chair of Surgery in the Berkshire Medical College, the

Medical School of Maine, the University of Michigan, and

the Long Island College Hospital. Dr. Gerrish is Professor

of Materia Medica in the Medical School of Maine, and of

Physiology and Materia Medica in the University of Michi-

gan. Dr. B. B. Foster has been Demonstrator of Anatomy

in the Medical School of Maine.

" Two of the instructors have been Presidents of the

Maine Medical Association, viz. : Dr. Tewksbury in 1866,

and Dr. Dana in 1868. Dr. T. A. Foster has been Pre.si-

dent of the Cumberland County Medical Society.

'' Six instructors have held commissions in the army or

navy. Drs. Burbank and Richardson were commissioned

assistant surgeons. United States Navy, in 1861, the lat-

ter dying in the service in 1864, and the former still filling

his position with honor. Dr. Hunt served in the late war

as 1st Lieutenant, 5th Battery, Maine Volunteers. Dr.

French was surgeon-in-chief of ' Logan's Division' on Sher-

man's ' March to the Sea,' and also personal staff surgeon

to General Grant at Vicksburg. Dr. Small was ranking

surgeon-in-chief of 2d Brigade, 3d Division, 24th Army

Corps, and also, for three months, ranking surgeon of same

corps. Dr. Gordon entered the army in 1861, as assistant

surgeon of the 13th Maine Infantry; promoted to surgeon

of 1st Louisiana Infantry, and afterwards surgeon on staff

of Gen. Cameron, commanding 13th Army Corps in Red

River campaign ; subsequently surgeon in charge of General

Hospital at Natchez, Miss.

" Three instructors have died, viz. : Drs. Ingalls, Richard-

son, and Robinson.

" Dr. Theodore Ingalls died of apoplexy in 1857, after

only a few months' connection with the school. In this

short time he had endeared himself to both students and

colleagues. After a long and extensive practice in Bridg-

ton and vicinity, he removed to Portland a few years before

bis death, being at the time in feeble health. Dr. Ingalls

was a very able practitioner and influential man, command-

ing the respect and confidence of all who knew him.

"Dr. Wentworth R. Richardson, after two years' connec-

tion with the school, entered the navy in July, 1861, serv-

ing with honor till his death at Key West, in 1864. He
was a young man of great promise, an earnest and enthusi-

astic student, an accomplished physician, and a generous

and honorable man. He died, loved and mourned by many

friends.

" Dr. William Chaffee Robinson was one of the founders

of this school, and an instructor in it up to the time of his

death. He was born in Chaplain, Conn., Nov. 27, 1822.

The early years of his life were spent on his father's farm,

with no greater educational opportunities than those afforded

by the ' district school:''" Originally endowed with a strong

and active Intellect and powerful will, he improved to the
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"William C. Robinson, M.D., was born in the town of
Chaplin, Conn., Nov. 27, 1822. His early years were spent
roughing it upon an obscure farm, with no special opportuni-
ties for obtaining an education other than those afforded by
the diitrict schools of the time ; but here, through the com-
bined influence of both farm and school, he received that

thorough training o£ self-reliance, perseverance, and fortitude

which in after-life developed in such a remarkable degree.
As youth ripened into manhood his vigorous and ambitious
nature led him to seek new fields and enlarged opportunities.

With such aspirations, at an early age he commenced teaching
a public school in the city of Norwich, and at once became pop-
ular by strict attention to the duties of the vocation and by his

social nature. About this time, in the years 18'l&-46, he com-
menced his medical studies with Dr. John Ford, whose exten-
sive practice in that city gave him fine opportunities. His
medical pupilage was characterized by close application, keen
conception, and rapid advancement, and at its close he was
clothM with the honors of the University of New York, taking
his degree in the class of 1849.
Through the earnest solicitation of a musical friend by the

same name, he immediately came to Portland, and opened his

office on the corner of Middle and Union Streets, where the

Falmonth Hotelnow stands. At this time but seven physicians

i
regular graduates) were engaged in active practice m the city.

le very soon held the appointment of city physician, but It

was a long and arduous struggle to establish himself in a good
paying business. That class, so well known to young prac-

titioners in medicine, claiming special privileges, but not

having the change jutt then, are liberal in promising to send
business, and most happy to lend infiuence, were frequent

patients of his, yet his glowing sympathy and generous nature

never refused assistance to those in distress, and never with-

held professional skill from the poor.

In 185S, August 23, he married Martha Ripley, daughter of

Mark and Elizabeth (Bradish) Harris, of Portland. Her
father was a native of Ipswich, Mass. Her mother was a

daughter of Mq'or Levi Bradish, an early resident of Port-

land.

Dr. Robinson rose rapidly to distinction and honor, all the

more rich on account of being won through such indomitable

perseverance. His ripe scholarship in the profession, aided

by sotind judgment and quick sympathy for the suffering,

brought him tne esteem and love of all.

Dr. Robinson, with Dr. Dana, in 1B56, founded the Portland

Medical School for Preparatory Instruction, and was an in-

structor in it up to the time of his-death, June 30, 1872. His

labors in this school, in the establishment of which he was

the magna pars, were unceasing, and were u source of great
enjoyment to himself as well as advantage to the students.
So also in the M'edical School of Maine, as professor, first

of materia medica and therapeutics, and then of obstetrics
and diseases of women, he labored with great zeal and- re-
markable success. Ue was appointed lecturer on materia
medica at Bowdoin College in 1863, and elected to a professor-
ship of the same in 1868. In 1870 he was appointed professor
of obstetrics and diseases of women in the same institution,
which chair he held at the time of his death. He interested
himself in all laudable enterprises, and was largely concerned
in the establishment of the Portland Dispensary, the Young
Men's Christian Association, of which he was the second
president, and of the Portland Provident Association.
During the war, in 1862, when an appeal was made for sur-

geons to leave their homes and go to Washington for hospital
service, he promptly responded, and performed a month's most
valuable service in the Armory Square Military Hospital,
which was crowded with wounded men from (ien. Pope's
army. He aimed to advance the interests of pure medical
science, and at the same time to do the work and furnish the
ideal of the gentleman and the Christian physician. What-
ever or however many might be his appointments, the en-
gagements of medical charity were never forgotten by him.
He was a very earnest man, conspicuous in early life as well
as in mature years. He possessed a strong will, and eminent
conscientiousness. His practical good sense could early see the
way to a successful career, and he ever kept it before him.
AH he undertook he finished well. His example and spirit
in their impression on others grew the more admirable with
enlarged acquaintance with life and the struggles by which
men maintain life. In a modest but earnest way he knew his
own worth. He never failed to improve an opportunity to
impress upon medical students the' glorious career of the
medical man.
Dr. Robinson did not know how to spare himself, and after

the great fire of 1866, with all the burdens of practice and
college and school on his shoulders, he became a member of
the City Council, and was chairman of the building committee
of the First Baptist Church. Under this accumulated pres-
sure his health gave way, and in the early summer of 1868 he
was stricken down with paralysis. Gradually rallying from
this, he was able in part to resume his labors of practice and
teaching, giving three courses of lectures at Brunswick after-
wards. In the last year of his life he suffered intense agony,
his left foot being affected with gangrene so as to require
amputation. He died, leaving a widow and three children,
—Frederick William, Helen S&ailer, and George Henry.
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utmost tbu lucilitieii withiu Lis reuuh. The very difficulties

he was obliged to overcome in securing an education served

to develop his faculties, and establish in him habits of in-

dustry, perseverance, and self-reliance. Full of ambition

and hope, he opened a school in Norwich, Conn., when quite

young, and was very successful and popular in it. In 1845

he commenced the study of medicine with Dr. John Ford,

of Norwich, and, receiving the degree of doctor of medi-

cine from the University of New York in 1849, came at

once to Portland, and opened an office at the corner of

Middle and Union Streets.

" Of the graduates of the school the following are now

established in practice in the city of Portland, viz. : Drs.

Weeks, Thayer, Hunt, Gerrish, Webster, B. B. Foster, Files,

Stanley, Brooks, Ring, and Tolford. The following are

known to have occupied official positions of importance, viz.,

Dr. Franklin Staples, President of the Minnesota Medical

Association ; Dr. C. H. Burbank, United States Navy ; Dr.

Le Baron Munroe, United States Army ; Drs. S. S. Emery

and B. T. Sanborn, Assistant Physicians in Insane Asylum

at Augusta ; Dr. George L. Goodale, Professor in Bowdoin

College and Harvard University ; Dr. Alfred Mitchell, Pro-

fessor of Obstetrics and the Diseases of Children in the

Medical School of Maine ; Dr. Frederic Henry Gerrish,

Professor in the Medical School of Maine and the Univei-sity

of Michigan ; Dr. Charles 0. Hunt, Permanent Secretary

of the Maine Medical Association.

" Four of the past students of the school are now in-

structors in it, viz. : Drs. Stephen H. Weeks, C. 0. Hunt,

F. H. Gerrish, and B. B. Foster.

" From the many who are now reflecting honor upon

their Alma Mater from fields of private practice, only a

few can here be mentioned as samples, viz. : Drs. N. W.
Leighton, of Brooklyn, N. Y. ; Wendell P. Anderson, of

La Crosse, Wis. ; Henry F. Walker, of New York ; N. B.

Coleman, of Portsmouth, N. H. ; William G. Carter, of Con-

cord, N. H. ; A. K. P. Meserve, of Buxton ; B. G. Dennett,

of Saco ; P. C. Wiley, of Bethel ; J. B. Severy, of Farm-

ington ; Henry H. Hunt, of Gorham ; Geo. W. Hale, of

Sedgwick
; Geo. W. Foster, of Bangor ; R. D. Bibber, of

Bath ; E. B. Weston, of Lewiston ; F. H. Chase, of Orland
;

P. W. Chadbourne, of Oldtown.

" As the largest city in Maine, Portland has in the past

afforded opportunities for such work as this school contem-

plates, not elsewhere found in the State. Its population

and wealth have been steadily growing, and, step by step

with this growth, its facilities for clinical instruction have

increased. The Maine General Hospital, now in success-

ftil operation, will add immensely to its facilities in this

most important direction."

MAINE GENERAL HOSPITAL.

This is an institution which was incorporated by act of

Legislature, Feb. 24, 1868. On the 12th of March, 1870,

resolutions were passed by the.Legislature, granting to the

corporation the arsenal grounds on Bramhall Hill in Port-

land, two and a half acres in extent, conditional that it

should raise $20,000 by private donations and subscriptions.

The State also granted $20,000 when the corporation had

raised and expended $40,000. More than $10,000 in

excess of the $40,000 was raised by subscription in tlie

city, and the State paid over the $20,000. At the State

fair held in Portland, in 1873, a further sum of about

$40,000 was raised, and the Legislature, in 1875, granted

$10,000 more, and the institution is now in active operation.

The hospital, when completed, will consist of a central

building and four pavilions, beside the amphitheatre, boiler-

house, and kitchen. The central building and eastern pa-

vilion are already erected, and have accommodations for

seventy patients.

This institution is worthy of a much more liberal support

than it has been receiving. In their annual report for the

year ending in October, 1878, the directors say,

—

" Forty applicants without pecuniary means, mostly from the work-

ing classes, and residing in all parts of the State, were received on

the score of humanity,—many of them requiring for their restoration

or relief not only skillful surgery, bat continued hospital treatment ;

and, happily, we are able to say that a large proportion of them re-

turned to their families, and in due time to their business pursuits,

with greatly improved and in many oases restored health.

'* These patients could not have been successfully treated or prop-

erly cared for at their homes, and but for the superior professional

advantages which a well-regulated hospital can always provide, would

have remained there to-day great sufferers, crippled for life; and

some of them, we fear, would sooner or later have been reduced to

pauperism, and have become the unwilling and unfortunate subjects

of town or city support.

"Could the citizens of our State, from personal observatiou, wit-

ness the great amount of good which the Maiue Geueral Hospital has

done, and is constantly doing, in its sphere of professional and philan-

thropic duty, their sympathies, we believe, would not only be secured,

but practically utaiii/eated by generous and wide-spread donation;'

for its support ; and especially, that our legislators would continue

the small annual appropriation which at this early period of its his-

tory is almost essential to its life,—certainly to the continuance of

its present work of beoeficence.

"Its permanent fund derived from gifts and legacies, the interest

of which can only be used for hospital pui-poses, amounts to twelve

thousand two hundred and twenty-one dollars and seven cents."

The following are the officers for the current year : John

B. Brown, President; John T. Gilman, Israel Washburn,

Jr., Samuel E. Spring, A. W. H. Clapp, Horatio N. Jose,

William W. Thomas, Joseph H. Williams, Chas. Buf-

fum, Abiier Coburn, Directors ; Frederic Henry Gerrish,

Secretary ; James T. McCobb, Treasurer ; John T. Gilman,

M.D., William Wood, M.D., Hiram H. Hill, M.D., Charles

E. Swan, M.D., Theodore H. Jewett, M.D., Andrew J.

Fuller, M.D., Alonzo Garcelon, M.D., Alfred Mitchell,

M.D., Consulting Physicians and Surgeons; Charles 0.

Hunt, M.D., Resident Physician and Superintendent

;

Israel T. Dana, M.D., Horatio N. Small, M.D., Augustus

S. Thayer, M.D., Visiting Physicians ; William Warren

Greene, M.D., Stephen H. Weeks, M.D., Seth C. Gordon,

M.D., Visiting Surgeons; Frederic Henry Gerrish, M.D.,

Pathologist ; Mrs. L. W. Warren, Matron.

CHAPTER XXIL
CUMBEBLAITD CrVIL AND JUDICIAL OPPrCEBS.

Federal Government—State Government.

The civil and judicial officers placed in the following

lists are those only who are or have been residents of Cum-
berland County.
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UNITED STATJSS SENATORS.

PrentiBS Mellen, Portland, 1818.»

Albion K. Parris, Portland, 1S27-28, resigned-f

William Pitt Fessenden, Portland, 1854-69.

REPRESENTATIVES IN CONGRESS.

1794-1806.—Peleg Wadsworth, Portland.

1806.—Daniel Haley, Portland.

1808.—Ezekiel Whitman, New Oloncester.

1810.—William Widgery, New Sloueester.

1813-14.-George Bradbary, Portland.

1816-22.—Ezekiel Whitman, Portland, resigned.

1822.—Mark Harris, Portland, to fill the vacancy.

1 823.—Stephen Longfellow, Portland.

1825-31.—John Anderson, Democrat, Portland.

1833-37.—Francis 0. J. Smith, Democrat, Portland.

1839.—Albert Smith, Democrat, Portland.

1841.—William Pitt Fessenden, Whig, Portland.

184.3-45.—Robert P. Danlap, Democrat, Brunswick.

1847.—A. W. H. Chipp, Democrat, Portland.

1849.—Nathaniel S. Littlefield, Democrat, Bridgton.

1831.—John Appleton, Democrat, Portland.

1853.—Samnel Uayall, Democrat, Gray.

1855-57.—John M. Wood, Republican/ Portland.

1859.—Charles J. Oilman, Republican, Brunswick.

1863.—L. D. M. Sweat, Democrat, Portland.

1865-71.—John Lynch, Republican, Portland.

1877.—Thomas B. Reed, Republican, Portland.

8ECBETAB.Y OF THE TREASURY.

William Pitt Fessenden, Portland, 1864.

ATTORNEY-GENERAL OP THE UNITED STATES.

Nathan Clifford, Portland, 1846.

JUSTICE OP THE SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES.

Nathan Clifford, Portland, 1858.}

UNITED STATES CIRCUIT COURT.

judoes.

Nathan Clifford, Portland, 1853-69.

George F. Shepley, Portland, 1869, till hia death.

CLERKS.

John Mussey, Portland, 1819-49.

William Pitt Preble, Portland, 1849. J

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT.

. Albion E. Parris, Portland, 1818-22.

Ashur Ware, Portland, 1822-66.

Edward Fox, Portland, 1866.|

John Mussey, Portland, 1819-48.

George F. Emery, Portland, 1848-76.

A. H. Daris, Portland, 1876.

DNITED STATES DISTRICT ATTORNErS,

Daniel Daris, Portland, 1796-lSOl.

William Pitt Preble, Portland, 1814-20.

John Anderson, Portland, 1833-37.

Joseph Howard, Portland, 1837-41.

John Holmes, Portland, 1841-43.

Augustine Haines, Portland, 1845-48.

George F. Shepley, Portland, 1848-49.

Thomas A. Deblois, Portland, 1849-53.

* Elected to take the place of Eli P. Ashmun.

f John Holmes, Alfred, elected to fill the vacancy.

X Still holding the office (1879), in hia seventy-seventh year, and the

twenty-second year of his judicial services.

3 Still in the active discharge of the duties of his office.

George F. Shepley, Portland, 18.i.1-«l.

George F. Talbot, Portland, 1861-60.

Nathan Webb, Portland, 1870-78.

Wilbur F. Lunt, Portland, 1878.

CXITED STATES MARSHALS.

John Hobley, Portland, 1794.

William Paine, Portland, 1849.

John D. Kinsman, Portland, 1841.

B. B. Murray, Portland.

REGISTER IS BASERUPTCY,

James D. Fessenden, Portland, May 28, 1867.

DKITED STATES COXKISSIONERS.

William H. Clifford, Portland, April 24, 1862.

Edward M. Rand, Portland, March 22, 1866.

Nathan Webb, Portland, March 22, 1866.

MEHBERS or THE COXSTITDTIOXAL COSVEHTIOX OF MAINE FROM CirU-

BERLAXD CODXTT, Oct. 29, 1819.

The folIowiDg are those only who signed the Constitution.

Scarborough.—Benjamin Larrabee, Jr., Joseph Fogg.

North Yarmouth.—William Buxton, Ephraim Sturdevant, Jeremiah

Buxton.

Falmouth.—Peter M. Knight, Nathan Bucknam.

Brunswick.—Robert D. Dunning, Jonathan Page, Benjamin Tit-

comb.

Harpswell.—Stephen Purrington.

Gorham.—Lothrop Lewis, Joseph Adams, James Irish.

Cape Elizabeth.—Ebenezer Thrasher.

New Gloucester.—Joseph E. Foxcroft, Isaac Gross.

Gray.—Joseph McLellan.

Standish.—Theodore Mussey.

Portland.—Albion E. Parris, William Pitt Preble.

Freeport.—Solomon Dennison.

Durham.—Secomb Jordan, Allen H. Cobb.

Bridgton.—Pbinehas Ingalla.

Poland.—Josiah Dunn, Jr.

Minot.—Asaph Howard, Chandler Freeman.

Danville.—Joseph Roberts.

Baldwin.—Lot Davis.

Raymond.—Zachariah Leach.

Pownal.—Isaac Cushman.

Westbrook.—Elias Estes, Thomas Slemmons, John Jones.

Harrison.—Amos Thomas.

STATE OFFICERS.

GOVERNORS.

Enoch Lincoln, Portland, 1827.

Robert P. Dunlap, Brunswick, 1834.

Samuel Wells, Portland, 1856.

Israel Washburn, Jr., Orono,|{ 1864.

Joshua L. Chamberlain, Brunswick, 1867.

HEKBER9 OF THE eOVERXOR'S COUNCIL.

Edward Mann, Gorham, 1834.

Toppan Robie, Gorham, 1840.

David Dunlap, Brunswick, 1841.

Dominions Jordan, Gorham, 1841.

Robert ?. Dunlap, Brunswick, 1843.

Dominicus Jordan, Gorham, 1843.

Marshall Cram, Brunswick, 1855.

Frederick Robie, CK>rham, 1861.

William Deering, Portland, 1871.

Frederick N. Dow, Portland, 1872-75.

George Warren, Westbrook, 1875-76.

Charles E. Jose, Portland, 1877-78.

Charles H. Chase, Portland, 1879.

PRESIDENTS OF THE SENATE.

Robert P. Dunlap, Brunswick, 1827-31.

Francia 0. J. Smith, Portland, 1833.

Has si ace become a resident of Portland, where he now lives.
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Josiah Pierce, Oorham, 1835.

Nathaniel S. Littlefield, Bridgton, 1S3S.

Warren H. Vinton. Gray, 1878.

SECRETARIES OF THE SENATE.

W. B. Small, PortUnd, 1822.

Charles B. Smith, Portland, 1823.

N. S. Littlefield, Bridgton, 1831.

SPEAKERS OF THE H003E.

Josiah S. Little, Portland, 1841.

Darid Dann, Poland, 1843.

Hugh D. MoLellan, Gorham, 1817.

Josiah S. Little, Portland, 1856.

J. H. Dmmmond, Portland, 1869.

Frederick Ruble, Gorham, 1872.

William W. Thomas, Jr., Portland, 1874.

Frederick Robie, Gorham, 1876.

Melrin P. Frank, Portland, 1879.

CLERKS OF THE HOUSE.

Darid Dann, Poland, 1856.

Franklin M. Drew, Bninswick, 1866.

SECRETARIES OF STATE.

Ashar Ware, Portland, 1820.

Kdward Rnssell, North Yarmoath, 1829.

Roscue G. Greene, Portland, 1831.

Franklin M. Drew, Brunswick, 1868.

STATE TREASURERS.

Joseph C. Boyd, Portland, 1820.

Elias Thomas, Portland, 1823.

Mark Harris, Portland, IS28.

Ellas Thomas, Portland, 1829.

Abner B. Thompson, Brunswick, 1831.

Mark Harris, Portland, 1832.

James B. CahooD, Portland, 1833.

Benjamin D. Peck, Portland, 1837.

ATTORXEYS-GEXERAL.

George Evans, Portland, 1853-56.

J. H. Dmmmond, Portland, 1856.

Thomas B. Reed, Portland, 1870.

ADJCTAirrS-aEXERAL.

Abner B. Thompson, Brunswick, 1 835-39.

LAyO-AOEXTS.

James Irish, Gorham, 1824.

JUDICIARY.

SUPREME JUDICIAL COURT.

CHIEF JUSTICES.

Prentiss Mellen, Portland, July 1, 1820, to Oct. 22, 1834.

Ezekiel Whitman, Portland, Deo. ID, 1841; resigned, Oct. 23, 1848.

Ether Shepley, Portland, Oct. 23, 1848, to Oct. 22, 1855.

ASSOCIATE JUSTICES.

William Pitt Preble, Portland, Jaly 1, 1820; resigned June 18, 1828.

Albion K. Parris, Portland, June 25, 1828 ; resigned Aug. 20, 1836.

Nicholas Emery, Portland, Oct. 22, 1834, to Oct. 21, 1841.

Ether Shepley, Saco,* Sept. 23, 1836 ; appointed chief justice Oct. 23,

1848.

Samnel Wells, Portland, Sept. 28, 1847; resigned March 31, 1854.

Joseph Howard, Portland, Oct. 23, 1848, to Oct. 22, 1855.

Woodbury Daris, Portland, Oct. 10, 1855; removed April, 1856.

Edward Fox, Portland, Oct. 24, 1862 ; resigned 1863.

Charles W. Walton, Portland, May 14, 1862; re-appointed May 14,

1869.

William G. Barrows, Bninswick, March 27, 1863 ; reappointed March

24, 1870, and March 24, 1877.

William Pitt Virgin, Portland, Dec. 26, 1872.

REPORTERS OF DECISIO.VS.

Sept. 2, 1829.—Simon Qreenleaf, Portland, vols. 1 to 9.

Feb. 7, 1856 John M. Adams, Portland, vols. 4j and 42.

CHAPTER XXIIL

I.I!aiSI.ATUBES OF MAINE.

Senators and Representatives from Cumberland County since the

Admission of the State in 1820.

SENATE, 1821.

Joseph E. Foxcroft, New Glouces- Jonathan Page, Brunswick,

ter. Barrett Potter, Portland.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES.

Bridgton, Phinehas Ingalls.

Brunswick, David Dunlap, Dan-

iel Stone.

Cape Elisabeth, Eben. Thrasher.

Durham, Allen H. Cobb.

Falmouth, John Wait.

Freeport, Solomon Dennison.

Gorham, James Irish, Toppan

Robie.

Gray, Peter Whitney.

Harpswell, Stephen Purrington.

Minot, Asaph Howard.

New Gloucester, Isaac Gross.

North Yarmouth, Ephraim Stur-

devant, Edward Russell.

Portland, Nicholas Emery, Asa

Clapp, Simon Greenleaf.

Pownal, Isaac Cusbman.

Poland and Danville, Josiah

Dunn, Jr.

Raymond and Otisfield, Zacha-

riab Leach.

Standisb, Theodore Mussey.

Scarborough, Cyrus Libby.

ATindhani, Daniel Hall.

AVestbrook, Silas Estes.

SENATE, 1822.

George Bradbury, Portland. Wm. Buxton, North Yarmouth.

Josiah Pierce, Gorham.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Brunswick, Robert P. Dunlap.

Bridgton, John Perley.

Baldwin, William Fitch.

Cumberland, Eph. Sturdevant.

Cape Elizabeth, Lemuel Cobb.

Durham, Allen H. Cobb.

Danville, Ebenezer Witham.

Freeport, Samnel Porter.

Falmouth, Edmund Knight.

Gorham, Lothrop Lewis.

Gray, Timothy Weymouth.

Harpswell, John Curtis.

Minot, Godfrey Grosvenor.

North Yarmouth, Edw. Russell.

New Gloncester, Wm. Bradbury.

Otisfield, Jonathnn Britton.

Portland, Isaac Adams, Asa

Clapp, Dudley Todd.

Raymond, Zachariah Lench.

Scarborough, Benjamin Milliken,

Jr.

Standish, Mark White.

Westbrook, James Means.

Windham, Moses Little.

SENATE, 1823.

Wm. Buxton, North Yarmouth.

Josiah Dunn, Jr., Poland.

Sylvanus Higgins, Cape Eliza-

beth.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES.

Bmnswic, Robert P. Dunlap.

Bridgton, John Perley.

Baldwin, William Fitch.

Cumberland, Eph. Sturdevant.

Cape Elizabeth, Lemuel Cobb.

Durham, Allen H. Cobb.

Freeport, Edmund Pratt.

Falmouth, Edmund Knight.

Gorham, Seward Merrill.

Gray, Timothy Weymouth.

Harpswell, Benjamin Randall.

Harrison, Jacob Emerson.

Minot, Willard H. Woodbury.

New Gloucester, Isaac Gross.

North Y-armontb, Edward Rus-

sell.

Portland, Isaac Adams, Asa

Clapp, Dudley Todd.

Poland, James Twitchell.

Pownal, Benjamin Mitchell.

Raymond, Zachariah Leach.

Scarborough, Bnnj. Larrabee, Jr.

Westbrook, John Jones.

Windham, John Eveleth.

SENATE, 1824.

Robert P. Dunlap, Brunswick.

* Removed to Portland.

John Anderson, Portland.

Josiah Dunn, Jr., Poland.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES

Brunswick, Roger Merrill.

Bridgton, Theodore Ingalls.

Baldwin, William Fitch.

Cumberland, Ephraim Sturde

vant.

Cape Elizabeth, Lemuel Cobb.

Danville, John Penley.

Durham, Allen H. Cobb.

Freeport, Joseph Dennison.

Falmouth, William Sanborn.

Gorbam, Seward Merrill.

Gray, Clement H. Humphrey.
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Harpiwell, Benjamin Randall.

Minot, Willard H. Woodbnry.

New Gloucester, Simeon Parsons.

Nortli Tarmoutli, Edvr. Russell.

Otisfleld, Jonathan Britton.

Portland, Isaac Adams, Joseph

Adams, Joshua Richardson.

Poland, William Dunn.

Raymond, Zachariah Leach.

Scarborough, Henry V. Comp-

ston.

Standisb, Mark White.

Westbrook, William Sle'mons.

Windham, John Eveleth.

HOUSE OF REPRK8BNTATIVKS.

SENATE, 1825. .

Robert P. Dnnlap, Bmnswiek. Jamca C. Churchill, Portland.

Josiah Dunn, Jr., Poland.

HOUSE OP EEPRESENTATIVES.

Brunswick, Roger Merrill.

Bridgton, Bennett Pike.

Baldwin, Ephraim Brown.

Cumberland, Ephraim Stnrde>

rant.

Caps Eliiabeth, Woodbnry Jor-

dan.

Danville, none.

Durham, Allen H. Cobb.

Freeport, Joseph Dennison.

Falmouth, none.

Gorham, Samuel Stephenson.

Gray, Clement H. Humphrey.
Harpswell, Stephen Purringtoo.

Minot, Willard H. Woodbury.

New Gloucester, none.

North Yarmouth, Edward Russell.

Otisfield,* Jacob Emerson.

Portland, Joseph Adams, Samuel

Fessenden, Joshua Richard-

son.

Pownal, none.

Poland, William Dunn.

Raymond (and T. P. Plantation),

Z. Leach.

Scarborough, none.

Standisb, Benjamin Poland.

Westbrook, Jonathan Smith.

Windham, John Eveleth.

Robert P. Dnnlap, Brunswick.

Josiah Dunn, Jr., Poland.

SENATE, 1826.

James C. Churchill, Portland.

HOUSE OP BEPBESENTATIYES.

Brunswick, Peter 0. Alden.

Bridgton, John Willett.

Baldwin, Rufus Sanborn.

Cumberland, Nich's Rideont, Jr.

Cape Elizabeth, Micah Higgins.

Danville, Ebenezer Witham, Jr.

Durham, Allen H. Cobb.

Freeport, Edmund Pratt.

Falmouth, William Crabtree.

Gorham, Clark Dyer.

Gray, Meshach Humphrey.

Harpswell, none.

Minot, Willard H. Bradbury.

New Gloucester, John Webber.

North Yarmouth, Jacob Mitchell.

Otisfield.*

Portland,- Isaac Adams, Stephen

Longfellow, Samuel Fessen-

den.

Pownal, none.

Poland, William Dunn.

Raymond (and T. P. P.), Henry

Jordan.

Standish, Benjamin Poland.

Scarborough, Henry V. Cumaton.

Westbrook, William Siemens, Jr.

Windham, John Eveleth.

Robert P. Dunlap, Brunswick

James C. Churchill, Portland.

SENATE, 1827.

Josiah Dunn, Jr., Poland.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Brunswick, Peter 0. Alden.

Bridgton, Thomas Perley.

Baldwin, Nathan Sawyer.

Cnmberland, Nich's Rldeout, Jr.

Cape Elizabeth, Micah Higgins.

Durham, Allen H. Cobb.

Freeport, William Pote.

Falmouth, Silas Littlejohn, Jr.

Gorham, Clark Dyer.

Gray, Meshach Humphrey.

Harpsi^ll, John Curtis.

Harrison.f Jacob Emerson.

Minot, Willard H. Woodbury.

New Gloucester, Benj. H. Mace.

North Yarmouth, Jacob Mitchell.

Portland, Isaac Adams, Nathaniel

Mitchell, William Swan.

Pownal, Simeon Estes.

Poland, Jabez True, Jr.

Raymond (and T. P. P.), Rich-

ard Cook.

Standish, Andrew M. Bradbury.

Scarborough, James H. Morris.

Westbrook, Jonathan Smith.

Windham, Stephen Webb.

SENATE, 1828.

Robert P. Dunlap, Brunswick. Benj. H. Mace, New Gloucester.

John D. Meguire, Portland.

Baldwin, Reuben Brown.

Bridgton, Theodore Ingalls.

Brunswick, Peter 0. Alden.

Cumberland, Nich's Rideout, Jr.

Cape Elizabeth, Micah Higgins.

Durham, Allen H. Cobb.

Danville, Nathaniel L. Ingersoll.

Freeport, Josiah W. Mitchell.

Falmouth, Silas Leighton, Jr.

Gorham, Clark Dyer.

Gray, Clement H. Humphrey.

Harpswell, Benjamin Randall.

Miuot, Charles Moody.

New Gloucester, Simeon Parsons.

North Yarmouth, Dan'l Mitchell.

Otisfield, Levi Patch.

Portland, Isaao Adams, William

Swan, Andrew L. Emerson.

Poland, Jabez True, Jr.

Raymond, Zachariah Leach.

Standish, Mark White.

Scarborough, Joseph S. Jewett.

Westbrook, George Bishop.

Windham, Stephen Webb.

Jonathan Page, Brunswick.

Andrew L. Emerson, Portland.

SENATE, 1829.

George Ricker, Minot.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Bridgton, Richard Davis.

Brnnswick, Peter 0. Alden.

Cape Elizabeth, Wm. Cumings.

Cumberland, Nicholas Rideout.

Durham, Allen H. Cobb.

Falmouth, Giles Merrill.

Freeport, John A. Hyde.

Gorham, Edmund Mann.

Gray, Eliab Latham.

Harrison, Jacob Emerson.

Harpswell, Isaac Sylvester.

Minot, Benjamin Johnson,

New Gloucester, Obadiah Whit-

man.

North Yarmouth, Jacob Mitchell.

Portland, Isaao Adams, William

Swan, Thomas Dodge.

Poland, Jabez True, Jr.

Pownal, Joseph Lupkin.

Raymond, Zachariah Leach.

Sebago, Oliver Pike.

Standish, Mark White.

Scarborough, Joseph Fogg.

Westbrook, George Bishop.

Windham, Mosea Little.

Robert P. Dunlap, Brunswick,

John L. Meguire, Portland.

SENATE, 1830.

' Tfieodore Ingalls, Bridgton.

HOUSE OP REPEESENT.4.TIVES.

Baldwin, Richard Larrabec.

Brunswick, William Curtis.

Bridgton, John Willett.

Cape Elizabeth, Nath'l Wheeler.

Cumberland, Nich's Rideout, Jr.

Danville, William Woodbury.

Durham, James Strout.

Falmouth, Stephen Morrill.

Freeport, Ebenezer Wells.

Gorham, Edmund' Mann.

Gray, Eliab Lactham.

Harpswell, Isaac Sylvester.

Minot, Benjamin Johnson.

North Yarmouth, Jacob Mitclielt.

New Gloucester, Eph. StinchfieM.

Otisfield, Silas Blake.

Poland, Daniel Waterman, Jr.

Portland, Isaac Adams, Williiiui

Swan, Thomas Dodge.

Raymond, Dominicus Jordan.

Scarborough, Joseph Fogg.

Standish, Sargent Shaw.

Westbrook, George Bishop.

Windham, John Waterman.

Robert P. Dunlap, Brunswick.

John L. Meguire, Portland.

SENATE, 1831.

Theodore Ingalls, Bridgton.

HOUSE OF EEPRESENTATIVES.

Brnnswick, George W. Holden.

Bridgton, Richard Davis.

Cumberland, Joseph Smith.

Cape Elizabeth, Nath'l Wheeler.

Durham, James Strout.

Freeport, Ebenezer Wells.

! Falmouth, Stephen Morrill.

Gorham, Joseph Hamblen (3d).

Gray, Benjamin Smith.

Harpswell, Benjamin Randall.

Harrison, Oliver Pierce.

Minot, George Ricker.

North Yarmouth, Wm. Bu.\ton.

New Gloucester, Obd'h AVhitman.

Pownal, Joseph Brown, Jr.

Poland, Reuben B. Dunn.

Portland, Mark Harris, Nath'l

Mitchell, F. 0. J. Smith.

Raymond, Dominicus Jordan.

Sebago, Nicholas Davis.

Scarborough, Joseph Fogg.

Standish, Sargent Shaw.

Westbrook, Jonathan Smith.

AVindham, Daniel Hall.

SENATE, 1832.

• With Harrison. t With Otisfield.

Robert P. Dunlap, Brnnswick.

Theodore Ingalls, Bridgton.

John L. Meguire, Portland.

Stephen Webb, Jr., Windhaui,
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HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Baldwin, Joebua Chadbourne.

BridgtoD, Asa IngnlU (2d).

Brunswick, Darid Dunlap.

Gape Elitabeth, Wm. Cummingt.

Cmnberland, James Prentice.

Danville, none.

Durbam, James Strout.

Falmouth, Joseph CoIIey.

Freeport, Rufus Soule.

Gorbam, Josiah Pierce.

Gray, Benjamin Smith.

Harpswell, Stephen Merritt.

Minot, Willard H. Woodbury.

Xew Gloucester, Aaron Eveletb.

North Yarmouth, Nath'l True.

Otisfleld, Thomas Shed.

Portland, Moses Hall, Joseph M.

Gerrisb, William Pitt Fes-

senden, Charles B. Smith.

Poland, Reuben B. Dunn.

Pownal, Joseph Paine.

Kaymond, Zachariah Jordan.

Scarborough, Joseph Fogg.

Standish, Olirer Frost.

Westbrook, Jonathan Smith.

AVindham, Elias Baker.

SENATE, 1833.

Francis 0. J. Smith, Portland.

Allen H. Cobb, Durham.

Stephen Webb, Jr., Windham.
Asaph Howard, Minot.

HOUSE OF BEPBESENTAirVES.

Bridgton, George W, Gusbman.

Brunswick, DaWd Dunlap.

Cape Elizabeth, C. Hannaford.

Cumberland, James Prince.

Danville, John Stinchfield.

Durham, Henry Moore.

Falmouth, Cor. T. S. Brackett.

Freeport, Theodore Cnrtiss.

Gorbam, Josiah Pierce.

Gray, Nathaniel S. Lawrence.

Harpswell, Paul Randall.

Harrison, Charles Washburn.

Minot, Godfrey Grosvenor.

New Gloucester, Otis C. Gross.

North Yarmouth, Wm. Buxton.

Poland, Benjamin Waterhoose.

Portland, Charles Q. Clapp, Na-

thaniel G. Jewett, William

Kimball, George W. Pierce.

Pownal, Michael Dyer.

Raymond, Henry Jordan.

Scarborough, Cyrus Libby.

Sebago, Isaac Ridlon.

Standish, Oliver Frost.

Westbrook, Jonathan Smith.

Windham, none.

SENATE, 1834.

Allen U. Cobb, Darbam. Josiah Pierce, Gorbam.

Asaph Howard, Minot. Jonathan Smith, Westbrook.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Baldwin, Ebenezer Sawyer.

Bridgton, Archibald Thompson.

Brunswick, David Dunlap.

Cape Elizabeth, C. Hannaford.

Cumberland, Joseph Smith.

Danville, James Goff.

Durham, Henry Moore.

Falmouth, Cor. T. S. Brackett.

Freeport, Rufus Soule.

Qorham, Wm. £. Files.

Gray, Nathaniel S. Lawrence.

Harpswell, Paul Randall.

Minot, Joshua Parsons.

New Gloucester, Sam'l Foxcroft.

North Yarmouth, Wm. Buxton.

Otisfield, John Hancock.

Poland, Benjamin Waterhonse.

Portland, Charles Q. Clapp, Na-

thaniel G. Jewett, Geo. W.
Pierce, William Eimball.

Pownal, Adams True.

Raymond, Dominicus Jordan,

Scarborough, Asa Stewart.

Standish, Elisha Strout.

Westbrook, Levi Morrill.

Windham, John Webb.

SENATE, 1835.

Josiah Pierce, Gorbam. Tobias Purrinton, Brunswick.

Jonathan Smith, Westbrook. Eliab Latham, Gray.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Bridgton, Archibald Thompson.

Brunswick, John M. O'Brien.

Cape Elizabeth, John D. Buzzell.

Cumberland, Joseph Sturdevant.

Danville, Benjamin Waterhouse.

Durham, Joseph Warren.

Falmouth, Ezra T. Bucknam.

Freeport, Samuel Bliss.

Gorbam, Wm. E. Files.

Gray, Meshooh Humphrey.

Harrison, Amos Themes.

Harpswell, John Curtis.

Minot, Nathan L. Woodbury.

New Gloucester, Charles Cobb.

17

North Yarmouth, Wm. Hawes.

Poland,'WiIliam Maxwell.

Portland, Eliphalet Greeley, Lu-

ther Jewett, James Brooks,

John T. Walton.

Pownal, Henry Warren.

Raymond, Jonas Jordan.

Scarborough, Asa Strout.

Sebago, David Potter.

Standish, Elisha Strout.

Westbrook. Levi Morrill, Ben-

jamin Quinby.

Windham. John Webb.

SENATE, 1836.

Josiah Pierce, Gorbam. Eliab Latham, Gray.

Tobias Purrinton, Brunswick. Nathaniel 6. Jewett, Portland.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Baldwin, Peter Cram.

Bridgton, Asbbel Cram.

Brunswick, Alfred J. Stone.

Cape Elizabeth, John D. Buzzell.

Cumberland, Joseph Sturdevant.

Danville, Benjamin AVaterhouse.

Durham, Joseph Warren.

Falmouth, Charles W. Wait.

Freeport, Rufns Soule.

Gorbam, Charles Hunt.

Gray, Meshooh Humphrey.

Harpswell, John Curtis.

Minot, Nathan L. Woodbury.

New Gloucester, M. Woodman.

North Yarmouth, Wm. Buxton.

Otisfleld, Mark Enight.

Poland, AVm. Maxwell, Jr.

Portland, Josiah S. Little, S. R.

Lyman, Alford Richardson,

John T. Walton.

Pownal, Reuben Haskell.

Raymond, Mark Jordan.

Scarborough, Asa Stewart.

Standish, Benj. Chadboume.

Westbrook, Jonathan Smith.

Windham, Enoch White.

SENATE, 1837.

Rufus Soule, Freeport. Roscoe G. Greene, Portland.

Nathan L. Woodbury, Minot. Nath'I S. Littlefield, Bridgton.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Bridgton, Stephen Beman.

Brunswick, David Dunlap.

Cape Elizabeth, John D. Buzzell.

Cumberland, Nich's Rideout, Jr.

Danville, Samuel Stinchfield.

Durham, Jonathan C. Merrill.

Falmouth, George Turner.

Freeport, Alfred Soule.

Gorbam, Charles Hunt.

Gray, Mesbacb Humphrey.

Harpswell, Benjamin Randall.

Harrison, Haskell Pierce.

Minot, Enoch Littlefield.

New Gloucester, B. Woodman.

North Yarmouth, Nath'I True.

Poland, Stephen M. Marble.

Portland, James Appleton, Ran-

dolph A. L. Codman, Charles

Fox, S. R. Lyman.

Pownal, Isaac Cushman.

Raymond, Mark Jordan.

Scarborough, Stephen Sewell.

Sebago, David Potter.

Standish, Samuel Phinney.

Westbrook, Benjamin Quinby.

Windham, Elias Baker.

SENATE, 1838.

Rufus Soule, Freeport. Roscoe G. Greene, Portland.

Nathan L. Woodbury, Minot. Nath'I S. Littlefield, Bridgton.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Portland, James Appleton, R. A.

L. Codman, Chas. Fox, Syl-

vanus R. Lyman.

Falmouth, Ezra T. Buckman.

North Yarmouth, Wm. Buxton.

New Gloucester, 0. Bradbury.

Brunswick, David Dunlap.

Durbam, Thomas Estes.

Gray, Janes Ford.

Baldwin, etc., Ephraim Flint.

Harpswell, Wasb'gton Garcelon.

Gorham, Caleb Hodsdon.

Otisfield, etc., John Hancock.

Standish, James Harding.

Windham, Allen Hamlin.

Minot, William Lowell, Jr.

Poland, Stephen M. Marble.

Scarborough, Dan'l Moulton ('id).

Danville, John Penley.

Cumberland, John Smith.

Cape Elizabeth, Hiram Staples.

Freeport, Alfred Soule.

Westbrook, Moses Stiles.

Raymond, John Small, Jr.

Bridgton, Moody F. Walker.

Pownal, Henry Warren.

SENATE, 1839.

Otis G. Gross, New Gloucester.

John G. Humphreys, Brunswick

;

resigned.

N. S. Littjefield, Bridgton.

Joshua Parsons, vice Humphreys.

Charles Holden, Portland.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Bridgton, Moody F. Walker.

Brunswick, Elijah P. Pike. ,

Cape Elizabeth, Sylv. Higgins.

Cumberland, Reuel Drinkwater.

Danville, Samuel Stinchfield.

Durham, Thomas Estes.

Falmouth, Ezra T. Buoknam.

Freeport, Nathan Nye.

Gorham, Caleb Hodsdon.

Gray, Jitmes Ford.

Harpswell, Washington Garcelon.

Harrison, Harrison Blake.

Minot, Calvin Bridgham.

New Gloucester, 0. Bradbury.

North Yarmouth, Wm. Buxton.

Poland, John Megquier.

Portland, Jas. Appleton, Oliver

B. Dorrance, Hosea Ilsley,

Sylvanus R. Lyman.
Pownal, Dennis Soule.



130 HISTORY OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

Raymond, John Small, Jr.

Scarborongh, Dnnl. Monlton (3d).

Sebago, Samael Ojer.

Standish, Jamea Harding.

Westbrook, Moseg Stiles.

Wiodbam, Sargent Shav.

SENATE, 1840.

Otis C. Qross, Neir Gloncester.

Ira Crooker, Portland.

Philip Eastman, Harrison.

Leri L. Totman, Harpsvell.

BOUSE OF EEPRESENTATIVES.

Baldwin, Samuel Ingalls.

Bridgton, Jacob Hazen, Jr.

Brunswick, Ebenezer Everett.

Cape Elizabeth, Hiram Staples.

Cumberland, Samuel Merrill.

Danrille, Ebeoezer Witham.

Durham, Jonathan Stront.

Falmouth, Daniel JUerrill.

Freeport, Theodore Curtis.

(Jorham, Robert Johnson, Jr.

Gray, George Perley.

Harpswell, Paul Randall.

Minot, Charles Millett.

New Gloucester, David Allen.

North Yarmouth, Wm. Buxton.

Otisfield, Daniel Veston.

Poland, John Megciuier.

Portland, Oliver B. Dorrance,

Wm. P. Fessendcn, Sylvanus

R. Lyman, E. Trowbridge.

Pownal, Amos Sawyer.

Raymond, Ebenezer Hayden.

Scarborough, Joseph Larrabee.

Standish, Lemuel Rice (3d).

Westbrook, Benjamin Qainby.

Windham, Sargent Shaw.

SENATE, 1841.

Charles S. Daveis, Portland. . Joseph Freeman, Poland.

Elijah P. Pike, Brunswick. John Sawyer, Raymond.

HOUSE OF EEPRESENTATIVES.

Portland, Josiah S. Little, Oliver

B. Dorrance, Joshua Dunn,

Sylvanus R. Lyman.

New Gloncester, David Allen.

Westbrook, Henry C. Babb.

Harrison, Harrison Blake.

Pownal, Samuel Bliss.

North Yarmouth, Wm. Bu.Tton.

Poland, David Dunn.

Freeport, Nathaniel Dunning.

Sebago, Samuel Dyer.

Harpswell, Washington Garcelon.

Bridgton, Jesse Gibbs.

Windham. Thomas Hawkes.

Raymond, Ebenezer Hayden.

Scarborough, Joseph Larrabee.

Minot, William Lowell.

Brunswick, James F. Mathews.

Cumberland, Samuel Merrill.

Gorbam, Robert Motley.

Gray, George Perley.

Falmouth, Francis Purinton.

Standish, Lemuel Rich (3d).

Cape Elizabeth, Randall Skillin.

Durham, Jonathan Stront.

Danville, Ebenezer Witham.

SENATE, 1842.

Jonathan Smith, Westbrook.

Joseph Brown, Baldwin.

Meshach Humphrey, Gray.

Philip Eastman, Harrison.

HOUSE OP EEPRESENTATIVES.

Bridgton, Jesse Gibbs.

Brunswick, Benjamin H. Meder,

Henry Merritt.

Cape El'.zabeth, Randall Skillen.

Cumberland, Joseph Water-

house.*

Danville, John R. Nutting.

Durham, Joseph Warren.

Falmouth, Francis Purinton.

Freeport, Nathantet Dunning.

Gorham, Jeremiah Parker.

Gray, Theophilns Stimpson.f

Harpswell, John Blake.

Minot, James Goff, Jr.

Naples, Daniel D. Ruggles.

New Gloncester, Joseph Raynes.

North Yarmouth, Jer'h MitchelL

Otisfield, George W. Barrows.

Poland, David Dunn.

Portland, Harris C. Barnes,

Henry B. Osgood, Nathaniel

Shaw, James Todd.

Scarborough, Stephen L. Water-

house.

Sebago, Robert McDonald.

Standish, Daniel C. Poole.

Westbrook, Henry C. Babb.

Windham, Ezra Brown, Jr.

SENATE, 1843.

Theodore Ingalls, Bridgton.

Charles Millett, Minot

Charles Hunt, Gorham.

James Strout, Durham.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Auburn, James Goff, Jr.

Baldwin, Joshua Cbadbourne.

Brunswick, Benjamin H. Meder,

Casco, Alpheus S. Holden.

Durham, Simeon Bailey.

Falmouth, Daniel Merrill.

Freeport, Alfred Sonle.

Gorham, Daniel E. Emery.

* In place of Tristram Sanborn, deceased,

f In place of Henry Pennell, resigned.

Gray, Theophilns Stimpson.

New Gloncester, Joseph Raynes.

North Yarmouth, Jer'h Mitchell.

Poland, David Dunn.

Portland, Josiah S. Little, Thos.

Chadwick, Henry B. Hart.

Scarborough, Stephen L. Water-

house.

Standish, Daniel C. Poole.

Westbrook, Henry C. Babb.

Windham, Ezra Brown, Jr.

SENATE, 1844.

Charles Hunt, Gorham.

Charles Millett, Minot.

Joseph Brown, Pownal.

Moody F. Walker, Portland.

HOUSE OF EEPRESENTATIVES.

Brunswick, Benjamin H. Meder.

Cape Elizabeth, Randall Skillen.

Dsnville, Nathaniel L. Ingersoll.

Falmouth, Daniel Merrill.

Freeport, Rioliard Merrill.

Gorham, Daniel C. Emery.

Harrison, Hosea H. Huntress.

Harpswell, John Blake.

Minot, Jabes 0. Woodman.

North Yarmouth, Wm. Buxton.

Poland, David Dunn.

Portland, Josiah S. Little, Thos.

Chadwick, Phinehas Barnes.

Pownal, Daniel Paine.

Raymond, James M. Leach.

Scarborongh, David Potter.

Westbrook, Jeremiah Beedle.

Windham, Edward Anderson.

SENATE, 1845.

David Dunn, Poland.

James Strout, Durham.

Randall Skillin, Cape Elizabeth.

Alpheus S. Holden, Casco.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Auburn, Enoch Littlefield.

Bridgton, Reuben Ball.

Brunswick, Adam Lemont.

Cumberland, Nich's Rideout, Jr.

Durham, Alvah Marston.

Freeport, Samuel Sonle.

Gorham, Jeremiah Parker.

Naples, John G. Connell.

New Gloucester, Peter Haskell.

North Yarmouth, Cashing Prince.

Poland, Eliphalet Davis.

Portland, Phinehas Barnes, Thos.

Chadwick, Wm. Pitt Fessen-

dcn.

Scarborough, Dorville Libby.

Standish, Ebenezer Moulton.

Westbrook, James Johnson,

SENATE, 1846.

David Dunn, Poland. Alpheus S. Holden, Casco.

Randall Skillin, Cape Elizabeth. Rufus Porter, Portland.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Auburn, Thomas'L. Howard.

Baldwin, John Burrell, Jr.

Brunswick, Adam Lemont.

Cape Elizabeth, James Trickey.

Casco, Frederick Nutting.

Cumberland, Eph'm Sturdivant.

Danville, Nathaniel L. Ingersoll.

Freeport, Samuel Sonle.

Gorham, Hugh D. McLellan.

Harpswell, Levi L. Totman.

Harrison, Abner Libby.

North Yarmouth, Cushing Prince.

Poland, Frceland Marble.

Portland, Thos. Chadwick, Wm.
Pitt Fessenden, Phinehas

Barnes.

Pownal, Benjaitain Small.

Standish, Ebenezer Moulton.

Westbrook, Jeremiah Beedle.

Windham, Enoch White.

SENATE, 1847.

Rufus Porter, Portland.

James M. Leach, Raymond.
Samuel Mayall, Gray.

Charles Holden, Portland.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Bridgton, Loihrop Lewis.

Brunswick, Joseph Lnnt (2d).

Durham, Sewell Libby.

Falmouth, Francis Purinton.

Freeport, Benjamin Luf kin.

Gorham, Hugh D. McLellan.

Gray, Jacob Clark.

Minot, Richard H. Ford.

New Gloucester, Chas. Megquier.

North Yarmonth, Sam'I Sweetsir.

Poland, Freeland Marble.

Portland, William Boyd, Thomas
Chadwick, Wm. Goodenow.

Raymond, Samuel S. Brown.

Scarborough, Nath'l Fenderson.

Sebago, Robert McDonald.

Standish, William fl. Lowell.

Westbrook, Leander Valentine.

Windham, Daniel Rogers.

SENATE, 1848.

Samuel Mayall, Gray.

Charles Holucn, Fortkind.

James M. Leaoh, Raymond.
William P. Doughty, Gray..
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HOnSE OP REPEESENTATIVES.

Brunswick, William Curtis.

Cape Elizabeth, D. M. Skillin.

CumberlaDd, Mosea LeightoD.

Danville, Edward T. Little.

Fre«port, Samuel Thing.

Oorham, Hugh D. McLellan.

Harpswell, William Randall.

Harrison, Marquis D. Casvell,

Minot, Kichard H. Ford.

Xaples, Jefferson Bray.

North Yarmontb, Sam'l Svreetsir.

Otisfleld, Wilkinson Edes.

Poland, Darid Dunn.

Portland, Phinehas Barnes, Wm.
Qoodenoir, Wm. Kimball.

Pownal, Joseph Small.

Standish, William H. Lowell.

Westbrook, Leander Valentine.

Windham, Asa Legrow.

SENATE, 1849.

Chas. Megquler, New Gloucester.

Eph. Sturdirant, Cumberland.

John P. Daris, Naples.

Leander Valentine, Westbrook.

HOUSE 01* BEPKESENTATIVES.

Auburn, Thomas LittleSeld.

Baldwin, John Bamell, Jr.

Bridgton, Samuel Andrews (2d).

Bnmswiok, William Curtis.

Casco, Daniel Hnreh.

Durham, Jonathan C. HerrilL

Falmouth, Joseph Colley.

Freeport, Samuel Thing.

Qray, Daniel Hall.

Gorham, James Mann.

New Qlonoester, Thos. Johnson.

North Yarmouth, Sam'l Sweetsir.

Poland, Robert Martin.

Portland, H. Carter, Wm. Good-

enow, Elisha Trowbridge.

Standish, William T. Chadboume.

Soarborough, Nath. Fenderson.

Westbrook, Samuel Jordan.

Windham, Daniel Rogers.

SENATE, 1850.

Alrah Marston, Durham.

Marshal Cram, Bridgton.

Eph. Sturdirant, Cumberland.

George F. Sbeplej, Portland.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES.

Brunswick, James Cox.

Cape Elizabeth, Reuben Higgins.

Cumberland, Moses Leighton.

Danville, George W, Chase.

Freeport, Samuel A. Holbrook.

Gorham, James Mann.

Harpawell, William Randall.

Harrison, John E. Dunnells.

Minot, Richard H. Ford.

North Yarmouth, Wm. Buxton.

Portland, Henry Carter, Henry P.

Dean, Rufus Horton.

Poland, Robert Martin.

Pownal, Elbridge York.

Raymond, William Plummer.

Sebago, James Weed.

Standish, Wm. T. Chadboume.

Westbrook, Samuel Jordan.

Windham, Daniel Rogers.

SENATE, 1851.

James Mann, Gorham.

John E. Dunnells, Harrison.

William R. Porter, Yarmouth.

Thomas LittleSeld, Auburn.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Auburn, John Dawning, Jr.

Bridgton, Thomas Cleaves.

Bnmswiok, James Cox.

Durham, Joseph Warren.

Falmouth, Daniel Merrill.

Freeport, Simeon Pratt.

Gray, Daniel Hall.

Qorham, Jonathan Hanson.

Naples, Washington Bray.

New Gloucester, Jonathan True.

OtisGeld, Wm. E. F. Linnell.

Poland, David Dunn.

Portland, Henry Carter, Henry

P. Dean, Rafus Horton.

Scarborough, John Larrabee.

Standish, Edmund Dresser.

Westbrook, Aaron Quinby.

Windham, Samuel Hunt.

Yarmouth, Ammi Storer.

SENATE, 1852.

James Mann, Gorham. William R. Porter, Yarmouth.

John E. Dunnells, Harrison. Thomas LIttlefleld, Auburn.

HOUSE OF

Auburn, John Downing, Jr.

Bridgton, Thomas Cleaves.

Brunswick, James Fox.

Durham, Joseph Warren.

Falmouth, Daniel Merrill.

Freeport, Simeon Pratt.

REPRESENTATIVES.

Gray, Daniel Hall.

Qorham, Jonathan Hanson.

Naples, Washington Bray.

New Gloucester, Jonathan True.

Otisfield, William E. F. Linnell.

Poland, David Dunn.

Portland, Henry Carter, Henry

P. Dean, Rufus Horton.

Scarborough, John Larrabee.

Standish, Edmund Dresser.

Westbrook, Aaron Quinby.

Windham, Daniel Rogers.

Yarmouth, Ammi Storer.

SENATE, 1853.

James Mann, Gorham.

John E. Dunnells, Harrison.

Warren H. Vinton, Gray.

William Lowell, Standish.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES.

Auburn, George Rioker, Jr.

Bridgton, Rensselaer Cram.

Brunswick, Joseph Lunt, Jr.

Cape Elizabeth, Scot Dyer.

Cumberland, Reuben Blanchard.

Durham, William Newell, Jr.

Freeport, Theodore Curtis.

Gray, Thomas Hancock.

Oorham, Charles Paine.

Harpswell, Clement Skofield.

Harrison, William Haskell.

Minot, Nathan C. Harris.

Naples, ATilkinson Edes.

New Gloucester, S. H. Campbell.

Poland, Daniel Waterman.

Portland, Sewell C. Chase, Wm.
Pitt Fessenden, J. M. Wood.

Scarborough, John Larrabee.

Westbrook, Aaron Quinby.

Windham, David P. Baker.

SENATE, 1854.

Warren H. Vinton, Gray.

William Lowell, Standish.

James T. McCobb, Portland.

Jacob Hazen, Bridgton.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES.

Auburn, Thomas Littlefield.

Baldwin, Albert Sanborn.

Bridgton, Nath'l S. LittleSeld.

Brunswick, Charles J. Oilman.

Casco, William Dingley, Jr.

Danville, Ebenezer Wit^am.

Falmouth, Glendy Moody.

Freeport, Ebenezer Wells.

Oorham, Charles Paine.

North Yarmouth, B. B. Porter.

OtisSeld, John Hancock.

Poland, George Bridgham, Jr.

Portland, Charles G. Came, Sew-

ell C. Chase, Wm. Pitt Fes-

senden, James M. Wood.

Pownal, Samuel Bliss.

Raymond, John Sawyer.

Standish, Theodore M. Bradbury.

Westbrook, George Libby.

Windbam, Epbraim Legrow.

SENATE, 1855.

Henry A. Boody, Brunswick.

Nathaniel Pease, Bridgton.

Aaron Quinby, Westbrook.

William Willis, Portland.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES.

Bridgton, Luke Brown.

Brunswick, Benjamin Furbish.

Cumberland, Sewell Blanchard.

Cape Elizabeth, E. L. Pil Ubury.

Freeport, George Bacon.

Gray, James Small, Jr.

Gorham, Jacob C. Baker.

Harpswell, Clement SkoSeld.

Harrison, George W. Barrows.

New Gloucester, H. P. Osgood.

Portland, Charles O. Came, Sam-

uel R. Leavitt, William W.
Thomas.

Standish, Theodore M. Bradbury.

Scarborough, Robert McLaugh-
lin, Jr.

Sebago, Oliver D. Dike.

Westbrook, George Libby.

SENATE, 1856.

Abner B. Thompson, Brunswick.

Horatio J. Swasey, Standish.

Phinehas Barnes, Portland.

Josiah Blaisdell.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES.

Baldwin, James Norton.

Bridgton, Samuel Andrews (2d).

Brunswick, Samuel S. Wing.

Cape Elizabeth, James Trickey.

Falmouth, William Prince.

Freeport, William Gregg.

Gorham, Jacob C. Baker.

Naples, John O. Connell.

North Yarmouth, Adams True.

Otisfleld, Johnson W. Knight.

Poland, William Stanton.

Portland, J. S. Little (Speaker),

Sylvanus R. Lyman, James
Todd.

Pownal, Jeretniah Mitchell.

Raymond, James M. Leach.

Westbrook, Daniel Winslow.
Windham, Ezra Brown.

Yarmouth, Sylvanus C. Blanch-

ard.

SENATE, 1857.

John B. Brown, Portland. John P. Davis, Naples.

Eleazer Bnrbank, Yarmouth. Clement Pbinney, Portland.
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nOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Brid^n, Darwin Ingalls.

Brunswick, Joseph C. Given.

Cosco, Isaiah Gould.

Falmouth, Jeremiah Hobbi.

Freeport, Ebenezer Wella.

Gorham, Joshua E. Hall.

Gray, Warren H. Vinton.

Harpswell, James H. Dunning.

Harrison, Samuel Walker, Jr.

New Gloucester, Sewall Gross.

Portland, Thomas A. Deblois,

Henr; Fox, Edward Ham-
blen.

Scarborough, Cyrus F. Moulton.

Standish, Henry M. Chadboume.

Westbrook, Sewell Brackett.

Windham, Jacob Marston.

SENATE, 1858.

William W. Thomas, Portland.

Eleazer Barbank, Yarmouth.

John P. Daris, Ifaples.

Charles W. Ooddard, Portland.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Baldwin, Chrigtopher D, Sawyer.

Bridgton, Darwin Ingalls.

Brunswick, Henry H. Boody.

Casco, Potter J. Mayberry.

Cumberland, Benjamin Rideout.

Freeport, Micah Stockbridge.

Gorham, Joshua E. Hall.

North Yarmouth, Silas Skillin.

Otisfield. William C. Smith.

Portland, Nath'l J. Miller, Wm.
V. Bowen, Llewelyn Deane.

Raymond, Zaob. L. Whitney.

Sebago, Stephen R. Porter.

Standish, Henry M. Cfaadbourne.

Westbrook, Sewell Brackett.

Yarmouth, Samuel Bucknam.

SENATE, 1859.

Chas. Hannaford, Cape Elizabeth.

Clement Skofield, Brunswick.

Edward Anderson, Windham.
Charles W. Goddard, Portland.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Bridgton, Benjamin Walker.

Brunswick, Joseph C. Given.

Cape Elizabeth, Elibu Hasty.

Falmouth, William Prince.

Freeport, Ebenezer Wells.

Gorham, Frederick Bobie.

Gray, Jacob Clark.

Harrison, Samuel Thomas.

Naples, Samuel F. Perley.

New Gloucester, George Blake.

Portland, Joshua Dunn, Moses M.
Butler, Neal Dow.

Puwnal, David T. Libby.

ScarboroDgh, James S. Libby.

Westbrook, Bufus King.

Windham, Seward M. Baker.

Yarmouth, Paul G. Blanchard.

SENATE, 1860.

Chas. Hannaford, Cape Elizabeth. Edward Anderson, Windham.
Clement Skofield, Brunswick. Samuel F. Perley, Naples.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES.

Brunswick, Thomas Skofield.

Bridgton, George L. Cleaves.

Baldwin, D. T. Richardson.

Cape Elizabeth, Elihu Hasty.

Cumberland, Peter Merrill.

Freeport, Ebenezer Wells.

Raymond, Franklin Sawyer.

Gray, Ephraim Lawrence.

Gorham, Frederick Robie.

Portland, Neal Dow, Joshua

Dunn, Newell A. Foster.

Sebago, William Haley.

Standish, Mark S. Came.

North Yarmouth, Wm. Buxton.

Westbrook, Rufns King.

Yarmouth, Paul G. Blanchard.

SENATE, 1861.

Nathaniel J. Miller, Portland. Nathaniel Pease, Bndgton.

Sewell N. Gross, New Gloucester. Warren H. Vinton, Gray.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Portland, N. A,Brunswick, Thomas Skofield.

Bridgton, John P. Perley.

Casco, Richard Mayberry.

Freeport, G. W. Randall.

Falmouth, S. N. MorrilL

Harrison, George Pierce.

Gorham, James Phinney.

Foster, S.

Spring, Edward Fox.

Westbrook, David Torrey.

Windham, S. E. Hnnkins.

Otisfield, J. K. Lovewell.

Harpswell, T. U. Eaton.

Naples, Joseph Hall.

New Gloucester, John P. Stevens. Scarborough, John Libby.

SENATE, 1862.

Warren H. Vinton, Gray.

Nathaniel Pease, Bridgton.

Sewell N. Gross, New Gloucester.

Lorenzo D. M. Sweat, Portland.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES.

Baldwin, Cyrus S. Brown.

Bridgton, John P. Perley.

Brunswick, Benjamin Furbish.

Casco, D. M. Cook.

Cape Elizabeth, Reuben Higgins.

Freeport, George W. Bandall.

Gorham, James Phinney.

Gray, John Mayall.

Portland, Benjamin Kingsbury,

Jr., John Lynch, Jacob Mc-

Lellon, Joseph W. Dyer.

Pownal, Nathaniel Dyer.

Raymond, David Nash.

Windham, Thomas L. Smith.

Westbrook, David Torrey.

Yarmouth, Amos Osgood.

Sebago, Amos Ward.

SENATE, 1863.

Samcel E. Spring, Portland. Daniel Elliot, Brunswick.

John H. Philbriok, Standish. Levi Cram, Bridgton.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Brunswick, John L. Swift.

Cape Elizabeth, Isaac Vickery.

Freeport, Samuel A. Holbrook.

Gorham, Joseph W. Parker.

New Gloucester, Miltimore Watts.

Portland, Benjamin Kingsbury,

Jr., Abner Shaw, George

Worcester, Jacob McLellan.

Westbrook, Francis 0. J. Smith.

Bridgton, Joshua Howard.

Cumberland, Willard Clough.

Falmouth, John Williams.

Harpswell, Lemuel H. Stover.

Scarborough, James Gunnison.

Standish, Frederic Lowell.

Yarmouth, Nathaniel Gooch.

Otisfield, Matthew H. Winslow.

Yarmouth, Reuben Merrill.

SENATE, 1864.

Samuel E. Spring, Portland. Daniel Elliot, Brunswick.

John H. Philbrick, Standish. Levi Cram, Bridgton.

Brunswick, Marshall Cram.

Cape Elizabeth, Isaiah Vickery.

Falmouth, Nathaniel Merrill.

Freeport, Samuel A. Holbrook.

Gorham, Joseph W. Parker.

Gray, Robert A. Allen.

Yarmouth, Reuben Merrill.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Portland, John Lynch, Nathan

Webb, George W. Woodman,
Samuel W. Larrabee.

3ridgton, Frederick J. Littlefield.

Cumberland, Charles AVynian.

Harpswell, Lemuel H. Stover.

Naples, Daniel Richardson.

Westbrook, Francis 0. J. Smith.

SENATE, 1865.

George W. Woodman, Portland. George Pierce, Harrison.

Samuel A. Holbrook, Freeport. Daniel T. Richardson, Baldwin.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Brunswick, Marshall Cram.

Freeport, Gershom Bliss.

Gorham, Edward P. Weston.

North Yarmouth, Sam'l H. Sweet-

sir.

Portland, Nathan Webb, Samuel

W. Larrabee, J. Frank Mil-

ler, N. 0. Cram.

Bridgton, John P. Perley.

Pownal, Franklin Curtis.

Sebago, Almon Young.

Baldwin, Josiah Milliken.

Cape Elizabeth, Wm. B. Higgins.

Casco, Aiphens S. Holdeu.

New Gloucester, Otis C. Nelson.

SENATE, 1866.

Geo. W. Woodman, Portland.

Samuel A. Holbrook, Freeport.

George Peirce, Harrison.

Daniel T. Richardson, Baldwin.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES.

Brunswick, Samuel R. Jackson.

Cape Elizabeth, Fred. R. Joidnn.

Falmouth, Alvin Hall.

Freeport, Gershom Bliss.

Gorham, Benjamin P. Sturgis.

Gray, John M. Libby.

Harpswell, Thomas A. Estes.

Harrison, John Dawes,

Otisfield, Beqjamin T. Holden.

Portland, J. Frank Miller, Geo.

F. Shepley, Fred. G. Messer,

George Worcester.

Raymond, Franklin Sawyer.

Scarborough, Horatio Hight.

Standish, Eliakim Wescott.

Westbrook, Edward Payson.

Yarmouth, Elbridge G. Wagg.

SENATE, 1867.

George W. Woodman, Portland.

Samuel A. Holbrook, Freeport.

Frederick Robie, Gorham.
Luke Brown, Bridgton.
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HOUSE OF REPKESKNTATIVES.

Bridgton, Charles E. Oibbs.

Brunswick, Samuel R. Jackson.

Cape Eliiabeth, Henry E. Henley.

Cumberland, Daniel R, Allen.

Falmouth, Al\rin Hall.

Freeport, Ebeneter Weill.

Qorham, Albion P. Files.

Harpswell, Thomas Pennell.

Xaples, Samuel F. Perley.

New Gloucester, D. W. Merrill.

Portland, Geo. F. Shepley, Fred.

G. Messer, Gran'lle M. Chase,

Cbarles J. Morris.

Standish, Tobias Lord.

Westbrook, Clement Phinney.

Windham, William Goold.

Yarmouth, Elbridge G. Wagg.

SENATE, 1868.

Frederick Robie, Qorham. Frederick G. Messer, Portland.

Luke Brown, Bridgton. Jeremiah Mitchell, Yarmouth.

HOUSE OF BEPRESENTATIVES.

Baldwin, James Xorton.

Brunswick, Marshall Gram.

Bridgton, Charles E. Gibbs.

Casoo, David Dnren.

Cape Eliiabeth, Geo. F. Henley.

Freeport, John A. Briggs.

Gorham, Albion P. Files.

North Yarmouth, Moses True.

New Gloucester, Geo. T. MerrilL

Portland, Chas. J. Morris, Gren-

rille M. Chase, Thos. B.

Reed, Jr., Newell A. Foster.

Pownal, Isaac Lobdell.

Raymond, William Nason.

Sebago, Charles A. McKenney.

Westbrook, Charles B. Stevens.

Windham, George Goold.

SENATE, 1369.

Frederick G. Messer, Portland. Marquis D. L. Lane, Standish.

Jeremiah Mitchell, Yarmouth. Charles K. Gibbs, Bridgton.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Brunswick, Marshall Cram.

Cape Elizabeth, Cyrus Cole.

Cumberland, Asa Greely.

Falmouth, Whitman Sawyer.

Gorham, James M. Buzzell.

Freeport, John A. Briggs.

Harrison, Philander Tolman.

Harpswell, Lemuel H. Storer.

Naples, Robert Edes.

SENATE,

Marquis D. L. Lane, Standish.

Charies E. Gibbs, Bridgton.

New Gloucester, A. C. Chandler.

Portland, J. H. Drummond, Thos.

B. Reed, Charles J. Morris,

Thomas £. Twitchell.

Standish, Tobias Lord.

Scarborough, S. B. Gunnison.

Westbrook, Geo. W. Hammond.
Yarmouth, Andrew Leighton.

1870.

Henry Carvill, Brunswick.

Thomas B. Reed, Portland.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES.

Brunswick, Coan Jordan.

Cape Elizabeth, Cyrus Cole.

Cumberliind, Saml. M. Brackett.

Falmouth, A. J. Dearborn.

Freeport, Samuel A. Holbrook.

Gorham, Roscoe G. Harding.

Gray, Albert N. Sawyer.

Harrison, Orrin Bartlett.

Harpswell, Lemuel H. Stover.

Naples, Orrin Douglass.

Portland, Thomas E. Twitchell,

Percival Bonney, Henry H.

Burgess, Joshua W. Water-

house.

Standish, James G. Sturgiss.

Westbrook, Geo. W. Hammond.

Windham, Ebenezer H. Mayo.

Yarmouth, Andrew Leighton.

SENATE, 1871.

Marquis D. L. Lane, Standish. Charles J. Morris, Portland.

Henry Carvill, Brunswick. Samuel F. Periey, Naples.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES.

Baldwin, Hiram Getchell.

Brunswick, Marshall Cram.

Cape Elizabeth, Henry Nutter.

Freeport, Henry C. Brewer.

Gorham, Frederick Robie.

Gray, Henry T. Simpson.

Harrison, Albert Gray.

North Yarmouth, Saml. Skillin.

Otisfield, David 8. Andrews.

Portland, Henry H. Burgess, Per-

cival Bonney, Nat. Cleiives,

Charles H. Haskell.

Pownal, Isaac S. Brown.

Raymond, Orrin B. Lane.

Sebago, Luther Fitch.

Westbrook, Fabins M. Ray.

Windham, John C. Cobb.

SENATE, 1872.

Charles J. Morris, Portland. Henry Pennell, Gray.

Caleb A. Chaplin, Harrison. Charies Humphrey, Yarmouth.

Baldwin, John Wiggin.

Bridgton, William F. Perry.

Brunswick, Chas. C. Humphreys.

Cape Elizabeth, Chas. Deering.

Casco, Hiram Cook.

Deering, Solomon Stuart.

Falmouth, Adam F. Winslow.

Freeport, S. A. Holbrook.

HOUSE OF REPRESENT.VTIVES.

Gorham, Frederick Robie.

New Gloucester, Freemen Jordan.

Portland, James D. Fessenden,

Chas. Holden, Enoch Knight,

Weston F. Milliken, George

Trefethen.

Raymond, Benj. F. Wentworth.

Westbrook, Fabius M. Kay.

SENATE, 1873.

Caleb A. Chaplin, Harrison. Charles Humphrey, Yarmouth.

Henry Pennell, Gray. Henry H. Burgess, Portland.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Cape Elizabeth, Wm. Atwood.

Freeport, Henry C. Brewer.

Standish, Isaac L. Came.

Portland, James D. Fessenden,

Prentiss Loring, Weston F.

Milliken, Wm. W. Thomas,

Jr., George Trefethen.

Gorham, Merrill T. Files.

Deering, Andrew Hawes.

Cumberland, John Hulit.

Brunswick, Chas. C. Humphreys

Yarmouth, Giles Loring.

Sebago, John D. Martin.

Windham, Richard Mayberry.

Bridgton, William F. Perry.

Harpswell, George R. Scolfield.

Harrison, William Twombly.

Gray, Warren H. Vinton.

Westbrook, John E. Warren.

SENATE, 1874.

Henry H. Bnrgess, Portland.

William Goold, Windham.

William W. Cross, Bridgton.

Samuel A. Holbrook, Freeport.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Bridgton, Benjamin C. Stone.

Brunswick, Henry Carvill.

Cape Elizabeth, Thos. B. Haskell.

Cosco, Russell G. Scribner.

Deering, Solomon Stuart.

Falmouth, Adam F. Winslow.

Freeport, George Aldrich.

Gorham, Merrill T. Files.

Naples, Orrin B. Lane.

New Gloucester, Isaac H. Keith.

Portland, Wm. W . Thomas, Jr.,

SUnley T. Pullen, James D.

Fessenden, Weston F. Milli-

ken, Charles A. Walden.

Scarborough, William Moulton.

Standish, Orrin R. Phinney.

Westbrook, John E. Warren.

Windham, Charles Rogers.

Yarmouth, David G. Loring.

SENATE, 1875.

William Goold, Windham. Samuel A. Holbrook, Freeport.

William W. Cross, Bridgton. Charles H. Haskell, Portland.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Baldwin. .Tusiah Milliken.

Bridgton, Benjamin C. Stone.

Brunswick, Hartwell Little.

Cape Elizabeth, James Triokey.

Cumberland, Peter Merrill.

Deering, Andrew Hawes.

Gray, John D. Anderson.

Gorham, Kimball Eastman.

Harrison, John P. Lamb.

Naples, Washington Bray.

Charles H. Haskell, Portland.

Benjamin M. Baker, Windham.

Portland, Nathan Cleaves, Wil-

liam G. Davis, William W.
Thomas, Jr., Daniel W. True,

Charles A. Walden.

Pownal, Israel T. Mclntire.

Scarborough, William Moulton.

Westbrook, Nathan P. Roberts.

Windham, Charles Rogers.

Yarmouth, Peres N. Blanchard.

1876.

Albert Gray, Harrison.

Isaac S. Brown, Pownal.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Bridgton, Benjamin T. Chase.

Brunswick, Francis C. Jordan.

Cape Elizabeth, James Trickey.

Casco, Solomon M. Gay.

Deering, Charles E. Morrill.

Falmouth, Bela Blanchard.

Freeport, George Aldrich.

Gorham, Frederick Robie.

Harpswell, Daniel R. Stover.

New Gloucester, Otis C. Nelson.

Portland, Henry B. Cleaves, Sam-

uel J. Anderson, William G.

Davis, Melvin P. Frank,Dan-

iel W. True.

Sebago, John D. Martin.

Standish, John L. Chase.

Westbrook, William L. Warren.

Windham, John T. Fellows.

Yarmouth, Perez N. Blanchard.
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SENATE, 1S77.

James Bailej, Portlaad.

Warren H. Viaton, Gray.

Benj. F. Nutter, Cape Elizabeth.

Philander Tolnmn, Harrison.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Bridgton, Benjamin T. Chase.

Brunswick, Francis C. Jordan.

Cape Elizabeth, Thos. B. Haskell.

Cumberland, William P. York.

Deering, John M. Adams.

Qorham, Frederick Robie.

Gray, George A. Morrill.

Harpswell, Daniel R. Stover.

Otisfield, Jonathan Wardnell, Jr.

Portland, Henry B. Cleaves, Isaac

Jackson, George C. Littlc-

field, Joseph A. Locke, Jacob

S. Winslow.

Pownal, Henry M. Warren.

Raymond, Charles N. Wilson.

Standish, John L. Chase.

Westbrook, William L. Warren.

Windham, John T. Fellows.

Yarmouth, William W. Thomas.

SENATE, 1878.

James Bailey, Portland.

'

Warren H. Vinton, Gray.

William G. Davis, Portland.

Philander Tolman, Harrison.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES.

Baldwin, Ebenezer Sawyer.

Bridgton, George Taylor.

Brunswick, Stephen J. Young.

Cape Elizabeth, Benjamin W.

Fickett.

Deering, John M. Adams.

Falmouth, Calvin S. True.

Freeport, George A. Davis.

Gorham, Frederick Robie.

Harrison, John W. Caswell.

New Gloucester, Wm. H. True.

M.North Yarmouth, George

Seidere.

Portland, Jacob S. Winslow,

Chas. McLaughlin, Roswell

M. Richardson, Edmund
Dana, Jr., Lewis Fierce.

Raymond, Charles N. Wilson.

Scarborough, Aug. F. Moulton.

Westbrook, Charles E. Boody.

Windham, Lindley M. Webb.

SENATE, 1879.

Warren H. Vinton, Gray. Andrew Hawes, Deering.

Wm. W. Thomas, Jr., Portland. David Duran, Casco.

HOUSE OP REPRESENTATIVES.

Bridgton, Rufns Gibbs.

Brunswick, Stephen J. Young.

Cape Elizabeth, Benj. W. Fickett.

Casco, George Muroh.

Cumberland, Sam'l M. Brackett.

Deering, Nehemiah Smart.

Freeport, Josiah P. Merrill.

Gorham, William Guptill (2d).

Gray, Edward Cobb.

Portland, Joseph A. Locke, Ed-

mund Dana, Jr., Melvin P.

Frank, Darius H. Ingraham,

Frederick Fox.

Scarborough, Aug. F. Moulton.

Sebago, Edwin S. Poor.

Standii:h, Tobias Lord, Jr.

Westbrook, Merritt W. Stiles.

Windham, Andrew J. Morrill.

Yarmouth, William W. Thomas.

CHAPTER XXIV.

COTJNTT OIVTL AND JUOICIAIi LIST.

COURT OP COMMON PLEAS.*

This court was established in York County in 1699, and

was continued there and in this county till 1811. On the

* The judges of the Common Pleas who were in office at the time

of the separation of the State from Massachusetts, in 1820, retained

their offices until 1822, when a new act was passed reorganizing the

court and establishing one Court of Common Pleas for the whole State.

Under this act Ezekiel Whitman, of Portland, was appointed Chief

Justice and Samuel E. Smith, of Wiscasset, and David Perham, of

Bangor, Associates. Another change was made in the system in 1839,

by which the State was divided into districts, and five judges of equal

rank were appointed. Judge Whitman received the appointment for

the Western District, which embraced the counties of York, Cumber-

land, Oxford, and Franklin, and held it till his appointment in 1841,

as chief justice of the Supreme Court, in the place of Chief Justice

Weeton.

division of the county, in 1700, John Minot, Ezekiel Gush-

ing, Enoch Freeman, and Edward Millikeu were appointed

justices. The following will show the judges of this court

and the time of their service :

John Minot, 1760-61; Ezekiel Cushing, 1760-64; Enoch Freeman,

1760-68; Edward Milliken, 1760-71; Jeremiah Powell, 1763-81;

Alexander Ross, 1766-67; Moses Pearson, 1770-75; Jonas Mason,

1773-77: Solomon Lombard, 1776-81; David Mitchell, 1778-86;

John Lewis, 1782-1803 ; Jedediah Preble, 17S2-S3 : Josiah Thatcher,

1784-99; William Gorham, 1789-1804; Stephen Longfellow, 1797-

1811; Robert Southgate, 1801-11; John Frothingham, 1804-11.

CIRCUIT COURT OP COMMON PLEAS.

Benjamin Greene, Judah Dana, 1812-22; William Widgery, 1813-

22.

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE.

This was the oldest court in Cumberland County. It

was extended to Falmouth from York for one session a year

in 1735. When the county was divided it was continued

here till 1808, when it was superseded by the Court of Ses-

sions. It was composed of all the justices of the peace in

the county, who are called in the records " His Majesty's

Justices of the Court of General Sessions of the Peace for

Cumberland County." The oflScer authorized to implead

before them was at first called a " King's Attorney," but

afterwards, about the time of the Revolution, a " State's

Attorney." This court was " empowered to hear and deter-

mine all matters relating to the conservation of the peace and

the punishment of offenders, to grant licenses, lay out high-

ways,'' etc. We give from the records the following list of

justices of this court

:

1760.—John Minot, Ezekiel Cushing, Enoch Freeman, Edward Mil-

liken, Jonas Mason, Stephen Longfellow.

1761.—William Simonton, William Livermore, Daniel Farnhaui.

1762.—Jeremiah Powell, William Woodside, Solomon Lombard.

1763.—Alexander Ross.

1764.—David Mitchell, William Sylvester, William Tompson.

1765-67.—The above named without any additional members appear

upon the bench.

1768.—Daniel Epes, Theophilus Bradbury, William Tyng.

1769-72.—All the above, with the addition of Moses Pearson.

1773.—David Wyer, Richard King.

1774.—William Gorhahi.

1775.—Samuel Freeman, John Lewis, Joshua Fabyan, Peter Noyea,

David Strout, Enoch Moody.

1776.—Ephraim Jones, Isaac Parsons, Nathaniel Purrington.

1777.—Jedediah Preble, Aaron Hinckley, Nathaniel Jones, Clement

Jordan.

1778.—Edward Russell.

1779.—We find the bench occupied by most of those above named.

1780-83.—Joseph McLellan, Richard Codman, John AVaite, Edmund
Phinney, Samuel Small.

1784.—John Deane, Robert Southgate, George Peirce.

1785 Josiah Thatcher.

1786.—John Frothingham, Samuel Merritt.

1787.—Daniel Davis, Benjamin Dunning.

1788-90.—Stephen HaU, David Mitchell, Joseph Noyes, William

Widgery, Nathaniel Larrabee, lohabod Bonney, Isaac Snow.

1791.—Samuel Calef, John Cushing, Joseph Hooper.

1792-93.—John Peterson, Paul Little, Samuel Merrill.

1794.—Andrew Dunning, Enoch Perley.

1795.—George Lewis, John Turner, William Martin, Peter T. Smith.

1796-98 John Greenwood, Samuel P. Russell, Peleg Chandler, Jr.,

Samuel Russell.

1798—Most of the above, with the addition of Ammi R. Mitchell,

Stephen Purrington, Benj. Dunning, Elisba Williams.

1799.—The same names appear as before.

1800.—Michael Little, Pelatiah March, Daniel Stowell, Oustavus
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Adolpbua Goa?, Arobelaus Lewis, Samuel Paris, Ebenexer

Thrasher, Cyrus Hamblen, Luther Cnry.

1801.—Nathaniel C. Allen, Samuel Davis, .Moses Jlerrill, Jonah

Peirce, Woodbary Storer, Osgood Carleton, William Martin,

Ebeneier Mayo.
1802.—The same, with the addition of Samuel Famsworth, Lothrop

Lewis, Josiah Burnam, Jesse Rice.

1803-4.—Caleb Prentiss, Thomas Thomas, James Prince, Arvida

Hayford.

1805.—Moses Merritt, Andrew R. Qeddings, Theodore Mussey, John
Frothingham, Timothy Pike, Joseph Foxcroft, Charles Cof-

fin, John Perry, Joseph C. Boyd, Jacob Mitchell.

1807.—A full bench of the above-named, with the additional name of

James Paine.

The presiding justices of this court were the following:

John Minot, 1760-62 ; Jeremiah Powell, 1763-77 ; Jedediah Preble,

1777-79; Enoch Freeman, 1779-89; Daiid Mitchell, 1789-91;

William Gorham, 1791-92; David Mitchell, 1792-1808.

CHIEF JUSTICES OF THE COUET OF SESSIONS.

Isaac Parsons, 1808-10; Stephen Longfellow, 1810-11; Isaac Par-

sons, 1811-12; Benjamin Greene, 1814-20 ; Ammi R.Mitchell,

1820-21; Woodbury Storer, 1821-25; Isaac Adams, 1825-26;

Edward Little, 1828-28 ; Asaph Howard, 1828-30.

ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OP THE COURT OP SESSIONS.

Joseph Foicroft, AVilliam Hasty, 1808-10; Robert Soutbgatc, John

Frothingham, ISIO-II; Theodore Mussey, Joseph C. Boyd, Wil-

liam Hasty, 1811-12; Theodore Mussey, William Hasty, Jona-

than Stone, Woodbury Storer, 1812-14; Judah Dana, William

Widgery, Ammi R. Mitchell, Lothrop Lewis, 1814-20; Peleg

Chandler, Woodbury Storer, Phinehas Ingalls, 1820-21 ; Peleg

Chandler, Phinehas Ingalls, William Hasty, Secumb Jordan,

1821-25; Phineas Ingalls, Asaph Howard, 1325-28; Asaph

Howard, James Irish, 1328-30.

COUNTY COMMISSIONERS.

1331.—Philip Eastman, Ctiairman, Charles Fox, Edmund Mann.

1832.—Philip Eastman, Chairman, Charles Fox, Edmund Mann.

1833.—Philip Eastman, Chairman, Charles Fox, Edmund Mann.

1834.—Philip Eastman, Chairman, Charles Fox, John Andrews.

1835.—Philip Eastman, Chairman, Edmund Mann, Stephen Webb.

1836.—Philip Eastman, Chairman, John Andrews, Stephen Webb.

1837.—John Andrews, Chairman (Jane term), Stephen Webb, Chair-

man (December term), Meshach Humphrey.

1838.—John McEeen, Chairman, Solomon Andrews, Thomas B. Little.

1839.—Stephen Webb, Jr., Chairman, John Andrews, Joseph Cross.

1340.—Stephen Webb, Jr., Chairman, John Andrews, Joseph Cross.

1341.—Thomas B. Little, Chairman, Joseph S. Jewett, Robert R.

Kendall.

1842.—Joseph Cross, Chairman, Charles Hannaford, Lemuel Rich.

1843.—Charles Hannaford, Chairman, Richard Greenleaf, Ezra Tobie.

1844.—Charles Hannaford, Chairman, Richard Greenleaf, Lemuel

Rich.

1345.—Charles Hannaford, Chairman, Richard Greenleaf, Lemuel

Rich.

1846.—Lemuel Rich, Chairman, Richard Greenleaf, Daniel Merrill.

1847.—Richard Greenleaf, Chairman, Daniel Merrill, Daniel M. Cook.

1848.—Dan'l Merrill, Chairman, Dan'l M. Cook, Abiezer S. Freeman.

1349.—Daniel M. Cook, Chairman, Abiezer S. Freeman, Stephen L.

Waterhoqse.

1850.—Daniel M. Cook, Chairman, Stephen L. Waterhouse, Richard

Dresser.

1851.—Stephen ^. Waterhouse, Chairman, Richard Dresser, Lemuel

Andrews.

1852.—Stephen L. Waterhouse, Chairman, Richard Dresser, Lemuel

Andrews.

1853.—Lemuel Andrews, Chairman, Seth Storer, Thomas B. Little.

1854.—Seth Storer, Chairman, William Paine, Ebenezer Wells.

1855.—William Paine, Chairman, Seth Storer, Anson Jordan.

1856.—Anson .Tnrdnn. Chairman, William Paine, Samuel Thing.

Ig57.—Anson Jordau, Chairman, Samuel Thing, George Libby.

1858.—Samuel Thing, Chairman, George Libby, EUery H. Starbird.

1S59.—Ellery H. Starbird, Chairman, George Libby, Charles C. Cobb.

1860.—EUery H. Starbird, Chairman, Chas. C. Cobb, Jere. Parker.

1861.—Cbas. C. Cobb, Chairman, Jere. Parker, Nioh. L. Humphrey.

1862.—Jere. Parker, Chairman, Nich. L. Humphi-ey, E. C. Andrews.

1363.—Nicholaa L. Humphrey, Chairman, E. C. Andrews, Reuben

Higgins.

1364.—E. C. Andrews, Chairman, Reuben Higgins, Cbas. Humphrey.

1865.—Reuben Higgins, Chairman, Chas. Humphrey, Caleb A.

Chaplin.

1866.—Chas. Humphrey, Chairman, Caleb A. Chaplin, James Pennell.

1867.—Caleb A. Chaplin, Chairman, James Pennell, Miltimore Watts.

1868.—James Pennell, Chairman, Miltimore Watts, Oliver D. Dike.

1869.—Miltimore Watts, Chairman, Oliver D. Dike, Seward M.Baker.

1870.—Oliver D. Dike, Chairman, Seward M. Baker, Wm. B. Skillin.

1871.—Seward M. Baker, Chairman, Wm. B. Skillin, Oliver D. Dike.

1872.—Wm. B. Skillin, Chairman, Geo. E. Chadbourne, Smith Barber.

1873.—George E. Chadbourne, Chairman, Smith Barber, Edwin C.

Townsend.

1874.—Smith Barber, Chairman, Edwin C. Townsend, William Small.

1375.—Edwin C. Townsend, Chairman, Wm. Small, Samuel Dingley.

1376.—William Small, Chairman, Samuel Dingley, Solomon Stewart.

1877.—Samuel Dingley, Chairman, Solomon Stewart, John L. .Swift.

1873.—Solomon Stewart, Chairman, John L. Swift, Jacob Clark.

1379.—John L. Swift, Chairman, Jacob Clark, Leandcr E. Cram.

COUNTT ATTORNEYS.

In 1761, William Livermore wa.s appointed by the Court

of General Sessions of the Peace " King's Attorney for

the term." He held the office by successive appointments

till 1765, in which year Theophilua Bradbury was appointed.

Mr. Bradbury held the office two years, lacking one term,

and was succeeded by David Wyer, till 1771. Theophilus

Bradbury was then appointed, and served through 1771,

and was succeeded by David Wyer in 1772. Mr. Brad-

bury served again in 1773, and David Wyer in 1774-75.

In 1776, Theophilus Bradbury was appointed ' States

Attorney,'' and held till 1780. In the latter year John

Frothingham was appointed, and continued to officiate till

the appointment of Daniel Davis, in 1783. Mr. Davis

held the office till 1788, and was superseded one year by

Mr. Frothingham, when he was re-appointed and continued

till 1792. William Symmes received the appointment in

1792, and continued till 1799, when Salmon Chase was

appointed attorney. Mr. Chase served till 1801, and was

succeeded by Isaac Parker from 1801 to 1803, when James

D. Hopkins was appointed, and continued till the close of

this form of the court in 1808.

COUNTY ATTOn.VETS SINCB 1808.

Daniel Lincoln, 1808 ; Augustus Haines, 1836-46 ; Horatio J. Swasey,

1846-53; Henry P. Deane, 1853-56; Sam'l J. Andrews, 1856-59;

Edward Fox, 1859-60; Moses M. Butler, 1860; Edward W. Fox,

1873; Charles F. Libby, 1873-77; Moses M. Butler, 1877-79;
Thomas L. Talbot, 1879.

CLERKS OP COURTS.

Stephen Longfellow, 1760-75; Samuel Freeman, 1775-1811; Joseph

C. Boyd, 18U-12
;

Samuel Freeman, 1812-20 ; William T.

Vaughan, 1820-38; Charles Cobb, 1836-38; Charles Fox, 1833-39
;

Charles Cobb, 1339-41; Charles Fox, 1841-42; Charles Cobb,

1842-46; Charles C. Harmon, pro lew., 1848-48; Charles C.

Harmon, 1848-54; Robert A. Bird, 1854-55; Obadiah G. Cook,

1855-61; D. W. Fessenden, 1861-76; Frederick J. Littleaeld,*

1876-77; D. W. Fessenden, 1877-79; Alhan A. Dennett, 1S79.

SHERIFFS.

Moses Pearson, 1760-88; William Tyng, 1768-75; John Waite,

1775-1309; Richard Hunnewell, 1309-11; Joseph Foxcrolt,

• Died May. 1378.
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1811-12 ; RiohArd Hannewell, 1812-21 ; Joseph E. Foxoroft,

1821-29 ; Noah Hinkley, 1829-31 ; Jotiah Dann, 1831-38 ; Jo-

seph Smith, 1838-39; John C. HamphrejB, 1839-41; Joseph

Smith, 1841-42; Nathan L. Woodbnry, 1842-45; Wendell P.

Smith, 1845-54 ; Seward M. Baker, 1854-56 ; Daniel C. Emery,

1856-57; Henr; Pennell, 1857-61; Thomas Pennell, 1861-65;

George W. Parker, 1865-69 ; Eben M. Perry, 1869-73; William

L. PenneU, 1873-77 ; William H. Dresser, 1877.

COUNTY TEEA8UREBS.

James Milk, 1760-73; Ephraim Jones, 1773-76; Enoch Moody,

1776-77 ; Joseph McLellan, 1777-1803 ; Horatio Southgate.

1803-4; Elias Merrill, 1804-24; Mark Harris, 1824-32 ; Thomas

Todd,1832-34; Mark Harris, 1834-10 ; Royal Lincoln, 1840-41

;

Charles B. Smith, 1841-42; John W. Smith, 1842-48; Henry C.

Babb, 1848-53 ; David Dunn, 1 853-56 ; Thos. Johnson, 1856-57

;

John A. Waterman, 1857-58 ; Joseph Libby, 1858-60 ; Isaac F.

. Qninby, 1860-63 ; Thos. Mead, 186.3-65 ; Peter R. Hall, 1865-69
;

Thomas Pennell, 1869-75; R. 6. Harding, 1875-77; Lewis

STcLellan, 1877.

PROBATE COURT.

The following ia a list of the jadges and registers, with

the years in which they performed their duties

:

Samuel Waldo, 1760-71; Enoch Freeman, 1771-82 ; William Gorham,

1782-1805; Samuel Freeman, 1805-20; Albion K. Parris, 1820-

23; Barrett Potter, 1823-47; Josiah Pierce, 1847-57; William

G. Barrows,* 1857-63; John A. Waterman, 1863-76; Nathan

Cleaves, 1876-80.

SEGISTEBS OF PBOBATE.

J. Stockbridge, 1760-62 ; Stephen Longfellow, 1762-75; Samuel Free-

man, 1775-1804; John Frothingham, 1804-15; Horatio South-

gate, 1815-36 ; N.G.Jewett, 1836-38; Alrah Sweetsir, 18.38-39
;

John L. Megaire, 1839-40'; John Appleton, 1840-4^; Alvah

Sweetsir, 1841-42; John Appleton, 1842-45; C. C. Tobie, 1845'^

'lO; Freeman Bradford, 1849-53; Aaron B. Holden, 1353-54;

Charles Harris, 1854-55; Aaron B. Holden, 1856-60; Eugene

Humphrey, 1860-66; Aaron B. Holden, 1866-68; Edward R.

Staples, 1868-72; William E. Neal, 1872-76; Horace J. Brad-

bury, 1876-80.

CHAPTER XXV.

BASIiT MILITABY HISTOKT.

Fort Loyal—Colonial Militia—War of 1812-14—Later iMilitia Organ-

izations—State Militia to the War of the Rebellion.

Fort Lotal was erected at Falmouth, on the point at

the foot of King Street, in 1679. Upon the resettlement

of the place after the first Indian war, it became an object

of deep interest with the inhabitants, in which the govern-

ment strongly sympathized, to provide for the future safety

of the settlement. It was in some degree a frontier post,

and the safety of all the plantations in the province de-

pended upon its preservation. Therefore the General

Assembly in 1681 made application to the Greneral Court

of Massachusetts to make further provision for its security.

In answer to this petition the court granted that, in case of

a defensive war, the whole revenae accruing to the chief

proprietor should be appropriated for the safety of the in-

habitants, and that the annual revenue arising from trade

with the Indians should be applied to the maintenance of

Fort Loyal ; the appointment of the captain, as well as the

^ Resigned March 27, ISO.I, to accept a place on the bench of the

Supreme Judicial Court of the State.

Other militia, being still reserved, as the charter appoints, in

the power of the chief proprietor. It was further ordered

that the arrearages of the captain and garrison at Fort

Loyal be forthwith passed by the President to the treasurer

for payment. This order was laid before the council of the

province, who authorized the treasurer. Captain Hooke, of

Saco, to pay Capt. Tyng his salary as commander of Fort

Loyal, at the rate of sixty pounds per annum for himself

and servant, till May following, and to furnish necessary

supplies for the garrison. They also ordered six men to be

raised for the present supply of the garrison,—two from

Kittery, one from each of the towns of York, Wells, and

Falmouth, and one from Saco, Scarborough, and Cape Por-

poise. In pursuance of the grant of revenue arising from

the Indian trade, Walter Gendall, the Indian agent, was

called upon to pay to the treasurer " twenty pounds, or as

much as he has."

The whole garrison in 1681 consisted of thirteen men,

part of whom were supported by Ma.ssachusetts. The

G-eneral Court this year appointed a committee, consisting

of Maj. Pinchon, Maj. Savage, and Mr. Newell, together

with " some of the brethren of the department," to inquire

concerning the present condition of the province of Maine

and the settlement of Fort Loyal, and to consider what was

further necessary to be done for the maintenance thereof,

and report the same to the court in the aflernoon.'j'

In 1682, for the further support of Fort Loyal, a tax was

levied upon all the saw-mills of the province, and an agree-

ment was made with Lieut. Brackett to keep ^he fort for

one 'year enguing from the 24th of May, 1682, for one

hundred and sixty pounds. An inventory of the saw-mills

of Maine at that time, with the tax levied upon them,

showed the following

:

•

MILLS AT KrrTERir.

Mr. Hotohinaon £10
Salmon Falls Mills 10

Humphrey Cbadbourn's, 4

Major Shapleigh'a I 10«.

£25 10a.

rOKK MILLS.

Mary Sayward's £5
Cape Nnttaoke 1 10<.

£6 10«.

SACO MILLS.

Mr. Blaokman's £4
Thomas Doughty's 5

£9

WELUS MILUS.

Lieut. Little6eld'9 £4
Joseph Little&eld's 2

William Frost's 1

Mousum Mill 6

Kennebunk Milt 4

£ir

CAPE POnPOISE.

Phanea Hull's £2
Gilbert Eodicott'a 1

£3

CXSCO MII.UI.

Samuel Webber's £2 10«.

Walter Gendall's 6

£8 10».

BLACK POIXT.

Mr. Blaokman's Mill £1

" A new addition of some other saw-mills to pay those rents;^ ns

follows

;

Casco Mills, Copt. Silvanus Davis, mill-rent £4
Cape Porpoise Mill, John Barrett's, 40». ; John Baslon's, 30». 3 10».

Wells, Jonathan Hammond's and William Frost's Mills 4

York, John Sayward's Mill, 20« 1

Kittery Spruce Mill, John Sbapleigh's 4

Quamphegan Mill, in Thomas Holmes' hands 6

£22 10<.

Total £93

t General Court files. May 31, 1681.

t The basis adojited fur tills tax wns the price of boards at 30c, per

1000 feet.
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In 1684 the General Assembly appointed Capt. Joshua

Scottow (of Black Point), Capt. Edward Tjug, Mr. Nathan-

iel Fryer, Capt. Silvanus Davis, and Mr. Walter Geiidall,

" to take care of the repairing and well-ordering of Fort

Loyal in Falmouth, and settle a chief officer there.'' The
next year they ordered that the fort be appointed a prison

or jail to the four associate towns,"—meaning Saco, Scar-

borough, Falmouth, and North Yarmouth,—instructing

the justices in the several towns to " direct their mitti-

musses to the keeper of his majesty's jail at Fort Loyal,"

and also ordering a committee to appoint a keeper, and

providing for the payment of charges out of the common
treasury.

In 1722, thirty men were stationed at Falmouth and

twenty at North Yarmouth. A committee of the House

this year reported that there was great laxity in the dis-

cipline of the troops, that they were addicted to intemper-

ance, and that the officers were remiss in their duty. They

say, " We walked through the town of Falmouth twice in

one night without being hailed, though there were several

military companies in the place."

Major Moody, who commanded at Falmouth, petitioned

for liberty to answer before the General Court in December,

1722, certain complaints made against him, and warrants

were issued to summon witnesses "touching the manage-

ment of Major Moody and his company."

In the Council the following questions were put to the

members, and the subjoined answers given :
" Whether the

complaint against Major Moody for indulging his soldiers

in excessive drinking be proved ? Answer : No. Whether

he denied assistance to the inhabitants unreasonably when

demanded? No. Whether it was proved that the watch

was not duly kept at the garrison in the night season, and

at some seasons when he was home? Yes. Whether

Major Moody be to blame for the watch not being kept

when he was at home ? Yes. Whether it was proved that

Major Moody unreasonably drew off his men from Top-

sham? No."

The Council voted that the Governor reprimand him

about the watch, and request him to be more careful. In

the House all the above questions were answered in the

affirmative, except the last; and the following additional

one also received an affirmative reply :
" Whether he unrea-

sonably denied Lieut. Hilton the whale-boat, to go in quest

of the Indians ?"

In April, 1742, in anticipation of the war which soon

broke out, the government repaired and enlarged Fort

Loyal, adding a breastwork and platform of ten twelve-

pounders, for the defense of the harbor of Falmouth, and

appropriating four hundred poundi to pay expense, the

labor and stores being furnished by the town. The breast-

work was constructed under the direction of Enoch Free-

man, who, in 1744, received a commission from Governor

Shirley, and had command of the post.

Fort Loyal was for some time neglected and dismantled,

but during the French war, in 1755, it was placed in a con-

dition for defense.

COLONIAL MILITIA.

It appears from an estimate presented to the committee

of the colonies in England, in 1675, that the militia in

18

Maine, including Sagadahoc, amounted to seven hundi-ed,

of whom eighty were in Casco Bay, eighty in Sagadahoc,

one hundred at Black Point, one hundred at Saco and

Winter Harbor, eighty at Wells and Cape Porpoise, eighty

in York, and one hundred and eighty in Kittery. The

Indians never had so large a number of fighting men, and

yet they entirely destroyed most, and for three years har-

assed the remainder, of the settlements in the province.

We find no record of the first militia organization which

served in the Indian war of 1075, but we find the daily

pay of the militia as follows : general, ijs. ; captain, 5*.

;

commissary-general, 4s. ; surgeon-general, 4s. ; lieutenant,

4«. ; ensign, 4«. ; sergeant, 2s. Cd. ; corporal, 2s.
;
private.

Is. 6d. Indian corn was from 2*. 6d. to 3s. a bushel, and

a cow worth 45s. Provision for raising and paying troops

was made in some instances by the proprietors of towns,

with the approval and sanction of the Governor.

A " foot company" existed in Falmouth at this time, the

organization of which wo are unable to give, but we find

this minute :
" 1683, the General Assembly of the province,

on the petition of Henry Harwood, discharged him from

the foot company in Falmouth, and empowered Capt. An-

thony Brackett to take charge of it."

During the Revolution, and while the notes of preparation

for it were yet sounding, troops beg'in to be mustered in

this quarter. In October, 1774, Jedediah Preble, of Fal-

mouth, Artemas Ward, and Col. Pomeroy were appointed

general officers of the provincial forces, the chief command

of which was offered to Gen. Preble, who declined it on

account of his health and advancing age, a'nd it was bestowed

upon Gen. Ward. On the arrival of the news of the battle

of Lexington a company of soldiers was sent from Falmouth

to the assistance of the people of Boston ; Minute-men were

organized and daily drilled upon the Neck
;
powder and

munitions of war were purchased by vote of the town.

Col. Thompson, of Brunswick, and Col. Phinney, of Gor-

ham, were on the march with their respective forces, and

Falmouth was the scene of wild confusion over the relesise

of Mowatt, whom the military were anxious to retain and

punish. Militia from Gorham, Scarborough, Cape Eliza-

beth, and Stroudwdter poured into the town to the number

of six hundred. The town was placed under military gov-

ernment and the officers resolved themselves into a board

of war. They proceeded to call before them persons sus-

pected of Tory sentiments, and to exact of them conformity

to the popular will. The only shot which appears to have

been fired by this military array was that of a double-loaded

musket at the side of the " Canceau,'' as she lay in the

harbor, designed to menace the Tories, Mowatt and Wis-

wall, who had there taken refuge.

About this time Col. Phinney organized a regiment in

Falmouth, commissions having been granted by the Provin-

cial Congress in April, 1775, and confirmed by the Conti-

nental Congress on the 1st of July. Two companies, com-

manded by Capts. Bradish and Brackett, were raised on the

Neck, and joined the regiment. We cannot give the muster-

roll of Capt. Brackett 's company, but that of Capt. Bradish

is as follows

:

Eiilitted April 24, 1774.

David Bradish, Falmoath, Capt. Paul Ellis, 2d Lieut.

Bartholomew York, 1st Lieut.



138 HISTORY OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

William Farrington, Ist Sergt.

Caleb Carter, 2d Sergt.

Levi Merrill, 3d Sergt.

Abner Dov, 4th Sergt.

Henry Sewall, lat Corp.

laaac Child, 2d Corp.

Daniel Moatey, 3d Corp.

Richard Gooding, 4th Corp.

Benjamin Tnkey, private.

Benjamin Scollay, "

Daniel Gookin, "

Cornelius Bramliall, "

Abijah Parker, "

Abijuh Pool, «

Zacbariah Nowell, "

Wm. Hntchinson, "

Jacob Amey, "

Moses Grant, "

Charles Knight, "

Matthias Haynes, "

Enoch Moody, **

Wm. Moody, "

Lemuel Gooding, **

Moses Burdick, "

Ebenezer Clongb, "

John Fettingill, "

James McMnnners, "

Jona. Gardner, "

John Clough, "

May 12, 177-1.

Thomas Paine, primte.

Ebenezer Newman, "

Daniel Green, *'

Joshua Robinson, "

Joseph Barbonr, "

Josiah Shaw, "

Joshua Berry, "

Samuel Dow, "

Tobias Pillsbury,

Thomas Cavanab, "

Loring Cushing, "

Zacbariah Baker, *'

Daniel Marstun, "

Henry Flood, "

James Flood, "

Joseph Thomes, "

Samuel Cates, "

John M'iDtosb, "

John Bailey, "

Philip Fowler, "

Joseph Cox, "

George Bell, "

John Penniman, "

John Scott, "

Benjamin Randel, "

Richard Conden, "

Jona. Rand, Drum-Major.

Joseph Hear?ay, Drum Fifcr.

This compaoj and that of Capt. Brackett joined the

Continental army at Cambridge about the middle of July.

Bradish was a most excellent officer, and served till the close

of the war. He was commissioned major in Col. Timothy

Bigelow's regiment, Jan. 1, 1777; died in 1818. Three

companies were raised in Falmouth, Scarborough, and Cape

Elizabeth.

An expedition preceding that of Arnold, by way of the

Kennebec River to Quebec, was undertaken in May, 1775,

by order of the selectmen of Falmouth, who sent Jabez

Mathews and David Dinsmore, of New Grloucester, to as-

certain if there were any hostile movements from that city

upon the back settlements of the province; Mr. Mathews

returned in June, and made his report to the Provincial

Congress that there were no movements in that direction.

These men were, no doubt, the pioneers of the route taken

by the famous expedition of Benedict Arnold, in September

following. It will be recollected that this officer, then a

colonel in the service of the American colonies, was desig-

nated by Washington to the command of a select corps de-

tached from the army at Cambridge, which, by penetrating

the wilds of the Kennebec, was destined to co-operate with

other forces, ordered to enter Upper Canada by the lakes,

and by the capture t>f Quebec to finish the campaign.

From Brunswick, the following were in Capt. James

Curtis' company, chiefly three months' men, enlisted from

Jane 1 to July 25, 1775 : James Curtis, captain ; William

Stanwood, John Hunt, Nathan Coombs, corporals; Benoni

Austin, Daniel Brown, Benjamin Coombs, Fields Coombs,

Hezekiali Coombs, John Duncan, James Dunning, John

Dunning, Tobias Ham, Isaac Hinkley, John Jones, Benja-

min Rideout, Samuel Ripley, William Spear, Richard

Thompson, John Walker (drummer), Ebenezer Woodward,

Samuel Woodward, Jonathan Young.

In Capt. Nathaniel Larraboe's company, for six and

seven months, mustered July lUh and 19th : George Fields

Coombs, Benjamin Rideout. privates.

In Capt. William Lithgow's company, enlisted March

13 to Feb. 19, 1776: William Stanwood, sergeant; Hugh

Malloy, corporal, promoted to sergeant ; Benoui Austin,

Fields Coombs, James and John Dunning, John Given,

Ephraim Graffam, John Hunt, John Jones, Benjamin

Rideout, William Spear, Ebenezer Woodward, privates.

In Capt. George White's company, 1777: William Stan-

wood, first lieutenant; Benoni Austin, John Cornish, John

Given, John Grows, John Hunt, Jo.seph Lawrence, Wil-

liam McGill, Hugh Malloy, Joseph Melcher, Jonathan

Osbum, Francis Ryan, Samuel Starbird, privates.

In Capt. Coombs' company. Col. Mitchell's regiment,

for nine months, from the time of their arrival at Fishkill,

on the Hudson, 1778 : Benjamin Getchell, Abraham Ride-

out,* Stephen Rideout, Joseph Woodward.

In unknown companies : Hugh Dulap, Robert Dunning,

Ephraim Hunt, Hinkley, Benjamin Larrabee, cap-

tains ; Samuel Thompson, captain
;
promoted to colonel

;

promoted to brigadier-general; Rowe, major; Thomas

Thompson, ensign; William Alexander, Jere. Alden, Oliver

Bisbpe ; Robert Given, lieutenant, 7th Massachusetts

;

Michael Grouse, Jeremiah Sloulton, William Skofield,

William Storer.

The " Portland Federal Volunteers" were organized Sept.

10, 1798, in view of the trouble anticipated with PJnglaiid,

which ripened into the war of 1812. The company con-

sisted of " one captain, one lieutenant, one ensign, two ser-

geants, four corporals, two musicians, and sixty privates,

whose object shall be to defend the just cause of their

country, whenever called upon by the President of the

United States, agreeably to the 3d and 4th sections of the

act of Congress passed the 20th day of May, 1798."f
Joseph Coffin Boyd was chosen captain ; Ezekiel Day,

lieutenant ; Richard Wiggins, ensign. A beautiful stand-

ard, wreathed with flowers, and bearing the motto, " Defend

the Laws,'' was presented to the company by the ladies

of Portland, July 4, 1799. The company was commis-

sioned by President Adams, Oct. 19, 1798, and accepted

for two years. Desiring to continue a military organization,

the members of the company met on the 18th of September,

1800, and formed themselves into the Portland Infantry,

with Joseph Coffin Boyd, captain ; Ezekiel Day, first

lieutenant ; and William Hudson, second lieutenant.

This organization was changed into the " Portland Light

Infantry," Nov. 4, 1802, an organization which, through

all the changes, has continued to exist to the pi'esent time.

The company was offered to " His Excellency, Caleb Strong,

Governor of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts," in a

letter dated Portland, Nov. 5, 1802, signed by Charles

Fox, William Jenks, Jr., John Coe, Edward Capen, and

John Woodman, committee. Accompanying which was

a commendatory certificate signed by the selectmen of Port-

* Also served four years and three months. Enlisted from Bruns-

wick in Capt. Daniel Merrill's company, Col. Brewer's regiment, at

White Plains, N. T. Served also in Capt. Bullock's Company, under

Greene, and was discharged at West Point in 17S2. After the war

he removed to Kennebunkport, where he was living in 1837.

f Recortis of the company.
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land, by Hon. Pele<; Wadsworth, then member of Congrcs3,

Lemuel Weeks, major of artillery, Hugh McLollan, major

of l'"ii-8t Cumberland Regiment;, Thatcher Goddard, and

Woodbury Storer, who say that " the said company have

supported and deserved a good character, and that, their

knowledge in military discipline and military ardor reflect

honor on themselves and their country.''

In 1788 the Fii-st Regiment of the First Brigade and

Fourth Division of the Massachusetts Militia mustered

for the first time where the Bath Hotel, in Bath, now
stands. John Leraont, of Bath, was colonel, and John

Reed, of Topsham, lieutenant-colonel of this regiment.

On the 29th of July, 1794, the town of Brunswick

voted to give each man that should enlist and equip him-

self as instructed by the commander-in-chief" so much as will

make up, with what the United States give, ten dollars per

mouth from the time he marches till he shall be discharged."

It was also voted to pay each man that passed muster four

dollars as a bounty. This call for troops was occasioned by

Indian hostilities in the West.

The " Brunswick Light Infantry" was organized in May,

1804. Its officers were Thomas S. Estabrook, captain

;

Caleb Gushing, firet lieutenant; and Robert D. Dunning,

second lieutenant. The records of the company have not

been found, and consequently but little is known of their

doings. In 1825, Saturday, June 25, La Fayette made his

visit to Portland, and this company, under the command of

Capt. John A. Dunning, attended to assist iu escort duly,

and were receired by the Portland Rifle Company. They

celebrated their thirty-eighth. anniversary on the 17th of

June, 1842. Shortly after this time this company became

disorganized, but on July 21, 1854, it was reorganized un-

der the title of " D Company Light Infantry," and the

following officers were chosen at that time : John A.

Cleaveland, captain ; Andrew T. Campbell, first lieutenant

;

Charles Pettingill, second lieutenant ; John H. Humphreys,

third lieutenant ; and John P. Owen, fourth lieutenant.

This company turned out June 27, 1855, for target prac-

tice, and William R. Field, Jr., got the prize for being the

best marksman. The prize was a silver cup. The com-

pany had its first annual parade and inspection on the 30ih

of May preceding. In September of the next year, 1856,

the company attended muster in Bath, and about Aug. 7,

1857, it disbanded.

The Brunswick and Topsham Rifle Company was or-

ganized in 1821. No records have been preserved of this

company, and nothing is known of its doings. A. B.

Thompson was the first captain.

In 1806-7 three other infantry companies and an ar-

tillery company were formed. One of these infantry com-

panies was commanded by Capt. Joseph Dusten, and had

its headquarters at Maquoit. The village company was

under command of Capt. Richard T. Dunlap. The New

Meadows company was commanded by Capt. Peter Jordan,

who died in May, 1876, the last surviving member of the

company. Early in 1807, Samuel Page and others peti-

tioned the proper authorities for the organization of an ar-

tillery company. In compliance with the wish expressed

in this petition, a brigade order was issued, directing the

proper steps to be tiiken for the accomplishment of this ob-

ject, and Mr. Lemuel Swift was directed " to raise a com-

pany of artillery out of the foot companies of the town of

Brunswick, by voluntary enlistment." The company was

at once organized, and Peter O. Alden was chosen as its

first captain. He is said to have procured the first bass-

drum ever brought to town. This company had two six-

pounder brass guns in its gun-house on Centre Street.

In addition to the above companies there was a cavalry

company, of which a few members belonged in Brunswick

and Topsham, and others in Lisbon and Durham. Capt.

Jack, of Litchfield, was the commanding officer, and a Mr.

Baker, of Topsham, was the lieutenant.

There were, about 1812, two infantry companies in

Harpswell, which were organized about 1776. The Harps-

well Neck company was commanded, in 1812, by Capt.

David Johnson, and Peleg Curtis was the lieutenant. The

Harpswell Island company was commanded by Capt. Stephen

Snow, and Paul Snow was the lieutenant. In 1832, Isaiah

S. Trufant was chosen captain of the island company, in

place of John M. Purinton, and Humphrey Snow ensign,

in place of Eli Hodgdon.

In 1835 the .selectmen defined the limits of the com-

panies of militia as follows : the limits of Capt. Hudson

Merryman's company were all that part of Great Island

northwest of a line drawn from Long Reach to Strawberry

Creek, together with Orr's, Bailey's, Haskell's, Flag, Whale-

boat, and Birch Islands, and the Neck. The limits of

Capt. John M. Purinton's company were all that part of

Great Island southeast of a line drawn from Long Reach

to Strawberry Creek.

In 1836, Simeon Stover (2d) commanded the first-

mentioned, and Isaiah Trufant the last-named company.

The Portland Rifle Company was organized on the 16th

of April, 1810. A. W. Atherton was elected captain,

Henry Smith lieutenant, and John Watson ensign. The

original roll of the company, with additional names up to

1814, is in the possession of Capt. Frederic Forsyth, who

was captain of the company in 1860, previous to the late

war. This company in its day was considered one of the

finest military organizations in New England. In 1836-38,

John D. Kinsman was captain ; in 1840, Lincoln Radford
;

in 1854, Josiah Pierce, Jr. ; later, L. De M. Swett, E. M.

Patten, and Frederic Forsyth. In 1825 the company acted

with the Brunswick Infantry as the escort to La Fayette

during his visit to Portland. It was also the body-guard

and escort of the Prince of Wales while in Portland in

1860. It was disbanded in 1860, and its records have been

taken to California.

The Mechanic Volunteers of Brunswick was organized

in 1836. Who the first officers were is unknown. In 1843,

John A. Cleaveland was elected captain, George S. Elliot

lieutenant, and William K. Melcher ensign.

During the war of 1812 three hundred and twenty men
from Brunswick served for a short period at Bath. There

were one or two British vessels there, and soldiers from

them used to land and commit depredations until Gen.

King called out the militia. A fort was built in Harpswell,

at this time, commanding the entrance to New Meadows

River. Capt. Johnson had a company in Harpswell, who
guarded Bailey's Island and prevented the Britbh from
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taking away a coasting-sloop. During the latter part of the

war the alarm was spread, on a Sunday morning in Port-

land, that the British cruisers were approaching the harbor,

and great excitement prevailed. Church-going was sus-

pended for the day. The male population turned out en

Tnatse, and threw up a fortification on the hill at Munjoy's

Point, as it was called, which faced the ship-channel lead-

ing into the harbor. The old earthwork remained till it

was destroyed by the excavations for the Atlantic and St.

Lawrence Railroad. At this time the militia were called

in from the adjacent country, and the town presented a very

warlike aspect. But the British did not appear, and the

alarm proved to be a false rumor.

In 1840 the enrolled militia in the State was forty-six

thousand three hundred and eighty-eight. In MaAih,

1840, a new and very elaborate act for the enrollment and

discipline of the militia was passed by the Legislature, pro-

viding for volunteer companies. Each commissioned ofScer

was entitled to hold his commission seven years. Under

this act a considerable impulse was given to military affairs.

The number of companies returned was five hundred and

seventy, and the money expended by the State two hundred

and sixty-five thousand four hundred and eighty-five dollars

and seventy -six cents.

The government of the United States called for one

regiment from the State to serve in the Mexican war.

One company for the regiment was raised in Portland,

—

Company Gr. It was organized oh the 28th of November,

1846. Wendell P. Smith, Captain ; Nathan Barker, First

Lieutenant ; Charles F. Little, Second Lieutenant. Capt.

Green Waldron was ordered, with the- revenue-cutter

" Morris," then at Portland, to Vera Cruz.

An " Act to Organize and Discipline the Militia" was

passed by the Legislature Feb. 29, 1856. The State was

formed into divisions, whereof the 5th embraced this county,

with headquarters at Portland. Major-General, Wendell

P. Smith ; Aide-de-Camp, Joshua S. Palmer ; Division

Advocate, Lewis Pierce ; Divbion Quartermaster, Charles

H. Haskell,—all of Portland.

A battalion of artillery belonged to this division, with

Jeremiah Butler, of Portland, Major ; George M. Chase,

Portland, Adjutant ; Edward. P. Jack, Portland, Quarter-

master. The A Cavalry was commanded by Capt. Horace

C. Harris, of Portland, who continued in command till

1859. The report of 1859 shows that the division officers

remained unchanged up to December 1st of that year.

On the 1st of December, 1860, there were three divisions

of militia in the State, officered as follows

:

1st Diviiion.—John L. Hodsdon, Major-General, Ban-

gor; John A. Veazie, Aide-de-Camp, Bangor; James H.

Butler, Division Inspector, Bangor ; Thomas Hersey, Di-

vision Quartermaster, Bangor.

2d Diviiion.—William H. Titcomb, Major - General,

Rockland ; Samuel H. Allen, Aide-de-Camp, Thomaston
;

George W. Kimball, Jr., Aide-de-Camp, Rockland ; John

S. Case, Division Inspector, Rockland ; Everett W. Stetson,

Division Quartermaster, Damariscotta ; Charles A. Miller,

Division Advocate, Rockland.

3ti Division.—William Wirt Virgin, Major-General,

Norway ; Charles E. Shaw, Aide-dc-Camp, Portland ; Wil-

liam P. Frye, Division Quartermaster, Lewiston ; William

W. Bolster, Division Advocate, Dixficld.

But little change was made in these general officers up

to the spring of 1861. Maj.-Gen. Hodsdon, of the 1st

Division, had become adjutant-general of the State, on the

staff of Hon. Israel Washburn, Jr., Governor. The organ-

ized militia companies of the State at this period were as

follows

:

FIRST SIVISIO.V.

A....CaTalrT Bangor Charles A. Green.

A....Artillery Brewer Elieha N. Jones.

B ...Artillery Ea^tport 0. S. Ltvermore.
C... Artillery Milo W. H. Stinchfield.

D....Artillery East Mnchias George W. Seavy.

A....Light Infantry. ...Eastport N. F. Swctt, 1st Lieut.

B... Light InTniitry.... Bangor Heman Bartlett.

C... Light Infantry. ...Bnngor William Conner, let Lieat.

D... Light Infantry, ...Lagrange Benjamin G. Bryn.
E ...Light Infantry.. ..Caetine S. K. Devereox.
A...Hiflenien Veazie R. R. Park.
B...RiBcmen Orland James C. Saunders.-

C...Riflemen Patten James B. Hill.

E... Riflemen Brownville M. W. Brown.
F ...Riflemen Lowell Not fully organized.

SECOXD DIVISION.

A. ..Artillery Belfast A. W. Cunningham.
A ...Light Infantry.. ..Belfast Thomas II. Marshall.

C...Light Infantry.. ..Brooks Jnmes R. Iluxfurd.

D ...Light Infantry.. ..Searsport Ebcn. Whitcomb.
E... Light Infantry. ...Unity J. F. Parkburst, 1st Lient.

Second Regiment.

A...Light Infantry.. ..Bath William Rogers.

B.. Riflemen Canaan Alonzo Richardson.

THIRD DIVISION.

A ...Cavalry Aelon Cyrus Grant.
A ...Artillery :.-.Auburn James S. Nash.
A. ..Light Infantry....Portland Albion AVitham.

B...Light Infantry.. ..Portland Thomas A. Roberts.

C...Light Infantry. ...Portland Charles H. Green.

G... Light Infantry.. ..Lewiston N. J. Jackson.
H... Light Infantry Norway George L. Beal.

A ...Riflemen Portland Frederic Forsyth.

B ...Riflemen Portland William M. Shaw.

Second Regiment.

A. ..Artillery Kittery M. F. Wentworth.
A ...Light Infantry Kittery William L. Toby, 1st Lieut.

B... Light Infantry Brownfield S. B. Bean.
C..^. Light Infantry Porter James French, Jr.

Of the 1st Regiment, 3d Division, the officers were

:

Lieutenant-Colonel, L. Dc M. Swett, Portland ; Adjutant,

William A. Winship, Portland ; Surgeon, Samuel H.

Tewksbury, Portland ; Assistant Surgeon, Geo. W. Chad-

wick, Portland.

ISRAEL WASHBURN, JR., LL D.,*

born in Livermore, Androscoggin (then Oxford) Co., Me.,

June 6, 1813, is a descendant in the seventh generation

from John Washburn, who came from Evesham, Worces-

tershire, Eng., in 1631 (supposed to have been secretary of

the first Council of Plymouth in England), and who settled

in Du'xbury as early as 1632, and in 1634 purchased a

place, still known, and near the old Standish house, called

" The Eagle's Nest," whence he removed to Bridgewater

about 1665.

His father, Israel, was bom in Raynham, Mass., Nov. 18,

1784, and settled in Livermore in 1809, where he resided

until his death, Sept. 1, 1876. He was a farmer, and was

also engaged in trade for many years. He took an active

* Israel,* Israel,' Israel,* Israel,' Samuel,' John.*
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and iofluential part in the affairs of the town, of which he

was often an ofiBcer, and which, before the separation in

1820, lie represented fur four yeare in the General Court.

His father, a soldier of the Revolution, and his grandfather

(who had removed to Raynham, Mass.) were prominent

men in that part of the commonwealth, both having been

on many occasions members of the Legislature or " General

Court," as it was called, and the latter having been a mem-

ber of the convention which adopted the first constitution

of the commonwealth.

Mr. Washburn's mother was a daughter of Samuel Ben-

jamin, a native of Watcrtown, Mass., and a lieutenant in

the Revolution, who served from the battle of Lexington to

the surrender of Comwallis, and was in both engagements.

Her mother was Tabitha Livermore, of Waltham, Mass., an

aunt of the late Hon. Isaac Livermore, of Cambridge. Their

children are : Israel, the subject of this notice ; Algernon

S., a merchant and banker, who recently died at Hallowell,

Me. ; Elihu B., a representative in Congress for sixteen years

from Illinois, secretary of state, and minister plenipoten-

tiary to France; Cadwallader C., LL.D., a representative in

Congress from Wisconsin for ten years, major-general of

volunteers in the civil war, and Governor of the State of

Wisconsin ; Charles A., an editor in San Francisco, minister

resident at Paraguay, and author of a voluminous history

of that country ; Samuel B., a captain in the volunteer navy

of the United States in the civil war, and now residing at

the family homestead of the Norlands in Livermore ; Wm.
D., of Minneapolis, president of the Minneapolis and St.

Louis Railroad, and representative in Congress from Jlinne-

sota; and three daughters and a son, who died in infancy.

Israel Washburn, Jr., received a classical education,

studied law, and was admitted to the bar in October, 1834.

He commenced the practice of law, at Orono, in the county

of Penobscot, in December of that year, and was a member

of the State Legislature in 1842. He was a representa-

tive in Congress from the Penobscot district for the Thirty-

second, Thirty-third, Thirty-fourth. Thirty-fifth, and Thirty-

sixth Congresses, serving, while in that body, as chairman

of the Committee on Elections, as member of the Commit-

tees of Ways and Means, of the Pacific Railroad, and of

less important committees. He Wiis Governor of the State

of Maine in 1861 and 1862, and declined a re-election.

It was during his first year's service that the war of the

Rebellion was begun ; there was no military organization,

or at most a merely nominal' one in the State at the time,

and it was necessary to create one. For more than a year

nearly the entire work of raising, uniforming, equipping,

and arming troops, and transporting them as far as New

York City, and defraying the cost thereof fell upon the

Stat« government. These duties involved immense labor,

and much which in other States, having an active military

organization, was not required.

After his retirement from the office of Governor, Mr.

Washburn, in November, 1863, was appointed by President

Lincoln collector of customs for the port of Portland,

and soon afterwards removed to that city, where he has

since resided. He held this office by successive appoint-

ments until the 1st of May, 1877. On the 4th of July,

1865, after the close of tlic civil war, upon invitation of

the municipal authorities of Portland, he delivered an

oration in that city, in which he di-scussed at length the

questions : From what, through what, and to what, tlie

country had been brought by the civil war.

He is an active member of the Maine Historical Society,

and has contributed to its publications a memoir of the late

Chief Justice Ether Shepley,* and an elaborate monograph

upon the once exciting question of the Northeastern

Boundary of the State, and he has been a not infrequent

contributor to the periodical literature of the limes. He

wrote the " Notes of Livermore," pubiislied in 1874, and in

the same year he delivered the historical address at the

centennial of the town of Orono, which was also published.

He is also a member and vice-president of the New Eng-

land Historical and Genealogical Society.

Mr. Washburn married in October, 1841, Mary Maud,

youngest daughter of Col. Ebenezer Webster, of Orono, by

whom he had four children, Israel Henry, a lieutenant in

the United States Marine Corps, Charles Fox, a resident of

Minnesota, Ada, and Maud. Mrs. Washburn died in

June, 1873.

In January, 1876, he married Miss Robina Napier, eldest

daughter of Benjamin Brown, Esq., now a resident of

Aroostook Co., Me.

CHAPTER XXVL
CTTMBEHLAU'D IN THE "WAH OF THE BEBELLION.

Extra Session of the Legislature—Haising the First Regiments—Gen-

eral Order of the Governor—Credit due the Militia Officers—First

Regiment— First Battery.

Within a few days after the first rebel guns at Charles-

ton had aroused the nation to the fact of an impending civil

war, the extent and magnitude of which no one could then

foresee, the Legislature of Maine convened in extra session,

and on the 25th of April, 1861, passed an act providing

for the raising of ten regiments for the service of the United

States. Tliese regiments were to be raised as far as practi-

cable out of the already existing militia, and by the aid of

the officers of the several divisions, who were instructed by

a general order of the Governor to proceed at once to the

discharge of the duties assigned them. The major-generals

of the several divisions, with their respective staffs, were

constantly engaged in the service of the State from the

22d of April to the 28th of May, 1861, raising, organizing,

and preparing for organization the several regiments within

their limits. Their services were promptly and suitably

recognized by the commander-in-chief in the following

general order

:

" HEADQUAHTEnS, ADjnTAJTT-GEXEKAL'S OFFICE,

Augusta, May 28, 1861.
" General Order No. 30.

" The general orders for carrying into effeot the act of 25th of

April, 1861, to authorize the raiE^ing of ten regimeota^ etc., having

been executed by the respective major-generals, so far as they were

charged therewith, and no further duties remaining to be performed

by them at present, under said orders, the commander-in-ohief directs

that they and their respective staffs be discharged from further service,

under the orders aforesaid, at their several headquarters on Wednes-

day, the 29th day of May, instant, at four o'clock in the afternoon, at

which time and place they will be paid by the paymasters within the

limits of their respective divisions.
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" The co'Jiinander-in-chicf nvaila himself of thU opportunity to ex-

press his satisfaction at the prompt and able manner in which the

new and arduous duties devolring upon them in this emergency have

been performed.

" Notwithstanding the neglected and disorganized condition of the

militia of this State, incident to a protracted period of uninterrupted

peace, companies, battalions, and regiments hare been raised, organ-

ized, nolformed, armed, equipped,»and made ready fur the service of

the general government, with a promptness aui expedition which

reflect great credit upon the major-generals and others charged with

the execution of the orders in this behalf.

" Israel WiSHBins, Jn.,

" Gorernor and Ontiinitttder-ui-Clnef,

" JoHx L. HoDSDOX,
" AdjHtaiil-Gtuerai."

The first six regiaients sent forward for the servicciof the

government were raised and oi^nizcd within divisional

limits, among which they were equally apportioned. The

remaining four regiments, authorized by the act of April

25th, were raised irrespective of military divisions. The

act provided for the raising of these regiments " for two

years, unless sooner discharged." The firet and second

regiments were thus enlisted ; the former was mustered into

the United States service for three months, under the call

of the President for seventy-five tbousund men to serve for

that length of time ; the latter was mustered in for three

years. Six of the ten regiments were enlisted under the

" two years" plan of the State, which had been adopted

previous to the order of the War Department requiring

the regiments to be mustered into the United States service

for a period of three years. To effect conformity with the

United States plan of eulistmei>ts, "General Order No. 29

was issued, under authority of the Governor and Council,

providing that all enlisted men, except those of the 1st

and 2d Regiments, who declined to enter into a contract

to serve for an additional year, should be discharged and

paid. Several hundred efficient men were thus for a

time lost to the service. But notwithstanding this tempo-

rary embarrassment, incident to the uncertainty which pre-

vailed at the beginning of the war, troops were enlisted

more rapidly than they could be received by the United

States government, and within three weeks after the ad-

journment of the extra session of the Legislature a general

order had to be issued, putting a restriction upon the ardor

for enlistments.

This work was carried on mainly by officers of the vol-

unteer militia, who brought to their new duties a large

amount of experience, acquired in that department. Among

these were Col. Nathaniel J. Jackson, who had acquired a

well-earned reputation as a disciplinarian ; Lieut.-Col. Wit-

ham, formerly captain of the Portland Light Infantry;

Capt. George L. Beal, afterwards colonel of the 10th Regi-

ment, who was one of the most active and efficient of those

who, at the call of the President, at once united with their

commands in making up the 1st Regiment, sent to the

front immediately upon the breaking out of the war. Col.

Jameson, Lieut.-Col. Roberts, Col. Berry, and the lamented

Marshall are names familiar in the old volunteer militia.

Col. Jameson, afterwards general in the United States ser-

vice, began his military career more than ten years before

the beginning of the late war as division inspector upon

the staff of Maj.-Gen. Cushman, of the then 3d Division

of militia, and was colonel of the only regiment of infantry

in the 1st Division at the breaking out of the Rebellion. He
had but a short time previously tendered his resignation,

but immediately withdrew it upon the first intimation of his

being required for active service. Col. Roberts, the lieu-

tenant-colonel of the same militia regiment, also served with

honor upon Gen. Cushmau's staff, as aide-de-camp. Col.

Varney, who was chosen major of the 2d Regiment upon

its organization, was one of the most accomplished soldiers

and disciplinarians in Company A, formerly the Bangor

Light Artillery, which w;is organized in 1853. Capt.

Charles S. Emerson served in the Aroostook war, and before

entering the United States service, for the suppression of

the Rebellion, was captain of Company H, in the Auburn

Light Artillery. Many others who were trained in the

volunteer militia are equally worthy of mention did space

permit. The company officers of Gen. Virgin's division,

in general, were foremost among those to whom the State

and nation are deeply indebted for a zeal and promptness

in organizing the first regiments sent to the war.

THE FIRST BEOTMEST OF MAINE INFANTKY

had eight companies, made up in whole or in part from the

3d Division of Volunteer Militia, Maj.-Gen. Virgin, and

two new companies formed to make up the quota of the

regiment. The organization was as follows

:

Company A, Portland Light Infantry, Capt. Albion

Witham.

Company B, Machias Blues,. Capt. George G. Bailey.

Company C, Portland Light Guard, Capt. M. R. Fes-

senden.

Company D, Portland Rifle Corps,* Capt. Charles H.

Meserve.

Company E, Portland Rifle Guard, Capt. William M.

Shaw.

Company F, Lewiston Light Infantry, Capt. Nathaniel

J. Jackson.

Company G, Norway Light Infantry, Capt. George L.

Beal.

Company H, Auburn Artillery, Capt. Charles S. Emer-

son.

Company I, Portland Light Guard (2d), Capt. William

M. Quimby.

Company K, Lewiston Zouaves, Capt. S. B. Osgood.

The regiment was organized on the 28Lh of April, 1801,

and mustered into the United States service at Portland,

May 3d, to serve three mouths. Being a three months'

regiment and not engaged in any battles, its history at the

front is brief; the mere outlines are as follows : June 1st it

left for Washington, where it encamped on Meridian Hill,

and there remained, doing necessary guard duty at exposed

points, until August 1st, when it left for Portland, where

* In placing the Portland RiSe Corps, Company D, 1st Maine In-

fantry, among the old companies we have followed the adjutant-gen-

eral's report. We are informed by Capt. Frederic Forsyth, who was

captain of the old company, that this is a mistake ; that Company D of

the 1st Maine Regiment, called Portland Rifle Corps, was a new or-

ganization enlisted by himself for the Ist Maine Regiment, as United

States recruiting officer, in the spring of 1861, the old company, of

which be was the last captain, having heen disbanded late in 18C0.
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it was mustered out of the United States service August
5th, by Capt. Thomas Hite, 2d United States Dragoons.

The regiment, at its master-out, was put upon leave of

absence, without pay or rations, until further orders from

the commander-in-chief. The respective companies were

ordered into camp at Portland by Special Order No. 67, and

the regimental organization ceased to exist by General

Order No. 50, Sept. 18, 1861.

THE I'IRST BATTERY,

belonging to the 1st Regiment of Mounted Artillery, Ed-
ward W. Thompson, Brunswick, captain, was organized at

Portland, Dec. 18, 1861, and on the following day went to

Camp Chase, Lowell, Mass., where it remained till Feb. 6,

1862, and left Boston on the 8th for Ship Island, Miss.,

landing there March 10th. On the 15th of May it arrived

in New Orleans, and immediately entered upon patrol and

garrison duty, which it performed until October 1st, when
it was assigned to Brig.-Gen. Weitzel's reserve brigade, at

Carrolton. On the 24th of the same month the battery

embarked on transports for Donaldsonville, and on the 27th

participated in the engagement of Labadieville, after which

it went into camp at Thibodeauz, where it remained until

Jan. 1 1 , 1863, and on that day proceeded towards Patterson-

ville, on the Teche, where, on the 11th, it was throughout

the whole day constantly engaged with the enemy. The
battery afterwards returned to Thibodeaux, and thence to

Brashear City. On the 12th and 13th of April the bat-

tery was engaged with the enemy at Bisland, and on the

27th at Port Hudson, where it was under fire more or

less every day. The battery embarked for Donaldsonville,

where it took a prominent part in the engagement of July,

losing one man killed and fifteen wounded, also sixteen horses

killed. On the 3d of August the battery arrived at Baton

Rouge, and on the 18th of September it was assigned to Gen.

Franklin's army corps, and encamped near New Iberia.

On the 29th of December, every man present for duty with

the battery re-enlisted for three years, under War Depart-

ment order authorizing such re-enlistment of men who had

served two years, the muster-in taking place Jan. 1, 1864.

The battery arrived at New Orleans on the 20th of Jan-

uary, and on the 10th of February the re-enlisted men came

North on a furlough of thirty days, arriving at Augusta, Me.,

on the 22d, where they rendezvoused on the 22d of March,

remaining until April 4th, when the battery moved to Port-

land, leaving there on the 15th for Annapolis, Md., having

been assigned to Gen. Burnside's corps. On its arrival at An-

napolis, on the 19th, the battery was ordered to Washington,

D. C, where, on the 12th of July, it assisted in repelling the

rebel forces under Gen. Early at Fort Stevens, and on the

30th was assigned to the 19th Army Corps. On the 19th

of September it took a prominent part in the action at

Winchester, Ya., and at Strasburg, on the 22d, and on

the 25th biyouacked at Harrisonburg, remaining till Oc-'

tober 5th.

The casualties in the battery in the several engagements,

from the 19th to the 26th of September, were two killed and

seven wounded. On the 5th ofOctober the battery proceeded

on the return march to Cedar Creek, Va , where it arrived

on the 10th, and on the 19th participated in the severe en-

gagement at that place, resulting in the complete rout of the

enemy. The battery lost in that engagement two enlisted

men killed, one officer and sixteen enlisted men wounded, and

eight men taken prisoners, also forty-nine horses killed. On
the 9th of November the battery moved from Cedar Creek to

Winchester, where it remained till Jan. 14, 1865, when it

proceeded to Manchester, Va., and on the 14th of April

returned to Winchester, and there remained in camp until

July 9th, when it embarked for Portland, arriving on the

13th, where, on the 15th of July, it was mustered out of

the United States seiTice by Capt. C. Holmes, United States

Army, in accordance with orders from the War Dopartment.

CHAPTER XXVII.

FIFTH HEGIMENT.

Fifth Rpgiinont—Record of OfEcers of the Regiment from Cu'nber-

land Countj.

The 5th Regiment of Maine Infantry was composed of

the following companies

:

A.—Gorham Company, Capt. Josiah Heald.

B.—Bidduford Company, Capt. Samuel C. Hamilton.

C.—Saco Company, Capt. Isaac B. Noyes.

D.— Brunswick Company, Capt. Edward W. Thompson.

E.—Lewiston Company, Capt. Edwin Ilsley.

P.—Portland Company, Capt. George P. Sherwood.

G.—Portland Company, Ciipt. Henry G. Thomas.

H.—Portland Company, Capt. Mark H. Duunell.

I.—Bethel Company, Capt. Clark S. Edwards.

K.—Minot Company, Capt. William A. Tobie.

The regiment was organized at Portland, June 24, ISOl,

and was mustered into the United States service for three

years. On the 2(Uh of June they loft for Washington,

where they arrived on the 28th. They moved into Vir-

ginia on the 11th of July, and were assigned to Gen.

Howard's brigade. At the battle of Bull Run, on the 21st,

they bore an active and gallant part, losing about seventy

in killed, wounded, and missing. On the 16tli of October

the regiment was assigned to Gen. Slocum's brigade, and

encamped near the seminary, just below Alexandria. Dur-

ing the remainder of the fall and winter large detachments

of the regiment were engaged in skirmishes with the enemy
while on picket duty near Mount Vernon. In April, 1862,

they moved to the Peninsula, and at the siege of Yorktown

were held in supporting distance, but not engaged. At the

battle of West Point, May 7th, they took a prominent part,

losing two killed and five wounded. At Mechanicsville, in

the latter part of May, they were engaged with the enemy
in three skirmishes, and also participated in the battle of

Gaines' Mill, June 27th ; their loss in the latter engage-

ment was ten killed, sixty-nine wounded, and sixteen

missing.

The following day the regiment had a severe, though

short, engagement at Golding Farm. On June 30th they

again encountered the enemy at Charles City Cross-Roads,

and at Malvern Hill they were held within supporting dis-
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tance of the Union army, but were not called into the fight.

September 1st, they arrived at Bull Run to the support of

Gen. Pope's forces, but, as the retreat had already commenced,

they were not-engaged daring that day. On the 14th of

September they participated in an engagement at Cramp-

ton's Pass in the South Mountain Range. Their loss in

killed and wounded was thirty-five, missing ten. On the

17th they bore a prominent part in the battle of Antietam,

being under fire eighteen hours. They crossed the Rappa-

hannock River on the 11th of December, and occupied an

important position in the battle of Fredericksburg, after

which they returned to their old camp near White Oak
Church, where they remained till the 28th of April, 1863,

when they joined in the movement across, the Rappahan-

nock, and participated in the battle of Chancellorsville, May
2d and 3d. Their casualties in killed, wounded, and miss-

ing were ninety-seven officers and men. Ou the 6th of

June the regiment joined in the campaign resulting in the

battle of Gettysburg, and participated in the engagements of

July 2d and 3d at that place. From this time until the 19th

the regiment was constantly on the move, taking part in

several skirmishes. On the 19lh they crossed the Potomac,

and marched towards Warrenton, where they arrived on

the 20th of October, and remained till the 7th of Novem-

ber, when they marched towards the ll:ipp;ihunnock River,

and participated in the brilliant charge and capture of the

enemy's works and forces at the crossing of that river. In

that engagement their loss was seven killed and twenty-

eight wounded. On the 8th they joined in the pursuit of

the enemy's retreating column, and, after a tedious march,

crossed the Rapidan on the 27th, when the regiment, with

its brigade, supported the 3d Corps at the battle of Orange

Grove. The following day they occupied a position near

Mine Run, which they left on the 3d of December, and

returned to their old camp near Willsford's Ford, remain-

ing there till May 3, .1864. On that day they moved

across the Hazel River, and marched until the 5th, when

they participated in the battle of the Wilderness, atid on

the 8th in that of Spottsylvania. On the 10th the regi-

ment formed a part of the forces selected to make the

charge on the enemy's works, and which resulted in their

capture. Their loss in that engagement was more than one-

half their number present.

On the 12th they again participated in a chaise on a

part of the enemy's works, which they carried and held

permanently. On the 23d the regiment crossed the North

Anna River, and on the 29th engaged the enemy at the

Pamunkey, and again at Cold Harbor on the 1st of June,

participating in all the skirmishes, marches, etc., of the

army in its advance towards Petersburg, until the 22d of

June, when, its term of service having expired, they were

ordered to Portland, Me., where they arrived on the 28th.

One hundred and ninety-three officers and men were mus-

tered out and discharged the United States service July

27, 1864, by Lieut. I. H. Walker, 14th United States

Infantry.

The re-enlisted men and recruits, whose terms of service

had not expired, were organized with those of the 6th and

7th Regiments, as the 1st Regiment Infantry, Maine

Veteran Volunteers.

RECORD or OFFICERS OF. THE REGIMENT.

The following officers of this regiment were from Cum-

berland County

:

Col. Mark H. Dunnell, Portland; com. May 24, 1S61 ;
pro. from capt.

Co. H ; res. Sept. 2, 1861.

Col. Edward A. Scamman, Portland ; com. Nov. 1, 1862
;
pro. through

all the gradea from let lient. Co. II ; disch. Jan. S, 1863.

Adj. Charles S. Whitman, Portland; com. June 2-1, 1861; pro. from

capt. Co. E; disch. Nov. 21, 1861.

Adj. George W. Grafiam, Portland; com. Sept. 2, 1861; rc3. Oct. 18,

188.?.

Adj. George W. Bicknell, Portland; com. Xor. 1, 1862; pro. from

Isfc lient. Co. K ; res. March 8, 1864 ; severely wounded Second

Fredericksburg.

Q.m. John S. Merrill, Gorham; com. June 24, 1861; pro. from 2d

lient. Co. A ; res. Sept. 2, 1S61.

Chaplain John R. Adams, Gorham; com. June 24, 1861; must, out

July 27, 1864.

Capt. Josiah Heald, Gorham; com. June 24, 1861, Co. A; disch. Aug.

9, 1861.

Capt. Burbank Spiller, Raymond; com. Feb. 1, 1862, Co. C; pro.

from Ut and 2d lienU. Co. E ; discb. March 23, 1863.

Capt. Edward W. Thompson, Brunswick ; com. June 24, 1861, Co. D

;

res. Sept. 8, 1861.

Capt. George P. Sherwood, Portland; com. June 25, 1861, Co. F; pro.

from 1st lieut. Co. F; res. Jan. 13, 1S6:).

Capt. Henry G. Thomas, Portland; com. June 24, 1861, Co. G; res.

Aug. 9, 1861.

Capt. Thomas J. Sawyer, Portland; com. Sept. 10, 1861, Co. G; pro.

from 2d licut. Co. G; res. Dec. 3, 1861.

Capt. Alburn P. Harris, Portland; com. June 3, 1862, Co. G; pro.

from 1st licut. Co. O; must, out July 27, 1864; severely wounded

battle Wilderness.

Capt. George E. Brown, Portland; com. Oct. 10, 1861, Co. H; pro.

from 2d lieut. Co. H ; res. Oct. 13, 1862.

Capt. Albert L. Bearing, Portbind; com. Xov. 1, 1S62, Co. H; pro.

from 1st lieut. ; discb. Sept. 8, 1863; wounded second Fredericks-

burg.

Capt. Nathan Walker, Portland; com. Nov. 10, 1863, Co. I; pro.

from Ist and 2d lieuts. Co. F ; must, out July 27, 1804.

Capt. Daniel C. Clark, Portland; com. Nov. 10, 1863, Co. K; pro

from Ist and 2d lieuts. Co. D; mortally wounded battle Wilder-

ness; died May 16, 1864.

Ist Lieut. William Merrill, Gorham; com. June 24, 1861, Co. A
disch. Dec. 10, 1861.

1st Lieut. William E. Stevens, Portland; com. Nov. 1, 1802, Co. B
pro. from 2d lieut. ; must, out July 27, 1S64.

lat Licut. Charles A. Waterhouse, Portland; com. April 13, 1863, Co,

C; pro. from 2d lieut. Co. G; discb. March II, 1S64.

1st Lient. Joseph Wight, Gorham; com. June 13, 1863, Co. E; pro

from 2d lieut. Co. A ; must, out July 27, 1864.

Ist Lieut. Orrin B. Stevens, Westbrook; com. Nov. 10, 1803, Co. F
pro. from 2d lieut. Co. F ; mortally wounded battle Wilderness

died May 15, 1864.

1st Lieut. George W. Martin, Portland; com. June 24, 1861, Co. G
res. Oct. 13, 1861.

1st Lieut. John C. Summersides, Qorbam; com. Nor. 10, 1863, Co,

G
; pro. from 2d lieut. Go. E ; must, out July 27, 1864.

1st Lieut. Ambrose S. Dyer, Portland; com. June 24, 1861, Co. 11

died Sept. 22, 1861.

1st Lieut. Richard C. Shannon, Portland; com. Oct. 10, 1861, Co. H
pro. to capt. and osst. adj.-gen., Oct. 23, 1862.

Ist Lieut. Lewis H. Lunt, Brunswick; com. April 13, 1S63, Co. I

pro. from 2d lieut. Co. D ; must, out July 27, 1864.

2d Lieut. Frederic Speed, Gorham; com. Sept. 10, 1861, Co. A; pro,

to adj. 13th Maine.

2d Lieut. J'. Augustine Grenier, Portland i com. Dec. 30, 1862, Co. C
trans, to Co. B, 7th Maine.

2d Lieut. Frank G. Patterson, Portland; com. April 13, 1863, Co. D
wounded in battle of Wilderness: must, out July 27, 1864.

2d Lient. Robert McPherson, Portlaud; com. Sept. 10, 1861, Co. G
res. Dec. 11, 1861.

2d Lient. Samuel Munson, Portland ; com. June 24, 1861, Co. H ; res,

Aug. 2i, 1S61.
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2d Lieat. Smith G. Bailey, Portland ; com. Oct. 1, 1862, Co. H ; died

May 30, 1862.

2d Lieut. AndrevS. Lvon, Xev Gloucester ; com. Feb. 1, 1862, Co. E;
pro. to 1st lient. Co, K.

2d Lieut. John McLellan. Oaiino: com. June 13, 1S63, Co. K; trans.

to Co. A, 7th Maine.

REniUEHTAt, BA.in.

Jonathan Cole, Portland ; Charles G. Young, Portland ; Edvrard N.

Cobb, Portland ; Edirard M. Gammon, Portland ; James A.

Leavitt, Portland ; Daniel P. Larry, Gorham ; Daniel M. Wes-

oott, Gorham; Francis A. Cloudmnn, Windham; Joseph W.
Doughty, Windham ; Luther Wiswell, Jr., Windham ; Charles

D. Barrett, Portland. Band discharzed by act or Congress, Aug.

7, 1862.

CHAPTER XXVIII.

TENTH BEGIUBNT.

Organization—Movements of the Regiment—Casualties in the Service

—Official Record.

The 10th Regiment of Maine Volanteer Infantry may

be regarded in one respect as a continuation of the 1st

Raiment. In the early stages of its organization it was

intended to compi'ise, as far as practicable, the companies

of the 1st. This design, liowever, was but partially real-

ized, since six hundred and ninety-seven men out of the

eight hundred and eighty-one in the 10th Regiment were

paid bounties as newly-enlisted troops. A portion of the

remainder of the Ist Regiment enlisted in the 7th, 8th, and

9th Regiments, and some were discharged upon the sur-

geon's certificate of disability.

ROSTER OP THE TENTH MAINE REGIMENT AS ORIGINALLY

ORGANIZED.

Colonel, Qeoi^e L. Beal, Norway.

Lieutenant-Colonel, James S. Fillebrown, Lewiston.

Major, Charles Walker, Portland.

Adjutant, Elijah M. Shaw, Lewiston.

Quartermaster, William S. Dodge, Portland.

Chaplain, George Knox, Brunswick.

Surgeon, Daniel 0. Perry, Portland.

Assistant Surgeon, Josiah F. Day, Jr., Portland.

Non-Commissioned Staff.—Sergeant - Major, John M.

Gould; Quartermaster-Sergeant, Charles P. King; Com-

missary-Sei^eant, Charles Thompson ;
Fife-Major, William

Allen ; Drum-Major, Alpheus L. Greene ; HospiUl Stew-

ard, George J. Northrup; Leader of Band (second lien-

tenant), Daniel H. Chandler.

Line OflScers.—Company A.—Captain, John Q. Adams

;

First Lieutenant, Ephraini M. Littlefield; Second Lieu-

tenant, Charles E. Pierce.

Company B.—Captain, James M. Black; First Lieu-

tenant, Charles W. Roberts ; Second Lieutenant, Alfred L.

Turner.

Company C.—Captain, William P. Jordan ; First Lieu-

tenant, Benjamin M. Redlon; Second Lieutenant, Benj.

F. Whitney.

Company D.—Captain, George W. West; First Lieu-

tenant, George D. Beardsley; Second Lieutenant, Henry

M. Binney.
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Company E Captain, Albert E. Estes ; First Lieuten-

ant, Cyrus Latham ; Second Lieutenant, Andrew C. Cloud-

Company F.—Captain, Wm. Knowlton ; First Lieutenant,

Edward S. Butler; Second Lieutenant, Abel G. Rankin.

Company G.—Captain, Henry Rust, Jr.; First Lieu-

tenant, Jonathan Blake ; Second Lieutenant, William W.
Whitmarsh.

Company H.—Captain, Charles S. Emerson ; First Lieu-

tenant, James C. Fulsom; Second Lieutenant, Phineas W.
Dill.

Company I.—Captain, Nuhemiah T. Furbish ; First

Lieutenant, Hebron Mayhew ; Second Lieutenant, John T.

Simpson.

Company K.—Captain, George H. Nye ; First Lieuten-

ant, John F. Witlierell ; Second Lieutenant, Fayette Bick-

nell.

The 10th Regiment was organized at Cape Elizabeth,

Me., Oct. 4, 1861, to serve two and three years. Companies

B, C, E, F, G, H, I, and K were mustered into the United

States service, Oct. 4, 1861, to serve two years from May

^, 1861, and Companies A and D to serve three years from

let. 4, 1861. The regiment left. Portland on the 6th, and

arrived at Baltimore, Md., on the 9th, where they remained

encamped at " Patterson's Park" until the 4th of Novem-

ber. On that day they moved to Relay House, Md., and

guarded the Washington branch of the Baltimore and

Ohio Railroad until the 27th of February, 1862. Subse-

quently they guarded and protected the branch of the same

road leading to Harper's Ferry, and as far as Martinsburg,

Va. On the 24th of May the entire regiment was concen-

trated at Winchester, Va., and on the following day joined

in the retreat of Gen. Banks' forces to Williamsport, Md.

Their casualties during the retreat, as also those at Win-

chester and in subsequent engagements, are stated in the

list of casualties appended to this narrative.

While at Williamsport the regiment was assigned to the

1st Brigade, Ist Division, of Banks' corps. May 28th they

made a reconnoissance towards Martinsburg, returning to

Williamsport on the same day. On the 31st they advanced

towards Winchester, thence towards Front Royal, which

place they occupied on the 22d of June. They partici-

pated in the reconnoissance to Luray Court-House, Va.,

on the 29th of Jane, retiring to Front Royal on the 30th,

and there remained until the 6th of July. On that day

they proceeded towards Cnlpeper Coart-House, and on the

8th of August participated in the battle of Cedar Mountain,

Va., in which they lost heavily in killed, wounded, and

prisoners. After the battle of Cedar Mountain they re-

turned to Culpeper, and on the 19th of August returned

to Rappahannock Station, thence towards Washington, par-

ticipating in all the movements of (Jen. Pope's forces,

though not actively engaged in any of the battles which

took place during the retreat, Gen. Banks' corps being held

in reserve. On the 17th of September, they participated

in the battle of Antietam, losing twenty killed and forty-

eight wounded. On the 19th of September they moved to

Maryland Heights, opposite Harper's Ferry, thence on the

3d of October to Berlin, Md., where they remained doing

picket and fatigue duty. On the 10th of December, with
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their corps (the 12th), they proceeded to Fairfax Station,

thence on the 22d of January, 1863, to Stafford Coart-

Honse, Ya., irhere they remained encamped until the 28th

of April, when, their two-years' term of service having ex-

pired, they were ordered to Maine, and mustered out at

Portland on the 7th and 8th of May, by Capt. Thomas C.

J. Bailey, of the 17th United States Infantry. The three-

years' men were detached from the regiment on the 26th of

April, organized into a battalion of three companies, and

assigned to duty as Headquarters Guard, 12th Army
Corps.

CASUALTIES IN THE TENTH REGIMENT.

OS PICKET KEAB WINCHESTER, TA., HAT 24, 1862.

William P. Hunilton, oorporal, woanded io the neck ; left in the brick

house, and concealed from the rehels by the inmates.

Frank 0. Boodj, private, slight wound in face.

Charles Bamham, wounded in side and leg.

Thomas M. Glendenning, wounded in leg.

Meierre Geary, wounded in leg ; finger lost.

Charles F. Palmer, slightly wounded.

Bnmbam, Glendenoing, Geary, and Palmer captured next day in

hospital ; afterwards paroled.

Boody captured on the retreat next day ; exchanged in October ; dis-

charged on account of disability from ill treatment. -^.

Burnliam, Glendenning, and Geary discharged on account of disabili^^

from wounds.

DOBIRa BAS^a' BETBEAT, HAT 25, 1862.

Killed.

William A. Hamilton, Co. C, private, at Bncklestown.

Andrew J. Walton, Co. E, at Darksville.

Solomon S. Kennedy, Co. Q, at Darksrille.

Wounded.

Henry Jf. Shaw,* Co. A, corporal, leg ; paroled.

James Mitchell, sergeant, Co. C, head; not captured.

Robert M. Weeks, sergeant, Co. C, arm ; not captured.

Hugh F. McManns,* corporal, Co. D, hand ; not captured.

Charles W. Hammond,* prirute, Co. D, lost arm
;
paroled.

Porter Latham, private, Co. E, buckshot in leg ; not captured.

Piisoners.

Josiah F. Day, assistant surgeon ; George J. Northrnp, hospital stew-

ard, paroled.

Company A: Henry Benson, Joseph H. Chappel, Alsnson M. Little-

bale, George E. Molntire, John Smith, privates.

Company B : Charles F. Allen, paroled ; Luther H. Drake, Leonard

Eustis, Joshua E. Harris, Terrenoe McGuire, Daniel S. Roberts,

died in hands of enemy; John Swett, Jr., Francis Seed, Alonso

R. Small, James M. Tewksbury, Oliver F. Varney, Joseph

Weeks, died in Iiands of enemy; privates.

Company C : Henry A. Flummer, corporal ; Francis O. Boody, cor-

poral; Anthony Divine, died June 10th; John Goodhue, Valen-

tine R. Jackson, William H. Love, Elbridge F. March, Andrew

D. Newbold, William A. Winslow, George M. Wiggin, David

Greely Warner (musician), hospital.

Company D : William Pleasant, oorpornl ; George E. Clark, died in

hands of enemy ; John Erwin, drummer ; Jere Sonoi, private,

discharged ; Alexander Sebastian, private, paroled ; John Whiter

Company E : Hiram T. Cook, corporal ; Thomas Johnson, William

Lowry, privates.

Company F : Charles A. Atkinson, Charles F. Burr, Isaac Ellsworth,

died in hands of enemy ; Fred A. Howard, discharged ; Joseph

Lapham, paroled; Lewis F. Libby, paroled ; Edwin Record, Frank

G. Savage, paroled ; Everard Thing, John W. Townsend.

Company G : Edward Qoddard, corporal, discharged ; James Jordan,

Jason S. Nutting, William U. Pike, died in bands of enemy;

Charles W. Witham.

Company H : Jesse Bishop, Silas Estes, Robert B. Harris, privates.

* Discharged the service in consequence of wounds.

Company I: Edwin Filch, corporal, John W. Greely, Samuel M. Bur-

bank, Benjamin F. Cook, Wm. PI Golden, John Harkin, Charles

H. Quimby, Moses Turner, privates.

Company K : Leonard Jcpson, private.

BATTLE OF CEDAR MODSTAIX, AUOCST 9, 1862.

Oncers.

Killed.—Andrew C. Clondman, captain, Co. E ; James C. Folson, first

lieutenant, Co. H ; Albert W. Freeman, second lieutenant, Co. H,

died August 25th.

Wounded.—John Q. Adams, captain, Co. A ; George H. Nye, captain,

Co. E ; Herbert R. Sargent, first lieutenant, Co. £; Abel G. Ran-

kin, second lieutenant, Co. F.

Priioneri.—John D. Beardsley, first lieutenant, Co. D, captured after

the battle.

Enlleled Men.

ATiV/cd.—Zachariah L. Hamlin, Sewall Phillips (A), Oliver Hiter (B),

Emery B. Pierce (B), George H. Hurd (C), Silas H. Bean (D),

Henry C. Emerson (D), John N. Knowinn (D), Paul Lagassie (D),

Patrick McNally (D), Daniel Plummer (D), Lorenzo D. Merrow

(E), Kuthan B. Whitney (E), Charles W. Marston (F), Selo F.

Charles (G), John Badger (H), Alvin Field (H), GrecnficU T.

Libby (H), Edward P. Verrill (H), Charles H. Ryerson (K).

Mortally Wounded.—Cincinnatns Keyes (A), died August 13th; James

L. Eendrick (A), died August 16th; Charles L. Co. ley (B), act-

ing lieutenant, died September 2lltb; Arthur T. Jurdan (C), died

October 30th ; Charles Lancaster (C), died August 3d ; Thomas

D. Sturtevant (C), died August 25th ; George Weymouth (C), died

August 19th; George J. Campbell (D), died October 1st; Thomas

Lane (D), died August 18th ; Edwin Thompson (D), died Septem-

ber 21st; Charles H. Anderson (£), died August 12th; Rufus E.

Farris (G], died September 5th; James H.Mansfield (Gj, died

August nth; Kenneth S. Bartlett (G), died August 21st; Elden

B. Gray (Q), died October 12th; Henry J. Kicker (U), died

Auguet 17th.

Severely Wounded.—George 8. Ayer, colors (A), discharged; Charles

Sutherland (A), discharged; Christopher C. Spear (A), dis-

charged; Reuben Alexander, color-sergeant (B), discharged ;f

Michael Buckley (B), discharged; Andrew Kerrigan (B), dis-

charged; Benjamin C. Miles')- (B), Almodo B. Smith (B), John

Stone (U), Brasilia S. Cubb (C;, discharged; William R. May-

berry (C), discharged; Byron 6. Plaisted (C), discharged; Wil-

liam 0. Russell (C), Dennis Tighe (C), Edward Donnelly (D),

died September, 1863; Edward H. Hanson (D), discharged; Free-

man W. Johnson (D), Amos Kelley (D), Henry M. Marston (D),

Garrett Moran (D), Nelson McNeil (D), John McNulty (D), dis-

charged; Joseph Smith (D), Benjamin P. Spencer (D), William

S. Noyes (E), William Andrew (E), Charles H. Burnham (E),

Ivory L. Hill (E), discharged, lost arm; Charles H. Haskell, first

sergeant (F), George H. Gould, corporal (F), Thomas A. East-

man (F), George W. Gage (F), John H. Gordon (F), Lewis £.

Pearson (F), Henry Stirk (F), discharged; John A. Trufant (F),

discharged; Joseph W. Cummings (G), Nathan C. Estes (Q), dis-

charged; William B. Merrill (G), Thomas Powers (0), discharged

;

Benjamin Russell, Jr. (G), Theodore Whitney (G), George B. Co-

burn (H), sergeant; George W. Harrodonf (H), discharged;

Samuel F. Irish (H), Charles 0. Fargo (H), discharged; Alonio

F. Murrill (H), discharged; Ezra F. Stereos (H), Virgil True

(H), William H. Trask (U), John Warren (H), Lyman H. Wrightf

(H), discharged; Charles J. Lord, corporal (I), William R. Simp-

son, corporal (I), discharged ; Ephraim K. Baston (I), Henry A.

Batchelder (I), Elisha T. Bisbee (I), discharged; Robert Bisbce

(I), Appleton D. Hill (I), Rufus N. Hill (I), discharged ; Andrew

J. Johnson (I), Edward Kerrigan (I), discharged; Jonathan

Nash (K), Delphinus B. Bicknell (K), Joseph 0. Colley (K).

Slii/htly Wounded.—James F. Tarr (A), Joseph Berwin (A), John

Higginson (A), George W. Kendrick (A), Daniel M. Rowe (A),

Edward W. Loveitt (B), corporal; William H. Pennell (B), cor-

poral; Theodore V. Delano (B), Frank F. Enstis (B), James

Powers (B), John G. Annas (C), William P. Hamilton (C),

Chandler Libby, sergeant (D) ; Thomas S. Bngbee (D), Albert H.

Hutchinson (D), Joseph Lagassie (D), Elias T. Libby (D), Dun-
das McBrien (D), discharged ; AlUn Moran (D), Wm. Sibley ( D),

f Died soon after discbarge.
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Joseph Smith (D), Wm. Walliice (D), Joseph F. Mncklin (E),

corponil (colors) ; John L. Uoyt (£), Wm. A. Huff (E), Ckas. C.

Porter (E), Harrison \V. Smith (E), Eben C. Whittemore (E),

Joseph F. Merrill, sergeant (F), Sumuel R. Grant (F), Abel J.

Knight (F), Henry A. Savage (F), Zebedee Cushm,in, sergeant

(6), rnptored by carrying off woonded on retreat of regiment;

Charles Chnse (G), mn over, trampled on, and badly bruised by

the cnralry after battle; Charles F. Greenleaf (G), Samuel Kno.T,

Jr. (G), prisoner, discharged ; Harrison G. Noble (G), taken pris-

oner; Jamos 8. Widber (G), Ivory W. Emerson (H), Joseph

Brooks (H), Ambrose A. Foster (H), EJwin A. Lane (H), Henry
C. Pratt (H), Charles Richardson (H), Greenleaf Sawyer (U),

David L. Stetson (H), Samnel L. Stevens (H), Henry S. Babb
(I), Nathaniel D. Ripley (I), Aaron D. Cotton (I), Benjamin F.

Dans(I), Andrew J. Hodgdon (I), Cassius C. Roberts (I), Jumes
Wilch (I), Thomas A. Thorn, corporal (K), Hewitt C. Bailey (K),

Houghton Bond (K), Horace J. Cobnm (E), Artemos Coombs
(K), Alonto G. Frost (K), Albert P. Hodsdon (K), John R. Mor-
rill (K), James H. Pio (Kj, George P. Wyman (E).

Takell Prftoitert,

William S. Davis, sergeant (A); Robert Weeks, sergeant (C) ; Otias

Mullen (C), John Miller (D), John 0, Thorn (I).

Total Lot:

Officer;—Killed, 3; wounded, 4; prisoners, 1. Total, 8.

EiUuted Men.—Killed, 20; mortally wuundeJ, 16; severely, 66;

slightly, 64; prisoner?, 5. Total, 171.

Aggregate loss, 179.

PRiaOXERS CA.PTUREO OX POPe'S RETDEAT.

Ass't-Surg. Joseah F. Day, Jr. ; remained at Culpeper Hospital, as

also the following : William W. Knight, corporal; Thomas Dear-

bom, Luther Briggs, Andrew Jackson, Edward F. Elliott, .Tuhn

Brown (D), captured Aug. 29, near Manassas Junction.

AT ANTIBTAV, HD., SEPT. 17, 1862.

Officem.

XiV/eii.—Nehemiah T.Furbish, captain (I) ; Edward Brackett, acting

second lieutenant (D), died September 18; William Wade,

acting second lieutenant (I).

WoHiided.—George L. Beal, colonel, both legs, horse killed; James

S. Fillebrown, lieutenant-colonel, disabled by kicks from Col.

Seal's hone; Alfred L. Turner, first lieutenant (B); Hebron

Mayhcw, first lieutenant (I) ; Albert Kingsley, second lienteniint

(K).
EulieUd Men.

Killed and Wounded.—(Those having no date attached to their names

were killed or died on the day of the battle.) William Brine (B),

Clinton Forbes (B), James E. Jordan (B), John C. McGinty

(B), John Trowbridge (B), Edward W. Bonney (C), Albert E.

Baker (D), died October 8; Henry Campbell (D), George Esty

(D), died October 21; George Stanley (D), James Covell (F),

Marcos C. Bartlett (G), died November 6 ; Luke Eeirstead (G),

died September 18; Solomon S..Mains (G), Vincent Mason (G),

Charles M. Pressy (G), Ezra Towie, died September 27; William

W. Wilkinson, death uncertain; George W. True (H), died Sep-

tember 20; Marshall Bailey (H), died September 28; Hugh M.

Bradbury (H), George J. Fuller (H), Charles H. Wentworth (H),

Benjamin C.Lakin (I), James D. Eaton (E), John Lee (K), died

October 9; Irvin G. Martin (E), died January 23.

Wounded.—Samuel Hanson (A), John Reunion (A), John G. Glcn-

dening (B), disoharged ; Charles Allen (B), Benjamin Blackwood

(B), Robert D. Bond (B), Charles Harris (B), discharged; Thus.

L. Mayberry (B), Edward P. Verrill (B), Henry M. Smith (C),

discharged; John H. Doody (C), David M. Farr (C), Nils A.

Hanson (C), Gorbam P. MoFadden (C), Charles H. Thayer (C),

Charles H. Corson (D), Albert H. Hutchinson (D), Joseph La-

gassie (C), Nicholas Somers (C), discharged; William Waddell

(C), disoharged; Benjamin F. Oakes (E), George A. Smith (E),

Edward P. Warren (E), Charles 0. Milliken (E), Jerome 0. San-

born (E), disoharged; Hugh McGIinchy (F), Osgood F. Floyd

(G), Joseph Enight (G), James L. Merrill (G), discharged;

Isaac Webb (H), discharged; Albert H. Johnson (I), Peter

Clnskey (I), Thomas Murphy (I), discharged; Elmer Chipman

(K), Epfaraim T. Robertson (E), diso'.iarged.

Tvtal Lose.

Officers. -Killed, 3 ; wounded, 4. Total, 7.

EiiliiteU Men.—KMled, 28 ; wounded, 36. Total, 64.

Aggregate loss, 71.

The muster-out roll of this regiment shows the following-

named officers from the county of Cumberknd :

Major, Charles Walker, Portland.

Quartermaster, William S. Dole, Westbrook.

Chaplain, George Knox, Brunswick.

Surgeons, Daniel 0. Perry and Josiah F. Day, Jr.,

Portland.

Sergeant-Major, John M. Gould, Portland.

Quartermaster-Sergeants, Charles F. King and Dana

Hall, Portland.

Commissary-Sergeants, William E. Davis and Robert M.

Weeks, Portland.

Hospital Steward, George J. Northrup, Portland.

Principal Musicians, William Allen, Fife-Major, Gray

;

Alpheas L Greene, Drum- Major, Portland.

Regimental iBund, Second Lieut. Daniel H. Chandler,

Leader, Portland ; Richard T. Bailey, Bridgton ; Osgood

B. Webb, Bridgton ; Walter H. Thomas, Portland ; Ed-

ward C. Webb, Bridgton ; David L. Bknchard, Cumber-

land ; John T. Webb, Bridgton.

Line- Officers.—Company B: Captains, James M. Black,

Alfred L. Turner, Portland. First Lieutenants, Charles

W. Roberts, Portland ; Benjamin F. Whitney, Windham.

Second- Lieutenants, Reuben Alexander, Cape Elizabeth
;

Charles H. CoUey, Gray.

Company C : Captain, William P. Jordan, Portland
;

First Lieutenant, Benjamin M. Redlon, Portland; Second

Lieutenant, Benjamin F. Whitney, Windham.

Company D : First Lieutenant, Charles F. King, Port-

land.

Company E : Captains, Albert H. Estes, Cyrus Latham,

Andrew C. Cloudman, Herbert R. Sargent, Portland ; First

Lieutenant, John M. Gould, Portland ; Second Lieutenants,

Joseph H. Perley, Jr., Henry F. Smith, Portland.

Company F : Second Lieutenant, Charles H. Haskell,

Pownal.

Company I : Captains, Nehemiah T. Furbish, Portland
;

Hebron Mayhew, Westbrook. First Lieutenant, Albert H.

Johnson, Westbrook. Second Lieutenants, John T. Simp-

son, Portland ; William Wade, Charles C. Graham, West-

brook.

Sergeants.—Company A: Nathaniel K. Walker, Portland.

Company B : Charles H. CoUey, Jr., John C. Willoy,

Charles H. Cushman, Stephen Noyes, Jr., Edward W.
Loveitt, Leonard Eustis, Portland; William H. CoUey,

Gray.

Company C : Charles C. Jordan, George H. Hurd, Henry
A. Bumham, Robert M. Weeks, Henry M. Smith, Henry
A. Plummer, Portland ; James E. Mitchell, Yarmouth

;

Reuben M. Riley, Harrison.

Company E : George A. Smith, Charles S. Trowbridge,

Theodore H. Lombard, Hiram T. Cook, Jeremiah H. Doug-

lass, Portland.

Company F : Isaiah S. Stevens, Yarmouth ; Samuel C.

Cushing, Pownal.

Company I : Hezekiah Atwood, Benjamin T. Witham,
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Portland ; Thomas B. Mariner, Sebago ; Henry S. Babb,

William A. Qaimby, Westbrook ;
Edwin Fitch, Bridgton.

Corporal*.—Company B : Francis Seed, David N. Hall,

Daniel £. Mountfort, John G. Glendening, Samuel F.

Davey, Peter W. Gary, Oliver F. Vamey, George T.

Mahan, Benjamin G. Hoyt, Raymond ; T. Wescott, Ben-

jamin L. Blackwood, Frank F. Eostu, Portland ; William

H. Pennell, Gray.

Company C : William P. Hamilton, Portland ; William

H. Coffin, Westbrook; Valentine R. Jackson, William W.
Knight, Mark Rider, Francis G. Boody, George E. Knight,

Charles E. Smellage, John Atcheison, Portland ; Nathan

F. Irish, Bridgton ; Lnther Briggs, Westbrook.

Company E : Asa S. Cox, Harrison W. Smith, CliflFord

J. Trefethen, Joseph F. Mackin, Portland; William S.

Noyes, North Yarmouth ; Amos K. Hodgdon, Windham
;

Edward B. Warren, Standish ; Nehemiah Porter, North

Yarmouth.

Company F : Samuel W. Lovell, Yarmouth ; Lewis E.

Pearson, Portland.

Company H : George A. Green, New Gloucester.

Company I : James L. Fellows, Westbrook ; Nathaniel

D. Ripley, Portland ; John W. Greely, Westbrook ; Wil-

liam R. Simpson, Gray; Cyrus J. Lord, Naples; Peter

Cluskey, Portland ; Cassins C. Roberts, Gray ; William H.

Murphy, Portland ; Seth M. Keen, Harrison.

Muna'caii.—Company B : Henry N. Green, Portland

;

Peter B. Waterhouse, Portland.

Company C ; Frederick W. Stone, David Greely Warner,

Portland.

Company E : - Tamer Cary, Portland ; Mellen Green,

Naples.

Company F : William H. Sewell, Portland.

Company G : Robert H. Murphy, Portland.

Company H : William S. Harmon, Harrison.

Company I : Andrew J. Towle, Westbrook.

Woffonerg.—Company B : Amos Meserve, Raymond.

Company C : John N. Wiley, Bridgton.

Company E : Joshua R. King, Portland.*

CHAPTER XXIX.

TWJliXiPTH: BEQIMENT.

Organiistion—CoL Sh«plej—Butler's New England Dmaion—Begi-

mental Horements—Becroita and Be-enlUted Men.

This regiment was organized as follows

:

Colonel, George F. Shepley, Portland.

Lieutenant-Colonel, William K. Kimball, Paris.

Major, David R. Hastings, Lovell.

Quartermaster, Horatio N. Jones, Portland.

Adjutant, Edward Dsley, Lewiston.

Chaplain, Joseph Colby, Gorham.

Surgeon, James H. Thomson, Orono.

Assistant Surgeon, William T. Black, Calais.

• For roiter of enlisted men, see Towna.

Sergeant-Major, John W. Dana, Portland.

Quartermaster-Sergeant, Charles D. Webb, Portland.

Commissary-Sergeant, Julius Drake, Portland.

Hospital Steward, Sargent S. P. Coe, Portland.

Company A : Captain, Gideon A. Hastings, Bethel

;

First Lieutenant, Eibridge G. Bolton, Portland ; Second

Lieutenant, Charles D. Webb, Portland.

Company B : Captain, George H. Chadwell, Portland

;

First Lieutenant, Charles F. Little, Portland ; Second Lieu-

tenant, S. B. Wiggin, Portland.

Company C: Captain, Charles C. B. Thornton, Scar-

borough ; First Lieutenant, William W. Deane, Westbrook

;

Second Lieutenant, Horatio Hight, Scarborotigh.

Company D: Captain, Elisha Winter, Dizfield; First

Lieutenant, Henry B. Walton, Peru ; Second Lieutenant,

C. C. IlicbardsoD, Dixfield.

Company E : Captain, Enoch Knight, Bridgton ; First

Lieutenant, Horace Eastman, Lovell ; Second Lieutenant,

Hamilton S. Lovell, Windham.

Company F: Captain, Seth C. Farrington, Fryeburg;

First Lieutenant, Abbott Coan, Orono ; Second Lieutenant,

Edward H. B. Wilson, Orono.

Company G : Captain, Moses M. Robinson, Portland

;

First Lieateoant, Stephen B. Packard, Aubnrn ; Second

Lieutenant, William B. Skillin, North Yarmouth.

Company H : Captain, John F. Appleton, Bangor; First

Lieutenant, Daniel M. Phillips, Gorham ; Second Lieu-

tenant, George Webster, Bangor.

Company I : Captain, Menzies B. Fessenden, Portland

;

First Lieutenant, Samuel F. Thompson, Bangor ; Second

Lieutenant, Abram B. Coombs, Bangor.

Company K : Captain, George Washburn, Calais ; First

Lieutenant, James C. Cleaves, Calais ; Second Lieutenant,

Stephen M. Eaton, Gorham.

This regiment was raised, organized, and equipped at the

expense of the general government, and was designated from

the outset to constitute a portion of Maj.-G«n. B. F. Butler's

New England Division for special service. Upon the nomi-

nation of G«n. Butler, Hon. Geoi^e F. Shepley, of Portland,

long district attorney of the United States, and whose repu-

tation as one of the ablest and most eloquent lawyers in New
England is too well known to require mention here, was

appointed colonel of the regiment. At the instance of Col.

Shepley, William R. Kimball, of Paris, formerly United

States marshal, was appointed lieutenant-colonel, and David

R. Hastings, Esq., of Lovell, major. Edward Ilsley, for-

merly of the 5th, was appointed adjutant, and Horatio N.

Jones, Esq., of Portland, quartermaster.

Gren. Butler -and Col. Shepley being desirous that one of

the batteries of light artillery raised in this State should be

permanently attached to this regiment, at the request of the

latter, Capt. Edward W. Thompson, of Brunswick, formerly

of Company D in the 5th R^ment, was appointed to

that command. The clothing, uniform, and equipments

and a complete outfit for this regiment were gotten up by

Col. Shepley's direction and under his constant supervision,

and were equal, if not superior, to those of any regiment

in the service. The organization of the regiment was com-

pleted Nov. 16, 1861, to serve three years, and left Port-

land for Lowell, Mass., on the 2-lth, where, after being
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encamped several weeks, it embarked on board the steam-

ship " Constitntion" Jan. 2, 1862, constituting a part of

Gen. Butler's New England Division, designed for the cap-

ture of New Orleans. On the 19th of January they dis-

embarked at Fortress Monroe, and on the 4th of February

proceeded on their voyage, arriving at Ship Island on the

12th. They remained at Ship Island until the 4th of

May, then proceeded to New Orleans. On the 22d of

June they participated in the expedition to Manchac Pass,

where they engaged the enemy and suffered a loss of four-

teen killed and several wounded and taken prisoners. Sub-

sequently they returned to New Orleans, where they

remained till the 2l8t of October. On that day the regi-

ment removed to Camp Parapet, and on the 19th proceeded

towards Baton Rouge, where they arrived on the 20th of

December. Daring this march they were engaged in

frequent skirmishes with the enemy, but met with few

casualties.

In the spring of 1863, during the early stages of the

campaign for the reduction of Port Hudson, they performed

an important part, assisting in covering the succc8.srul naval

movement under Farragut, which resulted in his passing

the enemy's stronghold with his fleet, and communicating

with the fleet above. Returning to liatun Rouge, they

formed a portion of the expedition under Gen. Grover up

Grand Lake, after which they participated in the Port

Hudson campaign, losing sixty-eight killed and wounded.

On the 7th of July, immediately following the surrender

of Port Hudson, they embarked for Donaldsonville, engaged

the enemy at that place, and there remained about a month,

when they returned to New Orleans. From thence they

proceeded to Ship Island to protect that post from a threat-

ened attack from Mobile, and there remained during the

months of August and September. They then returned to

New Orleans, and remained until Jan. 3, 1864, when they

formed part of an expedition to Madisonville, which place

they occupied till the 11th of March.

On the 12th two-thirds of the regiment re-enlLsted as

veterans. On the 16th of April they were furloughed and

came to Maine, the balance of the men, who did not re-

enlist, remaining in New Orleans. The furloughed men

arrived in Portland on the 27th of April, and re-assembled

there on the 27th of May, when they left for New York,

where they arrived on the 3d of June, and sailed for New

Orleans on the 8th. Immediately upon their arrival at

New Orieans, on the 16th, they were ordered to Carrolton,

and from thence on the 23d to Morganzia, where they ar-

rived on the following day.

On the 3d of July they proceeded to Algiers, and on the

13th sailed for Fortress Monroe, where they arrived on the

20th. From thence they proceeded to City Point, where

they were ordered to report to Gen. Butler at Bermuda

Hundred. Disembarking on the 21st, they proceeded on

the same night to Gen. Butler's position, between the Ap-

pomattox and the James Rivers, and there remained till the

28th, when they participated in the movement of the 2d

Corps and Geo. Sheridan's command across the James.

On the 13th of July they were ordered to Washington,

thence towards the Shenandoah Valley, and joined Gen.

Sheridan's forces at Berryville on the 17th of August. On

the following morning they moved towards Harper's Ferry

as far as Charlestown, and took position, remaining till the

21st, when they retreated to Halltown. On the 3d of

September they proceeded up the valley, and participated in

the battle of Winchester on the 19th, losing in the engage-

ment two commissioned officers killed and six wounded,

twelve enlisted men killed, seventy-eight wounded, and fif-

teen missing. They then joined in the pursuit of the en-

emy to Harrisonburg, where they arrived on the 25th, and

returned to Cedar Creek on the lOtli of October. They

bore an honorable part in the action at that place on the

19th, in which their casualties were as follows: One com-

missioned officer and six enlisted men killed, two commis-

sioned officers and twenty enlisted men wounded, two com-

missioned officers and fifty-one enlisted men missing. On
the 20th of October they moved to Strasburg, and shortly

afterwards returned to their old position at Cedar Creek,

where they remained till the 9th of November. On that

day, with their corps, they moved back to the northern

bank of the Opequan.

The regiment was mustered out of service at Portland,

Me., on the 7th of December, 1864 ; the recruits and re-

enlisted men, however, remaining in the field and being or-

ganized into a battalion of four companies. This battalion

was afterwards ordered to Savannah, Ga., where it was sub-

sequently raised to a full regiment by the assignment of the

10th, Uth, 12th, 13th, 16th, and 18th Companies of un-

assigned infantry, organized at Augusta, Me., in February

and March, 18G5, to serve one, two, and three years.

CHAPTER XXX.

SEVENTEENTH HEGIMENT.

Roster of Field and Staff—Line Officers—Movements at the Front

—

Return Home—Reception.

The 17th Regiment Maine Volunteer Infantry was

made up chiefly of men from the counties of Cumber-

land, Oxford, Franklin, York, and Androscoggin. It was

called into existence in response to the proclamation of the

President made on the 2d of July, 1862, calling for three

hundred thousand volunteei'S to serve for a period of three

years, unless sooner discharged. The regiment was organ-

ized at Camp King, Cape Elizabeth, and mustered into the

United States service Aug. 18, 1862. The field and staff

officers were as follows

:

Colonel, Thomas A. Roberts, Portland.

Lieutenant-Colonel, Charles B. Merrill, Portland.

Major, George W. West, Somerville, Mass.

Adjutant, Charles W. Roberts, Portland.

Quartermaster, Jacob T. Waterhouse, Portland.

Surgeon, Henry L. K. Wiggin, Auburn.

Assistant Surgeon, William Wescott, Standish.

Second Assistant Surgeon, Paschal P. Ingalls, South

Boston.

Chaplain, Harvey Hersey, Calais, Vt.

Sergeant-Major, Henry L. Bartels, Portland.



150 HISTORY OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

Quartermaster-Sergeant, Charles W. RichardsoD, Port-

land.

Commigsary-Sergeant, Josiah Remiek, Portland.

Hospital Steward, Nathaniel B. Coleman, Portland.

Drum-Major, John C. McArdie, Paris.

Company A : Captain, William H. Savage, Portland

;

First Lieutenant, Charles P. Mattocks, Portland ; Second

Lieutenant, James M. Brown, Portland.

Company B : Captain, George W. Mariin, Portland

;

First Lieutenant, Willard M. Jcnks, Fryeburg; Second

Lieutenant, Benjamin C. Pennell, Portland.

Company C: Captain, Augustus Gulderman, Minot; First

Lieutenant, Otho W. Buruham, Poland ; Second Lieuten-

ant, Joseph A. Perry, Portland.

Company D : Captain, Isaac S. Faunce, Lewiston ; First

Lieutenant, Milton M. Young, Lewiston ; Second Lieuten-

ant, John C. Perry, Portland.

Company E : Captain, Ellis M. Sawyer, Cape Elizabeth

;

First Lieutenant, Geoi^e W. S. Fickett, Cape Elizabeth

;

Second Lieutenant, William Roberts, Yarmouth.

Company F : Captain, Albion Hersey, Augusta ; First

Lieutenant, Uriah W. Briggs, Augusta ; Second Lieuten-

ant, James H. Saiford, Portland.

Company G : Captain, Edward L. Merrill, Furniiiigton
;

First Lieutenant, Benjamin G. Ames, Phillips ; Second

Lieutenant, Prescott Newman, Phillips.

Company H : Captain, Almon L. Fogg, Westbrook

;

Fii'st Lieutenant, Dudley H. Johnson, Prcsque Isle ; Second

Lieutenant, Edward Moore, Portland.

Company I: Captain, William Hobson, Saco ; First

Lieutenant, Putnam S. Boothby, Biddeford ; Second Lieu-

tenant, James 0. Thompson, Portland.

Company K : Captain, Andrew J. Stinson, Kittery

;

First Lieutenant, John P. Swasey, Canton ; Second Lieu-

tenant, Madison K. Mabry, Hiram.

The 17th Regiment left Portland for Washington, D. C,

Aug. 21, 1862. On their arrival they occupied a line of

forts on the east side of the Anacosta and north side of

the Potomac until the 7th of October, when they crossed

into Virginia and joined Gen. Berry's brigade of Birney's

division, participating in the battle of Fredericksburg on the

13th of December, in which they lost two men killed and

nineteen wounded. On the 15th they recrossed the Rappa-

hannock, and remained encamped at Falmouth, Ya., until

the 1st of May, 1863, when they took part in the Chan-

cellorsville campaign, engaged the enemy on the 2d and 3d,

and recrossed the river on the 6th. Their casualties in the

campaign were one commissioned officer and five enlisted men

killed ; five commissioned officers and fifty-nine enlisted men

wounded, and forty-five taken prisoners.

On the 2d of July they arrived at Gettysburg, and were

engaged with the enemy on that and the following day,

losing in the engagement one officer and seventeen enlisted

men killed, seven officers and one hundred and five enlisted

men wounded, and two taken prisoners.

On the 27th of November they took a prominent part in

the battle of " Orange Grove," in which their loss was one

officer killed and two wounded ; six enlisted men killed

;

forty-two wounded and missing. On the 1st of December

they returned to Brandy Station, and there remained en-

camped till the 25th of March, 1864, when they were as-

signed to the 2d Brigade, 3d Division of the 2d Army
Corps.

On the 3d day of May they advanced towards the Rap-

idan, which they crossed on the 4th, and participated in

the battle of the Wilderness on the 5th and 6th. Their

casualties during the two days were twenty-four men killed,

one hundred and forty-seven wounded, and twelve missing.

Ou the 12th they participated in the charge of the 2d

Corps upon the enemy's lines, losing three men killed,

forty wounded, and ten missing. From this time until

the 21st, the regiment, although under fire a large por-

tion of the time, did not suifer any loss. On the 23d they

joined the Sth Corp^ near the North Anna River, and

participated in a charge which resulted in driving the enemy

across the river iind gaining possession of the bridge, losing

during the day four men killed and seventeen wounded.

On the 2d of June they marched to Cold Harbor, and on

the 3d and 4th were under fire iu the reserve, several men be-

ing wounded by shells. On the 5th one hundred and twenty-

nine men were transferred to the regiment from the 3d

Maine Volunteers. They remained in the works near

Barker's Mills till June 12tli, when they moved towards

Petersburg, crossing the Chiukahominy on the 13th and

the James on the 14th. Ou the 16lh they made two

unsuccessful attempts to capture the enemy's works, in

which their loss was seven killed, forty-eight wounded,

and five missing ; and on the 18th, in an assault upon the

enemy's lines, they lost six men killed and eighteen

wounded. From this time till July 25th they were en-

gaged in erecting fortifications and doing picket duty. On
the 26th they joined in the expedition across the Appo-

mattox and James Rivers to Strawberry Plains, returning

on the 28th. Subsequently they encamped near Fort Sedg-

wick, where they remained till Feb. 5, 1865, in the mean-

while taking part in the raid on the Weldon Railroad,

under Gen. Warren. On the 5th of February they moved

to Hatcher's Run, and participated in all the movements

and engagements of the 2d Corps in that vicinity until the

29th of March, when they recrossed to Hatcher's Run.

Early on the morning of the 30th they advanced upon the

enemy in line of battle, and secured a position by throwing

up earthworks. At night they moved to the left, and took

position near Boydton Road. On the Ist of May they

left Burksville for Washington, D. C, arriving in that city

on the 15th.

On the 4th of June the regiment was mustered out of

the United States service, at Bailey's Cross-Roads, by Capt.

Charles H. Hays,. A. C. M., under instructions from the

War Department. On the day of muster-out they left for

Maine, and arrived in Portland on the 8th, where the men
were paid, and finally discharged on the 10th. The officers

and men whose term of service did not expire prior to

Oct. 1, 1865, were transferred to the 1st Regiment of

Maine Heavy Artillery.

EECEPTION IN PORTLAND.

As the train entered the depot a salute was fired, and the

cheera of thousands rent the air. A procession was formed,

and moved in the following order

:
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Gen. Chables p. Mattocks (Henry,' Samuel, Jr.,• Sam-

uel,' James,* Samuel,' Charles,* James^) is a descendant in

the eighth generation from James Mattocks, who was horn in

Devonshire, England, and was one of the first settlers of Bos-

ton, Mass.

His great-grandfather, Samuel, was State treasurer of Ver-

mont from 1786 to 1800, and his great-uncle, John Mattocks,

WHS a memher of Congress from Vermont, justice of the Su-

preme Court, and Governor of the State. The family is traced

to Middletown, Conn., Hartford, Conn., and Middlebury, Vt.,

where many of the ancestors were born and died.

His father, Henry, born in Middlebury, Vt., Deo. 12, 1806,

married Martha O. Porter, of Danville, Vt., in 1839. He
was a merchant and banker. For many years he was cashier

of the Caledonia National Bank at Danville ; was succeeded

by his brother, Samuel, and he in turn succeeded by his son,

James B., the family being connected with the history of the

bank for forty years.

Charles P., only son of Henry Mattocks, was born at Dan-

ville, Vt., Oct. 11, 1840. He was fitted for college at Phillips

Academy, Andover, Mass., under Dr. Taylor ; entered Bow-

doin College in 18S8, fi-om which he graduated in 1862.

With that patriotism and manly resolution so fully developed

afterwards upon the battle-field, immediately after the close of

his school work, he' entered the 17th Begiment Maine Infan-

try as first lieutenant, and participated in all the battles of the

Army of the Potomac, from the first battle of Fredericksburg

until the surrender of Lee, except for a period of nine months

when be was a prisoner of war. For gallant and meritorious

services on the field of battle he was promoted through the

various grades of office, and in May, 1866, was brevetted

brigadier-general, to date from Gen. Lee's surrender. For

gallantry and bravery at the battles of Little Sailor's Creek

and Amelia Springs he was brevetted from major to colonel,

there being at that time only two instances during the war

where a double brevet had been given at a single promotion.

In the winter of 1864.66 he was detached from his own
regiment and placed in command of the First United States

Sharpshooters (Burdan's), and while in command at the bat-

tle of the Wilderness was taken prisoner. He was held as a

prisoner of war in the rebel prison-pens at Danville, Va.,

Macon, 6a., and at Charleston, S. C, was placed under fire as

a hostage. He escaped from prison at Columbia, S. C, but

was recaptured in the Smoky Mountains by the detachment

of the Cherokee Indians then in the rebel service. He was

afterwards confined in Danville and Libby prisons until ex-

changed, and although not ordered to do so, he immediately,

by permission of the Secretary of War, rejoined his regiment

(17th Maine), and he with one other were the only two out of

some three hundred ofiicers exchanged at the same time who
participated in the closing campaign. Of the original thirty-

four officers of his regiment only five served three years, and

of the five only Gen. Mattocks and Col. Ed. Moore escaped

without wounds.

Gen. Mattocks was specially mentioned in orders for gallant

services : at the midnight charge at Chancellorsville, at the

battles of Mine Bun and Little Sailor's Creek, and Amelia

Springs: At the last-named place the regiment of two

hundred and twenty men led by him charged upon the rebel

rifie-pits, captured two stand of colors, two pieces of artillery,

about three hundred prisoners, and a heavily loaded wagon-

train belonging to Lee's army.

After the close of the war he read law with Hon. Edward
Fux, now judge of the United States District Court ; entered

Harvard Law School in 18G6, from which he graduated in

1867, and immediately began practice in Portland, Me., where

he has remained in the continuous practice of his profession.

He was appointed county attorney by Governor Chamberlain,

and elected for a full term, serving in 1871-73.

In 1868 he entered the State Militia as captain, and in 1879

as colonel ; he is in command of all the infantry in the State.

Aside from his law business he carries on a large farm in

the town of Baldwin, where his imported thoroughbred stock

and the fine bred stock of his own raising may be seen, second

to none in the State. He married, June 27, 1871, Ella,

daughter of Augustus Bobinson, of Portland.
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Platoon of policemen.

Cavalcade of ex-members of regiment, iTearing the red diamond npon

their breasts.

Band of the 17th United States Infantry.

Portland Commandery of Knights Templar.

City authorities.

Delegation of Burns Clnb, in Highland costume.

American Hose Company.

Ocean Engine Company, No. 4.

Company D, 13th Veteran Reserve Corps.

Wounded of the 17th and 20th Regiments, in carriages.

Band of the 17th Maine Regiment.

17lh Maine Regiment.

Band of the 20th Maine Regiment.

20th Maine Regiment.

The procession moved through some of the principal

streets of the city, and on the roate the veterans were every-

where received with demonstrations ofenthusiasm and cheers

of welcome. The citizens were profuse in their display of

bunting; nearly every residence displayed the American

colors, and many devices and motto«g of welcome. The

public buildings, engine-houses, and stores were decorated
;

the streets were crowded, and the city wore a gala-day ap-

pearance. At the new city buildings an itunieose banner

was suspended from the balconies, bearing the names of the

following principal battles in which the regiment had been

engaged :
" Fredericksburg, Chancellorsville, Cedars, Gettys-

bni^, Wapping Heights, Auburn, Kelly's Ford, Locust

Grove, Mine Run, Wilderness, Todd's Tavern, Po River,

Spottsylvania Court-House, Fredericksburg Pike, North

Anna, Tolupotomy Creek, Cold Harbor, Petersburg, Hare

House, Deep Bottom, Second Deep Bottom, Peeble's Farm,

Hatcher's Run, Second Hatcher's Run, capture of Peters-

burg, Amelia Springs, Little Sailor's Creek."

RECORD OF COMMISSIONED OFFICERS.

We append the following record of the commissioned

officers of this regiment belonging to Cumberland county

:

COLOHEU.

Thomas A. Roberts, Portland, commissioned colonel Aug. 19, 1862;

discharged on account of physical disability, June 3, 1863.

Charles P. Mattocks, Portland, promoted from major May 9, 1865;

mastered out with regiment, June 4, 1*865.

LISnTBHAST-COLOSELS.

Charles B. Merrill, Portland, commissioned lieutenant-colonel Ang.

19, 1862; wounded at Chancellorsville (Cedars), May 2, 1863;

resigned Oct. 3, 1864.

HAJOBg.

Charles P. Mattocks, Portland, promoted from captain, Company A,

Deo. 11, 1863; assigned to command of the Ist Berdan' United

States Sharpshooters, by order from Mig.-Gen. Bimey, March 25,

1864; captured by the enemy at the battle of the Wilderness,

May i, 1864, and held prisoner of war till March 22,- 1865;

appointed breret-colonel for gallant and meritorious conduct at

Ihe battle of Amelia Springs
;
promoted to lieutenant-colonel.

Ellis H. Sawyer, Cape Elizabeth, promoted from captain, Company E,

Oct. 2, 1863 ; killed at the battle of Locust Grove, Nov. 27, 1863

;

not mustered.

Edwin B. Houghton, Portland, promoted from captain, Company H,

May 24, 1865; not mustered; mastered out June 11,1365.

ADJUTANTS.

Charlea W. Roberts, Portland, commissioned adjutant July 30, 1862

;

wounded at Gettysburg, July 2, 1863 ; leg amputated; mustered

out for disability, Deo. 23, 1863.

QDABTERUASTEBS.

Jacob T. Waterhouse, Portland, commissioned quartermaster July 17,

1862 ; died at Washington, Oct. 20, 1862.

Josiah Remick, Portland, promoted from oommissary-sergennt, Oct.

20, 1862; acting assistant quartermaster on brigade staff; mus-

tered out with regiment, June 4, 1865.

ASSISTANT snnoEoxs.

William Wescott, Stnndish, commissioned assistant surgeon July 29,

1862; discharged Dec. S, 1863.

Nathaniel B. Coleman, Portland, promoted from hospital steward

Nov. 10, 1863; muslered out with regiment, June 4, IS65.

Cyrus D. Tuck, Brunswick, commissioned assistant surgeon Jan. 4,

1863; commission declined.

James G. Sturgis, Standish, promoted from hospital steward Oct. 20,

1864; commissioned surgeon of 2d United States Sharpshooters
;

regiment mustered out, and Dr. Sturgis returned to the 17th as

assistant surgeon ; mustered out with regiment, June 4, 1865.

CHAPLAIS8.

Harvey Hersey, Portland, commissioned chaplain Aug. 23, 1862

;

discharged for disability.

Jeremiah Hayden, Raymond, promoted from private, Company C,

March 26, 1863; resigned on account of physical disaliililie!,

Aug. 28, 1863.

J. F. Levering, Portland, commissioned chaplain Xov. 16, 1S63

;

mustered out with regiment, June 4, 1865.

COUPAXT A.

Captains.—AVilliam U. Savage, Portland, commissioned captain July

31, 1863; resigned on account of physical disability, Dec. 4, 1S62.

Charles P. Mattocks, Portland, promoted from first lieutenant, Com-

pany A, Deo. 13, 1862
;
promoted to major.

Fir$t Lienieiiautt,—Charhs P. Mattocks, Portland, commissioned first

lieutenant July 31, 1862; promoted to captain.

James M. Brown, Portland, promoted from second lieutenant. Com-

pany A, Deo. 13, 1862; killed at battle of Locust Grove Nov.

27, 1863.

James S. Robert.-<, Portland, promoted from second lieutenant, Com-
pany B, Dec. 11, 1863; killed at battle of Taylor's Bridge May
23, 1864.

Second Lieiilenantg.—James M. Brown, Portland, commissioned sec-

ond lieutenant July 31, 1862; wounded at battle of Chancellors-

ville, May 3, 1863; promoted to first lieutenant Company A.

Edwin M. Houghton, Portland, promoted from first sergeant Dec. 13,

1862; wounded at Chnnccllorsvillo May 3, 1863; promoted to

first lieutenant Company H.

Grenville F. Sparrow, Portland, promoted from first sergeant June

13, 1863; promoted to first lieutenant Company B.

COMPANY ».

Captain*.—George W. Martin, Portland, commissioned captain July

31, 1862; resigned April 27, 1863.

Benjamin C. Pennell, Portland, promoted from first lieutenant Aug.

15, 1863; killed in action before Petersburg June 7, IS64.

Grenville F. Sparrow, Portland, promoted from first lieutenant June

28, 1864 ; mustered out with regiment June 4, 1865.

Firat Lieutenaittt.—Benjamin C. PcnuL-ll, Portland, oommlssioned first

lieutenant Dec. 5, 1862 ; promoted to captain.

William H. Green, Portland, promoted from second lieutenant Aug.

15, 1863 ;
promoted to captain Company G.

Grenville F. Sparrow, Portland, promoted from second lieutenant.

Company A, Deo. 11, 1863; promoted to captain.

William B. Sturgis, Standish, promoted from second lieutenant. Com-
pany C, June 28, 1864; appointed brevet captain for gallant ond
meritorious conduct at battle of Amelia Springs ; mustered out

with regiment June 4, 1865.

Second Lieutenants.—Benjamin C. Pennell, Portland, commissioned

second lieutenant Aug. 19, 1864 ; promoted to first lieutenant.

William H. Green, Portland, promoted from sergeant Dec. 5, 1862;

wounded at Gettysburg July 3, 1863 ; promoted to first lieutenant.

William H. Sturgis, Standish, promoted from sergeant. Company U,
Dec. 11, 1863 ; transferred to Company G

;
promoted to first lieu-

tenant Company B.

James S. Roberts, Portland, promoted from sergeant Aug. 20, 1863 -

promoted to first lieutenant Company A.

COMPANY c.

Captain:—Edward Moore, Portland, promoted from first lieutenant

Nov. 10, 1863; mustered out with regiment June 4, 1865.
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Firit LieHUnaHli.—Edward Moore, Portland, promoted from second

lieutenant, Company H, March 2, 1863 ;
promoted to captain.

Edward H. Crie, Portland, promoted from second lieutenant, Company

B, April 21, 1S64; promoted to captain Company H.

Second Lieuteuauta,—Joseph A. Perry, Portland, commiifsioned second

lieatenant July 21, 1862 ; appointed mustering-officer for the

regiment at Camp King; promoted to first lieatenant Company
F.

William H. Sturgis, Standish, transferred from Co. B ; promoted to

first lieatenant Co. B.

COSfPAXT D.

Captaint.—John C. Perry, Portland, promoted from first lieatenant

May 22, 1863; wounded before Petersbarg June 16, 1864; dis-

charged on account of wounds Sept. 14, 1864.

Firtt Lienteaanii John C. Perry, Portland, promoted from second

lieatenant Oct. 21, 1862 ; promoted to captain.

Kewton Whitten, Portland, promoted from second lieatenant; wounded

at Gettysburg July 2, 1863; transferred to Veteran Beeerre

Corps on account of wounds Dec. 23, 1863.

James M. Webb, Weatbrook, promoted from second lieutenant, Co. K,

Jan. 13, 1865; wounded at battle of Amelia Springe April 6,

1865 ; leg amputated ; mustered out with regiment June 4, 1865.

Second LieiUeiiante.—John C. Perry, Portland, commissioned second

lieatenant Aug. 19, 1862; promoted to first lieatenant.

Newton Whitten, Portland, promoted from sergeant Feb. 5, 1863;

promoted to first lieutenant.

Stephen OraSam, Portland, promoted from sergeant May 22, 1863

;

wounded at Gettysburg July 2, 1863; discharged Nov. 28, 1864.

Charles 6. Holyoke, Yarmoath, promoted from sergeant-major Miiy

24, 1865; not musterei; mustered oat with regiment June 4,

1865.

COMPAST B.

Captnina,—Ellis M. Sawyer,* Cape Elizabeth, commissioned captain

Aag. 18, 1S62; promoted to m^jor.

William H. Green, Portland, promoted from first lieutenant Deo. 11,

1362 ; transferred to Company G.

First LieutenanU,—George W. Fickett, Cape Elizabeth, commissioned

first lieutenant Aug. 8, 1862; died Sept. 24, 1862.

Frederick A. Sawyer, Portland, promoted from second lieatenant Nov.

10, 1862; wounded at Locust Grove Nov. 27, 1863; di»:harged

for disability Sept. 24, 1864.

Second LieHtenauta.—William Roberts, Yarmouth, commissioned

second lieutenant Aug. 19, 1S62 ; transferred to Company G.

Frederick A. Sawyer, Portland, promoted from sergeant Feb. 11, 1863

;

promoted to first lieutenant.

Herman Q. Mason, Portland, promoted from first sergeant Nov. 10,

1863 ; commission declined.

Edward U. Crie, Portland, promoted from sergeant-major Feb. 16,

1864 ;
promoted to first lieutenant Company C.

coKPA^r^ y.

Captains.—Joseph A. Perry, Portland, promoted from first lieutenant

Aug. 15, 1863; mastered out with regiment June 4, 1865.

First LieHleuaiils.—Joseph A. Perry, Portland, promoted from second

lieutenant. Company C, March 2, 1863 ; promoted to captain.

Henry L. Bartels, Portland, promoted from second lieutenant March

10, 1864; wounded at battle of Wilderness May 6, 1864; dis-

charged on acoonnt of wonnda Oct. 3, 1864;

Second Lieutenants,—James M. Safford, Portland, commissioned

second lieatenant Aug. 19, 1862; resigned.

Henry S. Bartels, Portland, promoted from sergeant-major Aug. 15,

1863 ;
promoted to first lieatenant.

Jordan M. Hall, Casco, promoted from sergeant April 21, 1864;

wounded before Petersburg June 16, 1864 ; discharged on account

of woanda Oct. 1, 1364.

OOMPAJTT O.

Captains.—William H. Green, Portland, transferred from Company
E ; appointed brevet-major for gallant and meritorious conduct

at battle of Amelia Springs April 6, 1865 ; mustered out with

regiment June 4, 1865.

First LieutenanU.—William Roberts, Yarmoath, promoted from

second lieutenant, Company E, Dec. 1, 1862; di«:harged for

diwbility Aug. 5, 1863.

COUPAXT H.

Captains.—Almon L. Fogg, Weatbrook, coramiasionei captain Aug.

19, 1862 ; wounded at Gettysburg July 2, 1863 ; died from wounds

July 7. 1863.

Edwin B. Houghton, Portland, promoted from first lieatenant Nov.

10, 1863; actiftg assistant inspector-general on brigade aod di-

vision staff; wounded at Spottsylvania May 12, 1864.

Edward H. Crie, Portland, promoted from first lieutenant. Company

C, May 4, 1S65 ; not mastered ; mastered out with regiment June

4, 1865.

First Lieutenants.—Edwin B. Hoaghton, Portland, promoted from

second lieatenant. Company A, June 13, 1863; promoted to cap-

tain.

Joseph S. Hobbs, Falmouth, promoted from second lieutenant Oct.

20, 1862; promoted to first lieatenant Company C.

Second Lieutenants.—Edward Moore, Portland, commissioned second

lieatenant Aog. 19, 1862; promoted to first lieutenant. Com-

pany C.

Ralph U. Day, Weatbrook, promoted from sergeant March 2, 1863;

resigned May 26, 1863.

George A. Whidden, Weatbrook, promoted from sergeant Aug. 15,

1 863 ; promoted to first lieutenant. Company I.

Joseph S. Hobbs, Falmouth, promoted from sergeant, Company A,

April 21, 1864; wounded at battle of Wilderuess, May 6, 1864;

wounded before Petersburg, Sept. 10, 1864; promoted to first

lieutenant.

Horace B. Cammings, Portland, promoted from corporal Feb. 9,

1865; mustered out with regiment June 4, 1865.

COMPAXr 1.

First Lieutenants.—James 0. Thompson, Portland, transferred from

Company K; promoted to captain, Compaoy K.

George A. Whidden, Weatbrook, promoted from second lieuteoant,

Company H, Dec. 11, 1863 ; wounded in action before Petersburg,

Oct. 24, 1864; promoted to cuptain. Company K.

Second Lieutenants.—Jamea 0. Thompson, Portland, commissioned

second lieuteoant Aug. 19, 1862; promoted to first lieutenant.

Company K.

Thomas Snowman, Portland, promoted from sergeant Jan. 25, 1865;

mustered out with regiment June 4, 1865.

COXPAST K.

Captains.—James 0. Thompson, Portland, commissioned captain

Aug. 19, 1862; resigned Oct. 3, 1862.

George A. Whidden, Weatbrook, promoted from first lieatenant. Com-

pany I, Oct. 20, 1864; not mastered owing to disability on ac-

count of wounds received in action ; discharged Jan. 28, 1865.

First Lieutenant.—Jamea 0. Thompson, Portland, ' commissioned

first lieutenant Feb. 11, 1863; wouoded at Chancellorsvilie, May
3, 1863 ;

promoted to a<^utant.

Second Lieutenant.—James M. Webb, Weatbrook, promoted from ser-

geant. Company H, Oct. 20, 1864; promoted to first lieutenant,

Company D.

CHAPTER XXXI.

T-vrsiJsrrY-FivTS and TWUNTsr-irawTH bbqi-
ICBNTS.

Organization and Movements—Officers from Cumberland County in

the Twenty-fifth—Organization aod Movements of the Twenty-

ninth—Official Record.

TWENTY-FIFTH REGIMENT.

This r^ment was organized at Portland, Sept. 29, 1862,

to serre nine months. On the 16th of October they left

for Washington, D. C, arriving in that city on the 18th.

Having been assigned to the 3d Brigade of Casey's di-

vision, they moved on the 26th to a camping-ground on

Arlington Heights, on the north side of Colombia turn-

pike, immediately in front of the line of earthworks fur



TWENTY-FIFTH REGIMENT. 153

the defense of Wasbington. There they remained till

March 24, 1863, continually engaged in guarding Long

Bridge on both sides of the Potomac, and in building forti-

fioadons. On the 24th of March they moved to Chantilly,

Ya., on the Little River Tampike, and there remained en-

gaged in picket duty till the 26th of June, 1863, when
they returned to Arlington Heights. On the 30th of June
they started for Maine, and arrived at Portland on the eve-

ning of July 3d. On the 10th of July the regiment was

mustered out of the United States service by Capt. Francis

Fessenden, 19th United States Infantry, and the men paid

and finally discharged on the same day.

The following is the final record of the oflScere of this

regiment who served from Cumberland County

:

Colonel, Francis Fessenden, Portland.

Lieutenant-Colonel, Charles E. Shaw, Portland.

Major, Alexander M. Tolman, Portland.

Quartermaster, Henry Pennell, Gray.

Assistant Surgeon, Cyrus K. Bowker, Raymond.
Assistant Suigeon, Wm. H. True, Freeport.

Chaplain, Edward B. Furbish, Portland.

Sergeant-Major, George 0. Gosse, Portland.

Quartermaster-Sergeant, Freeman B. Clark, Portland.

Commissary-Sergeant, William Graham, Jr., Westbrook.

Hospital Steward, Charles K. Packard, Raymond.

Drum-Major, Samuel D. Dean, Westbrook.

Members of the Band*—S. T. Brown, Sebago ; William

Brown, Sebago ; John E. Brooks, Yarmouth ; Amasa F.

Cummings, Brunswick ; J. J. Doughty, Windham
; Chas.

P. Graves, Portland; Albion K. P. Grant, Westbrook;

Woodbury S. Libby, Gray ; Charles G. Milner, Portland.

Company A.—Frank L. Jones, Captain, Portland ; (Jeo.

H. Abbott, 1st Lieutenant, Portland ; Charles B. Hall, 2d

Lieutenant, Portland; Sergeants: Cyrus H. Ilsley, Port-

land; Frederick H. Small, Portland; Charles M. Dyer,

Westbrook; Edward C. Swett, Portland; Charles B.

Shaw, Portland ; Corporals : Charles 0. Cole, Portland

;

Charles E. Sowerby, Portland; Luther W. Dana, Port-

land ; Geoige W. Lowell, Portland ; Frederick A. Paine,

Portland ; Timothy Mahony, Yarmouth ; Albert G. Grale,

F'onland ; Nicholas E. Boyd, Portland ; Charles F. Cum-

mings, Horace 0. Davis, Musicians, Portland.

Company B.—Edward N. Greely, Captain, Falmouth

;

Levi M. Prince, 1st Lieutenant, Portland ; Hollis R. Mount-

ford, 2d Lieutenant, Cumberland ; Sergeants : Edward

Schoonmaker, Portland ; George H. McEenney, Portland

;

John D. Hademan, Porthind ; Charles B. Strout, Portland

;

Charles E. Waterhouse, Portland ; Corporals : James A.

Tracy, Portland ; Byron Leighton, Portland ; Benjamin

Bishop, Portland ; Horatio Greely, Cumberland ; George

F. Coe, Portland ; Frederick W. Hatch, Portland ; Augus-

tus H. Prince, Portland; Musicians: Nathaniel B. Wilson,

Falmouth ; Charles A. Ring, Porthind.

Company C.—Charles H. Doughty, Captain, Gray;

Whitman Sawyer, First Lieutenant, Raymond ; George F.

Andrews, Second Lieutenant, Otisfield ; Sergeants: Henry

T. Simpson, Gray ; Samuel P. Cummings, Gray ; Joseph

4t Miutered u brigade band of let Brigade, A berorombie's dirision,

Jan. 28, 1863.
*
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Spiller, Raymond ; George Hoyt, Naples ; Mark K. Morse,

Otisfield ; Corporals : David Lawrence, Gray ; William C.

Dickey, Gray; Joseph H. GoflF, Gray; Washington Cash,

Raymond; Anson J. Holden, Otisfield; Albert E. Hall,

Naples ; James M. Jordan, Raymond ; Otis L. Lathan,

Musician, Gray ; Elbridge Wight, Wagoner, Otisfield.

Company D.—Chester A. Greenleaf, Captain, Bruns-

wick ; David Pennell, First Lieutenant, Harpsweil ; Alfred

D. Stetson, Second Lieutenant, Brunswick ; Sergeants

:

Charles J. . Noyes, Brunswick ; Benjamin L. Dennison,

Brunswick ; William H. Stimson, Brunswick ; Corporals

:

Charles J. Perkins, Brunswick; Elias D. Pierce, Bruns-

wick ; George L. Randall, Harpsweil ; Joseph G. Richards,

Brunswick ; Charles L. York, Brunswick ; Abizer F. Snow,

Musician, Brunswick ; Daniel H. Nudd, Wagoner, Bruns-

wick.

Company E.—Elisha Newcomb, Captain, Westbrook
;

George B. Stevens, Firat Lieutenant, Westbrook ; Edmund
P. Merrill, Second Lieutenant, Westbrook; Sergeants:

Frank G. Stevens, Westbrook ; Dominicus C. Wakefield,

Westbrook ; Moses G. Roberts, Westbrook ; Edward K.

EoUock, Westbrook ; John W. Newton, Westbrook ; Cor-

porals: Mark P. Waterman, Westbrook; Joel S. Wood-
bury, Westbrook ; Silas H. Cram, Westbrook ; Benjamin

F. Bixby, Westbrook ; Freeman T. Merrill, Westbrook
;

AlpheuB Fogg, Scarborough ; Nathan L. Huston, West-

brook ; William C. Stevens, Scarborough ; Musicians : J. 0.

Quinby, Edward R. Harmon, Westbrook ; John Meserve,

Wagoner, Westbrook.

Company F.—Thomas W. Harris, Captain, Gorham
;

Samuel T. Johnson, First Lieutenant, Windham ; Charles

Jones, Second Lieutenant, Windham ; Sergeants : Webb
Hall, Windham ; Clinton B. Hooper, Windham ; Peter

Stewart, Windham ; William W. CoUey, Gorham ; Sumner

C. Bolton, Windham ; Corporals : Elias R. Howard, Gor-

ham ; George L. Cobb, Windham ; Enos B. Hale, Gorham
;

Joseph S. K. Swett, Gorham ; Carlyle W. Shaw, Gorham

;

Franklin Hanson, Windham ; Ai Bolton, Standish ; Ivory

Phillips, Gorham ; Horace M. Davis, Musician, Portland
;

Charles E. Emery, Wagoner, Windham.

Company G.—George W. Randall, Captain, Freeport

;

John C. Kendall, First Lieutenant, Freeport; Alvan F.

Bucknam, Second Lieutenant,Yarmouth ; Sergeants: Henry
C. Brewer, Freeport ; Albert Gooding, North Yarmouth

;

Robert W. Sherman, Freeport; Nathaniel W. F. Sweetsir,

North Yarmouth
; Corporals : William P. Kendall, Free-

port ; John D. Mann, Freeport ; Abraham N. Rowe, North

Yarmouth; William E. Bucknam, Yarmouth; Edward
P. S. Andrews, Freeport ; Albion Ward, Freeport ; Charles

A. Pride, Cumberiand ; Mark M. Mitchell, Freeport ; Ben-
jamin F. Hamilton, John Hamilton, Musicians, North Yar-

mouth ; Arthur Johnson, Wagoner, Freeport.

Company 5;—Charles C. Chase, Captain, Portland;

John H. Knight, First Lieutenant, Portland; Ebenezer

Hutchinson, Second Lieutenant, Cape Elizabeth ; Sergeants

:

William C. Brooks, Portland ; Frank S. Winslow, Yar-

mouth ; Alfred H. Whitmore, Portland ; Charles S. Jor-

dan, Porthind; Almon L. Chase, Portland; Corporals:

John N. EUingwood, Cape Elizabeth; David Y. Harris,

North Yarmouth ; Henry H. Westcott, Portland ; William
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A. Steele, Portland ; Joseph Mann, Portland ; Asa F.

York, Yarmonth; George F. Hitchings, Jr., Portland;

John McLeod, Portland ; Tbomas J. Long, Musician, Port-

land; Charles B. Eenney, Musician, Cape Elizabeth; Na-

than Q-. Nash, Wagoner, Windham.

Company I.—Ezekiel Westcott, Captain, Cape Eliza-

beth ; Edmund W. Dyer, First Lieutenant, Cape Elizabeth

;

John P. Carswell, Second Lieutenant, Pownal ; Sergeants

:

George E. Brown, Cape Elizabeth ; Thomas H. Haskell,

New Gloucester; Zadoc A. Rowe, New Gloucester; Ed-

ward I. Woodbury, Cape Elizabeth ; Augustus C. Staples,

Cape Elizabeth ; Corporals : Edward H. Grover, New
Gloucester ; Gideon Bnrbank, Cape Elizabeth ; Heniy P.

Miller, Cape Elizabeth ; Edwin Roberts, Cape Elizabeth

;

Joshua Brackett, Cape Elizabeth ; Hiram Staples (2d), Cape

Elizabeth ; Alexander Higgins, Scarborough ; Simon Foye,

Musician, Scarborough ; Eugene S. Palmer, Musician, Cape

Elizabeth ; John S. Wright, Wagoner, Cape Elizabeth.

Company K.—Samuel L. Davb, Captain, Standish ; Asa

C. Palmer, First Lieutenant, Gorham ; Seba S. Brown,

Second Lieutenant, Baldwin ; Sergeants : Isaac D. Sawyer,

Standish ; John W. Sanborn, Standish ; George A. Hunt,

Gorham ; William S. Phinney, Sebago ; John H. Frasier,

Portland ; Corporals : Edward Harding, Gx)rham ; Elisha

Douglass, Gorham ; Edward R. Wentworth, Sebago ; Thomas

F. Storer, Sebago ; Samuel Dingley, Gorham ; Joseph Files,

Jr., Gorham ; Augustus S. Hutchinson, Standish
; John

Meserve, Sebago ; Benjamin F. Shaw, Musician, Sebago

;

George N. Gumey, Musician, Baldwin ; Jame; Phinney

(2d), Wagoner, Gorham.

TWENTT-NINTH KEGIMENT.

This regiment, with the exception of Companies A and D,

was organized at Augusta, Me., from Nov. 13, 1863, to

January, 1864, to serve three years. Companies A and D
were transferred from the 10th Maine Battalion, then ser-

ving with the 12th Army Corps in Tennessee, and joined •

the remainder of the regiment at New Orleans, La. The

regiment left Augusta, Jan. 31, 1864, and embarked at

Portland, February 2d, on board the steamship " De Molay,"

for New'Orleans, at which place it arrived on the 16th.

On tliC 20th they left Algiers for Brashear City, thence

proceeded to Franklin, arriving on the 2lst, and were as-

signed to the 2d Brigade, 1st Division, 19th Army Corps.

On the 16th of March they left for Alexandria, on the

Red River ; arrived there on the 26th, and lay in camp till

the 29th, when they were transferred to the 1st Brigade.

On the 8th and 9th of April they were engaged in the

battles of Mansfield and Pleasant Hill, La., and rendered

most effective service. Subsequently they retreated with

the army to Grand Ecore, La., which they reached on the

11th. On the 23d they assisted in driving the enemy at

Cane River Crossing, and reached Alexandria, La., on the

26th. They remained at that place until May 12th, and

while there assisted in building the famous dam which

saved the fleet. On the 13th of May they proceeded to-

wards the Mississippi River, which they reached on the

20th, and on the 22d went into camp at Morganzia Bend,

where they remained until July 2d, on which day they left

for New Orleans, reaching that city on the 3d. On the

6th they left in steamship " Clinton," for Fortress Monroe,

Va., arriving on the 12th, when, being ordered to Wash-

ington, they marched to Harper's Ferry, Va., and partici-

pated in all the marches and movements of the Army of

the Shenandoah, including the battles of Winchester,

Fisher's Hill, and Cedar Creek, in all of which they ren-

dered most effective service. On the 18th of October,

1864, Company A, Capt. John Q. Adams, transferred from

the 10th Maine Battalion, was mustered out and discharged

from the United States service, its term of service having

expired, and its place was filled by the first company of un-

assigned infantry, Capt. Edward S. Butler, organized at

Augusta, Me., to serve one year from Sept. 16, 1864.

On the 1st of January, 1866, the regiment was encamped

near Stevenson's Depot, Ya., attached to the Ist Brigade,

1st Division, 19th Army Corps, and from March 31st to

April 19th were occupied chiefly in marching to given

points for special service. On the 20th they took cars for

Washington, D. C, and on the 4th and 6th of May did

guard duty at Washington Arsenal over the assassins of

President Lincoln. On the 23d they participated in the

grand review at Washington with the Army of the Potomac.

On the 31st of May, Company A (Capt. Butler), one

year's men, and all whose term of service expired prior to

Oct. 1, 1866, were ordered to be mustered out of the United

States service.

On the Ist of June the regiment embarked at Alexan-

dria, Va., on board steamship " Ariel," for Savannah, arri-

ving there on the 6th, and on the 14th and 16th proceeded

to Georgetown, S. C. The regiment was divided into de-

tachments, and occupied the following stations, all in Sonth

Carolina, viz. : railroad bridge on the Pedee River, Kings-

tree, Marion, Florence, Darlington, and Society Hill, with

headquarters at Darlington. Their duties were arduous,

and consisted in part in assisting in the making of contracts,

and investigating the complaints made by fteedmen and

planters. On the 27th of March, 1866, they were ordered

to Hilton Head, S. C, which they occupied, with detach-

ments at St. Helena Island and Seabrook, until June 21st,

when the regiment was mustered out of the United States

service by Lieut. H. S. French, A. C. M. Department of

the Carolinas. On the following day they embarked on

board steamer for New York, arriving on the 26th at Hart's

Island, New York Harbor, where, on the 28th of June,

the men were paid and finally discharged.

The following commissioned officers served in this regiment

from Cumberiand County : John M. G«uld, major, Portland,

resigned March 24, 1866 ; Alphens L. Greene, adjutant,

Portland ; Joeiah F. Day, Jr. , surgeon, Portland ; Corne-

lius D. Maynard, quartermaster-sergeant, Portland; Frank-

lin H. Eaton, sergeant-major, Portland ; William E. St.

John, commissary-sergeant, Portland ; Samuel H. Jumper,

New Gloucester, sergeant-major; Jacob J. Hammond,
Westbrook, principal musician ; Benjamin M. Redlow,

captain Company B, Portland ; William P. Jordan, captain

Company G, Portland ; Henry M. Smith, second lieutenant

Company C, Portland ; Charles C. Graham, first lieutenant

Company D, Westbrook; Charles H. Haskell, Pownal,

second lieutenant Co. D ; Cyrus T. Waterbouse, Portland,

second lieutenant Company E.



THIRTIETH REGIMENT. 155

CHAPTER XXXII.

THIBTIETH BBGIMENT.

OiBoers from Cumberland Coanty—The Regiment in the Serrioe^

Officers from the County in other Regiments and Batteries

—

Home Ouards.

The following were the commissioned officers of the 30th

Regiment from Cnmberland County : Francis Fessenden,

Portland, colonel, promoted to major-general ; Gleorge W.
Randall, Freeport, lieutenant-colonel; John C. Kendall,

Freeport, adjutant, promoted to captain CompanyE ; Charles

F. Larrabee, Portland, adjutant ; Francis H. Coffin, Port-

land, quartermaster ; Thomas H. Breslio, Portland, assist-

ant surgeon, died June 17, 1864; Geoi^ E. Moulton,

Westbrook, captain Company 6 ; Whitman Sawyer, Ray-

mond, captain Company C ; G«orge W. Randall, Freeport,

captain Company E ; John C. Randall, Freeport, captain

Company E ; Levi M. Prince, Portland, captain Company

F ; Frank L. Jones, Portland, captain Company I ; Royal

T. Nash, Gray, captain Company K ; Henry Green, Free-

port, first lieutenant Company B ; Henry T. Simpson, Gray,

first lieutenant Company C ; Abraham N. Rowe, Yarmouth,

first lieutenant Company E ; Henry E. Cleaves, Bridgton;

first lieutenant Company F ; Charles B. Ball, Portland, first

lieutenant Company I ; Franklin E. Holmes, Portland,

second lieutenant Company B ; George A. Green, New
Gloucester, second lieutenant Company H ; Barrett H.

Beale, Portland, second lieutenant Company H ; William

H. Motley, Portland, second lieutenant Company I.

The 30th Regiment was oi^nized at Augusta, Me., from

Dec. 12, 1863, to Jan. 8, 1864, to serve for three years, and

on the 7th of February left for Portland, where they em-

barked on board steamer " Merrimac" for New Orleans, ar-

riving in that city on the 16th. On the 18th they moved

by railroad from Algiers to Brashear City, and thence by

steamer up Bayou Teche to Franklin, where they were as-

signed to the 3d Brigade, 1st Division, 19th Army Corps.

From February 19th to March 14th, inclusive, they re-

mained encamped at Franklin, and on the 15th entered

upon the Red River campaign. On the 8th of April they

took an honorable part in the battle of Sabine Cross-Roads,

and on the 9th in that of Pleasant Hill. Their loss in

both engagements was eleven killed, sixty-six wounded, and

seventy-one missing. They afterwards retreated towards

Grand Ecore, which place they reached on the 11th. On

the 21st of April they resumed the retreat, and the 23d

took a most prominent part in the engagement at Cane

River Crossing, from which position—considered almost im-

pregnable—they drove the enemy. Their casualties in this

engagement were two officers and ten enlisted men killed,

two officers and sixty-seven enlisted men wounded, and seven

enlisted men missing. On the 25th of April they reached

Alexandria, La., and on the 13th of May continued the re-

treat towards the Mississippi River, which they reached on

the 22d. They remained encamped at Morganzta Bend

until the 2d of July, when they embarked for New Orleans,

thence on the 11th for Virginia. On the 18th they reached

Fortress Monroe, and were immediately sent to Deep Bot-

tom, where they were employed in picket duty and in raising

temporary earthworks. From Deep Bottom they were trans-

ported to Washington, whence they marched to Harper's

Ferry, Va.

During the latter part of August and early in Septem-

ber they participated in the numerous movements of the

Army of the Shenandoah. In September their brigade was

detached from its division, and so continued till October 26th.

Although in this interval the regiment was engaged in ar-

duous and responsible duties, it failed to share the glory of

Gen. Sheridan's battles and victories in September and

October. On the 26th of October they rejoined their di-

vision at Cedar Creek, Va., thence, on the 9th of Novem-

ber, moved to a position between Kearnstown and Newton,

and on the 30th of December went into camp at Stevenson's

Depot, four miles north of Winchester.

Soon after the 1st of January, 1865, they moved and

occupied Winchester, Va., where, on the 8th of January,

they were joined by three companies formed of the re-en-

listed men and the recruits of the 13th Maine Volunteers,

and which had been assigned to their regiment by special

order Nov. 18, 1864; The consolidation was completed in

the month of January, under the immediate orders of Gen.

Sheridan, the 30th being formed in seven companies and

retaining the field and staff' officers without change. The

men of the 13th Maine were organized into a battalion of

three companies, commanded by officers of their own regi-

ment. The two battalions were then united and the con-

solidation effected by the muster-out of five commissioned

officers of the 30th and a few non-commissioned officers of

both regiments. The companies of the 13th were lettered

B, H, and K in the new organization. They remained at

Winchester till the 10th of April, when they proceeded

towards Washington, reached that city on the 21st, and on

the 26th encamped in the vicinity of Port Meigs, where

they remained till the 2d of June. In the mean time they

foi-med a part of the line of sentinels stationed around

Washington until after the capture of the assassins of Presi-

dent Lincoln, and subsequently did guard duty at the

Washington Arsenal, where the trial of the conspii-atoi's

was being held. On the 22d of May they took part in the

grand review of the Army of the Potomac, and on the 2d

of June were transferred from the 3d Brigade, 1st Division,

19th Corps, to the 2d Brigade, same division, with which

tlTey left on the 30th for Savannah, Ga., arriving in that

city on the 7th of July. They remained on duty at Sa-

vannah till the 20th of August, when the regiment was

mustered out of the United States service, on which day

they left for- Maine, arriving on the 24th at Portland,

where the men were paid and finally dbcharged on the

29th.

COMMISSIONED OFFICERS FROM CUMBERLAND COUNTY IN

OTHER REGIMENTS AND BATTERIES.

Firit Regiment District of Columbia Cavalry.—Thomas
C. Webber, Gorham, Captain ; Charles C. Chase, Portland,

Captain
; James Maguire, Portland, First Lieutenant.

Second Battery Mounted Artillery.—Samuel Paine, Sr.,

Portland, First Lieutenant ; Samuel Fessenden, Sr., Port-

land, Second Lieutenant ; Charles E. Stubbs, New Glouces-

ter, Second Lieutenant.

First Veteran Infantry.—Ai Waterhouse, Gorham, As-
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Bistant Snigeon ; J. Augustine Qrenier, Portland, Second

Lieutenant Co. B ; Joseph E. Walker, Portland, Captain

Co. D ; Lemuel C. Small, Brunswick, Second Lieutenant

Co.(J.

Some Guard, Co. B.—Thomas Connor, Portland, Lieu-

tenant ; James Staples, Portland, First Lieutenant ; James

F. Staples, Portland, Second Lieutenant.

Sixth Regiment Infantry.—ZenaH Thompson, Deering,

Chaplain.

Seventh Regiment Infantry.—William M. Cushman,

Portland, Captain ; Charles H. Gilman, Portland, Captain
;

George B. Knight, Portland, Lieutenant ; Joseph E.

Walker, Portland, Lieutenant.

Eighth Regiment Infantry.—Charles E. Howard, Port-

land, Lieutenant; Thomas S. Hutchins, Portland, Lieu-

tenant.

Ninth Regiment Infantry.—Risworth Rich, Portland,

Colonel ; James Furbish, Portland, Adjutant ; Charles F.

Weeks, Portland, Captain ; Joshua Qt. Ross, Portland, Com-

missary-Sergeant ; John L. Emerson, Portland, Lieutenant

;

Henry A. Gray, Portland, Lieutenant.

Eleventh Regiment Infantry.—William M. Shaw, Port-

land, Major; Charles J. Pennell, Portland, Adjutant;

Woodbury Pennell, Portland, Captain ; John M. Beal,

Portland, Lieutenant ; Royal T. Nash, Portland, Captain

;

Albert Maxfield, Windham, Captain; Charles H. Scott,

Portland, First Lieutenant ; Charles 0. Lamson, Bridgton,

Second Lieutenant; Joseph F. Keene, New Gloucester,

Second Lieutenant.

Fourteenth Regiment Infantry.—Wm. Westoott, Stan-

dish, Assistant Surgeon ; G«orge H. Cheney, Portland,

Captain.

Fifleenth Regiment Infantry.—Charles 8. Dsley, Port-

land, Captain ; Lawrence J. Joyce, Brunswick, Captain
;

John C. Cobb, Windham, Lieutenant ; Francis 0. S. Howe,

Standish, Lieutenant ; John Fitzgerald, Brunswick, Lieu-

tenant.

Twentieth Regiment Infantry.—Joshua L. Chamberlain,

Brunswick, Colonel, promoted to Brigadier-General ; John

M. Brown, Portland, Adjutant, promoted to Captain Co. A
and A. A. G. ; Abner 0. Shaw, Portland, Surgeon ; Wm.
W. Morrill, Brunswick, Captain, killed May 8, 1864;

Howard L. Prince, Cumberland, Captain ; Geoige W. Fun
bish, Portland, First Lieutenant ; James H. Nichols, Bruns-

wick, First Lieutenant ; Joseph Fuller (2d), Brunswick,

First Lieutenant.

Twenty-third Regiment Infantry.—Horace C. Little,

Bridgton, Captain; Henry B. Cleaves, Bridgton, First Lieu-

tenant ; Granville Fernold, Harrison, Second Lieutenant.

Tvoenty-geventh Regiment Infantry Edward M. Rand,

Portland, Adjutant.

Thirteenth Regiment Infantry.—Neal Dow, Colonel, Port-

land ; Frederick Speed, Adjutant, Gorham ; Seth C. Gor-

don, Assistant Sui^on, Gorham ; Henry D. Moore, Port-

land, Chaplain ; Charles R. March, Portland, Captain ; Isaac

F. Quimby, Westbrook, Captain ; Augustine Clough, Port-

land, Lieutenant ; Isaiah Randall, Portland, Lieutenant

;

John H. Sherburne, Portland, Lieutenant ; Aaron Wing,

Weetbrook, Lieutenant; George E. Moulton, Westbrook,

Lieutenant.

Thirty-first Regiment Infantry.—John H. Kendall,

Bridgton, Surgeon ; Henry 8. B. Smith, Brunswick, As-

sistant Surgeon ; Herbert R. Sargent, Portland, Captain

Company C ; Thomas P. Beals, Portland, Captain Company

H ; Henry G. Mitchell, Portland, Second Lieutenant .Com-

pany H.

Thirty-second Regiment Infantry.—John M. Brown,

Portland, Lieutenant-Colonel ; John H. Kendall, Bridgton,

Surgeon, transferred to 31st ; Heniy 8. B. Smith, Bruns-

wick, Assistant Surgeon, transferred to Slst ; Herbert R.

Sargent, Portland, Captain, transferred to Slst ; Joseph B.

Hammond, New Gloucester, Captain Company D ; George

H. Chadwell, Portland, Captain Company H ; Thomas P.

Beals, Portland, Captain Company H, transferred to Slst

R^ment ; Charles F. Burr, Freeport, First Lieutenant Com-

pany C ; Henry G. Mitchell, Portland, Second Lieutenant

Company H, transferred to Slst Regiment.

First Regiment Cavalry.—John Goddard, Colonel, Cape

Elizabeth ; Eustis Bigelow, Quartermaster-Sergeant, Port-

land ; Nathan Mayhew, Captain, Portland ; Stephen Booth-

by, Lieutenant, Portland ; John H. Goddard, Lieutenant,

Portland ; Jarvis C. Stevens, Lieutenant, Portland.

Sharpshooters.—James D. Fessenden, Portland, Captain.

Fifth Battery Mounted Artillery.—(Jeorge F. Leppien,

Portland, Captain ; William F. Twitchell, Sr., Portland,

First Lieutenant ; Ezra Clark, Jr., Portland, Second Lieuten-

ant; Edward N. Whittier, Gorham, Second Lieutenant;

Charles 0. Hunt, Gorham, Second Lieutenant.

Seventh Battery Mounted Artillery.—Loriin E. Bundy,

Portland, First Lieutenant.

Dhasngned Companies.—Aaron Ring, Westbrook, Cap-

tain ; Geoi^e L. Fickett, Portland, Captain ; Newman Smith,

Brunswick, First Lieutenant ; Henry Green, Freeport, First

Lieutenant ; J. Frank Kendall, Bridgton, First Lieutenant

;

Joseph W. Doughty, Windham, First Lieutenant ; Frederick

D. Lovell, Portland, First Lieutenant ; Charles Bennett,

Bridgton, Second Lieutenant ; Horace Wilson, Gorham,

Second Lieutenant; Gilman Webster, Portland, Second

Lieutenant.

Sixteenth Infantry.—Greorge W. Edwards, Gorham,

Second Lieutenant Company B ; Henry P. Herrick, North

Yarmouth, Second Lieutenant Company D; Thomas C.

Wentworth, Gorham, Captain Company F ; Oliver H.

Lowell, Gorham, First Lieutenant Company F.

First Regiment Heavy ArtiUery.—Thomas H. Talbot,

Portland, Lieutenant-Colonel.

FKrst Regiment Maine Cavalry.—John H. Goddard,

Portland, First Lieutenant Company E ; Stephen Boothby,

Portland, Captain Company F ; Walstein Phillips, First

Lieutenant Company F ; William F. Stone, Second Lieu-

tenant Company H.

Sixth Battery First Mounted ArtiUery.—Edwin B. Dow,

Portland, Captain; Orville W. Merrill, Portland, Second

Lieutenant; Jeremiah Giirdnier, Portland, Quartermaster-

Sergeant.

Second Regiment Sharpshooters.—^Daniel L. Cummiugs,

Portland, First Lieutenant.

Fourth Infantry.—Seth C. Hutchins, Windham, Sur-

geon ; Solomon S. Steams, Portland, First Lieutenant Com-

pany F.



MISCELLANEOUS. 157

Nineteenth Infantry.—Almon Goodwin, Baldwin, Second

Lieutenant Company C.

Second Cavalry.—Rodolph L. Dodge, Portland, Second

Lieutenant Company C.

HOUS aUABD.

It was deemed necessary that the city of Portland and

its commerce should be afforded some protection from the

depredations of privateers, and Capt. James Staples' com-

pany of Home Guards was placed in occupation of Fort

Scammel, commanding the entrance to the harbor, in July,

1861. They occupied this sUtion till the 13th of Sep-

tember, 1862, when, in accordance with orders from the

War Department, they were mustered out and discharged

from the United States service.

During the pendency of the draft, Capt. John M. Beal's

company of State Guards—a most efficient military organi-

zation at Portland, well armed and equipped by the State

—

were by General Order No. 8, of June 27, 1863 (which

received the subsequent approval of the Secretary of War),

called into service upon the requisition of Hon. Jacob Mc-

Lellan, mayor of the city, and remained in active duty at

Portland and vicinity as a picket guard upon the shores

adjacent to the ship channels, guarding all the approaches

to the inner harbor, and partially manning the incomplete

fortifications until Aug. 19, 1863, when they were mustered

out of the service by General Order No. 16, of that date.

Some sixteen privates and three non-commissioned officers

of this company were retained in the service as a guard at

the State Arsenal, and for occasional picket duty elsewhere,

until the 15th of September, when they were finally dis-

charged from iiirther active duty.

During the draft of 1863, the counties of Cumberland

and York constituted the First Military District, with head-

qnarteiB at Portland. C. H. Doughty, provost-marshal

;

Edward S. Morris, commissioner ; Theodore M. Jewett,

M.D., surgeon.

CHAPTER XXXIIL

UIBCIlI«IiA:EnBOU8.

The "Taoonj" Affair—Qnarters and Camps—Bonntiea—Relief for

Soldien' Families—The Draft.

THE TACONT AITAIS.

" The prompt and vigilant action on the part of the civil

authorities in capturing the officers and crew of the rebel

bark 'Tacohy,' in the harbor of Portland, on the 26th of

June, 1863," says the adjutant-general of the State, " forms

one of the most brilliant pages in the history of the war,

and will ever be remembered as a gallant and praise-

worthy affair." We extract the following account of this

transaction from the Adjutant-General's Report for 1863,

pages 15 to 23, inclusive:

" The commander of the ' Taoony' was Lieat. C. W. Read, a commis-

sioned officer of the rebel navy. For some time he had pursued his

depredations on the eoast, when, learning that Federal cruisers were

after him, and fearing reeognition, he oaptored, June 24th, the fishing

schooner ' Archer,' of Soutbport, ninety tone, and after transferring

everything to her, burned the 'Tacony.' The 'Archer' was then

headed for Portland for the purpose of cutting out the United States

revenue cutter, * Caleb Cushing,' lying in the stream, and of destroy-

ing the uncompleted United States gunboats ' Pontoome' and ' Aga-

wam,' moored at Franklin wharf, as' well as other shipping in the

harbor. While on the way, two fishermen of Falmouth,—Albert P.

Bibber and Elbridge Titoomb,—who were hanling their trawls in a

small boat about eight miles to the southeast of Bamariscore Island,

were captured by Read, whose intention was to use them as pilots, but

they refused to serve, and were shortly afterwards confined below.

" About sunset the ' Archer' came to anchor to the eastward of

Pomeroy Rock, off Fish Point in Portland Harbor. At this place the

rebel cruisers remained, waiting for the hour to arrive when they

should carry their daring enterprise into execution. The clearness of

the night, it is believed, deterred them from accomplishing the whole

of their audacious purpose. Between the hours of one and two

o'clock they approached the ' Caleb Cushing' with muffled oars. She

was heavily armed, provided with two months' provisions, and was

under order to cruise in search of the ' Tacony' ; but on account of

the illness and death of her commander, Capt. George Clark, she was

delayed until the arrival of a new commander, and was in charge of

Lieut. Davenport. The cutter was boarded on each side by Read and

his companions, who were armed with revolvers and cutlasses. No
sooner were they on deck than they quickly seized and ironed the

watch. The unusual noise that occurred aroused Lieut. Davenport

from his slumber, who, as be came upon deck, was seized, together

with the crew, about twenty in number, all of whom were ironed and

placed below. Having obtained possession of the cutter, the anchor

was weighed, being unable to ship cable, and at about three o'clock

she was towed out of the harbor by placing two boats ahead,—pro-

ceeding seaward by the way of Hnssey's Sound, thus avoiding the

forts,—followed by the 'Archer,' which sent a boat to her containing

Bibber, who was placed on board. Read passed through the passage

between Cow Island and Hog Island, standing out to sea by Green

Islands. At ten A.u. he was about fifteen miles from the city, when

the wind died away and left him becalmed.

"The seizure of the cutter was first made known about half-past

seven o'clock, when she was discovered proceeding outward, from the

Observatory on Muzgoy Hill. The news circulated like wild-fire, and

in a short time the city was wild with excitement. Hon. Jedediah

Jewett, collector of the port, was promptly informed of the loss of

the cutter, and with characteristic energy he immediately com-

menced making preparations for the pursuiL The steamer ' Forest

City,' Capt. Liscomb, and a smaller steamer called the ' Casco,' to-

gether with the steam-tug ' Tiger,' were chartered by that gentleman.

A detachment of thirty men from the 17th United States Infantry at

Fort Preble was placed aboard the ' Forest City,' besides two rifle

twelve-pounders with a sufficient quantity of ammunition. About

one hundred citizen volunteers went aboard. The steamer was placed

under the charge of Robert A. Bird, Esq., deputy collector of the

port, assisted by Lieut. Merriman, who had arrived that morning to

take command of the nutter. A detachment from the 7th Maine Vol-

unteers, under A4jt. Nickerson, wa« placed aboard the 'Tiger.'

While these preparations were going on, Mr. Jewett proceeded to

charter the New York steiimship ' Chesapeake,' Capt. Willetts, which

he found had already been spoken for by Hon. Jacob MoLellan,

mayor of Portland, and J. B. Brown, Esq., and under the direction

of the mayor, assisted by Mr. Wm. F. Leighton, naval inspector, was

being put in readiness for pursuit. Bales of cotton were so disposed

as to afford protection to those on her deck, as well as to her engines.

Two six-pounders from the State Anenal were placed forward, and

put under the charge of Lieut. George Waldron, of the revenue

service, and Mr. George J. Berry, United States Naval Engineer,

who selected as larboard gunner J. L. Gardiner, a volunteer who had

seen service with Farragut on the Mississippi River, and John C.

Camber, of Company G, 7tb Regiment, an old man-of-war's man, to

whom was given charge of the starboard gun. William Bigelow and

William Tumbull, two volunteers, were also designated as assistant

gunners. Col. Mason, of the 7th Regiment Maine Volunteers, with

a detachment of twenty-seven men from the same regiment under

Capt. Henry Warren, also went aboard, together with a number of

patriotic citizens, who volunteered their services, and who were fur-

nished with arms by Mayor MoLellan, and placed under the command

of Mr. F. R. Harris, by order of Col. Mason. Plenty of ammunition.
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together with provisions for forty-eight hours, were taken on board.

William WiUard and Alfred S. Leigbton were directed to serve as

pilots. The command of the ' Chesapealce' was given to Mr. William

F. Leighton.

" In the mean time the ' Forest City' had taken her departure, leav-

ing Fort Preble at about eleven o'clock. The tng ' Tiger* followed

closely after. The cntter was seen heading southeast. ,When the

' Forest City' came within range, Lieut. Bead opened upon her with

one round cartridge from his thirty-two-pounder amidships, but with

no effect. He also fired six round shots at her from his twenty-fonr-

pound howitier forward, each of which shots fell short. No flag was

shown by him. The ' Forest City* then laid to, waiting for the

' Chesapeake' to come up.

"The course of the 'Chesapeake,' after she left the wharf, was

sontheastj bnt when the first gun was fired Mr. Leighton, after oon-

snltatioD with CoL Mason, concluded to steer for the cutter and at-

tempt to run her down. The guns were ordered to be shotted, and

those on l>oanl were assigned to their positions. The fifth shot from

the cutter brought a response from the ' Chesapeake.' It was pro-

nounced a beautiful line shot, and elicited the praise of those on

board, bnt it fell short.

" The ' Forest City' then moved slowly towards the ' Chesapeake,'

when the latter slackened her speed, and, after a brief consultation,

it was decided that the ' Chesapeake' should run the cntter down, the

' Chesapeake' being a propeller and better prepared.

" Under a full head of steam the ' Chesapeake' proceeded directly

for the cutter, the air ringing with the cheers of those on board,

echoed bock with patriotic fervor by those on board the ' Forest City.'

Steadily she kept on her course until within two miles of the cutter,

when a boat was seen lowered from the cutter freighted with men,

who were supposed to be boarders, and preparations were accordingly

made to receive them. At the same time another shot came skipping

over the water, which fell short. The boat, on approaching nearer,

was found to contain Lieut. Davenport and the cutter's crew, who

had been set adrift with their irons on. On their being taken aboard

and placed below another shot came from the cutter, and the grape

went shrieking through the rigging of the ' Chesapeake' with bnt

trifling injury. The blind and window of Capt. Willett's room on the

upper deck, between the fore and mainmasts, were also perfonited by

two minie-balls, which, it is supposed, were fired at Mr. Leighton •

about this time, who afforded a prominent mark while standing on the

upper deck. At this crisis the rebels abandoned the cutter, after hav-

ing fired her, taking to the two boats. The * Chesapeake' ran within

half a mile of the cntter, but not deeming it prudent to approach

nearer, as it was known that the fire was directly over the magazine,

she stood away, keeping, however, in that vicinity.

" Meanwhile the ' Forest City' pursued the two boat-loads of rebels,

who were making for the Harpswell shore, overhauling tbem and

taking them prisoners without any resistance. She also picked up

Bibber, who had been set adrift in his boat when the cutter was off

Cod Ledge.
' At two o'clock the magasine of the cutter, containing four hundred

ponndii of powder, exploded with a terrible concussion. The fate of

the 'Caleb Cushing' being decided, the expedition returned to the

city. On the way the ' Aroher,' with the remaining three of the ' Ta-

oony's' crew and Titcomb, the captured fisherman, was cnught by the

< Forest City,' while she was trying to escape, and taken in tow. All

of the rebel prisoners, numbering twenty-three, were landed at Fort

Preble, where they were placed in close confinement.

" The brilliant achievement of the expedition was honored by the

ringing of bells and firing of cannon, and the wharves and every

available point were alive with*people on its arrival, who indulged in

other joyous demonstrations.

" The prompt and efficient action of Collector Jewett merited the

wannest approval of Hon. S. P. Chase, Secretary of the Treasury. In

an autograph letter to Mr. Jewett the Secretary writes

:

[coPT.]

" Tbkasukt Sbpabtmeht, July 3, 1863.

" Sir : I have received and read with great interest your detailed

report of the seiiore of the cutter * Cushing,' and the measures taken

by yon for her recapture.

" Your promptness and efficiency, resulting in the capture of the

piratical rebels and their veesel, and the liberation of Lieut. Daven-

port and the crew of the cutter, merits and receives my entire appro-

bation and earnest thilnks. I request you to convey also to Col.

Mason and the volunteers under bis command, to the commander of

Fort Preble, and to the officers of the steamers employed, my thanks

for the service so promptly rendered at your request.

" I am very respectfully,
" S. P. Chase,

" Secretary of the Treasury,
" Jbdediah Jewett,

" Collector, dbc, Portland, Me,''

"At a meeting of the city government of Portland, July 6th, i»

resolution passed both branches, tendering the thanks of the City

Council to William F. Leighton, United States Navy ; George J.

Berry, United States Navy ; Col. M. E. Mason, of the army, and bis

command; Capt. Willetts, of the steamer 'Chesapeake'; Capt. Lis-

comb, of the steamer ' Forest City,' and to all others engaged in the

enterprise, for their most valuable services in the successful attack on

the pirates who seised the cutter ' Caleb Cushing,' in which attack the

pirates not only lost their prize, but were themselves captured with

the vessel to which they had transferred their most necessary weapons

of offense, with which they intended to pursue their nefarious depre-

dations upon our commeroe.

" The following is a list, as far as I have been able to obtain, of

those citizens who volunteered their services on the ' Chesapeake'

:

John Qreen, F. B. Furlong, S. S. Murray, H. C. Wood, Edward

Oraffam, C. K. Babb, N. J. Miller, Jr., 0. M. Marratf, J. W. Brack-

ett, S. W. Prince, William Leavitt, M. McBridr, W. H. McAllister,

E. Efner, Charles Gordon, H. E. Ham, F. C. Emery, D. M. Patch, F.

Robinson, George Newell, J. 8. White, T. C. Lewis, Henry Foy, C.

Marwick, W. E. S. Whitman (reporter Daily Evening Courier), W. H.

Fessenden, F. V. Carney, J. M. Gould, Howard Gould, Clarence Ab-

bott, E. 0. Haile (reporter Daily Argue), Henry Fox, J. G. Lewis, C.

S. Akers, Ed. Hall, J. S. Winslow, Frederick Ilsley, James Doughty,

F. B. Harris, Charles Knapp, J. L. Gardiner, William Bigelow, Wil-

liam Turnbull, J. C. Camber, H. B. Brown, Rev. J. W. Lovering.

" I haye been unable to obtain a list of those on the ' Forest City.'

" The following is a list of the cutter's men captured by the rebels

:

Lieut. Davenport, George R. Plummer, Byron S. Blish, Robert P.

Davis, Samuel A. Prince, John Avilline, Peter Warren, Benjamin

Ashby, John Matson, George McCarty, George H. Rand, Edward

Mahomey, Edward J. W. Morris, Charles Wilson, Henry Finnegan,

Dickson Wescott, John Hayes, John Collins, Thomas Hefran, Alex-

ander Hayden, James Bush.

" On reaching the ' Archer,' the twelve-pounder brass howitzer,

which was on board the ' Tacony,' was found, together with arms and

ammunition ; also the burgee of the ' Tacony,' with the name upon it,

and other flags belonging to that vessel ; also the chronometer, and a

tin case containing vessels' papers, charts, log-book, and private jour-

nals, giving operations of the 'Tacony.' Ttvo barrels of beef were

also found.

" When Lieut. Read was taken, he delivered to Capt. Liscomb, of

the ' Forest City,' his private carpet-bag containing papers, registers,

etc., of the various vessels he had captured, inclosed in a tin case.

Over $300,000 worth of bonds given by the various vessels he had

captured were recovered."*

In a letter written by Lient. Read, while at Fort Preble,

to Lieat. Babson, confined in Fort Lafayette, he says,

—

" It was my intention when I came to Portland to cot out a sea-

going steamer, but strange to say, at the deoisire moment, Mr. Brown
(whom you irill remember in connection with the breaking down of

the 'Arkansas' engine) declared himself incompetent to work the en-

gines of the steamer unless he had another engineer to co-operate

with him. All my plans were thus crushed, and I was compelled to

take the cutter out as a dernier reetort. If there had been a breeze

we would have been far out at sea before daylight, having committed
considerable destmction in the harbor of Portland."

MISCELLANEOUS.

Under the head of " Quarters," the adjutant-general, in

his report for 1861, remarks,

—

* For list of vessels taken by him see Adjutant-General's Report,

1863, pages ?1, 22.
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"The municipal authorities of Portland, from the commencement
of military operations, promptly offered the State the use of so much
of their new and splendid city bailding as was necessary to initiate

and carry forward to completion all such organizations as it was

deemed advisable to rendesrous at or near that locality. The 1st, 5th,

6th, lOtb, and 12tb Regiments were thus accommodated with head-

quarters for the various staff duties. The 1st Regiment, upon its return

to Portland, was there mustered out of serrice, and the 2d Regiment,

Col. Jameson, was quartered there one night on its way to Washing-
ton. This occupation was unavoidably more injurious to the prem-

ises than that of almost any other character ; hence the greater obli-

gation of the State to that city for its prompt appreciation of the

necessities of the service and its liberal provision for the emergency."

BOUNTIES.

Uetarns of bounties paid for enlistmeDC of soldiers by the

several towns of the county of Cumberland under calls for

troops by the President from the outbreak of the Rebellion

to Feb. 1, 1864, are as follows:

Baldwin $10,000.00
Bridgton 19,880.00
Brunswick 31,400.00
Cape Elisabeth 31,700.00
Casco 7,500.00
Cumberland 18,688.83
Falmouth. 18,232.49
Freeport 22,070.00
Gorham 32,515.00
Gray 20,095.00
fiarpswell 7,750.00
Harrison 7,977.00
Naples 9,069.00
New Gloucester 12,500.00
North Tarmonth 12,380.00
Otisfield. 12,100.00
Portland 134,136.00
Pownal / 9,410.00
Raymond. 9,800.00
Scarborough 17,030.00

Sebago 8,250.00
Standish 20,690.37
Westbrook (including Deering) 42,000.50
Windham 28,645.00

Yarmouth 16,905.00

Total for county $610,912.19

AID TO SOLDIERS FAMILIES.

The following statement shows the amount furnished by

the several towns of Cumberland County for soldiers' fami-

lies under the Acts of March 19, 1862, and March 25,

1863, as per records of the executive council.

Baldwin $856.24
Bridgton 2,007.51
Brunswick 6,451.42

Cape Elijabeth 2,774.11
Casco 932.32

Cumberland 920.57
Falmouth 1,028.63

Freeport _ 2,080.69
Ctorham 3,858.71
Gray 585.96
Harpswell 1,.S05.89

Harrison 479.65
Naples 1,040.40

Now Gloucester 1,620.70
North Yarmouth 107.47

Otisfield 176.16

Portland 30,3.39.73

Pownal 439.44
Raymond 1,550.77
Scarborough 1,834.55

Sebago 217.17
Standish 1,463.16

Westbrook (including Deering) 5,902.75

Windham 2,387.16

Yarmouth 1,930.86

Total for county $72,294.01

DRAFT FROM JULY, 1863, TO JANUARY 1, 1864.

This county was included during the draft in the first

Congressional district, with headquarters at Portland. The

district was divided into sab-districts corresponding with

the towns, and numbered alphabetically.

Board of Enrollment.—Charles H. Doughty, Provost-

Marshal ; Edward S. Morris, Commissioner ; Theodore

Jewett, M.D., Surgeon.

There were drafted in this county 1883 men ; 357 fur-

nished substitutes, 83 paid commutation, and 24 entered

the service. The balance, 1415, were exempted for disa-

bility and other legal causes.



CITY OF PORTLAND.

Portland is the chief commercial city of the State of

Maine^ and the seat of justice of Camberland County. It

is situated upon a neck of land about three miles long and

three-fourths of a mile in average width, nearly surrounded

by water, having in front of it, in Fore River, the finest

harbor on the coast, and in its rear, Back Cove, a body of

water also accessible to shipping at high tide. The islands

attached to the city comprise an aggregate area of nearly

3000 acres, viz.: Peaks, 750 acres; Long, 912; Bangs,

266 ; House, 20 ; Great Diamond (otherwise Hog Island),

468 ; Little Diamond, 80 ; Crotch, the part appertaining to

the city, 114 ; Hope, the city's portion, 2 ; Little Chebeague,

80 (the remainder of the island, about 20 acres, being at^

tached to Cumberland) ; Jewels, 221 ; Cow, 28 ; Ram, 18
;

Marsh, 14; Crow, Overset, Pumpkin, Kuob, and Green

Islands might add 20 acr^ more. The geographical posi-

tion of the custom-house in the city, as determined by the

United States coast survey in 1874, is latitude 43° 39'

28" north, and longitude 70° 15' 18" west from Greenwich.

Portland was incorporated as a city in 1832, after having

passed through two hundred years of eventful experience

from the date of its first settlement, having been twice de-

stroyed by the Indians and once burned by the British. It

owes its original settlement in 1632 to a contest in regard to

the title to land at the mouth of the Spurwink River, between

Winter, as the agent of Trelawny, on the one part, and

G-eorge Cleaves and Richard Tucker on the other. Winter

succeeded in the Provincial Court in sustaining the title of

Trelawny, and the ejected parties sought refuge upon the

Neck, now Portland. This Neck, Cleaves declared, " was

known first by the name of Machigonne, being a neck of

land which was no man's possession or occupation, and

therefore he seized upon it as his own inheritance by virtue

of a royal proclamation of our late sovereign lord King
James, of blessed memory, by which he freely gave unto

every subject of his which should transport himself over

into this country, upon his own chaise, for himself and for

every person he should transport, 150 acres of land." He
further declared that he continued the occupation from year

to year, under this possession, without interruption or de-

mand from any, at the end of which time, being " desirous

to enlarge his limits in a lawful way, addressed himself to

Sir Ferdinando Gorges, the proprietor of this province, and

obtained, for a sum of money and other considerations, a

warrantable lease of enlargement, bounded as by relation

thereunto had, doth, and may appear."

This statement is made in an action which Winter

brought against Cleaves in 1640, to recover possession of

this tract too, claiming the whole under a grant to Tre-

lawny ; in this he failed, and Cleaves was lefl in full posses-

sion. This is the origin of Portland, which was first called
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Cleaves' Neck, then Munjoy's Neck, and sometimes Casco

and Old Casco, from its position on Casco River and Bay.

The lease referred to bears date January 27th in the

twelfth year of the reign of Charles I., whose reign began

March 29, 1625, which would make the date Jan. 24, 1637.

It is an indenture " between Sir Ferdinando Gorges, ofAshton

Phillipes, in the county of Somerset, Knight, of the one

party, and George Cleaves, of Casco, in the province of

New Somerset, in New England, in America, Esquire, and

Richard Tucker, of Casco, aforesaid, Gent., of the other

party." It recites the consideration of £100 The fol-

lowing is the description of the premises

:

" All that part, purpart, and portion of land in America, parcel of

Kew England in America, hereafter in theae presents described, . . .

that is to say, that part, etc., of lands beginning at the farthermost

point of a neck of land called by the Indians Machigonne, and now
and forever henceforth to be called and knovm by the name of Sto-

gnmmor, and so along the same westerly as it tendeth to the first fall

of a little river issuing out of a very small pond, and from thence

orer land to the falls of Presumsca, being the first falls on the river

upon a straight line, containing, by estimation, from fall to fall, near

about an English mile, which, together with the said neck of land

that the said George Cleaves and the said Bichard Tucker have plant

I
for divers years now expired, is estimated in the whole to be 1500

I acres or thereabouts, as also one island adjacent to the said premises,

and now in the tenor and occupation of the said George Gldaves and

j

Bichard Tucker, commonly called and known by the name of Hogg
Island."

The term of the lease was two thousand years, by paying

the yearly rent of two shillings the hundred for every hun-

dred acres. Possession was given June 8, 1637, by Arthur

Mackworth, who lived on the point at the mouth of Pre-

sumpscot River, which, with the island opposite, are called

Mackey's, a corruption of his name.

This lease is the origin of the titles to a large portion of

this domain, containing, it is apparent, much more than

1500 acres, as held at this day. Cleaves, on his return

with his lease, brought over his son-in-law, Michael Mitton,

with his &mily, and leased to him 60 acres under authority

from Goi^es,—Peaks (then called Pond) Island, at the

mouth of the harbor; and afterwards, Jan. 1, 1651, con-

veyed to him 100 acres of land at Clark's Point on the

Neck, " adjoining his dwelling-house, which he had pos-

sessed for ten years." And in 1668 he conveyed to him

a further tract, beginning at the point of rocks where

Sawyer's wharf was built, and extending west to his other

purchase and across to Back Cove.

Cleaves and Tucker parcelled out their lands to various

persons on the Neck, at Back Cove, and on the Presump-

scot, under whom it is now, in many cases, held, particu-

larly and most prominently the Bramhall title, embracing

the hill at the western end of the Neok, which bears his

name ; the Braokett title, extending from Bramhall's down
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below High Street, and stretching across the town ; and

the Blunjoy title, covering the promontory at the eastern

end of the Neck nearly up to India Street. The fii-st of

the original deeds is from Cleaves to Hope Allen, dutcd

May 23, 1660, from whom the property cauie to George

Bramhall, who lived and carried on a tannery under the

hill, and who was killed there by the Indians in the second

Indian war. The original deed from Cleaves of Munjoy

Hill is dated September, 1659, and was made to John

Phillips, of Boston, whoso only daughter, Mary, George

Munjoy married about 1652. Munjoy, who came from

Boston, was an accomplished man, and for many years an

must active and useful citizen, and a magistrate of the town.

His family held the property until the resettlement of the

town in 1718, when they sold it to some speculators who

were then purchasing old titles. The Brackett title de-

scended from Cleaves, whose only daughter, Elizabeth,

married Michael Mitton. Mitton's daughter, Anne, married

Anthony Brackett, and his daughter, Mary, Thomas Brack-

ett, Anthony's brother, whose descendants retained a large

portion of the property until after the Revolution, parting

with it gradually as the wants of the town pressed upon it.

Thomas Brackett was killed near his dwelling-house, in the

neighborhood of Clark's Point, in 1676, by the Indians,

and Anthony by the same enemy, on his farm at Buck

Cove (since the Deering farm) in 1689. Thaddeus Clark,

from whom Clark's Point derives its name, came from

Ireland, married Elizabeth, another daughter of Michael

Mitton, and lived near the Point. His. eldest daughter,

Elizabeth, married Capt. Edward Tyng, distinguished in

the history of Massachusetts, and his youngest, John

Graves. Mitton had but one son, Nathaniel, who was killed

by the Indians, unmarried, and thus the name became ex-

tinct. But the blood of the first settlers flows through in-

numerable and honored channels scattered far and wide

through the country.

George Cleaves erected hb house fronting the Bay just

east of India Street, and his cornfield stretched westerly to

near Clay Cove. In his deed to Phillips we have the fol-

lowing description

:

''AH that tract, parcel, or Neck, ia Casco Bay, and now io poa-

BeesioD of me, the eaid Qeorge Cleavea, on which my dwelling-house

stundeth, by the meted and hounds herein expresfled,- that is to say,

to begin at the point of land commonly called Machigonne, and be-

ing northeasterly from my said house, and so along by the water side

from the bouse southwesterly to the southwest end of my cornfield."

George Munjoy lived a little east.* Phillips did not

* The following deposition given by John Alliset in Boston, May

6, 1736, states some interesting facts on this subject :
" John Allisot,

aged aboot eighty years, testifyeth and saith, that he formerly lived

in Falmouth, in Cusco Bay, and that he well knew Mr. George Cleaves

and Mr. George Munjoy-, and Mary his wife, with whom he lived

eight years, and that there is a certain run of water about twenty

rods distant from the Fort Point, lying about north from the said Fort

PoinL That he well remembers that George Cleaves had a house and

lived therein, which was upon the northerly side of said run of water;

that he also well remembers that there was a meeting-house built on

a. point of Mr. Munjoy's land, bearing about northeast or easterly

from Mr. Munjoy's house."

The magician's wand has touched all those old spots. The " run

of water" referred to was carried down to the beach in an aqueduct

for the supply of vessels. The Portland Company's Works took the

place of the old " meeting-house," which stood on Jordan's Point.

21

come here to reside : he, in connection with Munjoy, car-

ried on a large business in lumber, and the latter purchased

an extensive tract at Saccarappa, including the falls there,

which was afterwards called the Cooper Claim. Phillips

was a merchant in Boston, and deacon of the Old North

Church ;- he died there in 1683.

The name of Falmouth was given to the town by the

commissionei-s of Massachusetts, in July, 1658, when that

province extended her jurisdiction over the western part of

Maine. They say " Those places formerly called Spurwink

and Casco Bay, from the east side of Spurwink River to

the Clapboard Islands, in Casco Bay, shall run back eight

miles into the country, and henceforth shall be called by

the name of Falmouth." This conventional name could not

and did not supersede the familiar Indian names by which

particular spots are designated, such as Spurwink, Purpoo-

duc, Capisic, Saccarappa, and Casco.

Previous to the first Indian war, in 1675, the settlements

increased with considerable rapidity ; by 16G0 they had

extended from Martin's Point on the Presumpscot, which

took its name from Richard Martin, its earliest occupant,

round Back Cove to Fore River. At Purpooduc were the

Phippens, Whites, Stannafords, Penleys, and Wallises ; at

Spurwink, the Jordans, with their ancestor. Rev. Robert,

at their head, who married Winter's only child. On the

Neck, which had not so many advantages for agriculture,

and which was occupied by large proprietors, these were

fewer in numbers. Cleaves occupied the eastern extremity,

Milton's family the western, and Tucker the central part.

At the commencement of that war there were over forty

families in the whole town, five or six of whom were upon

the Neck, viz., Thomas Brackett, Thaddeus Clark, George

Munjoy, John Munjoy (his son), George Burroughs (the

minister), Elizabeth Harvey (the daughter of Cleaves),

who had married a second husband after the death of Mit-

ton, who was also dead, and who died herself in 1682.

The Munjoys occupied the eastern end of the Neck, and

Brackett and Mrs. Harvey the western end ; a portion of

the central part was swampy and covered with bushes and

trees, and furrowed with gullies ; on another portion George

Burroughs lived. Cleaves at this time was dead ; his last

appearance was in November, 1666, and he probably died

soon after at a very advanced age. In 1662 he states his

wife's age to have been eighty-seven. Tucker had moved

to Portsmouth, N. H., where his widow, Margaret, was liv-

ing in 1681, in which year she made a conveyance to her

grandson, Nicholas Hodge, by which it is inferred that her

daughter married a Hodge, and that Ann Hodge, of New-

bury, the wife first of Phineas Jones and afterwards of

Jabez Fox, was a descendant from Richard Tucker; so

that his blood is mingled with that of the Foxes, Waites,

etc., here, who still occupy a portion of the laud which

their ancestor first opened to civilization. Michael Hodge,

of Salisbury, mariner, in 1742 conveyed to Phineas Jones

a tract of land on the Neck, and therein recited that he was

the " only representative said Richard Tucker hath." The

descendants of Ann Hodge, through her daughters, Hannah

The " Fort Point" referred to was the point at the foot of India Street,

where stool Fort Loyal.
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married to John Waite, Ann married to Richard Codman,

and the children of Jabez Fox, are particularly mentioned

in another part of this work.

In 1675 the tovrn was fionrishing. In the fisheries, in

lumber and agriculture its resources were ample and rapidly

improving. The sites most favorable to these pursuits were

occupied, and there was every token given of a rising and

populous settlement. But in the midst of these bright

prospects the Indian war let loose upon the peaceful inhabi-

tants the untamed ferocity of the native savages, who over-

run and destroyed every vestige of improvement, sacrificing

the lives of all who stood in their way, and prostrating by

the fire-brand and tomahawk the whole settlement in in-

discriminate ruin. In this attack 34 persons were killed

and taken captives. Among the killed were Thomas

Brackett, John Munjoy, and Isaac Wakelcy, upon the Neck.

Thomas Brackett's family was carried into captivity, with

several others in other parts of the town.

The place remained desolate during the remainder of the

war. On the conclusion of peace by a treaty made at

Casco, April 12, 1678, the inhabitants began to return to

their ruined sites. In November of that year George

Bramhall, of Portsmouth, purchased of Edward Allen the

hill which bears his name, embracing 400 acres, formed a

settlement upon it, and carried on tanning as an occupation.

Anthony Brackett returned to his farm in 1679, and others

flocked in to occupy the old lots or to receive grants for

new ones. In the mean time Massachusetts had secured

her title, not only to the jurisdiction, but to the soil, by the

purchase of the territory from the heirs of Sir F. Gorges,

lying between the Piscataqua and the mouth of the Ken-

nebec. The deed bears date March 15, 1678. They es-

tablished a government over it, at the head of which

Thomas Danforth, of Boston, was appointed. Fort Loyal

was erected in 1680 at the foot of India Street, and in

September of that year Governor Danforth held a court in it,

for the regulation of the new settlement and for the arrange-

ment of the inhabitants in a compact manner, with a view

to their protection from future attacks by the Indians.

" The fort was erected and the house-lots ordered on a con-

siderable portion of Cleaves' cornfield."* On the west

side of Clay Cove eight lots were granted, among which were

John, George, and Samuel Ingersoll's, the latter being at the

foot of what is now Exchange Street, the former where

Willow enters Fore Street, and George's between them,

though not occupying the whole distance. These lots are

held under those titles at this day. Lots were granted on

India, then called Broad, Street, and on the bay east of it.

The old titles were respected where claims were interposed

and proved. In 1681 a special agreement was entered into

between the government and Mrs. Munjoy, whereby her

title to Munjoy Hill was forever secured to her and her

heirs and assigns. Her husband, Munjoy, died in 1680,

and the same year she married Capt. Robert Lawrence, who

was killed in the second Indian war. Her third husband

was Stephen Cross, of Boston, where she died in 1705,

without- issue by either of her husbands but Munjoy. j-

* Blackman's report to Qovernor Andros, March 27, 1688.

f George Munjoy wns a son of John Munjoy, of Abbotsham, in the

county of Deron, England, l)om in 1626; was admitted a freeman in

Capt. Lawrence built a stone house on Munjoy Hill, and

houses were erected in the neighborhood of the fort, and upon
other parts of the Neck, some of which, as those of Tyng,

Clark, and Bramhall, were on the banks of the river above

where State Street now is; Bowdoiu's was below. The
character of the inhabitants in this middle period of Port-

land's history was of a superior order. There were among

them Peter Bowdoin, or, more properly, Pierre Baudouin,

and his son-in-law, Stephen Boutineau, two French Hu-

guenots, who fled from France on the repeal of the edict of

Nantes. Mr. Bowdoin was a physician of Rochelle, who

subsequently established himself in Boston, and was the

ancestor of the re-^pectable family there of that name. Philip

Barger, Philip Le Bretton, Augustine -Jean were probably

others of the same persecuted sect who sought refuge in

this land. Besides these were George Burroughs (the min-

ister), Thaddeus Clark, the Bracketts, Silvanus Davis, John

Graves, Henry Harwood, the Ingersolls, Robert Lawrence,

and Edward Tyng. Davis was a man of great enterprise

and intelligence ; he had a thorough knowledge of this coast,

and, under the .charter of 1691, was a counselor in Massa-

chusetts for Sagadahock. He was captured iu the second

Indian attack on Falmouth in 1690, and being exchanged

after the peace, established his residence in Boston, where

he died in 1703.

Edward Tyug came here in 1680, and soon after married

the daughter of Thaddeus Clark, and granddaughter of

George Cleaves, by whom he had four children, viz., Ed-

ward, born in 1683; Jonathan, who died young; Mary,

who married Rev. John Fox, of Waburn ; and Elizabeth,

who married a brother of Dr. Franklin. The Foxes now

resident here are lineal descendants through their ancestors,

Rev. John and Jubez Fox, the first comers here, of George

Cleaves, and, as we have before seen, of Richard Tucker,

through Ann Hodge ; so that the blood of Cleaves and

Tucker is united in the family. Edward Tyng commanded

Fort Loyal in 1680-81, and was a counselor in Massachu-

setts in 1686. He had three houses on the Neck, one of

which was a very respectable mansion in which he resided,

situated on the bank just above Slate Street. He was ap-

pointed commodore of the squadron from Massachusetts in

the attack on Louisbourg in 1745, and in the " Province"

brig, of 24 guns, captured the French 64-gun ship, " Vigi-

lante." He died, in Boston, Sept. 8, 1755. Thaddeus Clark

was killed by the Indians in an ambuscade, with 13 of his

company, in 1690 ; his widow died in Boston in 1736,

aged ninety-two years.

During the ten years interval between the first and second

Indian ware, the growth of Falmouth was rapid ; the popu-

lation of the town had attained to about 700, of which

number about 25 families lived on the Neck ; about 40

families resided at Spurwink and Stroudwater, and the

remainder at Back Cove, Capisic, and Presumpscot. These

were zealously pursuing their various occupations, sub-

duing the forest, bringing the lands under cultivation, and

Massachusetts in 1647. His children were John, Mary, Oeorge, Jo-

siah, Peletiab, and Hepzibah. John, the eldest son, bom in Boston,

April 17, 1653, was iiilled, as before stated, in 1676, leaving a widow
and one daughter, Huldah. George was born in Boston, April i,

1653.
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scouring the bay in pursuit of fish, when they were sud-

denly aroused by distant rumors of renewed Indian aggres-

sions. In August, 1688, the enemy began to commit

depredations upon the cattle on the eastern plantations,

and threatened the lives of the planters. The first blood

of the war was spilt at North Yarmouth in September, by

'

a party of 78 Indians making an attack upon the company

of Capt. Gendall, while engaged in- the construction of

stockades at that place. Government made vigorous pre-

parations for defense, and the immediate destruction of

Falmouth was averted by the timely arrival of Major Ben-

jamin Church, of Plymouth Colony, almost simultaneously

with the appearance of a large body of French and Indians.

After an engagement which lasted about six hours, on the

point west of where Deering's bridge now stands, the enemy
retreated, and did not again renew active hostilities till

early the next spring. In May a large force of French and

Indians, who had previously destroyed several settlements

to the westward, made their appearance in Casco Bay, and

Robert Grcarson, one of the inhabitants, was taken prisoner

by them. Capt. Silvanus Davis was in command at Fort

Loyal, and gave strict orders that the inhabitants should

keep close within their garrLsoas, and that constant watch

should be kept to prevent surprise.

A neglect of this wise precaution precipitated the destruc-

tion of the town. Lieut. Clark and 30 men, being desir-

ous to make some discoveries in regard to the enemy,

proceeded to the top of Munjoy Hill, which was then cov-

ered with woods, and a lane, with a fence on each side of

it, ran to Lawrence's block-house. Behind this fence the

enemy lay concealed, and the suspicion of their presence

was first aroused by the conduct of the cattle, which stood

staring towards the fence as if alarmed. Lieut. Clark and

his men decided that the best way to get rid of the diffi-

culty was to face it, and so they advanced to discover the

enemy and put them to rout. They soon fell victims to

their temerity, for the enemy, who had been covertly watch-

ing their movements, poured upon the assaulting party a

deadly fire, which killed Lieut. Clark and 13 of his men,

and caused the remainder to beat a hasty retreat towards

the garrison. This was besieged and bravely defended till

night, under cover of which the besieged party abandoned

it and took refuge in Fort Loyal. The next morning. May

16th, the enemy burnt the houses and laid siege to the fort

with all their force. The fort was situated on a rocky bluflF,

under which the enemy worked out of reach of the guns,

carrying on the siege with unremitting activity for five days

and four nights, when at last the garrison and inhabitants,

worn out and exhausted by continued watching and de-

fense, were obliged to surrender, and capitulated on the

20th of May. Capt. Silvanus Davis, who was taken pris-

oner and carried to Quebec, gave the government an account

of the attack and surrender, from which we take the fol-

lowing particulars

:

"Myself baring command of a garrifOD in Falmouth for the de-

fense of the same, a party of French from Canada, joined with a com-

pany of Indiana, to the number of betwixt four and five hundred

French and Indiana, set upon our fort. The 16th of May, 1690,

about dawning, began our fight; the 20th, about three o'clock, after-

noon, we were taken. They fought us fire days and four nights, in

which time they killed and wounded the greatest part of our men,

burned all our bouses, nnil at last we were forced to have a parley

with them in order for surrender. . . . We demanded if theru were

any French among them, and if they would give us quarter. They

answered that they were French, and that they would give us good

quarter. They then required that the Governor of the French

should hrild up his hand and swear by the great and ever-living (iod

that the several articles should be |»crformed. All which he did sol-

emnly swear to perform j but as soon as they had us in their custody

they broke their articles, suffered our women and children and our

men to be mode captives in the hands of the heathen, to be cruelly

murdered and destroyed, many of them, and especially our wounded

men. Only the French kept myself and some three or four others

and carried us to Canada."

They were twenty-four days marching through the wil-

derness, and arrived at Quebec June 14th. He remained

in Quebec four months, and was then exchanged.

Thus, a second time perished the rising settlement of

Falmouth. The war continued till 1698, when the quar-

rel between France and England having been adjusted by

the treaty of Ryswick in 1697, and the French succor

thereby withdrawn from the Indians, without which they

could not sustain ho.stilities with hope of success, they en-

tered into articles of agreement which were consummated

by a treaty of peace executed at Mare Point, in Casco Bay,

Jan. 7, 1699.

The town continued wholly unoccupied during the war,

and although a few of the old settlers, with that unceasing

yearning which ever haunts the exile, wandered back to

their desolated homes after the peace, yet so unsettled was

the state of affaii-s with the savages that the settlement was

not renewed upon the Neck ujitil after the peace of Utrecht,

in 1713.

In 1715 there was but one solitary family upon the

Neck, by the name of IngersoU. Rev. Mr. Smith says, in

his journal, "In 1716 one IngersoU built a hutou Falmouth

Neck, where he lived some time alone, and was thence

called Governor IngersoU." It is thought that this must have

been Elisha, son of John IngersoU, of Kittery, who had

been driven from here in the wur of 1688. Whoever he

was he was drowned in the Presumpscot River a few years

afterwards.

IngersoU could not have remained long as the solitary

inhabitant; for in July, 1716, Maj. Moody, in a petition

to the General Court for leave to fortify his house, which

stood on King Street, represented that there were then on

the Neck, commonly called Old Casco, fifteen men as inhab-

itants, beside women and children.'*' Other settlers began

to come in about the same time,

James Mills, from Lynn, built the second or third house

in town, on what is now Middle Street, near the subsequent

residence of Judge Freeman, where he obtained, in 1727,

a grant of a house-lot, including one acre of ground.f It

is supposed that his family came here in 1716, or very

soon after. At Back Cove, Spurwink, and other places

the abandoned farms were occupied a little sooner after the

war.

Benjamin Skilling, Zechariah Brackett, and Dominicus

Jordan, occupied the Brackett and Jordan farms, respect-

ively at Back Cove and Spurwink, in 1715.

In 1716-17, Gilbert Winslow, otherwise called Dr. Wins-

* Note to Smith's Journal, p. 49. f Proprietor's Records.
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•low, built the first house at Purpooduek, and was the same

year joined by Samuel Cobb, who built the second house

there, but the next year removed to the Neck and built a

house on Congress Street near the head of King Street.

Mr. Cobb was a ship-carpenter by occupation. He was fol-

lowed the next year by three brothers, Jonathan, Ebenezer,

and Joseph, who settled at the Purpooduek.

Samuel Moody built his house fronting the beach below

King Street, on the spot forming the corner of Fore and

Hancock. For a number of years it was the principal

house in town.*

Benjamin Larrabce built his house—a one-story building

—on the corner of Middle and School Streets.

Richard Wilmot and John Wass, his son-in-law, built on

Queen Street, near the entrance of Wilmot, which took its

name from this early occupant.

Thomas Thomas built in Clay Cove ; Barbour in

Middle Street near Court, on land afterwards granted to

him ; James Doughty built next below Barbour, and Sam-

uel Proctor, who moved his family here from Lynn in 1718,

built on Fore Street, near the entrance to Silver.

John Pritchard came from Boston, and settled here about

the same time, and also Richard Collier, from the Old Col-

ony, occupied a spot near Jordan's Point.

In 1718, when Samuel Cobb moved from Purpooduek,

there were settled on the Neck thirteen families besides his

own.f

From this time the population increased more rapidly.

May 3, 172(>, 7 persons were admitted as inhabitants;

August 17th, 23 were admitted, they paying £10 each for

the right of admission, and September 18th, .5 persons. We
might thus go on at considerable length from Mr. Smith's

journal, but it is unnecessary. In 1826 there seems to

have been an influx of population not very desirable, for

Mr. Smith says, " This spring came into town one Savage,

and also one Stimson and his family, whom the selectmen

immediately warned out of town, as they did several others

just about the making of the peace. -This summer (peace

having been concluded) there came from Cape Ann one

Davis, a pretty troublesome spark, with his family. Also,

one of his wife's brothers, no better than he, and a little

after another family, who were also warned out of town."

Mr. Smith also notes the' arrival of several others, " who

were sober and forehanded men." And " this week," he

adds, " we bad a town-meeting to consider the petition of

10 likely men to be admitted as inhabitants, and the matter

was left to the selectmen."

April 5, 1726, 26 vessels were reported in the harbor.

This year the firat grist-mill was built by Messrs. Sawyer &
York, the people before this having sent their corn to Bos-

ton to be ground-l This mill stood at Lawrence Cove, in

Cape Elizabeth, opposite Portland. "A saw-mill was also

built upon the same stream."§ .

* Maj. Saml. Moody died in 1729. The following is the insoription on

his gravestone in the graveyard at Portland :
*' Here lies interred ye

body of Samuel Moody, Esq., one of His Majesty's Justices of ye

Peace and a Jastice of ye Superior Court of Common Picas in ye

County of Torit, and formerly Major of His Majesty's forces in ye

eastern province, who deceased April, 1729, in ye 52d year of his

age."

f Smith's Church Record. i Smith's Journal, p. 49. J Ibid.

The winter of 1728 was the "cold winter" and the

deep snow, when many of the animals perished.

The great Indian council held here in July, 1732, so

exhausted the provisions of the place, that Mr. Smith says

" They left us quite bare, and nothing of the country's pro-

duce left only three bushels of com and some small things."

There were 1 00 of the Penobscot tribe present, besides several

vessels containing the Governor and counselors, and " many

prominent gentlemen from all parts of the country." The

Indians had their quarters on Hog Island, and the confer-

ence was held under a great tent on Munjoy Hill.

Hard times prevailed in 1737. Mr. Smith writes under

date of April 21 : " All the talk is,—no corn, no hay, and

there is not a peck of potatoes to eat in all the eastern

country."

In October, 1746, the town was in great excitement over

a contemplated attack from a French fleet which had been

sent over to destroy the settlements on the coast of New
England, and Boston and Falmouth in particular. " The

town held a meeting and voted that the selectmen apply to

Capt. Moses Pearson for the use of his two great guns, to

be placed on Spring Point, and to get four barrels of pow-

der, balls, and flints for the use of the town." Thus, while

Boston was mustering her troops and fortifying the east end

of Long Wharf, as a protection against French cannon and

bombshells, the Neck was also vigorously preparing to de-

fend herself against the invaders. But a storm wrecked

the fleet off Cape Sable, and the colonies were spared de-

struction.

The bombardment and destruction of the town by order

of the British naval commander during the Revolution will

be found in the history of that period, in the general de-

partment of this work, and therefore need not be repeated

here. On the 16th of October, 1775, Capt. Henry Mow-

att, with three armed vessels, attacked the town. The

people fled in terror from their homes, taking with them

what they could of their household goods. All the compact

part of the town was destroyed, embracing 414 buildings,

the whole loss being estimated at £55,000. Only 100

dwelling-houses were left standing, many of which were

much damaged. The place was again deserted, many of

the inhabitants removing to the country, and the few who

remained among the ruins suffering great privations. Thus,

for the third time, was Falmouth desolated, and by a blow

that would seem almost utterly crushing to any hopes of her

future recovery.

But, with the establishment of our national independ-

ence, new hopes and energies were awakened, and the close

of the war gave a fresh impulse to business. In 1784 there

were built on the Neck 41 dwelling-houses, 10 stores, and

7 shops. In 1785 the first brick house in town was

commenced, and the same year appeared the first newspaper,

— The Falmmtth Gazette,—published by Benjamin Tit-

comb and Thomas B. Wait. In 1786 the town was di-

vided, and the Neck, with Ihe name of Portland, started

upon an independent career, with a population of 2000.

In 1793 wharves were extended into the harbor. In 1795,

Nathaniel Deering built the first brick store. In 1799 the

first bank was incorporated. Trade advanced westward

from the old sites at the foot of India Street, and in 1800
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Exchange (then called Fish) Street was the principal seat

of business. The population by this time had increased to

3704, and in 1810 it had reached 7169. A desirable class

of residents came in, bringing capital with them. The -in-

habitants, no longer contented with a coasting trade, engaged

in foreign commerce. Lumber and fish continued to be the

principal exports, but ships were also built and sent on

freighting voyages.

From 1795 to 1805 the growth of the town in com-

mercial business and general prosperity was unexampled

in New England. Dr. Dwight, visiting the place in

1797, wrote, " No American town is more entirely com-

mercial, and, of course, none is more sprightly." The ton-

nage which, in 1789, amounted to 5000, in 1807 had

reached 30,000. The duties collected at the custom-house

increased from $8109, in 1790, to $342,909, in 1806.

Napoleon Bonaparte had thrown all Europe into war, and

American bottoms, being declared neutrals, monopolized the

carrying trade.

With the increase of wealth came more refinement and

a more lavish style of living. In 1801 the rich merchants

began to build for themselves large and elegant houses, some

of which still remain, the square, old-fashioned mansions,

of noble front, with wide halls running back and admitting

in the rear to large and high-fenced gardens, where fruit-

trees flourished. Of such is the stately Matthew Cobb

house, which still stands at the comer of High and Tree

Streets ; the mansion built by Ebenezer Storer, corner of

High and Danforth Streets, now occupied by John Mussey,

Esq., and that built by Joseph H. Ingraham, on State

Street. These, and others like them, were the best houses

in the State, and some which remain unaltered, like the

fine old mansion on the corner of High and Spring Streets,

long the residence of the late General Wingate, still give

evidence of the architectural taste and thorough workman-

ship of the olden time.

During the decade from 1810 to 1820 the population

increased only 1412. In March, 1820, the District of

Maine was separated from Massachusetts and admitted into

the Union as a State. Portland became the capital of the

new State, and held that position till the removal of the

seat of government to Augusta, in 1832.

In order to see the progress of the city it may be well to

compare statistical statements made at different periods.

POETLAND IN 1821.

The population at this date was 8581. " It contained a

State- House, an elegant brick court-house, a large stone jail,

a large three-story brick academy, a large three-story brick

building belonging to the Bank of Portland, a like brick

building formerly erected for an insurance office, but now

owned by the Cumberland Bank, a custom-house and other

offices; 10 houses of public worship, viz. : 3 for Congregation-

alists, 1 for Baptists, 1 for Episcopalians, 1 for Methodists,

1 for Union Society, 1 for Independent Methodists, 1 for

Friends, and 1 for Universalists ; 5 school-houses, 700 dwell-

ing-houses, in or adjoining which are 61 shops, 200 other

shops, 306 barns, 66 warehouses, 11 bake-houses, 6 distil-

leries, 7 tanneries, 7 slaughter-houses, 1 furnace and iron-

works, 94 other buildings, a post-office, 15,583 tons of ves-

sels, 392,096 superficial feet of wharves, a library belonging

to a number of persons associated for its support, containing

1200 volumes, an insurance-office, savings institution, 27

other institutions and societies, besides the religious socie-

ties, 6 engines, 7 public schools, viz. : 4 masters and 3 mis-

tresses schools, and 40 private schools."

Such, according to an inventory taken by Hon. Samuel

Freeman, was Portland in 1821. In July, 1823, the first

steamboat ever brought to Maine arrived in Portland har-

bor. She was a vessel of about 100 tons burden, called

the " Patent," owned by Capt. Seward Porter, who had

bought her in New York to run as a passenger boat between

Portland and Boston. In 1833 came the "Chancellor Liv-

ingston," built under the direction of Robert Fulton, and

the same year the Cumberland Steam Navigation Com-

pany was formed, and, in opposition to the " Chancellor Liv-

ingston," put on the line between Portland and Boston the

steamer " Commodore MoDonough." The Portland Steam

Packet Company was organized in 1844, and ever since its

boats have ran on the route with great regularity and suc-

cess.

In 1832, Portland received a city charter, under which

the government consists of a mayor, seven aldermen,

and twenty-one common councilmen, for the election of

whom the city is divided into seven wards. The progress

of the city from 1840 and onward is shown by the follow-

ing sketch, taken substantially from Mr. Elwell's popular

work, " Portland and Vicinity.''

" About 18-tO the eiiy began to experience a depression in busi-

ness, caused bj the revolution in trade centroj brought about by the

introduction of railroads. Boston, by the extension of her railroads,

had seized upon the trade of Vermonl, which had formerly come to

Portland, through the Notch in the White Mountains. In 1842 the

Portland, Saco and Portsmouth Railroad was opened, and that also

took business from the city. . . . From 1810 to 1846 there nas

scarcely any increase in the population, . . . and it became evident

to our business men that it was necessiiry to seize the weapon which

was being wielded against thein, nnd turn it to their own advantage.

. . . For this purpose a company was formed, and a charter obtained

to construct a railroad to Canada. . . . With the hour came the man
in the person of John A. Poor, by whose far-reaching foresight, brond

grasp of possibilities, and untiring energy, the project of a railroad

to Canada was set on foot. Tho conception was a grand one, but the

undertaking seemed overwhelming to a little city of 16,000 inhabi-

tants. Montreal was three hundred miles away, through mountain
ranges, through waste spaces, through sparsely populated regions,

deeply encumbered with the snowsof winter. Whence was tbecapital

to come? How was a railroad to be built in the face of such physical

obstacles? Mr. Poor and William Pitt Preble drove over the route in

a sleigh in midwinter, to prove the possibility of getting through.

Our merchants and business men took up the enterprise with enthu-

siasm, and all classes of citizens joined heartily in the endeavor. . . .

The city loaned its credit in bonds to the amount of $2,000,000.

Eleven miles of the Atlantic and St. Lawrence Railroad were opened

in 1848, and in 1853 it was finished to its junction with the Canada
Rood from Montreal,—a distance from Portland of one hundred and
forty-nine miles. The Grand Trunk Railroad brought the city into

connection not only with the towns and cities of Canada, hut with

the vast, grain-growing regions of the West. Following its comple-

tion as necessary adjuncts, n winter line of steamers to Liverpool,

and the construction of a new business avenue along the whole water

front of the oity,—a mile long and one hundred feet wide,—leaving

high and dry old Fore Street, so long the water street, the locality

of slop-shops and sailors' buarding-bouses. This new street,—appro-

priately called Commercial,—is the scene of a heavy wholesale trade

in flour, grain, and groceries, while it also affords railroad communi-
cation across the front of the city, and with the numerous wharves.
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Then came the bttUding of that system of railroads opening to the

trade of Portland all parts of State, and notr consolidated under the

name of the Maine Central. Our merchants also opened connection *

with the eastern part of the State and the lower provinces by means

of steamboat lines, and thus secured mnch of the trade which had

formerly gone to Boston. Manufacturing establishments—like the

Portland Company's Works and Brown's Sugsir House—also sprang

up and gave employment to hundreds.

"The city passed through the panic of 1857-58 without serious

disaster, and trade was reviving again when the war of the Rebellion

came in 1861. Business then gave wny to the demands of patriotism.

The 1st Maine Regiment, Col. Jackson (six companies of which were

raised here), was speedily organized, though the measles prevented its

being the first in the field. In response to later calls for volunteers

our people were active in raising other regiments, especially the 5th,

tth, loth, 12th, 13th, I7th, and 25tb, the latter a nine months' regi-

ment of Portland boys, led by Col. Francis Fessenden. Other regi-

ments followed, Portland contributing 5000 men, to whom she paid a

bounty of $428,970, and of whom 421 lost their lives in battle or by

disease, barge contributions were made in aid of the Sanitary and

Christian Commissions, and many noble men gave their services in

nursing the sick and wounded. . . . The city came out of the war

without great loss, though its commercial progress had been checked

by the transfer of much of its shipping to the British flag. The war,

however, had given employment to many, money was flush, and the

city was again entering on a prosperous career when, for the fourth

time in its history, it was laid in ashes and made desolate."

THE GaEAT FIRE OF 1866.

"On the Fourth of July, 1866, a carcleasly-thrown fire-cracker set

fire to a boat-builder's shop, on Commercial, near the foot of High

Street, and the sparks soon communicated with Brown's sugar.house,

wrapping that great structure in flames, and spreading onward spite

of all opposition, spreading out like a fan as it went diagonally across

the city, glowing with a furnace heat, melting iron, crumbling stone,

wiping out the cotitlieat ' fire-proof structures, leaving desolation in

its track; sweeping away not only whole blocks, but entire streets,

massive warehouses, lofty churches, splendid mansions, ancestral

homes in the crowded and oldest parts of the city ; spreading terror,

anguish, and dismay among the whole population, until at last, in the

small hours of the night, it burnt itself out amid the waste spaces at

the foot of Munjoy Hill. That night of terror and desolation will

never be forgotten by the people of Portland. The morning saw fif-

teen hundred buildings laid in ashes, fifty-eight streets and courts re-

duced to a wilderness of chimneys, amidst which the most familiar

inhabitant lost himself, ten thousand people made houseless and home-

less, and $10,000,000 of property destroyed.

"For a moment only the energies of the people seemed paralyzed,

and then began the great work of providing for the houseless and

hungry. Whole villages of tents sprang -up on Munjoy Hill and else-

where; barracks were biiilt'; generous contributions from abroad

flowed in; the work of rebuilding was begun,—advantage being

taken of the opportunity to widen and straighten old streets and open

-new ones,—and now, after a lapse of but ten years, the city stands

rebuilt far handsomer than before the fire.

" Meantime the work of railroad extension has gone on, enlarging

the area tributary to the trade of the eity and opening new routes of

pleasure. In 1873 the Boston and Maine Railroad was extended

from South Berwick to Portland. ... In 1875 the Portland and

Rochester Railroad completed its connections with Nashua, N. H. . . .

and Worcester, Mass., thus opening a direct route to New York, and

saving many miles of travel between Portland and that city. The

same year the Portland and Ogdensburg Railroad, opening a new and

shorter route to the West, and restoring some of the lost trade of Ver-

mont, was completed through the Notch of the White Mountains ; and

commanding as it does some of the most noted summer resorts, has

given a new impetus to pleasure-travel through Portland. Merchants

of Portland now command the trade of a large portion of the State

.

to a considerable extent they supply Northern New Hampshire and

Vermont, and find customers in the maritime provinces and the

Canodas.

" Various branches of manufacture, as the rolling of railroad iron,

the making of carriages, shoes, matches, stoneware, and drain-pipes,

have sprung up, and these products find a market all over the United

States, and to some extent in foreign countries."

THE CITY IN 1879.

The city now occupies the entire area of the peninsula

from the slopes of Munjoy Hill on the east to the brow of

Bramhall Hill on the west. The area has been enlarged by

a considerable amount of made land alonr; Back Cove, and

many elegant residences have been built within a few years

past in what was once " the swamp ward," at the west end.

The lowest point now on the ridge, which separates the

Harbor from Back Cove, is at the foot of Hampshire Street,

57 feet. The highest elevations within the eity limits are

Bramhall Hill, 175.50 feet; Munjoy Hill, IGl feet. Along

the entire central ridge of the peninsula on which the city

is built, Congress Street extends from one extremity to the

other, a distance of three miles. With the other parallel

streets and cross streets, forming a net-work composed of

two hundred and twenty-six different streets, lanes, and

courts, the aggregate length is forty-eight miles, while

twenty-nine wharves extend into the harbor and give ac-

commodation to the commerce of theport. There are six

avenues into the city on the land side, all of which are over

substantial bridges except the old road from Stroudwater.

All the bridges were at first supported by tolls, but they

are now free. In addition to these streets and roads, there

is projected and partially completed a marginal way run-

ning around both sides of the city, nearly five miles in

length and one hundred feet in width. Most of the streets

are beautifully decorated with fine elms and other shade-

trees. The views from the observatory on Munjoy Hill,

both seaward and northward towards the mountains, are as

fine as can be found in any locality.

The horse-cars of the Portland Railroad afford an easy

transit along the whole length of Congress Street ; also from

the Grand Trunk Depot, through Middle and Congress

Streets, to Bramhall Hill ; and from the head of Preble

Street, in Market Square, through Preble, Portland, and

Green Streets, and the villages of Deering Point and Wood-

ford's Corner, to Evergreen Cemetery and Morrill's Corner,

—a distance of three and a quarter miles.

The business streets of the city, as well as those devoted

to private residences, are handsomely built, lighted with

gas, well drained, and supplied with the purest water from

Lake Sebago, which is brought in pipes a distance of seven-

teen miles, from a fresh and inexhaustible source of supply.*

The reservoir on Bramhall Hill has a capacity of 12,000,000

gallons. The number of hydrants set are as follows : post

hydrants, 66 ; Lowery Steeet hydrants, 79 ; Lowery side-

walk-hydrants, 80; two-and-a-half inch hydrant, 1 ; total,

226. Whole number of reservoirs, 64. Of street gas lamps

there are 442 in the city.

Portland Inner Harbor, formed by Fore River, has be-

tween Portland Bridge and the Breakwater, on one side,

and Fish Point on the other, an area of six hundred and

seventy-seven acres, and an average depth, at mean high

water, of about thirty feet. Vessels of the largest size ever

built can enter the lower harbor day or night with forty

feet of water at low tide, and lie safely at anchor in that

depth inside of a line connecting the breakwater with Fort

Gorges, and distant not more than a half-mile from the

Great Eastern Steamship wharves.

*See article Topography, in general chapter of this work.
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Asa Clapp was a descendant in the fifth generation from Thomas
Clapp, who was bom in Dorchester, England^ in 1597^ and arrived
from Weymouth, England, on the 24th of July, 1633. The name of
Thomas Clapp appears in 1634 on the town records of Dorchester,
Mass., where his brothers, Nicholas and John, settled, lived, and
died. He was admitted a freeman in 1638, and removed to Wey-
month, Mass.
Asa Clapp died at his residence in Portland, Me., April 17, 1848.

He was bom in Mansfield, Bristol Co., Mass., March 15, 1762, and
was the oldest son of Abiel Clapp, a farmer of high respectability,

and who filled what were then considered very important stations in

the towns of New England,—the offices of magistrate and the com-
mander of the military company in that ancient municipality. Being
deprived of his parents at an early age, he was left entirely dependent
upon his own exertions for advancement. This patriotic orphan boy,

at the age of sixteen, gallantly volunteered to act as a substitute for

a young man who had been drafted as a soldier in the expedition

under Gen. Sullivan, for the expulsion of the British army from
Rhode Island. He was immediately appointed a non-commissioned
officer, and remained in service until honorably discharged. With a
seeming inlierent devotion to the cause of liberty, he, without money,
proceeded on foot to Boston, and immediately embarked on ooe of the

numerous private armed vessels which were fitted out in all the

northern ports. He was very soon promoted to the first lieutenantoy,

and his bravery, intelligence, and skill, evinced in various naval en-

gagements as a navigator, obtained for him command of a ship just

as he reached the era of manhood.'
He married, in 1787, Eliza Wendell, daughter of Jacob Quincy, of

Boston, who was a distinguished physician of that place. She was a

lady of great personal attraction, a devoted and affectionate wife and
mother, and a sincere and exemplary Christian. She died November,
1853, at the age of ninety years. In 1793, when Great Britain and
other powers of Europe attempted to close the commerce of neutral

nations with France, Mr. Clapp, then commanding a ship trading be-

tween the United States and Europe, was captured by Sir Sidney

Smith, taken to England, and there detained six months, when the

Court of Admiralty, by a decree, released his ship and paid for the

cargo. So ably was the affair managed by him that, instead of prov-

ing a loss, it resulted in a gain to the owners.

He established himself as a merchant in Portland in 1796, became
largely interested in commerce, and enjoyed a credit unsurpassed by

any other American merchant of that day. He had a thorough

knowledge of the commercial afi^airs of other nations, and spared

no exertions in acquiring such facts as would tend to enlarge the

channels of trade or contribute to his own store of useful informa-

tion.

On Dec. 22, 1807, when Congress laid a general embargo on the

shipping in the ports of the United States, Mr. Clnpp was among the

firmest supporters of this government measure, although adverse to

his own interests. In 181L he was a member of the Council of the

Commonwealth of Massachusetts. When Congress laid an embargo
on all vessels within the waters of the United States, the 4th of April,

1812, and when, a few months later, war was declared between (iroat

Britain and the United States he gave the government his warmest
support, notwithstanding nearly all his ships were driven from the

ocean and laid up to decay in the docks. At this time, when the

finances of the government were in an embarrassed condition, and
its enemies uttering the bitterest anathemas against the administra-
tion, he came forward voluntarily and subscribed more than one-half
of the whole amount of his property to sustain the national credit, and
took his place in the volunteer corps as a common soldier. His resi-

dence during that period was a place of general resort for the officers

of the army and navy, and the constant scene of a generous hospitality

that was not surpassed in New England. His views of the relations

that should exist between the government and the governed were of a
purely democratic character, and such as are now maintained by our
most far-seeing statesmen. Upon the close of the war, in 1815, he
resumed his commercial trade, and was very successful, having vessels

in trade with Europe, the East and West Indies, and South America.
He became one of the most fortunate and distinguished merchants of

Maine. In 1816 he was appointed by the President one of the com-
missioners to obtain subscriptions to the capital stock of the Bank of

the United States, to which corporation he was the largest subscriber
in Maine. He was a careful and skillful financier. Having been a
strenuous advocate for the independence of Maine, he was elected one
of the delegates of the convention, which was held in October, 1819,
for forming the constitution. Ho was for several years a representa-
tive from Portland in the Legislature, and his opinions upon all the
various subjects for consideration were always respected and listened

to with profound attention. His practical knowledge of the tariff led

members of Congress and others to seek his counsel.

After the many vicissitudes through which Mr. Clapp had passed,
—now as a- soldier in the Revolution, now as a fearless defender of
the flag of his country on the seas, now as the pioneer and director

of the commerce of a great State, and rendering aid and comfort to

the government by loans in its time of great need,—the services he
had rendered were recognized, in the only manner then admissible,

by the chief magistrate of the nation.

President Polk, in visiting Portland in the course of his tour
through New England in the year 1847, on learning that Mr. Clapp,
theninhiseighty-fifthyearofage, was confined to his house by illness,

immediately called, in company with the Hon. .Tames Buchanan, then
Secretary of State, and Commodore Stewart, to pay his respects to

the venerable gentleman who had manifested so much devotion to the
welfare of his country. Mr. Clapp, with difficulty, arose to his feet

and briefly addressed the President, welcoming him to his residence
and congratulating him warmly upon the historic laurels which his
administration had won in its conduct of the war, then successfully
progressing with Mexico.
Mr. Clapp was a man of wide breadth of mind and capable of

foreshadowing future results. His beneficence was as expansive as
his means were ample for its gratification, and his Christian character
and rectitude of principle were as instructive to the rising, as encour-
aging to the past generation.





CITY OF PORTLAND. 1G7

Portland, with its dependent suburban villages, numbers

not less than 50,000 population. In the locality is included

Point Village, Ferry Village, Knightville, Turner Island,

Ligouia, Brighton, Libby Corner, Woodford's Corner, Mor-

rill's Corner, Dccring Point, and East Deering. All these,

it is probable, will eventually be combined in one corpora-

tion. They all have a common business centre,—Portland.

The following table will show the population at different

periods

:

1800 3,704 1850 20,315
1810 ; 7,169 1S60 26.:U2
1S20 8,531 1865 30,124:

1830 12,601 1870 31,418
1840 15,218 1875 34,420

In the spring of 1876 a census taken by direction of the

city authorities fchowed 35,031. The territory of the city

proper embraces about 1666 acres, the smallest area of any

city or town in the State
;
yet its estimated population, ex-

clusive of the suburban villages, in March, 1879, was

36,500.

Portland has thirty-five churches and places of public

worship; nineteen well-conducted pablic schools, attended

by about five thousand scholars ; twenty newspapers and

periodicals,—three daily, eleven weekly, seven monthly, and

one quarterly. It is well equipped with charitable, lite-

rary, and musical associations and public libraries ; has six

national and two savings banks, and sevcitil of the finest

public buildings in the State, among which arc the city

government building, the custom-house, and the post-office.

The city government building covers an area of 20,155

square feet. It is 221 feet in length on Myrtle Street, and

has a frontage of 150 feet on Congress Street. The corner

towers are 75 feet high ; the dome is 1 60 feet high. There

are in all 80 rooms in the building. It contains all the City

Hall, all the city and county offices, public library, court-

rooms, and cabinet of natural history. The City Hall

is 113 feet long (interior dimensions), 80 feet wide, and

35 feet high. Its southwestern gallery is 21 feet wide

;

the side galleries 9 feet in width, and it is capable of hold-

ing 3000 people. On the occasion of the appearance of

the actress, Maggie Mitchell, 2700 tickets were taken up.

In front of the City Hall, near Myrtle Street, stands an

elm known as La Fayette Tree. It was upon a platform

under this tree that La Fayette received the citizens of

Portland on the occasion of his last visit to America.

Lincoln Park is bounded by Congress, Franklin, Federal,

and Pearl Streets. It has an area of 108,530 square feet,

or little less than 2^ acres.

Lincoln Tree is an elm which stands in front of the high-

school building, on Cumberland Street. It was hauled

there from near the dwelling-house of the late Charles

Baker. Some person, whose name is unknown, placed in

the hands of the mayor of the city the sum of 850 for the

purpose of having a tree set in a suitable place in com-

memoration of the martyred President, and this spot was

chosen. The sum given paid the cost of removing and

planting the tree.

The whole number of vessels belonging to the district in

1875 was 420, with an aggregate tonnage of 110,830.47,

—

an increase of over 20,000 tons in two years. The total

of foreign imports and exports in 1874 was $52,588,612.

The transit trade of the port is two or three times larjier

than in all the other ports of the United States combined.

This is owing to the excellence of the harbor, which is

deep, safe, accessible, and capacious. Ic also commands the

most beautiful and varied scenery, from broad ocean views

to the towering grandeur of mountain heights in the

distance.

VALUATION AND TAXES OF THE CITY.

The tax valuation of the city for 1878 was

Real estate S19,212,S00 Incrciise over 1S77, i?I45,600

Personal estate... 11,458,354 Decrease over 1807, 367,291

Total 830,674,154

The number of polls assessed were 8564, 88 less than in

1877. Poll tax, S3.

The sums assessed upon the city for the year were as

follows :

ForStiite 3117,835.17
" County 38.554.82
" City 618,072.54

5774,462.53

Amount of overlnyings 33,343.89

§807,306.42

The income of the city property is estimated at 889,000,

which, added to the amount to be raised by direct taxation,

makes the whole amount required for the city's needs

$896,806.42.

. The following table gives .the valuation, taxes, and the

percentage from 1868 to 1878, inclusive:

Tears. Valuation. Tuxes. Riite on 5100.

1S68 $36,575,478 S737,52j.95 ?2.i0

1S69 28.881,230 710,815.49 2.38

1370 29,953,715 775,641.59 2.60

1371 29,925,550 746,946,75 2.50

1372 28,681,210 768.882.46 2.60

1873 29,821,012 769.6II6.30 2.50

1374 30,723,936 792,710.40 2.50

1875 31,942,501 786.401.27 2.45

1376 30,660,355 791,876.87 2.50

1877 30,892,845 798,277.12 2.50

1878 30,671,154 807,800.42 2.55

PORTLAND CIVIL LIST.

We give the selectmen and other officers of the town of

Portland from its separation from Falmouth in 1786. The

town officers prior to that, with their continuation to the

present, will be found under the head of the town of Fal-

mouth.

SELECTMEN, 1786-1832.

John Fox, throe years; Nathaniel Deering, two years; Peleg AVads-

worth, four years ; Samuel Freeman, twenty-four years ; Thomas
Robinson, two years; James Lunt, one year; Ebenezer Preble,

one year ; Daniel Ilsley, two years ; Woodbury Storer, nine years
;

John Thrasher, three years; Nathaniel F. Fosdick, four years;

Daniel Tucker, seven years ; Daniel Epes, three years ; Matlhew

Cobb, three years; Robert Boyd, seven years; Isajio Ilsley, two

years; Thomas Motley, one year; Joseph 11. Ingraham, eleven

years; Joseph Titcomb, ten years; Joshua Rogers, six years;

John Mussey, three years; George Bradbury, three years ; Moses

Lunt, one year; David Green, one year; Stephen Tukey, four

years; Joseph Ilsley, one year; Enoch Preble, four years; Saml.

F. Hussey, one year; Josiah Dow, one year; Peter Warren, four

years; Cotton B. Brooks, two years; Robert Douglass, three

years ; John Hobart, two years ; Stephen Longfellow, Jr., one

year; Isaac Adams, five years; Joshua Richardson, five years;

Benjamin Usley, five years; Woodbury Storer, Jr., two years;
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Murk Harris, four years; Isaac Adams, eight years; Joshua

Richardson, three years; Benjamin llsley, foar years ; Nathaniel

Mitchell, one year; Mark Harris, one year; John L. Meguire,

one year; Joseph Walker, one year; Robert Ilslcy, four years;

John Williams, seven years; James C. Churchill, four years;

William Webh, one year; Alpheus Shaw, three years: Jedediah

Dow, two years; John Patten, two years; Jonathan Dow, one

year; Andrew Ii. Emerson, two years; Thomas Hammond, two

years ; Dudley Cummett, one year.

TOWN CLEaKs, 1786-1832.

1788-96, John Frotbingham: 1796-97, Isaac Ilsley; 1797-1807, Ste-

phen Patten; 1807-14, Samuel Homer; 1814-20, Oliver Bray;

1820-26, Joseph Pope; 182S-32, Charles B. Smith.

TOWN TaEASURERS, 1786-18.32.

1786-1801, Enoch Ilsley; lSOl-8, Lemuel Weeks; 1808-19, Matthew
Cobb; 1819-23, Samuel Irusk; 1823-26, Joseph M. Gerrish;

1826-32, Charles B. Smith.

REPRESENTATIVES AT THE GENERAL COURT OP MASSA-
CHUSETTS.*

1787-88, John Fox; 1789, Daniel Davis; 1790, John Fox, Daniel

Davis; 1791, John Fox; 1792, John Fox, Daniel Davis; 1793-94,

Daniel Davis, Daniel Ilsley ; 1793, Daniel Davis, Samuel Waldo

;

1796-97, Daniel Tucker; 1798-1800, Woodbury Stoier; 1801-2,

Joseph Titcomb; 1SU3, William Symuies ; 1804, Joseph Titcomb,

William Symmes, Matthew Cobb, Duuiel Tucker; ISUa, the same
and Smith Cobb; 1806-7, George Bradbury, Joseph Titcomb,

Joseph U. Ingruham, Matthew Cobb, William Jenks; 1808-9,

the same nnd Isaac Adams; 1810, Daniel Tucker, Joseph Tit-

comb, Mutthew Cobb, Jos. H. Ingraham, William Jenks, Isaac

Adams ; 1811, Joseph Titcomb, Matthew Cobb, George Bradbury,

Jos. U. Ingraham, Isaac Adams, Enoch Preble; 1SI2, George

Bnidbury, Jos. H. Ingrnbam, Isaac Adams, Enoch Preble, Rich-

ard Hunuewell, J. Neal, William Crabtree; 1813, Jos. II. Ingra-

ham, Isaac Adams, Enoch Preble, J. Neul, Stephen Longfellow,

William Francis, Seward Porter; 1814, the same, except Enoch
Preble; 1815, Jos. H. Ingraham, Isaac Adams, J. Neal, Seward

Porter, U. Smith, William B Sewell; 1816, Josiah Paine, Jacob

Quincy, Daniel How, Robert Strong, P. Varnum, John Mussey,

Jr.; 1817, Joseph H. Ingraham, Isaac Adams; 1818, Isaac Adams,

John Woodman ; 181V, Charles Fox, N. Kinsman, Samuel Baker,

Richard Ilsley, Samuel Aycr, P. Varnum.

MAYORS OF THE CITT.

Andrew L. Emerson,f Jonathan Dow, 1832; John Anderson, 1833;

Levi Cutter, 1834-41; James C. Churchill, 1841-(2; John An-
derson, 1842-43 ; Eliphalet Greeley, 1843-49 ; James B. Gaboon,

1849-51 ; Neal Dow, 1851-52 j Albion K. Parris, 1852-53 ; James
B. Cahoon, 1853-55; Neal Dow, 1855-56; James T. McCobb,
1856-57; William Willis, 1857-58; Jedediah Jewett, 1858-60;

Joseph Howard, 1860-61 ; William W. Thomas, 1860-63 ; Jacob

McLellan, 1863-66; Augustus E. Stevens, 1866-68; Jacob Mc-
Lellan, 1868-69 ; Benjamin Kingsbury, Jr., 1870-73 ; George P.

Wescott, 1873-75; Hoswell M. Richardson, 1875-76; Francis

Fessenden, 1876-77; Moses M. Butler, 1877-79; George Walker,

1879.

CITT CLERKS.

Joseph Pope, 1832-42; Albert Smith, 1842-43; Amos Nichols,

184.S-44; William Boyd, 1844-56; James Merrill, 1856-57;

William Boyd, 1857-60; James Todd, 1860-61; Jonathan M.
Heath, 1861-69; George C. Hopkins, 1869-70; H. L Robinson,

1870-79.

CITT TREASURERS.

William Lord, 1832-42; William Moulton, 1842-43; William Lord,

1843-53; James T. McCobb, 1853; Henry P. Lord, 1854-56;

Joshua S. Palmer, 1856; Henry P. Lord, 1857-60; Joshua S.

Palmer, 1860; Henry P. Lord,J 1861-67; Henry W. Hersey,

1868-79.

* For representatives to the Legislature of Maine, see chapter on

State Legislature.

f Resigned before his term expired. X Died this year.

MUNICIPAL COURT.

EtUMiihcd June 1, 1825.

JUSTICES.

Luther Fitch, 1825-54; John II. Williams, 1855-56; Henry Carter,

1856-57; William Paine, 1858-59; M. D. L. Lane, 1860-61;

Aaron B. Holden, 1862-63 ; Benjamin Kingsbury, Jr., 1863-70
;

William E. Morris, 1871-75; Enoch Knight, 1875-79.

RKCORDKRS.

A. W. True, 1853; George E. B. Jackson, 1854; Nathan Webb,

1854-55; E. P. Sherwood, 1855; Samnel Small, 1856-57; Wil-

liam E. Morris, 1858-59; William E. Morris, IS63-64; Llewelyn

Kidder, 1867-79; George W. Woodbury, 1879.

SCHOOLS AND EDUCATION.

EARLT HISTORY OP SCHOOLS.

In the first days after the revival of the town the inhabi-

tants were too mach occupied in providing for the security

of their estates and for their very existence to give much

attention to the subject of education. The earliest notice

we have in the records of a movement to employ a teacher

was Sept. 15; 1729. This was eleven years after the in-

corporation of the town, and it seems that the law requir-

ing every town of 50 families to support constantly " one

Schoolmaster" had not been complied with, fur the select-

men were requested to " look out for a schoolmaster to pre-

vent the town's being presented." We do not know that a

teacher was then employed, nor have wo any recorded evi-

dence of the presence of such a functionary till 1733, when

Robert Bayley was hired at a salary of £70 a year to keep

six months on the Neck, three months at Purpooduck, and

three months on the north side of Back Cove. Robert

Bayley is supposed to have come from Newbury, where the

family settled in 1643. In August, 1727, he was admitted

a proprietor of Falmouth on the payment of £10, and in

February following was granted a house lot on the south

side of Middle Street. In 1734 his field of labor as a

teacher was varied between the Neck, Purpooduck, Stroud-

water, Spurwink, New Casco, and Presumpscot, two mouths

in each, bis salary being raised to £75. The next year he

divided his time between the first and second parishes,

giving seven months to the former and five to the latter.

In 1736 he received six pounds extra as a grammar-school

master ; hence there was a grammar school in town as early

as 1736. It is thought Mr. Sewell took his place the next

year, as he is mentioned in the records as a teacher at that

time. The next year Nicholas Hodge, by vote of the town,

became teacher of the grammar school. He was then

a student at Harvard College, and graduated in 1739.

He came back and taught here till 1741, while preparing

for the ministry under Rev. Mr. Smith. In 1737 the

graminar school became a distinct institution of education,

in which the higher branches were taught.

About this time Samuel Stone kept a school in his

own house on the bank of Fore River, near the foot of

Centre Street. Thankful Page, born in 1731, says, in a

deposition which she lefl behind her, that she went to school

to Mr. Stone two summers, some time before Cape Breton

was taken for the first time. Stone was a boat-builder by

trade, and was admitted as an inhabitant in 1727. He
subsequently removed to Manchester, Mass., where he died

in 1778.
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Geoboe Walkek was bom in Burlington, Mass.,

Feb. 9, 1820. He was fitted for college by his

uncle, the late James Walker, and graduated at

Harvard College in the class of 1844. He was

principal of the Portland Academy for two years

;

read law with the well-known firm of " Howard

& Shepley," of Portland, and was admitted to the

practice of the law by the Cumberland County bar

in 1846.

He b^an the practice of law at Calais, Me.,

where he remained for two years, and removed to

Machias, Me., where he continued in the practice

of his profession until November, 1875. He was

twice elected treasurer of Washington County, and

represented the Machias class in the State legis-

lature of 1868.

Mr. Walker came to Portland in November, 1875,

and was elected mayor of the city in March, 1879.

He married, in 1851, Henrietta, daughter of the

late Hon. Jeremiah O'Brien. Of this union have

been born six children, three of whom, two sons

and a daughter, survive.
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In 1745 the salary voted " to pay the teacher now amoog

us" was £130, which, as the currency was then depreciated

(seven to one), amounted to the meagre sum of S80 in

silver. April 1 1th, of this year, Stephen Loodellow, the an-

cestor of all of that name who have resided in the town, came,

and in six days after opened a school,—probably the gram-

mar school,—which he continued, in the capacity of princi-

pal teacher, until he was appointed clerk of the courts on

the division of the county, in 1760. Mr. Longfellow was

born in Newbury, in February, 1723, and graduated from

Harvard' in 1742. He was for many years one of the most

active, widely usefol, and intelligent citizens of the town,

—

the father of Stephen, Samuel, and William Longfellow, and

one daughter, who married Capt. John Stephenson in 1771.

He died at Gorham in 1790, leaving to posterity the well-

earned reputation of sound morals and strict integrity.

In 1752, £100 lawful money were raised for the support of

schoob, and £6 13*. 4d. were " added to the Neck's propor-

tion," to assist the inhabitants there to " support a grammar

school." In 1753, John Wiswall, afterwards the Episcopal

minister, who was then qualifying himself for that office,

was the teacher on the Neck. He had graduated at Har-

vard in 1749. He left in a few years, on account of his

loyalty, at the commencement of the Revolution. Peter T.

Smith, a son of the Rev. Thomas Smith, taught school

on the Neck in 1755. He had graduated at Harvard in

1753. After teaching the school a short time, he removed

to Windham, where he subsequently settled as a minister.

About this time a Mr. Wallace began a school, which he

taught five or six years, in a one-story school-house, which

stood on the corner of Middle and School Streets. He had

a wife, and lived in the same building. He came from

England, where he had been formerly employed as a

draughtsman in the navy yard.

In 1756, Jonathan Webb came here from Boston, and

soon after opened a school, which he continued to teach for

several years. It was kept in an old building, which stood

on King Street, next above the town-house. The building

was mounted on piles, and stood a little distance back, the

passage to it being a plank platform. Mr. Webb was called

by the boys " Pithy" Webb, from a practice he had of

putting the pith of the quill into his mouth when he cut it,

in making the old-fashioned quill pens, which was the only

kind in use in those days. He was a graduate of Harvard,

in the class of 1754 ; married Lucy, the eldest daughter of

Brigadier Preble, but had no children by her. He died

soon after the war of the Revolution commenced. His

successor was Moses Holt, who was also a graduate of Har-

vard in 1767, bat was cut off in the midst of his honors

and promise by consumption in 1772.

" We may reuoaably oonclade," says Mr. Willis, " that two schools

conducted by male teachers were regularly kept on the Neck from

about 1750, that Mr. Smith succeeded Mr. Wiswall, and that Mr.

Webb followed Mr. Smith. In 1760, the time of which we are speak-

ing, the number of families on the Neck wag about 165, furnishing,

as we may fairly estimate, a population of about 1000."

Besides the schools taught by male teachers, Mrs. Clark,

who lived in Plumb Street, taught a school for smaller chil-

dren. The severity of her discipline and the harshness of

her Dianners were proverbial. There was also, in 1761, an

22

Irish teacher by the name of Richmond, whose manners

and discipline of the same sort produced great indignation.

He was, according to Mr. Smith, " a worthless fellow, by

means of whom the peace of the neighborhood of the Neck

was broken up and dreadfVil quarrelings occasioned." He
was brought before Justice Enoch Freeman on a warrant,

and bound over to appear before the Court of General Ses-

sions, " to answer his being presented for setting up and

keeping a school in Falmouth without the approbation of

the selectmen." The selectmen, it seems, had turned him

out of town, but he had returned and persisted in teaching

school in spite of them and their prohibition. A similar

trouble occurred with another " old countryman" by the

name of Lyon, who kept school in Fore Street, near Clay

Cove, about the commencement of the Revolution. Of a

very different class of teachers, however, were two gentle-

men who taught in 1761, viz., David Wyer and Theophilus

Bradbury. They were men who honored the highest call-

ings to which their countr3rmen assigned them. Both of

these gentlemen ^ere then studying law, and were admitted

to practice in the Common Pleas in 1762. Mr. Bradbury

graduated at Harvard in 1757, and Mr. Wyer in 1758.

Mr. Bradbury kept a school on Plumb Street, in a house

which remained standing till within a quite recent date.

They probably did not teach after their admission to the

bar, as they were the only lawyers then in the county, and

their professional duties immediately absorbed their whole

attention.

In 1762 four school distrijcts were formed in the First

Parish, which included all of ancient Falmouth, except the

districts of Purpooduck and New Casco. Two of the dis-

tricts were upon the Neck, the third embraced Capisio,

Stroudwater, Saccarappa, and Deer Hill, and the fourth

Back Cove and the rest of the parish not included in the

other districts. On the same occasion it was voted that

each district should draw money in proportion to the taxes

it paid, provided a school were kept in it the whole year.

The districts on the Neck were divided by a line drawn

across it " between Mr. Freeman's house and Mr. Waldo's,"

which was a little above where Judge Freeman lived at the

time of his death. The upper district extended to " Round

Marsh."

The only money raised for schools in 1763 was £20,

which were wholly appropriated to the grammar school.

In 1764, Judge Freeman, then twenty-one years of age,

kept a public school, and the next year a private school on

the Neck. In 1769, Theophilus Parsons, afterwards the

distinguished chief justice of Massachusetts, graduated at

Harvard College, and immediately came here to pursue his

legal studies under the direction of Mr. Bradbury. While

preparing for the bar he took chaise of one of the public

schools on the Neck, which he continued to teach till he

was admitted to practice in July, 1774. He kept in a

house which stood on King Street, at the intersection of

Middle Street, and was removed, in 1774, to Congress

Street, and became part of the residence of Jonathan

Bryant. Judge Frothingham was also one of the teachers

in the public school here, both before and after the Revo-

lution. But, notwithstanding the distinguished character

of some of the men who taught in the early schools, it
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cannot be claimed that the standard of education was very

exalted prior to the Rerolntion. Several college graduates

bad came to Falmouth, bat only two of the natives of the

town had gone out to receive a public education prior to

that period : these were John and Peter T. Smith, sons of

the minister. They graduated at Harvard College, the

former in 1745, and the latter in 1753. John became a

physician, the other followed the profession of his father.

At the beginning of the Revolution there were 13 persons

upon the Neck who were liberally educated, and 6 of them

were engaged in professional pureuits.

No important steps were taken for the advancement of

education during the period of the Revolution, nor for

some time after, till the country had in a measure recovered

from the effects of the war. As the means of the people

increased, it became an important consideration with them

to raise the standard of education in the town And with

this view, some of the influential citizens, foremost among

whom was Judge Freeman, took measures to establish a

higher grade of school than had before existed in the town.

THE AOASEMY.

In February, 1794, they procured an act incorporating

an academy, which was placed under the supervision of

15 trustees, and active measures were taken to raise funds

for its support. In 1797 the General Court granted to

the trustees half a- township of land, provided a fund of

93000 should be formed. The fond was raised after con-

siderable effort, and the half township laid out on the east-

ern boundary of the State, from which the trustees realized

$4000 by its sale to Joseph E. Foxcrofl, of New Glouces-

ter. The academy was first opened under the instruction

of Edward Payson, in 1803, in a two-story wooden build-

ing, opposite the meeting-house of the Third Parish, on

Congress Street. This was occupied till 1808, when the

new academy building on the same street was finished.

This building was of brick, and cost $7300. This school

was for many years well conducted and liberally supported,

and supplied a deficiency in the means of obtaining an

education which had long been seriously felt.

We find in Mr. Willis' History of Portland, the follow-

ing names of native inhabitants who received a liberal

education up to 1831: John Smith, H. C, 1745; Peter

T. Smith, H. C, 1753 ; George Bradbury, H. C, 1789

;

S. D. Freeman, H. C, 1800 ; William Freeman, H. C,

1804 ; Isaac Foster Coffin, Bowdoin College, 1806 ; Charles

S. Daveis, B. C, 1807 ; John Mussey, B. C, 1809 ; Na-

thaniel Deering, H. C, 1810 ; John P. Boyd, John P. B.

Storer, Charles Freeman, and George Freeman, B. C,

1812; John A. Douglass, B. C, 1814; George Jewett,

H. C, 1816 ; George Chase, H. C, 1818 ; Edward T. In-

graham, B. C, 1819 ; William Boyd, James F. Deering,

Frederick A. Cobb, H. C, 1820 ; David H. Storer, B. C,

1822 ; William Cutter, B. C, 1824 ; John D. Kinsman,

Stephen Longfellow, Henry W. Longfellow, and Edward

D. Preble, B. C, 1825; William Paine, B. C, 1826;

William H. Codman, William P. McLellan, and John

Owen, B. C, 1827 ; Edward F. Cutter, B. C, 1828 ; John

Q. Day, B. C, 1829 ; Francis Barbour, B. C, 1830 ; Ed-

ward H. Thomas, B. C, 1831. The following are the sons

of emigrants educated after their settlement here, viz.:

John Wadsworth and James C. Jewett, H. C, 1800;

Richard Cobb, B. C, 1806 ; Edward H. Cobb, B. C, 1810

;

William WUlis, H. C, 1813; Rufus K. Porter, B. C,

1813 ; Nathan Cummings $nd John Widgery, B. C,

1817 ; Grenville Mellen, H. C, 1818 ; Winthrop G. Mars-

ton, B. C, 1821; William P. Fessenden, B. C, 1824;

Frederick Mellen and P. H. Greenleaf, B. C, 1825 ; John

Rand, B. C, 1831.

The immense improvement made in the means of com-

mon education during the first third of the present century

was not without its effect in giving new tone and character

to the schools of Portland. In 1831 there were 14 free

schools in the city, containing 1545 pupils; 2 of these

were on the islands in the harbor. In 1832 there were

11 school-houses in the town, 4 of brick and 7 of wood.

There were at this time about as many private as public

schools, and some of them were of a superior order of ex-

cellence. The appropriations for school purposes increased

from £30 in 1786 to $5000 in 1827 and $6000 in 1830.

In 1848 we find another report showing that at that date

the number of schools supported at the public charge was

20 ; the number of pupils belonging to them, 3000 ; and

the average attendance, 2700. Among the public schools

there was a high or classical school, at which boys were

prepared for college, 2 grammar schools for boys and 2 for

girls, the 5 containing 1000 pupils. The others were pri-

mary schools, taught principally by ladies. For the ac-

commodation of these school? the city owned 8 fine brick

buildings and 6 wooden buildings. A fine brick school-

house was erected on Congress Street in 1848, at a cost of

$11,876. At the same time there were in the city about

30 private schools, containing about 1000 scholars, an

academy for classical instruction to boys, and several high

schools or seminaries for young ladies. For some time

previous to the incorporation of the city the monitorial

system of teaching had been in vogue in Portland, each

school being in charge of a single teacher. We give the

ibllowing historical sketch of the Park Street and Brackett

Street schools, recently consolidated in the Pine Street

grammar school, from an address by C. F. Libby, Esq., at

the dedication of the new and elegant building of the latter

in September, 1879

:

" In 1828 the briok btulding on Spring Street, now oeoapied by the

Practice School, was ereoted for Master Jackson's school, at an ex-

pense of about $2500. The committee of that year say that the

' building was found to answer the highest expectations, being per-

fectly commodious and sufficiently spacious to accommodate as large

a number as it will probably eveir be desirable to collect in one school.'

As the average number belonging to the school in that year was 190,

it would seem that the number which it was desirable to collect in one

school under the instruction of a single teacher had already been

largely exceeded, and in view of this fact it is not surprising to learn

that grammar was not then included in the branches taught in that

school.

" Of some of the arduous duties of a master in those days we get a

glimpse when we learn, as recorded by Master Jackson, that in one

year he made more than 11,000 quill pens for bis pupils. One fact, re-

corded by the committee in 1837, with reference to this school, and

deemed worthy of commendation, was the formation of an 'anti-

swearing society' by some of the pupils, which was ' attended with

much good,' in the opinion of Mr. Jackson. The judicious conduct

of these youths can be safely recommended for imitation in our

schools, as we have no reason to think that the prevalence of ' the re-
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Tolting and wioked custom of profane swearing among latls' has

entirely ceased in our day.

" The school continued in this building until 1 844, when the brick

school-house on Park Street was erected for its accommodation, ' being

the beat arranged and the best constructed,' as the committee say, 'of

any building for a similar purpose erer erected by the city,—both a

credit and an ornament to our city.' The school was then known by
the name of ' Male Grammar School, No. 1,' and was soon after placed

on a better foundation by the employment of a female teacher as as-

sistant. Mr. Jackson continued at the head until 1849, when be was
obliged to ask leave of absence on account of ill health, and never

returned to the school, his death occurring a few months afterwards.

" Probably no teacher connected with our public schools has erer

left a more honorable record than Master Jackson, who was identified

with the growth of our school system by long years of faithful and

earnest service. He was followed by Manthnno Pickering, who con-

tinued in charge of the school until his death, in 1863. 0nder his

efficient management the standard of the school steadily advanced

;

as a thorough instructor and disciplinarian he had no superior among
our teachen, and his labors will ever lie held in grateful remembrance

by the pupils who were under his charge.

" Mr. Eben Wentworth, who since 18&3 had been principal of the

intermediate school for boys, succeeded Mr. Pickering as principal of

this school, and continued successfully to fill this position until 1869,

when he was elected principal of the North School, and the present

incumbent (Mr. Haloes) was elected to fill bis place. Mr. Went-
worth was a teacher of rare judgment and large experience; under

his wise management the North School was soon brought to a high

state of proficiency and took a front rank among our schools. Four
years ago, in consequence of impaired health, he resigned his posi-

tion and was appointed superintendent of the State Reform School,

where he established many wise reforms and mada^the school, what
the State intended it to be, a reformatory rather than a penal institu-

tion. His recent death has deprived the community of a useful citi-

zen and a valuable public officer.

" The few changes in the teachers of this school during this long

period of more than fifty years, is a marked feature of its history and

has contributed largely to its usefulness and success. The earnest and

&itbful labors of the men who have administered its affairs will be

long remembered by their numerous pupils, now numbered among our

active and influential oiticens, and their lives deserve more than the

passing notice which we are able to give.

"The moni^rial system of instruction, which was in use both in

the boys' and girls' schools of the higher grades fifty years ago, and

which bad been adopted from a desire of economy, could not long pro-

vail in a community which demanded efficiency in its common-school

system. We accordingly find that, soon after the incorporation of our

city, a change was demanded in this respect. The interest in popular

education was increasing with the advance in wealth and population,

and schools in which reading, writing, and the simple rules of arith-

metic only were taught no longer satisfied the more progressive spirit

of the day. The girls' monitorial schools were the first to feel the

influence of this change. As early as 18.37, ten years before the

change was made in the boys' school, female assistants were employed

in these schools and their course of study was advanced to a- higher

grade. In this year a building was specially erected, at a cost of

$4300, for the accommodation of the West Female Grammar School on

Spring Street, which is now used aa the engine-house and war^ room.

It was desoribed by the committee of that day as ' a tasteful and

convenient brick edifice with a stone front.' Miss Jane Carruthers

was then principal, with Miss Mary K. Farrington assistant. At the

dedication of this building, Dec. 4, 1837 (one of the few school build-

ings where I find any notice in the reports of a public dedication) the

Rev. Jason Whitman, then pastor of the Second UnituriUn society

(Park Street), delivered an elaborate address, which was deemed

worthy of publication by the committee and is printed with this re-

port.

" This school, the early representative of the Brackett Street Gram-

mar School, had formerly occupied a wooden building on State Street,

and later a building on Spring Street, both of which have long since

been removed. Its earliest principal mentioned in the reports was

a Miss £idder, who was in charge of the school in 1826. She re-

signed in 1829, and Miss Charlotte Hale took her place, remaining

at its head until 1836, when she resigned on account of ill health, and

Miss Narcissa B. Mitchell was elected principal, but remained in

charge only a few months, when she (^ave place to Miss Carruthers,

previously mentioned. Misi) Carruthers died in 1838, nud Miss

Farrington became principal. Instead of employing an assistant

teacher, the committee of that year tried the plan of using ' four of

the most advanced young ladies in the school, who were formerly

monitors, as assistant pupils,' dividing the salary of the assistant

teacher among them, 'the young ladies still pursuing their own
studies, while each of them took charge of a division of the school

in certain branches.' This plan, however, was not satisfactory, and

in 1S40 a regular teacher was employed as assistant. From 1845 to

1851 Miss Mary B. Giddings was principal of the school, having

as her assistant Miss Racbael J. Symonds until 1849, when Miss An-

gela A. Small, who had been since 1845 a teacher in the Priniary No.

6, was appointed in her place, and -n 1851 was elected principal of the

school, with a salary of $300. With Miss Small's assumption of the

principalship, the school seems to have entered upon a very pros-

perous course. She was a lady of rare gifts and accomplishments us

a teacher, and until her death, in 1870, was successively elected to re-

sponsible positions in our public schools. Having been promoted to

be principal of the Willis School for girls at the time of its establish-

ment, in 1857, she remained in charge of that school until it was dis-

continued, when she was transferred to the High School, where she

held the position of mistress at the time of her death.

"In 1852 the building on Brackett Street, built in 1836 and occu-

pied as a primary school, was burned,—being, it is said, the first

school-house ever destroyed by fire in Portland. A larger fchool-

honse was immediately built upon the same lot, containing upon the

second floor rooms for a primary school, and in the third story rooms

for a grammar school, iinder what was then ' the highest roof in the

city.' To these rooms the school on Spring Street was immediately

transferred, and has since been known as the Brackett Street

Grammar School for girls. In 1857, Miss Lydia A. Harris, a teacher

who had long been connected with our public schools, and whose

name is held in affectionate remembrance by the many pupils who
passed under her instruction, became principal of the school and re-

mained in charge of it until she resigned her position, in 1877, when
she was succeeded by Miss Ellen C. Williams, who is now transferred,

with her former pupils, to this school. Any notice of the Brackett

Street Grammar School woald be inadequate which failed to recognize

the valuable services rendered to this sohool by Miss Harris. Her re-

fined influence, gentle manners, and earnest teaching were reflected

in the minds of her pupils, and were potent influences in the success

of the school.

" To-day we are about to bring together, under one management
and one roof, these two schools whose independent existence I have

briefly traced. The early policy, which dictated the separate educa-

tion of the. sexes, has given place to different views, more favorable,

it is believed, to the interests of society. Modern life, with its sweep-

ing current, has leveled many prejudices. The peculiar notions that

once prevailed as to the proper education of women, which were based

upon their assumed inferiority in intellectual power and fitness for

only a ' special sphere,' are fast passing away. The same liberal

spirit which recognizes their equality of right before the law would
extend to them equal privileges in matters of education. We have
learned to recognize that their intellectual needs and capaoitiea are

equal to those of men, and that the convent system^^of high walls

and light intellectual diet, with a good deal of fancy work— is not pro-

ductive of the best results, so far as the highest type of womanhood
is concerned. We hare found that the co-education of the sexes is

consistent with a recognition of the special wants of each, and is nt-

tended with mutual advantage. In making the change we are intro-

ducing no innovation into our schools. Wo are but removing an
anomaly which has long existed in the case of four grammar schools,

and completing a system which was initiated years ago in the highest
and lowest grades.

" Were time permitted to me, it would be interesting to trace the
growth of our public-school system from its earliest history, and
show the causes which have stimulated its rapid development within
the last fifty years. As late as 1834 the private schools in this city

had nearly as many pupils as were included in all the public schools,

and not until 1850 was there established a high sohool for the educa-
tion of girls, although such an institution had existed for boys ever
since the independent existence of Maine as a State, and a special

classical school for boys had been maintained since 1797. Now all

this is changed. Private schools no longer monopolize the facilities
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for a higher education. In fact, they may he said to hardly exist in

oar midst. They hare been crowded oat by the pahlic schools, which,

working on a broader foundation and with more liberal provision for

higher edaeation, hare rendered competition on the part of indirid-

uali almost impoisible."

The progress in the public schools of the city for the

past seventeen years may be shown by the amount of appro-

priations made from year to year, as follows :

18«2 $30,500 1871 $65,875
18«3 32,192 1872 67,175
1864. 33,»17 1873 69,250
1865_..: 39,200 1874. 77,800
1866 44,550 1875 89,700
1867„ 53,950 1876 82,138
1868 57,000 1877 84,925
1869 64,200 1878 76,440
1870 64,475

The public schoob in the city at present are twenty-three

in number, viz., one high school, for pupils of both sexes

;

three with grammar and primary grades; four grammar

schoob ; nine primary ; two mixed, the latter on the islands,

and one named the Portland School for the Deaf, and

Dumb.

The number of persons eligible to attend school (between

four and twenty-one, inclusive), according to the census

taken in June, 1878, is 9581. In' June, 1876, the number

was 10,634, showing that for the two intervening years the

number had diminished 1053. Eleven years ago (in 1867)

the number between four and twenty-one was 11,452. The

number attending school for this year (1878) has been

5944. The amount raised for the support of the schools

for the municipal year ending March, 1879, was $77,400.

' School Committee.—Greorge Walker, Mayor, Chainnan

(eas-offido) ; George C. Buigess, Ward One ; Frank A. Stan-

ley, Ward Two ; William H. Shailer, Ward Three ; George

H. Chadwiok, Ward Four ; Charles E. Dibby, Ward Five

;

Henry S. Burrage, Ward Six; Levi A. Gray, Ward Seven.

Thomas Tash, Superintendent of Schools.

In their last report the committee say,

—

" It gives the Committee pleasure to say that the schools of the city

generally hare dnring the year made commendable progress, and

maintained the honorable rank which they had previously acquired.

In no former year perhaps has more faithful labor been accomplished

or more satisfactory results been achieved. The standard of excel-

lence hi*J become more elevated, and in some respects decided advances

have been made towards its attainment."

The truant officer, during the year ending with March,

1879, visited the schools 1390 times, received 1086 cards

from the teachers for investigation, made 43 arrests, and

committed two boys to the Reform School. Returning to

school without arrest, 28. Truant officer reports daily to

superintendent of schools for advice and directions.

CHURCHES OF POBTLAND.

The number of regular churches in Portland is twenty-

eight. Of these nine are Congregational, three Protestant

Episcopal, three Baptist, four Methodist Episcopal, two Ro-

man Catholic, two Unitarian, two Universalist, one Luth-

eran, one Swedenborgian, .one Friends' Society, and one

Ministry at large. Besides these there are several relig-

ious societies worshiping in halls and other buildings, such

as the Second Adventists, Disciples of Christ, Spiritualists,

etc. Of suburban churches there is one Methodist and one

Congregational at Woodford's Corners, Bay-Side Free Bap-

tist, Ferry Village Methodist Episcopal, and Stevens' Plains

Universalist.

FIK8T PARISH (CNITABIAN).

This society was the first established on the Neck, now

Portland. Rev.' Thomas Smith was the first settled minis-

ter, and was ordained March 8, 1727. He was the only

minister in the town till Not. 10, 1734, when Rev. Mr.

Allen was installed at Cape Elizabeth, which was till then

a part of Mr. Smith's parish. There was a block-house

held by some families at Purpooduck Point, and a garrison

and a few families at Spurwink : at those places Rev. Mr.

Smith used alternately to minister to the people. There

was no other minister in town till other parishes were set

off. In the first parish Rev. Samuel Deane was settled as a

colleague with Mr. Smith, Oct. 17, 1764. They continued

together until the death of Mr. Smith, May 23, 1795. Mr.

Deane then became sole pastor, and so remained until the

settlement of Rev. Ichabod Nichols, June 7, 1809. Dr.

Deane died Nov. 12, 1814, and the whole pastoral charge

devolved upon Dr. Nichols.

It was soon after the settlement of Dr. Nichols over this

parish that the divergence in religions belief, which finally

separated them so widely from their Orthodox Congr^a-

tional brethren, began to manifest itself Rev. Edward

Payson, who had become an associate with Dr. Kellogg in

the second parish, in 1807, took strong exceptions to the

views of Rev. Mr. Nichols, declining to assist in his ordina-

tion, or to recognize him as a Christian minister. " Pre-

vious to that time there had been an interchange of services

between the ministers of the two societies, and although it

was understood that Dr. Deane entertained views more fa-

vorable to the liberal scheme of Christianity than Mr. Kel-

logg or Mr. Payson, it did not interrupt Christian fellow-

ship between them. After that time the narrow breach

widened to a gulf, and in one parish what was moderate

Calvinism became decided Unitarianism, while in the other

the same moderate Calvinism rose into the firm orthodox

scheme which excluded from its fellowship and its pulpits

Ihe minbters of the other sect." In building up thb sys-

tem Mr. Payson's ability and eloquence as a preacher bore

no unimportant part. In 1811, at an association of minbters,

Mr. Kellogg and Mr. Payson both declined to allow the ap-

pointment of Mr. Nichob to preach in their pblpits to be

carried into effect, and thus the breach between the two

societies was made permanent.

The first meeting-house of the parish was built in 1740,

and was occupied till the commencement of the Revolution,

when it wad shattered by the balls of Cap't. Mowatt's gun-

ships in the bombardment of the town in 1775. It suf-

fered from subsequent n^lect and became a melancholy

ruin. When the society gathered its scattered members

after the war, it was seriously dbcussed whether it would

not be better to abandon the old structure and erect a new

one. " Many believed it unworthy of repair, and a com-

mittee reported that it would cost £200 to restore it." In

1787 a vote passed to pull down the old church and build

a new one by subscription ; and Samuel Freeman, one of

the most active and influential men in the parish, circulated

a subscription for that purpose. The division' of the
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Sylvastus K. Ltmah was born in Fryeburg, Me., Deo. 27, 180B.

His grandfather, Rev. Eliphalet Lyman, was a Congregational clergy-

man of Woodstock, Conn., for many years, and died tliere. His

father, Eliphalet Lyman, graduated at Dartmouth College; studied

medicine; was a practicing physician at Fryeburg for many years,

subsequently at Danrille, Tt,, and later at Lancaster, N. H., where

he died at the age of seventy-nine.

His mother was Abigail, granddaughter of Eleazer Wheelock,

founder of Dartmouth College, and daughter of Prof. Sylranus

Ripley, of the same institation. She was also sister of Gen.

Eleazer Bipley, prominent in the war of 1812-14, and who died in

Louisiana; and also a sister of Hon. James W. Ripley, of Fryeburg,

once a member of Congress from the Oxford district. Their children

wore four sons and three daughters,—Mrs. John Crocker (deceased)

;

Sylvanus R. ; Mrs. J. Philbrick, of Illinois j James W. ; Mrs. S. Rey-

nolds, of niinois (deceased); Charles P. (deceased); and Edward

Huntington. Hia mother died, in 1837, in Louisiana.

SyWanus Ripley Lyman, at the age of seven, went to live with his

grandfather. Rev. Eliphalet Lyman, of Woodstock, where he remained

until he was sixteen, attending school winters and 'working on the

farm summers. Among his schoolmates was Henry C. Bowen, of

Brooklyn. He then spent one year at school in Lancaster and Frye-

burg Academy, intending to prepare for college. Circumstances

which he could not control prevented, and, unaided pecuniarily, he

began a business life. After one year's clerkship in Eaton, N. H., in

October, 1824, he came to Portland, where, first as a clerk for four

years, and then in trade for himself as a dry-goods merchant, for

eight years, he successfully carried on business.

He was elected captain of a company of State militia in 1329, .ind

subsequently promoted to the rank of colonel, which office he resigned

in 1833. He became a director of the Canal Bank, and in 1836 was

elected its president. Confiding too much in the ability of a near

relative as a financier, Mr. Lyman, in 1836, lost nearly his entire

property. He, soon after taking up his residence in Portland, began

to be interested in local and State legislation, and was active as a

member of the old Whig party. In 1835 he was elected to the Legis-

lature, and by re-election was a representative from Portland for six

years in succession. Ho was again elected to the Legislature in 1855.

His long term as member made him conversant with State and nation.a I

affairs, and gave him influence with the leaders of parties in other

localities than Cumberland County. From 1835 to 1S4I he was a

member of the Whig State Committee, and from 1S:<7 to 1S40 chair-

man of that body. In May, 1841, he was appointed postmaster of

Portland by President Tyler, and in 1843, through the agency of

David Henshaw, of Boston, Secretary of the Navy, removed from

office. Mr. Lyman, with that confidence in the justice of his case,

and with that courage and persistency characteristic of his whole life.

appeared personally before President Tyler, and, upon the statement

of the facts in the case by him, was reinstated, holding ofiice the

remainder of the presidential term.

In 1849-50 he was alderman of the Fifth Ward, declining re-election

in 1851. In 1839 he was the successful candidate against William

Pitt Fessenden as a delegate at hirge to the National Convention that

nominated William Henry Harrison for President of the United States.

In 1860 he was a delegate to the ever-memorable Charleston Conven-

tion, which was adjourned to Baltimore, marking the era of the split

of the Democratic party, and the consequent success of the Republican

party in the election ofAbraham Lincoln. He was also a delegate to the

Democratic Nationgbl Convention in 1864. In 1860 his name was placed

upon the National Democratic Committee from Maine, and as a mem-
ber of which he was prominent in its councils for twelve consecutive

years. In 1845, following his retirement as postmaster, he commenced
business as a ship chandler on Fore Street, and has successfully

carried on this business since, his place of trade now being on Com-
mercial Street.

In 1830 he married Caroline, daughter of Deacon Thomas Beck,

one of the founders of the Baptist Church in Portland. The children

living of this marriage are Thomas Ripley Lyman, of New York, and
Caroline, wife of Israel T. Dana, M.D., of Portland. Mrs. Lymun
died in 1840.

For his second wife he married, in 1842, Christiana, daughter of

Capt. Samuel Blanchard, of Portland. Their children are Helen,

wife of Henry Littlefield, Abbie Ripley, Annie AVheelock, Elizabeth

Dana, James Phillips, and Edward Wheelock (deceased).
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The ancestor of the Woodman family in America was
Edward Woodman, who, in company with Archelaus Wood-
man, settled at Newbury, Mass., in 1635. The latter was

a passenger in the ship " James," which sailed from South-

ampton in the month of April of' that year. It is not

known whether Edward came in the same vessel, but it is

certain that they both settled at Newbury at the same time.

Archelaus died Oct. 14, 1702, leaving no children.

Edward reared a family of seven children. He was living

in 1687, but the time of his death is unknown.

John Woodman, fifth in descent from Edward, born

April 24, 1740, married Sarah Page, of Salisbury, Mass.,

in 1762, settled at New Gloucester, Me., in 1764, and was

one of the pioneers of that town. His goods came on a

raft up Boyal River. He was a farmer, and died March

21, 1808. His wife died Feb. 13, 1809. John Woodman
was one of fifteen children of Joshua and Eunice Wood-
man, twelve of whom reached maturity and married. Of
these children the shortest-lived reached the age of sixty-

eight, and the longest-lived died at the age of ninety-

seven.

Moses, son of John Woodman, and father of the subject

of this sketch, bom in New Gloucester, Dec. 23, 1778,

married Sally Cushman, Dec. 23, 1802. She died March

6, 1815. He married, for his second wife, Charlotte Lufkin,

Aug. 24, 1817.

He was a representative farmer ; was selectman for many

years, and a member of the State Legislature. He served

as captain in the war of 1812. He died in 1858. One
son, Jabez C. Woodman, was a prominent member of the

Cumberland County bar for many years ; was a graduate

of Bowdoin College, and died in Portland, Nov. 8, 1869,

aged sixty-five.

George W., born in New Gloucester, March 9, 1813,

remained at home until twenty-two years of age ; received

his education in the common school and by private in-

struction from his uncle, Jabez Woodman, who was a

graduate of Dartmouth College and a fine classical scholar.

He began business for himself in a country store in his

native town. In 1836, October 6, he came to Portland,

and in company with David J. True (True & Wood-
man) opened a retail dry-goods house. This firm dis-

solved partnership in 1845, and for the next five years Mr.
Woodman was in business alone. In 1850 he associated

with him in business Samuel True and Alfred Woodman
(Woodman, True & Co.), and opened business as a manu-
facturer of clothing and a jobber of dry goods and clothing.

This business continued until the fire of 1866, when he
suffered great loss, buildings and goods being entirely con-

sumed.

With that courage characteristic of him from a boy, and
nothing daunted, Mr. Woodman at once set about building

a place of business, and in 1867 erected the Woodman
block on Middle Street, where he has done business since,

and although he has had associated with him various

partners, the firm-name of " Woodman, True & Co." is still

retained.

The Woodman block is one of the finest structures in

the city of Portland, and is said to be the lai^est dry-goods
house in the State of Maine. Thus Mr. Woodman has
been an active business man of Portland for a period of
forty-three years, and is one of the oldest dry-goods mer-
chants in the city. During these years of continuous busi-

ness he has been an interested citizen in local matters, and
called to represent the interests of Portland in both branches
of the State Legislature.

He has been a member of the Portland Board of Trade
since its organization ; for many years was one of its vice-

presidents, and for four years its president. He was a
member of the old Whig party, and is now a Republican.

He was alderman from the Third Ward of the city for three

years, representative in the State Legislature in 1864, and
State senator in 1865-67. He married, Sept. 29, 1836,
Charlotte B., daughter of Amos Haskell, of New Gloucester.

She was bom July 5, 1819. Their children are Frances,

wife of Seth B. Hersey, of Portland ; Augusta J., wife of

R. A. Ballou, of Boston ; and Marie, wife of William E.
Donnell, of New York.
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parish, however, occurred at this time, and the matter was

postponed.

In 1788 a committee disposed of the parish lands, con-

verting them into a fund to be applied to its use, and the

same year they put in execution the law of 1786, allowing

them to assffls their taxes upon the pews instead of upon

the polls and estates as had previously been done. In 1792

£250 were appropriated for the repairs of the old meeting-

house. In 1800 the steeple and vane were repaired, and in

1803 the remainder of the building (outside and in) was

thoroughly painted.

In November, 1824, the parish came to the conclusion

to build a new meeting-house on the site of the old one, to

be commenced early the next spring and finished without

delay. Accordingly the present church edifice was erected

in 1825. It is constructed of undressed granite. The

comer-stone was laid by the venerable Samuel Freeman in

the presence of a very large assemblage. May 9, 1825.

On the southeast comer under the stone a silver plate was

laid with this inscription

:

" This C. Stone of ye Ch. of ye 1st Par. in Port'd. was laid by the

Hon. S. Freeman, May 9, 1825, on the site of the former Ch. erected

in 1740, enlarged in 1759 and removed 1S25. Build. Com'e. A. New-

hall, J. Richardson and J. HosMy Esqrs. Ist Pas. Rer. T. Smith

ord'd. in 1727, and Sen. CoU. from 1764 to his death in 1795 with the

Rev. Dr. Deane, who died in 1814, and with whom the 3d and present

Pas. the Rer. Dr. Nichols was associated in 1809. Deacons, Hon. S.

Freeman and W. Storer. Par. Com. Hon. B. Potter, C. B. Brooks

Esq. and J. Harrod. Treas. and Clerk C. S. Davies, Esq. [on the

other side] Builders, Henry Dyer, Mason ; Nathan How, Carpenter j

Stephen Morrell, Stone Cutter."

The whole expense of the church, including the fences

and laying oat the grounds around, was about 823,000. The

house was finished in January, and dedicated Feb. 8, 1826,

Dr. Nichols preaching the dedicatory sermon, assisted by

Dr. Parker, of Portsmouth.

This parish has been remarkable for its lengthy pastor-

ates. From the organization of the society in 1727 to

1879, a period of one hundred and fifty-two years, there

have been but five pastors, and in no part of the time has

the office been vacant. The periods of the respective pas-

torates have been as follows

:

Kev. Thomas Smith began his ministry March 8, 1727,

and continued till his death. May 23, 1795, a ministry of

sixty-eight years and two months, thirty-one years of which

were in connection with his colleague. Rev. Dr. Deane.

Rev. Samuel Deane's ministry began Oct. 17, 1764, and

continued till his death, Nov. 12, 1814, a ministry of fifty

years, five of which were in connection with his colleague.

Rev. Dr. Nichols.

Rev. Ichabod Nichols began his ministry in 1809 and

resigned in 1855, having served the parish forty-six years.

Rev. Horatio Stebbins, who succeeded Dr. Nichols in

the pastoral charge, was minister of the parish nine years,

from 1855 to 1864, when he resigned. He is now preach-

ing to great acceptance in San Francisco, Cal.

Rev. Thomas Hill, D.D., the leamed and accomplished

ex-president of Harvard College, succeeded Mr. Stebbins,

and is now in the sixteenth year of his pastorate.

In the offices also of the church and society an extraor-

dinary degree of steadings is observable : the office of parish

clerk was held by three persons sixty-seven years ; Samuel

Cobb was deacon thirty-nine and Samuel Freeman forty-

four years. The three persons who held the office of clerk

so fong were Stephen Longfellow, twenty-three years; John

Frothingham, thirty-four years; and Samuel Moody, ten

years.

It will be proper to append here a few biographical notes

of the pastors of the first parish.

Rev. Thomas Smith was the son of Thomas Smith and

Mary Corwin, and was born in Boston, March 10, 1702.

He was the eldest of a large family of children, all of

whom he survived. His father died at Saco, February 19,

1742; he was engaged there as Indian agent, and had been

for many years in the service of the government in connec-

tion with Indian affairs in this State. In 1716, at the age

of fourteen, Mr. Smith entered Harvard College, where

he graduated in 1720. In 1727 he settled as the first

parish minister in Falmouth. He was three times married:

his first wife was Sarah, daughter of William Tyng, Esq.,

of Woburn, Mass., to whom he was married Sept. 12, 1728,

and who died Oct. 1, 1742; the second was the widow of

Capt. Samuel Jordan, of Saco, whom he married in 1744,

she died in 1763 ; and his third wife was Widow Elizabeth

Wendell, who survived him. He had eight children, all

by his first wife, only two of whom survived him, viz.,

Peter T., bom in 1731, and Sarah, born in 1740, who both

died in 1827. Mr. Smith died May 23, 1795, in the

ninety-fourth year of his age, after a ministry over the

First Parish of sixty-eight years and two months. Dr. Kel-

logg at his fianeral said,

—

" On the record of Harvard's sons we find his aolitary name ; to all

around is prefixed the signature of death. The wilderness where he

first pitched his tent is now the place of vineyards and of gardens. Not

a soul that first composed his flock is now in the land of the living."

The character of this venerable man, whose life was ftill

of so many eventful years, may well impress us. He was a

man of very strong and marked characteristics, a preacher

of great fervor and devotion. It is said by his biographer

that " he was blessed with a singular strength of memory,

which he retained with little abatement to the last, and with

a lively imagination, which rendered his conversation in-

structive and entertaining." His voice was naturally feeble,

but the excellency of his elocution, accompanied by his grave

and earnest manner, rendered him a very agreeable and

forcible speaker. His labors in attending to his parish

duties, and in keeping the connected and voluminous diary

which has been published since his death, must have been

incessant and exhausting. During his ministry in the First

Parish he baptized 2363 children and 31 adults, and re-

ceived 379 persons igto his church.

Rev. Samuel Deane, D.D., was the great-grandson of

John Deane, the first of the name in this country, who

emigrated with his brother Walter from Chardin, Somer-

setshire, England, in 1636. After remaining a year in

Dorchester, near Boston, he removed to Taunton, Mass.,

where he died, leaving four sons and one daughter.

Dr. Deane was the eldest son of Deacon Samuel Deane,

and was bom in Norton, Mass., in 1733. He graduated at

Harvard College in 1760, with a high reputation as a

scholar, was appointed tutor there in 1763, and continued
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in the office until he accepted the call of the First Parish

the next year. While at Cambridge he composed a Latin

poem, which, with a volume of complimentaty effusions

irom the University, was presented to George III., ou his

accession to the throne The poem was highly spoken of.

He also published several other poems, the longest of which

was " Pitchwood Hill," in hexameter. His largest work,

the one to which he was most devoted, and which will

longest preserve his memory, is his " Georgical Dictionary,

or New England Farmer,'' first published in 1790. Besides

the foregoing works, Dr. Deane published an oration, de-

livered July 4, 1793 ; an election sermon, delivered in

1794 ; two discourses to young men of his parish, and

some other sermons. He was a man of dignified personal

appearance, but in hours of relaxation he was fond of in-

dulging in social conversation, which he often enlivened

with pleasantry and wit. He was a member of the Ameri-

can Academy of Arts and Sciences, and received his

doctorate of divinity from Brown University. He married

Eunice, daughter of Moses Pearson, in 1766, but had no

children. His wife died Oct. 14, 1812, aged eighty-seven.

He died Nov. 12, 1814, in the eighty-first year of his age,

and the fiftieth of his ministry.

Dr. Nichols was born in Portsmouth, N. H., July 5,

1784. He was the fourth son of Capt. Ichabod and Lydia

(Bopes) Nichols. His parents removing to Salem when he

was quite young, he was there fitted for college, in the high

school, and entered Harvard, where he graduated with the

highest honors of his class, in. 1802. In 1805, while pur-

suing his theological studies with Dr. Barnard, of Salem,

he received the appointment of tutor in mathematics, at

Cambridge, and continued to fill that office until his accept-

ance of the pastorate in this place. While exercising the

routine duties of his office he was not neglectful of the

profonndest studies of science and theology. He was a

well-instructed German scholar, and kept pace with the

best thought and discoveries of his time. Deeply in-

terested in the temperance" and Sunday-school cause, he

lectured and preached oflen in aid of the former, and for

the latter prepared a treatise on natural theology, which

has found a place in theological schools.

In 1810, Dr. Nichols married, for his first wife, Dorothea

T. Gilman, of Exeter, daughter of Governor Gilman, by

whom he had four children, all sons, two of whom died

young, and two survived him. He married his second

wife, a daughter of the late Stephen Higgenson, in 1832.

Like his predecessor. Dr. Nichols was a member of the

American Academy of Arts and Sciences. He was also

for several years president of the Maine Hbtorical Society,

and for forty-two years a trustee of Bowdoin College, which

institution conferred upon him the degree of D.D. in 1821.

He also received the same title from Harvard in 1831.

Dr. Nichols, on leaving the pastorate of the First. Parish,

retired to Cambridge, where he was engaged in getting out

the profound work which had been for many years the sub-

ject of his meditations. He did not live to finish it. On
the 2d of January, 1859, before the first volume came

from the press, he was summoned from his earthly labors.

Rev. Horatio Stebbias, who succeeded him in the pas-

toral charge here, is now preaching with great acceptance

in San Francisco, Cal. He resigned his charge over this

parish in 1864, and was succeeded by the learned ex-Presi-

dent of Harvard College, Rev.. Dr. Thomas Hill.

SECOND PARISH (CONQBEQATIONAL).

This parish originated in a separation from the First

Parish of 59 persons, including John Fox, Thomas Sand-

ford, Lemuel Weeks, Joseph H. Ingraham, John Curtis,

Joseph McLellan, Joseph Jewett, John Bagley, James

Jewett, Hugh McLellan, Abner Lowell, John Robinson,

William Moody, and Enoch Moody, by a vote bf 29 to 13,

on the 12th of September, 1787. They procured an act of

incorporation March 17, 1788, one of the conditions of

which was that they should contribute to the support of

Rev. Mr. Smith one-quarter of the amount voted to him by

the First Parish. This, however, did not hinder them from

taking immediate steps to secure another minister. They

wrote at once to Rev. Mr. Murray, of Newburyport, to

recommend a candidate to preach to them, and he sent them

Rev. Elijah Kellogg. Mr. Kellogg had studied for the

ministry under the direction of Mr. Murray, and came to

Portland in October, 1787, where he preached four Sundays

in the North school-house, at the foot of Middle Street.

'' The excitement which existed in town, the novelty of the

occasion, and the peculiar and ardent manner of Mr. Kel-

logg drew around him a lai^e congr^ation, and for a time

almost overturned the foundation of the old parish."

The next year the new society erected their first meeting-

house. It was dedicated on the 28th of September, 1788,

and on the 30th a church was formed consisting of 11 male

members. Mr. Kellogg was ordained on the 1st of October

following, and for 19 years the new society continued to

prosper under his sole charge. During the early part of

this period the spirit which had produced the separation kept

up a feeling of rivalry and opposition until both parishes

had overcome the embarrassment of their affairs ; but when

experience proved that both could be well sustained, all

jealousy subsided, and the ministers interchanged services

in a spirit of harmony very acceptable to their people. It

is proper to remark here that difference of doctrinal views

had nothing to do in producing this separation, and that

it was not until after both parishes were well established

that the divergence of belief arose which has separated them

so widely.

In 1807, Mr. Kellogg, having a desire to extend his

society and to establish a branch of it at the western end

of the town, which was then rapidly increasing, procured

the assistance of Mr. Edward Payson, with a view, if his ser-

vices should be satisfactory to the parish, to have him

united with himself as colleague pastor. The high expecta-

tions of Mr. Kellogg in relation to Mr. Payson were more

than realized ; he entered on the duties of his profession

with all the ardor of devoted feeling, and threw the whole

power of his enthusiastic character into the offices of his

ministry. Such ardor and enthusiasm, accompanied by

genius, could not but win the hearta of his hearers, and

there was no hesitation on their part in giving him a call

to settle over them. He accepted the invitation, and was

ordained as the colleague of Mr. Kellogg, Dec. 16, 1807.

Under this accession of ministerial power the society in-
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Daniel W. Teue is seventh in descent from

Henry True, who was of English birth, and ctime to

Salem, Mass., in 1632. His great-grandfather, Jabez,

settled with his family in the town of New Glouces-

ter, in 1760, as one of the first settlers under the

old proprietors of Massachusetts, and died there.

His grandfather, Jabez, born in 1750, was ten years

of age when the family removed to Cumberland

County. He married Miss Collins, reared a family

of children, and died in New Gloucester in 1823.

His father, Jabez, born on the old homestead in

1771, married Hannah Jackson, Jan. 23, 1795. She

was born in Gloucester, Mass., May 18, 1776, and

died in 1841. He followed agricultural pursuits

during his life, was a man of correct habits and

sterling int^rity, and died in 1842. Their family

consisted of five sons and seven daughters, of whom

six are living in 1879,—one son, Otis, besides Daniel

\V., the subject of this narrative, and four daughters.

Daniel W. True, youngest of the family, was born

in Poland (now Androscoggin County), Aug. 20,

1821. He remained at home until 1853, where, dur-

ing his boyhood, he received a common-school edu-

cation, and afterwards carried on farming. In that

year he came to Portland, and for two years was a

clerk for Shaw & True, wholesale grocers.

In 1855, with his brother John as partner, under

the firm of J. «& D. W. True, he began business on

Commercial Street as a wholesale grocer.

John True retired in 1862, since which time Mr.

True has continued the business, having associated

with him other partners. His business has kept

pace with the growing demands of trade, and his good

judgment and business capacity gives him a place

among the well-established business men of Port-

land.

While a farmer he took an active interest in the

local affairs of his town and county, and while a resi-

dent of Poland was one of the selectmen of the town

for four years. He is a director of the Cumberland

National Bank of Portland, and one of the trustees

of the Maine Savings Bank. He was a representa-

tive in the State Legislature in 1875-76. He mar-

rie<l, Aug. 29, 1847, Mary F. Milliken, of Poland,

Me. They have an only son, Frank D. True, born

April 25, 1868.

Mr. True still retains possession of the farm, first

settled by his father in 1798, and has caused to be

erected thereon commodious buildings of modern

design, a view of which, as it is in 1879, and as it

appeared in the hands of his ancestors, may be seen

on another page of this work.
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creased very rapidly, and Mr. Payson showed that he pos-

sessed the elements of a powerful and persuasive minister

;

his society and church became by far the largest in the

State, and himself the most popular preacher of his day.

The meeting-house was enlarged in 1807, to accommodate

the increased members of the society ; it was divided at the

first bay before the pulpit, and 32 new pews on the ground-

floor were added and sold for the benefit of the parish. The

house subsequently underwent an entire change in its in-

terior arrangement.

Amidst the great success produced by the zeal and ardor

of Mr. Payson, and while an apparent harmony existed in

the society, symptoms of disunion suddenly appeared, the

cause of which is not fully developed, and Mr. Kellogg's

connection with the church and society was dissolved in

December, 1811. The plan which had been fondly cherished

by the senior pastor of extending the society and forming a

branch in the westerly part of the town was abandoned.

The whole of the laborious duty now devolved upon Mr.

Payson, which he continued to discharge with renewed

assiduity and zeal until he wore himself out in the service,

and died Oct 22, 1827.

Several of Mr. Payson's discourses were published during

his lifetime, and had an extensive circulation, particularly

one before the Bible Society, and another to seamen. After

his death two volumes of his sermons and a memoir of his

life was published under the direction and for the benefit of

his widow.

Mr. Payson was succeeded by Rev. Bennett Tyler, Presi-

dent of Dartmouth College, who was installed in September,

1828. He continued in the pastoral relation till 1834,

when he was succeeded by Rev. Joseph Vail, of Brimfield,

Mass., who was installed the same year. In October, 1837,

Mr. Vail was dismissed at his own request, on account of

ill health, and returned to his former charge in Brimfield.

In 1838, Rev. Jonathan B. Condit, of New Jersey, was

settled in the place of Mr. Vail. Mr. Condit's health

becoming impaired, he made a voyage to Europe in 1843,

the parish liberally continuing his salary and supplying the

pulpit during his absence. In 1845, Mr. Condit asked

and received, though reluctantly, from the parish, a dismis-

sion on account of his wife's health, which was seriously

affected by the climate. In 1846, Dr. John S. Caruthers,

of Montreal, was installed in the sacred ofSce.

THE CHAPEL CONaREQATIONAL SOCIETY

was formed on the 18th of March, 1812, by the secession'

of Deacon James Jewett and 31 others from the Second

Church, who formed themselves into a distinct society

under the above name. The dismission of these persons

was procured by the aid of an ecclesiastical council, which

proceeded at the same time to install Mr. Kellogg as the

pastor of this society, he having accepted their unanimous

call. This small body was joined by some members from

the Second and Third Parishes, and their meetings were held

in the house of the third society ; the same year an act of

incorporation was obtained. It was the design of this

society to build a house in the southwesterly part of the

town, as had been contemplated by Mr. Kellogg when the

connection was formed between him and Mr. Payson. But

the war and commercial embarrassments taking place blasted

at once all the hopes of giving strength to their society by

the erection of a house of worship in a part of the town

where one was much needed, and they reluctantly accepted

the offer of the third society to take the conveyance of

their house encumbered as it was with a heavy debt. After

about six years, the fortunes of the society still continuing

unfavorable, Mr. Kellogg proposed to relinquish the whole

of his salary on two conditions : one was that the creditors

who had claims upon the meeting-house, and were princi-

pally proprietors, should accept a composition of 50 per

cent, of the sums due them ; the other was that they

should settle a colleague with him to enable him to engage

a part of the time in the missionary service. The proposi-

tions were accepted ; the Rev.. Thomas S. Murdock was

invited to become colleague with the Rev. Mr. Kellogg, and

the pews were sold on the expectation of his ordination for

a sufficient sum to redeem the liabilities of the parish at

50 per cent. But the ordination of Mr. Murdock having

been delayed by sickness in his family, the purchasers of

pews declined paying for them, and the compromise was

not carried into effect, so that the burden continued upon

the parish. Mr. Murdock, however, was ordained in Sep-

tember, 1819, and continued to discharge the duties of the

pastoral office until March, 1821, when it was dissolved by

mutual consent. Mr. Kellogg again became sole pastor ; he

soon procured the assistance of Mr. Whipple, a popular

preacher, to whom an unanimous invitation was given, but

declined. Mr. Mason supplied the pulpit a short time in

1821, during an absence of Mr. Kellogg on a mission, and

on the return of the latter, in December of that year, the

pastoral relation at his request was dissolved.* In the

spring of 1822, the Rev. Thomas Smith came to preach to

the society, and his services were so acceptable that he re-

ceived a united call and was ordained July 30th of that year.

Some additions were made to the congregation, and several

members were received into the church. He continued his

services till 1824, when, the society not being able to give

him a sufficient support, the connection was dissolved by

mutual consent. This was their last regular minister. The

society and church joined other parishes in town, about 35

of them becoming uQit«d with the Second Church, from

which twelve years before they had derived their separate

existence. In 1825 they sold their meeting-house, with its

heavy incumbrance, to a new society just then formed.

THE THIRD CONGREGATIONAL SOCIETY

was established in 1825. The church, consisting of 20

male and 15 female members, was set off from the Second

Church, and founded on the 9th of September of that year.

The same year they purchased the meeting-house of the

Chapel Society, and settled Rev. Charles Jenkins as their

pastor in November, 1825. The society increased rapidly

under the pastoral care of Mr. Jenkins until Deo. 29, 1831,

when he died suddenly. He was an accomplished scholar

* The parish committee addressed a letter to Mr. Kellogg, in which

they expressed the regret of the society in parting with him, and ten-

dered him its thanks for his faithful services. They say, '*Thi8

request the society grunted you with many painful feelings, and not

without honourable testimonies of your merits and services."
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and able preacher. He was a graduate of Williams College

in 1813, and was forty-three years old at the time of hw

death. He was. succeeded by Rev. Wm. T. Dwight, who

was ordained June 6, 1832. After the society purchased

their meeting-house they made extensive improvements,

rendering it handsome and convenient, and went on pros-

perously.

Dr. Dwight, the pastor, was a son of the late distin-

guished president of Yale College, was bom in New Haven

in 1795, and graduated at Yale in 1813. He was a tutor

in the college four years, and afterwards practiced law

in Philadelphia. But not liking the profession he pre-

pared himself for the ministry, of which he became a bright

ornament. His able ministerial services here continued

nearly thirty-two years, he terminating his labors in connec-

tion with the parish in April, 1864.

Ailer this. Rev. Jeremiah E. Walton, of Albany, N. Y.,

preached for the society as stated supply tiU May 1, 1866.

In December, 1869, this church and the Central Congre-

gational Church were consolidated in the organization

now known as Plymouth Church.

HIQH STREET CONGEEGATIONAL CHURCH.

In 1830 the Second Parish, having been so large as not

to be conveniently accommodated in their house of worship,

and many of the members living remote from it in the

upper part of the town, a number of them held a meeting

in December, to take into consideration the expediency of

forming a new society, and erecting another church at the

west end. The plan met with general approbation, and

committees were appointed to carry it into execution. In

the following January a lot was purchased on High Street,

and a handsome and commodious church edifice erected the

ensuing year. The comer-stone was laid by Albion K.

Parris, May 28, 1831, Rev. Dr. Tyler, of the Second

Church, delivering the address. The building committee

were Nehemiah Cram, William Wood, John A. Smith,

Mason Greenwood, Oliver B. Dorrance; Nathan How,

Superintendent. Parish Committee : Henry Goddard, John

Bartells, Eben Steele; Ezekiel Day, Treasurer; William

Cutter, Clerk. Building Contractors: Ebenezer Wilson,

Master Mason ; Eli Webb, Master Joiner. The building

is of brick, with one course of long stained-glass windows

;

it is 84 by 68 feet, with tower and belfry, the cost of the

building being $15,000.

The society was incorporated under the general statute,

Feb. 11, 1831, by the name of " High Street Church." In

September a church was formed consisting of 27 male and

37 female members, set off from the Second and Third

Congregational Churches. The house was dedicated in

January, 1832, Rev. Dr. Tyler preaching the sermon,

assisted by Rev. Messrs. Cummings and Cox. In Febra-

ary the society invited Rev. Willard Child, of Pittsford,

Vt., to take the pastoral charge, but he declined, and in

June following they extended a call to Rev. George C.

Beckwith, of Andover, who accepted, and was installed

Aug. 8, 1832. He remained pastor of the society about

two years and a half. On the 2d of April, 1835, he was

succeeded by Rev. John W. Chickering, a graduate of

Middlebury College in 1826, and who continued the pop-

ular and useful pastor of the society for nearly thirty years,

resigning his charge in the spring of 1864. Rev. William

H. Fenn, the present pastor, was installed July 25, 1866,

and is now (August, 1879) in the fourteenth year of his

pastorate.

STATE STREET CONGREGATIONAL OHUIICH.

This church was established as an offshoot from High

Street Church in 1851. A sufficient sum having been sub-

scribed, principally by members of the parent church, and

a lot purchased on State Street, the church edifice was com-

menced in the fall of 1851, and finished the next spring.

The church was organized under the name of " The State

Street Church," in March, 1852. It consisted of 58

members, of whom 48 were from High Street Church, 4

each from the Second and Third Churches, and 2 from

churches in Boston. In June the house was dedicated,

and on the 27th of April, 1853, Rev. Hugh Smith Car-

penter was installed as pastor. He resigned in April, 1857,

and returned to New York. Afler being without a pastor

for more than a year and a half, the church called and or-

dained George Lyon Walker, Oct. 18, 1858. Mr. Walker

is a native of Brattleboro', Yt., and a graduate of Middle-

bury College.

Edward Y. Hincks, a graduate of the Andover Theo-

logical Seminary, was ordained to the ministry and settled

as pastor of this church Oct. 18, 1870, and still remains

in charge.

THE CENTRAL,

formerly the " Union Congregational Church," had its ori-

gin in the withdrawal from the State Street Church of 22

of its members, for the purpose of forming a new church.

The first public services were held in Union Hall, Sept.

30, 1855, and were conducted by Rev. Henry D. Moore,

who had been invited to become the pastor of the church.

Jan. 24, 1856, the new church was publicly recognized by

an ecclesiastical council, numbering at that time 33 mem-
bers. In April, 1856, a lot of ground was procured on

Congress Street, west of High, on which a handsome and

spacious church was erected, and dedicated December 18th

of the same year.

Jan. 29, 1857, Rev. Henry D. Moore was installed. The

house of worship was destroyed by fire on Saturday night,

March 15, 1862. In August, 1862, the work of rebuild-

ing was commenced, according to the plan of the former

church, and the basement was occupied for services in No-

vember. The church was finished and dedicated April

26, 1863. At the annual meeting in 1862 it had been

voted unanimously to change the name of the church from

" Union" to the Central Congregational Church.

The successor of Rev. Mr. Moore, and last pastor of this

church, was Rev. Benson M. Finck, who was installed

April 9, 1868, and continued till Aug. 18, 1869.

ST. LAWRENCE STREET CONGREGATIONAL CHnRCH

was founded in 1858, with a view to meet the reli^ous

wants of a large population on Munjoy Hill. The society

was formed and the church erected during the year named,

and on the 22d of September, 1858, Rev. Edward Payson

Thwing was ordained the first pastor. He resigned in

1862, to take charge of a Congregational Church in
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The Coreys were among the earliest settlers of Bozbury,

Mass., the records of which town show that Philip Corey

and Mary Scarborough were married Oct. 1, 1647. This

Philip came from England, but when, the record does not

state. The grandfather of the subject of this notice was

named Ebenezer, and was bom Jan. 14, 1756. He was a

lieutenant in the Revolution, although but twenty years

old when independence was declared.

His father, John Corey, bom in West Roxbury, Mass.,

Feb. 16, 1787, married Nancy Ward, of Weymouth,

Mass., Jan. 27, 1812, and settled in Portland in the year

1808. He early learned the wheelwright trade, but while

a resident of Portland manufactured foraiture and car-

ried on trade with Alexandria, Va. He died May 15,

1825.

His wife, bom in Weymouth, Oct. 29, 1790, and who

died May 19, 1863, was a descendant of " Daniel Gookin,

an American author and soldier, bom in Kent, England,

1.612 ; died in Cambridge, Mass., March 19, 1687. He

came with his father to Virginia in 1621. Held with

thirty-five men his plantation, now Newport News, against

the savages during the massacres of March, 1622 ; removed

to Massachusetts, in 1644, on account of his sympathy with

the Puritans. He settled in Cambridge in 1656 ;
became

superintendent of all the Indians who had submitted to the

government of Massachusetts, an office which he held till

his death. He is said to have written the history of New

England, which is lost."*

Eben Corey, born in Portland, Jan. 16, 1824, was the

youngest of three children, and received his education in

the schools of Portland. At the age of sixteen he be-

came a clerk in a grocery house, where he remained until

1845, when he became a clerk in the wholesale and retail

* Appleton's Encyclopeedia.

iron store of Francis Edmunds. In 1846, during the

absence of Mr. Edmunds in Boston, Mr. Corey took charge

of the business, and in 1848 purchased the Edmunds
interest. On Nov. 1, 1869, he purchased the interest of

the late John C. Brooks in the iron business, which was

established by his father. Cotton B. Brooks, in 1801, and

was the oldest iron house in Maine. The iron store of

Francis Edmunds was established soon after that of Cotton

B. Brooks, by Daniel Grilbert & Co., and thus in their

purchase Mr. Corey united the trade established by the

two oldest iron houses in the State. He carried on a large

import trade with England until 1874, when the cheapness

of manufacture in this country brought the balance of

trade to the United States. Mr. Corey has not been un-

mindful of the duties of the citizen amid business cares,

with its successes and reverses. He was one of the incor-

porators of the Portland Mercantile Library; held the

various offices it bestowed, being its president for a term,

and was an interested member until it was ovei'shadowed

by the public library.

He was an original stockholder and director iu the Port-

land Railroad Company. He was a director of the Cum-
berland National Bank of Portland for several years, and

is interested in a spring and axle manufactory at Gardiner,

Me. Formerly a Whig, he is now a Republican. He was

a member of the City Council, 1864-65, and alderman in

1871-72. He is one of the parish committee of the State

Street Congregational Church. He is also "high up"

in Masonry, being a member of the Ancient Landmark
Lodge of P. and A. M., of Mount Vernon Chapter, B. A.

M., of Portland Commandery, K. T., and is treasurer of

the Portland Masonic Relief Association.

He married, May 20, 1852, Elizabeth H., daughter of

Capt. John Sawyer, of Portland. Their children are

Edward W., WiUiam S., Prank S., and John L.
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Quincy, Mass., and was succeeded by Rev. John H. Mor-

dough. The pastors since have been Rev. Samuel M.

Morrison, installed Oct. 25, 1865, resigned Nov. 4, 18()7.

Rev. R. K. Harlow, acting pastor from Oct. 17, 1868, to

near the close of 1870. Rev. Abiel H. Wright, installed

April 19, 1871, and is the present pastor.

PLYMOUTH (congregational) CHURCH

was formed by the consolidation of the Third and Central

Congregational Churches of Portland, Dec. 27, 1869, and

has since occupied what was formerly the Central Church

edifice, on Congress Square. This church has had but

three pastors, viz. : Rev. Mosely H. ^Villiams, installed

Nov. 29, 1870, dismissed Nov. 21, 1873 ; Rev. Charles F.

Dole, installed April 22, 1874, dismis.sed Sept. 27, 1877
;

and Rev. Herbert W. Lathe, the present pastor, installed

Sept. 27, 1877.

WEST CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

This church grew out of the principle of church exten-

sion to meet the wants of the inhabitants of the west end

of the city and the country immediately adjacent. It was

founded chiefly by the exertions of Rev. Dr. Chickering

and members of his parish. The church edifice was com-

menced in 1860, and dedicated Jan. 17, 1861. A bell

was placed in the tower in July following, and a church

organization eflFected Sept. 17, 1862, consisting of 17 per-

sons. Rev. Josiah Turner preached for the society a short

time, and was succeeded by Rev. George A. Tewksbury, in

December, 1863. The number of church members in

May, 1864, was 28, and of the Sunday-school 130.

BETHEL CHURCH FOR SEAMEN

was organized in September, 1 842. In 1829 a society was

incorporated to provide for religious instruction to seamen,

under the name of " The Trustees of the 3Iariners' Church."

A large granite building on Fore Street, between Long and

Commercial Wharves, was erected in 1828 at a cost of 833,-

000, and a spacious chapel was finished in the third story,

where services were held till the building passed out of the

hands of the trustees. They were then held in Exchange

and City Halls by Rev. George W. Bourne and Rev.

David M. Mitchell. In 1849 a brick church was erected

near the comer of Fore and Chatham Streets, and the

Bethel Chapel for seamen became established. Rev.

Samuel Merrill was installed in 1856, and Rev. V. J.

Hartshorn in July, 1864. The pastor since has been Rev.

Francis Southworth, installed June 11, 1866, who still oc-

cupies the pastorate.

EPISCOPAL CHtJECHES.

OLD ST. Paul's.

The origin of Episcopacy in Maine, and of its establish-

ment in Portland, are shown in the following concise pre-

fatory note to the " Minutes of the Convention of the Dio-

cese of Maine," by the Rev. Charles W. Hayes, secretary

of the Convention :

" It is well known that Maine was originally a Church of England

colony. Richard Seymour, the chaplain of the Popham colony of

1607, held the first service of the Church (probably the first Christiiin

23

service of Any kintll in nil Xcw En^Innil : Richnr-l Gi'^^oIl. for suine

years, from lOMfi.tjfficinted nt .Saco an-l Ricliuionfrs [^lairl f near Port-

Inntl), in cneh of which plnces a church .Tppcars tu have bcvn erc:.'tt.''l
;

and Robert Jordan, from lis arrival in 1040, was fnr thirty-six year?

the minister of nil the stttiements between Fnln;ontb (now Purtlnnil)

and Portsmouth, X. II. From his time, und6r the Puritan rule of

Miissachusitt-, the ministrations of tlic Church were suspended for

eighty years. In 1756 the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel

sent the Rev. Jlr. Macclcnaclinn as missionary to the Kennebec ; in

1700, a more efficient successor, the Rev. Jacob Bailey, built a church

and parsonage at Pownalboro'; and in 176S tl;e Rev. ^Villard

Wheeler took charge of the mission at Georgetown, remnining, how-

ever, only four years. Meantime St. Paul's Church, Portland, was

founded in 176*1, and John Wiswall, a graduate of Harvard, Iteeamo

the first rector of the parish, which, in 1774, numbered seventy fami-

lies." . . .

We are indebted to a pamphlet history by Bi.-iliop Porry,

published in 1863, for a knowledge of the fact that Rev. Mr.

Wiswall, prior to becoming rector of St. Paul's, was pa.stor

of the New Casco (Congregational) Parish of Falmouth.

There had grown up among the members of the First Par-

ish a spirit of dissatisfaction with their preacher. Rev.

Thomas Smith, and efforts had been made fur several years

either to organize a new society, or, by non-attendance on

the ministrations of Sir. Smith, to induce his resignation.

Sundays found the malcontents driving ostentatiously

through the streets to hear Wiswall, the younger and more

attractive preacher over the New Casco Parish. There was,

besides, an element of Episcopacy in the town, which was

not unnatural in a place to which a growing trade was at-

tracting not only provincials but even natives of the mother-

land. Nearly twenty years before, the learned and courtly

Brockwell, rector of King's Chapel in Boston, had attended

Gov. Shirley on his visit to Falmouth to make treaties with

the Norridgewock Indians, and in his capacity of chaplaiu

had officiated on more than one occasion in the meeting-

house of the Congregationalist Parish, giving, as we learn

from Mr. Smith's diarj', "great offense as to his doctrine.''

A few years later, in 1757, influences emanating from the

Episcopal party were brought to bear upon the New Casco

Parish and its preacher to induce them to conform to the

Established Church. This result seemed probable at one

time, but finally the parish stood firm, and though its pas-

tor, as appears from his subsequent course, had imbibed

leanings towards Episcopacy, it was not till several years

later that the decisive step was taken which led to his

change of ecclesiastical relations. It is probable that his

temporary derangement, which incapacitated him for minis-

terial duties for upwards of a year, may have delayed this

step, but, bo that as it may, in September, 1763, not long

after Mr. Wiswall had recovered, Mr. Smith writes sadly

in his diary, " I have been discouraged about my enemies

;

they talk of a new meeting-house.'' That this movement
was something more than " talk," is shown by the following

document from the old parchnjent-covered folio volume of

parish records;

" Falmouth, November 4, 1763.

"Whereas, The inhabitants on the Neck are becoming so numerous
aa to render it inconvenient to meet together in one house for public

worship, for the better accommodation of all the inhabitants it is

proposed to build another house for divine service between Major

Freeman's and the house improved as a school-house; we, therefore,

the underwritten, oblige ourselves, our heirs and assigns, to pay the

respective sums affixed to our names to the person or persons ap-
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pointed to receive the moneys, towards building a conrcnient meeting-

hoase, provided

:

" l8t. Said mceticg-liouee be made St to meet in at or before the last

Lord's Day in June, 1764.

" 2d. That the subscribers bare the first choice of pews in this order,

—the largest subscriber choosing first, etc.

" 3d. That if the Ber. John Wiswall, Pastor of the Third Parish

of this town, should leave bis people, he be invited to settle as a

Minister in said Meeting-House."

Names.

John Waito, Jr
Daniel Ilsley

Benjamin Waite„
Ebenezer Hilton»
Jedcdiah Preble, Jr...

David Wyer
Jonathan Croft
William Wnterhouse..
John Burnam »...

William MoLellao
Isaac Ilsley, in work..

Henry Wallis-
John Lowther
John Preble
Abraham Osgood
James Hope
James Ross
Thomas Bradbury
Joseph Bean Barber-
John Motley, in work..

Daniel Pettcngail

£ >.

26 n
Vi 6

40
13 6

20
5

2

2

2
2

20
2

i
3

3

5

3

13
13

10

10

8

8

8

8

U

8

6 8

Names.

Joseph Pollow
Stephen Waitc
Benjamin Weeks
John Ilsley, in work..

James AYitdridge

Joshua Boynton
Jeremiah Webber.
Joshua Kldridge
Jedediah Preble..

John Minot, Jr
Samuel Moody
Jacob Stickney .%

WiMiam Pike
Edward Watts
Isaac Waite
Andrew Patterson
David Woodman
Joseph McLellao
Robert McLellan
Wheeler Riggs

£ I. d.

5

13 6 3

1 10

13 10
8

2

10
13

13

6 8

10

13

13

8

6 8

6 8

"A true copy of the original minits.

" Att per JoNA. CnAPT, Clerk."

Id the above record no declaration appears as to the

Episcopal nature of the new organization. This, however,

was definitely settled at a meeting held in July following,

when the subjoined declaration and subscription were added

:

"Falhooth, July 23, 1764.

"At a meeting of subscribers for building a new Meeting-llouse, a

major part being desirous that the Worship carried on in soid House

be agreeable to the Laws of Great Britain, it is agreed that the said

House shall be made fit for and appropriate to the worship aforesaid,

and we the subscribers oblige ourselves to pny the sums affixed to each

of our names for the purpose aforesaid

:

Names. £ $. d.

James Hope 13 6 8

John Waite, Jr 26 13 4
Wheeler Rigga 13 6 8

Kdward Watts 10

William Wat«rhoase„ 4
James Ross - 6

Robert McLellan 13 6 8

Daniel Pettengail 10

Stephen Waite 13 6 8

Daniel Ilsley 13 6 8

Edmund Mountfort... 13 6 8

Isaac Ilsley, Jr 20
James Purrington..... 13

John Motley, in work. 10

Ebenezer Hilton 13 6 8

John Burnam 5

Dovid Wyer 7"

Jonathan Craft 7

Benjamin Waite 40

John Haus 12

John Minot, after his

return from sea.. 13 6 8

John Thurlo 6

Joshua Boynton 13 6 8

Abijah Pool 13 6 8

Qeorge Tate 20
John Holly 10

Joseph Pollow 13 6 8

John Tyler (New
Oloucester)....! 6 ID 6

Floyd Eilpatrick, in

shingles 10
Daniel McCoy 5

Floyd EUpatrick 10

Naniea. £ *, d

Joshua Eldridge 10
Thomas Child- 6 9

William Webb 6 13 4
George Tate, for son
Samuel, in clap-

Iraards 4 16
James Hope, for Capt.

Hagget, 10 guineas. 14
Robert McLellan, ad-

ditional subscrip-

tion 6 13 4
John Bradbury 3

John Bouten 10
Ann Oulton 4
Hannah Oulton 4
Lucy Oulton 4
Andrew Patterson-,,. 18

Christopher Kelley,,, A 10
Richard Sykes 3
Joseph Dean 1

Jacob Stickney- 5 10
Harry Wallis 4 16
Benjamin Weeks 3

William Boolton, in

boards - 13 6 8
Mosrs Plummer 2 13 4
William McLellan 4
John McDonald 2

Richard Ooogins 1 12
Moses Merrill, North
Yarmouth, 1000
laths

John Dill, 1000 laths.,

" John McDonald, Sr., of Stroudwater, seid that he would pay £20

lawful money in cosh and £20 in work,"

On the 4th of September (according to the parish

records) the corner-stone of the new church was laid by

the wardens, who, with the other officers, were chosen on

the same day, James Hope and George Tate were the

Wardens ; Thomas Child, Benjamin. Waite, John Waitc,

Stephen Waite, Wheeler Riggs, Edward Mountfort, David

Wyer, Daniel Ilsley, Jonathan Craft, Robert McLellan, and

Dr, Edward Watts, Vestrymen ; Henry Wallis was Parish

Clerk, whose duty it was to lead the responses in church.

At this meeting the following invitation was extended to

Mr, Wiswall, forming his " title" for ordination as required

by the canons of the English Church :

"We do invite you to accept the pastoral charge over us, and in

order thereto, wo desire you would, as soon as may be, apply to his

lordship the Bishop for ordination to qualify you therefor, and we do

hereby promise to you one hundred pounds lawful money per annum,

to be paid yearly, to commence at the time of your ordination,"

For two Sundays Mr, Wiswall preached to the parish in

the Town-House, and then, October 8th, as we learn from

Smith's diary, "sailed in the mast-ship, Capt, Haggett,"

for England, The church in the mean time vas rapidly

going up. It stood on the corner of Church and Jliddle

Streets, and was 50 feet in length and 29 feet high.

The church was opened for divine service June 6, 1765.

Mr. Wiswall, having been duly ordained, returned, and

entered upon his pastoral duties.

The burdens of building a new church, making provis-

ions for a glebe and rectory, and supporting the regular

ministration, fell heavily on the church at first, especially

as they were still taxed foV the ministry and expenses of

the First Parish, from which they had withdrawn. This

tax was not remitted till 1773, In April, 1772, it was

"voted that Rev. John Wiswall be desired to bring an

action against Mr. James Milk, Treasurer of the First

Parish in said Falmouth, for the recovery of the rates of

every person who attends worship at said church, which

said Milk has received end refused to pay to said Wiswall,

either in whole or in part." They had petitioned their

former associates for relief, but in vain ; they had in 1770

addressed the General Coui-t for the removal of these heavy

obligations, but their prayers had not been granted. In

January, 1773, the proprietors of St, Paul's addressed

another petition to the General Court asking for redress,

which was answered in March following by the appointment

of a committee consisting of " Jedediah Preble and David

Wyer, Esqs,, and Messrs. William Simmons and Steplien and

John Waite, to settle the dispute respecting the assessing

and collecting taxes from the members of the Church of

England," The result of a conference of this committee

with a committee of the First Parish, and of a further

petition to the General Court for relief, appears to have

been the relinquishment on the part of the First Parish of

all legal right to impose a tax upon the members of the

Episcopal Church.

Mr, Wiswall continued as rector of St, Paul's till 1775,

when the excitement consequent upon the breaking out

of the Revolution dissolved his relation with the parish.

He was a loyalist, and no doubt conscientiously believed

that all efforts of the colonists to gain their independence

would be futile. Bishop Perry very justly remarks, " We
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have learned of late to place a higher value on men who
have dared to keep their oath of allegiance, and it was not

to be expected of one who at ordination had taken a solemn

oath of allegiance to the king and government of Great

Britain, and who had for years, in the prayers of the church,

acknowledged that allegiance and besought Heaven's bless-

ing upon the ruling monarch and his faniily by name,

should easily swerve to the popular side." Early in May,
under apprehensions of personal violence, and at the call of

Mowatt to all friends of the government to come on board,

he had taken refuge on the " Ganceaux." He was afterwards

apprehended by Gapt. Thompson's militia from Brunswick,

but was released and returned again to the vessel on the

14th of May, sending word to the wardens that he should

officiate as minister of St. Paul's no longer. In a few
weeks the church and town were laid in ashes.

No services appear to have been held in the parish durin"

the Revolution, and for some time subsequent to the con-

clusion of peace occasional visits were made by neighboring

clergymen. In August, 1785, Mr. Frederick Parker, a

graduate of Harvard, began to read piayers for the church.

These lay-services by Mr. Parker and others were contin-

ued till 1797, when Rev. Joseph Warren, of Gardiner, ac-

cepted a call to the rectorship, which he held til! 1799.

From 1800 to 1803 the parish was supplied by Rev. James

Bowers, of Pittstown. In the mean time, Mr. Timothy

Hilliard, a graduate of Harvard in 1793, was engaged as

lay-reader. During his services the parish increased in

strength and influence, so that a new brick church was

erected at a cost of 811,800, and $1200 additional paid

for the land, nearly the whole sum being raised by the sale

of pews at the opening of the building. Mr. Hilliard,

being ordained, became rector and officiated until 1808.

The parish was then supplied temporarily till 1819, when

the Rev. Petrus S. Ten Broeck was instituted rector. The

parish was also greatly strengthened by the removal to

Portland of Hon. Simon Greenleaf, afterwards LL.D. and

Professor of Law at Gambridge. In 1831 the connection

of Mr. Ten Broeck with the parish was dissolved. He was

followed, in 1833, by the Rev. G. W. Chapman, D.D., one

of the most eminent clergymen of the church. Two years

later, Rev. Alexander H. Vinton took charge of the parish,

and was succeeded in a few months by the Rev. Thomas

M. Clark, late Bishop of Rhode Island. " Mr. Clark re-

mained but fourteen Sundays, when, in September, 1836,

the Rev. John W. French, then professor in Bristol Col-

lego, Pa., and since chaplain and professor at the Military

Academy at West Point, was elected to the rectorship, in

which he continued till December, 1839, when, the parish

being inextricably involved in pecuniary difficulties, a dis-

solution of his engagement was rendered necessary, and old

St. Paul's, without a rector, sought relief from its liabilities

in the dissolution of its organization."

ST. Stephen's.

It was during Mr. French's ministry, viz., in 1839, that

St. Stephen's parish was established, to take the place of

St. Paul's, which had become somewhat embarrassed in its

affiiirs. It was thought best to sell the property of the

parish (for which an act of the Legislature was obtained in

1840), pay off all the debts, and form a new society, or,

rather, recast the old. This was accordingly done, and St.

Stephen's parish was organized in 1839. In 1840 it pur-

chased the property of St. Paul's, and under its new charter

and title has been going prosperously on. Jan. 15, 1840,

the Rev. James Pratt entered upon the duty of rector of

St. Stephen's. The last meeting of Old St. Paul's was held

in October, 1841, when it ceased to exist.

Mr. Pratt's long and successful ministry was marked by

a steady growth of the parish in numbers, zeal, and wealth.

After witnessing large accessions to the number of its com-

municants, he found himself obliged, on account of ill

health, to resign his charge, to the great regret of the

church and community. He was succeeded by the Rev.

Roger S. Howard, who, after an incumbency of two yeara,

was followed by the Rev. Wm. Stevens Perry.

ST. Luke's cathedral.

The growth of the Protestant Episcopal Church in Port-

land led, in 1851, to the organization of a .second parish in

the western part of the city, which was incorporated, and

its first services held, on the 27th of April, 1851, under

the name of St. Luke's Church, in what was then called

Union Hall, an upper room near the junction of Free and

Congress Streets, still in occasional use for religious meet-

ings. The clergyman officiating at the organization and for

nearly a year after was the Right Rev. Horatio Southgate,

H.D., who had lately resigned his office as missionary bishop

at Constantinople, and was no\y residing near his old home in

Scarborough. Bishop Southgate was succeeded, in Febru-

.ary, 1852, by the Rev. Daniel R. Goodwin, D.D., then a

professor in Bowdoin College, who supplied Sunday services

regularly, without becoming rector, until the spring of 1853,

at which time the Rev. Benjamin H. Paddock, now Bishop

of Massachusetts, took charge as rector. He remained but

three months, resigning on accouut of ill health, and the

pari.sh was again indebted to Prof. Goodwin for valuable

services during a vacancy of eight months.

The Rev. Alexander Burgess, the present Bishop of

Springfield, 111., accepted the rectorship of St. Luke's

Church at Easter, 1854, and held it for nearly thirteen

years. Within three months after his entering upon his

duties, a site for a church was purchased, and the first " St.

Luke's Church" begun, at the comer of Congress Street

and Vernon Court. The corner-stone was laid on the 8th

of August, 1854, by the bishop of the diocese. The
church was opened for service on the 1st of July, 1855, and

consecrated by Bishop Burgess on the 10th of the same

month. This church, now occupied by the congregation

of St. Stephen's Church, was completed at a cost of about

$30,000, and at the time of its erection was by far the finest

Episcopal church in Maine, and, with one exception (Christ

Church, Gardiner), the only one of stone. In 1856 a

large and fine organ was added, and in 1857 a bell of 3U00

pounds, both individual gifts.

Among the earliest parishioners were the late Dr. John

Merrill (the first senior warden), the late Judge George

F. Shepley, the late Hon. Josiah S. Little, Henry W. Her-

sey, the late Edward P. Gerrish, Col. Charles B. Merrill,

N. P. Richardson, Hon. James T. McCobb, E. C. Andrews,



180 HISTORY OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

J. Ambrose Merrill, Frederick A. Quinby, the late Samuel

Smardon, Mrs. J. S. Paine, Edward E. Upham, 3Irs. R.

Southgate Boyd, and others, in all 49, recorded by Bishop

Southgate, May 1, 1851. There were then 20 communi-

cants, and a Sunday-school of 5 teachers and 13 scholars.

At the close of Dr. Burgess' rectorship, Christmas, 1866,

he reported nearly 300 communicants, 487 baptisms, 253

confirmed, 128 marriages, and 2S6 burials. It is worthy

of note that the first St. Luke's church, as well as the

cathedral which succeeded it, was never closed on a Sun-

day from the day of its consecration.

With the close of- Dr. Burgess' long, faithful, and suc-

cessful rectorship ends the first period in the history of St.

Luke's Church, of nearly eighteen ycara. On his resigna-

tion the Bishop-elect of 3Taine, the Rev. Henry A. Neely,

D.D., was chosen rector of the parish, and having been con-

secrated bishop in Trinity chapel. New York, Jan. 25,

1867, entered on his duties as rector. May 1, 1867. In

the great fire of July 4, 1866, St. Stephen's church, in the

eastern part of the city, was destroyed, and the edifice of

St. Luke's being inadequate in size for a bishop's church,

was sold to St. Stephen's parish, with its bell and organ,

for $17,000. A lot on the easterly side of State Street,

140 feet front by 150 feet deep, was purchased for $20,000,

and on the 15th of August, 1867, the corner-stone of St.

Luke's cathedral was laid by the bishop in the presence of

a large number of clergymen and laymen. The work of

building went on during the remainder of the year, under

the most efficient superintendence of Col. Thomas L. Ca.sey,

U.S.A., and from plans and working-drawings by Mr.

Charles C. Haight, architect, of New York. After a sus-

pension of six months, during the winter and spring, it was

resumed in 1868, under the direction of Gen. George Thorn,

U.S.A. (still a resident of Portland), and so far completed

as to admit of the opening of the cathedral for worship on

Christmas-day of the same year. It has never since been

closed on a Sunday, and very rarely on a week-day. The

interior, however, was far from being completed at the open-

ing for service. Not a single door was hung, and but half

a dozen of the seventy windows were in place; ceiling,

oi^n, pulpit, and font were wanting, and the aisles were

filled with carpenters' benches. All these deficiencies were

supplied, and the church brought nearly to its present state

of completion, within about two years. At its opening

but two-thirds of the entire cost of the cathedral had been

paid. It was not until 1877 that the whole amount, about

$125,000, was paid, and the church freed from all indebted-

ness, with liberal aid from churchmen of New York, Boston,

and other cities. On St. Luke's day, Oct. 18, 1877, it was

consecrated with most joyous and impressive services by

Bishop Neely, assisted by the bishops of Fredericton, Rhode

Island, Vermont, New Hampshire, Massachusetts, Colorado,

Wisconsin, and Iowa, and some sixty other clergymen. By

the instrument of donation executed by the vestry and read

at the consecration, the whole property of the cathedral

was pledged to its maintenance forever, not only as a parish

church, but a ca/Ae(Z)-aZ church in which the Bishop of

Maine should be ex-officio the personal and ofiScial head,

and a free church for all classes and conditions of men, in

which no pews or seats should ever be let or sold.

The noble church thus set apart occupies the entire rear

of the lot on State Street, its extreme length from east to

west being 140 feet, and its width across nave and aisles 65

feet. The open roof of nave and chancel is 60 feet to the

ridge, and over the chancel-arch rises a slender spire to the

height of 100 feet. The building is of dark-blue limestone

from Cape Elizabeth, the door and window caps and sills

and other exterior finishing being of Nova Scotia freestone

alternated with red and gray. The nave, 30 feet by 100,

rises above the low aisles in a lofty clerestory, lighted by

12 triplet windows, and is supported by broad arches

resting on short circular columns, monoliths of Nova Scotia

stone. The chancel is separated from the nave by a lofly

arch of 24 feet span and a low parapet wall of stone, a

semicircular projection of which forms the pulpit. The

altar and reredos are of Caen stone,- Italian marble, and red

jasper, with delicately wrought cornice, shafts, and capitals,

occupies a space of 10 feet in width by 17 in height against

the east wall, and forms one of the most striking features of

the interior. Above it is a rose-window 16 feet in diame-

ter, containing the Ascension, surrounded by 12 quatre-

foils with the symbols of the Apostles. The organ is on

the south, and the seats for the choristers on either side

within the chancel. The beautiful organ-screen of carved

wood, the pulpit of stone (not yet carved), the font of Nova

Scotia and Ohio freestone, Scotch jasper, and Irish marble,

the eagle lectern of bronze, the chancel pavement of en-

caustic and porcelain tiles, the altar and reredos, the arched

credence and sedilia of stone, and all the stained glass as

yet in place, were individual and mostly memorial gifts.

The seats, all open and movable, are arranged for about 800,

but the actual space of nave and aisles is sufficient for 1200.

On the north of the chancel is a small chapel for the daily

service and other uses, and on the south are the choristers'

and clergy rooms, organ-chamber, and library.

At the west end of the cathedral is the bishop's house,

erected by the Diocese of Maine in 1869, and forming one

side of the court in front of the church, the opposide side

being occupied by the canon's house. The architect's

plan for the cathedral includes a central tower and tran-

septs, the erection of which will perhaps devolve upon

another generation.

The Rev. Charles W. Hayes, appointed chaplain to the

bishop in April, 1867, and senior canon of the cathedral

at its opening, January, 1869, has been the only clergy-

man in charge under the bishop without interruption since

1867. Other resident canons have been the late Rev. N.

W. Taylor Root, C. Ingles Chapin, David Pise, D.D., and

Charles M. Pyne, from one to four years each. The Rev.

Messrs. F. C. Neely, Sill, Pyne,.and Ketchum have served

as deacons.

The " Cathedral Church of St. Luke, Portland," was

incorporated by the Legislature of the State in 1879, and

consists of the . bishop and fourteen other trustees (three

of them clergymen), whose duty it will be to hold the ca-

thedral property in trust both for the diocese and the con-

gregation, and carry out efficiently the various purposes for

which it has been erected. Services have been held for

the past twelve years without intermission,—three every

Sunday and two every week-day,—and the church is always
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open from morning till night. The Holy Communion is
!

celebrated on every Sunday and hol^-day ; the evening
;

service on Sundays, and the morning service on great fes-

tivals, are choral, as usual in the Knglish cathedrals ; but,

except in this respect, the services are the same as are

usual in the larger Episcopal churches in this country,

—

perhaps a little more reverent and impressive than in many

of them.

The Eight Rev. Henry A. Neely, D.D., Bishop of

Maine, is Dean and Rector ; the Rev. Charles W. Hayes,

Canon'; Messrs. George E. B. Jackson and Charles B.

Merrill, Wardens. The congregation numbers 225 families

and 360 communicants, with a Sunday-school of 200 pu-

pils. There have been since the building of the cathedral

422 baptisms, 261 confirmed, 135 marriages, and 214

burials, and about 9000 public services. The offerings of

the congregation for the same time have been $162,696, of

which §88,359 was from the regular Sunday offertory.

ST. Paul's.

The new St. Paul's church on Congress Street was

erected in 1868. Rev. N. W. T. Root was instituted the

first rector. He was succeeded by Rev. Dr. Pise ; since

whose period of service Rev. F. S. Sill and Rev. C. J.

Ketchum, the present rector, have officiated. The parish

is in a prosperous condition, numbering about 90 families

and 100 members in the Sunday-school. Wardens, Jo-

seph Dow, E. P. Banks; Vestrymen, William Gray, W.
Huse, W. P. Gooding, A. Riggs, Charles Chase, Charles

E. Banks, M.D., George Norton, J. H. Dow, A. Welch, and

B. Gregory.

METHODIST CHURCHES.

FIRST METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The first Methodist sermon ever preached in Maine was

at Saco, Sept. 10, 1793, by Elder Jesse Lee, of Virginia.

He had been principally instrumental in forming the socie-

ties of this order in the New England States, which he

commenced in Connecticut in 1789. At a conference held

in Lynn in 1793 this zealous disciple of Wesley was ap-

pointed to travel through Maine. In a tour of several

months in this State, he went as far east as Castine, and

preached almost every day to such collections of people as

he could draw together. A circuit was immediately formed

on the Kennebec called " Readfield Circuit," and Elder

Wan-er was appointed preacher; the next year Enoch

Mudge, of Lynn, one of the first-fruits of Elder Lee's

preaching at Lynn, was sent to Redfield.

The Portland circuit, established in 1794, was the next,

and in 1795 a class was formed in this town, and in Decem-

ber of the same year the first quarterly meeting held in the

State assembled at Poland. Elder Wager was appointed

the traveling preacher in this circuit. On Elder Lee's

first visit hero he preached several times in the Second

Congregational meeting-house. Subsequently he preached

in the court-house, and sometimes in a private house in

Essex Street. The first society was organized by Elder

Wager, in 1795, and consisted of six persons. They strug-

gled along through many difficulties, and with a slow prog-

ress for nine years, at the end of which time the number

of members had increased to but eleven.

In 1797 tlio persons who had associated together were

received into the Methodist Episcopal Church as one of the

united societies.

In 1804, however, their prospects began to brighten.

Major Daniel Ilsley purcha.sed and presented to the society

the house which had been previously occupied by the Epis-

copalians, which was removed to Federal Street, and soon

filled by a respectable congregation. This was the first house

of worship which the society had owned. The Rev. Joshua

Taylor now became the stationed preacher, and the church,

which at the commencement of Mr. Taylor's ministry con-

sisted of but 11, increased in two 3'ears to 64. In 1808 the

society, having become so numerous as to require larger

accommodations than the old house afforded, made arrange-

ments for the erection of a more spacious one. Trustees

were chosen to superintend the concerns of the society, and

a year or two later their church edifice on Chestnut Street

was erected. It was dedicated by Rev. E. Kciby, Feb. 17,

1811. The trustees were Wm. Wateihouse, Thomas De-

lano, William True, Thomas Ronnels, Samuel Horner,

Lemuel Gooding, and Thomas Dodge.

In February, 1821, the society was incorporated. Twice

the house on Chestnut Street was enlarged, and at length it

became necessary to furnish still more room, when the

society with grent spirit and unanimity erected a haiulsomo

brick church on the corner of Pleasant and Ann Streets, iu

1828. Both churches continued to be filled, and the

society enjoyed great prcsperity. The second society on

Pleasant Street, however, in a few years became embarrassed,

and, in 1835, sold their church to the Second Unitarian

Society.

Most of them worshiped with the old society till 1846,

when they erected a neat wooden church on Pine Street.

We shall give a fuller history of this church hereafter.

The old society on Chestnut Street continued to prosper.

In 1847, Rev. Charles F. Allen was their pastor. The

ministers changed so often under the old regime of the

Methodist Church that their names would make too long

a list to publish iu this place. A few of the successors of

Mr. Allen for perhaps a decade were Rev. William Mc-

Donald, Rev. Aaron Sandeison, Rev. Joseph Colby, Rev.

Charles W. Morse, Rev. Henry Cos, Rev. Henry B. Ridge-

way, and Rev. William R. Clark.

Under the ministry of Rev. Henry Cox, who was a man
peculiarly adapted to the work, the present fine church edi-

fice of the parish was erected. It was commenced in 1856,

and was dedicated July 8, 1857. It contains 190 pews,

and with the site cost about 850,000. It is one of the

finest church edifices in the city.

CONGRESS STREET METHODIST CHURCH.

In 1851 the First Methodist Church sent out a colony to

establish a new church on Munjoy Hill, in the midst of a

growing population. Dr. Eliphalet Clark donated a beau-

tiful lot of land on the corner of Congress and St. Lawrence

Streets, on which a convenient house was erected in the

summer of 1851, sufficiently large to seat 300 persons, and

free of debt. The church was dedicated by Rev. George
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Webber, and Rev. Eaton Shaw appointed by the Conference

for the new society till the next annual meeting. A large

congregation was gathered, and a Sunday-school of about

40 scholars organized. Rev. W. F. Farrington was ap-

pointed to take charge of the society by the Conference, and

55 menibcis from the old church were dismissed to form the

nucleus of the new organization, which rapidly increased,

as well as the congregation and Sunday-school, till the

capacity of the house was exhausted. It now became

necessary to enlarge the house, and an addition was made

to it at a cost of about $1000.

The number of church members in 1864 was 175, with an

attendance at the Sunday-school of 200. The parish raised

that year $400 for benevolent objects, in addition to current

expenses. We mention among the ministers of this church

subsequent to Mr. Farrington, Rev. William McDonald,

Rev. C. C. Mason, Rev. A. J. Church, Rev. B. Foster,

Rev. George Webber, Rev. H. B. Abbott, Rev. Samuel

Roy, Rev. Ezekiel Martin, Rev. Abel W. Pottle, Rev.

William H. H. Pillsbury, Rev. C. B. Pittelando, Rev. C.

W. Bradlee, Rev. William M. Sterling, and the present

pastor. Rev. A. S. Ladd.

The present beautiful church edifice of the parish was

erected in 1868. It stands upon the highest part of Mun-

joy Hill, and the top of its spire b the highest object in

the city.

ALLEN MISSION CHAPEL.

On Locust Street there was, until quite recently, an in-

stitution known as the Allen Mission Chapel, belonging to.

the Methodists. Its motto was " Feed the hungry, clothe

the naked." Under the management of Capt. Cyrus Stur-

devant this place became one of the headquarters of the

temperance reform. While we write this the chapel is

being taken to pieces. Much good work and many charita-

ble deeds emanated from that old wooden structure. Many
of the hearts who early supported it are in the grave, but

there are a good number, living -who can testify to the

benefit received through its humble ministrations.

BAPTIST CHURCHES.

THE I'IRST BAPTIST SOCIETY

organized in Maine was at Kittery, in 1682, but the per-

secution was so great at that time, on the part of the gov-

ernment, that in about a year afterwards the minister, Mr.

Screven, and the greater part of his church, went to South

Carolina and established themselves on Cooper River, near

where Charleston now stands. No further movements were

made by persons of this persuasion for more than eighty

years. In 1767, Rev. Hezekiah Smith, of Haverhill, came

to Maine and formed a society at Berwick. At the same

time he extended his visit to Falmouth Neck, but without

any visible results. In 1771 he came here again and

preached to a few persons at John Barnham's house, but.

no society was at this time gathered.

Rev. Hezekiah Smith was born at Long Island, N. Y.,

April 21, 1737; was graduated at Princeton College in

1762. He formed the first Baptist society in the county

of Essex in 1765. He always preached without notes,

having a fine command of language and being a gifted

orator as well as a man of excellent character and gi-eat

personal influence. He died at Haverhill, Nov. 5, 1SU5.

No further attempts were made here to form a society of

this order for many years. In 1796, Benjamin Titcomb,

Thomas Beck, and four or five others began to make re-

ligious inquiries, which resulted in their separation from

the places where they had usually worshiped, and they met

together for social worship at the house of Mr. Titcomb.

Their exercises were can led on by prayer, singing, and

reading a printed sermon ; this service they soon found

cold and formal, and no additions were made to their

number. They then substituted reading and explaining

the Scriptures for the sermon, and after the services they

conversed freely on their religious experiences. Their

number now began to increase, and the private room became

so crowded that in the beginning of 1799 they held their

meetings in a school-house in Union Street. A short time

previous to this, one of their number had been baptized

and admitted to the Baptist Church in North Yarmouth

;

the subject of baptism now earnestly engaged their atten-

tion, and their inquiries into the Scriptures were particularly

directed to this subject, which resulted in their conviction

that baptism by immersion was the true form. In the

space of eighteen months nine persons were baptized by

immersion, and the society was visited by members of the

Baptist persuasion.

About this time Benjamin Titcomb was baptized at

North Yarmouth, and joined the church there, and in

January, 1801, received the approbation of that church to

preach. The society now hired the third story of the brick

building on the corner of Union and Middle Streets, and

in the month of March, 1801, those who had been bap-

tized met together, signed articles of faith, and agreed to

unite together in church fellowship. For their regular

organization they invited a council composed of the

churches of Brunswick, North Yarmouth, and New
Gloucester, which assembled in Portland in July, 1801,

and proceeded to constitute the persons who had before

associated together " as a church of Christ." These per-

sons were Thomas Beck, Betsey Beck, Edward Carleton,

Ruth Wheeler, Sally Tukey, Thankful Butman, Lois

Owen, Eleanor Riggs, Moses Cross, and Mary Titcomb.

Thomas Beck and Edward Carleton were chosen deacons

July 21, 1802. Deacon Carleton died in 1825, and Dea-

con Beck in 1830, aged seventy.

In September, 1801, Benjamin Titcomb* became the

first pastor of the church. In June, 1803, the first meet-

ing-house was erected on Federal Street ; it was removed in

1811, and a large and convenient church erected on the

same site, to which a tower and a bell were added in 1831.

In 1804, Mr. Titcomb removed to Brunswick, and was

succeeded by Rev. Josiah Converse, who was ordained

Oct. 21, 1807, and was dismissed at his own request in

1810.

Rev. Caleb Blood took pastoral charge in May, and

continued till his death, March 6, 1814. The pulpit was

then supplied by occasional preaching till November, 1815,

when Rev. Thomas B. Ripley commenced preaching, and

*See History of the Press, in this work.



HENRY B. HAKT.

Henry B. Hart was born in Portsmouth, N. H., in 1805.

His father being in moderate circumstances he received only

a common-school education, and was apprenticed to Mr. John

Abbott, a tanner and wool-puller. By his faithfulness and

industry he won the regard of his employer, and after serving

out his time was engaged by him as foreman. He remained

in this position some five years, carefully saving his earnings

till, having accumulated the sum of three hundred dollars, he

determined to start in business for himself. Selecting Fort-

land as a promising field of operations, he came here in 1832,

and, in company with Mr. Lefevre, commenced the wool-pull-

ing business. This connection was of short duration, how-

ever, and in 1886 he formed a partnership with his brother,

under the flrm-name of H. B. <& H. M. Hart, and for thirty-

five years they carried on the business at the same place, be-

coming known all over the State as the leading house in that

line. His business life was marked by no sudden grasping of

fortune, but by a iteady application and a careful prudence

which resulted at length in a handsome competence. But,

above all, his business life was marked by a stainless integrity

which held the esteem of all who came in contact with him.

Being found worthy, he was called to many positions of trust,

and many affairs, both of a public and private nature, were

confided to him. He was a member of the city government,

as councilman and ^derman, many, years, and was an active

member of the school committee till illness compelled him to

retire. He took great interest in public matters, and was one

of the most active political workers in the city. An earnest

Whig, and afterwards as earnest a Republican, be gave to his

party a Urge measure of hii time, and effort, and money, and

was representative in the Legislature.

His energy found scope in many ways outside his own

private business. He was a leader in everything in which he

became interested. He was at the time of his death director

in the First National Bank, the Portland Savings Bank, the

Now Brunswick Steamship Company, and the Forrest City

Sugar Refinery, and was connected with nearly all the manu-
facturing and transportation companies of the city.

From its organization he was identified with the Free Street

Baptist Church, and a large share of its continued prosperity

is due to his unceasing labors and contributions. .\s its deacon

and representative he was known through all the religious

circles uf the Slate, and was honored by the denomination

with the position of treasurer of the convention and trustee

of "Waterville College.

In his private life, however, and among his most intimate

friends, his peculiar characteristics were best known and most
esteemed. Those who knew him best valued him the highest.

He was one of the most unselfish men that ever lived. Not
only was he ready to give his money, but a far greater gift,

—

he never grudged his time, his strength, or his personal com-
fort to assist another. His home was ever open to the stranger,

his hand always stretched out to the needy, and amid the press-

ing demands of his own business he always found time to

attend to the claims of others. Of him it could be said, as of

John, " I was eyes to the blind, and feet was I to the lame

;

I was a father to the poor.

"

It was this kindly, sympathetic disposition that endeared
him to his friends. His earnestness and activity sometimes
pushed him into opposition with others, but though he might
differ from them he had only kindly feelings towards them,
and was ready to be friends even with those who had wronge<l
him. He was a good man, and faithful in every station he
was called to occupy.

He was married, in 1828, to Sarah Hill, of Portsmouth, who
still survives him, and had three children, all living at the
present time,—Henry A., who is carrying on the business
under the firm-name of Hart & Co. ; Sarah E., married to

Mr. A. Little, and Alice E., married to Mr. Holman Melcher
both prominent merchants of Portland.
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was ordained in July, 1816. He continued to minister to

the church till 1828, being a very able and successful

preacher. During his ministry 219 persons were added to

the church.

Mr. Ripley was succeeded by Rev. Ebenezer Thresher,

Jr., who was ordained Dec. 17, 1828, and remained fifteen

months. Nov. 3, 1830, Rev. George Leonard, of Salem,

was installed. The society was deprived of his services by

his death, which occurred in Worcester, Mass., Aug. 12,

1831. It was not until September, 1832, that his place

was supplied by Rev. John S. Meginnis, who was ordained

on the occasion of his entering upon the pastorate, Pres-

ident Wayland, of Brown University, preaching the ser-

mon. The church in 1830 numbered 230 members, 389

having been received from the date of organization. Rev.

Mr. Meginnis resigned in 1837, and was succeeded by

Rev. James T. Champlin, who was ordained May 5, 1838,

and continued till 1841. He was followed by Rev. Luther

F. Beecher, in October, 1 842, who closed his labors June

7, 1849. Rev. Jacob R. Scott settled over the church in

September, 1849, and served it as pastor till April 4, 1853.

The next pastor was Rev. William H. Shailer, installed

March 19, 1854. Dr. Shailer remained pastor of the

church till July or August, 1877, a period of twenty-three

years and a half, and was succeeded by the present pastor.

Rev. Thomas D. Anderson, Jr., who was called October

10th, and installed Nov. 23, 1877.

THE FREE STREET BAPTIST SOCIETY

was formed by a secession from the First Baptist Society in

1836. The withdrawing party purchased the theatre build-

ing on Free Street the same year, and converted it into a

convenient church, which was dedicated Aug. 11, 1836.

In 1856 the building was enlarged and greatly improved,

both as to comfort and beauty, a tower being erected at one

angle and a tall and graceful spire at the other, at an ex-

pense of about «1 5,000.

The first pastor of this church was Rev. Thomas Lin-

coln, who was ordained to the work of the ministry Jan. 1,

1837. He resigned Oct. 25, 1841, and was succeeded in

February, 1842, by Rev. L. Colby, who served the church

till June, 1844. In November following, Rev. J. S. Eaton

became pastor. He retired from the pastorate in 1855, and

ceased from his earthly labors, very much lamented, in

1856. In March, 1855, he was succeeded by Rev. George

W. Bosworth, D.D., who continued till Rev. J. C. Stock-

bridge, D.D., was installed, who was his successor about

two years, when Rev. A. K. P. Small was called and set-

tled over the church. Mr. Small was pastor about seven

years, and was followed by the present pastor. Rev. James

MoWhinnie, in January, 1875.

The number of members of this church in 1863 was

317.

THE CATHOLIC CHtTRCH OF PORTLAND.

In 1822 the few Catholics residing in Portland petitioned

the Rt. Rev. John Cheverus, bishop of the diocese of Bos-

ton, to make them a visit, with a view to taking steps to

supply their religious wants. The diocese of Boston then

embraced the whole of New England, but it has since been

divided into six ecclesiastical subdivisions or dioceses.

Bishop Cheverus lost no time in placing himself in com-

municatiun with the Catholics in the town, and appeared in

their midst early in the spring of 1822, reniainin;.' several

days. Before his departure, he organized tlieni into a con-

gregation
; said mass each day, and was rewarded in addi-

tion with having brought two converts to the number while

he tarried.

Bishop Cheverus was a native of France, and returned to

that country in 1823.

From this time till very nearly the close of the year 1827

the Catholics of Portland were regularly visited at stated

times by the Rev. Dennis Ryan, who was charged with the

spiritual guidance of a Catholic congregation at Whitefield,

Lincoln Co., and occasionally by the Rev. Father JIcNamee,

a missionary priest. Within this period the Catholics re-

ceived frequent accessions.

In the year 1827 they had increased in strength suffi-

cient to warrant the attendance of a resident clergyman, and

the Rev. Charles D. Ffrench, of the Dominican Order of

Monks, was assigned by the bishop to the charge of the

congregation. Bishop Fenwick, who was the successor of

Bishop Cheverus, and who was consecrated in November,

1825, arrived in Portland in the month of September, 18:i7,

accompanied by the new pastor, who was placed in charge

of the flock.

Father Ffrench was a convert, and a descendant of a dis-

tinguished Irish family, and at this time had a brother in

possessionof the title of bishop in the" Established Church,"

in the western part of Ireland.

Down to the arrival of Father Ffrench the public re-

ligious services were held in a room at the house of one of

the Catholic families of the towu. On his assuming the

duties of pastor a larger room was hired on an upper floor,

in a building on " Hay-Market Row," now known as Mar-

ket Square, in which all assembled for divine service on

Sundays, and other festivals of the church. Before his

return to Boston, Bishop Fenwick confirmed some adults

and children in this building.

It was while worshiping in this place that the conversion

of Mr. J. M. Young, printer, editor, and lawyer, of the

town of Shapleigh, York Co., occurred. He studied for

the ministry, and in due course of time was ordained priest,

and some years later was elevated and consecrated bishop of

the important see of Erie, Pa.

From Portland Father Ffrench attended missions in the

neighboring State of New Hampshire at fixed times, and in

hb absence the catechism class and the devotional exercises

for the congregation were conducted by Mr. John Crease,

a gentleman of very considerable genius and scholarship,

well known, and who will be remembered by the oldest

citizens of Portland. In this duty Mr. Crease was faith-

fully assisted by Mr. Young. Mr. Crease was foreman in

the publication office of the Messrs. Edwards, who conducted

at that time the Daily, Weekly, and Tri- Weekly Advertiser

in Portland.

In the year 1828 a movement looking to the erection of

a suitable church upon some available situation in the town
next received the most earnest consideration of pastor and
people, for which purpose it was decided to open a sub-

scription list and make an appeal to their co-religionists in
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Boston, which awakened a responsive sympathy in that

city. Their undertaking had been crowned with success

80 far that in a year later a site was selected in a location

at the lower part of State Street, deemed less liable than at

other points to array the prejudices of the intolerant

against its acquisition by the Catholics. A proposition

was made for the purchase of the lot from its owner, John

Fox, Esq., father of the Hon. Edward Fox, present United

States Judge fur the District of Maine.

Mr. Fox, in the face of considerable opposition, in March,

1830, conveyed the lot to Father Ffrcnch, gracing the

deed with a generous subscription . towards building the

church.

As soon as materials could be collected, work upon the

-building progressed. It- was a plain brick structure with

two gables, and was so far advanced towards completion

that it was occupied about the 1st of November, for divine

service. Early in this month, Bishop Fenwick visited the

congr^ation, remaining over two weeks, preaching and ad-

ministering the sacrament of confirmation to a number of

children and adults. The strength of the congregation at

this dace did not fall fur short of 200 ; but it was not till

the month of August, 1833, that they witnessed the dedi-

cation of their church to the worship of God, under the

special patronage of Saint Dominic, by Bishop Fenwick,

assisted by the Revs. Fathers Ffrench, McNamee, and

Wiley, of Salem, Mass. At this period the parishioners

numbered nearly 300, and nothing of special public interest

happened until 1839, when the devoted Father Ffrench

took leave of the congregation for a visit to Ireland. He
was succeeded in the pastorate by the Rev. Patrick Flood,

who, in 1841, transferred his charge to the Rev. Patrick

O'Beime, who was also succeeded, three years later, by the

assignment of the Rev. James Power.

In 1846 the Rev. James Maguire was appointed pastor

in the succession at Saint Dominic's, and in the month of

August, this year,, the bishop of the diocese, Rt. Rev. Dr.

Fenwick, died in the sixty-fifth year of his age. He was

succeeded by Rt. Rev. John Bernard Fitzpatrick, D.D.

Bishop Fitzpatrick was born in Boston, in 1812 ; he studied

his theology at the Seminary of St. Sulpice, Paris, and was

there ordained priest in June, 1840. Soon after his return

to the United States, on the application of the Bishop of

Boston to the Holy See, he was consecrated, at George-

town, D.C, Coadjutor Bishop of Boston, in March, 1844.

At the date of Father Maguire's assuming the charge of

the church the worshipers had increased to nearly 1000 souls.

The following year, called " black '47" by Irish writers,

was filled with evil forebodings to the people of Ireland.

The potato crop, upon which the peasantry mainly relied

for their sustenance, was totally destroyed by rot, and a

Jamine. plague spread abroad over the land, and those who

could fled, terror-stricken, from their country, as if from

a charnel-house. A steady stream of immigration began

to flow towards these shores, which continued for a few

years onabated. Portland received her quota in propor-

tion to the inducements offered for the attraction hither of

manual labor ; and owing to this influx, Father Maguire

found the seating capacity of this churr'-, in 1848, entirely

inadequate to the growth of his congregation, and sought

relief in the erection of an addition, constructed on to

the rear of the church. This enlargement sufiiced only'

for a time. In the following year his physical powens

began to give way, and in the month of January, 1850,

this zealous priest passed to his eternal reward. The body

was removed to Boston for interment, there being no con-

secrated burying-ground in Portland.

The brief interval which elapsed, preceding the appoint-

ment of a successor to Father Maguire, was alternately

filled by the Revs. James O'Rielly, S. A. Mullidy, John

McCabe, and Ambrose Monahan.

Rev. John O'Donnell having been assigned to the charge

next, entered upon his trust in the mouth of March, 1850.

Very soon the question of a further increase of sittings in

iheuhnrch came up, for since the improvement, made in

1848, more than 500 had been added to the congregation,

which was yet too poor to undertake the construction of a

larger edifice. To overcome the difficulty, two public ser-

vices—masses—were held ; but even this remedy was but

temporary, as he was obliged, finally, to build a large wooden

addition to the brick-work in the rear, provided .
with a

basement, which was converted into a vestry-room, while the

upper portion was thrown into one large room, connecting

in the rear of the altar with the church, the floor elevated

some forty feet above the dais. In this apartment, sep-

arated from the sanctuary by an open lattice-work, the

children and youths assembled for divine service at the

same time that the adults assisted thereat in the church.

In this room, also, the Sunday-school classes were brought

together.

With the growth of the church came also the responsi-
'

bility of the poor, to alleviate whose wants the priest found

no difficulty in founding a permanent Catholic benevolent

society from the men and women of his congregation, who

at stated times made the distributions of clothing and pro-

visions at all seasons when needed ; nor did this indefati-

gable pastor neglect to provide intellectual food for such as

desired to avail themselves of the advantages of sound,

healthy reading matter. The " Young Catholic Friends'

Society" was established, with a library rising above 700

volumes. Thus was this priest ever found moving about

with tireless activity, promoting the welfare of his congre-

gation, and strengthening tbeir influence in the community,

till, in a short time after, he was transferred to another field

of labor, where he has acquired the friendship and confi-

dence of Protestants as well as Catholics.

In 1853, Pope Pius IX. promulgated a bull erecting the

city of Portland into a see. The limits of the new diocese

embraced the States of New Hampshire and Maine. The

Very Rev. Father Caskery, Vicar-General of the Arch-

diocese of Baltimore, received the appointment of Bishop of

Portland, which was declined by him on account of ill

health. An interregnum of almost two years took place

before a second appointment was made, when, on the feast

of the Annunciation, 1855, Father Bacon, pastor of St.

Joseph's Church, in Brooklyn, N. Y., was designated, and

on the 22d day of April, same year, was consecrated bishop

in St. Patrick's Cathedral, New York City. About the

close of the following month the Right Rev. D. W. Bacon,

D.D>,.accompanied by Bishop Fitzpatrick, of Boston ; the
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Rev. Fathers O'Beirne, of Roxbury ; Daly, of Concord ; and

BapU, of Bangor, arrived at Portland, and was welcomed

at the depot by the pastor of St. Dominic's, the Rev. John

O'Donnell, who was joined by Fatiiers Putnam, of White-

field, and Patcheniu, of Eastport.

Bishop Bacon was born in New York, in the year 1814

;

he received his theological education at the Seminary of St.

Sulpice, Montreal, completing the course at St. Mary's

College, Baltimore, where he was ordained priest in De-

cember, 1838, by Archbishop Eccleston.

On the 31st of May, 1855, the impo-sing ceremonies of

the installation of the new bi.'ihop took place in the presence

of a largo assemblage of the citizens. The presence of two

bishops, and so many priests of the Catholic Church, arrayed

in full canonicals, was an event never witnessed in Portland

before, and, of course, crowds were attracted hither. The
Bishop of Boston delivered the charge of the congregation,

and the new see, in a discourse of pure and effective elo-

quence, terminating with an admirable exhortation to his

hearers. He was followed by the Bishop of Portland in a

peroration which, for its depth of tenderness, purity of

diction, and beauty of delivery, has seldom been surpassed,

concluding most paternally with his benediction to all. The

solemn High Mass was then taken up and chanted to the

close. The ceremonies concluded, dinner was served at

the parochial residence to the bishops, clergy, and invited

guests from the distinguished personages of the city.

From the erection of the diocese of Portland, a fresh

impulse was given Catholicity, and soon after its bishop

took possession of his new see the Catholic religion in Maine

made rapid strides. Bat in an extensive diocese, with

everything to create and very limited resources, the obstacles

to be surmounted were not light. With not more than 6

priests and 8 churches scattered over two States for the mis-

sionary labor, he might well have been appalled in the face

of the weighty responsibilities he had assumed. Undis-

mayed, however, by the spectacle before him ho entered

upon the work with great zeal and earnestness, and in the

month of August, at St. Dominic's church, ordained his

first priest, the Rev. Thomas Konney. At the same time the

Rev. Eugene Miiller reported for duty, and was inves^ted by

the bishop with the important ofiBce of Vicar-General, and

placed in charge of the church on State Street. Two months

later the Rev. Father Kenney was stationed at the mission

in Biddeford, and commenced the construction of a Catholic

church there ; he died at this place in February, 1857. On

the feast of All Saints the Rev. John Brady was raised to

the priesthood in Portland ; he is now in charge of one of

the churches in Biddeford. A week subsequent to this

ordination the Rev. John O'Donnell was detached from St.

Dominic's, in Portland, and assigned to the mission at

Nashua, N. H.

The opening of the year 1856 found the single church

in Portland entirely too small for the constantly growing

congregation. And, besides, the cathedral church of the

diocese must needs be built. So in the spring the bishop

secured from William Senter, Esq., his own lot and residence,

together with three more adjacent lots, and an adjoining

lot from Deacon Storer ; all fronting on Cumberland Stroe.t,

and lying between Franklin and Locust Streets.

24

Before the year was at an end a brick chnpel. with a

seatiii;.: eapaeity fur 6U(» persons, was completed at tlio rear

on these grounds, the main portion extending to the street

having been reserved for the future cathedral. On the festi-

val of Sts. Peter and Paul, ISJtJ, the Rev. Michael Lucey

was ordained priest at St. Dominic's. Late in the autumn

the bi&hop purchased a tract of land less than a mile from

Vaughan's Bridge, on the .Saco road, which was converted

into a burying-ground, and is known as Calvary Cemetery,

for the exclusive use of those members who die in coin-

muuicn with the Catholic Church.

In the centre of the cemetery a frame church with tower

and spire and an accommodation for 4U0 sittings wits some

time afterwards built, and in which divine service is held

on certain occasions.

On the feast of the Assumption of the Blessed Virgiu

Mary, this same year, the Rev. Patrick Bacon received

holy orders, and in spring of the following year he suc-

ceeded Father Kenney, deceased, at Biddeford. About the

same time the Rev. Michael Lucey was sent on to the

mission to Salmon Falls, N. H., where he soon after built

a church. The Rev. James Parasche was raised to the

priesthood at this period, and after a stay of some months

at the cathedral chapel was sent on missionary duty to

Exeter, N. H., and died in December, 18G3, !it Keene, N. H.

In the month of August the Rev. Matthew Murphy was

admitted to holy orders in Portland, and in the fall was

charged with a mission at Calais ; a few years later he died.

The Rev. D. Whalen arrived in Portland in the month of

September, 1857, and was temporarily assigned to duty

at the church on State Street, remaining but a short time,

when he left the city.

In the year 1859, St. Dominic's church was remodeled,

the interior consisting of sanctuary, nave, aisles, and vesti-

bule. Exteriorly, the new front is after the mcdic'Bval Gothic

style of architecture. The spring of this year found

Father P. O'Donoghue stationed at St. Dominic's, and

early in summer he left for fields of labor elsewhere.

Prior to the modifications of St. Dominic's, the bishop

had constructed a large and substantial brick addition to

the original residence purchased in connection with the

site for the cathedral. This was rendered necessary for

the accommodation of the clergy that were being rapidly

created, and, besides, it was contemplated to introduce at

no distant day a teaching order of religious ladies for the

instruction of the Catholic girls, for whose reception these

improvements were partly intended. An interval of nearly

two years, with little of interest to chronicle in the church,

save the steady advance of its numerical strength, now
occurred. In the summer of 1861 the Rev. John De Rose,

ordained priest at Cleveland, Ohio, arrived in Portland and

was attached to the cathedral chapel, aud received the

appointment of chancellor of the diocese. In 1872 he

returned from a visit to his aged mother in his native

Belgium, and in the month of March, 1873, like the true

shepherd that lays down his life for the flock, in the act of

administering the last sacraments of the church to one

dying with the smallpox, this humble and self-sacrificin"

priest contracted the loathsome disease, of which he died

in a few days, lamented by bishop, priests, and people ; and
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sadly, ID the dead hour of night, his corpse was hurried

through the deserted streets of the city, followed by a few

of his associates in the sacred ministry, to Calvary Cemetery,

and there above the grave, in the light of the moon, they

intoned the office for the dead. Soon after the death of

this good priest the Catholics erected in memoriam a figure

of Faith, cut out of pure white marble, standing on a

pedestal of like material, artistically designed and of supe-

rior workmanship, supported upon an hexagonal granite

base, the whole rising twelve feet high, placed in the

western aisle of the cathedral.

In 1860 the project for the construction of the cathedral

engrossed no inconsiderable portion of the bishop's atten-

tion. Ground was broken and the foundation laid ; more

than this was not accomplished, in consequence of the

civil war into which the country was drifting, and opera-

tions were not resumed till five years later.

The Covell estate, fronting on Congress Street, and uni-

ting in rear with the church property, was purchased by

Bishop Bacon in 1863, thus securing undisputed control

from street to street, and affording easy and ample commu-

nication to and from the cathedral. To the very good resi-

dence upon this property an enlai^ement was built, and the

original modified, which, when completed, was occupied for

the episcopal mansion, and the former one was surrendered,

in the spring of 1864, to a community of nuns of the

" Congregatione de Notre Dame," who immediately opened

therein an academy for young ladies. Simultaneously a

free day-school for girls was opened on Congress Street,

about three blocks northeast of the bishop's residence,

which was placed in charge of these nuns. The second

story of this school-house was converted into a chapel,

where mass was celebrated every Sunday, to relieve the

over-crowded condition of the cathedral chapel.

On the festival of Sts. Peter and Paul, 1864, the Rev.

John E. Barry, of Eastport, was ordained priest at the

cathedral chapel, and at the same place, on the feast of

All Saints, same year, the Rev. Luke Bartley received

holy orders. These two priests continued to perform duty

at Portland until the summer of 1866, when the latter was

named for the mission at Bath, and the former for Con-

cord, N. H.

Encouraged by the success which resulted from the

opening of the day-school in the eastern section of the city,

a further step in the development of the Catholic educa-

tional plan was taken. It was decided to erect a commo-

dious and substantial two-stoiy brick structure, with Man-

sard roof, close to St. Dominic's church, upon the site

secured a year previous, for the education of the girls be-

longing in the western portion of the city. In the spring

of 1865 operations were commenced, and carried on with-

out interruption till the school-house was completed and

made ready for occupation, about the 1st of December.

Meanwhile, in the summer season, a fair was inaugurated

at City Hall, for the purpose of obtaining funds to liqui-

date the cost of construction. This undertaking was v«ry

successful, surpassing the expectations of its promoters.

On the 8th of September the Rev. Michael O'Brien

was admitted to holy orders
;
4>erfonned duty at Portland

until late in 1866, when he was sent to the mission at

Rockland. Before the close of 1865, Rev. John O'Brien

was ordained and sent to perform duty-at Manchester,

N. H.

In the spring of 1866 work upon the cathedral was re-

sumed. The walls had been carried to a uniform height of

fifteen feet above the foundation, when, singular to say, a

cii'cumstance, not understood, caused a suspension of opera-

tions.

In little over a month afterwards that terrible conflagra-

tion of 4th of July burst upon the city, devouring street

after street,—everything in its path,—and consuming the

episcopal mansion, church, the new walls of the cathedral,

the nuns' academic building, and the school-house, leaving

in its train a scene of fearful desolation. The loss to the

Catholics seemed irreparable. None felt the weight of this

blow more heavily than their bishop ; his eyes beheld with

sorrow the fruits of ten years' unwearied labor, of journeys

far and near, carried off beyond recall. Almost heart-

broken under this crushing calamity, be lost no time in

appearing before sympathizing congregations in neighbor-

ing States, and in the Provinces of the Dominion, where

his appeals met with the success they deserved. For a

time one of the school-rooms at St. Dominic's was occupied

by the bishop for his dwelling-place. His congregation

worshiped in a shed on the Grand Trunk Company's wharf,

returning therefrom on the completion of a temporary

wooden building upon the " Hay-scale" lot, adjoining the

site of the episcopal mansion. In consequence of this mis-

fortune the nuns were obliged to return to the " Mother

House" at Montreal, and the school of St. Dominic's was

intrusted to lay teachers.

After an absence of nearly two months the bishop re-

turned to his see elated with his success. Workmen were

at once employed in removing the debris, and the new

church commenced, phfleniz like, to rise from its ashes ; at

the same time the reconstruction of the episcopal palace

went on apace. While these operations were being pushed

forward a fine residence on Free Street was purchased and

immediately occupied by the bishop and the clergy. A
week before Christmas-day Bishop Bacon had the ineffable

joy of dedicating to the service of God the new church, in

which His praises continue to be chanted to this day.

Closely following this ev^at came the completion of the

episcopal palace on a much more extensive scale than the

original structure, and was forthwith occupied. In rapid

succession the school-house was rebuilt, and the large wooden

mansion on the corner of Oak and Free Streets was pur-

chased and possession taken by the returned nuns, January,

1867.

April, 1867, the bishop visited Portsmouth, and there

ordained Rev. John W. Murphy, who performed duty at

both churches in Portland, until August, 1871, when he

was sent to take charge of the mission at Laconia, N. H.

One year later operations on the construction of the

cathedral were resumed, this time with the determination

to push the work to completion. In the month of May,

1868, the Rev. Eugene Mullen was transferred from the

charge of St. Dominic's to that of the church in Biddeford,

and died there in November, 1869 ; the vacancy thus made

was at once filled by the appointment of the Rev. Michael
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O'Brien, from Rocklund, and in July following the Rev.

Louis Mutsaers, who was ordained at Troy, N. Y., on

Trinity Sunday, arrived in Portland, and was stationed as

assistant at St. Dominic's church. In May, 1869, the

Rev. Michael O'Brien was relieved from duty in Portland

and assigned to the church at Exeter, N. H., the charge of

St. Dominic's devolving on the Rev. John W. Murphy.

On the 23d of the same month the Rev. John Duddy, born

in Portland, was ordained priest in his native city, and about

the same date the Rev. Eugene O'Callaghan received ordi-

nation at the hands of Archbishop McCloskey in the serai-

nary at Troy, N. Y., and immediately thereafter was

assigned to duty at the church on State Street as assistant,

relieving Father Mutsaers, who was attached to the mission

at Lewiston. Father O'Callaghan continued on duty at

Portlund till the month of April, 1874, when he was given

chaise of the mission at Augusta. In the city of Port-

land, in the summer of 1869, the Rev. James Cairns was

raised to the priesthood, and soon after was charged with

the mission at Eastport.

The 8th of September, 1869, was the day anxiously

looked forward to for the dedication of the cathedral. On its

arrival a multitude filled the edifice, and crowds were unable

to obtain standing room. The spectacle presented was one

seldom seen and hardly ever to be forgotten by the specta-

tors. Eight bishops and about 75 priests officiated in the

ceremonies, in which nearly four houi-s were consumed.

At two o'clock in the afternoon the sacred edifice was

solemnly dedicated as the Cathedral of the " Immaculate

Conception."

In the evening the visiting prelates, clergymen, and

invited guests were entertained by Bishop Bacon at the

Falmouth Hotel.

The architecture is of the florid Gothic, with nave divided

into aisles, sanctuary, and two chapels. Exteriorly, the

materials are bricks with freestone trimmings ; the founda-

tion courses laid in large blocks of dressed granite. The

cathedral front on Cumberland Street consists of central

gable with one main tower, and spire at one side rising to

a height of two hundred and thirty-six feet, and a turret at

the other side, and between it and the main entrance a

smaller tower about one hundred and fifty feet high. A
porch, extending some twelve feet towards the street from

the central gable, is pierced by the grand portal, the jambs

decorated with columns carrying foliage capitals, from which

spring clustered mouldings ornamenting the arch. The

paneled gablet above the arch bears the mitre in bas-relief,

and above this in the central gable is set a handsome rose-

window with tracery of skillful design filled with Scriptural

imagery. A second entrance opens through the main tower,

up which a staircase is carried which communicates with

the organ galleries, and leads up into the spire. There are

two side-doors, and two more communicating with Congress

Street. The towers and maiil building are flanked with

heavy buttresses. The basement contains the heating ap-

paratus and the mortuary vaults. The cathedral is one

hundred and ninety-six feet long, and one hundred feet

wide ; height of nave from floor to apex of ceiling, sev-

enty feet. Emerging from under the organ gallery, alter

having passed the main portal, into the main aisle, at the

farther end of the nave is the sanctuary containing the

high altar, the back of the reredos about twenty-five feet

from the end. The sanctuary is a semi-decagon, termina-

ting in an apsis in ths clerestory. Running round the

sanctuary dome are niches containing marble statues of the

apostles. The reredos is an elaborate carving with one

central and two smaller flanking towers having niches con-

taining statues; the spaces between are filled with niches

intended for smaller statuary. From these towers rise

spires, which, together with the intervening, are terminated

in paneled pinnacles richly ornamented with foliage bosses,

the whole embellished in purest white and glittering gold,

whilst high above upon a heavy cross hangs a life-size figure

of Christ.

The nave is divided longitudinally into eight bays by

eight clustered columns on each side, separating the side

aisles from the main aisle; these columns support the clere-

story ; it Ls lighted by sixteen large windows, each divided

into three buys by muUions and filled with geometrical stained

glass, the tympanum being inlaid with the symbols of the

Passion of our Lord, and representations from Scripture, all

executed in a variety and richness of coloring almost un-

rivaled. The sanctuary receives its light from the clerestory,

two side-windows, and the very handjonie ten by nineteen

feet stained-gla.ss window representing the crowning of the

Virgin Mary by Christ and Jehovah, and the angels above

awaiting her coming, which is at the end ; below this win-

dow is a chapel, and another chapel at either side.

The clerestory contains twenty-one windows with the four

evangelists represented, and scenes from Scripture illustrated.

Underneath these windows and corresponding with the

number of bays, the triforium is indented with imitation

triple windows. On the walls and groined ceilings of the

aisles the frescoing is simply gorgeous, being laid in oils.

Blue, buff, and green are the ground colors used, and the

decorations are foils inclosing monograms of the Trinity,

the lily, cross, and shamrock entwined, the ivy, etc. At one

side a most beautiful painting representing the Immaculate

Conception embellishes the wall.

The organ is of the Gothic style, built in a rich, dark

case and gilt trimmings, contrasting beautifully with the

wealth of coloring in the cathedral.

Early in the month of November the bishop left Port-

land en route for Rome, in obedience to the summons of

the reigning pontifl^, Pius IX., to attend the General Coun-

cil of the Vatican, which was ordered to convene on the

feast of the Immaculate Conception, the month following.

As the convocation of a General Council of the Catholic

Church is an event of rare occurrence, and has ever been

regarded, to the extremities of Christendom, as of the most

momentous importance, and the Council of the Vatican

being the nineteenth in the history of the Church, and the

only one held since the Council of Trent, which was con-

voked by Pope Paul III. in the year 1545, it ifiay be

stated that the Council called by Pope Pius IX. was the

most numerously attended of all preceding Councils, if we

may except the second Council of Lateran, which was as-

sembled by Pope Innocent II. in the year 1139, at which,

it is said, 1000 bishops met. The Council of the Vatican

was attended by an assemblage of prelates including 49
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cardinals, 11 patriarchs, 686 archbishops and bishops, 28

abbots, and 29 generals of religious orders,—in all 803

fathers, representing every country, region, and tropic, and

of every variety of shade of complexion, and in all proba-

bility the most distinguished and learned body of men

brought together in modern times.

During the absence of Bishop Bacon, the Very Rev.

John O'Donnell, V.G., administered the ecclesiastical af-

fairs of the diocese. While in attendance at the Council

the bishop's health became impaired, and in consequence he

was permitted to return to his see, where he was cordially

welcomed March 1, 1870.

In the month of Jane, 1871, Rev. Dennis M. Bradley

arrived in Portland and wag attached to the cathedral.

Some time afterwards he was named chancellor of the dio-

cese and rector of the cathedral. He still continues to fill

these offices.

After the return of Bishop Bacon from Rome, his ener-

gies neither tired nor flagged, and when not engaged at

home was projecting work or rearing up structures else-

where in bis diocese for the promotion of the faith. Turn-

ing his attention again to affairs at home, the subject of

proper provision for destitute Catholic orphan children en-

gaged his attention. The residence on Free Street, pur-

chased the year of the great fire, was converted into an

asylum for the reception and care of orphans ; a large

three-story brick addition, more extensive than the original

building, was commenced in the spring and completed in

the fall of 1873, together with the construction of a Man-

sard story on the original, and other needed alterations.

These buildings were occupied on. the 31st of May by three

" Sisters of Mercy" from the Mother-House at Manchester,

N. H. In the fall the number of the Sisters was increased

to about fifteen, and on the 1st of September they were

assigned to teach the free day-schools, thus relieving the

Nuns of the Congregatione de Notre Dame, who, in conse-

quence, were obliged to close their academy, and soon

thereafter retired to Montreal. To supply the want, the

Sisters of Mercy opened an institute, under their direction,

on Free Street, known as St. Elizabeth's Academy. The

beginning of winter found a score of orphans domiciled in

the new institution, to whose wants the Sisters ministered.

In the spring of 1874 ground was excavated in the Hay-

Scale lot adjoining that of the episcopal residence fdr a new

school-house. This site was secured from the city in the

year 1869. Here the walls of the new educational struc-

ture arose to the level of the first floor, when operations were

suspended, the bishop being called to Rome. But before

his departure, which occurred towards the close of July, he

ordained on the 14th of the month the Rev. John F. Mc-

Kenna, at Manchester, N. H. This priest was assigned to

the church on State Street, in August, 1876, where he now

is pastor in charge.

On the ocean voyage from New York, Bishop Bacon was

prostrated by a severe attack from a distressing ailment, and

upon his arrival at Brest he was compelled to enter the mil-

itary marine hospital in that French port. From this at-

tack he did not recover sufficiently to continue the journey.

On the contrary, having sufiered a relapse, and suspecting

that his ministry was about drawing to a close, he resolved

to retrace his steps in the hope of meeting death in his epis-

copal city. Under the charge of the Very Rev. John E.

Barry, V. 0. of Concord, N. H., who was summoned to his

bedside at Brest, the bishop was borne in a litter on board

the French steamer bound for New York. The steamship

arrived at the Empire City in the afternoon of the 5th ofNo-

vember, and in about three hours after his removal to St.

Vincent's Hospital, in charge of the Sisters of Charity, in

New York City, the Rt. Rev. D. W. Bacon, D.D., in the

sixty-first year of his age, breathed his last. This sad in-

telligence cast a gloom over the Catholics of Portland. On
the 7th of the month the dead body of the bishop was con-

veyed back to the city, and was met at the depot by the

several Catholic organizations and Catholic citizens gen-

erally. In processional order, the clei^ in carriages pro-

ceeded by the hearse containing the casket, and guarded

by a military escort, the column moved with slow and

solemn step over the principal thoroughfares to the episco-

pal palace, which, but a little over three months before, was

occupied by the departed.

Until Tuesday following, the 10th of the mouth, the body,

arrayed in full canonicals, lay in state upon an elaborately

contrived catafalque in the main aisle, before the grand high

altar in the cathedral. On this date the funeral obsequies

took place, many bishops and priests from the neighboring

States and the British provinces assisting thereat, at the

conclusion of which the casket containing the body was

borne by eight prie.sts to the vault in the basement of the

cathedral, and there deposited in its final resting-place.

Bishop Bacon was distinguished as an eloquent preacher,

the winter courses, and especially his Lenten sermons, at-

tracting many of the Protestants. In the course of his

episcopate not a few have been brought into the Roman
Catholic Church. To his preaching was allied great zeal

and earnestness. He was also endowed with a remarkable

business capacity, and for his humility and exceeding

urbanity he was much esteemed in Portland.

Upon the Very Rev. John E. Barry, V. G., now devolved

the administration of the ecclesiastical afiairs of the diocese,

until the appointment of a successor in the see of Port-

land.

In the month of March, 1875, the Rev. James A. Hcaly,

pastor of the Church of St. James, in Boston, was designated

by the Holy See to the vacant bishopric, and on the 2d of

June following he was consecrated bishop in the Cathedral

of the Immaculate Conception, at Portland, by Archbishop

Williams, of the city of Boston, assisted by eight bishops.

Archbishop Connolly (since deceased), of Halifax, 'Nova

Scotia, delivered the oration.

Rt. Rev. James Augustine Healy, second Bishop of

Portland, was bom in Georgia, in April, 1830. He re-

ceived his preparatory education at Holy Cross College,

Worcester, Mass., commenced his theological studies at the

Grand Seminary, Montreal, and completed the course at

the Seminary of St. Sulpice, Paris, receiving the ordination

of priesthood on the 10th of June, 1854, in the celebrated

Cuthcdral of Notre Dame, at the hands of Archbishop Libour.

The new bishop brought to his apostolic labor a reputation

for sound learning, ardent zeal, and great holiness of life,

which were clearly manifested in the alacrity with which
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ho took up the burden laid down by bis predecessor, evinc-

ing; a deep solicitude for the growtli of religion.

In the summer of this year, ascertaining that a number of

Irish Cutliolics bad cstublisiied themselves in and around

the town of Yarmouth, and others of French descent hav-

ing been attracted by the manufacturing interests at Sacca-

rappa, they were provided with the ministrutions of their

religion and divine service at stated times, the visiting priests

being furnished from Portland. The Catholics of these

two missions were yet poor and too few to attempt the erec-

tion of' a church, so that divine service was held in a room

at the house of one of the Catholic families in Yarmouth,

and in a small hall at Saccarappa.

About this time the Catholics of Brunswick, looking for-

ward to the day when their number must require better ac-

commodation for the ceremouies of their religion, purchased

the fine estate of Capt. McMunus, with the view of build-

ing a church thereon at no very distant day. The dwelling

is now occupied as the parochial residence of the pastor.

Rev. J. H. Noiseux.

In his zeal for the promotion of sanctity amongst the

Catholics of Portland, in the winter the bishop introduced

several priests of the missionary order known as the Re-

demptorist Fathers, who instituted revivals at both churches,

awakening new spiritual life in the congregations. These

revivals continued for nearly four weeks without any appa-

rent diminution in the attendance that filled the cathedral

at the morning and evening service, especially the latter, at

which the most important sermon was preached by one of

the missionaries, which was listened to with un equal

amount of devotion by Catholics and Protestants.

With the opening of the spring of 1876 operations on

the construction of the " Kavanagh School" were resumed,

and the building was completed in February, 1877, at a

cost of nearly $23,000, the funds being derived from a very

generous donation of $25,000 from Miss Kavanagh, of

Damariscotta. This is a very attractive structure, built of

pressed bricks with light freestone trimmings, the founda-

tion laid with granite blocks. It is a model school-house,

and may be said to consist of the main building, over

100 feet long and not less than 50 feet wide, with

lateral wings in which the broad staircases are carried to

the upper floor. It is three stories high, with Mansard

roof. The first and second floors are similarly arranged,

each containing 4 class-rooms, capable of accommodating

60 to 80 children in each one, and connecting with each

class-room a capacious wardrobe-room for the use of the

pupils. The basement is apportioned into a library- and

society-rooms, and the third floor is converted into a hall,

with a seating capacity for 1500 persons.

Under the new impetus given to religion and education

by Bishop Healy, fresh vigor and increased interest was in-

fused into the Catholic schools of Portland. The com-

munity of Sisters of Mercy now numbered 25 choir

and 8 lay sisters ; the former were charged with the ed-

ucation of the free day-schools and the academy, and the

latter were intrusted with the care and instruction of the

orphan children. Applications for admission to the educa-

tional institute of Free Street overtaxed the capacity of

the academy, and in order to make uiorc ample provision,

it was decided to remove most of the oi-phans, numbering

about 60, to Whitefield, where this order had established

another house. This project was accomplished and a de-

cided improvement was manifested at the close of the year.

The course of instruction at St. Elizabeth's Academy in-

cludes all the higher branches of an English education, be-

sides the special studies in French, music, painting, fancy

needle-work, etc.

The Catholic population of Portland is now nearly 10,000,

with a cathedral and two churches, an orphan asylum, two

very handsome and substantial school buildings, and a female

academy, besides the palatial residence of the bishop and the

clergy of the cathedral, and the less imposing parochial

residence connected with Saint Dominic's Church. The

average number of priests on duty ministering to the spirit-

ual wants of their hearers is six. There are 33 " Sisters of

Mercy'' employed in teaching the day-schools, the average

attendance at both aggregating 1000, and the academy with

60 on its rolls, and in caring for the wants of 30 orphan

children retained in the institution in Portland, the greater

number having been provided for at Whitefield.

To the foregoing figures may be added the congregation

and church at each of Brunswick, Yarmouth, and Sacca-

rappa, and many more Catholics known to be scattered

through the other towns of the county, and a fair idea is

obtained of the growth of the Catholic Church since fifty

years ago, when not more than 75 Catholics worshiped in

the city of Portland in an upper room, of which there is

but one representative now living, the only connecting link

in the chain,—Mrs. Richard Duddy, a very respectable old

lady, yet hale and robust.

SECOND UNITARIAN SOCIEXr.

This society was formed in 1835. In March of that

year certain persons connected with the First Parish pur-

chased the brick church on the corner of Park and Pleasant

Streets, which had been erected by the Second JMethodist

Society in 1828, and became incorporated under the name

of " The Second Unitarian Society of Portland." The

same year Rev. Jason Whitman, who had been formerly

settled at Saco, and was the general agent of the American

Unitarian Association, was installed as pastor. He con-

tinued ten years with the society, the specified time of his

engagement, when the relation was dissolved. He died

while on a vi^it to Portland, January 25, 1848. He was

a graduate of Harvard in the class of 1825, and a talented

and devoted minister. His successor was Rev. J. H. Love-

ring, of Boston, who settled over the society in July, 1862,

and was succeeded by Rev. James T. Hewes in 186-1.

FIEST UNIVERSALIST CHURCH.

Before the founding of this society a few persons had

preached the doctrines of Univcrsalism in Portland. The
first service of which there exists any authentic knowledge

was held in a cooper-shop owned by Mr. Mountfort, at the

foot of Mountfort Street, probably by Rev. Thomas Barnes,

who has been styled the " Father of Univcrsalism in Maine."

In 1799 this minister came from Connecticut to this State,

and settled in Poland. Rev. Hosea Ballou preached here

several times as he journeyed on his missionary tours from
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Portsmouth, N. H., between 1809 and 1814. On one or

more of these occasions, the churches and school-houses

being closed against him, he preached in the office of Hon.

Samuel Freeman, on Middle Street, which was generously

tendered b; the magnanimous proprietor for that purpose.

After this, and prior to 1821, Rev. John Brooks visited

the place and preached several times in an Episcopalian

church on School Street, now Pearl, and in a school-house

on Congress Street.

Here, early in 1821, Rev. Russell Strecter preached for

the first time in this city. Soon after he b^;an to preach

here an effort was made to obtain possession of the Third

Parish church ; but though quite a number of pews were

bought, the plan was frustrated by the interposition of

some of the Second Parish, who did not desire a sister

society to dispose of its property for such purpose. This

defeat united the fi lends of Universalism in a determination

to build a church of their own. Work began in earnest,

a society was formed, and articles of faith drawn up,

adopted, and signed Jan. 23, 1821. The compact is as

follows

:

"We, whose names are hereunto eabscribed, profcflsing a realising

sense of the unchangeable and universal love of God, exhibited in a

Bcdeeiuer, and in humble gratitude for a disposition of heart to unite

in Christian lore and fellowship for the promotion of the general in-

terests of society, our own edification, and the religions instruction of

our families, do form ourselves into a sociiii and religious body, con-

sisting of a number of believers, united together in the confe:<sion of

the iaith of the Gospel, which we believe, on serious and prayerful

deliberation, to be clearly expressed in the following

"STATEJISjrP OF fAITH:

" I. We believe the Scriptures of the Old and New Testaments con-

tain a revelation of the perfection and will of God, and the rule of

faith and practice.

" II. We believe in one God, infinite in all- his attributes, and that

these are modifications of adorable, incomprehensible, and unchange-

able love, manifested to mankind in Jesus ChriAt.

" III. We believe the spirit of God will, in due time, so efi°ectually

teach all men that the earth will be filled with the knowledge of the

Lord, whom to know is life eternal, as the waters cover the sea; for

it is written, * They shall be taught of God.'

" IT. We believe in the obligation of the moral precepts of the Scrip-

tures as the rule of life, and that the love of God, manifested in a

Bedeemer, is the best means of producing a holy, active, and useful

life.

" V. We furthermore profess, as Christians, to observe the first day

of the week as a day of rest from secular employments, to use all

reasonable means for the instruction of our children in the Gospel of

Christ, to endeavor as far at possible to promote peace and good-will

among- men, to discountenance profane swearing, falsehood, intoxica-

tion, and all ungodliness.

** Thus believing, we commend ourselves and all men to the Great

Head of the ohurch,,imploring that light and wisdom which shall en-

able ns to walk worthy of our Christian profession, to whom he praise

forever.

—

Aues."

This compact and statement of faith was signed by the

following 19 names

:

BoB.iTio G. QoiNcr,

William Pollets,

John Pbitchard,

Jajibs Rackuff,

JOKAS WlHSHIP,

Joseph Delako,

Caleb Oteb,

L. Dyeb, Jb.,

Daxiel Hebbick,

Ebesizeb Dria,

HoSEA Habfobs,

Kathaxiel Shaw,

JOSHDA FlTVAir,

WiLLIAlf S. QlJIKCT,

S. T-AHBCSKIBE,

PREEtfAH ShiTH,

John Richardsox,

John Fickeit,

Calvih Jobdan,

The next step taken was to secure a l^al position among

the religious societies of the place ; accordingly, the society

was incorporated April 11, 1821. The same year they

erected their first house of worship on the corner of Pearl

and Congress Streets, which was finished with an elevated

spire and provided with a bell weighing 1236 pounds.

The cost of the building was $0000, and it was dedicated

Aug. 16, 1821.

The first pastor was Rev. Russell Streeter, who took

charge of the society in August, 1821, and continued till

April 16, 1827, when he tendered his resignation. In July

following he was succeeded by Rev. John Bisbe, who was

a talented and popular minister, but who died in the midst

of his usefulness, March 8, 1829.

Mr. Bisbe was born in Plympton, Mass., in 1793, grad-

uated at Brown University, and commenced the study

of law in the office of Judge Morton, of Massachusetts.

Before completing his studies he was attracted to the study

of divinity, which he pursued with great ardor, embracing

the doctrines of the final restoration. In 1824 he was

settled in Hartford, Conn., from which place he came here

on the invitation of this society.

He accepted the invitation on condition that a church

should be organized and a Sunday-school establi-ihed, which

was accordingly complied with some time during the year

1827. The records containing the signatures of the orig-

inal members perished in the great fire of July 4, 1866,

but the church and Sunday-school, organized in 1827, have

continued with growing and enlai^ing influence to be the

important factor in the spiritual welfare of the parish.

After .the death of Mr. Bisbe, until the summer of 1831,

the pulpit was supplied by Rev. William I. Reese, who

was followed by Rev. Menzies Rayner, in September, 1831.

Mr. Bayner's connection with the parish was dissolved in

1835, and Rev. D. D. Smith succeeded him in April, 1836.

The next pastor was Rev. C. C. Burr, who continued until

April, 1842, when Rev. L. L. Sadler became pastor, and

remained till 1847. Rev. Russell Streeter was then called

to the parish the second time, and continued in the pastoral

relation till 1854, when he was succeeded by Rev. C. R.

Moor, who served the church till 1860, and was followed

by Rev. Edwin C. BoUes, in April, 1861. Mr. Bolles re-

mained pastor of the church till he was called to Brooklyn,

N. Y., in 1869, in October of which year the present pas-

tor. Rev. W. B.'Gibbs, was called and settled over the

parish.

Under the ministry of Mr. Bolles, the present elegant

and costly church edifice of the society was erected on Con-

gress Square. The lot was purchased in 1864. The

church was dedicated in 1865. The entire cost of the

enterprise was over $80,000.

INDIA STBEET 0NIVEB8ALI8T SOCIETY.

Immediately after the removal of the First Universalist

Society to the new church in Congress Square, the old

church was sold at auction, and purchased by parties who

afterwards organized a parish, by the name of " The Pearl

Street Universalist Society." This society was composed

in part of some of the persons who had formerly belonged

to a society which several years before had swarmed from



CITY OF PORTLAND. 101

the old one, and organized as the Second Vnivertalist So-

ciely in Portland, and in part of members of the old so-

ciety, who, having their residence in the eastern part of

the city, would be more convenient to the old church than

to the new. The Rev. I. M. Atwood, of Watertown,

N. Y., was called to the pastorate of the Pearl Street So-

ciety, and under his able and faithful labors it increased in

numbers and power, and was being consolidated into a

strong parish, when its church was destroyed in the great

conflagration of July 4, 1866. This loss, added to the

losses suffered by individual members, was a heavy blow to

the new and rising parish, and for a season it was compelled

to suspend its work, and Mr. Atwood accepted a call to a

parish in another State. But the fidelity and courage of

not a few of its members were of the kind that does not

easily yield to disappointment or apparent failure. They

persevered in their purpose,—purchased a small church, re-

cently vacated by the Congress Street Methodist Society,

called to be their minister a most earnest worker and elo-

quent and effective preacher, the Rev. Alexander Kent, of

Halifax, Nova Scotia. Mr. Kent labored with zeal and

success until ill health admonished him to seek a more

genial climate. Since the retirement of Mr. Kent, the

society has had the services of Rev. James Marsden, of

Massachusetts, Rev. George W. Bicknell, and the present

pastor. Rev. C. H. Hayden.

In 1871 the society erected a large and handsome brick

church, on the corner of Congress and India Streets,—

a

most eligible location,—and has, by authority of the Legis-

lature, changed its name to that of " The India Street

Universalist Society." It has a vigorous and promising

Sunday-school of some 175 members.

SWEDENBORGIAN.

The doctrines of the New Church first gained advocacy

in Portland about the year 1825, by Dr. Timothy Little, who

having met with the writings of P^manuel Swedenborg, and

become profoundly convinced of their truth, invited others

to their perusal, and soon held regular meetings on Sab-

bath evenings. These meetings increased in number and

interest until it was deemed advisable to hold public services,

which began in June, 1829. On Sunday, Aug. 21, 1830,

twelve persons received baptism, and were formally con-

stituted a society under the name of " New Jerusalem

Church." Some of the original members,—Dr. Little, Sam-

uel Colman, Oliver Gerrish, Dr. A. Rea, Ebenezer Mason,

and William Hunnewell, Jr., Rev. Thomas Worcester,

—

and delegates from a society in Boston, assisted in the organ-

ization.

The meetings of the society were first held in the vestry

of the Methodist church on Cumberland Street. In 1837,

Rev. Henry Worcester was settled as pastor of the church.

He continued till his death, which occurred May 24, 1841,

and was succeeded by Rev. James Scott, who remained

about three years, after which the desk was supplied by

Rev. Mr. Colbum and Rev. Thomas D. Sturdevant, till

October, 1847, when Dr. Little again commenced conduct-

ing the services, which he continued till the time of his

death, Nov. 27, 1849. He was succeeded by the Rev.

William B. Hayden, who was licensed to preach in 1850,

and ordained pastor of this church June 13, 1851. He re-

mained in that relation, which he honored with his able

services and excellent Christian character, for nearly a

quarter of a century. The pulpit was then supplied from

Sunday to Sunday by different ministers till Nov. 1, 1877,

when Rev. Julian K. Smyth began to preach as a licentiate.

Mr. Smyth was or(^ained pastor Jan. 5, 1879, and still offi-

ciates in that capacity.

friends' society.

The following notice we take from Jlr. Freeman's ex-

tracts :

"The Society of Friends in Portland was orgnnizcd in 1700, and

their briclc church commenced in 179d.

" It may not be amiss to observe, as to the society of this denomi-

nation, that it originated in England A.n. 1644, having for its head

Oeorge Fox, born at Drayton in July, 1624.

" In about seven years the preachers of their principles incrrased in

number to such a degree that no less than sixty ministers were rnised

up in Great Britain, and before the close of that century were spread

in most of the European kingdoms and in America. Adherents to

them first came to New England in 1656. Here, as well as in Eng-

land, they met with cruel persecutions, which it would be foreign to

my design to set forth.

" Before the year 1696 they held meetings, as other Christians, for

worship on the first dny of the week ; also at other times, as occasions

required. At an annual niceiing that year it was recommended to

Friends living at a distance to hold meetings in their families ; and

for the regular administration of discipline and other helps they es-

tjiblished in their society four other kinds of meetings, viz., prepara-

tive, monthly, quarterly, and yearly meetings. In these worship and

business were connected.

" The authority of the first was only to judge of the propriety of

carrying the matters before it to the higher meetings, at which depu-

ties consisting of persons of both sexes arc appointed to remove it to

the next in order, and there join in the transaction of any other busi-

ness that may regularly come before tbem. The first meeting in the

State of Maine was held in the upper part of York, in December,

1662, by three women, who had been prosecuted and whipped at

Dover, in New Hampshire, viz., Anna Coleman, Mary Tompkins, ond

Alice Ambrose.

"Soon after another was held at Berwick, but no account of any

other meeting can be found for more than si.vty years, when in Oc-

tober, 1730, one was held by a few families found in Kiltery.

"In 1743 a meeting for worship was set up in Falmouth, and in

1750 one was regularly established in Berwick.

"The next was established in Windham in 1779, After this meet-

ings were multiplied in different parts of the State, when in 1790 the

present society in Portland was established. It is unnecessary to

enumerate the many meetings that have been established since. I

will only add that the most general awakening, or, in the language of

the society, ' the most general convincement that has ever taken place

in Maine happened during the Revolutionary war, principally through

the instrumentality of David Sand;, of Cornwall, in the Stote of New

York, an eminent minister of this society.'

"

BXJBIAL-PLACES. •

EASTERN CEMETERT.

The oldest burying-ground in Portland is the Eastern

Cemetery on Munjoy Hill. The date of its appropriation

to the purposes of a common burial-place is not known, nor

have we any record or tradition going to show where the

first persons who died on the Neck, or those killed in the

first Indian war, more than two hundred years ago, were

buried. Probably this spot was selected on account of its

elevation and suitableness in other respects, and was after-

wards set apart as the public burying-ground of the settle-

ment. If any monuments ever marked the resting-place of
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the first pioneers, they were probably of a very rude descrip-

tion or perishable nature, and became obliterated before the

first permanent settlement after the peace of 1713.

The oldest stone which has been noticed in the Eastern

Cemetery is that of Mrs. Mary Green, who died May 23,

1717. In the comer which formed the earliest part of the

barying-ground are found the tombs of Rev. Thomas Smith

and his wives and sons, restored by the First Parish Church

in 1846, and the quaint old red sandstone monument of

Sheriff Tyng, of the Revolutionary era.

On the opposite side of the yard, towards Mountfort

Street, are the monuments erected to the memory of the

naval heroes, William Burroughs, of the United States

Brig " Enterprise,'' and Samuel Blythe, of His Majesty's

Brig " Boxer," who fought and died together off this coast,

Sept. 5, 1813, and were buried here with impressive and im-

posing ceremonies on the 8th of September. Beside them

lies Lieut. Kervin Waters, of the " Enterprise," mortally

wounded in the same action, of which Longfellow sings

:

" I remember the sea-fight far awaj,

How it thandcred u'er the tide

!

^nd the dead captaina, aa tbej lay

In their grarca overlooking the tranquil bay,

Where they in battle died.*'

The navy b well represented here. Commodore Preble

had his white marble monument ; and here also is cotn-

memorated the death of the gallant Lieut. Henry Wads-

worth (uncle of the poet Longfellow, and for whom he was

named), who fell before Tripoli, in 1804. The Rev. Edward

Payson aiso was buried here ; and an ornamental shaft of

white marble marks the resting-place of Rev. 3Ir. Reese,

of the Universalist Church. Most of the old moou-

ments are box-like structures of brick and granite, or tables

supported on pillars. The grass grows rankly over the

crowded graves; the elms and poplars, which have sprung

up at their own sweet will, cast here and there a shade ; and

year by year the grave-stones settle and grow more and more

awry.

WESTEEN CEMETERY.

The Western Cemetery was laid out as an additional

burial-place iu 1829. The site chosen on Bramhall Hill

was then far enough away from the centre of population,

although it now adjoins the most substantial residence por-

tion of the city, the population having extended westward

to the extreme end of the peninsula. This cemetery com-

prises about twelve acres of ground, purchased of the heirs

of Josiah Paine, Eliaa Merrill, and others. The first por-

tion of it was purchased Dec. 8, 1829. It has long since

been filled with graves, and necessity has been created for

rural cemeteries, outside of the city limits, of which we shall

speak presently. In this cemetery the most conspicuous

monuments are those of Chief-Justice Prentiss Mellen,

erected in 1850, by the bar of the State, and u monument

to Master Jackson, a time-honored teacher of the town,

erected by his pupils.

EVEaaREEN CEMETERT

is a beautiful rural burial-place, situated in Westbrook,

about two and a half miles out of the city. The road to

it is over a smooth and well-graded pike, and its entrance

is also on the line of the horse-car railway from the city

through the suburban villages to Morrell's Corner, by which

it may be conveniently visited every halt-hour during the

day. In wandering through the winding patlis of this

beautiful retreat, noticing its thrifty shade-trees, beautiful

flower-beds, and shining lakelets, and above all its elegant

and costly monuments, which meet the view along the

carriage-drives and retired walks, on every hand for miles

in extent, one can hardly realize the fact that it is scarcely

twenty-five years since the first grave was made and the

first monument erected here.

This cemetery was projected in 1852, by the comwittee

on common burial-grounds for that year, appointed by the

City Council, consisting of Messrs. Jones, Beckett, Merrill,

and Dearborn. Messrs. Jones and Beckett were delegated

a sub-committee, to examine carefully the condition of

burial-places and make suggestions of such improvements

as they thought were needed. The labors of this committee

were first directed to the Eastern Cemetery, which up to

that time had been very much neglected. The rough board

fence which inclosed it was falling into decay, the monu-

ments had become defaced or broken by the thoughtless or

vicious people who were allowed to make it a thoroughfare

from Hancock to Congress Streets, while its southeastern

boundary was made the receptacle, by those who dwelt on

the other side of the fence, of all valueless or offensive re-

fuse. This thoroughfare was at once debarred by the com-

mittee, who placed a strong f^nce eight feet high on the

side next to Hancock Street, graded convenient paths

through the grounds, constructed a brick sidewalk with

granite curbstones along the whole front on Congress Street,

and erected the neat and substantial wooden fence which

still incloses the cemetery. Thus was the good work of

improvement inaugurated. The substantial stone wall which

now prevents the bank on the southern side from caving

down was erected subsequent to the great fire of 186G.

But improvements were not allowed to rest with what

was done for the Eastern Cemetery. The question of pro-

curing a rural cemetery out of the city had been mooted,

but there was much opposition to it, which continued till

after the land had been purchased. The committee, how-

ever, were indefatigable. They at first purchased a little

over 54 acres of ground of Oliver Buckley and William

Stevens, for $5299. .By subsequent purchases, involving

an expenditure of about $25,000 more, the area has been

increased, so that at the present time the cemetery com-

prises nearly 200 acres.-

The city has still another public burial-place, viz.

:

FOREST CITY CEMETERY,

lying on the southerly side of Fore River, south ofVaughan's

Bridge, purchased of Samuel Haskell, Aug. 12, 1858, con-

taining about 56 acres, for which the sum of $5000 was

paid.

MOUNT CALVARY CEMETERY

is the Catholic burying-ground. It b situated in Cape

Elizabeth, about two miles from the centre of the city, and

comprises about 60 acres. Before the selection of this

ground the Catholic citizens had buried in a part of the
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Dr. Stephen Cummings was born ia Andover, Mass.,

Jan. 12, 1773. He received a good education while yonng,

studied medicine, and about the year 1794 married Eleanor

Hale, of the town of Temple, N. H. In 1795 he settled

in Waterford, Me., as a physician, and practiced until 1801,

when he removed to Portland, where he practiced medicine

and surgery for some forty-five years, and until near his

death, which occurred March 2, 1854. Dr. Cummings was

known as among the parliest and most successful physicians

of Portland. His social, genial, and unassuming ways won

for him many inends. He was particularly fond of asso-

ciations with young people, who learned to respect him in

his old age. He possessed that integrity in all his relations

with men that commanded their esteem and confidence, and

his skill in the practice of his profession ranked him among

the best educated men in medicine in the State. His chil-

dren were Mis. Sarah A. Bradley, died 1875 ; Dr. Sumner

Cnmjninga, for many years a physician of Portland, died

1848 ; Stephen Cummings, died 1863 ; John M., graduate

of Bowdoiq CoU^, and physician of Portland for many

years, and a farmer during the latter part of his life, died

1878; Fitz Heniy Cummings, died 1837; and Nathan

Cummings, who was bom in Waterford, Aug. 20, 1796,

and when five years old came with his father to Portland.

He graduated at Bowdoin College in 1817 in a class of

eight, none of whom survive.

Nathan Cummings studied law with Stephen Longfellow

when his office was in his dwelling-house, and his sign was

over the door of the small one-story addition next to the

Preble House, which was built for an entrance to the law

office, then in the east room. He was admitted to practice

in the State courts in 1820. By the invitation of the town

authorities, he delivered an oration in the First Parish meet-

ing-house on the 4th of July, 1822.

In 1824 he married Emily, daughter of Isaao Ilsley,

'^//y^^^-^

who was collector of customs for the Portland district

twenty-seven years, and who resigned in 1829 rather than

hold the office under President Jackson.

In 1 830 he was chosen a director of the Casco Bank in

a board composed of the prominent citizens, none of whom
are now living, viz. : Eliphalet Greeley, Ezekiel Day, Charles

Mussey, M. P. Sawyer, Christopher Wright, Phineas Var-

Dum, Nathan Cummings. Mr. Cummings was annually

re-elected forty-six years, and held the office at the time of

his death. He was an active politician in the days of the

Whig party, and in 1840 he was appointed collector of the

port by President Harrison, and in 1843 he was removed

by Tyler for opinion's sake. In 1848 Mr. Cummings en-

gaged in the flour business with the late Joseph C. Noyes

;

but his home and his books had stronger attractions for him

than the uncertainties of mercantile life, and after a suc-

cessful business of three or xbur years the firm was dissolved,

and he spent the remaining years of his life in quiet enjoy-

ment, with an occasional visit to his friends and the libra-

ries of Boston. He was a member of the Maine Historical

Society, elected in 1834.

He was a member of the old rifle corps forty-five years

ago. The corps was then celebrated for its social gather-

ings, when the best literary talent of the town vied in witty

songs, sentiments, and sharp sayings. At the close of an

anniversary dinner, Mr. Cummings thus gracefully and feel-

ingly alluded to our departed comrades, whom he has now

joined. To iiilly appreciate the sentiment which brought

all to their feet, it must be recollected that the adopted color

of the corps was green :

" Oar departed oomradee

:

Their plume is the wild weed,

Their mantle is the green of the valley."

He died in 1870, leaving three sons and one daughter

who yet survive,—Dr. Isaac I., a graduate of Harvard Col-

1^, Mrs. Charlotte A. Miller, AugoBtus, and Stephen H.
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Western Cemetery set off to them. But in 1857 the Rt.

Rev. David W. Bacon, late bishop of the diocese of Port-

land, with that enlarged policy which characterized all his

measures for the welfare of his church, procured this site

for a cemetery, where the faithful members of his flock

might repose after death in grounds consecrated according

to the forms of their own ikith.

THE LONGFELLOW HOUSE.

Next west of the Preble House, somewhat back from the

street, beneath a shade of drooping elms, is an old mansion,

which was the first brick house erected in Portland, in

1785. It was built by Gen. Peleg Wadsworth, who in his

day was a distinguished military man, having been second

in command in the expedition to the Penobscot, in 1779,

and the first representative in Congress fVom this district.

His son-in-law, Stephen Longfellow, who afterwards occu-

pied the house, added a third story to it, and the line of

addition Ls still plainly to be seen in the weather-beaten

bricks. It b a plain, old-fashioned mansion. The impres-

sion generally prevails that the poet Longfellow was born in

this house, but it is a mistake.

COLLECTION OF CUSTOMS.

Falmouth was the only collection district in Maine pre-

vious to the Revolution. In 1701 naval offices were es-

tablished by law in every seaport in the province, " for the

entering and clearing of all ships and other vessels trading

to and from it," and a fee-table was prepared for their regu-

lation. The colony laws relating to imports were numer-

ous. At first small duties were laid upon wines and spirits,

which were afterwards extended to " all goods, wares, mer-

chandises, and provisions of all sorts, excepting fish, sheep's

wool, cotton wool, salt," and a few other articles of common

necessity. By a statute passed in 1670, by Massachusetta,

the duty was ad valorem Id. for every 20s. value, but the

tariff was then, as now, the subject of continual alteration.

When the naval office was opened in this port we have

been unable to ascertain. Moses Pearson is said to have

been the first naval officer, which was probably about 1730.

He was succeeded by Enoch Freeman in 1749, who was

appointed deputy collector in 1750. But the business of

the town increasing, it was thought proper to establish a

collection district here in 1758, and Francis Waldo was

appointed the first collector. Ho was representative of

the town in 1762 and 1763. At the commencement of

the Revolution he went to England and never returned.

His estates here were confiscated under the absentee act in

1782 and sold. He died in London. AUon McLean was

Waldo's deputy until 1760. McLean was killed in the

house of Capt. Ross, in Middle Street, in March, 1760, by

the falling of the garret-floor loaded with com. This fell

upon McLean in the chamber, carried that floor down, and

killed John Fleet in the kitchen. They were both from

Scotland, each twenty-six years old, and buried in one

grave.

In 1770, George Lyde was appointed collector of the

port by the board of commissioners, who appointed Thomas

Oxuard, of Falmouth, his deputy. At the commencement

of the Revolution the officers of the customs here were

25

Mr. Lyde, Mr. Oxnard, Mr. Child, weigher and gaugcr,

David Wyer, Sr., tide surveyor, and Arthur Savage, comp-

troller. On the breaking out of the war all the persons

connected with the custom-house, except Mr. Child, joined

the royal party and left the country. Mr. Child was then

appointed to the principal charge of the post by Massachu-

setts, under the title flf naval officer, and held it until his

death in 1787.

Before the Revolution the custom-house was kept in a

dwelling-house, on the corner of King and Middle Streets,

and was burnt in the conflagration of the town. The next

custom-house was a pine shed, and the third a wooden

building, but little better, which was also used as a store-

house ; the next building, described by Mr. Neal as a " Doric

temple," was a tall structure of Sand Bay granite, and was

superseded by another granite building, of much larger di-

mensions, erected by the United States, on the site of the

present custom-house. It was an imposing structure, with

a row of columns in front. It was destroyed by fire in the

great conflagration of 1866, and the new structure was

afterwards erected.

The present custom-house is one of the finest buildings

in the city. The material is a very light-colored granite,

from Concord, N. H., resembling the finest marble. It

cost about S500,000, is thoroughly and elegantly finished

within and without, and is believed to be fire-proof. We
subjoin the following names and terms of office of the col-

lectors of customs at the port of Portland, from 1787 to

1879: Nathaniel F. Fbsdick, 1787-1802; Isaac Ilsley,

1802-129 ; John Chandler, 1829-41
; Nathan Cuminings,

1841-43; John Anderson, 1843-45; Robert P. Dunlup,

1845-49 ; Luther Jewett,* 1849-53 ; Ezra Carter, 1853-

57; Moses McDonald, 1857-61 ; Jedediah Jowctt, 1861-

* The pcdigreo of Joseph Jewett. who came from Bradford, W. R.,

Yorkshire, England, to Rowley, Mass., 163S, from Henri de Juntt, a

knight of the First Crusades, is in possession of Rcr. Caleb Hutcbin-

suD, of Indiana, who is compiling a history of the family.

Descended from this Joseph Jewett, of Rowley, through Ni-hcmiah

Jewett, Speaker of the House of Maijsachusetts, were Joseph and

James Jewett, who came to Portland from Rowley during the latter

half of the last century.

Joseph Jewett lilted on Middle and Silrer Streets, nnd the amount
of silver stored in his cellar during the French war gave a name to

the street.

The brothers were graduates of Harvard College, and their children

wore Rev. Caleb Luther, collector of this port; Jedediah, mayor of

Portland ; Joseph Scott, major-general of the 5th Division. M. V. M.,

and colonel in United States army, 18:19,* George, colonel in militiii.

Some of these were connected by blood ahd marriage with El^ah
Kellogg's family, Governor Dunlap's family. Professor Young's family,

and Gen. Jameson's family.

Gen. Jewett's children are (1) Col. James C, the only American
merchant who was allowed by Congress to arm his vessels. He was
Governor of the Lobos Islands, which b« discovered and protected by
the gana of hia vessels, and which the Peruvian government bought

of him by paying to his order $1,000,000 into the United Stiites

Treaaory
; (2) William S.; (3) Robert P.; (4) Mary Jane; (5) Har-

riette de Mar, who married Capt. Frederick Forsyth, last commander
of the historic " Rifle Corpa."

The other Jewetta of this branch are Sarah 0., " Colorado" Jewett,

first Governor of Colorado, Mrs. Dell P. Harrison, of New York, and
Seward Jewett.

A few years ago a family by the name of Mahony, in thia city,

changed ita name to Jewett. Of course none of these belonged to the

Jewotts of Rowley.

—

Gehealooist.
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63; Israel Washburn, Jr., 1863-77; Lot M. Morrill,

1877.

POST-OFPICE.

The post-office buildini; is of Vermont marble, and cost

$500,000. The ground floor is occupied by the spacious

and well-arranged apartments of the city post-office, and

the whole second story by the United States court-rooms

and offices. The building is elegantly fitted and furnished

throughout, and is one of the finest in the city. The first

post-office building owned by the United States in Portland

was known as the Exchange, and occupied the site of the

present building. It was erected by the city at a cost—in-

' eluding the land—of $100,000, and was sold to the United

States in 1849 for $149,000, $2000 of which were to be

expended in repairs. It was in its day the most notable

structure in Portland, being composed of beautiful syenite

from the Kennebunk quarries. The length of the building

on Exchange Street was 136 feet, and its principal front, on

Middle Street, 75 feet, the. height being three stories. It

was sui-mounted by a dome 75 feet high from the sidewalk,

and 63 feet in diameter, and the front elevation supported

by a row of eight beautiful columns. The Exchange was

destroyed by fire, and with it the natural history collection.

It was rebuilt by the United States, and stood till the great

fire of 1866. The present building occupies the same site,

and was erected by the-Uuited States government after the

fire.

The following are the names of the postmasters of Port-

land since Samuel Freeman, who was appointed by Benja-

min Franklin, Postmaster-General, by a commission-^still

preserved in this office—bearing date Oct. 1 , 1775. Deacon

Freeman was removed by Jefferson, in 1803, for political

reasons; Samuel Freeman, Oct. 5, 1775-1804; Thomas

M. Prentiss, 1804-5 ; Joshua Wingate, Feb. 20, 1805, to

Aug. 8, 1805 ; James Wingate, Aug. 9, 1805-15 ; Robert

Hsley,* 1815-28; Math. Harris ;t Nathaniel Law, 1828-

29; Nathaniel Mitchell, 1829-34; Thomas Todd, 1834-

39 ; Nathaniel Mitchell, 1839-41 ; Sylvanns R. Lyman,

1841^5 ; Nathan L. Woodbury, 1845-^9 ; Joshua Dunn,

1849-53; Nathan L.Woodbury, 1853-57; Samuel Jor-

dan, 1857-61; Andrew T. Dole, 1861-65; Woodbury

Davis,* 1865-71 ; Charles W. Goddard, 1871.

FIRE DEPARTMENT.
Nahum Littlefield, Chief Engineer.

Granville H. Cloyes, First Assistant Engineer.

John H. Russell, Second Assistant Engineer.

Charles D. Skillings, Third Assistant Engineer.

Amory H. Rogers, Fourth Assistant Engineer.

APPARATUS.

The fire-apparatus consists of five steam fire-engines in

commission and one held in reserve ; five (horse) hose-car-

riagea, which are run in connection with the steamers

;

two hose-carriages held in reserve; two hook-and-ladder

trucks ; one hand-engine and hose-earriage ; one hose-car-

riage held in reserve at the almshoasc, and one fire-

department wagon for general use.

The following are the engines in use

:

* Died in office. t Appointed in 1823, bat declined.

Machiffonne Steamer, No. 1.—Located No. 557 Con-

gress Street. This engine was built by the Amaskea"'

Manufacturing Company, Manchester, N. H. Put in ser-

vice July 1, 1871. It is a double reciprocating vertical

engine, 7i-inch cylinders, 8-inch stroke; pumps 44 inches

in diameter, 8-inch stroke ; will throw 600 gallons of water

per minute ; it has 4J square feet grate surface, 219 square

feet of heating surface. Weight, 7400 pounds. Jeremiah

Ilsley, Foreman ; Edward W. Porter, Engineer.

Portland Steamer, No. 2.—Located No. 134 Congress

Street. Built by Amoskeag Manufacturing Company,

Manchester, N. H., in 1861 ; rebuilt in 1871. Diameter

of steam cylinder 8i inches, 12-inch stroke; plunger pump

4| inches diameter, 12-inch stroke. Weight of engine,

5600 pounds. The engine held in reserve, likewise called

Portland, No. 2, is kept at No. 2 engine-house, and is used

in summer, while the first No. 2 is used in winter. Edward

H. Sargent, Foreman; John Cousins, Engineer.

Cumberland Steamer, No. 3.—Located No. 176 Brackett

Street. Built by the Portland Company iu 1870. Steam

cylinder 9| inches in diameter, 10-inch stroke ; diameter

of pump 4| inches; will throw 400 gallons per minute.

Weight of engine, 6800 pounds. Richard H. Bail, Fore-

man ; Alfred Wiggin, Engineer.

Falmouth Steamer, No. 4.—Located No. 157 Spring

Street. Built by the Amoskeag Manufacturing Company,

Manchester, N. H. Put in service Dec. 20, 1873. It is a

double reciprocating vertical engine ; diameter of cylinder,

7i inches, stroke 8 inches; pumps 4i inches diameter,

8-inch stroke ; will throw 600 gallons (if water per minute.

Weight of engine, 7600 pounds. A. F. Gi-iffin, Foreman
;

T. H. Williams, engineer.

Casco Steamer, No. 5.—Located No. 380 Congress

Street. Built by Portland Company in 1866, rebuilt 1871.

Steam cylinder 9| inches in diameter, 10-inch stroke;

sleeve pump, 4i inches in diameter, 10-inch stroke ; will

throw 400 gallons per minute. Weight of engine, 6800

pounds. Robert H. Murphy, Foreman
; Charles P. French,

Engineer.

Dingo Hand Engine, No. 8.—Located at the westerly

end of Congress Street, on Burnham Street, near Libby
corner. The engine was built by Leonard Crockett in 1852.

Diameter of cylinder, 6} inches, 16-inch stroke. The com-

pany receive no pay for their services, doing duty in the

city only when specially called for. Henry Batchelder,

Foreman.

Was/iington Hooh-and-Ladder, No. 1.—Located on In-

dia, near Congress Street. Truck built by Hunneman &
Co., Boston, and put in service in August, 1874. The
company attached consists of 20 members. Benj. L. Saw-
yer, Foreman ; W. R. Gribben, Clerk.

Eagle Hook-and-Ladder, No. 2.—Located on Market,

near Congress Street. The company attached comprises

10 members. Truck built by Remington & Co., Provi-

dence, R. I., in 1866, remodeled and improved in 1869.

John H. Long, Foreman
; Frederic E. Jacobs, Clerk.

FIRE-ALABM TELEGaAPH.

Connected with this are 41 alarm-boxes, 28 miles of wire,

4 bell-strikers, 6 large gongs, 16 city call-bells, 8 private
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David MotJiiTON is sixth in descent from John

Monhon, the emigrant ancestor, who was bom at

Ormsbj, Norfolk Co., England, about 1599. Left

England, with his wife Annie and five children, in

the spring of 1637 ; settled at Winnacnnnett, N. H.,

in 1638, admitted a freeman May 22, 1639, was

chosen the first deputy to the General Court the next

September, and died about 1650.

His grandfather, David Moulton, was a soldier

of the Revolutionary war, and was in the battle of

Butt's Hill, R. I., fought Aug. 29, 1778, under the

command of Gren. Sullivan. He married Dorothy,

a descendant of Joseph Moulton, who was also one of

the first settlers of Winnacnnnett (Hampton), N. H.
Removed from Hampton to Porter, N. H., in 1794,

and at the first town-meeting held after the incor-

poration of Porter, in 1807, he was chosen chair-

man of the selectmen, and continued a member of

the board until 1822, with the exception of two years.

Joseph Moulton, second son, and father of the sub-

ject of this sketch, was bom July 23, 1797. Married

Abigail Goodwin, daughter of Zachariah Beal, of

Portsmouth, N. H., Feb. 10, 1823. She was bora

at New Market, Jan. 25, 1798. He was a shoe-

maker and tanner at Portsmouth, N. H., and at

Porter, Me., until 1835, when he removed to Fox-
croft, Me., where he carried on farming until 1855,

when he removed to Westbrook (now Deering),

where he continues to reside in 1879. He held the

office of adjutant of 2d Raiment, 2d BrFgade, 6th

Division, ten years ; of deputy sheriff for Oxford

County, eight years; for Piscataquis County, eight

years; of coroner, for fourteen years; of United
States deputy marshal (appointed in 1840); and
of selectman, assessor, and overseer of the poor of
Westbrook for the years 1856-57. In politics he
was a Democrat until the formation of the Repub-
lican party.

Of their children, David is the eldest son ; born
at Porter, Nov. 21, 1825. He was educated at the

town schools of Porter and Foxcroft Academy. At-

tlie age of fourteen he became a clerk in Bangor,
Me. Subsequently he was a student at Foxcroft
Academy, followed by two terms as a teacher. In
the spring of 1844 he came to Portland, and for

several years was a clerk in a hat and cap store. He
afterwards set up business for himself, and engaged
in the hat and cap tnule, and for a time in the sale of
com and flour.

May 15, 1863, he was appointed deputy collector

of customs for the district of Portland and Falmouth.
This office he continues to hold, having officiated

under Jedediah Jewett, Governor Washburn, and
Lot M. Morrill, collectors. He also acts as cashier

at the custom house, and is responsible for a faith-

ful and accurate disposition of all moneys received.

Gen. Taylor, for whom he cast his first vote, Lin-
coln, and Grant, were his choice for presidents. He
married, Nov. 26, 1852, Elizabeth J., daughter
of Ebenezer Wentworth, of Biddeford, Me. His
wife was born April 4, 1829, and died Feb. 10,
1869, leaving five children,—^Abbie Cora (deceased),

Henry C, Sarah Agnes, Geoi^ Albert, and Mary
Lizzie.
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His grandfather Jonas, born in Hollis, N. H.,

married Sarah Pool, a native of the same place, in

1792. Removed to Portland about 1800, and reared

a family of seven sons and four daughters. Jonas B.

Smith, father of Lews B., was fourth son; was born

in Portland in the year 1801 ; married Lucy Bartlett,

daughter of Bartlett Holmes, a native of Plymouth,

Mass., in 1820. She was bom in 1802. He went

to Bath, Me., in 1811, and there was engaged in chair-

making and painting. He died in 1835. Of his

six children, Lewis B. was second son, born in

Bath, Dec. 24, 1825, and there received his eariy

education.

In 1841 he came to Portland, and learned cabinet-

making. He also learned wood engraving, stereo-

typing and electrotyping, which he successfully car-

ried on for some time, and for a few years he was

engaged in the manufacture of candles and soap.

Very soon after taking up his residence in Port-

land he began to take an interest in local politics

and the affairs of the city.

From 1845 to 1860 he was a member of the fire

department, and was its chief engineer in 1859-60.

In 1858 he was appointed justice of the peace and

dedimus justice, offices which he now holds. Dur-

ing the same year he was elected clerk of Free Street

Baptist parish, and still retains that position by

successive elections. For some twelve years he was

a member of the superintending school committee

of the city, and in 1873 its chairman.

Mr. Smith was originally a Whig, but upon the

organization of the Republican party, in 1856, he

became an advocate of its principles. He was a

member of the City Council in 1857-59, and during

the last two years president of the council.

In 1861 he was appointed United States weigher

and ganger at Portland, and in 1863 he received

tlie apixjintment of deputy collector of customs, and

by reappointment retains the office in 1879, for three

terms being a deputy under Gfovernor Washburn,

and one term under Hon. Lot M. Morrill. He was

appointed a member of Governor Corry's staff in

1864, and ranked as lieutenant-colonel, serving for

three years. In 1857 he was appointed railroad

commissioner, on behalf of the State of Maine, for

the Boston and Maine Railway.

He married, Oct. 28, 1847, Julia Ann, daughter

of Greorge B. Eaton, of Portland. She was born in

May, 1824.

Their children are Helena Virginia (deceased),

Clara Virginia, wife of George M. Bosworth, Chas.

D., Frank L. (deceased), Lewis E., and Fred. B.
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call-bclls, 4 repeaters, 5 galvanometers, 4 testing-keys, and

330 jars of battery.

CHAKLEs McLaughlin & co.

The firm of Charles JMcLaughlin & Co. was established

in 1857, and was then composed of Charles Davis and
Charles McLaughlin. George E. Davis, Charles Walker,

Daniel W. Ames, and Albert Drummond afterwards became
members. Charles Davis retired from the firm in 1871,
and Daniel W. Ames in 1374.

This firm began business on Commercial Street, No. 163,
near the head of Union Wharf, removed to No. 84 (Thomas
Block) in 1860, where they remained until December, 1879,
when they removed to the large and spacious store on Cen-
tral Street (head of Central Wharf). This store, represented

by the cut, is one of the largest and best-arranged wholesale

grocery-stores in New England. This firm ranks with the

heaviest wholesale grocers of Portland.

THE PORTLAND WATER COMPANY.

Under a charter from the Legislature a company was

organized April, 1867, for the purpose of supplying the

city with water from Lake Sebago, a distance of seventeen

miles. The water from the lake is received into an oval

brick conduit, three feet high and two fbet broad, and a

little more than a mile in length, constructed through a

ledge of hard rock ; six hundred feet of this conduit being

a tunnel six feet by four in size. From the end of the con-

duit the water is received into a wrougbt-iroo pipe, coated

inside and out with a lining of cement, and twenty inches

in diameter, by which it is couveyed through the town of

Standish, and thence following the highway through 6or-

ham and the villages of Saccarappa and Stroudwater to the

reservoir. This reservoir is bounded by Vaughan, Brackett,

Bramhall, and Chadwick Streets, covering au area of 100,000

square feet, and has a capacity of 12,000,000 gallons. Over

thirty-three miles of dbtribution-pipe and about twenty-

eight miles of service-pipe have been laid through the city.

In 1876 an additional main was laid, 26 inches in diame-

ter, extending from the lower gate-house to Ward's Hill in

West Gorham, a distance of four miles, the object being to

insure a fuller supply of water. In 1878 this pipe was

extended three miles to a point beyond Little River, in

Gorham, and will be extended to the city the present year,

thus giving two independent main pipes from Lake Sebago

to Portland.

Lake Sebago would suffice to supply the largest city in

the world, being of great depth, and with its tributary lake-

lets, more than 150 square miles in superficial extent ; and

scientific tests have demonstrated that there is less impurity

in its waters than in any other lake that has been analyzed

in the world. It is two hundred and sixty-seven feet above

tide-waters at Portland, so its watera, can be carried into

the highest buildings in the city.

D. W. Clark, President ; J. P. Oilman, Vice-President

;

Geo. P. Wescott, Treasurer ; E. R. Payson, Secretary.

PORTLAND GAS-LIGHT COMPANY.
Incorporated in 1849, and organized Jan 1, 1850. The

works of the company are situated on West Commercial,

near foot of Clark Street. Their gas mains have been ex-

tended through the principal streets of the city to the

distance of twenty-five miles. Capital stock, $350,000, of

which the city owns 885,000.

E. H. Davcis, President ; J. T. MeCobb, Treasurer ; C.

S. D. Griffin, Secretary ; Wm. Yorke, Engineer.

PORTLAND DRY-DOCK COMPANY.
Incorporated in February, 1868. The company has two

docks, built on the plan of the Simpson Patent. The
largest is 425 feet long, 100 feet wide, with a depth of

water on the gate-aill of 20 feet at ordinary high tide, which

is the largest draught of water pertaining to any dock in

the United States. This dock could probably take in any

vessel now afloat excepting the " Great Eastern.''

The smaller one is 175 feet long, 80 feet wide, and has

a depth of 12 feet on its gate-sill at ordinary high tide.

The dock premises under the control of the company,

adjoining the Cape Elizabeth Bridge, on the Cape Elizabeth

side, comprise an area of 25 acres, facing the harbor.

Ardon W. Coombs, Secretary ; Jacob SIcLellan, Jacob

S. Winslow, L. D. M. Sweat, Philip H. Brown, Horatio

N. Jose, Managers.

PORTLAND SAFE-DEPOSIT VAULT.
This vault, erected in the year 1872, at No. 87 Exchange

Street, by the Portland Safe-Deposit Company, supplies

what has long been deemed by our banking men a necessity.

The frequent robberies of banks, offices, and dwellings have

led to the establishment of these institutions in nearly all

our larger cities. The policy of this company is that of

offering to their depositors and renters the protection of an

absolutely fire and burglar proof vault, with complete ar-

rangements for its protection, as an absolutely safe place

for the deposit of valuables, at a slight expense in com-

parison with the security oflfered.

The vault is of the latest and most improved construction,

and the' security it affords is not exceeded in this or any
other city.

Connected with the vault is an elegantly-furnished room,

open at all business hours to the renters, in which they can

transact their business in perfect safety and assured privacy.
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THE PRESUMPSCOT IRON COMPANY.

The works of this company are located at the mouth of

Presumpacot River, about two miles from the city, contig-

uous to the Grand Trunk Railway, and have wharf and

water facilities for the accommodation of the largest vessels.

The buildings are large and roomy, and furnished with

machinery of the most approved plans, for all kinds of

heavy as well as smaller forgings.

Francis McDonald, President ; George E. B. Jackson,

Treasurer and Clerk ; Francis McDonald, George E. B.

Jackson, James D. Fessenden, Joseph S. Ricker, and Henry

M. Payson, Directors. Office, 194 Fore Street.

GREENLEAP LAW LIBBABT.

Incorporated February, 1 867. The law library, belonging

to the Cumberland bar, came to an end in the great fire.

Soon after, Mrs. Grecnleaf, of Cambridge, Mass., hearing

of the loss, tendered the law library of her late husband,

which had descended from his father, Simon Greenleaf,

formerly of this city, as a gift to the bar, which was grate-

fully received. It consisted of 1260 volumes. This has

been increased by purchase, so that the library now com-

prises 2700 volumes.

Officers for 1879: Bion Bradbury, President; S. C.

Strout, Vice-President ; George F. Holmes, James T. Mc-

Cobb, Nathan Cleaves, Trustees ; Byron D. Verrill, Secre-

tary and Treasurer ; Clarence Hale, Jos. A. Locke, Edward

P. Payson, Committee on Festivities.

PORTLAND INSTITUTE AND PUBLIC LIBRARY.

An association under this name was incorporated Jan. 22,

1867, its object being to establbh and maintain " a library,

and an institute of natural history, science, and art, in the

city of Portland." Through the munificence of the city

authorities, spacious rooms have been provided for the

library, etc., in the city building, and the number of

bound volumes already collected is nearly 26,000, whilst a

goodly display of the busts of celebrated men, and other

works of art, adorn the rooms. The library is on the north-

westerly side of the city building, on the main fioor. Citi-

zens, by paying $2 per annum, have the privilege of taking

out two books at any time ; and the use of the books on

the premises is free to all comers. The teachera of the

public schools and members of the city government have use

of the library free of charge.

The price of life membership is $50 ; of annual member-

ship, $5.

The rooms are open on secular days from ten A.M. to

nine p.H.

William L. Putnam, President ; Israel Washburn, Jr.,

Vice-President ; Edward A. Noyes, Treasurer ; Merritt B.

Coolidge, Clerk ; Stephen M. Watson, Librarian.

PORTLAND SOCIETY OF NATURAL HISTORY.

Organized December, 1843 ; incorporated June 7, 1850.

This society has been r^arded with marked favor by the

community generally, and under its auspices one of the

most valuable cabinets in the country was collected, which

was totally destroyed in the conflagration of the Exchange

building, where it was deposited, in January, 1854.

It persevered, and collected an extensive new museum of

specimens, and, through the liberality of the State and

citizens, purchased land and constructed a fine edifice on

Congress Street for their deposit and for lecture-rooms.

This, too, was swept away by fire in the great conflagration

of 1866. The city took part of the land for widening Con-

gress Street, and the remainder was sold. The society now

occupy rooms in the City Hall buildibg, where they have

already collected a valuable, though not large cabinet. In

1876 it purchased the spacious Day property on Elm

Street, and at present is making earnest efforts towards

erecting a substantial and commodious building thereon,

with proper laboratories and lecture-rooms, and galleries

for the accommodation of its collections. A finer location

for such a building could not be found in the city.

Contributions of natural and artificial curiosities are so-

licited from sea-captains and others, who are in the way of

obtaining them.

Officera: Dr. William Wood, President; Sylvester B.

Beckett, Vice-President; John M. Gould, Corresponding

and Recording Secretary ; Edward Gould, Treasurer.

These, with seven associate managers, constitute the board

of government. The associate managers are Samuel E.

Spring, T. C. Hersey, Lewis Pierce, W. S. Dana, Dr.

Thomas Hill, William Senter, and Alexander W. Long-

fellow. Charles B. Fuller, Cabinet-Keeper.

MUSICAL SOCIETIES.

HAYDN ASSOCIATION.

Objects, individual improveibent, and raising the standard

of public taste in sacred music. The association meets at

Union Hall every Monday evening. The number of mem-

bers at the time of the annual meeting was 100. The as-

sociation has a valuable collection of oratorio and other

music.

Officers for 1879: John B. Coyle, Jr., President; G.

B. Buzelle, Vice-President; George C. Burgess, Secretary

;

Edward Noyes, Treasurer ; William P. Jordan, Librarian
;

Hermann Kotzschmar, Conductor ; Miss Fanny E. Jordan,

Pianist.

THE BOSSINI CLCB,

composed entirely of ladies, 35 in number, comprises

most of the superior and highly-cultivated singers and

pianists in the city. Tnis association holds r^ular meet-

ings at Rossini Hall (formeriy Odd-Fellows' Hall), No. 88

Exchange Street, every Thursday, at eleven o'clock, A.U.

Officers chosen in November, 1878 : Mrs. Harriet

Wetherbee, President ; Miss Lizzie Dyer, Vice-President

;

Miss Lucy Blanchard, Secretary ; Mrs. E. M. Rand,

Treasurer ; Mrs. J. P. Thompson, Librarian.

CHARITABLE ASSOCIATIONS.

PORTLAND PROVIDENT ASSOCIATION.

Established in 1853. Objects, the prevention of want

and the moral elevation of the poor. From the annual

report, October, 1878, we glean the following facts:

Total receipta daring the yen $1760.93

Eipenditaru 1172.17

Balance $588.76
Balance on band at close of prerioua year 413.00

ATnUable fundi $1031.78
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WESTON F. MILLIKEN

is a descendant in the seventh generation from Hugh
Milliken, who was born in Scotland, and came to tliis

country, settling at Boston, about 1650. Andrew and

Arthur Alger, brothers, settled in the town of Scar-

borough in 1651. They were killed by the Indians

in 1675.

John, son of Hugh Milliken, married Elizabeth,

granddaughter of Andrew Alger, in 1690; settled in

Scarborough in 1719. He purchased the interest of

the other heirs in the Alger estate, and held the prop-

erty under an Indian title in court in 1730. The

children of John Millikin were John, Edward, Sam-

uel, and Nathaniel.

Benjamin, grandfather of Weston F. Milliken,

born in 1764, removed from Scarborough, settling

first in North Yarmouth, and afterwards in Buck-

field, Me. His father, Josiah, married Elizabeth

Freeman, resided in Buckfield, and reared a family

of children, viz. : Mary F., Weston F., William

Henry, Charles R., Seth M., George, and Addie.

Weston F., son of Josiah Milliken, bom in the

town of Minot, Androscoggin Co., Sept. 28, 1829,

spent his minority at home, received his education in

the common school and at Lewiston Academy, and

for four terms was a teacher.

At the age of twenty-one he became a clerk in

Boston, and after two years began business for him-

self as a general merchant in Minot, where he

remained for four years. In 1856 he came to

Portland, where he has since carried on business

on Commercial Street as a wholesale grocer. He
had associated with him for three years, 1856-59,

Mr. Shaw (Milliken & Shaw), since which time

his brother, Charles R. (W. F. & C. R. Milliken),

has been in business with him. George Milliken

and Allen B. Moulton were admitted members

of the firm in 1863, but the firm-name remained

unchanged.

Mr. Milliken is interested in various local en-

terprises. He was a director of the Cumberland

National Bank for many years after its organization,

and its president for some time prior to 1874. He
has been a trustee of the Portland Savings Bank for

upwards of fifteen years, and was elected one of the

Building Loan Commissioners after the fire of 1866,

which place he retains in 1879. He was one of the

first solicitors of stock for the Portland, Bangor and

Machias Steamboat Company, has been a director

since the oi^anization, and for several years past its

president. He is a stockholder in the Maine Steam-

ship Company, and was one of the incorporators of

the " Lloyds Maine Insurance Company." Mr. Mil-

liken was elected on the Republican ticket a menilier

of the State Legislature for 1872-74, and for the

last two years was chairman of the committee on

banking, and a member of the finance committee.

He married, June 20, 1854, Martha F., daughter of

Jabez Haskell, of New Gloucester. His wife die<l

Aug. 15, 1870, leaving an only daughter, Anna W.
Milliken.
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This sum is exclusive of the invested fund of 86000.

According to the agent's report, the amount spent for

provisions in 1878 was S635 ; fuel, $230.33 ; hoots and

shoes, 864.50 ; 1 240 pieces of wearing apparel were dis-

tributed. The following are the officers for 1879 : James

P. Baxter, President; Ezra Carter, James Bailey, Eben

Corey, Vice-Presidents ; William Hammond, Treasurer

;

C. C. Hayes, Secretary ; T. C. Hersey, J. R. Thompson,

Samuel Bolfe, Oliver Gerrish, John Yeaton, W. W. Brown,

Edward P. Chase, Henry Fox, Sylvester B. Beckett, James

T. McCdbb, Edward Gould, George W. Parker, Isaac F.

Sturdivant, Richard Cole, Alfred Woodman, William A.

Quincy, Alden J. Blethen, William Hammond, Lewis

Pierce, W. S. Dana, Francis K. Swan, Alfred Haskell,

G«orge W. Baker, J. J. Gerrish, Advisers. Joseph B.

Thompson, General Agent. Office, City Government build-

ing, Myrtle Street, first door from Congress.

This society is supported by donations and the annual

contributions of its members; the amount annually ex-

pended averages about $2000.

FEMALE PROVIDENT ASSOCIATION.

The chief object of this association is to provide the

destitute poor with clothing and shoes. In 1878 this asso-

ciation distributed 12 yards dress goods, 365 1 yards print,

299;J^ yards cotton, 116i yards flannel, 44i- yards cotton

flannel, 19 pairs boots, 4 pairs rubbers, 3 pairs shoes, 2 pairs

of hose, 3 sheets. Permanent fund, $1000.

The following are the officers for 1879: Mrs. E. A.

Waterhouse, President; Mrs. M. J. Hutchinson, Vice-

President; Mrs. C. W. Coe, Secretary; Miss H. Radford,

Treasurer; Miss 0. Beckett, Depository; Mrs. M. P.

Emery, Mrs. I. P. Farrington, Mrs. M. J. Hutchinson,

Mrs. C. H. Hall, Miss C. M. Patten, and Miss H. Pearson,

Advisers.

PORTLAND FRATEENITT

is composed mainly of people of liberal religious views. Its

aim is to provide moral and intellectual amusements and in-

struction to all seekers. It has a library, a reading-room,

well supplied with the current periodicals and newspapers,

a room where a free evening school is sustained, and an

amusement room, well provided with interesting games for

the recreation of all visitors. Headquarters at 4 Free

Street Block.

Officers for the year 1879 : T. C. Hersey, President ; S.

J. Anderson, Vice-President; H. C. Baxter, Treasurer;

W. W. Thomas, J. P. Baxter, M. M. Butler, F. H. Ger-

rish, W. I. Thom, Mrs. C. S. Fobea, Mrs. B. Bradbury,

Mrs. J. E. Femald, Miss M. T. Hersey, Directors.

PORTLAND TTPOaEAPHICAL UNION,

whose object is sufficiently set forth in its name, has the

following officers for 1879: Fred. 0. Turner, President;

Geo. D. Loring and M. W. Higgins, Vice-Presidents; Wm.

A. Chase, Recording Secretary ; Stephen D. Brown, Finan-

cial Secretary ; Chas. W. Bean, Corresponding Secretary

;

Isaac Cobb, Treasurer; Edward F. Dougher, Sergeant-at-

Arms ; A. M. Kimball, Geo. H. Owen, and Daniel Hamblen,

Executive Committee.

MAINE CHARITABLE MECHANIC ASSOCIATIO.V.

Incorporated June 14, 1815. Headquarters at Mechan-

ics' Hall, corner of Congress and Casco Streets. The design

of this association is to encourage and promote the mechanic

arts, to relieve members and the widows and orphans of

deceased members when in need. It possesses a valuable

library of more than 4000 volumes. Through its kindly

offices it has done much to enhance the respectability and

intelligence of the mechanics of this city.

The association, in 1856, purchased an eligible lot of

land on the corner of Congress and Casco Streets, and

erected thereon, for its accommodation, a large building with

a front of cut granite, whose architectural proportions and

permanence make it one of the most noticeable edifices in

the city. Value, about 890,000.

George A. Harmou, President; Ambrose Giddings,

Vice-President; R. B. Swift, Recording Secretary; Ste-

phen Marsh, Corresponding Secretary; Dan Carpenter,

Treasurer; Messrs. Spencer Rogers, Nathaniel Walker,

Daniel Glazier, Daniel Hamblen, Charles W. Lucy, and

Frank I. Brett, together with the president, vice president,

and treasurer, consitute the board of government.

This association is entirely free from debt.

MAINE MARINE ENGINEERS' ASSOCIATION.

Object, mutual protection and relief.

The officers for the year 1879 are George H. Coyle,

President; George C Johnson, Vice-President; George

Cashing, Trea.surer; T. B. -Merrill, Secretary; H. W.

Lindsey, Conductor; W. K. Rhodes, Doorkeeper; George

Cashing, J. H. Merritt, E. B. Clapper, Trustees.

The institution numbers about 50 members, and is iu a

flourishing condition.

RELIEF ASSOCIATION OF THE PORTLAND FIRE DEPART-

MENT.

Organized March 7, 1848. The object of the association

is the relief of members who receive injuries in their limbs

or health while in the discharge of their duty as members

of the Portland fire department.

The association is governed by a board of trustees, elected

from the several companies, which board elects its own

officers. The following coustituted the board March 1,

1879 : Henry Fox,* President ; Nahum Littlefield, Vice-

President; J. H. Russell, Secretary; J. C. Tewksbury,*

Treasurer. These, with the following members, constitute

the board of trustees, viz. : J. Ilsley, E. H. Sargent, R. H.

Ball, A. F. Griffin, R. H. Murphy, B. L. Sawyer, R. S.

Rand, Charles D. Skillins, A. J. Cummings, William Hen-

nessey, G. H. Cloyes, Spencer Rogers,* D. W. Nash,*

Samuel Thurston.*

PORTLAND BENEVOLENT SOCIETY.

Incorporated in 1803. Annual meeting, second Wed-
nesday in October. Established principally to relieve

persons who have seen better days, and the unfortunate

stranger.

At the annual meeting the following officers were chosen

* Life membera.
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for the year 1879, viz.: William W. Thomas, President;

John B. Brown, Vice-President ; Thomas R. Hayes, Sec-

retary; Edward Gould, Treasurer; John T. Oilman, M.D.,

Samuel E. Spring, Rev. William H. Fenn, Rev. Thomas

Hill, D.D., Mark P. Emery, Francis K. Swan, James P.

Baxter, Managers.

ST. Andrew's society.

Object, the assistance of Scotchmen and their descend-

ants who may be in need. Funds raised by an initiation

fee, and assessment of $2 the first year, and $1 per year

thereafter.

Officers for the year 1879: John Main, President; Geo.

S. Hays, Vice-President ; William Taylor, Treasurer ; Thos.

Burgess, Secretary ; Alfred Robertson, Assistant ; Dr. Wm.
Walters, Physician ; Rev. James McWhinnie, Chaplain

;

Kenneth McDonald, Andrew Taylor, Robert M. Goold,

Charitable Committee.

PORTLAND MARINE SOCIETY.

Incorporated in 1796. This society was established for

the relief and education of seamen and their families.

Funds, market value, rising $26,000. Annual meeting,

third Tuesday of December. The society is in a flourish-

ing condition, and gives relief to widows of ship-masters

resident in this vicinity, amounting to about 81000 per

annum.

Jacob McLellan, President; Richard Crockett, Vice-

President ; Albert Marwick, Secretary and Treasurer.

HOME FOR AQED WOMEN.

Established in 1855. This beautiful " Home" is calcu-

lated to accommodate twenty-five or thirty persons. It is

situated on a spacious lot on the southwesterly side of

Emery, near Danforth Street, being part of the old Gov-

ernor Parris domain. Here among the shade-trees the

beneficiaries may pass their declining years in peace, sur-

rounded with every comfort that heart can reasonably de-

sire. The large-heartedness that established this institution,

and from year to year takes upon itself the responsibility of

providing for its support, cannot be too highly commended.

A heavy debt still draws largely upon the resources of

the association, and we suggest that an institution such

as this ought not to be thus burdened, and that well-to-do

persons, making their wills, should bear it in mind, if no

immediate steps are taken for its relief.

The officers for 1879 are Mrs. J. T. Gilman, President;

Mrs. S. E. Spring, Mis. Neal Dow, Vice-Presidents; Miss

Lucinda Bancroft, Secretary ; MLss Julia Greeley, Treasurer.

widows' WOOD SOCIETY.

Established in 1830. The object of this society is to

furnish fuel, during the winter season, to destitute widows.

It is liberally supported by annual contributions from the

several religious societies in the city. The whole amount

of these contributions for the last thirty-four years has

been about $69,000.

At the annual meeting, second Wednesday in November,

1878, the following officers were chosen : Thomas Cobb,

President ; James H. Eaton, Vice - President ; Samuel

Rolfe, Treasurer; H. C. Barnes, Auditor; M. P. Emery,

First Parish; S. W. Larrabee, Second Parish; H. C.

Barnes, Chestnut Street ; D. B. Ricker, Fii-st Baptist ; S.

H. Colesworthy, India Street ; Ezra Drew, Congress Street

;

J. M. Lunt, St. Lawrence Street ; J. W. York, St. Paul's

;

Patrick McGowan, Cathedral of Immaculate Conception

;

Thomas Cobb, Casco Street; L. B. Smith, Free Street;

George H. Cook, High Street ; Frank H. Colby, Plymouth
;

John Barbour, Congress Square ; James H. Baker, Park

Street ; T. R. Hayes, State Street ; J. H. Eaton, St. Ste-

phen's ; George E. B. Jackson, St. Luke's Cathedral ; Geo.

K. Cushman, Pine Street; , St. Dominic's;

Joshua Hobbs, Williston ; G. 6. Buzelle, West End ; John

Lidback, First Lutheran ; Braxton Parr, Abj'ssinian (col-

ored) ; John Jones, Mountfort Street ; Stephen K. Dyer,

Advent ; Rev. F. Southworth, Bethel Church ; Rev. W. T.

Phelan, Preble Chapel ; L. F. Pingree, New Jerusalem,

Directors.

MARTHA WASHINGTON SOCIETY.

Organized in 1840. During the year 1878 the society

distributed to worthy and needy poor 688i yards of cotton

cloth, 51 yards of cotton flannel, 73i yards of wool flannel,

836 yards of prints, 126 yards of woolen dress goods, 26

yards of cambric, 15 yards of silesia, 25 yards of alpaca, 72

pairs of boots and shoes, 8 pairs of rubbers, 19 pairs of

hose, 54 ready made new garments, 1574 second-hand gar-

ments, 32 hats, 5 quilts, 4 comforters, 1 blanket, aud

$35.50 in money.

Officers for 1879 : Mrs. Benjamin Kingsbury, President

;

Mrs. H. A. Humphrey, Vice-President ; Mi-s. G. W. Beale,

Secretary ; Mrs. Dr. Moses Dodge,'Treasurer ; Mrs. Brackett,

Hall, Additon, Green, Poor, Fuller, Blake, Beale, Cary,

Rumery, Fessenden, Scamman, Hopkins, Young, and Pierce,

and Miss Trickey, Visiting Committee.

SAMARITAN ASSOCIATION.

Founded in 1828. It has continued to dispense its

bounties without intermission since to the poor of all de-

nominations in the bestowal of clothing, food, and money,

and in a quiet way has been of great service to the com-

munity.

By the secretary's report we find that during the year

there have been distribn'.ed 496 yards of print, 390 yards

of cotton cloth, 57 yards of flannel, 150 yards of dress

goods, 13t yards of lining, 94 pairs of boots, shoes, and

rubbers, 1625 new and second-hand garments, 10 hats,

2 shawls, 14 sheets, 22 pillow-slips, 8 comforters, 6 blankets,

7 quilts, 3 mattresses, 20 chairs, and 2 bedsteads.

The following officers were elected for the year 1879

:

Mrs. Henry Taylor, President; Mrs. C. Holden, Vice-

President; Mrs. W. W. Vingin, Secretary; Mrs. C. M.

Plummer, Treasurer.

IRISH-AMERICAN RELIEF ASSOCIATION.

Organized under the incorporation act in 1863. This is

a mutual-benefit institution, the members paying an initiation

fee of $5, and a monthly assessment of 25 cents each, and

receiving a benefit of $3 per week during sickness ; while

at death their wives, or next of kin, are entitled to a fu-

neral benefit of $50.
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George Bcknham, Jr., eldest son of George

and Margaret (Burr) Burnham, was born in Port-

land, Jan. 31, 1831. His boyhood was spent at

home, where he attended the city schools until the

aigi of fourteen, when he went to work for George

F. Lewis, who was the pioneer in Portland in pack-

ing hermetical sealed goods; here he remained six

years, and became well acquainted with the busi-

ness that he has subsequently so fully developed,

and made for himself a profitable operation.

In 1851 he engaged for one year with Samuel

Bumery, and in March, 1852, formed a copartner-

ship with that gentleman (Rumery & Burnham),

and continued in the packing business until January,

1867, when the partnership was dissolved, and he

associated with him in the same business Mr. Mor-

rill (Burnham & Morrill), which firm continues in

1879.

Mr. Burnham has been continuously engaged in

this business since 1845, which although commenced

in a small way, and consequently a light demand,

now reaches to all parts of the habitable globe and

is no unimportant interest in the business and trade

of Portland. Vegetables and meats of all kinds in

this way are shipped to foreign markets in a state

of perfect preservation. Corn nicely canned be-

comes a favorite dish for the foreigner, and lobsters

common to our coast, are rare, yet very palatable to

other nations. He first began business on Bum-

ham's wharf, and in 1862 erected the commodious

brick building on New Franklin Street, where he

has since been in business.

Mr. Burnham is a member of the Republican

party ; but strictly devoted to his business, he has

never sought any public notoriety. He married, in

1854, Annie W. Simonton ; she died in 1865. In

June, 1868, he married Abbie H., a sister of his

first wife.
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Tlie following constitute the Board of Officers for the

year 1879: James Connellan, President; Frank W. Cun-

ningham, Vice-President; Thomas J. Welch, Recording

Secretary; T. H. Gately. Corresponding Secretary; James

O'Neil, Book-Keepcr; James Tubin, Assistant Book-

Keeper; James Quinn, Treasurer; Wm. H. Somers,

John Davis, John Reardon, J. O'Brien, T. McGowan,
T. F. Lynch, Dennis McCarthy, Trustees ; P. E. Deehan,

John J. Lappin, T. F. Donahue, B. Wren, Henry Welch,

Investigating Committee; T. P. McGowan, Librarian; P.

B. Hughes, Assbtant Librarian.

THE POETLAND SEAMEN's FRIEND SOCIETT

was formed iu 1865, in the interest of seamen at this port.

Incorporated in 1876.

Capt. Washington Ryan, President; Rev. Francis South-

worth, Secretary ; John M. Gould, Treasurer.

The Bethel Church is under the direction of this society.

Daring the last seven years it has prepared and placed on

shipboard 254 libraries, containing over 5000 volumes.

These libraries have gone aboard vessels hailing from ports

all along shore from Nova Scotia to Wilmington, Del.,

though chiefly from our own marine ports.

Some 1500 packages of papers, magazines, etc., have -

been placed on shipboard during the year.

The Seamen's reading-room is still kept open at the

Bethel.

FEMALE ORPHAN ASYLUM.

The asylum is a three-story building. State Street, corner

of Danforth, under the supervision of a Board of Mana-

gers, consisting of 15 ladies, beside the officers.

In their semi-eentenniul report last October, the managers

say,—

** We rejoice to-day in tbe semi-centennial birthday of onr Orphan

Asylum for ^rls. With friends and means increasing, with no marks

of decay, bat stronger and healthier than erer, we offer np our hearty

thanksgivings to Him who has so blessed us. Not only to the father-

less, but even to more forlorn children of misery has it proved a

home. It has brought them into a wholesome atmosphere, and given

to each poor child an outlook into a life of decency and respectability."

During the year ending in October, 1878, 6 girls were

received into the asylum, and 10 sent out. The present

number of beneficiaries is 34.

The Board of Managers for the year 1879 is as follows:

Mrs. Sarah S. S. McCobb, President; Mrs. Sophia L.

Mathews, Vice-President ; Miss Abby S. Barrett, Secre-

tary ; Miss Mary E. Barrett, Treasurer; Mrs. Elizabeth

K. Cross, Mias Abby S. Barrett, Mrs. Hannah V. Donnell,

committee on receiving and placing out children ; Mra.

Ann M. Brown, Mrs. Elizabeth K. Cross, Mrs. S. B. Far-

mer, Mrs. Julia St. F. Thom, Mrs. Maria A. Jose, Mrs.

H. V. Donnell, Miss Mary J. E. Clapp, Mrs. Elizabeth W.

G. Thomas, Mrs. Sarah W. Burgin, Mrs. Alba S. Burr,

Mrs. Ellen W. Dana, Mrs. Hetty P. Baxter, Mrs. Maria

J. Nash, Miss Abby A. Steele, Mrs. Miranda S. Plummer.

QEAND ARMT OF THE REPUBLIC.

The Grand Army of the Republic is composed of the

honorably dischai^ed soldiers and sailors of the United

States army and navy. They number more than 4000

posts, 22 of which are in the State of Maine. The objects

of the association are to preser\'e and strengthen those

fraternal feelings which bound together the soldiers, iiiailors,

and marines who united to suppress the great Rebellion; to

protect and assist such as have been disabled either by

wounds, old age, sickness, or misfortune ; to assist the

widows of those who fell in battle, and to support, care

for, and educate their children.

Bosworth Post, No. 2, whose headquarters are at Jle-

chanics' Hall, in this city, meets Friday evenings. Officers

for the year 1879 : Whitman Sawyer, Post Commander

;

John G. Fitzgerald, Senior Vice-Commander; Charles H.

Mitchell, Junior Vice-Commander; A. H. Purington, Quar-

termaster ; C. C. Chase, Officer of the Day ; H. S. Thrasher,

Officer of the Guard ; A. A. Nickcrson, Chaplain ; Isaac

W. Starbird, Surgeon ; John Yeaton, Jr., Trustee for one

year ; John B, Pike, Trustee for two years ; A. A. Nick-

erson, Trustee for three years.

BOSWORTH BELIEF CORPS.

Organized June, 1869. Composed of the mothers,

wives, sisters, and daughters of soldiers. Their object is

to protect and assist the widows and children of those who

fell defending the Union, and assist Bosworth Post in their

work of charily. Meets at G. A. R. Hall every Friday

afternoon. Mrs. A. M. Sawyer, President; Mi-s. J. B.

Allen, Secretary.

PORTLAND SOCIETT FOR THE PREVENTION OF CRUELTY

TO ANiilALS.

The name of this corporation, and its zeal, sufficiently

indicate its objects. It was organized in May, 1872, and

has accomplished much towards remedying evils that had

too long been allowed to pass without the interposition of

the humane.

The report of the efficient agent, BIr. A. 51. Sawyer, for

the year ending April 5, 1878, shows that the number of

complaints made were 221 ; number of cases investigated,

not on complaint, 151. Total, 372. The cases are classed

as follows : horses overdriven, 5 ; overloaded, 75 ; starving

or neglected, 35
;
glaudercd, 1 ; left exposed on the street,

10 ; working old, lame, and disabled, 50. Cattle starving,

2 ;
cruelly exposed, 13 ; cruelly beaten or abused, 1. Dogs

fighting, 1. Fowls cruelly cooped, 5 ; fighting, 1 ; cruelly

tying, carrying, or abused, 6. Calves, cruelly tying, carry-

ing, or abused, 4.

The following summary exhibits the agent's action on the

'above complaints and others: OflFenders not found, 15 ; ex-

aggerated or malicious complaints, 62 ; warnings issued,

119 ; corrected on notice, 140 ; horses mercifully killed,

31 ;
glandered horses killed, 1

;
prosecuted, 2 ; convic-

tions, 2.

The agent says,

—

"The number of complaints has diminished* very much the post

yenr. To me this is an evidence that the public are being educated

to the importance and value of exercising care in the treatment of

animals. under their charge. The knowledge that the society is en-

gaged in its daily rounds of duty, watching the various places where

cruelty is most likely to be practiced, has manifestly had its effect."

Officers for the year 1879 : Nathan Cleaves, President

;

Miss 0. Carroll, Secretary and Treasurer; Arthur M. Saw-
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yer, No. 40 Free Street, Agent, to whom all cases of cruelty :

should be reported.

AGED BBOTHERHOOD.

Incorporated in 1869. This association has accumulated

a fund of about $2000. Persons must be of the age of

sixty-five or upwards to become members, and each is sub-

ject to an assessment of SI per year.

The principal of its fund most remain intact ; the income

therefrom only to be distributed among those unfortunate

members who may become, from accident, disease or losses,

objects of assistance, in furnishing them (so fur as the means

of the brotherhood will permit) all the accustomed comforts

of their better days, to be by them enjoyed in their family

circle. In cases where a brother is left alone, the board of

managers may provide lodging or board, or both, for him,

in the family of some connection or friend selected by such

individual.

On the decease of an unfortunate brother, leaving a

widow, or a widow and child, or children, the board of man-

agers may allow such widow, or widow and child, or chil-

dren, such a monthly sum as they may judge proper and

necessary.

Its membership numbers over 200. Officers elected Aug.

31, 1878 : John Mussey, President ; Edward Waite, Ward

1 ; Samuel H. Colesworthy, Ward 2 ; Robert Dresser, Ward

3 ; John B. Hudson, Ward 4 ; Thos. Cobb, Ward 5 ; E.

C. Andrews, Ward 6 ; Jefferson Coolidge, Ward 7, Vice-

Presidents ; Edward Gould, Treasurer ; Harris C. Barnes,

Secretary ; Joseph R. Thompson, William D. Little, Audi-

tors. The above officers compose the board of managers.

TOUNG men's CHKISTIAN ASSOCIATION.

Organized 1853. Incorporated 1860. , Object, spiritual,

mental, and moral improvement of its members, and all others

over whom it may exert an influence by means of religious

meetings, Sunday-schools, social gatherings, reading-room,

lectures, library, and the press.

Free reading-room and library, also hall and lecture-room,

484i Congress Street.

Officers for 1878-79 : Thos. L. Hierlihy, President ; W.
H. Hobbs, Recording Secretary.

Regular monthly meeting, second Monday in each month.

EEUALE CBABITABLE SOCIETY.

Formed in 1812. Incorporated in 1825. The object of

the society is to supply the poor, especially the aged and

children, with comfortable abd decent clothing. Meeting

of managers once in two weeks in the winter.

Miss A. L. Lord, Secretary and Treasurer.

PORTLAND ARHT AND NATT UNION.

Organized in 1866. Headquarters corner Congress and

Brown Streets, called Army and Navy Union Hall. The

soldiers and sailors, resident of Portland and vicinity, actu-

ated by a desire to make perpetual the fraternal associations

of the late war for the Union, and to provide for those of

their number who may at any time need assistance and sup-

port, form this Union.

A valuable military library and reading-room is connected,

with their headquarters.

The uniform of the association consists of dark coats and

pants, chapeau with white and blue plumes, dress-sword,

and buckskin gauntlet gloves.

Officers for 1879: Geo. E. Brown, President; Wm. E.

Simmons, R. B. Swift, Wm. 0. Fox, Vice-Presidents ; Geo.

P. Sherwood, Secretary ; Thomas J. Little, Treasurer.

ODD-FELLOWS.

This order has largely increased in numbers and become

very prosperous in the last few years. Three new bodies,

viz. : the Falmovth Encampment, Unity Lodge, No. 3, and

Harmony Lodge, No. 19, have been instituted since Jan.

1, 1877.

The reports of the subordinate lodges of Portland, made

up to the first part of January, 1879, showed the following

condition of the order

:

At the present time there are eleven organizations of the

Independent Order of Odd-Fellows in the city, all of which

have their headquarters at Odd-Fellows' Hall, No. 439

Congress Street, viz..: Maine Lodge, No. 1 ; Unity Lodge,

No. 3 ; Ancient Brother! Lodge, No. 4 ; Ligonia Lodge,

No. 5 ; Harmony Lodge, No. 19 ; Beacon Lodge, No. G7

;

Ivy Lodge, Daughters of Rebekah, No. 5 ; Mnchigonne

Encampment, No. 1 ; Eastern Star Encampment, No. 2
;

Falmouth Encampment, No. 11 ; Portland Encampment,

No. 19.

Harmony Lodge, No. 19, was instituted March 15, 1879,

with a membership of 109,—106 of whom were from An-

cient Brothers Lodge. For the nucleus of a fund they

assessed themselves $10 each.

In January, 1879, Maine Lodge reported 564 members,

and an invested fund, par value, of $19,065.42. Meets

every Monday evening.

• Ancient Brothers Lodge, 780 members ; reduced subse-

quently by cards of clearance to those who joined Harmony

Lodge, No. 19, to 674, and fund, par value, of $18,751.70.

Meets every Thursday evening.

Ligonia Lodge, 552 members, and fund, market value, of

$25,066.88. MeeU every Friday evening.

Beacon Lodge, 274 members, and fund $11,671.78.

Meets every Tuesday evening.

Unity Lodge, No. 3, number of members 253 ; invested

fund of $10,539.45. M^.cs every Wednesday evening.

Ivy Lodge. Meets second and fourth Saturday evenings

in each month.

The total receipts of the five lodges for the year ending

with December, 1878, were $16,020.29.

The whole amount paid out for benefits to sick brothers,

etc., by the four lodges for the year ending Dec. 31, 1878,

was $16,701.02.

The returns up to Dec. 31, 1878, give Machigonne Eri-

campmeiit, 498 members ; invested fund, $8949.82.

Eastern Star, 488 members; invested fund, $11,524.86.

Portland, 196 members; invested fund, $3515.18.

Falmouth, 121 members; invested fund, $1841.20.

The four encampments paid out for relief during the year

1878, $6420.

The order in this city have recently fitted up an elegant

hall in the Farrington Block, Congress Street, at an expense

of about $20,000, where all their meetings are held.
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Georqe S. Hunt, only son of Frederick E. and Eliza

R. (Smith) Hunt, was born in Deny, N. H., Feb. 8, 1829.

His father was a native of Northfield, Mass.. spent most of

his life as a merchant in New Hampshire and Massachu-

setts, and died in 1840, aged thirty-eight.

His mother was a daughter of Capt. Nathaniel Smith,

of Grloucester, Mass., who was an East India shipmaster.

She died in 1840, aged thirty-eight. Their children are Ann
E. (deceased), George S., Abigail Smith (deceased), and

Susan E., wife of Albert H. Breed, of Lynn, Mass.

One year prior to his father and mother's death George

S. came to Portland to spend the winter with a relative,

William Allen, and on account of the loss of his parents,

and consequently his home, he remained an adopted and

accepted member of the Allen family for twenty-one years.

Until the age of eighteen he attended the grammar and

high schools of Portland, at which time, unaided pecuniarily,

he started out for himself. For five years he was a clerk

in a jobbing fruit store. In 1853 he became a clerk for

P. F. Vamum, a jobber of flour and grain ; here he re-

mained for four years. In 1 857 he spent two months on

the Island of Cuba, during which time he formed a large

business acquaintance, and while there entered into arrange-

ments with several Cuban merchants to export various

American products. In May he returned with a large

importation of cigars, and thereby made his trip a profitable

one and of future interest. He at once opened an office

on Commercial Street (which he still retains) and com-

menced a trade with Cuba, exporting lumber and general

merchandise, and receiving sugar and molasses. In that

year a heavy financial crisis came upon business men in

this country
;
yet so well were his plans laid, and such was

his judicious management, that his first year's extensive

business was carried through' safely, but with little profit.

A second and third visit to Cuba, in 1859-60, gave him

increased opportunities for an extensive business which he

still continues, and ranks him among the most enterprising,

active, and successful business men of Portland. In 1859

he first interested himself in shipping, and has now interests

in a large number of vessels that belong to the district of

Portland.

In 1874 he associated with him in business Joseph P.

Thompson and Frederick E. Allen, formerly clerks, and

has since done business under the firm-name of George S.

Hunt & Co. Mr. Hunt is connected with and interested

in many local enterprises, and has ever been prompt to

render his aid and counsel in their management. He has

been a director of the Merchants' National Bank for four-

teen years, and succeeded the late Rufus E. Wood as its

vice-president, and also succeeded the same gentleman as

president of the Central Wharf Corporation. He has been

the commercial agent of the Eagle Sugar Refinery of Port-

land since 1871, and was one of the original stockholders

of the Forest City Sugar Refinery, succeeding T. C. Hersey,

in 1875, as treasurer and business manager. He is also

one of the pioneers in the beet-sugar enterprise, being the

president of the company. Mr. Hunt has devoted his

life, wholly to business, and, although interested in appro-

priate local and State legislation, has never sought any

political preferment.

Sept. 22, 1863, he married Augusta, youngest daughter

of the late George S. Barstow, a well-known and prom-

inent resident of Portland for many years. Their children

are Arthur Kinsman and Philip Barstow.
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ODD-FELLOWS* MUTUAL RKLIEF ASSOCIATION.

This association, formed Feb. 24, 1868, is composed of

members of the order ; it is, to all purposes, a life insur-

ance company. Each person, on joining, pays $2 to $4,

according to his age, towards a general fund. Upon the

death of a member, the sum of $1500 is paid to his wife

or iamily, and the members are assessed $1 each (in addi-

tion to ten cents each for expenses).

Amount paid to families of deceased members since its

organization, $98,661. Number of members at its recent

annual meeting, 1506.

odd-fellows' mutual benefit assoglation.

This institution is governed by the same general prin-

ciples as the preceding, the which it was intended to relieve

from too large a membership, as well as to give such mem-
bers of the order as desired an opportunity of doubling their

insurance. It was incorporated and organized Feb. 22,

1875, when upwards of 60 persons were enrolled on its mem-
bership list The number of members at present is 235.

Besides the two associations belonging to Portland, al-

luded to, there is a State institution, called the Odd-Fellowa

Mutual Relief Association of Maine, whose general policy

is the same as the local ones. It numbers over 2600 mem-
bers.

masonic institutions.

^HCIKHT CBAPT KASOHBT.

Place of meeting, hall No. 85 Exchange Street. The

several bodies of this order which hold their meetings in

the city are,

—

Ancient Landmark Lodge, which meets first Wednesday

in each month.

Portland Lodge, meets second Wednesday in each month.

Atlantic Lodge, meets third Wednesday in each month.

Greeideaf R. A. Chapter, meets first Monday in each

month.

Mount Vernon R. A. Chapter, meets third Monday in

each month.

Hiram Lodge, No. 180, meets in Cape Elizabeth Masonic

Hall, Town-House, on or next before every full moon.

Council of Royal and Select Masters, meets second

Monday in each month.

Portland Commundery, meets fourth Monday in each

month.

St. AJban Commandery, meets second Thursday of each

month.

Blanquefort Commandery, meets third Thursday in each

month.

Grand Lodge, meets first Tuesday in May.

Grand Chapter, meets first Tuesday evening in May.

Grand Cuuneil, meets Wednesday succeeding first Tues-

day in May, at two o'clock p.m.

Grand Commandery, meets Wednesday evening suc-

ceeding first Tuesday in May.

A5CIEirT ACCEPTED SCOTTISH RITE.

Yates Grand Lodge of Perfection, meets first Friday in

each month.

Portland Council, P. of J., meets second Friday in each

month.

26

Dnnlap Chapter, Rose Croix de H., meets third Friday

in each month.

Maine Consistory, S. P. R. S., meets fourth Friday in

March, June, September, and December.

Warren Phillips, Superintendent of Masonic Hall, at hall

two to three p.m. daily. Ira Berry, Grand Secretary Grand

Lodge, Grand Chapter, Grand Commandery, and Grand

Council, office, No. 13 Fluent Block, up-stairs.

Connected with the order is a relief association, similar in

its organization and objects to those of the Odd-Fellows,

the chief difference being that its funds are raised by an-

nual assessments in addition to the death assessment of

$1.10. At the annual meeting it numbered 648 members.

knights of PYTHIAS.

This is a beneficiary organization (in some respects simi-

lar to that of the Odd-Fellows) which originated at Wash-

ington in 1864.

There are three lodges in the city, meeting at Pythian

Castlo, 457} Congress Street (8 Clapp's Block), viz.:

BramhaH Lodge, No. 3, every Thursday evening.

Munj'oy Lodge, No. 6, every Monday evening.

Pine-Tree Lodge, No. 11, every Friday evening.

Connected with the organization, a relief association,

somewhat similar to those of the Odd-Fellows and Masons,

Ls named Maine Pythian Relief Association, and includes

the whole State in its workings.

PATEIOTIO ORDEB SONS OP AMERICA.

There are three bodies of this order, called Washington

Camps, numbered from one to three inclusive, which meet

in the city and vicinity. No. 1, at hall of the institu-

tion. Plum Street, over Eastern Express, on Tuesday even-

ings ; No. 2, at school-house. Turner Island, Cape Eliza-

beth, Friday evenings; No. 3, at hall, Plum Street, on

Monday evenings. Members are entitled to weekly benefits

during sickness or inability to attend to business.

Connected with the order is a mutual relief society,

based on similar principles to those of the Odd-Fellows.

citizens' MUTUAL RELIEF ASSOCIATION.

At the meeting in January, 1879, the total membership

was 694. Eight members died during the year, on whose

account the aggregate sum of $5789 was paid out. The
fund on hand was $2624.05.

The officers for the year 1879 are Charles Morse, M.D.,

President j Benjamin Kingsbury, Vice-President ; M. N.

Rich, Secretary ; Dan Carpenter, Treasurer ; C. W. Belk-

nap, Edmund Dana, Jr., George A. Harmon, Joshua Morse,

and N. B. Noble, Directors.

SOVEREIGNS OF INDUSTRY.

The object of this organization is by combination to

procure the necessaries of life at wholesale prices, as well

as to educate the masses to a higher knowledge of political

economy.

TEMPEEANCE ORGANIZATIONS.

SONS OF TEMPERANCE.

Portland Division, No. 95, meets every Friday evening,

at 565} Congress Street.
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Forest City Temple of Honor, No. 1, meets every

Wednesday evening at hall, 100 Exchanpre Street.

Maine Conncil, No. 2, meets at hall, 100 Exchange

Street, third Monday of each month.

INDEPENDENT ORDER OF GOOD TEMPLARS.

Arcana Lodge, No. 1, meets Monday evenings, at Con-

gress Hall, No: 418 Congress Street.

Mystic, No. 2, meets Thursday evenings, at Temperance

Hall, 565 Congress Street.

Mission, No. 41, meets Wednesday evenings, at Preble

Cbapel.

CutlioUc Temperance Society meets at Kavanagh School

Hall, first Monday in every month. Rev. D. M. Bradley,

Director.

Portland Temperance Union, R. H. Mnrphy, President,

meets at Congress Hall, 418 Congress Street.

The Reform Club has daily meetings at room, comer

Congress and Temple Streets ; rooms open from six o'clock

A.M. to ten P.M. Business meeting every Tuesday even-

ing.

Catholic Temperance Cadets meets at Kavanagh School

Hall, every Monday evening.

Women's Temperance Society meets at Young Men's

Christian Association Rooms, second Saturday afternoon of

each month.

BAILEOADS.

The lines of railroad connected with the business and

travel of this city are as follows

:

QRAND TRUNK RAILWAY.

This road connects Portland with the principal cities and

towns of Canada, and with Detroit, Mich., and the vast

grain-growing regions of the West.

The road was opened to Montreal July 18, 1853, and to

Quebec, Nov. 22, 1854. The portion from Portland to

Island Pond is permanently leased to the Grand Trunk

Railway of Canada, and is now known as the Portland

District of the Grand Trunk Railway. The whole road is

built at an elevation sufficient to prevent obstruction from

snow and ice, and the road-bed is made with a view to a

double track.

STATIOKS—MILES FKOK POttTLAHD.

Fslmoath 5^
-Comberland 81

Yarmoatb 1 It

Tarmoath Junotlon 12^
Norib Yarmoatb 15i
Pownal 18}
New Gloucester 22f
Dantille Junction 27

Hotel Ruad 28}
Empire Road 32

Meclinnia Falla 36i
Oiford 40J

South Paris 47i
West Paris ; 55J
Bryant's Pond 61i
Locke's Mills 65
Betbel 70i
West Betbel 74
Oilead 80
Shelburne, N. H 86
Oorham, N. H 91
Island Pond, Vt 149
Montreal, Canada. 297

BOSTON AND MAINE RAILROAD.

During the years 1872-73 this road was extended from

its former junction with the Portland, Saco and Portsmouth

Railroad, at South Berwick, to Portland, and the cars com-

menced mnning over the entire road on the 17th of March,

1873.

STATIONS—HILE3 TROa PORTLASD.

Ligonia 1

Scarborougb 6}
Blue Point 9^
01.1 Orcbard Hi
8nco l.ij

Biddeford 161
Kennebunk 25}
Wells SH
North Berwick .17j
Salmon Falls 44
KolliDsford 45

South Berwick Junction.... 46}
Great Falls 47}
Dover • 48

Madbnrj 511
Durbiim 5:t}

Bennttt Road 55}
Newmarket 58

South Nvwmarktt Junction. 59}

South Newmarket...' 6lli

Exeter 65

East Kingston 69}
Newton Junclion 74}
Plaipttiw T8

Atkinson 78}
Haverhill 82}
Bradford 82}
Niirth Andorer 87}
South Lawrence 89}
North Lawrence 9I>}

Andover 92}
Balliirdrnle 95

Wilmington Junction 97}
Reading 10.3}

Wakefield 105}
AVnkefield .Tunction 106

Melrose 108}
Maiden 110}
Medford Junclion 113

Medlord 1 13}

Somerville 113}
Boston 115}

MAINE CENTRAL RAILROAD.

PORTLAirD, WATERTILLB AND BA5G0B LINE.

(Formerly Androscoggin and Kennebec, and Penobscot

and Kennebec, and Portland and Kennebec Railroads.)

George E. B. Jackson, President; Payson Tucker, Super-

intendent and General Agent at Portland.

STATIONS STILES FROM POKTLAXD.

North Belgrade 74
West Waterville 78

Wnterville 84
Bi-nton 87
Clinton 93
Burnbam i 98

Pittsfleld 105
Detroit 109

Newport ; 112
East Newport 115

Etna 121

Carmol 123

Hcrmon Pond 129

Hermon Centre 133

Bangor 139

To Bangor via Brunswick nnii

AtujHsta.

Woodford's Comer 3

Westbrook 4
Falmouth 8

Cumbisrland 11-

Yarmouth 15

Freeport..... 25

Oak Hill 25
Brunswick 29

Topsham 30

Bowdoinham 37

Harward's Road 41

Richmond 45

Camp Ground 48
South Gardiner 52
Gardiner 56
Hallowell 60

Augusta 62

Riverside 70
Vassalborougb 74
Winslow 80
Waterville 81
Benton _ 84

Clinton 90
Bnrnham 95

Pittsfield 102
Detroit i06
Newport 109
East Newport 112
Etna 118
Carmel 122
Hermon Pond 126
Hermon Centre 1.30

Bangor 136

To Bangor ria Danville Junction

and Levjinton.

Woodford's Corner 3

Westbrook 4
Falmouth Centre 8

Cumberland 11
Walnut Hill 14
Gray 20

' New Gloucester 24
Danville Junction 29
Auburn , 35
Lewiston „ 36

Greene 43
Lecd's Junction 46
Monmouth 50

Winthrop 65
Readfield 61

Belgrade 69

Waterville to Skotchegan.

Waterville 81

Fairfield 84

Somerset Mills 87

Pishon's Ferry 92

Skowhegnn 100

Burnham to Bel/aet.

Bumham 94

Unity 102

Thorndike 106
Brooks 116
City Point 126

Belfast 128

Bathj Leivtatou, and Farmiugtonf

from Portland.

Bath 38

Lisbon Falls 37

Lisbon 40

Crowley's 43

Lewiston 48

Sabattisville 48

Leed's Junction 55

Curtis Corner 59

Leed's Centre 62

North Leeds _.. 65

Strickland's Ferry 87

Eoft Livermore 70

Livermore Fulls 75

Jny Bridge 77

North Jay 81

Wilton 85

East Wilton 87

West Farmington 91

Farmington 92
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His grandfather, Martin Jose, was of Scottish de-
scent, and one of the early settlers of Scarborough.
He reared a family of four sons and two daughters,

was a &rmer by occupation, and died in that town
at an advanced age.

His father, Alexander, was born in the town of
Scarborough. He married, May 14, 1807, Sally,

daughter of Thomas Emery, of Buxton, York Co.,

•where he lived the greater part of his business life.

He was a man of a quiet turn of mind, of indus-

trious and correct habits; never sought publicity in

any way, but was an agriculturist. He removed to

Guildhall, Vt., in 1845, where he died at the age

of eighty-eight. His wife died in Buxton, March
11, 1833. Their children were three sons and four

daughters, of whom Horatio N. Jose was fifth child,

born in the town of Buxton, March 18, 1819.

His boyhood was spent at home with the ordinary

advantages for obtainingan education. Without pecun-
iary assistance and unaided, at the age of fourteen, he

came to Portland, where until he reached his majority

he was a clerk in a dry goods and carpet house.

On March 21, 1840, he entered into partnership

with Joseph Poor, under the firm-name of " Poor &
Jose." This firm carried on the dry goods and car-

pet business for twenty years, and by their persever-

ance and judicious management took rank among
the first merchants in the city of Portland. Upon
the dissolution of the partnership, in 1860, Mr. Jose

disposed of his interest in the business and turned

his attention to real-estate operations, railroading,

and manufacturing. The same year, in conjunction

with the late Judge Shepley, he built the Preble

House, now standing on the comer of Congress and

Preble Streets, and subsequently he built the "Print-

ers' Exchange," Centennial Block, and Jose Block,
which are among the most substantial buildings in
the city.

Soon after retiring from the mercantile business
he became a director in the Portland and Kennebec,
and Maine Central Railways, and held these interests
for some eight years. He was one of the organizers
of the Portland and Ogdensburg Railroad in 1870,
was for some time treasurer, and is still a director of
the road.

He was one of the founders of the Maine General
Hospital, and has since remained one of its directors.
For many years he has been a director of the Cum-
berland National Bank, and in 1877 was elected its

president. He was treasurer of the Portland Kero-
sene Oil Company for fifteen years, and has been its

president since May, 1879 ; a director of the Att-
wood Lead Company since its organization, and is
now its president; a director in the Portland Dry-
Dock Company ; a director in the Portland "Water
Company; and is manager and treasurer of the Bart-
lettLand and Lumber Company, organized in 1873.
For over forty years Mr. Jose has been one of the
most active business men of Portland. He has been
interested in the prosperity of the city and in the
welfare of its citizens, and a supporter of all enter-
prise tending to benefit society. He has never been
solicitous of political or sectional preferment, and
ha.s never accepted any oflSce except as one of the
Building Loan Commissioners of the city, which
place he has honored for many years.
He married, Aug. 30, 1843, Nancy B., daughter

of Thomas Hooper, of Charlestown, Mass. Their
children living are two daughters,—Helen N. and
Jessie H.
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PORTLAND AND OODENSBURG RAILROAD.

This line of railroad extends from Portland, by the way

of Sebago Lake and the valley of the Saco River, through

the notch of the White Mountains, thence via St. Johns-

bury, Vt., through the Lamoille and Missisquoi Valleys, to

the foot of Lake Champlain. The object is to obtain a

shorter route than any now existing to Ogdensburg, and

thence to the great West. Samuel J. Anderson, President.

Jonas Hamilton, Superintendent.

STATIONS XILES FROM PORTLAND.

Twin MDuntain, B. C 95
Bethlehem and M. Dir lOl
Wing Road 105
Whiteficld 109
Scott's Mills 112
Lunenburg, Vt. Div 11-1

East Concord 118
Miles' Pond 121
North Concord 124
West Concord 128
East St. Johnsbury 132
St. Johnsbury 136
Danville 148
West Danville 151

Walden 156
Oreenaborough 161
East Hardwick 167
Hardwick 171
Woleott 177

Morris ville IS5

Hyde Park 1S9
Johnson 193

Stroudwater 2^
Westbrook 5

Mallison Falls 10
South Windham H
Oambo 12
White Rock 13i
SehaguLake 16?

^

Kiohville 20i
'

Steep Fulls 24i
East Baldwin 26^
Baldwin 29
Osaipee 31}
West Baldwin 33i
Hiram Bridge „ 37
Brownfleld „ 43
Fryeburg 49
North Conway 60
Intervale 63
Olen Station 66
Upper Bartlett 72
Bemis 78
Crawford's 87
Fabyan's 91

EASTERN RAILROAD.

STATIONS MILES FROM PORTLAND.

Cape Elizabeth 2

Scarborough 5

West Scarborough 6

Saco 13i
Biddeford 15

Eennebonk 23
Wells 28
North Berwick 34
South Berwick Junction 38

Conway Junction 41

Eliot 45
Kittery SOi
Portsmouth 52

Qreenland 57

North Hampton 59

Hampton 62

Hampton Falls 65

Seabrouk 66
Salisbury 70

Newburyport 72
Rowley 77
Ipswich « 81

Wenhum 86

North Beverly 88

Beverly 90

Salem 92

Swampscolt 96

Lynn 97

West Lynn 98

Revere 102
Chelsea 104
Everett 105

Somer ville 106
Boston 108

PORTLAND AND ROCHESTER RAILROAD.

This road connects Portland with Rochester, N. H.

Thence by the way of Nashua it connects by lines of rail-

way with Worcester, Mass., and thence with New York,

—

thus saving many miles of travel between Portland and the

great metropolis. At Rochester the road connects with the

Dover and Winnipiseogee Railroad, running to Alton Bay,

and in summer the trains are so arranged, on several days

of each week, that passengers may leave Portland in the

morning, reach Alton Bay, and on the fine steamers on

Winnipiseogee pass over the whole length of the lake to

Centre Harbor and return, so as to get back to Portland in

the evening of the same day. Winnipiseogee Lake has no

rival, as regards fine scenery, in this country.

STATIONS—MILES FROM PORTLAND.

Morrill's 2i
Cumberland Mills 5

Saccarappa 6

Gorham 10

Buxton Centre 15

Saco River 18

Centre Waterborough 25

South Waterborough 28

Spring vale ,
36

East Lebanon 43

East Rochester 49

Rochester 52

Gonic 54

Barriugton 59

Lee 67
Epping 73
Frcemont 77
Sandown 82
Hauipstead 34
Windham 90
West Windham 94
Hudson 98
Nashua 101
Hollis 108
I'eppercll lU

Groton Centre 1 IfJ

Ayer Junction 1 19

Harvard 1 --

Still River i:;i

Lancaster I2S

South Lancaster 1-9

Clinton 130

Sterling Junction 135

Oakdale I:i7

West Boylston 133

Worcester 147

PORTLAND RAILROAD.

A company for the purpose of establishing a horse rail-

road in the city and vicinity was chartered in 1802. They

broke ground early in September, 18G3, and by the 1st of

October of the same year had so far completed their track

as to operate. The company now run cars through Spring,

High, Congress, Middle, and India Streets, a distance of

nearly two miles, to the Grand Trunk Depot. Also, from

Grove Street, through Congress to Atlantic Street, on Mun-

joy Hill, nearly two miles. Also, from the head of Preble

Street, through Preble, Portland, and Green Streets, and

across Deering's bridge, and through the pleasant villages

of Deering Point and Woodford's Corner, psissing the beau-

tiful burial-place of the city, known as Evergreen Ceme-

tery, to Morrill's Corner, a distance of three and a quarter

miles. Cars run every twelve minutes on the Spring, Mid-

dle, and India Street route ; every eight minutes on the

Congress Street route ; and in summer, every twenty min-

utes on the Westbrook route. Almon Leach, Superin-

tendent.

STEAMBOAT LINES.

Besides her extraordinary railroad facilities, Portland has

the following steamboat lines engaged in commerce and the

transportation of freight and passengers to and from the

principal ports between New York and Prince Edward's

Island, and she has had and will have soon again a line of

ocean steamers running directly between here and Liverpool

and other European ports

:

The International Steamship Company make two trips a

week to Eastport, Calais, St. John, N. B., Annapolis, Wind-

sor, and Halifax, N. S., and Charlottetown, P. E. I. T.

C. Hersey, President and Manager ; A. K. Stubbs, Agent,

Railroad Wharf.

The Portland and Boston Daily Line of first-class steam-

ers leave Franklin Wharf Portland, daily, at seven o'clock,

P.M., and India Wharf, Boston, daily, at five o'clock p.m.

J. B. Coyle, General Agent, Portland; William Weeks,

Agent, Boston.

The Portland, Bangor and Machias Steamboat Com-
pany run weekly boats between Portland and JIacliias and

back, touching at all the principal intermediate points, leav-

ing Portland every Friday morning at ten o'clock, and

Machias every Thursday morning at five o'clock. E. Gush-

ing, General Manager ; George L. Day, General Ticket

Agent, Railroad Wharf
The Maine Steamship Company run a semi-weekly line

between Portland and New York, leaving the former city

every Monday and Thursday at six p.m., and the latter

every Monday and Thursday at four p.m. Henry Fox, Gen-

eral Agent, Portland. J. F. Ames, Agent, Pier 38, East

River, New York.

The Canada Shipping Company, or Beaver Steamship
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CompaDy, mn in the winter, in connection with the Mis-

sissippi and Dominion Steamship Company, forming a

weekly line to Liveq)ool, comprising six boats, three of

each line, which commence ranning about the 20th of No-

vember, and end about the 30th of April These boats

were put on for the season of 1877-78 ; they are of lai^

carrying capacity, the least being 1800 tons, and from that

up to 2700 tons, and have, in addition to their freight car-

goes, accommodation for about forty passengers each.

Dominion Line, D. C, Torrence & Co., Montreal.

Beaver Line, Thompson, Murray & Co., Montreal.

The Clyde Line of ocean steamships consists of six steam-

ers, making tri-weekly trips to Gla^w and London. They

are of about 2200 tons each, and have accommodations for

about twenty passengers respectively.- Robert Beford &
Co., Agents, Montreal.

The Montreal Ocean Steamship Company formerly ran

six steamers from Portland, making a weekly line between

here and Liverpool They commenced running about

1859, in connection with the Grand Trunk Railway,

making at that time tri-monthly trips. These boats con-

tinued to mn during the winter season till 1876-77, when

they were discontinued between this port and Halifax, on

account of the transference of the mail contract from the

Grand Trunk to the Inter-Colonial Railway, the Dominion

Government making it obligatory upon them to receive the

Canada mails at Halifax. There is some probability that

these lines of steamers will be restored to Portland ; others

at least will come if they do not, for the extension of the

Grand Trunk on an independent track to Chicago, and the

arrangements which have been made to take hold of a large

portion of the vast freighting interest of the Northwest,

will inevitably bring to Portland all the ships necessary to

dispose of the immense business which will rapidly accu-

mulate. Already there are strong indications that the

Great Eastern and the Allan Line of steamships will soon

come to Portland. The route is the shortest to the great

wheat- and stock-growing region of the Northwest, and the

harbor the deepest and safest on the continent The Great

Eastern once came here because no other harbor on the

coast contained deep enough water to accommodate her;

and, if she is to be made a commercial vessel, there is no

. good reason why she should not come again. (For further

remarks on the advantages of Portland Harbor, see chapter

on the coast topography and conclusion of the hbtory of

the Grand Trunk Railway, in this work.)

THE ICE BUSINESS.

The history of the ice business which has been developed

by Mr. Clark commences with Mr. David Robinson, who

was the first person to use and sell ice in the city of Port-

land. His ioe-oellar, ten by six feet, and ten feet deep, was

built on Munjoy Hill about 1823, and held some ten tons.

In 1828 he built an ice-cellar on Cnmberkuid Street that

held sixty tons. He sold the first ice in Portland about the

year 1831, resulting as follows-: Judge Mellen twelve and

a half cents ; two other men six and a quarter cents' worth

each
;
paid for horse and use of wagon S1.50. This closed

his sales for that year; loss in business $1.25. In 1832

he built the first ice-house above ground, located on the

comer of Congress and Centre Streete, and in 1836 the^

were families enough in the city wanting ice regularly to

establish the business. Mr. Robinson and son carried on

the business until 1851, and sold out their interest to Fos-

ter & Cartwright, who continued the business until 1852,

when it became the property of the Sebago Lake Ice Com-

pany. The Sebago company, in its first year of business,

shipped forty-eight cargoes, averaging one hundred and fifty-

three tons each. In 1855, Mr. D. W. Clark succeeded the

Sebago Lake Ice Company, and has controlled the ice

business in Portland since. His judicious management,

his increased facilities for obtaining and storing ice, have

kept pace with the growing demands of this necessary arti-

cle, and the four hundred and ninety patrons of the Sebago

Lake Ice Company have increased to three thousand. In

1873, Mr. Clark associated with him in business Mr. Ashbel

Chaplin (D. W. Clark & Co.), and in the same year began

shipping ice from Sdi>ago Lake. In the twenty-three years

from 1851 to 1874, the total shipments were twenty-three

thousand four hundred and thirty-five tons. Since 1874

D. W. Clark & Co. have shipped one hundred and eighty-

two cargoes, containing seventy-two thousand two hundred

and thirty-four tons. In 1851 the average cargo was one

hundred and forty-four tons, and in 1879 it was four

hundred and ninety-four tons, showing the increased carry-

ing capacity of vessels. Thus in a little over a quarter of

a century has the ice business in Portland increased in value

from a few shillings to thousands of dollars annually.

D. W. OLAEK

[Abraham,* Mervin,* John,' Mathew,' John.']

is a lineal descendant in the sixth generation from John

Clark, an early settler, first of Cambridge, Mass., then of

Hartfcrd and Farmington, Conn. He was one of the forty-

two men to whom land was assigned at Newton, now Cam-

bridge, Mai-ch 29, 1632.

He probably went to Qartford, Conn., in June, 1636,

with the company of Rev. Thomas Hooker in its memor-

able journey through the wilderness, and his name is on

the monument erected to the first settlers, in Hartford.

He removed to Farmington about 1655, and was one of

the eighty-four original proprietors, and died there at great

age, Feb. 21, 1712.

Abraham, father of the subject of this notice, removed

in 1831 with his family to Jacksonville, HI., where they

lived for many years. Afterwards he removed to Chicago,

where he died Feb. 21, 1855, aged seventy-five.

His mother, Millicent, was a daughter of Joseph and

Ruth (Wetmore) Washburn, of Middletown, Conn., and a

descendant of John Washburn, the emigrant, and secretary

of the Massachusetts Colony. She died March 9, 1863,

aged seventy-nine.

Dennis Woodruff Clark was fifth child, bora in Farming-

ton, Conn., May 27, 1819, removed West with his parents,

and spent most of his time in school until he was eighteen

years of age. For three yeairs he was a clerk in a store, and

in 1840 he purchased goods and started business for himself

in Rockingham, Iowa. Here he remained two years, and

removed to Wisconsin, where he carried on mercantile busi-

ness until 1852. He married Mary Caroline, daughter of
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Alexander and Mary (Lowell) Hubb. In 1852 he became

a member of the firm of Gill, Clark & Co., jobbers of

groceries, in Sacramento, Cul., but after a year and a half

withdrew from the firm, and in the spring of 1854 came to

Mr. Clark has been connected with many local enterprises

during his residence in Portland, and is among the most

active, enterprising, and influential business men of the city.

He was treasurer of the Leeds and Farmington Railroad

^^\

Portland. In the winter of 1854-55 he put up ice for the

Sebago Lake Ice Company, and in the fall of 1855 as-

sumed entire control of the ice business, purchasing the

company's interest.

prior to the sale of that road to the Maine Central ; one

of the directors of the Portland and Ogdensburg Railroad

from 1872 to 1877 ; and is president of the Portland

Water Company since 1873.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

WILLIAM MOULTON.

This branch of the Moulton family in New England is

descended from William Moulton, who came from Ormsby,

County of Norfolk, England, in 1637, with Robert Page,

and settled at Hampton, Mass., in 1639. He afterwards

married Mai^ret, a daughter of Page, and some of his de-

scendants are still found in Hampton and in the neighbor-

ing towns. William Moulton, a lineal descendant of Wil-

liam Moulton, the emigrant, and son of Daniel and Deborah

(Dyer) Moulton, was born in the town of Scarborough,

March 22, 1801.

His early manhood was spent on the farm, and his oppor-

tunities for obtaining an education from books were very

limited. For several years he was engaged in real estate

operations in Penobscot Co., Me., and was very successful.

About the year 1836 he settled in Portland, and estab-

lished himself in the grocery trade, and during the same

year he married Nancy, daughter of Henry V. and Catha-

rine (McLaughlin) Cumston, of Scarborough. He subse-

quently formed a copartnership with Charles Rogers, with

the firm-name of Charles Rogers & Co., as wholesale jobbers

of flour and groceries. This firm continued business for

many years, and ranked among the first and largest mer-

chants of the city. Mr. Moulton, upon retiring from the

mercantile business, engaged in banking, was a director

of the Cumberland Bank, and for a quarter of a century

prior to his death, its president. His connection with this

bank was most satisfactory, and its financial standing was

snch as to receive the confidence of the business men of

Portland.

Mr. Monlton's ability as a financier was marked, and his

career one of continued success. His good judgment, sa-

gacity, and forethought, his remarkably clear and quick

perception of probable future results, led others to seek

his counsel and place implicit confidence in his judgment.
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For one year he was treasurer of the city. His correct

habits and high regard for integrity led him to desire the

quiet routine of a business life, and he never was solicitous

of political preferment or publicity. In politics he was a

Democrat, a staunch member of the party, but not active.

He died Dec. 28, 1868. His children are Sarah, who died

at the age of eleven years ; Ella, the wife of Darius H.

Ingraham, a lawyer of PortlaMd ; and William Henry, a

graduate of Bowduia College in the close of 1874, and

banker of Portland.

CHARLES Mclaughlin.

" The McLaughlins are descended from Murtogh or

Maurice, learned, brave, and pious, the first Christian king

of Ireland. He was the grandson of Owen, from whom
tlie clan Owen took their name, and after whom the present

county of Tyrone, the land of Owen, in Ulster, was called.

Murtogh's reign forms a marked era in the history of Ire-

land, because of the extraordinary literary and religious

development by which it was characterized. He died in

528 A.D., and from that time until 1165 A.o.,- when his

descendant Murtogh MacLaughlin, the last king of Ire-

land before the invasion of the Anglo-Normans, was slain

at Ijitterluin, many of the rulers of the land were of his

blood. The chief fortress of the MacLaughiins was for

many generations at Aileacb, about seven miles from Lon-

donderry ; the foundation of the citadel of Aileach still ex-

ists in a fairly preserved state, and is supposed by Iribh

antiquarians to be the most ancient building in Ireland, and

one of the most ancient in Western Europe, dating as far

back as twelve hundred years before Christ. The southern

port of the island was quickly overrun and held by the

English, but the north maintained its independence until

far through the time of Elizabeth. This independence was

secured by several well-contested battles, two of which,

Moy Caba in 1188, and Armagh iu 1196 A.D., were gained

under the leadership of the MacLaughiins. This family

furnished nominal mouarchs for Ireland until 1241 A.D.,

in which year Donncl MacLaughlin, chief of clan Owen,

expelled Brian O'Neil, the head of a younger brunch of the

clan, from Tyrone. O'Neil sought assistance from the

O'Donnels, who invaded Tyrone and gave battle to Mac-

Laughlin, ' in which battle fell,' say the Four Mustei-s,

' Donnel MacLaughlin, lord of the Kinel-Owen, and ten of

his family, together with all the chieftains of the Kinel-

Owen.' This battle gave the leadership of the north to the

O'Neils. From that time forward the MacLaughiins at-

tached themselves to the O'Donnels, retaining their posses-

sions until the confiscation of all Ulster by James I. Their

lands had been confirmed to them by Elizabeth at the end

of her war with the northern Irish, although they had

been actively engaged with the O'Donnels against her.

They lost their lands by the confiscation, but regained a

portion of them upon the coming of Owen Roe O'Neil, in

1642, and held them until Cromwell subdued the country.

That hard fighter drew his sword through their titles, and

in fifty years they helped to verify the strange avowal that

true nobility of blood and manners in Ireland was confined

almoat exclusively to the ranks of the poor and pure native

Irish. Since that time the only distinction open to them

has been in the Church. Under the old rigime the Mac-

Laughiins were erenacln or custodians of half the church

lands of the present county of Londonderry.

" If you ask who till the innumerable fields on the slope

of Fahan Hill, you are told that they are one-half Mac-

Laughiins, tenants of the soil their forefathers had won by

the sword, forbidden by law until within a few years to

own a foot of land in all Ulster, but still owning the

memory of a great past and clinging to the promise of a

fair future."*

William and Robert McLiughlin, brothers, of the stock

of the Ulster McLaughlins, emigrated in the same vessel

to this country, and settled in Scarborough, then virtually,

so far as the Indians were concerned, a frontier town. Wil-

liam was bom in 1706 ; his wife, Sarah Jameson, was born

in Plymouth, Mass., in 1715, and died in Scarborough,

Jan. 21, 1818. Robert was never married. William and

Robert cleared the farm on Beech Ridge, in Scarborough,

now owned and occupied by his great-grandson, Robert

McLaughlin. This family, like the other settlers of Scar-

borough, had their share of trouble from the Indians, who,

both in their own interest and in that of the French, made

many incursions into the town. In those days the alarms

of danger were frequent enough ; the McLaughlins were

obliged many a time to leave their home and seek security

with the garrison on Scottow's Hill ; and it was not until

the peace of 1763 that they were finally safe from the

depredations of the savages.

William McLaughlin was a town warden in 1777. He
died in 1782. His son Robert, born in Scarborough, July

18, 1752, died May 8, 1823 ; his wife, Martha John.son,

was born Feb. 16, 1761, and died at Monmouth, Me.,

June 9, 1851. They had three sons and six daughters.

Betsey, the eldest, married Edward Sargent, of Bangor

;

Sally and Nancy were never married; Catharine married

Henry Yanschaick Cumston, of Scarborough, aflerwards of

Monmouth ; William j James ; Dionysia married Wiggins

Hill, of Bangor ; Ruth married Joseph Hasty, of Standish
;

Charles was never married ; James went to Bangor, operated

in real estate, became quite wealthy, and died there Oct. 14,

1872, at the age of eighty-two ; his wife was Almira Til-

ton, of Scarborough. Charles, the youngest of the family,

settled in Louisiana and became a large planter ; he died

Dec. 19, 1835, in his thirty-eighth year. William took to

farming like his ancestors, and was.known as a man of good

judgment, of strict integrity, and correct habits. He mar-

ried Agnes Hasty (whose mother, Rachel Deane, was a niece

of Parson Deane), by whom he had three sons, James,

Robert, and Charles; he died at Scarborough, April 11,

1837.

Of these sons, Robert resides upon the old homestead,

which has thus been in his family for four successive gen-

erations, about a hundred and thirty years. James resides

in Montclair, N. J. Charles was born in Scarborough,

July 10, 1827 ; he spent his boyhood on the old home-

stead ; at seventeen he left Scarborough to make his own

* The MotiLaughlind of Clan OireD, by John Patrick BrowD, A.B.,

Boston, 1878.
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way in the world. For some years lie served as clerk in a

store. In 1851 he married Annie L., daughter of Charles

Davis, of Portland. Mr. Davis had been at one time pub-

lisher of the Savannah Republican, and was for many

years well known as a business man of Portland. In 1851

,

Mr. McLaughlin formed a partnership with W. L. Aldun,

under the firm-name of McLausrhlin & Alden, flour job-

bers. After the dissolution of this firm he entered into

business with Mr. Davis, his father-in-law, in 1857, under

the firm-name of Charles McLaughlin & Co. This firm

afterwards embraced such other well-known citizens as

Greorgo E. Davis, Charles Walker, Daniel W. Ames, and

Albert Druniniond. (See page 195.)

Mr. McLaughlin has always taken much interest in local

improvements in Portland, and although not holding ofiBce

has had no little prominence in the affairs of the city. He
was elected to the Legislature of 1878, and as a member

of that body contributed an important part to some of its

most useful legislation. Confident of the repeal of the

national bankrupt law, Mr. McLaughlin originated and

advocated successfully the present State insolvent law.

During the session of the Legislature of 1879 an attack

was made upon this law, and for a time there was danger

of its being repealed. But Mr. McLaughlin, although

not a member, with other friends of the law, rallied to its

defense, and by good management secured its retention,

with slight modifications, upon the statute-book. He has

never sought public preferment, devoting himself closely

to business, and his integrity, care, and forethought have

secured him a position among the foremost merchants of

Portland.

He has two children, Agnes Hasty McLaughlin and

Charles McLaughlin, Jr.

GEORGE P. WESCOTT.

His grandfather, Archibald Wescott, removed from Pen-

obscot and settled at Bluehill, Me., in 1833, where he died

at the age of seventy-seven. His father, Joseph Wescott^

was bom in Penobscot, July 23, 1813, went to sea when

only ten years of age, and held the various places of trust

and responsibility on board ship during his first ten years

of seafaring life. At the age of twenty he took command

of a vessel as captain, and in command of different ships

made coasting voyages and carried on trade between Bos-

ton, New York, and the West Indies for ten years. In

1845 he retired from the sea and established himself as a

granite contractor at Bluehill, Hancock Co., Me., where he

successfully carried on that business until 1866, when he

settled in Portland, and in partnership with his son, George

P., opened business as granite contractors and commission

merchants, which business this firm continues. He married

Caroline, daughter of Samuel Brown, of Bluehill, in 1839.

Their children are Helen, Mrs. John Hinckley, of Nevada

(deceased), George P., Carrie B., Mrs. Henry P. Wood,

of San Francisco (deceased), and Hattie.

The ancestors of the Wescotts came from England and

settled at Castine, Hancock Co., Me., prior to the Revolu-

tionary war, and their descendants are, in 1879, residents

of the same county and occupy the same farm first settled

by their great ancestor. Many members of the Wescott

family were seafaring men.

George P. Wescott was bom at Bluehill, Me., Dec. 24,

1842. His boyhood was spent at home, where he received

a good education in the common school, and for some time

was a student in Bluehill Academy.

At the age of eighteen he went to California, and was

civil engineer in the Mare Island Navy Office for two years.

He then spent one year in the silver mines of Nevada, and

returned to California, where, at Vallejo, he engaged in the

mercantile business, which he continued until 1865. He
was appointed postmaster of that place, under Governor

Blair, and held the oflSce as long as he was in business

there. In January, 1866, he came to Portland, where, in

partnership with his father, he has remained in business.

Mr. Wescott's business capacity, his ability as a success-

ful financier and judicious manager, gives him place among

the most influential young business men of the city. Since

1867 he has been a director, and since 1875 vice-president,

of the Casco National Bank. In 18G9 lie was elected

treasurer of the Portland and Rucliester Railroad, which

position ho rebigiiod in 1873. In 1875 he was cliosen

president of the same road, and in 1877 he was appointed

receiver by the State Supreme Court, which position he now

fills. In 1877 he was elected treasurer .tikI '.rciieial man-

ager of the Portland Water Company, and s-iill lotains that

office in 1879. Soon after settling in Portland, Mr. Wes-

cott began to take an active part in the affaii-s of the city, .

and is a promoter of all enterprises tending to its prosperity

and the welfare of its citizens.

In politics, he is a Republican. He represented the 5th

Ward of the city on the board of alderman in 1869-70,

was elected mayor in 1874, and re-elected to the same

honorable position the following year.

In his official duties Mr. Wescott has honored the vari-

ous offices which he has filled by his integrity in his busi-

ness relations, by his prompt action and sound judgment.

In 1867 he married Sarah Ann, daughter of Henry N.

West, of Haverhill, Mass.

BOSWELL MINARD RICHARDSON*
is a descendant in the eighth generation from Samuel Rich-

ardson, who was born in England about 1610, and with his

brother Thomas settled at Churlestown, Mass., in the year

1636. His elder brother, Ezekiel, settled at Charlestown

in 1630, having been a passenger of Winthrop's fleet, and

with his wife Susanna became members of the church

gathered in Charlestown, Aug. 27, 1630. He was ad-

mitted a freeman of the colony May 18, 1631. The first

notice of Samuel Richardson is dated July 1, 1636, when

he and his brother, Thomas, with others were on a

committee to lay out lots of land for hay. On the 5th

of November, 1640, the three brothers and four others

were chosen by the church of Charlestown as commission-

ers for the settlement of a church and town within what

were then the limits of Charlestown, but soon after erected

into a separate town, and called Woburn. Samuel was

•Samuel,' David,* Zcbadiab,^ Ebenezcr,' Steplifn,' Slepbcn,'

Samuel.^
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setectnuD of Woburn in 1644, 1645, 1646, 1649, 1650,

and 1651.

" Their descendants, bearing the name of Richardson,

long have been, and still are, more numerous than persons

of any other name in Woburn, and among them have been

found some of the mbst valued members of the church and

citixens of the place."f

His grandfather, David, bom in Hudson, N. H., Aug.

6, 1763, married, 1790, Polly Dearborn, bom May 19,

1769, daughter of Capt. Samuel and Sarah (Clough)

Dearbom, of Plymouth, N. H. David Richardson served

three years in the army of the Revolution, for which, near

the dose of his life, he drew a pension. In 1801 he re-

moved to Compton, Province of Quebec, and in 1828 to

Gloucester, near Ottawa, Province of Ontario, where his

wife died. He returned to Compton, where he died. May
13, 1849, in the family of his eldest son, Samuel.

Samuel, father of R. M. Richardson, bom in Plymouth,

N. H., Aug. 3, 1791, married, first, in Compton, Canada,

Mehitable Shurtleff, bora May 19, 1792, daughter of Joel

and Eunice (Scott) Shurtleff. She was a descendant in

the sixth generation of William Shurtleff, of Marshfield,

the emigrant ancestor of all of the name in New England,

and whose name first appears in Plymouth in 1634. She

died in Compton, March 18, 1845. Samuel Richardson

was a farmer in Compton, a man in moderate circumstances,

and much respected in the town. He died June 13, 1866.

Roswell Minard Richardson, eldest son of Samuel and

Mehitable (Shurtleff) Richardson, born in Compton, Prov-

ince of Quebec, April 7, 1814, married, March 9, 1848,

in Boston, Ann Hutchins Hapgood, bora in Petersham,

Mass., Jan. 18, 1819. She was the daughter of Thomas

and Betsey (Hopkins) Hapgood, and granddaughter of

Hutchins and Elizabeth (Grout) Hapgood. She is seventh

in descent from Shadrach Hapgood, the original emigrant

of the name, who embarked at Gravesend in the " Speed-

well," May 30, 1656, bound for New England, and was

slain by the Indians at Qnaboag, now Brookfield, Mass.,

Aug. 2, 1675. Her materaal grandmother, Elizabeth

Grout, was granddaughter of Col. Jonathan Grout of the

French and Revolutionary wars. He was a member of the

Provincial Congress at Cambridge in Febmary, 1775, and

was elected a member of the first Congress of the United

States, under the Federal Constitution, as a representative

from Worcester Co., Mass., in 1789. The wife of Mr.

Richardson is a lineal descendant of Stephen Hopkins, the

Pilgrim, who came over in the " Mayflower" in 1620.

Roswell M. Richardson left his home in December,

1829, at fifteen years of age. He was a clerk in a store at

Hadey village, Canada East, for a while, in Canaan, Yt., for

two years, and in Northumberland, N. H., until Jan. 1, 1836,

when, as a partner of Gen. John WiUson (Willson & Rich-

ardson), he continued business at that place until 1845.

In 1840 he was appoint«d United States deputy marshal,

and took the census of Coos Ca., N. H., the same year.

In 1838 he was appointed, by Govemor Isaac Hill, adju-

tant of the 42d R^ment, 8th Brigade, New Hampshire

Militia ; lieutenant-colonel by Groveraor John Page, June

t History of Woburn, pp. 71, <35, 636, by Rer. Mr. Sewall.

23, 1840 ; colonel by Goveraor John H. Steel, June 20,

1844 ; and brigadier-general by Govemor Anthony Colby,

July 6, 1846, from which position he retired June 20,

1848, after removing to Vermont. He was appointed

justice of the peace by Govemor Henry Hubbard, Sept.

5, 1842, which position he held while a resident of the

State of New Hampshire. He commenced lumbering on

the Connecticut River in 1842. April 1, 1856, he re-

moved to Portland, where, still continuing his lumber busi-

ness for many years, he was engaged in business as a whole-

sale grocer on Commercial Street from 1861 to 1876.

In 1860 he was a member of the lower branch of the

CSt^ Council of Portland ; Democratic nominee for senator

for Cumberiand County in 1861, but failed of an election

through party divisions on war issues. He was elected

mayor of Portland, March 1, 1875, and was a representa-

tive in the State Legislature from Portland in 1878. He
has one son living, William Minard Richardson.

CAPTAIN JACOB S. WINSLOW

was bora in Pembroke, Me., Dec 19, 1827. His father,

Jacob Winslow, bora in North Yarmouth, Me., in 1795,

settled in Pembroke in the year 1812. He was a seaman

during most of his life, as was his father, Snow Winslow,

before him, and was mostly engaged in a coasting trade.

He married Elizabeth Clark, of Pembroke. She still sur-

vives, aged seventy-six.

Jacob Winslow died in 1841. His father. Snow Wins-

low, died at Havana of yellow fever.

Capt. Jacob S. Winslow is second son in a family of ten

children. His boyhood was spent on the farm and at school.

Seeming to inherit from his ancestors a desire for the sea,

he, at the age of fourteen, went aboard a vessel as a com-

mon hand. His int^rity of character and industrious

habits gradually gained the confidence of his superiors.

Just before reaching his majority he became master of the

brig " Noble," and made two trips, one to Philadelphia,

and a second to the West Indies, having been before for

some two years first mate of a vessel. He successively

commanded the " Josephine," " Calista," " Bloomer," " Jere-

miah Fowler," barks " Maine Law" and " Philena." He
built the latter vessel and sailed her for some six years to

the West Indies and Europe.

In 1862, Capt. Winslow retired ftt)m the sea, opened an

office on Central Wharf, Portland, engaged-more extenavely

in ship-building, and began trade in ship-stores and chand-

lery. He has constracted in all some one hundred vessels

at the yards in Yarmouth, Pembroke, and Portland. Since

1868, Capt. Winslow has associated with him as partner in

business Henry P. Dewey, a gentleman of fine business

ability, with the firm-name of J. S. Winslo#& Co.

Upon his retirement from the sea Capt. Winslow b^an
to take an interest in the affairs of the city, and is a pro-

moter of all enterprises -tendiiig to its prosperity and the

welfare of its citizens. He is a director of the Casco Na-

tional Bank, Portland Lloyds Insurance Company, Dry-

dock Company, and Bangor and Machias Steamboat Com-

pany. He is interested in local and State legislation, is an
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active member of the Republican party, and was a member

of the Common Council from the First Ward for 1868-69,

and was one of the representatives from Portland to the

State Legislature in 1876-77.

In 1853 he married Philena, daughter of Zenas and

Eliza Morton, of Lubec, Me. His wife died May U, 1877.

MARK P. EMERY.
The name of Emery is of Norman origin. Was intro-

duced into England, 1066, by Gilbert D'Amory, of Tours,

in Normandy, a follower of William the Conqueror, and

with him at the battle of Hastings. In 1 635, John, and

son John, and Anthony, his brother, born in Romaey, in

Nantes, a small cathedral town, about eight miles northerly

from Southampton, embarked from the latter place for

America, in the ship " Jamea," Captain Cooper, and landed

in Boston, June 3d of that year. They at once proceeded

to Newbury. John there settled, and died in 1683. The

locality of his longest residence, at Oldtown Lower Green, is

still known as '* Emery's Field." From him sprang a numer-

ous progeny, whose representatives are scattered far and wide.

Anthony went to Kittery, where he settled, and from whom
proceeded the other branch of this numerous family.

A family reunion of the Emerys was held at " Ould

Newberrie," Sept. 3, 1879, some eighty persons being pres-

ent from all parts of the country. Among them were Rev.

Samuel Hopkins Emery, of Taunton, Mass. ; George Emery,

of Boston ; Rev. Rufus Emery, of Newburgh, N. Y. ; Rev.

Dr. Emery, of West Newbiiry ; Representative Levi Emery,

of Lawrence ; Moses Jefferson Emery, of Haverhill ; George

Edwin Emery, of Lynn ; and Mark P. Emery, of Portland,

Me.

The grandfather of Mark P. Emery, Thomas Emery,

bora in 1753, was a descendant of Anthony Emery, and a

native of Biddeford, York Co., Me. He early in life settled

in the town of Button, and was one' of the pioneers of that

town. Although a farmer by occupation, he was a man of

mark in public affairs. Besides holding many offices ih his

town, he, as a member of the old Federal party, was a

member of the State Legislature. He married Hannah

Hammond, Nov. 27, 1773, and reared a family of eight

sons and five daughters. She died Oct. 31, 1827, aged

seventy-five years.

Thomas Emery, father of the subject of this narrative,

was bom in_the town of Buxton, at which place he died

Oct. 20, 1856. He married Oct. 4,. 1799, Mary Woodman,

of Buxton, and reared a family of six sons and four daugh-

ters—Rufiis, Mrs. Richard Steele, Mrs. John Bradbury,

James W., Horace, Thomas J., Alexander J. (deceased),

Mark P., Mrs. Joseph G. Steele, and Mrs. Joseph Dunnell.

The mother of these children died June 27, 1858, aged

seventy-nine.

Thomas Emery was a farmer and lumberman by occu-

pation, and used to raft his lumber down the Saco River

for shipment to other ports. He was prominent among

the citizens of his town and county ; was selectman of

Buxton, and sheriff of York County.

Mark P. Emery was boi*n Feb. 17, 1817, in the town of

Buxton, and spent most of his minority on the farm. He

27

received his early education in the town school and Gorham

Academy. At the age of twenty, unaided pecuniarily, he

came to Portland, and for four years was a clerk with

Smith & Brown, grocers and lumber dealers. In 1845 he

became a partner with J. B. Brown & Jedediah Jewett,

with the firm-name of J. B. Brown & Co., in the same

business, which continued three years, when the partner-

ship was dissolved. Mr. Emery was in business alone from

1848 to 1852 as a manufacturer and shipper of shooks, and

an importer of molasses and sugar, trading in the West

Indies. In 1855, after a rest of several years on account of

impaired health, he took in Henry Fox as partner, with the

firm-name of " Emery & Fox," and continued in the same

business until 1868. About the year 1860 this firm added

the lumber business to their already extensive shipping and

import trade, and continued as lumber merchants until

1876, when the partnership was dissolved, and Mr. Emery

sought to retire from the cares of so much business, after

spending nearly forty years as a persevering, industrious,

and enterprising business man. For some years past he

has been engaged quite largely in real-estate operations in

Vermont and New Hampshire. In local matters he has

ever felt a deep interest, and has taken an active part in

the promotion of enterprises tending to the good of society.

His financial ability is recognized by business men, and his

connection with the First National Bank of Portland as

director, and with the Maine Savings Bank as trustee, for

the past three years, have added strength to these institu-

tions. He is also a director of the Maine Steamboat Com-

pany. He represented the Fifth Ward of the city as

alderman for two terms, during which time as chairman of

the committee of the fire department he purchased the first

fire-engine used in Portland. He mttrried Jan. 1, 1846,

Mary S., daughter of Ezra Smith, of Hanover, Me.

CHARLES H. HASKELL.

Joel Haskell, with two brothers, Moses and Nehemiah,

former residents of Cape Ann and Newburyport, Mass.,

removed to New Gloucester, and were among the first set-

tlers of the town.

Joel married Joanna Burnham, and reared a family of

children.

Jonathan Haskell, his son, the grandfather of the subject

of this narrative, was a blacksmith by trade, and was en-

gaged in the postal service during the pioneer history of

the town, when he used to carry the mail on horseback

from Portland to Augusta. He died Oct. 9, 1858, aged

ninety-two.

Charles C, father of Charles H. Haskell, died in 1869,

aged seventy-four. He was a respectable farmer in New
Gloucester, and used to spend his winters on the Andros-

coggin River and the lakes, surveying timber. He was an

unswerving member of the old Whig party, aft:erwards a

Free-Soiler, and later a Republican. He married Sarah

R., daughter of Nathaniel Bveleth, who was a prominent

and worthy citizen of New Gloucester. She died in Sep-

tember, 1877, aged seventy-eight.

Charles H. is eldest son, born in New Gloucester, May
12, 1824.

' In 1839 he came to Portland, and was a clerk
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until 1848, when he started business for himself as a whole-

sale grocer, in partnership with Oliver P. Reynolds. This

business he continued until 1878, with the exception of

four years, from 1856-60, during which time he was in-

spector of customs, receiving his appointment from President

James Buchanan.

He was a director of the National Traders' Bank for

several years, a member of the Portland Board of Trade

since its organization, its treasurer for ten years, and presi-

dent of the board in 1878. He was one of the founders

of the Mercantile Library Association, and its president

for two years.

/^ A^Ci^C^^
Mr. Haskell was formerly a' Whig, but upon the disso-

lution of that party became a Democrat. For two terms

he was councilman from the Sixth Ward of the city, and

was elected city auditor, but declined to accept the o£Bce.

In 1871 he was a representative from Portland in the

State Legislature, and was placed on the committee on

banks and banking.

In 1875 he was appointed, with Joshua Nye, by President

Grant, centennial commissioner for the State of Maine, and

was State Senator in 1875-76, acting as chairman of the

railroad committee. He married. May 10, 1849, Mary E.,

daughter of Zophar Reynolds, of Portland. She died Oct.

9, 1863, leaving one son, Charles 0. Haskell. For his

second wife, Mr. Haskell married, June 4, 1879, Mrs. Louise

L. Kenney.

NEAL R. MACALASTER,
son of Peter and Ruth (Bryant) Macalaster, was born in

Lovell, Oxford Co., Me., Aug. 14, 1844. His grandfather,

Ananias, emigrated from Scotland and settled in New Eng-

land. His father and three uncles, John, Jeny, and Zac-

cheus, settled in Stoneham, and his father subsequently

settled in Lovell, where for many years he was a farmer.

He is now retired from the active duties of life at the age

of seventy-eight, having been bora in 1801. His mother

died in 1876 at the age of sixty-eight.

Neal R. Macalaster spent his boyhood at school. At the

age of sixteen he went to Halifax, where for three years he

was a close student of anatomy and physiology, and during

the first five years he was in that city, leaned dentistry

with his brother. Dr. Oris Macalaster, who settled there

from Boston about 1857.

ao^A

In 1865, having completed his studies, he opened an

office in Fryeburg, Me., where he practiced dentistry until

1869, when his brother. Dr. Oris, having settled in Port-

land, he joined him and practiced with him until 1874, and

became a partner, under the firm-name of Macalaster Bros.

This firm continued business successfully until 1879, when

the senior member of the firm retired, settling in Lyon,

Mass., and Dr. Neal R. continues the business.

Dr. Macalaster is ranked among the most successiul

practitioners of dentistry in the city, and is an acknowl-

edged skillful and careiiil operator. He is said to be the

only successful practitioner in the administration of nitrous

oxide gas in the city, and makes a specialty of the care of

children's teeth and gold fillings. He married, Aug. 11,

1866, in Philadelphia, Ella F., daughter of Asahel and

Arvilla (Nason) Barrows, of Brownfield, Oxford Co., Me.

Her father is a native of Vermont and her mother is a

native of New Hampshire.



His grandfather, Nicholas, settled in the town of

Limington, York Co., Me., from Salem, Mass., prior

to the Revolutionary war. He was a pioneer of the

town, and went there on horseback with his wife, fol-

lowing marked trees. He raised a family of five

sons and two daughters, all of whom were married

and reared familes. Nicholas Davis was a major in

the Revolutionary war ; was a farmer by occupation,

and died, at the age of ninety-seven, about the year

1831.

His father, William Davis, born in Limington in

1797, married Mary Waterhouse, of Grorham, and

reared a family of six children, of whom William

G. Davis is second. He was a man of resolution

and strong force of character. In politics he was a

Democrat, but preferred the quiet of a farm life to

any political honors. Both he and his wife were

members of the Free Baptist Church in early life,

.and remained constant in their profession and pro-

moters of church and like interests.

William G. Davis was born in the town of Lim-

ington, June 16, 1825. His boyhood was s^wnt at

school and on the farm. At the age of fourteen he

came to Portland and started a business life for him-

self. He was first a clerk, then a baker, and after-

wards for ten years a successful Yankee notion ped-

dler, importing a portion of his goods and buying

the remainder in New York and Boston. In 1859

he located in Portland, and, with James P. Baxter

as partner (Davis, Baxter & Co.), engaged in business

as a wholesale jobber of miscellaneous merchandise.

He coutinued this business until 1866, the firm im-

porting the greater part of their goods. In 1862

this firm began the preservation of food products,

and exported to Liverpool, England, in payment for

importations contracted for prior to the war. In this

way was the business established which, under the

name of the " Portland Packing Company," is still

continued, and has been so successfully carried on.

The exports of the Portland Packing Company
reach all parts of the habitable globe, and are held

in esteem alike by the rude natives of the Sandwich

Islands and the epicureans of London and Paris.

The operations of the company, like those of the

Hudson's Bay Company, are carried on in remote

localities; their factories being located from Cape

Sable, on the Nova Scotia shore, to the extreme east-

erly point of Cape Breton, as well as along the

rugged shores of Maine.

Mr. Davis married, in 1849, Rhoda Neal, of Gardi-

ner, Me. His children are Helen A. Davis, born

1849 (deceased) ; Walter E., born 1853 (deceased);

Walter G., born 1857 ; Wm. N., born 1860 ; Charles

A., born 1862 (deceased) ; Edith, born 1865 ; Flor-

ence, bom 1869 (deceased); Alice, born 1869 (de-

ceased).
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GEORGE BURNHAM.

John Bumham, grandson of John, the emigrant, bom in

1738, came from Ipswich, Maaa., and settled in Portland

(then Falmouth) about 1760. He contributed to the early

enterprises of the then growing village, engaged in packing

fish and in the cooper business. He is said to have built

the first wharf in Portland harbor, which was destroyed by

fire during the war for independence. He erected another,

and an interest in it (Bnmham's) has been retained by the

family ever since. Mr. Bumham also built the first house

in Portland after the destruction of the town by the British

fleet. He married Abigail Stickney, and reared a ftmily

of eight sons and five daughters, nearly all the sons being

seafaring men. He died of yellow fever, on the 29th of

July, 1798.

His son, Josiah, born Jan. 23, 1770, was married four

times. His first wife was Lucy Berry, of Westbrook, by

whom he had three sons,—John (deceased), Josiah (de-

ceased), and 6«orge, subject of this sketch, and two daugh-

ters,—Harriet, wife of Alfred Soule, of Freeport, and Lucy,

wife of Pierce Burr, of Freeport, both deceased. His wife

died in 1808, aged forty-five. Josiah Bumham married for

his third wife Ellen Jameson, by whom he had one daughter,

—Ellen,—Mrs. Arnold Burrows, of Boston. He was a mer-

chant at Freeport for some time, and for several years a re-

spectable farmer of Durham, where he also carried on

coopering, and sent his manufactured goods to Portland.

While a citizen of that town he held the office of trial jus-

tice, and was a representative in the State Legislature for

several terms. He returned to Portland in 1834, where lie

resided until his death, in 1843, aged seventy-three.

George Burnham, only surviving son of Josiah and Lucy
(Berry) Bumham, was bom in the town of Durham, Aug.
20, 1801, and married Margaret Burr, of Freeport, in 1828.
She was born in May, 1807. He came to Portland in

1825, and in 1828 went into business as a cooper, which
he continues in 1879, and occupies the cooper-shop built

by his grandfather, John Burnham, in 1776. For forty-

four years he was inspector of fish at Portland, being ap-

pointed by the Governor and Council in 1828.

Mr. Burnham has led strictly a business life, having been
for a little over a half-century an active, industrious, and judi-

cious business man of Portland. His children are Mai^aret,
George, Jr., Perez B., Josiah, and John. Perez B. mar-
ried Elizabeth Best, of Portland. His children are Harold
C, Perez Burr, Jr., Margaret Elizabeth, George, and Amy
Jameson.

CAPTAIN JAMES RACKLEFF,
one hundred years old at the time of writing this sketch of
his life, and possessing, in a remarkable degree, the faculties

of body and mind, being able to pen some parts and dictate

the remainder of this narrative, was born at Booth Bay,
Nov. 6, 1779. He was son of Benjamin R. and Mary
(Dodge) Rackleff,—the former a native of Scarborough,
Me., the latter a native of Beverly, Mass.

Very early in life James had a desire for the sea, and a
great dislike for farming. At the age of fourteen he came
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to Portland,—accompaDied with his nncle, Thomas Dodge,

—without capital, but otherwise fulljr prepared to meet the

obstacles of life, and carve out a fortune for himself. He
immediately obtained employment with Capt. Dillon, then

engaged in a coasting and West Indies trade, at one dollar

per month. With a robust constitution and willing hands

he became a common sailor, and started life for himself.

His honesty and manliness soon won the confidence of his

superiors. He remained with Capt. Dillon for six years,

and was made first mate of the vessel, and upon the death

of the captain by yellow fever, at Boston, he took command

of the vessel, laden with molasses, and sailed her safely to

Portland. Many instances are related where his services

as an excellent swimmer, and, by his daring and courage,

(J
Wmc^ (Ro^c^N

b

have saved the lives of those who had fallen overboard, or

were in danger of losing their life by accident at sea.

At the age of twenty-five he took command of a vessel,

and for the next fifteen years did a coasting and West

Indies trade. Capt. Rackleff followed the sea for some

thirty years, and upon retiring therefrom began business

in Portland, on Ingraham's Wharf, as a wholesale and retail

grocer ; but after a short time gave up business to his son

Charles, and engaged in real-estate operations and building,

and for many years was one of the most active business

men of Portland, and interested in all local enterprises

connected with the city.

He has lijred to watch a village of a few hundred become

the metropolis of a State ; to see schools, colleges, and

churches founded, and their infiaences reach, after long

years, the remotest parts of the habitable globe ; to see

steamships supplant sailing-vessels, railways take the place

of the ox-team, the tel^raph, and nearly all of the great in-

ventions now in use brought into successful operation. He
married, Feb. 20, 1805, Olive Basteen. Of this union were

born two children, who reached manhood and womanhood,

viz., Jane, wife of Allen Haines, and Charles Rackleff.

His wife, bom March 1, 1783, died Oct. 9, 1866. Charles

Rackleff married Mary, daughter of Rev. Elias Nelson, a

Baptist clergyman, of Jay, Me. He died Nov. 23, 1844, aged

thirty-seven, leaving an only son, James L. Rackleff, who

married Marcia Woodman, daughter of Nathaniel J. Miller,

of Portland, and who has been connected with the United

States Internal Revenue service since 1862 as assistant as-

sessor, acting assessor, and deputy collector, which latter

office he has held since 1874.

COL. JAMES F. MILLER

was bom in the town of Hollis, York Co., Me., Oct. 13,

1831, the fourth child of the Hon. Nathaniel J. and Mary

Miller. He received his academical course of study at the

Gorham and Limerick Academies. Entered Bowdoin Col-

1^ in 1852, and graduated in 1856. Read law in the

office of Fessenden & Butler, at Portland. After his ad-

mission to the bar, in 1858, he opened a law-office at Port-

land in company with Wm. G. Chadboura, and practiced

his profession up to the commencement of the late war.

He then became military secretary of Glovemor Washbnra.

In 1862 he was appointed adjutant-general in the United

States service, and assigned to the Department of the Oulf,

where he served as military secretary to Governor Shepley

for some time, and was subsequently mayor of New Or-

leans for one year, and assistant adjutant-general under

Oen. Butler, at Norfolk, Ya. Resigning this position in

the army, on account of his health, he returned to Port-
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land in July, 1865, resumed the practice of law, and was

elected Representative from the city in the fall of the

same year, and re-elected in 1866. He was married Oct.

30, 1865, to Charlotte A. Cummings, daughter of the Hon.

Nathan Cummings. They have two children,—Nathan

and Ralph W.

Mr. Millev was a staunch Republican in politics, wa.s pos-

sossed uf fine executive ability, and for the time he was in

the practice of his chosen profession took a high po.sitiou.

He was of a genial, social disposition, and his early death,

which occurred Deo. 12, 1 873, was sorely felt by the mem-

bers of his family and a large circle of acquaintance.

Photo, by IiftinsoQ, Portland.

Z. K. HARMON,
son of Daniel and Mary (True) Harmon, was born in

Durham, then Cumberland Co.", Maine, Nov. 11, 1816.

His grandfather, Daniel, a native of Scarborough, settled

in the town of Standish, and was a soldier in the Revolu-

tionary war. He afterwards removed to Durham with his

family, where he died. His father, Daniel, born in 1778, was

a farmer by occupation, and reared a family of seven sons

and two daughters. He was a soldier in the war of 1812,

was a worthy citizen of Durham and a leading Methodist,

held many town offices, was a trial justice of the peace, and

a representative in the State Legislature. He died in 1848.

Z. K. Harmon spent his boyhood on the farm and at

school. At the age of eighteen he began learning the

printer's trade at Brunswick, and after three years' appren-

ticeship, upon reaching his majority, went to St. Charles,

Missouri, where he was a clerk for two years. Returning

to Portland, he was a clerk for several years in the county

clerk's office. In 1850 he became a partner with the late

Freeman Bradford, as solicitor of claims. This partner-

ship was continued for twelve years, since which time he

has been in business alone. During the past twenty-five

years, besides acting as solicitor of claims, he has completed,

for the use of the State, the muster-roll of the officers and

privates in the service of the District of Maine in the war of

1812-14. The task needed to be done, and has been fuith-

fully performed. The list is very complete, giving the iinuics,

residence, date of entry and discharge, and service performed

of every man called into the field, or for garrison duty

during " the second war of independence." It is embraced

in a large and handsome folio of four hundred and twenty

pages, which found its proper place in the adjutant-general's

office. He has a more intimate acquaintance with the army

rolls of 1812 than any other man in the State, and has filed

six hundred pension claims under the act of March 9,

1878.

Mr. Harmon has been prominently identified with the

" Ancient Brothers' Lodge, I. 0. 0. F.," since 1845, with

the " Machigonne Encampment" since its organization,

and was a charter member of " Atlantic Lodge" of Free

Masons, of which organization he has been a member for

over a quarter-century.

He married, Nov. 29, 1846, Harriet A., daughter of

Isaac and Mary (Little) Davis, of Portland. Their chil-

dren are Charles C, member of the firm of Loring, Short

& Harmon, booksellers and stationers; Sarah, wife of

George W. Herrick, of Boston ; and William K., in the

government employ in South Africa.
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TOWNS AND VILLAGES OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY.

BALDWIN.

ORIGINAL GRANT AND BOUNDARIES.

The town of Baldwin, formerly called Flintstown, was

incorporated Jane 23, 1802, and was named in honor of

Loammi Baldwin, one of the proprietors. The surface,

which is low in the sonth and east, rises gradually in broken

ridges toward the Saddleback Mountain in the north. The

original grant was made Feb. 8, 1774, to Samuel Whitti-

more, Amos Lawrence, and others, and provided that they

should set aside one-sixty-fourth each, for the use of the

ministry, for the first settled minister, for the use of the

grammar school, and for the use of Harvard-TJaiversity, and

should settle 30 families thereon within six years. The

town originally comprised 36,380 acres, of which 5600 were

excluded as bogs and mountains. In 1780 a further ex-

tension of six years was allowed for settlement. It was

bounded by Standish and Sebago Lake on the east, Bay-

mond, Otisfield, Bridgton, and Denmark on ihe north,

Brownfield and Prescott's grant (now Hiram) on the west,

and the Saco River on the south. A part of Sebago has

since been taken ofi!.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

The first settlement was made by Lieut. Benjamin lo-

galls, who b^an an improvement near the centre of the

town in 1773, on the farm now occupied by J. Milliken,

near the old Pierce homestead ; Lieut. Ingalls was com-

missioned in a British regiment by Governor Francis Bar-

nard, ofMassachusetts, in 1761. Soon after hissettlement he

removed to the ferry farther up the river, locating perma-

nently near Ingalls' Pond, where his son, Samuel Ingalls,

still lives. He was followed by Capt. John C. Flint, Bar-

tholomew Thorn, Jonathan Thorn, William Bidford,

Ephraim Larrabee, and Joseph Richardson, previous to

1780.

On the renewal of the grant, in 1780, Josiah Pierce, Esq.,

one of the principal proprietors, tamed his attention to the

development of the estate, and engaged largely in lumbering.

A heavy growth of white pine covered the entire town, and

constituted its chief value. He built three saw-milb, one

of which was on Quaker Brook , afterward? owned by Isaac

Dyer. His store was the first, and for many years the

only one in the town.
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William Thorn, the first white child born in the town,

was presented with 100 acres of land by the proprietors.

Mr. Pierce, no doubt, induced the required settlement,

as previous to 1802 are found the names of Eleazer Flint,

Lot Davis, Stephen Bumell, Samuel Black, Jonathan San-

born, Josiah Millikin, David and Ephraim Brown, Eben-

ezer Lord, Jacob Clark, and Chase Wiggins. Many who

came to lumber made no permanent settlement.

The earliest marriage recorded was that of Jonathan

Sanborn, Jr., to Elizabeth Thorn, by Josiah Pierce, Esq.,

Dec. 15, 1795.

The early settlers found Indians living near Ingalls' Pond

and the falls, among whom were Swansbn, and the famous

squaw, MoUocket.

A tavern was opened near the Pierce place by Richard

Fitch, and became a centre for all gatherings. The militia

in every-day homespun and their officers in uniform as-

sembled- there to train or to start on their night march,

under Captain Edward Small, for general muster at Ray-

mond. The first post-office was established at the tavern,

with Richard Fitch, postmaster.

THE OLD FIERCE HOUSE,

built by Josiah Pierce in 1785, and finished in 1787, is

still occupied by his descendants, with but little alteration

in its exterior. Col. Baldwin, of Wobum, laid the founda-

tion carefully to the points of compass. The house is now

owned by a grandson, Josiah Pierce, a resident of London,

England. A few rods to the northwest of the house, in a

grove of elm, willow, and pine, is the Pierce family bury-

ing-groand. Here rest the remains of the popular father

of the town, who died Jan. 23, 1830. Beside him are

his father, who died in 1799, and his mother, who was also

the mother of Count Ramford. Two sons and a daughter

are buried here. A third, Hon. Josiah Pierce, has been

an honored member of both branches of the State Legisla-

ture, and for many years Judge of probate for Cumberland

County. To the northwest, within speaking distance,

stands the old Fitch House, thoroughly modernized, and

just behind it, on the side-hill, is a brown slate-stone, bear-

ing the inscription, " Richard Fitch, Esq. Bom 1764

;

died 1854." Near by, to the east, another private yard
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contains the remains of Capt. Sylvanus Bacheldor, died

Feb. 3, 1868, aged ninety years, Ephraim Bacheldor, and

the early dead of their families.

There is a fine cemetery at West Baldwin, regularly laid

out and well kept. Besides, there are some twenty private

burying-gronnds in different parts pf the town.

VILLAGES AND HAIILETS.

WEST BALDWIN,

a Station on the Portland and Ogdensbnrg Railroad, con-

tains twenty residences, a store, a post-office, blaoksmith-

and cooper-ahops, a Methodist Episcopal Church, a school-

house, and a cemetery. Below the village, near the Saco

River, is the West Baldwin Depot. To the rear rises a

circle of hills, forming the spurs of Saddleback Mountain.

BALDWIN.

At " Old Baldwin," now a side-track and half a dozen

houses, where the station was first established, R. T. Chase

opened a store on the opening of the railroad. The place

was abandoned in 1876, for Baldwin, two miles farther

west. There is at Baldwin R. T. Chase's store, a harness-

shop, and three dwellings.

EAST BALDWIN,

with its level streets, shady groves, neat buildings with open

yards, beautiful church, and white fences inclosing the

fields, presents an appearance inviting to the stranger. The

place dates back to the opening of a tannery by Nathaniel

Sawyer and a store by Lot Davis and his successor, Josiah

Chadboume, who was a leading business man and politi-

cian. There are here two stores, post-office, the Saco River

House, a summer hotel, opened by Gardner R. Norton in

1878, a corn-packing factory, school, and a dozen dwellings.

Col. Charles P. Mattocks, of Portland, established a shoot-

ing-range here in 1871. The place is a growing summer

resort.

North Baldwin is a post-office on the Sebago stage-road

from East Baldwin.

TOWN-MEETING AND OFFICEfiS.

At the first election, held at the inn of Richard Fitch,

Aug. 30, 1802, Ephraim Bacheldor was chosen Modera-

tor ; Ephraim Bacheldor, Zebulon Larrabee, William Fitch,

Ephraim Brown, and Daniel Potter, Selectmen ; Joshua

Larrabee, Town Clerk; Simeon Harding, Treasurer; Syl-

vanas Bacheldor, Constable and Collector.

SELECTMEN.

1802.—Ephraim Bacheldor, Zebulon Larrabee, Wm. Fitoh, Ephraim

Brown, David Potter.

1803.—Josiah Pierce, Esq., Ephraim Bacheldor, Ephraim Brown.

1804.—Joshaa Larrabee, William Fitch, Ephraim Bacheldor.

,180S.—Joshaa Larrabee, William Fitoh, Ephraim Bacheldor, Joseph

Richardson, Ephraim Brown.

1806.—David Potter, David Brown, Josiah Rictiardson.

1807-.8.—William Fitch, David Brown, Joseph Richardson.

1809.—William Fitch, David Brown, Ephraim Flint.

1810.—Joseph Richardson, Ephraim Brown, Ephraim Bacheldor.

1811.—Ephraim Bacheldor, Col. Davis Potter, Joseph Richardson.

1812.—Joseph Richardson, Zebulon Larrabee, Samuel Sawyer.

18I.V17.—Josiah Pierce, William Fitch, Joseph Richurddua.

1818.^-Jo8iah Pierce, William Fitch, Nathan Sawyer. .

1819 Josiah Pierce, AVilliam Fitch, Lot Davis.

1820-21.—Lot Davis, Joseph Richardson, Nathan Sawyer.

1822.—Lot Davis, Ephraim Flint, Oliver M. Pike.

1823-24.—William Fitch, Lot Davis, Joseph Richardson, Jr.

182S.—Xathan Sawyer, Rufns Sanborn, Nathan Sawyer.

1828.—Lot Davis, Rufns Sanborn, Reuben Brown.

1827.—Nathan Sawyer, Renben Brown, John Goodwin.

1828.—Nathan Sawyer, Rnfns Sanborn, Samuel Ingalls.

1829-30.—Ephraim Flint, Reuben Brown, Samnel Ingalls.

1831.—Ephraim Flint, Samuel Ingalls, Joshua Chadboume.

1332.—Samnel Ingalls, Rnfus Sanborn, Daniel Davis.

1833.—Ephraim Flint, Nathaniel Sawyer, Reuben Brown.

1834.—Ephraim Flint, Samuel Ingalls, Nathaniel Sawyer.

1835.—Ephraim Flint, Nathaniel Sawyer, Peter Cram.

1838.—Ephraim Flint, Renben Brown, Asa Sanborn.

1837.—Ephraim Flint, Renben Brown, James Norton (to fill vacancy),

Rofus Sanborn, Nathan Sawyer.

1838-39.—Samnel Ingalls, Nathan Sawyer, Oliver Staples.

1340-41 Samnel Ingalls, David Paine, Peter Sanborn.

1842.—Reuben Brown, Rufns Sanborn, John Rankins.

1843.—Renben Brown, James Norton, Albert Sanborn.

1844.—Samuel Ingalls, James Norton, John Barnell, Jr.

1845.—James Norton, Jolin Bumell, Jr., Peter Cram.

1846.—Ephraim Flint, Christopher D. Sawyer, James Sanborn.

1847.—Reuben Brown, James Norton, Enoch Sanlwrn.

1848-49.—Christopher D. Sawyer, Cyrus S. Brown, Jonathan Bumell.

1850.—Christopher D. Sawyer, Albert Sanborn, John B. Stokes.

1851.—Cyms S. Brown, John H. Stokes, Albert Sanborn.

1352.—Cyrus S. Brown, Benjamin Sawyer, James Norton.

1853.—Cyrus S. Brown, Christopher D. Sawyer, L. T. Sanborn.

1854.—Christopher D. Sawyer, Thomas Binford, Ichnbod Cousins.

1855.—Cyrus S. Brown, James Norton, Daniel T. Richardson.

1856 James Norton, Cyrus S. Brown, ElKnezer Sawyer, Jr.

1357.—Cyrus S. Brown, Ebenezer Sawyer, Jr., James Weed.

1858.—Daniel T. Richardson, Ebeneier Sawyer, Jr., Thomas Binford.

1859.—Cyrus S. Brown, N. P. Bunnell, James Norton.

1360 John Barnell, Josiah Milliken, Thomas March.

1861.—Daniel T. Richardson, Cyrus S. Brown, John Flint.

1862.—Joseph Ridlon, Josiah Milliken, Andrew Ingalls.

1863.—Josiah Milliken, Daniel T. Flint, Daniel Wiggin.

1864 Josiah Milliken, Alden B. Sanborn, Francis L. Ward.

1865-66.—Daniel T. Richardson, Benjamin Sawyer, Geo. W. Sanborn.

1867.—Daniel T. Richardson, Ebeneier Sawyer, Jr., Alfred S. Cousins.

1868 James Nelson, Thomas March, Marshall Baldwin.

1869.—Daniel T. Richardson, Daniel Wiggins, Samuel Staples.

1870.—Joseph Ridlon, James Norton, Marshall S. Cram.

1871.—James Norton, John Wiggins, Samuel Staples.

1872.—Samnel Staples, James Norton, George Bumell.

1873.—George Buraell, Elwyn F. Sawyer, James Martin.

1874.—Leander E. Cram, Daniel T. Richardson, John S. Cram.

1875-76.—Leander E. Cram, Elias M. Noble, Albion P. Murcb.

1877-78.—Leander K. Cram, Appleton N. Burnell, Jas. M. San)>orn.

1879.—Leander E. Cram, Appleton N. Bumell, John E. Cartrett.

TOWN OLERES.

Simon Harding, 1302 ; Joshua Larrabee, 1803-4; William Fitch, 1805
;

Josiah Pierce, 1806-19; Lot Davis, 1820-22; Ephraim Brown,

1823-24; Lot Davis, 1825-26 ; John Goodwin, 1827 ; Samuel In-

galls, 1828-34; Joshua Chadboume, 1835; James Norton, 1836-

39 ; Christopher D. Sawyer, 1840-41 ; John B. Stockman, 1842
;

Samuel Ingalls, 1843 ; Christopher D. Sawyer, 1844-45; John B.

Marr, 1846; Rufus N. Sanborn, 1847; John B. Marr, 1848-49;

Daniel T. Richardson, 1850-54 ; James Norton, 1855 ; Daniel T.

Richardson, 1856-63 ; Joseph Ridlon, Elbridge G. Noble (to fill

vacancy), 1864; Dan'I T.Richardson, 1865-67; Elbridge G. Noble,

1868 ; Henry B. Flint, 1869^70 ; Henry B. Flint, Daniel T. Rich-

ardson (to fill vacancy), 1871 ; Daniel T. Richardson, 1872 ; Lean-

der B. Cram, 1873-76; Albert W. Barnell, 1877-78; Daniel T.

Richardson, 1379.

CONSTABLES AND COLLECTOES.

Sylvanus Bacheldor, 1802-3; Josiah Sanborn, 1804; Ephraim Flint,

1805; David Poller, 1806; Col. David Potter, John Bumell, 1807;

MorrellHobs, 1808-10; JohnBumeli, 1811-12; Benjamin Brown,
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1813-15; David Potter, 1816; John Bumell, 1817-20 ; Benjamin

Brown,' John Bumell, cons., 1821 ; Joseph Harding, John Good-

win, oona., 1822; Benjamin Brown, 1823; John Barnell, S. G.

Usher, cona., 1821; S. G. Usher, Noah Randall, cons., 1825 ; Noah
Randall, 1826; Benjamin Larrabee, 1827; Josiah F. Sanborn,

1828; Abner Dow, 1829; John F. Sanborn, 1830; Levi Brown,

1831-32 ; Ephraim Flint, Josiah F. Sanborn, cons., 1833 ; Eph-

raim Flint, 1834; Ephraim Flint, Abner Dow, cons., 1835;

Josiah T. Sanborn, Jonathan Bornell, eons., 1836 ; Albert San-

bom, 1837 ; Rnfns Sanborn, Albert Sanborn, oons., 1838-39 ; Al-

bert Sanhora, 1840 ; John Goodwin, Albert Sanborn, cons., 1841

;

James Noble, Christopher D. Sawyer, cons., 1842; Ebenezer

Morrell, Christopher D. Sawer (to fill vacancy), 1843 ; Enoch San-

bora, Edward R. Baobeldor, cons., 1844; Enoch Sanborn, Ed-

ward R. Baoheldor, and Isaao Dyer, Jr., cons., 1845; Nathan

Sawyer, Edward R. Baoheldor, cons., 1846; Abishai Flint, John
Clement, eons., 1847; Robert T. Boynton, Edward R. Baoheldor,

cons., 1848-49 ; Henry Rowe, Israel Record, cons., 1850 ; Henry
Rowe, Andrew J. Ricker, cons., 1851 ; Henry Rowe, Samuel M.
Sawyer, cons., 1852; Andrew J, Ricker, 1853-54; lohabod Con-

sins, Jr., Andrew J. Ricker, oons., 1855 ; Cyrns F. Bomell, An-
drew J. Rioker, eons., 1856-57 ; lohabod Cousins, Jr., Andrew J.

Ricker, oons., 1858 ; George W. Sanborn, 1859-60 ; Andrew J.

Rioker, 1861 ; Elbridge G. Noble, 1862 ; Andrew J. Rioker, 1863

;

Joses H. Milliken, 1864-68 ; Richard T. Chase, Joses H. MilU-

ken, oons., 1869; Joses H. Milliken, Andrew J. Ricker, cons.,

1870; Joses H. Milliken, 1871; Hiram Gatchell, 1872; Joses H.
Milliken, 1873-77 ; George W. Sanborn, 1878-79.

TBEASUREBS.

Simeon Harding, 180.V4; Ephraim Baoheldor, 1306-9 ; John Bumell,

1810; Ephraim Baoheldor, 1811-15; Ephraim 3rown, 1816-26

Nathan Sawyer, 1827-28; David Brown, 1829; Sylvanus Bach

elder, 1830-32; Ephraim Flint, 1833-37 ; Rafos Sanborn, 1838-39

Joshua Chadbonme, 1840 ; John Goodwin, 1841-43 ; Enoch San

bom, 1844-46; Nathan Sawyer, 1846^ Abishai Flint, 1847

Robert T. Boynton, 1848-49; Henry Rowe, 1850-52; Cyras F-

Bnmell, 1853-54; Cyras S. Brown, 1855; Cyras F. Bumell,

1856-58; John Bnraell, 1859; John FIin% 1860-61; Eleazer

Flint, Jr. (vacancy), 1861 ; Eleazer Flint, Jr., 1862-63 ; Enoch

Sanborn, 1864; Eleazer Flint, .Jr., 1865-70; Joses H. Milliken,

1871-72; Eben Sawyer, Jr., 1873; Joses H. Milliken, 1874-76;

Oliver Murch, 1877-79.

RELIGIOUS.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

Methodist meetioga were held in Baldwin, by Rev. Mr.

Sonle, afterwards Bishop Sonle, as earlj as 1795, and by

Rev. Asa Heath, in 1802 ; but no organization was effected

previous to 1807. The first class included John Burnell

and wife, Joseph and Samuel Sally, Samuel and Lavinia

Bumell, Eleazer and Sally Mark, Ezekiel Milliken, Ephraim

and Abigail Wiley, Mary Lowell, Sylvanus Bacheldor,

Jonathan Wentworth, Isaac and Anna Strout. From the

organization to the present time services have been regu-

larly held, by the pastors of Conway and subsequent cir-

cuits, as follows

;

Lewis Bates, 1806 ; Samuel Baker, 1807 ; William Hunt,

P. E., Philip Munger, 1809 ; Philip Ayer, Charles Virgin,

1810; Robert Hayes, 1811; Francis Deane, 1812; Ben-

jamin Hazelton, 1813; John Yiokery, 1814; Josiah Scar-

ritt, 1815; James Jaques, 1816; Eleazer Steele, 1817;

John Lord, 1818; Benjamin Bumham, 1819-20; Job

Pratt, 1821 ; Benjamin Brown, 1822
;
Qprham Greely,

1823 ; John Briggs, 1824-25 ; Silas Finch^ T. Ayers, 1826

;

Nathaniel P. Devereaux, Daniel Fuller, 1827 ; Owen Bent,

Moses Lufkin, 1828 ; Daniel Crockett, 1829
; George D.

Strout, 1830-32 ; Amos Rollins, 1831 ; James Harrington,

1833 ; John McDyker, 1834-35; William Brown, 1836

;

George D. Strout, 1837-38

;

Rice, 1839
;

Yates,

Henry Linscott, 1840 ; H. W. Macomber, 1841 ; S. Bent,

A. Turner, 1843 ; S. Bent, 1844 ; M. D. Jones, 1845-46

;

John Cobb, C. Mugford, 1848 ; Augustus Sanborn, 1849
;

Simeon W. Pearce, 1850-51 ; John M. Woodbury, 1852-

53 ; Benjamin Lupkin, 1854-55 ; Swanton Ranks, 1856-

57 ; Solomon V. Gerry, 1858-59 ; John M. Woodbury,

1860-61 ; Samuel R. Berry, 1862-63; S. S. Gray, 1864;

S. F. Short, 1865 ; Hezekiah Chase, 1866-67 ; John H.

Griffin, 1868-69; Nathan Andrews, 1870-71; Alvah

Cook, 1872 ; Marcus Wright, 1873 ; D. M. De Hughes,

1874-75 ; Isaac Lord, 1876-77 ; J, Albert Corey, 1878

;

George C. Andrews, 1879. The present membership is 38,

besides which there is a class under the leadership of An-

drew J. Ricker, at East Baldwin, numbering 10 members.

The church was built by Joseph Richardson and Samuel

Richardson, and dedicated by Rev. James Lewis, of Gor-

ham, Jan. 1, 1828. The church was rebuilt in 1864.

Present officers : Andrew Ricker, Stephen Burnell,

Stewards.

A class was formed at North Baldwin, in 1838, by Rev.

Augustus Sanborn, with Eleazer Smith, class-leader, and

David Paine, wife and daughter, James and Rufus San-

born, William Thorn, and Haskett Murch, members. A
Union church was erected at " Beach Corner" by Moses

Parker and James M. Sanborn, for the Methodist, and

Isaac R. Wiggin, William Binford, for the Baptist soci-

ety, trustees, at an expense of $1400, and dedicated by

Rev. Marcus Wright, Nov. 1, 1874. The present officers

are James M. Sanborn, class-leader and steward; Luther

McOrison, steward. Present membership, 16.

The Hill Chapel class was the result of a revival under

the preaching of Rev. Dallas M. De Hughes. Of the 20

who formed the class, there were but three old members.

Joseph E. Parker was chosen leader. Services were held

at the residence of Mr. Leonard Rowe, for two years,

until the completion of their chapel, which was dedicated

May 8, 1878, by Rev. Israel Luce. The pulpit has since

been filled by the class-leader, and Rev. Henry Linscott, a

superannuated minister. Membership, 20. Trustees : Isaac

R. Wiggin, William Wentworth, Joseph Parker.

FIRST CONGREGATIONAL GHUBGH OF CHRIST.

Through the exertions of Mr. S. G. Usher and Jona-

than G. Paine, an ecclesiastical council was convened at

the house of Capt. Artemas Richardson, May 16, 1821.

Rev. Nathan Church was chosen moderator, and Josiah G.

Merrill scribe. The new candidates for membership were

Mrs. Mary Raddin, Mrs. Betsey Fitch, John C. Flint

and wife, Miss Sally Flint, Mrs. Joseph Richardson, Jr.,

Ephraim Brown and wife, and Ephraim Flint.

Mrs. Charlotte Flint and Ephraim Brown and wife

joined by letter from the church at Standish. Ephraim

Brown was made moderator, Jonathan Paine scribe, Jo-

seph Richardson, Jr., and Ephraim Flint deacons. At
the sacrament of the Lord's Supper, administered in July,

by Rev. David Marratt, Mrs. Benaire Davis, Mrs. Han-

nah Wingate, Mrs. Abner Dow, Eleazer Flint, and many
others, were admitted to the church. Jonathan G. Paine
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joined soon after. Rev. Noah Emerson, the first regular

pa.stor, was installed June 1, 1825, the ceremony taking

place in a beautiful grove of pines near the old school-house

where meetings were held. Ephraim Brown and Deacons

Ephraim Flint and Joseph Richardson, were chosen elders,

Jan. 1, 1826. The death of S. G. Usher, in 1826, and

Jonathan G. Paine, in 1827, was the loss of two leading

members.

In 1832 the first building was erected on Meadow
Brook, by Deacon Enoch Holden, and dedicated by a

grand council-meeting. Rev. Mr. Emerson held the pas-

torate until 1849, during which time Rev. John H. Gai-

man supplied his pulpit for three years. Rev. Cyril Pearl

was installed as pastor, Jan. 1, 1850. Mr. Pearl remained

for five years. He left the church without a regular pastor

until 1871, when Rev. Elkanah Walker came from Oregon,

on the solicitation of his son, Joseph £. Walker, then a

theological student, who had occasionally supplied this

charge. Soon after the old chun-h was abandoned, and a

movement was instituted by the ladies of the society to

build a new church. A beautiful grove, comprising half

an acre>of land, at East Baldwin Station, was donated by

Joshua Chadbonrne, of San Francisco, Cat., son of one of

the pioneers of the town, and a building erected by the

ladies, at an expense of $3U00, and dedicated June 13,

1877, by Rev. Mr. Lamson, of Worcester, Mass. The

communion service was presented by the granddaughters

of Mrs. Phcebe Thompson Pierce, who was one of the

first members of the church in Baldwin. Rev. Richard

Wickett was installed as pastor, which position he still

honors. There have been 42 members added to the church

in the last two years.

The present officers are Mrs. Eliza A. Richardson, Clerk

;

Stephen P. Douglass, Paris Ward, Charles McKinney,

Deacons ; Trustees : Susan A. Brown, Treasurer ; Phcebe

T. Flint, Mrs. Eliza A. Richardson.

SCHOOLS.

The first school-teacher in Baldwin was Joseph Rich-

ardson, who taught in his own house, in 1795. In 1805

six districts were organized. In 1819 the school com-

mittee were restricted from paying any money to any dis-

trict not having " a school-house 18 by 24, well boarded

or shingled outside, ceiled to the windows and plastered

inside, with seats, writing-tables, and a desk for the mas-

ter, a good chimney, panel door, and window-shutters out-

side." The report of Daniel T. Richardson, Leander E.

Cram, and William Gitchell, Superintending School Com-

mittee for 1878, show that there are 12 school districts,

comprising 370 scholars. There are 9 good school-houses,

supplied with modern conveniences, and schools are well

attended. There was raised for their support, in 1878,

—by assessment, $1000 ; for interest on school fund, in-

vested in town securities, 871.57 ; from the State school

fund, $609.54. A town-house was built, on land donated

by John S. Chase, in 1850. The town has also a farm for

the care of the poor.

ASSOCIATIONS.

PATRONS OP HUSBANDttT.

Mount Etna Grange, No. 147, organized April 8,

1875. Officers: Alden B. Sanborn, Master; John p].

Cartrett, Sec. ; Anna Sanborn, Ceres. Present member-

ship, 40.

Ephraim Flint, Esq., the only lawyer of the town, left

for a larger field in 1843.

Among the earlier merchants have been Josiah Pierce,

Lot Davis, J. liurrabee, John Burnell, Joseph Tyler,

Joshua Chadbourne. Present— Stephen Burnell, Post-

master, West Baldwin ; Daniel T. Richardson, Postmaster,

S. G. Sawyer, East Baldwin ; R. F. Chase, Postmaster,

Baldwin ; James Weed, North Baldwin.

MANUFACTUEES.

Fred. Harding, carriage stuffs ; established 1839. R.

Flint, spokes and tree-nails. A. N. Burnell, boards, shin-

gles, staves; established 1834. Peter W. Binford, wheel-

wright; established 1869. Edward and Samuel Richard-

son, saw- and grist-mill. Israel Richardson, cooperage ; es-

tablished 1839. C. Parker, staves; established 1827. E. &
A. Weed, blacksmiths' nails. A. & P. B. Young, lumber

;

established by J. Pierce, 1786. Frank Wood, staves and

boxes. R. & N. Sanborn, shingles, staves, and cooperage;

establbhed 1876. Burnham & Morrill, of Portland, canned

sweet corn ; established 1877.

PHYSICIANS.

The first physicians of the town were Dr. Joseph Ben-

ton and Dr. Louis Whitney. Dr. James Norton, who
commenced the practice of medicine at East Baldwin in

1835, is still the sole physician of the town.

28
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BIOGEAPHIOAL SKETCH.

BEUBEN BROWN.
Photot, by Conant. Portlaod,

UBS., REUBEN BROWN.

REUBEN BROWN,
Bon of David Brown, was born in the town of Baldwin, in

1792 ; spent his minority at home, attending the district

school and working on the farm. After reaching his ma-

jority he learned the carpenters' and joiners' trade, which

he subsequently followed in connection with farming. He
married Annis, daughter of Richard and Sarah Pierce, of

the town of Standish. Of this union were born three

children,—Electa, Orestes, and Trivilla. Only the youngest

is living (in 1879). In 1875, Mr. and Mrs. Brown cele-

brated their golden wedding, having been married fifty years,

and daring the same year he died.

Mr. Brown was a man of sterling int^rity and correct

habits. He was held in high esteem as a citizen of his

town, was selectman for several years, and in 1827 served

one term in the State Legislature.

30»i4-

B R I D G T O N.

GBANT AND LOCATION OP THE TOWN.

In the year 1761 the Legislature of Massachusetts passed

an act granting to Benjamin Milliken, Moody Bridges, and

Thomas Perley, agents for the legal representatives of Capt.

John Tyler and 56 others, soldiers and officers in the

Canada expedition of 1690, a township of land east of Saco

River. They proceeded to lay out a tract adjoining the

town of Pickwocket, now Fryeburg, nine miles in length

by six and a half miles in width, lying on both sides of

Long Pond, containing 37,440 acres. Their selection was

confirmed by the L^slature, June 25, 1765, with the

provision that a sixty-fourth part each should be set apart

for the first settled minister, for the support of the min-

istry, and for Harvard College, and that they settle 30

families, build a house of worship, and settle a learned

Protestant minister within six years. During the next

year that part west of Long Pond was surveyed in lots

half a mile long and one hundred rods wide, under the

direction of Moody Bridges, Richard Peabody, and Col.

Thomas Poor. The town was then allotted in 86 equal

shares among the 61 proprietors, one each for the minister,

for the ministry, for the support of schools, for Harvard

College, for the first settler in the township, and the re-

maining 20, lying east of Long Pond, now in Harrison,

they held undivided. To encourage settlement they offered

100 acres of this land to each settler who should clear 12

acres of land, erect a house, and settb his family thereon

before 1771. In 1767 a road was opened, sufficient for

passage on horseback, from Long Pond to Pearsontown

Fort, at Standish Corner, and the name of Pondicherry, a

name derived from a city in Coramandel, Asia, by which it

had been first known, abandoned for that of Bridgton, in

honor of Moody Bridges, proprietors' clerk and a leading

spirit in the enterprise.

EAELT SETTLEMENT.

The first settler was Capt. Benjamin Kimball, a sailor,

who came from Ipswich, Mass., in the spring of 1768,
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under an agreement with the proprietors to settle in the

township hy the 10th of June, and build a convenient

house for the entertainment of travelers by the 10th of

September, to keep a store of goods, and also to build a

sailboat of two tons' burden, with which he should hold

himself in readiness to carry passengers and goods between

the "carrying place" in Pearsontown* and the head of

Long Pond for a term of six years. For this service one

" right" of land, comprising about 435 acres, was conveyed

to him by the first deed drawn by the proprietors, and

bearing date :
" The Sixth Bay of April, in the eighth

Year of the Beign of Sovereign Ijord George the third,"

etc., 1768; and two shillings sixpence a trip for his boat,

six shillings a day for himself and five for an assistant

His assistant was Stephen Gates, from Andover, Mass.,

who afterwards settled on lot 6, range 7.

Mr. Kimball kept an inn and small store of the most

needed goods at the head of Long Pond, ran his boat and

traded with the Indians until disabled by paralysis, from

which he died in 1802.

Timothy Gates, brother to Stephen, came at the same

time, living a roving life in the woods until the outbreak

of the war, when he enlisted. He was ailcrwards known

as Serjeant Gates.

Jacob Stevens came from Andover with his sons during

the summer and built a saw-mill and grist-mill at the outlet

of Crotched Pond, receiving from the proprietors five acres

of land along that stream, one " right" of land, and lot

No. 8 in range 4, with the sole privilege of the stream so

long as he should keep the mills in repair. From these

mills, which were near the mouth of the stream, it took

its name of Stevens' Brook. Mr. Stevens and his boys

kept house for themselves, his wife remaining in Andover

with her aged mother. In 1777 his daughter Elizabeth,

who was but four years old when he left home, came to

Bridgton to be their housekeeper.

In 1769, David Eneeland, from Topsfield, Mass., settled

on the upper ridge, and planted the first orchard. He was

followed, in 1770, by David Clark, who commenced clear-

ing in the northeast corner of the town, near Mr. Knee-

land. He left his farm to enter the army in 1776, return-

ing at the end of the war. In 1772, the time for award-

ing the merited lots was extended to August, 1773, and

the amount of cleared land fixed at 6 instead of 12 acres.

Enoch and Noah Stiles, stimulated by the brilliant offer

made them at their homes in Andover, the headquarters of

the proprietors, proceeded at once to Bridgton, where they

made permanent settlements, but failed to secure the re-

ward, owing to the heavy growth of timber and the extreme

hardships of pioneer life.

Id 1772, Azael Foster, father of Asacl, Francis, Amos

P., and Moody Foster,f came from Danvers, and built the

* The firet lettlement in Standish, on Sebago Lake, east of Sebago

Lake Station, and now known as tbe " old steamboat landing.''

f We clip the following from a biographical sketch of Capt. Amos P.

Foster, father of Rer. Charles P. Foster, of Bridgton. Mr. Foster had

been on an evening visit to his intended, Miss Annie Kntgbt, of Den-

mark, and was returning, when he stumbled upon a huge bear. The

bear made for him at once, and to escape, be made baste to climb a

small tree—one which he supposed too small for the bear to hug. But

first frame house in Bridgton, at what is now Sand Creek

post-office, and William Emerson, from Methuen, settled

on the east side of Wood's Pond, near the outlet. They

both proved able pioneers, and received " merited" lots of

land of 100 acres each. Mrs. Foster was the first married

woman settled in the town, Mr. Kimball's housekeeper

being his daughter. Her son, Moses Hale, Jr., born June

8, 1772, was the first white child born in the town, and,

after some years' delay, received the 100 acres promised.

Mr. Emerson became known, in after-years, as the friend

of the helpless, moving from place to place, with his hand-

sled or pack, to relieve the wants of the hungry or sick, his

only reward the pleasure of doing good.

Reuben Burnbam, from Bolton, Mass., the first deacon

of the Congregational Church, settled near the centre of

the town in 1774. He was killed by a falling tree eleven

years after. He was the father of Timothy Burnliam.

The next year, James Flint, of Reading, Mass., and

Simeon Burnbam, father of Nathaniel and Simeon Burn-

ham, located on the west side of Crotched Pond, and Ste-

phen Johnson settled on the lowlands on the east side of

Wood's Pond. Mr. Johnson was a famous hunter, delight-

ing in the pursuit of the moose and the bears which

abounded in this region long after the first settlement.

In 1776, Enoch Perley, a young man of twenty-seven,

son of Thomas Perley, one of the proprietors, came to

Bridgton, and, with that business sagacity still inherited by

his descendants, saw the untold value in the dense pine

forests which covered the land, valueless in itself from the

immense wealth with which it was encumbered. To the

rare sagacity he possessed, was joined an indifference for

hardship and danger equal to that of his uncle, Gen. Israel

Putnam. Making his camp alone in the woods, he ranged

the forests for deer and bears, read, wrote poetry, and drew

charts upon birch-bark, or from the top of Mount Prospect,

near his cabin, viewed the surrounding country through his

glass, finding time meanwhile to complete a house for the

reception of his prospective bride. Such was his energy

and skill in business affairs that, in 1777, the proprietors

removed their headquarters from Massachusetts to Bridg-

ton, and made him proprietors' clerk, placing all the records

in his keeping. He held this important trust until the

property having all been disposed of, the corporation ceased

to exist.

Mr. Perley abandoned his first house for a better one, in

which the records of the company were burned on the

night of Oct. 2, 1780, together with many interesting

he soon saw her bearship coming up after him. He climbed as high as

he dared to, lest his weight should break the tree. The bear took his

heel in her teeth, tearing away the slipper and fiesh, and losing her

hold, fell to the ground. Foster then sujtposed his danger post, but

he was again disappointed. She had no sooner recovered her feet

than she climbed the tree again, this time tearing the flesh away from

his heels, clean to the bones, and both man and bear fell to the ground

the tree breaking. Mr. Foster was " top of the heap" when they

struck the ground, and ran with all his might towards his home,—the

bear did not follow,—and was so wild with fear that he did not feel

tbe pain of his feet until going through a field of rye stubble, which
pricked tbe mangled flesh. He married tbe lady. Years after,, when
in New York, he heard two men discussing the probability ot tbe

story, and astonished them by removing his bool^ and showing the
soars upon his feet.
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private records of early settlement gathered by Mr. Perley.

The old house is still standing, thoagh moved from its

original position.

In 1779, Theodore Emerson, from Methnen, Isaiah In-

galla, frt)m Andover (a sarveyor), and David Hale, father

of David Hale, Jr., from Templeton, Mass., were added to

the colony. At the expiration of the Revolutionary war

Robert Andrews located in the south part of the town, near

Adams' Pond, living alone. He became a leading citizen,

and at his death lefc $1000 as a fund for the relief of the

industrious poor. Daniel Perley, from Boxford, and John

Peabody, from Andover, came in 1780; and, in 1781, Na-

thaniel, brother of David Hale, and Phineas Ingalls, of An-

dover. In June, 1 782, the merited lots—of 100 acres each

—

were awarded to David Kueeland, William Emerson, Asael

Foster, Richard Peabody, Stephen Gates, James Flint, David

Clark, and Timothy Gates, and to Benjamin Kimball and

Jacob Stevens two lots each. Moody Bridges and Stephen

Kimball afterwards received one lot each. These lands are

now southeastern Harrison. Fifty acres of land and a

house and shop ready built were given to Jesse Knapp, as

an indncement to open a blacksmith-shop. This was half

a mile south of Bridgton village.

In 1781 a joint committee of the surrounding towns re-

moved the most prominent obstructions from the Sungo

"Ripplings," under the management of Ciipt. Kimball.

A public saw-mill was built at the outlet of Wood's Pond,

and in 1.785, when nearly completed, carried away by high

water. It was rebuilt in 1786, and the next year sold at

public auction, "payable in any kind of produce, the buyer

binding himself to receive the same kind of pay for saw-

ing."

Fear of Indians prevented rapid settlement, and some-

times sent families in alarm to Staudish. After the close

of the war, settlement advanced more rapidly, so that by

1787 the town contained 39 families. Besides those men-

tioned, this number included. Noah Beeman, John Daven-

port, Moses How, Jesse Knapp, Nathaniel Hale, Samuel,

Asa, and Richard Kimball, George Mead, John Porter,

Thomas Symonds, Ephraim Jewett, and William, Nathan-

iel, and Abraham Bumham.

VILLAGES.

BaiDOTON.

In 1789, William Sears, of Beverly, Mass., purchased

the two lots on Stevens' Brook, comprising the older part of

the village of Bridgton, and erected a grist-mill below the

saw-mill at the outlet of Crotched Pond, and erected the

first tavern in the village, on the comer opposite Bridgton

House. A meeting-house was commenced in 1790, and

finbbed in 1798. Ten acres of land were laid out for a

burying'ground and training-field iu 1792. A militia com-

pany was formed the same year, with Isaiah Ingalls, cap-

tain ; Robert Andrews, lieutenant ; and John Kilbom,

ensign. This ground was for many years the scene of pat-

riotic training-days, and brilliant with the red-and-blue

uniforms and white cockades of the " Light Infantry'' of

Bridgton, who were paid 20 cents each in cash, and took

the balance of their pay in a hearty enjoyment of the

occasion.

A post-office was opened in 1800. By 1811 the place

had increased to a dozen dwellinss.

Mr. Merrill kept a stock of goods in one room, and

another was located in one corner of the Sears tavern, after-

wards the Pondicherry House, and Mr. Fairbrother was

making his famous pumps. The girls of the neighborhood

spun and wove for fifly cents a week, the carding and

finishing establishments of Rufus Chase, near the tannery

bridge, or Artemus Brigham, just below the grist-mill,

completing the process of manufacture.

Sixty years later we find a party of travelers from Ply-

mouth, N. H.,* alighting from a balloon at the door of the -

veritable old hotel, in the midst of the most busy and popu-

lous village in Northern Cumberland County, the one hun-

dred and forty-three feet of waterfall in the stream passing

through at the foot of the hill, and supplying the motive

power for 13 mills and factories.

In 1879 this number had increased to 23, and a popula-

tion of 1400, supporting a .union high school, newspaper,

bank, and telegraph-office, and the village had acquired a

creditable repute as a manufacturing centre.

The Bridgton Savings Bunk was incorporated in 18U9,

with William W. Cross, President ; Rufus Gibbs, Treas-

urer ; Geo. G. Wight, A.ssistant Treasurer. Rufus Gibbs

became president and P. P. Burnham treasurer in 1872.

Geoi^u P. Perley succeeded Mr. Bumham as treasurer in

1879.

NEVrsrAPERS.

The Bridgton Reporter, S. H. Noyes publisher, Enoch

Knight editor, was first issued at Bridgton village, Nov. 2,

1858, and afterwards edited by David Hule, who entered

the army soon after. He was succeeded by Capt. Horace

C. Little and George Warren. The office was destroyed by

fire in 1864, just after election, and re-issued by Duvid

Hale, with the startling head-line, " Death to Copperheads

and Incendiaries 1" but ceased publication soon after.

Tlie Bridgton News, a seven-column, four-page weekly,

24 by 30, was established Sept. 9, 1870, by H. A. Shorey,

editor and proprietor, at $1.50 a year. This paper is ably

edited and well supported. Local editor since 1870, Chas.

0. Stiokney.

The Sebago Lake Steam Navigation Company, whose

headquarters are here, built the steamer " Fawn" in 1847,

made a trial trip, and soon after removed the machinery

and abandoned the boat In 1869 the " Oriental" was

built by Capt. Symonds, and purchased by the company, of

which Charles E. Gibbs was and still is manager. A larger

boat, the " Sebago," was soon added, and the " Oriental,"

which was burned, was replaced by the " Mount Pleasant."

A regular daily line has since been continued between the

south shore of Sebago Luke and North Bridgton.

From the completion of the first church, in 1798, it

served the joint purpose of church and town-house, until the

erection of the new church by the First Parish in 1834,

* An aotoal ooourrenoe ; on a voyage of ProfL King, the aeronaut.
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when it was nbaadooed to the sole use of the town "author-

ities. In March, 1S51, Moses Gould, John Kilborn, Luke

Brown, Horace Billings, William T. Kilborn, Rensselaer

Cram, and John P. Perlej were chosen a committee to

build the present town-house, which was erected on the

TOWN-HOUSE, BRIDGTON.

hill overlooking the lake and village, and dedicated by a

grand mass-meeting of the citizens of Bridgton held Jan.

8, 1852. Hon. Nathaniel S. Littlefield was made president

of the -meeting, and an addr&ss was delivered by Hon.

Slarshall Cram, of Bridgton.

FIRE DEPARTMENT.

This dates back to the advent of the " Waterspout" in

1840, a light engine worked by a horizontal motion in the

hands of the young men of the village, and cutting their

fingers against the brakes if worked too rapidly. This

never ofiFercd any serious resistance to a fire, though led

by the learned Judge H. Carter, now of Haverhill, Mass.,

and worked by Augustus Perley, W. W. Cross, Bufus

Gibbs, and the late Hon. Rensselaer Cram.

The present fire department was incorporated March 1,

1854. William W. Cross, Benjamin Walker, and Reuben

Ball were chosen assessors; George G. Wight, Clerk;

Augustus Perley, Treasurer ; and Edward O. Adams, Col-

lector. They have an engine-house, a good engine worked

by hand, a Babcock chemical, American chemical engine,

and a roll of 77 men. Officers: M. Gleason, Chief En-

gineer ; L. S. Carman, P. P. Bumham, Assbtant Engineers

;

E. A. Littlefield, Clerk ; F. P. Bennett, Treasurer.

The town owns a farm, purchased in 1871, valued at

83000, supplied with JIOOO worth of personal property,

for the support of the poor.

NORTH BRIDGTON,

at the head of Long Pond, on the site of the first settle-

ment in the town, contains 40 fine residences, a church,

academy, the Lake Hotel of John B. Martin, established

in 1873, near the site of the old Kimball tavern of 1768;

the summer hotel of James Webb, Jr., remodeled from

the "Lieut. Andrews' House," built in 1812; machine-

and saw-shop of Osgood Bailey, established, 1857, by

Richard G. Bailey & Son
;
pottery, R. F. Kitson, estab-

lished 1815 ;
ornamental painting, John Mead, established

1856; store, Kimball & Co., established 1871; saw- and

grist-mills and furniture-store of Luke & F. H. Brown.

Mails are received by daily stage, Edward Kimball, post-

master.

SOUTH BRIDGTON

is a hill-side hamlet at Adams' Pond, overlooking Holt's

and Ingalls' Ponds and the valley to the south, where

Foster's mills and J. & 0. F. Knapp's box-factory occupy

the site of the " old grist-mill" erected by Mr. Jlead pre-

vious to 1799. The place contains some 30 dwellings,

a church, school-house, and the following industries : gen-

eral merchandise, T. B. Knapp, since 1809, established by

Z. Sylvester 1805 ; shoe and harness, Nahum Knapp, es-

tablished 1824; and clothing-manufactory, T. B. Knapp,

established 1876.

A short distance to the south, at the foot of Prospect

Mountain, are the fine buildings of Col. John P. Perley,

their ample dimensions in strange contrast with the little

wood-colored, steep-roofed, one-story building, not 16 feet

square, standing between the house and barns, with the

eaves to the road. This is the house to which his grand-

father, Enoch Perley, Esq., welcomed his bride in 1777,

and in which Gen. Thomas Perley was born. The only

door stands at one end, and a tall, narrow window admits

the light from either side. Entering the door a swinging

ladder, suspended by a hook and wooden hinges, leads the

way to sleeping-apartments beneath the horizontal rafters

which support the roof. This house was abandoned for the

larger one, in which the records were burned in 1780. A
few rods to the south a granite column marks tlie grave of

its builder.

The old burying-ground beside Adams' Pond contains

many of the early men of prominence, among whom are

Lieut. Robert Andrews, Nathan Hale, and Isaiah Ingalls,

—soldiers of the Revolution,—Capts. Peter and Asa Kim-

ball, Drs. Jonathan Fessenden—father and son. Two
miles to the north of North Bridgton a small inclosure

contains two long rows of slate and marble stones, marking

the graves of Capt. John Hayward and his great-grandson,

Preston M. Glines, who fell in the war of the Rebellion,

Luther P. Barnard, Co. B, 2.'^d Maine, and the unmarked

grave of Joseph Kimball, another veteran of the Revolu-

tion.

The beautiful park of the dead, on the eastern slope of

the old training-ground at Bridgton Centre, was set apart

for a burying-place after the burial of several pei-sons, who
now sleep beneath the Congregationalist church ; among
these are Elizabeth Bumham, died Nov. 4, 1775, Mrs.

David Kneeland, Israel SpafiFord, and Scth Emerson.

Beneath the oak, maple, and acacia groves are grouped the

members of the oldest families of Bridgton, and her most

enterprising citizens for the last half-century. Capt. John
Kilborn, Jr., is buried at Sand Creek. There are many
private burying-grounds scattered through the town, con-

taining the remains of the earliest settlers.

DESCRIPTION.

Bridgton is bounded on the north by Sweden and

Waterford, in Oxford County ; on the east, by Harrison and

Long Pond ; on the south, by Naples and Sebago ; and on
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the irest, by Denmark, in Oxford County. The surface

consists mainly of higkrolling land, rising towards the north-

west, and broken by ridges mnning parallel with its lakes.

That portion to the east of Long Pond was joined to Har-

rison in 1805; in 1834 2500 acres, and in 1856 10 acres

of the sontheastem part were joined to Naples. A portion

of Fryebarg north of the north line, and a part of Den-

mark west of the west line, amounting to 3700 acres, were

added to the northwest in 1847. It is watered by seven

smaller ponds, besides Long Pond, on the east, and Moose,

Crotched, and Woods' Ponds within its borders, which are

its principal waters. A telegraph line, erected in 1877,

with an ofiSce at Bridgton, connects with the Western

Union telegraph lines at Brownfield. There are four post-

offices in the town : Bridgton, Charles E. Gibbs, postmaster.

Mail by stage twice daily to Brownfield ; daily to South

Paris via North Bridgton and Harrison ; and daily to

Naples and Raymond via Portland stage. Established as

money-order office, 1869 ; international office, 1877. The

other post-offices are North and South Bridgton, and Sand

Creek.

8ANDT CREEK,

formerly known as " Pinhook," contains 25 dwell-

ings, a school-house, church, a store, and the saw- and

shingle-mill of A. 6. Berry & Son, established 1864, on the

site of the old town mill, the grist-mill of D. P. Chaplin,

built in 1853, a smith- and paint-shop, and has a resident

lawyer and physician. The post-office was opened in April,

1879,—T. B. Lang, postmaster.

INCOEPOBATION.

Bridgton was incorporated as a town Feb. 7, 1794. The

first town-meeting was held on the 18th of March of the

same year. Enoch Perley was chosen Moderator ; Isaiah

Ingalls, Town Clerk ; Phineas Ingalls, Treasurer ; Robert

Andrews, James Fliot, and Joseph Sears, Selectmen

;

Samuel Famsworth, Enoch Perley, and Joseph Scars,

School Committee ; Samuel Kimball, Ephraim Jewett, and

David Hale, Field-Drivers ; James Flint, Samuel Faros-

worth, and David Hale, Tything-Men ; William Oliver

and Timothy Gates, Deer-Reeves; and Reuben Ingalls,

Samuel Davis, and Asael Foster, Hog-Reeves. For that

year the town raised the sum of £1 00 for the repair of high-

ways ; £30 to defray town charges, and £18 for the support

of schools. There were 41 vptes cast at this election. In

August of that year it was voted that the town pay drafted

soldieis enough to make their pay up to $8 per month.

SELECTMEN.

1794.—Robert Andrews, James Flint, Joseph Sears.

179S.—Enoob Ferle;, Samuel Famawortb, David Clark.

1T96.—Robert Andrews, David Clark, Samael Famsworth.

1.797.—Daniel' Perley, Samnel Famsworth, Benjamin Kimball, Jr.

1798.—Samuel Famsworth, Robert Andrews, Israel Kimball.

1799.—Samuel Famsworth, Robert Andrews, James Flint.

1800.—Samuel Famsworth, Enoch Perley, David Clark.

1801.—Enoch Perley, Benjamin Kimball, Isaiah Ingalls.

1802.—Phineas IngsUs, John Kilbom, Samuel Andrews.

1803.—Benjamin Kimball, John Perley, Joseph Sears.

1804-5.—Robert Andrews, Joseph Sears, Benjamin Kimball.

1806.—Phineas Ingalls, Joseph Sears, Benjamin Kimball.

1807.—Enoch Perley, Joseph Sears, Benjamin Kimball.

1808.—Pbineas Ingalls, John Kilbom, Benjamin Kimball.

1 809.^Enoch Perley, Joseph Sear», Benjamin Kimball.

1810.—Pbineas Ingalls, Samuel Davis, Benjiimin Kimball.

1811-12.—Phineas Ingalls, John Kilborn, Jedediah Kimball.

1813.—Josiah Ingalls, John Kilbom, Samuel Andrews.

1 814.—John Perley, Maj. George Lewis, Jonathan Barnard:

1815.—Phineas Ingalls, Israel Kimball, Xathaniel Howe.

1816.—Pbineas Ingalls, John Kilbom, Israel Kimball.

1S17.—Phineas Ingalls, John Perley, Jonathan Barnard.

1818-20.—Pbineas Ingalls, John Perley, Jedediah Kimball.

1821-22 John Perley, John Willett, Samuel Famsworth.

1 823.—Phineas Ingalls, Jedediah Kimball, John Kilbom.

1824.—John Perley, Bennett Pike, Stephen Beeman.

1825.—Bennett Pike, John Perley, George W. Cushman.

1826.—Bennett Pike, Thomas Perley, Ckorge W. Cushman.

1827.—^Bennett Pike, Thomas Perley, Samael Famsworth,* John

Willett.

1828.—Theodore Ingalls, John Willett, Richard 0. Bailey.

1829-31.—^Theodore Ingalls, Asa Ingalls (2d), George W. Cushman.

1832-33.—Nathaniel S. Littlefield, Asa Ingalls (2d), George W.

Cushman.

1834.—Nathan S. Littlefield, David Fowler, Asahel Cram.

1835.—Nathan S. Littlefield, Asa Ingalls (2d), George W. Cushman.

1836.—George W. Cushman, Asa Ingalls (2d), Richard T. Smith.

1337.—Theodore Ingalls, Asa Ingalls (2d), George W. Cushman.

1838.—^Theodore Ingalls, Thomas Cleaves, Jacob Hazen, Jr.

1839.—Moody F. Walker, Jacob Haien, Jr., Thomas Cleaves.

1840-41.—Theodore Ingalls, Thomas Cleaves, William Patter.

1842.—Moody F. Walker, William Potter, Asa lugalls, Jr.

1843.—Moody F. Walker, Osborn Chaplin, Jacob Hazen, Jr.

1844.—Theodore Ingalls, Jacob Hazen, Moses Stiukney.

1845.—^Theodore Ingalls, Asa Ingalls, Luke Brown.

1846.—Theodore Ingalls, Jacob Hazen, Edward T. Alley.

1847.—Jacob Hazen, Edward T. Alley, Reuben Ball.

1848.—Jacob Hazen, Edward T. Alley, Franklin Gibbs.

1849 Jacob Hacen, Edward T. Alloy, Reuben Ball.

1850.—Thomas Cleaves, Reuben Ball, James Webb.

1851.—Thomas Cleaves, Richard Kimball, Caleb Stevens.

1852-53.—Nathaniel S. Littlefield, John Kilbom, Jacob Hazen.

1854.—Luke Brown, William W. Cross, Edmund Mayo.

1855-56.—Samuel Andrews (2d), John Kilbom, Aaron Brigham.

1857.—Samuel Andrews (2d), Charles O. Thorp, Darwin Ingalls.

1 858.—Nathaniel S. Littlefield, Charles G. Thorp, Darwin Ingalls.

1859.—Lather Billings, Jacob Chaplin, John Kilbom.

1860.—Luther Billings, Celeb A. Chaplin, Isaac Webb.

1861.—Caleb A. Chaplin, Thomas Cleaves, Isaac Webb.

1862.—Thomas Cleaves, Jacob Hazen, George E. Mead.

1863.—Nathaniel S. Littlefield, John F. Potter, Hugh Bennett.

1864-65.—Lot G. Nelson, John P. Perley, George E. Chadboume.

1866.—George E. Chadbourne, Edwin F. Fessenden, Benjamin C,

Stone.

1867.—George E. Chadboume, Francis B. Caswell, Edwin F. Fessen-

den.

1868-70.—George E. Chadbou'-.ie, Ephraim R. Brown, William F.

Fessenden.

1871.—George E. Chadboume, Ashabel Chaplin, Frederick J. Little-

field.

1872-73.—Edwin F. Fessenden, Byron Kimball, Isaiah S. Webb.

1874.—Nathaniel S. Littlefield, Jacob Hazen, Darwin Ingalls.

1875-76.—Benjamin C. Stone, Edwin Ingalls, William F. Fessenden.

1877.-Edwin Ingalls, William F. Fessenden, George O. Wight.

1878.—William F. Fessenden, Edwin Ingalls, George G. Wight.

1879.—Edwin Ingalls, William F. Fessenden, William Leavitt.

TOWN GLEBES.

Josiah Ingalls, 1794; Dr. Samnel Famsworth, 1785-1800; Joseph

Buraham, 1801-3; Samuel Famsworth, 1804-17; Theodore In-

galls,* 1817 ; Dr. Theodore Ingalls, 1818-32; Nathaniel S. Little-

field, 1832-35; Dixey Stone, 1836-37; Moody F. Walker, 1838-

42; Dixey Stone, 1843; John P. Davis, 1844; Samuel Andrews

(2d), 1845-49; Samuel Mason, 1850-51; Samuel Andrews (2d),

1852; Nathaniel S. Littlefield, 1853; Samuel Mason, 1854;

Snmuel Andrews (2d), 1856 ; William T. Kilbom, 1856-58 ; Leon-

* To fill vacanoy.
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DAEWIN INGALLS,
Ptaotot. bj Serxj, Bridgton.

DARWIN INGALLS.

ASA INGAXLS.

Edmond Ingalls, emigrant of the Ingalls family,

bom in Lincolnshire, England, came to Lynn, Mass.,

in 1629, and was accidentally drowned in the Saugus

River in 1648. His brother Francis accompanied

him to this country, was a tanner by trade, and is

said to have erected the first tannery in America.

The grandfather of Darwin Ingalls, Phineas In-

galls, was sixth in descent from Edmond Ingalls.

He was born in AndoVer, Mass., Nov. 14, 1758, was

a soldier in the Revolutionary war, and in 1781 set-

tled in Bridgton, on the farm now in possession of

his great-grandson. He held the various town offices,

was a representative in the Legislature of Massachu-

setts, a member of the convention that framed the

constitution of Maine, a member of the first Legis-

lature of Maine, and a member of the first Court of

Sessions, which last office he held until debarred by

age. He died Jan. 5, 1844. His wife was Elizabeth,

daughter of Jacob Stevens, of Andover, Mass., born

Nov. 19, 1764, and married Oct. 22, 1783.

Asa, father of the subject of this narrative, born

Jan. 14, 1787, in Bridgton, married June 25, 1816,

Phoebe, daughter of Elias and Jane (Stiles) Beny.

Her parents were natives of Massachusetts, but set-

tled in Denmark, Oxford Co., Me., about the year

1800. She was bom at Andover, Marcli 4, 1792.

Asa Ingalls was a farmer and lumberman by

occupation. He was an active member of tlie Dem-

ocratic party, held various offices in his town, and
'

was a representative in the State Legislature. He

was a member of the Congregational Church. He

died Feb. 19, 1862. His wife died Aug. 31, 1864.

Darwin Ingalls, born in Bridgton, July 11, 1822,

married May 31, 1852, Mary J., daughter of James

and Hnldah (Beny) Patrick, of Denmark. She was

born May 2, 1834. Mr Ingalls spent his boyhood

at home on the farm, and received a fair common-

school education. His business through life has been

farming and lumbering, being lai^ly interested in

Western lumber lands.

Like his ancestors, he is an unswerving member

of the Democratic party. He was representative

from Bridgton in the State Legislature in 1857 and

1858, has been selectman, and also held various

other offices in his town. He resides on the old

homestead, settled by his grandfather nearly a cen-

tury ago. His children are Aldana, George A., and

Albert A.
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ard 31. Burnham, 1839 ; Lot C. Nelson, 1S60-61 ; S. M. Harmon,

1862; Samuel M. Hayden, 1863; Jamoa R. Alitma, 1864; Sher-

burn M. Harmon, 1865-66 ; George C. Wight, 1867-70 ; llobert

A. Cleaves, 1871; Benjamin-C. Stone, 1372-7-1; Pcrley P. Burn-
ham, 1875-78 ; Mellen Plnmmer, 1870.

IBEASCREES.

Phineu Ingallg, 1794-06; Capt. William Lears, 1707; Enoch Perley,

1708; Joseph Sears, 1709-1800; Robert Andrews, 1801-2; Enooh
Perley, 1803; Samnel Andrews, 1801; Samuel Famswortb, 1805;
Josiah Ingalli, 1806; Robert Andrews, 1807-0; John Perley,

1810; Samnel Andrews, 1811-14; Seba Smith, 1815; Samnel
Andrews, 1816; Nathaniel Howe, 1817-20; Bennett Piko, 1821-

23; Theodore Ingalls, 1824-25; Bennett Pike, 1826-27; Dlxey
Stone,* 1827; Dixey Stone, 1828; Nathaniel 8. Littlefield, 1820-

32; Theodore Ingalls, 1833-35; Richard Davis, 1336; Theodore
Ingalls, 1837-43; FrankliA Oibbs, 1844; Benjamin Walker,
1845; Reuben Ball, 1846-48; Sewell C. Stront, 1840-50; S. C.

Stront, 1851; Nathaniel S. LittleBeld, 1852-53; Benjamin Wal-
ker, 1854; Nathaniel S. LittleBeld, 1855-57; Alvin Davis, 1853;
Lot C. Nelson, 1859; Nathan Cleaves, 1860-61; Benjamin C.

0. Stone, 1862; Alvin Davie, 1863; William W. Cross, 1864;

Nathaniel Pease, 1865-66; William F. Fessenden,* 1866; Angos-
tns Perley, 1867-68; John P. Perley, 1869-70; Jacob Frost,

1871; Perley P. Burnham, 1872; William F. Fessenden, 1873;
Richard H. Davis, 1874; Edwin F. Fessenden, 1875-76; Wm.
F. Perry, 1877; John H. Caswell, 1878-79.

COLLECTORS AND CONSTABLES.

Asoel Foster, Bphraim Jewett,* 1704; Esra Oibbs, 1795; Benjamin
Kimball, Jr., 1796 ; David Hale, 1797-1800 ; Joseph Sears, 1801-4;;

Abner Dodge, Jr., 1305-6 ; James Stevens, Jr., James Emerson,

cons., 1807; James Emerson, 1808; Reuben Ingalls, 1800; John
Kilbom, 1810 ; Joseph Sears, 181 1 ; James Emerson, 1812 ; Benja-

min Kimball, 1813-16 ; Reuben Ingalls, 1817-18 ; Ebeneier H.

Soribner, 1810; Benjamin Kimball, 1820-21; James Emerson,

1822; David Fowler, 1823-25; Col. David Patter, 1826; Qeorge

W. Whitney, 1827-28; Benjamin Walker, 1829-31; Thomas
Cleaves, cons, and coll., Benjamin Walker, cons., 1832 ; Thomas
Cleaves, 1833; Rufus Gibbs, 1834-36; Reuben Ball, 1837; Rufus

Qibbs, 1838 ; David Fowler, 1830 ; Nathaniel Pease, 1840 ; Levi

W. Holmes, Franklin Gibbs,* 1841 ; Franklin Gibbs, 1842-43
;

Charles G. Thorp, 1344; John F. Potter, 1845; Franklin Gibbs,

1346; Richard K. Hunt, 1847-50; Nathan F. Sawyer, 1851;

Nathaniel Pease, 1852 ; Leonard M. Burnham, 1853 ; Edward L.

0. Adams, 1854; Russell Lamson, 1855-56; George Hall, 1857-

58; John Kilbom, Jr., 1850-60; William F. Fessenden, 1861-62;

Edward Bennett, 1863; William F. Fessenden, 1861-70; John F.

Potter, 1871-75; Greenleaf T. Marriner, 1876; Benjamin F.

Hilliken, 1877; WUIiam A. Morrison, 1873; Charles B. Gibbs,

1879.

EELIGIOUS.

FIRST CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

The early history of this church is closely connected

with the history of the settlement of Bridgton. In the

year 1765 the Legislature of Massachusetts confirmed the

original grant made to the proprietors of the land, upon

condition " that they should build a house for public wor-

ship, settle a learned Protestant minister, and lay out one

sixty-fourth part of the township for the use of the first

settled minister, and one other sixty-fourth part for the sup-

port of the ministry."

Owing to unforeseen obstacles the settlement did not

advance as rapidly as was anticipated, and not having the

means, they were unable for many years to comply with

these requirements. They had, however, almost from the

* To fill vacancy.

commencement of the settlement, employed a preacher

some part of each year, generally from three to five or six

months.

On the 26th of August, 1784, the church was organized

by Rev. William Johnson, pastor of the church in Fryeburg,

under the title of the "First Congregational Church," with

6 male members, to whom were immediately added 11 others,

—6 by letter and 5 on profession,—making 17 in all,

—

10 males and 7 females. Of this number were Jacob Stevens

and wife, Jesse Knapp, John Peabody and wife, Reuben

Burnham and wife, £uoch Perley and wife, James Stevens,

Submit Enapp, and Rachel Hale. Reuben Burnam was

chosen deacon, and dying in 1785, John Peabody was made

deacon instead. Huldab, wife of Capt. Benj. Kimball,

Phineas Ingalls and wife, Jacob Howe and wife joined

previous to 1790.

In 1788 the proprietors united with the church in a call

to Mr. Nathan Church, a native of South Hadley, educated

at Dartmouth College, to become their minister. He cume

to Bridgton in 1788, and became the first settled minister

on the 17th of June, 1789. Mr. Church was supported

by the proprietors till the town was incorporated in 1794,

when the inhabitants of the town voted to receive him as

their minister, and take upon themselves the same obliga-

tions that the proprietors were then under with regard to

the payment of his annual salary.

The first meeting-house was built on the ministerial lot

opposite the present cemetery, and was first occupied Octo-

ber, 1791. In 1792 a front porch was added, and in 1797

it came into possession of the town in a still unfinished

state, and was then finished by contract. From this time

and for many yeara it served the twofold purpose of a

church and town-house.

In the year 1827 the Rev. Mr. Church retired from his

pulpit ministrations on account of age and infirmity, and

was succeeded by Mr. Daniel Newell, who was ordained and

installed on the 24th of October of the same year, and at

his own request was dismissed in April, 1830.

Rev. Caleb F. Page was installed pastor on the 23d of

October, 1833, remaining until the 26th of March, 1850.

In 1834 the old meeting-house was given up to the use

of the town, and the second house of worship was built by

N. S. Littlefield, John Eilborn, and Rufus Gibbs, com-

mittee, upon the site of the present house. The bell was

presented by Richard Davis.

Rev. Josiah T. Hawes was installed on the llth of Feb-

ruary, 1851, and was dismissed May 10, 1865. Rev.

Franklin B. Fellows was installed on the 4th of January,

1866, and was dismissed Dec. 8, 1868. Mr. Edward P.

Wilson was engaged as stated supply on the 1st of Septem-

ber, 1869, ordained Jan. 26, 1871, and closed hb labors

July 1, 1872.

On the 1st of June, the work on the present edifice was

commenced by the parish, and on the 26th of January,

1871, it was dedicated with appropriate services by Rev.

E. P. Wilson.

John T. Rea commenced his labors as stated supply in

February, and was ordained Aug. 8, 1873. He was suc-

ceeded in 1876 by Rev. Henry B. Carpenter.

In 1874 this church followed the example of some of
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the most prominent Congregational Churches in admitting

the right of its female members to vote on all questions of

chnrch business, and also in reviving the primitive o£Bce of

deaconess.

This society has a fund of $2800, the interest of which

ia expended for the support of the ministry. One thousand

dollars of this sum was a donation from Lieut. Robt. An-

drews, and the remainder arose from the sale of the minis-

terial lands, consisting of lots No. 6, range 15, No. 1, range

28, No. 1, range 29, in the first division, and No. 23-, range

1, in the second division, which were sold April 29, 1799.

Board of Officers.—Pastor, Oscar A. Rogers, from 1878

;

Deacons, Nathaniel Potter, Lewis M. Libby, Lewis Smith

;

Deaconesses, Mrs. Alvin Dennett, Mrs. Augustus Perley,

Mrs. Creorge Rounds ; Standing Committee, the pastor and

officers ex officio, Joseph Ingalls, Edwin Ingalls, £d. Lewis

;

Clerk and Treasurer, John H. Caswell ; Sunday-school

Superintendent, Lewis Smith. The membership is 140.

There were attempts made by the Baptists to be separated

from the established church in 1794, but their efforts not

being successful, the church was not founded until 1807.

Rev. Ebenezer Bray, an evangelist, who had been an occa-

sional preacher in Bridgtun, called a council, which met Oct.

24, 1807, and organized a chnrch consisting ofSeba Smith,

who was made clerk ; Nicholas Bray, Jr., first deacon ; Mrs.

Bray, Miss Ellie Bray, Noah Stiles and wife, James Flint,

and Miss Hannah Scribner. The next day Miss Hannah

Andrews was admitted by baptism. The name adopted

was " Harrison and Bridgton Particular Baptist Church."

From 1807 to 1812 it increased to 30 members. The

church was released from paying to support the old church

in 1812, and a revival added largely to their numbers,

enabling them to erect a house of worship in 1815. In

1832 it was rebuilt and greatly enlarged, receiving an addi-

tion of a bell after a revival conducted by Rev. William

Wyman. In 1827 the Harrison Church established sepa-

rately, and in 1833 another church at Sweden, both from

members of this chnrch. In 1838-39, a large number

left the parent church to organize on a more liberal basis as

Free Baptists. The old members clung to the belief of

their fathers, and were enabled to build a new meeting-

house in 1853, but receiving but little support from the

younger people, gradually faded into the past, until there

are left but three living members,—the aged pastor, Rev.

Jacob Bray, Mrs. Bray, and Mrs. Beeman, formerly Miss

Charlotte Bumham. The clerks have been Seba Smith,

Reuben Ball, Rufus Chase, James Jordan, John Burbank,

Benjamin Hews, Rev. Jacob Bray. Deacons, Nicholas

Bray, Jr., Seba Smith, William Hazen, Simeon Bumham,
Jacob Ellsworth, Jonathan Houghton, John Burbank,

James Libby, Isaac Davis. The pastors have been Na-

thaniel Bray, 1805-12; Reuben Ball, to 1826; John

Haines, 1827 ; William Wyman, 1828-31 ; Reuben Milner,

1832; William 0. Grant, 1834-35; Larkin S. Jordan,

1836 ; Jacob Bray, 1837-40 ; Leander H. Tripp, 1841-

42 ; Amos B. Pendleton, 1849-55 ; Abram Snyder, 1858-

59. Rev. Reuben Ball died at thisjiharge in 1827.

Nicholas Bray, Jacob Bray, Daniel E. Burbank, Rufus

Chase, Edmund Watson, and Josiah Houghton, all Baptist

preachers, began their ministerial lives in this church. Rev.

Jacob Bray is trustee and clerk in charge of the property.

SOUTH BHIDOTON PARISH.

June 30, 1825, the citizens of South Bridgton united in

building a meeting-house which should be free for the use

of all ministers in good standing. John Perley, Asa In-

galls (2d), and Francis Foster were the building committee.

It was built near the school-house, opposite the new church,

and dedicated Nov. 15, 1826, by Rev. Valentine Little, of

Lovell, Me. The labor account shows, among the subse-

quent temperance reformers, the following items :
" Asahel

Cram furnishes 1 gallon of gin ; Jonathan Fessenden, 2

quarts of mm ; .Enoch Perley, spirits, 40 cents." Under

the labors of Rev. Mr. Fessenden a temperance work was

begun, which resulted in the present temperate character

of their descendants. Tlie- church was formed Dec. 30,

1829, by Enoch Perley and wife, Phineas Ingalls and wife,

John Peabody, Betsey Burnham, and Lucinda Mead,

members at Bridgton, who had applied for a dismission

November 29th ; Jonathan Fessenden, a member at Frye-

burg, and John Perley and Almira Ingalls, new members.

Enoch Perley died December 6th. A second petition was

refused by the pastors on the 16th, and an ex parte council

called ; Rev. Jonathan Fessenden was chosen moderator,

and Rev. Carlton Hurd scribe. Three other ministers were

present. After communicating with the church at Bridg-

ton, the church was organized, and John Peabody ordained

deacon. A donation of $1000 each by Enoch Perley and

Lieut. Robeft Andrews had been previously made to the

Bridgton Church to revert to South Bridgton Parish on the

settlement of a minister. Thomas Perley, of Boxford,

Mass., presented $645, and on his death-bed Enoch Perley

paid to his sons a sufficient sum to make, with $2000 be-

queated in his will, a fund of $5000 for the support of the

ministry in this parish.

Rev. J. Fessenden was pastor from 1830 to his death, in

1861. He sleeps in the Lakeside Cemetery, beneath an

altar surmounted by an open book, surrounded by his fol-

lowers. Rev. S. G. Narcross remained one year. Rev. B.

F. Manwell was installed October, 1862; dismissed 1868.

Rev. Addison Blanchard, installed June, 1868 ; dismissed

November, 1872. J. W. Brownville, installed December,

1873; dismissed November, 1877. Holland G. Fry, in-

stalled 1877; resigned June, 1869. Present membership,

84. Deacons, Israel P. Peabody, Henry E. Warreo, Noah

Sawyer, Thomas P. Kimball. Trustees of Fund, S. F.

Perley, John P. Perley, Israel O. Hale, Wm. F. Fessenden,

Joash 0. Knapp. A Oothio building of elegant design was

erected by S. F. Perley, John P. Perley, Darwin Ingalls,

Edwin Fessenden, and A. J. Murch, committee, at an ex-

pense of $10,000, and dedicated, July 14, 1871, by Rev.

M. Barbour, D.D., of Bangor, assisted by Rev. Mr. Ting-

ley, of Brownsfield, and Rev. E. P. Wilson, of Bridgton.

THE MOBTH BBIDOTOM CHURCH AND PARISH

were formed Nov. 15, 1832. The members were Stephen

Beeman and wife, Aaron Beeman and wife, Aaron Beeman,

Jr., Ezra Gould and wife, and Moses Gould, members of

First Bridgton Parish, and three new members. Stephen
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WILLIAM F. PEBRT. GEORGE TAYLOR.

WILLIAM P. PEBRY

was born in the town of Bridgton, Cumberland Co., Me., Feb.

1, 1826. He received a good common-school education, and

learned the blacksmith's trade from his father, with whom he

remained until he reached hh majority.

In 1847 he established himself in business and carried on

blacksmithiog for four years. He then engaged in the manu-

fftctare of carriages, which business he followed for four years.

In the year 1861 he purchased the water-power and com-

menced building what is now known as the Forest Mills.

In the fall of 1862 he formed a copartnership with Mr.

George Taylor, and commenced the manufacture of woolen

goods, under the firm-namo of Taylor & Ferry. They carried

on a prosperous business until Nov. 1, 1878, when the death

of Mr. Taylor occurred. A stock company was immediately

formed and styled " Forest Mills Company." Mr. Perry

is also the largest stockholder in the Pondicherry Mills and

one of its directors.

Since President Pierce's administration he has adhered

strictly to the principles of the Bepublican party, has held the

office of treasurer in his town, and served in the years 1872-73

in the Legislature. He is not a member of any church, but

a supporter of the Congregational society.

He married, in 1869, Ann Maria, daughter of Bufus

Gibbs ; the result of this union is one daughter, Ida G.

Mr. Perry's success in life is due to his own exertions. He
is very thorough in whatever he undertakes, and is especially

interested in doing all he can to promote the social and edu-

cational interests of the community in which he lives. He
possesses a genial and generous disposition, and throughout

his life has been governed by principles of honor and int^^ty.

GBOBGE TAYLOB

was born near Huddersfield, Yorkshire, England, March 28,

1826. From childhood to the day of his death he had been

engaged in the manufacture of woolen goods, " a bom manu-

facturer," and he everywhere enjoyed the reputation of stand-

ing at the head of his profession, possessing excellent taste

and rare mechanical skill.

In March, 1848, he came to America. Was employed in the

mills at Amesbary, Lawrence, and other places in Massachu-

setts; at Woonsocket, B. I.; thence to Dexter, Me., where for

seven years he was superintendent of the woolen-mills, and in

the fall of 1862, at the instance of Mr. William F. Perry, the

surviving partner, he came to Bridgton and formed a copart-

nership (Taylor & Perry). The firm at once built the larger

of the Forest Mills and put it in operation. At this time that

portion of Bridgton village below the Pondicherry corner was

literally a forest, there being but a few houses in that vicinit}'

;

and it may justly be said that to the establishment of this en-

terprise, and afterwards of the Pondicherry Mills, is attributed

the remarkable growth of what is now the most densely pop-

ulated portion of Bridgton village.

Mr. Taylor's thorough knowledge of manufacturing, coupled

with his remarkable energy, and the large demand for a good

article of woolen goods incident to the war, rendered the es-

tablishment of the enterprise a success. Additions and en-

largements followed in due time, and from that time to the

present the mills have been in'successful operation, furnishing

steady, remunerative employment for a large number of people.

Mr. Taylor was also for a number of years agent of the Pon-

dicherry Mills, thus practically taking the entire responsibility

of two large woolen-mills. As a business man and a citizen

Mr. Taylor was highly esteemed. Honest in all his deal-

ings, generous in the treatment of his employees, of a genial,

cheerful temperament, and manifesting a. lively interest in

every enterprise calculated to promote the interests of the

village.

In the fall of 1877 Mr. Taylor was elected a representative

to the Legislature, and served with credit to himself and con-

stituents. In 1878 he was re-elected by a very handsome
majority, and his death, which occurred November 1st of the

same year, created a vacancy which necessitated another

election.
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and Aaron Beeman, Jr., were made deacons, and Moses

Gould, clerk. Kev. Charles Soule was installed as first

pastor in January, 1833. A church was erected at North

BridgtoD, and dedicated Jan. 1, 1834. The pastors have

been Rev. Charles Soule, to 1835 ; Owen Burnhani, 1835

until his death, in 1836 ; Joseph Searlc, 1837-41 ; L. W.
Harris, 1842-52; Horace Wellington, 1853-54; John

Dodd, 1855-58 ; Edward S. Palmer, 1859-60 ; L. W.
Harris, 1861-66; E. F. Bankers, 1866-71; Nehemiah

Lincoln, 1871-79,—ordained May 15, 1872. Present

deacons, Asa Gould, Luke Brown ; membenhip, 62 ; Oliver

Barnard, clerk.

I'REE-WILL BAPTIST CHUUCH.

The records of this church previous to 1848 were de-

stoyed by fire. The first church was erected on the present

site, as Sand Creek or "Pinhook," in 1834. Rev. Gideon

Perkins superintending the raising of the frame with prayer

and appropriate ceremony. Francis Young was deacon at

that time. Nathaniel Martin and wife and Banna Kilborn

were early members. Revs. Joseph Phinney and Darling

Huntress were also pastors previous to 1836. After, Revs.

Hubbard Chandler, John Pike, N. W. Plummer, John

Pinkham, to 1844; E. C. WUley, 1846-47; Hubbard

Chandler, 1848; David Libby, 1850; Royal McDonald,

licentiate, 1850; John Pike, 1851-52; E. G. Eaton,

1853-55 ; John Pinkham, 1856-57 ; Gideon Perkins,

1858 ; John Pinkham, 1859-68 ; Joseph Hutchinson,

1873-77; Charies W. Foster, 1878. Present membership,

29 ; James E. Libby, deacon, ordained 1868 ; William A.

Lord, clerk. The church was rebuilt by the Ladies' In-

dustrial Society in 1877, and rcdedicated, by Rev. John

Pinkham, in June, 1877. The officers of the Ladies'

Circle were Mrs. Abbie Berry, President ; Mrs. J. B. Libby,

Secretary and Treasurer. Osborne Chaplin and Charles

Trumble were made deacons in 1851.

Of the old Universalist Church of Bridgton there is but

little /ecord lefb, save the memory of the old meeting-house

erected in 1839. The settled pastors who taught there

were Rev. Joseph A. Bartlett, Rev. Zenus Thompson, Rev.

Edwin T. Quinby, Rev. Reuben M. Byron, Rev. Costello

Weston.

The church was reorganized under the labors of Rev. L.

F. McKinney, and Sept 1, 1870, their new church was

dedicated by Rev. A. Gunnison, of Bath, Me. On the

22d Mr. McKinney was ordained and installed as pastor.

The organization was formed Sept. 1, 1870. Nathaniel S.

Littlefield was chosen Parish Clerk ; Elkanah A. Littlefield,

Treasurer and Collector; Frederick J. Littlefield, Jacob

Hazen, William A. Stevens, Standing Committee ; James

P. Webb, George G. Wight, Daniel Dickens, Reuben Ball,

and Micajah Gleason were among the first members.

In 1873, Bev. 0. A. Rounds succeeded to the pastorate,

remaining until 1877. Present officers : N. S. Littlefield,

Parish Clerk; Micajah Gleason, Treasurer and Collector;

William A. Stevens, James P. AVebb, George G. Wight,

Committee.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

In February, 1820, Asa Barker, Jr., Jonathan Barker,

Asa Barker, Daniel Bumham, John Martin, and Ephraim

29

Burnham were released from the Congregational Parish of

Biidgton. Under the new law they were joined by 44

others, who filed certificates of exemption in 1821. The

first church building was erected in 1862, in Bridgton

village. A second building was erected in 1869, by Mar-

shal Bacon, Rev. M. B. Cummings, George W. Freeman,

and Samuel M. Cook, committee, on land purchased by the

Ladies' Sewing Circle for $400, and dedicated by Rev. Geo.

Webber and Rev. K. Atchinson, of Gardner District, pre-

siding elders. The pastors of this church have been Revs.

S. Ranks, 1853 ; Charies Andrews, 1854 ; S. R. Russell,

1855; A. B. Lovewell, 1856-57; S. Blake, 1858; C.

Hatch, 1859 ; G. F. Cobb, 1860-61 ; F. C. Ayer, 1862
;

A. B. Lovewell, 1863-64 ; J. Downing, 1865 ; G. F. Cobb,

1866-68 ; M. B. Cummings, 1869 ; F. Grovener, 1870-71

;

N. Hobart, 1872-73; R. Vivian, 1874-75; C. Bradlee,

1876-77 ; 0. M. Cousens, 1878-79. Officers, 1879 : R.

Staples, Recording Steward ; Levi Dougla-ss, Thomas Dick-

ens, Abner Dodge, William Warren, Hiram Clark, Charles

Farwell, James Groodwin, Stewards ; Jacob Cole, Treasurer

;

D. P. Larrabee, B. F. Larrabee, G. D. Holmes, Daniel

Wiggins, William H. Larrabee, Trustees.

SCHOOLS.

At its organization the town comprised four school

districts, known as the " Northerly, Wraterly, and Middle

Districts, and the Southerly" Dbtrict, where 27 Ingalls

children attended the same school. Eighteen pounds

were voted for teachers' wages. Daniel Brigham, Simeon

Burnham, Abner Dodge, and Robert Andrews were made

committee to build school-houses in their respective dis-

tricts. An academy was incorporated in 1803. The town

was reorganized, forming 11 districts, in 1821, under

an appropriation of $300, new school-houses built, and in

1827 the academy moved from the Masonic Hall to North

Bridgton. By 1852 the number of scholars had increased

to 1150, residing in 21 districts,- maintained at an expense

of $1709, $1500 of which were raised by the town. Various

private schools were sustained previous to the opening of the

high school in 1873.

In 1878 there were 20 districts, comprising 904 school-

children, requiring $5065 for the support of their schools,

$3500 of which were realized from town tax. Districts

Nos. 6 and 17, comprising the main portion of Bridgton

village, and a real estate valuation of $389,696, forms a

joint district for the support of the high school.

BRIDGTON HIGH SCHOOL.

The building, a fine edifice, near the centre of the town,

was erected in 1872, under the administration of J. H.

Kimball, school agent, F. J. Littlefield, George Taylor, E.

T. Alley, bailding committee, at an expense of $12,000, and

dedicated Jan. 25, 1873. The first term was opened in

December, 1872, by A. G. Bradstreet, a member of the

junior class in Bowdoin College, assisted by Miss Josie E.

Gerry. A. F. Richardson, A.3I., of Bowdoin College, be-

came principal on the opening of the spring term of 1873,

and has retained that position to the present time with

honor to himself and the school. It was graded in July

1873. No student prepared here has failed to pass the re-
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qniied examiDation on entering college. A flourishing

Ijceum is connected with the school, and lectures of literary

and educational topics maintained.

Intlruetors.—Principal, Albert F. Richardson, A.M.

;

Assistants, Miss Rozie Brigham, 1873 ; Miss Roxie Brig-

ham, Miss Carrie M. Stone, 1874; Miss Carrie M. Stone,

Mrs. George E. Murphy, Miss R. Bi-igham, 1875 ; Miss

Georgia R. Holden, Miss Emma G. Grardner, 1876.

School Officers and Committee! Examining Committee,

Rev. L. F. McKinney, Rev. T. S. Perry, Rev. N. Lincoln,

D. P. Chaplin, Edward Bennett, Benjamin T. Chase, Miss

Mary F. Farnham; Agents, A. F. Richardson, Rev. N.

Lincoln, Miss Mary F. Farnham ; Committees on Prize

Declamations and Recitations, H. A. Shorey, Byron Kim-

ball, M. Gleason, N. P. Potter, M.D., Rev. 0. A. Rounds,

G. F. McQuillan, A.B., J. L. Wales, Mrs. T. S. Perry,

Mrs. B. C. Stone, Mrs. Joseph J. Walker, Miss Georgia

P. Bncknam, Miss Emma G. Gardner, Miss Emma C.

Leland.

NORTH BEIDGTON ACADEMY.

The Bridgton Academy was incorporated by the Legis-

lature of Massachusetts a.d. 1808, and by the charter it

received a donation of State land.

The sum of about $4000 had been previously contributed

by citizens of Bridgton, Waterford, and Harrison towards

the establishment of a permanent jund for its support.

This frind has been increased by judicious management to

$1500.

The first officers of the institution were Rev. Nathan

Church, President ; Ezra Deane, Vice-President ; Samuel

Andrews, Treasurer ; Stephen Chase, Secretary.

The present officers are George Peirce, President ; Luke

Brown, Vice-President; Philander Tolman, Treasurer;

Thomas H. Mead, Secretary.

The first principal was Bezaleel Cushman, the present

principal is John F. Moody.

The interests of the institution, educationally and finan-

cially, have been well cared for. It is pleasantly located in

a delightful and healthy region, which, in connection with

its superior advantages of instruction, have made it a cen-

tral educational point Many of its graduates have become

distinguished men. Large additions have been recently

made to the philosophical, chemical, and astronomical ap-

paratus. The academy grounds comprise four acres, hand-

somely ornamented with deciduous and evei^een trees.

The original academy building was erected in 1825.

Another and larger one was erected in 1879, to be used as

a lecture hall and laboratory.

SECEET SOCIETIES.

MASONIC.

Oriental Lodge, No. 13, F. and A. -M., charter granted at

Boston, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, March 12, 1804,

and signed by Isaiah Thomas, G. M. ; Timothy Bigelow,

G. S. W. ; John Soley, G. J. W. ; John Proctor, G. S.

The first meeting of the lodge was held at Bridgton

Centre, March 26, 1804, when the following officers were

elected : Oliver Pollard, W. M. ; Samuel Famsworth, S. W.

;

Eli Longley, J. W. ; Samuel Andrews, Treas. ; Charles Hay,

Sec. ; James H. Bobbins, S. D. ; Nathaniel Geary, J. D.

;

Robert Haskins, Tyler ; Seba Smith, S. The present officers

are I. S. Webb, W. M. ; Geo. H. Willard, S. W. ; Alonzo L.

Richardson, J. W. ; M. M. Caswell, Treas. ; Albert F. Rich-

ardson, Sec. ; B. F. Cole, S. D. ; N. C. Burnham, J. D.

;

Albert Gray, Tyler.

KNIGHTS OF PTTHIAS.

Highland Lodge, No. 10, organized at Bridgton, Feb.

17, 1874, with B. T. Chase, C. C. ; E. J. Leighton, Y. C.

;

P. P. Burnham, P. ; J. F. Chute, K. R. 8. ; Geo. P. Per-

ley, M. E. ; John M. Perley, M. F. ; Alex. Stevenson, M. A.

;

P. U. Hamlin, I. G. ; Geo. E. Murphy, 0. G. Present

officers, Frank Long, C. C ; W. B. Bailey, V. C. ; D. W.
Holden, K. R. S. ; Geo. P. Periey, P. ; A. F. Hill, M. P.

;

P. P. Burnham, M. E. ; B. W. Stevens, P. C. ; J. F.

Chute, M. A. ; Isaac F. Teal, L G. ; P. W. Shorey, 0. G.

INDEPENDENT OSDER OF ODD-FELLOWS.

Cumberland Lodge, No. 30, instituted at Bridgton in

1845. Samuel Andrews (2d), N. G. ; B. K. Carsley,

V. G. ; W. T. Kilburn, W. ; W. W. Cross, Rec. Sec. ; Lewis

Brigham, Treas. All their archives were destroyed by fire in

1849. The receipts for 1878 were $1150, of which $817

were expended for general relief. Present membership,

238. Officers, F. P. Bennett, N. G. ; Ed. L. Lewis, V. G.

;

E. A. Littlefield, Sec. ; H. B. Libby, Rec. Sec. ; Edward

Gibbs, Treas.

Mount Pleasant Encampment, No. 14, instituted at

Bridgton, September, 1850. ' Charter members, R. Lam-

son, Samuel Andrews (2d), W. T. Kilburn, S. C. Strout,

R. K. Hunt, B. B. Ball, B. Dodge Present officers, Eu-

gene Green, C. P. ; Volney Barker, H. P. ; T. M. Tolman,

S. W. ; A. F. Richardson, J. W. ; E. A. Littlefield, Scribe

;

Dr. J. B. Bray, Treas.

GRAND ARMY OF THE REPUBLIO.

Farragut Post, No. 4, organized Oct. 7, 1870, H. A.

Shorey, Commander ; Amos Stuart, Adjutant ; Benjamin

Dodge, Jr., Quartermaster ; L. F. McKinney, Chaplain

;

J. H. Kimball, Surgeon ; J. M. Murch, Officer of the Day;

B. F- Milliken, Quartermaster-Sergeant. This organiza-

tion of veteran soldiers disbanded in 1874.

BANDS.

BRIDGTON CADET BAND,

organized April, 1876. H. G. Gerrish, Director.

SOUTH BRIDGTON CORNET BAND,

organized September, 1878. £. C. Wentworth, Con-

ductor ; F. W. Sanborn, Secretary.

BRIDGTON BAND,

organized by veterans of the 10th Maine Iniitntry Band

at the close of the war. Among these were John T.,

Edward C, and Osgood B. Webb, Richard T. Bailey, and

David D. Blanchord.

PATRONS OF HUSBANDRY.

South Bridgton Grange, No. 149, organized March,

1873, with George E. Mead, Master ; George F. Knapp,
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ALBERT GOULD.

ALBERT GOULD.

Moses Goald, M.D., son of Ezra Gould, was bom

at I^orth Bridgton, November, 1799. He received

a coU^iate edacation, and for four years was a

teacher at Edisto, S. C. B^tnming, he studied medi-

cine with Drs. Theodore Ingalls and Samuel Farns-

worth, and commenced the practice of medicine and

sui^ery at Bridgton. He married, March, 1828,

Susan H., daughter of Gren. John Perley. His

health becoming impaired, he relinquished the duties

of his profession and gave his attention to garden-

ing, a business much more conducive to his physical

nature.

He was a member of the Congr^ational Church

of North Bridgton, and closely identified with church

and like interests. As treasurer of the Bridgton

Academy, he labored for the success of that institu-

tion. He died Jan. 27, 1874, endeared to all who

knew him by his sterling qualities and force of char-

acter.

Albert Gould, only child of Dr. Moses Grould, was

bom at North Bridgton, Feb. 18, 1830. He entered

Bowdoin College in the class of 1847, and after one

year entered the Harvard Law School, at Cambridge,

HLbbb., where he graduated, and then entered the

scientific school of that university. At the end of

one year he accepted a position at Norwich, N. Y.,

as teacher of natural sciences, where he remained for

four years, then returned to Cambridge and completed

his scientific course. He married, July 26, 1856,

Eliza A. Adams, of Andover, Mass. Mr. Gould

wss a man 'of great versatility of talent, and what-

ever he undertook he did well. He had great natu-

ral mechanical genius ; was an enthusiastic student

of natural history, and his writings for scientific

journals received favorable notice from the press.

He had a good taste for music, and taught it to

others ; and he delivered many interesting scientific

lectures. The leading passion of his life was chem-

istry, of which science he attained a high theoretical

and practical knowledge. He built himself a private

laboratory, where his too close application to chemi-

cal studies is supposed to have hastened his death,

which occurred Feb. 1, 1874.

Mr. Goald was a member of Oriental Lodge and

Chapter of Masons of Bridgton, and was county

deputy of the order of Good Templars at one time.

He was a Republican in politics. He ^as a member

of the superintending school committee, and at the

time of his death was coroner, postmaster, and justice

of the peace. He was for many years a member of

the Congregational Church. As a man he was kind

hearted, genial, and possessed of a cheerful, sonny

temperament, which made him the favorite in circles

where he moved.
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Overseer ; Edward Bennett, Sec. ; Wni. F. Fessenden,

Treas. ; Mrs. Mahula Berry, Ceres. OflBcers, 1879, Geo.

E. Mead, Master; F. F. Johnson, Overseer; Pascal Jordan,

Sec. ; F. F. Fessenden, Treas. ; Miss Mary Choate, Ceres.

Highland Grange, No. 115, North Bridgton, organ-

iied Feb. 26, 1875, with Charles H. Gould, Master;

Joseph S. Ingalls, Overseer ; Thomas E. Mead, Sec.

;

George S. Burnell, Treas. ; Mrs. B. S. Gould, Ceres.

A supply store was opened in 1876, with George S.

Burnell Storekeeper. Officers, 1879, Edwin Ingalls,

Master ; VVm. H. Brigham, Overseer ; Stephen A. Porter,

Sec. ; Aaron Gibbs, Treas. ; Miss Julia Smith, Ceres.

Membership, about 55.

PISTOKT OF THE BUSINESS INTEBESTS OF
BRIDGTON.

Rufus Gibbs, saw-mill ; established by William Sears,

1789.

Bridgton House, M. M. Davis; established in 1816 by

Richard Gage, Sr., and sold to Mial Davis, father of pres-

ent pruprietor, in 1839.

E. E. Wilder, harness, 1847; established by Francis

Ingalls, 1814.

Capt. John Burbanks and Capt. John Willits kept stores

in Bridgton, 1818-21.

Perley Bros., since 1872, stools, tin, and peddlers' sup-

plies; established by Cleaver & Son, 1826.

J. C. Bumham, cooper; established 1825.

Peter McGee, tailor, 1824 to 1871.

Isaac Chase, boatbuililer ; establbhed 1830.

Richard Gage, general merchandise, 1835 to 1845.

Horace Billings, tannery ; established by Rufus Gibbs,

1836 ; burned 1854 ; rebuilt 1855.

W. A. Stevens, groceries, crockery, and hardware.

P. P. Bumham, dry goods, formerly Davis, Stevens &
Co. ; established by Alvin Davis, 1844.

E. T. Stewart, tailor ; established 1847.

T. Gibson, carriages ; established 1848.

S. M. Haden, drugs, 1849 to 1877.

Howard & Steadman, 1866 ; established by Hunt &
Jewett, 1849.

Cumberland Mills, woolen blankets, four set mill, Rufus

Gibbs, proprietor; established 1855 by John Hall and

-Rufus Gibbs; burned 1855; in 1858, Mr. Gibbs became

sole proprietor.

E. B. Staples, established at South Bridgton, 1847;

moved to Bridgton, 1857.

B. F. Evans, furniture and window-shades; established

by R. A. Cleaves, 1856.

John H. Coswell, jewelry ; established by F. B. Coswell,

1856.

Wm. J. Haden, stoves and tinware, 1855 to 1856.

Cumberland House, M. C. Bacon ; established by Mar-

shal Bacon, 1858.

Jesse Murphy, doors, sash, and blinds, 1871 ; established

by I. S. Hopkinson, 1859.

J. K. Littlefield, carriages ; established 1858.

A. J. Noone, cigar-manufactory ; established 1860.

Photography, E. M. Berry, 1874 ; establbhed by M. W.

Thompson, 1860.

Lewis Smith, sash- and blind-manufactory ; established

186l'.

R. B. Bennett & Co.; established by R. B. Bennett,

1861.

Daniel Dickens, jewelry and fancy goods ;
established by

W. H. Jewett, 1865.

J. Winslow Jones, .canned fruits ; established 1865 ;
ca-

pacity, 35,000 or 40jOOO cans per day.

Miss M. E. Hill, millinery ; established 1865.

Lewis Smith, sash, furniture, and coffias ; established

1866.

W. A. Stevens, paints and oils; established by Rufus

Gibbs & Son, 1867.

Pondioherry Mills, cassimeres, repellants, etc. ; a six set

mill, furnishing employment for 50 operatives ; originally

built in 1866, by R. H. & Frederick Storer, of Portland,

and Alvin Davis and F. J. Littlefield, of Bridgton. Pon-

dicherry Company organized in 1873. Rufus Gibbs, Presi-

dent ; 0. B. Gibbs, Treasurer ; William Iredale, Superin-

tendent.

Henry P. S. Gould, 1879 ; established by H. O. Moses,

1867.

P. B. Waldron & Co., meats ; established by Dennett &
Kimble, 1868.

George G. Wight, insurance ; established 1808.

J. F. Bennett, harness ; established 1868.

E. 8. Littlefield, light wood-work ; established 1868.

A. Harmon, fruits and cigars, 1870.

Andrews & Waldren, shovel handles ; established 1870
;

closed in 1878 from exhaustion of the stock of timber.

H. G. Gerrish, barber; established 1871.

R. T. Bailey, machinery; established 1871, in company

with Samuel A. Miller.

Isaac E. Allen & Sons, monuments and cut stone ; es-

tablished 1872.

Fowler, Wales & Goodwin, dealers in hardware and agri-

cultural implements ; est.ablished by Gibbs, Fowler & Wales,

1872.

Forest Mills, machinery and water-wheels ; M. M. Caswell,

Superintendent ; established by S. A. Miller & Co., 1873.

J. A. Bennett, dry goods and groceries ; established by

Davis & Bennett, 1873.

Bumham & Co., trunk cleats ; established 1873.

W. B. Stevens, musical goods ; established 1875.

J. H. Kimball, drugs ; established 1875.

Fogg & Dodge, groceries ; established 1876.

W. B. Bailey, harness ; established 1876.

J. S. Libby, clothing ; established 1876.

A. F. Gerrish, job-printing ; established 1877.

Forest Mills, flouring-mill ; established 1877 ; staves and

shooks; established 1878 ; Harrimon Bros.

F. M. Larrabee, boots and shoes; established 1857;

work-shop established 1857.

Mrs. E. M. Cook, millinery ; established 1878.

George E. Murphy, sash and blinds ; established 1879.

J. H. Davis, frames and brackets, 1879.

Lewis Bradstreet, plumber ; established 1879.

Forest Mills Company, carriage trimmings ; William F.

Perry, President; James Taylor, Superintendent; estab-

lished 1879 ; employs 60 to 70 operatives.
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LAWTERS.

William Pike was the first resident member of the bar.

He came from Cornish in 1819, and opened an o£Sce now

occupied by Hon. N. S. Littlefield. He died in 1828.

William Graffam and "Esquire Howe" practiced here

previous to 1819. The late Judge Joseph Howard, of

Portland, began practice in Bridgton in 1824, remain-

ing six months. He was succeeded by Hon. William Pitt

Fessendeo and Nathaniel S. Littlefield, then young

men, who formed a partnership, which was dissolved

by the retirement of 3Ir. Fessenden to other fields in

1830. William Paine, of Portland, afterwards marshal

of Maine, came in 1831, remaining two years. Thomas

J. Gioodwin was here from 1834 to 1835 ; Henry Car-

ter, 1836 to 1846. John P. Davis studied with Mr.

Littlefield and remained a year, in 1840—41. Samuel

Stront, 1841 to 1845, returning to Portland. S. M. Har-

mon, from 1863 to his death in 1877. David Hale, a na-

tive of Bridgton, who was admitted to the bar in 1862, en-

tered the army, returned to his practice after the war, and

died in 1873.

Resident lawyers not practicing : Samuel C. Smith, Da-

vid P. Chaplin.

Now practicing law in Bridgton : Hon. B. T. Chase since

1869, N. S. Strout, and Hon. Nathaniel S. Littlefield.

Mr. Littlefield has practiced law in Bridgton for fifty-

two years, was secretary of the State Senate in 1831 and

1832, a member of the State Senate in 1837-39, and in

1839 president of the Senate. He was representative in

Congress for Oxford District in 1840—41, for the Cumberland

District in 1848, representative in the State Legislature in

1856, and was made an honorary member of the Oxford

Bar Association in 1871. He is the oldest practicing law-

yer in Oxford or Cumberland Counties.

PHYSICIANS.

Before the advent of a doctor, it is said that Noah Stiles

being unwell, was obliged to go to Standish for medical ad-

vice. Procuring the prescription, he returned on foot,

carrying a gallon of molasses and a bushel of salt I

Dr. Samuel Fanisworth, the first physician in the town,

came in 1790. He became eminent in his profession, and

was a leading citizen until his death in 1817. Dr. Samuel

Famsworth, Jr., his son, and a native of Bridgton, suc-

ceeded to his practice, residing in North Bridgton. Dr.

Theodore Ingalls b^an practice in 1817, living with his

father, Pbineas Ingalls, at South Bridgton. He moved to

Bridgton soon after, and continued his practice until 1829.

Dr. Jonathan Fessenden came to South Bridgton in 1818,

and retired from business in 1839. Dr. Moses Gould, a

native of Bridgton, located at North Bridgton in 1825, re-

tiring from active practice in 1850. He died in 1874.

Dr. Nathaniel N. Pease came to Bridgton in 1828, became

a prominent political leader, representing his districts in the

Legislature and State Senate. He died in 1866. Dr.

Thomas Perley, grandson of Enoch Perley, Esq., had an

extensive practice from 1841 to 1851, when he was suc-

ceeded by Dr. Josiah M. Blake.

Of the present physicians. Dr.. John H. Kimball, es-

tablished in the village in 1859, and Dr. Nathaniel P. Potter,

1865, are natives of Bridgton. Dr. John B. Bray began

in 1875; James P. Webb, 1860 ; Charles E. Hill, 1861

;

William B. Perkins, 1870; Sylvester Bobbins, 1864.

2>en/r«/«.—William H. Haskell, established 1862, and

joined by his son, William S. Haskell ; Luther G. Kimball,

since 1873.
MILITARY.

SULDIEBS OF THE BEVOLUTION.

Nathan Hale.

Jacob Hazen, from Beverly, Mass , enlisted 1776, served

three years ; kept hotel in North Bridgton previous to 1800.

Stephen Gates, sergeant, came to Bridgton from Andover,

Mass., in 1768 ; served through the war ; went to Ohio in

1790.

Asa Parker, wagoner, was under arms at the surrender

of Burgoyne.

David Clark, bom at Topsfield, Mass., 1748, entered the

Continental army in 1776 ; served through the war ; re-

tnmed to Bridgton, where he died in 1831.

Ephraim Davenport, in the northwest expedition ; died

in 1838.

Joseph Kimball, served through the war under Wash-

ington ; died at Bridgton.

Lieut. Robert Andrews, a native of Boxford, Mass., par-

ticipated in the battle of Bunker and Breed's Hill ; died at

Bridgton in 1845, aged ninety-two.

Isaiah Ingalls.

Capt. Phineas Ingalls, a native of Andover, Mass., served

through the war; died at Bridgton, January, 1844, aged

eighty-six.

Lieut. John Hajrward was in the Acton, Mass., militia,

under Capt. Isaac Davis, at Concord, April 19, 1775 ; took

command of the company on the fall of Capt. Davis, and

was the first to cross North Bridge under a heavy fire from

the 10th Regulars. He participated in the battles of Ban-

ker Hill, White Plains,- Trenton, and Monmouth ; removed .

to Bridgton at the end of the war, where he lived with his

son until his death, Feb. 13, 1825, aged eighty-four years.

Capt. John Kilbort), a Minute-Man of April 19, 1775,

enlisted as corporal, 1776 ; was at the storming of Stony

Point, Ticonderoga
;
promoted sergeant Dec. 1, 1777, was

captain in 1780 ; moved to Bridgton 1794 ; died Sept. 8,

1842.

SOLDIEBS OV 1812.

Nathan Hilton, Nathan Dodge, Samuel Ingalls, John

M. Fields, in Capt. Kilbom's company, Portland ; Enoch

Frost, Robert D. Bisbee, George Fitch, Luther Carman,

Aaron Brigham, Daniel Perley, Nathaniel Martin, Jere-

miah Hale, William Stevens, William Libby, Richard T.

Smith, in Capt. Kilbom's company ; Capt Samuel An-

drews.

Capt John Kilbora, Jr., stationed at Portland, and pro-

moted to colonel; Uriah Gibbs, John Davenport, Amos

Gould, Darius Long. John Lamson, under Gen. Brown

;

captured at Sackett's Harbor ; held as hostage and taken

to Montreal, Quebec, and Halifax, where he was discharged.

Aaron Littlefield, stationed as guard at Kennebunk.; Joseph

Milliken, drafted as a marine, was on duty at Fort Preble,

and participated in the engagement between the " Constitu-

tion" and the " Gnerriere." Henry Day.
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

COL. JOHN P. PERLEY
is a descendant of one of the oldest families in America.

His ancestor, Allen Perley, was a native of Wales, and

emigrated to New England, arriving at Charlestown, Mass.,

July 12, 1630. From thence he removed, in 1634, to

Ipswich, and the year following married Sasanna Bokeson,

by whom he had four sons, viz., John, Samuel, Thomas,

and Timothy. The third son represented the second gen-

eration in direct descent of our subject. He had two sons,

—

Thomas and Jacob,—the elder of whom was the third

generation. His family consisted of three sons,
—

^Thomas,

Allen, and Asa, the oldest of whom was the fourth gener-

ation ; and his family embraced five sons,—Isaiahj Oliver,

Thomas, Enoch, and Aaron, of whom Enoch was the grand-

father of Col. John P. Perky, who was bom at Boxfurd,

Mass., May 18, 1749, and became a resident of Bridgton

in 1776, settling in the southern part of the town, on the

place now owned and occupied by his grandson, 'Squire

Perley. He was a man of strong native intellect, ready

tact, and uncommon sagacity. He held many of the most

important offices in the town, and was fur many years an

acting magiijtrate, and became extensively known as a man

of intolligence and superior business capacity. He was a

strict utilitarian, for whatever his hand touched was always

turned to some practical account. By extraordinary fore-

cast and untiring industry he accumulated a large estate.

He was a man of active benevolence, and was noted for his

public gifts fur the support of religion. He wus married

to Miss Annie Flint, who was born July 26, 1753. Their

family consisted of two sons, viz., John and Thomas, and

three daughters,—Rebecca, Nancy, and Huldah. This

worthy man died Dec. 23, 1829 ; his wife's death occurred

April 15, 1823. The homestead was inherited by John,

who was born Jan. 5, 1779, in Bridgton. He was a prac-

tical surveyor by profession, and was for years connected

with the State -militia, and at the time of his resignation

held the rank of brigadier-general. He was married to

Miss Sarah Treadwell, of Groton, Mass. She was born

Aug. 26, 1782. They hud a family of three boys and five

girls, only four of whom are now living, viz., Mary M.,

widow of Rensselaer Cram, and resides in Portland ; Au-

gustus, a resident of Bridgton Centre ; John P., and Sarah,

wife of Marshall Cram, of Brunswick, Me. Gen. Perley

died May 13, 1841 ; hU wife died Sept. 30, 1860. John

P. was bom on the old homestead, July 31, 1815. He

has always been engaged in agricultural pursuits. He is a

Republican in politics, and has held many positions of tmst

and honor in his town. He was a member of the State

Legislature of 1861, '62, '65. In his early life he was con-

nected with the State militia, from which he retired with the

rank of colonel. He is also a trastee of the Bridgton Acad-

emy. He was married Jane 25, 1840, to Clarissa, daughter

of Asa and Phcebe (Berry) Ingalls, of Bridgton. She was

bora May 27, 1817. They have no offspring. They are

both active and energetic members of the Congregational

Church of Bridgton. Col. Perley resides on the old home-

stead of his father, and, although over threescore years of

agu, he still retains the activity of early manhood.

ISRAEL P. PEABODY.

Lieut. Francis Peabody, of St. Albans, Hertfordshire,

England, born in 1614, came to New England in the ship

"Planter," in 1635. He first resided at Ipswich, and in

the summer of 1638 became one of the original settlers of

Hampton, Mass. He, in 1681, became a resident of Tops-

field. He married Mary Foster. His death occurred Feb.

19, 1697. His wife died April 9, 1705.

ISRAEL p. PEABODY.

The lineage is traced through his progeny as follows

:

giving one in each generation, and beginning with his son,

who was third in a family of twelve children (William, born

1646; John, bom Aug. 1, 1695; John, born Aug. 20,

1732; John, Nov. 2, 1766; Israel P., subject of this

sketch). John Peabody, grandfather of Israel P., was a

lieutenant in the Provincial army at the taking of Ticon-

deroga by the French, in 1759, was at the siege and capture

of Louisbourg, in 1758, was captain of a militia company

that marched from Andover on the news of the battle of

Banker Hill. He removed to Bridgton, Me., in the winter

of 1783-84. He was known as a man of integrity, good

intellect, and ready wit, and was one of the deacons of the

First Congregational Church. He died June 12, 1820.

His wife was Mary Perley, the mother of ten children ; she

died July 15, 1824.

His father, John, married Ascnath Stevens, in 1794.

He was also a deacon in the Congregational Church, and

died May 13, 1838. His wife died April 19, 1840. They

had eleven children, of whom Israel P. is ninth child, born

in the town of Bridgton, April 24, 1810; married Oct. 23,

1834, Rebecca, daughter of Francis and Polly (Wilson)

Foster, of Bridgton. She was born June 19, 1811.

Mr. Peabody has always been engaged in agricultural

pursuits, and resided upon the farm settled by his grand-

father. He is a promoter of good society, and has been a

member of the Congregational Church since he was sixteen

years of age. Politically, he is a member of the Republican
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party. Their children are Mary A. (deceased) ; Mrs. Alonzo

C. Chapin, of Cape Elizabeth ; Mrs. A. Chapio, of Portland

;

Mrs. Appletoa D. Hill, of Naples : Mrs. Alonzo E. Quinn, of

Portland ; Mrs. Daniel F. Johnson, of Portland ; Francis

E. (deceased) ; Mrs. Wallace W. Hatch, of Cape Elizabeth

;

and Charles E.

LUKE BROWN.

The Brown family was first settled in America at Water-

town, Mass., in the years 1630-31, by two brothers, Abra-

ham and Joseph, from Surrey, England. Their descendants

remained for years in the eastern part of Massachusetts.

Joshua, the grandfather of our subject, was a native

of that State, and removed in early life to Stowe, Mass.

^^^Hjll*^!

LUKE BROWN.

He was a man of sterling qualities, and was captain in the

American army during the Revolutionary war, was present

at the battle of Banker Hill, aad was the last man to leave

the fort before its occupation by the British forces. He
reared a large ikmily of children, of whom Obededom, the

lather of our subject, was the second son. This old soldier

died at Stowe about the year 1815, at the ago ofseventy-four.

Obededom was born at Stowe, Mass., May, 1782. He
was married to Betsey Walcott, of Bolton, Mass. He re-

moved to Livermore, Me., in 18i0, where he died Dec. 15,

1839. His wife died at North Bridgton, Jan. 2, 1843,

aged fifly-six years. By his marriage he became the father

of ten children, viz., Susan, Luke, Obededom, Charles W.,

Betsey, Mary Ann, Lydia Augusta, George, Martha Pit-

man, and Samuel B. W., five of whom are now living.

Luke, our subject, was born in Bolton, Mass., Aug. 23,

1807. His father being a carpenter, he was apprenticed

to the same trade. He removed to Livermore with his

father, where he remained four years ; he then went to

Boston, where he commenced business for himself as a

carpenter, and where he resided till 1840. Hb educational

advantS4;es were limited. He is a life member of the Massa-

chusetts Charitable and Mechanics' Association, which he

joined Oct. 26, 1829. In 1840 he removed to Bridgton,

where he engaged in the manufacture of furniture, which

he conducted till 1878, manufacturing his wares from the

native log, and shipping his products to domestic and foreign

ports. He was also engaged in the general merchandise

trade. He was married April 9, 1829, to Sophronia,

daughter of Nathan H. and Ruth (Foster) Bartlett, of

Boston, where she was bom July 23, 1808. By this

union he had eight children, three of whom are living,

—

Gleorge H., bom April 9, 1830, and is engaged in the

manufacture of furniture at Bridgton ; Cornelia M., bom

Jan. 5, 1846, and is the wife of Charles W. Hill, of Bridg-

ton ; Freeman H., bora Dec. 5, 1849', and is a manufacturer

of furniture at his father's old stand. His wife died May

15, 1871. He afterwards was married, Sept. 16, 1872, to

Lizzie, daughter of James and Sarah (Proctor) Jordan, of

Waterford, Me. ; she was born at that place. In politics

he was originally a Democrat, but on the nomination of

Franklin Pierce for President of the United States, being

opposed to the extension of slavery, he joined the Free-

Soilers, and afterwards, on the organization of the Republican

party, was one of its foremost promoters in the Stat^. He

has held the office of chairman of selectmen, and other town

offices ; represented bis district in the State Legislature of

1855, being the first Republican legislator elected from

his town. He was also a member of the State Senate of

1867-68. Is an active supporter of religion, being con-

nected with the Congregational Church of North Bridgton,

and has been a member of a religious organization since

1827, and has been deacon of the church most of the time

of his residence in the town. He has, since 1843, been one

of the trustees of the Bridgton Academy. Mr. Brown has

retired from active business, having delegated to his sons

the responsibility of maintaining the honor and credit of an

enterprise of which he was the father, and which has been

a source of revenue and prosperity to the town of Bridgton.

P. P. BURNHAM,

son of George and Florilla Buraham, natives of Gilead, Me.,

was born in Gilead, Oxford Co., June 26, 1845. He.re-

ceived his education in the common school at home, in

Gould's Academy, at Bethel, and at the Maine Wesleyan

Seminary.

In 1863 he went to Portland, and was a derk in the dry-

goods house of R. A. Chapman until 1867, when he became

a clerk for Deering, Milliken it, Co., jobbers of dry goods.

In 1869 he became a member of the firm of Davis, Stevens

& Co., of Bridgton, and upon the dissolution of that firm, io

1876, he commenced business alone in the same building

formerly occupied by the firm of which he was a member.

He was elected treasurer of the Bridgton Savings Bank in

1872, which position he resigned in February, 1879, and

was elected one of the trustees of that bank. He is one of

the substantial business men of Bridgton, and a promoter

of all worthy local enterprises. He married, Aug. 29,
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Photo, by L. H. B«rr7, Bridgton.

Daniel, the grandfather of this gentleman, was

bom at Andover, Mass., Jan. 20, 1758.. He was

the joangest of seven sons who, with their father,

were all soldiers in the Revolutionary war. In

1781 he came to Bridgton, and settled on the same

&rm now owned and occupied by his grandson.

He married Ruth Andrews, a native of Boxford,

Mass., she being bom in the year 1764. Their

family consisted of three sons and three daughters.

The sons' names were Putnam, Daniel, and John.

He died April 6, 1832, and his wife Dec. 8, 1837.

Daniel, the father of R. A. Barnard, was bom in

Bridgton, Jane 18, 1798. He»turaed his attention

during his life to the improvement and tilling of

the soil. He was married, Nov. 3, 1 833, to Keziah,

daughter of Joseph and Martha (Jordan) Dingley.

She was bom in Casco, Cumberland Co., Me., Aug.

6, 1811. By his marriage he became the father of

a son and daughter; the latter died in childhood.

He was a member of the old Whig party, and held

the rank of captain in the State militia. He was

a man of strict integrity and honest worth, and at

his death, which occurred June 19, 1854, he was

deeply mourned by friends and neighbors.

Robert A., the only son of this worthy couple,

was born on the old homestead, March 22, 1840;

he was reared to agricultural pursuits, and has re-

mained on the old farm all his life, excepting six

years he spent in California engaged in sheep-

raising. He has had the advantages of only a

common-school education. He was married, Nov.

26, 1872, to Annette, daughter of William and

Elizabeth (Fessenden) Famham, of Bridgton, where

she was born Dec. 1, 1849. They have but

one child, Evelyn F., born July 3, 1876. He is a

Republican in politics, but was never an office-

seeker. Mr. Barnard is engaged at present in

farming, and is one of the town's most enterprising

citizens. He devotes his means liberally to re-

ligious and charitable purposes, and is proud that

he resides on the farm which has been in posses-

sion of the family for three generations.
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1874, Helen M., daughter of Capt. Nicholas, of Searsport,

Me. They have an only daughter, Edith, born May 15,

1875.

RUFUS GIBBS,

son of Alpheus and Abigail (Wheeler) Gibbs, was born in

the town of Bridgton, Cumberland Co., Me., Aug. 26,

1800. He attended the district schools during his boy-

hood, and there obtained the rudiments of an education,

which subsequent self-study and observation largely aug-

mented. At the age of fourteen, on account of the death

of his father, he embarked in the pursuits of life for him-

self. He engaged with John Perley, with whom he re-

mained seven. years, during which time he worked mostly

at tanning, and the remainder of the time upon the farm.

Upon reaching his majority he established himself in busi-

ness in the village of Bridgton, as a tanner and leather

merchant, and was also quite largely engaged in land spec-

ulation. This business he continued until about the year

1840, when he gave his entire attention to lumbering until

the full of 1855, when he commenced the building of the

large " blanket-mill," which was completed and in opera-

tion the following April. Mr. Gibbs, in connection with

his sons, was in business successfully until 1877, when he

retired. In politics he has always been a Republican, and

has never missed a presidential or State election. He never

sought political preferment. Although often urged to accept

different nominations, he always ' declined the flattering

honor upon business considerations, until in 1878 he gave

way to the urgent solicitations of his party, and accepted

the nomination for representative. He was elected by a

large majority, and served one term with credit to himself

and satisfaction to his constituents. Mr. Gibbs is an active

member of the Congregational Church, contributing largely

to its benevolent and missionary enterprises. In 1825 he

married Adeline, daughter of Joseph Sears. Of this union

were bom seven children. Four sons and one daughter are

living,—Edward A., Ann Maria, wife of William F. Perry,

Charles E., John S., and Horace I. Mr. Gibbs is one of

Bridgton's most honored and substantial citizens.

ALBERT F. RICHARDSON,

son of Mark Richardson, was born in Sebago, July 2, 1841.

For many years he was a teacher, and taught schools suc-

cessfully in Sebago, Otisfield, Harrison, Bristol, and in

Bethel and Monmouth Academies. He gi-aduated at Bow-

doin College in 1873, and received the honorary degree

of A.M. from Colby University in 1876. In 1873 he

took charge of the Bridgton High School, which position

he retains in 1879..

Mr. Richardson has always been interested in all local

enterprises tending to make society better, and is a man of

correct habits, of strong force of character, and possessed of

a rare executive ability. He is also noted as a disciplina-

rian.

While a resident of Sebago he was a member of the

school committee, and for two years was a selectman of the

town. He is a member of the school committee of Bridg-

ton. He has been Noble Grand of Cumberland Lodge

of Odd-Fellows, Worthy Master of Oriental Lodge of Free-

Masons, and Worthy Chief Templar of Selden Connor Lodge

of Good Templars.

BRUNSWICK.

TOPOGEAPHICAL FEATTJKKS.

The town of Brunswick forms the northeastern portion

of Cumberland County. It is bounded north by the An-

droscoggin River, noted for its numerous falls and abundant

water-power. The New Meadows River, on the east, sepa-

rates this town and Harpswell, which lies directly south of

it, from Bath, West Bath, and Phippsburg. New Meadows

River rises in the town of Bath, about half a mile from

Merrymeeting Bay, and flows south into Casco Bay. It

was anciently called Stevens' River. Merrymeeting Bay,

which lies east of Brunswick, is formed by the confluent

waters of the Androscoggin, Muddy, Cathance, Abagadus-

set, and Kennebec Rivera. It is about six miles in length

and three in breadth at its widest part. In a deed from Sir

Ferdinando Gorges to Sir Richard Edgecomb, in 1637, this

sheet of water is called the " Lake of New Somerset." In

other ancient deeds it is called " Swan Pond."*

The scenery of Brunswick and of the territory imme-
diately adjacent to it is varied and interesting. The central

portion of the town consists chiefly of low, sandy plains.

" In the western part a rocky elevation is to be observed,

extending quite from the Androscoggin to Casco Bay.

Many citizens are familiar with the picturesque scenery at

Rocky Hill, some four miles up the river road, where this

ridge begins. At the deep cut, some three miles west of

the village, the railroad passes through a depression of this

ridge, but at Oak Hill it again rises to full height.

" A few miles farther, another depression is succeeded by

• Pejepseot Papers.

—

Wheeler.
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Brimstone Hill, in Freeport, which completes the line quite

to Harraseekit Landing, on Casco Bay.- From Oak Hill,

and the higher points of the parallel ridge west of it, the

sea is usually visible. From all elevated points, for miles

around, appear also the spires of the villages of Brunswick

and Topsham, the highest among them being the twin

toweiB of King's Chapel. On the approach from up river,

Powder-House Hill (at an earlier date known as Sunset

Hill) hides much of the villages from view. A bend of the

river, with a broad expansion at this point, gives all the

effect of a lake, with the accessories of high, rocky banks,

green hills, low, grassy shores, and sandy beaches.

" At the upper railroad bridge, where the banks of the

river approach each other and the compressed waters go

rolling on between the firm bounds of rock, the scene begins

to change. Here is the beginning of the Brunswick Falls,

.

the finest water-power on the Atlantic coast. This mag-

nificent fall of water, though lacking in the grandeur which

attaches to the more famous falls of some other rivers, has

yet a beauty of its own which should by no means be over-

looked. Its numerous cascades afford not only varied and

picturesque views, but furnish a motive-power probably un-

surpassed in New England within so small a space. The

natural bed of the fall consists of coarse graphic granite

and gneiss. The rock upon the middle fall projects above

the water at several points, serving as natural abutments to

the several sections of the dam. Shad Island, the former

site of the mills, divides the lower fall about midway.

There are three pitches : the first has a vertical descent of

about eleven feet, the middle of fourteen feet, and the lower

of about fifteen feet. The total height of the fall is about

forty-one feet above high tide, which flows to the foot of the

fall, causing a variation in the height of the water of about

three feet. The whole horizontal distance of the descent is

nineteen hundred and eighty feet.''

The soil of Brunswick varies from the sandy loam of the

plains to a gravelly loam at the westward. Rich loams and

heavy clays are found in a few localities. Peat has been

found in the low ground east of Miss Narcissa Stone's

house, and has been used by her. The best farms were

formerly (and probably are now) at Middle Bay and Ma-

quoit. The land is said, however, to have been much more

fertile in former times than at present.

The climate of this region is somewhat different near

the sea-coast from that a few miles farther inland. In

Harpswell, and around the bays of Brunswick, the tem-

perature is as uniform as it usually is on the coast of Maine.

Topsham, from its greater elevation, is cooler than Bruns-

wick in the summer, and, probably owing to its southern

slope, is slightly warmer in the winter.

BABTHQUAKES.

Accounts have been preserved of some ten shocks of

earthquake, which have occurred here since the first settle-

ment of Brunswick. The first and severest was the one

which was felt throughout New England, and is called the

" Great Earthquake." It happened on Tuesday, Nov. 18,

1755, at about a quarter past four o'clock a.h. The un-

dulation of the earth's surface in this vicinity was so vio-

lent as to rock houses, and throw down chimneys, log

fences, and crockery from the shelves. The chimney of

Rev. Mr. Dunlap's house fell in, and some of his children

narrowly escaped injury. Tlie inhabitants generally were

greatly alarmed, and viewed the occurrence as an omen of

evil. Rev. Mr. Dunlap preached a sermon with especial

reference to this event. Tlie other earthquakes were much

less severe, though some of them were sufficient to cause a

degree of trepidation among the timid. They occurred

Nov. 22, 1755; June 12, 1805, at 7.30 a.m.; June 26,

1808, at 2.51 P.u. ; Nov. 28, 1814, at 7 p.m. ; the oscilla-

tions moved from north to south, lasted fifly seconds, and

were followed by an explosion ; May 23, 1817, at 3 p.m.,

lasted one minute; March 7, 1823, at 10 A.M. ; July 25,

1828, at 6 A.M. ; Aug. 26, 1829, at 9 p.m., and at 9.15

P.M. ; and Oct. 17, 1860.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

Thomas Purchase was the first settler within the present

boundaries of the town of Brunswick. There is some

doubt as to the precise location of his residence, some au-

thorities placing it at the head of New Meadows River, and

others at Pejepscot (now Brunswick) Falls ; but the fact

that he settled here as early as 1628, before there were any

other English settlements east of Saco, is abundantly

proven. In 1632, he and George Way obtained a patent

from the Plymouth Council (of England) for a tract of

land embracing the famous salmon-fishery at the Pejepscot,

and extending on both sides of the river " four miles square

towards the sea." Way never settled on any portion of

this patent. In 1639, Purchase, in an indenture made

with Governor Winthrop, placed it under the jurisdiction

of Massachusetts Bay, desiring, no doubt, in this remote

and isolated situation, to secure the assistance and protec-

tion of the strongest neighboring English colony, in case of

an outbreak or difficulty with the Indians. It does not

appear that Purchase desired to form a settlement of any

considerable extent upon his grant, but had selected this

site with a view of monopolizing the fishing-ground and

trade with the natives.

His first house was destroyed by fire, and " by this dis-

aster he lost in the flames the only copy of the patent by

which he held his property. The original had been left

with Mr. Francis Ashley, in England."* It was very likely

soon after this fire that he changed his place of abode. At
all events, he soon after erected " a small cottage for a

present shelter," and it was while here that he was visited

by Mr. Edward Rishworth.f This structure was afterwards

superseded by " a fair stone house," in which he is supposed

to have lived during the remainder of his residence at Pe-

jepscot.

Thomas Purchase must have been a man well known in

the colony. He not only held at different times offices of

trust and responsibility, but also made, it would seem, a

frequent appearance in court.

The first account of him after his immigration to this

country is of his appearance at Saco, in 1630.

On June 25th of that year he was present with Isaac Al-

lerton, Capt. Thomas Wiggen, and others, and saw Richard

* Maine Hist. Coll., iii. p. t Pejepacot Fspen.
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GEORGE SKOLFIELD.

Greorge Skolfield was boru in thfi year 1780 in a

house which stood near where the present fine resi-

dence of his son, Greorge R. Skolfield, now is, in

the town of Harpswell, on what is called the " Neck

Road." His early life was spent on the farm, in

the mean time acquiring such education as he could

in the public scliools of Harpswell nearly a century

ago.

At the age of twenty-one he began the business

of ship-building without business connection or ac-

quaintance, and without a single dollar of capi-

tal, even borrowing the small sum necessary to pur-

chase his first broad-axe. With that business ability

and persistency which so eminently marked his

whole business life of more than sixty years, he

steadily pursued his chosen calling, each year es-

tablishing a higher reputation and more extensive

business connections in the larger cities of the country,

until he became one of the noted ship-builders and

owners of America, In his long business life he

constructed upwards of sixty ships, most of them of

large size and known for their beautiful models and

thoroughness of construction ; some built more than

forty years ago being in active service with high

rating, while the benefit accruing to Brunswick

and Harpswell from the large suras paid for wages

and material was almost beyond description,—those

for wages alone exceeding a million of dollars. He

was of a kind and hospitable nature, fond of his

family and friends, and exceedingly liberal towards

all worthy objects of need and charity ; but he had

a thorough hatred of anything looking like oppres-

sion or cant, a single instance sufficing as an illus-

tration. While engaged in building a fine ship of

sixteen hundred tons, the town of Harpswell insisted

on taxing him for her before her completion, against

his firm protest, when he at once built for himself

a residence a short distance from the one he was

occupying, but in the town of Brunswick, thus trans-

ferring his large tax of many hundred dollars per

year to the latter town for the remainder of his life.

He died, on the 13th of March, 1866, at the age of

eighty-six, in the full possession of all his faculties,

without a single regret at leaving the scene of his

labors and triumphs, remarking, " My days of use-

fulness are passed, and it is better that the worn-

out old body should be laid at rest." Since his

decease the business of the yard has been carried on

by his son, George R., in connection with two

brothers, Capt. Samuel and Capt. Isaac L. Skol-

field (two well-known ship-masters of Brunswick);

but who, during the depression in the ship-building

industry, have built such ships only as they owned
and put into commission on their own account,

they now being the most extensive owners in their

part of the State.
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Vines take legal possession of the land granted him and

John Oldham, on the southwest side of Saco River.*

In 1631 he was at Pejepscot, where he was visited in

July by Sir Christopher Gardiner, who remained with him

about a year.f

In 1636 he was present as one of the commissioners, on

March 25th, at the house of Capt. R. Boynthon, in Saco.

His associates were Capt. Boynthon, Capt. W. Gorges,

Capt. Cammock, Messrs. H. Jocelyn, E. Godfrey, and T.

Lewis.J

This was the first organized court within the limits of

the present State of Maine.§

On Aug. 22, 1639, he made legal conveyance to John

Winthrop, Governor of Massachusetts, of all his land, and

put himself under the power and jurisdiction of that colony.

He reserved, however, such a claim to the ownership of the

land as pnicticilly annulled that part of the contract.
||

In 1640, Purchase again appears in court at Saco, but

this time not on the bench, but before the bar, and also as

a juryman. There were five indictments against him at this

court. On July 14th of this year he was summoned to ap-

pear at court on the 8th of September following, and an

order was at the same time issued to Robert Sankey, of

Saco, the provost-marshal, to bring him before the court on

September 8th, to answer to divers complaints not specified,

and particularly that credible information had been given

that he had conveyed the greater part of his goods and

chattels out of the province, in consequence of his indebt-

edness to divers persons ; or to take sufficient security for

his appearance at the session of the Council established for

the province. On his refusal his property was to be at-

tached and brought to Saco. The first complaint was

brought by Giles Elbridge, of Pemaquid, in an actios of

debt. Purchase made his appearance, but for some reason

the case was not tried.

The second complaint against him was by Richard Vines

in a similar action. This case also was not tried.

The third complaint was by Richard Tucker, of Casco,

and was to the efiect that nine years previously Sir Chris-

topher Gardiner had borrowed a warmiug-pan of him in

Purchase's name, which was worth 12s. 6d., and had kept

it. Also that six months afterwards he had bought a fowl-

ing-piece for 40«., and would not pay for the same, though

often requested. The damages were placed at £5. Pur-

chase denied that Gardiner did these things in his name,

and declared that if he did he was not authorized to do so.

Purchase further declared that the above facts were unknown

to him, and that ho had no recollection of any demand being

made as alleged. '' But Mr. George Cleaves had asked him

causelessly for these articles ; but he being a partner with

the defendant, had 'acquitted him from all causes of action

whatever."

The issue wcs joined, the trial took place, and the jury

decided that Purchase should pay £2 12s. 6d. for the arti-

cles claimed, and 12s. &d. as costs of court. Judgment was

» Folsom, History of Saco, etc., p. .10.

f Winthrop, i. p. 68. Massaehuaetta Historical Collection, Third

Series, viii. p. 320.

J Folaom, opua cit.j p. -49.

I Williamson, i. p. 265. || Folaom, p. 45. Williamson, i. p. 290.
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given and execution ordered by the whole court. ^\ liatever

became of the warraiiig-pan is not known, but it will be

noticed that there was one mentioned among the articles

embraced in the inventory of 108.5.

The fourth complaint was a declaration of Arthur Browne,

merchant, accusing Purchase of falsely charging him with

perjury and bribery. Purchase denied the whole thing, but

the jury brought in a verdict against him and fined him

£5 sterling, and 12s. for costs.

The fifth complaint is not given, but it is stated that he

was required, on the third day of August preceding, to

enter into a recognizance with Rev. Robert Jordan, and

that he appeared at court to answer to Capt. Thomas

Young, Messrs. Abraham Shurte, George Davis, Richard

Tucker, and others. At this same court Purchase also

served as a juryman in the case of Mary Purington, of

Agamenticus.

In 1645 he signed a letter addressed to Governor Win-

throp, the Deputy Governor, and Court of A.ssistants of Mas-

sachusetts Bay, and was also the one chosen to present the

same. This letter was in regard to trouble between the in-

habitants of Rugby's province of Lygonia, and Jocelyn and

others, and was dated " Casco Bay, this 18th ffebr, 1645."

William Ryall, Richard Tucker, and George Cleeve were

the other signers.
^^

In 1G53 he was sued by the colony government, " as ap-

pears by a record of the General Court of that year, and

styled Of Pejepscot." What this suit was for we have not

ascertained. At one time, date unknown, his children were

required by the Council to be brought forward for baptism,

and on neglect of the same he was to be summoned before

the General Court.

In 1654 he was chosen assistant to Prince, the commis-

sioner at the first court ever held upon the Kennebec.

There is no evidence, however, that he ever held an As-

sistant's Court.

In 1 657 he was called to answer before the County Court

of Yorkshire, to an action brought against him by the

Widow Elizabeth Way for the purpose of determining

whether Pejepscot was under the jur'tsdiction of that court.

After the restoration of Charles II. to the throne of Eng-

land in 1660, probably in the year 1662, Purchase was

commissioned as a magistrate under Gorges, or, at least, Mr.

J. Archdale, agent of Gorges, offered him such a commis-

sion.**

In September, 1675, his house was attacked by the In-

dians, an account of which is given on page 34 of this

work.

The foregoing enumeration of the various events in the

life of Purchase embrace a nearly continuous connection

from the time of his migration to his death. It embraces

a period of forty-seven years. During this long time the

only intervals of any length in which we have no accounts

of him are between 1646 and 1654, and 1660 and 1675.

It is possible that these gaps may even yet be shortened.

Whether Purchase was a man of much property can only

be surmised. It would seem that his opportunities of ac-

% Maine Historical Collection, i. pp. 549, 550.
SHB Williamson, i. p. 403.
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quiring wealth were nnnsually good. He possessed a good

field for traffic with the Indians, and had the monopoly of

the best nalmon and sturgeon fishery in New England.

Notwithstanding this, the freqnent snits bronght against

him show not only " the litigioas temper of the times," but

also that he was deeply in debt, and that his creditors were

uneasy.

Of his real character nothing is known more than may

be gathered from what has already been stated. That he

was a man of considerable enterprise is evident. That he

failed to wholly conciliate the Indians is evident not only

from the fact that his house was selected as the first one to

be visited by them, bat also that he was deemed unfair in

his dealings with them, one of them remarking that he had

paid £100 for water "from Purchase his well." This

water was, however, presumably flavored with some alco-

holic ingredient.

Notwithstanding these facts, the Indians could not hare

been entirely at enmity with him, or they would not have

let him off with the mere robbery of his boose when they

had some of its inmates in their power.

Thomas Purchase mast have been a man of considerable

ability, or he would not have held the offices he did. Wil-

liamson says of him that " he was one of those flexible pa-

triots who could accommodate his politics to the changes of

the times."* This, it appears to us, is rather a harsh judg-

ment. To which administration did he owe allegiance?

The question may be easy to answer now, but was it so easy

for him to answer it ? It mast be remembered that it was

not until the present century that the claim of the Plymouth

Colony on the Kennebec to his tract of land was finally

settled adversely.

SETTLEMENT UNDEB THE PEJEPSCOT COMPANY.

The efforts made by the Pejepscot proprietors to settle

their lands were, for the most part, qaite successful, though

the rapidity with which settlers came in varied very much

at different times. Many of these earlier settlers, it is said,

ran away from England, and upon their arrival in this

countiy changed their names.

Between 1717 and 1722, 41 persons are known to have

settled in Brnnswick. There were doubtless others whose

names have not been preserved. Many of these settlers,

however, forfeited their lots in consequence of the non-

fulfillment of the required conditions.

In 1722 the fourth Indian, or Lovewell's, war was com-

menced, and the situation of the settlers here became so

disagreeable that they nearly all abandoned their homes,

and it was not until about 1730 that the settlement was

renewed. Those who are known to have remained are

John Minot, Andrew Dunning and his sons, William

Woodside and Ebenezer Stanwood and their sons, William

Simpson, and David Giveen and sons. The most of these

had garrisons.

Upon the incorporation of Brunswick as a town, in 1738,

a considerable increase took place in the number of new

settlers.

On June 27, 1739, there were 39 persons who had re-

• Vol. i. p. 690.

cently come into possession of lots at New Meadows. There

were also at this time in other parts of the town 29 indi-

viduals who were either new settlers or sons of the old

settlers, who had become of age.

In June, 1740, the proprietors voted to give Benjamin

Larrabee a lea^ of the lands adjacent to Fort George, and

also the privilege of the salmon-fisheiy, on such terms as

might be agreed upon by the committee to whom the mat-

ter was referred. Mr. Larrabee, who was then the agent

of the proprietors, made the following deeds, which we give

in tabulated form from Wheeler's Hbtoiy of Brunswick
-.f

yumn of the Pi*iwns lo whom
BonJ. I.amibe«, Esq., Attor-

ney, etc, ruld.

Qnanllty of Acrei
Kild.

Nntlian AiImim ..» 100 acres.

John Adanin lou *

WillUni MiUi.-onie_ 2U0 "
(uliert Sjieiu- _ '200 "
William Hfnr. '20:1 "

John Malcume. _ _. 100 "

John Maluume »..']00 **

Jolin Oylw, E»| loo "

Jacob Karon « '100 " Topsham
HruryGihU I 05 "AllSiwh'*.

11. Jonathan Sayvard 200

12. John BaiTowa. '100

n. John Adams '135

14. John Bunoas. _ „..'1U0

15. Snmnel Clarke '200

16. riavid GiTen 100
17. William Dnnning- 200
18. Benjamin Thomiiwn. 100
19. Jnmes Hdrrey _. 103
20. Jiimis McFarland.- 200
21. JampB ilcFarlaud - 206
22. James HclTarland.- 206
23. John AdMm-4 100
24. Charlea I'aiedy 100
25. Thomas SkolSeld ha
26. Henj. Banker.- - _.|n5
27. EUen Stanwood '206

Isaac Snow j-lOO

29. Jacob Eaton..

. Jacob Eaton-..

[
" ft 40 rods

more or It

lieiiig Lot Mo. ti

at M. Meadows.

Siiml. Clarke-Jacobs' Admr. 400 acres.

Patrick Dninimond 100 "

Benj. Blinker- - Kl * ft 112 rods.

Alex. Tvler._ '200 "

Samuel HliikWy- 200 "

Lemuel Goweu 100 '*

TheTIme when
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ninety kegs and as many barrels of sturgeon, and that if

they had been fitted out with salt, and apt and skillful men,

they might have taken abundance more."*

It is also stated in Douglas' History that there was a

company formed in London for the purpose of importing

cared or dried sturgeon, and that they had an agent at the

foot of Pejepscot Falls, and a building erected there. This

was, no doubt, as McKeen observes, a very considerable

business, and was carried on upon quite a large scale, from

time to time, until into the last century, and until the com-

mencement of King Philip's war, in 1673, it was, doubtless,

a great business with Mr. Purchase. The business has not

been carried on to any extent within the present century,

the salmon having entirely disappeared from the river, and

there being fewer sturgeon than formerly, and a lessened

demand for the latter. Present indications betoken, how-

ever, a return of the salmon-fishery before very many years.

MUNICIPAL HISTORY.

The vote of the General Court, constituting Brunswick

a township, was passed on the 3d of May, 1717, and pro-

vided, " That y Land Plotted for a town, from Pejepscot

Falls to Maquoit, in Casco Bay, be Constituted a Township,

to be laid oat the Quantity of Six Miles Square as the Land

will allow, & to be Called by the name of Brunswick, to

be forth-with Settled in a Defensible Manner."^

This action of the General Court gave the settlers muni-

cipal rights similar to those of plantations of the present

day. Thus, for instance, they held public meetings, raised

money for their common welfare, and chose their own town

officers. Records were kept by an officer styled the town

clerk, who was the first time appointed by the proprietors

and afterwards elected by the people.

On the 2d of May, of this year, Lieut. Joseph Heath

was chosen by the proprietors " To be their Clark for the

Town of Brunswick until the town is Qualified to make

their own election, and Sworn to the faithful Discharge of

that Trust."!

The first meeting of the inhabitants was held Nov. 3,

1717. The first election of town officers was in March,

1719, when Cupt. John Gyles, Thomas Wharton, James

Starrat, John Cochran, and Joseph Heath were chosen se-

lectmen for the ensuing year. Joseph Heath was also

chosen clerk and town treasurer, and Peter Haines, con-

stable.

At a r^ular meeting of the inhabitants, held May 8, it

was voted to purchase a hos taurus for the common benefit.

It was also at this meeting voted, " That whereas Some of

the Inhabitants of this Town have already Brought on

Cattle & others expect to have some come before Winter,

Therefore our first rale to our Minister shall be raised on

Lotts & poles onley."§

Other meetings were held at different periods, at which

action wa& taken relating chiefly to the support of a min-

ister. The doings of those meetings will be found in the

section upon Ecclesiastical History.

* Heading's Deposition, Pejepscot Papers,

f Massachusetts Records, 1717.

i Brunswick Records, in Pejepscot Collection.

i Ibid.

In the j-ear 1735 the inhabitants of Brunswick had be-

come so numerous, and felt so great need of a more perfect

system in the management of their common concerns, that

they made application to the government of JIassachusetts

for an act of incorporation as a town.

This petition was signed by John Rutherford, Anthony

Vincent, James Dunning, David Dunning, Richard Fla-

herty,—an Irish school-teacher,—James JIcFurland, James

Carter, William Gibson, Andrew Dunning, Ebenezer Stan-

wood, Samuel Stanwood, David Giveen, James Henry, Wil-

liam Spear, John Giveen, Robert Giveen, Thomas Neal,

Thpmas Washburn, Samuel Lindsey, Rev. Robert Ruther-

ford, Benjamin Larrabee, Samuel Clarke, Nehemiah Giffen,

—a stranger,—Robert Spear, Sr., Robert Spear, Jr., Robert

Dunlap, William Woodside, Jonathan Dunlap, John Lin.say.

The Legislature, June 20th of this same year, granted

the request of the petitionei-s and enacted a bill in accord-

ance therewith. This bill for some reason, however, failed

to receive the signature of the Governor, and did not there-

fore take effect.]]

On the 25th of May, 1737, another petition for incor-

poration was presented to the General Court, by Benjamin

Larrabee, in behalf of the inhabitants of Brunswick. The

prayer of this petition was granted in the House of Rep-

resentatives on the 24th of June, and concurred in by the

Senate three days later. A bill was accordingly prepared,

and at the next session of the General Court, Jan. 26,

1738-39, an act was passed and received the sanction of

the Governor.

Brunswick thus became the eleventh corporate town in

Maine. At the same time that the foregoing was passed,

the General Court also passed an act authorizing and em-

powering Benjamin Larrabee, Esq., " to warn the Inhabi-

tants of said Town, qualifyed by Law to vote in Town

affairs, .to assemble and meet together in some Sutable

Place on the first Monday of March next, to choose a

Moderator, Town Clerk, and other Town Officers for the

year then next ensuing." The date of the incorporation

of the town, it will be noticed, is given as Jan. 26, 1738.

This is according to the old method of reckoning time.

The date, according to the new style, would be Feb. 4, 1739.T[

There were six town-meetings in 1739. The first meet-

ing of this year, and the first under the act of incorpora-

tion, was held March 28th. At this meeting the follow-

ing officers were chosen : Samuel Hinkley, Moderator and

Town Clerk ; Capt. B. Larrabee, Samuel Hinkley, John

Getchell, James Dunning, and David Dunning, Selectmen

;

John Malkeon, John Barrows, Constables ; Thomas Wash-

burn, William Vincent, Samuel Whitney, and James Howe,

Tything-Men
; Capt. William Woodside, Wimond Brad-

bury, John Whitney, and Joseph Berry, Surveyors of

Highways ; Robert Spear and Cornelius Thompson, Fence-

Viewers ; James Thompson, Town Treasurer ; John Mac-

Gregor and John McFarlin,' Hog Constables; Israel

Mitchell and William Spear, Field-Drivers.

One hundred and fifty-three pounds and fifteen shil-

lings were voted for town expenses for the year. At this

Pejepscot Papers.
' Town Records, vol. i.; also Pejepscot Papers.
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meeting, John Getchell, Robert Spear, Samuel Clark,

James Thompson, Benjamin Parker, and Thomas Skolfield

were chosen a committee to lay out highways for the con-

yenience of the town.

Some proposition looking to the extermination of or pro-

tection from wolves was doubtless made, as the town this

year voted, " That the wolves should be left till further

consideration."

In July, it was voted, " That the Minister Shnld Preach

att y' Southeast end of S* Town (att a place cal*" Newmed-

ows) according to what Rates and taxes they shall Pay

towards the Support of the Ministry, it being agreed upon

by the whole Town."

Against this action of the town, however, a protest was

entered by Benjamin Whitney, Jean Brown, and William

Woodside.

A meeting held December 25th elected Capt. Benjamin

Larrabee a representative " to go to answer the present-

ment commenced against this town at the general Sessions

of the Peace." It does not, however, appear from the

records what was the nature of the action against the

town, or by whom it was brought. Possibly, it may have

been in consequence of there being no provision made that

year for a school, as the law was then obligatory upon all

towns to make such provision.

On May 30th, of this year, the inhabitants of Mair Point

petitioned the (General Court, since one-half of that point

was within the bounds of the township of North Yarmouth,

and was twenty-five miles distant from the meeting-house in

that town by land, and ten miles distant by se^, with two

dangerous bays to be crossed, and since the northerly por-

tion of the point was but two miles distant from Brunswick,

that they might be set off from North Yarmouth and an-

nexed to the town of Brunswick. An act was passed

granting this privilege, which took effect October 2d fol-

lowing.

The total appropriation for defraying the expenses of the

town in 1740 was £248 16«. Of this amount £150

was for the salary of Rev. Mr. Rutherford, and £80 for

support of a school-master, leaving but £18 for contingent

expenses. It was also voted this year to raise £200 as a

settlement for Mr. Rutherford, " if he lives and dies minister

of Brunswick ;" and a little more than one-fourth of this

amount was to be raised that year. The town voted not to

send any representative this year to the General Court, and

also voted to allow liogs to run at large, provided they w'ere

properly yoked and ringed.

Space will not allow us to follow these records. They

may be consulted at large in the excellent and exhaustive

work of the Messrs. Wheeler, from which the matter for

this sketch has been chiefly taken. The administrative

policy of the town continued to be much the same for

several years.

CIVIL LIST.

REPRESENTATIVES TO CONGRESS.

Robert P. Dunlap, Brunswick, 1843^7.

Charles J. Oilman, Brunswick, 1857-59.

GOVERNORS OP MAINE.

Robert P. Dunlnp, Brunswick, 1834-.38.

Joshua L. Chamberlain, Brunswick, 1867-71.

SECRETARY OP STATE.

Franklin M. Drew, Brunswick, 1868-71.

STATE TREASURER.

Abner B. Thompson, Brunswick, 1831-32.

ADJUTANT-GENERAL.

Abner B. Thompson, Brunswick, 1839-40.

STATE SENATORS.

Jacob Abbott, 1813-16; Robert P. Dunlnp, 1821-29; Jonathan Page,

1829; Robert P. Dunlap, 183n-33; Tobias Pnrinton, 1836; John

C. Humphreys, 1839; Elijah P. Pike, 1841; Samuel R. Jackson,

1847; William H. Morse, 1848; Abner B. Thompson, 1856;

Daniel Elliott, 1863; Henry Carrill, 1870; Marshall Cram, 1871.

REPRESENTATIVES IN GENERAL COURT OF MASSACHU-

SETTS.

David Dnnning, 1742-43; Samuel Hinkley, 1747; Samuel Thomp-

son, Samuel Stanwood, 1776; Samnel Denkeu, 1 781 ; William

Owen, 1785; John Peterson, 1791-92; William Stanwood, Jr.,

1793; William Stanwood, 1794-95; John Minot, 1796; John

Dunlap, 1799-1805; James Curtis, E. H. Goss, 1800; Robert

Gireen, 1806-7; Robert D. Dunning, 1808-16; Henry Putnam,

Philip Owen, 1813 ; David Dunlap, 1810-20 ; Joseph McEeen,

1819.

SELECTMEN.

1739.—Capt. Benjamin Larrabee, Samuel Hinkley, John Getchell,

James Dunning, David Dunning.

1740.—Benjamin Larrnbee, Samnel Hinkley, David Giveen.

1741.—Samnel -Hinkley, David Dunning, Robert Spear.

1742.—Capt. Benjamin Larrabee, Samuel Hinkley, Wimond Brad-

bury.

1743.—Isaac Snow,* Samuel Hinkley,* Wymond Bradbury,* Capt.

John Minot,f Eben Stanwood,t James Dunuing.'f'

1744.—Thomas Skolfield,^ Ebenezer Stanwood,^ James Dunning,^

James Dunning,^ Samuel Clark,^ Ebenezer Stanwood.^

1745.—Thomas Skol6eld, Ebenezer Stanwood, Aaron Hinkley.

1746-47.—David Giveen, Isaac Snow, Thomas Skolfield.

1748.—James Thompson, Tluimas Skolfield, John Smart.

1749 John Getchell, David Dunning, Thomas Skolfield.

1750,—John Minot, Aaron Hinkley, Robert Finney.

1751.—John Minot, Isaac Snow, Robert Finney.

1752.—James Thompson, Samuel Stanwood, Thomas Skolfield.

1753.—William Woodside, James Thompson, Thomas Skolfield.

1754.—Jnmes Thompson, Samuel Stanwood, Thomas Skolfield.

1755.—Aaron Hinkley, William Speer, Robert Giveen.

1756.—Isaac Snow, Samuel Stanwood, Thomas Skolfield.

1757.—James Thompson, Willi" lU Stanwood, Thomas Skolfield.

1758.—Isaac Snow, William Stnnwood, Thomas Skolfield.

1759.—Aaron Hinkley, William Sfcinwood, Thomas Skolfield.

1760.—Aaron Hinkley, Samuel Moody, Thomas Skolfield.

1761.—Samnel Stanwood, Phineas Nevers, Thomas Skolfield.

1762.—Thomas Skolfield, Samuel Stanwood, Nathaniel Larrabee.

1763-64.—Samuel Stanwood, Nathaniel Larrabee, Vincent Woodside.

1765.—Samuel Stanwood, Nathaniel Larrabee, Thomas Skolfield.

1766.—Thomas Skolfield, Samuel Stanwood, Stephen Qetohell.

1767.—Thomas Skolfield, Samuel Stanwood, Nathaniel Larrabee.

1768-70.—Samuel Thompson, William Woodside, Andrew Dunning.

1771.—Samuel Thompson, William Woodside, Robert Spear.

1772-73.—Thomas Skolfield. Samnel Stanwood, Nathaniel Larrabee.

1 774.—Samuel Stanwood, William Stanwood, Nathaniel Larrabee.

1775.—Thomas Skolfield, Thomas Monlton, Nathaniel Larrabee.

1776-77.—Samuel Stanwood, Benjamin Stone, James Curtis.

1778.—William Stanwood, John Dunlap, Nathaniel Larrabee.

1779-81.—Nathoniel Larrabee, William Stanwood, Andrew Dunning.

1782.—Thomas Skolfield, Samuel Stanwood, James Curtis.

* Elected at annual meeting. Held office till Angust 30th.

t Elected August 30th. Held office till Jan. 17, 1744.

X Elected January 17th. Held office till March meeting.

§ Elected at annual meeting in March.
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1783-So.—Jfnthonkl Larrnbee, William .Stannood, Jr., Ephraim

Hunt.

1786-Sr.—Xiitbaniel Larrnbee, Ephroim Hunt, Andrew Dunning.

1788-90.—Natliaaicl Larrabee, Andrtw Dunning, William Stanvvood,

Jr.

1791-92.—Nathaniel Larrabee, John Dunning, Daniel Given.

1793.—Nathani'.'l Larrabee, Daniel Gireen, Capt. William Stanwood,

Jr.

1794-97.—Nathaniel Larrabee, Col. William Stanwood, Daniel Given.

1798.—Nathaniel Larrabee, Col. Wm. Stanwood, Capt. Wm. Stan-

wood.

1799.—Nathaniel Larrabee, Capt. Wm. Stanwood, Amos Lunt.

1800.—Nathaniel Larrabee, William Dunning, Amos Lunt.

1801.—William Dunning, Dr. Charles Coffin, Nathaniel Larrabee.

1802.—Nathaniel Larrabee, Col, Wm. Stanwood, Daniel Given.

1803.—Ephraim Hunt. Stephen Larrabee, Charles Coffin.

180J-6.—William Dunning, Copt. Bobert Thompson, Thomas Noj-es.

1807-8.—William Dunning, John Perry, Jr., Stephen Larrabee, Jr.

1809.—Robert D. Dunning, Stephen Larrabee, Jr., Jacob Anderson.

1810.—Stephen Larrabee, JoFeph Hacker, William Dunning,

1811.—John Given, Joseph Hacker, William Dunning.

1812-13.—Joseph Hacker, James Dunning, Stephen Larrabee.

1814.—Hon. Jacob Abbot, Robert D. Dunning, Esq., Stephen Lar-

rabee.

1815-16.—Joseph Hacker, Robert D. Dnnning, David Given.

1817-18.—Joseph Hacker, Edward Raymond, Caleb Cushing.

1819-23.—Caleb Cushing, Edward Raymond, Jacob Pcnnell.

1 824-26.—Abner B6ume, Thomas Given, Jr. (2dl, David Farrin.

1827-30,—John A. Dunning, Jnmes F. Matthews, Thomas Given.

1S31.—Noah Hinklej, Jiimes F. Matthews, Isaiah Hacker.

1832-33.—John A. Dunning, James F. Mntthew.o, Isaiah Hacker.

1834.—Elijah P. Pike, Isaiah Hacker, Thomas Given.

1835.^—Nathaniel Dunning, .Tames F. Matthews, Henry Merritt.

1836.—Nathaniel Dunning, James F. Matthews, Thomas Given (2d).

1837 James F. Matthews, Thomas Given (2d), John C. Hum|ihreys.

1838.—James F. Matthews, Rolert Pennell, Peter Jordan.

1839.—James F. Matthews, Robert Pennell, James Cox.

1840-41.—James F. Matthews, James Cux, Joseph Lunt(2d).

1842-44.—Adam Lemont, Joseph Lunt (2d), Richard Greenleaf.

1845-46.—Richard Greenleaf, Joseph Lunt (2d), Samuel S. Wing.

1847.—Richard Greenleaf, Samuel S. Wing, James Otis.

1848.—Riohard Greenleaf, Samuel S. Wing, J. W. Forsaith.

1849-50.—Richard Greenleaf, Samuel S. Wing, Benjamin D. Pennell,

ISdt.—Richard Greenleaf, Benjamin Furbish, John S. Gross.

1852-54.—Richard Greenleaf, Rodney Forsaiih, Benj. D. Pennell.

1855.—Joseph Lunt (2d), George C. Crawford, Gardner G. Frott.

1S56,—Joseph Lunt (2d), Thomas S. Dunning, Joseph C. Given.

1857.—Joseph Lunt (2d), John L.Swift, Gardner G. Frott.

1858.—Joseph Lunt (2d), John L. Swift, John S. Gross.

1859.—Richard Greenleaf, William S. Given, Nathaniel Badger.

1860-61.—John L. Swift, Leonard Townsend, Augustus F. Cox.

1862-64.—Leonard Townsend, Augustus F. Co-t, Francis Owen.

1865.—Joseph Lunt (2d), John L. Swift, Leonard Townsend.

1866.—Joseph Lunt, Augustus F. Cox, John L. Swift.

1867,—Joseph Lunt, Augustus F. Cox, Charles C. Humphreys.

1868-69.-C. C, Humphreys, J. C. Given, Henry Carvill.

1870.—Henry Carvill, Joseph Lunt (2d), Lyman E. Smith.

1871.—Henry Carvill, Lyman E. Smith, Charles N. Bates.

1872.—Henry Carvill, Lyman E. Smith, John Crawford.

1873.—Lyuian E. Smith, Thomas U. Eaton, Larkin D. Snow.

1874.—Larkin D. Snow, Samuel S. Wing, George P. Simpson.

1875.—Samuel S, Wing, George P, Simpson, Horatio A. Patten.

1876.—Lyman E. Smith, Samuel S. Wing, Thomas IT. Eaton.

1877.—Lyman E. Smith, Thomas U. Eaton, Sumner L. Holbrook.

TOWN CLERKS.

Samuel Hinkley, 1739; Benjamin Larrabee, 1740, 1743; Wimond

Bradbury, 1741-42; Robert Finney, 1744-51; Thomas Skol-

field, 1752-61, 1763-65; David Dnnning, 1762; Nathaniel Lar-

rabee. 1766-1802; Charles Coffin, 1803; Jotham Stone, 1S04-8;

John Perry, 1809; Daniel Given, 1810-1.3, 1815-20; Nathaniel

Poor, 1314; John McKeen, 1821-36; Nathaniel Bodger, 1837-

59; J. W. Forsaith, 1805-67; Leonard Townsend, 1860-64,

1868-77.

BOWDOIX COLLEGE.

In November, 1788, petition.? were sent to the General

Court of Jlassncliusetts IVom the Cumberland Count)- As-

sociution of Ministers, as well as from the Cumberland

County Court of General Sessions, for the incorporation of

a college in that county. No decided action, however, was

taken on these petitio^is until 1790, when a favorable report

was made by a committee of the Legislature, to which the

matter had been referred. In March, 1791, in consequence

principally of the exertions of Hon. Josiah Tliatcher, a

Senator from Cumberland County, a bill Ibracoilejre, to be

called the Maine College, passed the Senate, but failed to

pass the House.

At the next session, in the winter of 1791-92, upon the

motion of H. Slocum, Esq., a meiuber from Bristol County,

a committee was raised " to Consider the expediency of

establishing a College in the District of Maine." Ail men-

tion of Cumberland County was avoided, and the motion

was made by a member from another county in order that

no prejudice might be excited against the measure. Gov-

ernor Euitice was appointed chairman of the committee,

and a bill was prepared establishing a college, which was

first proposed to be called Winthrop College, but which was

called in the act of incorporation Bowdoin College, " the

name being selected as one of the most honored names that

Massachusetts could boast.'' The bill passed the House at

this ses.'rion, but owing to a disagreement between the two

Houses in regard to the name and location of the college

the bill was not formally enacted until June 24, 1794, when

it passed both Houses and received the signature of the

Governor, Samuel Adams. The towns of Gorham, Port-

land, North Yarmouth, Brunswick, New Gloucester, Free-

port, and Winthrop were pertinacious in urging their re-

spective claims as being the most fitting scat of the college,

and in some of them subscriptions were raised to secure the

location. The town of Brunswick was at length selected as

a compromise between the conflicting interests of the claim-

ants, the citizens of the town having made what was

considered at that time a valuable consideration for the

preference.

The founders of this institution appear to have. formed

adequate conceptions of what such a college should be.

Their evident design was, as expressed in their own words,

to found a seminary which should " promote virtue and

piety, and a knowledge of the languages, and of the useful

and liberal arts and sciences.''

The government of tjie college was, by its act of incor-

poration, vested in a board of trustees and a board of over-

seers, the former consisting of 13 and the latter of 45
members. The trustees are the legislative body, and the

overseers possess a vetoing power. Five townships of land,

each six miles square, of the unappropriated lands in the

then District of Maine, were granted for the " use, benefit,

and purpose of supporting" the college.

" Immediately after the charter was granted establishing

an institution which was to bear his family name, the Hon.

James Bowdoin, of • Boston, afterwards minister pleni-

potentiary at the Spanish Court, generously bestowed both

money and lands, the estimated value of which was S6800.

The first meeting of the boards of the college was held at
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Portland, December, 1794. In consequence, however, of a

deficiency of available faada (for die best lands of the State

having been previously selected by other grantees, there

was great difficulty in effecting a sale of the college town-

ships, or any portion of them, without a sacrifice), eight

years passed before the college went into operation. In-

deed, notwithstanding the original grant of the L^islature,

and the patronage of the individual already named, nothing

but great zeul and unwearied perseverance on the part of

the most active friends of the project carried it through to

its accomplishment. Bet>ide3 two stated meetings of the

boards each year, special meetings were occasionally called

;

but it was no easy matter to sustain the interest of all the

members in an institution which as yet existed but io name,

and it was always difficult even to form a quorum for the

transaction of business. Committees were repeatedly ap-

pointed by the boards to solicit donations, but the public

had not then learned to give, and when thousands were

needed, the amount contributed was small, and mostly in

books. Mutual recriminations of inefficiency and neglect

passed between the two boards, and some were almost ready

to despair of success.''

Although but few donations were made to the college at

this time, it is gratifying to know that neither the citizens

nor the Pojepscot proprietors were unmindful of the benefit

the location of the college in Brunswick would be to this

town. Thirty acres of land were given to the college for

its location by Cupt. John Dunlup, William Staowood, and

Brigadier Thompson, though the college afterwards had to

purchase a part of it from more rightful owners.''

The Pejepscot proprietors also, at a meeting held April

3, 1799, voted to give a deed of 200 acres of land to the

trustees, " for the use of the college forever."

The following were the original trustees and overseers of

the college

:

Tntslees.—Rev. Thomas Brown, Falmouth ; Samuel

Dean, D.D., Portland ; John Frotbingham, Esq., Port-

land ; Rev. Daniel Little, Wells ; Rev. Thomas Lancas-

ter, Scarboro' ; Hon. Joshua Thatcher, Gorham ; David

Mitchell, Esq., North Yarmouth ; Rev. Tristram Gilman,

North Yarmouth ; Rev. Alden Bradford, Wiscassct

;

Thomas Rice, Esq., Pownalboro' ; William Martin, North

Yai-moath ; and the president and treasurer of the college.

Oveneers.—Edward Cutts, Kittery ; Thomas Cutts,

Pepperelboro' ; Simon Frye, Fryeburg ; David Sewall,

York ; Nathaniel Wells, Wells ; Rev. Moses Hemmenway,

D.D., Wells; Rev. Silas Moody, Arundel; Rev. John

Thompson, Berwick ; Rev. Nathaniel Webster, Biddeford
;

Rev. Paul Coffin, Buxton ; Rev. Benjamin Chadwick,

Scsirboro' ; Rev. Samuel Eaton, Harpswell ; Rev. Samuel

Foxcrofl, New Gloucester ; Rev. Caleb Jewett ; Rev. Al-

fred Johnson, Freeport ; Rev. Elijah Kellogg, Portland

;

Rev. Ebenezer Williams, Falmouth ; Rev. Charles Turner,

Sandford ; Daniel Davis, Portland ; Samuel Freeman, Port-

land ; Joshua Fabyan, Scarboro' ; William Gorham, Gor-

ham ; Stephen Longfellow, Gorham ; Joseph Noyes,

Falmouth ; Isaac Parsons, New Gloucester ; Robert South-

gate, Scarboro' ; John Wait, Portland ; Peleg Wadsworth,

* John MoEeeD, Reminiacensei of Bronsiriok in IS 02.

Thomaston ; William Widgery, New Gloucester ; Rev.

Ezekiel Emerson, Georgetown ; Rev. Jonathan Ellis, Top-

sham ; Jonathan Bowman, Pownalboro' ; Edmund Bridge,

Augusta ; Daniel Cony, Augusta ; Henry Dearborn, Pitts-

ton ; Dummer Sewall, Bath; Samuel Thompson, Topsham
;

John Dunlap, Brunswick ; Francis Winter, Bath ; Natha-

niel Thwing, Woolwich ; Alexander Campbell, No. 4

Washington County ; Paul Dudley Sargeant, Sullivan ; and

the president and secretary of the college.

The site for the college was selected in 1796. It is situ-

ated on a plateau about three-quarters of a mile south of

the Androscoggin Bridge, near the pine plains. A beau-

tiful grove of pines forms a part of the college grounds,

and its proximity suggested the motto of one of the literary

societies of the college.f

It was decided at this time to erect a building as soon

as' practicable, and in 1798 one was constructed of brick,

fifty feet long, forty feet wide, and three stories high.

Owing to lack of means, however, it was not ready for use

until the summer of 1802. In this latter year a wooden

house was erected for the use of the president of the

college.

About this time a part of the college lands was sold,

and thus a new and more vigorous impulse was given to

the growth of the college.

"In July, 1801, the boards proceeded to elect a presi-

dent. Among several candidates the choice fell upon Rev.

Joseph McEeen, a clergyman of high standing of Beverly,

Mass. The selection was fortunate for the institution.

Possessing sound judgment and great sagacity, President

McKeen was enabled'to give a wise direction to measures,

and to establish precedents of great importance to the

future stability and prosperity of the institution. Through

his instrumentality the tenur.e of office, a point which

elicited much discussion, was established on a proper basis.

In the following November, John Abbot, A.M., Harvard,

was chosen professor of languages. The president and

professor of languages were installed September, 1802.

Great interest was felt by the friends of learning and

education throughout the commonwealth in this under-

taking, and the ceremonies of the inauguration attracted

to Brunswick a large assemblage, in which were men of

the first distinction in the State. For want of a building

suitable for the occasion a platform, with accommodations

for spectators, had been erected in the pine grove in the

rear of the ground where the college grounds now stand.

The scene in which they were participating could not but

have deeply affected the principal actors. . . . On this

occasion the name of the college building, already erected,

was proclaimed in due form,—Massachusetts Hall.

" On the day following this interesting occasion eight

students were examined for admission into the collie, two

of whom came from the metropolis of the commonwealth

and its neighborhood, showing the interest and the confi-

dence felt there in this new child of promise.**«*•*
" The duties to which President McKeen was called

were arduous and highly responsible. For two years he

f The motto of the PeaciDian Society is " Pinoa loqaentea semper

habemas" (The murmuriDg piues we always hare).
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was aided only by the faithful services of the professor of

languages. The obstacles and the discouragements he was

compelled to encounter in laying the foundation of an in-

stitution which was attracting notice and exciting much
expectation in the community, without apparatus of any
kind and almost without funds, situated in a part of the

country where superfluous wealth was not yet known, at a

period when such an undertaking was a novel one, cannot

DOW be duly appreciated. Before they were introduced to

their labors the president and professor visited the principal

colleges of New England, that they might avail themselves

of the best experience of the time for the successful man-
agement of the college. It should be mentioned as an

honorable testimonial to the enlarged and independent

views which governed the measures then adopted, that

the requisitions for admission at once placed the new in-

stitution in this respect on a level with the oldest and best-

conducted institutions in the country,—a rank which it

has ever maintained."

His house not having been completed in time, the presi-

dent and his family for a while occupied rooms in Massa-

chusetts Hall, the lower story of which had been fitted up

temporarily as a chapel and recitalion-rooni, and the upper

portion for dormitories. There was no bell of any kind,

and the pupils were summoned to prayers morning and

evening by the thumping of the president's cane on the

staircase. In addition to these daily devotional exercises,

President McKeen also preached on Sunday either in the

meeting-house of the First Parish or the college chapel.

In 1804, Samuel Willard was .-ippointed a tutor, and

took up his residence within the college. One or two resi-

dent tutors were chosen annually after this until IS'H.

Soon after its incorporation Mr. Buwdoin presented the

college with £823 4«., with a " request that the interest

thereof may be applied to the establishment and support of

a professorship of Mathematics, and of Natural and Experi-

mental Philosophy, and that this interest be added to the

principal until a professor shall be appointed." To fill this

professorship the boards, in May, 1805,. elected Parker

Cleveland, A.M., Harvard, who. was at that time a tutor at

Cambridge. lie was inducted into office in October. During

this year the first chapel was erected. It was constructed

of wood, with rooms for the library and philosophical appa-

ratus in the second story. It was not designed for a per-

manent building, but was, however, enlarged and improved

in 1817, and served the purposes for which it was built

until 1845.

In 1805 the first literary society was instituted. This

society, the Peucinian, was founded by Charles Stewart

Daveis, Alfred Johnson, Nathan Lord, Robert Means, Enos

Merrill, Benjamin Randall. Joseph Sprague, and Henry

Wood, members of the three highest classes of the college.

Robert Means was the first president. At first the society

consisted solely of members of college, but in 1814 the mem-

bers who had graduated held a meeting, and, together with

those belonging to the college society, formed a general so-

ciety, of which Charles Stewart Daveis was elected the first

president. With varying periods of prosperity.«nd reverses,

the society has continued to the present day. Its member-

ship in 1858, the date of the last catalogue, was as follows:

Whole number of members, 1023 ; initiated members,

945 ; honorary membcre, 78 ; members of General Society,

882 ; members of College Society, 63.

The firat commencement of the college was celebrated in

September, 1806, when the first class was graduated. The

following-named individuals composed this class

:

Mr. Richard Cobb, who died in 1837, aged forty-nine;

Mr. Isaac Foster Coffin, who died in 1861, aged seventy-

four ; John Davis, who died in 1841, aged sixty-two ; Mr.

John Maurice O'Brien, who died in 1865, aged seventy-

nine ; Mo.ses Quinby, S.H.S., who died in 1857, aged

seventy-one; Mr. George Tliorndike, who died in 1810,

aged twenty-one, and who also received his degree at Har-

vard, in 1807 ; Rev. Benjamin Titcomb, who died in 1829,

aged forty-two.

At the same time the following fourteen persons, gradu-

ates of other colleges, received at their own solicitation

honorary degrees : Ebenezer H. Beckford, of Harvard

;

Oliver Bray, of Yale ; Jason Chamberluin, of the Univer-

sity of Brunswick ; Thomas J. Eckley, of Harvard ; Jacob

H. Elliott, of Harvard ; Abraham Eiistis, of Harvard ; Ja-

cob C. Jewctt, (if Harvard ; Thomas M. Jones, of Harvard
;

Isaac Lincoln, of Harvard; Samuel Ornu, ol Harvard and

Yale ; Albion K. Punis, of Dartmouth ; Levoictt Salton-

stall, of Harvard and Yale; Ichabod Tuckur, of Harvard;

and Owen Warlaiid, also of Harvard.

This being the first occa.sion of the kind in a portion of

the commoiiwcaltli then looked upon as aliuot a wilderness,

excited much interest throughout Massachusetts. A large

number of people attended from the district of Maine, and

many from Boston and vicinity. There was, perhaps, a

larger attendance than has been usual since that time. This

commencement is memorable not only on account of its

being the first one, but also on account of a storm of un-

common severity, which began the day before the one ap-

pointed for the exercises of graduation, and for three days

raged without abatement. The exercises were postponed

one day, but were obliged to be held the next.

The successful working of the college at this time is

shown by the fact that in 1807, 44 students had been ad-

mitted to it, the library contained between 1400 and 1 500

volumes, and a philosophical and chemical apparatus had

been obtained which was probably unsurpassed at that

time by any in New England, except by that in Harvard

University. A new building, subsequently named Maine

Hall, was commenced this year. It was of brick, 140 feet

long, 40 wide, and four stories high, and was intended for

dormitories.

In consequence of the illness of the president at this time,

his duties were distributed among the three remaining in-

structors. The tutor, Nathan Parker, A.M., Harvard, af-

terwards Rev. Dr. Parker, of Portsmouth, New Hampshire,

" a most efficient and able officer, both of instruction and

government," performed regularly the chapel duties of the

president during the vacancy in that office.

In September, 1807, in consequence of the death of Presi-

dent McKeen, it became necessary to choose his successor.

Some perplexity arose in consequence of the number of ap-

plicants for the position, but finally the boards made selec-

tion of Rev. Jesse Appleton, A.M., Dartmouth, who was at
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the time settled in the ministry in Hampton, N. H. His

inangaration took place in December of the same year.

''President Appleton broaght to the discharge of his

daties a conscientiooaness which forbade him to relax any

effort, and a deep sense of responsibility both for the

literary repatation and the moral and religious welfare of

-the institution. He possessed also rational views of colle-

giate discipline, great discretion, unshrinking integrity, an

uncommon spirit of command, true love of learning, culti-

vated taste, habits of close application, and a delicacy and

refinement of character which could not be surpassed. He
had gained, in a d^ree unusual for one of hb age, the

respect of the clergy both of Massachusetts and New
Hampshire, aa may be inferred from the fact that in 1803

he was one of the two most prominent candidates for the

Theological Chair of Harvard University. The selection

of such an individual for the presidency of the college was

deemed highly auspicious. But he was Killed at the out-

set to encounter peculiar trials. Not to mention the relaxa-

tion of discipline likely to ensue on account of the protracted

illness of the former president, and ihe interval between his

decease and the coming of a successor, it was a time when

there was throughout the eommnnity a tendency to loose-

ness of sentiment and character. At no period in the

history of our colleges has there been more recklessness on

the part of youth. The habits of society, which then made

the use of- intoxicating liquors an essential even of com-

mon hospitality, exerted a most deleterious influence on all

our colleges. ... By the unwearied assiduity, however, of

President Appleton, by a uniform system of discipline, great

energy, and firmness tempered with parcntul solicitude for

the welfare of his pupils, and the influence of high moral

and religious principle, which pervaded in an uncommon

degree ail his intercourse with the students, the difficulties

to which we have alluded were gradually overcome, and

under his administration the college acquired a high repute

for good morals as well as sound scholatship."

In the month of June, 1808, a few students associated

themselves together for literary purposes, under the name

of the "Athenaean Society of Bowdoin College." Henry

Wood was the first president. This society for a few years

surpassed its rival, the Pencinian, but soon languished, and

in 1811 was temporarily discontinued. It was revived

again in 1813, but was again disbanded in 1816 and its

library divided. In 1818 it was again revived, and has

continued till the present time. In 1820 the Creneral

Society was formed, and Levi Stowell was chosen as its first

president. In 1822 its library was injured in the burning

of Maine Hall, in which it was kept. In 1828 this society

was incorporated by an act of the Ii^;islature, and a new

seal was adopted.* In 1836 its library was again almost

totally destroyed by fire. In 1850 it received the cabinet

of curiosities and other property of the "Caluvian Society."

The membership of this society in 1856, the date of its last

catalogue, was as follows : whole number of memberB, 885
;

initiated members, 739 ; honorary members, 79 ; members

* On the seal wu'engraTena head of Minerva, with the inscription,

" Athenaean Society, B. C, Cnl. So. Sci. Cor.'' The abbreviations are

for " Buwduia College, Coltoret saos scientia coronat" (Science crowns

her worshipers).

of the General Society, 748 ; of the College Society, 67.

Though these two literary societies still exist, yet neither

of them, it is believed, are supported with the former vigor

and enthusiasm.

In 1811, Mr. Bowdoin, the steadfast friend of the col-

lege, died. He bequeathed to thb institution his valuable

private library of more than 2000 volumes, besides a large

number of pamphlets, charts, maps, and several articles of

philosophical apparatus, a valuable collection of minerals,

comprising nearfy 500 distinct specimens, arranged by

Haliy, nearly 400 models in crystallography, and a valu-

able collection of paintings and engravings which he had

collected in Europe. The value of this legacy was certainly

not less than 815,000.

At a meeting of the board of trustees of the college, on

May 19, 1812, it was voted " that iu cousidcraiion of the

great munificence of the late Hon. James Bowdoin, Esq.,

towards this institution, and the interest taken by it in his

lamented decease, it is expedient and becoming that public

notice be taken of the event ; and therefore, voted, that the

secretary of this board be requested to deliver, at the ensu-

ing commencement, an eulogy to bis memory." The board

of overseers concurred in this request, and at the ensuing

commencement, September 2d, the eulogy was delivered by

Rev. Mr. Jenks, and was afterwards published in pamphlet

form by a vote of the boards.

This year Rev. William Jenks, A.M., Harvard, at that

time settled in the ministry at Bath, the secretary of the

board of trustees, was appointed professor of Oriental and

English languages. He commenced his duties Jan. 5,

1813. "The erudition of this gentleman, and his classical

taste, rendered his services an important acquisition." His

appointment was for three yfears only, and he kept up his

connection with his society in Bath. Efforts were made to

retain him as a permanent instructor, but they were unsuc-

cessful. At this time the finances of the college were in a

low state, almost the only source of income being the sale

from time to time of some of its wild lands, which were

not then of much value.

In 1814 an act was passed by the General Court, making

an annual grant to the several colleges in the common-
wealth for ten years. The portion allotted to this college

was $3000, one-fourth of which was to be appropriated to

the payment of the tuition of indigent students. This

year the " Benevolent Society of Bowdoin College" was

instituted. It was at first composed entirely of graduates

and undergraduates of the college, but it afterwards ad-

mitted those not connected with the institution. It was

incorporated, and had at one time funds to the amount of

S700. From the printed constitution of the society the

following facts are obtained :

The object of the society was to assist " indigent young

men of promising talents and of good moral character in

procuring an education at this college." No person could

receive pecuniary assistance unless he had been a member
of collie for at least one term. Any one of twenty-one

years of age or over could become a member by paying one

dollar on a^Qiission and one dollar annually, or a life-mem-

ber by paying ten dollars. The society received donations

of books, furniture, clothing, or money, aud the donor
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could designate the manner in which the gift should be

appropriated, " provided it be for an object consistent with

the design of the society." One-half of the money re-

ceived into the treasury and not appropriated by the donors

was reserved as a permanent fund, of which only the an-

nual income could be used.

The death of President Appleton occurred in November,

1819, and in consequence thereof a special meeting of the

boards was called in December to elect hb succes.sor.

Their choice fell upon Rev._ William Allen, A.M., Har-

vard, of Hanover, N. H., who had been president of Dart-

mouth College. In September previous, Samuel P. New-
man, A.M., Harvard, wa.s elected to the professorship of

Latin and G-reck, which had been rendered vacant by the

resignation, in 1816, of Professor Abbot. The new pro-

fessor and president were both inaugurated in May, 1820.

The formation of the new State of Maine in 1820 af-

fected considerably the welfare of the college.

In the " Act of Separation," passed by the Legislature of

Massachusetts, June, 1819, it was provided that the grants

already made to the college, which would not expire under

four years, should continue in full force after the District

of Maine became a State, and that all the chartered rights

of the college should be enjoyed without change, " except

by judicial process according to the principles of law."

By the constitution of Maine, on the other hand, the

Legislature were restrained from making any grant to any

literary institution, unless they should have a certain right

of control over such institution." The trustees and over-

seers of the college, therefore, deemed it wise to vest such

right in the Legislature of Maine, in order to be able to

derive aid from the State. Accordingly, an application

was made by them to the Legislatures of both States " for

their assent to such modifications of the college charter as

would remove any impediment in the way of the college

receiving patronage from the Legislature of Maine."

In response to this petition, the Legislature of Massa-

chusetts, on Jane 12th of this year, passed a resolve giving

their consent to the alteration of the clause in the " Act of

Separation'' which referred to this college, provided the

Legislature of Maine consented thereto, and that the alter-

ation did not affect the rights or interests of the common-

wealth. Four days later the Legislature of Maine passed

an act so far modifying the " Act of Separation" as that

the powers and privileges of the president, trustees, and

overseers of the college should be subject to be " altered,

limited, restrained, or extended by the Legislature of the

State of Maine, as shall by the said Legislature be judged

necessary to promote the best interests of said institution."

The college having given its assent to this act, the Legisla-

ture of Maine granted a continuance of the sum which had

been given by Massachusetts, and which had been appro-

priated for the purpose from a tax on the banks. By the

power given them in this act, the Legislature also, in

March, 1821, passed another act increasing the number of

trustees to 25, and of overseers to 60, and the Governor

and Council, by authority granted by the same act, pro-

ceeded to fill by appointment the places which had been

thus created. In this way 33 individuals were introduced

into the two boards.

31

The college buildings at this time were three in number,

arranged to form the three sides of a square, but at suitable

intervals from each other. The southern building was of

wood and two stories high. The lower apartment contained

the library, consisting at that time of about 6000 vol-

umes. The building on the north was a large, square, brick

building, three stories high, divided into apartments for the

philosophical apparatus, laboratory, mineralogical cabinet,

etc. The eastern building was of brick, and was four sto-

ries high, and contained 32 rooms for students.

In 1822 an additional building, Winthrop Hall, was

erected for dormitories. In 5Iarch of thi.s year, 3Iaine

Hall took fire and the entire interior was burnt, though

the walls were not materially injured. The fire was dis-

covered at three o^lock in the afternoon, and when first

noticed was beyond control. It is supposed to have caught

in the garret, but no satisfactory knowledge of its origin

can be given. The loss by this fire was considerable. The

building alone cost §16,000. Tlie theological library, con-

sisting of from three to four hundred volumes, was almost

entirely consumed. Twelve of the students lost all their

wearing apparel, except what they had on at the time, to-

gether with their furniture and bedding. Tiie private

property thus lost was estimated at the time not far from

51500.

This severe blow to the prosperity of the college was

averted by the public liberality. Individual donations were

extensively made, and contributions were received in a large

number of the churches in Maine and Massachusetts, and

thus the loss was i'ully repaired.

In 1824 two new professorships were created. Rev.

Thomas C. Upham, A.M., Dartmouth, who was settled in

the ministry in Rochester, N. H., was chosen Professor of

Metaphysics and Ethics ; and Samuel P. Newman, Professor

of Rhetoric and Oratory. They were inaugurated in Feb-

ruary of the following year. Professor Newman also con-

ducted (he recitations in civil polity and political economy,

and Hebrew was taught by Professor Upham.

This year Alpheus S. Packard, A.M., a graduate of the

college in the class of 1816, who had been a tutor since

1819, was chosen Professor of Languages and Classical

Literature.

Professor Packard was the son of Rev. Dr. Hezekiah

Packard, and was born in Chelmsford, Mass., on Dec. 23,

1798. His connection with the college for a period of

fifty-eight years is evidence not only of the high esteem in

which he has always been held by the public, as well as by
his colleagues and the alumni, but is also a proof of the

wisdom originally displayed in his selection. Professor

Packard, in addition to the professorship to which he was

originally chosen, waa appointed from 1842 to 1845 to fill

the vacancy in the Chair of Rhetoric and Oratory, and in

1864 was made Professor of Natural and Revealed Religion.

In addition to his college duties, he has, from time to

time, supplied the pulpit in the churches of the neighbor-

ing towns. In 1860 he was honored with the title of

S.T.D. from this college. In 1828 he was elected a member
of the Maine Historical Society, in which he has for some
years held and still holds the ofiSce of secretary. He has

also for several yeare been one of its standing committee.
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In 1825, William Smyth, A.M., a graduate of this col-

lege in the class of 1822, who had been a tutor for two

years previously, was appointed Associate Professor of

Mathematics and Natural Philosophy. In 1828 he was

made a professor in full. This year, 1825, a branch of the

Ilteraiy society of graduates, known as the Phi Beta Kappa,

of which there is a branch in nearly all the older colleges

of the country, was organized at this college.

In 1826 the first graduation* of a student belonging to

the colored race occurred. John B. Bossworm, aflerwarda

Governor of Liberia, was the name of this individual.

In 1829, Henry W. Longfellow, A.M., a graduate of

the class of 1825, was chosen to the professorship of Mod-

ern Languages, towards the foundation of which $1000 bad

been bequeathed by Mrs. Dearborn, formerly the widow of

Hon. James Bowdoin. Professor Longfellow resigned his

office in 1835, having been invited to a similar professorship

in Harvard University. What is usually designated as

" Commons Hall" was built this year. It was designed,

and for many years was used, as a dining-room for the stu-

dents. It is now used as a laboratory of analytical chem-

istry.

In March, 1831, an act was passed by the Legislature

which provided that no person then holding the office of

president in any coUege in the State should hold said office

beyond the day of the next commencement of the college,

unless he should be re-elected ; and that no person should

be elected or re-elected to the office of president unless he

should, receive in each board two-thirds of all the votes

given on the question of bis election ; and that any person

elected to said office should be liable to be removed at the

pleasure of the board or boards which should elect him.

It was furthermore provided that the fees usually paid to

the president for degrees should be paid into the treasury,

for the use of the college, and be no longer a perquisite of

office. " This unprecedented act of legislation excited the

deep concern of all who felt an interest in the permanency

and stability of our literary institutions. Though applica-

ble alike to both colleges of the State, its immediate object

and direct bearing no one has ever pretended to disguise."

At their next meeting the trustees and overseers voted to

acquiesce in thb act of the Legislature, and at once pro-

ceeded to choose a president, but failed in consequence of

their inability to get a two-thirds majority in both boards.

A committee of the two boards was chosen to petition the

L^slature for a repeal of the provision of the act requiring

a two-thirds majority in each board. President Allen, how-

ever, did not wait the result of this petition, but at once

proceeded to test the constitutionality of this legislative en-

actment by a suit in the Circuit Court of the United States.

The case was argued before Honorable Joseph Story, asso-

ciate justice of the Supreme Court, and Honorable Ashur

Ware, district judge. The decision of the court had not

only an important bearing upon the welfare of this college,

but was also one which involved the chartered rights of all

such institutions, and is deserving, therefore, of more par-

ticular mention in these pages.

The following abstract of this decision is taken from a

* In 1858 a colored gentleman named Jacob M. Moore waa gradu-

ated from the Medical School.

published sketch of the college by Professor Packard, from

which we have already freely quoted if

" 1. A college established for the promotion of learning and piety

is a private and not a public corporation. In the charter of Bowdoin

College the Tisitortal power ia intrusted to the Boards of Trustees

and Overseers ; as soon as tbej accepted the charter, they acquired a

permanent right and title in their offices, which could not be diverted

except in the manner pointed out in the charter. The Legislature was

bound by the act ; they could not resume their grant, and they could

not touch the vested rights, privileges, or franchises of the college,

except so far as the power was reserved by the sixteenth section of the

act. The language of that section is certainly very broad, but it is

not unlimited. It is there declared that the Legislature 'may grant

further powers to, or alter, limit, annul, or restrain any of the powers

by this act vested in the said corporation, a» thai'' bejut/jjed iiece««ary

to promote the hett iitterett of the coftege/ Whatever it may do, then,

must be done to promote the best interest of the college. It is true

that it is constituted the sole judge of what is the best interest of the

college ; but still it cannot do anything pointedly dettruetite of that

intereet. Its authority is confined to the enlarging, altering, annulling,

or restraining of the poioert of the corporation. It cannot intermeddle

with its property ; it cannot extinguish its corporate existence ; it

cannot resume all its property, and annihilate all its powers and

franchises. The Legislature must leave its vitality and property, and

enable it still to act as a college. It cannot remove the trustees or

overseers, though it may abridge, as well as enlarge, their powers.

"2. Bowdoin College has never surrendered any of its rights.

Whatever may have been the intentions of those concerned, at the

outset, in regard to a surrender of the college to the State, there has

been a miscarriage of the parties; it has never been dejure under the

control of the Legislature of Maine.

" 3. But admitting that the college, as was contemplated, did come

under the control of the Legislature of Maine, when it is stated in the

act modifying the college charter that the president and trustees and

overseers of Bowdoin College shall enjoy their powers and privileges,

subject to be altered, limited, restrained, or extended by the Legisla-

ture, no authority is conferred upon the Legislature to add new mem-
bers to the boards by its own nomination or by that of the Governor

and Council of the State. That would be an extension, not of the

powers and privileges of the boards, but of the legislative action over

them. If the Legislature could add one new member of its own choice

or appointment, it could add any number whatsoever. It could an-

nihilate the powers and privileges of tho charter boards under the

pretense of alteration or extension. The Legislature might authorize

an enlargement of the boards, but the places thus created muci be

filled by the boards themselves.

" 4. The act of the Legislature, removing the presidents of Bow-
doin and Waterville Colleges out of office at a certain time, is a direct

exercise of a power which was expressly and exclusively conferred on

the college boitrds by the original charter, and which has never been

taken from them.

" 5. President Allen was in office under a lawful contract made with

the boanla, by which contract he was to hold that office during good

behavior. The act of the Legislature directly impairs the obligations

of that contract. It takes away from him his tenure of office, and
removes him from it. Holding his office during good behavior, he

could not be removed from it except for gross misbehavior ; and then

only by the boards, in the manner pointed out in the original charter."

Immediately upon the decision of the court being an-

nounced, President Allen resumed the discharge of the

duties of his office.

In 1835, Daniel R. Goodwin, then a tutor in college, suc-

ceeded Longfellow as Professor of Modem Languages. He
served in this capacity until 1853, when be resigned, to

accept the presidency of Trinity College, Connecticut

President Allen resigning in 1839, Rer. Leonard Woods,

of Bangor Theological Seminary, son of Rev. Leonard

Woods, a well-known divine, was elected as his successor.

President Woods was at that time well known for his

f For the full text of this decision see Allen n. McEeen, I Sumner's

Report, 276.
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scholarly culture and attainments, and his reputation has

steadilj increased. In 1839 he received the honorary de-

gree of D.D. from Waterville College, and in 1846 from

Harvard Collcp;e. In 1866 lie received that of LL.D.

from Bowdoin. He was not only an eminent scholar and

a fine teacher, but he attracted students by his courteous

demeanor and by his lenient disposition. He resigned in

1866, afker a period of service extending over twenty-seven

years,—much longer than that of any previous president.

In 1842 a professorship of Political Pkoaomy was founded,

and Alpheus S. Packard was chosen as the first professor in

that branch. He was succeeded in 1845 by Henry H.

Boody, then a tutor.

Ou July 16th of this latter year, the corner-stone of King
Chapel was laid with Masonic ceremonies. There were

present the Grand Lodge of Maine, the Boston Encamp-

ment of Knights Templar, the Portland Encampment of

Knights Templar, the Mount Vernon Chapter of Royal

Arch Masons of Portland, the Montgomery Chapter of

Bath, Ancient Landmark Lodge of Portland, Solar Lodge

of Bath, Freeport Lodge of Freeport, and United Lodge

of Brunswick. At the northwest angle of the ground

there was a raised platform, upon which were the officers

of the college, the Grand Lodge, and the Knights Templar.

President Woods read the psalm "Lsetafnt sum," and made

an address. Prayer was offered by Rev. William T. Dwight,

and John T. Puine, Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of

Maine, assisted by Hon. Robert P. Dunlap, cz-Grand

Master, then laid the stone in due form. A silver plate

provided by the college, and one provided by the Grand

Lodge, were deposited in the proper receptacle in the stone.

In 1855 the new chapel was completed. The entire cose

was 845,000. On June 7th it was dedicated. The services

of the occasion consisted of a selection from the Scriptures

and a prayer by Rev. George E. Adams, a hymn, an address

by President Woods, a second hymn, a sermon by Prof.

Hitchcock, and a concluding prayer by Rev. Dr. Dwight.

The services were attended by the under-graduates, many

graduates, the college boards and faculty, and many friends

of the college, who assembled in the library, from whence

they moved to the chapel in a procession conducted by Hon.

Charles J. Gilman as marshal.

In 1848 a professorship of Rhetoric and Elocution was

founded, that of Political Economy being merged in it, and

Prof. Henry H. Boody was appointed to this office. He
was succeeded in 1856 by Egbert C. Smyth, son of Prof.

William Smyth, a graduate of the college in 1848, and a

tutor in 1849.

A professorship of Natural and Revealed Religion was

founded in 1850 by subscriptions among the Orthodox

Congregationalists, and Calvin E. Stowe, D.D., of the class

of 1829, an eminent scholar and theologian, was chosen to

that office. He was succeeded in 1852 by Roswell D. Hitch-

cock, a graduate of Amherst in 1836, now of New York

City. In 1856, Prof. E. C. Smyth was transferred to this

chair, and Joshua L. Chamberlain, of the class of 1852,

was appointed to the chair of Rhetoric and Oratory. In

1858, William Russell, a distinguished elocutionist, assisted

in his branch.

Prof. Goodwin resigned in 1855, and Charles Carroll

Everett, now a professor in Harvard College, occupied the

chair of Modern Languages for two years, from 1855 to

1857. He was succeeded by Prof. Chamberlain for two

years, when William A. Packard, class of 1851, now pro-

fessor at Princeton, gave the instruction for one year. In

1861, Prof. Chamberlain was again placed in the chair of

Modern Languages, that of Rhetoric and Oi-atory being

filled in 1862 by Rev. Eliphalet Whittlesey, a graduate of

Yale.

In August of this year, 1862, Prof. Chambjrlain re-

signed his office to go into the army for the period of the

war then raging. The boards, however, granted him leave

of absence instead of accepting his resignation, and Stephen

J. Young, class of 1859, was made Provisional Instructor

in Modern Languages, to which, on Prof. Chamberlain's

resigning in 1865, he was elected as professor.

Prof. Whittlesey also went into the army, and the duties

of his chair were performed by members of the faculty. At

the close of the war Prof Whittlesey resigned, and Gen.

Chamberlain was re-elected to the chair of Rhetoric and

Oratory, which, however, he again resigned in 1866, to

accept the office of Governor of Maine. He was followed

by John S. Sewall, class of 1850, who held the chair until

1875, when Prof. Henry L. Chapman, Bowdoin, class of

1866, was transferred to this from the Chair of Latin.

In 1859, Paul A. Chadbourne, a graduate of Williams,

was chosen Professor of Chemistry and Natural History.

He was succeeded in 1863 by Cyrus F. Brackett, a graduate

in 1859, tutor in 1863. In 1864, Prof. Brackett was ap-

pointed Adjunct Professor of Natural Science, and in 1865

to a full professorship in the Josiah Little chair of Natural

Science, to which, however, in 1868, George L. Goodale, a

graduate of Amherst in 1860, was elected.

In 1852, William P. Tucker, class of 1854, tutor since

1857, was instructor in mathematics for one year. He had

in the mean time, as librarian, prepared an elaborate and

valuable catalogue of the college library. In 1865, Edward

N. Packard, tutor since 1863, was instructor, and in 1876

Adjunct Professor of jMathematics. The death of Professor

Smyth, in 1868, while intensely engaged upon the building

of Memorial Hall, left the chair of Mathematics and Natural

Philosophy vacant, and Charles E. Rockwood, a graduate

of Yale, was chosen to the place.

In 1864, Professor E. C. Smyth resigned the chair of

Natural and Revealed Religion, and was succeeded by Pro-

fessor Alpheus S. Packard, who was transferred from the

chair of Ancient Languages, to which, in 1865, Rev. Jo-

tham B. Sewall, class of 1848, tutor in 1851, was chosen.

In 1871, Henry L. Chapman was chosen Adjunct Professor

of Latin, and in 1872 a full professor.

In 1865 the alumni of the college voted to erect a build-

ing, to be called Memorial Hall, in honor of the graduates

and students of the college who had died in the civil war.

A subscription was at once started to carry the plan into

execution, and a committee was raised for the purpose. A
sufficient amount of funds was raised to warrant the prose-

cution of the work, and the corner-stone was accordinHv

laid in 1866. The outside of the building has since been

completed, but enough funds have not yet been secured to

enable it to be finished inside. When more prosperous
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times retuFD there is scarcely any doubt but that the original

iDtentioD will be carried oat.

President Woods resigning in 1865, Rev. Samuel Har-

ris, S.T.D., a graduate of 1833, was elected to his place in

1867. He took upon himself, also, the duties of the Pro-

fessor of Moral Philosophy and Metaphysics, Professor

Upham being that year honored with the Emmlvs title.

In 1871 the eminent scholar, civilian, and general, cx-

Oovernor Chamberlain, was chosen to succeed President

Harris, and at this time quite a reorganization of the col-

lege occurred. A scientific department was established and

several new chairs of instruction were founded. George L.

Voce, C.E., was elected Professor of Civil Engineering;

Edward S. Morse, Ph.D., of Salem, Profe-ssor of Compara-

tive Anatomy and Zoology ; Mr. James B. Taylor, Pro-

visional Professor of Elocution and Oratory ; the chair of

Latin was separated from that of Greek ; and United States

officers were brought here by orders of the government,

—

Brevet-Maj. J. P. Sanger, 4th United States Artillery, as

Professor of Military Science, and John N. McClintock,

class of 1867, of the United States Coast Survey, as in-

structor in Topographical Engineering.

In 1872, Professor Brackett was made Professor of

Chemistry and Physics, and Robert L. Packard, class of

1868, Assistant Professor of Applied Chemistry for one

year. In 1873, however, Professors Brackett and Goodale

resigned, and Henry Caimichael, a graduate of Amherst

and of Gbttingen, Germany, was elected Professor of Chem-

istry and Physics, and Dr. Charles A. White, of Iowa,

Josiah Little Professor of Natural Science. In the winter

of the same year, Professor Rockwood resigned, and Charles

H. Smith, a graduate of Yale, was Professor of Mathe-

matics. Dr. White resigned in 1875, and the instruction

has since been given by different persons, Professor A. S.

Packard, Jr., class of 1861, giving an annual course of lec-

tures on entomology ; Mr. George L. Chandler, class of

1868, giving instruction in natural history in 1875-76;

and Mr. Leslie A. Lee, a graduate of St. Lawrence Univer-

sity (Canton, N- Y.), class of 1872, in 1876-77.

In connection with the new plan arrangements were also

made for other instruction in various branches, should they

be needed. Professor Paul A. Chadbourne was engaged to

give the instruction in mental philosophy. Exercise in the

gymnasium was made regular and obligatory, and military

science and tactics were required, to a certain extent, of all

not specially excused. Professor Chadbourne was succeeded

in 1873 by Rev. E. C. Cummings, and by President Mark

Hopkins in 1874. This year, however, the Edward Little

chair of Mental and Moral Philosophy was founded, and

President Chamberlain was chosen as professor.

In 1875, Maj. Sanger's detail expired, and Brevet-Capt.

Louis v. Caziarc, 1st United States Artillery, was appointed

in his place as - Professor of Military Science and Tactics.

Mr. Charles H. Moore has been instructor in Latin since

Professor Chapman's resignation, except one year, when

Professor A. H. Davis held the chair provisionally.

Professor Young, having accepted the office of treasurer,

relinquished the duties of his chair, and they were per-

formed for one year by Instructor Moore, and since then by

Charles E. Springer, class of 1874.

In 1873 the old Commons Hall was remodeled into a

laboratory of analytical chemistry, and Mr. F. C. Robinson

wa.s chosen instructor in that department of chemistry.

The same year the lower floor of Memorial Hall was fitted

up as a gymnasium. Hon. Peleg W. Chandler, of Boston,

also this year, remodeled old Massachusetts Hall into a

beautiful room, called the Cleaveland Cabinet, in memory

of the late Professor Parker Cleaveland.

A picture-gallery has also been finished in the chapel,

over the library. Two fine pictures have been added to the

panels of the chapter, one given by Mrs. William S. Perry,

in memory of her husband, the subject being " The Trans-

figuration ;' the other, " Moses giving the Law," which is

the beautiful memento left by the class of 1877. The lust

makes the seventh of the pictures which have been, from

time to time, added to the chapel panels.

Since 1872 over $25,000 have been given the college as

scholarships to aid deserving students, and $100,000 to-

wards a general tndowmcut of the college.

Measures have been taken to endow a " Longfellow Pro-

fessorship of Modern Languages," and a " Cleaveland Pro-

fessorship of Chemistry and Mineralogy." Efforts are also

being made to add the " Upham Professorship of Mental

Philosophy."

Many valuable giAs have been made the college in the

way of books and natural history collections. Especially

notable are the collection of Mrs. Frederick Allen, of Gar-

diner, comprising more than 1000 specimens, including

many from Mount .^tna, presented by her daughter, Mrs.

Elton, of Boston, the Cushman collection of birds, of

Maine, and the Blake herbarium.

The whole number of graduates from the college up to

1876 is 1887. The number of students at present is about

137, and of officers of instruction, 15.

The number of volumes in the college library is 17,500

;

in the medical library, 4000 ; in the libraries of the Athe-

naean and Peucinian Societies, 13,100; and in the Histor-

ical Society's library, which is placed in a room of the

collie chapel, 3000 ; making a total of books accessible

to the student of 37,600 volumes. Large additions have

also been made to the chemical and physical apparatus.

The public buildings of the college are at present,

—

MasiachuieUs Sail, containing the Cleaveland cabinet,

lecture-room, and treasurer's office.

Winthrop Hail, containing, on the lower floor, the engi-

neering-rooms and recitation-rooms, the upper floors being

used as dormitories.

Maine Hall, having on the lower floors the Athenaean

and Peucinian Societies' libraries and recitation-rooms ; and

on the upper floor, dormitories.

Appleton Hall, containing dormitories.

King Chapel, containing the picture-gallery, library-

rooms, and Historical Society's rooms. '

Adamt Hall, containing the lecture-rooms of chemistry

and physics, and the rooms of the Medical School.

Analytical LaJ^oraiory and Memorial Hall, containing

gymnasium. These buildings, with the exception of Adams
Hall and the Analytical Laboratory, will, when the original

plan is completed, form a quadrangle, the side towards the

public road being open.
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The present total estimated value of the college property,

real estate and permanent material, is S375,000 ; the pro-

ductive funds are $244,000 ; the total annual income is

$30,000.

Besides the three literary societies of the college, already

mentioned, it is proper to add that there have been, from

time to time, several secret associations formed, which are

presumably for literary purposes. The principal ones, if

not all, are designated as the Alpha Delta Phi, Delia Kappa
Epsilon, Chi Psi, Psi Upsilon, and Theta Delta Chi. The
history of these societies is, of course, knovrn only to the

initiated.

THE MEDICAL SCHOOL OF MAINE.

In 1 820 an act was passed by the Legislature establish-

ing a Medical School, to be connected with Bowdoin Col-

lege, and also making an annual grant of $1000, during the

pleasure of the Legislature, for the promotion of the objects

designed in its establishment. Dr. Nathan Smith, a mem-
ber of several societies, both in this country and in Europe,

founder of the Medical School of New Hampshire, and an

eminent physician and surgeon, wns appointed Professor of

the Theory and Practice of Medicine. He also assumed

the duties of instructor in anatomy and surgery. He was

assisted in the latter branches by Dr. John D. Wells, who

had just talcen his medical degree at Cambridge. At the

close of the first course of lectures Dr. Wells was chosen

to fill the chair of Anatomy, and immediately sailed for

Europe, where he spent nearly two years preparing himself

for the discharge of the duties of his office. After a short

but brilliant career as a lecturer at tills aoUege, at the

Berkshire Medical Institution, and at Baltimore, he died,

and was succeeded, in 1831, by Dr. Kenben D. Mussey.

In 1825 the chair of Ubsletrica was founded, and Dr.

James McKeen was appointed professor. Dr. McKeen

prepared himself for the duties of his office by a prelimi-

nary study in the lying-in hospitals of Europe, and served

acceptably until 1839, when he resigned, and was succeeded

by Ebenezer Wells, M.D., as lecturer.

In 1846 the chair of Materia Medica and Therapeutics

was founded, and Dr. Charles A. Lee was chosen as lec-

turer, and in 1854 as professor. He resigned in 1859,

and was succeeded by Dr. Israel T. Dana as lecturer, and

afterwards as professor in full. Dr. Thorndike resigned in

1861, and was succeeded by Dr. William C. Robinson.

In 1849 the chair of Medical Jurisprudence was founded,

and Hon. John S. Tenney was chosen as lecturer.

In 1857 the chair of Anatomy was separated from that

of Surgery and joined to that of Physiology, and Dr. David

S. Conant was elected, at first as lecturer, and aflerwards

as professor. He was succeeded in 1863 by Dr. Corydon

L. Ford. Edmund R. Peaslee, M.D., who had been chosen

as lecturer on Anatomy and Surgery in 1843, and as a

professor in these branches in 1845, was in 1857 appointed

Professor of Surgery.

From 1820 until his death in 1858, Professor Parker

Cleaveland gave an annual course of lectures on chemistry

to the medical students.

Under the influence and by the exertions of these gen-

tlemen and their successors, this medical school has enjoyed

a good degree of prosperity. At first, and for many years.

the lectures were given in the upper room of Massachusetts

Hall, but in 1861 the Adams Hall was built expressly for

the accommodation of this school.

The present accommodations are ample, and the school

has a valuable cabinet and an excellent library of choice

works and expensive plates. Clinical instruction is given

several times a week, dnd students can have the privilege

of occasional visits to the hospitals of Portland at but

slight expense.

This school, during the fifty-seven years of its existence,

has graduated 1174 pupils, of whom 70 have been alumni

of Bowdoin College. The last class numbered 90 members,

and the present number of instructors is 10. The following

is a list of the professors and lectuiera not already men-

tioned : of Chemistry, Professors Paul A. Chadbourne,

Cyrus F. Brackett, and Henry Carmichael ; of Theory and

Practice, Henry H. Childs, Daniel Oliver, Professor John

De La Mater, Professor William Sweetzer, William Perry,

James McKeen, Israel T. Dana, Professor Alonzo B.

Palmer, and Alfred Mitchell, Adjunct Professor ; of Anat-

omy and Surgery, Jedediah Cobb and Joseph Roby ; of

Anatomy and Physiology, Professors Tlioiuas T. Sabine

and Thomas Dwiglit; of Anatomy, Professors Thomas

Dwight and Stephen H. Weeks; of Physioln.iry, Professors

Robert Aniory and Burt Gr. Wilder; of Surgery, Pro-

fessors Timothy Childs, David S Conant, and William W.
Green; Lecturers, Alpheus B. Crosby and Thomas T.

Sabine ; of Ob.stetnc.s, Benjamin F. Barker, Professor

Amos Nourse, Theodore H. Jcwctt, Professors William C.

Robinson, Edward W. Jenks, and Alfred Mitchell ; of

Materia Medica and Therapeutics, Professors Dana, Wil-

liam C. Robinson, George L. Goodale, and Frederick H.

Gerrish ; of Medical Jurisprudence, Cyrus F. Brackett,

John Appleton, and Professor Charles W. Goddard.

This school has exerted a very marked influence on the

interests of medical science, and also upon the general

interests of education in the State, and has annually sent

forth a corps of physicians qualified not only to cope vigor-

ously with the unseen, though certain foe of the human

race, but who have also shown themselves, hitherto, alive

to the material welfare and best interests of the State, and

have thus far more than repaid the amount expended upon

the school by the State.

CHURCHES.

FIRST PARISH.

In 1718, Rev. James Woodside was called to be the first

parish minister. The first meeting-house was begun in

1719. It stood where the old burying-ground is, a mile

south of the colleges. Mr. Woodside received a salary of

£40 per annum, but he did not suit the people, and was

dismissed after the expiration of one year. Rev. Isaac

Taylor was his successor, who was employed to preach in

Brunswick and Topsham for one year, 1721. The first

minister after the incorporation of the town was Rev.

Robert Rutherford, who commenced his labors in 1735,

and closed them in 1742. Among those who followed were

Revs. Samuel Osborne and James Morton. Revs. Blowers,

Crumble, and McClanathan are also mentioned, but none of

them appear to have settled as parish ministers. In No-
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Yember, 1742, Rev. Mr. Hodges, of Falmouth, was em-

ployed to preach " fire or six months, on a salary of £3 per

week." The parish was without a minister from this time

till March, 1747, when it was voted to settle Rev. Robert

Dnnlap, at a salary of £200 a year (old tenor). In 1754

the proprietors deeded him 150 acres of land. Mr. Dunlap

continued to minbter to the parish till October, 1760.

Rev. John Miller, of Milton, Mass., was ordained and

settled over the parish In November, 1762, and remained

till his death, in 1788. Rev. Abram Moore was the next

minister, for six months, and was followed by Rev. Ebenezer

Coffin, who was pastor till 1801. From this time till 1806,

there was occasional preaching in the old meeting-house.

In 1806 the old house was abandoned by the parish, and a

new one, built on the hill, was occupied. At this date the

town ceased to manage the affairs of the parish.

At what time the church was organized is not known.

Its male members in 1761 were John Minot, Samuel Clarke,

Ebenezer Stanwood, William Simpson, Duvid Dunning,

John Orr, Samuel Whitney, Isaac Snow, Jumes Thomp-

son, Aaron Hinkley, Samuel Stanwoo<I, James Elliott, Wil-

liam Ross, William Stanwood, Thomas Adams, Thomas

Skolfield, and John Smart. The church was originally

Presbyterian in form, and so continued during the ministry

of Mr. Dunlap. It was then for a time Congregationalist,

and then returned to fellowchip in the Londonderry Pres-

bytery. The north gallery of the new church edifice was

reserved for students in the Bowdoin College.

Afler Mr. Coffin's dismissal, the parish for several years

had only occasional preaching, and for considerable of the

time was without any, so that in April, 1310, the parish

voted to petition the Court of Common Picas for a remission

of tlie fine that had been imposed upun them " fur not being

supplied with preaching.'' In 1824 a bell was placed in

the tower of the meeting-house.

The next pastor was Rev. Winihrop Bailey, who settled

over the parish in 1811, and continued to officiate till 1814.

Rev. Asa Mead was the next settled minister, in 1822. He
was dismissed at his own request in July, 1829, and in No-

vember Rev. George E. Adams was called, and was in-

stalled December 29th. Dr. Adams was called from the

professorship of sacred rhetoric in the Bangor Theological

Seminary. His ministry was continued with uninterrupted

unanimity for a period of forty-one years, and closed in

August, 1870. In December, 1870, Rev. Ezra H. Bying-

ton (graduate of the University of Vermont, 1852) was

invited to supply the pulpit, and in January following be-

came pastor of the church by a unanimous invitation.

The third edifice of the church was built in 1806, and

dedicated in 1807. The building was remodeled and made

more pleasant and commodious in 1833. In 1845 it was

taken down and the present edifice erected upon its site.

BAPTIST CHUECHES.

The first services in Brunswick by any preacher of the

Baptist denomination were held in the year 1783. About

this time Elders Case, Potter, and Lord preached here in

some private houses, and the attention of the public was

drawn to their theological views. On the 22d of October,

1783, Rev. Isaac Case preached in the house of Mr. Wood-

ward, and on the following aflemoon at the house of Mr.

Samuel Getchell.

In 1789 or 1790, Samuel Woodward and others formed

themselves into a Baptist Society and refused taxes to the

First Parish. In May, 1790, Joseph Morse entered in the

town records his protest against ever paying anything to

any Congregational or Presbyterian preacher.

On June 29, 1794, Judah Chase, William Mariner,

Aaron Snow, Samuel Mariner, John Getchell, John Mari-

ner, Charles Cowan, Peter Jordan, Robert Jordan, Anthony

Woodside, David Ferrin, John Fen-in, Robert Dunning,

David Clark, Benjamin Getchell, Stephen Getchell, John

Williams, George Williams, Philip Biggins, Reuben Big-

gins, Sylvanus Cumbs, Philip Higgins, Jr., Samuel Wil-

liams, William Thompson, Joseph O'Donehue, Joseph

Morse, Richard Orr, William Stanwood, Samuel Dunlap,

Daniel Brown, Philip Owens, Samuel Tluey, Joseph Ra°s,

John Mariner, Jr., Josiah Simpson, Michael Grows, Nathan

Combs, George Winslow, Joseph Saint Combs, William

Dunning, Samuel Woodward, Peter Woodward, William

Getchell, Jr., Kzekiel Spauldiog, Ezekiel Spaulding, Jr.,

John S. Getchell, John Rideout, Samuel Getchell, John

Matthews, David Linscott, William Woodside, Jr., George

Combs, and George Combs, Jr., were incorporated by the

name of " The Baptist Religious Society in Brunswick,

Harpswell, and Bath." Previous to this time the society

hud no legal existence.

In May, 1795, the town voted to pass by the fourth article

in the warrant concerning alloiiring the Baptbts to use the

meeting-houses a part of the time.

In 1799, Philip Owen, William Dunning, Daniel Brown,

Judah Chase, Samuel Dunlap, Josiah Simpson, Anthony

Woodside, Michael Grows, and Joseph Ross withdrew from

this society and formed one at Maqnoit.

FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH OF BRUNSWICK:.

This church was formed in 1799 by the following-named

persons, dismissed from the Bowdoin and Harpswell

churches for that purpose : Judah Chase, Samuel Dunlap,

William Stanwood, Sarah Woodside, Philip Owen, Mrs.

Ross, wife of William Ross, and J. Merrill.

The following is a list of the members of the church

in 1803 : Deacon Samuel Dunlap, Judah* Chase, Philip

Owen, John Merrill, Esq., Wm. Woodside, Mrs. Sarah

Woodside, Mrs. Ross, wife of Wm. Ross, Abraham Tooth-

akcr and his wife, Betsey Owen, Molly Toothaker, Jane

Curtiss, Molly Merryman, Mr. Browning and Mrs. Brown-

ing, Elisha Snow, Jean Dunning, Betsey Alexander, Mar-

tha Hunt, Jane Martin, Mrs. Snow, wife of Elisha Snow,

Mrs. Brown, wife of Daniel Brown, Sarah Alexander, Mrs.

Sparks, Hitty Hasey, Abner Melcher, Nabby Atherton,

Katharine Willson, Andrew Bluke, Hesiah Blake, Peggy

Stanwood, Ann Chase, and Shimuel Owen.

On the 22d of February, 1803, Philip Owen, William

Dunning, Daniel Brown, Judah Chase, Samuel Dunlap,

Josiah Simpson, Anthony Woodside, Michael Grows, Jo-

seph Ross, Samuel Stanwood, William Woodside, Andrew
Blake, Abraham Toothaker, William Starbird, David Cur-

tis, James Stanwood, Adam Woodside, David Dunning,

William Ross, Frederick French, Nathaniel Chase, James
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Chase, William Swett, Shiniuel Owen, Abne'r Mclcher,

William Low, Charles Ryan, Ephraim Hunt, William

Lunt, Andrew Dunning, William Hunt, Anthony Chase,

Gideon Tootfaaker, John Given, David Given, and Uriah

Elliot were incorporated as the Baptist Society in Brunswick.

The pastors of this church have been Eldurs Williams

and Kendall, prior to Elder Benjamin Titcomb; Benja-

min Titcomb, 1804-21 ; Benjamin Titcomb, Jr., 1822

-27 ; Samuel Mariner, Adam Wilson, Shimucl Owen,

Henry Randall, supplies, 1827-30 ; John Bailey, 1830-33

;

William Johnson, 1836-40; Noah Norton, 1840-45; Jo-

seph Hutchinson, 1848-52 ; Grenville M. Atkins, 1867-08.

BAPTIST MEETINO-HOnSES.

The first meeting-house erected by the Baptists was

built at Maquoit, in 1798 or 1799. It stood about a mile

below the old First Parish meeting-house, where the old

Maquoit burying-ground is. It was somewhat like the

old First Parish meeting-house, having no steeple, and

being roughly finished. In 1853 it was sold to Samuel

Dunning, and moved to his ship-yard for a boarding-house.

The next building erected by the Baptists was at New
Meadows, in the year 1800. In 1848 it was taken down,

and the present edifice erected on its site.

The third Baptist meeting-bouse was what is now known

as the Congregational Vestry. It was erected in 1826, by

the " Second Baptist Society," and occupied by them for

about t«n years. In 1841 it was sold to the First Parish.

The. fourth building erected by the Baptists was the one

now occupied by the Catholics, on Federal Street. It was

erected in 1829, by the Federal Street Baptist Society. It

cost about 8800. It was sold to the Methodists in 1836,

was occupied by them until the erection of their present

house in 1866, and was subsequently sold to the Catholics.

The Maine Street Baptist church was erected in 1840.

In 1867 it was remodeled and greatly improved, at a cost

of $2000. The pulpit and platform were remodeled and

finished in black walnut and chestnut, to correspond with

the newly-arranged pews, which were also made of chestnut,

and without doors. The aisles were carpeted, the ceiling

was frescoed, and gas-fixtures were put in.

FREE-WILL BAPTIST MEETING-HOUSE.

The first Free-Will Baptist meeting-house was erected

in 1810. It was a small, one-story building, and stood

quite near the Freeport line. What became of this build-

ing is not known. The society worshiping in it afterwards,

in 1827, united with, the Universalists and Congregation-

alists in building the Union meeting-house at Growstown.

The village church of the Free-Will Baptists, on O'Brien

Street, was erected in 1876, the society having previously

worshiped in Lemont Hall.

THE UNION MEETING-HOUSE AT GK0W8T0WN

was erected in 1827. This house was built jointly by the

Free-Will Baptists, the Congregationalists, and the Uni-

verealists. Rev. Sylvanns Cobb, a Universalist, preached

the first sermon in it. It is still used by the Free-Will

Baptists, who, although it was built for a union meeting-

house, have had control of it most of the time.

UNIVERSALIST JIEETING-HOUSES.

The first church edifice erected by the Universalists was

situated on Federal Street, opposite the present high school

building, on the lot now owned by the Unitarians. It was

built in 1828, and cost about 8700, which in those days

was quite a sum of money. Mr. Anthony C. Raymond

built the house chiefly at his own expense. When com-

pleted he sold pews to fifteen persons, and subsequently a

few more pews were disposed of, but he was always the

principal owner. The house wa.s dedicated Nov. 24, 1829.

In 1847 or 1848 the building was sold to the Maquoit

Baptist Society, and it was removed to the junction of the

old Harpswell and Mair Point roads, where it received the

name of the Forest Church. In 1875 it was sold to the

Grangers, moved back to the village, and placed at Union

Street and Gilmau Avenue, where it is used as a hall.

The second church building erected by the Universalists

was what is now known as the Mason Street church. It

was built in 1846, the basement of the building and the

land being the exclusive property of Mr. John L. Swift.

The dedicatory sermon was preached by Rev. E. G. Brooks,

of Bath (now Rev. Dr. Brooks, of the Church of the Mes-

siah, Philadelphia). The prayer of consecration was offered

by Rev. George Bates, of Turner, recently deceased. Other

parts of the services were performed by Rev. Giles Bailey,

the pastor, by Rev. Seth Stetson, and by Rev. W. C.

George. The town-clock and bell on this building were

purchased chiefly by subscription by citizens of Brunswick

and Topsham in 1847, the town of Brunswick appropri-

ating, however, the sum of 8200 towards the purchase of

the clock. Col. Andrew Dennison was the most prominently

connected with the movement, and the subject was started

by him. He transacted the business, and the bills were

made in his name as agent for t/ie town. A bell weighing

1700 pounds was purchased of Henry N. Hooper & Co.,

of Boston, but it was unsatisfactory in tone, and was re-

turned. Another bell was then purchased of George H.

Holbrook, of East Medway, Mass., weighing 1794 pounds,

and costing 8479.57. The same bell is now in use. The

clock was purchased of Howard & Davis, Boston. It cost,

including dial, hands, etc., and expenses of freight and

putting up, $340.30.

METHODIST CHURCH.

The Methodist church on Pleasant Street is the only

one ever erected by that denomination in Brunswick. It

was built in 1866. They had previously worshiped in the

building on Federal Street, which they bought of the Baptists.

The new edifice on Pleasant Street was begun in the

spring of 18G6, and was completed in December of the same

year. It cost, with the lot, $9000. Nearly the whole

amount was raised by voluntary subscription and by the

sale of pews. There was, however, a debt of $1000, which

was finally paid in the year 1872.

On Dec. 5, 1866, the chapel was dedicated with the

following services

:

Invocation, by Rev. E. A. Helmershausen ; address, by

Rev. J. Colby ; hymn (964th), by Rev. L. D. Wardwell

;

prayer, by Rev. D. B. Randall ; reading of Scriptures, by

Rev. C. C. Cone ; hymn (968th), by Rev. Mark Trafton
;
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sermon, by the same, followed by an offertory, psalm of con-

secration, presentation, declaration, prayer of consecration,

anthem, dozology, and benediction.

In 1875 the bhurch was thoroughly repaired, some

marked improvements made, and the lot inclosed with a

handsome and danible fence. The cost of these repairs

and improvements was abotkt $650, which was promptly

paid.

ST. pafl's chdech (episcopal).

This church was erected in 1844 and 1845, from plans

famished by Richard Upjohn, architect, of New York. The

cost of the building and land was about $4000, most of

which was contributed by friends in Rhode Island, New
York, and Philadelphia. It was consecrated, according to

the use and litnrgy of the Protestant Episcopal Church in

the United States, on Friday, July 1 1 , 1845.

The deed* of donation was read by Rev. Thomas F. Fales,

rector of the parish, and the sentence of consecration, by

Rev. Robert B. Hall, of the Diocese of Rhode Island.

Morning prayer was conducted by Rev. Messrs. James

Pratt, of Portland, and Alexander Burgess, of Angusta.

The rector read the ante-communion service, assisted by

Rev. R. B. Hall, who rend the epistle, and Rev. Francis

Peek, of the Diocese of Maryland, who read the gospel.

Tile consecration sermon was preached by Bishop Henshaw,

of Rhode Island.

Various changes have been made in the church. In

1858 the present arched ceiling was put in, under the open-

timbered roof, to improve the acoustic properties of the

building. Changes were made in the chancel furniture,

but the most noticeable improvements were made by Rev.

Mr. Taylor, in August, 1873, which have made the church

so beautiful. The memorial window to Bishop Burgess

was placed in the chancel in 1868, and that to Rev. Dr.

Ballard in November, 1871.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

GEN. JOSHUA L. CHAMBERLAIN
was born in Brewer, near th»city of Bangor, in September,

1828. His father's family came to this country from Eng-

land, but the family traditions claim a descent from the

Tancarvilles and Montmorencies, of Normandy, in France.

In his mother's family the Huguenot and the Puritan ele-

ments were mingled. His ancestors on the father's side

held military commissions in the war of 1812, the Revor

lution, and the French and Indian wars.

The parents of Joshua L. gave him the best education

the State afforded. After having received a careful train-

ing in the public and private schools at home, and in the

military school of Major Whiting, at Ellsworth, he entered

Bowdoin College and graduated in 1852, having taken the

highest honors. He then studied for three years at Bangor

Theological Seminary, devoting himself especially to the

oriental languages and theology. During this time he was

also supervisor of public schools in his native town. His

" Masters Oration" at Bowdoin, in 1855, attracted so much-

attention that he was appointed a special instmctor in.

Logic and Natural Theology, and the year afterwards was

made Professor of Rhetoric and Oratory. His proficiency

in the French and German languages was such that he was

placed in charge of (hose languages for two years, and in

1861 was elected Professor of Modern Languages. In the

summer of 1862 leave of absence was granted him t« visit

Europe. The civil war, however, being then at its darkest

period he tendered his resignation as professor, and, offering

his services to the government, was commissioned lieuten-

ant-colonel of the 20th Maine Volunteers on the 8th of

August, 1862. This regiment was sent to share the event-

ful fortunes of the Army of the Potomac. From that

time his history is well known. It is sufficient to say here

that he was in all the battles, skirmishes, and movements

of that army until the close of the war, constantly at the

front, always in important and responsible positions, and

often in conspicuous ones. He was made a general on the

field, his promotion being announced in orders by Gen.

Grant, sanctioned by President Lincoln, and immediately

ratified by the Senate. It was his fortune also to com-

mand the parade at the surrender of the arms and colors of

Lee's army at Appomattox Court-house. He was several

times wounded,—once so severely that he was given up for

dead, and his survival is almost without parallel.

At the breaking up of the army he was assigned to a

new command, with the offer of permanent retention in the

service with full rank of colonel, and the brevet of major-

general, which was his volunteer rank. He declined this

preferment, and returned to his home, suffering under an

accumulation of wounds, when the college at once re-

elected him to the chair of Rhetoric and Oratory. In 1866

he was chosen Governor of Maine by the largest majority

ever given up to that time, and was re-elected to this office

for four successive terms. His conservative ideas and his

rigid impartiality in treating questions which came before

him, involving party interests, seemed to lose him favor with

some of his party; and his declining to seize the opportu-

nity to secure an election to the United States Senate—an

office believed to be easily within his reach—alienated many

friends, who thought bis notions of personal honor were

too nice and scrupulous for a successful party leader.

In 1871 he was elected president of Bowdoin College,

and shortly afterwards Professor of Mental and Moral Phil-

osophy. This latter chair he resigned in 1879, in order to

devote himself more largely to the general interests of the

college and to the political and social sciences, for which

there was no established provision. He is now giving lec-

tures on political economy, political ethics, and public law.

He has given many public orations and addresses,—that

before- the Society of the Army of the Potomac at its or-

ganization in 1866, and the address on Maine's Place in

History, at the Centennial Exhibition in Philadelphia, in

1876, having attracted most attention. He is much sought

as an orator or lecturer for special occasions, and sometimes

takes part in political affairs, where he is prominent among

the more conservative members of his party.

In 1878 he was appointed United States commissioner to

the Paris Exposition, and was charged with the preparation

of a report on education in Europe, which has not yet been

. published.
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CAPE ELIZABETH.

DESCRIPTION AND BOUNDARIES.

Cape Elizabeth is a peninsula projecting southward into

the Atlantic Ocean, and forming the western headland of

Casco Bay. As a town or municipality it takes its name

from the cape which constitutes the southern end of the

peninsula ; and is bounded north by the towns of Westbrook

and Deering, and by Fore River and Portland Harbor,

east by Casco Bay, south by the Atlantic Ocean, and west

by the Spurwink River and Scarborough. The town em-

braces Richmond Island, the earliest settled portion of this

whole region of country, and several small islets off its

southern coast, viz., the Sisters, Stephen's Rock, Ram
Island, Chimney Rock, and the Brothers. The light-houses

and coast-features of the cape are described in the general

chapter on topography. The town contains an area of about

13,000 acr^. Being nearly surrounded by tide-water. Cape

Elizabeth has no interior sewers for its drainage, its boundary

lines being Fore River on the north, which separates it from

Portland, and the Spurwink, which bounds it on the west

to its first principal fork, which is a small tributary with

two branches lying wholly on the west side of the town.

Trout Brook flows northeast into Portland Harbor at

Knightville ; and Pond Creek in the northeast enters Fore

River at Ligonia. There are two ponds, called Great

and Small Ponds, lying in the southern part of the town.

The Eastern Railroad, crossing Fore River at Turner's

Island, passes southwestward through the town, on its way

from Portland to Saco, Portsmouth, and Boston.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

The earliest settlement within Cape Elizabeth, as we have

elsewhere stated, was on Richmond Island, a place which

for many years, when there were but few huts on the main-

land, was the principal harbor, fishing-station, and com-

mercial port of this coast. Walter Bagnall, called " Great

Walt," some time in the year 1628, established hiuwelf

upon the iaknd for the purpose of trading with the Indians.

Winthrop says, " He lived alone upon the island three years,

and had accumulated £400, mostly in goods, by his trade

with the Indians, whom he had much wronged." His

conduct so exasperated the natives that they put an end to

his life, and to that of a companion who seems then to have

been associated with him, Oct. 3, 1631, burnt his house

and plundered bis property. Thus ended the first com-

mercial transactions on the island, but, as we shall see

farther on, they were soon renewed and carried on by

another party on a much larger and more respectable scale.

GRANT TO TRELAWNY AND GOODYEARE.

The first grant of land in Cape Elizabeth was made by

the Plymouth Council, Dec. 1, 1631, to Robert Trelawny

32

and Moses Goodyeare, merchants of Plymouth, England.

The grant comprised the whole of what is now the town of

Cape Elizabeth, including Richmond Island. The patentees

appointed John Winter, who was then in this country, their

principal agent. A copy of the grant was immediately sent

to him, and on the 21st of July, 1632, he was put in pos-

session of the tract by Richard Vines, of Saco, one of the

persons appointed by the grantors for that purpose.

There were at that time settled upon the territory near

the month of the Spurwink River, George Cleaves and

Richard Tucker, who had established themselves there in

1630. They had selected one of the most valuable spots in

the tract, and claimed to hold against Winter 2000 acres of

land, with their improvements, of which, however, they

were forcibly dispossessed. Cleaves, in 1640, when regular

courts were established by Sir Ferdinando Gorges, brought

an action of trespass against Winter, to recover damages for

the removal ; and in his declaration he stated his title as

follows: "joining himself in partnership with Richard

Tucker, then of Spurwink, who had also a right of in-

heritance there, the which he ' bought and purchased for a

valuable consideration of Richard Bradshaw, who was for-

merlie settled there by Capt. Walter Neale, by virtue of a

commission to him given by some of the lords patentees,

and soe as appeareth the said Richard Tucker was lawfully

possessed of a right of inheritance at and in the said Spur-

wink. Alsoe, the plaintiff further declareth that he join-

ing his right by promise and possession with his partner's

right by purchase and possession, and soe being account-

able to bis said partner, they both agreed to joyne their

rights together, and there to build, plante, and continue,

which when the plaintiff had done, and was there settled

for two yean or thereabontes, this defendant, John Winter,

came and pretended an interest there, by virtue of a suc-

ceeding pattent surrupticiouslie obtained, and soe by force

of arms expelled and thrust away the plaint, from his

house, lands, and goods."

The verdict in this case was as follows : " The jury find

for the plaint, the house and land inclosed, containing fonre

acres or thereaboute, joyning with the said house, and give

him eighty pounds for damage, and twelve shillings and six

pence for the cost of the Courte."

It appears from the above statement of Cleaves that

Richard Bradshaw, from whom Tucker purchased his place

at Spurwink, must have been the first settler on the main-

land of Cape Elizabeth, as Walter Bagnall was the first on

Richmond Island. It is stated that Bradshaw " was settled

here by Capt. Walter Neale," but the date is not given.

Walter Neale arrived in this country in the spring of 1630,

and returned in the summer of 1633. He came out as

Governor of the company at Piscataqua, now Portsmouth,

249
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N. H. It mast have been before his visit to this country

that he settled Bradshaw at Spurwink, sending him out

from England ; for Tucker, who bought his claim, settled

here in 1630.

COMMERCE OF TDE ISLAND.

Jocelyn, in 1638, says that Winter employed 60 men

in the fishing business. The trade in beaver this year in

this neighborhood was also very successful ; the government

of Plymouth Colony procured at their trading-house on the

Kennebec 20 hogsheads, which was sent to England.

This was a principal article of commerce in the early settle-

ment of the country ; it was a sort of circulating medium

or standard of value among the white people and natives,

and remittances to the mother-country were made by it.

About the year 1640 the price of it in Casco was from 6

to 8 shillings a pound, and it was received in payment for

commodities and labor. Winter, in 1640, was complained of

for trying to keep down the price to 6 shillings.

In the spring of 1635, a ship of 80 tons and a pinnace

of 10 tons arrived at Richmond Island. In 1636, Mr.

Trelawny alone is mentioned as proprietor of the patent,

and March 26th of that year he committed the full govern-

ment of the plantation to Mr. Winter, who appears after

that time to have had an interest of one-tenth in the specu-

lation, and in addition to his proportion of the profits, he

was to receive from the gieneral fund " forty pounds per an-

num in money for his personal care and chaise." After

this time the business of the plantation was pursued with

great activity until • the death of Trelawny, which took

place in 1'644. They employed the ship " Agnes,'' the

bark " Richmond," the ships " Hercules" and " Margery,"

aniTdne other, whose name is not mentioned. In 1638, Mr.

Trelawny sent a ship of 300 tons to the island, laden with

wine. This was probably the proceeds of a cargo of fish

sent to Spain or Portugal.

The merchandise sent to the proprietor in England con-

sisted principally of pipe-staves, beaver, fish, and oil. In

1639, Winter sent in the bark " Richmond" 6000 pipe-staves,

which were valued here at 8 pounds 8 shillings a thousand.

Some shipments were made directly from the plantation to

Spain, and a profitable intercourse seems to have been car-

ried on for the proprietors a number of years, until it was

suspended by the death of Trelawny. After that time the

want of capital, probably, prevented Winter irom employ-

ing ships on his own account, and Trclawny's heir was but

a child of six or seven years old. The commercial character

of the plantation declined from that time, and the trade

gradually sought other channels, until the mouth of the

Spurwink and Richmond Island became entirely deserted.

Their mercantile prosperity is now only to be found among

the perishable and almost perished memorials of a by-gone

age.

OPEBATIONS OP EGBERT JORDAN.

Robert Jordan was the principal landed proprietor in

Cape Elizabeth, and the lands here are chiefly held under

his grants at this time. His earliest conveyances were to

Joseph Phippen, Sampson Penley, Robert and Thomas

Stanifbrd, Ralph Turner, and some others along the north-

ern part of the town ; but he retained possession of Spur-

wink and nearly all the southern part, containing the

marshes and the most valuable land. He was not content

with the large tract over which his title was undisputed,

but sought for many years to extend his domain to the

Presumpscot River on the north and east. He was thus

brought into a long controversy with George Cleaves and

his tenants, who held and occupied the land on the Neck

and vicinity, which was continued during his life. Jordan

was a man of enterprise, and by proposing to the inhabi-

tants of this part of Falmouth that he desired to occupy

certain portions of the land for the purpose of building

mills and making other public improvements, alike bene-

ficial to all, he secured to an appeal which he addressed to

them June 28, 1658, quite a large number of signatures of

citizens consenting to allow hiin to have peaceable posses-

sion. The names of these persons were Robert Corbin,

Thomas Grinley, John Sears, Thomas Haines, Francis

Neale, Michael Mitton, Nathaniel Wallis, Nicholas White,

William Ryall, Jane Macworth, Thomas Morrice, James

Andrews, Gyles Roberts, Richard Martin, Sampson Penley,

and Joseph Phippen.

The controversy between Cleaves and Jordan was carried

into the first court which appears to have been held in the

county after the submission of Falmouth and Scarborough

to the authority of Massachusetts. This was on the 4th of

July, 1659. The first action was brought by Cleaves

against Jordan for breach of the arbitration bond entered

into by Cleaves and John Winter in 1640, by which they

bound themselves in the sum of £1000 to abide the award

of referees on the subject of the disputed title to lands.

This action was withdrawn. At the same court Cleaves

entered another action against Jordan, " for making de-

mands of certain lands purchased by great sums of money,

and possessed by order of former grants these twenty-seven

years." This action called forth proof of the original title,

and Jordan introduced the certificate of part of the judges

who tried the action in 1640 between Cleaves and Winter,

taken soon after that trial, of which the following is an ex-

tract: "That which Mr. Cleaves and the jury took for

Casco River to be but a creek into which we saw but one

little brook to run, but the other which Mr. Trelawny

takes for Casco River to be the river, it hath its issue out

of a great pond named Sabadock ; the river is of a reason-

able depth and breadth, by the relation of the ancient in-

habitants and natives, ever to have been called Ca»Bo River."

This is signed by Thomas Gorges, Henry Jocelyn, and

Richard Vines. Jordan also introduced the deposition of

Roger Willine, taken Deo. 7, 1668, in which he says that

" about 21 or 22 years agone be helped to row up the river

which runneth by Mrs. Jane Macworth's, to ye falls called

Casco Falls, Mr. Richard Vines, Mr. Arthur Macworth,

Mr. John Winter, Mr. Henry Abilie, with divers others

whom he hath forgotten, where be saw Mr. Richard Vines

deliver unto Mr. John Winter possession of the lands and

falls there, by turf and twig." On the other hand, Cleaves

relied on his deeds and possession ; but the jury found for

Jordan. Jordan also recovered judgment against him in

an action of debt for £10 10«.

Cleaves attributed his ill success in the county court to

the fact that Jordan himself was one of the judges ; he
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therefore sought redress by a petition to the General Court,

May 24, 1661. But neither under this petition nor another,

presented by him the following year, did he obtain any

satisfaction. The matter was left in controversy till it was

finally settled by the grandson of Robert Jordan and the

" new proprietors" of Falmouth, in 1728.

During the first Indian war, 1765, an attack was made

on the settlement at Spurwtnk. Mr. Robert Jordan had

barely time to escape from his house, when it was destroyed

with all its contents, and he removed to Great Island, now

New Castle, in the Piscataqua River. He ended his active

life at Portsmouth, N. H., in 1679, in the sixty-eighth year

of his age. His will was made at Great Island, January

28th, and proved July 1, 1679. He had lost the use of

his hands before his death, and was unable to sign his will.

He left a widow, Sarah, the only daughter of John Winter,

and six sons, viz., John, Robert, Dominicus, Jedediah,

Samuel, and Jeremiah. In his will he confirmed to his

sons John and Robert the land that he had previously con-

veyed to them, which was situated in Cape Elizabeth. To

his son John he conveyed Richmond Island, Jan. 25, 1677,

as the administrator of Winter, who had given it to his

grandson as a legacy. In his will he bequeathed to his

wife the old plantation ac Spurwink, consisting of 1000

acres, and lying between the lands of his sons John and

Dominicus, and also the Nonsuch farm in Scarborough, con-

taining 2000 acres. To Dominicus he bequeathed 1000

acres at Spurwink, adjoining the old plantation ; to Jede-

diah 1000 acres, and to Samuel 1100 acres, both at Spur-

wink.

For more than thirty years Robert Jordan occupied a

large space in the affairs of the town and the province.

He was an active, enterprising man, and placed by educa-

tion above the mass of the people with whom he connected

himself. Although he came to this county as a minister,

the engrossing concerns of business seemed to have turned

his attention entirely away from that pursuit.* His pos-

terity for many years exercised very great influence in the

concerns of the town, and long maintained a high standing

in the province.

John and Robert did not fix their permanent residences

here; the former married Elizabeth, daughter of Blias

Stileman, of Portsmouth, in 1677 or 1678, and Robert

conveyed to Nathaniel Fryer, of Portsmouth, July 14,

1679, the land in Cape Elizabeth which he received of his

father.

The first Dominicus was killed by the Indians in 1703

;

his eldest son, Dominicus, was thirteen years a captive in

Canada, and ran away. His name frequently occurs in the

later transactions of the town ; he attained the rank of

major, and died in 1749, aged sixty-six. His son Domin-

icus died in 1788, aged seventy-two; the fourth Domin-

icus was at the time of his death the oldest man in the

town.

Dominicus Jordan, third son of Robert Jordan, married

Hannah, a daughter of Ralph Tristram, of Saco, as early

• During a period of about tbirty-six yeara Mr. Jordan officiated

oncoaionally in the servicea of tbe Epiecopal Cburcb, until "silenced"

by the gorernment of Musaachusett*.

as 1683, and lived at Spurwink. By her he had Domin-

icus, born in 1684; Mary Ann, Saniuol, Nathai)iel, Iliiii-

nah (married to Joseph Calef, of Boston), and Elizabeth,

married to Humphrey Seamman, of Saco. Capt. Jordan

was killed in the war of 1703 by the Indians, and his wife

and family were carried to Canada. They were ail restored

by Mary Ann, to whom the name of Arabella was given

by her French masters. She married in Canada, where

she was living in 1760, and never returned. The eldest

son, Dominicus, escaped after a residence there of several

years, and was an active and useful man in the subsequent

affairs of this part of the country. He was the progenitor

of a numerous race, part of whoiu now occupy the paternal

estate. Nathaniel also established himself on his hered-

itary estate, which was finally divided among the heirs in

1754. Samuel and Elizabeth lived in Saco, where their

posterity still remain and hold respectable rank.

In April, 1728, Dominicus Jordan released, by a contract

made with the proprietors of the town of f'almouth, all

the andent claim of the Jordan family to land on the north

side of Fore River, about which so long a controversy

had existed between his grandfather, Robert Jordan, and

George Cleaves. He entered heartily into the views of the

" new proprietors," was chosen on the committee to resist

the claims of the '' old proprietors" before the Legislature,

and in January, 1730, was selected with John Perry,

Joshua Woodbury, John East, and Moses Pearson to hear

the proposals of the ancient proprietors. But a general

arrangement could not at that time be effected. Warrants

were obtained by both parties from John Gray, of Bidde-

ford, in March and April, 1730, to call meetings, the result

of which was that a " propriety'' was established distinct

from the town, the interests and doings of which were for-

ever conducted separately, and recorded in books kept by

their own clerk.

After the country had been desolated by the second In-

dian war, the progress of resettlement was slow for sev-

eral years. In 1726, eight persons, several of whom had

families, purchased a tract of land near Pond Cove, of

Samuel Jordan. " They bound themselves in writing to

stand by each other in peace and war, and the first thing

they did, built a garrison for the good of the whole."f

FIRST MILLS IN CAPE ELIZABETH.

We find in a note to " Smith's Journal," that in 1722 the

town of Falmouth granted Lawrence Creek, opposite Port-

land, and 100 acres of land to the men who would under-

take to set up a corn-mill there. The first grist-mill was

erected on this creek by Messrs. Sawyer and York, in

1726. " Smith's Journal," speaking of this, says, " They

finbhed their grist-mill, which every way answered their ex-

pectations." This seems to have been the first mill of the

kind in the entire settlement about Casco Bay, for the

Journal adds, " The* people before this sent their corn to

Boston to be ground." The same parties subsequently

built a saw-mill in the same neighborhood.

In 1749, Cape Elizabeth numbered 150 families, and

900 inhabitants.^ Its population in 1870 was 5106.

I Smith's Journal. t Ibid.
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MUNICIPAL GOVEKNMENT.
Cape Elizabeth, which had fonnerly been the second

parish of Falmonth, was incorporated as a separate mnnici-

palitj or district, Not. 1, 1765. Its charter conferred

upon it all the rights and immnnities of a town, except the

right of sending a representatiTe to the General Court, for

which purpose it remained connected with Falmonth tUl

the commencement of the ReTolutiun. This restriction was

in accordance with the instmctions of the king to the gov-

ernors, forbidding the incorporation of towns with the

power of sending representatives, and making new towns,

and parts of towns set off from old ones, simply districts.

It is said that the people of Cape Elizabeth intended to

give to their town the name of Portland, that being the

earliest English name by which Bang's Island and the

mainland were known, bat at the time the district was set

off, the government, which nsnaHy determined on the

name, applied the title of the cape to the whole territory.

The first town- or district-meeting of Cape Elizabeth was

held at the old parish meeting-honse, on the 2d of Decem-

ber, 1765.

Capt. John Robinson, Sr., was chosen Moderator, and

Mr. Thomas Simonton elected District Clerk ; Thomas

Maxwell, Capt. Samuel Skillin, and Mr. Jonathan Lovitt

were chosen Selectmen ; Peter Woodbury, Constable

;

Joseph Marriner, Clement Jordan, and Joseph Weston,

Assessors ; and Micah Dyer, Collector, till March ensuing.

As a subject of curious interest, showing the variety of

matters which had to be taken care of by the town in those

early days, we give the list of officers chosen at the March

meeting for 1766 : Thomas Maxwell, Samuel Skillin, and

Jonathan Lovitt, Selectmen ; Thomas Simonton, District

Clerk ; Noah Jordan, Constable and Collector ; Peter

Woodbury, Treasurer ; James Dyer, Clerk of the Market-;

Joshua Robinson, Peter Woodbury, .Andrew Simonton,

Samuel York, Fence-Viewers and Field-Drivers ; Joseph

Dingly, Ebenezer Sawyer, Noah Jordan, George Strout,

Jr., John York, Samuel York, Thomas Fickett, Samuel

Sawyer, and Simeon Armstrong, Surveyors of Highways

;

John Fundy, James Leach, Thomas Millet, Jacob Sawyer,

John Armstrong, and Nathaniel Jordan, Hog-Reeves;

Sam<iel Skillin, James Dyer, Stephen Randall, and James

Leach, Sealers of Wood and Surveyors of Lumber ; Joseph

Cobb, Jr., Walter Simonton„and George Fundy, Cullers of

Fish ; Peter Woodbury and Ebenezer Sawyer, Sealers of

Leather ; Samuel Jordan and Nathaniel Skillin, Deer-

Reeves; George Strout, Jr., and Joseph Weston, Wardens

;

Jacob Sawyer and Jeremiah Jordan, Tything-Men ; James

Dyer, Measurer of Com ; Job Sawyer, Pound-Keeper

;

Nathaniel Skillin and Capt Nathaniel Jordan, Cullers of

Hoops and Staves.

This town-meeting was held on Tuesday, March 18,

1766. The selectmen from that time to the present (1879)

have been as follows

:

CIVIL LIST.

SELECTMEN.
170(1-98.—Jonathan Lovitt, Samuel Skillin, Thomaa Maxwell.*

1769.—GlemeDt Jordan, Joeeph Cobb, Jr., Samuel Skillin.

* In 1767 the aeleotmen were also asaessorp, and fur the most part

have continued to act in tfaat capacity ever ainee.

1770.—Clement Jordan, John York, Jonathan Lovitt

1771.—Joseph Marriner, James Dyer, George Strout, Jr.

1772.—Jonathan Lovitt, Joseph Sawyer, Patrick Maxwell.

1773.—Samuel Skillin, Jonathan Ix)vitt, David Strout.

1774.—Darid Strout, Clement Jordan, Samuel Skillin.

177S.—Samuel Skillin, David Strout, Joseph Marriner.

1776.—Joseph Cobh, David Strout, Benjamin Jordan.

1777-78.—Benjamin Jordan, Joseph Cobb, James Dyer.

1779.—Clement Jordan, George Strout, George Deake.

1780-81.—Nathaniel Staples, Stephen Randall, David Strout.

1782-86.—Benjamin Jordan, Stephen Randall, Banillai Dehino.

1787.—George Deake, Joshua Dyer, Banillai Delano.

1788-89.—Benjamin Jordan, Banillai Delano, Joshua Dyer.

1790.—Matthew Simonton, Nathaniel Dyer, Banillai Delano.

1791-92.—Eiekiel Jordan, James Leach, Banillai Delano.

1793.—Timothy Jordan, Samuel Calef, Eickiel Jordan.

1794-9S.—Eiekiel Jordan, Joshua Dyer, Banillai Delano.

1796-97.—Mark Dyer, Eiekiel Jordan, John Mars.

1798.—Jacob Waterhonse, Etekiel Jordan, Robert Dyer.

1799.—Eiekiel Jordan, Robert Dyer, Hark Dyer.

1800.—George Deake, Samuel Dunn, Seeoomb Jordan.

1801.—Eiekiel Jordan, Elisba Jordan, Zebulon Triokey.

1802.—Eiekiel Jordan, Mark. Dyer, Zebulon Triokey.

1803.—Morell Jordan, Lemuel Cnbb, Zebulon Trickey.

1804-6.—Eiekiel Jordan, Mark Dyer, John Goold.

1807.—Daoiel Skillin, Mark Dyer, Jacob Waterhonse.

1808.—Daniel Skillin, William Cobb, Jacob Waterhonse.

1809.—Mark Dyer, Ebenezer Thrasher, Zebulon Trickey.

1810.—Nathaniel Dyer, Ebenezer Thrasher, Samuel Dunn.

1811-13.—Ebeneier Thrasher, Nathaniel Dyer, William Cummings.

1814-15.—William Cummings, Lemuel Cobb, Ebenezer Thrasher.

1816.—Ebeneier Thrasher, Lemuel Cobb, Ephruim Broad.

1817-18.—William Cummings, Ebeneier Thrasher, Lemuel Cobb.

1819.—Ebeneier Thrasher, William Cummings, James Dyer.

1820.—Ebeneier Thrasher, John Armstrong, James Dyer.

1821.—Woodbury Jordan, John Armstrong, James Dyer.

1822.—Lemuel Cobb, James Dyer,'WiIliam Cummings.

1823.—Charles Staples, John Armstrong, Micah Higgios.

1824.—Lemuel Cobb, Charles Staples, John Armstrong.

1825—26.—Micah Biggins, John Armstrong, William Cummings.

1827.—Micah Higgins, Woodbury Jordan, William Cummings.

1828.—Charles Staples, William Cummings, Woodbury Jordan.

1829.—William Cummings, Charles Staples, Micah Higgins.

1830-31.—Charles Staples, Nathaniel Dyer, William Cummings.

1832.—Charles Staples, Charles Hannaford, Randall Skillin.

1833-37.—EllioU Jordan, Charles Hannaford, Randall Skillin.

1838-40.—Charles Hannaford, Hiram Staples, Randall Skillin.

1841.—Aaron Bedell, Randall Skillin, Hiram Staples.

1842.—Ebenezer Thrasher, Aaron Bedell, Raudall Skillin.

1843.—Randall Skillin, Reuben Higgins, Thomas Hannaford.

1844.—Thomas Hannaford, James Trickey, Hiram Staples.

1845.—Reuben Higgins, James Triokey, Elliott Wescott.

1846-47.—Thomas Hannaford, Dennis M. Skillin, Ebenezer Jordan.

1848.—Thomas Hannaford, Reuben Higgins, Milton Dyer.

1849.—Elliott Wescott, Reuben Higgins, Milton Dyer.

1850.—Elliott Wescott, James M. Robinson, Alfred Dyer.

1851.—Stephen Hubbard, James M. Robinson, Alfred Dyer.

1852.—Charles Hannaford, Stephen Hubbard, James M. Robinson.

1853-54 James Trickey, Alfred Dyer, Andrew W. Peabbles.

1855.—James Trickey, Thomas E. Knight, Charles BarrelL

1856.—Benjamin W. Pickett, Thomaa E. Knight, Woodbury Dyer.

1857.—James Triokey, Woodbury Dyer, Thomaa E. Knight.

1858.—James M. Robinson, Dennis M. Skillin, Daniel Pillsbury.

1859.—James Trickey, Samuel Haskell, Andrew W. Peabbles.

I860 James Trickey, Benjamin W. Pickett, Andrew W. Peabbles.

1861.— Dennis M. Skillin, David A. Sawyer, William R. Dyer.

1862.—Dennis M. Skillin, David W. Kincaid, Charles E. Jordan.

1863.—James Trickey, George W. Libby, Charles Peabbles.

1864.—James M. Robinson, George E. Henley, Cyrus Cole.

1865-66.—James M. Robinson, George F. Henley, Henry S. Jackson.

1867.—George F. Henley, Henry S. Jackson, Clement E. Staple*.

1868.—James Trickey, George W. Libby, Michael Peabbles.

1869-71.—James Trickey, Joseph 8. Fickett, Charles A. Tilton.

1872.—Charles A. Tilton, Thomaa B. Haskell, Michael J. Peabbles.

1873.—Nathan R. Dyer, Thomas B. Haskell, Elisha N. Jordan.
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The Trickey family is among the oldest and first

settlers of York Co., Me., and the ancestors of the

subject of this narrative are traced to the early settle-

ment of what is now the town of Kittery, in that

county. The occupation of past generations has been

agriculturists, lumbermen, and ship-builders.

Capt. Zebulon Trickey, his great-grandfather,

removed from Kittery and settled in the town of Deer-

ing (now Falmouth), Cumberland Co., in 1735. He

had two sons,—Sfebulon and David, the former of

whom settled on the farm now owned and occupietl

by his grandchildren. Zebulon's children are

Eleanor, Kebecca, Mary, Zebulon, John, Lucy and

Susannah (twins), and Eunice. The eldest son, Zeb-

ulon, father of the subject of this narrative, was

born Feb. 7, 1767; married Lucy Skillin, Dec. 15,

1799. She was born in the town of Cape Elizabeth,

Jan. 29, 1779. Their children were Rebecca, born

Feb. 15, 1801, died at the age of three years ; Samuel,

born May 20, 1803; John, born Jan. 17, 1806;

James, born April 12, 1809; Edward, born May

16, 1814; Robert, born March 29, 1818 ; and Lucy,

bom Sept. 15, 1824. The father died Aug. 23,

1847 ; the mother died March 28, 1863. Of the

children, all reside upon the old homestead except

Edward, who is married and resides in Westbrook.

James Trickey received little education from books

during his early life, but learned those lessons of self-

reliance, economy, and industry, which many years

ago laid the foundation for his present pleasant sur-

roundings and opulence. His sound judgment, in-

tegrity in all his business relations, and correct habits

in early manhood won the confidence of his fellow-

townsmen, and at the age of thirty-five, in the year

1844, he was chosen one of the selectmen of his

town, which position he held for many years ; and

was also treasurer of the town for four years, and

for two years its collector.

In 1846 he represented his Assembly district in

the State Legislature, and again in 1856 he was

honored with that jwsition. After a respite of nine-

teen years he was elected a member of the State

Legislature in the year 1875, and was re-elected in

1876.

Mr. Trickey is an unswerving member of the

Democratic party, and continues to support the prin-

ciples which, in the earlier history of the Republic,

his father and grandfather advocated.

The Trickey brothers are among the most careful

business men of the town in which they live, and

their ability as such has given them a place among

the careful financiers of the day.
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1874.—Thomu B. Ilaakell, Frederick Batch, Elisba K. Jordan.

1S75.—Thomas B. Haskell, Frederick Hatch, Nathan R. Dyer.

1876-77.—Thomas B. Haskell, Elisha N. Jordan, Stephen Scamman.
1878.—Thomas B. Huskell, Stephen Scammnn, Edtrard F. Hill.

1879.—Thomas B. Haskell, Stephen Scamman, Nathaniel Dyer.

TOWN CLEHK8.

Tho». SimonloD, 1785-71 ; David Strout, 1771-8(1 j Ebeneier Sawyer,

1781-97; Timothy Small, 1797-1813; John Emery, 1813-23;

Woodbury Jordan, 1823-2i; James Dyer, 182i-42; Thomas
Hannaford, 1842-44; Jamei M. Bobinson, 1844-47; Thomas
Haonaford, 1847-53; Enos H. Dyer, 1853-54; John Fickett,

1854-59; Alfred Dyer, ] 859-81; Joseph S. Fiokelt, 1861-63;

Alfred Dyer, 1863-64; Joseph S. Fickett, 1864-65; Edward F.

Flint, 1865-67; Henry H. Osgood, 1867-68; Charles A. Tilton,

1868-70; B. B. Prince, 1870-71; B. F. Pritohard, 1871-72;

George Fickett, 1872-77; John F. Cole, 1877-79; Elisha N.

Jordan, 1879.

TOWN TBEASUREBS.

Peter Woodbury, 1765-74 ; Henry Dyer, 1774-76 ; John Fickett, 1776

-82 ; Ebeneier Sawyer, 1782-97; Ebeneier Thrasher, 1797-1806;

Timothy Small, 1806-12; Mark Dyer, 1812-13; John Emery,

1813-23; Woodbury Jordan, 1823-24; James Dyer, 1824-42;

Thomas Bannaford,^ 1842-44 ; James M. Bobinson, 1844-47;

Thomas Hannaford, 1847-53; Enos H. Dyer, 1853-54; John
Fickett, 1854-59 ; Thomas E. Knight, 1859-61 ; Joseph S. Fickett,

1861-63 ; Alfred Dyer, 1863-64 ; Eben N. Perry, 1864-65 ; Joseph

S. Fickett, 1865-67; Jumes M. Robinson, 1867-68; Thomas E.

Knigbt, 1868-69; Edward F. Hill, 1869-70; Elisha N. Jordan,

1870-72; James Trickey, 1872-77; Charles A. Tilton, 1877-79.

COLLECTORS OF TAXES.*

Noah Jordan, 1760; Robert Mitchell, 1767; Jeremiah Jordan, 1768-

69; Samuel Skillin, 1770; Daniel Strout, 1771; John Arm-
strong, 1772; Charles Peabbles, John Anustroog, 1773; Andrew

Simonton, 1774 ; GeorgeStrout, Jr., 1775; Buriillai Delanu, 1778

;

George Strout, 1777 ; Jonathan Mitchell, George Strout, 1778-79

;

John Woodbury, 1780; Ephraim Robards, 1781; Timothy Jor-

dan, 1782 ; Ephmim Robards, 1783 ; Tristram Jordan, 1784-85

;

Joshua Dyer, 1788 ; Noah Jordan, Jr., 1787 ; Matthew Simonton,

1788; Ebeneier Thrasher, 1789; Nathaniel Dyer, 1790; Jonathan

McEinney, 1791 ; Noah Jordan, Jr., 1792; Dominicus Jordan,

1793; Noah Jordan, Jr., 1794-95; Johu Skillin, 1795; George

Deake, 1796; Caleb Dyer, 1797 ; Robert Maxwell, 1798 ; Zebulon

Trickey, 1799-1800; Samuel Dunn, 1801-4; Zebulon Trickey,

1804; Darid Sawyer, 1805; Morell Jordan, 1306; Micah Hig-

gins, 1807-8; Eiekiel Dyer, 1808-15; Micah Higgins, 1815-23;

Woodbury Jordan, 1823-28 ; Joseph Wescott, 1828; Jonah Dyer,

1829-32; Joseph Wescott, 1832 ; Richard Jordun, 1833; Charles

Hannaford, 18.34 ; Woodbury Jordan, 1835-39; Joseph Wescott,

1839; Dennis M. Skillin, 1840-42 ; Samuel Trickey, 1842; Chas.

Hannaford, 1843; Joseph Wescott, 1844; Edward Trickey,

1845-48; James M. Robinson, 1848; Henry Bodge, 1849-50;

Setb Higgins, 1851-55; Eiekiel Wesoott, 1855; Seth Higgins,

1856; Samuel Barrell, 1857; A. P. Hillman, 1868; Thomas E.

Knight, 1859-61 ; Eben N. Perry, 1861-85 ; Joseph 8. Fickett,

1885-67; James M. Robinson, 1887; Edward T. Hill, 1888-70;

Elisha N. Jordan, 1870-72; James Trickey, 1872-74; Loreoio

Reynolds, 1874-78; George Fickett, 1878-79.

BEVOLUTIONART MATTERS.

We find ID the old records of Cape Elizabeth a complete

copy of the Declaration of Independence, made shortly

after its adoption, in pursuance of the following order by

Continental Congress, in council July 17, 1776

:

" Ordered, That the Declaration of Independence be printed, and

a Copy sent to the ministers of each parish of erery denomination

within this State; and that they sererally be required to read the

same to the respective Congregations as soon as divine service is

ended in the afternoon, on the first Lord's day after they receive it;

* Generally associated with the office of Constable.

and after such publication thereof, to deliver the said Declamtion to

the Clerks of their several Towns or Districts, who are hereby required

to record the stime in their respective town or District books, there to

remain a perpetual memorial thereof."

Mr. David Strout, who was town clerk in 1776, recorded

the Declaration according to the above order, in a plain,

clear hand, giving especial prominence to the words

:

"And for the SUPPORT of this DECLARATION, with a firm re-

liance in the PROTECTION of DIVINE PPOVIDENCE, we mutu-

ally pledge our LIVES, our FORTUNES, ond our SACRED HONOR.
''Signed by ordbb and in Behalp of the Covgress.

"JOHN HANCOCK, /'<e.irf«n<,

"Attest, " Chables Thosipsov, Secretary."

March 17, 1777, Peter Woodbury, Stephen Randall,

John Woodbaiy, Ebenezer Newell, and George Deake were

appointed the town committee on correspondence, inspection,

and safety.

On the 5th of November, 1777,

—

" Voted, That this Town will comply with the Act of the General

Court, directing towns to make effeolual provision for the families of

such non-commissioned officers and privates in their respective towns

as have engaged in the Continental Service."

In pursuance of this vote, John Armstrong, Joshua Jor-

dan, John Fickett, George Strout, and Matthew Simonton

were appointed a " committee to supply said families accord-

ing to said resolve."

In town-meeting Feb. 11, 1778, the inhabitants

" Viited, that this Town fully and cheerfully agree to the Articles

of Confederation and Perpetual Union agreed on by the Honorable

Congress of the United States of America."

The town voted a tax to support the war, and

" Ordered, That the Committee to supply Families, draw as much
money ont of the Town Treasury as they shall think proper to supply

said families with necessaries, agreeable to said resolve, until next

March meeting."

Feb. 12, 1781,—

" Voted, That this Town will give one hundred and sixty hard
dollari bounty, and ten dollars per month to the soldiers that shall

enlist to recruit the army."

CHURCHES.

FIRST CHURCH IN CAFE ELIZABETH."}"

The whole town of Falmouth remained one parish until

1733, when, by mutual consent, the people residing on

the south side of Fore River were incorporated as a dis-

tinct parish by act of the General Court. The dividing

line of the parishes passed up Fore River to a point half a

mile south of Stroudwater River, and thence extended due

west to the line of Scarborough ; in other words, it cor-

responded with the boundary of what was afterwards made
the town of Cape Elizabeth.

The membow of the First Church dismissed to form the

Second were John Armstrong, William Jameson, Robert

Means, Robert Thorndyke, and Jonathan Cobb. On the

18th of September, 1733, the new parish held a meeting,

at which they voted to build a meeting-house, and chose

Rev. Benjamin Allen to be their minister. Mr. Allen ac-

cepted their invitation and was installed Nov. 10, 1734.

The meeting-house, which occupied the site of the pres-

ent Congregational church of Cape Elizabeth, was erected

t Originally Second Parish in Falmouth.
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in parsuaocc of the above vote, its frame being coostmcted

of white-oak timber cut upon the ground. This meeting-

house was afterwards enlarged bj adding a piece of about

fifteen feet to its width. This alteration lefb the pulpit

in the middle of the floor, with galleries and pews behind

it, in which form it was allowed to remain till 1801.

In 1736 some excitement prevailed in town on the sub-

ject of Presbyterianism, particularly in the Purpooduck

parish. The Irish emigrants were all of that persuasion,

and, although they were too few to support a separate

establishment, they were enough to produce a sensation in a

small parish. Elder Armstrong had continued a member

of Mr. Smith's church until he was dismissed for the forma-

tion of a new church at Purpooduck ; but he probably

never relinquished the prejudices of his early education in

favor of those peculiarities which his countrymen brought

with them. At that early period this class of sectarians

was numerous in this State, and controversies existed on the

subject, which, now that the order is extinct among us, can

hardly be imagined. In May, 1736, the neighboring min-

isters had a meeting at Purpooduck on the subject, but what

was its result we have no means of ascertaining. In No-

vember the Rev. William McClanethan, a staunch Pres-

byterian from the north of Ireland, was installed at Pur-

pooduck ; but the people were unable to support him, and

his labors among them were soon discontinued. He had

been employed as a preacher to a large society in George-

town in 1734, and was again hired there for a year in 1742.

At another time he preached and kept school in Bruns-

wick ; but what finally became of him we do not know.

On the death of Mr. Allen, in 1754, new troubles occurred

in that society in supplying his place. Eleazer Holyoke,

who graduated at Harvard College in 1 750, preached there on

probation ; the church by a majority of one, and the society

by a majority of two votes, invited him to be their pastor.

But he not being militant enough to accept the call, Wil-

liam Wentworth and a number of others petitioned the Gen-

eral Court for a division of the parish, which was unsuc-

cessful, and " the parish was in a sad situation, dismally

divided and quarreling." In the midst of this confusion

the Rev. Ephraim Clark came among them to preach, and

so great was the interest taken in the neighboring parish

that many persons went from Portland to hear him. He

had lately been dismissed from the pastoral care of a church

in Boston. Notwithstanding a very powerful opposition,

he was invited to settle there and accepted the call ; but

the objections to him were urged so strongly that the coun-

cil first called did not think proper to recommend him for

installation. A new council, representing fifteen churches,

was then summoned, which met in July, and which, afler

three days of "dose, hot work," as Mr. Smith says, arrived

at the same conclusion by a vote of 23 to 18 "and two

neuters." Nevertheless, Mr. Clark commenced to preach.

The opposition sought to ruin his reputation, and entered

complaint against him for alleged lying. Rev. Mr. Smith

entered in his journal, Aug. 14, 1755, " Our justices are

at work contriving to take Mr. Clark in hand." And again,

on the 18th, " Things are in a sad toss about Mr. Clark."

He was tried by a jury, which acquitted him. The trial

was one of great interest, and " thousands of people were

present." His friends stood by him, and, after repeated

failures, finally succeeded in procuring an installing com-

mittee. The ceremony was performed " in Mr. Simonton's

orchard, at Purpooduck, May 21, 1756." The opposition

on the part of some became so virulent that it was even sup-

posed an attempt had been made to get rid of Mr. Clark by

poison. June 17, 1756, Mr. Smith wrote, "A terrible up-

roar aboat Mr. Clark's being poisoned by Mr. Lovit.''

Twenty-four members of the parish, refusing to pay their

rates, were committed to jail, and the neighboring minis-

ters held a private fast. For a long time contention reigned,

but it at length subsided and lefl: the minister strongly in-

trenched in his parish. The folly and absurdity of such

opposition are shown by the fact that the leader of it. Col.

Cusbing, who had, in consequence, withdrawn from the

parish, petitioned the General Court jnst prior to his death,

in 1765,' to be restored to it again, and sat quietly down

under the preaching of the man he had so bitterly perse-

cuted. Mr. Clark died Deo. 11, 1797, without issue,

leaving behind him a reputation for piety and sincerity.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, PERRY VILLAGE.*

There was no organized Methodism in Cape Elizabeth

till 1839, though occasional meetings had been held by sev-

eral preachers from Scarboro', Portland, and other places,

lu the spring of 1839, Rev. Jesse Stone, who is still living,

was appointed to Cape Elizabeth. During the winter he

held meetings at the " Point," about one mile from the

Ferry, and organized a small society. The year following,

Mr. Stone continued his labors in Cape Elizabeth, dividing

his services between Point village. Brown's Hill, and the

'• Cape," now called Bowery Beach. In the fall of 1840 a

church was built at Point village.

In 1841, Rev. G. D. Strout was appointed to the charges,

dividing his labors between the places above named, and

was returned to the same field in 1842. In 1843, J. L.

Frazier was the pastor; in 1844, E. K. Colby; and in

1845 he was re-appointed, and preached at the Point all

the time. In 1846, C. C. Covel was pastor at the Point,

the people at the Ferry generally attending. In 1847, E.

F. Blake; in 1848, S. S. Cummings; in 1849-50, J. W.
Atkins; in 1851-52, U. Rideout.

Towards the close of his first year, the society at Ferry

village commenced building the church, in which worship

is now held.

Dr. E. Clarke gave them land, which was sold for 8300,

and Mr. Cahoon gave them the two lots on which the

church stands, and the church was completed, free of debt,

the following year, and dedicated Jan. 25, 1853, by Rev.

W. F. Farington.

In 1853, Rev. A. P. Hillman was pastor, and the meet-

ings for public worship were from that time held in the

new church at Ferry village.

In 1854, Mr. Hillman was re-appointed to Ferry village,

holding occasional service in the evening in the old church

at Point village.

In 1855-56, Rev. John Rice was pastor of Ferry vil-

lage Church, and during the first year of his ministry the

• Furnished by Rev. S. F. Wetherbee.
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old church at the Point was accidentally burned to the

ground.

In 1857-58, Asa Green was pastor; in 1859-60, Chas.

Andrews; in 1861, S. R. Bailey; in 1862-63, B. Free-

man. During the ministry of the latter the church was

repaired, and enlarged by the addition of 32 new pews,

which were sold for enough to pay all the expenses.

In 1864-65, E. Robinson was pastor ; in 1866, Thomas

Powers, a local preacher, supplied the pulpit; in 1867, U.

Rideout was pastor, but died during the year; in 1868,

0. H. Stevens; in 1869, John Collins; in 1870, W. H.

Foster; 1871-73, Benjamin Freeman; 1874-76, J. M.

Woodbury. During the pastorate of Mr. Woodbury the

vestry and parsonage was built, leaving an indebtedness on

the society, secured by mortgage.

In 1877, G. W. Barbour was pastor, and in 1878-79,

S. F. Wetherbee, who still has charge of the society. Soon

after he became pastor he secured a subscription sufficient

to thoroughly paint and repair the church, and it is now

an ornament to the village, and the society is in a flourish-

ing condition.

BOWEar BEACH METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

In 1839, Rev. Je$se Stone was appointed to Cape Eliza-

beth circuit, and so divided his labors as to preach occa-

sionally at Bowery Beach, then called the '' Pitch of the

Cape."

In 1840 he was re-appointed to the Cupe, and gave one-

half of his labors to Bowery Beach.

This was the first pastoral service ever given to that

neighborhood.

In 1841^2, Rev. G. D. Strout* was appointed to the

charge, and he preached alternately at Brown's Hill (now

called Cape Elizabeth Depot) and Bowery Beach. This

was the first regular preaching at Brown Hill. Ferry vil-

lage and the Point were set off and constituted another

circuit.

Bowery Beach and Brown's Hill was supplied from year

to year, as follows

:

1843, John Frazier* ; 1844-45, E. K. Colby ; 1846, C.

C. Covil; 1847, J. Rice; 1848, S. S. Cummings; 1849-

50, J. Cobb ; 1852, L. B. Knight ; 1853-54, A. P. Hill-

man ; 1855, J. Rice ; 1856-57, B. Luffkin.

The charge was then divided, and the successive

preachers were, viz.

:

Bowery Beach : 1858-59, A. R. Sylvester ;t 1860, J.

Gibson; 1861, S. Payne; 1862-63, R. C. Bailey;* 1864,

D. D. Speer; 1865, George Hoit ; 1866, supplied by a

local preacher; 1867, E. H. McEenney; 1868, supplied

by a local preacher; 1869, S. V. Gerry ; 1870-71, J. Fair-

banks;* 1872-75, supplied by local preachers ; 1876-77,

J. Budden ; 1878, B. F. Pease; 1879, A. Cook.

Brown Hill preachers : 1858-59, C. W. Bkckman ; 1860,

John Rice; 1861-62, U. Rideout;* 1863, S. Ranks;

1864-65, G. W. Barbour; 1866-68, F. F. Ayer;t 1869

* The preacHera thaa marked are dead.

f During these two years a fine church waa built and dedicated bj

Rey. W. F. Farrington, rii., 1858-59.

f Daring these three yeare the present fine church was built, and the

name changed to Cape Eliiabeth Depot.

-70, K. Atkinson; 1871-72, C. C. Mason (new parsonage

built); 1873-74, D. B. Randall; 1875-76, J. Collins;

1877-78, T. P. Adams; 1879, W. J. Murphy.

SCHOOLS.

The whole number of school districts in the town is 14,

containing provisions for the education of 1843 scholars.

Nos. 5, 6, 11, 12, and 13 are graded schools. No. 5 being

divided into grammar, intermediate, first primary, and

second primary; Nos. 6, 11, and 13 being divided into one

grammar and one primary department each. Thus there

are 5 grammar schools, 1 intermediate, 6 primaries, and 4

mixed schools, beside the high school or District No. 14, in

which the higher branches and a course preparatory for col-

lege is pursued.

The whole number of pupils registered in all the schools

is as follows: spring, 1119; average attendance, 975; full,

1129; average attendance, 1006; winter, 1141; average

attendance, 967. The pupils in the high school were for

the spring term 100, with an average attendance of 92

;

fall term, 87 ; average attendance, 82 ; winter term, 89

;

average attendance, 80. The following is the school fund

of the town fur the year ending Feb. 1, 1879 :

DISTRICT SCHOOL FUND.

Town npproprinfion S-IIOO.OO

Rco'.ivtd Irom State (blink Ux) 121o.:iO
' (mill tu.'i) 1953.39

Totiil 37268.69
Per scholiir 3.9*

BIUH SCHOOL FUND.

Appropriated by town S900.00
Received from State 5U0.OO

Receired from tuition 6.00

Total $1406.00
Less overdrawn, 1878 92.35

Net amount $1313.65
Amount expended 920.83

Estimated cost of winter term 435.50

The schools of the town are all reported in a prosperous

condition. The following respecting the high school we

take from the last report of the committee on public schools :

"We have been fortunate in keeping Mr, D. W. Hawkes as princi-

pal. Miss H. M. Hawkes left us at the end of last year for higher

wages and a smaller school, in Deering. We employed Miss Annie

Nichols, of Searsport, as assistant, who has filled the position with

thoroughness and effioiency. We believe this school has fully main-

tained its high rank for decorum and scholarship. It is an honor to

the town, and is doing for our youth a precious work which cannot be

estimated in silver and gold. During the spring term we procured a

fine organ for the use of the school at a net cost^f $120, paying down
$25 ; the balance was to be paid" in installments at our convenience.

Twenty-five dollars additional have been paid by the high school

scholars, leaving a balance still due of $70. Probably another pay-

ment will be made before the end of this term.

" Appleton's New American Cyclopedia luM been purchased by the

school—a very valuable acquisition—at the very moderate price of

$25. The larger part of this was raised by subscription by the

scholars. It is hoped to raise the balance before the close of the cur-

rent year.

"A glance at the high school table will give an idea of the work,

done.

" It is to be understood that the second classes in arithmetic and
English analysis in the spring term, and the classes in the same dur-

ing the current term, are in review. By comparison with last year it
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will be Men that the school ig atesdily adrancing, eapecially in the

direetion of the higher English atudiea."

The toTn-honse, the second story of which is devoted to

the high school, is a substantial three-story brick building,

with a foundation of granite, and sarmountcd by a tower

and belL It was erected by the town in 1874, at a coat of

over $12,000. The first floor contains the town-hall and

offices, a fire-proof vaolt and every convenience for the trans-

action of bnsiness, and there is a Masonic hall in the third

story.

Committee.—J. W. Lowell, Chairman, E. A. Harlow,

£. C. Reynolds.

POOB-HOUSE AND FARM.

For the care of the poor the town owns a farm and baild-

ings valued at 17500. The additional property on the farm

18 estimated at $1832.80. The amount expended for out

supplies, and for consumption on the farm during the year

ending Feb. 1, 1879, was $4410.61.

FINANCIAL.

The following is an account of the receipts and expendi-

tures of the town of Cape Elizabeth for the year ending

Feb. 1, 1879

:

TAXES ASSESSED 1878.

For State tax ; $7,149.39
County tax .—„ 2,642.58
Seboofa $4100
Boad* and bridge* „ 4000
Town ohaigea 3000
Support of paar....„ 2500
Interest on town debt.... 4880
CoUectera' oomniaaiona 600
Dieoounton tazea 900
Winter and spring billa _ 600
Seduction of town debt 3000
Free high achool _ yoo
Painting almshouse 150
Darid Uriffln suit 500
Capo Elizabeth Diking Co„ 200

Orerlaya
Supplemental tax ,

VALUATION, 1878.

Real and personal eatatea.„

Sapplementary raluation....

$25,230.00

$.35,021.97

1,343.63
171.54

$36,537.14

$1,773,991
4,445

Total $1,778,436

Number of polla, 1145.

Bate of taxation, $1.86 on $100.

ASSETS or THE TOWN, 1878.

Town-farm and bnildinga $7,500,00

Town-'tiiRIiie'Vfff lot::.:....^-; 15.000.00

IStoak and peraonal property on
farm .-, — 1,832.80

Grarel bank 2,500.00

Seven aorta woodland - 100.00

Ferry Unding - 6,000.00

High achool furniture 600.00

Office fnmitare 100.00

Town-hall fumitore. 400.00

Police station and lot 690.00

Polioe station furniture....^..... 25.00

Balance Ii. D. Beynolda' tax
bUla, 1877 $8,753.74

Balance Geo. Pickett's tax bills,

1878 ~. 8,886.89

Tax deeds held by treararer..... 469.89

Tax deeds held by selectmen.... 1^00.00

$33,747.80

Due from abutters on C and E
Street sewers 46.47

Due from Portland 177.32
Due from Biddeford 51.85
Due from Yarmouth 6.00

$19,572.16

$53,319.96

TOWN LIABILITIES, 1878.

Town bonds issued 1863, due 1883 $25,900.00
" " " 1864, due 1884 16,800.00
" • " 1865, due 1885 9,760.00
" " " 1871, due 1881 4,100.00
" " " 1872, due 1887 5,000.00
" " « 1874, due 1889 12,000.00-

Town notea, "Sot. 4 and 5, iasued 1 878, due
1879, for polioe station 600.00

Outstanding town orders 9,003.36
Balanee due aohool districts 2,962.54

$36,115.90

EXPENDITURES, 1878.

For schools $6,322.85
Town chargn .1,128.83

Winter and spring hills, 1877 and 1878 630.70

Summer bills, mads, and bridges 4,131.70

Poor bills (out supplies) 1,971.03
Poor bills (farm) 1,371.32

Interest on town debt 4,724.25

Abatemenbi 1,887.71
Free high school 1,013.18
Collectors' commissions 656.93
Diacouot on taxes 877.40

Reduction on town debt 4,999.00

Note, David Griffin suit 500.00

$32,214.90

APPBOPBIATIONS FOE 1878.

Balance due the several school districts, 1877. $1 ,478.22

Appropriations for schools, 1878 4,100.00
Bute school fund -. 1,022.75
StaU mill tax 1,953.39
Roads and bridges 4,000.00

Support of poor 2,500.00
Town charges 3,000.00

Interest on town debt 4,880.00
Collectors' commission 600.00
Discount on taxes 900.00

Winter and spring billa, 1877-78 500.00

Reduction of town debt 3,000.00

Free high school 900.00
Painting almshouse 150.00
David Griffin suit 500.00
Cape Elisabeth Diking Co 200.00
Overlaya and additions 1,515.17

$31,199.53

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

EBEN N. PERRY

was bom in the town of Porter, Oxford Co., Me., June 3,

1832. His great-grandfather came to America from France

in 1740, and settled in York County. Allen Peirrie, his

son, was bom in Shapleigh, York Co., in 1750, and moved
to Parsonfield, same county, in 1775. Stephen (Pearv),

his son, was bom in Paisonfield, in 1778, and married

Martha Beacham in 1798. She was a daughter of Richard

Beacham, the son of Lord Beacham, of England. Stephen

Perry, grandfather of Eben N., was the first settler of the

family in the town of Porter. His iather, James R.

{Peary), bom in Parsonfield, April 2, 1801, married, Oct.

3, 1823, Alraira, daughter of Charles Nutter, of Porter.

She was bora Feb. 15, 1808. His parents moved to Porter

in 1821, and removed to Biddeford in 1842. Eben N.

received a good business education during his minority.
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He married, Oct. 5, 1851, Harriet M., daughter of Deacon

William and Apha (Harmon) Libby, of Sweden, Oxford

Co., Me. She was born Jane 15, 1832. Their children

are Lneila May (deceased), Florence M., and Herbert B.

From 1851 to 1854 Mr. Perry was engaged with D. E.

Somes, Biddeford, manufacturing loom harnesses, and then •

went to Lewiston to superintend a manufactory in the same

business for Mr. Somes. In 1856 he went into trade for

himself in Lewiston, carrying on a general store, having

associated with him in business his brother (E. N. & G. S.

Perry). In 1869 he went to Cape Elizabeth, and for two

years was engaged in farming. He was elected collector

on the Republican ticket, and served the town 1861-63

;

and in 1864 he was collector and treasurer. He was

enrolling officer durinr; the late war for Cape Elizabeth and

Scarboro', and was appointed by Governor Corry one of the

general recruiting officers of the State. In January, 1865,

he was appointed deputy sheriff of Cumberland County,

holding the office for four years. Elected sheriff for 1869-

70, and re- elected and held the office a second term. For

two years following his service as sheriff he was a farmer.

In April, 1875, with M. C. Foss (Perry & Foss) he opened

a general commission store in Portland, but after one year

Mr. Foss retired from the firm, and after continuing the

business alone one year, Mr. Perry, in January, 1877, took

in as partner Mr. F. T. Flint, and the firm of Perry &

Flint, well established in business, continue as successful

commission merchants in 1879.

Photo, by LimuoD.

HON. W. B. HIGQINS.

HON. W. B. HIGGINS,

seventh child, and son of Capt Sylvanus Higgins, was

bom va the town of Cape Elizabeth, May 29, 1814, on the

farm formerly owned by his father, but now owned by him.

He remained at home during his minority, and spent his

time in the routine of farm labor and at school. He re-

mained for eleven years after reaching his majority at home,

and in 1842 married Irene M. Dyer, of Cape Elizabeth.

The same year of his marriage he. erected the house in

which he now resides, and followed agricultural pursuits

until 1864, when he was elected to the Legislature. This

position, which he held for one term, he filled with satis-

faction to his constituents, and with honor to himself. His

re-election was urgently sought by his many friends, but he

declined further public honor. He is interested in local

and national l^;islation, and a supporter of all enterprises

tending to benefit his fellow-citizens. In politics he is a

Democrat, and is known as a man who looks as well to the

33

man as to the principles he represents. Since his connec-

tion with public matters, he has given his attention almost

wholly to the interests of his farm.

SILAS 8KTLLEN,

son of Daniel, and grandson of Samuel Skillcn, was born in

the town of Cape Elizabeth, May 17, 1801. The farm

upon which he resides was deeded to his paternal ancestor

in the year 1681, and has remained in the family since.

Mr. Skillen was reared on the farm, and received only a

common-school education. His reliability as a citizen, his

good judgment, and careful business management, have,

through many years as a farmer, gained for him a compe-

tence, which places him beyond the apprehension of want.

He married in July, 1836, Maria, daughter of Nathaniel
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and Lucy Ward, of Kcnnebunkport. She was born Jul;

1, 1811. Of this union were born eight children,—Lucy,

Daniel, John J., Hezekiah, Edwin A., Silas E., Augusta

E., Franklin A.

Mrs. Skillen died Feb. 23, 1860. For his second wife

Photu. by Lammn.

SILA8 8KILLEN.

he married, in 1864, Catharine, daughter of Moses and

Mary Fickett, of Cape Elizabeth. She was born April 7,

1820. Mr. Skilleu, now nearly fourscore years of age, en-

joys the esteem of all who know him, and is surrounded

with the fruits of many years of labor and industry.

A. W. PEABBLBS,

son of Charles and Anna Peabbles, was bom Aug. 27,

1815, on the farm where he now resides in the town of

Cape Elizabeth, his grandfather having resided on the same

farm during his life. His ancestors were among the earliest

settlers of the town.

Mr. Peabbles was youngest in a family of eight children,

and received a fair common-school education while young.

In 1839 he married Miss Mehetabel Mitchael, of Cape

Elizabeth, and the same year assumed control of the old

homestead. Aside from his farming, he for many years

carried on a grist- and saw-miil. His parents remained

with him until their death. His father died at the age of

twenty-nine, and his mother at the age of ninety.

Mr. Peabbles is known as an unswerving member of the

Democratic party, and has been honored with the offices of

selectman and overseer of the poor for several years by the

citizens of his town.

In church institutions he is interested, and has been a

member of the Congregational Church for twenty years,

and for several years a deacon of that church.

RKUBEN HIGGINS,

son of Michael Higgins, was born in the town of Cape

Elizabeth, Feb. 11, 1811. His grandfather, Reuben Hig-

gins, came to Cumberland County from Cape Cod, and met

' an untimely death by being drowned while capturing sea-

cows. Mr. Higgins received a common-school education

during his boyhood. At the age of seventeen he embarked

on a coasting vessel, and remained in the service for three

years. He went to Bangor, Me., where he learned black-

smithing and the edge-tool trade, and was engaged in this

business until 1830, when he sold out to his brother, Ar-

thur, and returned to Cape Elizabeth, where he remained

one year, and for the next three years was engaged in the

grocery trade in Portland. In 1839 he married Calista L.

Smith, of Newmarket, N. H. He removed to Androscog-

gin County, and remained three years, during which time

his father died, and he, purchasing the interest of the

other heirs of thp estate, settled on the old homestead in

Cape Elizabeth. He has been honored with various offices

of trust in his town. In 1843 he was elected selectman

and overseer of the poor, and held these offices for six

years. In 1849 he was elected a member of the Legisla-

ture on the Democratic ticket, and held the office one term.

Following 1851, for eight years he was clerk on a steamer

plying between Portland and Boston. In 1861 he was

elected county commissioner, and remained in that office

three years, and the same year was again elected to the

Legislature, and served one year. For several years he has

acted as justice of the peace in the town, and continues to

discharge the duties of that office to the satisfaction of his

fellow-townsmen and with honor to himself.

Mr. Higgins is a member of the Free-Will, Baptist

Church, and a supporter of church and kindred interests.

He is a man of acknowledged integrity and correct habits.

JONAH DYER

is the son of Nathaniel and grandson of Nathan Dyer, who

was a native of Cape Cod, and settled in Cape Elizabeth

during the early histoiy of that town. Jonah Dyer was

bom Deo. 25, 1794. His minority was spent in the rou-

tine of school life and on the farm, receiving, however,

limited opportunities for obtaining an education from books.

For three years afber reaching his majority he was engaged

on a sailing vessel. Retuming home, he purchased sixty

acres of land, agreeing to pay therefor one thousand dol-

lars, but having at the time of purchase only one hundred

and fifty dollars. - By industry, economy, and a judicious

management of bis affiiirs, he has not only completed the

payment for his first purchase, but has added to it much

other real estate, sufficient for himself and children. In

1824, he married Elizabeth, daughter of Ephraim and

Elizabeth Roberts, of Cape Elizabeth. They have three

children,—George T., Mrs. William B. Higgins, and Na-

thaniel. His wife died Aug. 6, 1878. He and his wife
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were consistent members of the Free-Will Baptist Church.

He will be remembered for his charity to the poor, and

his support of enterprises benefiting hia fellow-citizens.

He ranks among the wealthiest of his town.

EDWARD F. HILL

is eldest son of Edward Hill, of Eaton, N. H., was bom
in Portland, June 14, 1834, and now resides on the farm

in the town of Cape Elizabeth, formerly owned by his

mother, Eunice Jordan. He was educated in the common

school and at Yarmouth Academy. At the age of eighteen

he became a teacher, teaching school during the winter

terms, and working on the farm summers.

For four years following 1864 he was associated with his

father-in-law, Mr. Chamberlain, as proprietor of the Ocean

House, on Cape Elizabeth. In 1856 he was elected a mem-

ber of the school committee, and was active in establishing

the high school in Cape Elizabeth. In 1868 he was elected

treasurer and collector of the town, and held these offices

for two years. In 1878 he received the appointment of

inspector of public works on river and harbor improvements,

on Richmond Island Breakwater, under Gen. George

Thorn, and continues to hold the same position. He
married, Dec. 3, 1865, Miss Sibyl M. Chamberlain, of

Cape Elizabeth, and has two children, viz. : Henry C,

born Oct. 1, 1866, and Georjre E., born Sept. 10, 1876.

Mr. Hill is a thrifty and successful farmer, and a man of

Photo, by Lamfion.

Sterling integrity in all bis business relations. In politics,

Democratic.

CASCO.

GENEKAL DESCRIPTION.

The town of Casco was formed from the northwestern

half of Raymond, by act of incorporation approved March

18, 1841. An effort had been made to divide the town as

early as 1825, and, in 1838, Edward Mayberry, Samuel

Jordan, and John Cook were elected a committee to desig-

nate the division line. In 1831, '32, and '34, there were

two collectors elected for Raymond, which was divided into

the Eastern and Western Districts. Casco is bounded on

the north by Poland and Thompson Pond, on the east by

Raymond, on the south by Sebago Lake, and on the west

by Naples and Otisfield. It is bordered by five great ponds,

and contains seven smaller ones within its limits. The sur-

face is rolling, forming continuous ridges, and rising to its

highest point in Rattlesnake Mountain,—a peak comprising

450 acres,—on the eastern border of the town.

RAKLY SETTLEMENT.

Capt. Joseph Dingley, the first settler in Casco and Ray-

mond, was bom in Duxbury, Mass., Nov. 28, 1729. He

selected the lot on which he lived, had it recorded in the

proprietors' book at Beverly, Mass., Sept. 24, 1770, and ar-

rived in what is now Casco, Nov. 28, 1770, after a spirited

race from Massachusetts against Mr. Jordan, whom he out-

traveled by taking a boat and crossing Great Sebago Pond
in the night. This race was for the 100 acres of land to be

given the first settler in the town. Capt. Dingley proceeded

to erect a saw- and grist-mill at the outlet of Thomas Pond,

for which he received a reward of 100 acres of land from

the proprietors. The grist-mill stood ou the Raymond side

of the outlet. Thomas Lewis and William Dingley selected

lots the same year. The first deed of land in the town was
given by George Williams, Esq., John Gardner, gentleman,

George Dodge, merchant, and Stephen Abbott, Esq., of Sa-

lem, Mass., agents, to Lewis Gay, of Raymond, for 100 acres,

lot 13, range 4, March 28, 1784, in consideration of 5s., law-

ful money. This is the well-known Gay Homestead, in

South Casco. Mr. Gay came from Buxton, Mass., in 1786.

He lived to become a leading citizen, was deputy sheriff

for many years, and died June 29, 1823.
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Among the thirtj deeds drawn for the first settlers of

Raymond and Casco, March 29, 1704, were those of John

Mitchell, near Lewis Qaj's place ; Aaron Goodwin, Moses

Whitney, and Zaohariah Jordan, on and near Crooked

River ; Joseph Dingley, on the lot including the mills and

South Casco burying-groand ; John Ring, Widow Jane

Mitchell, and Samuel Dingley, around Kettle Core ; and

Peter Staple, half a mile northwest of Dingley's mill.

Among the later arrivals were Horatio Wight, north of

Webb's mill, in 1813 ; Ed. and Richard Mayberry, Eliakim

Maxfield, and Peter Gra&m, west of Panther Mountain, in

1814; Elijah Yamey, William Jackson, Jeremiah Alex-

ander, and Henry .Hooper, in the north part of the town, in

1817 ; John and Daniel Barton, on Great Rattlesnake Pond,

in 1822 ; and Obadiah Gould, on Quaker Hill. Richard

Manning, of Salem, son of one of the proprietors, came in

1800, and opened a blacksmith-shop across the road from

Capt. Dingley's place, in front of the burying-ground. He
was proprietors' agent.for many years.

It was a common practice of the early settlers to draw

their goods to their new homes on hand-sleds, over blazed

paths too rough and narrow for loaded teams. To have a

frame house was a sign of prosperity the settler would have,

if he had to carry the boards for its building upon his back.

Com was hoed in on new lands without plowing, and the

green ears, with milk and game in summer, or rye and In-

dian corn and pork in winter, formed the chief diet; aside

from the regular weekly baked beans.

A back town, somewhat off the main routes of travel,

Casco developed a people peculiar to itself, hardy and in-

dustrious. Gathering in parties, of 20 or more to roll the

blackened logs of a fallow, after a fire had consumed the

smaller and drier branches, a day's hard rolling and lifting

would transform half a dozen acres of blackened trunks

into huge blazing fires at night-time ; and in place of he

who passed the jug of rum all day, the fiddler would form

the centre of attraction, the ragged and blackened heroes

of the logging leading maidens clothed in homespun through

the quiet dance, or indulging in wild frolic of which the

older men stUl love to tell. It was no uncommon event to

run afoul of a bear on the way home. These pests were

very plenty, and levied their toll upon sheep or swine with

a regularity which caused many a man to wear tow shirts,

flax being a sore crop and taking the place of wool. Meet-

ings were a higher recreation. Whole families came on

horseback from miles around, the pillory—a small carri^

without wheels, riding as part of the saddle—containing

numerous children and the lunch-basket. Preaching was

had in the morning, a two or three hours' discourse lasting

until noon ; thee a general picnic and gossip, a long after-

noon sermon, and perhaps baptism in the clear waters of

the lake, when all would disperse for their homes, just in

time to complete the day by doing the chores, and partak-

ing of the very common supper of hasty-pudding and

milk.

PLACES OP HISTORIC INTEREST.

The residence of Capt. Joseph Dingley, in South Casco,

was at the north end of the bridge. The old house, which

stands upon the first land occupied by a white man in

Casco, forms a part of the present residence of C. Murch.

Across the road, the residence of A. Libby was the head-

quarters of the land-proprietors of Raymond in 1800. A
few rods below is the old mill where Nathaniel Hawthorne,

the author and poet, is said to have written his " Recollec-

tions of a Busy Life." Back of the mill, in the field, is

the old burying-ground where are gathered the remains of

the early pioneers of Raymond and Casco. A thick slab

of slate marks the resting-place of Capt. Joseph Dingley,

the first settler of Raymond, who died Nov. 23, 1806,

aged seventy-seven; Capt. Samuel Dingley, died 1825, aged

sixty-eight ; Peter Staples, one of the first settlers " of this

town," died 1846, aged ninety-five ; and Sarah, his wife,

died 1854, aged ninety-nine ; Lewis Gray, who was the first

resident freeholder, died 1823, aged seventy-six; -and his

wife died 1850, aged one hundred and one ; Ichabod Man-

ning, formerly of Salem, died 1831, aged forty-seven.

Among the later dead in the neat cemetery at Casco village

are the remains of Capt. Oliver Mayberry, John Sawyer,

Esq., and John Holden. On the Pinkham place are the

graves of Ester Skinner, died 1874, aged ninety ; Ephraim

Cook, died 1853, aged ninety-three; Edmond Pinkham,

died 1860, and his wife, died 1865, each aged ninety-three.

The old red town-house, erected, moved, and finished by an

undecided people, who could not determine where it should

stand, finally became stationary in the grove of pines a

short distance to the south.

Upon a shady hill-side towards Casco village is still

another graveyard, made historic by the repose of Deacon

Hezekiah Cook, died 1863, aged ninety ; Capt. T. Wight,

Stephen T. Jilson, Capt. Richard Mayberry, surrounded

by the families of Pinkham, Holden, Lombard, and East-

man. Here also is the grave of Mark Leach, Esq., who

died in 1841, aged seventy.

Songo River, whose waters wash in a picturesque maze

of curves the western border of the town, is the outlet of

a beautiful chain of lakes, which has been a fruitftil theme

for the poet and artist for more than a century. Its shores

are still free from the desecration of modern improvement,

save an occasional farm.

VILLAGES.

CASCO VILLAGE.

Beside the little bay formed by the south end of Pleas-

ant Pond, Casco village extends in a long line, running

parallel with the western shore, bordered by bare, cultivated

hills, rising gradually towards the west, while to the east

the land is more broken and covered with forest. 'To the

south. Packer's Pond empties its black waters through an

opening in the stone causeway at the head of Pleasant

Pond. The village contains 30 dwellings, the store of S.

Decker, established by Nathan & S. Decker, in 1845 ; R.

B, Bangs, general merchandise, established 1876
;

grist-

and saw-mill, established by John Holden, 1837, and pur-

chased by Richard Mayberry, who added a shook- and shin-

gle-mill, and in 1879, a box-factory; Chas. W. Winters,

blacksmith-shop ; a fine school-house, and a church. The

Portland Packing Company's buildings, erected in 1869,

were burned in 1878. Mails are daily by stage, between

Portland and Bolster's Mills, R. B. Bangs, postmaster.



The bubjeot of this i'k'jteAi was

born iu that part of the town of ]lay-

Mouil which now fjons the town nf'

Ciisco, in 1811. He v>u8 the sou of

Juhti auU Polly Holdea. Johu. bi»

ti'tber, was the eldest son of Joho <iiid

Sibyl Holden, and Polly, his mother,

was the eldest daughter of i)r. David

and Eimice Bay. His parents and

grandparunta were born iu Wrentham

and Wubum, Mass. His yoatb was

spent in aopiring a thorough aca-

demic education, and many winters uf

his early life were employed in teauh-

ing. In thia Tocation he was highly

BaccesBful, and hence extremely popu-

lar. Though fitted by education and

natural ability to have attained to

eminence in any calling or profession V
in life, he has oconpied himself with ^

the cnltivation and management of his

large and beaatifnl fium, near Casoo

village.

Mr. Holden has always been noted

as an upright, intelligent, liberal, and

publio-q)irited citiien, ever ready to

promote the prosperity of his native

town, and its advancement in educa-

tion, morals, and religion. He lately

rmovated and beautified the ohorch

edifice at Casco village, at a cost of

A.S. Holden .

more than one thousand dollars, and

he Wiis largely instrumental iu pro-

moting the buiidiog, in the snme

villags, of the handsomest, most com-

modious, and best-appointed ti(.-hLol-

house to be found in a circuit of many

miles.

His reputation for intelligence, ca-

pacity, and integrity has led to his

being oHien chosen to offices of public

trust. He was a member of the

Maine House of Representatives in

1843 and in 1865, of the State

Senate in 1845-46, and of the Ex-

ecutive Council in 1856. So long

as he could be induced to bear the

burden, the municipal affiiirs of the

town were confined almost exclusively

to his care ; his feUow-citiiens resting

assured that, so long as their business

was under his management, the best

thing would always be done in the

beat manner.

Mr. Holden has always been in easy

circumstances, and has managed his

]>riTate business with shrewdness and

tjict. He is unmarried. Few persons

have earned or enjoyed more universal

respect and good-will among his towns-

men or the public generally than has

Mr. Holden.

RESIDENCE.af HON. A. S . HOLDEN , CASCO, ME.
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WEBBS MILLS,

between Great Rattlesnake and Dumpling Ponds, was a mill

settlement previous to 1850, its products finding an easy

outlet by way of Panther's Pond and Jordan Bay. The
place occupies high ground, between hills, and contains a

fine large school-house, erected for joint use as school- house

and church; the store of S. S. Browne, established 1859
;

hardware-store of J. H. Sawyer, established 1872 ; Tripp

& Co.'s axe-handle factory, with a capacity of 30,000 to 35,-

000 handles annually, established 1865
; shook- and stave-

mill of J. F. Strout, establbhed 1873 ; M. F. Winslow, grist-

and shingle-mill, established by John Small as a merchant-

mill, and reduced because of the small production of grain.

Mails are tri-weekly to Mechanics' Falls and Bolster's

Mills, alternately, by stage ; S. S. Brown, postmaster. A
mile east is David Duran & Co.'s stave- and shock-mill,

established 1860.

SOUTH CASCO

comprises a cluster of dwellings around the Hawthorne

Church, in Raymond, and half a mile distant, in Casco, a

hamlet of 16 buildings, including the clothing-manufactory

of F. A. Dingley, established 1859, and employing 50

operatives, many of whom receive the work at their homes
;

the store of William Dingley, Jr., in the same building ; S.

C. Watkins' wagon- and smith-shop, established 1877 ; and

South Casco Post-Office, Wm. Dingley, Jr., postmaster.

CIVIL HISTORY.

The first town election of Casco was held at the Friends'

meeting-house, March 30, 1841. Daniel M. Cook was

chosen moderator of the meeting ; Alpheus S. Holden was

elected Town Clerk ; Isaiah Gould, Richard Cook, Fred-

erick Nutting, Selectmen, Assessors, and Overseers of the

Poor ; William Cook, Treasurer ; Stephen Cook, Collector

and Constable ; James Webb, Stephen Ball, Isaiah Wins-

low, Daniel Barton, William Jordan, James Knight, Zach-

ariah Cook, Stephen Cook, George Strout, John Ring,

Nathan Mayfield, Job Mitchell, Clark Watkins, Mark

Dingley, Peter GrafFam, James Hobson, and John Holden,

Surveyors of Highways ; Obadiah Q. Cook, Johnson W.
Knight, John Small, Ebenezer Buzzell, Solomon Mayberry,

Geo. W. Dingley, Surveyors of Lumber, Wood, and Bark

;

Obadiah G. Cook, Ebenezer Buzzell, Isaiah Gt)uld, School

Committee. Six hundred dollars were voted to pay town

chaises, $700 for highways, and the full amount allowed

by law for schools. The following is a list of the principal

town officers

:

SELECTMEN.

I81I.—Isaiah Gould, Richard Cook, Fredericlt Nutting.

1842.—Potter J. Mayberry, James Knight, Daniel M. Cook.

1843-44.—William Webb, Isaiah Gould, George W. Dingley.

1845.—William Webb, Levi Holden, Daniel Murch.

1846.—Isaiah Gould, George W. Dingley, John Small.

1847.—William Webb, Frederick Nutting, Levi Holden.

1848.—Isaiah Gould, Potter J. Mayberry, Daniel Walker.

1849.—Alpheus S. Holden, Potter J. Mayberry, Lewis Gay.

1850.—Richard Mayberry, Aaron B. Holden, William Maifield.

1851.—Alpheus S. Holden, Anson Jordan, William Dingley, Jr.

1852.—Alpheus S. Holden, William Rolf, William Dingley, Jr.

1853.—William Rolf, William Dingley, Jr., Aaron B. Uolden.

1854.—Alpheus S. Holden, William Rolf, John C. Jacques.

1855.—William Dingley, Jr.. Spencer Decker, David Durau.

1856.—.Alpheus S. Holden, Lewis Gay, Potter J. Mayberry.

1857.—Richard M. Webb, Lewis Gay, Oliver JL Cook.

1858-59.—Spencer Decker, David Duran, William Dingley, Jr.

1860-61.—Daniel M. Cook, Potter J. Mayberry, Aaron Mann.

1862.—Potter J. Mayberry, Samuel S. Browne, William Hall.

1863.—Daniel M. Cook. Aaron Mann, John Small.

1864.—Spencer Decker, Elmer Brown, James Chute (2d).

1865.—Daniel M. Cook, Benjamin C. Gay, William H. Hodgdon.

1866.—Daniel M. Cook, KImer Brown, William Dingley, Jr.

1867.—Daniel M. Cook, David Duran, Andrew Libby.

1868.—Albion Cobb, James H. Lombard, Benjamin C. Gay.

1869-70.—Richard Cook, Jr., Potter J. Mayberry, Wm. Dingley, Jr.

1871.—Potter J. Mayberry, Andrew R. Gay, Samuel S. Browne.

1872.—Samuel S. Browne, Alpheus S. Holden, Lewis Gay.

1873.—William M. Cook, David Duran, Andrew R. Gay.

1874-76.—William M. Cook, David Duran, Fred. A. Dingley.

1877.—Samuel S. Browne, Solomon M. Gay, Addison Shaw.

1878.—David Duran, William Dingley, Jr., Joshua C. Cook.

1879.—Spencer Decker, Josiuh Webb, John H. Sawyer.

TOWN CLERKS.

Alpheus S. Holden, 1841-45; Richard M.Webb, 1846-47; Daniel M.

Cook, 1848-54; Moses S. Eastman, 1855-57; Daniel M. Cook,

1858-61 ; Moses S. Eastman, 1862-63 ; William F. Cook, 1864
;

Lyman W, Holden, 1865; William F. Cook, 1866-67; Lyman

W. Holden, 1868-73; Edwin A. Barton, 1874-76; George F.

McQuillan, 1877; Edwin A. Barton, 1878; Lyman W. Holden,

1879.

TREASURERS.

William Cook, 1841; Levi Holden, 1842; Barclay Wight, 1S43;

Obadiah G. Cook, 1844; Barclay Wight, 1845; Potter J. May-

berry, 1846 ; James Knight, 1847 ; James J. Knight, 1848-50 ;
•

Aaron B. Holden, 1851-53 ; Moses S. Eastman, 1S54 ; Richard

Mayberry, 1855 ; Clark Stone, 1856; Richard Mayberry, 1857-59
;

Alpheus S. Holden, 1860; Samuel S. Browne, 1861; Spencer

Decker, 1862; Alpheus S. Holden, 1863; Richard Mayberry,

1864; EpUraim Brown, 1865; Richard Mayberry, 1866-67;

Lewis W. Houghton, 1868; William F. Cook, 1869-70; Alpheus

S. Holden, 1871; William F. Cook, 1872-76; Daniel C. Smith,

1877-79.

COLLECTORS AND CONSTABLES.

Stephen Cook, 1841; Levi Holden, 1842; Barclay Wight, 1843;

Obadiah G. Cook, 1844; Barclay Wight, 1845; Jacob P. AVat-

kins, Richard Mayberry (vacancy), 1846 ; Richard Mayberry,

1847-49 ; Obadiah G. Cook, Moses S. Eastman, 1850 ; Edward
Mayberry, 1851 ; John Cook, 1852-55; Richard Mayberry, 1856;

Luther Edwards, Daniel M. Cook (vacancy), 1857 ; John Small,

1858; Freedom Chute, 1859; Lewis Gay, 1860; Cyrus K. Holden,

1861; Lewis Gay, 1862-64; Benjamin C. Gay, 1865-66; Ben-

jamin F. Cook, 1867 ; Edwin A. Barton, 1868-69 ; Lewis Gay,

1870; Clark N. Maxfleld, 1871-72; Nathan C. Pinkham, 1873-

74; Clark N. Maxfield, 1375-77; R. C. Gay, 1878-79.

CHTJECHES.

SOCIETY OP FRIENDS.

Obadiah Gould, the first member of the Society of

Friends, came to Raymond in 1801. Meetings were held

in the neighborhood now known as " Quaker Hill," at the

houses of Mr. Gould and Daniel and Elijah Cook,.who

were also members of the monthly meeting at Windham as

early as 1811. The present meeeing-house was built near

the house of Daniel Cook, south of Casco village, in 1814.

Ephraim Cook also joined the meeting. The younger

members have become scattered through the surrounding

country, but meetings are still held. The members belong

to the society organization at Windham. Isaiah Gould
succeeded his fiithcr, Obadiah Gould, as clerk in 1826, and

was succeeded by William Hall, present clerk, in 1864.
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THE TEEE-WILL BAPTIST CHURCH

was oiganized in Casco, Dec. 10, 1827, with 12 memben,

Ichabod M. Ghiy and wife, Hezekiah Cook and wife, Dan-

iel Mayberry and wife, Lewis Qaj and wife, Nathaniel

Stront, Peter Staples, Jr., Mary Proctor, and Sarah Cook.

Hezekiah Cook and Ichabod M. Oay were the first dea-

cons. The oharch was organized by Revs. Zachariah

Leach and Zachariah Jordan. Rev. Joseph White was

made pastor in 1833, and Joseph Phinney, 1844. Peter

Staple was ordained in the " Gtiy meeting-house" in Casco,

on the site of the " old Western Charch of Raymond," Sept.

23, 1834, and was pastor three years. The meeting-house

was finished afterwards, and dedicated Nov. 17, 1836, by

Rev. John Stevens, of Limington. Rev. Austin Wheelon

and Rev. T. D. Bnmham held revival meetings in 1839,

and were succeeded by Revs. Almon Libby and J. H.

Phinney in 1840, Daniel Clay, 1842-43, and H. Chandler,

1848. Clerks : Peter Staples to 1833 ; S. D. Bnmham,
1834-43 ; John Cook, 1843-58.

The old building has been abandoned since 1865, and is

falling into decay. A reorganization of the society was

effected by Rev. John Pinkham, Sept. 12, 1876, and Colby

Jordan was made clerk, Josiah Winslow and Stephen S.

Welch, deacons. John D. Spiller and wife, James E.

Tripp and wife, Alonzo Small and wife were leading mem-

bers. Present membership, 17. Meetings are held in

Webb's Mills school-house.

THE CONOREGATIONALIST CHURCH OF RAYMOND

was organized in Casco at the house of John Cash, Dec.

23, 1813. The first members were Keziab Cash, Christian

Stront,- Elie Cash, Regia Duran, Martha Brigham, John

Cash and son, Louis Gay, Prince Stront, Levi Brigham,

and Samuel Duran. Rev. Jacob Hcrrick was first pastor,

Deacon Levi Brigham, clerk, Samuel Duran, deacon. Na-

thaniel Cash was made deacon in 1852. A church library

was established in 1825 by the Rev. Elliott Kellogg. Rev. T.

P. Richardson was made pastor in 1834, D. Shepley, 1857.

A new organization was effected at Casco village, Sept. 19,

1864. Moses S. Eastman was chosen clerk ; Rev. T. T.

Mnrry, E. M. Wight, and M. S. Eastman were chosen com-

mittee to revise the creed ; Tarbel Moors, treasurer ; Rich-

ard Mayberry and E. M. Wight, deacons. Rev. T. T.

Murry was succeeded as pastor by Rev. Leonard Green

(1866), Rev. Geoige F. Tewksbuiy, B. H. Osgood, L. C.

Mann, E. R. Osgood. Services are held in the Union

church, Casco village.

UETHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

A class was formed at Webb's Mills in 1844, with Levi

Small, leader, and Barclay Wight, recording steward. Oli-

ver Mayberry and wife, Amos Jordan and wife, Joseph,

Olive, and Betsey Wight, Anna Ricker, Joseph and Mary

Strout, and Betsey Small were members. Meetings are

held in the Webb's Mills school-house. Rev. T. J. True

has been pastor since 1878. This class is a part of the

Raymond chai^.
SCHOOLS.

The school fund was divided by the act of incorporation,

and the town oierk, selectmen, and treasurer were made an '

ex-offieio board for its future management. Eleven school

districts were organized in 1845, and additional school-

houses erected. In 1878 the school property, consisting

of five good and three inferior school-houses, in eight dis-

tricts was Vidued at $4000. The town contained 333

school-children, of whom 212 attended school. School

superintendent for 1879, Augustus Mann.

ASSOCIATIONS.

INDEPENDENT ORDER OF GOOD TEMPLARS.

Pleasant Pond Lodge, No. 168, organized July 23,

1878, with Augustus JB. Mann, W. C. T. ; Lizzie Jipson,

W. V. T. ; Frank H. Mayberry, W. Sec. ; James M. East-

man, F. See. ; James Jipson, Treas. ; Charles W. Winters,

Marshal ; Richard Mayberry, Chap. ; Joseph Beatty, P. W.

C. T. Officers 1879 : Joseph Beatty, W. C. T. ; Lizzie Jip-

son, W. V. T. ; Hattie R. Mayberry, W. Sec. ; John W.

Beatty, Rec. Sec. ; George W. Burges, Treas. ; Charles W.

Winters, W. M. ; Richard Mayberry, Chap. Meet at Casco

village.

SOUTH CASCO TEMPERANCE REFORM CLUB.

Organized Nov. 3, 1875. Andrew R. Gay, Pres. ; Daniel

Lombard, Vice-President ; Llewellyn Welch, Sec. 1879,

Hezekiah Lombard, President ; William M. Mitchell, Sec.

Meetings are held in the Hawthorne House, Raymond.

MERCHANTS, ETC.

Past merchants of Casco havfe been Joseph Brown, 1840

-50; Levi Holden, 1830-45 ;-Holden & Mayberry, Ed-

ward Mayberry, 1853 ; M. S. Eastman, 1852-65. William

Webb, 1847 ; Jordan & Webb, Anson Jordan, 1852-60

;

Randall Barton, 1861; David Duran, 1867; Webb &
Browne, 8. S. Browne, Webb's Mills. William Rolf, 1847

-56; Otis Watkins, 1847; Dingley & Watkins, 1851;

William Dingley, Jr., 1867-79, South Casco.

PHYSICIANS.

Dr. Joseph Wight, 1796-1848; Dr. John Eastman,

1827-54 ; Dr. Pascall Ingalls, Dr. B. M. Wight, 1864
;

Cyrus K. Bowker, 1857-64 ; Dr. Albion Cobb, 1868-79

;

Charles H. Young, 1868-79.

(reorge F. McQuillan, 1874, Lawyer.

Among the leading men of Casco, are Andrew Libby,

Alpheus Holden, Richard Mayberry, Isaiah Gould, Clark

N. Maxfield, Potter Mayberry, Lyman W. Holden, Capt.

John Small, David Duran, and Samuel S. Browne.

MILITABY.

SOLDIERS OF THE REVOLUTION.

Dr. Joseph Wight, surgeon ; Capt. Richard Mayberry

and his son, William Mayberry, who served him as waiter,

and was with him at the battle of Bunker Hill.

WAR OF 1812.

James Jordan, Samuel Dingley, William Cbane, Peter

Graffam, Peter Skinner, Louis Hancock, David Decker,

Ephraim Brown, John Nash, James Welch, Jr.
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

DAVID DDRAN,

son of Nathaniel and Mary Duran, was born in the town of

Casco, Cumberland Co., Me., in 1823. His boyhood was
spent on the farm and attending school. Upon reaching

his majority he took charge of his father's farm, and the

^O-'i/nt^
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care of his aged parents. In the year 1846 he married

Adeline Gerry, of Cumberland County. They have a son

and daughter. Mr. Duran has ever been interested in local

and State politics. In the year 1855 he was elected a

selectman, and served nine years. In 1868 he was elected

to the Legislature, and served one term. In 1877 he was

elected State Senator, and re-elected to that office in 1878

and 1879. Mr. Duran is a Kepublican in politics, and is

prominently identified with the orders of Masonry, Odd-

Fellows, and Knights of Pythias.

RICHARD MAYBERRY,

son of Daniel Mayberry, of Windham, was born in the town

of Casco (then Raymond) in the year 1811. His minority

was spent at home on the farm and in lumbering. For ten

years after reaching his majority he followed peddling on

the road. He then purchased a farm, upon which he now

resides. In 1844 he married Catharine M, Knight, of

Otisfield. Their children are Florence J., Cyrus C., and

Frank P. He was one of the organizers of the Republican

party in his vicinity, and has taken a somewhat active part

in politics. In 1843 he was appointed deputy sherifiF by

N. L. Woodbury, and held the office for ten years, and

during that time he was appointed postmaster, and held the

offices of selectman, collector, and treasurer of the town.

Pliuto. by CoDant, Portlauil.

RICOAKD MAYBERRY.

In 1860 he was elected a representative of the State Legis-

lature, and held the office odq term, dischai^ing the duties

of that position to the satisfaction of hb constituents, and

with credit to himself Since that time he has been engaged

almost wholly in agricultural pursuits and in the lumber

trade. He has been a member of the Congregational Church

for many years, and is a deacon of that church.

ALBION COBB, M.D.,

was born in Westbrook, Cumberland Co., Me., Dec. 22,

1824, and was the eldest son of Asa and Nancy D. Cobb,

whose family of eight, with one exception, attained adult

age, and were noted for their scientific and literary attain-

ments. Dr. Cobb's advantages for instruction in early life

were meagre in the extreme, and were only attainable by

the most severe effort. The district school, which was his

almost sole resource, was two miles distant, over an unfre-

quented road, extremely subject to be blockaded by snow

;

yet this, and two t^rms of eleven weeks each at Westbrook

Seminary, constituted (;he whole of his school opportunities,

aside from professional teaching. His studies have been

carried on without instructors or assistance of any kind, yet

in knowledge of ancient and modern languages, natural

science and literature, few persons, even with the advan-

tages of a university education, excel him. He began the

study of medicine in August, 1847, and graduated from the

Medical School of Maine, at Bowdoin College, in the class

of 1851, having in the mean time attended one term at the

Medical Department of the University of New York. In

May, 1852, he began the practice of his profession at Bol-

ster's Mills, in the town of Harrison, Me., where he remained

in active practice for over seven years, when, after having
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spent a little over a year in his native town, he removed to

Webb's Mills, in the town of Casco, where he has since

resided. In 1862 he entered the army as assistant sur-

geon of the 4th Maine Volunteers, and had usually the sole

medical and surgical charge of the regiment till he was

mustered out with it in July, 1864. In November, 1863,

at Bristow Station, Va., he received a severe wound, from

which he is still disabled. From August, 1864, till June,

1865, he was acting assistant surgeon United States Army,

and stationed at Harewood Hospital, near Washington, D. C.

In November, 1851, he married Miss Louise A. Stockman,

daughter of Mr. Robert Stockman, of Poland, Me. He
has now living four sons, viz., Albion E. Cobb, M.D., a

graduate of Dartmouth College Medical School, now prac-

ticing medicine at North Windham; Carolus M. Cobb,

engaged in teaching ; and Ernest 0. Cobb and Anson A.

Cobb, who, though still boys, have attained a good reputa-

tion as scholars. Mrs. Cobb, wife of the doctor, has for

many years been employed in teaching, in which profession

she b eminently successful, having taught more than fifty

t«rms of school, and winning, in every instance, the highest

approbation.

CUMBERLAND.

INCOEPOEATION AND BOUNDAEIES.

The town of Cumberland was incorporated by an act of

the Legislature of Maine, dividing the town of North Yar-

mouth, passed March 19th and approved March 28, 1821.

The new town included all the lands lying to the eastward

of a line beginning at the sea-shore at the southeast corner

of the John Dabney &nn, granted in 1735, on the divid-

ing line between the lands of Alexander Barr and Reuben

Loring, and extending northerly to the southeast comer of

120-acre lot 1; north, 26° west on the lot lines to the

north comer of lot 5 ; south, 65° west on the line between

lots 5 and 6, crossing lot 6 and following the south line of

lot 7 to Its south corner ; following the western line of the

120-acre divisions west of Royal River north, 26° west

to the gore annexed in 1734 ; following the original town

line south, 64° west to the easterly comer of 450-acre

squadjon No. 2, and northwest to the Gray line, together

with all the islands belonging to North Yarmouth, except

Cousin's, Little John's, Lane's, Great and Little Mosier's.

All persons dwelling on lands joining the division line were

granted the liberty to elect in which town they should

belong, with their lands, within ninety days of the passage

of the act. From this privilege there resulted a long series

of petitions and transfers from one town to the other. The

town is eight miles long and three miles wide. It is bounded

on the northeast by North Yarmouth and Yarmouth, on the

southeast by Casco Bay, on the southwest by Falmouth, and

on the northwest by Gray. The islands belonging to the

town are Great Chebeague, Crotch, Broken Cave, Hope,

Smooth Clapboard, Basket, Bates, Ministerial, Stove, Bangs,

Sturdivant, G^oose, Crow, Sand, and Jewell's Islands.

BABLT SETTLEMENT.

John Phillips, a native of Wales, was the first settler in

the town of Cumberland, on a point of land fifty feet above

the mussel-beds which line the shore projecting from the

hard, half-bared hills which rise a quarter of a mile farther

inland. A beautiful stream finds its way through from the

level meadows nine miles farther back, and falls in a series

of cascades from the projecting land into the little cove.

Here he erected a stone house, or garrison, and traded with

the Indians. He sold his garrison to George Felt, of Mai-

den, Mass., in 1640. Mr. Felt- made his home here, and in

1643 completed his title by repurchase of Thomas Gorges.

He had two sons bom here, G«orge, who was killed by the

Indians on Munjoy's Isl^d in 1676, and Moses, who was

bom here in li550, and removed to Chelsea about 1733.

Mr. Felt returned to Maiden, after the Indian outbreak of

1676, at the age of seventy-six years. C^P'- Walter Gen-

dall lived near the shore, next the Falmouth line, as early

as 1665. John Plaice bought a piece of land between

Gendall and Felt extending north to the creek. HU deed,

dated Nov. 12, 1670, says, "joining John Koleman." These

titles were lost, or merged in the general confusion attend-

ant upon the Indian outbreak of 1676. Capt. Gendall,

the first to return after the peace of 1678, built a strong

house of heavy timbers, loop-holed for defense, and calcu-

lated to withstand the assault of the savage foe if occasion

should again require. Displaying an intrepid bravery and

keen business faculties, Capt. Gendall was made the chief

of a committee, appointed by order of Thomas Danforth,

Esq., president, Sept. 22, 1680, to determine the place of

resettlement, and lay out homes for settlers in a manner

most capable of defense against any future Indian out-

break. In 1681, Anthony Bracket and Geoi^ Pearson

were appointed to lay out for him, near to the Falmouth

line, " where he had builded a house and begun a planta-

tion,'' a farm not to exceed 200 acres. In those days there

was more variation of chain than of compass, liberal allowance

being made for bad lands, hills, and bogs. With the 200-

acre school lot, an eighth of a mile north, as a basis, this

tract, running beyond Duck Cove, must have contained

about 500 acres. The main settlement on Royal River

furnished what employment there was aside from the slow

work of clearing land. Capt. Gendall was engaged in saw-

ing lumber at the falls from 1681 until he lost his life in
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Capt. Joseph Blaitchabd was born in the town of Cum-

berland, on the farm where he now resides, June 17, 1803. He

is the youngest child of Nathaniel and Christian (Loring)

Blanchard, natives of Cumberland County. The Blanchards

are of French and the Lorings of English descent. His

father followed the sea the greater part of his life, and was

drowned, at the age of fifty-eight years, at Jewel's Island.

CapU Joseph Blanchard received a good common-school

education, and at the age of fourteen went to sea, with bis

brother Nathaniel, aboard the coasting schooner " Telegraph."

After four years he became second mate of the vessel for one

year, two years first mate of the brig " Echo," and then as cap-

Uin of the vessel he made a trip from Portland to Charleston

;

thence with a load of rice to Cowcs, on the Isle of Wight, for

orders ; thence to Antwerp.

Upon his return he made a trip with the brig " Eebecca" to

Trinidad, Isle of Cuba, followed by two voyages in the brig

" Catherine" to Europe. His next trip was with the brig

" Echo" to Havana. On his return he was wrecked on Cape

Cod, near the Highland Lights, with a toUl loss of the vessel,

cargo, and one man. For nine years he ran the brig

" Freighter" to Point Peter, Guadeloupe, followed by two

trips to Europe. "With the ship "John Cadmus" he made

four voyages to Europe and two coast voyages, followed by

two voyages in the " Freighter" to Guadeloupe, and two

voyages in the ship " John Cadmus" to Europe. He next

made four voyages to the West Indies, and one coast voyage

in the bark " Agnes." He made one trip to France in the

ship " Helen Augustus" during the famine in Ireland. He

made two voyages to Europe in the ship " Element,' ' during

which time he contracted to build the ship " Cornelia," and

upon his return with the " Element" he took charge of the

ship " CorneUa," and sailed her eight years to Europe. He

made a sail from Gun Key Light-House, near Havana, to

Boston in five days with his ship " Cornelia." He also had

charge of the " Vincennes" for one trip to Point Peter. He

built the ship " United States," commanded her two voyages,

then chartered her in London for the East Indies, and put

aboard as captain his cousin, John I). Blanchard, who made
a successful voyage. Capt. Blanchard returned home, and

with the ship " Cornelia" made three trips to Europe. At
this time the Rebellion broke out, and he retired from a sea-

faring life, putting Adam Woodside aboard his vessel as

captain.

Since he retired from the sea he has taken charge of the old

farm formerly occupied" by his father in the town of Cum-
berland, and enjoys the quiet of life on terra-firma sur-

rounded by his mahy friends, although he is still interested

in navigation. He has been little connected with local matters

at home, but has devoted nearly his whole time to the interests

of navigation. His success as a business man has given him
rank among the strong financiers of the couKty. He is a

stockholder in the Merchants' Bank, Portland. He is said to

have made more trips to the West Indies than any other sea-

going man in Maine, having made eighty-four, being on the

sea for upwards of forty years, during which time he made
thirty voyages to Europe.-

His many visits to foreign countries have made him familiar

with the customs and language of other nations, and partic-

ularly in the French he is a ready and fluent conversation-

alist.

Capt. Blanchard is a man of r«markably fine physique, socia-

ble, and he possesses that resolution and force of character to

carry forward to a successfiil completion whatever he con-

ceives to be for his benefit. He married, on Oct. 4, 1820, Al-

bertine Prince, of Cumberland. Their children living are

Helen, Sarah F., wife of Eoyal W. Doughty, of Boston,

Henrietta, and James A.

In politics Capt. Blanchard formerly belonged to the Whig
party, and upon the formation of the Bepublican party became
a staunch supporter of its principles. He is a supporter of

church and charitable interests.
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CAPT. REUBEN BLANCHARD,

son of Beza and Prudence (Rideout) Blanchard,

was bom in the town of Cumberland, Aug. 24,

1794. He is the eldest in a family of twelve chil-

dren, seven of whom are living in 1879.

He spent his youth at home until he was eigh-

teen years of age, when he went to sea, first as

a common sailor. In 1821 he took charge of a

schooner in the coasting trade, which he com-

manded for two years. He then became one of

four persons in building the brig "Morgiana,"

which, after its completion, he commanded in the

European trade. He had charge of this vessel for

four years, during which time he made two trips

to the West Indies. For a time he sailed alter-

nately to Europe and the West Indies. In 1845

he made a voyage to South America, and in the

latter part of the same year he commanded the

ship "Blanchard," of Yarmouth, and lost her on

the coast of Virginia. He was shipwrecked in the

first vessel he commanded (" The Union"), and, of

the eleven on board, all were lost but himself and

the mate. Upon his return from South America

he retired from the sea and settled on the farm

where he now resides.

Feb. 15, 1821, he married Christiana, daughter

of Solomon Loring, of North Yarmouth. Their

children are Enos O., Horatio S., Frederick P.,

and Francis W.,—all living.

Since his retirement from the sea, Capt. Blanch-

ard has interested himself in local and State mat-

ters, and taken an active part in religious and

kindred interests. He was selectman of the town

of Cumberland for four years, and in 1853 repre-

sented it in the Legislature.

Both he and his wife are members of the Con-

gregational Church of Cumberland, and he has

been a supporter of church and town interests for

sixty-three years. In 1871, Captain and Mrs.

Blanchard celebrated their golden wedding, an

event seldom occurring in the history of married life.
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1688, while heroically relieving a besieged band of his

workmen. The settlement was soon after abandoned.

Benj. Larrabee sold to Henry Bibber 100 acres of land,

with ten rods front on Broad Cove, in 1712; but, like

other titles of that day, it appears to have had no real value.

Persons began to return and occupy lands soon after,

awaiting their chances to obtain some definite title.

In 1723, William Scales (son of William Scales, who was

killed in 1678) had re-occupied Scales' Point on Broad

Cove, and erected a strong garrison for the defense of him-

self, James Buxton, Matthew Scales, Joseph Felt, Francis

Wyman, and James Niccols. The same year a petition was

presented to the General Court, asking for soldiers to defend

the garrison. William Scales, Jr., father of Deacon Thomas

and Matthew Scales, was killed on the Scales farm (lot 59,

Broad Cove) ; Joseph Felt was killed at Boyal Eiver

soon after, and his family taken captives. The Indians had

hoped to surprise the settlement. One of them remarked

to Mrs. Felt, after her capture, "Husband much tough

man ! shot good many times,—no die I Take scalp off alive

;

then take knife, and cut neck long 'round !" He also told

her how he lay beside the fence upon which she stood, while

pouring feed to her hogs, some days before. Capt. Peter

Weare recovered the family four years after.* Joe Weare,

his son, grew up with a deadly enmity against the savages,

which afterwards made him famous as an Indian scout and

fighter.

The Grendall farm was regranted to John Smith, of Bos-

ton. John Powell built a saw-mill at the falls (now known

as Felt's Falls), near the old stone fort of Mr. Phillips.

Previous to the laying out of lots by Phinehas Jones, in

1732, a school-lot and two farms for John Powell and John

Dabney had been preserved on Broad Cove, comprising the

farms now occupied by W. Russell and S. Loring. The

balance of the coast, except the Gendall farm, had been

laid out in lots of ten acres each by Capt. Jeremiah Moulton

and Benj. Flagg; those back to, and including the Grand

Trunk Railroad, containing more land, because of poorer

quality, and back from the shore. The main part of the

town is comprised in the " one-huudred-acre lots west of

Royall's River," laid out by Phinehas Jones in 1732, and

drawn June 20, 1733. Five of these ranges of lots run

nearly the length of the town, and are divided by three

roads, the first of which, to the southward, was opened in

1761.

In the drawing the former proprietors were first allowed

to select lots ; the remaining names were then put into a

hat ; the remaining numbers into another hat, the drawers

pledged to the authority of the committee. The number

following each name in the drawing was the number of the

lot so chosen.'l'

BcnjnmiD Prince* 80

John Uolinan't' 72

Samuel Smith 27

Thomas DoggetO 32

Thomas Crutt« 48

George Monk* 56

* Capt. Weare was a son-in-law of Mr. Felt.

f The first column of figures gives the uuujber of the one-hunilred-

acre lots, the second of the home or ten-acre lots. Names marked

with a star (*) became settlers, those marked with a dagger (|) were

former settlers or their descendants.

n

1
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used as weapons, the inhabitants took an old sloop and

started outside. Passing Deer's Point, Chebeague, the two

boys were found in the small boat of the " Rhoda" and

taken aboard. About eleven o'clock the night before, a

boat from an English cruiser had slipped' the cable and

taken them off. The boys had overheard the mention of

Monhegan. Steering for that place, by a pretended acci-

dent they ran into the prize, boarded her, and set sail for

home. Falling in with a large English schooner off Sequin,

the next morning, they captured her and proceeded to Port-

land, where they exchanged their prize for the more-needed

snbstantials of life.

GKEAT CHEBEAGTJE ISLAND

contains 1800 acres of land. The first sale was from Mr.

Rigby, an English proprietor, to Walter Merry. In 1743

it was owned by the First Church of Boston, Mass. The

island is thickly settled, and supports two schools, two

churches, and the store of Simeon Hamilton, wlio is also

postmaster. Mails are received daily by Portland steam-

boat. In 1865 it was voted that the islands be a separate

ward, for general elections, but the Legislature did not ap-

prove the act.

BUSINESS INTEEESTS.

Cumberland Centre, a beautiful village of 25 dwellings,

contains also the town-house, built in 1832 ; church. Agri-

cultural Hall, and stores of Blanchard Bros., establbhed by

M. Rideont & Son ; C. H. Blanchard's post-office and

store ; Dillingham Sisters, fancy goods ; S. M. Rideout,

wagons ; B. W. True, smith. A mile distant is the Cum-

berland Depot. In the north are James Leighton's carding-

mill, built as early as 1800 ; shingle-mill ; saw-mill, built

by Geo. Hicks in 1817
;

grist- and saw-mill, H. R. Mont-

fort, built 1865. L. H. Wilson, West Cumberland, post-

master, mails daily to Falmouth ; office in the store of

Leighton & Wilson ; store opened in 1854. Poland Cor-

ners, eight miles from Portland, on lot 61, in the east of

the town, is a scattered hamlet of some 20 dwellings, cen-

tering around the site of Charles Poland's old store, opened

in 1842, and now owned by John E. Dunn, and the Cum-

berland station on the Grand Trunk Railway, J. N. Dunn

station-t^ent and postmaster.

The old burying-ground beside the church at Cumber-

land Centre is the oldest, and contains most of the early

dead, and the tomb of Eliphalet Greely, founder of Greely

Institute. That in the west, at the Methodist church, was

opened in 1814. There is another on the Falmouth line,

near the shore, and one on Chebeague Island. These are

town property, in charge of a superintendent of burying-

grounds.

TOWN-MEETING.

At the first town-meeting, held in the Congregationalist

meeting-house, Monday, April 9, 1821, David Prince, Esq.,

was chosen Moderator, and Rev. Cyrus Cummings opened

the meeting by prayer. James Prince was elected Town

Clerk, and sworn before Rev. Cyrus Cummings, Justice

of the Peace ; David Prince, William Buxton, and Beza

Blanchard were elected Selectmen, Assessors, and Overseers

of the Poor ; Capt. Ephruim Sturdivant, Treasurer ; Ammi

R. Prince, Nathaniel Sweetser, Levi Sweetser, Benjamin

Prince, John Marston, Jr., Simeon Clough, Nicholas Ride-

out, Jr., Jeremiah Shaw, John Wyman, Elijah Allen, Na-

than Titcomb, Solomon Loring, David Spear, Surveyors of

Highways ; Benjamin Sweetser, Constable ; Nathaniel

Sweetser, Collector ; David Spear, Joseph Smith, John

Clough, John Pride, Joseph W. Collins, Surveyors of

Boards and Lumber ; James Prince, Joshua Wyman, John

Blanchard, Fence-Viewers ; John D. Blanchard, Benjamin

Sweetser, Levi Sweetser, David Buxton, William Merrill, .

Jr., Andrew Leighton, Alexander Barr, Moses Stubbs,

Tything-Men ; John M. Warren, Sealer of Leather ; Jo-

seph Sturdivant, Harbor-Master. For the Island of Che-

beague,—Ambrose Hamilton, Collector and Tything-Man
;

Wentworth Ricker, Jonathan and Ambrose Hamilton,

Fence-Viewers.

CIVIL LIST.

SELECTMEN.

1821.—David Prince, William Bozton, Beza Blanchard.

1822.—William Buxton, David Prince, Beza Blanchard.

1823.—William Buxton, David Prince, Nicholas Rideout, Jr.

1824—29.—William Buxton, Nicholas Rideout, Jr., James Prince.

1830.—Nicholas Kideout, Jr., David Buxton, Tristram Sanborn.

1831-32.—Nicholas Rideout, Jr., James Prince, Tristram Sanborn.

1833.—Ephraim Sturdivant, James Prince, Tristram Sanborn.

1834.—James Prince, Ephraim Sturdivant, Moses Leighton.

1835.—James Prince, Moses Leighton, Andrews Blanchard.

1836.—James Prince, Moses Leighton, Renel Dribkwater.

1837.—Nicholas Rideout, Jr., Reuel Drinkwater, James Prince.

1838.—Tristram Sanborn, Moses Leighton, Reuben Blanchard.

1839.—Tristram Sanborn, Reuben Blanchard, Joseph Smith.

1840.—Renel Drinkwater, Joseph Smith, William Reed.

1841.—Tristram Sanborn, Reuben Blanchard, Nicholas Rideout, Jr.

1842.—Nicholas Rideout, Jr., Reuben Blanchard, James Prince.

1843.—Nicholas Rideout, Jr., Ephraim Sturdivant, James Prince.

1844—45.—Nicholas Rideout, Jr., Reuben Blanchard, James Prince.

1846.—Reuben Blanchard, Sewall Blanchard, Matthias Morton.

1847.—Sewall Blanchard, Matthias Morton, Joshua M. Rideout.

1848.—Sewall Blanchard, .Alvan Sturdivant, Joshua M. RideouL

1849.—Matthias Morton, Alvan Sturdivant, Moses Leighton.

1850.—Matthias Morton, Alvan Sturdivant, Ebenezer Hill.

1851-54.—Moses Leighton, Asa Greely, Ebenezer Hill.

1855.—Alvan Sturdivant, William Buxton, Stephen Orr.

1856-57.—Joshua M. Rideout, Nicholas L. Humphrey, Saml. Ross, Jr.

1358.—Joshua M. Rideout, Nicholas L. Humphrey, Elijah Soule.

1859-60.—Joshua M. Rideout, William L. Prince, Stephen Orr.

1861.—Moses Leighton, Robert Dyer, Ebcn Hill.

1862.—Joshua M. Rideout, Sewall Blanchard, Stephen Orr.

1863.—Robert Dyer, Asa Greely, Daniel Stowell.

1864.—Robert Dyer, Willard Clough, David Stowell.

1865.—Willard Clough, Asa Greely, Samuel Ross.

1866.—Josiah M. Rideout, Charles Wyman, Ebenezer Hill.

1867.—Josiah M. Rideout, William Russell, Samuel Ross, Jr.

1868.—William Russell, Robert H. Rogers, Samuel Ross, Jr.

1869.—William Russell, Robert H. Rogers, Donald M. Smith.

1870-71. -Nicholas L. Humphrey, Ferdinand C. Blanchard, Robert

Hamilton, Jr.

1872.- Nicholas L. Humphrey, Asa Greely, Reuben Hill.

1873.—Charles E. Herriok, WilFiam S. Blanchard, Reuben Hill.

1874.—William S. Blanchard, Asa Sawyer, Stephen B. Hamilton.

1875-76.—William S. Blanchard, Asa Sawyer, Ammi R. Littlefield.

1877-78.—Daniel R. Allen, Nelson M. Shaw, Ammi R. Littlefield.

1879.—Nelson M. Shaw, Hollis Doughty, Ammi Littlefield.

TOWN CLERKS.

James Prince, 1821-36 ; Col. Joseph Smith, 1837 ; Nicholas Rideout,

Jr., 1838-39; Reuben Rideout, 1840-41; Alvan Sturdivant,

1842-44; Daniel R. Allen, 1845; Reoben Rideout, 1846-51;

Samuel True, 1852-54; Amasa S. Sweetser, 1855-59; Daniel R.
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Capt. Epheaim .Sturdivant was born in the

town of North Yarmouth, Cumberland Co., Me.,

Feb. 14, 1782. He was third son of David A. and

Jane (Greely) Sturdivant, who were of Grerraan de-

scent bat of New England bi»-th.

Capt. Sturdivant met the usual obstacles to suc-

cess in early life with that resolution and energy

that characterized his manhood. The first twenty-

eight years of his life, beginning at the age of twelve,

were spent on the sea, and before he reached his

majority he commanded a vessel, and ever after-

wards until he retired from the sea. In 1810 he

imported a cargo of Merino sheep from Portugal,

being the first ever landed in Maine. He then set-

tled upon the farm now owned and occupied by his

widow, Mrs. Mary T. Sturdivant, whom he married

Nov. 5, 1843, she being his third wife. His first

marriage occurred Jan. 12, 1809. Of this union

were born nine children, of whom seven are living,

—Mrs. George Clark, of Virginia ; Mrs. William

Sparrow, of Peering, Me. ; Mrs. Stephen Allen, of

Hallowell, Me.; Mrs. Josiah Sawyer, of Alna, Me.;

Mrs. Joshua A. Gray; Henry, of Freeport, Me.;

and Mrs. John W. Smith, of Nagasaki, Japan.

His second marriage occurred Dec. 31, 1834, to

Dolly S. Taylor. Of this union were born four chil-

dren, two of whom are living, viz. : Mrs. Henry

Newbegin, of Defiance, Ohio, and Mrs. Walter

Wells, of Portland,

Of his third marriage, to Mary T. Greely, were

born four children,—Sumner; Mrs. Marcellus Lowe,
of Cumberland ; Mrs. John E. Dunn, of Cumber-
land ; and Clara S.

Capt. Sturdivant took an active part in local and
State legislation, and as a member of the Demo-
cratic party was a strong advocate of its principles.

He was selectman of his town for many years, and
also treasurer.

For several years he represented his town in the Leg-
islature, and for two years was State Senator. Capt.

Sturdivant was continually before the public, and
was a man of undoubted integrity, and high moral
worth. In conjunction with Judge Preble, he bought
the right of way for the Grand Trunk Eailroad.

Religiously he was a member of the Methodist Epis-

copal Church, and a liberal contributor to church
and kindred interests.

He received a limited common-school education

while young, but his life was one of constant appli-

cation and reading, and his general intelligence only
limited by his opportunities. His sound judgment
and ability was generally acknowledged, and he re-

tained the confidence of all who knew him. He
died Aug. 31, 1868.
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aOBEUT H. THOMES.

MOSES THOMES.
His father, Moses P. Thornes, was born Dec. 18, 1780,

in Gorham, Me., and was the only son of Deacon Ebenezer
Scott Thomes, who was born in Portland, and among its

pioneers.

Moses P. Thomes was a farmer by occupation. He first

married Jane Hasty. Their children were Abigail, Jane,

Ebenezer S., Joseph, Moses, Robert H., Margaret A., and
Mary.

He married, second, in 1830, Abigail, widow of Jacob

Blanchard. Of this union was bom one daught«r, Har-
riet S., wife of Albert Rideont. He was a member of the

First Congregational Church. He died March 28, 1870.

His first wife died in 1825 ; his second wife died Dec. 18,

1858.

Moses Thomes was third son of Moses P. and Jane
(Hasty) Thomes, and was bom in Cumberland, Jan. 19,

1815, to which town his parents had removed, from Scar-

borough in 1814. He received a fair education during his

minority. Has spent his life as an agriculturist, except eight

years which were spent at sea.

In December, 1845, he married Sarah A., daughter of

Benjamin Whitney, of Cumberland. She was bora in

June, 1819. In politics. Mr. Thomes, like his ancestors,

is a Democrat. He is a member of the First Methodist

Church of Cumberland.

Joseph Thomes, a brother of Moses Thomes, was bom
in Scarborough, May 10, 1812, and spent his life as a

farmer, except three years at sea. He was a supporter of

church and like interests, but never became a member of

any church. He died Sept. 19, 1876. He was never

married.

ROBERT H. THOMES.

Robert H. Thomes, fourth son of Moses P. Thomes, was

bom in Cumberland, June 16, 1817. His early life was

spent at home on the farm and at school. Upon reaching

his majority he went to Missouri, and after two years

began his joumey to the' far West, crossing the Rooky
Mountains in 1841. He was among the first to undertake

this, then, hazardous journey. On arriving at San Fran-

cisco (then nothing but commons) he engaged in building

houses and real-estate operations. In 1844 he took up

land, receiving deeds from the Mexican government which
were afterwards ratified by the United States government.

He paid particular attention to raising fine-bred horses

and cattle, and at one time owned a herd of ten thousand
cattle. He became the owner ,of twenty thousand acres of

land, and amassed a large fortune. Prior to his death,

March 26, 1878, he made large sales of his land to stock-

growers, and sold the land where the village of Tahama
(six hundred population) now is. He had no great desire

for political notoriety, and cast his vote with the Republi-

can party. He was a supporter of religious interests and of
good society. His remains are buried in Tahama Cemetery,
the spot being marked by a beautiful polished granite mon-
ument. His portrait accompanying this sketch is a contri-

bution from his sister Jane. He was never married.

OREN S. THOMES.

His father, Ebenezer Scott Thomes, son of Moses P. and
Jane (Hasty) Thomes, was born in the town of Cumber-
land in 1810, and died in 1837. He married Dolly Ride-
out, a native of the same town ; received only a common-
school education, and spent several years at sea. His wife

died in 1847, leaving an only son,—Oren S.,—who was
born May 24, 1827. His early manhood was spent with
John Blanchard, working at the carpenter and joiner's

trade. He afterwards engaged in general merchandise

trade, with the firm-name of Thomes & Blanchard, at

Cumberland Centre.

In the fall of 1877 he disposed of his interest in the

bu.sine8S to attend to the settlement of the affairs of his

uncle, Robert H., who died in California, leaving a large

estate. In 1878 he returned from California, and has since

been engaged in agricultural pursuits. He married, Jan.

15, 1861, Abbie, daughter of Levi and Elizabeth Kemp-
ton Eveleth, of New Gloucester.

Mrs. Thomes is a native of Farmington, Me., being born

Sept. 23, 1842. Tbey have two children,—Robert S. and
John B. Mr. Thomes is a Republican. Is now town
treasurer, and has been president and secretary of the

Cumberland Insurance Company for five years. He is a

member of the Congregational Church of Cumberland,

and holds the oSce-of^eacon in that church.
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Allen, 1860-61 ; Amasa S. Sweetser, 1862 ; Daniel K. Allen, 1303-
6a; David L. Blanchard, 1366; Amfua S. Sweetser, 1367-79.

TREASURERS.

Ephraim Stordirant, 1821-32; William Buxton, 1833-36; Joseph
Stardirant, 1837; Jonathan Greely, 1838-41; Ephraim Sturdi-

rant, 1842-43; Jonathan Qne]y, 1314-34; MeholttS D. Hum-
phrey, 1855-60; Willard Clongh, 1861; Xioholaa D. Humphrey,
1862; Willard Clough, 1863-67; Charles Wyman, 1863-69; Na-
thaniel L. Humphrey, 1870 ; Asa Siiwyer, 1871-73 ; Solomon T.

Merrill, 1874-77; William R.York (Lyman P. Sturdivant, va-

cancy), 1878; Orrin S. Thomes, 1879.

CONSTABLES.

Benjamin Sweetser, Jr., 1821 ; Benjamin Sweetser, Jr., Wentworth
Ricker, 1832; Benjamin Sweetser, Jr., Stephen Bennett, 1823;

Benjamin Sweetser, Jr., John Blan^hard, Wentworth Ricker,

1824; Benjamin Sweetser, Nathaniel Sweetser, Wentworth
Richer, 1825; Benjamin Sweetser, Levi Sweetser, Jonathan

Hamilton, 1826; Levi Sweetser, Jonathan Oreely, Barnewcll

Johnson, 1827; Levi Sweetser, Benjamin Sweetser, John Chnn-

dler, 1828 ; Levi Sweetser, Moses Leighton, Wentworth Ricker,

Reuben Rideont, Jr., 1829; Levi Sweetser, Jumes Hamilton,

1830 ; Reuben Rideout, Jr., Matthias Morton, Daniel Morse, 1331

;

Levi Sweetser, Daniel Morse, 1832; Levi Sweetser, Charles Hill,

18.33; Judah Chandler, Benjamin Sweetser, Jr., 1334; Benjamin

Sweetser, Charles Hill, 1835; Benjamin Sweetser, Jr., Benjamin

Mitchell, Jr., 1836-37; Joseph Waterhouse, Ebenezer Hill, 1833;

Benjamin Sweetser, Jr., Jumes Hamilton, 1839; Benjamin Sweet-

ser, Jr., Samuel Ross, Levi Sweetser, 1840; Daniel Morse, Jr.,

1841; Benjamin Sweetser, Daniel Morse, 1342; Benjamin Sweet-

ser, Daniel Morse, Jr., 1343 ; Benjamin Sweetser, Jr., Ebenezer

Hill, 1844-46 ; Benjamin Sweetser, Jr., James Hamilton, 1347;

Benjamin Sweetser, Daniel Morse, Jr., 1848 ; Joel Prince, Jr.,

William Littlefield, 1 349-50 ; Joel Prince, Jr., Jacob Sawyer, 1351-

52 ; Joel Prince, Jr., James Hamilton, 1353 ; William Clough,

Jacob Sawyer, 1854; William D. Sweetser, Albert Worden, 1855;

William D. Sweetser, James M. Hamilton, 1356; Reuben Ride-

out, Samuel N. Bracket!, 1857; Reuben Rideout, Robert Ham-
ilton, 1858-59; Reuben Rideout, Robert Hamilton, 1860; Wil-

liurd Clough, William Bennett, 1861; Reuben Rideout, William

T. LiUleBeld, 1862; Willard Clough, Isaac Stroat, 1863; Reuben

Rideout, William T. Littlefield, 1364 ; Levi Luf kin, William T.

Littlefield, 1865 ; Reuben Hideout, William T. Littlefield, 1366;

Levi Lufkin, Horace Henley, 1867; Levi Luf kin, James John-

ion, 1868-70; William S. Blancbard, John A.Hamilton, 1871-

72; Levi Lof kin, John A. Hamilton, 1873-79.

COLLECTORS.

Nathan Sweetser, 1821-22 ; William Reed, Jr., 1823 ; Levi Sweetser,

1824-25; Zenas Prince, 1826; Levi Sweetser, 1827-28; George

Hicks, Jr., 1829; Bezn Bhinchard, 1830 ; Zenos Prince, 1831-32;

Simeon Clough, 1833; Zachariah Field, Jr., 1834; Simeon

Clough, 1335; Levi Sweetser, 1336-'37; Joseph Waterhouse,

1838; George Hicks,* 1839; Levi Clough, 1840; Beta Blanch-

ard, 1841; Charles Poland, 1342-45; Willard Clough, 1346;

Robert Leighton, 1847—48 ; Reuben Blanchard, 1849-52 ; Samuel

True, 1853-60; Willard Clough, 1S61 ; Samuel True, 1862; Jo-

* George Hicks died at Cumberland, on Sunday morning, Sept. 21,

1879, at the age of ninety-nine years and seven months. If he had

lived till February next he would have completed his century of life.

He had for many years been the patriarch of the whole community,

easily remembering a time when not a living inhabitant of the town

was born. His powers of mind and of bjdy were wonderfully pre-

served, excepting only that his hearing of late years has been im -

paired. He was remarkably straight and wonderfully vigorous, easily

reading without glasses. His whole life, or nearly all of it, had been

spent in Cumberland. He was a very industrious and a strictly up-

right man in all bis dealings,—a kind friend and obliging neighbor.

He served for some time as a fifer in the war of 1812, and was a pen-

sioner at the time of his death. A short time before his death a

friend said to him, " I hope you will live to be a hundred." Mr.

Hicks replied, ''I don't think I shall; 1 do not wish it."

seph M. Drinkwuter, 1363-65; Samuel A. Sweetser, 1300-70;

Asa Sawyer, 1871; Charles M. Farwell, 1872-73; Alvan Leigh-

ton, 1874-70; Charles M. Farwell, 1877; Charles E. llcrrick,

1878-79.

SPECIAL COLLECTORS FOR GREAT CHEBEAO0E AND THE

ISLANDS.

Ambrose Hamilton, 1821; Stephen Bennett, 1323; Alexander Barr,

1824; Joel Ricker, 1823; John Hamilton, Jr., 1829: James

Mitchell, Jr., 1830 ; Enoch Littlefield, 1333; Richard Hutchin-

son, 1834; Judnh Chandler, 1335; Richard Hutchinson, 1336

-33 and 1839; Ebenezer Hill, 1843-44 and 1S47; Stephen Orr,

1852; James M. Hamilton, 1356.

CHURCHES.

THE SECOND CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH IN NORTH

YARMOUTH,

now the Congregational Church of Camberlaod, was or-

ganized at the house of Mr. Betlmel Wood, Sept. 8, 1793.

It was recognized by an ecclesiastical council, Nov. 27,

1793. The original members were Ozias Blanchard, Ben-

jamin Buxton, David Prince, Thomas Pratt, Joab Black,

Stephen Harris, Asa Chase, Bethuel Wood, Jeremiah

Blanchard, Samuel York, William Sweetser, Samuel Baker,

Jr., William Blanchard, James Prince, Samuel Bacon,

Nathaniel Lufkin, John Shaw, William Hamilton, Nathan-

iel Blanchard, Jr., Eliah Mitchell.

A " Mr. Gregg"—probably Rev. William Gregg—and

a Rev. " Mr. Porter"—probably Rev. Nathaniel Porter

—

preached here for a short time, and Rev. Rufus Anderson

for some time before the organization of the church. Rev.

Rufus Anderson was pastor from Oct. 22, 1794, to Oct. 1,

1804; Rev. Amasa Smith, from Oct. 22, 1806, to May 1,

1820 ; Rev. Samuel Stone, from May 9, 1821, to Nov. 21,

1829; Rev. Isaac Weston, from Oct. 20, 1830, to June

10, 1840; Rev. Joseph Blake, from March 3, 1841, to

April 18, 1859 ; Rev. Ebenezer Jordan, acting pastor from

Sept. 15, 1859, to May, 1870 ; Rev. Uriah Small, acting

pastor from April, 1870, to April, 1871 ; Rev. Gilbert B.

Richardson, from Aug. 27, 1871, to April 22, 1874; Rev.

Freeman S. Perry, acting pastor from July 26, 1874, to

the present time.

Deacons.—William Sweetser, Asa Chase, Jeremiah

Blanchard, David Prince, Salathiel Sweetser, Levi Sweet-

ser, Nicholas Rideout, Jr., Reuben Rideout, Nicholas L.

Humphrey, Benjamin B. Sweetser,f Rufus Sweetser, Ezra

K. Sweet8er,f Oren S. Thomes.f

The present members number 136.

The first meeting-house was built daring the summer of

1792, but was not entirely finished until the summer of

1798. The date of dedication is not known.

The second meeting-house, nearly on the site of the first,

was dedicated Nov. 8, 1831. It was remodeled durino'

Mr. Jordan's pastorate, and refitted and frescoed in 1877.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The first Methodist class was formed in West Cumber-

land about the year 1800. A society was formed in 1813,

with Edmond Allen, clerk, and a meeting-house erected by

Ozmi Harris, Hezekiah Winslow, and Jonathan Pearson,

f Present officers.
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committee. Rev. James Jaqnes was regalar pastor in 13:25,

with a church of 15 members, inclnding John MarstoD and

wife, Sarah Wilson, and members of the Jordan, Braekett,

and Winslow families. This chnrch became a separate

appointment in 1844, and hassince been under the appoints

ment of the following pastors

:

Revs. J. S. Rice, 1844; J. Clough, 1845-46; David

Copeland, 1847; J. Lord, 1848-49; S. S. Cummings,

1850-51; 8. Ambrose, 1852; L. B. Knight, 1853; N.

Hobert, 1854; Jesse Stone, 1855-56; N. D. Centre,

1857-58 ; Asa Green, 1859 ; W. C. Stevens, 1861 ; I. E.

Baxter, 1863; R. C. Bailey, 1864; S. V. Geny, 1866-68;

J. W. Howes, 1869 ; John Sanborn, 1870-71 ; E. San-

born, 1873; J. Sidstone, 1874; E. Sanborn, 1875; C. S.

Mann; 1876 ; M. Harriman, 1877 ; E. Gerry, Jr., 1878
;

G. W. Barber, 1879.

A parsonage was built near the meeting-house in 1843.

The house of worship was rebuilt in 1848, and dedicated

by Rev. Joseph Jenne.

The present membership is 35. OfiBcers : C. H. Blanch-

ard, Jesse Treat, Class-Leaders; C. H. Blanchard, Moses

Thomes, M. Huston, Stewards; N. B. Wilson, C. H.

Blanchard, M. Thomes, M. Huston, G. Parington, J.

Treat, A. J. Dearborn, Trustees.

The Cumberland and Falmouth Methodist Episcopal

Society was formed as the result of meetings held by Rev.

Joel Winch, in the school-house near the present church,

in 1808. Edward Whittle, Martin Ruter, and Rev.

Joshua Taylor also preached before a class was organized.

In 1826 a class of twelve was organized by Rev. Mr. Tay-

lor, and a church formed in 1831. The meeting-house was

erected on the town-line, by a corporation of persons .who

were not members. Among the first members were Ammi
Prince, Joseph York, Jr., Alvan, Cyrus, and Ephraim

Sturdevant, Edward Small, Jane Titcomb, Lucy Barr, and

Rachel Sturdevant. The pastors have been Revs. A. J.

Webster, 1843 ; Joseph Hawkes, Jr., 1845 ; Benjamin

Bumham, 1846. The pastors of the West Church have

been Silas M. Emerson, 1847-49; Charles Muger, 1850

Uriel Rideont, 1853; Swarton Banks, 1854; Ezekiel

Smith, 1855; Jesse Stone, 1857; John Rice, 1858

Charles Blockman, 1860-61 ; John Cook, 1863 ; S. Banks,

1864; Alvah Cook, 1865-66; Alpha Turner, 1867-68

O. H. Stevens, 1869 ; Ezra Sanborn, 1870-71 ; H. F. A,

Patterson, 1872; 0. H. Stevens, 1873-74; B. Pease,

1875-76; Charles Andrews, 1877 ; E K. Colby, 1878-79

The present membership is 51.

John Newman, Elisha Duran, Class-Leaders ; E. H.

Ramsdell, Recording Steward; L. D. Wells, L. Morton,

George Blackman, Stewards.

SCHOOLS AND ACADEMIES.

In 1764, Nathan Titcomb, blacksmith, gave the ground

for a school-house on his land (lot 61, now Poland), and

David Mitchell taught school. The treasurer and selectmen

were made trustees of the school fund of $1231, by the act

of incorporation, in 1821. There were then seven districts

on the main, with Nicholas Ridcout and Rev. Samuel Stone

committee ; and two on Chebeague Island, Ambrose Ham-

ilton and Wentworth Ricker, committee.

Greely Institute was founded by Hon. Eliphalet Greely,

a native of the town, who bequeathed $7000 to erect a

building, $20,000 as a fund for its support, and $1000

to purchase a library. The selectmen of the town are ex

officio trustees. The principals of this institute have been

Thomas J. Emery, 1867-68 ; Charles Chamberlain, Isaac

Quimby, George M. Seiders, H. Hemmingway, John M.

Hawkes, Charles T. Hawes, and D. B. Fuller, 1878-79.

There are now 10 districts in the town, with 412 scholars,

and $5600 worth of school property. Supervisor ofschools,

Lyman P. Sturdivant.

The town has had no lawyers.

Its physicians have been Frank L. Hall, M.D., located at

Cumberland Centre, in 1867, succeeded by his brother, W.
W. Hall, M.D.; and in June, 1879, by C. T. Monlton,

M.D. These were all graduates of Bowdoin Medical College.

Among the prominent men of the town were Walter

Gendall, John Powell, Seth Mitchell, Alexander Barr,

Onesiphorous Fisher, Nathaniel Blanchard, Ephraim Sturdi-

vant, David Prince, Col. Joseph Smith, Col. Samuel True,

Nicholas L. Humphrey.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

ALBERT RIDEOUT,

son of Joshua and Elizabeth S. (Clough) Rideout, was

bom in the city of Portland, Feb. 28, 1830. His parents

were natives of the town of Cumberland, where he now

resides. His great grandfather, William, first settled in

Cumberland upon the farm now owned and occupied by

him, and was succeeded in possession of this farm by his

grandfather, Reuben, and by his father, Joshua. The

family of Rideout was among the first settlers of the town,

and this time-honored homestead has been in the family

for four successive generations, a view of which may be

seen on another page of this work. The original purchase

was some eighty acres, but now contains one hundred and

fifty acres.

At the age of nine years he went with his parents from

Portland and settled on this farm, where he has resided

since. In 1860, February 2d, he married Harriet S.,

daughter of Moses P. and Abigail (Pratt) Thomes, of Cum-
berland. They have had three children, two of whom are

living, viz., Elmer E. and Oscar L. Mr. Rideout ranks

among the representative agriculturalists of Cumberknd
County, and is known as a citizen of reliability and integ-

rity in all of his relations in life. He is a member of the

Republican party, and a promoter of all enterprises tend-

ing to the good of his town or its citizens.

ANDREW R. BASTON,
son of Daniel and Olive (Ring) Boston, was born in the

town of North Yarmouth, May 31, 1820. He received

only a common-school education, and upon reaching his

majority started in life for himself by working on a farm.

In 1844 he purchased a farm in North Yarmouth, and the

same year married Lucy, daughter of Nehemiah and Be-
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thiah (Maxfield) Lufkin, of that town. Their children

were eight, four of whom are living, viz., Olive R., wife of

Capt. Frederick Crickett, who is now at sea commanding

the ship "Bertha;" Sewall, of North Yarmouth; Lucy

Jane, and Isabel. Sewall Baston married Laura F. Swett,

of Cumberland, June 14, 1874.

In 1856, Mr. Baston sold his farm and purchased the

one now owned and occupied by his widow in the town of

Cumberland, a view of which may be seen on another page

of this work under his portrait.

Mr. Baston spent his life as ah industrious farmer, never

aspired to any publicity or political office, was identified

with the Republican party, and known as a man of correct

habits and integrity in all his business relations. He was

a promoter of good, and a supporter of church and like

interests. He died May 17, 1877.

-^«a»4-

TALMOUTH.

BOUNDARIES AND NAME OF THE TOWN.

Falmouth originally embraced all the territory now in-

cluded in the towns of Cape Elizabeth, Westbrook, Decriog,

Falmouth, and the city of Portland. The limits of the

town were described in a general way in the compact of

submission to Massachusetts made in 1658, but they were

afterwards to be more particularly marked out by the in-

habitants .themselves, or in case of their neglect to do so,

the next County Court was authorized to appoint commis-

sionera for that purpose. The people not having fixed the

boundaries, the General Court, at its session in 1659, ap-

pointed Capt. Nicholas Shapleigh, Abraham Preble, Ed-

ward Rishworth, and Lieut. John Saunders to run the

dividing lines of Falmouth, Saco, and Scarborough. This

committee attended to the service, and reported " that the

dividing line between Scarborough and Falmouth shall be

the first dividing branches of Spurwink River, from thence

to run up into the country until eight miles be expired
;

and that the easterly bounds of Falmouth shall extend to

the Clapboard Islands, and from thence shall run upon a

west line into the country till eight miles be expired." The

western boundary corresponded precisely with what is now

the western boundary of Cape Elizabeth, the latter town

having been taken from it in 1765. The eastern line as at

first run corresponded with the exterior line of the State

as then claimed by Massachusetts, but this line was after-

wards changed so as to run northwest from the white Tock

opposite Clapboard Island, referred to in the survey of the

eastern line of the province by Massachusetts. The east

and the west lines were thus made parallel, both running

north forty- five degrees west, a distance of over eight miles

from the sea. The rear line was a few rods over ten miles

long, and thus the original tract contained, besides the

islands included in it, over eighty square miles. It cm-

braced also Richmond Island and the other islands opposite

to it along the coast.

Such was ancient Falmouth, which up to the time of its

erection as a town went by the name of Casco, the general

name applied to the settlements along the bay. It was

reduced to its present dimensions by the separation of Cape

Elizabeth in 1765, Portland (or the Neck) in 1786, and

Westbrook (including Deering) in 1814. "The name

which was given to this town was borrowed from that of

an ancient town in England, standing at the month of the

river Fal in Cornwall, and hence called Falmouth. This

river, after passing through a part of Cornwall, discharges

into the British Channel, forming at its mouth a spacious

harbor."* Several of the early settlers were from thnt

place, and naturally enough gave the name of their old

home to the new settlement.

EAKLY SETTLEMENT.

The first occupation of any part of Falmouth by a Eu-

ropean was of Richmond Island, by Walter Bagnall, in

1628. He occupied the island without any title, living

entirely alone, and for several years carrying on a lucrative

trade with the Indians. His cupidity brought upon him

the vengeance of the natives, and they put an end to his

life on the 3d of October, 1631.

Within two months after the death of Bagnall a grant

was made by the Council of Plymouth, bearing date Dec.

1, 1631, to Robert Trelawny and Moses Goodyeare, mer-

chants of Plymouth, England, which included this island

and all the present town of Cape Elizabeth. The patentees

appointed John Winter, who was then in this country,

their principal agent. A copy of the grant was immedi-

ately sent to him, and on the 21st of July, 1632, he was

put in possession of the tract by Richard Vines, of Saco,

one of the persons appointed by the grantors for that pur-

pose.

George Cleaves and Richard Tucker had previous to this,

in 1630, established themselves on the cape, near the mouth

of the Spurwink River. They had selected one of the

most valuable spots in the grant, and claimed to hold against

Winter 2000 acres of land and their improvements. They

were, however, forcibly ejected, and Cleaves and Tucker

became the first settlers on the Neck, now Portland.

Cleaves, in 1640, after a regular court had been estab-

lished by Sir Ferdinando Gorges, brought action of trespass

» Willia' History of Portland, p. 63.
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against Winter to recover damages for his removal. The

jury brought in a verdict for the plaintiff of the house and

four acres of land adjoining, £80 damages, and 12s. 6d.

for cost of court. Winter soon built a ship upon the islandi

established a place for fishing, and engaged in commerce

and agriculture quite extensively.

" The fish were undoubtedly cured on the islands and

neighboring main, and must have afforded employment to

a large number of men.

" Winter died in 1645, leaving a daughter, Sarah, the wife

of Robert Jordan. Jocelyn says of Winter, that he was
' a grave and discreet man ;' and his management of the

plantation proves him to have been an enterprising and in-

telligent one. He had much difficulty with George Cleaves

respecting the right to the soil both on the Spnrwink and

on the north side of Casco River, which, although suspended

during the latter part of Winter's life, was revived by his

successor.

" In 1636, Cleaves went to England, and procured of Gor-

ges, who had acquired a title to the province of Maine, then

called the Province of New Somersetshire, a deed to himself

and Tucker of a large tract in Falmouth, including the

Neck on which they had settled. This deed was dated

Jan. 27, 1637, and was in the form of a lease for two

thousand years : it conveyed, in consideration of £100 ster-

ling and an annual quit-rent, the following-described tract

:

"
' Beginning at the farthermost point of a neck of land called by

the Indians Machegonne, and now and forever from henceforth to be

called or known by the ntfme of Stognmmor, and so along the same
westerly as it tendeth to the first foils of a little river issuing out of

a very small pond, and from thence over land to the fulls of Pesumsca,*

being the first fulls in that river upon a strait line, containing by es-

timation from fall to fall, as aforesaid, near about an English mile,

which, together with the said Neck of land that the said George
Cleeves and the said Richard Tucker have planted for divert yean
already expired, is estimated in the whole to be 1500 acres or there-

abouts, as also one island adjacent to said premises, and now in the

tenor and occupation of said George Cleeves and Richard Tucker,

commonly called or known by the name of Hogg island.'

" Possession was given by Arthur Macworth, by appoint-

ment of Gorges, to Cleaves and Tucker, June 8, 1637.

" While Winter was pursuing his commercial speculations

on the Spurwink, and Cleaves and Tucker were enlarging

their borders on the north side of Casco River, another

settlement was set on foot within the limits of Falmouth, at

the mouth of Presumpscot River. The head of thb enter-

prise was Arthur Macworth. He must have commenced

his undertaking as early as 1632, for we find by a deed to

him from Richard Vines in 1635, that he is described as

having been in possession there many years ; which could

hardly be said of a shorter term than we have supposed.

The deed is as follows, leaving out the formal parts : ' This

Indenture, made March 30, in the eleventh year of Charles

I., between Richard Vines, of Saco, Gent., for and in behalf

of Sir Ferdinando Gorges, Knight, by authority from him,

bearing date Sept. 10, 1634, on the one part, and Arthur

Macworth, of Casco Bay, Gent., on the other part, wit-

nesseth, that said Vines doth give, grant, &c., to said Mac-

worth, all that tract of land lying in Casco Bay, on the

N. E. side of the river Pesumsca, tohtch now and /or many

* Presumpscot River.

year* is and hath been in possession of said Macworth,

being at the entrance of said river, where his Iiouse now

standeth, upon a point of land commonly called or known

by the name of Menickoe, and now and forever hereafber to

be called and known by the name of Newton, and from

thence up the said river to the next creek below the first

falls, and so over land towards the great bay of Casco, until

500 acres be completed, together with one small island over

against and next to his house.' The deed was witnessed

by George Cleaves, Robert Sanky, and Richard Tucker.

" Macworth was one of the most respectable of the early

settlers, and is believed to have arrived at Saco with Vines,

in 1630." He continued to live upon his grant on the

east side of Presumpscot River until his death. His widow

remained there with the family who settled around her till

the breaking out of the Indian war in 1675, when she

moved to Boston, and died there.

Two other settlers in Falmouth previous to 1640 were

Thomas Wise and George Lewis, though it is uncertain

where they came from, or the exact date of their arrival.

Lewis, previous to 1640, had received a grant of 50 acres

of land at Back Cove from Cleaves and Tucker, upon which

he lived. In 1657 he received an additional grant of 50

acres, and his son John one of 100 acres adjoining. Here

Lewis lived and died. " On the 29th of September, 1640,

Cleaves and Tucker conveyed to Thomas Wise and Hugh

Mosier 200 acres of land, ' beginning at a little plot of

marsh, west side, to the northeast of their now dwelling-

house, and next adjoining land of widow Satwell, thence

along the water-side until they come to the western side of

the marsh, and so &r as the well in the creek by George

Lewis', and thence to run northwest into the woods.'
"

Widow Hatwell (or properly Atwell) here referred to

had land upon Martin's Point. She afterwards married

Richard Martin, from whom the point received its name-l

Wise and Mosier continued a few years upon their grant.

Mosier left it first, and went farther down the bay, where

he died, leaving two sons, James and John. James ad-

ministered upon the estate in 1666.

The two brothers occupied two islands, now in Freeport,

called Great and Little Mosier's, but since, by corruption,

the Moges.

Wise was an early inhabitant of Saco, from which place

he came to. Falmouth. He also moved farther down the

bay, and sold his land to Nathaniel Wallis in 1658. Willis,

in his " History of Portland," says, " We are thus able to

show, upon indisputable authority, that as early as 1640

there were at least nine families in Falmouth, viz., Atwell,

Cleaves, Lewis, Macworth, Mitton, Mosier, Tucker, Winter,

and Wise, of whom four were settled at Back Cove, three

upon the Neck, one east of Presumpscot River, and another

on Richmond's Island ; in addition to whom were Robert

Jordan, who, we suppose, was not yet married to Winter's

daughter, and the numerous persons employed by Winter

in his business, and the persons employed by other

settlers."!

t Willis' Hist Portland, p. 38.

X Richard Bradshaw had lived at Spsrwlnk,where be had been put

in possession by Capt. Walter Neale, of Piscataqua, in 1630, but be

had sold to Tucker previous to the grant to Winter.
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At this time there was but one store of goods or general

place of traffic in the settlement ; that was Icept by Winter,

on Richmond's Island. At the first court, established by

Gorges in 1640, Winter was presented by the grand jury,

consisting of twelve persons, of whom were Cleaves, Mac-

wortl), and Tucker, for irregularity in his dealings. He
was charged with keeping down the price of beaver and

exacting too much profit upon his liquor and powder and

shot. It appeared in evidence that he paid £7 sterling a

hogshead for brandy, and sold it at 20 pence a quart, which

would be about £33 sterling for a hogshead, and powder at

three shillings a pound, for which he paid but 20 pence.

A detail of this case may be interesting. The return of

the grand jury is as follows

:

" We present John Winter, of Richmond island, for that Thomas
Wise,~of Casco, hath declared, npon bis oath, that he paid to John
Winter a noble for a gallon of aqitavita^ about two months since,

and that he halh credibly heard it reported that said Winter bought

of Mr. George Loxton, when he was last in Casco bay, a hogshead of

aquavitae for £7 sterling, aboot nine months since. Mr. John Baley

hath declared, upon his oath, that about eight months since be bought

of Mr. J. Winter six quarts of aquavitae at 20rf. the quart; he

further declared he paid him for commodities bought about the same
time about six pounds of beaver, at 6». the pound, which he himself

took at 8«. the pound; John West also declared that he bought of J.

AViuter a pottle of aquavitae at 20d. the quart, and shot at 4d. a

pound. Richard West, one of the great inquest, declared thnt Thomas
Wise, of Casco, coming from Richmond island, and having bought of

Mr. J. Winter a flaggott of liquor, aquavitae, for which he paid him
as he said a noble, asking myself and partner if we would be pleased

to accept a cupp .of noble liquor, and bow that he saw Mr. Winter pay
abord Mr. Luxton's ship, for a hogshead of the same liquor^ £7 ster-

ling when he was last in Casco bay. Michael Milton, upon oath, de-

clares that he hath bought divers times of Mr. J. Winter powder and

shott, paying him for powder 3«. and for sbott 4d, the pound, and
likewise for aquavitae, 6«. Sd. the gallon. And he further declareth

that he hath heard Mr. Richmond declare in the house of Mr. George

Cleeves and Richard Tucker that he sold powder to Mr. Winter for

29d. or 22d. the pound. He further declared that he bath heard by

the general voice of the inhabitants in those partes grievously com-

plaining of his hard dealing both in bis great rates of his commodi-

ties and the injury to them in thus bringing down the price of

beaver. . . ."

At the next session the parties entered into the fol-

fowing agreement for referring all their controversies

:

" Sacoe, June 28, 1641. Whereas divers differences have

heretofore been between Mr. George Cleaves, and Mr. John

Winter, the parties have now agreed to refer themselves to

the arbitration of Mr. Bobert Jordan, Mr. Arthur Mac-

worth, Mr. Arthur Brown, and Bichard Ormesby, for the

final ending of all controversies, and bind ourselves each to

the other, in an assumpsit of £1000 sterling, to stand to

the award of these arbitrators, and if these arbitrators shall

not fully agree, Mr. Batchelder chosen to be an umpire for

a final ending of the same." The same day the following

award was made :
" June 28, '41. An award made be-

tween George Cleaves, Gent., and John Winter, made by

the arbitrators within named. Whereas the jury have

found £80 sterling damage, with 4 acres of ground, and

the house at Spurwink for the plaintifi'—hereunto granted

on both parties, that the house and land shall be due unto

Mr. Winter, and £60 sterling to the plaintiff, presently to

be made good. Whereas there hath been found by the

jury in an action of interruption of a title of land for the

plaintiff, the same I ratify: whereas, also, there is a scandal

objected by Mr. Winter again.st Mr. Cleaves, from words of

defamation, it is ordered of said Mr. Cleaves, shall cliris-

tianly acknowledge his failing therein against Mr. Winter

his wife for present before the arbitrators, and afterwards

to ]Mrs. Winter. Stephen Batchelder. Agitated by us,

Robert Jordan, Richard Ormesby, Arthur Macworth, Ar-

thur Brown."

This award probably had the effect of suspending hostil-

ities ; but after Winter's death the controvei-sy for the title

on the north of Fore River was revived, and strenuously

maintained, by Robert Jordan.*

Before the submission to Massachusetts, in 1(158, besides

the thirteen persons who subscribed to the compact, a number

of others had settled in the town. We give the names and

places of the settlers at this date, from Willis, as follows

:

" On the east side of Presumpscot River, lived James

Andrews, Jane Macworth, Francis Neale, and Nathaniel

Wharff. On the west side of that river, Robert Corbin,

John Phillips, Richard Martin, the settler at Martin's Point,

opposite Maoworth's Point; at Back Cove, George Inger-

soll, George Lewis, John Lewis, and Nath'l Wallis. On
the Neck, lived George Cleaves, Michael Mitton, and

Richard Tucker. At Purpooduck, Joseph Phippen, Samp-

son Penley, Thomas Staniford, Nicholas White, and proba-

bly John Wallis,—Robert Jordan is the only name we meet

with from Spurwink ; Francis Small lived at Capisic, on a

tract of land he purchased of the Indians."

FIRST MILLS IN FALMOUTH.

On the 10th of August, 16o7, George Cleaves conveyed

to John Phillips 50 acres of land on the southwest side of

the Presumpscot River, adjoining the last falls in that river,

and " between said mill falls and Richard Martin's land."

On the 3d of June, l(j5S, he conveyed to him 50 acres

more, " adjoining the now dwelling-house of Phillips.'' In

the latter deed Phillips is described " of Casco T3ay, mill-

wright." In 1662, Cleaves confirmed to Phillips his former

conveyances, speaking of them as containing 250 acres,

with " mill-privileges," etc. Phillips was a Welshman,

and had previously lived on Broad Bay, in North Yar-

mouth, on a place which he sold before 1643, to George

Felt. It is presumed that he purchased this mill-privilege

for the purpose of pursuing his occupation, and established

here the first mills ever erected in any part of Falmouth.

Mills were erected on no other part of the Presumpscot

River for many years afterwards, until they were in opera-

tion at Capisic and at Barberry Creek, in Cape Elizabeth.

The first notice of mills in this town which we have met

with is in a deed dated June 8, 1646, in which is the fol-

lowing statement :
" I, John Smith, and Joane my wife,

now living at Casko Mill, under the government of Mr.

George Cleaves, sell to Richard Bulgar, of Boston, all that

dwelling-house which said John Smith hath in dowry with

his wife, Joane, situated in Agamenticus." The deed was

" sealed and delivered unto Mr. George Cleaves and Richard

Tucker for the use of Richard Bulgar." Mr. Willis thinks

that the mill designated as ^^ Casko Mill'' was situated at

the lower falls of the Presumpscot.^

^ See History of Cape Elizabeth.

f History of Portland, p. 70.
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SETTLEKS IN FALMOUTH AT THE COMMENCEMENT OF

THE FiaST INDIAN WAE, 1675.

In Falmouth previous to the war there were rising of

40 Ikmilies, distributed as follows : on the east side of

Presampscot River, James Andrews, Humphrey Durham,

George Felt, Jane Macworth, Francis Neaie, Richard Pike,

John Wakely, Jenkin Williams, and Rebecca Whor, who

had recently lost her hnsband. On the west side of the

river were Benjamin Atwell, John Cloice, St., Robert

Corbin, Peter Housing, Robert Nicholson, John Nicholson,

and John Phillips. Around Back Cove, Anthony Brack-

ett, George Lewis, John Lewis, Philip Lewis, Phineas

Rider, James Ross, Tliomas Skillings, Nathaniel Wallis,

Thomas Wakely, and Matthew Coe's family. At Capisic,

Thomas Cloice, George, George, Jr., John, and Joseph In-

genoU, and Richard Powsland. On the Neck (now Port-

land), Thomas Brackett, Thaddeus Clark, George and John

Munjoy (Elizabeth Harvey at this time a member ofThomas

Brackett's family). On the south side of Fore River were

Lawrence Davis, probably Isaac Davis, Juel Madiver, Samp-

son Penley, Joseph Pbippen, John Skillings, Thomas and

Robert Stamford, Ralph Tamer, and John Wallis. At

Spurwink were Walter Gendall, Robert Jordan, and prob-

ably John Gray, Jordan's servant. Besides these, there

were some whose locations cannot be definitely fixed : Na-

thaniel and John Cloice, Jr., Heniy Harwood, a shoemaker,

Nathaniel White, and Rev. George Burroughs.*

NEW CASCO.

After the second Indian war, and before any settlement

had been revived on the Neck, a fort was established on a

point east of Presnmpscot River, on a farm which bad for-

merly belonged to James Andrews. The fort and settle-

ment here were named New Casco, to distinguish it from

the Neck, where Fort Loyal stood, which was then called

Old Casco. The fort at New Casco was erected in 1700,

was intended principally as a trading establishment to ac-

commodate the Indians, and was supported by government

in pursuance of the late treaty. In accordance with a reso-

lution of the General Court, passed July 8, 1700, a " smith

was kept there to mend the hatchets and firearms of the

Indians at a reasonable price." Settlers soon gathered in

the vicinity of the fort, among whom was David Phippen,

son of Joseph Phippen, an ancient settler in Purpooduck,

whose house stood by the golly, on the east side of Pre-

sumpscot River, neariy opposite Staples' Point. A Mr.

Kent and Samuel Haywood also lived in the same neigh-

borhood.

On the breaking out of the war between France and Eng-

land in 1702, apprehensions were entertained by the govern-

ment of Massachusetts that the eastern Indians wotild again

commence hostilities. To prevent this calamity, Governor

Dudley, in the summer of 1703, visited the coast as far east

as Pemaqnid, and held conferences with the Indians. On
the 20tb of June a grand council was assembled at the fort

in New Casco, attended by the chiefi of the Norridgevoock,

Pehobtcot, Penaeook, Ameriicogffin, and Pcqnukett tribes.

'Burroughs gradoAted at Harvard in 1670, and probably com-

meneed hi£ mloutry here about 1674, although there w&a no church

then gathered. Ste Scarberongh.

The chiefs were well armed and generally painted with a

variety of colors; those of the Ameriscoggin tribe were

accompanied by about 250 men in i>3 canoes.

The meeting was conducted in the most friendly manner.

The natives assured the Governor " that they aimed at

nothing more than peace ; and that as high as the sun was

above the earth, so far distant should their designs be of

making the least breach between each other." As a pledge

of their sincerity, they presented him with a belt of wam-

pum, and each party added a great number of stones to two

pillars which had been erected at a former treaty, and called

the Two Brothers, in testimony of their amicable arrange-

ment. The Indians, however, proved treacherous, and

under the instigation of the French soon brought on

another destructive war.'l'

FALMOUTH PBOPKIETAET.

In 1730, Moses Pearson, Samuel Proctor, and ten others,

styling themselves " Twelve of the Proprietors of the

common and undivided lands of the township of Fal-

mouth," held a meeting nnder a warrant fivm J'hn Gray,

of Biddeford, jostice of the peace, and organized them-

selves into a proprietary, under the statute, against the

dissent of nineteen other proprietors. They went on making

grants of the common lands, appropriating money, admitting

persons to common rights, and assuming the whole power

over the common domain q{ the town. The books contain-

ing the doings of the proprietors are now deposited in the

office of registry of deeds foe this county. In October,

1730, they voted to sell enough of the common lands to

raise £800 to pay the town debts. The proprietary has

never formally been dissolved, bat it has died out for the

want of common land on which to subsist. The last pro-

prietors' clerk r^;nlarly chosen was Nathan Winslow, of

Westbrook, who died in 1827. He was for many years

the fiiclotnm of the company. They held their last meet-

ing in 1826, a short time previous to which, in the same

year, they sold at public auction for a trifling sum the

remnant of the common property.

TOWN OFFICERS.

We give a Ibt of the selectmen and other town officers

of the old town of Falmouth, complete up to the date of the

separation of Portland. The records since have been de-

stroyed by fire, leaving a blank till 1870 ; we give those

who have been elected since that date:

SELECTMEN.

1718-86.—John Wasa, William Scales, Dominicos Jordan, fire years

;

John Prichard, two years ; Benjamin SkiUis, four years ; Samuel

Hoodj, teren years ; Benjamin Larrabee, Riehard CoUier, John

Sawyer, fire years ; Matthew Scalee, two years; Daniel Ingersolt,

two years; William Roberts, SamoelBuckman.Jamea Armstrong,

Benjamin York, four years ; Samael Cobb, four years ; Benjamin

Ingersoll, three years; John Brown, John East, six years; John

Perry, Joshua Woodbury, Thomas Haskell, Hoses Pearson, seven

years ; John Coy, John Tyng, Henry Wheeler, fire years ; Ed-

mund Moontford, James Buxton, James Brickie, Robert Thom-
dike, three years ; Joseph Cobb, Gowen Wilson, two years ; Joshua

Moody, two years ; James Gooding, eleven years ; Thomas West-

brook, two years; James Noblo, two years; Joaeph Thomson,

f See French and Indian War, in the general history.
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John Notes was born in the town of Falmouth,

Cumberland Co., Me., Nov. 27, 1809. His ancestors

were among the earlj settlers of that town, and of

English descent. He was the youngest in a family

of seven sons and one daughter of Josiah and

Susannah (Knight) Noyes, both of whom were na-

tives of Falmouth. Mr. Noyes received a fair edu-

cation in early life, and became impressed while

young with habits of industry and economy. From

1831 to 1835 he was engaged in a ship -yard, and

was subsequently wrecked off Salem harbor, and

lost his left arm by the falling of the mast of the

vesseL

This misfortune necessitated his engaging in other

business, and for eight years he was a dealer in wool

and pelts. In 1845 he engaged in general merchan-

dise trade, and continued this business until 1861.

He was in partnership with Greorge Gallison, under

the firm-name of Noyes & Grallison, from 1851 to

1854, and from 1855 until the close of his mercan-

tile life he was in partnership with John O. Lufkin.

Mr. Noyes has held various positions of trust in

his town, and has discharged the duties incumbent

upon him with fidelity and a personal interest.

Beginning with 1846, he was clerk for twenty-four

years, and for twenty-two years treasurer of the town

of Falmouth. He has been selectman and assessor

of the town for three terms.

From 1861 to 1858 he was president, treasurer,

and one of the directors of the Falmouth Mutual

Fire Insurance Company, and for ten years, from

1851 to 1861, he was postmaster at West Falmouth.

Mr. Noyes' integrity in all his business transactions,

his correct habits and prompt business ability, have

won for him the esteem of all who know him. He
was first married, June 4, 1846, to Harriet Merrill.

Of this union were born four children, three of

whom are living, viz., Elizabeth C, John D., and

Arthur S.

George E. died March 26, 1868. His wife died

Aug. 28, 1856. He was again married, Dec. 23,

1868, to Hannah Whitney, who died May, 1869.
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three years ; Xnthnnicl Xoyea, six years ; John Waite, four years

;

Charles Frost, two years ; Joseph Noyes, four years ; Robert

Mitchell, Ezekiel Cashing, nine years; James Merrill, four years;

Pbineaa Jones, Jeremiah Riggs, three years; James Milk, six-

teen years ; Christopher Strout, eight years ; Enoch Freeman,
three years; John Merrill, John Robinson, five years ; Stephen
Randall, two years ; John Snow, five years ; Joseph Thomson, six

years ; William Cotton, thirteen years ; George Berry, two years

;

Samuel Skillin, two yeora ; William Buckman, six years ; Enoch
Moody, three years ; William Simonton, two years ; John Waits,

three years; Isaoo Ilsley, two years; Humphrey Merrill, fifteen

years; David Strout, four years ; Joseph Mariner, William Slem-
mons, nine years; Ephraim Jones, four years; Stephen Waite,
four years; Samuel Cobb, Benjamin Winslow, Nathaniel Carle,

ten years ; Jeremiah Pote, Benjamin Mussey, John Bracket, Wil-
liam Owen, Nath. Wilson, two years; John Johnson, Jr., two
years; Joseph Noyea, nine years; Pearson Jones, Daniel Dole,

three years; Benjamin Xitcomb, three years; Richard Cudman,
two years; Solomon Haskell, two years; Bracket Marston,
Joseph McLellan, Samuel Freeman, Enoch Ilsley, Joshua Free-

man, Stephen Hall, Ihom&s Child, five years; Daniel Ilsley,

James Frost, two years.

Since 1870.—B. F. Hall, Albert Winslow, S. D. Norton, 1870 ; P. E.

Hall, Joseph Newman, C. Knight, 1871; Smith Barbour, E. H.
Starhird, Bela Blanohard, 1872 ; Smith Barbour, E. C. W. Win-
slow, G.D. York, 1873; C. W. Winslow, 0. D. York, John Noyes,

1874; B.F.Hall, Columbus Knight, Samuel Bell, 1875; B. F.

Hall, Samuel Bell, George D. York, 1876; B. F. Hall, George D.

York, L. S. Washburn, 1877; John Noyes, George D. York, L. S.

Washburn, 1378 ; Silas Skillin, George D. York, L. S. Washburn,

1879.

TOWN CLERKS.

1719-20, Joshua Moody; 1720-23, Samuel Cobb; 1723-26, Joshua

Moody; 1726-27, Peter Walton; 1727-30, Samuel Cobb; 1730-

31, Moaes Pearson; 1731-33, Samuel Moody; 1733-34, Moses

Pearson; 1734-44, Samuel Moody; 1744-45, Joshua Moody;
1745-47, Samuel Moody; 1747-50, Moses Pearson; 1750-73,

Stephen Longfellow; 1773-80, Nathaniel Q. Moody; 1780-88,

John Frothingham.*

John Noyes was town clerk in 1856-57, also 1870-72; he was fol-

lowed by D. F. Small, 1872-79.

TOWN TEEAStTEERS.

1719-21, Samuel Moody; 1721-22, Samuel Cobb; 1722-28, Samuel

Hoody; 1728-30, Benjamin Ingersoll; 1730-31, John East;

1731-33, Joshua Moody; 1733-35, Henry Wheeler; 1735-36,

Moses Pearson; 1736-37, Thomas Westbrook; 1737-38, James

Gooding; 1738-39, the selectmen; 1739-40, Joseph Noyes;

1740-43, Ezekiel Cushing; 1743-14, John Waite; 1744-45, Joshua

Moody; 1745-46, John Waite; 1746-55, Enoch Freeman; 1755-

56, John Waite; 1756-61, James Milk; 1761-66, Benjamin

Waite; 1766-68, Ephraim Jones; 1768-73, James Milk ; 1773-74,

Ephraim Jones; 1774-75, Stephen Waite; 1775-76, Smith Cobb;

1776-86, John Waite.

Joseph Newman was town treasurer in 1871, John D. Noyes in

1872, F. D. Small, 1873-79.

REPRESENTATIVES TO THE QENEEAL COURT.

1719, William Scales; 1720, Samuel Moody; 1721, none; 1722, Do-

minions Jordan ; 1723, none ; 1724, uncertain ; 1725, Maj.

Moody; 1726, Samnel Moody; 1727-29, none; 1730-33, uncer-

tain; 1734, Dominions Jordan; 1735-36, uncertain; 1737, Moses

Pearson, Phineoa Jones; 1738, uncertain; 1739, Fhincas Jones

;

1740, Moses Pearson; 1741, Joshua Bangs; 1742, uncertain;

1743, Samuel Moody; 1744, Samuel Waldo; 1745, Jabez Fox;

1746, uncertain; 1747, Jabez Fox; 1748, Enoch Freeman ; 1749,

Moses Pearson; 1750-52, Jabez Fox; 1753-54, Jedediah Preble;

1755, Charles Frost (deceased), Enoch Freeman ; 1756, Enoch

Freeman; 1757-61, Samuel Waldo; 1762-63, Francis Waldo;

1764-65, Samuel Waldo; 1766-71, Jedediah Preble; 1772-73,

William Tyng, Jedediah Preble; 1774, Enoch Freeman.

" Also clerk of the town of Portland till 1796.

35

REPRESENTATIVES TO THE PROVINCIAL CONGRESS.

1775, Samuel Freeman ; 1770, Jedediah Preble, Joseph Xoyes, Samuel

Freeman, John Waite; 1777, Jededi.ah Preble, Joseph Noyes;

1778, Joseph Noyes, Samuel Freemnn : 1779, none; 1780, Jede-

diah Preble, Joseph Noyes, Stephen Ilnll ; 1781, Stephen Hall;

1782-83, Joseph Noyes; 1784-85, Joseph Noyes, Benjamin Tit-

comb; 1786, Joseph Noyes, J. Frothingham.

RELIGIOUS.

CHURCH OF NEW CASCO.f

The First Parish in Fsilmouth was that now known as

the First Parish Church in Portland ; the Second Parish

was the predecessor of the present Congregational Church

of Cape Elizabeth, organized in 1733, when that town was

a part of the domain of ancient Falmouth. Tn September,

1753, Nathaniel Noyes, Ichabod Clark, and fifty others pe-

titioned the Greneral Court " to be set off as a distinct

parish." The First Parish assented to the prayer of the pe-

titioners, and having amicably agreed upon the division

line, an act of separation passed Dec. 18, 1758, deSnin*^

the boundary line as follows: " Beginnning at the North

Yarmouth line near the sea, and from thence running by

the bay to Presumpscot River, and thence up said river as

far as the westerly side of Mr. James Winslow's sixty-acre

lot of land, on which his dwelling-house stands, and from

thence to run a northwest line to the head of the townsliip,

including Macworth's Island, Clapboard Island, and Little

Chebeague.'' The number of families within these lines at

the time of the erection of the parish was 62.

In 1752 the First Parish had called a meeting to determine

whether or not they would set off the people ofNew Casco into

a parish, " agreeable to the frame which is set up for a meet-

ing-house near James Wyman's dwelling-house, or so many

as see cause to join in settling a minister to preach the gospel

near or at said place." This object of the meeting was not

then affirmatively agreed upon, but it was voted " that the

inhabitants on the eastward of Presumpscot River have

their parish-rates for this present year remitted to them so

long as they have a minister to preach the gospel to them."

It appears from this that they had erected a meeting-house,

or at least a frame for one, in 1752, and had preaching as

early as that date. This was probably by the two candi-

dates, David Mitchell, a graduate of Harvard in 1751, and

Isaac Noles, who had preached on probation, but were not

accepted. Their first settled minister was John Wiswall,

well known subsequently as the first minister of old St.

Paul's Episcopal Church of Falmouth Neck, now Portland.

Mr. Wiswall had graduated at Harvard College, and after

settling on the Neck had taught a school in the First Par-

ish, preaching occasionally to the people of New Casco. In

1756 he was invited to become their pastor, and was or-

dained November 3d of that year.

By this time considerable disaffection had arisen in the

First Parish, and a large number of its influential members

repaired to Mr. Wiswall's church at New Casco. Their

leanings being towards the Church of England, and being

desirous (as they afterwards did) of establishing a church

of that order in Falmouth, they for some time entertained

the belief that Dr. Wiswall would bring over the whole

t Third Parish of Falmouth.
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body of his people, or at least a majority of them, to epis-

copacy. Bat in this they were disappointed. The church

stood firmly fixed in the principles and doctrinea of Con-

gr^ationalism upon which it had been founded. Mr. Wis-

wall accepted the call of the Episcopalians to become their

minister in 1765, who, meantime, had separated from the

old parish, formed a new society, and started a subscription

to build a church edifice. He preached in the town-house

several Sabbaths, when, in October, he proceeded to Eng-

land to procure ordination at the hands of the Lord Bishop

of the Church of England.*

The first meeting-house at New Casco was built near

where the road to the bay crosses the Sqnitterygnsset

Creek.

Rev. Ebenexer Williams succeeded Mr. Wiswall as

pastor. He graduated at Harvard College in 1760, and

settled over the parish Nor. 6, 1765, continuing till his

death in 1799.

At a parish-meeting, held April 3, 1799, it was voted to

allow the late pastor's salary to continue six Sabbaths from

his death. Rev. Mr. Gragg preached a short time, and it

was then resolved to discontinue meetings and raise a fund

with which to erect a new house of worship. Daniel,

James, Moses, Joshua, and James Merrill, Jr., Benjamin

Marston, and Walter Bucknam, were made building com-

mittee. In response to a petition from ten freeholders, a

parish-meeting was held June, 18G2, which resulted in the

appointment of Rev. William Miltimore as pastor. The

first recorded meeting was held in the new meeting-house

in September, 1803 ; after which both the old and -aew

ones were occupied nntU the close of the year, when the

old meeting-house was abandoned and torn down.

The following have been pastors of the church since

Rev. Mr. Williams : Rev. William Miltimore, July, 1802,

to June, 1833 ; Rev. Samuel Stone ; Rev. Charles Dame,

called May 29, 1839; dismissed Aug. 11, 1853, but con-

tinued to supply until June, 1854. He was succeeded by

Rev. Amory H. Tyler, who was ordained Jane 6, 1855,

and dismissed Dec. 15, 1858 ; Rev. J. H. Adams became

acting pastor in 1858, from which position he was relieved

by the installation of Rev. Arthur N. Ward, Feb. 25, 1879.

DeacoM.—Luke Worcester, George Knight, 1799

;

Joshua Merrill, 1822 ; Enoch G. Sargent, Augustus Wil-

liams, 1832 ; Ephraim Merrill, 1839
;
present deacon and

church clerk, Alfred B. Marston ; deacon, David Wyman

;

parish clerk, Arthur Bucknam.

In 1812 the records of the parish show the names of 98

commnnicants, 34 of whom had joined previous to 1776,

2 in 1777, 10 in 1778, and the remainder previous to 1797.

One hundred and fifly-eight additional members were ad-

mitted daring the next' thirty years.

The name was changed from the " Third" to the " First

Congr^ational Church of Falmouth," at a meeting held for

that purpose. May 26, 1835. A house of more modem

design was erected about 1849, and the old, or second one,

which was still sound, was abandoned. A neat chapel was

built near the church in 1859. The parish also owns 80

acres of woodland near the village.

* See history of old St. Paul's, Portland.

KEST SOCIETY OF FBIENDS.

The following extracts from " Smith's Joamal," and other

sources, give us some information respecting the introduction

of the principles of the Friends or Quakers, and the serious

alarm which it caused in other churches.

" Jaly 30, 1740.—The ebareh kept s day of farting and prayer on

aeeoont of the spread of Qaakerism. Mr. Jeffrey and myself prayed

A.V. Mr. Thompson preached. Mr. Allen and Mr. Lord prayed,

and Hr. Willard preached, p.v.

—

Sm. Jour. Judge Sewall in his

diary gives an aocoaot of the Iloegs of Newbary, who, in 1711, be-

came Quakers. In 1714 a fast was held in Newbury, on account of

the spread of that " pertilent heresy."

—

Cnffln.

" Descendants of these young Hoegs Tisited our town last summer,

and by their venerable appearance, and the unchanged simplicity of

their dress, earned as back to the dark day when their ancestors took

their liTea in their bands and ventured all things for the faith, as they

believed, once delivered to the saints."

The first meeting for religions worship established by

the Friends in this State was at Kittery, in 1730. In

1742 a meeting was held at Berwick, and the same year

thay appeared in Falmouth, the singularity of their dress

and manners attracting universal attention. In 1743 a

few families in Falmouth had adopted the opinions of that

sect, and a meeting for worship was then first established

in the town, James Winslow being the first to join the

society. Mr. Winslow came from Plymouth Colony before

1728. He was a man of great inflaence in the neigh-

borhood, and rendered important support to the society.

Among others who joined in 1743 were Benjamin Inger-

soll, Nathan Winslow, and Enoch Knight. In May, 1751,

a monthly meeting was established for the Friends in Fal-

mouth and Harpewell, the male members of which were

James Winslow, James Goddard, and Benjamin Winslow,

from Falmouth, and Edward Estes, Thomas Jones, Ebene-

zer Pinkham, and Lemuel Jones, from Harpswell. Acces-

sions were made continually to the society, and particularly

from that part of Falmouth in which James Win.slow re-

sided.t Preachers occasionally visited them from abroad,

and several of their own people " received certificates to

travel on truth's account," among whom were Patience

Estcs and John Douglass. In 1750, Mary Cnrby, from

England, and Elizabeth Smith, from West Jersey, came

here as traveling preachers.

In 1768 a meeting-house was built near the Presumpscot

River, in that part of the town which still retains the an-

cient name. It was 40 feet long and 32 feet wide, and

stood on the same spot where their first house (a small

building) had been erected in 1752.

The following names of the subscribers to the new house

will probably show all the adult males belonging to the so-

ciety in this vicinity, viz. : Benjamin Winslow, Benjamin

IngersoU, Hatevil Hall, James Goddard, Enoch Knight,

Stephen Morrell, Samuel Wmslow, Nathaniel Hawkes,

James Torrey, Job Winslow, Elijah Pope, John Robinson,

Elisha Parinton, Benjamin Winslow, Jr., David Purinton,

William Winslow, James Winslow, Nicholas Vamey, Jacob

f Jamee Winslow had a grant of land on Fall-Cove Brook, at Back

Cove, to erect a mill on in 1728, but this falling within an aneitnt

grant, he removed northerly to the Presumpscot Biver, near where iu

coarse is turned soatberly by Black-Sttap UilL He died recpeeted,

leaving a large posterity, in 1773.
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Morrell, Elijali HansoD, Jonathan Hanson, Benjamin Aus-

tin, Daniel Hall, Pelatiah Allen, William Hall, Nathan

Winslow. Some of these lived in Windham.

Previous to 1774 the Quakers had been required to pay

taxes for the support of the ministry of the First Parish, but

at their annual meeting in that year the parish passed the

following vote

:

" Voltd, That the following professed Quakers, living within the

bonnds of the pariah, be exempted from parish rates the current year,

vis. : Benjamin Austin, Nathoniel Abbott, Samnel Estes, James God-
dard, Benjamin Oonld, Solomon Hanson, Robert Houston, Daniel
Hall, Enoch Knight, John Knight, John Morrill, Stephen Morrill,

Jacob Morrill, Elijah Pope, James Torrey, Ebenezer Winslow, Benja-
min Winslow, Job Winslow, William Winslow, Oliver Winslow, John
Winslow, Samuel Winslow, and James Winslow."

A later organization of Friends existed in the northern

part of the town, near Duck Pond, who paid their regular

tax to the Third Parish of Falmouth till 1804, when, by
action of the parish, they were exempted. They continued

to hold meetings until as late aa 1829, but have gradually

submitted to the influence of emigration, settlement, and

intermarriage with other sects, until nothing remains but

their memory, and the spirit of thrift inherited by their

descendants. David Allen, father of Josiah Allen, was a

leading spirit among them in 1825. Their meeting-house,

near Duck Pond, remained some years after.

FREE-WILL BAPTIST CHUECH.

In 1823, Maty, wife of Capt. Jedediah Leighton, who
had made a profession of religion in 1802, and four other

ladies started a series of prayer-meetings, which were con-

tinued four years ; during this time two persons were con-

verted, and baptized by Elder William Woodsum. In the

winter of 1829, Mrs. Leighton and others were baptized by

Rev. Hubbard Chandler, who, with the assistance of Elder

Zachariah Leach, organized a church of about 30 members,

at the Popple Bidge school-house, May 6, 1829. The

first members of the winter previous were Peter Pride,

who was made clerk, Samuel Hicks, Mary Leighton, Frank-

lin and Barbara Merrill, Hannah Cressey, and Lindsey

Frye, who was made deacon. The society was joined to

the Gorham quarterly meeting, and a house of worship

erected at West Falmouth daring the pastorate of Rev.

Charles Bean. Capt. Jedediah Leighton was baptized into

this church on his eightieth birthday, a bole being cut

through the ice on Piscataquis Brook in midwinter for

this purpose. A. division occurred through Advent doc-

trines, which nearly suspended work between 1863 and

1873. The church has now 46 members.

The pastors have been Revs. Hubbard Chandler, Gr. P.

Ramsey, S. Shaw, and Charles Bean, to 1840 ; Levi Hersy,

C. Bean, Seth W. Perkins, Levi Hersy, 1845 ; James

Crockett, 1848-49; Lowell Parker, 1850; George W.
Gould, 1853 ; S. Warren, 1855 ; A. Hobson, 1860 ; H.

Whicher, 1862 ; 0. F. Russell, 1874-78; H. H. Acterian,

1879.

Deacons.—Daniel Hobbs, 1829 to his death, June 5,

1865. Lindsey Frye, 1829 to 1879.

Clerkt.—Peter Pride, John Lambert, and since 1850,

Seward Frye.

SCHOOLS.

The town of Falmouth comprises twelve school districts,

with 498 scholars. Of this number 125 attended school

during the year ending March, 1879, without a half-day's

absence. The town appropriation for that year was 82000
;

State, 8519.20; school and bank tax, §276.35. The

schools are well conducted, and school-houses substantial.

Many of them are built of brick. The school supervisor

for 1879 is Miss Julia M. Thomp.son.

A wooden academy building was erected on the farm of

Mr. David McGregor, and an academy incorporated in 18.'^4.

An attempt was made to secure a donation of lands from

the State. This failing, the building was afterwards moved

to Falmouth Comer, where it was occupied for a period of

ten years aa a high school. The building has not been

used since 1864. Dr. Tewksbury, William Richards, David

Young, and Amory H. Tyler were the last trustees.

INDEPENDENT OEDER OF GOOD TEMPLARS.

OAK GROVE LODGE, NO. 161,

organized Aug. 13, 1866, with 30 members and the

following officers : S. Dwight Stone, W. C. T. ; Miss P.

Stone, W. V. T. ; M. L. Merrill, P. W. C. T. ; George G.

Watts, W. Sec. ; Leonard S. Locke, W. F. S. ; George T.

Lord, W. Treas. ; C. S. Merrill, W. Marshal ; M. C. Mer-

rill, W. Chaplain. Present officers : Cyrus W. Poole, AV.

C. T. ; Enos E. Adams, W. V. T. ; Luey J. Colley, W.
Sec. ; Harian P. Merrill, W. F. Sec. ; Albert H. Mastin,

W. Treas.; David U. Young, W. Chap.; Charies K.
Richards, W. Marshal. Present membersiiip, 98.

VILLAGES AND HAMLETS.

NEW CASCO,

in the east corner of the town,i,s a beautiful little village of

45 dwellings, extending a mile along the shore of Casco

Bay, from the Cumberiand line to near Mill Creek, and is

a favorite resort for summer visitors. The business of the

place consists of the store of Sargent & York, opened by
George D. Sargent, in 1871, near that abandoned by S. D.

Norton, in 1860 ; the grist-mill of Stevens & Co., on

Mill Creek ; a tide-mill, erected by True & Burgin, who
also repacked salt, in 1866; E. S. Dow & L. D. Wells,

blacksmiths and carriage-works ; George D. Sargent is post-

master ; mails daily via Falmouth Station.

FALMOUTH,

a station on the Grand Trunk Railway, five and a half

miles from Portland, comprises 30 dwellings, the church

and chapel of the First Congregationalist Parish, school-

house, the abandoned academy building, and the followin<'

business interests: grocery and provision store, Perry &
Rose, established by Abner S. Perry, at the old stand of

Albert L. Mitchell, in 1876; custom shoe-shop, A. C.

Miller, established 1875r; tinware manufactory, and ped-

dlers' supply-shop, M. S. Locke, established 1858 ; wagons,

Samuel H. Anderson, establbhed 1868
; blacksmithino'

George W. Merrill, established 1878; brickyard, James
Lucas; painter, L. 0. Bean, established 1871; general

mason, Charles B. Husted ; Lucian Ingalls, postmaster

mails daily by rail.
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PRESUMPSCOT FALLS,

a mile distant oq the west bank of the river from which it

takes its Dame, is a scattered hamlet half hidden by the

moand-like hills upon which it is built. It contains a

dozen dwellings ; the cutting-shop of Chase, Knight & Co.,

shoe manufacturers, of Portland, the hand work of which

is delivered to operatives in the surrounding country ; and

a neat union chapel, erected in 1879, by a corporation,

of whom Albert Sampson and Henry Waite were chief

ofSeers. This chapel was dedicated in August of that year,

by Rev. Dr. Carmthers, of Portland. The old store of

Thomas OlcdhiU, built nearly a hundred years ago, and

dosed in 1879, is noticeable for its peculiar construction, as

well as its antiquity, and is probably but little changed since

our grandfathers, barefooted boys, dambered up its steps.

WEST rALMOUTB,

half a mile north of the station of that name, is a compact

place of 15 dwellings, and contains the store of Small &
Newman, established in 1867, by S. K & D. F. Small;

hubs, spokes, and carriage-stock. West Falmouth Manu-

facturing Company, employing 8 to 10 operatives, Alfred

Merrill superintendent ; brick-making machines, L. R. Elder,

established by J. S. Hobbs, inventor; carriages, Isaac

Shoab, J. Newman ; brickyard, F. F. Hall, established

1858 ; saw-mill, Edward Merrill
;
job-printing, at Small &

' Newman's store ; D. F. Small, postmaster. A mile and a

half to the eastward is the general machine- and repair-shop

of Ira Winn, established 1868.

A mile to the north, on Blackstrap Hill, the highest land

in the town, a wooden tower, 40 feet high, was erected soon

after the close of the war, by a Mr. Furbish and others, of

Portland, as an observatory. A summer hotel was de-

signed in connection, but never finished. From the top of

the observatory, which is much visited, a magnificent view

of the surrounding country, Portland, Casco Bay and its

blands may be obtained.

BTJBT1N6-GE01TNDS.

The most interesting, because the earliest occupied, is a

beautiful cemetery on the point forming the south end of

the town. This ground is regularly laid ont, and shaded

by p'm, willow, and poplar, and a grove of pines which

have grown up among the eariier graves. There have

been many buried here in unmarked graves, the mounds of

which are easily identified by 'their uniform direction. The

oldest marked stone bears the name of Moses, son of Capt.

Nathanid Jones, died June 17, 1750. Near by, sleeps

his lather, who died in 1760 ; and Joseph York, died in

1760, aged thirty-three. Nathanid Locke, a well-remem-

bered eariy settler, died in 1758. Capt Increase Pote,

who died in 1781. Deacons Ephraim Merrill and Gns-

tavus Williams; Doctors Ervin N. Tnkesbury, and Jo-

siah Batchelder, Rev. Samuel Stone and Rev. Ebenezer

Williams, pastors of the old Third Church, are also buried

here.

The half-acre known as the Merrill ground, near the

centre of the town, and south of the east branch of the

Piscataquis, is compactly filled with graves, most of which

are marked .by rough, uncut stones but a few inches in

hdght The low spruce, spreading its limbs over these,

gives to the yard a sombre appearance. Upon the few cut

slates, rising above the rest, may be traced the names of

Humphrey Merrill, died 1825, aged seventy-six ; Wood-

bury Ilsley, died 1804; Deering Mitchdl, died 1810;

and Nathan Merrill. The butying-ground near the First

Parish church contains the remains of Rev. David Mo-

Gr^or ; James Merrill, who died 1854, aged ninety-three,

with many members of his family, and the Pettengill

family. In the west. Deacon Daniel Hobbs sleeps sur-

rounded by members of the Leighton, Hobbs, and Crabtree

&milies. A burying-ground on the town line, near New

Casco, is connected with the meeting-house, erected there

about 1812. There are, besides, eleven private or family

grounds, in various parts of the town, most of which are

honored by the graves of the early pioneers.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

GEORGE BRIDGHAM

was bom in Carlisle, Mass., Aug. 16, 1808. He is eldest

in a family of nine children of George and Anna (Nichols)

Bridgham, both of whom were of New England birth.

His grand&tber. Dr. William Bridgham, was surgeon for

QSOROB BBIDOHAM.

some fifty years of the State militia at New Gloucester,

Me. Mr. Bridgham received a good education during his

minority, and at the age of twenty-one, with no pecnniaij

assistance, but with a will to do, commenced a busineu life

for himsdf. After two years, by indnsby and judidous

management, he was enabled to start a store in a small

way, which he did at Sumner, Oxford Co., Me. He
carried the first goods into that place ever sold tha«.

After some three months he disposed of his stock in

trade, and established himself in business at Buckfidd
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village, in the same county, and in connection with the

mercantile business also carried on a hotel. He married, at

the latter place, Aug. 20, 1834, Myrtilla, daughter of Wil-

liam Cole. Their children are seven, five of whom are

living,—George G., Georgiana, Emma 6., William C, and

Isabel.

Mr. Bridgham remained six years at Buckfield, and in

1841 settled at Poland Corner in business and also carried

on a farm. The construction of the Grand Trunt Railroad

interfered with his operations, and he settled at Auburn,
Me., where he kept a public-house for one year, and

returned to Poland. In 1854 he was a member of the

Legislature from the latter place, of which he was selectman

for three years and treasurer for one year, and also post-

master for four years, having previously been town clerk of

Buckfield for six years.

In 1857 he removed to Bridgton, where he was engaged

in the hotel business and farming for nine years. He was

afterwards for two years a resident of Poland, and for about

four years proprietor of the Walker House (now the Boston

and Maine Railroad Depot in Portland). In 1871 he settled

in the town of Falmouth, where he now resides. Mr.

Bridgham is a staunch member of the Democratic party,

and is always interested in all questions affecting local or

State legislation. He is the present nominee on the Demo-

catic ticket for member of the Legislature. Mr. Bridgham

was many years ago connected with the State militia, and

for many years captain of a company.

MAJOR ADAM WINSLOW,
son of Hezekiah and Phoebe Winslow, was born in Fal-

mouth, Feb. 28, 1795. He is a descendant of the fifth

generation from James Winslow, who was born May 9,

1687, and died Oct. 19, 1773, and who resided in Mas-

sachusetts. His grandfather Samuel was the first of the

family to settle in Falmouth, about 1750, as his son Heze-

kiah was bom in that town in 1763. Samuel Winslow

took up the farm now owned by his great-grandson, Adam

F. Winslow, about one hundred years ago, and settled his

son Hezekiah upon it when a young man, who built the

brick house now upon it. He was a military man of some

note, and cherished a love for such displays until his death.

He held official positions for many years in Falmouth, and

during tho war of 1812 received and kept safely packages sup-

posed to contain gold and silver from his friends in Portland.

Major Adam Winslow inherited the old homestead, and

greatly improved it. He served in the war of 1812, and re-

ceived a bounty of one hundred and sixty ^cres of land. He

was at Portland as a musician when the British made their

last attempt to burn it, and was one to help escort Gen.

La Fayette to Portland on his last visit. He was a thorough

business man, and although of limited book-knowledge his

sound judgment and business ability led others to seek his

counsel and select him to settle difficult questions in many

estates. He was selectman, and held various official posi-

tions. In politics he was a Democrat, and in religion a

Universalist. He married Anne Merrill, who was born

Nov. 28, 1797, and died Oct. 17, 1877. They had nine

children.

ADAM F. WINSLOW

was born in Falmouth, July 15, 1836. He was educated

in the district schools of his own town, and, with the ex-

ception of a single term at the Maine Wesleyan Seminary,

at Westbrook Seminary. He is remembered at the last-

named institution as a youth of exemplary habits, and,

though in delicate health, as a close student, and distin-

guished especially for mathematical ability and attainments.

In the higher mathematics he was the first scholar of his

class, and received the highest prize of the institution at

the examination in 1857. He has always taken a deep

interest in the cause of education, and has done good serv-

ice as a teacher of town and select schools. He commenced

teaching in the winter of 1857, and taught one or two

terms a year for a period of ten years.

He married, March 12, 1863, Miss Mary A. McDonald,

of Gorham, a lady of good education and an accomplished

and successful teacher. Their family consists of five daugh-

ters and one son. They live on the old homestead, in the

house built by his grandfather and occupied by him, and

afterwards by his son, Maj. Adam Winslow, father of the

present occupant, who has, however, greatly improved the

buildings which now grace this fine old estate.

Mr. Winslow is a practical and successful farmer. Be-

sides cultivating his large farm, he has, since the year 1874,

been extensively engaged in the manufacture of lumber.

For the prosecution of this business he erected in that year

a mill on his own estate, and is able to utilize a valuable

water-power and the timber of his own forest, and so de-

velop an industry in his town which should be profitable to

him as it is advantageous and helpful to others.

Mr. Winslow is a social, genial, hospitable man, and is

noted for his frankness, kindness, integrity, and public spirit.

He is held in high esteem by his townsmen, whom, as the

man of their choice, he served for twelve years as a mem-
ber of the Superintending School Committee, or as School

Supervisor. He was twice elected by the towns of Fal-

mouth and Cumberland to represent them in the State

Legislature, and was a member of the House of Repre-

sentatives in the years 1872 and 1874.

BENJAMIN F. HALL

was born in the town of Falmouth, Me. (Cumberland

County), Sept. 21, 1824. He is oldest son in a family of

four sons and three daughters of George and Elizabeth

(Hull) Hall, both of whom were of English descent. Mr.

Hall in early life received only a common-school education,

and remained upon the farm with his father until he was

thirty years of age.

In the year 1854 he married Mary R., youngest child

of Dr. Samuel and Theresa (Wormell) Brackett, she bein"

a native of Falmouth, born Jan. 12, 1830. They have two

children,—Mary T., born Sept. 16, 1855, and George L.,

bom Jan. 25, 1857. In the spring of 1855, Mr. Hall pur-

chased and settled upon the farm where he now resides.

His life has been one of activity and devotion to business

pursuits. Integrity in all the relations of life, correct

habits, and a just regard for the best interests of his fellow-
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citizens have been his special characteristics. In politics

he is a Democrat, and has been honored by his fellow-towns-

men with the office of selectman for seven years, six of

which he was chairman of the Board. He is known as a

friend of edacational and kindred interests, and a repre-

sentative farmer.

GRENVILLE HALL
was bom in the town of Falmonth', Cumberland Co., Me.,

Jan. 27, 1824. He is third child and second son of Jere-

miah and Huldah (Winslow) Hall. His father and mother

were both natives of Falmonth, and his paternal grandfather

was a native of Kittery, York Co., Me., and became one

of the eaiiy settlers of Falmonth. Jeremiah Hall died

April 10, 1868, aged eighty years. He was an agricul-

turist through life. Was prominently identified with the

local interests of his town. He was several times elected

as selectman of the town and held various other minor

offices. He was reared under Quaker influences, but never

became a member of any church. He was known as a

worthy citizen and a liberal supporter of church, school,

and kindred interests.

Mr. Grenville Hall was reared on the farm previously

occupied by his father and grandfather. He received a

good education and early learned the principles that sovem

a business life. His occupation has been farming, lumber-

ing, and navigation. In politics he is identified with the

Democratic party. Feb. .3, 1875, he married Miranda,

daughter of William Field, of Falmouth.

CAPT. ALBERT S. TIBBETTS

was bom in Lincoln Co., Me., March 26, 1830. He
was eldest son and second child of James %nd Eunice

(Brookings) Tibbetts, who were of New England birth.

Capt. Tibbetts received a good education during his boy-

hood. At the age of seventeen he went to sea ; when

twenty years of age he commanded a schooner in the coast-

ing trade for two years. Afterwards he commanded a brig

and also a bark. In 1862 he took charge of the bark

" Ocean's Favorite," afterwards of the " Archer," and

sailed her to the Platte River, Buenos Ayres, for four years.

He sailed the bark " Sarah" and also the " Sacramento" for

a time. He has made two voyages to Europe, and the

balance of his twenty-five years' seafaring life has been

devoted to the coasting trade.

In 1853 he married Angelette, daughter of Joseph

Sherman. They have one son living,—Ernest A. Tib-

betts, bom May 9, 1871.

Capt. Tibbetts is a Republican in politics. He is a sup-

porter of church and like interests, and takes a decided

interest in local affairs. In 1873 he settled on the farm

where he now resides, a view of which may be seen on

another page of this work.

-*>«aB>^-w>

TREEPORT.

INCORPOKA'nON AND BOUNDAEIES.

The northeastern part of North Yarmouth, formerly

called Harraseeket, was incorporated under the name of

Freeport, Feb. 14, 1789.

This town originally extended to the New Gloucester

line. That part north of lots 13, 12, 22, 23, 20, 21, 18,

19, 16, and 17, in ranges A, B, C, D, and E, was taken off

to form Pownal in 1808. Front's Gore, on the northeast,

lying between the towns of North Yarmouth and Bruns-

wick, was joined to the town by the act of incorporation.

Otherwise, the town retains its original lines, and is bounded

on the east by Brunswick ; on the sonth, by Casco Bay

;

on the west, by Cousin River and Yarmouth, following the

line between the 100 and 120-acre divisions ; and on the

north, by Pownal and Durham. It included all the islands

intersected by an east-southeasterly line from Lane's Point,

and belonging to North Yarmouth at that date. The town

was to pay its share of the Revolutionary war debt, pay

two-fiflhs of all assessed taxes, and receive its share of the

town military stores on hand.

FIBST TOWN-MEETING.

Under a warrant issued by Samuel Merrill, Esq., an

election was held March 23, 1789, at the meeting-house in

the old bnrying-ground. Samuel Merrill was elected mod-

erator, and Nathan Wesson, town clerk, when it was pro-

posed and voted that Rev. Abraham Cnmminga open the

meeting by prayer. John Mann was elected Treasurer;

Joseph Staple, James Curtis, Col. George Rogers, Selectmen

and Assessors ; Gomelios Soule, George Bartoll, Collectors

and Constables; William Todd, Constable; Bartholomew

Reed, John Dnnning, Wardens ; Jeremiah Nason, Samuel

Winslow, Josiah Cummings, William Brown, Samuel Griffin,

Abner Sylvester, Mark Rc^rs, Daniel Curtis, Robert An-
derson, Surveyors of Highways ; Ezra Curtis, Ambrose Tal-

bot, Tithing-men; James Buxton, Cidler of Hoops and

Staves ; Seward Porter, Thomas Mains, Surveyors of Boards

;

James Crocker, Ambrose Talbot, Joseph Mitchell, Fence-

Viewers ; Abraham Reed, Calvin Carver, Benjamin Parker,

Jr., James Sonic, Silas Wentworth, Noah Pratt, Hog-Reeves

and Field-Drivers ; Thomas Bicknell, Sealer of Leather.
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TOWN OF FREEPORT.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

The early voyagers reported fish, game, and wild fruits

in great abundance within the waters and upon the hill-

sides bordering the coast of the Harraseeket, but the diffi-

culty of escape from Indian incursions prevented any per-

manent settlement on the mainland for many years. In

1658, James Lane ventured a short distance up Cousin

River, on its east bank, in what has since become South-

west Freeport, where he soon after received a grant of land,

and also of the island which bears his name, at the mouth

of the river. About 1660, John Mosier* settled on Mo-

sier's, since changed to Moge's Island. Richard Dummer
occupied Pine, since changed to Flying Point, until his

death in 1666. Richard Bray settled a short distance

south of Mr. Lane. Nathaniel Wallis bought his improve-

ment and claim to 55 acres of land in 1672. Mr. Lane's

land was deeded in 1673. Wolfe's Neck was held and

occupied by John Shephard in 1666. Amos Stevens,

son-in-law of William Royall, joined him in 1674. Bus-

tin's Island was occupied by William Haynes previous to

the Indian war of 1676. At the commencement of hos-

tilities James Lane was killed. His four sons, John, Henry,

Samuel, and Job, fled with the akrmed settlers, who escaped

with their lives, but lost their homes.

Thomas Blashfell settled on the west shore of Harra-

seeket River in 1681, John Harris in 1682, Vines Elliott

and John York in 1682-84. William Larrabee, east of

Cousin River, in 1685. The "wasteland" between Mr.

Wharton, who claimed three miles to the westward of

BurgomuQgoming River, and B. Gedney, who claimed two

miles eastward from Cousin River, was granted to J.

Dummer, Simeon Stoddard, John Foster, and Walter Gen-

dall in 1686. Pine Point was granted to Jeremiah Dum-
mer, one of the proprietors' committee, in 1684.

Thomas Bailey, one of the proprietors' trustees in 1685,

was a son of John Bailey, who came in the " Mayflower,"

and. ancestor of four John Baileys in a direct line, the last

of whom was father of Seth Bailey, Sr., of Freeport, and

grandfather of Amoa J., Asa, and Seth Bailey, Esq., of

Freeiwrt village.

Joaiah Atwood settled near Cousin River, and sold his

place to Thomas Reding in 1690.

July 27, 1688, an Indian and his squaw came to the

house of Samuel and Henry Lane, and were permitted to

stay all night. The next morning they went to the water-

side and called five other Indians. They asked for coals,

with which they began building a fire near the house.

Telling them of the danger of setting fire to the house,

the Lanes carried the fire to the water-side for them,

whereupon they fell upon Samuel Lane, who defended him-

* Mosier was the son of Hugh Moaier, an early settler in Falmouth,

bat who afterwards mored farther up the bay. At the court in July,

1666, James Mosier, eldest son of Hugh, was appointed administrator

of his father's estate, and John Mosier and James Lane were his

sureties. In court, July, 1666, the following judgment was rendered :

''John Mosier fined for his offence 5«, and officers' fees 59.; this 10«.

to be forthwith paid; and if afterwards by two evidences he can make

it out that upon the Sabbath he traveled purposely, as be pretends, to

look after Mr. Lane, who that day, as the said Mosier proteoded, was

in danger of being drowned, then the said Mosier is to have his 10«.

returned to him again."

self SO valiantly that they left him and began chasing his

hogs with their hatchets. Soon after there was a genera!

outbreak, and the settlement was abandoned until 1722.

John Shephard' was killed. Henry Wolfe married his

daughter in England, came to America, and settled upon

his claim in 1717. He received a grant of 67 acres of

land upon Wolfe's Neck and Wolfe's Island in 1733, and

in 1735 was one of the fifteen voters at the town election

of North Yarmouth. His daughter, Mary, was the ma-

ternal ancestor of Nathaniel Aldrich, grandfather of Hon.

George Aldrich, the present occupant.

Mr. Wolfe planted the first orchard in the town, but

finding it attractive to the Indians, who came for the

apples, he cut all down but a single extremely sour tree,

which is still standing.

James Anderson settled on Flying (formerly Pine)

Point. Greenfield Pote, Gideon Mann, and Abner Den-

nison settled near the Cove burying-ground and east of

Harriseeket River.

Mr. Boardman came previous to the survey of 1726.

Other settlers joined them, and a block-house of hewn logs

was built for their mutual prot«ction. Joseph Anderson,

grandfather of Mrs. T. A. Wilber, was born here in 1742.

Mr. Bubble lived on Pine Point in 1746.

May 5, 1756, Thomas Means, grandfather of Deacon H.

B. Means, of Freeport village, was shot by Indians while

defending his family. Mrs. Means, who was captured,

escaped to the house with her- infant child, but was after-

wards shot, the ball passing through the child, killing it

instantly and dangerously wounding the mother. Her

sister, a Miss Skinner, was captured at the same time.

Mr. Martin, who had secreted himself in the chamber,

shot one of the Indians through a crack in the floor. Mr.

Bryant was killed near Cousin River. Two others were

killed near by. Edward Brewer, a Connecticut sailor, was

one of this early settlement on Wolfe's Neck. Ambrose

Talbot came up the river in a canoe and made a settlement

at South Freeport, just west of the village, and was joined

by Henry Parker next to the creek westward. Stephen

Weston settled near. Indians drove them out, and three

times the woods were fired, forcing them to begin anew.

The Lanes returned to their father's place. Jonathan

Rice and Phinehas Stevens, who came as chaiumen, settled

in the town. James Jameson came in 1758.

Amos Sylvester settled on Prout's G«re in 1759, where

his son, Thomas Sylvester, was born in 1760. James

Sawyer, Seabury Winslow, Melzor Byrom, and Jonathan

Woodbury also came in 1759, and settled east of the land-

ing. Caleb Sylvester came in 1763 ; Joshua and Abraham
Mitchell in 1768. William Todd settled near "Todd's

Bridge" in 1771. Moses Cobb, Ezra Curtis, Capt. Thos.

Curtis, Thomas Coffin, Job Douglass, Samuel Griffin, Rich-

ard Grant, Richard Kilby, Asa Miller, Daniel Pratt, and

Josiah Stockbridge were all residents of Freeport previous

to 1774. Nathaniel Josselyn, a soldier of the Revolution,

settled in Freeport, with his brother Abner, at the close of

the war. William, Joseph, and Neheiuiah Ward were

early settlers ; many of their descendants are prominent in

the north of the town. Nchemiah Ward was a tithin"-o
man of North Yarmouth in 1753.
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Id 1789 a committee was appointed to take charge of the

various funds. A heavy pound of timbers, 40 feet square

and 7 feet high, was erected on the ministerial land, and the

town-clerk was empowered to hire money to purchase a

toum-look ! Eleven marriages were consummated between

residents of the town and their ladies.*

In 1792 smallpox made its appearance, and, although

subjected to rigid quarantine in pest-houses, caused many

deaths.

Twelve cents bounty was paid for killing crows.

William Mitchell, being burned out in 1807, was relieved

from tax and voted $100 from the public fund.

In 1829 it was voted that " surveyors of highways are

prohibited from furnishing ardent spirits on the road from

the road-tax."

A to?ni-hall was erected, over the store of Mr. Samuet

Holbrook, in 1831-33. This was burned in 1845.

Among the places of historic interest are the old Wolfe's

Point apple-tree and the cellar of the first house, a camping-

place DOW for summer visitors, on the extreme point, and

on Flying Point the site of the block-house where the pio-

neers sought refuge from the Indians.

The burying-gronnd near by contains the remains of

Joseph Anderson, born here in 1743, and died in 1811.

A family ground marks the resting-place of Joseph Mann.

" Or.- M.," on a rough granite stone, means Gideon Mann,

who was a resident here in 1746.

On Wolfe Neck, Greenfield Pote, who died 1797, aged

sixty-one ; Nathaniel Aldrich, died 1834, aged eighty-two

;

and George Lincoln, died 1818, aged fifty-four, were most

prominent.

The largest old ground at Mast Landing contains Nehe-

miah Randall, died 1790, aged forty-three ; Abner Denni-

soD, died 1786, aged sixty-seven, and many other early

settlers.

At Freeport village a large cemetery, containing 9 acres,

one half woodland, was laid out in 1859, and is held by a

corporation. Among its occupants are Samuel Litchfield,

a soldier of the Revolution ; and the remains from the old

bnryidg-ground, near the town-house, removed under the

supervision of John C. Kendall, selectman, in 1878, and

buried in a trench, some 3 rods long and 5 feet wide, close

to the northern wall.

A short distance sonth is the old burying-ground in

which stood the first church. Capts. Joseph Potter,

David Staples, Daniel Grant, and Samuel Jameson, Hon.

Rnfus Soule, Samuel Holbrook, Leonard Motse, Esq., and

Lieut. John H. Andrews, of the 9th Maine Volunteers,

who died at Savannah, Ga., 1862, are among its honored

occtipants.

In the north, beside the old Bailey water-mill, on Royal

River, are the first of the Hoyt, Jordan, and Plummer

families; farther sonth the Ward family, Capt. Charles

Lambert, who died in 1872, aged ninety-seven ; and the

Cnshing family ground, where rest Capt. David Hooper

and wife, who were aged respectively ninety and ninety-one

years.

* Josiah Reed, Samuel Worthly, Benj. Porter, Robert Townsend,

Joseph Sylvester, Setli Carver, Samael Mitchell, Joshua Gardner, Seth

Bailey, Robert Moore, Joseph Potter.

In South Freeport Cemetery, Ambrose Talbot, who died

in 1338, aged ninety-two ; Stephen Weston, who died 1820,

aged sixty-eight; and Benjamin Waitc, died 1837, aged

eighty-one, are earliest settlers.

Westward, in the Webster ground, are John M. Loring,

died 1839, aged seventy ; Richard Fitts, died 1817, aged

seventy-one ; Samuel Soule, died 1835, aged seventy-three

;

John Webster, died 1802, aged fifty-two ; Joseph Staples,

died 1807, aged seventy; and Samuel Mitchell, died 1838,

aged eighty.

There is another burial-ground in the west.

VILLAGES.

rSKEFORT,

the chief village, is located near the centre, three miles

irorn South Freeport, the chief landing, and is the only

railroad station in the town. A portion of its lands were

first deeded by Gen. Jeremiah Powell to Ammi R. Cutter

in 1768, and to Joseph Mitchell in 1772, including

the business part north of Main Street. In 1824, when

Samuel Bliss opened the old tavern, it was a lively lumber-

ing centre, surrounded by woods, from which busy lumber-

men were fast stripping the valuable timber. Stages passing

eastward from Portland stopped here, and the fisheries con-

tributed to its general prosperity. * The advent of railroads

and a setjbled population have given it a local importance,

and increased the village to its present dimensions. Scat-

tered along its main street for nearly a mile 90 fine dwel-

lings are half hidden by ancient elms. There are here a

new and commodious town-house, three churches, a high-

school building, a Masonic hall, and the following trades

and manufactures:

Machinery : J. P. Merrill, shoe-tools and general repair-

ing; established 1870.

Clothing: E. P. Oxnard, established 1876; furnishes

employment to 12 shop and 80 outside operatives.

Shoes: Davis & Cushing, established 1872; employs 20

operatives in shop and 30 outside,—mostly farmers, who

have small shops near their dwellings. Harlan P. Den-

nison, established 1878; 10 shop and 20 outside opera-

tives. L. M. Bailey, established 1877; employs about 12

operatives in all.

Inks: H. M. Soule, established 1878.

General Merchandise: Gore & Davis, established by

William Gore and Samuel Holbrook in 1831, succeeded by

his son. E. P. Oxnard, established 1874. Rufus M.

Dill, established 1865. Ellis & Eilby, established 1879.

Soule Brothers, established, 1862, by Edward S. Soule.

Hardware: C. M. Ballard, since 1877, establbhed by

James P. Weeman, 1849.

Drugs : 0. H. Briggs & Co., established 1877.

Jewelry : G. E. Weston, established 1878.

Millinery and Ladies' Goods : Mary Dillingham, estab-

lished 1875. Ida J. Noyes, established 1879.

Markets : I. M. Fields & Co., established 1878. Rufus

M. Dill, established 1878.

Custom Shoe-Shops : Joseph Farwell, established 1840.

S. E. Cushing, established 1877.

Uurness : Henry Green, established 1847.
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Carriages: L. T. Coffin, established 1874-. Johnson

Williams, established 1864.

Coffins and Caskets: L. T. Coffin, established 1874.

Blacksmiths: Hiram B. Tuttle, H. W. Noyes, John M.

Locke.

Painter : F. M. Curtis, established 1855.

Livery Stebles: W. A. Mitchell, A. H. Kilby.

Hotel ; Freeport House, George F. Parker, established

in Oxnard Block, 1875.

Conveyancer and Justice of the Peace : Seth Bailey.

Lawyers : E. W. Mitchell, Samuel Clark, H. G. Sleeper.

Physicians : Ebenczer Wells, D. D. Spear, John G.

Pierce, 0. W. Norton.

Postmaster : J. H. Banks ; mails daily.

MAST LANDIKQ,

at the head of tide on Harraseeket Biver, was so named

from being the landing where masts were delivered from

the sarrounding forests for the British navy. Abner

Dennison settled here as early as 1656. Joseph Lufkin,

from Cape Ann, Mass., built his cabin near the bridge

about 1778, and Aaron Lufkin, a fisherman, who brought

with him, as an apprentice to that trade, John Griffin,

father of Tristram R. and Ambrose Griffin, and Martin

Anderson were also early settlers at this place. Zebulon

Lufkin joined the others at the close of the war. The

place had for more than thirty years previous been a most

landing under protection of British troops, who conveyed

the woodsmen to and from their work. Above the settle-

ment, now comprising fourteen dwellings, is an abandoned

store and a school-house. Dennison's mill was here in

1804, and afterwards a large flouring-, saw-, shingle-, and

general wood-working mill. This was burned in 1861,

and the site abandoned. On the west branch was an early

tide- mill.

POETEa'S LANDING,

at the head of the west branch, the home of Benjamin and

Capt. Joseph Porter,—formerly Mitchell's Landing,—was

the landing for Freeport, a mile and a half distant, and a

place of activity. It was at this place Mr. Porter's salt-

works were in operation, in 1793, for the evaporation of salt

water. A hundred yards above the wharf, near the bridge,

there was a tide-mill for many years previous to 1820.

There are 20 dwellings, occupied by seafaring men and

ship-builders, upon the hills around the landing. A road

12 rods wide was laid out through this place, and passing

Freeport village, in 1770.

SOUTH FREEPORT

is -directly opposite the entrance to the free-port from

which the town takes its name. From the earliest settle-

ment of the town it was made the centre of a fishing trade,

which assumed its greatest importance when..from 1825 to

1830, as many as 12,000 barrels of mackerel were packed

upon its wharf in a single year. Attention was turned to

ship-building, which became a leading industry until 1845,

when the fisheries were again revived by Alfred Soule and

Samuel Bliss, who opened a store at South Freeport and

packed largely. At that date there were only Capt. Jacob

Lincoln, Joseph and Jonathan Stockbridge, Washington

36

and Clement Soule, Capt. Ambrose and Floyd Talbot,

Alfred Waite, and C. P;iine at that place, which has since

grown to comprise a fine church, 60 dwellings, store now

kept by J. E. Davis, shoe-shop, school-house for graded

school, erected 1867, and three ship-yards. Postmaster,

J. E. Davis ; mails daily by stage. It has a fine harbor and

safe anchorage for 50 vessels inside. Wm. K. Lewis & Bro.,

of Boston, Mass., erected a general packing establishment at

this place in 1876. Under the present law, restricting the

catch of lobsters to the months of April, May, and June, from

4000 to 5000 dozen cans are packed. This is succeeded

by fish and berries until the corn season. The shops have

a capacity of 12,000 cans of corn per day, packing 30,000

dozen during the season. There are, besides, a large shoe-

manufactory in the north part of the town, established by

J. M. y. Jordan in 1874, and a store opened by J. S. Ward
in 1864, and now conducted by E. E. Morton.

Ship-building has been one of the leading industries of

the town for the last century. The two ship-yards at South

Freeport have been operated by Enos Soule, Soule & Bliss,

and since 1877 by Soule Bros. The yai-d half a mile above,

operated by Briggs & Gushing, was established in 1853.

Edwin Merrill formerly built ships at Porter's Landing.

Mr. Soulo alone has built 87 vessels. Nine were launched

upon the Harraseeket River in 1854.

CIVIL LIST.

SELECTMEN.

17S9.—Joseph Staple, James Curtis, Col. George Rogers.

1790.—Joseph Staple, James Curtis, Thomas Means.

1791.—Joseph Staple, John Cashing, David Dennison.

1792.—John Cashing, Joseph Staple, Capt. Greenfield Pote.

179.V94.—John Cashing, James Curtis, John Stockbridge.

1795.—Joseph Staple, John Cashing, Col. George Rogers.

1796.—John Cashing, Jatnes Curtis, John Stockbridge.

1797.—James Curtis, Natb. Burrell, James Rogers.

1798.—James Curtis, Noah Burrell, Barton Sylvester.

1799.—John Cushing, Joseph Staple, William Pote.

1800.—John Cushing, William Pote, .Tames Curtis.

1801.—John Cushing, Joseph Staple, James Curtis.

1802-3.—John Cushing, James Curtis, William Pote.

1804 John Cushing, John A. Hyde, Joseph Staple.

1S05.—John Cushing, Joseph Staple, William Pote.

1806.—John Cushing, Cornelius Dillingham, Edmond Pratt.

1807.—John Cushing, Cornelius Dillingham, Thomas Bicknell.

1808.—John Cashing, Edmund Pratt, Moses Soule, Jr.

1809.—Barton Sylvester, Moses Soule, Jr., Nathan Wesson.

1810.—Nathan Wesson, Henchman Sylvester, Micah Stockbridge.

1811.—Nathan Wesson, Thomas Bicknell, Thomas R. White.

1312.—Nathan Wesson, Barton Sylvester, Joseph Lufkin.

1813.—Nathan Wesson, Barton Sylvester, Samuel Hyde.
1811.—Barton Sylvester, Moses Soule, John W^ebster.

1815.—Barton Sylvester, William Pote, John Webster.

1816.—Capt. William Pote, Cornelius Dillingham, Ed. Pratt.

1817.—William Pote, Cornelius Dillingham, Moses Soule, Jr.

1818.—Edmond Pratt, Cornelius Dillingham, William Pote.

1819.—Cornelius Dillingham, William True, Josiah W. Mitchell.

1820.—Cornelius Dillingham, Ansyl Clark, Daniel Brewer, .fr.

1821.—Edmond Pratt, Daniel Brewer, Jr., Joseph Dennison.

1822.—William True, Daniel Brewer, Jr., John Townsend.

1823.—Ansyl Clark, Samuel Porter, Josiah W. Mitchell.

1824.—Samuel Porter, Cornelius Dillingham, Simeon Pratt.

1825.—Edmond Pratt, Ammi Dennison, Simeon Pratt.

1826.—Simeon Pratt, Edmond Pratt, Ammi Dennison.

1827.—Simeon Pratt, Edmond Prott, Seth Bailey, Jr.

1828.—Simoon Pratt, Seth Bailey, Jr., Joseph Mitchell.

1829.—Simeon Prott, Edmond Pratt, Thomas Means.

1830.—Simeon Pratt, Rufus Soule, Seth Bailoy.
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1831.—Edniond Pratt, Simeon Pratt, Thomas Meons;

1832.—Simeon Pratt, Thomas Means, Scth Bailey, Jr.

1833.—Simeon Pratt, Stth Bailey, Jr., Joseph Dennifon.

1834.— Josiah W. Mitchell, Simeon Pratt, Joel Eelsey.

183&-3S.—Simeon Pratt, Seth Bailey, Jr., Thomas Means.

1837.—Seth Bailey, Jr., Simeon Fralt, Joseph Dennis.

1838.—Ebtneier Wells, Thomas Means, Enoch Pntt.

1839.—Ebenezer Wells, Enoch Pratt, Theodore Curtis.

1840.—Enoch Pratt, Simeon Pratt, Solomon True.

1841.—Ebenezer Wells, Simeon Pratt, Seth Bailey.

1842.—Josiah W. Mitchell, Seth Bailey, Jr., Thomas R. Dillingham.

1843-44.—Enoch Pratt, Theodore Curtis, Nathaniel Josselyn.

1845-47.—Theodore Curtis, Nathaniel Josselyn, Simeon Pratt

1848.—Simeon Pratt, Nathaniel Josselyn, Richard Merrill.

1849.—Theodore Curtis, Abner H. Wade, Simeon Pratt.

185().—Abner H. Wade, Simeon Pratt, Ammi R. Mitchell.

1851.—Ammi R. Mitchell, Nathaniel Josselyn, Micah Stockbridge.

1852.—Ammi R. Mitchell, Ephraim A. Hyde, William Gregg.

1853.—Simeon Pratt, Nathaniel Josselyn, Ambrose Pratt.

1854.—Micah Stockbridge, Charles Waite, Nathan 0. True.

1855.—William Gregg, Nathan 0. True, Ambrose Pratt

185S-57.—Micah Stockbridge, Nathan 0. Troe, Joshua Soolc.

1858.—Micah Stockbridge, Nathaniel Josselyn, Daniel Grant (3d).

1859.—Micah Stockbridge, Nathan 0. True, Henry C. Brewer.

1860.—Simeon Pratt, Nathaniel Josselyn, George W. Randall.

1881.—Simeon Pratt, George W. Randall, Henry C. Brewer.

1862.—Nathaniel Josselyn, Theodore Curtis, Daniel Brewer.

1863-65.—Micah Stockbridge, Nathan 0. True, Edmond Pratt, Jr.

1866.—Micah Stockbridge, Nathan 0. True, George Brewer, Jr.

1867.—Cuching Mitchell, Darid R. Hawkes, Isaac Mann.
1868.—Cashing Mitchell, David R. Hawkes, Charles H. Pettengill.

1869.—Micah Stockbridge, Darid R. Hawkes, Isaac Mann.
1870.—Micah Stockbridge, Edwin H. Townsend.

1871.—Micah Stockbridge, David R. Hawkes, John Burr.

1872.—Micah Stockbridge, R. B. Rogers, John Burr.

1873.—Micah Stockbridge, John Burr, George Aldridi.

1 874.—John Burr, George Aldrich, Thomas Ward.

1875.—Micah Stockbridge, Thomas Ward, Horace Rogers.

1876.—John Burr, Edward S. Soule, George W. Scale.

1877.—John Bnrr, Horace Rogers, John C. Kendall.

1878.—John C. Kendall, Thomas J. Curtis, Isaac D. Bryan.

1879.—John C. Kendall, Isaac, D. Bryan, Benjamin P. Soule.

TOWN CLERKS.

Nathan Wesson, 1789-1807; John Cashing, 1808-9 ; Samuel Hyde,

1810-13; Nathan Nye, 1814-24; Simeon Pratf, 1825-35 ; Eben-

ezer Wells, 1836-41 ; Samuel King, 1842; Samuel Thing, 1843;

Nehemiah Thomas, 1844^-49 ; Richard Belcher, 1850-52; Ambrose
Pratt, 1853-55; William H. Soule, 1856; Nehemiah Thomas,

1857-61; Edward S. Soule, 1862; Edwin C. Townsend, 1863;

Nehemiah Thomas, 1864-72 ; John C. Kendall, 1873-79.

TREASURERS.

John Mann, 1789-98; Joseph Staple, 1799; John Cashing; 1800-7;

Maj. Thomas Means, 1808-9; Samuel Dillingham, 1810-13;

Samuel Porter, 1814-15; Samuel Holbrook, 1816; Barnabas Bar-

toll, 1817; Samuel Holbrook ; 1818-23; Josiah W. Mitchell, 1824-

27; Nathan Nye, 1828-35; Enoch Harrington, 1836-38; Samuel

A. Holbrook, 1839-47; Robert S. Soule, 1848-51; Samuel A.

Holbrook, 1852; Ammi R. Mitchell, 1853-61; Robert S. Soule,

1862; Samuel A. Holbrook, 1863-75; Enos C. Soule, 1876; Amos
Field, 1877; John A. Briggs, 1878-79.

COLLECTORS AND CONSTABLES.

Cornelius Soule, George Bartoll (col. and con.), William Todd (con.),

1789: Josiah Reed, George Bartoll, William Todd (racanoy),

1790 ; Josiah Reed, Thomas Bioknell (cols.), 1791 ; Reuben Carver

(West), John Stockbridge (East), 1792; Reuben Carver, Thomas
Bicknell, 1793 ; Josiah Reed, John Stockbridge, Reuben Carver,

1794; Reuben Carver, Josiah Reed, 1795; William Litchfield,

John Mann (East), Josiah Reed (West and Middle Dist),

1796; Benjamin Sawyer (1st Dist), Reaben Carver (2d Dist),

John Mann (3d Dist), 1797 ; Benjamin A. Richardson, Samuel

Litchfield, Reuben Carver, 1798: Joseph Hutchings (West),

Obadiah Curtis (East), 1799; Lebbcas Tattle (West), Josiah

Reed (East), John Stockbridge, John Townsend, 1800 ; Lebbeus

Tuttle (West), Noah Burrell (East), John Townsend, 1801;

Joseph Hutchings (West), Noah Burrell (East), Benjamin

Sawyer, Joseph Townsend, 1802; Edward Thompson (whole

town), Joseph Townsend, 1803; Thomas Worthly, Josiah Cnm-
mings, 1804; Joseph Hutchings (West), Thomas Worthly (East),

Joseph Stockbridge, 1805; Simeon Tryon (West), Asa Sprague

(East), John Stockbridge, 1806; Joseph Hutchings (West), Asa
Sprague (East), Josiah Reed. 1807; Barnabas Bartoll, Capt.

Josiah Mead, 1808; Thomas White, 1809; Thomas R.White,
Josiah Reed, 1810; James Johnson, 1811; Maj. Josiah Reed,

Cnpt M. M. Ktndall, 1812; John Townsend, Jonah Reed,

1813-14; William Jordan, Cornelius Dillingham, John Town-
send, Josiuh Reed, 1815 ; William Jordan, Robert R. Kendall,

John Townsend, Josiah Reed, 1816; John Townsend, Robert R.

Kendall, Josiah Reed, 1817-18; John Townsend, Thos. R.

Dillingham, Thomas R. White, 1819; John Wentworth, Tbomiis

R. AThite, John Townsend, 1820; John Wentworth, T. R. Dil-

lingham, Thomas R. White, 1821 ; John Wentworth, T. R.

Dillingham, John Townsend, 1822; Daniel Dunham, Thomas
R. Dilliogbam, 1823; Bailey Curtis, John Wentworth, Thomas
R.Dillingham, 1824; Jonathan Pratt (col.), Thomas R. Dil-

lingham, John Townsend, 1825; Jonathan Pratt, Thomas R.

Dillingham, 1826; Bailey Curtis, Thomas R. Dillingham, 1827;

Nathaniel Curtis, Thomas R. Dillingham, 1828; Nathaniel

Curtis, Asa Baiiey, 1829-30 ; Nathaniel Curtis, Horatio G. Ken-
dall, 1831; Nathaniel Curtis, 1832; Builey Curtis, Horatio G.

Kendall, 1833 ; Bailey Curtis, Thomas R. Dillingham, Bailey

Curtis, 1834; Thomas Means, Thomas R. Dillingham, 183.'>-36;

Nathaniel Curtis, Thomas R. Dillingham, 1837-38; Enoch Har-

rington (col.), Thomas R. Dillingham, Nathaniel Curtis, Thomas
Means, 1839; Somnel A. Holbrook, Thomas R. Dillingham,

Seth Bailey, Jr., 1840; Samuel A. Holbrook (col.), Thomas R.

Dillingham, Seth Bailey, Jr., Robert R. Kendall, 1841 ; Samuel

A-. Holbrook (col.), R. Pope Kendall, Thomas R. Dillingham,

1842 ; Samuel A. Holbrook (col.), Thomas R. Dillingham, R.

Pope Kendall, 1843-44; Samuel A. Holbrook, Thomas R.

Dillingham, 1845-47 ; Robert S. Soule, Thomas R. Dillingham,

1848-50; Roberts. Soule, John L. Holbrook, 1851; Theodore

Curtis, Seth Bailey, Jr., 1852; Ammi R. Mitchell, Seth Bailey,

Jr., 1853; Ammi R. Mitchell, Noah Crocket, 1854; Ammi R.

Mitchell, 1855; Ammi R. Mitchell, John S. Sherman, Nehemiah
Thomas, 1856; Ammi R. Mitchell, George Brewer, 1857; Thomas
B. Lnne, George Brewer, 1858 ; Thomas B. Lane, Seth Bailey,

Jr., 1859; Ammi R. Mitchell, Seth Bailey, Jr., 1860; Abner
H. Wade, Seth Bniley, 1861; Abner H. Wade, Samuel Lunt,

1862; Abner H. Wade, 1863; Abner H. Wade, George Brewer,

1864-65; Abner H. Wade, Charles Field, 1866; Thomas B.

Lane, 1867; Abner H. Wade, George Brewer, 1868; Warren E.

Jordan, 1869; Amos Field, 1870; Warren E.Jordan, 1871-73;

Reuben B. Rogers, 1874; James H. Banks, 1875-78; Alfred

L. Oxnard, Horace B. Townsend, 1879.

CONGREOATIONALIST CHURCH.

The town of Freeport waa constituted a separate parish

by its incorporation in February, 1789. The Congrega-

tionalist Church was formed December 2l3t ensuing. A
church had already been erected in 1774 on the old bury-

ing-ground between the village and Porter's salt-works.

This was given to the town, with the exception of the pew-

ground on the lower floor, in 1789. The covenant was

signed by Ephraim and Mary Gri£Bn, Ambrose Talbot,

Bartholomew Reed, John Mann, George Rogera, John
Soule, Joseph Stockbridge, John Cushing, Samuel Wins-
low, Geoi^ and Dorcas Dennison, Thomas and Sarah Cobb,

William and Anna Litchfield, Silas Holbrook, Abigail

Todd, and Rebecca Adams. Rev. Alfred Johnson was

ordained pastor Deo. 29, 1789. Ambrose Talbot and John
Cushing were chosen deacons; Calvin Carter was made
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Nathan Nye, born in Sandwich, Mass., Feb.

15, 1780, was the fourth of eight children of Wil-

liam Nye and Eunice Handy, of Rochester. He,

at the age of twelve, commenced clerking in the

store of Lazelle, Perkins <fe Co., of Bridgewater,

Mass., where he remained five years, when he was

engaged as clerk in the store of John Fox, Corn-

hill, Boston. In 1803 he went to Freeport, Me.,

and engaged in the mercantile business. In 1825

he took his clerk, Enoch Harrington, in company

with him, under the firm-name of Nye & Har-

rington, who were successful and well known in

all Cumberland County. After the death of Mr.

Harrington, James A. Nye, a nephew, was taken

in partnership, which business continued till 1848,

under the firm-name of N. & J. A. Nye.

He married, Oct. 15, 1806, Susan Lazelle, of

Bridgewater. Their children were Susan La-

zelle, who died March 9, 1824; Eliza Frances,

married Enoch Harrington ; Helen Louisa, mar-

ried William Gore; and D. Lazelle, married E.

P. Cutter, of Boston. Susan, wife of Nathan Nye,

died Oct. 29, 1817.

In 1818 he married, for his second wife, Hannah

B., sister of his fii-st wife. Their children were

Caroline M., married Rev. E. G. Paison ; and Na-

than, who died May 17, 1833.

Mr. Nye was a Federalist of the old school.

He served his town as treasurer for a number of

years, and also represented it in the State Legisla-

ture. In religious faith he was a Unitarian. He

died Marcii 2, 1870, and his wife died July 29, 1866.







'ff^
riiuto. by Cuimiir, I'ljitl:!

eJ'^^.i^ L.-<^^ r^^

Samuel Bliss, son of Samuel and Sarah (Loomis)

Bliss, Avas born in Lebanon, Conn., April 30, 1795.

He spent his youth on his father's farm and in the

common schools. On attaining his majority he went

to Virginia, where he engagetl in the mercantile busi-

ness, in which he remained for five years, when he

sold out and returned to his native town. Oct.

12, 1820, he married Betsey, daughter of Gershom

Dorrance, and granddaughter of Col. George Dor-

rance, of the Wyoming massacre. Of this union six

children were born to them,—three sons and three

daughters, viz.: George D., born Aug. 12, 1821;

died at Placer City, Cal., Dec. 26, 1851. Saraii,

born in Albany, N. Y., June 3, 1823 ; died Oct. 5,

1873, aged fifty years. Gershom, born in Freeport,

Alay 11, 1827 ; died Nov. 2, 1871, at Council Bluffs,

Iowa. Elizabeth, born April 20, 1830 (married

Seward P. Grant, of Freeport) ; and Caroline A.,

born Dec. 9, 1832. After his marriage he went to

South Carolina, where he again engaged in the mer-

cantile business for one year, and returned to Connec-

ticut. Removed with his family to Albany, N. Y.,

where iie was in trade two years, when lie sold out

and purchased, in company with Jolin Armstrong,

two farms in Cumberland township, and a hotel

stand in Freeport, and commenced farming; which

business they followed for four years, when Mr. Bliss

sold out to his partner and entered the hotel business,

wijich he continued for six years. He then sold this

property and purchased a tract of land on the Raisin

River, Michigan, upon which he located two of his

sons. Subsequently he purchased a farm of two
hundred and fifty acres in Powual, Mo., and kept a

dairy, the first in the county. Carried on tiiLs dairy

farm for fifteen years, when he sold it and moved to

South Freeport, and, after a few years in the mercan-

tile and fishery trade there, he retired from business.

In politics Mr. Bliss is a stauncli Republican. He
represented his town in the Legislature in 1835, and

Powual in 1854-55. He and his wife have been

members of the Congregational Churcii since 1857.

Though having reached the ripe old age of eighty-

five, he still retains his mental vigor to a remarkable

degree.
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William Goeb, the eighth and youngest child

of Paul and Mary (Davis) Grore, was born in Jamaica

Plains, Eoxbury, Mass., Nov. 10, 1810. He passed

his boyhood from 1820 to 1826 in his father's fruit

garden, and marketing fruit and vegetables in Boston.

His education was limited to the public schools of

Roxbury,—^winter terms,—supplemented by one term

at the academy in Newburyport in the winter of

1825. During the winter of 1827 he served as clerk

in his brother's hat and fur store in Portland, and

for the three following years was clerk for a grocery

firm in Portland. In 1830 he went to Free-

port, Me., and entered into partnership with Samuel

Holbrook, a merchant at that place. He married,

Aug. 5, 1835, Helen Louisa, daughter of Nathan

and Susan (Lazelle) Nye, of Freeport. They have

had three children, namely: Helen Louisa, wife

of E. C. Soule, of Freeport; Clara, wife of C. C.

Luce; and William Paul, who died at the age of

nineteen.

After continuing the mercantile business for

about thirty years, in partnership with Samuel Hol-

brook and S. A. Holbrook, he bought the latter's

interest in the firm, and continued the business alone

till 1875, when he formed a partnership mth Wm.

G. Davis, who had served as clerk with him for

eight years. In 1863 he added to his mercantile

business that of stock-raising—selling cows in nearly

all the New England States and New Jersey. Mr.

Grore has always taken an interest in horticulture,

particularly fruit-growing.

In politics he was a Whig of the old school, but

of late years has taken no active part in politics.

In religious faith he is a Unitarian. The chief

characteristics of Mr. Gore have been his enterprise,

industry, and integrity. No man can successfully

impugn his honor, and his name is above reproach.

Faithful to every trast reposed in him, constant in

his friendship, and true in his dealings with his

fellow-men, he occupies a prominent place in the

estimation of the people, and an honored position

among the best citizens of the place.
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janitor, with instructions to sweep the meeting-house once

a month ! Messrs. Talbot, Gushing, and Rogers were ap-

pointed a committ«e to call on the selectman of the town

to provide employment for the town's poor according to

law, and to present them with the collection received at

the Lord's Supper. A council of min'isters, held in 1805,

voted unanimously to exclude musical instruments—especi-

ally the bass-viol—from church worship. Rev. Samuel

Veazie succeeded to the pastorate in December, 1806. His

house was burned, together with the church records, Feb.

5, 1809. He died the day after, and was succeeded by

Rev. Joazaniah Crosby in 1809, Reuben Nason, 1810,

and Enos Merrill, 1816. The old church was taken down

in 1818, and in May a new one raised in the village.

This was burned July 28th, when partly finished. A second

one was erected on the same foundation, and dedicated Feb.

25, 1819. Rev. Mr. Merrill was succeeded by Rev. Sdneca

Whit* in 1831 ; Cephas H. Kent, from 1832-36 ; Ebenezer

Sawyer, 1836-51; L. Conklin, 1851-58; R. S. Kendall,

1858; E. 8. Palmer, 1861-62; Benjamin F. Sanborn,

acting pastor, 1865-70; John J. Bulfinch, 1870-76;

George Michael, 1876 ; Preston B. Wing, 1879. Diacons,

Ambrose Talbot, John Cashing, William Soule, Mosss

Soule, Nathaniel Scales, Richard Morrill, John Webster,

James B. Weeman, D. Curtis, R. Rogers. Edward H.

Meloher and J. J. Plummer, present deacons. Church

Clerk and Treasurer, I. P. Merrill ; Parish Clerk, J. H.

Banks. Present membership, 108. The church was rededi-

cated by Rev. Dr. Adams and President Harris, of Bowdoin

College, Jan. 1, 1868. A paraonage was erected in 1877,

at an expense of $1800.

During the pastorate of Rev. Cephas H. Kent, in 1833,

a committee was appointed for the promotion of temperance,

and it was resolved to admit no persons members who traffic

in ardent spirits. From this has sprung a respect for tem-

perance principles in the town lasting to the present time.

At a meeting held at Stroud's Point school-house, Feb.

23, 1855, it was resolved to erect a house of worship at

South Freeport, and a society was formed, of which Am-

brose Curtis was made chairman, and S. D. Osgood clerk.

Aug. 14, 1856, the dedicatory sermon was delivered by

Rev. John S. C. Abbott, of Brunswick, who, assisted by

Rev. John Wilde, supplied the pulpit for a time. The church

was organized in council, July 9, 1857, many of the first

members joining by letter from the first church. Frederick

W. Shaw was chosen scribe ; Joshua Waite, Ambrose Curtis,

and Gershom Bliss, deacons, who were succeeded by William

E. Chase and Bailey Talbot in 1864; Jeremiah Talbot,

1870 ; and P. C Pinkham, 1876. Pastors, Rev. John S.

C. Abbott, Rev. Amory H. Tyler, 1866-68 ; Rev. Horatio

Ilsley, 1868-76; Rev. David L. Jones, 1876-78; Rev.

Preston B. Wing (supplied), 1879. Officers, 1879, Jeremiah

Talbot, Scribe H. Brewer, Treasurer ; J. Talbot, H. Ilsley,

Wells E. Chase, Standing Committee. There have been

in this church 177 members, of whom 29 have been dis-

missed, 5 excommunicated, 30 died, and one lost at sea.

BAPTIST CHURCH.

A part of the inhabitants of Freeport becoming dissatis-

fied with the established church. Baptist ministers were

invited to preach at their dwellingsand at the school-houses.

Rev. Dr. Green, of North Yarmouth, baptized the first

candidates, Oct. 8, 1807. The first general revival com-

menced under the preaching of Rov. Thomas Pall, a colored

man, whose audiences were first drawn together from curi-

osity. This revival continued for months. Nov. 20, 1807,

a society was organized at the house of Nathan Weston.

The 24th of November was set apart as a day of fasting and

prayer, and choice of officers. Nathan Wesson was chosen

deacon and clerk, and EJmund Pratt deacon. Silas

Stearns was ordained soon after, and continued pastor for

two years, baptizing over 40 persons, and dedicating a house

of worship during his ministry. Rev. Seth H. Owen

supplied preaching until 1810, when Ebsnezer Pinkham

was licensed. From his dismission, in November, 1812,

there was no preaching. Elder Daniel Mason became

settled pastor in 1813. Rev. Robert Mitchell, ordained

1817, and dismissed 1820. In 1828, Elder Ripley

and Rev. Enoch Freeman aroused the church to active

work again. Elder Ferdinand Ellis became pastor in 1829
;

Horace Ellis, licensed 1830; R3V. Isaac Smith, settled

1830 ; Rev. J. W. Sargent, 1837 ; Rev. John Butler,

1839, baptizing 58 ; E. H. Gray, ordained and settled Oct.

30, 1839, dismissed 1844 ; Rav. E. W. Cressey, settled

1845; Owen J.Smith (supplied), 1816-47 ;
Rjv. Lymin

Cha.se, ordained 1848 ; Hosea Pierce, licensed 1850 ; J. C.

Merrill, settled 1850; John Hubbard, 1851 ; E. S. FLsh,

1854 to 1860 ; John Rounds, 1860-63 ; W. C. Barnes,

ordained 1866, remaining to 1S70 ; R;v. J. W. Sirgont

(supplied), 1870 to 1875 ; A. C. Herrick, installed 1876.

There have been 520 members united with this church
;

141 dismissed, 48 expelled, and 122 have died. Present

membership, 185.

Deacons: Nathan Wesson, 1807; Edmund Pratt, 1807

to 1864. Present: Edward Cashing, Charles F. Carpen-

ter, James E. Trask. Clerk, H. B. Means. The church

was remodeled in 1860, at an expense of 82400 ; and in

1877 a parsonage was erected on Main Street, at a cost of

82400, and presented to the Baptist parish of Freeport,

by Franklin Curtis and Charles Gushing.

The Free-Will Baptist Church was organized June 28,

1842, under the name of the Freeport and Brunswick

Church, by Elders Nathaniel Purrington, E. G. Eaton, and

Ira Ridlon. It included Amos Lunt, Thomas Cjombs,

Jeremiah Sumner and wife, Lemuel Morse and wife, George

Cobb, Thomas Collins and wife, Ezekiel Philbrook and

wife, Mary Field, and Zoa M. Brown. Mr. Philbrook was

made clerk, and Amos Lunt deacon. Soon after classes

were formed under the leadership of Mr. Philbrook and

Mr. Coombs, who held weekly class-meetings and made

monthly reports until 1850, when the office was. abolished.

Their meeting-house, two miles north of Freeport village,

was dedicated Jan 13, 1843. Thomas B. Lane has been

deacon since 1844. George G. Morse and Charles L.

Brown are also deacons. William H. Litchfield is clerk.

Present membership, 88. Parish organized 1843. Pas-

tors, Revs. William Gowel, A. Purrington, Jarius Fuller,

Nathaniel Bard, Sylvanus Warren, Stephen Coffin, A. Rol-

lins, N. Bard, Joseph Hutchinson, Almon Libby, A. B.

Sherwood, John W. Lowdon, A. Libby, A. S. Prescott,
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J. E. Prescott. Rev. Asa S. Jones and Rey. David C.

Barr have entered the ministry from this church.

A Uoiversalist church— the second in the State—was

erected by JoReph Lufkin and Solomon DeunisoD, betirecn

Mast Landing and Freeport village, and dedicated by Rev.

Hosea Ballou in 1811. It was occupied by Rev. Thcmas

Barnes, who had formerly preached here, Rev. Jubez

Woodman, and Rev. Russell Streeter. This building was

removed to the village, where it was burned in 1832, after

which the organization ceased to exist.

SCHOOLS.

The first school-house of which we have any record was

built on Capt. Roger Edwards' lot (No. 38) in Soutli

Freeport, in 1736. At the organization of the town the

inhabitants of each district were ordered to meet and choose

a school- master. £100 were appropriated for schools in

1794. Rev. Alfred Johnson's salary was increased in 1795,

and he taught a grammar school as a part of his ministerial

duty.

Soon after the burning of the town-hall, in 1847, a

town-house was built at Freeport village. In 1873,

Samuel A. H olbrook laid out a public square for the town,

upon which the town-house was moved, and a high-school

building erected by Rev. John J. Bulfinch, N. 0. True,

and Samuel A. Holbrook, manager. $30,000, obtained

as a surplus jon the settlement of the war debt of 1861-65,

and $10,000 furnished by subscription, were appropriated

to build the school-house. A school supervisor was chosen

in 1876, and school districts were abolished. There are

710 school children ; 450- attending school. The expense

of the high school for 1879, under the efficient manage-

ment of Professor Stephen A. Thurlow, Principal, and

Supervisor of Schools, was $1523 ; seventeen common
schools, $3922 ; with a cost of $60 for supervision. The

school-buildings are uniformly neat and well furnished.

ASSOCIATIONS.

FKEIPORT TEMPERANCE BEFORM CLUB

was organized Dec. 22, 1875. President, William A.

Mitchell; Vice-Presidents, J. E. Davis, Joseph Farwell, F.

W. Nichols, William R. Kendall ; Secretary, 0. H. Briggs

;

Tre!>.,urer, H. B. Tuttle. The officers for 1879 are H. G.

Sleeper, President; M. M. Curtis, Vice-President; E.

Russ, Secretary ; W. A. Davis," Treasurer. The member-

ship is 60.

SOCIAL LIBRARY
' has 750 volumes. P. Br^gs is the librarian.

yREEPORT CORNET BAND

was organized in 1865 by Henry Miller, a veteran musician

of the volunteer army of 1861-65. The band consists of

17 pieces. H. E. Davis is leader and director.

MASONS.

Freeport Lodge, No. 23, F. A. M. The records were

burned in 1845. It was rechartered May 5, 1845.

LAWTEES.

Josiah W. Mitchell, a man of prominence and ability.

He studied law with Judge Whitman, of New Gloucester,

and commenced practice in Freeport, where he remained

until his death in 1852.

Richard Belcher, from Winthrop, a prominent man

from 1825 to 1870 ; now retired from active business.

Ezekiel W. Mitchell, son of the first lawyer, has practiced

here since 1859.

Harrison G. Sleeper, educated in Boston, admitted to the

bar in 1862, and practiced in Freeport since 1866.

Samuel Clark has been a prominent lawyer since 1859.

PHYSICIANS.

John A. Hyde, M.D., from Rehoboth, Mass., graduated

at Boston Medical School, 1794, and began practice in

Freeport, where he died in 1857.

Louis Nichols, M.D., a student with Dr. Hyde, com-

menced practice here, and afterwards removed to Kingston,

Mass., where he died.

Aaron Lufkin, M.D., graduated at Bowdoin Medical

School, Brunswick, Me., in 1823, and practiced medicine

here until his death in 1826.

Ebenezer Wells, M.D., born in Warren, Me., 1801 ;
grad-

uated at Bowdoin in 1823 ; settled in Freeport, where he

still lives, in 1826.

Ephraim A. Hyde,.M.D., son of the first doctor, bom

in 1814, graduated at Berkshire, Mass., and commenced

practice with his father in 1841 ; died in 1871.

John Butler, M.D., settled in 1840, and removed to

Wells, Me.

William H. True, M.D., assistant surgeon in United

States army in the war of 1861, practiced here two years

after, and removed to Portland.

Woodbury G. Frost, M.D., succeeded Dr. True, and

removed to Bath, Me., after three years.

D. D. Spear, M.D., of North Yarmouth, educated at

Bowdoin and Berkshire, Mass., 1867 ; came to Freeport

in 1873.

John G. Pierce, M.D., graduated at Bowdoin in 1867;

came from Canton in 1876.

0. W. Norton practiced medicine since 1854, graduated

at the Pennsylvania Eclectic College in 1867, when he re-

moved from South Freeport to Freeport vilkge, where he

now resides.

MILITARY.

SOLDIERS OF THE REVOLUTION.

John Maxwell, Nathaniel Josselyn, Jonathan Byrom,

Robert Townsend, Melzor Byrom, Richard Gookins, Na-

thaniel Aldrich, Samuel Litchfield.

In 1798 there were three companies of militia equipped

as the law directs, and supplied with $200 worth of ammu-
nition. The town rendered efficient service in the war of

1812, both on land and water. A privateer, named "The

Dash," was built on Harraseeket River, and manned by a

picked crew of sixteen young men of Freeport. Capt.

6«orge Bacon had recently, with the assistance of one man,

rescued a prize in which he was a prisoner, and been in-

jured in an escape from recapture, and the command de-

volved upon John Porter. The " Dash" was spoken by the

" Champlain" when steering for Georges Banks, and was

never heard from after.

Capt. Porter's brother, John Bennett, and Dennis Syl-
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vester were lost on the Tcssel. Fifteen muskets, with

necessary ammunition, were purchased hy the town, as a

precautionary measure, in 1814.

WAK OF 1812.

Richard Belcher, Rufus Gushing, Simeon Coffin, Lieut.

Robert Dunning, James Edes, Ammi R. Mitchell, Ammi
Mitchell, John Mitchell, Joseph Mitchell, Joihan John-

son, Charles Paine, Jeremiah Plummer, Samuel Soule,

William Townsend, William Ward.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

SAMUEL APPLETON HOLBROOK.
Samuel, fcther of S. A. Holbrook, burn in Lebanon,

Conn., Dec. 16, 1776, married Hannah Webster, daugh-

ter of John and Patience Webster, Oct. 13, 1811, who was

born in North Yarmouth, April 4, 1786. He was the son

of Timothy Holbrook, a respectable farmer in Conncctinut,

and spent his minority at home. He was fitted for college by

Dr. Ely, of Lebanon, and graduated at Yale, with the usual

honors. He subsequently taught school, while continuing

his studies, with the intention of following for a livelihood

one of the professions, till impaired health compelled him

to relinquish his cherished desire. Afler one year as a

merchant, he removed to Freeport, Me., about 1808, and

in partnership with Mr. Fowler (Holbrook & Fowler) car-

ried on mercantile business until the beginning of the war

of 1812, when he returned to Lebanon, Conn. In the fall

of 1815 he returned to Freeport with his family, and for

the following ten years was engaged in the general mer-

cantile trade. In 1824 he purchased the Governor

Trumbull farm, in Lebanon, Conn., removed there, and car-

ried on farming for some years. Subsequently, for two

years, he was interested in the business of Shirley & Hyde,

book publishers, Portland, and then returned to Freeport,

and in the spring of 1830 again opened trade as a mer-

chant. From 1832 to 1836 he had associated with him as

partner William Gore (Holbrook & Gore), and in the latter

year gave up his business to his son, Samuel A. Holbrook.

He was a resident of Portland, afterwards, for five years,

and removed to Freeport, where he died, June 17, 1840.

He was known as a man of sterling integrity, of correct

habits, and possessed of a genial and sociable dispo.sition.

In politics, early in life, he was a Republican, later a Whig,

held many town offices, and was a representative in the

State Legislature. His children are John Webster, born

in Freeport, Oct. 8, 1812, and died Aug. 19, 1820. Sam-

uel Appleton, born Jan. 5, 1815. Julia A., born Oct. 9,

1816. Samuel, Jr., born April 28, 1819, died Sept. 15,

1820.

The mother of these children died Nov. 7, 1820. For

his second wife he married Mrs. Elizabeth How, of Portland.

Samuel A.>Holbrook married, Sept. 19, 1850, Emma
Cushing, daughter of Perez and Lucy Burr, of Freeport.

Their children are Fannie Appleton, wife of William L.

Lowell, of Halifax, Nova Scotia, and Julia A. In early

manhood, Mr. Holbrook became interested in the local af-

fairs of his town and county, and was an active member of

the old Whig party. In 1840 he was elected treasurer of

the town of Freeport, and served twenty years. In 1849

he was elected representative to the State Legislature, and

again in 1861, the Whig party having relinquished their

organization, favoring crushing the Rebellion by force of

arms, as an independent Union candidate was elected by

votes from both parties, and served two terms. In the

Legislature he was a member of important committees, and

took decided and prominent part in the great questions

then agitating the public. He was a member of the State

Senate in 1865-66-67, and in the years 1870-72 was

again elected a member of the House of Representatives.

Subsequently, in 1873, he was elected to the State Senate,

and served two years. Mr. Holbrook is well known

throughout the State as a prominent Republican, and a

gentleman of strict integrity and rare financial ability, en-

joying to a remarkable degree the confidence of his neigh-

bors and friends and all who have had dealings with him.

Whether as a private citizen, a town officer, or as a. lesjis-

lator, his characteristic integrity, fidelity to principle, ready

perception of future results, and sound judgment, have

given him rank among the most influential men in the

county and State.
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TOPOGRAPHICAL FEATURES.

The town of Grorham embraces an area of somewhat

more thao six miles square. It is of an irregular shape,

its longest side being on the Fresumpscot .Biver, and its

shortest on. the line dividing it from Westbrc^k, where the

width is about three miles. The length of the town at its

boundary on the Fresumpscot River, which divides it from

the town of Windham, is about eight miles. The surface

of. the town is rolling, and somewhat hilly in the northern

part, although the hills are nowhere so steep or 'precipi-

tous as to unfit any portion of the soil for cultivation. The

soil is chiefly of a clay loam, and in the winding valleys,

which spread out between the highlands, is rich and pro-

ductive. The prevailing stone is micaceous slate, lying in

ledges, and some granite and limestone are found in the

northern partt It is considered one of the best agricul-

tural towns in this portion of Maine.

The whole eastern border of the town is washed by the

Fresumpscot River, which affords, by its numerous falls,

many hydraulic privileges for ' purposes of manufacture.

Stroudwater River traverses the southern part of the town

;

and Little River, rising in Buxton, within two miles of the

Saco, enters Gorham on its western border, and flowing in

a winding channel, affording several mill-sites, and watering

fertile intervals, it at length falls into the Fresumpscot, on

the eastern side of the town. Formerly, the township was

covered with a large growth of white pine, and lumbering,

including the cutting of large masts, was a lucrative em-

ployment ; at a later period many logs were hauled to

supply the mills which sprang up on the Fresumpscot, and

at Saccarappa.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

The original grantees of the town of Gorham were a

portion of the 840 Massachusetts men, and their heirs,

who bore arms in the Narragansett expedition, as it was

called, in 1675. To these men the General Court of Mas-

sachusetts granted 7 townships,—2 in 1728 and 5 more in

1732,—on the terms then generally imposed, viz., that the

grantees should meet within two months, and o^nize each

propriety, which should consist of 120 persons ; that they

should settle 60 families in each town within seven

years ; that they should settle a learned orthodox minister,

erect a meeting-house, clear a certain number of acres of

land, lay out a lot for the settled minister, one for the min-

istry, and one for the use of schools. They were also re-

quired to meet and choose committees to superintend their

general concerns, and to determine the rights of claimants.

The first meeting of the grantees was held in Boston, June

6, 1733, when the proprietors formed themselves into

7 distinct societies, qf 120 names each, representing and
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claiming each one of the Narragansett townships. Three

persons were chosen from each society to make out a list of

grantees of the respective societies, to elect officers, and

manage their affairs. At this meeting it was voted that

one of the societies should consist chiefly of proprietors

belonging to the towns of Barnstable, Yarmouth, Kastham,

Sandwich, Flymouth, Tisbury, Abington, Duxbury, and

one person from Scituate, Mass. This society, headed

by the name of Capt. John Gorham, was assigned Narra-

gansett township. No. 7, now the town of Gorham, the

name being derived from its chief original grantee.

At that time few of the persons actually engaged in the

Narragansett war were living. The committee for the

township of Gorham were Col. Shubael Gorham, Timothy

Waite, and Robert Stanfort.

A small grant of land (200 acres) had been previously

made by Massachusetts, in what is now the town of Gorham,

to Joseph Mallison, of Boston, for the purpose of erecting

mills at Horsebeef Falls, on the Fresumpscot River ; which

falls, for many years, bore the name of Mallison's Falls.

Mallispn's tract was laid out by Fhineas Jones, surveyor,

by order of the General Court; Nathaniel Knight and

Samuel Libby carried the chain. Mallison conveyed this

tract of 200 acres, March 16, 1733, to Gen. Samuel Waldo,

of Boston, for £50 in bills of credit. Neither Mallison

nor Waldo erected mills on this grant. A few years later

the proprietors of this township granted 400 acres to Gov-

ernor Shirley, adjoining Mallison's, near Little Falls, where

Factory village is now situated.

The plan of laying out the town of Gorham was as fol-

lows: Ist division, 120 lots of 30 acres; 2d division, 100-

acre lots; 3d division, 70-acre lots. Each right was to have

one lot in all the divisions. The first division of 30-acre

lots was laid out as compactly as possible on the proposed

roads crossing each other at right angles ; the design being

that the settlers might live near each other, for the purpose

of mutual aid and defense against the Indians. The external

lines of the town were run in 1734 ; the 30-acre lots were

surveyed, numbered, drawn, and confirmed to each right in

1735 ; several roads were also laid out the same year. A
few lots had been sold prior to being located and numbered,

the oldest deed being that of Thomas Thornton, of Dor-

chester, Mass., to Col. Shubael Gorham, of one 120th un-

divided part of Narragansett, No. 7, for £5, dated June

12, 1735. The same year. Col. Shubael Gorham purchased

several other such undivided parts of the township, of

Joseph Akers, of Sandwich, Elisha Hall, of Yarmouth,

John Maker, of Harwick, Robert Nickerson, of Chatham,

and several others ; so that Col. Gorham soon became a

large proprietor, and sold many lots to other settlers.

The first actual settler was John Phinney, " a son of one
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ELIAS S. GOFF.

Elias S. Groff was born in the town of Gray,

June 26, 1811. He is fifth son in a family of

eight children of William and Anna Goff.

His father was a native of Cumberland County,

and was descended from a Revolutionary soldier

who died on the field of battle at Monmouth, N. J.

His father being engaged in agricultural pursuits,

Elias Goff's boyhood was spent on the farm and

in attending school.

He learned the trade of a wheelwright, and

engaged in building mills until 1856, when he

commenced lumbering in the town of Standish.

He continued in business there for seven years,

and was engaged in the same business for one year

in New Hampshire.

He settled in Gorham in 1867, and the same

year, in partnership with Hugh M. Plummer

(Gofi'& Plummer), engaged in lumbering and coop-

erage, and in general trade. This firm carries on

a large business, and employs some forty men.

Mr. Goff has ever been deeply interested in local

and State (tolitics, and is a staunch member of

the Republican party. In the fall of 1879 he was

elected to the State Legislature, after a closely con-

tested canvass, by a majority of only twenty.

He married, June 3, 1841, Abbie B., daughter

of Ebenezer and Betsey (Alley) Rowe. She is a

native of Mercer, Somerset Co., Me., and was

born Oct. 12, 1813. They have an adopted

daughter, Annie L. Goff.
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of the conquerors of the Nurrnganseiti, a descendant of the

Pilgrims, a wanderer from the old colony of Plymouth,

who disembarked from his canoe on Presumpscot River,

attended by his eldest son, fourteen years of age, with an

aze, gun, and a small quantity of provisions and ammuni-

nition, to select a spot for his future home. Proceeding

westerly nearly two miles from the river, he chose a sunny,

elevated spot on the south side of Fort Hill, and there that

son, Edmund Phinney, afterwards distinguished, not only

in various town and State offices, but as a colonel of the

Revolutionary army, felled the first tree for clearing a fann.

This was on a lot adjoining what is now called Fort Hill

road, formerly King Street, about one mile northerly from

the principal village in Gorham. This land is now owned

by Mr. Moses Fogg."*

John Phinney was forty-three years old when he began

the settlement of Gorham. He was a son of Deacon John

Phinney, of Barnstable, Mass., in which town he was born

April 8, 1693 (0. S.). He had married Martha Colman,

and had five children bom in Barnstable, and two in Fal-

mouth after their settlement there in 1732 ; whence they

removed to Gorham in 1736. Mary Gorham, Colman, and

James, the three younger children, were born in Gorham,

the former being the first white child born in the town.

Her birth occurred in August, 1736. She married James

Irish, father of Gen. James Irish, and left numerous de-

scendants. Colman Phinney, the second child bom in Gor-

ham, was killed by a falling tree, when about ten years of

age. James lived in the town till October, 1834, when he

died in the ninety-fourth year of his age. He was a highly

respected and useful citizen. There seems to be a difference

of opinion as to the second settler,—whether it was Dunicl

Mosier or Hugh McLellan,—but the difference is imma-

terial, inasmuch as it is agreed that both settled in the

town near the same time. Daniel Mosier removed from

Falmouth to the town in 1738, two years after the Phin-

neys, who up to this time had been the sole occupants of

that part of the wilderness. Hugh McLellan came from

the north of Ireland, and settled on land a quarter of a

mile north of Gorham Seminary, or the site of the present

State Normal School. The settlers who followed Mr. Mc-

Lellan, soon ader, were William Pote, William Cotton,

Ebcnezer Hall, Eliphalet Watson, Clement Harvey, Bar-

tholomew Thorn, John Irish, John Eayr, Jacob Hamblen,

Benjamin Skillings, and others.

" The first sixteen years after the settlement of Gorham,"

says Judge Pierce, " were years of great anxiety and suffer-

ing. At one time all the provisions the family of Capt.

Phinney had for some days was two quarts of boiled

wheat, which had been reserved for seed. At that period

all the towns in Maine were obliged to erect and maintain

garrisons for refuge against Indian attacks. The fort in

Gorham was built on 30-acre lot No. 2, close to the old

burying-ground, on what is still called Fort Hill, the most

elevated land in the town." The fort had two 6-pounder

swivels placed at diagonal corners, for the purpose of de-

fense and to give alarm in case of the approach of Indians.

At the commencement of the French and Indian war,

» Pierce's History of Uorbain, 1862.

1745, there were 18 families in the town, 9 of whom moved

into the garrison, where they were closely shut up for fuur

years. They were in the fortress for seven years. Eleven sol-

diers were furnished by the government of Mas.sachusetts to

assist in defending the garrison and procuring the necessaries

of life. The nine families which moved into the fort were

those of Capt. John Phinney, Jacob Hamblen, Daniel

Mosier, Hugh McLellan, Clement Harvey, John Reed,

Edward Cloutman, Jeremiah Hodgdon, and Eliphalet Wat-

son. Those who left the town at the beginning of the war

were William Pote, James Irish, John Eayr, Caleb Crom-

well, Ebenezer Hall, William Cotton, Benjamin Skillings,

and Benjamin Stevens, most of them going to Falmouth, a

few to Massachusetts, but nearly all returning and settling

upon their farms at the close of the war.

The following account of the massacre of the Bryant

family, April 19, 1746, and other Indian troubles at Gor-

ham during the war of that period, was compiled by Judge

Pierce from a manuscript of the late Col. Hugh D. Mc-

Lellan, who wrote it from the relation of Mrs, Abigail

McLellan, who died about 1821. She was a girl at the

time of the massacre, living in her father's family, and well

remembered the terrible events she related :

"All the families remaiDing in Gorham bad removed into the foit

during the winter and early part of the spring, except four; they re-

mained on their lands, hoping to get their plowing and sowing dune

so they might raise some crops. Cnpt. John Phinney, the patriarch

of the settlement, who exercised a fatherly care over the weak and

feeble plantation, was urgent to have all in the garrison, he feeling

certain that the Indians would be upon them ns soon as the ground

was bared of snow. As the spring opened he entreated the settlers

to make no delay about moving into the fort, a place of comparative

safety, and where they might unite in defending each other. The

forwardness of the spring increased bis anxiety.

"On the evening of the 13th of April the McLellan family had

completed their day's labor and were assembled in their lug huuse

;

they expected to complete their work in the field the next day, and

then designed to move immediately into the garrison. The evening

was pleasant and warm ; their door was open and their fiiniily dog

reclining outside on the ground ; suddenly the dog growled and became

excited, and acted as if he discovered danger; the dog's conduct

alarmed the family, and they uttered the word ' IndimiB !' The door

was quickly closed and fastened; their light was extinguished; the

windows—small openings cut in the logs of which the house wns

built—covered and fastened; blankets were hung around the fire-

place so that no light might be seen outside; few words were spoken,

and those in a low tone. There were four guns in the house and two

male persons (Hugh McLellan and bis son, William] capable of using

them; and Mrs. McLellan was not much inferior to her husband in

strength and courage.

" When the MoLellans had put their house in the best state for de-

fense their means afforded, they had a milk-pan full of gunpowder,

and lead enough, but it was not in balls. Here wivs work for female

hands, and while Mr. McLellan and William Iny by the loop-holes,

each with one gun pointed outside and another within reach, Mrs.

McLellan was by the fire, behind the screen, with her little daughter

Abigail melting lead in an iron skillet, and with an iron spoon turn-

ing it into a bullet-mould, and then making ball-oartridges. No one

in the house closed their eyes that night. The tedious hours passed

on ; the morning came ; all was fair and peaceful without, nor could

any indications of Indians be discovered, and the MoLellans concluded

that the alarm of the dog was caused by some wild animal. Mr. Mc-
Lellan decided to go to bis work, and finish it that day, and then go

imitaediately into the garrison. They yoked their oxen, and he and

his son went to his field, charging Mrs. McLellan to keep the dog at

home, to be watchful, and on any alarm to blow the horn. Before

they lefc the house, a neighbor, Mr. John Reed, came tu borrow a

chain ; to him they made known their apprehensions. Reed said bo

had seen nothing unusual, and did not think the Indians were in the
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neighborhood ; no signs of them hnd been seen, and he sboald finish

his worlc before he moved Into the fort. Beed toolc the chain, put it

on his shoulder, and started for home. When he arrived at the broolt,

about a quarter of a mile north of the Gorfaam Academy (now called

' Tommy's Brook'), he was suddenly set upon by two powerful Indians,

who hod secreted themselves in the bushes. Reed was brave and

athletic, but was unarmed; the two Indians overpowered him, bound

him securely, and took him to Canada. After the close of the

war he returned home. The MoLellun family owed their escape

to the capture of Reed, as the Indians who took him were on their

way to McLellan's house; but having taken Reed, and there being

two men at MoGlellan's, it would have been baiardous to have made
an attack then. In their conflict with Bryant, the Indians had

fired a gun and broken Bryant's ; he attempted to get to the fort

;

he reached the small brook southerly of Nathaniel Hamblen's boose,

the Indians pressing bard upon bim. Bryunt discovered, on the top

of the bill where Hamblen now lives, Mr. Daniel Mosier, with his

gun on bis shoulder, coming towards them. Bryant called to Moner
to fire upon the Indinns, but Mosier was a long gun-shot US', and did

not know the number of the Indians there; at that moment the

nearest Indian sprang npon Bryant, and with rapid blows of the

tomahawk dispatched him before Mosier was hardly conscivns of

what was taking place.

" He returned to the fort and gave the alarm. Mr«. McLellan, bear-

ing the gun fired at Bryant, directed her little daughter, Abigail, aboqt

twelve yeurs of age, to go to Mr. Bryant's and inquire what the gun
wiu fired fur; but the child, being afraid, secreted herself. When the

mother discovered her, she again ordered her to go; the distance was

short, and sbe soon arrived at Bryant's house. She entered, and the

sight that presented itself to her astonished eyes paralyzed her voice

and limbs for the moment. On the floor lay the four children in their

blooil. They all fell under the tomahawk except the babe. The eldest

daughter was alive; she called Abigail by name and asked for water,

but Abigail was stricken with horror, and heeded her not : instantly

she was flying home, nor stopped to look around. Sbe reached her

father's house an-1 fell prostrate at the door. Her mother took her

up, laid her on'a bed, and immediately blew the bom for her husband*

and son to come. Animation revived in the girl, and she uttered the

word 'Indians!' and fainted again. Mr. McLellan heard the horn

and hastily ran home, leaving his oxen in the yoke. Abigail, on

recovering from ber swoon, related what she bad seen at Bryant's

bouse. Mr. McLellan immediately pot his house in a position to re-

sist a sudden attack or to stand a siege. Water wds procured, win-

dows and doors mode close and fast. They knew not the extent of

the Indians' success, whether all the neighbors were killed or taken

prisoners; nor did they feel sure of the safety of the fort, but they

determined to resist the savages if an attack was made on their bouse.

It was not lung before they heard the report of the alarm-gun (a six-

pounder at the f irt), which was to give notice of the presence of the

enemy in the neighborhood, and to warn all out of the furt to watch

against surprise. Captain Phinney and the others in the fort were

apprised that the Indians were around them by the report of Mr.

Mosier, but they knew nothing of their numbers or the extent of

their depredations beyond the fact that Bryant was killed ; they did

not therefore deem it prudent, with their small force, to leave the gar-

rison. Bryant's boose was but half a mile distant from the fbrt, but

as most of the intervening spaco was covered with thick woods and

bushes, where the enemy might lay in ambush and come opoo them

by surprise or shoot them from the thickets, they made the entrance

to the fort secure and kept a careful watch. Thus the day passed,

and none arriving at the fort, its inmatee supposed the four families

remaining out were all either killed or taken captives.

" The McLellan family mainti^ned anxious watching all that day

and the following night. The next day, about noon, men were seen

coming over what is now called the Academy Hill towards McLellan's

bouse. At first sight they were supposed to be Indians, but they

proved to be a scouting-party going to the fort; there were about a.

doxen armed men from Falmouth (Portland). The alarm-gun had

been heard, and they were thus notified that Indians were about tior-

ham or Windham. At Saccarappa the scouting-party divided, and part

went to Windham. The party for Gorbam came to McLellan's house,

where they were joyfully received. McLellan's oxen, still yoked,

were found in the woods, near by where they had been left the morn -

ing before. What furniture they had was quickly loaded on a cart,

and under the protcctiun of the scout they started for the fort. Near

Bryant's honse they met a pirty from the fort, who hid ventured out

that day to learn something of the extent of the mischief done by the

savages. The bodies of Mr. Bryant and his children were carried to

the fort, and bnried near by with due propriety."

Some days before this attack Edward CloatmaD's family

had removed from the garrison. Od this day he had <rone

to his field to complete the sowing of his grain. The

Indians there discovered him,—some eight of them in a

party together. He had a fine gun which they were

anxious to obtain, and tliey thought also that his capture

would be a discouraging blow to the settlement. He was

a powerful man, of great muscular strength, and in the

prime of life, being over six feet tall and weighing 220

pounds. He was alone in bis field when the Indians dis-

covered him. "As soon as his back was turned towards

them, five of the savages ran towards bim ; he saw them,

and ran for Mr. Bryant's house. Coming to the fence

where he had a short time before placed brush, in trying to

leap over the fence he became entangled and fell back ; he

rose and 'tried a second time, but did not succeed ; then

two Indians sprang towards him; Cloutroan knocked

them down ; a third Indian he put under his feet ; two

more savages came up with guns leveled at his breast.

Cloutman then surrendered. Hud it not been for the

brush that entangled him, be would probably have saved

himself and the Bryant family." Cloutman was taken to

Canada, whence he wrote his wife a letter, which she re-

ceived in September following, relating the particulars of.

his capture. He informed her that the Indians took him

and Reed and Mrs. Bryant westerly down the stream and

remained concealed all day; that at night two Indtuns

approached the fort so near that they could hear the

voices of the inmates ; and that at midnight they forded

Little River. Mrs. Bryant being very feeble, Mr. Clout-

man carried her on his back over all the streams, and many

miles besides where the traveling was bad. They followed

the Saco River, and passed through the Notch of the

White Mountains. Cloutman and Dunbar made their

escape, and it is supposed were drowned in attempting to

swim across a bay of Lake Champlain on making their way

homeward. The skeletons of two men were found on the

shore of the lake, and in the garment of one was found a

pocket-compass, which was identified as one Cloutman Had

in Canada.

" After peace was made, an Indian came to Gorham and

called on Cloutman's widow, and with a beaver-skin wanted

to buy an axe. She would not sell him her axe. He then

went to Mr. Dennis Larry's house and traded with him.

The Indian told Mr. Larry that he was one of the party

that captured Cloutman, and told how they did it. He
said, ' Strong man, Cloutman ; he beat two Indians so they

died before they got to Canada.' "*

.The widow of Edward Cloutman married Mr. Abraliam

Anderson, of Windham, where she died Dec. 1, 1802, aged

eighty-four years. " She was the grandmother of Hon.

John Anderson, of Portland, Hon. William Anderson, of

Windham, and of Mrs. Ann Waterman, wife of Dr. John

Waterman, of Gorbam. Edward Cloutman lell a son and

* Pierce's History of Oorhom.



JOHN H. ROBERTS

was born in the town of Gorl)am, Jan. 21, 1818.

The farm on which his widow now resides was

first settled by Joseph Roberts, and has been in

the family since. He is fourth son and fourth child

of Samuel and Betsey (Huston) Roberts. His

father was a native of Gorhara, born June 2, 1799,

and married, May 3, 1818, Betsey Huston, who

was born in Portland, March 13, 1788.

Mr. Roberts received his education in the common

school and Gorham Academy. He married, Dec. 8,

1850, Martha Ann, daughter of Thomas and Susan

(Edwards) Worcester, who was born in Gorham

Sept. 9, 1819.

Their children are Ella R., wife of John H.

Harmon, of Buxton, York Co. ; Samuel W., re-

sides on the liomestead; Martha L., wife of John

M. Russell, of Worcester Co., Mass. He was a

member of the Baptist Church of Soutli Gorham.

In politics he was a Republican.

In the late Rebellion he sacrificed liis life for the

good of his country, evincing that patriotism and

bravery as a soldier which gave success to the Union

arms. He enlisted in Company I, 17th Regiment

Maine Volunteer Infantry, took part in several en-

gagements, and was slightly wouiideil in the battles

of Gettysburg and Locust Grove.

During Gen. Grant's campaign before Richmoml

he received a fatal wound, and died at Douglas

Hospital, Washington, Aug. 15, 1864, after a lin-

gering sickness of over three months.
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daughter ; the latter died unmarried. His son, Timothy,

married Katy Partridge. They left a numerous family,

who were respected and useful citizens of Gorham, and

some of his descendants still reside in the town."

Several other incidents occurred during this war : Col.

Edmund Phinney was fired upon and wounded by a party

of Indians while out in search of his cows ; a young man

by the name of Bartholomew Thorn was captured and taken

to Canada, where he remained seven years, and then re-

turned to Gorham. It is said that one day during this

Indian war five savages were killed on the Fort Hill road,

near the brook southerly of Nathaniel Hamblen's house

;

three of them fell by the gun of William McLellan. At

another time, when all the men were out of the fort, an old

dog, by his barking and frantic gestures, awakened the sus-

picions of the females in the garrison. They closed the

gate, and 3Irs. McLellan, the wife of Hugh, ascended to

the watch-box, and carefully scanning the bushes and stumps

in the vicinity, discovered an Indian behind a bush. She

got a loaded musket and watched at the port-hole. Soon

the Indian rose cautiously, surveying the fort. He stood

in full view ; Mrs. McLellan fired ; her shot took eflFect.

The men, hearing the report of the gun, came running to

the fort to learn the cause. When told, they were incredu-

lous; but an examination of the spot showed a pool of

blood where the Indian had stood, and a bloody trail lead-

ing into the woods. The Indian had escaped, or, if mor-

tally wounded, had been carried oflF by his comrades.

PUBLIC OFFICERS.

DELEGATES TO TUE PROVINCIAL CONGRESS.

1774, Solomon Lombard; 1775-76, Br;aDt Morton; 1777, Edmund
Phinney; 1779, Solomon Lombard, to form State Constitution of

Massachusetts.

JUDGES OP COMMON PLEAS.

1778-81, Solomon Lombard; 1784-99, Josiah Thaoher; 1789-1804,

William Gorham; 1793-1811, Stephen Longfellow.

JUDGES OP PROBATE.

William Gorham, 1732-1805, twenty-three years. Since Maine be-

came a State, Josiah Pierce, 1846-56, ten years.

SENATORS UNDER MASSACHUSETTS.

Josiah Thacher, Stephen Longfellow, Lothrop Lewis, James Irish.

SENATORS IN MAINE LEGISLATURE.

Josiah Pierce, three years, president of the Senate, 1835-36; Charles

Hunt, two years ; James Mann, two years.

Hugh D. McLellan was speaker of the House of the Maine Legisla-

ture in 1847-48.

EXECUTIVE COUNCILORS.

Edmund Mann, of Governor Dunlap's Council ; Toppan Robie, of

Goremor Kent's Council ; Dominicus Jordan, of Qoremors Fair-

field's and Kavenagh's Council; Frederick Robie, of Goremor

Washburn's Council.

Edward P. Weston, Superintendent of Common Schools, 1860-62.

Daniel C. Emery was Sheriff of Cumberland County in 1856.

Edmund Mann and .Teremiah Parker, County Commissioners.

John A. Waterman, County Treasurer, 1857-58, and Judge of Pro-

bate, 1863-72.

James Mann, County Treasurer, 1862.

Lothrop Lewis, James Irish, and Joseph Adams were delegates to the

convention that formed the constitution of Maine.

37

SELECTMEN.

1765.—Benjamin Skillings, Amos AVhitncy, Joseph AVeston.

1766.—Benjamin Skillinjs, .A.mo3 Whitney, Bryant Morton.

1767.—Benjamin Skillings, Amos Whitney, Edmund Phinney.

17B8.—Hugh McLellan, Edmund Phinney, Joseph Cates.

1769.—Edmund Phinney, Amos Whitney, James Gilkey.

1770-71.—Edmund Phinney, Jumes Gilkey, Barnabas Bangs.

1772.—Solomon Lombard, Edmund Phinney, Xiithan Whitney.

1773.—Edmund Phinney, James Gilkey, Samuel Whituiore.

1774.—Benjamin Skillings, Nathan Whitney, Prince Davis.

1775.—Edmund Phinney, Prince Davis, William McLellan.

1776.—William Gorham, Prince David, James Phinney.

1777-78.—James Phinney, Andrew Crockett, Samuel Harding,

1779.—James Phinney, James Gilkey, Andrew Crockett.

1780.—James Gilkey, Andrew Crockett, William Cotton.

1781.—Edmund Phinney, William Gorham, Stephen Longfellow, Jr.

1782.—Edmund Phinney, Stephen Longfellow, Jr., William McLel-

lan.

1783,—James Phinney, Prince Davis, William McLellan,

1784,—James Phinney, Stephen Longfellow, Jr,, Austin Alden.

1785.—Stephen Longfellow, Jr., James Phinney, Cary McLellan,

1 786.—Stephen Longfellow, Jr., James Phinney, Austin Aldeo,

1787.—Stephen Longfellow, Jr., Austin Alden, Decker Phinney,

1788,—Alistin Alden, Decker Phinney, Nathaniel Frost,

1789-92,—Stephen Longfellow, Jr., Samuel Elder, James Phinney,

1792-94.—Stephen Longfellow, Jr., James Phinney, Decker Phinney,

1794-96,—Stephen Longfellow, Dicker Phinney, Josiah Alden,

1796-1801,—Lothrop Lewis, Josiah Alden,^ Samuel Warren,

1801-5.—Lothrop Lewis, Samuel Warren, Decker Phinney,

1805-11.—Lothrop Lewis, Samuel Warren, Edmund Phinney, Jr.

1811,—Lothrop Lewis, Edmund Phinney, Jr., Thomns McLellan,

1812-15 —Lothrop Lewis, Edmund Phinney, Jr,, David Harding, Jr,

1815.—Toppan Robie, William McLellan, Samuel Warren,

1S15-IS,—Lothrop Lewis, William MoLellan, Toppan.Robie,

1818,—Toppan Robie, David Harding, Jr., Edw. Wescott.

1819.—David Harding, Jr., Toppan Robie, Mattliew .lohnson,

1820,—Lothrop Lewis, James Irish, William Cobb.

1S21.—Lothrop Lewis, AVilliam Cobb, Nathaniel Phinney.

1822.—Lothrop Lewis, Nathaniel Phinney, Seward Merrill.

1323.—Nathaniel Phinney, Toppan Robie, Simon Elder.

1824.—Seth Webb, Toppan Robie, Simon Elder.

1825.—Edmund Mann, David Harding, Jr., Simon Elder.

1826.—Edmund Mann, Seward Morrill, Seth Webb.

1827.—Edmund Mann, Seward Merrill, Samuel Staples, Jr.

1828.-Edmund Mann, Seward Merrill, Levi Hall.

1829.—Edmund Mann, Seward Merrill, James Irish,

1830.—Edmund Mann, Joseph Hamilton, Benjamin Skillings,

1831,—Edmund Mann, Clark Swett, Robert Johnson (3d).

1832.—Seward Merrill, William Silla, Robert Johnson (3d).

1833.—Seward Merrill, William Silla, Daniel C. Emery.
1834,—Edward Mann, William Silla, Toppan Robie.

1835.—Toppan Robie, Benjamin Skillings, Daniel C. Emery,
1836,—Daniel 0, Emery, George Strout,t Josiah L, Swett,

1837,—Josiah Pierce, Josiah L. Swett, Benjamin Skillings.

1838.—Josiah Pierce, Josiah L. Swett, William B, Files.

1839-40.—Benjamin Skillings, Simon Elder, Charles 0. Libby.

1841.—Edward Scamman, John Sturgis, Charles 0. Libby.

1842.—Hugh D. McLellan, Simon C, Clements, Joseph W. Parker,

184.3-44.—Hugh D. McLellan, Jacob H. Clements, Joseph W. Parker.

1845.—Jonathan Hanson, John Sturgis, Edward Seaman.
1846,—John Wingate, William Warren, Robert Johnson (3d),

1847,—John Wingate, William Warren, Daniel C, Emery.
1848.—Daniel C. Emery, Merrill Thomas, Joseph M. Plummer.
1849-50.—Merrill Thomas, Charles Paine, Joseph M. Plummer.
1851.—Merrill Thomas, Charles Paine, Daniel Hall.

1852.—Merrill Thomas, Charles Paine, Freeman Harding.

1853.—Freeman Harding, William Merrill, Jr., Theodore Dame.
1854.—Edward Scamman, Daniel C. Libby, Joshua E. Hall.

1855.—Edward Scamman, Freeman Harding, Joshua E. Hall.

1856.—Edward Scamman, James Phinney, Jr., Joshua E. Hall.

1857-58.—James Phinney, Jr., Charles Moulton, Zebulon Whitney.

1859.—Marshall Irish, Merrill T. Files, William Burton.

' Alden excused and Samuel Prentiss elected. f Resigned.



290 HISTORY OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

I860.—Merrill T. Files, Willinm Burton, Isaac £. McLellaD.

1861.—Isaac E. McLellan, Samuel S. Watcrhouse, Edvin Coburn.

1862.— Edwin Coburn, Samuel S. Waterbonse, Mosig Fogg.

1863.—Joshua E. Hall, B. A. Watson, George Cbadbonrn.

1864.—J. W. Parker, B. A. Watson, George Cbadbonrn.

1865.—J. W. Parker, James Phinney, Edward Files.

1866.—James Pbinne;, Edward Files, Cbarles Johnson.

1867.—James Fbinney, Charles Johnson, Joel Wilson.

1 868-60.—Joel Wilson, Albert 0. Bradbury, Solomon B. Cloudman.

1 870.—Solomon B. Cloudman, Samuel F. Bacon, Lewis Libbjr.

1871-72.—Samuel F. Bacon, Lewis Libby, S. S. Waterhouse.

1873.—Samuel F. Bacon, Mark Mosier, Zebulon Whitney.

1874.—Mark Mosier, Zebulon Whitney, John S. Leavett.

1875.—John S. Leavett, Joseph Ridlon, Kimball Eastman.

1876-77.—Joseph Ridlon, Jeremiah Parker, William L. Larrabee.

1878.—Kimball Eastman, R. G. Harding, Jeremiah Parker.

1879.—Samuel F. Bacon, Charles W. Deering, Henry Mayberry.

TOWN CLERKS.

1764-70, Amos Whitney; 1770-72, Wentworth Stuart ; 1772-73, Amoa
Whitney; 1773-76, William Gorbam; 1776-78, Caleb Chase;

1778-1804, Austin Alden ; 1804-15, Josiah Alden; 1815-33,

William H. Foster; 1833-37, William B. Harding; 1837-39,

Eben Preble; 1839-42, Rustell Linnell ; 1842-43, Cbarles C.

Bangs; 1843-45, Eben Preble ; 1845-46, Russell Linnell; 1846-

49, William B. Harding; 1849-52, John Wingate; 1852-54,

William B. Harding; 1854-55, James W. Davis; 1855-58, Samuel

F. Bacon; 1858-61, E. W. Nevins; 1861-6), M. G. Hayden;

1864-66, C. Henry Paine; 1866-71, J. C. Summersidcs; 1871-78,

John C. Card; 1878-79, David F. Watson; 1879, J. C. Summer-

sides.

REPRESENTATIVES TO THE GENERAL COURT OP MASSA-

CHUSETTS.

1765, Solomon Lombard; 1766, voted not to send a representative;

1767-69, Solomon Lombard; 1770, voted not to send a represen-

tative; 1771, none; 1772, voted not to send a representative on

account of the poverty of the town; 1773, chose Wentworth

Stewart, on condition that be will serve without expense to the

town, which Mr. Stewart agreed to; 1774, voted not to send a

representative; 1775, Bryant Morton ; 1776, Caleb Chose; 1777,

Bryant Morton; 1778-79, Edmund Phinney; 1780, Solomon

Lombard; 1781, none; 1782, Stephen .Longfellow, Jr. ; 1783-88,

Josiah Thacher; 1788, Edmund Phinney; 1789-92, Josiah

Thauher; 1792, Stephen Longfellow and Josiah Thacher; 1793-

95, Stephen Longfellow; 1795, Josiah Thacher; 1796, Stephen

Longfellow; 1797, Josiah Thacher; 1798-1800, Stephen Long-

fellow; lSOl-3, Lothrop Lewis; 1803, Lothrop Lewis; 1804-8,

Lothrop Lewis; 1808, Lothrop Lewis and David Harding, Jr.

;

1809, David Harding, Jr., and Dudley Folsom; 1809-13, Lothrop

Lewis, David Harding, Jr., and Dudley Folsom; 1813-16, James

Codmnn, David Harding, Jr., and Toppan Robie; 1816, Samuel

Stephenson, David Harding, Jr., and Toppan Robie; 1817-19,

David Harding, Jr. ; 1819-20, Lothrop Lewie, Toppan Ruble,

and Joseph Adams.

SCHOOLS.*

STATE NORMAL SCHOOL.

Id the belief that some detailed accouDt of the establish-

ment t>f the normal school at Gorham, and of the proceed-

ings of the citizens of the town in providing suitable build-

ings for the same, would be of general interest, and should

be preserved, the following statements have been prepared.

On the 18th of January, 1877, on motion of Col. Robie,

of Qorham, the House of Representatives

"Ordered: That the Superintendent of Common Sohoola be, and

is hereby, requested to make such examination as he may deem neces-

sary, looking to the establishment of a normal school in the western

part of the State ; and all parties interested are hereby authorized to

communicate with him, setting forth the advantages of locality and

• By Hon. John A. Waterman.

the pecuniary benefits that may be offered to secure the school, and

report by bill or otherwise to the next Legislature."

Tiie following order was introduced by Col. Robie, and

concurred in by the House of Representatives, Jan. 17,

1878:

"Ordered : In pursuance of an order of the last Legislature, request-

ing the Superintendent of Common Schools to make such examination

as he may deem necessary, looking to the establishment of a normal

school in the western part of the State, be it further ordered, that he

be requested to report to this Legislature any information or facts that

he may have received from localities desiring a normal school, and his

own conclusions And judgment in regard to the matter."

Jan. 19, 1878, the Legislature ordered

" That the Committee on Education be directed to make such ex-

amination and investigation as may be deemed necessary, looking to

the establishment of a normal school in the western part of the State,

giving all parties interested an opportunity to be heard, and to report

by bill or otherwise."

The Committee on Education reported the following bill

to establish an additional normal school

:

"Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives in

Legislature assembled, as follows

:

"Sectiok 1. There is hereby established another normal school,

upon such plan as the board of trustees of normal schools may direct.

"Sec. 2. Said normal school shall be located at Gorbam, in the

county of Cumberland, provided and upon condition that there be

conveyed to the State by the proper authorities, for the use and pur-

poses of such school, land, and buildings thereon, situated in said

town, such as shall be, in the judgment of the trustees of the normal

schools, of sufficient capacity and in such condition as to meet fully

the demands of said school. And said trustees, upon such convey-

ance, are authorized to procure teachers and put in operation such

school, and cause the same to be conducted at a cost per year not

greater than that of either of the present normal schools, such cost to

be deducted and paid from the public school funds."

The bill was taken from the table, Feb. 15, 1878, and

the House ordered the yeas and nays on its passage to be

engrossed. The question being so taken, the bill was passed

by yeas 101, nays 34. The vote in the Senate on its final

passaj^e was yeas 17, nays 6.

The Legislature of 1878, without opposition, passed bills

authorizing " the trustees of Gorham Seminary to convey

the property of said corporation for the use and purposes

of the normal school established at Gorham,'' and author-

izing the town of Gorham,, or any of its school districts, to

raise money for providing buildings for the same.

At the annual town-meeting, held on the 4th of March,

1878, a very large proportion of all the voters of the town

being present, after a full discussion the town unanimously

voted to raise $15,000 to aid in erecting a normal school

building, with certain restrictions added thereto.

The following individuals were selected to act for the

town, in the capacity of building committee: Frederick

Robie, Daniel C. Emery, John A. Waterman, Stephen

Hinckley, Roscoe G. Harding, Solomon B. Cloudman, and

Reuben Lowell.

The committee appointed as above submitted the follow-

ing report, which was accepted by the town at its annual

meeting, in March, 1879 :

" To THE ClTIZEHS OF THE ToWN OF OORHAU :

" The committee, appointed by the town at its last annual meeting,

to whom were intrusted the interests of the town growing out of the

location and establishment of the State Normal School and the erec-
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tion therefor of suitable buildings in Gnrliam, hare attenled to

their duty and beg leave to make the following report. They hare,

as was contemplated, acted in conjunction with committees duly se-

lected by the trustees of Gorham Seminary, and by the subscribers

to a fund raised in aid of the Normal School Building. The joint

committee were duly organized and constituted thus : Frederick

Robie, Chairman ; John A. Watermnn, Treasurer ; George B. Emery,

Secretary; Daniel C. Emery, Stephen Hinkley, Joseph Ridlon, Mar-

shall Irish, Rflscoe G. Uarding, Henry H. Hunt, Humphrey Cousens,

Lewis MoLellan, Geo. W. Lowell, Solomon B. Cloudman, and Reuben

Lowell. The labors of the committee have been orowned with com-

plete success. An elegant and noble building has been erected and

completed, which is an ornament and honor to our town. The entire

property has been duly accepted and transferred to the State. There

is now in successful operation a State normal school department, with

its model schools. The first class of pupils is unexpectedly large, and

the opening of the Normal School promises all that its most sanguine

friends ever anticipated.

" The following items hare been taken from the books of the treas-

urer, which give a statement of the cost of the building, etc., and the

sources from which funds were raised to pay the same. The treasurer

paid ont,

—

"For land $1,000.00
" cellar and foundation wall 622.50
" building as per contract 19,880.00
" heating apparatus 1,817.00
" seals, desks, and other furniture $698.40

101.60

800.00
" architect and superintendent's fees... 600,00

200.00

800.00
" grading, drain-pipe, and cesspool 250.00

45.90

295.90
" extra work, insurance, coal and wood, printing,

watchman, and sundry small items 296. .31

$25,511.71
" There has also been expended on the seminary

property something over two thousand dollars... 2,000.00

$27,511.71

" The following amounts hare been collected and accounted for by

the treasurer :

"Money raised by the town $15,000.00
From sale of old barn and apples 20.50
Realised from rillage subscriptions 7,170.00
The balance has been paid by the trustees of

Gorham Seminary, by the prorisions of special

act of the Legislature, unless a small unpaid
amount shall be collected from the subscription

paper 5,321.21

$27,511.71

" The money raised by the town has gone entirely into the construc-

tion account of the building. The committee have encountered many

difficulties and perplexities, and have felt the weight of responsibility

that has rested upon them, and hare deroted much time and labor

hi secure a successful result. They subscribed and hare paid ($5550)

fire thousand fire hundred and fifty dollars towards the Normal School

Building. They have received nothing, and make no charge for their

services as committee, but are fully compensated in riew of the pro-

spectire adrantages which await our town.

" Frederick Rubie, Chairman,

" For the committee."

The following is a description of the school building, by

Mr. F. H. Fassett, of Portland, the architect of the build-

ing :
" The style of the building is modern Gothic. The

entire edifice rests on a solid ledge. The foundations are

two feet thick, and laid in cement mortar. The underpin-

ning, outside steps, and buttresses, are of granite. All of

the exterior walls and main partitions are of brick, 14

inches in thickness. The outside course of the exterior

walls is of face brick. All the window and door trimmings,

belt and string courses, are of Nova Scotia freestone ; tlie

canopy over the front entrance is all freestone, projecting

two feet from the face of the wall, and supported by free-

stone columns, with elaborately-carved cnpitals.

"On the front of the building there is a tower 14 by IG

feet, surmounted by a pyramidal roof, ornamented with

iron cresting and a copper vane. The entire height of the

tower is 90 feet. On each side of the main building there

is a pavilion, each 8 by 24 feet in size and 70 feet high,

surmounted by pyramidal roofs and iron cresting. All the

cornices and towers are of galvanized iron, that on the

main building being bracketed and quite elaborate in de-

tail. The roofs arc high, having a pitch of 45°, and are

slated and finished with an ornaiiiental iron cresting.

" The general ground-plan of the building is in the form

of a cross, the vestibule and dressing-rooms forming the

head, the main building making the two arms, and two

model-school rooms the foot. The principal entrance opens

into a vestibule, 33 by 18 feet, in which are two flights of

wide stairs leading to the second and third stories. On
the right and left of the vestibule are the dressing-rooms,

each 10 by 19 feet. From the vestibule there is a corridor

10 feet wide running through the main building, and com-

municating with the entrances to the model-school rooms.

On the right of the corridor is a class-room 24 by 27 feet,

and a laboratory also 24 by 27 feet. On the left of the

corridor are three classrooms, one 17 by 34 feet, the other

two 12 by 27 feet each. All can be thrown into one room

by sliding partitions.

" Each of the model-school rooms b 22 by 26 feet, and

the two are divided by a glazed partition arranged so as to

throw them into one when occasion requires. Each has a

separate outside entrance opening into a corridor 9 feet

wide, running at right angles to the main corridor and con-

necting with it, thereby giving three spacious entrances to

the building on the ground floor.

" The second floor contains a staircase, hall 33 by 17

feet, the main hall and school-room 48 by 70 feet. In the

rear, over the model-school room, is a class-room 34 by 22

feet, teachers' room 17 by 22, library 17 by 22 feet. The

first floor is 14 feet high in the clear, the second 16 feet.

In the basement are located the steam-boiler, cisterns, water-

tanks, and water-closets. The third story is unfinished.

All the interior finish is of Michigan pine, oiled and var-

nished. The floors throughout are Georgia pine. The

whole building is thoroughly heated by steam."

The exercises of the dedication of the Normal School

building contain so many things of historic interest that

we do not feel at liberty to omit them entirely from this

brief sketch of the town of Gorham.

The dedication, which took place Dec. 26, 1878, was

attended by a large concourse of people and by many dis-

tinguished visitors from the capital and other portions of

the State. The Governor came not only to participate in

the exercises, but to receive in person, as the executive

head of the State, the munificent gift which the liberality

of the people of Gorham had provided, and the deed of

which was now ready to be transferred. Hon. Frederick

Robie, president of the Board of Trustees of the Gorham

Seminary, and chairman of the Building Committee, pre-
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seDted the building to the State in the following able and

appropriate address

:

ADDRESS OF HON. FREDERICK ROBIE.

"Fellow-Citizess op the State, Ladies asd Gentlemen,—In

behalf of the citizens of Gorham I welcome you os participators in

the exercises of this interesting occasion. I conid wish that your

coming had been at a milder season of the year. We are not without

a laudable pride in the summer beauties of our natural scenery, and

under a wnrmer sky, instead of a cold December mornlDg^ we would

hare challenged your admiration. As it is, we trust you will find a

compensation in the interesting ceremonies before us.

'^ I am delegated and instructed by the town of Gorhnm, also net-

ing under the direction of the trustees of Gorham Seminary, and in

their behalf, respectively, am prepared to present to the State of

Maine a deed, duly executed, of the real and personal property which

was contemplated should be given to the State as a considerntion for

the location, establishment, and maintenance of a State Normal School

in the town of Gorham.
" The conditions on which the location was to be made are fully set

forth by an act and resolve of the last Legislature of the State. The

parties whom I have the honor to represent, fully believing in the

loo»l and general advantages which were to accrue from accepting

the conditionfi, readily consented to bear the pecuniary burden and

other responsibilities which were necessary to be carried in order to

secure the location and maintenance of a State Normal School. On
this interesting occasion, in behalf of my fellow-townsmen, I thauk

the official representatives of the State for the opportunity given us

to test onr sincerity and faith in the future success of the Institution,

the buildings of which are now completed. In early spring, after a

preliminary but thorough examination of all our Academy and Semi-

nary property, plans nnd specifications were executed, and a request

was made by the State authorities for more extensive grounds, also

the erection of a new school building was urged on a broader scale

than was at first contemplated. These requirements, in the judg-

ment of the State authorities, were considered essential for a suc-

cessful school, and a compliance therewith on our part became

necessary to secure its location. The proposition was an abandon-

ment of the old Academy and its grounds for Normal School purposes.

"It was a plan entirely different from our previous intentions and

declarations, and called for a much larger outlay of money than hod

ever been contemplated. After some hesitancy and deliberation the

proposition was unanimously accepted by all of the parties inter-

ested, and fortunately the wisdom of the course has become apparent

to all. An eligible and spacious lot was selected by the State

authorities, and immediately purchased by the trustees of Gorham

Seminary.

"Active work followed, and the 'comer-stone' of the new building

was laid six months ago. From that early period the supervision

and examination of the many details incident to the progress of the

work have received the careful attention of a competent and skillful

architect, under the watchful care and direction of the State Normal

Scho<^l Board of Trustees. After a recent inspection of the entire

work of the new building and Seminary, I am informed that this

honorable Board, officially representing the State, are fully satisfied

that all of the conditions and requirements have been substantially

met and performed by the parties that I represent ; and they have

expressed a willingness to accept the same, and further declare that

the State of Maine on its part may properly receive charge of the

entire property for purposes indicated by the action of the last

Legislature.

"The new building is now complete; it tells its own story. We
invite a careful personal Inspection from the public of its external -

and intornal arrangements. We have the plea^ire and satisfaction

to point oat and name some of the considerations of value which are

spread out before us connected with this undertaking. The deed

which I hold conveys the recent purchase of land on which the

Normal School building has been erected. The spot and associations

which surround it are interesting and historic, particularly, so to an

inhabitant of Gorham. It is a part of the original lot of our earliest

settlers, and the title comes from a lineal descendant of the same

family and name (McLellan) which furnished the deed and title fur

the lot on which the old Academy stands in close proximity. The

summit on which the Normal School building has been erected com-

mands an extensive and splendid prospect. In a southerly direction

we notice the blue waters of the Atlantic, on whose broad bosom as

many as fifty sailing vessels can frequently be seen by aid of the eye

alone. The brave men of the ocean, as they pass and repass this

high elevation, can easily recognize the public building on its summit.

The farmer, mechanic, and man of business, ojs they hurry along the

great public thoroughfares which run in full sight of this building,

must be impressed with its importance and use. Buildings of this

character, so conspicuous, become public monuments, which indicate

the sentiment of the people. They inspire the beholder with confi-

dence in the future. Far towards the north and west are seen the

rucky but cultivated hills of old Oxford, and farther still the White

Mountains, the highlands and granite hills of New Hampshire, and

at shorter distances we see numerous villages with prominent church

spires; between these are spread out the happy rural homes of- the

farmers of York and Cumberland, and thus a grand panorama invites

and captivates the eye as it follows along a beautiful and extended

landscape. As we turn to the west and south, Mt. Hope, the high-

lands of York County, and the fertile valleys of Saco are ours in

sight. Towards the east are the neighboring towns of Westbrook,

Windham, Cumberland, and even Androscoggin County is seen in

the far distance. In full view is the city of Portland, with its hos-

pital, many church spires, and public schools,—'The Forest City,'

—

it sits proudly on its own hills, 'the gem of the sea.'

" Pardon me, if we change the scope of our vision and look directly

about us. The summit and the building which stands upon it are

seen from nearly every home in town. It readily commands nearly

every spot that is memorable in the history of our town. Let us

pause and look upon an interesting and historic picture : in plain

sight is the farm-lot of the first settler, the spot where the first tree

was felled by the woodman's axe, the forest home of Capt. John

Phinney, and the cleared grounds once occupied by his neighbors,

—

the Cloudmans, McLellans, Watsons, Moshiers, Hamblins, and Irishes,

—families of olden times; the spot where the Bryant family was

massacred by the Indians, April 19, 1746; the bill on which stood

the old fort where all onr early inhabitants gathered for mutual pro-

tection and safety, and during a residence of seven long years were

the subjects of untold suffering, keen privations, dire want, and

conTtcnt fears. Consecrated spot ! where the gospel was first preached

and the early schoolmaster was at home; where manly heroism was

developed and the better hereditary characteristics of our people

were formed; where the seeds of loyalty were sown and took root,

fully ripe when the crisis of our Revolutionary history called for a

harJy race of brave men. Such were the representatives of the

families who lived in the fort on yonder hill. At every turn of the

wheel which marks or measures an era of progress let the chain con-

necting us with the past continue unbroken but lengthened, so that

a union may ever be perfect in memory becween the present genera-

tion and our ancestors. Near by the Normal School building the eye

rests upon the soldiers' monument. It will teach a silent but per-

petual lesson to our youth, that the memory nnd deeds of brave and

loyal men never die; and although an humble patriot soldier may
sleep forever far, far from home, he is ever remembered by a grateful

and intelligent people. We cannot pass by the old Academy build-

ing, which is the nearest neighbor to the Normal School. It has a

remarkable history, commencing three-quarters of a century ago;

not only revered by all for its antiquity, but still more for what it

has done for science and learning. There is a strong and abiding

sentiment of attachment for this old temple of learning, and it is by
no means confined to our own citizens; fur it is theJllma Mater of a

numerous nnd distinguished Alumni scattered throughout our State

and found in far-distant homes. The names of the former promi-

nent men of our town are connected with its early history,—Judge
Stephen Longfellow, Judge William Gorham, Hon. Lothrop Lewis,

and Dr. Dudley Folsom. The Irishes, McLellans, Phinneys, and
many others were persevering in their efforts and generous with

their means to establish the Academy. They were public-spirited

men who sleep in yonder graveyard, but their memories are still

attached to and preserved in that building of beautiful proportion

and model. Its heavy and reliable frame of oak has outlived the

shade-trees that surrounded it, and looks as if it might defy the

storms of centuries. There is a determination that it shall be faith-

fully preserved, and long, may it stand ; the shadows of the two

buildings will meet and blend fraternally together,—the one repre-

sents the past, the other the present, generation.
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" The Seminary brick building, nbich waa erected in 1836, at a cost

of $20,000, nnd dedicnted in the year 1837, has been thoroughly re-

paired, heated by steam, and the deed which has be«n executed con-

veys the same tu the State, together with a large quantity of personal

property. It vill make a valuable and convenient dormitory for

teachers and students. The new brick building which has been

erected for the use of the Normal School, and about to be conveyed to

the State, is nearly perfect in its architecture and design; it is built

and Bnished of the best material, well ventilated, with steam heating

apparatus, costly furniture, and everything connected with it bus been

carefully arranged with every modern improvement. It will bear close

inspection nnd stand the test of criticism.

" To accomplish so much, the liberality of our town and the private

resources of oar citizens have been appealed to, and there fans always

been a ready and willing response. The amount of money that baa

been raised by our citiiens, and expended by the committee, to secure

the locution of the Normal School, exceeds $28,000. The deed, which

I shall have the honor to deliver tu the State, conveys real and per-

sonal property which cannot be estimated in value by a less snm than

$40,000. We have endeavored to meet our promises and comply with

every condition enjoined upon us, and the Normal School is ready to

start on its high mission. We place implicit confidence in the faith

and strong arm of the State of Maine that it will meet its obligations

and do its part liberally, and as the result of continued wise legisla-

tion, we predict that this new educational enterprise will be honored

and respected.

** I have stated within narrow limits nnd under some disadvantages

a few points, and have made such remarks as the present occasion

naturally suggests. I must now draw to a close, and it becomes my
pleasant duty to present and deliver to your Excellency, repreatnting

the State of Maine, the property herein described, to wit: the Normal
School building, contents, and real estate, containing 5 acres of land;

the brick seminary, contents, and real estate, containing 3. acres of

land. The property is considered valuable, but the associations and

memories that cling to it are dear and sacred. In the Seminary, we

part with an old friend and a fond relationship, but the cloud has a

silver lining, for the future holds out brighter promises; and at the

commencement of this new departure, in behalf of the trustees, who

have BO long labored for its best interests, also in behalf of my towns-

men, I promise the State that there will be the same continued sym-

pathy, and determined effort for the advancement and success of this

new enterprise, that has been our pleasure and duty to bestow upon

the old. I cannot better conclude my remarks than by repeating an

extract from an address delivered by the Rev. Reuben Nuson seventy-

two years ago, on the occasion of the dedication of G-orham Academy.
'* He was a man of wisdom and righteousness, and during a distin-

guished service of twenty-eight years among this people as principal

and instructor of the academy was honored of all men, and the foU

_lowing words which he then uttered, probably taken from the only

printed copy in existence, will be interestin;^ to our older citizens who

were once his pupils :
* Inhabitants of this town and vicinity,—To

behold commodious and elegant mansions rising where lately was a

dreary wilderness; to behold the securities, the comforts, and delights

of civilized life enjoyed, where beasts, and men no less fierce than

they, formerly roamed ,* to behold the refined and liberal arts sup-

planting the barbarity and ignorance of savage life; and the divine

religion of the Prince of Peace taking the plaoe of horrid supersti-

tion, must afford exalting pleasure to every good nnd generous mind.

Permit the speaker to congratulate you upon the flourishing state of

things among and around you, and especially to offer you his warm

congratulations upon your possession of means to train your rising

hopes to virtue and usefulness.

"
' Much praise is fine to our civil fathers for their readiness to in-

corporate and endow this nursery of learning. But to your liberal

and spirited exertions are we indebted for its present respectable ap-

pearance. Without your fostering care it must have languished, and

many years have elapsed before it could possess its present vigor and

stability. May you be rewarded by the gratitude, the improvement,

and usefulness of its children. A richer reward generous minds will

not require. Encouraged by your example may new benefactors arise,

who .ohall supply by their liberality what is yet wanting. Finally,

may the Author of every good gift, and Governor of the world, take

the institution under his holy protection. May he preside over it and

bless it. May he furnish its instructors and overseers wiib wisdom

and discretion, and feed its pupils with knowledge and understand-

ing. May infidelity and impiety, vice and ignorance, with nil iheir

baneful train, be banished far from its walls. May it foster none who

reverence nnd love not the God of their fathers and the Redeemer of

men. May the plants nurtured here bring forth those fruits which

shall make glad the cities of our Gud. May Gorbam Academy [may

I supply State Normal School, established in Gorbam, Dec. 26, 187S?J

be distinguished fur learning, virtue, and good order, till time shall

be no longer.'

" Governor Connor, I now deliver to your Excellency the deeds and

property heretofore described, and the keys of the building; and may
our noble State, the State of Maine, which has been honored by your

careful and distinguished guidance for a series of prosperous years,

ever find as true and just a defender of all its mnterial interests.
''

REPLY OP GOV. CONNOR.

"Mr. Craikma:?,—TheStnte, in establishing another Normal School

by the act to which you have referred, required, as a condition pre-

cedent to its location in the town of Gorham, that there should be

conveyed to the State lands and buildings of sufficient capacity and

ID such condition as to fully meet the demands of the school. The

determination of the proper fulfillment of the requirements of the

State was iutrusted to the judgment of the board of trustees of Nor-

mal Schools. In behalf of that board it is my agreeable duty to an-

nounce to you and the authorities you represent that all the conditions

imposed by the act have, in the judgment of the trustees, been fully

complied with, it being the understunding that the unfinished work

shall be speedily completed, nnd that with the receipt of muniments

of title from your hand the Normal School at Gorham is duly estab-

lished as a State institution.

" lam confident that Istnndin small. danger of using words of undue

warmth and earnestness in expressing the sentiments with which my
colleagues and myself regard this munificent gift which you now make

to the State. To say that we are so well satisfied of the sufficiency

of the property you donate as to feel warranted in accepting it is an

entirely inadequate statement of the estimation in which it is held by

us. It is in the highest degree gratifying to receive; in the name of

the State, these spacious grounds, these stately and commodious

buildings, dedicated to the noblest uses, the free ofi'ering of generous

and public-spirited citizens. The reasons for gratification are mani-

fold and obvious. To those who have had au opportunity t(> see, ex-

amine, and note the character and extent, the worth and beauty of

the donation, and its surpassing fitness for the purpose to which it is

devoted, no argument is needed to set forth by how much the Stnte is

a gainer, in the intrinsic value of the property, and in the facilities

it presents for effective service to the State in one of its prime func-

tions,—the education of its citizens. It is a most pleasing retlection

to the trustees, as it must be to all friends of popular education, that

such an accession to the means of training tenohers sensibly increases

the promise and strengthens the hope of materially advancing the in-

terests of the common school. Beautiful and valuable ns is your gift,

the State is not more enriched by its possession than honored by the

example it displays of a distinguished public benefaction, and by the

instance it affords of the character of our communities and people, of

their appreciation of what is best and highest, and of a zeal ready to

sacrifice selfish interests for common good.

" In the name of the State of Maine, and with full confidence that

the people will ratify my words when they come to know the obliga-

tions of gratitude you have placed them under, I thank you—the

people of the town of Gorham, the authorities of the Seminary, and
all individuals who have contributed to it—for your noble and admi-
rable gift, and for the exhibition it affords of a generous spirit, bring-

ing honor to yourselves and reflecting honor upon the people of the

whole State. Among all the advantages that attend the infant insti-

tution and endow it with the fair prospect of a brilliant and successful

future, the nature of its origin is a strong encouragement of hopeful

auguries. It owes its being to the intelligence, liberality, and benevo-

lence of this town, and I cannot but believe that these virtues will

impart to their offspring a character in keeping with the fine strain

from which it proceeds, and thnt this school will be distinguished for

the faithful observance of all the duties and responsibilities that lie

before it.

" In the detailed history you have given of the course of events

leading to the consummation of to-day—a history, permit me to say,

of great present interest and of permanent value—you have referred
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to the action of the board of trustees in the kindly manner our asso*

ciation with the anthorities on the part of the town would lead ns to

expect. The agents of the State and the agents of the town hare

been animated by the common purpose to make the most liberal pro-

vision possible for the prospective needs of the school, and both par-

ties have been equally solicitous that nothing should be left undone

that could add to its capncity for usefulness. The requirements of the

trustees have been promptly acceded to and their suggestions have

been ooarteously entertained. There has been no driving of close

bargains, no unjust exactions on the one side, or attempt un the other

to erode proper demands. In the important matter of the selection

of a site for the main building, the town authorities gracefully yielded

their preference to the choice made by the trustees, and later on, as

you have assured us, becnme coDvinced of the wisdom of the choice.

I think there need be no fear that the suitableness of the location will

be challenged.

" While the trustees signified their wishes in respect to the number,

size, and amingemetit of the rooms of the proposed structure, they

made no stipulations in relation to the architectural features and

adornments of its exterior. The edifice owes its beautiful design,

symmetry, artistic grace end emliellishments to the genius of the ar-

chitect and the taste and liberality of the local authorities.

" The new Normal School enters upon its existence under the most

farorab'e auspices. Situated on a convenient eminence, commanding

a wide typical New England prospect, comprising mountains and the

sea, the city, villages, and rural scenes ; iu the midst of this historic

town and among an intelligent and refined people traditionally

friendly and helpful to scholars in consequence of years of associa-

tion with successive generations of pupils of the academy and the

seminary; provided with ample accommodations fur boarding pupils,

and fairly equipped in all respects for its work, nu infiuence or pro-

vision seems wanting to make it a power in the school system of the

State. The State will not fail to continue to provide for the worthy

conduct of the school. A principal has been elected whose character,

reputation acquired in the discharge of important public trusts, warm

interest in the educational affairs and large experience in them, con-

stitute the best guarantee that the standard of the school will be placed

at a high point and maintained there. The Gorbam Normal School,

in connection with two other normal schools which have done such

excellent service, will go far towards realizing that quality of common

schools short of which the people of Maine will not rest contented,

for they hold the instruction of their children in like esteem as the

Spartan who requested, in reply to the demand of their enemy for

fifty boys as hostages, that they might in.stead furnish a hundred*

grown men, since they could ill spare the young in the season of their

discipline and instruction.

" I thank you, Mr. Chairman, for your kind reference to myself. It

will always remain among the most pleasing recollections of my offi-

cial duties that I was connected with the noble enterprise whose com-

pletion we now celebrate, and privileged to receive for the State this

costly gift, which breathes the very spirit of peace and good-will char-

acteristic of this Christmas time."

ADDRESS OF REV. QEOROE 8PALDINO, D.D.

We can find space ooly for the following extract from

Dr. Spalding's address

:

"... The people of Gorbam, years before this province became a

State, were distinguished for their culture, and for the sacrifices which

they made to secure the establishment among them of an advanced

institution of learning. It is now just three-quarters of a century since

the Gorbam Academy was incorporated. It was one of the earliest

institutions of its kind in Northern New England. For years it did

a splendid service in the cause of education, sending forth as from a

fonntain-head influences which were powerfully felt throughout the

entire State. I recall with personal gratification the fact that the first

preceptor^ of your academy, and the one who was longest and most

closely identified with it, was a native of my own town,f and received

his education from the teachings of one of my predecessors in office;

and I recall another, the first lady principal^ of your seminary, whose

* Rev. Reuben Nason.

f Dover, N. H. i Mrs. John Lord.

supreme womanly qualities, whose noble culture and earnest Christian

spirit, were your admiration here, and which, in her last days, so richly

blessed the community in which I was born.

" The generous spirit of the olden days abides with you still. Then

the citizens of Gorham contributed, out of their scanty resources,

$3000 for the use of the academy; ani now, by public tax and pri-

vate gifts, you have donated the munificent sum of nearly $30,000,

presenting it to the people of Maine, in the form of a commodious

and elegant building, which you have placed upon the choicest spot

in all your noble surroundings. I cannot conceive of circumstances

more auspicious for the great enterprise which we formally institute

to-day. It may well evoke your highest anticipations of success, and

the good wishes and ardent hopes of every citizen of the State." . . .

The dinner in Ridlon's Hall was presided over by Hon.

Frederick Robie. The speakers were the chairman, Gov.

emor Connor; Mr. Corthell, Mayor Butler, of Portland;

Rev. Jonathan Edwards, D.D. ; Hon. John A. Waterman,

who read letters from Josiah Pierce, Esq., of London, and

Hon. W. W. Rice, M.C., of Worcester, Mass. ; Hon.

Warren H. Vinton ; Stanley T. Pallen, Esq. ; John M.

Adams, Esq.; William Guptill, Esq.', Henry Warren,

Esq., of Dover, N. H. ; Prof. S. J. Young, of Brunswick
;

and G. B. Emery, Esq.

ODE.§

''Rude was the shrine our fathers reared

On this ancestral sod.

Where, as the sacred days appeared.

They met to worship God.

*' The drum-beat was their Sabbath bell.

Near by the rifle lay,

And thus, as ancient legends tell,

They met to watch and pray.

" Black with the smoke of clearing fires,

The log-built school-house stood.

Where hardy sons of hardy sires

Their daily tasks pursued.

" We grasp the prize for which they fought.

The spirit of their plan

;

With broader reach and wealth of thought.

Complete what they began.

" The Commonwealth, the teacher's chair

Its special work has made.

And summons those that task to share

Whose gifts her purpose aid

;

" Men trained to benefit their kind.

And with persistent toil*

Turn the deep furrows of the mind.

And till a virgin soil.

" Hence sowers shall go forth to sow

Good seed in earnest hearts

;

The teacher gathers to bestow

The treasures he imparts.

" This pile the townsmen's gift attests,

Their range and breadth of thought.

The product in the children's breast

Of truths the fathers taught.

" Emblem of power, the nurse of thought

And bulwark of the State,

Thy walls are with a glory fraught

That time shall ne'er abate."

§ By Rev. Elijah Kellogg.
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PUBLIC SCHOOLS.

Gorham coDtains niDetceD public school districts aod two

high schools, viz.: the high school at White Bock, A.

W. Potter, principal, Miss Lucy E. Lowell, assistant; and

the high school at West Gorham, taught by Mr. Willis

0. Dyke. Both of these schools give evidence of superior

instruction. In the high school at White Kock, there

were reported for the year ending March 1, 1879, the fol-

lowing number of pupils from the several districts : District

No. 9, 24 ; No. 10, 10 ; No. 19, 2 ; No. 18, 2 ; No. 15, 3
;

No. 6, 3 ; total, 44. High school at West Gorham, num-

ber of scholars/ 47, from the following districts : No. 3,

6; No. 5, 34; No. 8,4; No. 11,3.

The committee say,

—

" The scboola haye been generally saccesi'ful, althoagh great im-

provement may be made in most of them by cultirating more inde-

pendence of thought, and confining the recitation less closely to the

text-books. By the mere use of bouks, information may be crammed
into the mind; but to awaken thought and develop character is a far

higher work. There is also, in some of oar schools, bnt little vense of

decomm. This is a very important element in education. The at-

tention of teachers is especially called to this part of their duty. The
work of teaching involves great responsibility, and no one should

engage in it who does not highly value its opportunities fur doing

good to the minds, manner?, and character of his pupils.

" We wish to call the attention of parents to the low average of at-

tendance, which can be improved by them alone. Less importance is

attached by many parents to punctuality at school than to any of the

regular duties of children at home. This produces in the mind of

the child indifference to study and to good mental habits.

" The presence of the parents occasionally in the school is requi-

site to the best progress uf their children. While we may freely ap-

propriate money and procure the services'of the best teachers, the

highest results cannot be obtained without the individual attention of

the parents."

The estimated value of school property in the town, in-

cluding lots, buildings, and furniture, is 813,530.70. Money

expended for schools during the fiscal year, $5342.35.

Number of scholars returned by agents, 981.

School Committee.—Kimball Eastman, Roscoe G. Hard-

ing, Jeremiah Parker, Melville Johnson, H. S. Huntington,

M^ T. Files.

The town farm, containing accommodations for the poor,

is superintended by Daniel D. Plummer. The number

of inmates of the house during the year was 7. The

selectmen report the value of the farm property and the

product of hay considerably increased. They say,

—

" We have visited the farm frequently, and have always found the

house well kept and the inmates clean and neat."

Money raised by tax during the year, $22,497.74 ; valu-

ation, $1,191,776; number of polls taxed, 731; rate of

taxation, $1.70 on $100
;

poll tax, $3.

80LDIEES' MONUMENT.

The monument stands directly in front of the town-house.

It is made of Italian marble, with die and shaft, the latter

in obelisk form, and rests upon a substantial base of granite.

The die has inscribed upon it the names of our deceased

soldiers. The shaft is ornamented with military emblems,

carved in relief, and the whole structure is surmounted by

the American eagle. All the carving as well as the general

finish of the monument is very handsome and appropriate.

The height of the column is twenty-four feet. The base

block has the following inscription :

KRECTED BV

HON. TOPPAN ROBIE.
To the Memory of the Sons uf Gorham who sacrificed their Lives for

their Country in the great Rebellion of 1861.

1S66.

The following inscriptions appear on the die in order

:

Captain Almon L. Fogg, 17th Maine Regiment, mortally wounded at

Gettysburg, Pa., July 3d, 1863, died July 4th, aged 24.

Captain Oliver H. Lowell, IBth Maine Regiment, mortally wounded

at Gettysburg, Pa., July 1st, 1863, died July 2d, aged 33.

Captain Daniel M. Phillips, 12th Maine Regiment, killed at Winches-

ter, Va., Sept. 19th, 1864, aged 28.

Captain Chester B. Shaw, 9th Maine Regiment, killed at Fort Wngner,

S. C, July 18th, 186.3, aged 25.

Lieutenant George W. Edwards, 16th Maine Regiment, killed at

Fredericksburg, Va., Dec. 13th, 1862, aged 22.

Sergeant Joseph Files, Jr., 32d Maine Regiment, killed at Spottsyl-

vania, Va., May 12th, 1864, aged 30.

Sergeant John McPhee, 16th Maine Regiment, killed at Petersburg,

Va., April 2d, 1865, aged 35.

Sergeant Charles H. Patrick, 5th Maine Regiment, died at Washing-

ton, D. C, July 3d, 1S64, aged 28.

Sergeant Horatio F. Smith, 31st Maine Regiment, died at Gorham,

Aug. 28th, 1864, aged 19.

Corporal William Cannelt, Jr., 16th Maine Regiment, killed at Gettys-

burg, Pa., July 1st, 1863, aged 30.

Corporal Shirley Harmon, Jr., 2d Maine Cavalry, died at Gorham,

Oct. 28, 1864, aged 18.

Corporal Benjamin F. Metcalf, 16tb Maine Regiment, died at Gorham,

Juoe 24tli, 1863, aged 20.

Corporal Henry H. Newell, 5tb Maine Regiment, died at Alexandria,

Va., Nov. 28th, 1861, aged 21.

Corporal Mahlun H. Parker, 12tb Maine Regiment, killed at Port

Hudson, La., May 31st, 1863, aged 22.

Sergeant Cyrus M. Hnll, 17th Maine Regiment, killed at Gettysburg,

Ph., July 3d, 1863, nged 22.

Sergeant William H. Johnson, 9th Maine Regiment, died at Gorham,

Feb. 15th, 1866, aged 44.

Corporal Morris F. Bumpus, 5lh Maine Regiment, wounded at Spott-

sylvania, Va., May 10th, died May 12th, 1864, aged 29.

Corporal John F. Harding, I6th Maine Regiment, wounded at Hat-

cher's Run, Va., Feb. 6th, died Feb. 21st, 1865, aged 22.

Corporal Daniel L. Roberts, I2th Maine Regiment, died at Ship

Island, Miss., May 15th, 1862, aged 25.

Corporal George S. Reed, 5th Maine Regiment, died in Westbrook,

Me., April 27th, 1864, aged 48.

Corporal Charles M. Ward, 5th Maine Regiment, killed at Spottsyl-

vania, Va., May 12th, 1864, aged 23.

Abram S. Andrews, 16tb Maine Regiment, died in Libby PriFon,

Richmond, Va., Nov. 2d, 1863, aged 21.

James B. Brown, 17th Maine Regiment, died at Frederick, Md., Aug.

1st, 1863, aged 21.

Freeman Brown, 17th Maine Regiment, died at Baltimore, Md., April

2l8t, 1865, aged 34.

Franklin H. Blake, 11th U. S. Infantry, wounded at Spottsylvania,

Va., May 8th, died May 9th, 1S64, aged 20.

George W. Coooley, Baker's D. C. Cavalry, died at Augusta, Me.,

March Ist, 1864, aged 18.

William F. Dunn, 20th Maine Regiment, died at Cape Elizabeth, Me.,

-April 14th, 1865, aged 19.

Peter Duffey, 6th Maine Regiment, killed at Petersburg, Va., June

20th, 1864, aged 22.

Ormond L. Douglass, Ist California Cavalry, killed at Fort Laramie,

Kansas, October, 1864, aged 23.

Alonzo S. Elder, 5th Maine Regiment, wounded at Rappahannock,

Va., Nov. 8th, died Nov. 10th, 1863, aged 23.

Albert S. Estes, 13th Mass. Regiment, killed at Manassas, Va., Aug.

29tb, 1862, aged 25.
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Ephraim Hioks, 17th Maine Regiment, Itilled at Gettysburg, Pa., Jaly

2d, IS63, aged 21.

James E. Haskell, 17tb Maine Regiment, killed at Fredericksburg,

Ya., Dec. 13tb, 1S62, aged 20.

Joseph D. Harmon, 5tb Maine Regiment, killed at Gaines' Millx, Va.,

June 27th, 1862, aged 22.

Lewis Libby, 20th Maine Regiment, died at Philadelphia, Pa., July

7th, 1865, aged 20.

Solomon Mains, 10th Maine Regiment, wounded at Antietam, Md.,

Sept 17th, died Sept. I8tb, 1862, aged 37.

George H. Merrett, 5th Maine Regiment, killed at St. Charles, Ark.,

June 13, 1862, aged 22.

William Powers, 17th Maine Regiment, died at Washington, D. C,
Jan. lltb, 1863, aged 20.

Charles F. Kiggs, 6th Maine Battery, killed at Petersburg, Va., Deo.

5th, 1864, aged 24.

John H. Roberts, 17th Maine Regiment, wounded at Spottaylrania,

Va., May 12th, died Aug. 15th, 1864, aged 45.

Emery Rolfe, 5th Maine Regiment, died at Qoremor's Island, S. Y.,

Nor. 2, 1862, aged 20.

Freedom D. Rand, 11th Maine Regiment, wounded at the Wilderness,

Va., May 6th, died May 7th, 1364, aged 23.

Joseph Small, 1st Maine Caralry, wounded and prisoner, Aug. 1864,

died in rebel prison, aged 20.

Francis H. Small, 2d Maine Caralry, died at Barrancas, Fla., Sept.

5th, 1865, aged 21.

William M. Spaulding, 1st Maine Battery, died at New Orleans, La.,

July 5th, 1864, aged 45.

James A. Smith, 12th Maine Regiment, died at New Orleans, La.,

May 27th, 1862, aged 19.

William H. Smith, 32d Maine Regiment, died at New Haren, Conn.,

Sept. Itftb, 1864, aged 32.

John M. Sterens, 2d Maine Battery, died at Baltimore, Md., Jan. 4tb,

1865, aged 21.

Silas M. Smith, 17ih Maine Regiment, died at Washington, D. C,
May 24th, 1865, aged 29.

Moses B. Tripp, 9th Maine Regiment, died at Femandina, Fla., Aug.
6th, 1862, aged 33.

William W. Ward, 16th Miiine Regiment, died at Annapolis, Md,,

Oct. 20th, 1863, aged 19.

Charles F. Waterman, 7th Connecticut Regiment, died at Fort Pulaski,

Ga., June 5th, 1862, aged 18.

Alonso M. Whitney, 16th Maine Regiment, killed at Fredericksburg,

Va., Dee. 13tb, 1862, aged 18.

Q. Sumner Whitney, 12th Maine Regiment, died at Sarannah, Ga.,

May 11th, 1865, aged 20.

Charles Williams, Uth Maine Regiment, died at Meridian Hill, D. C,
April lOtb, 1862, aged 41.

Charles H. Paine, 1st Maine Regiment, died at Gorham, May 25th,

1866, aged 24.

Rer. John R. Adams, D.D., died April 25th, 1866, aged 64, of disease

resulting from deroted serrice during the Rebellion as Chaplain

of the 5lh Maine and the 12 1st New York Regiments.

DEDICATION.

The soldiers of Gorham aad other returned soldiers, and

the several organizations who had been invited to join in

the procession, assembled on the Common (on South Street)

at half-past twelve o'clock. The procession formed in the

following order

:

Company Artillery U. S. A., Maj. Bartlet.

Returned Soldiers or Gorham, Col. Coleman Harding.

Orator. Poet. Chaptain.

President of the Day and Committee of Arrangements.

Municipal Officers and Aged Citisens of Gorham.
Families of Deceased Soldiers.

Army and Nary Union, from Portland.

Officers and Soldiers from other Towns.

Freemasons.

Strangers.

Citisens of Gorham.

A Union National salute was fired in the morning, and

on the arrival of Gen. Chamberlain, a major-general's

salute. Fifty-seven guns were fired at noon, in honor of

our deceased soldiers whose names appear on the monu-

ment,—all under the direction of Lieut. Charles 0. Hunt.

The procession moved at two o'clock, and passed through

the principal streets of the village.

The exercises at the monument were as follows : dirge

by the band
;
prayer, by Rev. Caleb Fuller ; introductory

address, by Hon. J. A. Waterman, chairman of the Muua-

ment Committee.

ADOnESS.

" FELU>w-CrnzE!rs,—In performing the duty assigned to me upon

this occasion, I hare thought that a brief account of the circumstances

relating to the erection of this monument, for the dedication of which

we hare assembled, would not be inappropriate.

" At the rery outbreak of the Rebellion the sons of Gorham, true

to the spirit which animated their ancestors, many of whom were

soldiers in the French and Indian and Rerolutionary wars, and also

the war of 1SI2, were among the first to respond to their country's

call. Immediately upon the reception of the President's proclama-

tion of April 15, 1861, the old flag was raised and hung across our

principal street.

" Gazing with new interest and increased derotion upon this national

emblem, which had just receired foul dishonor from those whom it

had protected, and who should hare been its defenders, our brure and

patriotic youth rallied about it, eager to arenge the insult cast upon

it and to offer their hearts' blood, if needed, to wash out the stain

which parricidal hands had left on its hitherto untarnished folds.

'' From that time throughout the four long aad anxious years that

followed, this town was erer ready to meet, to the fullest extent, erery

demand upon her citizens or her pecuniary resources ; while our

women and children, year after year, in the darkest hours ns well as

in more hopeful seasons, were indefatigable in their labors to promote

the health and comfort, and to alleriate the sufferings of those who,

between us and danger, were fighting the battles of the Republic.

" But alas; bow many of those who went forth from us in all the

rigor and enthusiasm of youth, or the energy and strength of man-

hood, hare fallen ! How crowded with names of dear and loved ones

is the roll of ' the unretnming brare I'

"Yet proud as our record as a town might otherwise be, it would

lack much of completeness without some public memorial to perpetu-

ate the eridence of our grateful recognition of their serrices, and the

honor to which they are most justly entitled.

'* Entertaining this sentiment in common with others, our renerable

townsman and friend, Hun. Toppan Robie, has anticipated all muni-

cipal or individual action in regard to it, and most generously appro-

priated a portion of his ample means, the fruit of years of industry

and integrity, to the erection of the monument before us.

" Early in October, 1865, the following communication was received

by those to whom it was addressed

:

** * To Hon. John .V. WHterman, Hon. Josiah Fierce, Hon. Frederick Robie, Gen.

E. T. Smith, Stephen HInkley, laq., Jeremiah Parker, Esq., and Lothrop

L. rUM, Esq.:

" * OKlrrLEHK.'i;'.~Al a token of my respect fur the brare and patriotic men
of Gorham who volunteered their services iu defense of the Union, and have

aided in cmsblng the wicked rebellion, and from a desire on my part that the

Dames of those who have fallen in ijattie, or who have died of wounds or sick-

ness iacarred in the service, should not be forgotten, but lianded down to

future generatloDS, I propose to the iuliabitaDts of Gorliam tliat a suitable

monument should lie erected, at my expense, in front of the Town-House, com-

memorative of those events.

*** And now, gentlemen, I address you as my friends and fellow-townsmen,

and lespectfuMy request of you that yon will call upon the proper authorities,

and cause a meeting of the inhabitants of said town to l>e held, at such time as

may be deemed expedient, to take into consideration the object suggested, and

if Judged expedient, that you may be constituted a committee to see the same

carried into eifect.

"
' GoBHAH, Oct 10, 1S6&. lopPAi Boau.'

" In accordance with the request thus made, a town-meeting was

held upon the 8th day of November last, and it was roted to aooept

the proposition, and that the thanks of this town be presented to Hon.

Toppan Robie for his generous and patriotic offer. The persons

reoommehded by him were appointed a committee to act in the prem-

ises, and a rote was passed that an appropriate celebration be held

when the monument should be completed.
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''The committee thus chosen took the matter in charge, and after

repeated meeting?, consultations, and examinations of numerous de-

signs and models presented, and visiting various localities where

monuments of a character simitar to that proposed had been erected,

they at last adopted the design of this structure, and at onco con-

tracted for the erection of the same. Meanwhile no pnins had been

spared by the committee in their endeavors to obtain a complete and

correct list of those whose names should be inscribed upon the monu-

ment. After the list had been made as accurate as the Information

which the committee bad been able to obtain would render it, it was,

by the courtesy of the publishers, printed in several of the Portland

newspapers, with a special request that any errors discovered therein

should be seasonably made known to the committee, that they might

have an opportunity to correct them. So that if any errors or omis-

sions hare occurred in this list they cannot be attributed to any lack

of effort on the part of the committee to avoid them. At a town-

meeting held on the 2Sth of April last, it was

*** Toted, That Daniel C. Emery. Snmael F. Bttcoo, and Hiifch D. McLellon.

together with the Selectmen, be a Conimittee to prepare and nrrango, in a suit-

able manner, the grounda and Burroundings about the Suldiers' Monnnicnt to

be erected in front of the Town-Hoasb.'

"Also,

*** VoUdy That the Selectmen and the Committee who have had the cliarge of

procuring and erecting the Soldiers' Monnment, and the committee this day

chosen to prepare the groiiDds, be a committee to make suitable arrangemeats

for the dediciition of the monument.'

"Since the committee first chosen entered upon their duties, one of

their number, who, so long as his physical strength would permit him

to do so, met and counseled with them, and greatly aided them in

their labors, has been removed by death.*

'^ And we all to-day, fellow-oitizens, miss the cheerful presence and

the inspiriting voice of him who, for nearly half a century, had man-

ifested peculiar interest in all that pertained to the history of our

town, and was always ready and able to contribute from his great

fund of general and historical information to the interest of an occa-

sion like this.

" I know, my friends, that you will pardon this passing tribute,

which » just respect for the memory of one closely identified with

the affairs of the town, and long an sissociate and friend of the donor

of this monument, seemed to demand.

"The work intrusted to these various committees has been com-

pleted, and the object contemplated in their appointment accocp-

plished. Having performed the duties assigned them they now feel

that, at the close of this day's exercises, they may ask an honorable

discharge.

"And now, sir (addressing Mr. Robie), in behalf of those appoint-

ing us, we desire again to extend to you the sincere thanks of the citi-

zens of this town for your generous and patriotic gift, and to assure

you of our earnest hope that you may enjoy in a ripe and honored old

age the blessings and privileges of those free institutions which they,

whose names you desire to perpetuate, gave their lives to preserve.

" To you, gallant comrades in arms of those to whose memory this

monument is consecrated,—to all present who have been connected

with either branch of the Federal service, military or naval, we extend

a cordial welcome.

" We rejoice that a kind Providence spared your lives through all

the perils of a long and terrible war, and permitted you to return to

your homes in full health and strength, or bearing upon your per-

sons honorable evidences of your heroism and fidelity to duty,—that

you are enabled to enjoy among kindred and friends the fruits of those

victories, to win which you contributed in no scanty measure. We still

further rejoice that you can participate in the services in which we

are now engaged. May the nation's gratitude be freely manifested

towards you, its heroic defenders, and the glory of your achievements

grow brighter as the service you have rendered is more completely

understood and appreciated in the light of history.

" And to all the various bodies and organizations here assembled,

we desire to express our groat gratification at their presence, and their

Hon. Josiah Pierce.

readiness to co-operate with us in our endeavors to pay proper respect

to the memory of our deceased soldiers.

"Citizens of Gorham,—This costly and beautiful monument, now

yours, and to be hereafter in your custody, is a sacred and precious

memorial. For every name inscribed upon its tablets a life was given.

That long list of the gallant dead contains in it-'clf a history, and could

we particularize, the narrative would form a volume of sad but thril-

ling interest. Upon th:it roll of honor arc represented various nges

andconditionaof life,—youth, manhood, mature years; andevca three-

score years did not deter him whose name was lust placed thereon from

most active and devoted service.f The farm, the shop, the institution

of learning, the mechanic's bench, the office, and the sacred desk,—in

fact, nearly all occupations of our Xew England life,—have there their

silent representatives.

" And under what various circumstances they died. Some suddenly,

in the shock of battle; some in camp, or in hospital, of wounds or

lingering disease ; some in rebel prisons ; while to a few wns granted

the blessed privilege of returning to their homes, where, among devoted

friends, receiving every attention which the fondest affection could

inspire, and with expressions of love for God and their country upon

their whitening lips, they calmly yielded up their spirits to Him who

created them.

"The soil of at least twelve different States is consecrated by holding

the remains of our gallant dead. To some were accorded the rites of

Christian burial, and official cure or the hand of friendship has desig-

nated and guarded their last resting-places. Others are sleeping in

graves the locality of which the most careful search of friends cannot

discover, and which none shall know until the last trump shall sound,

and the earth give up her dead.

"But under whatever circumstances death occurred, or they wore

committed to the dust, —

" ' To all who sleep a soldier'8 sleop,

Where'er ttiej lie,—In Itallowed gruund,

Or tlioso above whose grass-grown motind

Sau stars thL>ir lonely vigils keep;

To all our brave heroic band,

Who nobly met a soldier's fate,

This monument we consecrate.'

"To you, the relatives of these deceased friends, we tender our

heartfelt sympathy. May He who alone knows how great is the

weight of sorrow burdening each heart, afford His promised strength

and support to each and all of you !

" Fellow -citizens, as we look upon this monument and read tho

names of the departed inscribed thereon, let us remember for what

and for whom they died. Let us remember that in them the love of

life was as strong, its future as inviting, its claims upon them as ur-

gent, as in our own cases. And yet, subjecting all other claims and
considerations to the love of country and the call of duty, they

yielded up life itself rather than the sacred cause they had espoused.

They died that the nation might live.

*'
' A debt we ne'er can pay

To them is justly due;

And to the natiou'a lat-est dtiy

Our children's children still shall say,

** They died for me and you."

'

" Let us cherish their memories. In the language of the donor of

this monument, let ' their names not be forgotten, but handed down
to future generations.'

" And when this marble shall have crumbled into dust, let tradition

take up the story of their heroism and their sacrifices, and continue

to repeat It through all coming time."

Ad elegant oration was delivered on the occasion by

Maj.-Gen. Chamberlain, and a fine poem read by Hon.

Edward P. Weston, which we regret we have not space to

publish. They will be found in the printed proceedings of

the dedication.

I Chaplain Adams.
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GRAY.

EXTENT AND BOUNDARIES.

The town of Gray is six miles square, and lies at an

angle of forty-fire degrees from the meridian. It is bounded

on the northeast by New Gloucester, on the southeast by

Cumberland and North Yarmouth, on the southwest by

Falmouth and Windham, and on the northwest by Ray-

mond. The soil is a fertile mixture of clay and sand. It

was granted to Thomas Gray, whose name it bears, and

others, by the General Court of Massachusetts, in 1735,

and bore the name of New Boston until its incorporation.

FIBST AND SECOND SETTLEMENTS.

Settlement was begun in 1750. A fort of timbers and

a meeting-house were erected near Gray village by the pro-

prietors.

May 17, 1755, the inhabitants were surprised by Indians,

and their works destroyed. The next occupation was by

Thomas, father of Moses and Jeremiah Twitchell, who, in

1764, with his family, kept a camp for British marines and

workmen engaged in cutting masts and hauling them to

tlie falls below.

The resettlement was commenced by John Jenks, Wil-

liam and Joel Stevens, Daniel Cummings, Daniel Hunt,

Thomas Twitchell, John Humphrey, and Capt. Jonas

Stevens, whose daughter Buth was bom in 1764. She

afterwards married James Doughty, and was grandmother

of the present James Doughty. The first male child bom
in the town was Daniel Cummiogs, bom Oct. 6, 1766.

He was the father of David B. Cummings, of Gray village.

The bond under which Jethro Starbird received his land,

in 1768, required that on or before the 12th of April, 1769,

he should have built " a good dwelling-house, 18 feet square,

have at least 6 acres of land cleared, and brought to English

grass, fit for mowing," and shall pay one-sixtieth part of

the expense of building a meeting-house and settling a

Protestant minister. Samuel Hawes and Jabez Hatch

were contractors for the proprietors.

John Barber, John Wilson, James Russell, Daniel Haney,

Mark Merrill, Sergt. Samuel Thompson, Lieut. David

Small, Lieut William Webster, Maj. Jabez Mathews,

John Nash, David Libby, Gideon Ramsdell, Jedediah Cook,

Joseph and Samuel Webster settled previous to 1780.

Gray, the thirty-ninth town of Maine, was incorporated

June 19, 1778. The first election was held at the meeting-

house, in the street, near the present town-house, July 13,

1778, under a warrant issued by Hon. Enoch Freeman, J.P.,

to Jabez Matthews, who was chosen Moderator of the meet-

ing. David Clark was chosen Town Clerk ; William .

Webster, Daniel Libby, Daniel Cummings, Selectmen and

Assessors; David Orne, Treasurer; Nathan Merrill,

Thomas White, Richard Hayden, Committee of Safety

;
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Joseph Weeks, Constable ; Daniel Libby, Jeremiah Hobbs,

Church-Wardens ; Nathan Merrill, Tithing-Man ; John
Barber, John Morse, William Webster, Richard Hayden,

Surveyors to Work on Roads ; Daniel Cummings, Fence-

Viewers; Jethro Starbird, Robert York, Field-Drivers;

Elijah Jordan, David Hunt, Asa Libby, Joseph Merrill,

Hog-DriveiB ; G!«orge Doughty, Sexton ; Daniel Libby,

Found-Keeper
; John Nash, Surveyor of Lumber ; David

Orae, Sealer of Weights and Measures. £30 were voted

to fnmish the meeting-house ; $500 were voted for high-

ways, and $3 per day fixed as wages for a man or yoke of

oxen
; £4 for a public school ; $50 to build a pound.

In 1779 prices were r^nlated by vote, making a day's

work 4S«. ; imported potatoes and turnips, £1 10«. ; leaf

tobacco, 12g. per pound; victuals, 12«. a meal; and
" licker, 12«. a mug !" In 1780, $22.50 a day was allowed

laborers on public roads. Representatives in General Court

were seldom chosen, unless they could volunteer to pay

their own expense.

PLACES OF HISTORIC INTEREST.

The residence of Azariah Humphrey, two miles north-

west of Gray village, was erected by his father, John Hum-
phrey, in 1773, and is the oldest house in the town. There

is but little left to mark the labors of the first settlers.

The main interest of their descendants centres in their last

resting-place, a fine burying-ground of 4 acres, in the west

of the village, commanding a magnificent view of the sur-

rounding country. This ground was donated by Daniel

Libby, arid fenced by the town in 1782. It contains many
black slabs of the last century mingled with the white

marble of recent years, and 41 fine monuments, most

of which are of granite, erected since 1865. There are

buried here 6 of the pioneer deacons, 4 ministers, 9 cap-

tains, 6 field officers, and 8 persons above ninety ; one of

whom was ninety-six years of age. Nearly all the early

settlers have been gathered from private grounds in various

parts of the town and buried here.

VILLAGES.

GRAY.

The village of Gray is finely situated on a high plain

near the centre of the town, 90 dwellings built upon

seven streets radiating from a broad street two hundred

yards in length, and occupied by business houses, the prin-

cipal of which is the Odd-Fellows' Block, a fine brick edifice

of three stories, erected in 1876, by Hancock & Vinton,

merchants; Lovejoy's Eagle Hotel, occupied by Daniel

Haney, in 1777; Titus '0. Brown, 1815, and the brick

town-house, erected by David Carey, at a cost of $1200,

and first used March 5, 1838. In 1825 the place contained
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six stores, a bakery, one hotel, a church, the. centre school-

house, where public meetiags were held, and a tannery.

The business increased to nine stores and four hotels—one

a mile south—in 1845, the place becoming a trading-point

for New Hampshire products. It is now a centre for local

trade, supporting the following business houses

:

General Merchandise: Hancock & Vinton, established

by Thomas Hancock, in 1838 ; James Small, established

1835 ; C. H. Stimson, established 1876.

Hardware: G. F. Cobb, established 1864
Drugs: R. G. Hall, established 1862.

Millinery: Mrs. L. A. Hill, establbhed 1879; S. S. &
H. 0. Weeks, established 1854.

Harness: Jacob Clark, established 1830 ; I. H. Libby.

Stone-Workers : Augustus Lowe, granite, established

1876 ; C. H. Doughty, Jr., slate, established 1876 ; A. M.

Higgins, marble and granite, established 1875 ; E. S. Cas-

well, marble and granite, established 1877.

Leather : D. 6. Cummings, tannery since 1856, estab-

lished by Stephen Furbish in 1800 ; M. B. Foster, estab-

lished 1849; S. P. Sargent, established 1876; Samuel

Glines, established 1 874, boots and shoes.

Painters: William M. Dow & Son, established 1856;

Frank E. Osgood, established 1876.

Wood-Workers : Rufus Berry, carriages, established

1849 ; E. Osgood, furniture and coffins, established 1845.

Blacksmiths: Benjamin F. Skillings, J. Newbegin, G.

M. Edwards, F. E. Goff.

Eastern Express Company : W. F. Lovejoy, agent, estab-

lished 1876.

The public buildings are Methodist Episcopal, Congre-

gationalist, and Baptist churches. Town-House, and Pen-

nell Institute.

A comet band waa organized in 1876, with John T.

Merrill, leader.

DRT MILLS,

in the north, comprise the store of A. G. Morrill, estab-

lished 1862 ; saw-mill, shook- and barrel-factory, estab-

lished 1859; carriage- and smith-shops, and contains 30

families. It takes its name from Dry Pond, so called be-

cause it had no open outlet. A long beaver-dam extended

across the flat, near this place, when the first settlers came

in 1750.

WEST GRAY,

in the west, is finely situated on a narrow neck of land

overlooking a broad valley, or interval, to the south, and

commands a view of Gray village, three miles east. It

consists of a dozen fine dwellings, R. A. Allen's store, saw-

and grist-mills, W. L. Dickey's carriage- and sleigh-shops,

and blacksmith-shops. Gray Station is a neat depot build-

ing and water-tank on the Maine Central Railroad, in the

narrow valley of Royal River, three miles east of the village.

Mails connect daily by stage for each post-office, viz., Gray,

G. F. Cobb, postmaster ; Dry Milb, Charles B. Libby, post-

master ; West Gray, Robert A. Allen, postmaster ; North

Gray, William Beatty, postmaster.

The principal manufactory of the town is the Falmouth

Woolen-Mills of William Beatty, established about 1800,

by Samuel Mayall, of England. The manufacture of sugar-

sbooks and fish-barrels is a leading industry. The princi-:

pal shook-makers are Robert Allen, William S. Dougla.ss,

Charles E. Libby, S. Goff, Thayer & Elder.

At the falls, a short distance below the factory, the first

mill in the town was erected on the old road, and run by

Jabez Mathews, as early as 1773.

SELECTMEN.

1778.—William Webster, Daniel Libby, Daniel Cummings.

1779.—William Webster, Daniel Libby, Maj. .Taboj Mathews.

1780.—Capt. Jonas SteTens, Sergt. Samuel Thomson, Lieut. David

Small.

1781.—Samuel Thomson, Gideon Ramsdell, David Hunt.

1782.—Capt. William Webster, Jedediah Cobb, David Hunt.

1783-87.—Col. Jabea Mathews, Capt. William Webster, Lieut. JeJe-

diah Cobb.

178S.—Samuel Na«h, David Hunt, Robert York.

1789.—William Webster, Jedediah Cobb, David Hunt.

1790.—William Webster, Jedediah Cobb, Israel H. Buker.

1791.—David Hunt, Israel H. Baker, John Humphrey.

1792-93.—David Hunt, John Humphrey, Israel H. Buker.

1794.—David Hunt, John Humphrey, Jedediah Cobb.

1795.—Israel H. Buker, Eliphaz Phillips, Joseph Davis.

1796.—Jedediah Cobb, Joseph MoLellan, Eliphaz Phillips.

1797.—Joseph McLellaa, Israel H. Buker, Eliphaz Phillips.

1798-99.—Joseph McLellan, Jedediah Cobb, Eliphaz Phillips.

1800.—James Doughty, John Humphrey, Gideon Ramsdell.

1801.—John Humphrey, George Latham, Timothy Weymouth.

1802.—John Humphrey, George Latham, Joseph McLellan.

1803.—Eliab Latham, John Smith, Samuel Xash.

1804-5.—Joseph McLellan, Daniel Wells, Timothy Weymouth.

1S06.—George Latham, John Smith, Daniel Wells.

1807-8.—George Latham, Daniel W. Green, Charles Barbour.

1809.—George Latham, Nicholas Low, Timothy Weymouth.
1810-11.—Joseph McLellan, Timothy Weymouth, Nicholas Low.

1812-13.—Joseph McLellan, Timothy Weymouth, John Stimson, Jr.

1814.—Joseph McLellan, Timothy Weymouth, Nicholas Low.

1815.—Joseph McLellan, Timothy Weymouth, Eliab Latham.

1816.—Joseph McLellan, Timothy Weymouth, Joseph Webster.

1817.—Joseph McLellan, Timothy Weymouth, Eliab Latham.

1818.—Joseph McLellan, Daniel W. Green, George Latham.

1819.—Daniel W. Green, Timothy Weymouth, George Latham.

1820.—Timothy Weymouth, George Latham, Daniel W. Green.

1821.—Timothy Weymouth, Daniel W. Green, John Morse, Jr.

1822.—Daniel W. Green, Timothy Weymouth, Jer. Pennell.

1823.—Timothy Weymouth, Daniel W. Green, Andrew Libby, Jr.

1824.—Andrew Libby, Jr., John Stimson, John Morse, Jr.

1825-26.—Daniel W. Green, Timothy Weymouth, Benjnmin Smith.

1827-28.—Daniel -W. Green, 0. H. Humphrey, Ephrnim Lawrence, Jr.

1829.—C. H. Humphrey, Ephraim Lawrence, Jr., Ebenezcr Cobb.

1830.—Daniel W. Green, Francis Webster, Benjamin Smith.

1831.—Francis Webster, Benjamin Smith, Ephraim Lawrence, Jr.

1832.—Francis Webster, Ephraim Lawrence, John Dolley.

1833.—Eliab Latham, Ebenezer Cobb, Daniel Hall.

1834.—Eliab Latham, Daniel Hall, Ephraim Lawrence, Jr.

1835.—Eliab Latham, Daniel Hall, Benjamin Smith.

1836 -37.—Eliab Latham, Daniel Hall, John Humphrey.
1838.—Ephraim Lawrence, Jr., John Humphrey, James Small, Jr.

1839.—Daniel Hall, Benjamin Smith, Joseph H. Perley.

1840.—Benjamin Smith, Nathaniel S. Lawrence, Joseph H. Perley.

1841.—William Mayberry, James Small, Jr., John F. Sawyer.*

1842, March 7.—Ebenezer Cubb, William Mayberry, James Small, Jr.

1842, March 23.—Theophilus Stimson, Ephraim Lawrence, Jr., An-
drew Libby, Jr.f

1843.—Daniel Hall, Andrew Libby, Jr., William Mayberry.

1844-45.—Nathaniel S. Lawrence, James Small, Jr., William P.

Doughty.

1846.—Benjamin Smith, William P. Doughty, Moses Plummer.

1847.—Tyng Wilson, Charles Smith, George Perley.

* Benjamin Smith, Nathaniel S. Lawrence, and Joseph H. Perley

were elected, but resigned on being instructed by a subsequent vote

to grant license to sell intoxicating liquors.

f The first election was found to have been illegal.
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1818.—^Natlfaoiel S. Lawrence, William P. Doughty, Moses Plummer.

1849.—Tyng Wilson, David Hall, George Perley.

1850-51.—Daniel Hall, Tyng Wilson, George Perley.

1852-53.—Benjamin Smith, Wm. P. Doughty, Lotbrop L. Blake.

1854.—Tyng Wilson, William P. Doughty, Lothrop Blake.

1855.—Lothrop L. Blake, Thomas Hancock, Timothy H. Weymouth.

185A.—Timothy H. Weymouth, Daniel Hall, Jeremiah Penncll.

1857.—T. H. Weymouth, Jeremiah Pennell, Jacob Clark.

1858.—T. H. Weymouth) Daniel Hall, William P. Doughty.

1859-60.—T. H. Weymouth, Jacob Clark, Cephas W. Perley.

1861-65.—Jacob Clark, Cephas W. Perley, William Elder.

1866.—Jacob Clark, William Elder, Simon Skillin.

1867 Jacob Clark, Jeremiah Pennell, Simeon Skillin.

1868-69.—Jacob Clark, Jeremiah Pennell, Samuel Skillin.

1870.—Warren H. Tinton, Jeremiah Pennell, John W. Webster.

1871.—Jacob Clork, John F. Sawyer, Alfred Libby.

1872-73.—Jacob Clark, George A. Morrill, Aimer H. Small.

1874.—Jacob Clark, John Newbegin, Jabei M. Latham.

1875.—Jacob Clark, John Newbegin, James Doughty.

1876.—James Doughty, Charles E. Libby, John W. Frank.

1877 Jacob Clark, Charles E. Libby, John W. Frank.

1878.—^James Doughty, Charles E. Libby, John W. Frank.

1879.—Charles E. Libby, Cephas W. Perley, V. E. Frank.

TOWN CLERKS.

David Clark, 1778; David Ome, 1779-82; Jedediah Cobb, 1783;

Capt. Samuel Nash, 1784; Jedediah Cobb, 1785-87; Samuel

Nash, 1788; Jedediah Cobb, 1789-90; Samuel Nash, 1791; Jed-

ediah Cobb, 1792-96; Capt. Samuel Nash, 1797-1802 ; Daniel M.

Green, 1803-S: James Twitchell, 1809 ; Abraham Young, 1810-

15; James Colley, Jr., 1816-17; Jabez Cusbman, 1818-20; Dan-

iel Hall, 1821-25; James Ford, 1826-31 ; Nathaniel S. Lawrence,

1832; James Ford, 1833; Meshack Humphrey, 1834; Nathaniel

S. Lawrence, 1835-39; Thomaa Hancock, 1840; James Ford,

1841 ; James Ford, elected March 7, Jacob "Clark, March 28,

1842; Jacob Clark, 1843-46; Wm. P. Merrill, 1847-50; Jacob

Clark, 1851-58; Theophilus Stimson, Jr., 1859-63; Jacob Clark

(vacancy), 1863; Jacob Clark, 1864-69; Edward A. Marr, 1870-

77 ; Charles H. Doughty, Jr., 1878-79.

TBEASURESS.

David Ome, 1778-82; David Hunt, 1783; Samuel Nash, 1784; David

Hunt, 1785; Gideon Bamsdell, 1786-88; Samuel Nash, 1789;

Daniel Haney, 1790-97; Samuel Nash, 1798-1801 ; Joseph Mc-

Lellan, 1802-14; George Latham, 1815; Joseph McLellan, I8I6-

18; Daniel W. Green, 1819; Daniel Weston, 1820-23; Timothy

Weymouth, 1824-28 ; Daniel W. Green, 1829 ; Daniel Hall, 1830;

Eliab Latham, 1831-36; Nathaniel S. Lawrence, 1837-40;

George Libby, 1841 ; George Libby, elected March 7, David

Hall, March 28, 1842; Daniel Hall, 1843; Nathaniel S.Law-

rence, 1844—45; James Small, Jr., 1846; William Mayberry,

1847; James Small, Jr., 1848; William Mayberry, 1849-51;

John W. Kich, 1852; Silas H. Adams, 1853-55; Moses Plum-

mer, 1856 ; Joshua H. Hall, 1857-61 ; Jeremiah Pennell, 1862

;

John Maxwell, 1863; Jeremiah Pennell, 1864-66; Albert N.

Sawyer, 1867; Jeremiah Pennell, 1868-70; John Newbegin,

1871; John D. Anderson, 1872; William H.Webster, 1873;

Edward A. Morr, 1874-76; John Maxwell, 1877-78; John New-

begin, 1879.

COLLECTORS AND CONSTABLES.

Joseph Weeks, 1778-79; John Morse, 1780; Col. Jabei Mathews,

1781; Gideon Bamsdell, 1782; Joseph Pennell, 1783; David

Hunt, 1784; Daniel Haney, 1785-86; Richard Sweetser, 1787;

Joseph Cnmmings, 1788; Daniel Libby, 1789; William Orela,

1790; John Morse, 1791; William Grela, 1792-93; David Jor-

dan, 1794-97; Joseph Pennell, Joseph Tompson, 1798; George

Small, 1799; David Jordan, 1800; Daniel Wells, 1801; Daniel

Wells, David Jordan, 1802; Samuel Nash, 1803 ; AUmery Hamb-
lin, Samuel Nosh, 1804; William Grela, Samuel Nash, Jr., Daniel

Wells, George Smalls, AUmery Hamblin, 1805 ; Israel H. Buker, T.

H. Baker, William Grela, AUmery Hamblin, 1806 ; Israel H. Bu-

ker, I. H. Buker, Samuel Adams, 1807 ; AUmery Hamblin, Daniel

Green, 1808; Judah Dyer, AUmery Hamblin, 1809; Joseph AVeb-

ster, AUmery Hamblin, Abraham Young,1810; Joseph Webster,

Abraham Young, 1811 ; Jeremiah Pennell, Joseph Webster, 1812-

13; Jeremiiih Pennell, 1814; Jeremiah Pennell, Joseph Webster,

1815-16; Jeremiah Pennell, Moses Harris, 1817-18; Geo. Latham,

Jr., John Morse, Jeremiah Pennell, 1819; Joseph Cummings,

Jr., Jeremiah Pennell, George Latham, Jr.. 1820; Isaac StowcU,

George Latham, Jr., 1821 ; George Latham, Meshack Humphrey,

1822; Isaac StoweU, 1823-24; Nathan Hunt, Daniel Hall, 1825

;

Joseph Perley, 1826; Joseph Perley, Nathan Hunt, 1827; Isaac

StoweU, 1828; Joseph Cummings, Nathan Hunt, 1829; Henry

Pennell, 1830; John F. Sawyer, 1S3I-.32; Henry Pennell, 1833;

Francis Webster, Parker S. Libby, 1834; Henry Pennell, 1835;

William J.Weston, Albert Webster, 1836; William J. Weston,

1837; Nathaniel S. Lawrence, 1838-40; George Libby, 1841;

Daniel Hall, March 7 and March 28, 1842; Daniel Hall, George

Libby, 1843; Daniel Hall, Nathaniel S. Lawrence, 1844; Henry

Pennell, 1845; James Small, Jr., Henry Pennell, 1846; Elias S.

Foster, Nathaniel S. Lawrence (vacancy), George Libby, 1847;

Nathaniel S. Lawrence, 1848; Ellery H. Starbird, George Libby,

1849; Ellery H. Starbird, 1850-51 ; Joshua H. Hall, 1852; Isaac

Perley, Joshua H. Hall, 1853; Bnfus Berry, 1854; Joshua H.

Hall, 1855; Rufus Berry, 1856; Daniel Berry, 1857-58; Al-

bert Hill, 1859; Jeremiah. Pennell,. 1860-63; Charles C. Hall,

1864-65; Isaac E. Allen, 1866-67; Charles C. HaU, 1868-69;

RufuB Berry, 1870; Henry Pennell, Charles Hall, 1871; Charles

C. Hall, 1872; William Purvis, Charles C. Hall, 1873; Rufus

Berry, Henry Pennell, 1874; Charles C. Hall, 1875; Charles C.

Hall, Rufus Berry, 1876-79.

CHURCHES.

PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.

The first church established in Gray, in compliance with

the terms of the land-grant, was a Presbyterian Church,

which was organized in August, 1774. Samuel Nash, the

first pastor, was ordained June 21, 1775, and remained

pastor until September, 1782. A house of worship was

erected, the ten pews of which were sold in 1779, tor £193.

This building was never finished, and being untenable in

winter,—the snow sifting through in huge piles, which

was shoveled out at the expense of the town,—meetings were

held at Joseph Doughty's house. It was sold to Daniel

Haney, in 1790, for £4. The old church, afterwards

standing in the street near the town-house, was built in

1789, and torn down in 1832. Rev. Samuel Perley, who

became pastor in 1784, was discharged on the dissolution

of the Salem Presbytery, in 1791, after which the church

became scattered. In October, 1803, a council was called,

which, finding bnt two male members, proceeded to reorganize

the church as a Congregationalist body. Rev. Daniel Wesr

ton was ordained pastor. In 1809 many of the members

joined an organization in New Gloucester, styling them-

selves Anti-Pedobaptists, and ulso the Univctsalist organ-

ization in that town. Attempts were also made to evade

church support, and conform to the existing law. Rev.

Samuel Peckham succeeded Mr. Weston in 1825, and was

discharged in 1830. During his pastorate the present

church was erected, and dedicated in 1828.

The subsequent pastors were Rev. Thomas Rigga, 1831

to 1833 ; Rev. Calvin White, 1833-37 ; Rev. Nathan W.
Sheldon, 1839^3; Rev. Allen Lincoln, 1845-59; Rev.

James P. Richardson, 1859-62; Rev. Ebenczer Bean,

1862-74; Rev. Edward P. Eastman, 1875-76; Rev.

Herbert R. Howe, 1877 ; Rev. E. Bean, 1878-79.

Beacons.—John Humphrey, 1803-33 ; Jeremiah Twitch-
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ell, 1836; Reuben Morse, 1842; Moses Humphrey, 1825

-44
; Robert Merrill, 1844 ; Benjamin B. Sweetser, 1832

;

Luther Pennell, 1847-69; Charles H. Starrett, 1856;

Charles Libby, 1863; John Merrill, 1865-79.

Cliurch Clerks.—Daniel Weston, Samuel Peckham, Wil-

liam P. Doughty, Allen Lincoln, William P. Doughty, E.

Bean, D. B. Cummings. The society have a good church

and parsonage, free from debt.

BAPTIST CHURCH.

The first mention of the Baptist Church is in the town

record, where it is certified that -' Mar. 18, 1782, Jacob

Twitchell joined the Baptist Church, and was ' dipt ;' wit-

nesses on hand, Daniel Hubbard and James McCullison."

The first preacher was William Merrill, who remained until

1810, holding meetings at his house, now the residence of

Hezekiah Whitney, two miles east of the village, on Coll-

yer's Branch road. It is related of him that his meetings

were well attended by the boys during the apple-season,

the orchard surrounding his house being one of the first in

Gray; On one occasion he preached from the word

" Watch !" and on the repetition of his text, his wife, re-

minded of temporal cares, would hasten to the window in

obedience to the injunction. The following-named persons

were incorporated as a Baptist Society in June, 1790

:

Moses, Asa, Joel, and Benjamin Libby ; Thomas and James

Frank; James, John, and Oliver Humphrey; William and

John Dolly, John and David Na.sh, Isaac Lane, Joseph

Weeks, Hosea and Levi Morse, David Jordan, Samuel

Howell, Nathaniel Russell, and Timothy Fogg. 0;her

persons were members of the church in New Gloucester.

A house of worship was erected by the Universalists, at

Gray, in 1829, by Daniel Hall, Eiiab Lotham, and Benja-

min Smith, committee, at a cost of $1500. In 1855 the

Baptist Society bought a half-interest, and obtained com-

plete title in 1861.

Z>eacojM.—Thomas White, 1782 ; Nathaniel Ford, 1803

;

Jonas Humphrey, 1839 to 1879.

C/er*s.—Joseph Allen, 1782; George Latham, 1803;

Jonas Humphrey, 1824-39 ; William Goff, 1829 ; Moses

Foster, 1853 ; Thomas Gilpatrick, 1857 to 1879.

Paiiors.—Nathan Merrill, 1782-1807 ; Ephraim Stinch-

field, 1803-10 ; Nathan Morse, 1807-10 ; Samuel Colley,

ordained Sept. 8, 1803; John Purkis, ordained 1829;

John M. Duran, installed 1836; George Whitney, 1840
;

0. A. Redlon, 1845 ; David Newell, 1850 ; Moses Foster,

to 1853; Charies Bean, 1855; William T. Smith, 1857;

Dexter Waterman, 1861 ; Moores Cole, 1863 ; M. Ricker,

Edwin A. Kish, 1864; J. M. Purkis, 1865; C. Bean,

1868; Joseph Foss, 1869; F. Reed, 1874; William T.

Smith, 1876-79.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHUECH.

In 1793, David Hunt, innkeeper, of Gray, received a

letter from Rev. Jesse Lee, of Virginia, the first Methodist

preacher in Maine, appointing a time when he would be at

his house to take dinner and hold a meeting. In response

to this appointment a large number of people gathered in

front of the Congregationalist meeting-house at Gray Cor-

ner, where the preacher of the- place met them, and refused

to let them to go into the house. The meeting was held in

a barn near by. Rev. Philip Wager, who was appointed

at Lynn, Mass., for the province of Maine, in August, 1793,

preached next, and formed a class during the year. In

1807, Gideon Ramsdell, James Colley, William Barnell,

Zachariah Fletcher, Stephen Pennell, Amos Cummings,

Moses Hunt, Reuben Hill, Josiah Clark, Jolin Starbird,

Ephraim Staple, Joseph Weeks, and David Small were

recorded on the town books as Methodists by James Colley

and William Bennett, committee of that church.

The church was incorporated June 10, 1808. Gray

became a part of the Readfield circuit on its organization,

and Rev. Stephen Hull preached there once in two weeks.

Gray and Windham were made a circuit in 1844. In

1796, Jesse Stoneman preached here, and was succeeded

by Revs. Nicholas Snethen, Robert Yell, Timotiiy Merritt,

Josiah Taylor, John Finnegan, Martin Rutter, in 1811-

12; S. L. Bishop, 1820; C. Fogg, 1821-22; P. Ayers,

1823; James Jaques, 1824-25; J. Briggs, 1826; S.

Frank, 1827; J. Hutchins, in 1828; Revs. Owen Bent

and John Hutchins, 1829 ; Abel Alton and Francis Mas-

seure, 1830; Caleb Fogg, 1831; Daniel Clark, 1832;

Benjamin Burnham, 1833 ; C. C. Cone, 1834 ; John Rice,

1835; Paul 0. Richmond, 1836-37; Asa Heath, 1838;

John W. Dunn, 1839 ; Asahel Moore and Wm. Campbell,

1840; Daniel Waterhouse and Simeon C. Chase, 1841;

Joseph Milliken and E. A. Stockman, 1842 ; James Rice

and James Thurston, 1843; James Rice, 1844; Henry

Crawford, 1845 ; A. Turner,. G. C. Crawford, Phineas

Libby, 1846; Charles Mason, Caleb Mugford, 1848; I.

Harrington, 1849 ; Benjamin Lufkin, 1850-51
; S. W.

Pierce, 1852; S. H. Tobie, 1853; J. Stone, 1854-56;

James S. Rice, 1857 ; H. B. Mitchell, 1858 ; A. C. Tiaf-

ton, 1859; S. P. Blake, 1861; S. S. Cray, 1862; J. W.
Sawyer, 1863-64

; S. V. Gray, 1866-67 ; J. H. Pillsbury,

1868; Alpheus B. Lovewell, 1869; Hezekiah Chase,

1870-72; J. H. Trask, 1873-74; J. B. Cole, 1875; J.

H. Pillsbury, 1876-77 ; E. G. Gerry, 1878; G. W. Bar-

ber, 1879.

A building was erected in West Gray in 1840, and a

second erected in the east part of the town by a branch

styling themselves Protestants. This was moved to Gray

village, rebuilt, and dedicated by Rev. Joseph Colby, P.E.,

in July, 1869.

Membership, 1869, 45. Class-leaders, E. M. Hamos,

Gray ; Emmery Allen, West Gray ; George A. Morrill,

Dry Mills; S. P. Sargent, Douglass Mills. Recording

Steward, E. M. Hames. Trustees, E. Allen, Marshal Morse,

Hiram Skillings, Daniel Doughty, E. M. Hames, J. D.

Anderson, Henry Pennell.

SCHOOLS AND ACADEMIES.

In 1780, £350 were voted for the support of schools,

the town was divided into two dbtricts, and in 1785 Israel

H. Buker was engaged to teach school a year, " at any

place- in town," for £45. He was also elected collector,

that he might collect his own pay. A school-house was

erected in the easterly district in 1793, by the inhabitants.

The next year it was paid for by the town, and William

Grela and Daniel Haley were made a committee to build
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three others Id the southern, northern, and Dutton Hill

neighborhoods. A fifth was erected in 1797, Long Hill

in 1799, and the seventh in 1801. Four lots of school

land were sold in 1814 for $1171.25, to establish a school

fund, the interest on which was $71.25 in 1878. Appro-

priations have been: in 1788, £10; 1791, £30; 1793,

£40 ; 1799, £200 ; 1820, $400; 1840, $600 ; 1850, $700;

1864, $1100; 1867-72, $2000 ; 1879,81400. The town

comprised 12 districts in 1878, with ten good school-houses

and $6000 worth of school property. Of the 615 children,

460 attended school. School supervision cost the town $40.

Supervisor for 1879, Susie C. Frank.

PENNELL INSTITUTE,

a fine brick edifice and grounds in the village of G-ray,

commenced in 1876 and completed in 1879, was donated

to the town of Gray by its founder, Major Henry Pennell,

grandson of Joseph Pennell, Esq., one of the early settlers

of the town. The building complete, with clock and bell,

cost $20,000 ; library, $3000 ; and laboratory, $2000. It

is endowed with a fund of $25,000, to be held intact for

its perpetual support.

ASSOCIATIONS.

INDEPENDENT ORDER OF ODD-FELLOWS.

Siloam Lodge, No. 45, organized April 4, 1877, with

Warren H. Vincent, N. G. ; Benjamin F. Skillings, V. G.

;

William S. Douglass, Treas. ; Albert Pennell, Sec. 1879,

membership, 85 ; net assets $3000, including finely fiir-

nished rooms in Odd-Fellows' building, Gray village. Offi-

cers, W. H. Vincent, N. G. ; J. H. Newman, V. G.

;

Thomas Hancock, Treas. ; Augustus Pennell, Sec.

PATRONS OF HUSBANDRT.

Gray Grange, No. 41, organized Oct. 3, 1874, with 28

members ; S. L. Adams, Mas. ; Kate Adams, Sec. ; Deacon

John Merrill, Lee. ; Hezekiah Whitney, Ov. ; David Law-

rence, Treas. ; Mrs. Martha Merrill, Ceres. Officers, 1879,

H. Whitney, Mas. ; Albert Pennell, Sec. ; S. L. Adams,

Lee. ; Andrew Allen, Ov. ; George F. Cobb, Treas. ; Mrs.

Hezekiah Whitney, Ceres.

DRY HILLS TEMPERANCE REFORM CLUB,

organized Aug. 7, 1874, with Wm. M. Dow, Pres. ; Charles

J. McDonald, Vice-Pres. ; George A. Morrill, Sec. ; Thomas

Qninn, Treas. Officers, 1879, George A. Morrill, Pres.

;

Benj. J. Simmons, Vice-Pres.; Lorenzo E. Dow, Sec.;

Freland M. Small, Treas. There are 273 names upon the

club pledge-book.

PKOMINENT MEN.

Among the men of the present are G. A. Morrill, E. H.

Starbird, Henry Pennell, Charles E. Libby, W. H. Vinton,

Charles H. Doughty, Jr., Thomas Hancock, Jacob Clark,

D. B. Cummings, Vincent Frank, and Cephas, grandson

of Rev. Samuel Perley, the first preacher.

THE LAWYERS

have been Simeon Greenleaf, 1807 ; Joseph Waterman,

James B. Cleveland, 1831 ; James O'Donnell, 1849; J. D.

Anderson, since 1874, and W. H. Vinton, who was a mem-

ber of the State Senate in 1853-54, 1861-62, 1877-78,

member of the State Legislature in 1857 and 1873, and

president of the State Senate in 1878. He is a man of

superior business attainments and remarkable memory.

PHTSICIANS.

Rev. Dr. Samuel Perley, 1774 ; Dr. Briggs, 1796 ; Peter

Whitney, 1803 ; C. H. P. MoLellan, 1795, 1825-28
;

Charles Hntchins, Nicholas H. Allen, 1841 ; J. D. Sturges,

Wm. W. Green, 1863-72 ; Charies L. Holt, 1872-74 ; F.

A. Morgan, dentist, 1869-79 ; Abram W. Anderson, 1876
;

Egbert F. Andrews, 1874-79; J. F. Newman, 1879.

MILITABT.

SOLDIERS OF THE RETOLDTION.

Nathan Noble, killed in battle Oct. 7, 1777.

Moses Twitchell, died in Canada, Nov. 9, 1775, after one

month's service.

Moses Twitchell, Jr.

Sergeant Asa Libby, enlisted April 24, 1780, for eight

months, for £11 per month, payable in corn, etc.

Isaac Foster, enlisted April 24, 1780, for eight months,

for £10 per month.

Jonathan Hayden, enlisted April 24, 1780, for eight

months, for £10 per month.

Amaziah Delano, died in Gray, 1850, aged ninety-two.

Joseph Allen, died in Gray,. 1849, aged ninety-one.

James Welch, died in Gray, 1845, aged eighty-one.

William Libby.

Samuel Stowell, enlisted at Cape Ann, Mass.

James Doughty, served under Gen. Greene, and was in

North Carolina.

Jonas Humphreys, served under Arnold; re-enlisted;

was killed at the battle of White Plains.

Sei^eant Samuel Thompson.

Jonas Humphrey, served under Gen. Arnold ; re-enlisted,

and was killed at the battle of White Plains.

Sixty pound fines paid by drafted men to Capt. Stevens,

April 24, 1780 : Isaac Nason, Nathan Merrill, John Bar-

ber, James Russell, Elisha Cummings, William Greely,

Isaac Small, George Doughty, Daniel Cummings, Richard

Hayden, John Wilson, Nicholas Low, Thomas White, Jer-

emiah Hobbs, John Humphrey, Nathan Morse, Clement

Hayden.

Clothing left on hand at the end of the war was applied

on poor, and used to pay town officers' salaries in part.

1807.—Daniel Libby, Jr., Captain ; Calvin Jordan, Ser-

geant; David Ome, Clerk.

1824.—Militia, twenty cents a day voted for rations;

quarter pound powder.

1840.—Company B, 4th Regiment, 1st Brigade, 5th Di-

vision, boundaries defined.

Among the early military men of the town were Maj.

Jabez Mathews, 1778 ; Lieut. Wm. Webster, 1779 ; Capt.

James Stevens, 1780 ; Lieut. David Small, Maj. Jedediah

Cobb, Lieut. Robert York, 1786 ; Capts. Daniel Haney,

Joseph McLellen, 1790 ; Capt. James Doughty, 1818

;

Col. Mesheck Humphrey.
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

REV. JOHN RICE.

His father, George Rice, born in Scarborough, Sept. 21,

1780, married Hannah, daughter of Moses and Rebecca

(Crockett) Hanscom, of Gorham, Me. She was born Sept.

9, 1788, and died Oct. 20, 1826. He died Sept. 13, 1858.

His grandfather, Lemuel Rice, was also born in Scar-

borough, May 2, 1756, and died Jan. 16, 1827. John,

bom July 1, 1810, removed with his parents to Durham

when two years old. He was educated in the common

school, and in the New Gloucester Academy, under the

instruction of Rey. Jabez Woodman, and for three terms

was a teacher during the winter months. In August, 1833,

he commenced study for the ministry, and in 1837 was

ordained an elder of the Methodist Episcopal Church.

Upon the close of his teaching, at the age of twenty-two,

he became a traveling preacher, and in 1834 was admitted

a member of the Maine Annual Conference. His minis-

terial labors were continuous from 1833 to 1874, and he

remains a member of the Conference as a superannuated

minister, being obliged to retire from constant labor on

account of ill health. Both as a devoted Christian worker

and an expounder of the Scripture, his influence has been

felt in the various churches over which he has been called

to preside, and lai^e numbers have been added to the church

annually under his teachings. He married, July 24, 1836,

Mary T., daughter of Nathan and Mary (Haskell) Hunt,

of Falmouth, and granddaughter of David Hunt, born in

Quincy, Mass., July 18, 1745, who was one of the early

REV. JOHN EICE.
Phuto. by Conant.

settlers of Gray, and for many years a representative man

of that town. Their children are Henry F., John H.

(deceased), John 0., and Charles C. C.

-^<30»4-

HARPSWELL.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION.

This town is the most eastern civil and geographical

division of Cumberland County. It consists of a peninsula

called Harpswell, or Merriconeag Neck, which extends

southward from Brunswick into Cusco Bay, and of the

following islands: Sebascondegan, or Great Island, Orr's,

Bailey's, and Haskell's Islands, with AVhaleboat Island,

Birch Island, and several smaller ones. The area of the

Neck is 4570 acres, and that of Great Island, 5790 acres,

according to the measurement made in 1731, by Phinehas

Jones, a surveyor.* The whole town probably contains

about 12,000 acres.

Harpswell can hardly be considered an agricultural

town, thod^h portions of it are very productive. Some

excellent farms are to be found upon the Neck, and upon

some of the larger islands. The soil of the Neck is

largely granitic rather than a gravelly loam, with small

tracts of clay loam. On Great Island the soil varies from

* McEeen, Id Harpswell Banner, October, 1 S32.

a hard, tenacious clay to a sandy loam, while in some lo-

calities are found a fine sand, and in others slaty and

granitic soils. Most of the farms are equal to those on the

Neck, being excellent meadow and grazing land, while the

higher parts are suitable for com and wheat. Orchards do

not flourish well.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

A portion of Harpswell was included in the grant to

Thomas Purchase made by the Council of Plymouth, Juue

16, 1632. In the conveyance of jurisdiction to Governor

Winthrop in 1639, the grant is defined as " all that tract

of land at Pejcpscot, aforesaid, upon both sides of the

River Androscoggin, being four miles square towards the

sea," meaning undoubtedly towards Casco Bay. Up to this

time Thomas Purchase was probably the only settler in this

region of country.

In 1672, Nicholas Cole and John Purrington bought of

SagettawoD and Robin Hood, Indian sagamores, " all the

Land Lying & Being between the Two Carrying Places
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Upoa Merriconeag Neck Begin Ding at the head of the

Westennost Branch of Wiggen Cove, so directly over to

Wester Bay to the Bight, and so ap along the neck from

side to Side untill they come to the Uppermost Carrying

place at the head of the Wester Bay at the Meadow which

George Phipping has formerly mowed, so over to the head

of the crick that Comes in from the Easter Bay ;" also

" That whole Tract of Meadow which they have formerly

possessed Upon the Great Island lying and being at the

head of the Cove against the Little Cove on Great Jebege

Island." The deed was witnessed by Thomas Stevens and

his wife, Margaret.* It is probable that Purrington him-

self did not occupy this knd. If he did, he aflerwarda

moved to Arundel.f

Nicholas Shapleigh, of Kittery, had, about the year 1659,

though the exact date is unknown, purchased and caused to

be settled Merriconeag (Harpswell) Neck and the island of

Sebascodegan. The purchase was made of the Indians

and the price paid for the deed was " a considerable sum of

wampumpeag, several guns, and a parcel of tobacco.";];

There is no special reason for supposing, however, that

Shapleigh actually settled there himself.

This land of Purchase and Way, and of Nicholas Shap-

leigh, all came into the hands of Richard Wharton, a

Boston merchant. July 4, 1683, John Sliapleigh, the heir

of Nicholas, sold to Richard Wharton " all that tract or

neck of land called Merryconeg in Casco Bay, Province of

Maine, and is bounded at head, or upper end, with the plains

of Pcjepscot or lands late belonging to or claimed by Mr.

Purchase, and on all other sides or parts is iocompassed and

bounded with and by the salt water ; and also all that the

aforesaid island called Sebasco, alias Sequasco-diggin."§

Oct. 10, 1683, Eleazer Way, of Hartford, son and

heir of George Way, the partner of Thomas Purchase, sold

to Richard Wharton, for £100, " one moiety or half part,

or whatever share or proportion, be the same more or less,

he, the s** Eliazer Way, now hath, may, might, should, or in

anywise ought to have or claim, of, in, or to a certain tract

or parcel of land commonly called and known by name of

Pejepscot, situate, lying, and being within the Province of

Maine in New England aforesaid," together with one-half

of all lands, uplands, meadows, etc., belonging to the same,

"which said tract of land and premises for the space of

forty years, or thereabouts, before the late war with the

Indians, was in the actual possession and improvement of

Mr. Thomas Purchase, and was actually given by patent

from the Council of Plymouth, within said Kingdom of

England, to the said George Way, and Thomas Purchase,

deceased."!!

Oct. 25, 1683, John Blaney, of Lynn, and Elizabeth, his

wife, the former widow of Thomas Purchase, of Pejep-

scot, deceased, and the administratrix of his estate, testified

" that said Eliazer Way had sold his [Purchase's] moity to

s* Wharton in s* Patent by the consent of the children of

8** Purchase for their support and settlement for £150,"

reserving seven lots which were secured to the childien by

articles in the deed. The portion sold was " AH that

* Pejepscot Papera. f Ibid. J Pejepaoot Records.

J Pejepscot Papers, Statement of Title.
||
IbiU.

moiety, half deal, and remaining share, whatsoever the same

is or may be, of tha said lands late belonging to the s''

Thomas Purchase by virtue of the said patent or any other

right in partnership with the said George or Eliazer Way,

and all the right and title, propriety and interest which the

said Thomas Purchase died seized of, or that he might,

should, or ought to have had in the said Province of

Maine." The children of Purchase signi&jd their consent

to the sale on the deed itself.^

It will be seen from the above extracts that at this time

Wharton owned the whole of what is now the town of

Harpswell,—except a few islands,—the greater portion of

Brunswick, and a tract on the river in what is now the

town of Topsham.

On the 7th of February, 1682, the (Jeneral Court of

Massachusetts "granted Merriconeag Neck, with 1000 acres

of land adjacent, to the President and Fallows of Harvard

College."** Under this grant, Nicholas Cole, in 1691, set

up a claim to the possiession of the Neck, he having settled

here previous to that time, and purchased the land of the

Indians. The college at one time became anxious to secure

the grant which had been made in 168:2, and applied to the

Legislature for its confirmation, but the decision was in

favor of the Pejepscot purchasers, into whose possession the

property had come.

Sebascondcgan (Great Island), included in Harpswell,

was granted to Governor Thomas Danforth, President of

the Province of Maine, and to Sumner Nowell, Esq., by

the General Court of Massachusetts, May 7, 1684, " for

their great pains and good service done by order of this

Court in the expedition in several journeys to Casco, for

which no recompense hath been made them."ff

In 1658, Thomas Haynes settled at Maquoit, where he

retained land as late as 1678. His wife's name was Joyce.

Richard Potts was settled as early as 1672, and probably a

year or two earlier, on what was known as New Demariscovo

Island. In 1673 he owned and lived upon the point which

still bears his name, at the extremity of Harpswell Neck.

The following individuals are known to have been settled

about this time, certainly prior to 1700, within the limits

of what was afterwards called the Pejepscot purchase : at

Middle Bay, John Cleaves ; on White's Island, Nicholas

White ; at Mair Point, James Carter, Thomas Haynes,

Andrew and George Pliippeny; at Maquoit Bay, John

Swaine, Thomas Kimball-, of Charleston, who settled on

Hoeg Island in 1658, John Sears, Thomas Wharton, Sam-

uel Libby, who subsequently resided in Scarborough, Henry

Webb, Edward Greet (or Creek), and Robert Jordan ; on

Smoking Fish Point, Christopher Lawson, an Antinomian
;

at or near New Meadows, in 1675, was Alister Coombs.

The island of Sebascodegan was settled as early as 1639

by Francis Small and his wife, Elizabeth, whose child was

the first born on the island, of English parents. He was

from Kittery, and was a tenant under Col. Shapleigh. The

latter also owned Merriconeag Neck. The Neck at this time

had a number of settlers upon it, who were all driven off by

the Indians at the commencement of King Philip's war in

T Ibid. ** Attested copy of Court Becord, in Pejepscot papers.

tt Ibid.
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1675. Id 1683, Shaplei<;h, finding liis property almost

worthless on account of the Indian troubles, sold the Neck

and island to Richard Wharton, of Boston.

After Wharton's purchase of Sebascodegan, the Indians

continued possession of the island, for the purpose of catch-

ing fish, seal, and porpoise. This prevented any further

settlements there for some years.

A paper drawn up by one of the Pejepscot proprietors,

it is supposed about 1714. gives a list of the settlers on the

purcha.se. At the narrows or carrying-place that parts

Casco Bay from Merryraeeting Bay, " settled by Stevens,

who has a son now at New Haven married to Parker's

daughter." " Next to said Stevens, at the upper Whigby,

or Wiskege, by Lawson, owned by Ephraim Savage."

" On Merriconeag Neck only two settlements, Richard

Potts, who lived at the lower end, and John Dumarell,

about three miles above him. But one settlement at Mair

Point, by John Phippany. But one settlement at Maquoit,

by Robert [Thomas?] Haines."

The Pejepscot proprietors, who owned Harpswell and

Brunswick and other adjoining lands, were Thomas Hutch-

inson, Adam Winthrop, John Watts, David Jeffries, Stephen

Minot, Oliver Noyes, and John Ruck, of Boston, Mass.,

and John Wentworth, of Portsmouth, N. H. They bought

the lands of Ephraim Savage, of Boston, administrator of

Richard Wharton, who had become possessed of the greater

portion of the tract, and had died in England, in 1693.

The company purchased the lands Nov. 5, 1714, for the

sum of £150, to hold in fee as tenants in common. The

conveyance was acknowledged the next day, and was re-

corded in the York records on the 19 th of November fol-

lowing.*

Oct. 20, 1714, the General Court of Massachusetts

passed a resolution that it was for the public interest that

some townships be laid out and settled in the eastern coun-

try, and John Wheelwright and others were appointed a

committee to receive the claims of all persons claiming lands

there.

On the 18th of February, 1715, the Pejepscot proprietors

made certain proposals to the above-mentioned committee

:

1. That the General Court should give confirmation to

their purchase, in order that they might " be better able to

encourage substantial farmers to remove with their stock

from England."

2. For the encouragement of a fishing town at Small

Point.

3. That whenever 12 or more persons offered themselves

for any new settlement, they should be " covered" with

such a force and for such a time as the General Court should

deem necessary.

4. That those settling in the limits of the Pejepscot tract

should, for the first seven years, have some assistance from

the public towards the maintenance of a ministry, and should

bo exempted from the payment of any Province tax.

The proprietors agreed that, if the General Court would

consent to the foregoing proposals, they would, on their

part, agree to enter into the following arrangements

:

1. To lay out three, or if the land would admit, four plats

^ Pejepscot Papers, quoted bj "Wheeler.

39

or towns, and have them surveyed and platted that same

summer, at their own cost.

2. " In seven years, if peace continues with the Indians,"

they would settle " each of said towns with 50 families or

more, in a defensive manner, having already offers of very

considerable numbers, both in this country and from Eng-

land." And in order thereto they wore willing to grant

them such house-lots, in fee, and such acconimudatioiis in

regard to their lands, as might induce them to settle there.

3. That they would lay out a convenient portion of land

in each town for " the subsistence of the first minister, the

ministry, and a school."

4. " Being desirous that the people might not live like

heathen, without the worship of God, as had been too

frequent in new settlements," they engaged for the more

speedy procuring of a minister, and to make it easier for

the inhabitants at their first settling down, that as soon as

thera should be 20 householders in each of the towns, who

would provide a frame for, and raise a meeting-house, they

would, at their own expense, furnish glass, lead, nails, iron-

work, and other materials, and finish the meeting-house for

them, and pay towards the maintenance of an " orthodox

gospel minister" in each town, the sum of £40 per annum,

for five years. These proposals to the committee received

the signature of all the proprietors.

On the 27th of the following May, the committee reported

favorably on these proposals, and the General Court, on the

10th of June, passed resolutions in accordance therewith.

Thus this company became undoubted legal owners of the

territory they had purchased."}"

OCCUPATIONS OF THE PEOPLE.

The principal occupation of the first settlers of Harps-

well is said to have been cutting cord-wood and shipping it

to Boston, Salem, and other ports, although farming and

fishing were doubtless carried on to some extent. Bailey's

Island, which is now nearly barren of trees, was at that

time densely covered with wood. After a while the settlers

devoted themselves almost exclusively to farming and fish-

ing.

FISHERIES.

We have been unable to obtain any statistics of this

business at an early date. At the present time there are

caught, dried, and cured in Harpswell about 20,000 quin-

tals of fish annually, consisting of cod, hake, haddock, pol-

lock, and cusk. Smaller fish, such as mackerel, porgies,

and herring, are also caught in abundance. In the month
of September the herring come in very plenty, and it is not

uncommon to see, in Mackerel Cove and Jaquis' Harbor,

from 75 to 150 sail of vessels. Largo quantities of the

fish are taken to Portland, where they are packed and

shipped to various parts of the country as " Portland Her-

ring." During the months of March, April, and May,

most of the fishermen are engaged in the lobster fishery.

The fishing smacks are so arranged that the lobsters are

kept alive, and large numbers are shipped to Portland, Bos-

ton, and New York.

In former years the clam business was quite an impor-

] History of Brunswick, Topsham, and Harpswell.
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tant branch of the fisheries, but it is not so tiow. About

the year 18G3 there were put up, and sold at prices ranging

from S8 to §14 per barrel, not less than 2500 barrels. The

principal dealers in fish are S. Watson, A. T. Trufaut, and

John Power, of East HarpswcU ; Smullen & Prince and

J. M. Johnson, of Orr's Island ; E. C. Simpson & Co. and

J. B. Piukham, of West Harpswell.

MILLS.

Owing to the fact that Harpswell possesses do streams

large enough to afford sufficient water-power, but little

attention has been given to manufactures in this town.

Previous to 1758 there was a wind-mill in the town and

a tide-mill called Jones' Mill.* The location of the wind-

mill is not known. The tide-mill was situated near the

farm of Arthur Orr, and was at one time owned by him.

It was originally built by a family of Quakers by the name

of Jones. Captain James Sinnett, of Bailey's Island, re-

members a very old mill at Widgeon Cove, which was

standing as late as the year 1804. It was then owned, in

part, by Silas Allen and Deacon James Wilson.

About the year 1800 there was a wind-mill near Charles

Merryman's. It was built and owned by Major Paul Ran-

dall. The great shaft for the mill he hauled from Bruns-

wick, and it was so heavy he nearly broke the backs of his

oxen drawing it over some of the hills. The mill did not

do much business. It was situated down near the shore,

instead of upon the ridge, which would have furnished

more wind-power. The present saw- and grist-mill was

erected about the year 1850. It is owned in shares, about

twenty in number.

In 1855, or thereabouts, there were two grist-mills on

Great Island, one owned by Stephen Purinton, Esq., and

the other by a Mr. Ridley.

SALT-WORKS.

During the Revolution salt was very scarce. An Irish-

man on Great Island, who understood how to make salt

from sea-water, suggested the building of salt-works on that

island. A company was formed, a building erected, and

kettles and other appliances were purchased. The Irish-

man, whose name was Millay, had charge of the kettles. A
yoke of oxen was employed to draw wood for the ovens.

Sixty bushels of salt per week were manufactured, and it

was sold in Boston for two dollars per bushel.

TKABES.

The population of Harpswell is so scattered that it has

been found no easy thing to obtain an account of the va-

rious trades pursued in former times or at present. The

following is all that we have obtained any information

about.

Bakers.—Early in the present, or late in the last cen-

tury, a Mr. Ryan had a bakery on Great Island. He moved

to Brunswick in 1804 or 1805.

Blacksmitht.—Nehemiah Curtis, whose shop was one

mile above the Congregational church on the Neck, was the

first blacksmith in town of whom we have any account.

* Memoranda of Ber. Samael Eaton, in Pejepscot Papen.

He was succeeded in the business by his son and grandson,

of the same name. The grandson kept the shop until 1820.

Somewhat later in the business were Benjamin Curtis, whose

shop was half a mile northwest of the church, and Barstow

Curtis, whose shop was where Abijah Stover now lives.

Boat-BitUdert.—David Doughty was the first boat-

builder on Great Island. He was engaged in this business

as late as 1847. He was succeeded in the business by Wil-

liam Doughty. Since then the business has been carried on

by quite a large number of persons.

Boot and Shoe Makers.—James Merryman, on the Neck,

near the Baptist church, and William Orr, on Orr's Island,

were engaged in the boot and shoe business for some years.

They moved away about 1847.

Brick-Yards.—In 1805 there was a brick-yard owned by

a Mr. Douglass, situated on the Neck, about three miles

above the Congregational church. It was in operation only

a short time. There was another one carried on by a Mr.

Reed in 1812 to 1815, on Orr's Island.

Carpenters and Joiners.—John Curtis, in 1802 to 1804,

and Waitstill Webber, an apprentice of Curtis', in 1804,

worked at this trade. Their shop was on the Neck, atout

two miles above the Congregational church. In 1806,

John Bibber pursued this occupation.

Giinimilhs.—A man by the name of Nason lived on

Bailey's Island about 1856, and carried on the business of a

gunsmith. His shop was where Prince & Smullen 's store

is now.

Harness aiul Saddle Makers.—A man by the name of

Barstow carried on the above business for one year in 1816

or 1817.

Masons.—The only mason that we have received any ac-

count of was a man by the name of Ewing. He lived on

Great Island, but at what date is not known to us.

Surveyors.—The only surveyors of land of whom we

have any account were Paul and Benjamin Randall, who

lived about two miles and a half above the Congregational

church. Paul died about 1874 ; Benjamin, about 1847.

Tailors.—From 1800 to 1806, D. Merritt carried on the

tailoring business in town. He moved to Durham.

Tannej-s.—In the early part of the century, Thomas

Farr had a tannery in Stover's Cove, on the Neck, and

Benjamin Dunning hud one about three miles above the

Congregational church. In the eastern part of the town,

Stephen Purinton had one.

TBASERS.

Mr. James Booker kept store as early as 1752, and as

late as 1762. About the latter date, Andrew Dunning

and Alexander Wilson were also in trade,—that is, they

were licensed retailers, and had a stock of goods which they

disposed of to the settlers when called upon, but they

probably did not confine themselves exclusively to that

business.

Joseph Coney came from Boston, in 1795, and opened a

store, which was opposite the lower end of Orr's Island. It

was afterwards occupied by Bruce & Everett, Silas H.

Dodge, and Jacob Merryman. Joseph Eaton kept store

near the Congregational church until his death, about

1846. A Mr. Pinkham once kept store at the end of
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Pott's Point, but the date is unicnown. In 1847, Wash-

ington Gurcelon, postmaster, had one near Paul Randall's.

Baileys Island.—The old store which once stood at the

head of the cove, on the outer end of Bailey's Island, has

been occupied by the following men, in succession : Perry

& Howard, of Brunswick, about 1800
; Joseph Coney, Maj.

John Rowe, Zachariah Lambert, and Capt. David John-

son. The store now occupied by Lubce was formerly

owned by Ralph Sinnett.

A Mr. Dana and a Mr. Twombly both kept store on

this island for a long time. The former was at the lower

end. The date of their doing business is not known.

Orrs Island.—In the early part of this century, Edward

Ingraham kept a store on the southwest end of the island,

where Prince & Smullcn's store is now. He had a brother

in business with him, who was probably Nathaniel. S. F.

Merrill at one time had a store at Lowell's Cove.

Great Island.—In the latter part of the last, or in the

first of the present century, a Mr. Ryan had a store at

Condy's Harbor.

Esquire Snow kept a store for many years at his wharf

on New Meadows River.

INSURANCE COMPANY.

On Feb. 14, 1855, Paul R. Curtis, Shubael Merryman,

Isaac A. Johnson, Thomas A. Estes, Thomas U. Eaton,

Abram J. Allen, Simeon Curtis, L. II. Stover, Pennell

Alexander, Thomas Alexander, and Abel Thompson were

incorporated as the " Haepswell Mutual Fire Insur-

ance Company." The first officers were Thomas Alex-

ander, President ; Thomas U. Eaton, Secretary ; Abel

Thompson, Treasurer. The first Board of Directors were

Stephen Purinton, James Orr, David Webber, Alcot S.

Merryman, Thomas U. Eaton, Thomas Alexander, and

Henry Barnes.

The losses of this company have been so little that there

has never been a necessity for making any assessments

upon the members. The present officers are Thomas Alex-

ander, President ; William C. Eaton, Secretary ; Shubael

Merryman, Treasurer. The present directors are Thomas

Alexander, Pennell Alexander, William C. Eaton, Shubael

Merryman, Sylvester Stover, Stephen Purinton, and Sam-

uel E. Smullen.

POPULATION.

In 1765 there were in Harpswell 55 houses. 111 fami-

lies, 224 males under and 188 above sixteen years of age,

224 females under and 186 females above sixteen years of

age, and 14 negroes. The total population, exclusive of

Indians, was 836. Brunswick at this time had a popula-

tion of but 506.

In 1776, Harpswell had 977 white inhabitants, while

Brunswick had but 867.*

In 1778, Harpswell had 27 Revolutionary soldiers, and

178 males over the age of sixteen.'!'

MUNICIPAL HISTORY OF HARPSWELL.
Harpswell, or Merriconeag Neck, was embraced in the

town of North Yarmouth, of which it constituted a parish,

• CensDS of Massachusetts, 1763 to 1776.

•\ Massachusetts Archirefl, book 185, p. .S9i.

till 1740, in wliith j'ear it was annexed to Brunswick by

order of the General Court of Massachusetts. The proprie-

tors—Joseph Wadsworth, Adam Winthrop, Henry Gi'obs,

Belcher Noyes, and Job Lewis—set forth in a petition,

signed by 27 other inhabitants, the difficulties of getting

to the meeting-house of North Yarmouth, about thirty

miles distant by land, and by water across two bays dan-

gerous to navigate with their ftimilies in canoes, and being

thus deprived of the public worship of God, asked to be

annexed to Brunswick, whose meeting-house was but ' three

miles from the upper end of the Neck, adjoining to Bruns-

wick Town, and no water to pass over." The petition was

granted June 27, 1740 ; but on the 1st of August, 1741,

by act of the General Court it w:'s returned to North Yar-

mouth. This legislation was displeasing to the people of

the Neck, and other petitions were sent in by the select-

men of Brunswick and the inhabitants of Harpswell, ask-

ing that they be again annexed to Brunswick.

These petitions were not favorably received by the Gen-

eral Court ; but on June 14, 1749, that body, in response

to a petition of the inhabitants of that portion of Merrico-

neag Neck and the adjoining lands which was within the

limits of North Yarmouth, passed an order to the effect

that the Neck, the land and islands mentioned in the

petition, and the northeast part of Sebascodegau Island,

should be a distinct and separate precinct.

In 1758 an act incorporating Harpswell as a district was

passed, one section of which reads as follows:

•* Aud the inhabitants of said Neck of land and Islands shall be and

hereby are inrested with all the powers, pririleges, and immunities

that the several towns in this Province by law do o'r may enjoy, that

of sending a Representative only excepted."

The present name of the town is not known to have been

used prior to the incorporation. By whom it was first sug-

gested is not known. One authority states that it was so

named by the General Court, but according to traditionary

accounts the name was given by the Dunnings. There is a

Harpswell in Lincolnshire, England, and the name was prob-

ably first suggested by some emigrant from that vicinity,

and was favored by the Dunnings, who were English peo-

ple, though from another county.

The first recorded meeting of the district was held

March 30, 1758. At this meeting Capt. John Stover was

chosen Moderator ; Andrew Dunning, Clerk
; David Curtis,

Isaac Hall, and Andrew Dunning, Selectmen and Asses-

sors ;
Lieut. Lemuel Turner, District Treasurer ; Elijah

Douglas and Taylor Small, Constables ; James Babbage,

Seth Toothaker, and John Coombs, Tithing- Men ; Waitstill

Webber, William Alexander, and Joseph Thompson, Sur-

veyors of Highways ; Edward Easters, Thomas McGregor,

and Joseph Linscott, Fence-Viewers; Nathan Adams, James

Gardner, and John Snow, Hog-Reeves : and Elisha Allen,

Sealer of Leather. It was voted at this meeting that ho"^

and horses should be allowed to run at large, according to

the existing law. The meeting adjourned to the last Wed-
nesday in May.

Harpswell sent her first representative, Samuel Stanwood,

to the General Court in 1770. At a meeting of the town

held Jan. 16, 1776, the selectmen were chosen a committee

to embody in a petition to the General Court the necessity
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there was for an armed guard and a supply of ammunition

in the town.

On March 4th, 'William Sylvester, Nathaniel Purinton,

Capt. Nehemiah Curtis, Capt. John Snow, and Lieut. Ben-

jamin Dunning were chosen a committee of correspond-

ence, inspection, and safety. At a meeting held May 6th

the vote of the district in 1775, giving Minute-Men 2s. 8d.

per week for military practice on three days in each week,

for three hours each day, was rescinded. On July 30th it

was voted that the selectmen should take charge of the

ammunition and arms, receipt for the same, and then dis-

tribute them among the officers of the militia, who should

be accountable for them. It was also voted to pay Nathaniel

Purinton and the seven men who assisted him in bringing

guns down the Kennebec River 4». each, for two days'

labor. It was also voted to pay Deacon Isaac Snow 12s.

for his expenses and charge in bringing 25 firearms from

Falmouth. Andrew Dunning was, at this meeting, chosen

to take recognizances in Harpswell. At a meeting held

on December 20th the following resolutions were passed

:

" Voted the great t General Coart or Assembly of this State Do

Take up a Form of Gorernmentas Soon as they think Propper <Sc that

form that Shall tend mojt to Piety, Peace, Safety, and Good Order in

this State and agreeable to the Honourable Continental Congress

—

the rote unanimous at a lull Meeting.

" Voted the Selectmen Send to the General Court or Treasurer for

Axes, Kittles, Canteen?, and Money to hire Waggons i, Pay the Men

that are Draughted their Milage to the Place of Destination."

At the March meeting in 1777, Nathaniel Purinton,

Capt. John Snow, Capt. Nehemiah Curtis, Ezekiel Curtis,

and' Andrew Dunning were chosen a committee of corre-

spondence and safety. It was also voted " Not to Have a

Hospetal Built in the County for an Enocolating Hospetal."

It was also voted this year to pay Andrew Dunning 12s. for

superintending the delivery of powder and flints, and for

recording the Declaration of Independence. On November

25th a committee was chosen to supply the families of

soldiers with necessary articles.

CIVIL LIST.

REPRESENTATIVES IN GENERAL COURT OP MASSACnU-

SETT8.

Samuel Stanwood, 1770; Isaac Snow, 1783, '87, '89, '90, and '92;

Samuel Snow, 1795 ; Benjamin Dunning, 1785, '91, '93, '97, 1800,

loOl, 1803, and 1806; Joseph Coney, 1799; Samuel Dunning,

1808; Marlborough Sylvester, 18U9; Stephen Purinton, 1810,

'13, '14, '16, and '20; Paul Raymond, 1819.

SELECTMEN.

1 758.—David Curtis, Isaac Uall, Andrew Dunning.

1759.—David Curtis, Andrew Dunning, Paul Raymond.

1700..—Edward Gasters, Jonathan Flint, Andrew Dunning, Paul Ray-

mond, Isaac Snow.

1761.—Jonathan Flint, Paul Raymond, Walter Merryman.

1762.—Jonathan Flint, Walter Merryman, James Booker.

1763.—Capt. William Sylvester, Lieut. Joshua Berstow, Paul Ray-

mond.

1764.—Andrew Dunning, Nehemiah Curtis, Paul Raymond.

1765.—Paul Raymond, Nehemiah Curtis, John Rodnok.

1766-67.—Nehemiah Curtis, John Roduck, Nathaniel Purinton.

1768-69.—William Sylvester, Esq., Edward Cunningham, Nathaniel

Purinton.

1770.'^Paul Raymond, Capt. John Stover, Ezekiel Curtis.

1771.—William Sylvester, Ezekiel Cnrtis, Paul Raymond.

1772-74.—William Sylveirter, Ezekiel Cnrtis, Isaac Snow.

1775-77—Lieut. John Roduck, Anthony Coombs, Jr., Williiim Syl-

vester.

1778.—William Sylvester, Esq., Nathaniel Purinton, Esq., Capt. Ne-

hemiah Curtis.

1779._AVilliam Sylvester, Esq., John Roduck, Simeon Hopkins.

1780.—John Roduck, Nathaniel Purinton, Esq., Ezekiel Curtis.

1781-82.—John Roduck, Lieut. Benj. Dunning, Deacon Isaac Snow.

1783.—William Sylvester, John Roduck, Nathaniel Purinton.

1784-87.-John Roduck, Nathaniel Purinton, Ezekiel Curtis.

1788-89.—John Roduck, Ezekiel Curtis, Anthony Coombs.

1790,—Isaac Snow, Daniel Randale, Ezekiel Curtis.

1791.—Johnson Stover, John Rodick, Stephen Purinton.

1792.—Johnson Stover, John Rodick, Isaac Snow.

1793.—John Rodick, Ezekiel Curtis, Stephen Purinton.

1794.—Joseph Carr, Johnson Stover, Capt. Nehemiah Curtis.

1795-U6.—John Rodick, Ezekiel Curtis, Lieut. Anthony Coombs.

1797-98.—Samuel Snow, John Rodick, Marlborough Sylvester,

1799.—John Rodick, Marlborough Sylvester, Charles Ryan.

1800.—Puul Randall, Marlborough Sylvester, Anthony Coombs.

1801,—Anthony Coombs, Marlborough Sylvester, Capt. Nehemiah

Curtis.

1802.—Anthony Coombs, Marlborough Sylvester, John Rodick.

1803.—Capt. Samuel Snow, Marlborough Sylvester, Paul Curtis.

1804-6.—Marlborough Sylvester, John Snow, Jr., Johnson Stover.

1807.—Harrison Cleaves, Marlborough Sylvester, Paul Raymond.

1808.—Marlborough Sylvester, Alcot Stover, Jr., Paul Raymond.

1809-12.—John Curtis, Alcot Stover, Jr., Paul Raymond.

1813 John Curtis, Stephen Snow, Alcot Stover, Jr.

1814.—John Curtis, Alcot Stover, Jr., Paul Raymond.

1815.—Marlborough Sylvester, Alcot Stover, Jr., Anthony Coombs.

1816-17.—Alcot Stover, Jr., John Curtis, Paul Raymond.

1318.—Benjamin Randall, John Pennell, Paul Raymond.

1819.—John Curtis, Benjamin Randall, Paul Raymond.

1820.—George Skolfield, Benjamin Randall, Stephen Merritt.

1321.—Paul Raymond, John Curtis, Capt. Peleg Curtis.

1822.—John Curtis, Paul Raymond, Benjamin Randall.

1823.—Isaac Sylvester, Benjamin Randall, Paul Raymond.

1824-25.—Isaac Sylvester, Samuel Touthaker, Capt. Peleg Curtis.

1826.—Samuel Toothaker, Paul Randall, Peleg Curtis.

1827.—Sylvester Stover, Paul Randall, Samuel Toothaker.

1828-29.—Benjamin Randall, Samuel Toothaker, James Merryman

(3d).

1830.—James Eastman, James Merryman (3d), Benjamin Randall.

1831.—Peleg Curtis, James Merryman (3d), Simeon Orr.

1832.—Paul Randall, John Stover, Simeon Orr.

1833.—Paul Randall, Benjamin Randall, Samuel Toothaker.

1834.—Peleg Curtis, James Merryman (3d), Samuel Toothaker.

1835.—Isaac Stover, Paul Randall, Stephen Snow.

1836.—Isaac Stover, Paul Randall, Samuel Toothaker.

1837.—Isaac Stover, Paul Randall, James Eastman.

1838.—Bei^amin Randall, Thomas Alexander, James Eastman.

1839.—Thomas Alexander, William Randall, Simeon Orr.

1840.—Washington Garcelon, Thomas Alexander, Simeon Orr.

1841.—Benjamin Randall, James Merryman (3d), Simeon Orr.

1842-43.—Paul Randall, Isaac Stover, Samuel Toothaker.

1844.—Paul Randall, Harry C. Martin, Simeon Hopkins.

1845.—Isaiah Snow, Paul Randall, Washington Oarcelon.

1846.—Alcot Stover, Robert Pennell, Robert Stover.

1847.—Isaiah Snow, Alcot Stover, Robert Pennell.

1848-52.—Isaiah Snow, Robert Pennell, James Stover.

1853-54.—Thomas U. Eaton, Simeon Hopkins, David Webber.

1855.—Thos. U. Eaton, David Webber, Isaiah Snow.

1856.—Thos. n. Eaton, Alcot S. Merryman, Alexander Ewing.

1857-58.—Henry Barnes, Lemuel H. Stover, Alexander Ewing.

1859-60.—Thos. U. Eaton, Wm. Randall, Joseph Orr.

1861.—William Randall, Paul A. Durgan, Isaiah Snow.

1862.— Isaiah Snow, Hutson Merryman, David Webber.

1863.—Geo. R. Skolfleld, Lemuel H. Stover, Joseph D. Wyer.

1864-65.—Lemuel H. Stover, Wm. C. Eaton, Samuel S. Toothaker.

1866.—Thos. Pennell, E. C. Simpson, Stephen Purinton.

1867.—L. H. Stover, William C. Eaton, Charles E. Trufant.

1868.—William C. Eaton, L. H. Stover, Francis J. Orr.

1869.— L. H. Stover, William C. Eaton, S. S. Toothaker.

1870.—Isaac Merryman (2d), Sylvester Stover, S. S. Toothaker.

1871.—David Pennell, L. H. Stover, S. S. Toothaker.
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1 S72.—James Alexander, E. K. Ilodgkina, S. S. Tonthaker.

lS";i-7-;.—Thomos E. Skolfield, Moses Builey, S. S. Toothoker.

IS73.—Thom4u E. Skol&eld. Mo^es Bailer, Charles E. TrufanC.

1878-r7.—Thomas E. Skolfield, Elijah K. HoJgWins, Charles E. Tru-

fant.

TOWN CLEBKS.

Anthony Coombf, Jr., I7S3, 1793 j Andrew Dunning, 1758-S2; An-
drew Dunning, 181 4-20; Benjamin Dunning, 17'JI-92; fl'illiam

Dunning, Jr., ISOO-II; Joseph Eaton, lS21-2o; Thomas V.

Eaton, IS33-67, 1859-60 ; Washington Garcelon, lS-»-t-45 : James

Merrjman (3d), 183:{-35i Robert Pennell, 1346-52: Paul Ran-

dall, I826-32,* 1836-43; Elisha S. Stover, 1863-65, 1872-77;

Lemuel H. Stover, 1858, 1861, 1867-71: Sylvester Storer, 1S62,

1866; Marlborough Sylvester, 1794-99, 1813; William Sylvester,

1784-90.

FOBTS AND aARBISONS.

The only fort ever constracted ia Harpsweli was made

during the war of 1812, on the land now owned by Wood-

bury S. Purinton, at the mouth of New Meadows River.

It was a simple earthwork, the foundation of which was

made of logs. A mound of earth and a few decayed logs

mark its location.

There was a garrison or block-house for dcfenise against

the Indians, on the north end of Bailey's Island. It was

at the Narrows, between Garrison Cove and the main bay,

within twenty feet of the shore. The stone foundations

have been seen by some of the older inhabitants ; but when

the land was put under cultivation all the stones were

rolled over the bank, and there are now no traces of the

garrison to be seen.

About 1764, Joseph Orr built a large block-house on

the farm now owned by Bradbury Wilson. It stood near

the middle of Orr's Island, on the northwest side of the

hill, northwest of the present house. This block-house

was standing within the memory of Captain James Sinnett,

of Bailey's Island. There is now no trace of it to be dis-

covered.

On the Neck, on the point of land now owned by Paul

Stover, there was a block-house ; by whom erected, or at

what date, is not known. It was taken down by Daniel

Randall and erected as a store-house near his dwelling. In

1822 it was again taken down, and rebuilt as a dwelling,

which is still standing.

It is quite probable that there were other block-houses

or garrisons on the Neck, and also on Great Island, but

these are all of which we have any account.

CHXTRCHES.

The old meeting-house of the First Parish in this town

was probably commenced about the year 1757 or 1759.

Elisha Eaton, son of the Rev. Elisha Eaton, who was a

carpenter living in Boston, wrote in his diary, Aug. 7,

1757,—

" getting stufiT for ivindoff-frames and Sashes for Meeting-house

which is for North Yarmouth y* sec'd Parish."

"Sept. 21. Caping window-frames for meeting-house."

" 1759, June 13th. Puting sashes on board y* vessel for Meeting-

house at Harpswell."

" Ooto. 6th, saii'd for Harpswell,—arrived there y' 3th, where I

tarried until Nov. 27th."

Although there is no proof, yet it is quite likely that

Mr. Eaton worked upon the meeting-house during his stay in

* Supply James Merryman, ;. '.

Harpswell, and probiibiy put in the windows lie had boon

so long at work upon.

From an examination of tiie town records it appears that

this house was a long time in beinj; coiuplctod. .-^t a special

meeting of the town, Nov. 14. 1774. it was voted that the

" Advance ground in the Galleries and seats in the same

shall be for the use of the Pari.->h, e.tcopt the Pi.'w in tlio

Front of the Front Gallery, they • tlio inonibcrs of tlie

Parish) paying the cost of the Same." And it wa.s aljo

voted " to put in the glass wanting in the meetiiig-huuso,

mend the putty, Prime the Sashes and window- frames.

At another meeting held the same year it was voted to

lay a floor in the porch, build the stairs and doors in the

porch, put up the breastwork in the galleries, and put in the

seats there, and to mend the windows. Nothing further

seems to have been done until June. 1781, when it wa<<

voted to shingle the " four side" of the meeting-house, and

to hang the doors.

This completed the work on the church until Jan. 16,

1792, when it was voted that there should be ' four pews

built in the body of the meetinghouse on the Neck, ad-

joining the pews now built, two on eacli side of the front

alley,' and that the money arising from the sale of the same

should be expended in repairing the nieetini;-house. Also,

that the pew ground .should be sold at auctii^n.

In November, 1797, the town voted to sell ten feet two

inches of the pew space in each side gallery, the purcliaser-

to pay S2 down, and the balance in ninety days, or forfeit

the whole. At the sale, pew No. 5 was bid off to William

Dunning, Jr., at §21 : No. 4 to Walter Merryman, Jr., at

825 ; No. 3 to Joshua Bishop, at S2G.50 ; and No. 2 to

Aleck Stover, at tlie same price.

This meeting-house was occupied by tlio First Pari.-li

until 1844. At a meeting of the pari-h held May:!].

1841, it was voted " to take out the iri>iiles ut' the nieotiii;.'-

hou.se, as far as necessary, take off the porch, turn tlio hou^o

round end to the road, and rebuild the iii?ido of the house,
'

and that Joseph Eaton be a conuuictoe to consult an archi-

tect and estimate the expense. It was also voted that the

meeting-house should not in future be used for town pur-

poses, and that Eaton should inform the selectmen of this

vote. At a meeting held July 5th, the parish committee

were instructed, in case the selectmen thought the town had

a claim on the meetinghouse, to refer the matter to some

legal authority, and the committee were empowered to sue,

and to defend the rights of the parish.

At a parish-meeting, held March 26, 1842, it was voted

to petition the Dbtrict Court for leave to sell the meeting-

house at private sale, or otherwise, with or without the

land on which it stood, as might be thought advisable.

The last entry in the parish records is dated Sept. 27,

1842. It was called in the legal manner, and a legal re-

turn was made upon the warrant, and was signed by the

person who notified the members, and by the pariah clerk.

For some reason, however, it was not deeme<i legal by some.

The entry read as follows :

"At a certain meeting purporting to be a. meeting of the First

Parish in Harpswell held on the 27 of September, 1842, and wbioh

was called by Washington Garcelon, Jus. Peace, issuing his

warrant to Thomas Alexander, voted as follows,—Thomas Alexander,
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Moderator; after which the meeting was objected to by a member of

the aaid Parish, in behalf of the Parish, and they refused to act. as

being illegal on arcount of its not having been notified by gaid Alex-

ander:

" Voted, that a committee of three be chosen to remonstrate at

court against the meeting-house being sold. Voted, Joshua Stover,

Rufus Dunning, and Simeon Stover (2d) be this committee. Voted,

that this committee have power to call on papers and witnesses.

Voted, that John Stover be an agent to carry the remonstrance to

Court. Voted, to pass over the 3d article in the warrant [to see if

the parish would repair the meeting-house]. Voted, that all votes

passed on the 26th of March last, concerning the sale of the Meeting-

House, be rescinded. Voted, that the Meeting-Hoose be occupied as it

has been. Voted, not to assess any money for the support of the

Ministry. Votvd, that this meeting be dissolved.

" Atteat. WiLUAX C. Eatox,

"P.CUrk."

After this date the meeting-house remained, for the most

part, unosed, until 1856, when it was taken possession of

by the town as a town-bouse and selectmen's office.

This bailding, though probably one hundred and twenty

years old, is still standing, and in use as a town-house, and

is in a fair state, of preservation. The boards, an inch and

a half thick, and the birch-bark covering the cracks beneath

the clapboards, are still to be seen in it, as well as the curious

hinges and the original hand-made nails.

The old meeting-house of the First Parish, on Great

Island, was built about 1770, and was taken down in 1843.

It was similar, both externally and internally, to the old

meetiog-houae on the Neck, and does not, therefore, require

further description.

The Centre Congregational meeting-house, on Harpswell

Neck, directly opposite the old First Parish meeting-house,

was built in 1843. It was built by individuals who entered

into the following agreement

:

"We, the subscribers, being desirous to have a meeting-house built

in the vicinity of the old meeting-house on Harpswell Neok, to be

ever owned, managed, and conducted by the Congregational Society

in Harpswell, with the privilege of its being occupied by others

holding evangelical sentiments, at the request of any pew-holder,

when not occupied by the said Congregational Society. To contain

about 40 pewB, with a belfry and steeple, and to be of such dimen-

sions as the building committee and some experienced joiner shall

deem beat.

" And we hereby agree to take the number of pews set against our

names, and to pay the assersments as agreed upon at any regular

meeting of said subscribers, the first meeting to be called by the

building committee or any three of the subscribers, to choose such

offioera and make such regulations ae aaid meeting may think proper,

and to determine the manner of calling future meetings. And the

building committee to be Silvester. Stover, Clement Martin, and

James Stover. And all who can conveniently, to pay in to the build-

ing committee.

" Silvester Stover, 10 pews ; Joseph Stover, I pew ; Dominicus

Jordan, 1 pew; Qeorge S. Dunning, 1 pew; James Stover, 1 pew;

Isue Dunning, 1 pew ; William Barnes, 2 pews ; Joseph Eaton, 1

pew ; Jacob Merryman, I pew ; William C. Eaton, 1 pew ; Hugh Farr,

1 pew; Elisha Allen, Jr., 1 pew; Abraham Allen, Ipew; James

Dunning, 1 pew; Simeon Orr, 1 pew; Richard Orr, Jr., 1 pew;

Stephen Sinnet, Jr., k pew ; Michael Sinnet, J pew ; Norton Stover

(2d), 1 pew ; Clement Martin, 3 pews ; Qeorge R. Skolfield, 1 pew

;

Daniel Randall, 1 pew ; Qeorge Skolfield, I pew ; Mary Skolfield, 1

pew."

At their first meeting the foregoing proprietors voted to

purchase three-sixteenths of an acre of land of Elisha

Stover, for the meeting-house lot. At another meeting of

the same, held June 30th, it was voted, in explanation of one

clause of their agreement, " that when the meeting-house ia

not supplied by Connregational preaching, it shall be opened

on the Sabbath under the direction of the committee or

agent having charge of it, and at the request of one or

more pew-holders, for preaching by other authorized min-

isters in regular standing, holding the sentiments commonly

called evangelical, such as the atonement, regeneration,

the spiritual influences of the Holy Spirit, and future ret-

ribution. But for preachers of other sentiments than those

referred to, and for all other public occasions and uses what-

ever, it cannot be opened except in the usual way, viz., by

the committee or agent acting under the direction of the

Congr^tional Society.'' It was also voted at this meeting

that Joseph Eaton, George R. Skolfield, and George S.

Dunning be a committee to take measures in regard to

forming a new parish, whenever it should be thought expe-

dient. At a meeting of the proprietors, held September

25th, George R. Skolfield, James Stover, and Daniel Randall

were chosen a committee of arrangements for the dedica-

tion. It was also voted '* That we, the proprietors of the

new meeting-house recently built on Harpswell Neck, do

hereby convey and transfer to the Centre Congregational

Parish in Harpswell, when formed, all our right, title, and

interest in and to said meeting-house, authorizing said par-

ish to give deeds of conveyance to any persons who may

purchase pews in said hou.se, and to do such other acts as

may be legally done by parishes in respect to meeting-

houses."

The Union meeting-house on Harpswell Neck was built

in 1841, and was dedicated by the Universalists on the

21st of September of the same year. It is situated near

the academy in North Harpswell.

The Methodist church on Harpswell Neck was erected

in 1854-55. Work upon the building was couimoiieod in

October, 1854, when there were but seven members in

the society, which was then under the pastoral charge of

Rev. George C. Crawford. Captains Norton Stover and

Nathaniel Pinkham assumed the entire pecuniary responsi-

bility. The building was dedicated May 17, 1855, and on

that day pews were sold. The cost of the building was

about S4000.

The Orr's Island meeting-house, the first and only one

ever built on that island, was erected in 1855, and is occu-

pied one quarter of the time each by the Methodists, Free

Baptists, Calvinist Baptists, and Congregational ists. The

original owners were members of the three churches on

Harpswell Neck. A Free Baptist Church was organized

afler the building was erected, and the above arrangement

as to meetings was made.

EDUCATIONAL INTERESTS.

The earliest reference that has been found to any pro-

vision for a school in Harpswell is the appropriation of £20
for that purpose by the town on May 9, 1759. Where a

school was kept this year and by whom is nowhere stated.

In May, 1760, the town voted that each part of the

Neck, and also the Island, should draw their proportionate

part of the school money that was collected, and should

hire mistresses.*

* No reference occurs in the records of Brunswick or Topsham to

the employment of any mistresses in the last century.
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At the annual meeting in 1761, the town appropriated

£20 for the support of a school, and instructed the select-

men to provide one.

In 17G2 the town voted to raise £20, as usual, for a

school.

At the May meeting in 1763, the town voted not to

build a school-house near the meeting-house. The town

also voted to pay James Booker £1 and 13g. for going to

Falmouth, " the Place being Presented for want of a school."

By reference to the records of the Court of General Ses-

sions for Cumberland County, October term, 1762, it ap-

pears that though the town had been presented, it was ex-

cused from a fine by reason of the selectmen testifying that

they had employed a man as teacher who had been taken

sick and had consequently been unable to attend his duty.

In 1765 the town voted to pay William Sylvester, Esq.,

£1 and 11«. "for the charges that he paid on account of

there being no school the last summer."

At the annual meeting in March, 1771, the town voted

to build three school-houses. It is not known exactly

where these buildings were located, but in all probability

one of them was on Great Sebascodigan Island and the

other two on the Neck.

In May, 1780, the town voted to raise £300 for the sup-

port of schools. The difference between this sum and £20

seems extreme. It is undoubtedly due to the depreciation

of the currency.

In June, 1771, £15 was voted by the town for school

money, " to be reckoned in silver dollars as six shillings

each, or in other currency equal to silver."

From this time until May, 1791, the town took no action

in reijard to school matters, except to pass the usual appro-

priation of money. On this latter date it was voted that

" Orr's Island and Baylie's Island are to have £5 of the

school money for them to keep a school with the present

year, and for no other use." The appropriation for schools

was this year £25.

In 1797 the town voted that " the selectmen should class

the town into school classes, and appoint a day for each

class to meet and choose a head for their respective classes."

In May, 1798, the town voted to accept the school

classes or districts on the Island, as the selectmen had di-

vided them. Marlborough Sylvester was chosen to be the

head of the first district on the Neck ; Capt. William Tarr

to be the head of the second district on the Neck ;
Clement

Orr, of the district on Orr's Island and Bailey's Island

;

Samuel Snow, of the first district on Sebascodigan ;
Stephen

Purinton, of the second district on the latter island ; and

Josiah Totman, of the third dbtrict on this island. From

this it appears that the town was divided into six districts,

of which two were on the Neck, one included Orr's and

Bailey's Islands, and the remainder were on the Great

Sebascodigan Island.

The records of the town contain nothing further in re-

gard to schools until 1810. This year the town voted that

school committees should be chosen iu each district.

On Nov. 7, 1814, the town passed a vote unlike any that

we have ever met with in the doings of any other town.

It voted " that the school money raised on the first Monday

of May last shall be appropriated towards paying the ex-

penses the selectmen were at for their attendance and ex-

penses for the militia." Inter anna leges ailent
.'

In September, 1821, the town voted to choose a superin-

tending school committee of three, and Rev. Samuel Eaton,

Alcot Stover, Jr., and Cupt. Stephen Snow were elected.

Agents were also chosen this year for the different school

districts.

In 1822 a school committee of seven members was

chosen.

At a meeting of the town in September, 1828, it was

voted that the school committee should not be paid for their

services. As there is no evidence of any dissatisfaction

with the committee, the above vote probably indicates the

impression that existed in the town that the honor of hold-

ing such a weighty office ought to be considered a sufficient

compen.sation.

In 1834 a new division of the town into school districts

was made.

In 1857 the town voted to dispense with a superintending

school committee and to choose a supervisor. Thomas U.

Eaton was elected to this office. From this time until

1862, inclusive, a supervisor of schools was chosen each

year.

In 1863 the town abandoned the idea of electing a

supervisor, and went back to the old plan of choosing a

school committee of three.

SCHOOL-HOUSES AND TEACHERS.

The town in 1771 voted to build three school-houses,

but it is not known whether they were erected that year

nor where they stood. If they were all built at that time,

it is probable that two of them, at least, were built upon

the Neck. If the other was built upon Sebascodigan Island,

it was probably destroyed by fire, as according to very

trustworthy traditional testimony the first school-house now

known to have been built upon that island was not erected

until about 1785. This school-house was fii-st located a

few rods south of the burying-ground, but about 1845 it

was removed to its present location, about two hundred

rods north of where it formerly stood. This house has been

often repaired and is still quite sound, and is annually used

for schools.

In 1786, or a year or two later, the second school-house

on this island was built on the land of Nathaniel Purinton.

It was destroyed by fire in 1826, and the present building

was erected soon after on the site of the former.

No information has been obtained in regard to the erec-

tion of school-houses in other portions of the town, and but

little can be said concerning the early teachers here.

An Irishman by the name of Patch is said to have

taught the first public school on Great Island. He kept a

school in the- old school-house for seven or eight winters.

Some of the later teachers in that district have been Went-

worth Dresser, a Mr. Hill, T. Coten, and Mr. Edgecomb, of

Topsham, who is the present teacher there.

The first teacher in the second school-house was John

Sullivan, also an Irishman. He is said to have been a

good teacher, but addicted to habits of intemperance, and

accustomed to close his school for a week or more in order

to go upon drinking " sprees." Among his successors in
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that school have been Samuel Williams, Nathaniel Purin-

toD, \V. Dresser, Dr. Seward Garcelon, Jeremiah Hacker,

S. Purinton, G. C. Smith, and the present teacher, Alvah

A. Plummcr.

There are upon G-reat Island six school districts, and the

schools average from sixteen to twenty-eight weeks each in

length. From $20 to $40 per mouth and board are the

wages to male teachers, and from $2 to $6 per week and

board to female teachers. Board is from $2 to $4i per

week. The average number of scholarii in each school is

about 20.

ACADEMICAL INSTITUTIONS.

The only schoi>l of this character in town was the Harps-

well Academy. Some of the prominent citizens, desirous

of having better advantages of education offered to the

children of the town than were afforded by the common

schools, formed a corporation fur the promotion of that

object in the year 1859.

The first meeting of the Harpswel! Academy Corporation

was held June 13, 1859, in Johnson's Hall. The act of

incorporation was accepted, and a committee of three were

chosen to prepare a code of by-laws. These by-laws, which

were accepted at the next meeting, provided, among other

things, that the annual meetings should be held on the

second Monday in June ; that the officers should consist of

a president, secretary, treasurer, and a visiting committee

of three, together forming a board of trustees; that the

visiting committee should visit the school twice each term,

and should have entire control of the school and building

;

that the board of trustees should employ the teachers, fix

the terms of admission to the school, and make all pur-

chases ; and that " there shall never be a majority of the

trustees elected' from any one sect or denomination of

Christians."

At this meeting Paul Randall was chosen President

;

Harmon Pennell, Vice-President ; Robert Pennell, Secre-

tary ; Henry Barnes, Treasurer ; and Clement Skolfield,

Isaiah Snow, Stephen Purinton, Thomas Pennell, and

Lemuel H. Stover, a Visiting Committee. A committee

of three was also chosen to raise money and select a place

for an academy building. On July 2d of this year the

trustees voted to accept a lot of one-fourth of an acre of

lanH offered by David S. Dunning at the sum of $25, and

very shortly after this a neat and substantial building was

erected on that part of the Neck which is designated

North Harpswell. The corporators, however, went in debt

for the building, and accordingly, at a meeting held M.iroh

1, 18G0, the academy was mortgaged in order to raise

money to pay the indebtedness. On April 18, 18tj5, the

trustees voted to raise money by subscription to redeem

this building. How successful this attempt was is not

stated in the records.

The first term of school in this academy commenced

Monday, Sept. 5, 1859, under the instruction of H. C.

White, M.D., with one or more assistants. The rates of

tuition were as follows : in Primary Department, per term,

$2 ; in Common English, $3 ; in Higher Branches, $4

;

in Drawing and Painting, $1.50 to $2 ; in Music, $6. For

use of instrument, $1 extra.

The school was kept up a few years, but finally failed

from want of adequate support and encouragement. The

building is still standin;;.

PRIVATE SCHOOLS.

The first school-teacher upon Great Island was a man

named Hobby. He taught in private houses. Private

schools were held in many families prior to the building of

the first school-house, but there have been but few held in

the part of the island where the second school-house is lo-

cated. Stephen Purinton, however, is known to have had

schools for bis children. The only private teachers besides

Hobby, who are remembered to have taught here in early

times, were Messrs. Patch and Sullivan.

The first teacher on Orr's Island is said to have been a

man by the name of Kinneonm, and the first one upon

Merriconeag Neck is said to have been a Mr. Walker.

Both of these teachers tanght private schools.

The only teacher of a private school on the Neck beside

Mr. Walker, of whom we have been able to learn, was Par-

son Eaton, who taught a few day-scholars in some of the

higher branches. Although we have no positive informa-

tion upon the subject, it is probable that Mr. Eaton's

scholars were only those who desired to secure a higher

education than could at that time be obtained at the com-

mon schools, and they very likely were the children of the

more wealthy citizens.

MILITARY.

SOLDIEBS IN THE REVOLUTION.

CAPTAiy JAMES CCETIS' COMPANY.

Adams, Thomas, private, enlisted July 20, 177&; served two months

and twenty-five days.

Andrews, John, private, enlisted July 17, 1775 ; served three months.

Barstow, James, private, enlisted May 17, 1775; served three months.

Bibber, James, private, enlisted May 20, 1775; served two months

and twenty-five days.

Blake, John, corporal, enlisted July 17, 1775 ; served three months.

Cummings, John, private, enlisted June 10, 1775; served two months
and four days.

Curtis, Jacob, sergeant, enlisted July 17, 1775; served three months.

Curtis, Nathaniel, private, enlisted May 17, 1775; served three

months.

Doyle, Elijah, private, enlisted May 17, 1775 ; served three months.

Ewing, John, sergeant, enlisted July 18, 1775 ; served three months
and two days.

Hunt, William, sergeant, enlisted July 18, 1775; served three months
and two days.

Johnson, David, private, enlisted July 17, 1775 ; served three months.

Johnson, James, private, enlisted May 17, 1775 ; served three months.

Johnson, John, private, enlisted May 17, 1775; served three months.

Miller, Asa, fifer, enlisted July 17, 1775 ; served three months.

Purinton, Humphrey, private, enlisted July I, 1775; served one
month and eleven days.

Roddick, William, private, enlisted May 20, 1775 ; served two months
and twenty-five days.

Rogers, Mark, first lieutenant, enlisted May 15, 1775; served three

months and two days.

Tarr, Joseph, private, enlisted July 20, 1775 ; served two months and
twenty-five days.

Tarr, William, private, enlisted July 20, 1775 ; served two months
and twenty-five days.

Thompson, Cornelius, private, enlisted July 1, 1775; served one
month and eleven days.

Thompson, Joel, private, enlisted July 18, 1775; served three months
and two days.
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Toothaker, Ephmim, private, enlisted May 17, 1775; served tliree

muDths.

"Williams, Samuel, private, enlisted Juno 10, 1775; served two montlis

and four days.

CAPTAIN N'ATHASIEL LARIfADBE'S COMPAXT.

Birthright, Peter, private, enlisted July 9, 1775; served six months

and seven days.

Dolph, Ellis, private, enlisted July 9, 1775; served sii months and
seven days.

Hall, Nathaniel, private, enlisted July 9, 1775; served six months

and seven days.

Larrabee, Nathaniel, captain, enlisted July 1 , 17 1 5 ; served six months
and sixteen days.

Snow, Isaac, first lieutenant, enlisted July 1, 1775 ; served six months
and sixteen days.

Toothaker, Abraham, private, enlisted July 10, 177.'>; served six

months and six days.

Williams, Samuel, sergeant, enlisted July 9, 1775; served six months
and seven days.

CAPTAIJT WtLLIAX LrTHGOW'S COMPAXT.

Andrews, John, private, marched Aug. 6, 1776 ; served five months
and twenty-three days.

Barstow, Isaac, private, served five months and twenty-three days.

Doughty, Benjamin, private, marched March II, 1776; served eight

months and fourteen days.

Hunt, William, corporal, served five months.

CAPTAIX GEORGE WHITE'S COMPANY.

Adams, Adam C, private, enlisted 1777.

Adams, Samuel, private, enlisted 1777; served one hundred and
twenty-one days.

Allen, Pelatiah, private, enlisted 1777 ; served seventy days.

Curtis, Benjamin, private, enlisted 1777.

Henry, Zebulon, private, enlisted 1777.

Toothaker, Seth, private, enlisted 1777; served seventy-nine and a

half days.

Whittom, Thomas, private, enlisted 1777.

Wilson, William, private, enlisted 1777; served sixty-eight and a half

days.

CAPTAIN seed's COHPANT.

Samuel Adams, Badger Aderton, Robert Bray, Patrick Herfernan,

Luke Nickerson, and Arch. Weymouth.

CAPTAIN SHrrH'S COMPAKV.

James Whittum.

CAPTAIN lane's COMPANy.

James Bibber, James Doyle, Jotham Doyle, and Samnel Webber.

CAPTAIN CnBTIS' COUPANY,* IS COLONEL HITCBELL's BEGIHENT.

Bishop, Hntson, enlisted 1778.

Booker, Isaiah, enlisted 1778.

Grardner, Seth, enlisted 1778.

Haskell, Ward, enlisted 1778.

Johnson, Jonathan, enlisted 1778.

COMPANIES, ETC., UNKNOWN.

Alexander, Thomas, captain, enlisted 1776.

Curtis, Nehemiah, captain, enlisted 1777.

Doughty,f James.

Farrin,f , private.

Hodgkins, Eli, ensign, enlisted 1776-80.

Leavitt,f Caleb, private, enlisted 1775; killed at Bunker Hill.

Leavitt,'!' Nathaniel, private.

Merritt.'f Henry.

Merryman, Huston, lieutenant, enlisted 1776.

Purinton, John M., captain, enlisted 1776-80.

Purinton,f Stephen.

Small,f Samuel, private.

* Enlisted for ''the term of nine months from the time of their

arrival in Fish Kills."

f From traditional sources alone.

iO

Small, Ephraim, private.

Stover, Simeon Q., ensign, enlisted 1776.

Trufant, Samuel, lieutenant, enlisted 1776-80.

PRIVATEERS.MEN.

VESSEL " SEA-FLOWER."

Abner Bishop, John Black, John Skolfield, Elisha Snow, Isaac Snow,

John Snow, JIarlbro Sylvester, Abraham Toothaker, Isaac Tooth-

aker, and Josiab Totman.

WAR OP 1812-14.

CAPTAIN- Johnson's coMPANv.t

June 20 to 25, and Sept. 19 to 21, 18U.

David Johnson, captain ; Peleg Curtis, lieutenant; David Curtis, en-

sign; James iVIerryinan (Jth), Benjamin Randall, Isaac Sylvester,

James S. Wier, sergeants; Ebenejer Curtis, Thomas Merryman,
John Reed, Jr., Simeon Orr, corporals; James Dunning, drum-
mer ; Jacob Merryman, Fryeholt Esthmian, fifers.

Pn'oates.

Alexander, Hugh, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Alexander, Isaac, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Alexander, Joseph, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Allen, Ephraim, Jr., enlisted Juno 20 to 2j, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Barstow, Robert, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Bnrstow, William, enlisted June 20 to 25.

Bibber, Courtney, enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Blake, John (waiter), enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Blasland, William (waiter), enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Booker, Daniel, Jr., enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Clark, David, enlisted June 20 to 25, and SepU 10 to 29.

Clark, Paul (waiter), enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Curtis, James, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Curtis, John, enlisted June 20 to 25. •

Curtis, Paul, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Curtis, Simeon, enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Douglass, George, enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Douglass, William, enlisted June 20 to 25.

Ewing, James, Jr., enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Ewing, John, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Farrin, Winthrop, enlisted June 20 to 25.

Gardiner, Robert, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Hersey, John, enlisted Juno 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Hodgkios, Benjamin, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Ingalis, John N., enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Jordan, William, enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Kemp, Silas, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Matthews, Samuel, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Merryman, Benjamin, enlisted June 20 to 25.

Merryman, James (3d), enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Merryman, John, enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Merryman, Michael, Jr., enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Merryman, Samuel, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Merryman, Waitstill, enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Merryman, William, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Orr, David, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Orr, William, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Perry, David, enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Pinkham, Richard, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Reed, William, enlisted June 20 to 25.

Sinnet, Hugh, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Skolfield, Samuel, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Stevens, William H., enlisted June 20 tn 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Stover, Daniel, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Stover, David, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Stover, John, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Stover, Joseph, enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Stover, Joshua, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Stover, Paul, enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Stover, Theophilus, enlisted June 20 to 25.

I From Treasury Department, Washington.
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Sylvester, John, enlisted Sept. 10 to 29.

Sylveeter, Marlboro', enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Sylvester, William, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Thomas, Jesse, enlisted Jane 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Toothaker, David, enlisted Jnne 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Totman, Levi, enlisted June 20 to 25.

Webher, Charles, enlisted Jnne 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Wheeler, John, enlisted Jnne 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Wheeler, Simeon, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

Wilson, John, enlisted June 20 to 25, and Sept. 10 to 29.

CAPTAIS 3K0W S COMPAST.

Sept, 10 to 29, 1814.

Stephen Snow, captain; Paal Snoir, lieutenant,- William Merrilt,

ensign; Stephen Merritt, Jonathan Holbrook, Elisha Coombs,

William Thomas, sergeants ; Samuel Toothaker, Cornelius Too-

thaker, Kingsbury Eastman, Simeon Hopkins, corporals; Daniel

Sawyer, Josiah Green, musicians.

Pricatet.

John Alexander, George Aubins, Humphrey Aubins, James Black-

more (waiter), Samuel Blake (waiter), Jesse Coombs, Spencer

Dingley, Ebenezer Dresser, James Eastman, Israel Holbrook,

Elisha Hopkins, Timothy Kemp, George Leavitt, James Lorey,

Isaiah Lunt (waiter), Isaac Merritt, Samuel Merritt, Samuel

Otis, Jr., Leonard P. Prior, Joshua Furinton, Nathaniel Pur-

inton (afterwards promoted to lieutenant), Benjamin Rich, Mark
Ridley, Jr., Israel Small, Isaiah Snow, Jr., Jesse Snow, Jesse

Snow, Jr„ Samuel Snow, John Toothaker, Alexander Wilson,

Seth Wilson.

IS COHPASIES, ETC., USKXOWS.

George Dyer, Leonard Dyer, Paul Raymond, Robert Purinton.

^•^^o»^

HARRISON.
PIONEEKS OF THE TOWN.

Three miles west of HarrisoD village, a broad ridge ez-

tendiDg towards the north rises into a summit eight hundred

and eighty feet above the level of the sea. This is the high-

est point of land in Cumberland County. It commands a

fine prospect of the surrounding country. To the north

and westward the broken hills and rounded peaks rise in

the distance till the vision is obscured by the nearer out-

lines of Mount Pleasant. Lake Sebago, with its clear,

crystal surface, lies in the foreground, and the white cluster

of buildings on the opposite side, nestling in the green

foliage, is the village of Bridgton. Two miles south of this

point of observation, along the broad ridge now covered

with meadows and orchards, and an occasional grove of

maples, the Carsleys made the first opening in the forest

in what is now the town of Harrison, erecting a rude camp,

which should serve as a shelter on their return the next

spring to make a permanent home upon the lands which

they had selected. There were three of them, the father,

John Carsley, and his two sons, Nathan and Seth, who

came irom their former home in Gorham early in the spring

of 1793, hauling their camping utensils and their wives on

hand-sleds. They had come prepared for sugar-making,

for which purpose they had erected their camp among the

maples, and brought their outfit. Mrs. Nathan Carsley

had been brought up among the Shakers, at Alfred, whose

society she had abandoned to share with her young husband

the dangers and hardships of pioneer life. Sugar-making

was scarcely over when the young mother gave birth to a

son, whose title to the honor of being the " first white child

bom in Harrison" has never been disputed. William

Carsley, son of Nathan, was born in the rude sugar-camp

which we have described, on the 14th day of April, 1793.*

* William Carsley is father of Nathan Carsley, who married Mary

E. Newoomb.

Deacon Seth Carsley, then a lad of eleven years old, drove

a six-ox team through the rough paths and across Long

Pond on the ice to Bridgton, for lumber to build the first

house. John Carsley settled a short distance to the north

of the little church-yard, where he sleeps beneath a stone

bearing the inscription, " First Settler in Harrison."

Deacon Seth Carsley, who had previously lived with his

brother, married Susannah Whitney in 1809, and purchased

a farm near by. He was made one of the first deacons of

his church on its organization.

In the little well-filled burying-ground, near the resting-

place of the first settler, sleeps Nathan Carsley and his wife

Susie, and many others of the pioneers. Here are Edward

Bray, Charles Walker, James Chadboume, and Elijah

Scribner, all deacons of the same church, and Col. Haskell

Peirce. A rough granite slab bears the rude inscription,

« John Pitts-di-March-22-1827, ae. 91." Here also is

the memorial of Oliver Peirce, Esq., once the most pros-

perous and iufiuential man of the town.

A neat school-house now stands in a grove on the exact

spot of the camp of the Carsleys of 1793, and the site of

the later dwelling of Nathan Carsley is marked by a soli-

tary locust-tree still standing. Passing down the ridge a

mile to the south you enter a road running in a direct line

from the Emerson burying-ground on your left to Harrison

village. The valley to the east was once Otisfield ; to the

west, Bridgton ; this being the old division line between the

two towns.

James Watson, bom in Grorham Fort, and afterwards a

soldier of the Revolution, married a sister of Nathan Cars-

ley, also came to Harrison the same year and settled on the

Pond road, a 'mile south of the present village, where he

erected the first frame house in town.

In 1797, Maj. Jacob Emerson, son of William Emerson,

of Bridgton, purchased land in the south part of the town

near the Emerson burying-ground, erected a house, and
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worked there, improving his place, for three years previous

to his marriage. Benjamio Foster, another Bridgton boy,

a son of Asael Foster, purchased land near him the same

year, and lived alone in a camp several years, after which

he erected a frame house, married Miss Nancy Veasey, of

Denmark, and, as population increased, opened the first

store in the town.

Simeon Caswell, who was born in Taunton, Mass., in 1763,

served a short time in the Revolutionary war, settled in Mi-

not, Me., and removed to Harrison in 1797, in company with

Nicholas Bray, an old army comrade, also from Minot. Mr.

Bray opened a clearing on the "ridge," north ofJohn Carsley.

His son, Deacon £dward Bray, occupied the homestead after

him, served in the war of 1812, and was one of the first

deacons of his church. Rev. Nicholas Braywas a grandson.

Mr. Caswell, who was the father of Simeon Caswell, also a

soldier of 1812, settled on a farm a mile north of Bolster's

Mills. Newell N. and John W. Caswell, leading manufac-

turers of Harrison, are grandsons of Simeon Caswell, Sr.

Nephtali Harmon, son of Samuel Harmon, of York

County, and father of Deacon William Powers Harmon,

purchased of Joseph Moffatt, a former temporary settler, a

tract of land three miles east of the village, in 1797, and

immediately became one of the most prominent public men.

He built a blacksmith-shop at the corner of the road which

still bears his name, near the Summit Spring, was commis-

sioned a lieutenant in the militia by Governor Caleb Strong,

of Massachusetts, in 1803, and made captain in 1805. Mr.

Moffatt's child, who died on the suohuit, was the first

person who died in Harrison. Another Nephtali Harmon,

son of Rufus Harmon, of Sandford, came soon after and

settled two miles south. They were known as Captain and

" Little Nep." Samuel Harmon and G-eorge Harmon were

his sons.

John Scribner, son of Edward Scribner, the " old man

of Otisfield," settled on what has become since known as

Scribner's Hill, near the Summit Spring, with Samuel

Scribner, his cousin, in 1797. Col. Ebenezer H. Scribner,

his brother, came at the same time, married Phoebe, daugh-

ter of Capt. Benjamin Kimball, of Bridgton, and settled on

the west side nf the summit. Willoughby, another brother,

married a daughter of George Peirce, Esq., and settled in

the south of the town.

John Woodsum, a descendant of Joseph Woodsum, the

tailor of Berwick, settled in Harrison in 1798, and has

several descendants still living in the town.

Jeremiah Witham located south of John Carsley, in

1799. The Summit Spring was included in the farm of

Abraham Burnham, who married Alice Scribner, of Wa-

terboro', Mass., and was one of the earliest settlers in the

town. He attached great value to his spring, which was

almost unknown until 1876. This was considered the best

location in the town even then. From the top of the

hill could be seen the quiet lakes, surrounded by unbroken

forests, which looked like a rich velvet carpet of many

shades of green, changing with the seasons, while the

mountains beyond rose half-bared in rugged granite.

James Thomes, father of Ellison Thomes, and cousin of

Col. Amos Thomes, settled in the south part of Harrison,

near the Carsleys, in 1800, and was joined afterwards by

Col. Amos Thomes, who became a prominent and success-

ful stock-farmer. His son, who ha.s succeeded him, is one

of the most successful stock-raisers in the town and a promi-

nent citizen. During 1800, Noah Stiles, of Bridgton, and

his son Stephen settled in Harrison near Island Pond, and

James Sampson, of Duxbridge, JIass., purchased the site

of Harrison village, erected the first house on the flat,

built mills on the outlet of Anonymous Pond, and opened

a blacksmith -shop. His son, Ahira Siimp.son, erected his

dwelling on the corner occupied by Walker & Monroe's

store, and worked in the mill and shop. The first steam-

boat on the lake, the " Fawn," was built and run by his

grandson, Capt. Christopher C. W. Sampson.

Joshua Howard, father of Joshua Howard, who served

in the war of 1812, and grandfather of Hon. Joshua

Howard, settled in Harrison on the farm afterwards the

home of Deacon James Chadbourne, and moved into a

log house, without doors, on what was long known as the

Howard farm, now one of the most valuable in the town,

and owned by Jonathan Whitney. Levi Gilson settled in

the northeast, near Crooked River, in 1803. He and his

brother, Peter Gilson, who built a saw- and grist-mill below

Bolster's Mills soon after, were formed, with John and Wil-

liam Gammon, into a separate school district in 1812. In

1795, Edward Lowell located near Caswell's Corner, in the

northeast. His grandson, Nelson Lowell, is the only branch

of the family now living in Harrison.

Benjamin Willard settled near Anonymous Pond in 1805

;

Jonathan Lakin, father of John, Loring, and Thomas
Lakin, settled half a mile south of the Carsleys in 1806,

became a prominent man, and died at the age of ninety-two.

James Hobbs Chadbourne and Benjamin Chadbourne were

early settlers of two separate families. Benjamin settled

half a mile north of Mr. Dawes, near Anonymous Pond, in

1807 ; James H., a prominent citizen, settled on the

Howard place in 1811. Thomas Cumniings, who settled on

the hill south of the village overlooking Long Pond in 1810,

near Aaron Kneeland, a former neighbor, who had come

from Topgfield, Mass., two years before. David P. Kneeland,

the tenth son of Aaron, is father of Almon Kneeland, pro-

prietor of the Elm House at Harrison. David Kneeland,

who came earlier, had a house, two barns, and eleven acres

of cleared land in 1795.

LATER SETTLEES.

Among the later settlers whose families are still residents

of the town, Wentworth, father of Charles E. Stewart,

settled in the northeast part in 1814 ; Enoch Haskell set-

tled near Bolster's Mills in 1812, where his son, Thomas, be-

came widely known as an adventurou.s hunter and trapper

;

Moses Whitney settled on the old town line, half a mile

south of Meadow Brook, in 1815. He was one of a family

of eleven who served in the war of the Revolution. Ed-

ward .K. Whitney, a successful and extensive stock-raiser

and leading citizen, is his grandson. James Weston, father

of the prominent physician, Dr. Loton Weston, was an

early settler. Stephen Ingalls, father of Ezra T., and grand-

father of Hon. Melville E. Ingalls, settled near the south

of the town, near Capt. William Kilborn, whose sister he

married, about 1800.
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Edmood Phinney, an early settler, who lived near Deacon

Carsley, raised two sons. Revs. Clement and Joseph Phinney,

who became Baptist ministers, and one, Thomas, who became

one of the society of " Friends."

Samuel Perley, a cousin of Enoch Pcrley, of Bridgton,

settled near the Summit Spring, to the south, where he died

in 1828.

Hon. George Peirce, grandson of the first settler of

Naples, and of " old Doctor Farnsworth," a land surveyor,

representative. Senator, member of the Governor's Council

in 1857-58, and justice of the peace for forty-two years,

has been intimately connected with the development of

Harrison since the death of his father, Oliver Peirce, in

1849. The family have always been prominent and useful

citizens, whose business enei^y in early days has been a

public benefit. The first marriage in Harrison after its in-

corporation was that of Daniel Scribner and Hannah Samp-

son, July 2, 1806.

Daniel Jumper settled near the head of Edson Brook in

1802. His son Daniel, now living, is one of the oldest res-

idents.

BtJKTING-GEOTTNDS.

There is no part of Harrison more intimately associated

with the hardships of the early pioneers than that sur-

rounding the church-yard where sleep the early settlers,

and the Emerson burying-ground, where the town line road

leaves its course to wind its way to the south. Col. Amos

Thomes, Major Jacob Emerson, Capts. Peirce Scribner and

Benjamin Foster, John Johnson, and Moses Whitney rest

here, surrounded by a prosperity whose long coming they

could not wait. On the summit, where the first busy school

was taught, the fathers of the Burnham, Scribner, and

Perley families sleep in family groups, overlooking the

valley, accompanied by Deacon Edward Stanley and the

venerable pastor. Rev. David Jewell.

Capt. Wentworth Stewart, Joseph Fogg, David. Lowell,

and many others . have been gathered into the Ryefield

Bridge Cemetery since 1859 ; another at Bolster's Mills is

the resting-place of the more recent dead, among whom are

Capt. John Brackett and Daniel Jumper, soldiers of the

Revolution. In the east, the church-yard at Harrison

village is most interesting for its beauty and the number of

respected dead within its bounds. There are few citizens

of Harrison who can not point out with pride the grave of

some honored ancestor within these scattered folds. Many

of the earlier dead still rest upon their homesteads.

VILLAGES AND HAMLETS.

HARBISON VILLAOE,

comprising some 65 dwellings and 250 inhabitants, is built

on a flat beside a sloping, sandy shore, at the northern

terminus of the chain of navigable lakes, connecting by

rail with Portland at Sebago. The tall spires of its

three churches, and its large manufactories, are evidences

of prosperity, which began with the erection of the first

saw- and grist-mill by James Sampson, near the wire-fac-

toiy, in 1800, and the custom carding-mill of Samuel

Tyler, at the outlet of Anonymous Pond. Joel Whit-

more opened the first store in the village, in 1810, and

Levi Burnham and Oliver Peirce afterwards. Deacon Silas

Chadbourne was a tailor long before " ready-made" clothing

was invented. Seth Carsley, son of Nathan Carsley, located

early in the village, and ran a mill, where he soon acquired

a wide reputation for his wooden plows. In 1829 he in-

vented a machine for turning lasts and irregular objects,

took his model in a gig, and drove to Washington, D. C,

where he procured his patent. In 18'34 the manufacture

of wire was commenced by Grcnfell Blake and Ichabod

Washburn. This has increased until the Eastern Wire

Company (P. Tolman & Co.) occupy two large build-

ings on the same ground, furnishing employment to 30

operatives. Newell N. Caswell erected a planing-mill in

1859, to which was added a grist-mill in 1865. Besides,

there are here the manufactory of stave machinery and

Woodworth's planers, T. H. Ricker & Son, established for

the manufacture of looms, by Luther Corman, in 1846

;

the clothing manufactory of Thomas D. Emery, established

1873, and employing 30 operatives ; the stores of J. H.

Illsley, established 1854 ; T. R. Sampson & Son, established

1862 ; Monroe & Walker, Evans A. Kneeland, established

1874 ; the Grange store, C. E. Tolman, C. E. Libby, estab-

lished 1878; hotel of A. Kneeland, established 1860;

paint store of Edward Bray, established 1871 ; E. M.

Dudley, harness, established 1879 ; G. W. Wheeler, car-

riages, established 1875; W. W. Kneeland, coffins and

caskets ; A. S. Potts, J. S. Wentworth, smiths, 1861 and

1875. The tall brick chimney on Bear River, to the north,

marks the woolen-factory, burned in 1872.

A line of canal boats was established between Harrison

village and Portland in 1828, and continued until the com-

pletion of the Ogdensburg Railroad. Large storehouses and

a tavern were erected, and for many years this was an im-

portant centre for trade.

bolster's mills,

lying on both sides of Crooked River in a deep valley,

contains 140 inhabitants, the Methodist Episcopal church,

and school-house, besides the business of the place. Isaac

Bolster built the dam and saw-mill in 1819, a grist-mill in

1820, and soon after the post-office was created, with Mr.

Bolster postmaster. His son, William Bolster, ereeted the

fulling- and carding-mill in 1826, which was changed to a

shingle- and planing-mill in 1870, by E. G. Coy ; the place

also contains, in Harrison, a grist-mill established on the

old Bolster mill site, in 1861, by O. G. Cook. John

Brackett's carding-mill, established 1865.

Shoes : J. F. Allen, established 1872.

Harness: R. H. Cobb, established 1878.

Carriage Shops : Leander Dorman, established 1863.

Millinery: Miss E. Femald, establbhed 1872.

General Merchandise : Moses Hancock, who is also post-

master, established 1847. Grange store, established 1875.

A tannery was erected in 1826, run by Fogg & Billings,

and closed in 1876.

The poet-office is kept in either town, at the option of

the postmaster. It was in Otisfield from 1846 to 1878.

Mails are tri-weekly to Portland and return, by stage,

leaving Bolster's Mills Mondays.
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CIVIL HISTORY.

The town of Harrisoa, oanied from Harrison Gray Otis,

was formed from Bridgton and Otisfield, and was incorpor-

ated by act of the Legislature of Massachusetts, passed

March 8, 1805, and comprised that territory south of a line

east, 15 degrees north, passing through Island Pond, and

included between Crooked River and Long Pond. The

surface consists of high ridges spreading into broad rolling

highlands, divided by Sucker, Edson, Meadow, and Johnson

Brooks into three main ridges, the highest of which reaches

an altitude of 800 feet above tide. The greater portion of

these lands are under cultivation. Hay, apples, and butter

are the chief products. It is bounded on the north by

Oxford County, on the east by Otisfield, on the south by

Naples, and on the west by Long Pond and Bridgton.

That part taken from Otisfield was surveyed by George

Peirce, Esq.

The first election was held at the house of Nephtali

Harmon, at " Harmon's Corners," near where ihe first town-

house was built, in 1806. Joel Simmons was chosen Mod-

erator ; Samuel Willard, Clerk ; Samuel Willard, Benjamin

Foster, and Stephen Stiles, Selectmen ; Nathaniel Burnam*

was Treasurer ; John Woodsum, Collector; Samuel Scrib-

ner, Constable ; Simeon Caswell, Edward Lowell, Ebenezer

Carsley, Nathan Carsley, and Rice Rowell, Highway Sur-

veyors \_ and John Woodsum, Surveyor of Lumber ; Levi

Pen-y, Daniel Stone, and Peter Gilson, Fence-Viewers

;

James Sampson, Edward Lowell, and Benjamin Foster,

Tithing-Men ; Joel Simmons, Jeremiah Turner, and Moses

Chick, Hog-Reeves; Nephtali Harmon, Poundkeeper;

Cushing Daws, Stephens Ingalls, and Edward Lowell,

Field-Drivers.

There were but 41 ballots cast at the fall election in

1805.

A second town-house was erected near the first in 1825,

and the third erected in 1871, on the high land in Harrison

village, at an expense of 82200. For many years elections

were opened with pmyer, and an entry of the fact made on

the town record.

SELECTMEN.

1805.—Samael Willard, Benjamin Foster, Steplien Stiles.

1806.—Samael Willard, Steplien Stiles, Nathaniel Burnam.

1807-8.—Samael Willard, Ezra Thomas, Stephen Stiles.

1809.—Nathaniel Bnmam, Benjamin Foster, John Woodsum.
1810.—Nathaniel Burnam, John Woodsum, Benjamin Foster.

1811-12.—Samuel Willard, Benjamin Foster, James H. Chodbourne.

181.^-15.—James H. Chadbourne, Nathaniel Burnam, Amos Tbomes.

1816.—James H. Chadbourne, Benj. Foster, Benjamin Chadbourne.

1817.—Nathaniel Burnam, Amos Thomes, Charles Walker.

1818.—Amos Thomes, John Woodsum, Charles Walker.

1819.—Nathaniel Burnam, Amos Thomes, Benjamin Foster.

1820. —Nathaniel Burnam, Amoe Tbomes, Charles Walker.

1821.—Amos Thomes, Charles Walker, Jr., Jacob Emerson.

1822.—Amos Thomes, Charles Walker, Jr., Joel Whitmore.

1823-24.—Charles Walker, Jr., Jacob Emerson, Wentworth Stevrart.

1825.—Charles Walker, Jr., Amos Tbomes, James H. Chadbourne.

1826.—Charles Walker, Jr., Charles Washburn, Jacob Emersun.

1827-28.—Charles Walker, Jr., Jacob Emerson, Daniel Witham.

1829.—Benjamin Foster, Joel Whitmore, Isaac Bolster.

1830.—Charles Walker, Jr., Joel Whitmore, Amos Thomes.

1831.—Charles Walker, Jr., William Haskell, Wentworth Stewart.

1832.—Charles Walker, Jr., William Haskell, Joseph Phinney.

1833.—Charles Walker, Jr., William Haskell, J./hn Daws.

* The descendants of Nathaniel Burnham spell their name Burnam.

1S34-35.—Charles Walker, Jr., Amos Thome?, William Haskell.

1.S36.—Charles Walker, Jr., .Amos Thomes, Wentworth .Stewart.

1837.—Amos Thomes, Charles Walker. Jr., William Haskell.

1838.—Charles Walker, Jr., William Haskell, Seth Carsley (2J).

1339.—Charles Walker, Jr., AVilliam Haskell, Jacob Emerson.

1840.—Charles Walker, Jr., AVilliam Haskell, AVentworth .Stewart.

1841.—Charles ATalker, Jr., Amos Thomes, Bani Burnam.

1842.—Amos Thomes, Bani Burnham, Hosea H. Huntress.

1843.—Charles Walker, Jr., Hosea H. Huntress, Thomas Phinney.

1844.—Harrison Blnke, Bani Burnham, Shepard Hawke.

1845.—Thomas Phinney, Abner Libby, Henry Roby.

1846.—Thomas Phinney, Hosea H. Huntress, Timothy D. Burnhom.

1847.—Thomas Phinney, George Peiroe, James Weston.

1848.—Thomas Phinney, Bani Burnham, James Weston.

1849-50.—Thomas Phinney, Sumner Burnham, William Twombly.

1851.—Thomas Phinney, Sumner Burnham, Ezra T. Ingalls.

1852.—Francis Blake, Ezra T. Ingalls, Isaac Hall.

1853-54.—T. R. Sampson, Ezra T. Ingalls, Isaac Hall.

1855.—Bani Burnham, William Twombly, Ebon S. Caswell.

1856.—Ezra T. Ingalls, Isaac Hall, Amos Small.

1857-58.—Sumner Burnham, Silas Blake, Cyras Haskell.

1859.—Bani Burnham, Ezra T. Ingalls, S. L. Andrews.

1860.—Bani Burnham, Ezra T. Ingalls, William Twombly.

1861.—Silas Blake, Joshua Howard, William Twombly.

1862.—Philander Tolraan, .Joshua Howard, William Twombly.

1863.—Joshua Howard, Albert Gray, Williom V. Carsley.

1864.— Obadiah G. Cook, Samuel Thomes, Edward K. Whitney.

1865.—Joshua Howard, James E. Flood, C. C. W. Sampson.

1366-68.—Joshua Howard, C. C. W. Sampson, Ezra T. Ingalls.

1869.—William Twombly, Albert Gray, Charles E. Stewart.

1870-72.—Caleb A. Chaplin, Albert Gray, Samuel Thomes.

1873.—Josiah Monroe, George H. Cummings, George W. Brackett.

1874.—Josiah Monroe, David Frosr, George W. Broekctt.

1875.—Joshua Howard, J. Wendal Weston, Reuben Hobbs.

1876.—Albert Gray, Albert Cummings, N. 11. Scavcy.

1877.—George H. Cummings, Samuel Tbomes, Nathaniel II. Seavey.

1873.—George H. Cummings, Newel A. Trafton, Nathaniel H.Seavey.

1879.-Albert Gray, John W. Caswell, Jloses Hall.

TOWN CLERKS.

Samuel Willard, 1805-12; James W. Chadbourne, lSI.^-23; Charles

Walker, Jr., 1824-46; Thomas T. Peirce, 1847-50; Thomas R.

Sompson, 1851-63 ; S. Loton Weston, 1864-71 ; Thomas R. Samp-

son, 1872-79.

TREASURERS.

Nathaniel Burnam, 1805-8; Snmuel Willard, 1809-10; Nathaniel

Burnam, 1811-12; James Sampson, 1SI3; Ebenezer Carsley,

1814; Samuel Scribner, 1815; Charles Walker, 1816; James

Sampson, 1817; Samuel Willard, 1818-20; Benjamin Foster,

1821-23; Samuel Scribner, IS24; Oliver Peirce, 1825-27; Benja-

min Foster, 1828 ; Walker Brackett, 1829 ; James H. Chadbourne,

1830-35; Levi Burnam, 1836; Hosea A. Huntress, 1337-40;

Edward Stanley, 1841; Wentworth Stuart, 1842; Samuel Walker,

Jr., 1842-50; T. R. Sampson, 1851-54; Somuel Walker, Jr.,

1855; T. R. Sampson, 1856; Silns Blake, 1857; Samuel Walker,

Jr., 1858 ; Joshua Howard, 1859-60 ; T. B. Sampson, 1861-63

;

Samuel Walker, Jr., 1864; Joshua Howard, 1S65; Thomas R.

Sampson, 1866-70; Albion K. Morse, 1371-79.

COLLECTORS ANDi CONSTABLES.

John Woodsum, col., Samuel Scribner, cons., 1S05; Jacob Emerson,

1806-7; Seth Carsley, 1808; Peter Gilson, 1809; Samuel Scrib-

ner, 1810; Simeon Caswell, 1811-12; Capt. Benjamin Fo.-ter,

1813; Simeon Caswell, 1814-15; Jacob Emerson, 1816; Walker

Brackett, Nathan Carsley, vacancy, 1817; Samuel Scribner, 181S;

Benjamin Chadbourne, 1819; Joel Whitmore, 1820; Israel Har-

mon, 1821-22; Walker Brackett, 182.3-26; Alonzo Bobbins, 1827;

Walker Brackett, 1828 ; John P. Lowell, 1829; Cyrus H. Connnt,

1830; Otis Carter, 1831-32; Henry Roby, 1833 ; John P. Lowell,

1834; Haskell Peirce, 1835; Walker Brackett, 1836; John P.

Lowell, 1837; Wentworth Stuart, 1838-39; Edward Stanley,

1840-41; Sumner Burnham, 1842; Edward Stanley, 1843-44;

Reuben Ingalls, 1845 ; Worthy C. Burrows, 1846 ; George F. Fos-

ter, 1847; Wentworth Stuart, 1848; Samuel S.Stanley, 1849-52;
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Barld Mayberry, 1853 ; Bani Bnrnbam, 1854; Daniel Mayberry,

1855; Bani Barnham, 1856; Nathan Potter, Reuben Hobbs, to

fill racancj, 1857; Reuben Hobba, 1858; William Twombly,

1859; Charles E. Stuart, 18A0; Levi Bumham, 1861; Charles

£. Stuart, 1862-68; Charles T. Tbomea, 1869; Charles Tbomes,

Reuben Hobbs, vacancy, 1870; Reui>en HoblH, 1871 ; Levi Bum-
bam, 1872 ; Caleb A. Chaplin, Reuben Hobbs, cons., 1873 ; Reu-

ben Hobbs, 1874; G. W. Newoomb, 1875-76; Freeman J. Dunn,

1877 ; Renben Hobbs, 1878 ; 0. W. Newcomb, 1879.

SCHOOLS.

The first school-house in Harrison was built on the sum-

mit, between Harmon's and Scribner's ; a second was built

near Jacob Emerson's, and on the organization of the town

there were six districts. It was then voted that " each dis-

trict build their oirn school-house." Benjamin Totford

taught school in the Woodsum district in 1805. There wag

but $100 a year appropriated for schools previous to 1814.

Many of the prominent citizens who were then boys learned

to write upon birch-bark, by the flickering light of an open

fireplace. In 1878 the town comprised 9 districts, one of

which was a joint district with the town of Otisfield, and

held school property valued at $5000, with a population

of 328 school children, of whom 260 were registered as at-

tending school. There was $1000 raised by tax for the

support of schools in 1878, and $568 from other sources.

Supervisors of schoob for 1879, Dr. S. L. Weston, H. H.

Cook, Alphonzo Moulton.

CHtTKCHES.

FREE-WILL BAPTIST.

The first Free-Will Baptist meetings in this town were held

by Rev. Clement Phinney, of Gorham, who preached in

dwellings and barns. The first church was organized at

the bam of Shepard Hawk, June 3, 1826, by Elders

Jonathan Clay, Andrew Hobson, Zachariah Jordan, and

Elder Clement Phinney, of Harrison. Among the original

members were Rev. Clement and Sarah Phinney, Samuel,

Phoebe, and Abigail Lewis, Seth and Harriet Carsley,

Benjamin Rich, Charles Walker, Jr., Rebecca Newcomb,

Polly Gray, Betsey Femald, and Betsey Springer. Charles

Walker, Jr., was chosen clerk. He was succeeded by

Worthy C. Barrows, in 1844 : Wm. Libby, 1848 ; David

Libby, 1849 ; Franklin Walker, 1851 ; John Dawes,

1853; and Charles L. Walker, in 1875. The deacons

have been Edward Bray, Seth Carsley, Charles Walker,

Jr., Elijah Scribner, Asa P. Whitney, and Edward K.

Whitney, present deacon. The first church was built

in the centre of the town, in 1836, by Edward Bray

and John Dawes, committee, and dedicated September

15th of that year by Elder John Stevens, of Liming-

ton. The pastors have been Elders Clement Phinney,

Joseph Phinney, Ebenezer G. Eaton, George W. Whit-

ney, Austin Wheeler, Stephen Hutchinson, David Libby,

E. H. Hart, Orrin Bartlett, George W. Howe, and L.

W. Raymond. A second church was erected at Har-

rison village, in 1871, at a cost of $5500, and dedicated by

Prof. B. F. Hayes, of Bates College, Feb. 1, 1872. A
l^al corporation was organized in 1871, under a board of

trustees, the majority of whom are members of the church.

Samuel N. Dawes, Franklin Walker, and Samuel Gray

were building committee. There have been 325 members.

of whom 95 are now in good standing. Present officers

:

Rev. L. W. Raymond, Pastor ; Charies L. Walker, Clerk

and Treasurer ; Caleb A. Chaplin, Charles L. Walker,

Theodore Ingalls, Marshall Thomes, and George H. Cum-

mings. Trustees.

The members of the Baptist Church residing in Har-

rison withdrew irom the Bridgton church, and met in

council at the house of Samuel Scribner, March 20, 18:27,

organized a church, ordained Ebenezer Bisbee deacon, and

elected Nathaniel Bumam clerk. Among the 12 mem-

bers were Edward Lowell and wife, Sarah Buckner, Mrs.

Abraham and Mrs. Nathaniel Bumham. The church was

joined to the Oxford Association in 1829, and a meeting-

house, the first in the town, was erected at Harmon Cor-

ners for the joint use of the Baptbt and Congregational

Churches. This building was removed to Harrison village,

and rebuilt in 1879.

There have been 136 members, 27 of whom are now

living, in the society. The pastors have been Revs. Jacob

Bray, John Haines, Nathaniel Chase, Ephraim Harlow,

Reuben Milner, Wm. 0. Grant, R. C. Starr ; and since

1838: L. Burnham, 1843; D. Lowell, 1845-50; Rev.

A. Snyder, to 1859 ; Dr. H. C. Estes, Andrew Hopper,

1878. Deacons: Ebenezer Bisbee, 1827; Edward Lowell,

Reuben Bumham, 1828 ; Alanson Cary, 1836 ; David

Jewell, 1839; Wm. P. Harmon, 1839; Philander Tol-

man, 1869; Samuel Abbott, 1874. Present clerk, Philan-

der Tolman. Deacon David Jewell was ordained as min-

ister, May 3, 1849.

The South Harrison Christian Church was oi^nized at

the Methodist meeting-house. May 15, 1870, by Rev.

Gideon T. Ridlon. John Johnson was made deacon, and

Ezekiel Lakin clerk. Among the first members were

Charles W. Foster and wife, David Fogg and wife, George

Lewis and wife, Daniel Thompson, Edmund Carsley, Nancy

Emerson. Twenty were baptized on the day of organiza-

tion. Rev. J. M. Hodgdon was made pastor. A church

was erected by Edward Carsley, Thomas Lakin, and Clark

Lewis, trustees, and dedicated by Rev. G. T. Ridlon, Jan.

4, 1871. Zebulon Knight beaime pastor in 1874, G. T.

Ridlon in 1875. Present membeiship is 33.

CONaaEQATIONAL.

The Congregationalist Church of Harrison was organized

Feb. 15, 1826, at the bouse of Oliver Peirce. The council

consisted of Rev. Josiah Merrill, Deacon Simeon Lovell,

Dr. Silas Blake, of Otisfield; Rev. Joseph Walker, of

Paris ; William Warren, of Waterford. Among the first

members were James H. Chadbourae, Edward Stanley,

Oliver Peirce, Esq., and Philip Eastman. These members

have long since passed away. Mr. Marquis O. Caswell

united with this church Sept. 9, 1832, and is now living

its oldest, member, at the advanced age of eighty-eight years.

The first meeting-house in the town was built by the Con-

gregationalists and Baptists, at Harmon's Comers, in 1827.

It was occupied but a short time by this church. The

house in the village of Harrison was erected by Ezra Cary,

George Peirce, and Henry Roby, committee, in 1826, and

dedicated Dec. 29, 1836, by Rev. James P. Richardson,

who was installed pastor of Harrison and Otbfield, Oct. 22,



NAPLES.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION.

TnE town of Naples consists mainly of higli land, nearly

all of which is adapted to cultivation or grazing. It is

divided by Brandy and Long Ponds, extending nearly its

entire length, and from one half to two miles in width.

At Naples village, near its centre, a narrow drawbridge

spans the outlet of Long Pond. Peabody and Holt's Ponds

on the western border are small lakes fed by spring streams,

and emptying into Sebago Lake. Trickey Pond is fed by

a spring of pure water.

The town was incorporated Feb. 28, 1834, and was

formed from those parts of Otisfield and Raymond south-

west of Crooked and Songo Rivers, extending to the mouth

of Muddy River, and including 1000 acres not before

incorporated in any town ; 5 tiers of lots in Sebago to

Peabody Pond ; 4 tiers of lots from the southeast part

of Bridgton, on Long Pond ; and 1 1 tiers of lots from

Harrison, between Long Pond and Crooked River. That

part west from lot 94 to the mouth of Muddy River was

annexed from Sebago in 1851.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

George Peirce, of Groton, Mass., the first settler of Na-

ples, was born Feb. 13, 1735. The proprietors of the

original town of Otisfield set aside lot 65, at Edes' Falls,

Feb. 17, 1774, for the use of a mill to be erected as an en-

couragement to settlers. Mr. Peirce agreed to build a saw-

mill by November, 1774, and a grist-mill by November,

1775, for which he was to have £50 on completion of the

first mill, and £20 on completion of the second, and the use

of the proprietors' boat for ten years, with the mill lot, until

the town was incorporated. In 1797 he was chairman of

the committee to procure the incorporation of the town, and

was the only man in Otisfield who owned two horses. His

mill was swept away previous to 1795, but afterwards re-

built. His daughter, Betsey, was born at Edes' Falls, Oct.

3, 1781, and was the first white child bom in the town.

Mr. Peirce was an extensive lumberman and successful

physician.

Mr. Elcazer Bartlett came from Groton, Mass., with his

two sons, Isaac and John, in 1779, and made the first open-

ing in the dense forest between Crooked River and Long

Pond. The place half a mile west of Edes' Falls is known

as Bartlett's Corner. Isaac, who was then seventeen years

old, died in 1839, leaving but one of his family of twelve,

Eleazer Bartlett, who is now seventy years of age. During

the first forty-five years there was no other occupant of the

land between the pond and the river, save two seasons, when

a Mr. Hobbs and Mr. Foster attempted a clearing north of

them, and then abandoned it. The next settlers chose that

part lying from Naples bridge to the southwest along the
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shore of Brandy Pond. When, in 1791, Ralph Jackson

moved up the lakes from Portland, he found Joseph March,

Sr., living in a cabin half a mile from the present village

between the road, since built, and the pond. He had a

small tannery near the pond, where he dressed skins ob-

tained from the settlements above. A horse propelled a

stone around in a circle to crush his bark for tanning, and

black for coloring the leather he obtained from a lamp-black

kiln near by. Mr. Jackson settled farther east, near the

creek, where his son William was born, in 1792, and John,

a younger son, who occupies the homestead, was born in

-1798.

Nathan Gerry and Elliot Staples built the first inn near

the Church place, and Mr. Gerry entertained travelers along

the lake, which was a much frequented route between Port-

land and the earlier settlement in Bridgton before 1790, and

until the opening of the " Pearsontown road" some years

after. In 1816, John Chute purchased the inn, and opened

the Elm House, which nine years later became one of the

pioneer temperance houses of Maine. The old hotel was

burned in 1822, and after three weeks of energetic building

re-occupied, to be burned again in 1876. Solomon Lamb
settled west of Naples in 1809 ; David Proctor on the E.

Proctor place, near Crooked River, in 1813. In 1815,

Nathaniel Knight, father of Major W. and Harrison 0.

Knight, moved from Windham to the east side of Long

Pond near Church's.

The first building in Naples village was the school-house,

built in 1822, near the steamboat landing. Back on the

hill towards Mr. Lamb's a small clearing was made the next

year by Thomas Stevens, and a store was opened soon after

by Benjamin Goodridge, under the management of Joshua

Chadbourne, who boarded with Mr. Stevens. All else was

woods. Enoch Gammon, a lumberman, kept goods previ-

ously, for the accommodation of his hands, in his house near

" Mast Cove," north of Naples on Long Pond, so called from

being the point where large numbers of masts were rafted.

The post-office was opened under the name of South Otis-

field, June 21, 1828, with Abraham W. Chute post-

master. His first quarterly report was for the sum of 37

}

cents.

Dr. J. Andrew Chute, a brother of the postmaster,

opened a store at the west end of the bridge, where a land-

ing was built in 1831. He sold to his brother and William

Winsor in 1834, and entered the missionary service among

the Ottawa, CJdppetoa, and Clierokee Indians, dying in

that service while in Missouri, in 1838.

The extensive Leavitt settlement west of Naples was

made by Dr. Joshua Leavitt and his two sons, Joseph and

Josiah, about the year 1800. Upon the hill beyond them

to the west, Jeremiah King, David Sanborn, and William
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1833, and continued to July, 1837
;
previously there had

been no stated preaching. Rev. Joseph Searl was installed

July, 1837, died Dec. 3, 1841 ; Rev. Cyril Pearl, installed

January, 1843, dismissed September, 1846; Rev. A. P.

Chute, installed February, 1847, dismissed August, 1849
;

Rev. Charles Packard, installed February, 1850, dismissed

December, 1852 ; Rev. John Dodd, acting pastor, 1854-58
;

E. S. Palmer, 1858-62 ; Rev. Thomas B. Ellis, 1861-62

;

Rev. Earnest P. Bouchers, installed January, 1869, dis-

missed October, 1871 ; Rev. Nehemiah Lincoln, present

pastor, installed May 15, 1872. Deacons : James H. Chad-

bourne, Edward Stanley, Amos P. Foster, George Peirce,

Horace Record. Clerks of the Church : James H. Chad-

bourne, Luther Rogers, Philip Eastman, Simeon Chad-

bourne, A. P. Chute, Charles Packard, John Dodd, George

Peirce, H. L. Sampson. Present membership, 50. Present

oflScers: George Peirce, Horace Record, Deacons; H. L.

Sampson, Clerk.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL.

The Methodist Episcopal Society of Harrison was organ-

ized in 1832. Among the first members were E. T. Ingalls

and wife, Solomon Libby and wife, Jacob Senter and wife,

Benjamin Green, Benjamin Foster, Amos Thomes and wife,

Stephen Ingalls, Moses Fogg and wife, Benjamin Chaplin

and wife. A meeting-house was erected in South Harrison

in 1835, and dedicated in November of that year by Rev.

Mr. Greenalth. The pastors have been Revs. Isaac W.
Moore, George Strout, I. W. Moore, Farrington, M.

White, Gay, T. B. Chase, John Fairbanks,

Gerry, D. Wittenback, L. B. Green, and Alpheus B. Love-

well. First and present class-leader, Ezra T. Ingalls.

Present trustees, E. T. Ingalls, Henry L. Buck, T. M.

Green. Pastor, Rev. Mr. Pease.

LAWYERS.

The lawyers have been Chas. Washburn, Thomas,

Philip Eastman, 1843-46 ; Harrison, Silas Blake,

Almon A. Strout, Caleb A. Chaplin, Silas Bullard, 0. G.

Cook, 1861-79, clerk of County Court, 1855-61.

PHYSICIANS.

Thomas J. Carter, 1833

;

Conant, Rodgers,

John E. Dunnells, Silas Blake, 1810-44 ; D. 0. S. Lowell,

1877; Kimball, Dunn, Warren Pease, 1851

;

H. H. Cole, Elmer Gray, and S. L. Weston, 1859-79.

ASSOCIATIONS.

PATKONS OF HUSBANDRY.

Crooked River Grange, No. 32, organized August, 1875.

David Frost, Master ; F. J. Sawyer, Overseer ; S. L. Wes-

ton, Sec; John Lombard, Treas. ; Miss M. Andrews,

Ceres. A supply store was opened at Bolster's Mills, by

I. S. Skillings, the same year. Officers 1879: W. W.
Andrews, Master; 0. V. Edwards, Overseer; George

Green, Sec. ; William Chute, Treas. ; Mrs. M. E. Wight,

Ceres.

Lakeside Grange, No. 63, Harrison village, organized

Dec. 3, 1874. George H. Cummings, blaster; Charles

H. Lakin, Overseer; Alphonzo Moulton, Sec; JIarshall

Thomes, Treas.; Mrs. Etta Thomes, Ceres. A store was

opened, with Edward Bray storekeeper. Officers for 1879 :

Alphonzo Moulton, Master ; Howard Thompson, Overseer

;

Nathaniel H. Seavey, Sec. ; Edward Bray, Treas. ; Mrs. Etta

Moulton, Ceres.

I. o. OF 0. F.

A lodge of Odd-Fellows was instituted at Hai-rison, in

1850, having 55 members, and obtaining a fund of $303.

The lodge surrendered its charter in 1859, after having

expended $582 for relief

MILITARY.

SOLDIERS OF THE REVOLUTION.

Nicholas Bray, served in the army seven years ; came to

Harrison in 1797; died 1843.

Capt. John Brackett, died 1844, and buried at Bolster's

Mills.

James Watson, born in Gorham Fort, Aug. 3, 1761

;

served through the war, and settled in Harrison.

Moses Whitney, a man noted for his strength and courage,

settled in Harrison after the war; died in 1820, aged eighty-

one.

Simeon Caswell, bom in Taunton, Mass., 1763; died Oct.

21, 1844.

Daniel Jumper, enlisted in Gloucester, Mass.; died in

Harrison, in 1841, aged seventy-eight.

SOLDIERS OP 1812.

Deacon Edward Bray, Joshua Howard, Capt. John

Brackett, Enoch Brackett, Solomon Stuart, Liberius Cas-

well, Jacob Senter, John Skillings, Merrill Holdcn, Daniel

Barker, William Brackett, Seth Carsley, Benjamin Sanborn.
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West were early settlers. Francis, father of S. G. Kim-
ball, was enga<!cd in lumbering in that part of the town for

some years, thus giving his name to Kimball's Comer.

Jefferson Bray made potash at the foot of Long Pond until

1835. In 1839, Nathan Church became proprietor of the

old inn, transmitting it at his death to his son, Nathan A.

Church.

By a skillful piece of engineering Benjamin Mitchell,

an early lumberman, constructed a dam across the outlet

of Trickey Pond, causing it to back water into a new outlet,

where he constructed his mills, at the opposite end of the

pond.

John Chaplin, a native of Massachusetts, settled in the

northwest part of Naples, then Bridgton, in 1789, on land

occupied by his son, Washington Chaplin, who was bom
there in 1795. A Mr. Decker, his only neighbor when he

came, lived on the S. F. Perley farm. Mr. Chaplin built a

saw-mill in 1799 on the pond near his residence. In 1791

he sold 40 acres to William Daniels.

BURYING-GROUNDS.

In 1849 the town fenced the original part of the ceme-

tery donated them by Benjamin Goodrich.

Enoch Gammon and James Sanborn, Esq., who died

in 1844, Rev. Nathaniel Stone, the pioneer preacher, in

1846, Col. Thomas Eads in 1847, and Samuel Pitts and

Capt. Melzor Lawrence in 1849, had already been buried

on the beautiful knoll granted in the north part of the

village, overlooking the lake. Nathaniel Walker was made

superintendent, and in 1852 the grounds were regularly

laid out. They have since been well kept. The Goodrich

family monument covers the remains of the liberal donor.

A half-mile beyond the cemetery stands the brick house

erected by George Peirce, Esq., in 1800. In a field near

by many of the early dead were buried ; then the ground

abandoned for the new one, and the old neglected ground

finally plowed and planted some years ago. Near the Elm

House a burying-ground, long forgotten, was discovered

while building the barns. Joe Marsh, son of the first set-

tler, John Davis, Jr., and some others were buried there.

A later ground was regularly laid out near Mr. Church's,

and members of the Hoyt, Winsor, and Chute families

buried there. This is the resting-place of John Chute, the

pioneer innkeeper, who died in 1857 at the age of ninety

years, and the young missionary, Dr. J. A. Chute. An-

other, half a mile up the lake, contains several soldiers of

the war of 1861-65, who died in the service. The Leavitt

family borying-ground contains the early pioneers of that

family. The Jackson family ground is honored with the

name of Robert H. Jackson, a fallen soldier of Company

C,~ 30th Maine Volunteers. There are three other private

yards in the east part of the town, one id the north, and

at Edes' Falls a large and well-kept cemetery, opened in

1872, to which many of the early dead have been removed

Irom the unprotected private grounds.

The stranger who visits Naples by water finds himself

suddenly confronting a low, narrow drawbridge, half hidden,

by the trees which surround the channel below. The first

bridge across this neck went off up stream in a sudden

freshet, which backed the water from the Songo River into
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the lakes above. The cleared field on the right, just passed,

is the old parade-ground of the first militia. Fur off to the

north, across the bridge. Crooked Pond extends among the

sloping hills which rise gently to a hundred feet on either

side, covered with pine, elm, maple, and poplar, which has

grown since the lumberman harvested the primitive forest

and sent it floating down the lakes. The shores are dotted

with an occasional large farm-house, which in the distance

become mere specks of white. Broken hills of bluer hue

rise behind each other in the distance, until the sharp white

lines of eternal winter point out Mount Washington, the

highest and most distant point. A large tree spreads its

branches where the store of the young missionary stood, in

1831, between the road and the lake. Above the old

parade-ground, the large, spreading elm in front of the new

hotel marks the spot where John Chute entertained with

temperate cheer the sires whose memory we delight to

honor.

To the left, beside the little bay, the business part of the

village of Naples extends a quarter of a mile in a cluster

of many-colored buildings, the most prominent of which

are the large white residence of William Wentworth, the

Congregational church, the brick town-house, and the yellow

residence of Mr. H. 0. Knight near the wharf; then scat-

ters off in dwellings a quarter of a mile up and down the

main street. The nearest building, a blacksmith-shop, low

down by the water, marks the- site of the first store in the

town. On the bare knoll over which the road leads from

the wharf, in the rear of the old store of Washington

Bray, stood the old school-house, where Oliver Dole taught

the first school in 1822, and Abraham W. Chute was

elected town clerk and Benjamin Goodridge selectman,

in 1834. Below the village are the large buildings of the

Portland Packing Company, established in 1872, and ex-

empted by town law from taxation for ten years. On the

point above, overlooking the lake and village, the town

cemetery spreads its marble columns in front of a group of

fine residences and farm-buildiugs. The brick town-house

was erected in 1838 by Thomas Perley, Benjamin Good-

rich, and Enoch Gammon, on an acre of land purchased

fur that purpose. It was made free for all religious meet-

ings in 1846, and used until the erection of the churches

in 1858. In 1871 a town hearse was purchased, and a

building erected on the town lot for its keeping. A brick

session-room has also been constraeted for the use of the

town officers. The village contains besides some forty

fine residences, two churches, a school-house, five stores,

carriage-, cooper-, and two smith-shops. Grange Hall, wharf

warerooms, hotel, and clothing manufactory. Mails are

received daily by stage each way from Bridgton and Harri-

son. David H. Cole, postmaster. A brass band was organ-

ized May 9, 1878, under the leadership of Mr. Freelon

Walker, a veteran soldier of the 25th Maine Infantry.

EDES' FALLS.

The first settlement at this place, and the first in the

town of Naples, was made by George Peirce, who built his

cabin on the right bank of the river a hundred yards below

the bridge. He constructed a mill near by, of which a

portion of the dam still remains. In 1837, Col. Thomas
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Edes, father of Thos. E. Edes, of Naples, and Wilkinson

Edes, now of Portland, built a saw- and grist-mill at the

Falls, and engaged in lumbering. Emery Edes, another

brother, opened a store at the same time. Wilkinson Edes

was made first postmaster of the Edes' Falls post-office.

Joseph Hall bnilt a wool-carding mill for custom work

about 1832, which continued in operation some ten years

after. The present mills, on the left bank of the river,

were built by S. A. Whittier, in 1854, and comprise a kit-

factory and saw-mill. Hon. Robert Edes purchased the

mUls in 1874. In 1862 he started the manufactory of

clothing, which now furnishes employment to 150 opera-

tives. The mills built by Wilkinson Edes, and burned in

1859, have been replaced by a saw-mill built and still oper-

ated by Richard L. Green. Robert Edes is the only mer-

chant, and also postmaster. Mails are by way of Oxford,

tri-weekly. Edes' Falls is a compact hamlet of 175 inhab-

itants, whose homes are grouped around the mills in a deep,

narrow valley, formed at a bend in Crooked River, upon its

left bank.

EKECTION OP THE TOWN.

Of the 65 petitioners for the new town, 26 were inhabi-

tants of Otisfirtid, 14 of Harrison, 18 of Sebugo, 5 of Ray-

mond, and 2 of Bridgton. The petition wus based upon

the great distance of the petitioners from the business and

political centres of their several towns.

The first town election was held at the school-house, near

the foot of Long Pond, April 1, 1834. John Chute was

chosen Moderator, and sworn by James Sanborn, Esq.

Abraham W. Chute was elected Town Clerk ; Jefferson Bray,

Samuel Leach, and Benjamin Goodridge, Selectmen and

Assessors ; James Sanborn, Treasurer ; Thomas J. Carter,

Constable ; Thomas Chute, Thomas J. Carter, Superintend-

ing School Committee ; and Thomas Perley, Town Agent.

April 19th a special meeting was held, and the collectorship

put np at vendue. It was awarded to James Sanborn.

Through some mismanagement, Naples was left without a

voice, in the election of a representative to the State Legis-

lature from its organization until 1841.

CIVIL LIST.

SELECTMEN.

1834-3S Jefferson Bray, Samael Leooh, Benjamin Goodridge.

1838.—Jefferaon Biay, Beqjamin Goodridge, Daniel D. Rngglea.

1837.—Jefferson Bray, William B. Wendsor, Washington Chaplin.

1838-39.—Jefferson Bray, Samael Leaoh, Washington Chaplin.

1840-41.—Washington Chaplin, Benjamin Goodridge, Samuel F.

Perley.

1842-43.—James Sanborn, John G. Oannell, Samael Leaoh.

1844.—Benjamin Goodridge, Samnel F. Perley, Samael Leach.

1845.—Waihiagton Bray, James P. Hall, Albert Gray.

184A-48.—Washington Bray, Albert Gray, Samnel Leaoh.

1849.—Washington Bray, Samuel F. Perley, Ambrose F. Wright.

1850.—Washington Bray, Samael F. Perley, Albert Gray.

1851.—Benjamin Goodridge, John P. Daris, John Symmes.

1852.—Jefferson Bray, Emery Edes, John K. Chaplin.

1853.—Jefferson Bray, Washington Bray, Albert Gray.

1854.—John P. Davis, Samael F. Perley, William Lamb.

1855.—John P. Davis, Samuel F. Perley, Angustine Chaplin.

1858.—Albert Gray, James P. Hall, Major W. Knight.

1857.—John P. Davis, Samuel F. Perley, Richard J. Chaplin.

1858.—Washington Bray, Daniel Richardson, Charles H. Moody.

1859.—Washington Chaplin, John G. Cnnnoll, Daniel C. Smith.

1800.—Washington Bray, Albert Gray, Daniel C. Smith.

J 881-62.—Washington Bray, Zebalon Jackson, George W. Hall.

1863.—Washington Bray, John G. Cannell, William H. Moody.

1864-65.—Washington Bray, John 6. Cannell, Richard 8. Chaplin.

1866.—Washington Bray, Robert Eads, Zebulon Jackson.

1867.—Washington Bray, Samuel F. Perley, Zebulon Jackson.

1868.—Washington Bray, Zebalon Jackson, John G. Cannell.

1859.—Zebalon Jackson, John G. Cannell, Daniel Richardson.

1870.—Washington Bray, Robert Eads, Enoch Gammon.
1871.—Zebalon Jackson, Levi Cdnnell, Arthur Gray.

1872-75.—Washington Bray, Charles H. Young, John C. Wight.

IS76.—Charles H. Toang, Philip 0. Cannell, Enoch Gammon.
1877.—Philip 0. Cannell, Daniel Richardson, Enoch Gammon.
1878.—Chas. H. Young, Daniel Richardson, Washington Chaplin, Jr.

1879.—Daniel Richardson, Charles Choate, Philip 0. Cannell.

TOWN CLERKS.

Abraham W. Chute, 1834-35; James Sanborn, 1836-38; William B.

Winsor, 1839-40; A. W. Chute, 1841; James Sanborn, 1842-43;

A. W. Cbate, 1844-45 ; Washington Bray, 1846-48 ; Asa Warren,

1849 ; Washington Bray, 1 850 ; John P. Davis, 1851 ; Asa Warren,

1852-55; Beqjamin F. Wentworth, 1856; John A. Bodge, 1857;

Benjamin F. Wentworth, 1858 ; Zebulon Jackson, 1859-60 ; Roberi;

Edes, 1861-74; Philip 0. Cannell, 1375-79.

TREASURERS.

James Snnbom, 1834-43 ; William B. Winsor, 1844 ; Washington Brny,

1845-47; A. M. Thomes, 1847-48; Washington Bray, 1849-50;

Eben Choate, 1851; Washington Bray, 1852-53; John Lamb,

1854-55; Ansel Gray, 1866; Asa Warren, 1857; Richard L.

Green, 1858; Benjamin F. Wentworth, 1859-65; Harrison 0.

Knight, 1866; Benjamin F. Wentworth, 1867; Benjamin F.

Wentworth, Daniel Richardson, 1868; Benjamin F. Wentworth,

1869; Enoch Gammon, 1870; Washington Bray, 1871-76; Ben-

jamin F. Wentworth, 1877 ; Harrison 0. Knight, 1878-79.

COLLECTORS.

James Sanborn, Thos. J. Carter, constable, 1834; David D. Rnggles,

1835-36 ; John G. Cannell, 1837-38 ; James Sanborn, 1 839 ; Jary

Green, 1840-41 ; James Sanborn, Daniel D. Rnggles, coos., 1842

;

James Sanborn, Daniel D. Ruggles, cons., 1843; Jary Green,

1844-45; Jary Green, Joseph Martin, cons., 1846; Benjamin

Goodridge, 1847 ; Jefferson Bray, 1848-49 ; Thomas Chute, 1850-

51; DanielK. Barker, 1852-53; Washington Bray, 1854; Charles

Goodridge, 1855; Hermon Wight, 1856; John W. Noble, 1857;

B. 0. Knight, to fill vacancy, 1857; Timothy M. Green, 1858;

Augustine Chaplin, 1859; Timothy M. Green, 1880; Daniel

Richardson, 1861 ; John R. Chaplin, 1862; Daniel Richardson,

1863-64; Daniel Richardson, John Church, cons., 1884; Daniel

Richardson, 1865-67; Orrin Douglass, 1868; Daniel Richardsun,

1869-70; Jary Green, 1871-75; Daniel Richardson, 1876-79.

CHURCHES.

FREE-WILL BAPTIST.

Meetings were held by Rev. Jonathan Tracy at the Lea-

vitt school-house in 1832, and by Rev. Mr. £!aton and Rev.

Darling Huntrees in the school-houses and barns, until the

erection of the town-house, when that was opened for meet-

ings. Rev. Oliver W. Smith organized a church at Naples

village, Oct. 17, 1857. Nathan Walker and Robert Mc-

Kenney were ordained deacons. Davis L. Ingalls was

chosen clerk. Mrs. Catharine Walker, Mrs. McKenney,

Mrs. Lydia A. Ingalls, and John Archibald were members.

Elder John Pinkham was pastor from 1858 to 1860, Rev.

James Austin in 1865, and Rev. H. F. Snow from 1873

to 1876. Present membership, 27. Charles Mayberry is

clerk, Nathan Walker and Hezekiuh B. Crockett, deacons.

The church building was erected by a union committee

of three churches, for which George Jackson and John

Archibald were appointed trustees, and Seth Walker treas-
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His great-grandfalher came from England in an early day, and
settled in Cape Ann, Maes. He was a prominent physician and a

descendant of Bishop Bray, of London, England. Washington Bray's
grandfather, Ebenezer Bray, was born in Cape Ann. When about
twenty-three years of age he married a Miss Bennett, moved to

Maine, and settled in Minot about the year 1728. His death took
place A.D. 1803. He had received a good education, and taught both

public and private schools. His wife came from an influential and
respectable family. Washington Bray's father, Wm. B. Bray, was
bom in Minot, A.D. 1775. March 6, 1796, he married Ruth, daughter
of Isaac Cttsfaman, of Hebron, Me. In 1811 he moved to Turner,
where he died, July, 1817. He was by occupation a merchant. At
the time of the war of 1812 he commanded a company of cavalry,

and was buried with military honors. Of his five sons and five

daughters all bat one grew to manhood and womanhood, and lived

to have families.

Washington Bray, next to the yoimgest of this family, was born
Sept. 13, 1814. When he was three years old his father was killed in

a saw-mill, and in his seventh year his mother died. Bereft of his

parents thus early in life, and thrown upon the cold charity of a heart-

less world, he fought the battle of life, unaided, to manhood without
a stain upon his character. His conduct was directed by reason, re-

ligion, and a moral sense of duty. After the death of his parents he
remained in Turner, working for his board at various places. He
attended school during the winter when he could be spared from
work. Owing to his limited advantages, he was deprived of many of

the benefits of even a common-school education. He earned his first

pair of shoes by picking up apples at eight cents per day. About
IS30 he was bound out to learn the tanner and currier's trade. He
was allowed two meals a day, and slept in the barn. He very natu-

rally became discontented with this treatment, and, after remaining
about four months, ran away ; was lost in the woods, and stayed out

two nights before finding bis way to his sister's. His employer dis-

covered his whereabouts, and, taking him book, improved his condi-

tion. He remained here until 1833. He was then employed by his

brother William in driving a freight team to and from Portland. In

1335 he went to Naples and entered his brother Jefferson's store.

Soon after this date he was taken into the firm. About 1840 he
started in business for himself in the same store, and laid the founda-
tion for his future prosperity. His business increased, and in a short

time he was able to engage quite extensively in lumbering. With his

store, lumbering, and farm work his time was fnlly occupied, and by
his fair and honorable dealing he gained the good-will and esteem of

his townsmen, who were ever ready to show their confidence by be-

stowing upon him positions of tmst and honor.

In 1846 he married Catherine, daughter of Mark Jordan, of Casco.

He continued in business at Naples until 1855, when he was taken
with the western fever, sold all his property in Maine, and moved to

Depere, Wis., where he lived a short time, and then went to Oshkosh.
There he entered into partnership with his brother Jeff'erson in the

lumbering business. The climate not agreeing with him, he returned
to Maine in 1857. He repurchased, his former property at Naples,
and again went into business. In 1860-61 he erected a substantial

brick house and outbuildings on his farm, and settled down, feeling

that his native State was the place most desirable for his home.
When the war of the Rebellion oroke out he was serving as chair-

man of the board of selectmen, and took a very active part in every-
thing pertaining to the interests of the town. He was indefatigable
in his efforts to have the town's quota of men promptly filled. It was
mainly through his management that at the close of the war the

financial condition of the town was so fiourishing. There was no
heavy debt hanging over it to crush the inhabitants with taxes.

About 1S70 he began to curtail his business. In 1874 he sold out his

stock of goods to Hall tfe Cannell, and devoted himself to settling up
his business and enjoying the product of his years of toil by sur-

rounding himself and family with every comfort and convenience.
He represented his town in the Legislature in 1S51, and again in

1374. He was first selectman for twenty-three years, acting eleven
years in succession. He was town treasurer seven years, besides
holding many minor offices. So great was the confidence of his
townsmen in his ability, integrity, and honesty of purpose, that dur-
ing all the years that he served in an official capacity he was the
unanimous choice of the people, always promptly discharging his
various duties with impartial justice, and adjusting matters of im-
portance with much caution. In assuming the responsibilities of his
office he took an earnest, active interest in the progress and prosperity
of his town.
On May 6, 1876, he was taken sick with pneumonia. He did not

realize the severity of his illness until hi»old friend, Dr. Tewksbury,
informed him that he was in great danger and, possibly, might not
recover. He made this answer,—" I would like to stay a little while
longer, but if it's God's will, I must submit." Although everything
was done that skill and anxious care could suggest, nothing wiif of
any avail, and he passed away. May 13, 1876, surrounded by his sor-
rowing family and friends.

In bis religious views he was a firm believer in the universal salva-
tion of mankind, and he died as he had lived, with full confidence in

God's never-ending care of his children. He leaves a widow and one
son, Dr. Charles W, Bray, of Portland, who is in company with Dr.
Tewksbury. By the death of Washington Bray the poor lost a valu-
able and sympathizing friend. He never turned a deaf ear to any
one in trouble, and his charities to the needy were without limit. He
was one among the few who do not " let the left hand know what the
right hand doeth." Ho possessed an inquiring mind, was a great
reader, and consequently acquired a large amount of useful informa-
tion. His good qualities were best known to those who knew him
most intimately. All through his public as well as private life he
has left examples of industry, integrity, economy, and honesty, the
memory of which will grow brighter and brighter as generation fol-

lows generation.
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urer, to represent this society. The church was dedicated

Jan. 26, 1858, by Rev. Joseph Pleasenton, Congregation-

alist, and Rev. W. P. Merrill, Baptist ministers.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CH0RCH.

The church at Naples was originally a class of the South

Harrison Church. John Hill and T. J. Carter were most

prominent as early members. Benjamin Hill was made
class-leader in 1852. A meetiog-house was erected during

the pastorate of Rev. Sargent Gray, by James Clark,

Thomas E. Edes, and J. M. Green, trustees, and dedicated

by Rev. Daniel B. Randall, in January, 1858. The pas-

tors have been Rev. S. W. Pearce, Jonathan Fairbanks,

1846-49; S. Ranks, 1852; Sargent Gray, 1857-58; F.

B. Farrington, 1860 ; Solomon B. Gerry, 1861 ; Gershom

F. Cobb, 1862-63; George W. Ballou, 1864-65; John

Cobb, 1866-68 ; Nathan Andrews, 1869; John H. Griffin,

1870 ; J. E. Walker, 1871-72 ; George B. Hanford, 1873

;

Marcus Wight, 1874; Albra Hatch, 1875-70; Merritt C.

Pendexter, 1877; William F. Marshall, 1878; Benjamin

F. Pease, 1879. The present officers are Thomas Edes,

Class-leader ; James Chute (2d), Recording Steward

;

Thomas E. Edes, J. M. Green, James Clark, Merritt

Green, John Lamb, D. K. Barker, L. W. Crocker, George

Lamb, Stewards. There are 95 members.

THE FIRST CONQREOATIONALIST SOCIETY OP NAPLES

was organized soon afler the incorporation of the town, by

Benjamin Mitchell, Nathan Church, Charles Goodridge,

Asa Warren, William, William C, James, and Abraham W.
Chute, D. H. Torrey, and George Goodrich, at the house of

A. W. Chute. Nathan Church was chosen Moderator ; A.

W. Chute, Society Clerk ; Nathan Church, Collector and

Treasurer ; Asa Warren, Assessor. Benjamin Mitchell

was made Deacon. Benjamin Goodrich gave $1000, to be

used in building a house, of worship, and $600 additional

was contributed by the townspeople and members. The

parish has a fund of $1000, of which Enoch Gammon, of

Naples village, is trustee.

SCHOOLS.

The schools were established by the old towns previous

to 1834. Oliver Dole, of Windham, taught the first

school in the Naples village school-bouse, in 1822. The

school agents chosen for the eight districts at the first

election were John Patch, John Chuplin, Jr., John G.

Cannell, Joseph Levitt, Elijah Varney, Samuel Leach,

Samuel Pitts, and Benjamin Green ; $250 were voted for

the support of schools. The people of Naples have always

been liberal in the support of their schools, which now num-

ber eleven districts, with good buildings, valued at $400

each. There wel'e $1546.42 expended for the support of

common schools during 1878, $1000 of which was raised

by tax from the town. Of the 360 school children between

the ages of four and twenty-one years, 294 have attended

school some portion of the year. In 1864 the town-house

was offered to Mr. D. H. Cole for the use of a high school,

and has since been used for that purpose. In 1878 there

were held three terms of free high school. The first was

supported by coutribations, mainly from the inhabitants of

District No. 4, W. W. McCann, Principal. The second

term, at Naples village, was conducted by James F. Pills-

bury, assisted by George M. Chapin. A term was held at

Edes' Falls, taught by Mrs. Annie B. Robinson. These

schools were supported by $300 raised by the town and an

appropriation by the State. D. H. Cole, Superintendent of

Schools for 1878-79 ; Philip 0. Cannell, present Superin-

tendent.

SOCIETIES.

PATRONS OP HU8BANDRT.

Naples Orange, No. 194, was organized at Naples vil-

lage, Jan. 13, 1875. Nathan A. Church was installed

Master ; D. K. Barker, Overseer ; J. E. Barker, Sec. ; James

Chute, Chaplain ; Mrs. N. A. Church, Ceres ; Mrs. L. P.

Crockett, Flora ; Mrs. H. R. Crockett, Pomona. A store

and grange hall was erected in 1876, and dedicated July

4th of that year. Benjamin F. Wentworth opened a store in

the building, and supplied the members with goods at re-

duced rates. The present membership is about 30. Offi-

cers : J. E. Barker, Master ; L. P. Crockett, Sec. ; Mrs.

James Chute (2d), Ceres.

GOOD TEMPLARS.

Crystal Lake Loilge, No. 142, was organized Feb. 2,

1878, with H. J. Leavitt, W. C. T. ; Mary E. Walker,

W. v. T.; Ivory Cole, Sec; Freelon Walker, Chap-

lain ; John C. Plummer, Marshal. Present membership, 73.

The lodge meets in the Grange Hall. Officers : A. W.
Merserve, W. C. T. ; Miss Nellie Sawyer, W. V. T.

;

Fred. L. Walker, Sec.

MERCHANTS.

Enoch Gammon, Sr., succeeded Benj. Goodridge in 1824.

Mr. Gammon built a hotel in 1829, and in 1834-35 moved

his goods into the brick store which was afterwards occu-

pied by George Goodridge and Thomas Edes, from 1858 to

1863, when Enoch Gammon, Jr., son of the first proprietor,

became a party to the firm of Edes & Gammon, who are

dealers in general merchandise. They are quoted as among

the most substantial business firms in the State.

Washington Gray, a prominent citizen, was for many

years a merchant at Naples.

Harrison 0. Knight, one of the most popular and success-

ful business men of the town, began selling goods in 1843,

and continued in active business until 1870.

B. F. Wentworth, an industrious blacksmith, opened a

shop in the village in 1847, and by diligent industry has

made himself one of the leading men of the town. He
opened a general supply store in the Grange building in

1876.

Zebulon Jackson sold goods in Naples from 1870 to

1874, and was succeeded by Philip 0. Cannell. Samuel

Leavitt began the sale of dry-goods and notions from a

wagon in 1871. M. Skillings—tinware and stoves—was

established 1878.

MANUFACTURERS.

Edes & Gummon, clothing, established by Thomas E.

Edes and Enoch Gammon, Jr., 1871 ; Portland Packing
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Company, canned sweet corn and vegetables, established

1872.
PHYSICIANS.

Dr. Joshua Leavitt filled the position of first physician

while attending to the cares of his farm. Dr. Thomas

Perley, Jr., brother of Samuel F. Perley, a prominent citi-

zen, practiced medicine in Naples for some years previous

to the war of 1861, leaving his practice for the position

of a surgeon in the United States army. Dr. Horatio D.

Torrey practiced in Naples from 1854 to 1872. Dr. Eugene

Brooks in 1872. I. C. Sawyer commenced the practice of

medicine in Naples in 1864, and has built himself an hon-

orable record as a physician. Dr. Charles Y. Lord, a young

physician from Wales,. York Co., located in Naples in

December, 1878.

Among the most prominent early citizens of the town

were Benjamin Goodridge, Enoch Gammon, Thomas Perley,

Abraham W. Chute, James Sanborn, John West, and Asa

Warren, who was burned in his dwelling while trying to

save the life of his son. Mr. Warren was highly respected.

More recently, Samuel F. Perley, Wilkinson Edes, Robert

Edes, town clerk for fourteen successive years ; John Gt.

Cannell, B. F. Wcntworth, Daniel Richardson, who have

each represented the town in the State L^islatnre, have

acquired the respect of their fellow-townsmen.

MILITARY.

SOLDIERS OP 1812.

Phineas Hoyt, Solomon Lamb, Joshua Goodridge, John

Lord, David Lord, Joab Libby, Lieut. Samuel Leach.

MILITIA OF 1834.

On petition of William 6. Wisner and others, the first

militia company of Naples was ordered to meet at " James

Sanborn's inn," on Saturday, Jan. 24, 1835, to elect officers.

Enoch Gammon was chosen Captain, John G. Cannell,

Lieutenant, and Lyman Hall, Ensign. They were a part

of the 2d Regiment, 1st Brigade, 5th Division of the

Militia of Maine, and were known as K Company. Thomas

Chute was Orderly Sergeant and Clerk. The musicians

were Hon. Samuel F. Perley, Fifer ; William Jackson, Sec-

ond Bass Drum ; and Col. Daniel Chaplin, Dnimmer. Col.

Chaplin earned his eagles in the war of 1861-65, as an

officer of the Lumbermen's Regiment of Maine, organized

at Bangor. Phineas Hoyt, an old drummer of 181 2, played

ior them, but was not a member of the company. William

Lamb, Asa Warren, Hiram Leach, and James Chute were

sergeants.

The following is a partial list of members, taken from the

company's order-book : John K. Chaplin, Newell Gammon,
Jacob Chaplin, Jr., Stephen Barker, Jary Green, James W.
Chaplin, 'Thomas F. Perley, Watson Doughty, Major W.
Knight, Timothy M. Green, Cyms Lamb, Hiram Yamey,

Joshua Brackett, Eleazer Bartlett, Ebenezer Choate, Francis

Kimball, Eli West, Asa Harmon, Daniel Davis, John Lamb,

Benjamin Bailey, Daniel D. Ruggles, Jonathan Barker,

Joshua Goodridge, James Clark, Joseph F. Gammon, Paul

Lord, Albert Gray, William Jackson, Gideon Bean, Frank-

lin Leavitt, Hamilton G. King.

Abraham W. Chute was commissioned paymaster of the

regiment in 1827.

The last officers were, Captain, J. G. Cannell; Lieutenant,

James Chute ; Ensign, Albert Gray.

The last order calld on them to assemble " armed and

equipped, as the law directs, at James Sanborn's inn, on

March 20, 1844."

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

DAVID H. COLE,

son of Edward Cole, was bom in Cornish, York Co., Me.,

Oct. 19, 1808.

He received his education in the common school and at

the Limerick Academy. At the age of eighteen he married

Ruth H. Eastman, of Cornish. For many years he has

been a teacher, and taught school some eighty-four terms,

making in all twenty-four years.
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In 1839 he removed to Fryeburg, where he was engaged

in teaching and farming. In 1862 he removed to the town

of Naples, and continued as a teacher and farmer until

1865, when he removed to the village of Naples, where, the

same year, he was appointed postmaster, and continues to

hold the position. About this time he began reading law,

as did also his sons, Charles and Lyman L. Both sons

were admitted to practice before their father. Charles is a

lawyer in Washington. D. C, and Lyman L. an attomeyin

Parkersburg, W. Ya. Mr. Cole was admitted to the bar

at the age of sixty-two, and is now a lawyer in Naples. In

1850 he was elected justice of the peace, and held the

office for twenty-five years. He is an active and earnest

promoter of school interests, and was for some time super-
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Ebenezer Choate, born in 1796, in Essex, Essex

Co., Mass., came with his parents to Bridgton, Cum-

berland Co., Me., in 1800, where he remained until

he was twenty years of age. In 1824 he married

Eliza Barker, of Bridgton. Tliey have three chil-

dren living: Charles, bom April 8, 1826; Euth,

born March 12, 1830; and Isaac B., bom July 12,

1833.

In 1826, Mr. Choate purchased a farm in

Naples, where he carried on farming until age com-

pelled him to retire from the active duties of life,

and since that time his son Charles has had charge

of the homestead.

He was an ardent supporter of the old Whig

party, and is now a Republican. Mr. Choate was

never very solicitous of political office, and has

only been officially connected with town matters

as treasurer and collector. He is a man known

for his integrity and just dealing, for his sound

judgment and correct habits. Charles Choate served

in the 25th Regiment of Maine Infantry, Com-

pany E, Col. Frank Fessenden commanding, and

at the expiration of his term was honorably dis-

charged. Isaac B. married Sophia P. Thompson,

of Windham, and Ruth was married to David Lar-

rabee, of Westbrook.
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visor of the school committee. His other children are

Mary W., Susan E., Edward R., Hannah J., Wallace D.,

Corydon L., and Mehitable A.

THE PERLEY FAMILY.

In the year of our Lord 1630 came Allan Perley, from

Flintshire, in Wales, to the colony of Massachusetts Bay.

He was the progenitor of all of his name in America.

In 1776, one of his descendants, Enoch Perley, of Box-

ford, Mass., came to the township of Bridgton, in the

Province of Muioe. There were there before him a dozen

families, the first house having been built seven years before.

The journey from Massachusetts was toilsome, and that

part of Maine heavily wooded, so we expect to be told that

all the early emigrants were hardy, energetic men. Enoch

Perley was in many respects a remarkable man, of great

activity of mind and body, untiring perseverance, and keen

sagacity. He was small in stature, with a sharp voice and

a quick, emphatic manner of speaking peculiar to himself;

always busy, exercising his various occupations of farmer,

carpenter, stone-mason, smith, turner, tanner and currier,

hunter and fisherman, and withal a man of education for

his times. He was clerk fur the proprietors of Bridgton

from the time the records were moved there in 1777 till

1806, when, the land having all been deeded away, they

ceased to exist as a corporation. He was always called

" 'Squire Perley,"—is spoken of to this day as " the old

'Squire." He held many of the most important offices in

town, and was for many years an acting magistrate ; was a

man of active benevolence, an earnest member of the church,

contributing largely to a fund for the support of the ministry

in Bridgton, and shrewdly making his gift upon condition

that if a church should ever be formed south of the centre

of the town it should go there. It has eventually fallen to

the church at South Bridgton, much nearer his own farm,

which extends to the southern boundary of Bridgton.

The first house built by Enoch Perley, succeeding the

log-camp in which he lived a short time, still stands, the

oldest frame building in Bridgton, now used as a tool-house,

but keeping the swinging steps by which the floor above

was reached, and the buttons that fastened back the " turn-

up" bedstead. It was soon too small, for in those times

every man's house was open to travelers, and no man was

turned from this hospitable door. A second one was built,

which in the night of the 2d of October, 1780, was destroyed

by fire, with the proprietors' records,—an irreparable loss to

the historian of those times. Early next morning a passing

traveler saw 'Squire Perley hewing a stick of timber in his

door-yard : to the question, " What are you doing ?" he

replied, " Making a new house," in his own sharp way.

Enoch Perley was a prudent an^d far-seeing man. While

his neighbors were getting rid of their forests with all pos-

sible expedition, he purchased and saved all he was able, and

lived to see it make him the richest person in that region.

He left the principal part of his property to his two sons,

in whose hands it increased in value, and, what is a little

remarkable, it has not diminished in the third generation.

He married Anna Flint, of Boxford, who died before him,

he living to the age of eighty years.

SAMtTEL F. PERLEY,

fourth son of Thomas Perley, inherited the farm and still

lives in the house built by his father in Bridgton, now Na-

ples.

The farm is situated on an eminence with fine views in

every direction of the hills and lakes of this beautiful

county, and the present owner has spent his life in improv-

ing it, notably grafting apple-trees, and an orchard of four

hundred pear-trees. He has always been interested in the

improvement of methods of farming in Maine, experiment-

ing upon his own farm, and being an active member of the

agricultural societies throughout the State, and a trustee of

the State Agricultural College at Orone from its founda-

tion till 1874, when he resigned on account of ill health.

He has been a member of the Legislature four sessions,

was for many years a justice of the peace, and, from his

tact and good judgment, possessed of much influence in his

own and neighboring towns.

He has been well known as a land surveyor, and, adding

a remarkable degree of wood-craft to the technical part of

his profession, has been often called upon to settle disputed

boundaries. He was born in 1817 ; married first Miss

Griswold, of Fryeburg, by whom he has one child ; second.

Miss Fitch, of Portland, who has no surviving children.

L. L. CROCKETT,

eldest son of Peter and Mary Crockett, was born in the

town of Gorham, Dec. 10, 1815.

His father dying when he was only eleven years of age,

he went to live with Daniel Murch, with whom he resided,

working on a farm, until he was sixteen years old. During

these years he received limited opportunities for obtaining

any education from books. He spent four years learning

the trade of a tanner, and shoemaking, and, at the age of

twenty, began business for himself, as a shoemaker, in the

town of Gorham, which business he continued to follow

for twenty years. In 1841 he married Mary J. Libby, of

Gorham. Of this union were born six children, George E.,

Sarah C, Charlotte I., Lewis P., Frank W., and Jane A.

Mr. Crockett is a representative farmer in the town of

Naples, and since his first start in business ho has been suc-

cessful. In politics he is a Republican, and in all local

matters he is a promoter of enterprises tending to benefit

society and establish educational interests.



NEW GLOUCESTER.

ORIGINAL GRANT OF THE TOWN.

The town of New Gloucester is inclnded within a line

ninniDg four miles, one bandred and ninety-eight rods

from its southern comer to the county line, seven and a

half miles on .the county line ; thence due southwest to

such point as shall form a right angle and intersect the

starting-point. It is bounded on the northeast by Dan-

ville and Durham, in Androscoggin Co. ; on the southeast

by Pownal and North Yarmouth ; on the southwest by

Gray and Raymond ; and on the northwest by Poland, in

Androscoggin Co. The grant, comprising a tract equal to

six miles square, was made by the General Court of Mas-

sachusetts to 60 of the inhabitants of Gloucester, Mass.,

March 27, 1736, and the lines established by a committee

of the General Court, in 1762.'*' Three additional shares

were reserved for the support of schools, the ministry, and

the first settled minister. A portion of the town was laid

out and drawn by lot Feb. 17, 1738, and the remainder in

1765, 1767, 1773, and 1790. Four lots were reserved as

mill lots, for which the occupants were required to erect

mills within two years.

PHEPARATIONS FOR SETTLEMENT.

John Willett was sent, soon afler the first drawing, to

open a cart-road from the point of debarkation on Cousins

River to the present village, and construct a bridge across

Royal River. To induce settlement, £30 were offered to

those who would remain three years, £20 for two years,

and £10 for one year settlers. The first clearing was made

by Jonas Mason, on the east slope of Harris Hill, west of

Stevens' Brook. Other inducements were offered, and in

1744, Capt. Isaac Eveleth came to advance the interests of

the proprietors, and open more roads.

John Megquier, grandfather of Gen. Charles Megquier,

came at the age of fifteen, in 1748, and in the summer of

that year remained alone in camp with his rifle, watching

the oxen, and ready to sound the alarm of " Indians
!"

while the older ones crossed the river to cut hay from the

* In 1762 there was a diffioult; about the bonndary, on acconnt of

the Pejepsoot proprietors on the nortbeuat crowding down open New
Olonoester, This caoaed the latter town to crowd down upon Qray,

and Oray also upon Windham, so that about two miles of territory

was in dispute between the towns, the space being that mnoh too

narrow to allow the three towns their required six miles square. The

proprietors therefore petitioned the General Court for a committee to

be appointed to run out the boundary lines of the towns in such a

manner as to settle the dispute. In doing this they could only giro

New Gloucester four miles and a half and thirty-three rods on the

Yarmouth back line, and were obliged to run up the northeast aide a

northweat-by-north oonrae, inatead of a northwest course, until it

should contain its required amount of Innd. Thie changed the form

of the town from a parallelogram of six miles on each side to its

present peculiar shape.
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natural meadows which were held in common for many

years. Twelve miles of roads, 19 bridges, and a saw-mill

on Stevens' Brook had been constructed, when the Indians

began to menace the frontiers, and the settlers were ordered

away by the military authorities for their own safety. In

1752 the ruins were vbited by John Roberts with four

men under orders to rebuild the saw-mill and bridges, and

saw timbers for a meeting-house and fort. Soon after the

settlers returned, and in 1753-54, the fort was erected on

the high ground, between the village and burying-ground,

overlooking and controlling the approach to the mill in the

ravine below. The walls were of thick pine, timbers pierced

with holes for the riflemen, and mounted with two swivel

guns. James Proctor, of Woburn, garrisoned the fort with

6 men, 2 of whom were killed, and a third scalped by

Indians, during the six years the settlers sought nightly

refuge within its walls, or sallied forth in company to work

upon their fields while one stood guard over his fellows.

Joseph Tyler was captured by Indians in 1755, and after-

wards became an interpreter. In 1756 the garrison was

received on half-pay by the • province of Massachusetts.

In 1760 the saw- and grist-mills were completed on Royal

River at the Great Falls.

John Stinchfield, David Millett, William Stevens, Hum-
phrey Woodbury, Samuel Worthley, Benjamin Hammon,

John ' Megquier, John Stinchfield, Jr., Horton Mitchell,

Capt. Nathaniel Eveleth, William McLane, and William

Stinchfield,—all of whom were bom in this country except

the first, making in the whole 12 families; and 8 more had

moved into the town before winter came. Col. Isaac Par-

sons settled near the village, on the farm now occupied by

his great-grandson, Charles P. Haskell, in 1761. John

Woodman settled in the valley below, near the bridge.

The proprietors' records were moved from Gloucester,

Mass., to New Gloucester, in 1763, and a meeting held in

the fort November 22d, when Samuel Merrill was chosen

Moderator of the Meeting and Treasurer ; Col. Isaac Par-

sons, Clerk ; Jonathan Tyler, Daniel Merrill, William

Harris, Committee and Assessors ; Nathaniel Eveleth, Col-

lector ; William Harris, Surveyor of Roads.

At the first election, held at the meeting-house, Sept.

17, 1774, Simon Nojes was made Moderator, and the fol-

lowing town o£Scers were elected : Nathaniel Eveleth, Town
Clerk ; Simon Noyes, Moses Merrill, Samuel Merrill, Select-

men and Assessors ; Isaac Parsons, Treasurer ; Abel Davis,

Constable and Collector; Jacob Haskell, Josiah Smithj

Micah Walker, Fence-Viewers; Josiah Smith, Pel^
Chandler, Wardens ; Moses Merrill, Tithing-Man ; Jacob

Haskell, William Harris, Abel Davis, William Row, Sur-

veyors of Roads ; Deacon Daniel Merrill, Sealer of Weights

and Measures ; Samuel Parsons, Sealer of Leather ; Jere-
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mja'u Thoits, Payn Ellwell, Hog-Reeves. A pound was

voted, and each man ordered to make his axle-trees four feet

five iuchea long. A meeting was held September 19th,

at which Col. William Allen, William Harris, and Isaac

Parsons were elected a committee to meet in Portland to

consider " the present alarming situation of public affairs.''

One-fourth of the men were detached as Minute-Men, April

25, 1775. Two casks of powder, 300 flints, and 200

pounds of lead were voted, and appropriations were made

for roads and schools. The ammunition was kept concealed

behind the huge sounding-board in the old church. Sep-

tember 27th a committee was appointed to inspect the in-

habitants to see whether they respect the resolves of Con-

gress not to use British goods. On receipt of the news of

the battle of Lexington, the people assembled under call of

the selectmen ; the militia were organized by Capt. William

Harris, Capt Isaac Parsons, and David Millett, and 20

men were raised for the army. In May, 1776, Capt. Isaac

Parsons lefl for the war, with a company of 55 men.

In 1787 the old fort was sold for seven bushels of corn.

New Gloucester became a half-shire town with Portland in

1792, continuing so until the organization of Oxford County

in 1805, when the records were removed to Portland.

Courts were held in the old school-house, now the tin shop

of Philip C. CoUer. The jury-rooms were in the old Bell

Tavern, kept by Peleg Chandler, on the opposite corner,

since 1782. The old sign is still kept in the village, but

there is no hotel in the town. A whipping-post was erected

beside the pound near by, and stocks were made, in which

some of the community usually spent their Sundays.

In 1824 there were five stores or trading-shops in the

town, five taverns, one social library that was established in

1795, and one Masonic Fraternity. Eleven of the youths

of the town had received a college education, and many of

them an academic. There were three attomeys-at-law,

two of them college graduates, one of whom was a justice

of the Court of Sessions. Rev. Mr. Foxcroft was the first

minister, and officiated till 1802, when Rev. Mr. Moseley

became his successor. Mr. Foxcroft died March 9, 1807,

at the age of seventy-two years.

In 1824 there were three physicians, one of whom,

Timothy Little, M.D., had a high reputation as a surgeon

and anatomist. He had many students for the medical

profession. The place at that time contained one cabinet-

maker, three painters, four carpenters and joiners, a number

ofhoot and shoe makers, two saddlers, harness-makers, and

chaise-trimmers, three blacksmiths, a brass-founder, two

tailors, two chair-makers. There had been one major-gen-

eral, three brigadier-generals, and three colonels in town.

The inhabitants at that time numbered over 1600, all of

whom, except one, were born in the United States, chiefly

in Massachusetts. There were then about 240 dwelling-

houses in the town, nil wood, except two, which were of

brick. The town then contained ten school districts, and

had a fund the interest of which was sufficient to pay for

half the schooling.

The practice of selling the poor was abandoned in 1834,

and a town-farm purchased. Town business was transacted

in the old church until 1838, when the old Baptist church

was purchased and used for a town-house. The heaviest

business of the town was in the days of courts, mail-

coaches, and lumbering, previous to 1330. It now sup-

ports a thriving local trade.

Sept. 7, 1874, a centennial celebration was held on the

ground of the Old Fort, and an address delivered by Hon.

Charles H. Haskell, of the Portland bar, a great-great-

grandson of Jacob Haskell, one of the first settlers of the

town. Addresses were also delivered by many natives of

New Gloucester who had attained distinction in other

States. Five hundred dollars were bequeathed to the town

by Ezra Tobie in 1776, the interest of which was to be

divided among the town paupers each Thanksgiving-day.

Historic interest centres around the old village beside

the Fort of 1754, on the hill, still possessing the house of

Capt. Parsons, erected in 1773, and used as a store-room by

Charles P. Haskell ; the dwelling of Rev. Samuel Fox-

crofl, the second frame house in town, and in which Col.

Joseph E. Foxcroft was bom in 1773; the old Foxcroft

store ; the Bell Tavern, the court-room
;
the old, unpaintcd

town-house ; beyond the fort, the single pine-tree where

stood the mill, and near by the burying-ground donated

by Paul Stevens in 1793. Capt. Parsons, of Revolu-

tionary fame, sleeps here by the side of his four wives, his

own marble headstone, in compliance with his dying in-

junctions, " a little higher, thicker, and a little more to the

front" than the black slate ones marking their graves

on either side. There are, besides, burying-grounds at

Gloucester Hill, West Gloucester, and at the east corner

of the town, to which most of the early dead have been

gathered.

VILLAGES.

NEW QLOUCESTEE,

the principal village, contains 42 dwellings, the town-house,

school-house, Congregationalist and Baptist churches, and

the following business houses

:

General stores: I. H. Keith, established in 1848, in

company with Sewall Gross ; J. W. Mitchell, established

in 1879.

Hardware and tin: P. C. CoUer, 1875.

Harness : William P. Taylor, 1829.

Millinery : Miss Martha Marsh, 1871.

Wagons: John Hancock, J. G. Bennett, 1876.

Blacksmith: Edwin Bean, 1878.

There are two resident physicians : Dr. A. Q. Marshall,

1872 ; and Dr. John L Sturgis.

In the valley half a mile distant are the depots of the

Grand Trunk and Maine Central Railroad:).

UPPEK OLOtTCESTER,

two miles north, contains 25 dwellings, a fine, large school-

house, over which the " Centennial Hall" was erected at

the expense of the school district in 1876 ; the stores of

Sewall Gross, established 1855 ; and George Blake, 1856

;

Isaac Brown's shoe-shop, Alvin Brown's blacksmith-, and

Benjamin Seger's wagon-shop. Near by are the saw-mills

of Allen & Jordan and Alverdo Estez, on land occupied by

mills for nearly a century.

The post-offices are West Gloucester, the Shaker settle-

ment, Samuel Keudrich, postmaster; Upper Gloucester,
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Sewall Gross, postmaster ; New Gloucester, Mrs. Abbie S.

Stevens, postmistress.

Cobb's is an abandoned station on the Grand Trunk

Railway.

Fogg's Corner consists of 16 dwellings and the store

ef J. F. Follister, established in 1876.

Gloucester Hill is a hamlet of 20 dwellings near the

Free-Will Baptist church. The Maine Central and Grand
Trunk Railways pass through the town in nearly parallel

routes from north to south.

SHAKER VILLAGE,*

or United Society of Believers, located in the northwest

comer of the town of New Gloucester, b deserving of es-

pecial notice, both from the peculiarity of their religions

views and the successful experiment of their domestic

economy in community life, patterning the first Christian

Church as represented in the New Testament, " the multi-

tude of them that believed were of one heart, neitheir

said any of them that aught of the things which he pos-

sessed was his own, but they had all things in common."

(Acts iv. 32.)

Copying from an interesting paper contributed by the

Shakers at the centennial anniversary of the town, Sept. 7,

1874, a brief extract of the origin of the Shakers is here

presented as an introduction

:

" Ann Lee, tbe fonnder, was bom in Manchester, England, Feb-

mary, 1736, who firstly beeame a disciple of James and Jane Wardly,

Friends or Quakers, who l>elonged to the sect called the French Proph-

ets. In early life, Ann was endowed with uncommonly deep religious

feelings, and under their teachings became deeply inspired, and was

blessed with many divine gifts, visions, revelations, and prophecies,

until it was acknowledged by her elders and the society to which she

belonged that she had received greater light and power and a minis-

tration superior to theirs, and instinctively looked to her for counsel,

and called her mother, an endearing title which all her faithful fol-

lowers repeat with pleasure.

" Her testimony was so sharp, keen, and powerful against the root of

human depravity that it aroased the enmity of the wicked, and she

and her followers were bitterly persecuted. At one time her persecu-

tors led her out into a valley, and attempted to stontf her to death ; but,

as she declared, she was shielded by tbe power of Qod, and they were

not able to injure her. Exasperated by failure to accomplish their

fiendish designs, they fell into contentions among themselves, and she

escaped. At another time she was placed in the stone prison of Man-
chester, in a cell so small she could not straiten herself, and there

kept fourteen days without food or drink, except once in twenty-four

hours a lad by tbe name of James Wbittaker would insert tbe stem

of a pipe through the keyhole of the prison-door, and pour a little

wine and milk into the bowl of tbe pipe ; in this way she obtained all

tbe nourishment she received daring that time. At tbe end of the

fourteen days tbe prison-door was opened, with tbe hope and ex-

pectation of finding her dead, but to the surprise of all she walked

off as smart and strong as on the day she was put into prison.

" After that she received a revelation to come to America, and on

the 19th of May, 1774, she and eight of her followers embarked in a

vessel called the 'Maria,' which was condemned as unseaworthy.

Daring the passage. Mother Ann told the captain he should not know
whereof to accuse them, except it were ooooerning the law of their

God, especially in the manner of their worship, which did prove of-

fensive; and when they went forth to praise God iu songs and
dances, the captain was greatly enraged, and threatened to throw

them overboard if they repeated tbe offense. But she, believing it

better to obey God rather than man, again went forth in the same

manner to worship Him ; this so enraged the captain that he at-

tempted to put bis threats into execution. This was in the time of a

* Prepared by Elder Otis Sawyer.

storm, and the ship sprung aleak. All hands were called to tbe
pumps. Mother Ann herself and her companions took their turns.

,
The storm was so violent and the leak so bad that the captain turned

pale as a corpse, and told them there was no hope of safety, that the

ship must go down, and all on board perish ; but Mother Ann said,

'Kay, captain, be of good cheer, not one hair of oar heads shall

perish; we shall all land safe in America. I just saw two bright

angels of God standing by the mast, from whom I received this

promise.' Immediately a huge wave struck the ship, closing the

plank into its place, which had started off and caused the leak ; the

storm abated, and after that the captain said to Mother Ann, 'To you

we owe the safety of the ship and our lives, henceforth worship God
as you please; you shall not be molested ;' and ever afterwards treated

her with great kindness. And, as Mother Ann predicted, they did all

land safely in New York, on the (th of August, 1774. They soon

settled in Niskyona, now Watervliet, N. T,, from whence, in the

spring of 1780, their testimony began to spread."

In November, 1783, Elisha Pote, Nathan Freeman, and

Enoch Waitef came from Gorham, Me., into what was then

called Thompson Pond Plantation, and held meetings.

They were all gifted speakers and singers. Elisha Pote

took the lead in speaking, being a man of learning and

eloquent in his address, mild and persuasive in tone, and

his reasonings clear and convincing. After preaching they

went forth in the dance with much power. After singing

one song, they gave liberty for any one to unite with them

who wished to, when Dorothy Pote and Maiy Merrill were

simultaneously inspired by the power of God, their bodies

were mightily agitated, and they turned swiftly round like

tops for the space of an hour. They both received faith, and

like many others, like the multitude who went with Jesus to

John the Baptist confessing their sins and were baptized in

Jordan (which signifies judgment), so they confessed their

sins and were baptized in the spiritual Jordan which we
believe is coming to judgment.

Nathan Merrill was the first man who embraced tbe

Shaker feith, and this was on the 12th of November, 1773.

Soon many others joined, and among the heads of families

may be named Gowen Wilson, James and Edmund Merrill

(brothers of Nathan), Josiah, Simeon, and Gershom Holmes,

Thomas and Samuel Pote, Barnabas and Ephraim Briggs,

and Thomas Cushman,—these with their wives and most of

their children ; besides many individuals of various ages,

prominent among whom was George Parsons, nephew of

Col. Isaac Parsons, who for intelligence, ability, and firm-

ness proved himself a worthy connection of the indomitable

uncle, and a staunch advocate of the Shaker faith.

The society was organized on the 19th of April, 1794,

under the leadership of Elder John Barnes, whose associ-

ates were Robert McFarland, Eldress Sarah Kendall, and
Lucy Prescott. These composed the ministry and presided

over the society at Alfred as well as this. Here is an in-

teresting fact for the advocates of women's rights, which
they suppose is a new thing in the earth, but which has

been acknowledged by the United Society of Shakers co-

eval with their existence, when woman, the representative

of the Mother in Deity, is permitted to take her place in

the order and government of the Church of Christ co-equal

with man.

The first trustees appointed were Nathan Merrill and

Barnabas Briggs; they then commenced to build the present

f Corrected from Centennial Report.
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settlement. The meeting-house was raised on the 14th of

June, 1784, patterning the old Dutch style then in vogue

in New York, which was imitated by all the Shaker socie-

ties in the New England States. The bricks for the chim-

neys were made near Sabbath-day Pond, and were some-

what smaller in size than those made nowadays. All the

nails used in its construction were made by Joseph Briggs

(son of Ephraim Briggs) and a young apprentice. The

shingles put on the roof that year remained on until 1876,

when they were removed and new ones put on.

The old Central dwelling was built in 1795, and other

buildings were erected yearly as the society had need and

ability to build, such as barns, workshops, etc.

The first grist-mill built by the combined labor of the

brethren was in 1776, and contained one run of stones, in

which was ground wheat, rye, corn, and all kinds of grain.

In it was a small bolt, the linen cloth of which was spun

and woven by the expert hands of the Shaker sisters.

In 1796 the society built a saw-mill, the first one erected

in the west part of the town. In 1808-9 the society built

a large mill, in which were two runs of stones, and a good

bolt made of imported cloth. In the same building were

turning-lathes, and in the attic were card-machines for

making woolen roils, the entire machinery in the mill being

made by the brethren of the community. The carding-

machine was said to be the second or third set put in

operation in this State.

By industry and prudence additions have been made

from time to time, until the real estate of the society

at large comprises over 1800 acres of land, more than

1000 of which lies in the town of New Gloucester, the re-

mainder in the town of Poland, where, a mile distant due

north, is a branch family called the Novitiate Order. In

the year 1808 a small society was organized in the town of

Gorham in this county, but for prudential reasons the

members composing the society sold out their property in

the year 1819, purchased lands, and settled on what is

called Poland Hill, a good farm and a most delightful loca-

tion, and became an auxiliary to the Church family, so

called. That family has, during the present year, 1879,

completed and moved into a large stone dwelling-house, 70

feet long, 46 feet wide, and three stories in height. In the

centre of the third story, arched up into the roof, is a chapel,

of ample dimensions to accommodate over 100 persons,

finished very plain, but with exquisite neatness ; and the

cellar under the whole . building cannot be excelled, if

equaled, within a radius of fifty miles.

The first garden-seeds raised and put into small packages

and packed in boxes for the market in this State were pre-

pared in this society, under the supervision of James

Holmes, eldest son of Josiah Holmes. The manufacture

was early commenced of wooden-ware, tubs, pails, churns,

dry-measures, oval boxes in nests, hair-sieves, brooms, linen

and woolen wheels. The sisterhood would purchase cotton

in Portland, wash and card it by hand, spin and weave it,

not only for home use, but to make sheeting, shirting, bed-

ticking, and checked blue and white for aprons, for the Port-

land market. After machinery was introduced into New

England to manufacture cotton-yarn, the merchants of

Portland would furnish yarn, and the sister:! would weave

4:i

many hundred yards yearly, for which they received a cer-

tain percentage, twenty cents per yard for weaving and

whitening No. 30, and so on, more or less, according to the

number.

It may be interesting to the young ladies of our day who

wear away their time playing on the piano, to know that

the young ladies of that day would weave on a hand-loom

from ton to eighteen yards of plain sheeting, and smart hands

would weave ten yards of firm bed-ticking in a day. But

all these kinds of manufacture have been supei'seded by

machinery, and of all the above-named branches, the making

of dry-measures and brooms is alone carried on. Other

branches of business have been introduced, and after the

building of our present extensive grist-mill and machine-

shop in 1853, the manufacture of shooks from oak-staves

has been carried on yearly to a limited extent. In 1863,

an ingenious mechanic, Hewett Chandler (born in Poland,

Me., in 1833), and reared in the society since he was five

years old, invented a much-improved mowing-machine,

which found ready sale for what few he could make, until

superseded by others of greater improvements. In 1876

the same inventive genius made moulds, and commenced

the manufacture of dry-measures in conformity to the

metric system, from a deciliter in regular gradation up to

a hectolitre, comprising some ten different sizes, being the

first ever manufactured in the United States (so says the

Metric Bureau in Boston, Mass.), for which, at present,

there is but a very limited sale, but with the prospect of

an increasing demand.

The principal articles manufactured for sale by the sister-

hood at the present time are a great variety of ladies' work-

baskets, needle-books, pin-cushions, feather-fans, feather-

dusters, etc., and the world-renowned " Shaker apple-sauce.''

The fundamental principles ofShakcrism are virgin purity,

non-resistance, peace, equality of inheritance, and unspotted-

ness from the world. In the book of written rules for the

observance of the members of the community, the first one,

written in a bold hand, is the following

:

" Belifvers (Shakers) mit^t uot run in debt to the world, and any one,

even a Trnstee, who departs from the nije is held personally respon-

sible for the debt so contracted, and the Society will not hold itself

responsible ; and of this fact the Leaders keep the Public well informed,

by frequently publishing it in the leading Newspapers that circulate

where the Shakers do business in the form of a Declaration and Cau-

tion to the public."

To show that the Shaker life and habits are productive

of longevity, we look over the records and find that in the

two families one hundred and eighty-nine deaths have oc-

curred at the average age of fifty-eight and a half years,

dating back to 1787. Seventy-five of them lived to be over

seventy years, many of the number were over eighty, and

several from ninety to ninety-six at the time of their death.

As a proof of the Shakers' anti-war spirit and unselfish-

ness as a people, we note the fact that at the commencement

of the late civil war many reasons were presented the War
Department, at Washington, why Shakers should be exempt

from bearing arms or performing military duty, and after

setting forth many vital, conscientious reasons, the following

fact was shown : that had the members of the United Society

been permitted to draw pensions for military services, to
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which they were legally entitled, the Society at New Glouces-

ter alone would have received from the United States gov-

ernment, in pensions, to say nothing of bounty land, which,

had it been put at six per cent, compound interest, would

at that time—1862—have amounted to the snug little for-

tune of $89,572.66, which was refused for conscience' sake,

and this kind of reasoning was appreciated.

The organization of the United Society consists firstly

of the ministry, generally composed of four persons, two

of each sex, who preside over two o;* more societies, who

direct the spiritual affairs and advise in all the temporal,

and have authority to appoint members to o£Bce or remove

members from one family or society to another in their own

bishopric.

At the organization, in 1794, Elders John Barnes and

Robert McFarland and Kldresses Sarah Kendall and Lucy

Prescott composed the ministry, and the following-named

persons have succeeded as leaders: When Elder John

Barnes resigned, in 1814, he was succeeded by Thomas

Cushman, who died in 1816. Elder El'isha Pote from

1816 to 1841. Elder Joseph Bracket from 1841 to 1859.

Eldress Sarah Kendall resigned in 1818, succeeded by

Eldress Lucy Prescott from 1818 to 1831. Eldress Re-

becca Hadsdon from 1831 to 1853. Eldress Deborah

Fuller from 1853 to 1856. Eldr&ss Lavina Mclntire

from 1856 to 1859. In October, 1859, Elder Otis Sawyer,

Eldress Hester Ann Adams, and Eldress Mary Ann Gil-

lespie were appointed, continuing without change, and com-

pose the order at the present time.

Second in importance are elders who preside at the head

of each family, lead the meetings, and direct all minor

matters pertaining to the family, to see that good order is

observed, always acting in concert with the ministry. As

it would occupy too much space to name all who have

acted in that capacity, we give the names of only the pres^

ent very intelligent and efficient elders. In the church

-family they are Joseph Brackett, William Dumont, Lavina

Mclntire, Aurelia Mace. And in the novitiate order, or

Poland Hill family, Nehemiah Trull, Hannah Davis, Eliza-

beth Haskell.

Trustees.—Two or more persons compose the board of

trustees to whom is intrusted the management of the tem-

poralities of the community, and in all cases act for and in

behalf of the society for which they are appointed to do

business. When appointed to office, are required to sign a

declaration of trust as in selling or purchasing real estate.

They are the legitimate -persons to execute deeds, in which

they invariably signify it is in trust, which prevents any

claim of legal heirs od the part of the trustees, and all the

business for the community is done by them or by their

direction. Since the first ones, namely, Nathan Merrill and

Barnabas Briggs, there has been a regular succession as

follows: Samuel Pote, Joseph Briggs, William Merrill,

James Holmes, Levi Holmes, Otb Sawyer, and the present

talented, honest trustees are Hewett Chandler and Samuel

Kendrick.

CIVIL LIST.

SELECTMEN.

1774.—Simon Noyes, Moses Merrill, Samuel Merrill.

1775.—Isaac Parsons, William Harris, John Sawyer.

1776.—Enoch Fogg, Isaac Parsons, Nathaniel Eveleth.

1777.—James Haskell, Benjamin Herrin, DaTid Millet.

1778.—Enoch Fogg, Col. Moses Merrill, Capt. Willinm Harris.

1779.—Capt. William Harris, Enoch Fogg, Nathaniel Eveleth.

1780.-Enoch Fogg, Nathaniel Eveleth, John Haskell.

1781.—Nathaniel Eveleth, Enoch Fogg, Edward Parsons.

1782.—James Haney, Jacob Haskell, Jr., Nathaniel Eveleth.

1783.—Moses Haskell, Col. Moses Merrill, Nathaniel Eveleth.

1784.—Jacob Haskell, Nathuniel Eveleth, John Merrill.

1785.—Nathaniel Eveleth, Col. Moses Merrill, Capt. Wm. Harris.

1786.—Nathaniel Eveleth, Col. Moses Merrill, John Merrill.

1787.—Nathaniel Eveleth, John Merrill, Col. Moses Merrill.

1788.—Nathaniel Eveleih, Enoch Fogg, Col. Moses Merrill.

1789-90.—William Widgery, Andrew Campbell, Maj. Samuel Pierce.

1791.—Col. Moses Merrill, Capt. Jacob Haskell, Jr., Nathaniel Eve-

leth.

1792.—Capt. Nathaniel Eveleth, Col. Moses Merrill, Capt Jacob

Haskell.

1793.—Capt. Nathaniel Eveleth, Eliphalet Haskell, Col. Moses MerrilL

1794-95.-Willinm Widgery, Capt. Bildad Arnold, Nathaniel Eveleth.

1 79((-99.—Nathaniel Eveleth, Col. Moses Merrill, Bildad Arnold.

1800.—Nathaniel Eveleth, James Tetten, Eliphalet Haskell.

1801.—Nathaniel Eveleth, Col. Moses Merrill, Capt. John Woodman.
1802-3.—Nathaniel Eveleth, Isaac Pardons, John Woodman.
1804.—Nathaniel Eveleth, Andrew Campbell, John Woodman.
180S.—Nathaniel Eveleth, John Woodman, Eliphalet Haskell.

1806.—Nathaniel Eveleth, Eliphalet Haskell, Isaac Gross.

1807.—Joseph E. Foxcroft, Nathaniel Eveleth, Capt. David Nelson.

1808.—Eliphalet Haskell, Isaac Gross, Capt. Jabez Cushman.

1809.—Nathaniel Eveleth, David Nelson, Isaac Gross.

1810-11.—Nathaniel Eveleth, Isaac Gross, Thomas Johnson.

1812.—Nathaniel Eveleth, Isaac Gross, Richard Tobie, Jr.

1813-14.—Nathaniel Eveleth, Isaac Parsons, Thomas B. Stinchfield.

1815.—Nathaniel Eveleth, Isaac Parsons, Isaac Gross.

1816.—Isaac Parsons, Jr., Isaac Gross, Moses Woodman.
1817.—Isaac Parsons, Jr., Isaac Gross, Jabez Woodman.
1818-19.—Isaac Gross, Jabez Woodman, John Webber.

1820-23.—Isaac Gross, Isaac Parsons, Jr., John Webber.

1824-27.—Isaac Gross, Isaac Parsons, Jr., Moses Woodman.
1828.— Isaac Parsons, Moses Woodman, Aaron Eveleth.

1829.—Aaron Eveleth, Moses Woodman, Levi Tobie.

1830.—Aaron Eveleth, Levi Tobie, Otis C. Gross.

1831.—Aaron Eveleth, Otis C. Gross, Moses Woodman.
1332-33.—Aaron Eveleth, Otis C. Gross, Ezra Tobie.

1834.—Aaron Eveleth, Ezra Tobie, Obadiah Whitman.
1835.—Otis 0. Gross, David Allen, Obadiah Whitman.
1836.—Aaron Eveleth, Otis C. Gross, Obadiah Whitman.
1837.—Nathaniel Eveleth, David Allen, Otis C. Gross.

1838.—Nathaniel Eveleth, David Allen, Thomas Lane.
1839.—Nathaniel Eveleth, David Allen, Aaron Eveleth.

1840.—Aaron Eveleth, Solomon H. Chandler, Thomas Lane.

1841.—Otis Nelson, Aaron Eve'.-th, Ezra Tobie.

1842.—Thomas Haskell, Ezra Tobie, Gen. Charles Megquier.

1843.—Thomas Haskell, Job White, Thomas M. Haskell.

1844-45.—Otis C. Gross, Winthrop Cobb, Joseph Raynes.

1846.—Ezra Tobie, Peter Haskell, Jr., Asa L. Haskell.

1847.—Daniel Allen, Moses Witham, Otis C. Gross.

1848.—Daniel Allen, Ezra Tobie, Otis C. Gross.

1849.—Otis Nelson, Henry Butler, Paine Merrill.

1850.—David Allen, Moses Witham, Solomon H. Chandler.

1851.—David Allen, Sewall Grose, Miltimore Watls.

1852-53.—Otis Nelson, Miltimore Watts, Seth L. Haskell.

1854-55.—Ezra Tobie, Joseph Cross, Prentiss M. Woodman.
1856.—Prentiss M. Woodman, Sewall Gross, George F. Hammond.
1857.—David Allen, Lemuel R. Fogg, Jacob Bailey.

1858.—Lemuel B. Fogg, Jacob Bailey, James Merrill.

1859-60.—George W. Whitman, James Merrill, Nathaniel Rideont.

1861.—George W. Whitman, Lake Morgan, Seth L. Haskell.

1862.—Prentiss M. Woodman, David W. Merrill, Geo. W. Plummer.
1863.—David W. Merrill, George W. Plummer, C. H. Carlton.

1864-65.—Miltimore Watts, David W. Merrill, John P. Stephens.

1866.—David W. Merrill, Henry A. Fogg, Nathaniel S. Shnrtliff.

1867.—Henry A. Fogg, Nathaniel S. Shurtliff, Freeman Jordan.
1868.—Charles P. Haskell, Amos F. Nevins, Oren Bailey.

1869.—Otis C. Nelson, Charles P. Haskell, George W. Plummer.
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Nicholas RrDEOUT, son of Nathaniel and Ruth

Bideont, was born in the town of Pownal, Me., Feb.

24, 1822. He is fifth in a family of twelve children,

nine of whom are living, and spent his boyhood on

the farm and in the common schools of New Glouces-

ter and Pownal, where he acquired habits of industry

and economy, and where he laid the foundation for

a successful business career.

He married, Sept. 24, 1848, Charlotte, daughter

of Capt Moses and Charlotte "Woodman, of New

Glouceslt-r. She was bom April 3, 1825. They

have two children, viz. : John Woodman, bom Dec.

1, 1855, and Nicholas Blanchard, born Nov. 9, 1866.

Upon reaching his majority Mr. Rideout started

in life for himself. He had no money, but something

of more value, willing hands and resolution to carry

to a successful completion whatever he undertook.

The result of his labor is the sole possession of a

farm of two hundred and fifty acres, under a good

state of cultivation, and upon which be has erected

commodious buildings for his convenience, a view

of which may be seen on another page of this work.

His farm lies on the line of the Grand Trunk and

Maine Central Railroads, and his residence is within

five minutes' walk of the two depots. It is com-

prised of a part of the John "Woodman farm. John

"^'^oodman with his wife, grandparents of Mrs. Ride-

out, settled on this farm in 1761. Mr. Rideout has

furniture in his house made from hewn timber that

was taken from the old block-house built in 1754

to secure a home for the settlers, and his son, John

W., has articles of clothing made by hand by his

great-grandmother.

In politics Mr. Rideout is a Republican, and is

a member of the Congregational Church of New

Gloucester. He is interested in and a promoter

of good society, and of all enterprises of a chari-

table nature. He is a thrifty, enterprising farmer,

and among the best agriculturalists of Cumberland

County.
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1870-72.—Otis C. Xelson, Elisha M. Morgan, Xicholna Rideout.

T873.—Otis C. Nelson, George W. Plummer, Charles P. Haskell.

1874-75.—Otis C. Nelson, Oilman Martin, Charles P. Haskell.

1876.—Otis C. Nelson, Barker Holt, Charles P. Haskell.

1877.—Nicholas Rideout, Elisha M. Morgan, John W. True.

1878.—Otis C. Nelson, Elisha M. Morgan, John W. True.

1879.—Otis C. NeUon, John W. True, Charles P. Haskell.

TOWN CLEHKS.

Nathaniel Ereleth, 1774-1815; Aaron Eveleth, 1816-17; Jabez
Woodman, 1818-21; John Harris, Jr., 1822-25; Jabez Wood-
man (raeaney), 1825 ; Jaboz Woodman, 1326-38 ; Thomas John-
son, 1839-48; Elisha J. Moseley, 1849-62 ; David N. Tmc, 1863

;

Seirall N. Oross, 1864-65; Benjamin F. Sturgis (vaoanoy), 1865;

Beiuamia V. Sturgis, 1866-67 ; Solomon H. Chandler, 1868-72
;

Jabez H. Woodman, 1873; Isaac H. Keith, 1874-76; Joseph
Cleaves, 1877-7S,

TBEASUBERS.

Isaac Parsons, 1774; Samuel Parsons, 1775-76; Simon Noyes, 1777-

79; Jacob Haskell, 1780-82; Isaac Parsons, 1783-89; Maj. Na-
thaniel C. Allen, 1790-96 ; Isaac Parsons, 1797 ; Geo. Nathaniel C.

Allen, 1798-1805; Isaac Parsons, 1806-8 ; Nathaniel C. Allen,

1809 ; Joeeph E. Foicroft, 1810-11 ; James Yetten, 1812; Israel

Smith, 1813; Nathaniel C.Allen, 1814; Israel Smith, 1815; Jabez
Woodman, 1816; Joseph E. Foxcroft, 1817-24; Aaron Eveleth,

1825-27; Samuel Foicroft, 1828-31; Joseph Cross, 1832-37;

Sewall Oross, 1838; Joseph Raynes, 1839-42; Samuel Gross,

1843-44; Sewoll Gross, 1845; Samuel Foxcroft, 1846; Joseph

Raynes, 1847-48; Sewall Gross, 1849; Solomon H. Campbell,

1850; Joseph Cross, 1851-53; Samuel Foxcroft, 1854; Sewall N.

Gross, 1855-58; Joel S. Morgan, 1859-60; Luke Morgan, 1861;

Henry A. Fogg, 1862-63 ; R. P. M. Greeley, 1864 ; Sewall Gross,

1865; Oilman Martin, 1866-67; David W. Merrill, 1868 ; Joseph

Cross, 1869-70; Benjamin W. Merrill, 1871-75; Melville R.

Berry, 1876; Benjamin W. Merrill, 1877-79.

COLLECTORS AND CONSTABLES.*

Abel Davis, 1774-75 ; David Millet, 1776 ; Isaiah Smith, 1777; Jacob

Haskell, 1778; Ebenezer Collins, 1779; Ebenczer Lane, Moses

Bradbury, 1780; Jacob Haskell, Moses Bradbury, 1781; Enoch
Fogg, 1782 ; Lieut. Robert Bayley, Bezalcel Loring, 1783-86

;

Robert Bayley, Benjamin Haskell, Bezaleel Loring, 1787 ; David

Woodman, south, Benjamin Haskell, north, 1788; Adam Cotton,

1789-90 ; Adam Cotton, Bezaleel Loring. Lieut. Robert Bayley,

1791 ; Capt. John Woodman, Bezaleel Loring, Robert Bayley,

1792-95; Robert Bayley, Bezaleel Loring, Enoch Fogg, 1796;

Robert Bayley, B. Loring, Enoch Fogg, John Haskell, 1797;

David Woodman, Samuel Pingree, B. Loring, 1798 ; Capt. John
Woodman, Samuel Pingree, John Haskell, Robert Bayley, 1800

;

Capt. John Woodman, Samuel Pingree, Joseph E. Foxcroft,

Ebenezer Collins, Jr., 1801 ; John Woodman, Samuel Pingree,

Thos. B. Stinchfield, Robert Bayley, 1802; John Woodman, Sam'l

Pingree, William Warner, Benjamin Haskell, Daniel Cash, 1803

;

John Woodman, Samuel Pingree, William Warner, B. Loring,

Thomas B. Stinchfield, 1804; David Woodman, William Warner,

Samuel Pingree, Godfrey Grosvenor, 1805; David Woodman,
William Warner, William Hatch, Samuel Pingree, 1806 ; David

Woodman, Thomas Johnson, William Hatch, Samuel Pingree,

1807 ; David Woodman, Thomas Johnson, Benjamin Arnold,

William Warner, 1808 ; Richard Tobie, Thomas Johnson, Benja-

min Arnold, William Warner, Muses Merrill, 1809; Richard

Tobie, Jr., Thomas Johnson, Moses Merrill, 1810; Richard Tobie,

Jr., Joseph Raynes, Jr., William Warner, Simeon Parsons, 1811

;

Richard Tobie, Jr., Joseph Raynes, William Warner, Samuel
Cushman, 1812; Richard Tobie, William Warner, Moses Merrill,

Jr., Capt. Thomas Johnson, 1813; Richard Tobie, William War-

ner, Thomas Johnson, Moses Merrill, John Harris, Jr., 1814;

Richard Tobie, Moses Merrill, Thomas H. Tobie, Joseph Raynes,

Jr., Thomas Johnson, 1815; Richard Tobie, Moses Merrill, Thos.

H. Tobie, Joseph Raynes, Jr., Thomas Johnson, William Warner,

* The first named is both collector and constable, the others con-

stables only.

1S16; Richard Tobie, Jr., Moses Merrill, Jr., Joseph Raynes,

Williiim Warner, Robert Xeven.", 1817; Richard Tobie, Jr.,

Zenas Briggs, Joseph Raynes, William M'nrner, Robert Ncvens,

1818 ; Robert Ncvens, John Harris, Joseph Raynes, Wm. Warner,

Job White, 1819; Samuel Cushmnn, Robert Nevens, Joseph

Raynes, Job White, 1820 ; Richard 'Tobie, Jr., Solomon Mclntire,

Joseph Raynes, Job White, Joseph Manning, 1821 ; Richard

Tobie, Jr., Solomon' Mclntire, Joseph Raynes, Samuel Pierce,

Jr., 1822 ; Levi Tobie, Solomon Mclntire, Joseph Raynes, Sam'l

Pierce, Jr., 1823 ; Samuel Cushman, Solomon jSlcIntire, Levi

Tobie, Joseph Raynes, Daniel Collins, Samuel Pierce, Jr.,

1824; Capt. Moses Stinchfield, Joseph Raynes, Daniel Collins,

Samuel Pierce, Jr., 1825-26; Moses Stinchfield, 1827-28;

Samuel Foxcroft, Moses Stinchfield, 1829; Samuel Foxcroft,

Benjamin Hamilton, 1S30; Samuel Foxcroft, Benjamin Ham-
ilton, Thomas Johnson, 1831 ; Joseph Cross, Daniel Foxcroft,

Thomas Johnson, 1832 ; Joseph Cross, Thomas Johnson, 1833

;

Joseph Cross, Thomas Johnson, Joseph Mclntire, 1834; Joseph

Cross, Thomas Johnson, Nathaniel Braokett, 1835 ; Joseph Cross,

Thomas Johnson, Zebulon Witham, 1836; William White, Jr.,

Joseph Mclntire, Thomas Johnson, Joseph Cross, 1837 ; Sewall

Gross, Thomas Johnson, 1838 ; Joeeph Raynes, 1838-40 ; Joseph

Raynes, Thomas Johnson, 1841-42 ; Samuel Gross, Thomas H.

Tobie, Benjamin Webber, 1843-44; Sewall Gross, Thomas John-

son, 1845; Samuel Fcxoroft, Thomas Johnson, John Hatch,

Thomas H. Tobie, Daniel Collins, William Proctor, 1846 ; Daniel

Collins, John Hatch, Joseph Raynes, Thomas H. Tobie, Moses

True, Thomas Johnson, 1847; Joseph Raynes, Thomas Johnson,

James Merrill, John Hatch, John M. Webster, 1848; Daniel

Merrill, 1849 ; Amaziah D. Harris, John Hatch, Thomas John-

son, Stephen L. Harris, James Merrill, Moses True, Jr., 1849

;

Daniel Merrill, Thomas Johnson, Daniel Collins, Thomas H.

Tobie, John W. Webster, 1850 ; Joseph Cross, Thomas Johnson,

Daniel CoUius, Samuel Lunt, John Hatch, Lucius Woodman,

1851 ; Joseph Cross, Daniel Collins, Thomas H. Robie, Thomas

Johnson, John Hatch, IS52 ; Joseph Cross. Solomon A. Plum-

mer, Thomas Johnson, Daniel Oollins, Thomas H. Robie, John

Hatch, 1853; Samuel Foxcroft, Daniel Collins, S. A. Plummer,

John Hatch, Thomas H. Tobie, S. L. Harris, 1854; Sewall N.

Gross, Thomas Johnson, John Preble, S. N. Groes, Solomon A.

Plummer, 1855 ; Sewall N. Gross, Benjamin W. Merrill, Thomas
H. Tobie, George W. Plummer, David 11. Harmon, 1856 ; Sewall

N. Gross, Benjamin W. Merrill, T. H. Robie, Benjamin Webster,

1857; Ephraim S. White, Stephen L. Harris, Sewall N. Gross,

T. H. Robie, 1858 ; Joel S. Morgan, S. N. Gross, William H.aa-

kell, 1859; Joel S. Morgan, S. N. Gross, T. H. Tobie, Luke Mor-

gan, I860; Luke Morgan, Isaac Fuller, Thomas H. Tubie, Wil-

liam Haskell, 1861 ; Henry A. Fogg, Wm. Haskell, Jr.,Benj. W.
Merrill, James Merrill, 1862 ; Henry A. Fogg, Wm. Haskell, Jr.,

1863; R. P. M.Greeley, William Haskell, Jr., 1864; SewallGrosa,

Wm. Haskell, 1865 ; Oilman Martin, Sewall Oross, 1866; Oilman

Martin, A. C. Shaw, 1867; D. W. Merrill, Oilman Martin, Wm.
Haskell, 1868 ; Joseph Cross, Artemos S. Carsley, David W. Mer-

rill, 1869 ; Benjamin W. Merrill, D. W. Merrill, J. Cross, 1870 ;

Benjamin W. Merrill, Wm. Haskell, Oilman Martin, 1871-72;

Benjamin W. Merrill, 1873-74 ; Benjamin W. Merrill, Charles P.

Haskell, Joseph Cross, George W. Plummer, 1875 ; Melville R.

Berry, B. W. Merrill, Wm. Taylor, George W. Plummer, 1876;

Benj. W. Merrill, Joseph G. Bennett, Henry A. Fogg, M. R.

Berry, 1877-78; Benj. W. Merrill, Joseph G. Bennett, Henry A.

A. Fogg, B. F. Woodbury, 1879.

RELIGIOUS.

CONOaEGATIONALIST CHURCH.

Rev. Samuel Foxcroft, the first settled minister of New
Gloucester, graduated at Harvard College in 1754, and was

ordained at the Fort, amid much merry-making, by Rev.

Thomas Smith and Rev. Samuel Deane, Jan. 16, 1765, in

the presence of about 40 families, constituting the inhabi-

tants of the town at that time. But 8 of these united as

members of the church then organized. John Tufts, Jabez

True, Daniel Merrill, Moses Woodbury, William Stevens,



332 HISTORY OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

Peleg Chandler, and Ebenezer Mason were of this number.

In 1760, 61 persons joined in bnilding a meeting-house.

Each pew-holder boaght his share and erected his own

pew, surrounded by high wooden walls and railings. Rev.

Mr. Foxcrofl ceased preaching in 1786, in consequence of

opposition from a majority of the town, and Rev. Nathan

Church, of Bridgton, supplied his place in 1787, after

which he resumed the charge until 1791. Rev. Wait

Cornwall preached in 1791 ; Rev. Nathan Bradstreet,

1792-93 ; and Rev. James Boyd in 1798. In 1800 the

General Court proceeded to arraign them for having no

established preacher. The subsequent pastors were Elisha

Mosely, ordained 1802, died 1826 ; Benjamin Rice, ordained

1828; Samuel H. Sbepley, ordained 1838; Newall A.

Prince, ordained 1848 ; Charles Packard, installed 1854
;

Wellington R. Cross, installed 1865, dischai^ 1873 ; J.

G. Leavitt, 1876 to 1879.

Deacons.—Micah Walker, 1778; Daniel Merrill, John

Sawyer, Israel Parsons, to 1825.

The first Free-Will Baptist meetings recorded were held

June 18, 1780, and on the 26th of that month the

ordinance of baptism was administered. By 1786 they

had 80 increased in numbers, in connection with the Uni-

versalists, as to defeat the established Congregationalist

Church in town parish-meeting by 2 votes, and subse-

quently to prevent the establishment, of a regular minister

by that body. Ebenezer Lake and Nathaniel Haskell

were among the earliest members. The church organized

during that year, and in 1803 met in council at the house

of Rev. Ephraim Stiachfield, where they assumed the name

of "General Provisional Anti-Pedobaptist Church," under

which name they were incorporated in June, 1805. Wil-

liam and Thankful Megquier, Sally Witham, Betsey Wood-

man, and Eliphalet Haskell, who was made first clerk, were

embodied under the name of the Monthly Meeting of New
Gloucester, and soon received additions to their number.

Nathaniel Ford, of Gray, was made deacon ; both towns

being, connected in the oi^anization. Meetings were held

at Elder Ephraim Stinchfield's, from 1787 until 1809,

and afterwards in a school-house, until the erection of the

church in 1837, when the church was reorganized. Wil-

liam and Thankful Megquier were the only old members

then living. Elder H. Chandler succeeded Elder Samuel

Colley as pastor in 1827. The subsequent pastors have

been Revs. Jonathan Tracy, 1837 ; Joseph H. Phinney,

1838-41 ; George W. Haskell, 1842; James Libby, 1844;

Smith Fairfield, Franklin Merrill, E. T. Weeks, 1844-45

;

Josiah Keene, 1846 ; Amos Redlon, 1847 ; James Crockett,

Aaron Ayer, 1847-48; Isaac Libby, 1849; Wm, P. Nevins,

1851 ; Asa F. Hutchinson, 1852 ; Josiah Keene, 1857-

58; Samuel N. Royal, 1859 ; Benjamin P. Parker, 1861

;

1862 to 1866 no pastor; M. W. Burlingame, 1867; A.

S. McLeaii, 1868; H. Whitcher, 1870; Asa F. Hutch-

inson, 1871-75; H. S. Morgan, 1876; Seth Perkins,

1877-79.

Deaeoni.—Nathan Ford, 1803 ; Jonathan Haskell, 1839

;

Freeman Carsley, 1837-58 ; David Jordan, 1869 ; Owen

Bailey, 1870-73 ; Henry Cummings, John B. Bennett,

1875-79. Present Clerk, Melvin Clark.

riRST BAPTIST CHURCH.

The first mention of Baptists in the town was in 1780.

Rev. Henry Smith and Rev. Nath. Lord, from York

County, were the first Baptist preachers in this, then new,

settlement. On June 26, 1780, occurred the first bap-

tismal service, from which time meetings for the worship

of God were regularly held in the town by those favorable

to the Baptists. In 1781, Rev. James Potter, a pioneer to

the Baptists in the interior parts of the State, and instru-

mental in laying the foundation of many of the churches,

organized a church here of about 20, a part of the mem-

bers residing in Gray. The Calvinist Confession of Faith

and Covenant wore, adopted. Mr. Job Macomber, a li-

censed Baptist preacher from Middleboro', Mass., was the

first minister who continued with them. He was followed

by Mr. Nitthaniel Merrill, who was subsequently ordained

at Gray, Oct. 2, 1787, and served the church quite accept-

ably several years. The General Court of Massachusetts

passed an act in June, 1790, incorporating them as a re-

ligious society. But from the beginning there was a di-

vision among the members in regard to the doctrines of

Calvinism and Armenianism, which finally resulted in a

separation and dissolution of the church, and a new or-

ganization was effected Oct. 16, 1794. Rev. Isaac Case,

of Rcadfield, preached the sermon of recognition. The

original members were John Warren, Stephen Washburn,

James Stinclifield, Robert Herring, John Stinchfield,

Job Haskell, Levi Heraey, Isaac Gross, Abigail Warren,

Sarah Stinchfield, Anna Bradford, Sarah Gross. John

Warren was chosen deacon, and Isaac Gross clerk. Rich-

ard Tobie and Dorothy Francis were added by baptism.

Rev. Robert Low became the first pastor in 1800. The

church grew slowly, but a bouse of worship was built in

1811, which subsequently was purchased for a town-house,

when the new house was built, in 1837. A parsonage was

built in 1853.

In some periods of its history the church has been very

prosperous, having large congregations on the Sabbath and

many additions to its membership. Several of the deacons

have filled prominent places in town affairs for successive

years, and have been noted for their ability and fidelity as

well as their piety. Through death and removal the num-

ber of members has been greatly reduced,—the present

number being only 54, with Rev. James N. Studley as

pastor ; Jacob Roe, Deacon ; Sewall Gross, Clerk.

The following have served the church as pastors : Rev.

Robert Low, 1800-1807; Rev. Daniel D. Lewis, 18(t9-

10; Rev. Robert Low, 1815-20; lUv. Adam Wilson,

1824-27
; Rev. Enoch W. Freeman, 1827 ; Rev. Robert

C. Starr, 1828-36; Rev. Alvan Feloh, 1836-42; Rev.

Joseph Ricker, 1843-47 ; Rev. William H. Watson, 1847

-48 ; Rev. Mylon Merriam, 1850-51 ; Rev. John Rounds,

1852-60 ; Rev. T. J. B. House, 1860-62 ; Rev. Cyrus H.

Carleton, 1863 ; Rev. Lebbeus Kingman, 1864-65 ; Rev.

Richard J. Langridge, 1866-68 ; Rev. Walter Chase, 1870

-71 ; Rev. Henry Stetson, 1872-74 ; Rev. James N. Stud-

ley, 1878. The following have been ordained to the min-

istry: Robert Low, 1800 ; Daniel D. Lewis, 1809 ; Enoch

W. Freeman, 1827; Alvan Felch, 1836; John Rounds,

1852 ; Charles H. Rowe, 1861. There have been licensed
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by the church as preachers, JoDathan K. Smith, 1809
;

Robert H. Noyes, 1831 ; Charles H. Rowe, 1857; Edwin

A. Wormwood, 1868 ; Howard C. Rowe, 1872. The fol-

lowing have .served as deacons : John Warren, David Nel-

son, Isaac Gross, William Grover, Charles C. Haskell, Otis

C. Gross, David Allen, Paine Merrill, Josiah Grover,

Prentice C. Woodman, Sylvanus C. Rowe, Aroasa WharfF,

Daniel L. Tobie, Isaiah Nevins, Jacob Rowe. Post clerks,

Isaac Gross, Jabez Woodman, Otis C. Gross, Charles C.

Haskell, Prentice C. Woodman, Sewall Gross.

0NIVEBSALIST CHCBCH.

The Universalist doctrine began to exhibit soon after the

arriviJ of Rev. John Murray, in 1770, but there was no

attempt to " poll off"* until 1783, when Solomon Atwood,

Nathaniel Bennett, Micah and John Webber, and others

joined themselves together in forming a body which aided

in outvoting the Established Church in 1786, and in 1789

were so numerous as to receive their share of the parish

money. Rev. Thomas Barnes, the first Universalist min-

ister settled in the State, followed his Gloucester, Mass.,

friends to their Eustem home in 1798, traveling and preach-

ing until 1802, when he was ordained in Gray, January 6th,

by Rev. Zebulon Street«r. Rev. Mr. Barnes continued to

preach to them until the sickness which terminated his life

in 1816.

April 16, 1805, Jonathan Bennett, Jr., Isaac Blake,

William Hatch, Joseph Pennell, Isaac Parsons, John and

Robert Mayall, and 42 others, inhabitants of Gray, New
Gloucester, Pcjepscot and Poland, were incorporated as the

First Universalist Society of Christians, of New Gloucester.

Lieut. Robert Bayley was moderator of the first meeting;

Reuben Barnes was elected clerk, and Nathaniel Bennett

treasurer. Through the exertions of their minister, Rev.

Mr. Barnes, who was a member of the Legislature from

Poland, the burden of supporting a church with which they

could not fellowship was removed from all denominations

within the State. A building was erected at Gray Corners,

in 1839, and dedicated in autumn by Rev. Zenas Thomson,

and occupied about twenty years, after which it was sold to

the Baptist society of that place. A church was organized

in 1840, and 10 new members were baptized.

The ministers have been Elbridge W. Locke, settled in

1839, and ordained in New Gloucester, in 1840 ; Elbridge

Wellington was pastor 1841—43; David T. Stevens,

1841-49 ; and Rothens M. Byram, Hiram P. .Osgood,

Horace J. Bradbury, Foster, Amos Hitchings, Wm.
A. Drew, S. H. McAllister, Anson Titus, Jr., J. H. Weeks,

D. L. R. Libby, 8. S. Fletcher, George G. Hamilton, 1876

to 1879.

SCHOOLS.

The first school-house in the town was built by the

proprietors, in 1764. John Stinchfield, David Millet,

Ebenezer Mason, and Isaac Parsons were made school com-

mittee, and Samson Colbey hired to teach school. Another

* Perions wishing to withdraw from the parish in which they lived,

and anpport the doctrine of their choice instead of the established

one, were required to poll, or file their names on the town clerk's rec-

ords, with proof of a public teacher or minister under whose teachings

the; already worshiped. This was termed polling off from the parish.

school-house was built near the mill, in 1778. In 1777

the school money was divided into four parts, and school kept

in the house of Adam Cotton. £250 were appropriated in

1778. There were 5 districts in 1700. In 1803 the school

lands were divided among 8 districts, but subsequently

formed into a school fund, amounting to 84939.93, in 1815.

In 1803, $600 were appropriated for a grammar school in

four parts of the town. The district system was abolished

in 1877, and the schools are managed by a committee of

three, one of whom is elected each year. There are 11

school-houses in the town, valued at §5000. The number

of school children in 1878 was 443, of whom 308 were

registered on the school rolls. School Committee, 1879

:

Rev. J. G. Leavitt, Charles P. Haskell, George G. Pierce.

PHYSICIANS.

Dr. Russell, 1776 ; William Brigham, 1792 ; Benjamin

H. Mace, 1827; Joel S. Stevens, 1828; Symonds Baker,

1829 ; Timothy Little, J. D. Sturgis, A. Q. Marshall, and

John I. Sturgis, 1879.

LAWYERS.

Hon. William Widgery, one of the most prominent men

of his time, was first elected a representative to the General

Court of Massachusetts, from 1787 to 1796 ; held the ofiBce

of State Senator in 1794. He was a representative in the

Twelfth Congress of the United States in 1810, where

he voted for war in 1812 ; and was judge of the Court of

Common Pleas until his death, in 1832.

Ezekiel Whitman practiced law in New Gloucester from

1802 to 1817, when he removed to Portland, and became

chief justice of the Supreme Court of Maine. A. K. Paris

and Josiah W. Mitchell read law in his office while here.

Nathan Weston, late judge of the Supreme Court, came

in 1806 ; removed in 1809.

Gen. Samuel Fessenden began practice here in 1809,

and remained eight years. Peleg Chandler, a student in

his office here, became judge of the Court of Sessions in

1809, and afterwards moved to Augusta ; he died in 1848.

William Bradbury was an early lawyer.

SOCIETIES.

FREE AND ACCEPTED MASONS.

Caniberland Lodge, No. 12.—The charter of this, the

third lodge of Masons organized in Cumberland County,

bears the date of June 13, a.d. 1803, and is signed by Isaiah

Thomas, M. W. G. M., and John Proctor, G. Sec. of the

Grand Lodge of Massachusetts. At the first meeting, held

Aug. 2, A.L. 5803, the following were installed officers : R.

W. Ezekiel Whitman, Master; Joseph E. Foxcroft, S. W.

;

Nathaniel Jenks, J. W. ; Peleg Chandler, Jr., Sec. ; Na-

thaniel C. Allen, Treas. ; Samuel Sweet, S. D. ; Israel

Smith, J. D. Samuel Pingrec, Thomas B. Stinchfield, and

Rev. Jabez Woodman were initiated in November, 1803.

A grand installation of a full list of officers took place at the

Congregational meeting-house, September 24th, 37 visiting

Masons being present. An address was delivered by Rev.

Daniel Weston, a Mason, of Gray. Three of this lodge

—

Simeon Greenleaf, Samuel Fessenden, and Jabez True—have

been Grand Masters of Maine. During the anti-Masonic
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movement, from April 25, 1831, to Jan. 11, 1844, there

was no labor in th'u lodge recorded. A building and ball was

erected by them, in 1852, at Upper Gloucester. Contribu-

tions have been made to the militia and the Bible Society

of Maine, besides their own charities. Officers : Dr. John

L Sturgis, W. M. ; John D. Anderson, 8. W. ; Wm. A.

Knight, J. W. ; George H. Goding, Sec.

INDEPENDENT ORDER OF GOOD TEMPLARS.

Kingglury Lodge, No. 24, instituted Dec. 18, 1877, with

34 members. Officers : Charles F. Harris, W. C. T. ; Mrs.

E. M. Moi^n, W. V. T. ; B. B. L^are, Chap. ; John M.

Lane, W. Sec. ; Frank H. Merrill, W. F. Sec. ; Mrs. A. D.

Merrill, W. Treas. ; Laurentos Lane, W. Mar. ; H. L. P.

Eveledi, P. W. C. T.

MILITAET.

SOLDIERS OF THE REVOLUTION.

John K. Smith, enlisted June 12, 1775 ; was in the re-

inforcement at Banker Hill ; at Ticonderoga in 1777 ; made

lientenant and adjutant of Col. Titcomb's Massachusetts

regiment
;
participated in the capture of Bui^oyne ; win-

tered at Valley Forge, under Washington ; fought at Mon-

mouth, in command of his r^ment ; discharged, after eight

years and seven months' service, in 1783.

Aaron Bird, served in Maj.-Gen. Heath's division, and

was enrolled as lientenant in Shays' Rebellion.

Zachariah Fletcher.

William Widgery, lieutenant of privateer under Capt.

Nathdniel Thompson.

Capt. Benjamin Hammond, killed at Ticonderoga.

Thomas Millett, Jr.

Benjamin Hammond, Stinchfield, Mathews,

spies, captured in Canada and released by a woman.

Capt. Isaac Parsons' company, mustered into service in

May, 1776, for eight months' service in Col. Prime's r^-
ment, under Brig.-Gren. Wadsworth.

First lieutenant, Ichabod Hanson ; second lieutenant,

George Roberts.

Drummer : Peter Smith.

Sergeants : Benjamin Haskell, Joeiah Wallace, Benjamin

Trott, Asa Libby.

CorporaU: Moses Harris, Jacob Brown, Walter Simon-

ton, William True.

Privates : John Bayley, John Chandler, Nathaniel Chase,

Ephraim Chamberlain, Joshua Clark, Philemon Collins,

Abraham Cleaves, James Chute, Samuel Crockett, Henry

Dyer, Paul Dyer, John W. Davis, Isaac Eveleth, Jacob

Elliott, Isaac Foster, Edward Flint, George Hayes, Jere-

miah Hanson, B«ijamin Herring, Jonathan Hayden, Eze-

kiel Hackett, Andrew Jordan, Geoige Knight, Joshua

I^ne, Samuel Lord, James Leavitt, Thomas Mitchell,

James Mitchell, Thomas Mayberry, Levi Morse, Ebenezer

Mason, John M^quier, Eleazer Parsons, Ephraim Stinch-

field, James Stevens, Enoch Stront, Micah Small, Elisha

Small, George Stroot, Samuel Tobin, Barnabas Winslow,

John Winship, Zebulon York.

WAR OF 1812.

Lieut Thomas Johnson, Jr., served under Generals

Hampton and McComb.

MILITIA.

Two companies of infantry, one of riflemen, dne of cav-

alry, and one of artillery have been formed in this town

.

In the days of the Revolution, even boys were made to

train with the bow and arrow. Among the militia officers

have been,

—

Generals : Nathaniel C. Allen, brigadier-general, 1778

;

Samuel Feasenden, major-general ; Charles Megqnier, 1842

;

Otis C. Gross.

Colonels: Moses Merrill, 1778; Joseph E. Fozcroft,

1813; Isaac Parsons, John Webber, 1814.

Majors : Nathaniel Eveleth, Samuel Pierce, Solomon H.

Chandler, Otis Nelson, Richard Tobie, Job White.

Captains : William Harris, 1774 ; Jacob Haskell, Jr.,

John Woodman, 1791 ; Nathaniel Eveleth, 1792 ; Bildad

Arnold, 1794 ; Jabez Cushman, 1801 ; Thomas Johnson,

1813 ; Jonathim True, Walter Johnson, 1818 ; Moses

Stinchfield, 1825 ; Peletiah Lyon, William Haskell, Rev.

Elisha Moseley, chaplain, 1806.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

JOSEPH B. HAMMOND,
son of George and Martha (Baker) Hammond, of New
Gloucester, was bom April 8, 1823. He is die third in

a &mily of ten children, five of whom are now living.

His father, bom March 11, 1797, was one of the leading

representative men of the town. At the age of eighty he

was as active as a young man. He was killed by the cars,

near Lewiston, in March, 1877. He, Joseph B., received

his education in the common schools of New Gloucester,

supplemented by one term at the academy at Lewiston

Falls. By his first marriage he had eight children. For

his present wife he married Catherine Hobart, daughter of

Thomas and Elizabeth Eastman, of Dennysville, Me. After

his first marriage he moved to Bethel, Me., and engaged in

the lumbering business, where he remained for six years.

In 1861 he mlisted in the 5th Maine R^ment of In-

fantry, and after serving a few months was discharged on

account of sickness. In 1863 he removed to New Glou-

cester and settled on the David Evdeth &rm. In the spring

of 1864 he recruited a company for the 32d Maine Vol-

unteer Infiuitry, of which he was lieutenant, and in April

he started for the front in charge of a battalion of six

companies of this regiment, which was attached to Bom-
side's corps of the Army of the Potomac. He was in

active service in the battles of the Wilderness and Spott-

sylvania. He received the first promotion in the regiment

—to the rank of captain.

He served till October of that year, when his health

again failed, and he again resigned. He went to Lew-

iston, where he lived three years. He then returned to

New Gloucester and purchased the old homestead whore he

now resides, a view of which may be seen elsewhere in this

work.

In politics he has always been a Republican, but was

never an office-seeker. Both he and his wife are consistent

church members.
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JOSEPH E. FOXCROFT*

is a descendant in the sixth generation from Daniel Fox-

croft, who was born in England, and was mayor of Leeds,

A.D. 1666, and was a descendant of Robert Foxcroft, a resi-

dent at Foxcroftshire, in 1327, during tho reign of King

Edward IIL Francis, son of .Daniel, born Nov. 13, 1657,

settled in Boston, Mass., as a merchant ; married, Oct. 3,

1682, Elizabeth, daughter of Judge and Deputy-Governor

Thomas Danforth, of Cambridge, Muss. He held a colonel's

commission, and was judge of probate. He removed to

Cambridge, where he died Dec. 31, 1727. He was pious,

and of the faith of the Church of England.

Joseph E. Foxcroil was bom in New Gloucester, March

10, 1773 ; married, May 3, 1801, Hannah, daughter of Ben-

jamin Stone, of Brunswick. His ancestral line, stretching

hack unbroken to 1327, is dotted all the way down by

pious and worthy names,—names known and honored by

England's kings and England's people before the continent

of America was fairly discovered. Not to go further back,

we find his grandfather. Rev. Thomas Foxcrofl, for many

years a highly useful and reputable minister of the First

Church in Boston. His father, Samuel Foxcroft, was the

first and worthy pastor of the Congregational Church in

New Gloucester, where he settled in the ministry, in Janu-

ary, 1765, an educated and elevated, also a truly pious and

godly man. The son, Joseph E., was not unworthy of his

ancestors. While yet a young man we find him o'er-

marching the bounds of ordinary business, purchasing a

township of land in the wilderness, his only access to it

being on foot, finding his way by compass and spotted

trees. Bowdoin College, of which he purchased, imposed

as a condition the settlement of twenty-foar families within

a given period. By his efiBciency and good management

the families were secured and the township became his. The

population increased ; they sought incorporation ; and, not

because he was chief owner, but especially because of the

esteem in which the inhabitants held him, they petitioned

that the town should bear his name, so that with the pleas-

ant and flourishing town of Fozcrofl, in this State, his name

will probably be associated to the end of time. Though

not then a professed disciple of the Saviour, yet the early in-

habitants of the town wore incited and encouraged by him

to meet together for religious worship on the Sabbath, and

hymn and sermon-books were presented by him for their

use. Without a doubt, to his example and influence the

early establishment of the institutions of religion in Fox-

croft; may be greatly traced. He generously set apart three

lots of land, one for the first minister, one for the ministry,

and one for schools. In 1 807 he was chosen to represent his

native town to the General Court at Boston, which duty he

performed so creditably to himself and to his constituents

that, for the last six years of Maine's provincial connection

with Massachusetts, he was re-elected without intermission.

When Muine had become an independent State he was

chosen a member of the convention for drafting a constitu-

tion and laying the foundation of its laws as a body politic.

In 1821 he was appointed high sheriff of the county (Cum-

* Samuel,' Rev. Thomaa,' Frunois,' Daaiel,^ Daniel,' who was »

descendant of Robert in the twelfth generation.

berland), which ofliee he held for a longer period than any

other man has ever done, and he filled it with dignity and uni-

versal acceptance. He was repeatedly chosen a member of

the State Senate. Appointed postmaster in 1806, he held the

office till 1841, and from youth until old age he filled offices

of trust in his native town. He seemed always to guard

the interests of the town as if they had been his own per-

sonal concern. It is truth to say that, whether a young

man engaged in rescuing primeval wilderness from the do-

minion of the lords of the forest, and peopling them with

the abodes of civilization and Christianity, or filling one of

the first offices in the county, or legislating for the interests

of his native town in the mother State, or, after Maine had

become a State, laying the foundation of her laws and policy,

or still later sitting among her senators, we find him dis-

charging all these duties with assiduity and faithfulness,

and filling all these offices without reproach.

Mr. Foxcroft was for several years a member of the Con-

gregational Church at New Gloucester, and a liberal sup-

porter of the same. As a man he was honest, upright, and

truthful
;
genial and courteous, he ever bore about him a

halo of joyousuess that refiected the sunshine of a happy

disposition wherever he went. As a neighbor he was kind

and obliging even to a fault ; as a citizen he was public-

spirited, charitable, and benevolent ; as a husband and

father he was faithful, constant, kind, and affectionate.

His wife, born Oct. 12, 1776, died Feb. 28, 1806, leaving

two children, viz.: Samuel, born Aug. 1, 1802 (married

Salome, daughter of Caleb and Judith Haskell, of New
Gloucester. They have one child, Abbie Stone, born Dec.

16, 1857), and Hannah, born June 19, 1804 (married

Samuel E. Crocker, of Portland, whose son, Samuel K.

Crocker, established the Literary World, of Boston).

For his second wife he married Abigail, daughter of

Abijah and Mary Hammond, of Boston. The result of

this union was an only daughter, Abigail Catherine Mary

Foxcroft, born July 23, 1812, and who now resides upon

the old homestead, a view of which may be seen in this

work, and was the first two-story house built in the town,

and has been known as the Foxcroft homestead for more

than a century.

JOHN MORGAN,

son of John M. and grandson of Luke Morgan, was born

in the town of New Gloucester, Aug. 8, 1789.

In 1779, Luke Morgan, a native of Gloucester, Cape

Ann, Mass., with his family of three children, John M.,

Sarah, and Martha, settled on a farm in New Gloucester.

John M., born April 20, 1765, reared a family of seven

children, viz., John, Mary, Sarah, Luke, Lydia, Susan, and

Martha; all of whom grew to manhood and womanhood.

None of these children are now living, except the subject

of this sketch.

John M. married Sarah Tarbox, of New Gloucester ; she

was born Aug. 28, 1763, and died April 17, 1863, aged

nearly one hundred years. He died in 1842, aged seventy-

seven years.

John spent his youth on the farm and in the common
school.
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On Feb. 5, 1818, he married Sarah, daughter of Kim-

ball and Sarah (Pearsc) Ramsdell, of New Gloucester. She

was bom Nov. 18, 1791. The result of this union was :

Mary, bom Jan. 21,1819, married Samuel 0. Cobb, of New
Gloucester; Elizabeth P.,. bora Oct. 15, 1820, died Nov.

Plioto. hj Conant

JOHN MORGAN.

5, 1842 ; Harriet K., bora July 19, 1822 ; Charles M.,

bom Dec. 10, 1824, married Mary E. Locke, of Wood-
stock, Me. ; Elisha M., bora Oct. 28, 1826 ; John F., bora

Sept 24, 1829, now a Congregational minister in Portland.

Mr. Morgan remained on his father's farm till he was

twenty-nine years of age, when he purchased a part of the

farm where he now resides, and which has for the past

thirty years been carried on by his son, Elisha M. Morgan.

In politics he was first a Whig, and afterwards a Republican.

Both he and his wife are members of the Congregational

Church of New Gloucester, of which he was a deacon for

six years.

OTIS C. NELSON.

Thomas Nelson, the emigrant, bora in England in 1613,

settled in Rowley, Mass., in 1631, and died there, 1702.

His descendant, David, came from Milford, Mass., about

the year 1787, and settled in New Gloucester, Me., on the

farm now owned by his grandson, Otb C. Nelson. He
was a prominent and worthy citizen, and one of the oi^n-

izersof the Calvinist Baptist Church of that town in 1818,

and familiarly known as Deacon Nelson. He was a man
of great hospitality, and especially so during the early

history of the country, when the stranger and missionary

always found a welcome to his home. He was a soldier in

the Revolutionary war, and was at West Point at the time

of Amold's treasonable act. He was a representative in

the General Court of Massachusetts, 1812-15, and was

a captain in the old State militia. He is said to have

erected the first brick house in the town, a view of which,

with the modem improvements and spacious buildings,

erected by the present owner, may be seen on another

page of this work. He died April 14, 1836. Otis Nel-

son, his son, bom 1795, married first Lois G. Raymond, of

New Gloucester, Aug. 30, 1818. He resided in Minot,

Androsco^in Co., for seventeen years, and was prominently

identified with that town. He afterwards returned to the

old homestead, where he resided during the remainder of

his life. He was a selectman for many years in New
Gloucester ; was ranked as major in the old State militia

;

and was an active member of the old Whig party, and

afterwards of the Republican. He died Sept. 15, 1861.

His wife died July 11, 1853, having been born Feb. 26,

1798. Their children are, viz., Abigail R., Edwin N., Otis.

C, Charles H., and Persis T.

Otis C. Nelson was bom in the town of Minot, Jan. 29,

1826. He received his education in the common school

and at the Lewiston Academy, and was a teacher for seven

winter terms. In 1848, Febraary 14th, he married Martha

Whitney. She died Nov. 3, 1853. In 1849 he went to

Califomia, where he spent seven years in the mines. Re-

turning to the old homestead in New Gloucester, in 1858,

January 31st, he married Julie, daughter of Hanson Bailey,

of New Gloucester. Of this union were born three chil-

dren,—Lilian F , Charles H., and George B.

Mr. Nelson is a representative farmer and fruit-grower,

a man of untiring industry and resolution, and a man of

acknowledged good judgment and executive ability. He
carries on quite largely on his farm the manufacture of

cider-vinegar, making several hundred barrels of cider

and vinegar every year. This business, begun by his

father forty years ago, he continues. He was formerly a

Whig, then a Republican, and in 1863 became a member

of the Democratic party. He has been chairman of the

board of selectmen of New Gloucester for ten years past,

was postmaster of the town in 1849, appointed by Post-

master-General Cave Johnston. He was in the State

Legislature in 1865, and was a member of the committee

on the division of counties. In 1876 he was again a

member of the State Legislature, and was placed on the

committee on agriculture. He has been a candidate for

county offices and for State senator, but his party being in

the minority, he failed of election.

CHARLES P. HASKELL
is a lineal descendant in the fifth generation from Jacob

Haskell, who came from Cape Ann, and was the first set-

tler of this branch of the Haskell family in New Glouces-

ter, Cumberiand Co., Me. His grandfather, Peter Haskell,

when quite young, came with his parents from Cape Ann,

where he was bora, to New Gloucester. His father, Peter

Haskell, bora in New Gloucester, Jan. 10, 1797, married

Sally Pulsivcr, of Poland, Me., April 1, 1823. She died

Sept. 30, 1831, leaving four children,—Mary Parsons, Lucy

Lnfkin, Jacob Ward, and Ezekiel Whitman. For his

second wife he married, Dec. 16, 1832, Betsey Hawes, bora

in Wcllfleet, Cape Cod, March 5, 1806, and who came to

New Gloucester with her parents when a little past two

years of age. The children of this union were Charles

Peter, subject of this narrative, and Thomas Hawes. Peter
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Haskell, while a lad of twenty-two years, went to live with

Col. Isaac Parsons, and resided on the Parsons farm during

hia life. He was known in New Gloucester as a worthy

citizen and a man of sterling integrity. In politics he was

a Whig, and subsequently a Republican. He was captain

of a company of the old State militia ; was ofBcially con-

nected with his town, and in 1846 was a member of the

State Legislature. He died May 6, 1878. Charles Peter

Haskell, bom March 8, 1835, spent his minority on the

farm where he has since resided. His education from

books was confined to the common school. He married,

March 5, 1868, Helen M., daughter of Hezekiah Crockett,

whose &ther, Enoch Crockett, was the first of the family

that settled in the town of Gorham. She was bom March

22, 1841. Their children are Mary Cross, Eugene Man-

rice, Fanny Crockett, and Frederick Peter.

Mr. Haskell's occupation has been ikrming and lumber-

ing. In early manhood he became an active and interested

citizen in the local affairs of his town, and has filled the

various offices of selectman, member of the superinl^ending

school committee, and moderator at town-meetings for sev-

eral years. He was appointed by Postmaster-General

Montgomery Blair, postmaster at New Gloucester, which

office he held for nine years. He cast his first vote the

year of the organization of the Republican party, and sup-

ported the Republican platform until 1872, when he

strongly advocated the election of Horace Greeley, since

which time he has been identified with the Democratic

party. A view of his residence, formerly the residence of

Col. Isaac Parsons, settled in 1760, may be seen on an-

other page of this work.

MAJOR SOLOMON H. .CHANDLER.

Edmund Chandler, the first of the family in New Eng-

land, was of English birth, and is supposed to have come

to America about 1630, as he resided at Dusbury, Mass.,

in 1633.

Peleg Chandler, a lineal descendant of Edmund, bom
April 27, 1735, married Sarah Winslow at North Yar-

mouth, Deo. 9, 1762, and settled in New Gloucester, Me.,

in 1764. He was one of eight who organized the Congre-

gational and First Church in New Gloucester. He was one

of the pioneers of the town. He was a man of strong force

of character, of sterling integrity, and a well-balanced mind.

He was a member of the General Court of Massachusetts

from New Gloucester. Among his descendants are Hon.

P. W. Chandler and Theophilus Chandler, prominent mem-

bers of the Suffolk bar, Boston, and the late Charles Chand-

ler, a leading member of the Piscataquis bar for many

years.

Philip, son of Peleg, bora in New Gloucester, May 23,

1767, married Deborah Hewitt, a lady of high moral worth

and great hospitality, and died Nov. 15, 1823. He settled

the farm now owned by his grandson, Andrew C. Chandler.

Their children were Solomon H. (subject of this sketch),

George W,, Mrs. Gen. Samuel Fessenden, Mrs. Freedom

Keith, Mrs. William Meserve, and Mrs. Joseph Cross, and

four other children, who died young.

43

Solomon Hewitt, son of Philip Chandler, born in the

town of New Gloucester, Nov. 21, 1790, married, Feb. 3,

1825, Sally, daughter of Andrew and Lydia (Hewitt)

Campbell, and granddaughter of Andrew and Sarah (Ar-

cher) Campbell, of New Gloucester. His wife, Sally

Campbell, was a lady of high moral worth, and, although

delicate in health from early womanhood, her great work

was in the moral training of her children, and in her model,

exemplary ways before the world.

Andrew Campbell, the first settler of the Campbell family

in Cumberland County, was of Scotch descent, bora in

Salem, Mass., Feb. 7, 1744 ; married Sarah Archer, Aug.

1, 1779. She was bora also in Salem, Oct. 20, 1748.

Their children were Andrew and Mrs. Samuel Merrill.

Andrew married Lydia Hewitt, Jan. 28, 1796. She was

known for her excellent womanly qualities, and sympathy

and charity for the needy. She had a vigorous constitution

and strength of moral character, and lived respected by all

who knew her. Her father, Capt. Solomon Hewitt, fol-

lowed the sea for many years ; was a man of a remarkably

robust constitution, resolution, and force of character.

Solomon H. Campbell, son ofAndrew and Lydia Campbell,

was a man of rare financial ability, shrewd in the management

of his own affairs, and equally careful of those intrusted to

his care. His sound judgment and strict integrity were

acknowledged by all who came in contact with him. He
died in New Gloucester, Aug. 20, 1870, aged fifty-nine.

Solomon H. Chandler spent his boyhood on the farm

and at school, and although his educational opportunities

were limited, he was a successful teacher for some three

terms.

Upon reaching his majority, unassisted pecuniarily, he

started in life to carve out a fortune for himself; and

his native energy, his resolution to carry to a successful

completion whatever he undertook, his indomitable perse-

verance, economy, and good judgment, so developed in early

manhood, characterized his whole life, and gave him rank

among the best financiers of Cumberland County.

At the age of twenty-four he began business as a country

merchant at New Gloucester, where, by prudent manage-

ment, he for many years carried on business successfully,

and laid the foundation for his future opulence.

In 1837 he gave up his mercantile trade, and gave his

attention to farming and general business, residing upon

the old homestead afler his father's death. He engaged

quite largely in real-estate operations for many years, giving

employment to a great number of men, and at the time of

his decease he owned some two thousand acres of land in

his native town.

He possessed that strong force of character that com-

mands the confidence of the public, and seemed able to

comprehend future results arising from present business

enterprises. Originally a Whig, he became a Republican

upon the formation of that party in 1856. He always de-

clined the emoluments of office and any political prefer-

ment, although often solicited to represent his town in the

State Legislature, preferring the quiet and independence of

a business life.

As a citizen, he was interested in the local affairs of his

town and county, and for a time was selectman of New
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Gloucester. In the old State militia he took an active part,

aod ranked as major, by which title he was usually called.

He was one of the original stockholders of the Atlantic

and St. Lawrence Railroad, and director for many years ; an

original stockholder and director of the Androscoggin and

Kennebec, and a stockholder of the Kennebec and Penob-

scot Railroads. In these relations he was far-seeing, and

his quick perception and rare financial ability were recog-

nized in their judicious management.

He resided during his whole life in the town of his birth,

and died Oct 28, 1858. His wife died Oct. 7, 1837.

Their eldest son, Solomon Hewitt, died Nov. 17, 1825.

Two sons are living: Solomon Hewitt, bom June 5, 1828,

and Andrew C, bom July 30, 1830, married, Jan. 4,

1854, Catherine C. Cunningham, of St. Stephens, N. B.

;

of which union have been bora four sons, viz., Andrew C,
Charies Peleg, Fred. H., and Roland C. Chandler.

A. C. Chandler, Jr., was married Dec. 25, 1878, to Miss

Cora E. Bean, of Readfield, Me.

WINTHROP TRUE,

a descendant of Henry True, who came from England and

settled in Salem, Mass., in 1632, and whose ancestor set-

tled in New G-louoester in 1760, is the son of Moses and

Martha (Pierce) True, and was born in New Gloucester

Oct. 20, 1812. Moses, born in North Yarmouth June 15,

1790, and Martha in New Gloucester Aug. 3, 1788, reared

a family of nine children, as follows : Winthrop, Moses,

Elbridge, Nathan 0., Calvin S., Martha P., Lewis P., Wil-

liam P., and.Jabez,—all living but Winthrop and Moses.

Winthrop spent his boyhood on his father's &rm and in

the common schools of his native town. On Dec. 13,

1842, he married Ophelia T., daughter of John and Lucy

Gh)oding, of Pownal, Me. She was born Sept. 17, 1814.

The children of this union were Lucy E., bom Jan. 16,

1846, married, Nov. 9, 1867, John Cunningham (they

have one chUd, Alice W., born Aug. 18, 1868) ; John W.,

born Aug. 4, 1848, married, July 17, 1873, Caroline,

daughter of Horace and Sarah Murdook, of Springfield,

Mass. (their children are Albert D., born Dec. 6, 1874,

and Bertha 0., born June l'{. 1877) ; and Anna T., born

July 29, 1850, married, .Vov. 18. 1877, Elisha C. New-

comb, of Portland.

Photo, by Conant.

Mr. True was a tiller of the soil, and deemed it the

highest honor and pleasure. In that and in the educa-

tion and advancement of his family he spent his life. In

politics he was a Republican, but was never an office-

seeker. Both he and his wife were for several years con-

sistent members of the Congregational Church of New
Gloucester. He died Sept. 9, 1874, aged sixty-two.

Mrs. True survives to mourn his loss, but her bereave-

ment is tempered by the consciousness of his upright lifp

and the high esteem and confidence reposed in him by all

who knew him.
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NORTH YARMOUTH.

ORIGINAL BOUNDARIES.

The bonndaries of North Yarmouth originally extended

from the white rock adjoining Falmouth northwest eight

miles ; thence northeast about eleven miles, until intersected

by a line running northwest from the mouth of Bungonang

River, and from the white rock and the mouth of Royal

River southeast to the sea. It will be seen that these lines

included Mare Point, Merriconeag Neck, Sebascodegan, a

large number of lesser islands, and Cape Small Point at the

mouth of the Kennebec River. Mare Point was set off to

Brunswick in 1739, Small Point to Georgetown in 1741,

and Merriconeag Neck and the islands adjacent were incor-

porated in the town of Harpswell, Jan. 25, 1758. In this

act one island lying south of Great Island was omitted

through a mistake, and it has ever since borne the name of

North Yarmouth Island, from the town to which it origi-

nally belonged. At a later period it was annexed to Harps-

well.

The township of North Yarmouth—originally called Wes-

custoffo, the Indian name of Royal River—was granted

to Joseph Phippen and others in 1680 ; the same year

it was incorporated as a town and its name changed to

North Yarmouth, probably from Yarmouth in England.

The Danforth government had then come into power, and

President Danforth, acting under authority of Massachu-

setts, came to Falmouth to aid in the resettlement of the

towns which had been destroyed by King Philip's war.

While at Fort Loyal, in the discharge of this duty, he

incorporated North Yarmouth, adding somewhat to its

dimensions on the west side, as the following act will show

:

"FoBT Loyal, i.v Falmouth, 22d Sept., 1680.

" For the further Inlargeiuent and Incouragement to the settlement

of the township, by the Governor and Company of the Masseohnsetts,

on the easterly side of Wesonstogo Rirer, on Casoo Bay : It is hereby

granted unto them that the waste lands lying between the said grant

and Falmouth shall be added to the township, and also an island lying

between the sea and said township, oalled New Dameras Cove.

" It is also hereby ordered and declared that the name of the said

plantation shall be North Yarmouth.
" Thouas Da.vpohth, Preiident."

FIRST SETTLEMENT.

Within the boundaries of this territory a number of set-

tlers had established themselves from thirty to forty years

before King Philip's war. Willis mentions the names of

" John Cousins, near the mouth of Royall's River ; Thomas

Haines, at Maquoit; James Lane, on the east side of

Cousins' River; Richard Bray, on Maine's Point, in North

Yarmouth ; John Maine, at the same place ; James Parker,

on the Kennebec River, or its neighborhood ; William

Royall, on the east side of Royall's River, near its mouth
;

and John Sears, probably on one of the islands. Besides

these there were Hugh Mosier, Thomas Morris, and Thomas

Wise, who lived somewhere in the Bay, but at what particu-

lar place we are unable to determine, probably in North

Yarmouth."

Mr. Russell, in his history of North Yarmouth, mentions

George Felt as the first settler in 1643, at the place where

he built his stone garrison'"' (Deacon Scales' place), unless

John Phillips, of whom he bought his land, was there

earlier, which is uncertain. Willis mentions John Phillips

as living on the " west side of Presumpscot River" prior

to 1658, where he bought 50 acres on the lower falls, "be-

tween said mill /alls and Richard Martin's land," of George

Cleaves, Aug. 10, 1675, and adds, " He had previously

lived on Broad Bay, in North Yarmouth, on a place which

he sold before 1643 to George Felt." Phillips undoubtedly

lived there prior to the date mentioned, but he was probably

not the first settler. Willis says, " William Royall, the

first of the family in this country, was settled in Casco Bay

a.s early as 1636, and is probably the same person who is

mentioned in a letter from the Governor of the New Eng-

land Company to Endicott (1 Haz. 265) as having been

sent over to him in 1629. He was a ' cooper and cleaver.'

In 1643 he purchased of Thomas Gorges the point of land

on the east side of the river which bears his name, and on

which he then lived." This agrees with a deposition made

by John Royal, a son of William, in Boston, July 16,

1688, in which he states that his father had occupied the

land "forty years," i.e., till the time he left it at the com-

mencement of King Philip's war.

William Royal was one of the leading men of the firat

period of settlement in Maine. He was a member of the

General Assembly of the Province in 1648. In 1673 he

conveyed to his sons, William and John, his land and

buildings on Wescustogo River, in consideration of support

for himself and his wife Phebe.f His son John married

Eliza Dodd, granddaughter of Nicholas Davis, of York,

and was living there in June, 1680. His son William was

bom in 1640, and died Nov. 7, 1724, in his eighty-fifth

year. Hon. Isaac Royal, son of the second William, was

bom in 1672, resided in Antigua nearly forty years, returned

in 1737, and died June 17, 1739. John, son of the first

William, was taken prisoner by the Indians. His house

was used as a garrison by order of Col. Tyng and Judge

Stoughton. The first William Loyal was the man after

whom Fort Loyall, in Falmouth, was named. He was one

» The stone garrison referred to stood on Scales' Point (home-lots

3(1 and 57), in what is now Cumberland. It wan not built by George

Felt, but by John Phillips, previous to his sale to Felt. See history

of Cumberland, in this work.

t William Royal died at Dorchester, .Tune 15, 1876; his widow died

July 16, 1678.

339
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of the committee appointed by the General Assembly of

Ligonia, to whom was referred the petitioo of Robert Jor-

dan respecting the Trelawny estate, Dec. 18, 1648.

In 1645, John Coasins lived on the neck of land which

divides the branches of Cousin River, and owned also

Cousins' Island. Cousins sold half of the island to William

Bray, in 1647, and in 1651, James Lane, of Gloucester,

moved to the farm now owned by W. Fogg, in Freeport,

and gave his name to the island at the mouth of the river.

John Maine lived on the Foreside, at the point which still

retains his name, in 1652. John Holman, in 1670, lived

on Holman's, now Prince's, Point. Irf 1674, Walter G«n-

dall and Harry Saward built the first saw-mill at the lower

falls. Gendall lived next the Falmouth line ; Thomas Blash-

field lived on the farm of the late Richmond Loring ; Ben-

jamin Larrabee, on the Deacon Halpes' place ; Amos Stevens,

who married the daughter of William Royal, lived on Wolf

Point ; Thomas Reading, on the east side of Cousin River,

and west of Lane's farm, and William Haines on Pine, now

called Flying Point.

These were probably all the settlers of the first settlement

previous to the Indian war of 1675,* or King Philip's war,

during which the settlements were completely broken up,

and the settlers compelled to fly from their homes. The

mill was burnt, and probably most of the houses, and the

settlement remained deserted till after the peace of 1678,

when the inhabitants b^an to return, and measures were

taken for the resettlement and organization of the town.

We have already given an account of the incorporation in.

1680, and the grant of the township that year to Joseph

Phippen and others. We have no means of learning much

about these grantees. Mr. Phippen was admitted an in-

habitant of Falmouth as early as 1650. Mr. Willis says

he probably came from Boston. He bought land of Robert

Jordan in the northern part of Cape Elizabeth, where he

was living, on the south side of Long Creek, in 1680. In

1662 he was a commissioner, with George Cleaves, for Fal-

mouth and Scarborough, and was approved by the General

Court.

The records commence with an order relative to the set-

tlement of the town, dated July 13, 1681, signed by Bar-

tholomew Gkdney, Joshua Scottow, Silvanus Davis, and

Walter Gendall, a committee " Impowered to order and

r^ulate the settlement of a township granted by the Gov-

ernor and Company of the Colony of Massachusetts, Propri-

etors of the Province of Maine, on the northerly part of

Casco Bay, formerly called Wescustogo, and now named

North Yarmouth." The members of this committee were

widely scattered. Bartholomew Gedney was a land-specula-

tor of Salem, a physician, and judge of a court called to

take immediate action against those charged with witch-

* Since writing the above we find that Moses Felt was a resident of

North Yarmonth in 1660. He says, in a deposition made in Boston,

May 19, 1733, that Henry Sawyer built a saw-mill " upon the lower-

most falls on the east side of the rirer," before the first Indian war,

" which was possessed by said Sawyer till they removed from thence

in the first war." Moses was a brother of George Pelt. He says in

his deposition that Oeorge Felt, Francis Neal, and Jenkin Williams

bought a large tract of land of the Indians on the Presumpsoot Rirer,

part of it adjoining the lower falls, but never made any improvement

on it.

craft ; Capt. Joshua Scottow was a principal man in Scar-

borough ; Capt. Silvanus Davis was an enterprising citizen

of Falmouth ; and Capt. Walter Gendall was then a resident

of this town. He was its first representative to the Gen-

eral Assembly, held at York, in 1683.

In laying out the town the committee determined that

the place of building should be " on the land commonly

called Maine's Point, to be ordered so in the laying out as

to be compact and most capable of defense : it being under-

stood that Maine's Point includes that whole neck of land

where John Maine and John Holman formerly dwelt."

They laid out " 10 acres of plain land in a square lot, for

a meeting-house, burial-place, minister's house-lot, market-

place, and school." Around this 10-acre lot a street was

laid out four rods wide, and on this street were house-lots

of haif an acre each, and in some convenient place a com-

mon field equal to 6 acres to each house-lot." Any two of

the committee, with the selectmen, were authorized to grant

lands " to such as they should entertain as inhabitants."

A committee was appointed to procure a minister. A grant

of land was made to Walter Gkndall of 200 acres near the

Falmouth boundary, " and George Peirson was appointed

recorder to the town of North Yarmouth, aforesaid."

The town was formed in this compact little square, cal-

culated for 24 house-lots, so as to be more easily defended

from the attacks of the Indians.

In July, 1681, John Royal, John York, John Harris,

and Walter Gendall were appointed trustees to parcel out

the laud of the town to inhabitants. We shall not attempt

to follow the various grants made from time to time, as it

would be impossible to do so with even an approximate

degree of completeness. The records for many years are

wanting, and besides, our space must be devoted to a mere

summary view of the town history.

In 1688 the town was again destroyed by another Indian

war. Capt. Gendall and others were killed ; all the inhab-

itants, amounting' to 36 families, were compelled to abandon

their homes, which they had gained at great cost and sacri-

fice, to the merciless savages. Three houses and two bams
belonging to Capt. G«ndall were burnt, and also the saw-

mill and grist-mill built by him. He was at that time the

most enterprising and wealthy of the settlers.

After the destruction of the town, nineteen years of war

with the Indians and of uncertainty intervened before any

attempt was made at resettlement. The saw-mill was re-

built previous to 1719 by Nathaniel Weare, of Hampton.

In May, 1722, upon petition of the inhabitants and others

interested in lands in the town, the Gleneral Court appointed

William Taller, Elisha Cook, William Dudley, John Smith,

and John Powell " a committee to regulate the settlement

and manage the prudentials of the town for present."

An honorable committee it was, too. Tailer lived in

Dorchester, and had been lieutenant-governor of Massa-

chusetts
; William Dudley was a son of Governor Dudley

and a member of the Council, residing in Roxbury ; Elisha

Cook was a distinguished political character ; John Smith

was a merchant in Boston, and a brother of Rev. Thomas
Smith, the first minister in Falmouth ; John Powell was a

merohant in Boston, and afterwards a resident of North

Yarmouth, and father of Judge Powell, first judge of the



^
William Buxton, the eldest in the family of

Jeremiah and Jane G. (Drinkwater) Buxton, was

born at North Yarmouth, Me., Oct. 28, 1796. He

spent his boyhood at home on the farm till he was

seventeen, when he formed a copartnership with his

father as a ship-builder, in which business the latter

had been engaged for several years at North Yar-

mouth. He early interested himself in the affairs of

the town, beginning his career as a town oflScer some

time before he was thirty years of age. He filled

every office of importance in the town ; was select-

man seventeen years, and was its representative to

the Legislature thirteen years. He was also for

two years one of the Governor's council. For

many years he was one of the trustees of the school

fund of the town, and a trustee of North Yarmouth

Academy. He was also a director of the Andros-

coggin and Kennebec Railroad for one year. He

always regarded the town as one of his special trusts,

guarding its interests with a watchful eye, never

losing his devotion to its affiiirs, until failing ener-

gies and wasting disease began to make their sad

inroads upon a formerly strong constitution and

x^^r^ ^

well-balanced mind.- His method and accuracy in

business was early imbibed, and fastened, by many

years of intimacy with Gen. Edward Russell, one

of the former worthies of North Yarmouth, whose

systematic and careful business method he took great

pride in alluding to as a model for town officers to

imitate.

On Oct. 27, 1836, he married Jane, daughter of

Samuel and Jane Chadbourn, of North Yarmouth.

Of this union were born t\vo children,—Abbie A.,

born May 16, 1838, died July 19, 1860 ; and "Wil-

liam M., born April 19, 1848, and died Sept. 4,

1878.

About twenty years i)revious to his death, which

occurred July 27, 1873, Mr. Buxton discontinued

his busine^ of ship-building and settled upon a

farm, and at the time of his death was one of the

largest real-estate owners in the town. He was

originally a Whig, but latterly a Democrat.

In his death his family lost a kind and tender

husband, a loving and indulgent father, and the

entire county one of its most prominent and honored

citizens.
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Court of Sessions of Cumberland County. He died in

North Yarmouth in 1742.

The old town records, which had been taken away at the '

commencement of the late war, were in the hands of Capt.

Samuel Phipps, of Charlestown, and were by order of the

General Court taken to Boston and preserved.

The committee held their first meeting at the house of

John Powell, in Boston, in April, 1723, and appointed John

Smith clerk. Under their management the ancient settlers

and their heirs received the first attention, and these with

new proprietors made up a settlement of 100 souls. The

new proprietors drew their lots at the residence of James

Parker, in North Yarmouth, in 1727. Each proprietor, to

entitle him to a deed of his home-lot and a share in after

divisions, was required to erect before the 1st of June,

1729, " and well finish a convenient dwelling-house, to

clear and fence five acres of his home-lot, and to repair to,

abide and remain in North Yarmouth, either in person or

by some able-bodied man, and reside there till the expira-

tion of that time.''

In May, 1730, there were 41 houses and 12 frames. All

expenses, including building the meeting-house, the min-

ister's salary, and the surveying of the lands, were defrayed

by a tax upon the home-lots,—pretty hard conditions for a

new and poor settlement, in which the productive property

amounted to scarcely anything. No wonder the minister,

the surveyors, and the carpenters complained that they

we're not well paid ! The collectors also complained because

the proprietors were unable to pay.

The committee continued to manage affairs for the in-

habitants until April 6, 1733, when, upon their report and

recommendation, the General Court passed an order author-

izing Samuel Seabury, Esq., of North Yarmouth, to " call

a meeting of the inhabitants aa soon as may be, to choose

selectmen, constables, and other ordinary town, officers."

Accordingly, a meeting was held in the meeting-house at

which the town was duly organized by the choice of officers,

which organization has continued without interruption to

the present day. Samuel Seabury was chosen Moderator

;

Barnabas Seabury, Clerk ; Jedediah Southworth, Treasurer

;

Jacob Mitchell, Joseph Chandler, and Francis Wyman,

Selectmen ; Jacob Mitchell, Joseph Chandler, and Cornelius

Soule, Assessors ; and Edward King, Constable.

INDIAN DISTURBANCES IN 1746.

In June of this year, Joseph Swett, of Falmouth, was

killed while riding on horseback near where Capt. Andrew

Blanchard now lives. Philip Greely was killed the same

year, near the present residence of David True, by a party

of Indians secreted in a gully by the road, waiting for an

opportunity to attack Weare's garrison. It is thought that

the life of Mr. Greely saved the garrison, as the party find-

ing that they were discovered, abandoned their purpose of

attacking it, and left the neighborhood.

In June, 1748, Ebenezer Eaton was killed on the old

road on the south side of the ledge, and Benjamin Lake was

taken prisoner.

In the spring of J 751, Joseph Chandler and Solomon

and David Mitchell, young lads, were captured by the

Indians near the present residence of Mr. Oakes. The two

oldest boys were recovered by their friends in two or three

years, but the youngest remained a captive ten years, and

was not restored till the general peace after the conquest of

Canada.

The last attack of the Indians in this quarter was upon

the house of Mr. Maine, at Flying Point, May 4, 1756.

Mr. Maine was killed, his wife was wounded by a shot

which killed a child in her arms, and a girl by the name of

Skinner was taken prisoner. During these perilous times

" almost everybody's house was a garrison, and every man

carried a gun to meeting."*

EEYOLTJTIONAEY PERIOD.

The respite from Indian wars was soon interrupted by

the war of the Revolution. The spirit of the town of

North Yarmouth during this period is forcibly shown by

the following vote at a ftill town-meeting on the 20th of

May previous to the Declaration of Independence, which,

but for such hearty and patriotic support through the New
England town-meetings, probably never would have been

made, and but for the resolute backing they gave their vote

when the time of action came, never could have been made

a fixed fact

:

"Votedt uHaiiimou»iy, That should the Honorable Congress, for the

safety of the United Colonies, declare their independence of the

Kingdom of Great Britain, the inhabitants of this town do solemnly

engage with their lives and fortunes to support Congress in the

measure."

INDIAN GRANT.

The question of an Indian title to lands partly in this

town and partly in New Gloucester, involving a litigation

which lasted till 1748, was one of the most important law-

suits ever engaged in by the inhabitants of this town.

Robin Hood and other sagamores had sold to Thomas

Stevens, of Kennebec, " for a valuable consideration," a

tract of land two miles wide on each side of the Wescus-

togo River, from the first falls to the head, and including'

'' every branch and creek thereunto belonging," in 1 673,

the deed of which was never acknowledged. Stevens sold

the tract to Col. Gedney, of Salem, and Henry Saward, of

York, Oct. 12, 1674, who built a saw-mill upon it, which

was burnt in King Philip's war, and was rebuilt by Capt.

Walter Gendall, who purchased the Indian claim of Ged-

ney in 1681. Gedney had come into fiill possession of it

by foreclosure of mortgage against Saward, who had bor-

rowed money to build the mill and had failed to pay. Gen-

dall also, in turn, mortgaged the land to Gedney to secure

payment of the purchase-money (£110), which he never

paid, and in July, 1684, the whole property became Ged-

ney's the second time. There were then on the premises

one saw-mill, one grist-mill, one dwelling-house, with about

four acres cleared on the east side of the river, and a hovel

and about the same quantity cleared on the west side. All

these were destroyed by the Indians in 1688, and Nathaniel

Weare, who had purchased one-third of the claim, built a

third saw-mill.

Soon after the town was resettled, in 1722, the proprie-

tors (disregarding this Indian claim) laid out upon it

the " 120-acre divisions" and the " 280-acre squadrons,"

* Mrs. Clough, quoted by Mr. Ruasell.
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amounting to about 7000 acres of land. Subsequently, in

1730, a number of persons appeared as proprietors of the

tract, some of whom had bought into it for purposes of

speculation,—^people from Boston, London (England), and

other parts of the country. They brought an action and

obtained judgment " for partition to be made of and in a

certain tract of land, lying partly within and partly adjoin-

ing the town of North Yarmouth, containing about

100,000 acres of land, with the buildings and appurte-

nances thereunto belonging," bounded as described in the

Indian deed to Stevens. Partition was accordingly made,

in which one-sixth was set off to Peter Weare, son of Na-

thaniel Weare, and one-sixth to Joseph Fellows.

The proprietors of North Yarmouth, in 1730, probably

with a design of testing the Indian title, granted to Samuel

Seabury and Jacob Mitchell " so much of the river at the

lower falls as may be needfol for a grist-mill," and 10 acres

adjoining. Seabury and Mitchell built the mill, and it

appears that Weare had some share in it ; but in 1733,

Nathaniel Emmes commenced an action against the owners

and recovered judgment and costs. Not discouraged by

this failure, the proprietors in 1741 commenced action

against the claimants for that part of the claim lying in

the Gore, and the next year another action for the 120-

acre divisions, which actions were tried, continued, and re-

newed until 1748, when the proprietors obtained judgment

with costs.* Thus was it finally decided that the Indian

title was invalid, or that Indians have no right to the soil

in fee-simple which they can legally convey ; this principle

has been recognized throughout the United States, and

wherever titles are based on purchases from the Indians,

they have been possessory titles, confirmed by the courts.

When this question, through the perseverance of the pro-

prietors, was finally decided in North Yarmouth,- the town

was freed from a hindrance and a burden which it had long

seriously felt. The town of New Gloucester paid part of

the expense of carrying on the suit.

BELIGIOTJS.

MEST CHUBOH OP NORTH TARMOUTH.

We quote from Mr. Russell's history the following

:

"A tax was assessed upon the home-lots for raising

money to build a meeting-house in April, 1729. I find

nothing further on record, or on file, respecting it that

year, except a proposal from a carpenter in Medford to do

the Work. As a meeting was held in this house April 24,

1730, to give a call to Rev. Mr. Cutter, there is no doubt

the building was raised and the outside partly finished in

1729. The boards were railed from the mill at the lower

falls, I suppose, to Larrabee's Landing, there being no road

by which lumber could be hauled frx>m the mill to the

meeting-house. Five years after a committee was appointed

to clapboard the house, and finish all except making the

pews. In two years more a vote was passed to plaster the

meeting-house overhead, and lay part of the floor. The

steeple was raised the next year, and the pew-ground or-

dered to be laid out.

" The steeple was never furnished with a bell, but the

* Edward Rassell, History North Tarmouth.

inhabitants about ^his time contrived a substitute, for we

find that in March, 1738, the town ' voted £5 be allowed

Mr. Seth Mitchell for beating a drum on the hill behind

the meeting-house, every Sunday morning and noon, to no-

tify the time of public worship, for the year ensuing.' In

1739, ten years afler, the building was raised, the pews

were finished, and divided by lot among the proprietors of

the house-lots. In 1762 the town voted to enlarge the

house by putting a piece in the middle. The work was imme-

diately commenced, and the expense defrayed by the sale of

the additional pews. In this state it has remained, with

occasional repairs, till the present time, and is, I have no

doubt, the strongest meeting-house built of wood now

standing in the State, and I presume the only one that was

never lighted for an evening lecture. This house was the

place for holding proprietors' meetings, town and parish

meetings, a great number of years. The garret was used

for the magazine of military stores ; the adjacent common

was the place for military musters ; and within half a cen-

tury the green in the rear of the meeting-house has been

ornamented with a pair of stocks and a whipping-post. In

1665, the town, then Wescustogo, was presented and fined

forty shillings ' for not attending to the Court's order for

making a pair of stocks, cage, and a ducking-stool.' I pre-

sume the whipping-post and stocks erected one hundred

years after were in compliance with some statute, to avoid

another fine.

"Among the things which recall to our remembrance the

fashions of former times, the .' horse-block' deserves a place

in its history. For many years a large congregation assem-

bled for public worship in this house, when there were not

two carriages in the town in which persons could ride to

meeting
;
yet every horse carried as many as at the present

time, and to accommodate the ladies a large piece of timber

was placed at the cast end of the meeting-house, about three

and a half feet high, with steps at one end. When the

congregation was dismissed this became the centre of a

most animated scene. The top was immediately occupied.

Men and boys, soon mounted, came around with the pillion

;

the horse hardly stopped to receive his burden ; a lady was

ready to occupy a seat behind her husband ; another tossed

a child into her lap, and the next moment was on the suc-

ceeding horse herself. In this style half the assembly were

in a few minutes, without confusion or disorder, on their

way home, the horses two or three abreast, and conversation

was carried on by the riders, either grave or gay according

as impressions had been made upon their minds by the

sermon of the preacher.

" The first minister employed here, of whom we have

any record, was Rev. Samuel Seabury, who preached from

1727 to November, 1729. He received an invitation to

settle here, which was not accepted. Rev. Ammi-Raha-
mah Cutter, who began to preach here Nov. 10, 1729, and

was ordained Nov. 18, 1730, became the first setted pastor.

He was dismissed from the pastotul office Dec. 12, 1735,

afler which he entered the practice of medicine, and became

a citizen of much prominence. Rev. Nicholas Loring, from

Hull, Mass., was ordained Nov. 10, 1736, and remained

the pastor of the parish until his death, July 31, 1763.

Rev. Edward Brooks, from Medford, Mass., succeeded Mr.
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Of the leading physicians who in this part of the State

commenced the practice of their profession early in this

century, no one has been more favorably known than Dr.

Amos Osgood, of North Yarmouth, who died in that town,

March 19, 1874, after only a week's illness.

Dr. Osgood was bom at Conway, N. H., March 23,

1792, and received his medical education mainly at a private

medical school at Fryeburg, instituted by Dr. Alexander

Bamsay, a Scotchman, and a gentleman of rare medical

culture for those times.

The class was composed of such men as Drs. Keuel

Barrows and Ira Towle, of Fryeburg ; Dr. Jonathan Thomp-

son, of Conway, N. H. ; Dr. Wm. Swett, of Brownfield,

—

men of marked character and ardent professional zeal.

The ordinary course of lectures Dr. Osgood attended at

Concord, N. H., and obtained his diploma from the State

Medical Society, at that time authorized to confer degrees.

He commenced the practice of medicine at Waterford, Me.

;

remained there about a year, and then removed to North

Yarmouth, where he continued in the active duties of his

profession for over forty years, and until his failing strength

admonished him that he should resign to other hands the

more exacting labors of the position. He occasionally

prescribed for and visited his old friends till within two

years, when he expressed a lack of confidence in his dis-

crimination ofsymptoms and judgment respecting treatment.

Dr.~ Osgood was ardently devoted to his profession.

While his strong common sense and sound practical judg-

ment were of great value in the difficulties of daily practice,

he yet carefidly and continually studied, seeking to make

himself master of the theory of medicine and of the bearings

of genera] science upon the profession. In conversation

with him one could not fail to receive the impression that

he was a remarkably intelligent practitioner. It is greatly

to be regretted that his modesty prevented him from re-

porting any of the many remarkable coses which came

under his care, and which, as was his wont, he observed

with unusual patience and thoroughness.

The poor and destitute always found a friend in Dr.

Osgood, and it can be fairly said of him that he never re-

fused his professional services even where there could be no

compensation expected. He would often say that he

thought it more incumbent upon him to attend on such

calls than those from wealthier patients. Although always

pressed by the urgent activeness of a wide practice. Dr.

Osgood found time to devote due attention, as a citizen, to

public affairs. Often solicited to take office, he never did

so but once, being elected by a large majority, and serving

with much credit in the House of Bepresentatives in 1862.

In town and parish affairs he always maintained a lively

interest, and ever manifested a generous and practical public

spirit. He was a counselor of remarkable prudence, and

his kind sympathy and wise advice were continually effectual,

and have done much to relieve care, remove difficulties, and

adjust differences.

Although not a professed Christian, he was through his

life a firm believer in the distinctive doctrines of evan-

gelical religion, and a liberal and reliable supporter of all

the institutions of the Pospel. He was superintendent of

the first Sabbath-school in North Yarmouth. He was al-

ways a strict observer of the Sabbath, and, until infii-mities

intervened, his seat in the church was never vacant unless

professional duties called him from it. So far as possible)

he arranged his visits to allow him the Sabbath for its ap-

propriate uses, and for many years before he closed practice

he was in the habit of giving all he received for Sunday
calls to benevolent purposes. His children recall the earn-

estness and regularity with which he catechised them upon
religious topics, and his habitual explanation of the Scrip-

tures, as they read of a Sunday evening. He maintained

family worship regularly, conducting it personally whenever
he could.

A worthy man in all the relations of life, it would be safe

to say that no one during the last forty years of his life

more largely influenced the community in which he lived.

He married, Jan. 20, 1825, Miss Lucy B. Chase, of
North Yarmouth. Of this union were bom seven children

five of whom are living.
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William Osgood, M.D., eldest son of Amos and

Lucy B. Osgood, was born in North Yarmouth,

Nov. 12, 1825. He received his preparatory educa-

tion at the North Yarmouth Academy, entered Bow-

doin College in 1842, from which he graduated with

the usual honors in 1846. His medical education

was mostly received at Bowdoin and Harvard Medi-

cal Schools, and he received the degree of M.D. at

the former school in the spring of 1850. Since

graduating he has remained in continuous prac-

tice at North Yarmouth. He married, Nov. 20,

1860, Sarah E. Garamans, of Belfast, Me., of which

union have been bom two sons,—Henry A. and

George G.

Dr. William Osgood's skill and success in his pro-

fession have earned for him an exceptionally large

practice and a wide and well-deserved popularity.

Well read in the literature of medicine, and abreast

with the advances of the times in the science and

methods of the profession, he is an efficient and

honored member of the County and the State Medi-

cal Associations, having been chosen to official posi-

tions in these organizations. As a wise, kind, and

conscientious medical man, the qualities in which lies

the chief commendation of this vocation, those who
know him best hold him in highest esteem and re-

gard. A man of enlightened public spirit, he has,

notwithstanding the exacting demands of his profes-

sion, found time and inclination to take an important

part in promoting social, religious, and educational

interests.

His townsmen have confided to Dr. Osgood a lead-

ing share in the administration of their political and

municipal af&irs, and his discharge of the responsi-

bilities thus arising has met general acceptance, and

been marked by acknowledged enterprise, ability, and

integrity, while from time to time his fellow-citizens

have chosen him as their representative to decide and

direct in the wider relations of politics. Holding

ills opinions with a good degree of tenacity, opposi-

tion has sometimes, as was natural, manifested itself,

yet opponents allow his courtesy and candor, ami

admit that his positions are not assumed without

thoughtful consideration. Economy and judicious

management have given him a good measure of finan-

cial prosperity without working detriment to profes-

sional faithfulness.

Dr. Osgood has certainly won the right to be en-

rolled among the influential men of the county. The
endowments, energy, and diligence by which his thor-

ough education and subsequent professional standing

have been secured are a guarantee of larger activities

in the future, which shall continue to make good the

reputation of the family line for talent, usefulness,

and success.

In politics Dr. Osgood is a Republican, and in re-

ligious persuasion a Congregational ist. For twenty-

one years he was town clerk, served for several years

on the school committee, and is treasurer of the

North Yarmouth school fund. He is pension ex-

amining surgeon ; and, as vice-president of the State

and president of tlie County Medical Associations,

his acknowledged executive ability gave him merited

place among the members of those organizations.
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Loring, his ordination being celebrated in a sumptuous

manner, July 4, 1764. The last minister settled by the

town, in the old meeting-house, was Rev. Tristram Gilmun,

from Exeter, N. H., a graduate of Harvard College in

1757, who was ordained in November, 1769. Rev. David

Shepley, in speaking of Parson Oilman, says, ' Possessing

a vigorous frame, endowed with strong features in his

mental constitution, studious, evangelical, ever diligent and

enterprising in the studies of his calling, he soon obtained

uncommon ascendency over the minds of his peeple, rose to

eminence in the vicinity, and at his departure left his strong

impress on the place blessed by his long-continued and suc-

cessful labors and influence.'

"

In 1791 a general revival of religion occurred in the

neighborhood of Walnut Hill, which continued through

the year, and resulted in a petition, in 1794, from 130 men,

heads of families, for the formation of a separate parish, to

be called the Northwest Religious Society of North Tar-

mouth. The bounds included in the petition became those

of the town, by its incorporation in 1720.

NAVAL.

VESSELS CAPTURED BY THE FRENCH FROM 1796 TO

1800.

Brigs.—"Neptune," Capt. Bela Blanehard; and "Cassia," Capt.

Allen Drinkwater.

Schooumi,—"Union," Capt. Samuel Larrabee; "Retrieve," Capt.

Joseph Chandler; "Dispatch," Capt. William Cutter; "Centu-

rion," Capt. Philip Greely ;
" Lncretia," Capt. William Young.

Sloopa.—" Farmer," Capt. Asa Greely ;
" Jane," Capt. Nathaniel

Mitchell.

NORTH YARMOUTH PRIVATEERS.

The following is a list of the vessels sailed or partly

manned and owned by the people of North Yarmouth

previous to the close of the war of 1812-14, with the dates

of their commission

:

Schooner).—"Mary^" July 7, 1812, 22 tons, 2 guns, U men; Joseph

Stnrdivant, master; Reuben 6. York, mate. " Reaper," April

17, 1813, 206 tons, 6 carriage guns, 75 men; Ephraim Slurdivant,

master; Andrew Blanchard, mate. " Ilsley," 143 tons, 6 guns,

75 men ; Ephraim Sturdivant, master; Andrew Blanchard, mate.

"Pilot," July 9, 1813, 19 tons, 2 guns, 8 men; Joseph Sturdi-

vant, commander; John Underwood, lieutenant. "Lucy," Dee.

22, 1814, 25 tons, 1 carriage gun, 26 men ; John Babson, com-

mander; Perez Drinkwater, lieutenant. Also the "M^rs,"

" Morning Star," " Yankee," " St. Michael," " Favorite," " Lilly,"

" Partridge," " Rover," "Parrott," "Anson," " Revenge," "Su-

perb," "Orange," "Lively," "Washington," "Fly."

Brig:—" Rapid," " Leo," " Clio," " John Champlain," " Grand Turk,"

"Dash," Capt. William Cammet, first commander, 16 men; lost

at sea, under Capt. Porter, with all on board. " Leopard," com-

missioned May 29, 1813, 226 tons, 6 carriage guns, 22 men;

Phineas Drinkwater, commander; Benjamin Rich, lieutenant.

Sloop:—" Satisfaction," about 1798, 100 men ; John Stevens, captain

;

Joseph Drinkwater, first lieutenant and owner. " Razor," 3 tons,

1 carriage gun, 6 men; Joseph Sturdivant, owner and master.

Ship:—"T3.jier Ali;" " Invincible," previous to 1800 the " Fame,"

Capt. John Rush; "Butler," Capt. Elliott Doering; "George,"

Capt. '^Jonathan Stone; "Portland," Capt. David Harding;

" President," Capt. William Crabtree ;
" Portland," Capt. John

Dicks.

THE PRIVATEER SLOOP "SATISFACTION"

was purchased by Lieut. Joseph Drinkwater and fitted out

as a privateer, 1778. She cruised on the coast of Ireland,

and was in some engagements.

Officeri and Preir.—Captain, .John Stevens; first lieutenant. Joseph

Drinkwater: second liculmunt. Ji>hii Bartlett ; lieutenants of

marines, fi'st, Richard Thomas: second, Ezckiel Loring; master,

James Brown; surgeon, Thumns Flint; mate, Thomas Brewer;

prize-mates, Thomas Dolibcc, Benjamin Tucker, Nathaniel Lee;

boatswain, Samuel Knox; boatswain's mate, William Atkins;

gunner, Samuel Dunlap : gunners mate, William Patterson:

musicians, John Bartlett, Jr., druiutiier; John Wormstead, fifer;

steward, Nathaniel Pierce : cook, Joseph Brown ; carpenter,

Aaron Sutters; cooper, John Cumber; crew: Abel Bathorick,

Philip Beason, Eliaa Brinrs, Andrew Brewer, Thomas Brewer,

Increase Bleffin, David Carter, Daniel Chapman, John Caswell,

James Clerk, William Clark, Robert Deverie, John Dally, Ben-

jamin Dodd, John Ellis, Richard Evans, Amos Grant. John

Grant, John Green, John Gray, John Hilbert, Robert Ilnrslet,

Abijah Hitchins, Jonathan Harrick, John Hooper, John Ham-

mon, Benjamin James, Robert Johnson, James Jackson, Francis

Jarvis, Timothy Kimball, Edmund Langford, Downing Lee,

John Laroy, John Lewis, Francis Moscar, John Miller, Thomas

Mebrnid, William Murphy, Robert Nulling, Edward Newhall,

Robert Newhall, Nathaniel Nichols, James Nash, Edward Noah,

William Orehafd, Thomas Oliver, Andrew Peltroc, William Roe,

Sylvester Stevens, Jonathan Sawyer, Johu Scarlett, Nathaniel

Tibbetta, John Thates, David White, Allen Wliitford, James

Wheeler, Thomas Wormstead ; boys : John Bubien, captain's

clerk; Azariah Allen, James Dunlap, Amos Grandy, Beojamin

Hanover, Jacob Lucker, Nathaniel Pierce, Jr., John Price.

SOLDIERS OP THE REVOLUTION.

The following soldiers in Capt. Jolin Gray's company.

Col. Jonathan Mitchell's regiment, in the Penobscot Ex-

pedition, enlisted July 7 to Sept. 12, 1719 :

Captain, John Gray; first lieutenant, John Soule; second lieutenant,

Ozias Blanchard ; sergeants, Joseph Luden, James Pittee, Robert

Anderson, James Rogers; quartermaster's sergeant, Ezekiel Lor-

ing; corporals, Samuel Talbot, James Crocker, Calvin Carver,

John Winslow; musicians, Jacob Brown (drummer), David Wood-
ward, Jr. (fifer); privates, Nathaniel Aldrich, James Anderson,

Seth Blanchard, William Buxton, William Bradbury, Ephraim

Brown, Joseph Brewer, George Bartol, Thomas Burrows, Daniel

Carter, Amaziah Delano, John Davis, Joseph Davis, Abner Den-

nison, John Drinkwater, Jr., .losiah Dill, Benaiah Fogg, Joseph

Humphrey, Amos Harris, Ezekiel Hackctt, Josh Lake, John Lee,

Samuel Lawrence, Nathaniel Mitchell, Daniel Mitchell, Jr., Levi

Marston, Jacob Merrill, Jr., John Oakcs, Thomas Pearson, Jr.,

Edward Parker, James Pomeroy, Isaac Royal, William Ring,

Moses Roberts, Josiah Reed, .John Sweetser, Barnabas Soule,

Richard Stubbs, Thomas Sylvester, William Soule, William True,

Burril Tuttle, Zebulon Tuttle, Jonathan True, Edward Titcomb,

Jr., Comfort Videto, Benjamin Winslow, Josiah Wyman, Daniel

Worthly, Peter Wear, Joseph Williams, Nathaniel Weeks.

The following signed receipts for blankets delivered them

by the town committee when with their commands in the

Continental army, April 12, 1777 :

William Adkinson, Daniel Brown, Benjamin Brown, Moses Brown,

James Curtis, Nathan Johnson, William Lawrence, John Law-
rence, Joseph Lincoln, John Mitchell, Jacob Royal, Samuel Win-

throp Royal, William Royal, Starbird Turner, Jonathan True.

Jacob Bradbury, aged sixteen, Capt. Blanchard's company. Col. Rus-

sell's regiment, enlisted March 28, 1781.

Capt. Samuel Larrabee, Dr. David Jones, surgeon.

John Baghdineer, aged eighteen, Capt. Soule 's company, Col. Russell's

regiment, enlisted Jan. 9, 1782.

Samuel Baker, aged nineteen, Capt. Brown's company, Col. RuaseU's

regiment, enlisted Jan. 8, 1782.

Joseph Towns, Capt. Brown's company. Col. Russell's regiment, en-

listed March 7, 1782.

WAR OF 1812.

The following enlisted September, 1814, and were as-

signed to Port Burroughs

:
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Captain, Daniel Mitchell ; lieutenant, Amasa Baker ; ensign, Benja-

min Herrick; sergeants, Jeremiah Mitchell, Jacob Blaochard,

John Trae, Nathaniel Bacon, William Waistcoat; corporals, John

Soule, Cashing Prince, Benben Brown, John M. Kussell ; musi-

cians, Fhineas Soule (drummer), Asa Bisbee (Sfer); privates,

Elisha Allen, Isaao Allen, John Bracket, Cyras Blanchard, Joseph

Barton, Ephraim Batchelder, Rafns Batchelder, Darid Bosworth,

James Brown, Samuel Beak, John Cloogh, John W. Collins,

Eben Corliss, Benjamin Delano, Exekiel Delano, Tristram Drink-

water, John R. Drinkwater, Ammi Dennison, Beiyamin fogg,
Jacob Faror, David Gray, Joseph Griffin, Stephen Hall, ^yilla^d

Ball, Ebeneier Jordan, John Kelly, Gershom Lincoln, Seth L.

Lnfkin, Seth Lambert, William Leighton, Charles Loring, Levi

Lang, Joseph Low, Daniel Mitchell, Jr., John Meservey, Timo-
thy Mitchell, Samnel Merrill, Thomu Marston, Robert C. Max-
well, Thomas Namn, John Newbegin, Benjamin Porter, James
Parker, Richard Parker, William Parker, Reuben Reed, Win-
throp Royall, Samnel Soule, Isaao Scale, Isaac Skillings, David

Shaw, William Smith, Levi Sweetsir, Salathiel Sweetsir, Samuel

Sweetair, John Swaiey, John Snell, Daniel Staples, Reuben Skill-

ings, James Skillings, Enos Sawyer, Benjamin Soule, William

Thompson, Edward Thompson, Benaiah Titcomb, Jr., Enoch Tit-

comb, Benaiah Titcomb, William Tyler, Zebnlon Tyler, Bailey

Talbot, Alpha Trebou,.Jacob Winslow, James Whitney, Lemuel

Wyman, Asa Worthley, John Whitcomb, Jeremiah Walker, John
Whitehoase, John Young.

TABHOUTH QUARDS.

The following enlisted Sept. 11 to 18, 1814, and were

assigned to Lieat.-Col. Samuel Baker's command

:

Corporals, Solomon Winslow, John Seabnry, Benjamin Pratt, William

Seabury, Francis Yeaton, Levi H. Moulton, Solomon Winslow,

Philip Lorry, William M. Drinkwater, John Sargeant, David

Lawrence, John Pierce, Enos Storer, Simeon Prince, Ammi R.

Mitchell, Jeremiah Blaisdell, John Winslow; privates, John

Blanchard, ITathaniel Beals, Benjamin Brown, James Bishop,

William Batchelder, Ephraim Batchelder, Ebenezer Corliss,

Charles Cutter, John R. Drinkwater, William C. Davis, Ammi
Davis, Jeremiah Davis, James Field, Joseph Grouse, Rufus

Gooch, Thomas Goooh, Benjamin Gooch, Rnfas Goooh (2d), Reu-

ben Humphrey, Samnel Hatch, Jeremiah Loring, Samuel Lovell,

George Lewis, Jeremiah Mitchell, William Pettee, John Prescott,

John. Pierce, John Ross, Peter Ross, Isaao Ross, John Russell,

William Sampson, David Seabnry, Henry S. Swazey, Nathaniel

Swaiey, Bei(jamin Seabury, Charles Stnbbs, Peter Scott, Samuel

True, Jaoob True, Edward True, Bradbury True, Bradbury True,

Jr., Nathaniel True, Benaiah Titcomb, Joseph Thomas, Thomas

Wentworth, John Winslow, Thomu Wade, John Wilson, John

Young.

May 4, 1812, Joseph Thomas, Isaiah Mitchell, Thomas Gooch, Joseph

Smith.

July 20, 1814, Benjamin Seabury, Joseph Smith.

Sept. 8, 1814, Asa Bisbee, fifer, and the compony required to be in

readiness.

Detached fi-om the Militia for Active Service.—Capt. Edward Brewer,

Capt. Joseph Batchelder, Lieut. James Brewer, Lieut.-Col. Sam-

uel Baker, Capt. Jacob Chase, Sergt.-Maj. John Hayes, Capt.

Jacob Johnson, Capt. Seth Mitchell, Capt. Jacob Merrill, Maj.

George Rogers, Capt. Benj. Soule; Ensigns Israel True, Nathan

Weston ; Capts. SklUins, Leighton, Dennison.

OTISFIELD.

GEANT OF THE TOWN.

The town of Otisfield originally extended to Harrison

village and the outlet of Long Pond, and, including the

greater part of Harrison and Naples, was originally granted

to the offioen and soldiers of Capt. John Gorham's com-

pany, in 1771, for services in the Canada expedition of

1690. Thirty families were to be settled within six years,

a meetiog-honse built, and four shares of one sixty-fourth

each of the lands of the grant were to be set aside for the

grammar school, Harvard College, for the first settled

minister, and for a perpetual fund for the support of the

ministry.

The unsettled state of public afikirs delayed settlement

until after the war, when returned soldiers, inured to

hardship and privttion, sought homes in the new country

" to the eastward of Saco River."

In 1774, James Prescott and Stephen Grorham were sent

irom Boston to compel the town of Raymond to fix the

boundary lines between the two towns ; and Geoige Peirce

was induced to build a mill at Edes' Falls, then in the

southern part of Otisfield, as an encouragement to settlers.

" In the confusion of the times occasioned by the British

invasion, in 1775, the proprietors' book was lost." So reads

the first page of the subsequent record. In October, 1776,

a meeting of the proprietors was held at " The Bunch of

Grapes," in Boston, and a second drawing for lots took place,

in which lot 116 was drawn for the college, 120 for the

ministerial, and 71 for the school fund.~ It was then voted

that the town previously calledj' Parkerstown" be given the

name of Otisfield, and G;':orge Peirce be appointed to survey

and establish the lines of the lots.

FIRST SETTLEES.

The land comprised a dense forest, approachable only on

foot or by boats, rising in high broken ridges, between which
were numerous ponds, confined above their natural level by
the industrious beaver, whose dams still mark the old " mea-
dows," or remain secreted in the timber at the outlet of the

remaining ponds, which has grown since they were aban-

doned. Benjamin Patch arrived at Mr. Peirce's May 17,

1776, after a four days' journey from Groton, Mass., making
that his home while hunting and trapping beaver in the

ponds and meadows. In 1779 he selected lot 92, on the

western slope of the high hill now known as Meeling-House
Hill, as his future home, spent the fall in clearing land,

piled his log heaps while boiling sugar the next spring, and
in June of 1780 planted the first crop raised in the town.

Daniel Cobb, who was driven from Naples through fear
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of iDdians, moved in the same spring, and located on the

top of the hill. His son, the late Rev. William G. Cobb,

born at Edes' Falls, Oct. 14, 1779, and Levi, sou of Ben-

jamin Patch, born Nov. 21, 1782, were competitors for the

prize of 100 acres of land donated to the first male child

born in the town. The land was awarded to Levi Patch,

as an actual resident. He was afterwards the first postmaster

of Otisfield.

In 1778, Joseph Spurr, with his sons, Enoch and Samuel,

settled at Spurr's Corners. Zebulon Knight settled on the

hill near Mr. Cobb, and was joined by Jonathan Moors, an

old soldier, in 1779, Noah sipd Samuel Reed locating a

mile to the northeast about the same time. Ebenezer Kemp
and John Fife also came in 1779.

A committee was sent to Otisfield during this year, to see

if the conditions of the grant were being complied with,

and in 1780 Dr. Davis Ray was sent to erect a saw- and

grist-mill. In the woods, a few rods below Mr. Holden's

mills (where the outlet of Saturday Pond flows through a

crevice in the rock, then takes a plunge of thirty feet), these

mills, the first in the town, were evected. This became the

central place for business, and at one time supported two

stores, but the mill was suffered to decay, and, after 1845,

the business was transferred to Bolster's Mills and Spun''s

Comers.

Lieut. Joseph Hancock (a cousin of John Hancock, of

the Continental Congress) settled, with his two sons, Joseph,

Jr., and Thomas, at the head of Parker (now Pleasant) Pond

,

where his grandson, C. F. Hancock's store, now is. Thomas,

David, and Daniel Thurston located, in 1779, beside the

beaver meadow, a mile south of the Spurrs ; Mrs. Thurston

attending at the birth of William G. Cobb in that year.

Samuel Whiting located in the south part of the town, and

in 1782 Mark Knight came. The proprietors were noti-

fied that their lands would be sold at auction for not being

settled. More time was finally granted, and in 1784 Joseph

Wight settled at the head of a beaver meadow, near " the

willow-tree," with his sons, Joseph, Jr., Benjamin, Thomas,

and Nathan. Samuel Soribner settled on Scribner's Hill,

in the south ; Jonathan Britton and Benjamin (father of

Joseph and Ireson) Green northwest of Saturday Pond
;

and in 1787 David Kneeland, Samuel Gammon, and Deacon

Stephen Phinney had joined the settlement.

On petition of Dr. Davis Bay, Benjamin Patch, Joseph

Hancock, Jonathan Moors, and Samuel Gammon, a meeting

was held. May 15, 1787, at the house of Deacon Phinney, to

organize a plantation government. The officers chosen were

David Ray, moderator of the meeting; Joseph Wight, Jr.,

clerk ; David Ray, Benjamin Patch, Noah Reed, assessors
;

Jonathan Moors, collector.

In 1795 the following persons had also become residents

of the plantation : Joseph Cotes, Nathaniel and William

Edwards, William Gammon, Elias and Rowland Hancock

(a second family of the name, who settled south of Bolster's

Mills), Oliver Hapgood, Stephen Johnson, Robert and

Henry Knight, Ebenezer Kollock, David Mayberry, Joseph

Morse, Dan. Morse (the first blacksmith in the town),

Edward Scribner (who came in 1791) and his sons Joseph,

John, Samuel, and Willoughby (settled on the highest land

in the south of the town), Jonathan Smith, John Sawyer,

44

Elisha, Thaddeus, and Simeon Turner, George Walker,

Zachariah and Thomas Weston, Nathan Haskell ; in 1796,

Ichabod Whitham, Nathan Nutting, John Holden ;
and by

1803, Thomas Edes, Dennis Lovewell, William Anderson,

John and Richard Lombard, Barney and Thomas Sawyer,

Benjamin Stevens, Timothy Jordan, I'eter and Samuel

Wardwell ; Zaoh. Morton, Robert Anderson, Edwin, Joseph,

and Daniel Scribner were annexed, with their lands joining

Oxford County, formerly called Philip's Gore, in 1803.

In 1795 there were but 15 houses and 19 barns in the

town ; George Peirce owned 2 horses, and 19 others owned

1 each. Among the 66 voters there were but 226 acres

of cleared land, exclusive of the beaver meadows which

had been partially drained, and furnished excellent pasture

or hay. A careful canvass, made in the fall of that year,

shows the entire potato crop to have been 86 bushels.

Many of the early settlers were soldiers of the Revolu-

tion, and the greater number from the vicinity of Groton,

Mass. In 1812 their descendants readily anticipated the

need of the government for troops, and chose Capt. Daniel

Holden, Grenfill Blake, Oliver Pierce, Silas Blake, and Ben-

jamin Wight a committee of safety. A patriotic pledge,

breathing the spirit of the great declaration, was signed,

and the citizens responded cheerfully to the first call for

troops with men already organized as minute-men. The

oldest settler is John Edwards, who came in 1816, camped

three years, brought his family in 1819, and is still living

in the north part of the town at the age of ninety-one years.

PLACES OF HISTORIC INTEREST.

On the high hill where Daniel Cobb and Jonathan Moors

settled, and the first two children were born, the fii-st church,

since replaced by a more modern one, was erected in 1797.

Saturday, Pleasant, and Thompson's Ponds, and the distant

Sebago Lake, were the only openings then visible in the

wide expanse of timbered valley now broken by farms and

numerous villages, and the high range of hills circling the

county to the north and west were barely visible through

the tops of the surrounding trees. Across the road the

well-filled churchyard, selected by the proprietors as a bury-

ing-ground in 1781, contains the remains of Major Moors,

Joseph Wight, Benjamin Patch, and Levi Patch, the first

child of Otisfield ; Dr. David Ray, first physician of Otis-

field ; Samuel Scribner, Joseph Weston, " a soldier of the

Revolution," and many other early settlers. The first male

child born in the town—Elder Wm..G. Cobb—rests in the

little cemetery south of East Otisfield, beside Pleasant Pond,

with the early dead of his family. Half a mile or more to

the south is the old first church, deeded to the town in 1845,

and moved to its present position by Capt. Otis Femald,

Capt. Roland Holden, and Lyman Nutting, who removed

the lower portion, but lefl the main features. Still farther

to the south, but in sight of the town-house, a large willow-

tree spreads its branches over the road.

Rev. Thomas Roby, the first minister, brought from Mas-

sachusetts two willow-sticks, when he first came to Otisfield

in 1796. One he cut in pieces and planted on his own

farm, the ministerial lot, between Johnson Knight's corner

and Ray's mill. The other he gave to Mrs. Abigail Wight,

who cut it in three pieces, two of which she planted on her
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own place. The third she gave Dr. Joseph Wight, who
planted it in front of hb residence. The latter is the tree

referred to at the close of the preceding paragraph.

The South Otisfield cemetery is honored by the grave of

William Edwards, one of the first settlers, who died in

1847; aged ninety-fonr years, and others who shared with

him the hardships of pioneer life.

At Spurr's Comers, Mark Knight and David Thurston

each donated half an acre of land, previous to 1801, to

form the ground where they are buried. . A smaller yard,

two miles to the west, was opened after.

Elmwood Cemetery, near the church at Ray's Mill, com-

prises three acres of land donated by Deacon Eliphilas

Wight. It was incorporated in 1869, and is the most

beautiful cemetery in the town. The other principal bury-

ing-grounds are the Scribner ground, south of East Otisfield,

containing many old granite stones with the simple initials

and date, among which is " E-S" (Edwin Scribner) " A-
G-101-". The East Otisfield cemetery of the Wight

family, and the North Otisfield, where are buried John and

Capt. Elisha Lombard, David Sawyer, Timothy Jordan, and

other pioneers. There is also an old cemetery two miles

north of East Otisfield, and a small family ground a few

rods east, near the lake, containing the grave of Nathaniel

Lamb, who died in 1850, aged seventy-one.

VILLAGES.

EAST OTISrtEU),

on Thompson's Pond, contains the saw-, grist-, and shingle-

mill of Stephen D. Jilson, established 1850, on the site of

the old Scribner mill, J. D. Wight's blacksmith-shop, store

of Horace A. Hall, established 1828, a school-house, and

six dwellings. Mails are received by stage tri-weekly, con-

necting with Oxford and Portland. Horace A. Hall, post^

master.

bolster's hills,

in Otisfield, contains ten dwellings, I. H. Stuart's lumber-

mill, the Hancock House, M. Hancock, established 1859,

and F. Chute's blacksmith-shop. It is a part of the main
^ village in the adjoining town of Harrison.

spubb's cobnbrs,

the Otisfield post-office, contains a church, school, the

store of R. G. Scribner, closed in 1878, 17 dwellings.

Bangs & Co.'s clothing manufactory, established 1871, shoe-

shop of Benjamin Stone, Jr., established 1874, and half a

mile east of the corner the store of C. F. Hancock, estab-

lished 1849, and the carriage-shop of E. A. Holbrook.

Mails from Oxford Mondays, Wednesdays, and Fridays,

and from Portland the alternate days. R. G. Scribner,

postmaster.

Nearly three miles south, on the Mayberry place, is the

Oriental Mineral Spring, a new and popular resort for

invalids.

INCORPORATION.

In pursuance of the act of incorporation of the town of

Otisfidd, passed by the Massachusetts L^lature Feb. 19,

1798, a warrant was issued to Benjamin Patch, yeoman,

for a meeting to be held at the public meeting-house. May

28, 1798. At this meeting, David Ray was chosen Mod-

erator ; Enoch Spurr, Clerk ; David Ray, Pelatiah March,

Zebulon Knight, Selectmen and Assessors; Lieut. Mark

Knight, Treasurer; George Peirce, Esq., Constable and

Collector ; Elijah Turner, David Mayberry, Tithing-Men
;

Capt. P. March, Jonathan Moots, Nathan Burnam, Fence-

Viewers.

A strip, 410 rods wide, was annexed to the northeast side

in 1 803 ; that part of the original grant west of Crooked

River was taken off in 1805 ; a part of Naples was taken

off in 1834 ; and 47 acres were added to the east in 1858.

The surface, which is low, broken, and well timbered, in-

cludes Little, Moose, Saturday, and the greater part of

Pleasant Pond. Otisfield is the most . northerly town in

Cumberland County. It is bounded on the north by Nor-

way, in Oxford County, on the east by Oxford, Thompson's

Pond, and between 350 and 400 acres of land not incor-

porated in any town,* on the south by Casco and Naples,

and on the west by Harrison, Crooked River forming the

boundary line.

CIVIL LIST.

SELECTMEN.

ASSESSORS OF OTISFIELD PLANTATION.

1787—David Ray, Benjamin Hatch, Noah Reed.

1788.—David Ray, Zebulon Knight, Benjamin Patch.

1789.—The same were said to have held over.

1790.—David Ray, Zebulon Knight, Jonathan Moors.

1791.—The same were said to have held over.

1792-93.—David Ray, Zebulon Knight, Bei^'amin Patch.

1794.—Joseph Wight, Jr., Enoch Spurr, David Thurston.

1795.—Joseph Wight, Jr., David Thurston, Jonathan Britton.

1796-97.—David Ray, Samuel aamifton, Capt. Pelatiah March.

SELECTUEir OF THE TOWS OF OTISFIELD.

1798.—David Ray, Pelatiah March, Zebulon Knight.

1799.—Capt. Pelatiah March, David Thurston, Jonathan Britton.

1800.—Pelatiah March, Enoch Spurr, Daniel Holden.

1801-2.—Enoch Spurr, Daniel Holden, Nathaniel Burnam.
1803.—Lieut. Daniel Holden, Dr. Sireno Burnell, Lieut. Robert An-

derson, Samuel Scribner, David Thurston.
1804.—Benjamin Wight, David Ray, Pelatiah March.
1805.— Enoch Spurr, Zebulon Knight, Capt. Robert Anderson.
1806.—Enoch Spurr, Benjamin Wight, Robert Anderson.
1807.—Enoch Spurr, Zebulon Knight, Benjamin Wight.
1808.—Enoch Sparr, Stephen Knight, Robert Anderson.
1809-10—Daniel Holden, Stephen Knight, Robert Anderson.

1811.—Daniel Holden, Enoch Spurr, Grinfill Blake.

1812-13.—Daniel Holden, Enoch Spurr, Benjamin Wight.

1814-17.—Orinfill Blake, Daniel Holden, Thomas B. Chambers.
1818—Grinflll Blake, Nathan Wight, Oliver Peirce, Esq.

1819.—Nathan Wight, Francis Chute, Silas Blake.

1820.—Qrinail Blake, Oliver Peirce, Benjamin Wight.
1821.—Benjamin Wight, Oliver Peirce, Enoch Spurr.

1822—Benjamin Wight, Thomas Shedd, Oliver Peirce.

1823.—Benjamin Wight, Thomas Shedd, Francis Chute.
1824.—Thomas Shedd, Roland Holden, Francis Chute.
1825.—Jonathan Britton, Roland Holden, Benjamin Holden.
1826.—Thomas Shedd, Benjamin Wight, Roland Holden.
1827.—Roland Holden, John Phipps, John Linnell.

1828.—Roland Holden, Thomas Shedd, John Phipps.

1829.—Roland Holden, Oliver Hancock, Jonathan Britton.

1830.—Roland Holden, Benjamin Wight, Wyatt Turner.
1831-32.—Roland Holden, Wyatt Turner, Harvey Mayberry.
1833.—Henry Holden, Samuel R. Anderson, Jefferson Bray.
1834.—Roland Holden, Henry Holden, John Hancock.

•The land "unassigned to any town" is the property of Dominicus
J. Edwards, and has had no resident owner for some years. It com-
prises 347 acres, on the west side of Thompson's Pond, which has never
been taxed.



TOWN OF OTISFIELD. 347

1836.—Roland Holdcn, Harvey Jlajberry, Francis Chute.

1S36.—John llancook, Jesse Ilolden, Oliver Spurr.

1S.37.—John Hancocli, Joseph Hall, Daniel Weston.

1838.—John Haneoek, Daniel Weston, Henry Uolden.

1839 John Hancock, Henry Holden, George W. Burrows.

1840.—John Hancock, Paul Stone, George W. Burrows.

1S41.—John Hancock, Robinson Cook, David Andrews.

1842.—John Hancock, Robinson Cook, Henry Holden.

IS43.—Robinson Cook, Paul Stone, Samuel P. Hancock.

1844.—John Hancock, Samuel P. Anderson, James Wight.

184S.—John Hancock, George P. Holden, Daniel Weston, David

Andrews, Stephen Rioh.'^

1846.—John Hancock, David Andrews, George P. Holden.

1847.—John Hancock, Dan. Shedd, David Andrews.

1848.—John Hancock, David Andrews, William E. F. Linnell.

1849.—Daniel Wedton, Samuel Chambers, Samuel Spurr.

1850.—Williom E. F. Linnell, Samuel Spurr, Daniel Holden.

1851.—Daniel Weston, Robinson Cook, Ebenezer C. Andrews.

1S52.—Daniel Weston, E. C. Andrews, William Lamb.
1853.—Robinson Cook, William Lamb, Johnson E. Lovewell.

1854.—William Lamb, Johnson W. Knight, Joseph Green.

1855.—Daniel Weston, S. L. Andrews, Alpheus B. Lovewell.

1856.—William Lamb, William Smith, Francis Holden.

1857.—William C. Smith, Asa Andrews, J. K. Lovewell.

1858—Johnson K. Lovewell, Mark Knight (2d), William Haskell.

1859.—William Lamb, J. K. Lovewell, William H. Lord.

1860.—William Lamb, William H. Lord, Johnson W. Knight.

1861.—William H. Lord, Edward Soribner, Jesse F. Holden.

1862.—William H. Lord, Johnson W. Knight, Jonathan Wardwell.

1863.—William Lamb, Daniel Holden, Jonathan Wardwell.

1864.—Daniel Holden, Jonathan Wardwell, Jr., Darius Jordan.

1865.—E. C. Andrews, A. B. Lovewell, Daniel Holden.

1866.—Robinson Cook, David D. Scribner, Joseph S. Mayberry.

1867.—David D. Scribner, Daniel Holden, E. J. Sylvester.

1368.—David D. Scribner, Albert F. Nutting, Daniel L. Brett.

1889.—A. F. Nutting, D. D. Scribner, Joseph S. Mayberry.

1870.—Joseph S. Mayberry, David Andrews, Johnson Knight.

1871^—Johnson K. Lovewell, Daniel Holden, James Maines.

1872.-7Johnson E. Lovewell, Daniel Holden, James Maines.

1873.—Johnson K. Lovewell, James Maines, Moses Hancock.

1874.—Jonathan Wardwell, Daniel Holden, James W. Holden.

1875.—Jonathan Wardwell, Jr., James Maines, H. H. Huntress.

1876.—Albert F. Nutting, H. H. Huntress, Femald J. Sawyer.

1377.-Albert F. Nutting, S. C. Barrows, Benjamin S. Skillings.

1878.—Jonathan Wardwell, Hosea H. Huntress, Benjamin S. Skillings.

1879.—Hosea H. Huntress, Daniel- L. Brett, Femald J. Sawyer.

CLERKS.

PLASTATIOX.

Joseph Wight, Jr., 1787-90 ; Enoch Spurr, 1792-93 ; Benjamin Wight,

1794-95; George Peirce, 1796; John Holden, 1797-98.

TOWX.

Enoch Spurr, 1798-1802; Sireno Burnell, 1803; Enoch Spurr, 1804

-8; Levi Patch, 1809-17; Thomas B. Chambers, 1818; Levi

Patch, 1819-45; Benjamin Patch, 1346-48; Johnson W. Knight,

1849-50; Lewis H. Sawyer, 1851-55; Mark Knight, 1856; Mark

Knight (2d), 1357-68; Lewis H. Sawyer, 1369-63; Albert F.

Nutting, 1864-67 ; R. G. Scribner, 1868 ; Rosooe T. Green, 1369

-72; Russell G. Scribner, 1873 ; Silas Morton, 1874-77; Horace

A. Hall, 1373-79.

TREASITRERS.

PLANTATIOK.

Lieut. David Ray, 1794; Ellas Hancock, 1795; Lieut. Mark Knight,

1798; Benjamin Patch, 1797.

Towy.

Lieut. Mark Knight, 1793; Benjamin Patch, 1799-1300; David

Thurston, 1801-6; Thomas B. Chambers, 1307-3; Benjamin

Wight, 1809; Daniel Holden, 1810-16; Thomas B. Chambers,

* Through a misunderstanding on first ballot, David Andrews and

Stephen Rich were sworn in, and the whole five candidates served

through the year, though bitter political opponents.

1817; Silas Blake, lSIS-19; Thomas B. Chambers, 1S20-21 :

Silas Blake, 1S22-27: John Phipjis, 1328; Samuel P. Anderson,

1829-31; Silas Blake, 1832; Merrill Knight, 1833-37; Thomas

B. Chambers, 1838; John Phipps, 1S39-40; Dan. Shedd, 1841;

Merrill Knight, 1342; Samuel Chambers, 1843; Thomas Chute,

1844-46; Samuel Chambers, 1847-50: Samuel Chambers, 1851

-54; Lewis H. Sawyer, 1855; Johnson K. Lovewell, 1856-57;

Samuel Chambers, 1853; Lewis H. Sawyer, 1859-61; Silas D.

Andrews, 1862-71 ; William Lamb, 1372-79.

COLLECTORS.

I'LA^TATIOX.

Jonathan Moors, 178T; Stephen Knight, 1783-93; Benjamin Patch

and Stephen Knight, 1794; Stephen Knight, 1795; Jonathan

Moors, 1796-97; Stephen Knight, 1793.

George Peirce, Esq., 1793-1800; Stephen Knight, 1801-2: Capt.

Jonathan Moors, 1803 ; Stephen Knight, 1804 ; John Sawyer,

Stephen Knight (vacancy), 1805; Nathan Wight, 1306; Capt.

Daniel Holden, col., Stephen Knight, cons., 1807; Benjamin

Stevens, 1303; Stephen Knight, 1809; Or. Silas Blake, 1310:

Maj. .Jonathan Moors, 1311-13; Ephraim Kneeland, 1814; Col.

Francis Chute, 1815-21; Nathan Wight, 1822; Capt. Joseph

Haskell, 1323; Horatio Wight, 1824; Harvey Mayberry, 1825;

Horatio Wight, 1326: Harvey Mayberry, 1827-23; Robert Edes,

1829-30 ; Emery Edes, 1831 ; Merrill Knight, Thomas J. Carter,

cons., 1332; Merrill Knight, Thomas J. Carter, cons., 1S33;

Mark Knight, 1334 ; Moors Hancock, 1835 ; Moses Hancock,

Reuben Sampson (vacancy), 1836; Reuben Sampson, 1837;

Mark Wight, Henry Holden (vacancy), cons., 1838 ; James G.

Warren, 1839; Dan. Shedd, 1340-41: Moses Rogers, 1842-43

;

Dan. Shedd, 1844-46; Job Morton, 1347 ; Dan. Shedd, Job Morton

(vacancy), 1843 ; Thomas Shedd, 1849 ; William C. Smith, 1850
;

Francis Holden, 1851; William' C. Smith, 1852-56; Johnson W.
Knight, 1857-53 ; William C. Smith, 1859 ; Joseph W. Holden,

1860-61; George F. Andrews, 1862; David D. Scribner, 1363

-64; B. F. Skillings, 1365; Darius Jordan, 1866-67; Moses D.

Andrews, 1863-70; Daniel L. Brett, 1871-73; Eostman Bean,

1874-75; .lohnson Knight, 1 376-77; Zebulon Knight, 1878-79.

CHUKCHES.

CONGREGATIONALIST.

Id 1794 the inhabitants of Otisfield agreed to build a

meeting-house, and join with the proprietors in hiring a

preacher. Funds were collected, and the first church in

the town was erected on the hill just to the east of the

present one. In 1796, Re?. Thomas Koby came from

Massachusetts and began preaching to the settlers. A
council convened at the house of Dr. David Ray, Nov. 23,

1797. Rev. Mr. Webster, of Bradford, was chosen chairman,

and Rev. Mr. Merritt, of Standish, scribe. Rev. Mr. Jewell,

of Gorham, was also present. Thomas Thurston, George

Pierce, Elisha Turner, Joseph Hancock, Joseph Spurr,

Elias Hancock, Merriam, William, and Enoch Spurr were

the first members. Rev. Mr. Roby was installed pastor,

and continued to fill that position until Sept. 4, 1810.

Elias Hancock was made deacon in 1798. During this

year the church attempted by a unanimous vote to dis-

miss Rev. Mr. Roby, for intemperance, but failed in their

efforts, and a compromise was effected. George Pierce,

Benjamin Patch, and David Thurston were appointed a

committee to finish the church, which was done by June,

1800, at a total cost of £186 12s. In 1797 persons

began to register their names with the clerk of the town

to be released from this church, and new members were
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joined to the society each year. A second meeting-house

was built beside the first in 1839, by Silas Blake, Samuel

P. Anderson, and Levi Patch, committee, and the old one

given up for the use of the town officers, who had shared

in its use since its erection. Perez Chaplain became

church clerk in 1810. Rev. Josiah G. Merrill was pastor

from November, 1814, to November, 1830 ; Rev. James P.

Richardson, from October, 1833, to July, 1858, and was

succeeded by Rev. Wm. Davenport, in 1862. Philo B.

Wilcox was pastor from October, 1865, to 1870 ; Charles

Morgridge, 1870 and 1871 ; Rev. H. A. Loring, June,

1873-74 ; Warren F. Bickford, 1875 ; Geo. H. Dunlap,

1876; Daniel Green, 1877. Present deacon and clerk,

Silas Morton. This church joined with the Free-Will

Baptists in the support of their pastor. Rev. J. M. Pease,

in 1878.

FEEE-WILL BAPTIST OHUECH.

In 1799, Deacon Daniel Cobb, Chitman Cobb, Nephtali

Cobb, and Jonathan Pepper were given certificates of ex-

emption frvm the Congregational parish, and in 1802,

James Gerrish, John Scribner, Eleazer Chadboume, " so-

ciety clerk," and Rev. Zachariah Leach are mentioned in

the town records, and in 1804, Joseph Gates and Daniel

Scribner. Rev. James McOrson was pastor in 1804. The
church failed for want of support, and was again oi^nized

Nov. 16, 1823, in a council which convened at the house

of Rev. William G. Cobb. Andrew, Jonathan, and Han-

nah Cobb, Eunice Morse, Betsey and Nancy Winship, were

organized into a church, and Andrew Cobb was made clerk.

Tba next spring a reformation added many to the church.

Rev. Mr. Cobb was succeeded in 1831 by Rev. James

Libby, who was succeeded by Rev. Gideon Perkins, in

1833. Wm. G. Cobb remained with the church until his

death in 1850, at the age of seventy years. He was con-

verted at the age of twenty-two, and baptized by Rev. Mr.

Leach, in 1801. He preached his first sermon March 27,

1808. He was ordained in 1824, and continued to preach

until his death. Rev. Solon Royal assumed the pastorato

in 1857 ; John Pinkham, 1860 ; Hubbard Chandler, 1862

-to 1865. The church was reorganized in 1869, under the

pastorate of Rev. Joseph Hutchinson, who was succeeded in

1872 by the present pastor. Rev. J. M. Pease, who holds

services in the Free-Will Baptist church at East Otisfield,

the Congr^ationalist church and the Union churches at

Spnrr's Corners, and east of Pleasant Pond. Deacons

Andrew Cobb, 1830; John Winship, Stephen Edwards,

1834 ; Albert Kemp, 1869 ; William Lamb, 1870. Da-

rius Jordan has been church clerk from 1843 to 1879.

The present membership is 71.

Officers.—John M. Pease, Pastor ; William Lamb,

Albert Kemp, Deacons ; Darius Jordan, Clerk, and ex

officio Trustee.

A free meeting-house was erected at East Otisfield by

Thomas Jordan, John Knight, John Phipps, Methodist,

and Henry Holden, Oliver Hancock, Baptist, trustees, at

an expense of $1036, and dedicated by Revs. Clement

Phinney, Z. Jordan, and Stephen Waterhouse, Jan. 9,

1829. This became the property of the Baptist Society

in 1869, and was rededicated by Rev. B. F. Hayes, of

Bates College.

The Union church at Spurr's Corners was dedicated

Jan. 18, 1871, by Rev. Dr. Harris, of the Auburn, Me.,

Congregationalist Church, and Rev. L. B. Green. Trus-

tees in 1879, H. P. Spurr, E. J. Sylvester, Jonathan

Ingalls.

THE SOUTH OTISFIELD OENEBAL BAPTIST CHURCH

was organized in the South Otisfield school-house, June

16, 1857, by Rev. John A. Bridge and Rev. James S.

Potter. Edward Scribner was made deacon, and John C.

Smith clerk. Among the first members were Mrs. Scrib-

ner, A. J. Scribner, Lydia Lunt, Louis Smith, Sarah Bur-

gess, Dorcas Edwards, Harriet Scribner, Deborah Smith.

Preaching has been supplied by Revs. Walter Parker,

Thomas Strout, 0. Gammon, N. L. Robinson. Nathan

Maxfield was made trustee of the association in January,

1878. Their church was erected in 1874, a short distance

east of Pleasant Pond, near the Casco line. It is at present

occupied by Rev. Mr. Pease, of the Free-Will Baptist

Church.
SCHOOLS.

In 1798, Jonathan Moors, David Thurston, and Ben-

jamin Pateh were appointed a committee to dispose of

timber on the school lands. That on lot 15 was sold for

$236 ! In 1800, $70 were voted for the support of schools.

The next year a school-house was built on the hill, and

Joel Simmons taught the school of 1802—3. William

Swan taught school as early as 1794—95. By act of Legis-

lature a committee was appointed to divide the ministerial

and school lands in accordance with the division which

made the town of Harrison. David Ray was made chair-

man of the board of five trustees for Otisfield, with power

to elect their successors annuaUy ; Nepthali Harmon was

chairman of the similar organization in Harrison. The

school appropriations have gradually increased from $300

in 1813; $524 in 1842 ; $600 in 1854; $725 in 1860, to

$1200 in 1868. In 1819 the school fund was $2361.50.

In 1826 the town comprised 9 districts and 506 children.

There were, in 1879, 13 districts, one of which is a joint

district with Harrison, 9 wood and 3 brick school-houses,

valued at $2300, and 308 school children, 251 of whom
attended school ; $1503 have been expended for their sup-

port during the year, oi which $880 was from tax, and

$141 frvm interest on the school fund. The schools have

been managed by a supervisor since 1876. Supervisor

for 1879, Rev. John M. Pease.

ASSOCIATIONS.

MASONS.

Orooked River Lodge, No. 152, F. and A. M., or-

ganized April 15, 1869. Officers, WUliam Chute, W. M
Femald J. Sawyer, S. W. ; William Twombly, J. W
Geoige B. Dorman, Treas. ; Alpheus B. Lovewell, Sec.

Gilman Nutting, S. 8. ; Leander Dorman, J. S. ; Jonathan

Ingalls, Chaplain. Officers 1879, Stephen C. Maxfield,

W. M. ; Leander Dorman, S. W. ; Isaac Sands, J. W.

;

Fernald W. Sawyer, Treas. ; Alpheus B. Lovewell, Sec.

;

S. S. Skillings, S. S. ; Cyrus W. Stone, J. S. ; Benjamin
Skillings, Tyler ; Alpheus B. Lovewell, Chaplain. Mem-
bership, 67. The lodge own a hall and grounds, costing
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$1000, in Bolster's 31ills, Harrison, the lower room of

which is leased for a store.

PATKONS OP HUSBANDRY.

Otisfield Grange, No. 117, organized Feb. 27, 1875,

with E. J. Sylvester, Master ; Sumner Spurr, Sec. ; Sam-

uel Q-. Spurr, Overseer ; Otis F. Mitchell, Lecturer ; James

Maines, Lecturer; Henry P. Spurr, Treas. ; Elizabeth M.

Cane, Ceres. OflScers 1879, Ezekjel J. Sylvester, Master

;

Sumner Spurr, Sec. and Treas. ; Marian T.. Sylvester, Ceres.

The early merchants have been Perkins, Jonathan

Small, at Say's Mill; William Swett, on Meeting-House

Hill ; Consider Hill, Ivory Tripp, John Phipps, 1820-29
;

Bnos Woodward, Oliver and Daniel Dale, Oliver Cooley,

and Dr. Horace Barrowtt, 1854. An early store was kept

at the town-house by B. Shaw, Bufus Houston, and last

by Benjamin F. Wight, T. B. Chambers, and Samuel G.

Scribner in 1826. John Lombard, Jr., B. G. Soribner, and

S. L. GilsoD were late merchants at Spurr's Corners, and

W. Turner, at Bolster's Mills, 1828, to his death, 1878.

Major Jonathan Moors kept an early tavern near the old

church.

PHYSICIANS.

The physicians have been David Bay, 1780 to 1822

;

Joseph Wight, 1784j Sirenus Bnmell, 1803^; Silas

Blake, 1810 to his death in 1851, succeeded by his son,

Josiah M. Blake ; Albion Cobb, 1851-57 ; Horace A.

Barrows, for many years previous to his death, in 1852
;

Jonathan Small, 1854 ; Dr. Kimball, Dr. Carter. i

LAWYEES. '

Hon. Aaron B. Holden, now judge of probate, Port-

land, Me., Eastman Bean, Grinfell B. Holden, a native of

Otisfield, admitted to practice in 1865, and since in the

employ of the general government, engaged in lumbering

in Wisconsin since 1870.

MILITAET.

SOLDIERS OP THE REVOLUTION.

Lient. David Raj, bom 1742; served until 1779; died at Otisfield,

1822.

Lieut. Joseph Hancock, Thomas Hancock.

John Holden, Jr., boin 1762; served as a waiter boj from the first of

the war; died 1823.

John Ilolden, born 1739; died 1806.

Robert Anderson, afterwards captain of militia, born 1762; died

18-tfi.

Jonathan Britton, Benjamin Qreen, Ebenezer Kemp.
Mark Knight, born 1730; died 1813; buried at Spurr's Comers.

Nathan Morse, Jr.

Enoch Spurr, born 1761; died 1343; buried at Spurr's Corners.

Jacob Thurston.

Dr. Joseph Wight, a surgeon on board a privateer.

John Winship, died 1348, aged eighty-five.

Jonathan Piper.

John Knight, universally known oa "Snappy"' Knight, from his

peculiar quickness and sharp, snapping eyes.

Jonathan Moors, afterwards major of militia, born 1736; died 1S29.

James Sampson, born 1764; died 1851; buried at Elmwood Cemetery.

Joseph Weston, bora 1756; died 1840, aged eighty-four.

John Lombard, served on Lake Champlain and at Ticonderoga : died

1853, aged eighty-nine.

SOLDIERS OF THE WAR OP 1812.

Drafted from militia company commanded by Capt. Levi Patch,

Lieut. Samuel Knight, in 2d Regt., Ist Brigade, 5th Division, of

which Francis Chute was lieutenant-colonel.

Capt. John Kilhom's company, under Col. William Ryerson, drafted

Sept. 21, 1814 ; Lieut. John Smith, 1st Sergt. Stephen Edwards,

Mark Jordan, David Thurston, Jr., Daniel Chute, Enoch Brack-

ett (substitute), Joseph Scribner (sub.), Joseph Nohle (sub.), Cal-

vin Morse, John Noble, Jonathan Kemp. July : Stephen Noble,

ApoUos Knight, Richard Edwards, Nathaniel Edwards, Jr.

Drafted into Capt. Bailey Bardwell's company, September, 1814, for

forty days : Thomas Jackson, Samuel Wardwell, Jr., Charles Tur-

ner, Shepherd Hawke, William Lamb, Solomon Lamb, Daniel

Walker, James Scribner (sub.), Thomas Wardwell (sub.).

In Capt. Asa Ingalls' company, fourteen days from Sept. 14, 1814 :

Samuel P. Anderson, Samuel Knight, Harvey Mayberry, Caleb

Edwards, Oliver Spurr, Joseph Noble.

Drafted Sept. 8, 1814: Samuel Knight, Jr., fifer; Nathaniel Edwards,

Caleb Edwards, John Morse.

Lieut. Samuel Knight, Jonathan Scribner, David Jordan, Nathan

Knight, Joseph Haskell.

Drafted Sept. 21, 1814: Andrew Cobb, Jonathan Cobb, Thomas

Wight, David Thurston, Jr., Daniel Walker, David Lord, Rich-

ard Lombard, Thomas York, Jr., Abner Bean, John Lord,

Solomon Lamb, John Weeks, Ephraim Edwards, Andrew Cates,

Sergt. Stephen Edwards, Joshua Goodridge, Joseph Wight^

Simeon Lihby, Willoughby Scribner, John Scribner, Richard

Gardner, James Weston, David Jordan, Sergt. Oliver Spurr,

Samuel P. Anderson.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

JONATHAN INGALLS,

son of Cyrua Ingalls, was born in Denmark, Me., Feb. 9,

1814. At the age of fifteen he began learning the black-

smith's trade, and at the age of twenty began business for

himself in the village of Denmark, which he continued for

twelve years. He spent several years as a stock-dealer, in

which he "was quite successiul financially. In 1861 he

settled in the town of Otisfield and purchased the farm now

occupied by him, since which time he has given his atten-

tion to farming and blacksmithing. He first married

Rebecca Swan ; she died soon after the birth of her first

child, which also died. In 1862 he married Caroline

Barker, of New Hampshire. Mr. Ingalls served as deputy

sheriff for four years in Oxford County, and has served for

twelve years in Cumberland County. He is identified with

the Republican party.*

^ See portraits of Jonathan Ingalls and wife on following page.
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JONATHAN INGALL3. Mas. JONATHAN INGALL8.

^^B**-

P O W K A L.

OENEBAL DESCBIPTION.

PowNAL, the northeastern half of Freeport, was incor-

porated as a separate town by act of the Massachusetts

L^islatnre, approved March 3, 1808. Previons to 1789,

the southern part was ^a portion of ancient North Yar-

mouth. The northern part, comprising 13 squadrons of

450 acres each, was part of a gore extending acioes the

northeast end of North Yarmouth, and annexed through

the efforts of Rev. Ammi R. Cutter, Jane 24, 1734. The

southern part was surveyed by Phinehas Jones, and drawn

June 20, 1733. The town comprises its original lands.

It is bounded on the northeast by Durham, in Androscoggin

County ; on the southeast by Freeport ; on the southwest

by Yarmouth and North Yarmouth ; and on the northwest

by New Gloucester.

The suT&ce is varied, presenting an ever-changing land-

scape, consisting of broad meadows separated by narrow

groves and numerous bold granite ledges rising to a height

of from 25 to 80 feet above the surrounding surface. From

the high rock forming the main peak of .Bradbury Moun-

tains in the centre of the town, 100 feet above Pownal

Centre, half a mile distant, the view of broad and nearly

levd fields is encircled by glimpses of the ocean, revealed

between timbered headlands, beyond which the open water

blends with the horizon. To the westward the vision is

bordered by higher lands, which rise in broken peaks,

until it ends in Mount Pleasant and Mount Washington in

New Hampshire. To the north and east the more broken

land extends over the town, ending in Bradbury Mountain,

its highest point

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

Much of the history of the old town of North Yarmouth

is antecedent to the history of Pownal. The first local

rulers were Jeremiah Dnmmery Walter Grendall, John Roy-

all, and John York, trustees and sub-committee in 1685.

The first inhabitants were mainly descendants of the hardy

settlers along the coast, who were prevented penetrating

farther inland by Indian wars for many years. Settlement

began shortly after 1780. Jonathan True located in the

south part of the town, a mile from Freeport line, where

his son John, father of the present Lyman C. True, was

bom, Aug. 7, 1785. Lieut. Peter W. Brown settled b
the north. William Lawrence, John York, Lebbeus Tattle,

and Jeremiah Knight were settled previons to 1785. Mr.

Tuttle lived under the ledge near Bradbury Mountain

while clearing ; his shelter was a " lean-to," made by standing

slabs against the diff. John Sturdivaot and John Sawyer

were living on lot 13, in the north comer, in 1789. After

the first settlement was made, people b^^tn to centre around

the end of the road opened from Yarmooth, by way of

Walnut HUl, by Jacob Parsons in 1756. Nathaniel True,

and Jonathan Barbour, Job Allen, Asa York, Levi Knight,

Simeon Jones, John Dam, Jacob Bends, Esq., Josiah

Walker, Caleb Richardson, Eleazer Lake, Isaac Small, Isaac

Libby, Jonathan Newb^n, Capt. William Blackstone,

William Sawyer, Melzar Tumer, Thomas Noyes, Thomas

and William Cotton, Josiah Walker, and Robert Royal

came soon after the first settlers. Thomas Haskell erected

his mill in 1796, and the settlement of Little Yarmouth,

approachable from the south over a continuous bridge of
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logs, or " corduroy" road, a mile in length, became known to

the outside world. A school-house was erected near the

grist-mill, and in 1798 the inhabitants presented their claim

to the parish at the annual meeting, and were allowed the

use of the parish minister once in three months ! This

school-house became the centre of all general gatherings

until the erection of the church, and was for many years

the town-house. Here each soldier, on training-day, re-

ceived his pound of powder, ready made into cartridges,

and here the poor were for years bid off in open market.

The town has become nearly cleared during the last

twenty-five years, and presents a prosperous appearance.

The chief industry is raising hay and apples, the manufac-

ture of butter and light cheese, and shipment of milk for

the Portland market. There is but little trade or manu-

facturing conducted within its borders.

BUETING-GROUNDS.

The dark, ancient headstones of the pioneers, ranged in

r^ular order beside the first church erected in the town of

Pownal, far outnumber the white marble ones beneath which

sleep their children. Beneath the shade of the hackmatack,

acacia, apple, and lilac you may here read the names of

Rev. Perez Chapin, the first minister; Jacob Bemis, a

soldier of the Revolution ; Seth Sweetser, died 1867, aged

ninety-three ; Joseph Brown, died 1838, aged seventy-seven

;

Edmund Cleaves, died 1828, aged seventy-seven ; Uriel

Whitney, died 1835, aged seventy-eight ; Thomas Noyes,

died 1821, aged fifty-one; Capt. Jabez True, died 1848,

aged seventy-six ; Joseph Thoms, died 1833, aged seventy-

five; Capt. William Blackstone, died 1850, aged eighty-

four ; and George M. Allen and George S. Noyes, soldiers

of the Union, who died in battle during the great Rebellion.

The ground for this yard was purchased of Jabez True, in

1824, by the town. A town hearse was procured in 1834,

and a house erected on this ground for its keeping.

In the North Pownal burying-ground nearly all the old

headstones are retained, giving it an ancient appearance not

generally preserved. Prominent here are the graves of Lieut.

Peter W. Brown, an officer of the Revolution, who died in

1830, aged seventy-five ; Col. Samuel Newell, an officer of

the war of 1861 ; Edward Tompson, died 1854 ; Simeon

Jones, died 1859 ; Simson Thoits, died 1838 ; John Dam,

died 1830 ; Levi Knight and Eleazer Lake, died 1850.

At West Pownal the old burying-ground on the Col. War-

ren place is overgrown with sumac, cherry, and briars, while

modem attention is turned to the new ground, half a mile

north. In the old ground are the Warren family, of whom

G«orge Warren, Esq., was a leading citizen until his death,

in 1819, at the age of sixty-nine years ; Thomas Paine, who

died in 1854, aged ninety-three ; Nehemiah Allen, died

1841, aged eighty-six ; and in the new ground the later

dead of the Keith, Tuttle, and Allen families and others.

The Eastern Cemetery, a beautiful grove of a third of an

acre, contains the graves of Captain Benjamin Davis, died

1859, aged eighty-four; John Mann, died 1815, aged fifty-

one ; and Benjamin Soule, died 1836, aged sixty-six.

On the old True farm, in the south, near the centre of

the little burying-ground, a plain white stone bears the

inscription, " John True, born in Pownal, Aug. 7, 1785

;

died March 28, 1 86 1
." This man was the son of Jonathan

True, and the first male child born in Pownal. Around

him are members of the Noyes, Merrill, and Loring families,

John Newbegin, and John Lawrence.

VILLAGES AND HAMLETS.

POWNAL CENTRE.

The principal village, because the oldest, and the centre

of town business, is Pownal Centre. There are here 6

dwellings, the old church, a school-house, the town-house,

erected in 1827 ; Lyman C. True's blacksmith-shop, opened

in 1849 ; and the store kept by Capt. Isaac S. Brown, since

1867, opened in 1832, by Hosea Newell. As late as 1809

this place was included in the farms of Jabez True and

Thomas Noyes, and the beautiful fanns surrounding were

an unbroken forest, traversed by roads, which crossing here

made the corner. The road to the south led to the grist-

and saw-mill of Thomas Haskell, erected at the crossing of

Royal River, in 1796. The westward road led to the

prosperous settlement known as Little Yarmouth. Mails

are daily by North Yarmouth and Durham stage ; L. C.

True, postmaster.

NORTH POWNAL

also possessed a saw and grist-mill, erected about the year

1800, by Jacob Randall, near the present mills of Enoch

Shaw, half a mile south of that hamlet. Jonathan New-

begin had a blacksmith-shop near the mill. Joseph Lufkin

opened the first store on his place in North Pownal, and

afterwards Mr. Randall sold goods at his mills. The main

stock in those days consisted of West India goods and

rum. The place now contains thirteen dwellings, the store

of James Rice, blacksmith-shop, harness-shop, the Metho-

dist Episcopal church, and a school-house. Mails are

daily. James Rice, postmaster.

WEST POWNAL,

in the extreme corner of the town, on the Grand Trunk

Railway, is a lively business place and shipping-point for

milk, which is an important article of export along the line

of the railway. The place contains the depot, dwellings,

and store of Tuttle & Lawrence, operated by George A.

Miller since 1878, and the fine residence of Moses Plum-

mer, Esq., one of the leading citizens of the town. The

place is finely situated, and much frequented during the

summer. Mails daily by railroad, and to North Pownal.

David J. Lawrence, postmaster.

FIRST TOWN-MEETING.

The first town election was held in the school-house near

Reuben Haskell's, April 15, 1808, under a call issued by

Ammi R. Mitchell, Esq., to William Blackstone, one of the

principal inhabitants of Pownal. Josiah Lovell was chosen

Moderator of the meeting ; Thomas Worthy, Town Clerk
;

Jedediah Austin, Treasurer ; Jedediah Austin, Benjamin

Soule, Josiah Lovell, Selectmen and Assessors ; Reuben

Haskell, Collector ; James Turner, John Lawrence, Simeon

Stubbs, Israel Noyes, Timothy Pratt, Simeon Estes, Benja-

min Soule, Thomas Noyes, Seth Sweetser, David Loring,

Ephraim Fogg, Daniel Warren, Jacob Randal, Simson

Thoits, Job Allen, Ebenezer True, Surveyors, Field-Drivers,
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and Hog-Reeves ; James Turner, William Cotton, Tithing-

Men ; William Barboar, Robert Royal, Eleazer Lake, Sur-

veyors of Lumber ; Lebbeus Tuttle, Thomas Haskell, Joseph

Libby, Fence-Viewers. In May, S250 were voted for schools,

$100 for preaching. Edmund Cleaves and Thomas Worthy
were made a committee to employ a preacher, and the se-

lectmen were authorized to settle with Freeport. And 50

cents fine was voted for any person "twitching lumber

across a bridge."

CIVIL LIST.

SELECTMEN.

1808.—Jededish Atutin, Benjamin Saal, Joaiah Lorell.

1809.—Josiah Lovell, Benjamin Saul, Thomas Worthy.
1810.—Benjamin Sonle, Edward Tompson, William Blackstone.

1811—^Benjamin Sonle, William Blaotatone, Ebeneier Fiekett.

1812.—Benjamin Sonle, William Blaokatone, Ellison Libby.

1813.—Benjamin Scale, John Dam, Ellison Libby.

1811.—Benjamin Sonl^ Qeorge Warren, Ephraim Fogg.
1815.—Benjamin Sonle, William Blackstone, Ebeneier Tme.
1816.—Benjamin Sonle, William Blackstone, Michael Dyer.

1817.—Benjamin Scale, Michael Dyer, Benjamin Mitchell.

1818—Benjamin Scale, Benjamin Mitchell, Thomas Noyes.

1819.—Isaac Cushman,' Michael Dyer, John Tyler.

1820.—William Cleaves, Joseph York, William Barboar.

1821 William Cleaves, Joseph Lafkin, Joseph York.

1822.—Bei^amin Scale, Benjamin Mitchell, Ebeneser True.

1823.—Benjamin Scale, Ebeneier Tme, William Barboar.

1821.—William Cleaves, Benjamin Scale, Ebeneier Trae.

1825.—William Cleaves, Joseph Brown, Jr., Joseph Paine.

182e-27.^Benjamin.Sonle, Joseph Brown, Jr., William Cleaves.

1828.—William Cleaves, Isaac Cashman, Joseph Brown, Jr.

1829 Joseph Brown, Jr., Michael Dyer, Joseph Tattle.

1830.—William Cleaves, Michael Dyer, Joseph York.

1831.—Michael Dyer, William Cleaves, Adams True.

1832.—Michael Dyer, Adams Trae, Joseph Brown, Jr.

1833.—Joseph Brown, Jr., Henry Warren, Joseph Blackstone.

1834.—Henry Warren, William Barboar, Joseph Brown, Jr.

1835.—Joseph Brown, Jr., Henry Warren, Elbridge York.

1836.—Henry Warren, Michael Dyer, Benjamin Mitchell.

1837.—Joseph Brown, Henry Warren, Edward Tompson, Jr.

1838.—Joseph Brown, Jacob Bemis, Dennis Scale.

1839.—Henry Warren, Dennis Scale, Benjamin Small.

1840.—Henry Warren, Isaac Cashman, Joseph Brown.

1841.^Jaoob Bemis, Elbridge Work, Daniel Paine.

1842.—Henry Warren, Elbridge Work, Daniel Paine.

1843.—Henry Warren, Benjamin Small, Enos Small.

1844.—Henry Warren, Benjamin Small, William Barboar.

1845.—Henry Warren, Joseph Brown, William Barlroar.

1846.—Joseph Brown, Henry Warren, William True.

1847.—Benjamin Small, John Gooding, William Barbour.

1848.—Benjamin Small, John Qocding, Henry Warren.

1849.—Richard Dresser, Israel Jones, Anthony M. Frost.

1850.—Benjamin Small, Joseph Brown, Henry Warren.

1851.—Benjamin Small, Daniel Merrill, John GhxMiing.

1852.—Benjamin Small, Jacob Bemis, True Tattle.

1853.—Beqjaoiiii Small, Jacob Bemis, George Watts.

1854.—Henry Warren, Benjamin Small, True Tattle.

1855.—Henry Warren, George Leighton, David T. Libby.

1856.—Benjamin Small, John Newbegin, Samuel S. Latham.

1857.—Henry Warren, George Leighton, Isaac Lobdell.

1858.—John Newbegin, Benjamin Small, Samuel S. Latham.

1859.—Benjamin Small, Timothy Keith, Tristram G. Hutchins.

1860.—Benjamin Small, Cyrus Libby, Seth D. Stetson.

1861 John Newbegin, Cyrus Libby, Nathaniel Dyer.

1862.—Seth D. Stetscn, Cyrus Libby, Moses Plammer.

1863.^John Newbegin, Isaac 8. Brown, Samuel S. Latliam.

1864.—Benjamin Small, Isaac S. Brown, Samuel S. Latham.

1885, Moses Plummer, Samuel S. Latham, Elijah H, Bennett.

1866.—John H. Ncyes, Samuel J. Tattle, George W. Toothaker.

1867-68.—John H. Ncyes, Samuel J. Tattle, Benjamin I. Small.

1 869.—Samuel J. Tuttle, Nathaniel S. Lawrence, Benjamin True.

1870. John T. Lawrence, Israel T. Mclntyn, Leander F. Wood.

1871.—Elbridge York, Elgah H. Bennett, Xathaniel B. Jordan.

1872.—Samuel J. Tattle, Nathaniel Dyer, Asa L. Haskell.

1873.—Isaac S. Brown, Benjamin Small, Jeremiah K. Morse.

1874.—John T. Lawrence, Benjamin True, Israel T. Mclntyre.

1875.—John T. Lawrence, Israel T. Mclntyre, Harlan B. True.

1876.—John T. Lawrence, Harlan B. Tme, Charles H. Hodsdon.

1877.—Harlan B. Trae, Charles H. Hodsdon, Nathaniel Fiekett.

1878.—Harlan B. Trae, Charles H. Hodsdon, Alroy Ncyes,

1879,—Seth D. Stetson, John T. Lawrence, Conrad D. Snow.

TOWN CLEBKS.

Thomas Worthy, 1808-10; Edward Tompson, 1811; Benjamin

Soule, 1812-15; William Blackstone, 1816; Benjamin Soulc, 1817-

18 ; William Cleaves, 1819-21 ; Ebeneier True, 1822-23 ; William

Cleaves, 1824-25 ; Benjamin Scale, 1826-27 ; William Cleaves,

1828; Benjamin Scule, 1829 ; William Cleaves, 1830-31; Joseph

Brown, Jr., 1832-34; Elbridge York, 1835; Henry Warren,

1836; Joseph Brown, 1837; Jacob Bemis, 1838; Dennis Soule,

1839; Henry Warren, 1840; Jacob Bemis, Jr., 1841; Henry

Warren, 1842-^3; Moses Richards, 1844; Joseph Brown,

1845-46; Benjamin Small, 1847-48; Richard Dresser. 1849;

Benjamin Small, 1850-53; Henry Warren, 1854-53; Benjamin

Small, 1856; Henry Warren, 1857; John Newbegin, 1838 : Ben-

jamin Small, 1859 ; John Newbegin, 1860-61 ; Seth D. Stetson,

1862; John Newbegin, 1863; Benjamin Small, 1864; Moses

Plammer, 1865; John H. Ncyes, 1866-68; Samuel J. Tuttle,

1869; John T.Lawrence, 1870; Elbridge York, 1871 ; Samuel J.

Tattle, 1872; Isaac S. Brown, 1873; John T. Lawrence, 1874-76;

Harlan B. Trae, 1877-78 ; Seth D. Stetson, 1879.

TBEASUBERS.

Jedediah Austin, 1808; Josiah Lovell, 1809-13; Lebbeus Tattle,

1816; Josiah Lovell, 1817-18; Lebbeus Tuttle, 1819-20; Ben-

jamin Mitchell, 1821 ; Joseph Lufkin, 1822-28; William Cleaves,

1829; Joseph Brow-n, 1830; John Tyler, 1831-32 ; John Jones,

18.33; William Tuttle, 1834;. William Marston, 1S35-40 ; John

Skillin (vacancy), 1840; Simon Eates, 1841; John Skillin,

1842-43; William Tuttle, 1844; Lebbeus Tuttle, 1845-47; Tris-

tram G. Hutchins, 1848; John G. Merrill, 1849; Tristram G.

Hutchins, 1850 ; John G. Merrill, 1851 ; Owen Thoits, 1852-53

;

David T. Libby, 1834^33; Elijah H, Bennett, 1856; Seth D.

Stetson, 1857 ; George W. Pillabury, 1838; Dennis Libby, 1839;

Elias Tuttle, Jr., 1860-61; Joseph Knight, 1862; Benjamin

Small, 1863; Joseph Small, 1864-63; John T. Lawrence,

1866-68; Tristram G. Hutchins, 1869-70; Isaac S. Brown, 1871;

John T. Lawrence, 1872 ; Joseph Small, 1873-74; Perei Chapin,

1875-79.

C0LLECT0B8 AND CONSTABLES.

Reuben Haskell, Lebbeus Tuttle, 1808 ; Lebbeus Tuttle, Joseph Hutch-

ins, 1809 ; Benjamin Sawyer, Joseph Hutchins, 1810 ; William

Cleaves, Reuben Haskell 1811; Benjamin Sawyer, Thomas
Ncyes, John Williams, 1812 ; Lebbeus Tuttle, 1813-14; Ellison

Libby, 1815-16; William Cleaves, Ellison Libby, 1817; William

Cleaves, 1818; John Tyler, Joel Kelsey, 1819; Jcab Libby,

John Tyler, 1820; Jcab Libby, 1821-22; Joseph Brown, Jr.,

1823; William Tuttle, 1824; Enos Sawyer, 1825; John Tyler,

Enos Sawyer, 1826 ; William Cleaves, Noah Bennett, Enos Saw-

yer, 1827 ; Enos Sawyer, Noah Bennett, Russell Brown, 1828
;

Noah Bennett, Joseph Brown, Jr., 1829; John Tyler, Russell

Brown, Elias Tattle, 1830 ; John Tyler, John Cashing, Joseph

T. Sawyer, 1831; Joseph T. Sawyer, Elias Tuttle, 1832; John

Jones, John Cushing, 1833 ; William Tuttle,' John Cushing,

Joseph T. Sawyer, 1834; William Marston, John Cushing,

Joseph T. Sawyer, 1835 ; William Marston, John Cashing, 1836

;

William Marston, David Paine, George Watts, 1837; Wil-

liam Marston, 1838-39 ; William Marston, John Ncyes, 1840

;

John Skillin, 1840;* Simon Estes, John Noyes, 1841; John
Skillin, Cyras Jones, 1842; John Skillin, Cyras Jones, Elias

Tuttle, 1843; William Tuttle, John Skillin, 1844; Lebbeus

Tuttle, Cyms Jones, John Skillin, 1845; Lebbeos Tattle, Cyrus

Jones, 1846 ; Lebbeus Tattle, Henry I. Warren, Isaac Cushman,

1847; Tristram G. Hutchins, Webster Moses, 1848; John G.

* To fill vacancy caused by the death of William Marston.
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Merrill, WobJtor Moses, ISiO; Tristram G. Hutohins, Webster

Mosea, 1S50 ; John G. Merrill, William P. Allen, 1S51 ; Owen

Thoits, Aaron Libby, 1S52; Owen Thoits, True Tuttle, lS53j

David T. Libbv, William P. Allen, 1834; David T. Libby, George

M. Libby, 1855; Elijah H. Bennett, Seward P. Barbour, 1856;

Seth D. Stetson, Seward P. Barbour, 1857 ; George W. Pillabury,

1858; Dennis Libby, 1859; Elias Tuttle, Jr., David T. Libby,

1860-61; Joseph Knight, Samuel Latham, 1862 Elijah H. Bennett,

Seward P. Barbour, 1863 ; Elijah H. Bennett, Nathaniel Wilbur,

1864; Otis Allen, Tristram G. Hutcbins, John T. Lawrence,

1865; Benjamin True, Samuel S. Latham, D. II. Bennett,

1866; Benjamin True, Benjamin I. Small, 1867; Eli>s Tultle,

Jr., William P. Allen, 1868; John T. Lawrence, I. S. Brown,

1869; Benjamin True, David T. Libby, 1870; Benjamin True,

Eliaa Tuttle, Jr., 1871 ; Benjamin True, Alonzo Loring, Thomas

Noyes, 1S72 : Benjamin True, John T. Lawrence, 1873 ; Tristram

O. Hutchins, Benjamin True, 1874; Benjamin True, Isaac S.

Brown, 1875-77; Benjamin True, Samuel S. Latham, Elias

Tuttle, 1878; Benjamin True, Isaac S. Brown, 1879.

RELIGIOUS.
CONGREGATIONALIST CHURCH.

Rev. Alfred Johnson, settled pastor of Freeport, was

sent to preach four Subbaths at Bradbury MouRtain, as a

part of his ministerial duties in 1798, and five in 1799.

In 1807, Jabez True, Elias Lake, and Job Allen were

made a committee to engage a minister, and in 1808. at the

town election, it was voted to call Rev. Samuel Sewell at a

salary of $300. A church was organized at the hou.se of

Thomas Haskell, March 20, 1811. Among the fii-st mem-

bers were Josiah Lovell, who was made deacon, Thomas

Worthy, Josiah Merrill and wife, Mary True, Lucretia

Haskell, Simeon Jones and wife, Edward Tompson, Ed-

mond Cleaves. A large house of worship was erected in

1809 at Pownal Centre. This house is still occupied by

the society, its lower rooms being used by the temperance

oi^nizations of the town for session-rooms and library.

Revs. Samuel Sewell and Jacob Farwick supplied this people

in 1808 and 1809. Rev. Perez Chapin became the first set-

tled pastor in 1811, and remained until his death, Jan. 27,

1839. During his pastorate his pulpit was supplied by

Rev. Oliver Real, in 1813 ; Rev. Cyrus Cummings, in

1817; Rev. Allen W. Cobb, in 1819; and Rev. J. J.

Carruthers, in 1828. He was succeeded at his death by

Rev. A. P. Chute, who was discharged in November, 1841.

The subsequent pastors have been Rev. William V. Jor-

dan, settled September, 1843, dismissed May, 1852, and

Revs. Edwin A. Buck, 1852-53 ; Joseph Loring, in-

stalled February, 1855, dismissed January, 1859 ;
Samuel

Bowker, 1860 ; Joseph Boardman, 18f>l-65
;
Charles L.

Nichols, installed 1866, dismissed 1871 ;
Abram Maxivell,

1871 ; George A. Perkins, 1872-75 ; Rev. Mr. Wilder,

1876 ; Prof. R. C. Stanley and students from Bates Col-

lege, 1876-78 ; Rev. Richard Wickett, 1879.

The deacons have been Josiah Lovell, appointed 1811
;

Simeon Jones, 1817 ; Benjamin Mitchell, 1829 ; Daniel

Sweetser, 1844 ; Moses Merrill, 1856 ; Benjamin L.

Mitchell, 1861; Asa L. Haskell, 1866; and Nathaniel

True, present deacon, appointed 1873.

Present membership, 61. Clerk, A. Mitchell ; Parish

Clerk, Perez Chapin, son of the first pastor.

SOCIETY OP FRIENDS.

A small meeting house was erected on the apposite side

of the road from the dwelling of Simeon Estes, two miles

45

east of Puwnal Centre, now occupied by Capt. Juseph

Brown, about the year 1800. This road was known as

the " Quaker road" previous to that date. Among the

members of this society were Simeon and Elisha Estes, and

the Austin, Pote, and Goddard families. This continued to

be a place of worship until 1850. The society ceased to

exist in the town as an organization soon after.

A meeting-house was erected in the western part of the

town, two milea from Pownal Centre, by four men, in 1S44,

and occupied by the Free-Will Baptist Society, who formed

during that year, and gained some strength, but wore dis-

persed by dissension and removal after a few years. The

remaining first members are Anson Libby, Henry Merritt,

Amos Sawyer, and William Loring.

A small church was erected by the Methodist Episcopal

Society at North Pownal in 1844, and dedicated in October

of that year by Rev. George Webber. There is no reg-

ular organization, and no records have been kept. The

building is still occupied by semi-monthly services. Class-

Leader, Mr. A. I. Carsley.

SCHOOLS.

On the organization of the town the schools received

immediate attention. Schools were established in the north,

the centre, and the western parts of the town, and S:i50

voted for their support. Six districts were soon formed,

and these were increased to twelve by 1830. The town

now includes ten districts, with nine school-houses, valued

at 84000. Of the 274 inhabitants of legal school age, 250

are registered as having attended school some time during

the year. Present school committee : Messrs. Conrad S.

Snow, John T. Lawrence, and Alroy Noyes.

SOCIETIES.

INDEPENDENT ORDER OP GOOD TE.MPLARS.

Triumph Lodge, No. 50, organized Dec. 20, 1865. Fii-sfc

officers, Hiram S. Tuttle, W. C. T. ; Parthenia F. Libby,

W. V. T. ; David J. Lawrence, W. S. ; Nathaniel Dyer, W.
F. S.; Lyman C. True, W. Treas.; D. T. Libby, W. ]>L;

C. L. Nichols, Chaplain. Present membership, 83. Con-

rad S. Snow, W. C. T. ; Nettie M. True, W. V. T. ; George

Gore, W. Sec. ; D. S. Toothaker, W. F. S. ; Charles Crockett,

Treas. The lodge has a fine library, opened in 1878.

The old physicians of the town have been Dr. Joseph

Cushman, to 1845 ; Dr. David Y. Pierce, 1854 ; Dr. Green-

field Tompson, Dr. J. P. Haskell, 1838.

MILITARY.

SOLDIERS OP THE REVOLUTION.

Those who have lived and died here are Jacob Bemis,

who died in 1814, aged eighty-four; Lieut. Peter Brown,

who was in the battle of Bunker Hill ; Josiah Walker, and

A. Jobllen.

WAR OP 1812.

Paul Allen, who is still living, at the age of ninety years
;

Isaac Stetson, Reuben Hodgden, ZebuloQ Berry, John

Noyes.
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The promineDt men of the town, not elsewhere mentioned,

have been: to 1825, Major Benjamin Soule, George War-
ren, Esq., Thomas Worthly, William Blackstone, Lebbeus

Tnttle, Lieut. Peter W. Brown ; 1825-50, Capt. Joseph

Brown, Michael Dyer, Reuben Haskell, Capt. Benj. Small,

Josiah Walker, Isaac Cnshman, Esq. ; since 1850, Benjamin

True, Perez Chapin, George Noyes, Capt. Isaac Brown,

Capt. Joseph Small, Moses Plummer, Esq., Hiram S. Tat-

tle, Conrad S. Snow, Seth D. Stetson.

OFFICERS OF THE MILITIA.

Colonels, John Lawrence, G. Warren ;
major, Benjamin

Soule ; captains, Jabez True, Edw. Tompson, John Skillin,

Henry J. Warren, Joseph Brown, Jacob Cotton, Eben True.

i*^

R A Y M O :t^ D.

LOCATION AND BOUNDARIES.

In lieu of a grant made Capt. William Raymond, and

60 other inhabitants of Beverly, Mass., in 1735, for services

against the French and Indians in 1690, and found to be

in New Hampshire,* a new grant was made their heirs in

June, 1765, and confirmed by the General Court, Jan. 30,

1767,

April 30th, a meeting of the proprietors was held at

Beverly, Mass., and it was voted that the township be

named Raymond. Capt. George Raymond was made

Treasurer; Thomas Porter, Clerk; and other officers

elected to forward the settlement.

The town of Raymond, lying to the east of Sebago

Lake, extends in a northeasterly direction twelve and a

quarter miles from the point of Raymond Cape, and is four

and three-quarters miles in width. The south part is in-

dented by Jordan Bay. It is bounded on the north by

Androscoggin County, on the east by New Gloucester and

Gray, on the south by Sebago Lake, and on the west by

Casco. The original town comprised 37,750 acres, of which

428 acres were excluded for Rattlesnake Mountain, and

5945 acres for ponds. It was seven and one-half miles

square,' the base line running due northwest on the western

line of New Boston (now Gray) and Windham. The part

west of Crooked River was taken to form Naples in 1829,

the western half incorporated as Casco in 1841, and Ray-

mond Cape annexed from Standish in 1871. The surface

is diversified by lowlands in the south, rising to the north-

ward into broad uplandsand peaks, the highest of which is

Rattlesnake Mountain; On the west, Panther, Great and

Little Rattlesnake Ponds extend through the town, and are

navigable by sloops a portion of the year.

Indications of mineral wealth are found ; sulphureta

from near the centre of the town have been assayed, show-

ing both silver and gold in paying qnantities.

EAELY SETTLEMENT.

Raymond has had no Indian wars. John Davis, Jr., a

trapper, the first white occupant, was troubled by Indians

* Called originslly Waretown.

Stealing hb game, and told his comrade on leaving his

camp that he was about done submitting. Soon afler a shot

was heard. When Davis returned he had his traps with

him, and he told his comrade that they " must leave that

ground mighty quick !" His sons, John and Gideon

Davis, chose lots east of the present village, in 1770;

D. Nathaniel Jones, of Cape Elizabeth, Thomas Lewis, and

William Dingley also choosing lots the same year.

In 1768 a tax of £90 was aissessed on the sixty shares,

to pay the expense of survey ; four lots were given to Capt.

Samuel Skilling,' for services in locating. In 1769 a choice

of fifteen 100-acre lots was offered to either proprietor who
could move to the town, build a house, and clear four acres of

land within fifteen months. In April, 1770, this offer was

made to include " any person" who should choose before

December 1st of that year. June 18, 1770, Capt. Nathaniel

Jordan had recorded the choice of lot 3, range 2, embrac-

ing the outlet of-Panther Pond ; and September 24th, Capt.

Joseph Dingley recorded lot 9, range 2, including the outlet

of Thomas Pond.

The first settler was to have a lot of 100 acres. Samuel

Jordan and Capt. Dingley started from Massachusetts about

the same time, Mr. Jordan in advance. Both stopped for

the night at the old " carrying-place," on the south shore

of Sebago Lake. While Mr. Jordan was sleeping Capt.

Dingley rose quietly, and procuring a boat paddled across

the lake to his location above the cape. Mr. Jordan awoke

to find himself alone, and started to walk around the lake,

that he might be the first settler, arriving at the mouth of

Panther Run, where he settled late in the afternoon. By
the division of the town to form Casco, which included

Capt. Dingley's place, Samuel Jordan became the first

settler of Raymond. George Peirce, Esq., was authorized

to lay out the town in fourteen ranges, commencing in the

south comer and running northwest, each containing twenty-

four lots or less of 100 acres each. He was removed in

1789, and Nathaniel Winslow, surveyor, employed to com-

plete the survey and present a map to the proprietors,

which was accepted March 17, 1791, and a new drawini^

for " rights" was made the same day.

Capt. Nathaniel Jordan cleared the first road, in 1771.
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Of the first 30 settlers in Raymond who received deeds

for their laads March 29, 1794, Dominicus Jordan settled

on the bay bearing his name, where his son Samuel located

the first farm in present Raymond, and his grandson,

Samuel Jordan, Jr., the first child born in the town, was

born Sept. 21, 1775. Joseph Brown settled next towards

the village, Mark Leach and James Jordan north of the

village, John Davis east on Panther Run, Samuel Jordan

a mile west near Pulpit Rock, and Capt. Dingley just over

the line in Casco, with his mills on both sides of the

stream.

The site of the village was reserved as a " mill lot," but

afterwards sold to James Leach, Eli Longley, J. Plummer,

and E. H. Scribner, who held it in 1828. Raymond Hill,

in the centre of the town, contained the families of Roger

Jordan, of East Raymond hamlet ; Gideon Davis, at the

south end of Panther Pond ; John Davis, west, including

the burying-ground ; and Thomas Crisp, northwest, while

farther to the north were John Cash, the snake-charmer,

Francis Symonds, Jonathan Simonton, James Finney, and

north of the Raymond Hill buryiug-ground, Benjamin

Smith. Moses Starbird settled west, towards Rattlesnake

Pond. lu the north corner of the town Widow Experi-

ence Willson lived, and at the foot of Panther Pond, east

side. Widow Catharine Welch, whose husband was killed in

the Revolutionary war. John Nash and his son Elijah

Nash came as early as 1812.

Samuel Strout and George Small came in 181t). John

Nash settled near the centre of the town in 1817, Henry

Merrill a mile east in 1824, Jacob Gray at the north end of

Panther Pond in 1822, and John Spiller on the north

of Little Rattlesnake Pond in 1816.

Pulpit Rock, a huge granite pile near Raymond Cape,

now overgrown with trees and bushes, rises to a height of

sixty feet, and is capped with three large rocks rising above

the surrounding tree-tops. It is said to have been the

former council-ground of the Indians.

The first settlers in Raymond Cape were Daniel Mason,

who came by boat from Standish, and built his house on the

north shore near The Images in 1818, and Samuel Tarbox,

his brother-in-law, who was frozen to death while returning

from mill on foot with a bag of meal. His wife, who had

gone forth to meet him and wrapped him in her own clothing,

was found dead near by. The children remained two days

alone during a terrific snow-storm, blowing a horn for help.

Surrounded by wild animals, Mr. Mason lived alone on the

cape for many years. His wife is still living, a person of

"

vigorous mind, at the age of ninety-six. The cape contains

a dozen farm-houses, scattered along its single road. Fry's

Island, a quarter of a mile distant, takes its name from Mr.

Fry, of Scarboro', a hunter of great powers, who ran down

the cape to The Images when pursued by Indians, letting

himself drop from the top of a jagged rock into the snow

which covered the frozen lake, whence he crossed to the

island beyond. The Indians, astonished at the daring leap,

when they saw him crossing the ice abandoned the pursuit.

This cape was much frequented in early years for fish and

game. A fissure in the granite ledge forming The Images,

some eight feet wide, extends inward from their face, and is

covered with rocks and earth which have fallen from the

height above, forming a cave into which a boat can be

drawn, with an opening through the rocks above. The

walls of this bluff rise 60 feet above the water and extend

downward in a straight wall 80 feet from the mouth of the

cave to the bottom of the lake.

PLACES OP HISTORIC INTEREST.

At South Casco, on the Raymond side, is the Union

church,—formerly Edward Scribner's inn,—the residence

of Mrs. Hawthorne, and the boyhood home of Nathaniel

Hawthorne the novelist. The house is but little changed

externally, the partitions only having been removed and a

gallery erected in 1839 by a bequest from Richard Manning,

the early agent of the proprietors.

The old burying-ground at Raymond village is regularly

laid out with granite borders and contains some fine monu-

ments. Most of the early pioneers of South Raymond are

buried here. Among the most prominent are the names of

Elder Zachariah Leach, the first preacher, who died in 1841

;

Dominicus Jordan, who died 1823, aged seventy-seven
;

Col. Nathaniel Jordan, died 1842, aged sixty-five; Eliot

Plummer, died 1817, aged forty-four; Samuel Brown, died

1825, aged seventy-eight; Jeremiah Hayden, died 1847,

aged seventy-nine, and their associates in life. A Mr.

Fowler, whose grave is marked by an unlettered stone, was

the first buried there.

Near the old church on Raymond Hill, the next princi-

pal burying-ground contains the graves of Samuel Jordan,

the first-born of Raymond, who died 1859, aged eighty-four

;

Rev. Isaiah Libby ; Rev. Joseph Files ; John Jordan, died

1861, aged ninety-three; John Brown, died 1849, aged

eighty-six; John Nash, Sr., died 1813, aged eighty-one;

John Spiller, died 1845, aged seventy-eight; and many other

pioneers. This ground now includes the site of the first

church and school-house.

Mark Leach was buried in the field near his residence,

in the west of Raymond village, now owned by Joel Mason.

VILLAGES AND HAMLETS.

SOUTH CASCO,

on the Raymond side, contains the store of Samuel L.

Mason, established 1858, Sibly, Gould & Strout's shook- and

shingle-mill, established 1865 by Eliot Fulton, who built

the Fulton dock and warehouse on Jordan Bay at that

time, and a dozen buildings, including the Hawthorne
church.

RAYMOND VILLAGE,

the principal settlement of the town, is built upon the re-

serve " mill lot" of the proprietors, and is separated from

Jordan Bay by a quarter of a mile of level meadow. As
early as 1809, Stephen Swett kept the inn on the comer,

enlarged, and occupied since 1871, by W. H. Smith. A
small two-story building and store standing east of the inn

the dwelling of Mr. West on the south side of the road, and

Eliot Plummer's house, now the oldest in Raymond, a

short distance east of the comer, still standing, comprised

the village of Raymond in 1809. Two years later Capt.

Jesse Plummer erected a dwelling near the inn, and Isaac,

father of Hon. Z. L. Whitney, settled west of the store.

On Panther Creek, the tannery of Nehemiah Mitchell and
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Jesse Plummer's mill, first erected by John Davis, were sur-

rounded by woods. Farther down the stream was the old

Jordan mill, built for the proprietors by Dominicus Jordan.

The Tillage now comprises a fine new church ; school-.house

;

the Central Hotel, occupied many years by Eli Longley

;

a general country store by D. & E, A. Plummer, estab-

lished 1854, by Morrill & Plummer; W. H. Skilling, har-

ness, established 1872; Elbridge Gerry, wagon- and smith-

shop, established 1859; millinery-store; sugar-, shook-, and

lumber-mills, Plummer & Daris, established 1848,—mills

first built 1795,—and 32 dwellings. Mails daily by Port-

land and Bridgton stage; E. A. Plummer, postmaster. The

early merchants of the place have been Mark Leach, Seth

Giles, Hugh Simms, Samuel Witham.

£AST BATHOND,

four miles north, was formerly the centre of business.

Cyrus Latham, the first merchant there, sold a hogshead of

rum in a single week, for harvesting, about 1820. After-

wards there were three stores, kept by L. D. Strout, Thomas

Morrill, and Joseph Symonds, during the extensive lum-

bering operations. There are now a dozen dwellings; the

store of H. J. & 0. B. Lane, established 18ti3 ; and the

town-honse, built by Dominicus Jordan for Frank Winslow,

John Cook, and D. J. Sawyer, committee, in 1838. Oo

the division of the town this house was moved to its pres-

ent central position. Mails are daily by Bridgton and Port-

land stage ; J. H. Lane, postmaster. Two miles north is the

shook and stave manufactory of Elias Bartlett.

North Raymond post-ofiSce, near the county line, is at

the store of W. Small, postmaster.

CIVIL LIST.

OBTICEES OF EATMOND PKETIOUS TO INCORPORATION.*

CLERKS.

Thomaa Porter, 1767; Elijah Porter, 1773-75; Thomas Porter, 1776;

Samael Williams, 1783-84; Francis Drake, 1785-88; James

Jeffrey, 1797; Joseph Wight, 1801-2-3.

TREASDBERS.

Capt. George Raymond, 1767; Joseph Blaney, 1783-84; Isaac Chap-

man, 1785; James Jeffrey, 1788; James Jeffrey, 1797; Samuel

Dingley, 1802.

AeEHTS.

Nathaniel Jordan, 1776; Oeorge Peirce, 1785; Dominions Jonathan,

Joseph Dingley, 1789 ; Samael Dingley, Dominicus Jordan, John

Cash, 1795 ; Samael Dingley, 1798.

COHICITTEE AKD ASSESSORS.

1767,—Benjamin Raymond, Elijah Porter, Thomas Porter, John

Chipman.

1768.—Benjamin Raymond, Elijah Porter, Thomas Porter.

1783-84.—Jonathan Gardner, William Goodhue, George Williams.

1785-88.—Capt John Gardner, Capt George Williams, Joshua Dodge,

Copt. Jonathan Gardner, Capt. Stephen Abbott.

1797, Benj. Piokman, Gen. Stephen Abbott, Richard Manning, Jr.

1801.—Joseph Wight, Samuel Dingley, George Small.

1802.—Joseph Wight, Samael Dingley, John Cash.

1803.—Amos Rogers, Daniel Small (3d), Mark Leaoh, Jr.

COLLECTORS.

Joseph Ward, 1769; Thomas Porter, 1783; Isaao Chapman, 1788;

Richard Manning, 1795; Richard Manning, Jr., 1797; Daniel

Small, 1801 ; George Small, 1802 ; Amos Rogers, 1803.

* The dates are those on which the elections were held.

The town of Raymond was incorporated June 20, 1803.

The first election after, was held at the inn of Capt. Sam-

uel Dingley (now Casco), Aug. 15, 1803.

Joseph Wight was elected Clerk ; Joseph Wight, Samuel Dingley,

George Small, Selectmen and Assessors; Samuel Dingley, Treasurer;

Daniel Cook, Constable; Hezekiah Cook, John Mitchell, Richard

Mayberry, Samuel Dingley, Francis Symonds, James Leach, Ejihraim

Whitney, John Small, Surveyors of Highways ; Edward Mayberry,

Samuel Leach, Ssrveyora of Boards ; Samuel Dingley, Surveyor of

Lumber.

Elections were afterwards held in Eli Longley's stable

until 1834.

SELECrVEX.

1803.—Joseph Wight, Samuel Dingley, Oeorge Small.

1804.—Joseph Wight, Edward Mayberry, George Small.

1805.—Samuel Dingley, Daniel Small (3d), Joseph Wight.

1806.—Oeorge Small, Joseph Wight, Henry Jordan.

1807.—Oeorge Small, Daniel Small, Joseph Wight.

1808.—Samuel Dingley, Samuel Leach, Henry Jordan.

1809.—Samuel Leach, George Small, Nathan Cook.

1810.—Daniel Small, John Tukey, Mark Leach, Jr.

1811.—Samael Leach, Daniel Small, Stephen Swett.

1812.—Samuel Leach, Samuel Jordan, Mark Leach, Jr.

1813.—Mark Leach, Samael Jordan, William Dingley.

1814.—Samuel Leach, Daniel Small, Henry Jordan.

1815.—Samuel Leach, Henry Jordan, Nathan Cook.

1816.—Daniel Small, John Smith, Ichabod M. Gay.

1817.—Henry Jordan, Samuel Jordan, Nathan Cook.

1818.—Henry Jordan, Samael Leach, Joseph Wight.

1819.—Samuel Leach, Henry Jordan, Joseph Dingley.

1820.—Samuel Jordan, Henry Jordan, Mark Leach, Jr.

1821.—Richard Manning, Mark Leach, Jr., Henry Jordan.

1822.—Henry Jordan, Mark Leach, .Zachariah Leach.

1823.—Zachariah Leach, Henry Jordan, Richard Cook.

1824.—Henry Jordan, Daniel Small, Richard Cook.

1825.—Henry Jordan, Richard Cook, Zachariah Leach.

1826.—Henry Jordan, Richard Cook, Daniel Small.

1827.—Henry Jordan, Richard Cook, Isaac Whitney.

1828.—Henry Jordan, William Webb, Zachariah Leach.

1829.—William Webb, Jonathan Leach, Uriah Oibba.

1830-31.—William Webb, Jonathan Leach, Henry Jordan.

1832.—Williom Webb, Ephraim Browne, John Sawyer.

1833.—John Cook, Ephraim Browne, John Sawyer, Dominicus Jor-

dan (vacancy).

1834.—James Webb, Henry Jordan, Peter Staples, Jr.

1835.—James Webb, Ebenezer Hayden, Charles Latham.

1836.—Charles Latham, Robinson Cook, James M. Leach.

1837.—Robinson Cook, James M. Leach, Joseph Symonds.

1838.—Zachariah Leach, Jr., Isaiah Winslow, Ebeneier Strout.

1839.—William Webb, Dominicus Jordan, John Nash.

1840.—Dominicus Jordan, John Nash, Isaiah Gould.

1841.—John Nash, Charles Latham, William Plummer.

1842.—Charles Latham, Henry Jordan, Jr., William Plummer.

1843.—Zachariah L. Whitney, Henry Jordan, Jr., Henry Tenney, Jr.

1844.—Zachariah L. Whitney, Samuel S. Browne, Charles Latham.

1845-46.—Zaohariah L. Whitney, Samael S. Browne, Wentworth R.

Lane.

1847-48.—Samael S. Browne, Mahlon D. Hayden, Matthew Churchill.

1849.—John Nash, Jesse Plummer, Jr., Matthew Churchill.

1850.—John Nash, William Nason, Samuel S. Browne.

1851.—Samael S. Browne, William Nason, Matthew Churchill.

1852.—William Plummer, James Strout, Stephen Fngg.

1853.—William Nason, Samuel S. Browne, Matthew Churchill.

1854.—William Nason, Samuel S. Browne, Randall Barton.

1855-56.—John Sawyer, Samuel S. Browne, Matthew Churchill.

1857.—Randal Barton, Andrew Libby, Thomas Morrell.

1858.—Samuel S. Browne, Andrew Libby, Thomas Morrell.

1859-60.—William Nason, John Nash, William Small.

1861.—William Small, Cyrus E. Bowker, Lyman B. Chipman.

1862.—Ira Witham, Alvin B. Jordan, William MorreU.

1863.—Ira Witham, Francis Small, Bela Latham.

1864.—Francis Small, William Nason, Bela Latham.
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lS6o.—Francis Smnll. Elijnh Fulton, John D. Spiller.

1S66.—William Rolfe, Jr., AVillinm Smnll, Ernstus A. Plummer.

IS67.—Henry J. Lane, Erastus A. Plummer, David Jfash.

1S6S.—Henr; J. Lane, Joel Aloaon, Hamdcn Spiller.

1SG9.—Henry J. Lane, Eraetus A. Plummer, David Nash.

1S70.—Henry J. Lane, Gibson Plummer, Jr., Dovid jra.«h.

1S71.—Zachariah L. Whi'ney, David Nash, Charles N. Wilson.

1872.—Henry J. Lane, David Nash, Charles N. Wilson.

1873.—Henry J. Lane, Charles N, AVilson, Francis H. Witham.

1874.—Charles N. Wilson, David Nosh, William P. Hnyden.

1875.—David Nash, Erastus A. Plummer, Benjamin^T. Merrill.

1876.—Erastus A. Plnmmer, Francis H. Witham, Jordan Brown.

1877.—Charles N. Wilson, Francis H. Witham, Erastus A. Plummer.

1878-79.—Francis H. Witham, Charles N. Wilson, William H. Smith.

TOWN CLERKS.

Joseph Wight, 1803-8; Samuel Leach, 1809-13; William Dingley,

1813 : Samuel Leach, 1814-24; Zachariah Leach, Jr., 1825 ; Wm.
P. Holden, 182&-2S ; Zachariah Leach, Jr., 1829-30 ; Mark Leach,

Jr., 1831 ; Zachariah Leach, 1832-35 ; Zachariah L. Whitney,

1836-40; Joseph Symonds, 1841; Cyrus Jordan, 1842; William

Plummer, 1843-49; Wentworth R. Lane, 1850-51; Nathaniel

Staples, 1852; Lorento D. Stront, 1853-54; Wentworth R. Lane,

1855-64; Orrin B. Lane (vacancy), 1364; Orrin B. Lane, 1S65-

70 ; Francis H. Witham, 1871 ; Orrin B. Lone, 1372-79.

TBEASUBERS.

Samuel Diogley, 1803; Joseph Wight, 1804-5; George Small, 1806-

15; Richard Manning, 1816-21; Eli Longley, 1822-27; Mark
Leach (2d), 1823-31; Zachariah Leach, 1832-35; Zachariah L.

Whitney, 13.36-40; Joseph Symonds, 1841 ; Anson Jordan, 1842;

John Sawyer, 1843-51; Joseph T. Sawyer, 1852; John Sawyer,

1853; Ephraim Brown, 1854-56; John Sawyer, IS57-62; John

Nash, 186.3-65; Henry J. Lone, 1866-67; John Murch, 1868;

Alvin B. Jordan, 1869 ; Erostus A. Plummer, 1870-77; Henry

J. Lone, 1873 ; Erastus A. Plummer, 1879.

COLLECTOR AND CONSTABLE.

Daniel Cook, 1803 ; Mark Leach, Jr., 1304 ; Daniel Small (3d), 1805-6

;

Nathaniel Jordan, 1807 ; Mark Leach, Jr., 1803-9 ; Joseph

Wight, 1310; Edward Jordan, 1311 ; John Smith, 1812; Stephen

Swett, John Smith (vaconcy), 1813 ; Stephen Swett, col. ; Stephen

Swett, John Smith, Mark Leach, Jr., Samuel Leach, 1814 ; Daniel

Small, col. and con. ; Samael Leach, con., 1315 ; Samuel Jordan,

1316; Stephen Jilson, 1817; Joseph Wight, col. and con., Samuel

Leach, con., 1818 ; Mark Leach, Jr., col. and con., Samuel Leach,

con., 1819; Mark Leach, Jr., 1820-21; Joseph Wight, 1322;

Daniel Small, 182:^24; Mark Leach, col. and con., Edward Jor-

dan, con., 1825 ; Mark Leach, 1826-27 ; John Holden, 1 828 ; Levi

Holden, 1829 ; John Holden, 1330.

Charles Latham (Eastern District), Eli Langley (Western District),

1331 ; Ebenezer Strout (Eastern District), Mark Leach (Western

District), 1832; James Webb (whole town), 1333; Ebenezer

Strout (Eastern District), Barclay Wight (Western District),

1 834 ; Clement Hoyden (whole town), 1835 ; John Nash, 1336-38 ;

James M. Leach, Setb Gibbs (vacancy), 1839; Samuel S. Browne,

1340 ; Ebenezer Strout, 1341 ; Anson Jordan, 1842 ; Zachariah L.

Whitney, 1343-44; Ebenezer Strout, 1845; John Nash, 1846;

George Small, 1847 ; John Nash, 1848 ; Lorenzo D. Strout, 1349
;

Joseph Browne, Jr., 1850-51 ; John Small, Jr., 1852; Thomas

Morrill, 1353; Ira Witham, 1354; Oliver P. Jordan, 1855-56;

John Nash, 1857-58; Alvin B. Jordan, 1859-61; Samuel B.

Nash, 1862; Stillman A. Donforth, 1363-65 ; Joshua R. Adams,

1866; George S.Nash, 1867-69; Jordan Brown, 1870; Thomas

Davis, 1371 ; Jordan Brown, 1872-74 ; Samuel B. Nash, 1875-76 ;

Francis M. Nash, 1877; Andrew J. Witham, 1873; Francis M.
Nash, 1879.

RELIGIOUS.

FREE-WILL BAPTIST CHURCH.

The first religious meetings in Raymond were held, pre-

vious to 1790, by Elder Joseph Hutchinson, an associate

of Rev. Mr. Randall, the first Free-Will Baptist preacher.

He was followed in 1790 by Elder James McOi'son, Elder

Nathan Merrill, and Elder William Irish. Jesse Brown

and Daniel Small were the first persons baptized. Septem-

ber 29th, Elder Merrill baptized Jloses and JIartha Star-

bird, John and Sarah Small, and Zachariah Leach. Nine

others were baptized in November. These met at the house

of Moses Starbird, Dec. 30, 1791, chose Zachariah Leach

clerk, and appointed regular conference meetings for the

future. In response to a request made by this society,

Zachariah Leach was ordained Nov. 6, 1794, and entered

immediately upon his duties, baptizing his first convert,

Jeremiah Hayden, November 23d. A great revival oc-

curred in 1798, including John Brown, Eliot Plummer,

and many others. Two meeting-houses were begun in

' 1801 : one upon the height between John Maxfield's bam

and John Mitchell's, now Casco, and one in the angle of

the road leading from Zachariah Leach and John Small's

to Portland, now the site of the cemetery on Raymond

Hill.

In 180i, Elijah Nash and Jeremiah Hayden were ap-

pointed deacons, and Isaac Barton, clerk. Revival meetings

were vigorously conducted in 1805, 1808, 1809, and 1815,

the converts proceeding from the meeting to the water,

where they were immediately baptized, or were baptized

during meetings, which were also held beside the ponds.

In accordance with the requirements of the grant, to settle

a learned Protestant minister. Rev. Mr. Leach was elected

the first minister of Raymond, in 1817, and thereby re-

ceived the ministerial lot, reserved by the Commonwealth.

This he transferred to the school fund, two yeai-s after.

Rev. Zachariah Jordan was ordained in 1818. Elder

Leach was pastor until his death, Nov. 3, 1841. Elder

Josiah Keene became pastor in 1845 ; Lowell Parker,

1846 ; William Chase, 1851 ; D. A. Maddox, 1853; Elder

Brackett, 1854; Elder Henson, John Pinkham, J. S. Pot-

ter, 1867-70; Urial Chase, 1871-74. Jeremiah Hayden

was licensed 1851, L. D. Strout, 1854.

Deacons.—Elijah Nash, 1794-1849 ; John Jordan,

1844 ; John Nash, 1851 ; John Rolf, 1858 ; Levi Jordan,

1875-79
; Charles Butters, 1875-79.

Clerks.—Z. Leach, 1791; Joseph Symonds, 1824-33;

Thomas Jordan, John Rolf, Francis Small, to 1866 ; James

Austin, to 1875 ; succeeded by Col. Thomas Davis, present

clerk. Elbridge Gerry is clerk of a branch society at

Raymond village.

The present meeting-house was built near the old one

on the hill north of East Raymond in 1834, and dedicated

by Elder Joseph White, assisted by Elders Z. Leach and

J. Phinney. In 1842 the church resolved, as a part of

their covenant,

—

" We agree that we will not moke, vend, nor use as a beverage or

drink, ordent spirits of any kind."

This had received the signatures of 181 members previous

to 1858. The present membership is 56.

Five hundred dollars, left the church by Deacon John

Small, in 1855, was invested in a parsonage on Raymond

Hill.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

In the summer of 1814, Rev. Allen H. Cobb began

preaching in the pmprietors" meeting-house on Raymond
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Hill. He was succeeded by Rev. Joseph Ireson, who
formed a class of five members,—Thomas and Statira Files,

Betsey Strout, and Alex. Alexander and wife. A meeting-

house was built at East Raymond by Thomas Files, Geori^e

and Daniel Small, between 1816 and 1820, and is still in

use. The class was changed from Portland to Gray circuit

in 1820, to Otisfield in 1832, Raymond in 1841, and Ray-
mond and Casco in 1843.

The Methodist Episcopal parish of Raymond was incor-

porated July 12, 1823, with E. Strout, Clerk; Thomas
Files, Joseph Wight, and Levi Small, Assessors ; Daniel

Small, Collector ; George Small, Treasurer. In 1844 there

was a class on Raymond Cape with Alfred Manes, leader

;

in East Raymond, Simeon S. Nash, leader ; and two classes

in Casco, Daniel Nash, recording steward, 1844. A class

was formed in Raymond village in 1870, with John F.

Woodman, leader. Levi Small, Greorge Strout, and Simeon

S. Nash were class-leaders previous to 1845. Present

class-leaders, John F. Woodman, Gibeon Plummer, Samuel

B. Nash, leader and recording steward, 1869-78 ; Marcus

Nash, leader, 1869-78.

Pastors.—3. L. Bishop, 1820; C. Fogg, 1820-21;

Peter Ayer, 1823; James Jacques, 1824; P. P. Morrill,

1825 ; J. Briggs, 1826 ; Silas Frink, 1827 ; Moses San-

derson, 1828 ; Oliver Bennett, 1829 ; Abel Alton, 1830
;

A. P. Millman, 1831 ; Isaac F. Moore, 1832-33 ; George

D. Strout, 1834 ; A. F. Barnard, 1836 ; J. Lull, 1837-38
;

Dan Perry, 1839 ; Benjamin Foster, 1840^1 ; J. Hatch,

1842; Cyrus Phoenix, 1843-44 ; T. Jordan, 1845 ; T. B.

Chase, 1846; William Folyard, 1847; John Fairbanks,

1848 ; Simeon W. Pierce, 1849 ; Benjamin Lufkin, 1850-

51 ; S. W. Pierce, 1852 ; Stephen H. Toby, 1853 ; Jesse

Stone, 1854; Sargent S.- Shaw, 1856; John Fairbanks,

1857; Phineas Libby, 1858; Marcus Wight, 1859; James

G. Strout, 1860; Samuel P. Blake, 1861; S. S. Gray,

1862 ; J. W. Sawyer, 1863-64 ; J. H. Pillsbury, 1868-

69; James Nixon, 1870; P. B. Sawyer, 1871; C. W.
Dealtry, 1873 ; Delano Beriy, 1876-77 ; Thomas J. True,

1878-79.

Membership, 1869, 61.

Trustees.—George S. Nash, Gibeon Plummer, J. F. and

James 0. Woodman, M. W. Nash.

A fine church building was erected at Raymond village

in 1879 by William H. Smith, David Plammer, Jr., Miss

Margaret Ann Leach, Mrs. Abbie M. Smith, and Stephen

Hamlin, trustees of the Raymond Yillage Union Parish,

which was organized for that purpose. The Ladies' Mite

Society contributed $700 towards its erection, which cost-

$2200. Erastns A. Plummer is treasurer of the parish.

ASSOCIATIONS.

PATBONS OP HD8BANDRT.

Riverside Grange, No. 93, was organized Jan. 12, 1875,

with 40 members. First officers : Robert T. Smith, Mas-

ter ; Gibeon P. Davis, Overseer ; Gibeon Plummer, Lecturer

;

William H. Smith, Steward ; Alvin E. Plummer, Chaplain
;

E. A. Plummer, Treas. ; Z. L. Whitney, Sec.; Mrs.

Abbie Smith, Ceres. Officers 1879 : Gibeon Plummer,

Master; F. A. Brown, Overseer; William H. Smith,

Lecturer; B. H. Nason, Steward; Elbridge Grerty, Chap-

lain ; Jesse Plummer, Sec. ; Z. L. Whitney, Treas. ; Mrs.

Isabel Nason, Ceres.

TEMPERANCE REFORM CLtlB

was organized Nov. 2, 1875, with W. H. Smith, President;

James M. Leach, Vice-President ; R. T. Smith, Secretary.

1879,—W. H. Smith, President; Jesse Plummer, Vice-

President; George M. Leach, Secretary; James M. Leach,

Treasurer.

KNIGHTS OF PYTHIAS.

Htiicthorne Lodge, No. 16, was organized Dec. 19, 1877.

Charies 0. Rowe, C. C. ; Henry Harmon, V. C. ; Robert

T. Smith, P. ; Daniel H. Chipman, M. of E. ; W. H. H.

Spiller, M. of F. ; Alvin B. Plummer, K. of R. and S.

;

Bani Nason, M. of A. Present membership, 49. Officers,

1879 : Frank H. Boody, C. C. ; Lester N. Jordan, V. C.

;

Hiram M. Cash, P. ; Levi Wescott, M. of A.

I. O. OF G. T.

Hawtlionie Lodge, No. 62, was organized Feb. 10, 1879,

with 41 members. William Mitchell, W. C. T. ; Miss

Abbie J. Brown, W. V. T.'; Fred. E. Plummer, P. W. C.

T. ; Willis Rolf, Chaplain ; Lewellyn Welch, Sec. ; Miss

Plummer, Lee. ; W. H. Smith, Lodge Deputy. The Watch-

man's Club, organized 1850, was a vigorous reform club,

and did much towards establishing the prohibitory law.

SCHOOLS.

The first appropriation for schools recorded was a tax of

£40, in 1801. An act authorizing the sale of school lands,

then consisting of seven lots, was passed June 14, 1814,

and Stephen Swett, Esq., Samuel Leach, Dan Small,

Joseph Wight, and William Dingley were made the first

trustees of Raymond school fund. In September, 1819,

Rev. Zachariah Leach transferred the two lots reserved to

him for the ministry and ministerial support to the school

fund. In 1804 the Eastern meeting-house was repaired

and used for schools, and soon after the other was also used

for a school. There were, in 1878, 11 districts with school-

houses valued at $3000, and 416 school children, of whom
348 attended school. A high school is held in winter, at

Raymond village. Present school fund, $1336.50. Super-

visor, 1879, Robert T. Smith.

PHYSICIANS.

Dr. Levi Brigham, 1804-18; Dr. Winthrop Brown,

1819-35; Dr. William Plummer, 1835-55; Dr. Gitchell,

1865-68; Cyrus K. Bowker, 1858-62 ; Geo. Sylvester,

1873 ; Dr. Lester H. Jordan, 1874^79.

Among the prominent men of Raymond are William

Small, Benjamin W. Merrill, Henry J. Lane, Charles Cole,

Jesse Plummer, James Strout, Gibeon Plammer, John

Mason, George M. Leach, and Elbridge Gerry.

MILITABT.

SOLDIERS OF THE REVOLIITION.

Gkorge Strout, Prince Strout, Thomas Crisp, John Cash,

William Shurtliffe, Hezekiah Jordan, Andrew Brown,

Knight, Joshua Brown, Mark Leach, Eli Longley.
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WAR OF 1812.

Nathaniel Jordan, Simeon Small, Levi Small, William

Roff, Benjamin Davis, Samuel Davis, Hezekiah Jordan,

Tyler.

EX-MILITIA OFFICERS OF RAYMOND AND CASCO.

Colonels, Joseph Dingley, Nathaniel Jordan, Eben Scrib-

ner, Edwin Jordan ; Lieutenant-Colonels, Collins Strout,

James Leach, Thomas Davis
;
Major, Jonas Jordan ; Cap-

tains, Jesse Plummer, William Cook, Joseph Symonds,

Benjamin Mayberry, Stephen Hall, Jacob Dingley, Jethro

Libby, Mahlon D. Hayden, William Brown, Joseph Tukey,

Ebenezer Hayden.

QQ^'^*^

SCARBOEOUGH.
SITUATION AND PHYSICAL FEATURES.

This town is situated in the southwest corner of Cumber-

land County, upon the sea-coast, from which it extends into

the interior about eight miles. It is bounded on the north-

west by the towns of Oorham and Buxton, on the north-

east by Westbrook and Cape Elizabeth, on the southeast

by the Atlantic Ocean, and on the southwest by the town

of Saco, in York County. The " Beach" of this town,

which is one of the most beautiful and noted on the New
England coast, is resorted to by many in summer, for the

excellent advantages it affords for surf-bathing and for en-

joying the cool sea-breeze which constantly comes in from

the ocean, rendering it comfortable at any of the hotels

during the most extreme heat of the season. It is accessi-

ble by the Eastern and the Boston and Maine Railroads, the

latter of which has a station at the Beach, and at Pine

Point. The principal hotels are the Black Rock House,

at the bay, and the Kirkwood and Atlantic, at the main

beach. The sea-view is fine here, being unobstructed by

islands.

The general surface of Scarborough is flat, though in the

northwestern part of the town the hills rise to a considera-

ble elevation. It has a large tract of salt marsh adjoining

the sea ; the interior is sandy, with considerable portions of

clay and loam, and intervale upon the rivers.

The principal streams of the town are the Dunston, or

New River, the Nonesuch, Libby's River, and the Spur-

wink, which forms a portion of the southeastern boundary.

New River has several branches, the chief of which are

Oriocoag River and Mill Creek. The villages or hamlets

are Dunstan, West Scarborough, Blue Point, Oak Hill, and

Coal Kiln Comers.

EABLT SETTLEMENT.

There is pretty good evidence that the first settler in this

town was John Stratton, from whom Stratton's Islands took

their name, and that he settled here and was engaged in

fishing and trade with the Indians prior to the grant made

to Cammock in 1631. It is believed that his residence was

on the island still bearing his name. That he had given

his name to the place before the grant to Cammock is evi-

dent from the fact that that name was known in England,

and the islands are styled " Stratton's Islands" in the grant.

The only records which there seem to be of Stratton are

those of the court held at Saco, March 25, 1636, when
Edward Godfrey petitioned for an attachment of a brass

kettle belonging to Mr. John Stratton for a debt which had

been due about three years ; and a mention of him as one

of the claimants in the original charter of Wells, given by

Thomas Gorges in 1643. At that time Stratton was prob-

ably living at Salem, where he was settled in 1637.*

The first legal proprietor within the town was Capt.

Thomas Cammock, to whom the Council of Plymouth
granted 1500 acres of land between Black Point and Spur-

wink River. Cammock was a nephew of the Earl of War-
wick, at that time a leading member of the Council of

Plymouth. The patent bears date Nov. 1, 1631, but Cam-
mock had come to New England in 1630, and for three

years had been an agent at Piscataqua (now Portsmouth)

for Mason and Gorges. These proprietors in 1633 granted

him a tract of land on the eastern bank of the Piscalaqua,

extending half-way to the river Agamenticus. Delivery

was given him of the Black Point patent, May 23, 1633,

by Capt. Walter Neale, and he seems to have immediately

taken possession. Soon after he was joined by Henry
Jocelyn, a former friend, who had also been an agent at

Piscataqua; and in 1640 Cammock made his will, by
which he gave his real and personal estate to his " well-

beloved friend" and companion, Henry Jocelyn, only re-

serving to himself 500 acres, to be disposed of at his death

as he pleased. The remainder of the estate was to become
Jocelyn's immediately after the death of himself and wife.

Cammock died in the West Indies in September, 1643, and
Jocelyn soon after married his widow.

Cammock was a man of a retiring turn of mind, who
seems to have been contented to enjoy the quiet beauties

of his sea-side home, and the company of such friends as

his good wife Margaret and the brothers Henry and John
Jocelyn. It is not known that he took part in the admin-

istration of public affairs more than once duriu"' his resi-

dence at Black Point,—then he acted as one of the com-
missioners of the province of New Somersetshire, in the

year 1633.

Among the planters who settled near Cammock were

Felt'a Annals of Salem.
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Stephen Lathorne and Ambrose Boaden, in 1640; both

built their houses near the Spnrwink. Ambrose Boaden

had been captain and owner of the vessel in which Cam-

mock and his wife came to America, and he received his

land near Spnrwink in part payment for the passage. Here

Boaden resided till his death. He was for many years the

Spurwink ferryman, having been appointed by the court,

which fixed his charges at two pence a person, ready pay,

but three pence if he was obliged to charge the same in a

book. In 1670 he became blind, and remained so till his

death, in 1675.

For three years after Cammock's arrival there was no

other part of the town occupied, except by Indians. The

next principal settlement was at Blue Point, in 1636, by

Richard Foxwell and Henry Watts. They were supposed

to have settled on the grant made to Thomas Lewis and

Richard Bonython by the Council of Plymouth, Feb. 12,

1630, and had been brought over by the proprietors in part

fulfillment of their agreement to settle fifty planters on their

patent in a period of seven years. But a survey showed

that they were not within the bounds of the grant.

John Bonython, the only son of Richard, the patentee,

was known throughout the province and Massachusetts as

an invincible rebel. None of their laws could be made to

reach him. He thought nothing of being outlawed by the

General Court, nor did he show any disposition to regard the

authority of the government until Massachusetts also pro-

claimed him a rebel and set a price upon his head ; then

he submitted rather than lose his life. It was doubtless

this troublesome character for whom a rhymer of those days

intended the following epitaph :

** Here lies Bonython, the sagamore of Saco

;

He lired a rogue and died a koare, and went to Hobbowocko.''*

Foxwell died in 1676. He had been a member of the

G-eneral Assembly of Ligonia in 1648; one of the commis-

sioners of the town in 1664 and 1668 ;
clerk of the writs

for Scarborough in 1658 and 1665; and was again elected

in 1668, but declined. He had three sons, John, Richard,

and Philip, none of whom left children but John, who had

one son, Nathaniel, at whose death the male branch of the

family became extinct. Philip was one of the selectmen of

the town in 1681. He removed to Kittery in 1690, and

died there the same year.

Henry Watts removed from Saco to Blue Point with Mr.

Foxwell in 1636, and settled upon the plantation adjoining.

The first notice of him in the records occurs in the pro-

ceedings of the court, September 15, 1640, when he was

" presented" with one Fretby, for " carrying bords" on the

Sabbath. It appears that George Cleaves, as deputy-presi-

dent of Ligonia under Rigby, had assumed to dispose of

grants of land at Blue Point, and had granted a small

tract to Watts. In 1673, Watts sold one-half of his whole

plantation, including the grant from Cleaves, to Ralph

Allison. Watts had built the first mill in town, on Foz-

well's Brook, on the western side of the Point, and it

appears from the deed to Allison, in which the land and

mill were conveyed, that the settlement had been named

• The Satan of the Indians.

—

Foltom't Sacu and Biddr/ord. Maine

Historical Collections.

" Cockell," though from what the name is derived is un-

known. Watts took an active part in the political affairs

of the town and province. He was a member of the Gen-

eral Assembly of the Province of Ligonia in 1648 ;
com-

missioner for Falmouth and Scarborough in 1659 ; constable

of Scarborough in 1660; commissioner in 1661, 1662, and

1664. He was living at Blue Point in 1685, being upwards

of seventy-one years of age. The date of his death is not

known. The next settlers at Blue Point were George

Bearing and Nicholas Edgecomb, some time after whom

came Hilkiah Bailey and Edward Shaw. Tristram Alger

also lived here about the same time of the last mentioned.

Roger Dearing, who died at Blue Point in 1676, is sup-

posed to have been a son of George Dearing. A grandson,

by the name of Roger, came from Kittery and settled here

about 1700.

Nicholas Edgecomb was a member of the younger branch

of the noble family of Edgecomb, of Mount Edgecomb,

Engknd. Sir Richard Edgecomb received a grant from

Gorges of 8000 acres of land in the town, which was for a

long time aft^r his death the subject of controversy. A
descendant of Nicholas Edgecomb, probably his grandson,

was agent for the Edgecomb estate ; he lived at Blue Point

about twenty years, and then removed to Saco. His sons

were Robert and John, and probably Michael and Christo-

pher, who were living here in 1675. Robert was married

to Rachel Gibbons, of Saco, where he died in 1730, aged

seventy-four. John was one of the selectmen of Saco in

1686. Of the daughters, Mary married George Page, of

Saco, and after his death John Ashton, of Blue Point,

afterwards of Marblehcad, Maiis. Joanna married a Mr.

Puncheon, of Boston.

William Smyth first settled at Blue Point in 1640;

thence he removed to Black Point, where he resided at the

time of his death. He and Foxwell were the appraisers of

Cammock's estate, in 1643. He had a brother Richard,

and two sisters, living at Worcester, England, in 1661, and

it is probable that he was a native of that city. He was

born in 1587, and died at Black Point, in March, 1676.

Richard Smyth, who was one of the witnesses to the de-

livery of Black Point to Cammock, in 1633, was probably

the brother of William, who was living in. Worcester, in

1661. If so, he remained in the province but a few years.

Hilkiah Bailey and Edward Shaw settled at Blue Point

before 1648, for a deposition of Smyth's shows that they

had been some time there when Rigby's government was

established, and that was in 1648. Bailey was the father of

Jona. Bailey, who died at Blue Point in 1663. Shaw left

a son, Richard, who lived a number of years on his father's

estate, and sold it, in 1662, to John Howell.

Most of the early settlers above referred to were prop-

erly planters, for they gave their attention to agriculture,

and the improvement of their estates.

The third principal settlement within the town was

made at Dunstan, about the year 1651, by the brothers

Andrew and Arthur Alger (sometimes erroneously spelled

Augur). Mr. H. Hight, a resident of Dunstan, who has

given some attention to its early history, says,

—

"The flret aathentic account of the brothers, Andrew and Arthur
Alger, relates that in the year 1645 they reiided at Stratton's Island,
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and had a number of fishenneD in their employ. Several dcpo.'^itioDS

in the York County records refer to the fact that they came from a

village called Ounstan, in England. In one old record we fimJ that

Arthur signed his name * Arthur Alger, Jr.' This may indicate that

his father's name was Arthur. The deposition of John Boaden says,

' Arthur who was Lieutenant.'

" It is now (1878) near two hundred and thirty years since they first

rowed up the Dunstan River. They came from the vicinity of Black

Point and pursued the course of the flood-tide until they arrived at

or near Dunstan Landing. Some time in the year 1651 they purchased

of the Indian sagamore, who resided at Blue Point, a tract of land

containing near 1000 acres. In the year 1654, Arthur, with his wife,

and Andrew, with his family, were fully established at Dunstan. The
purchase made in 1651 was confirmed by a second acknowledgment
of the sale, ' dated 19th of December, 1659,' and reads as follows

:

"
' Declaration of Jane, the Indian, of Scarborough, concerning

lands.'

" * This aforesaid Jane^ alias TJpbanum, doth declare that her mother,

namily Naguasqua, tho wife of Waekwnrrawaskee, Sagamore, and
her brother, Ugagngnskis and herself, namely Uphnnnm, coeqaally

hath sould unto Andrew Alger and to his brother Arthur Alger a tract

of land, beginning at the mouth of ye river called Blue Point River

where the river doth part, and soe bounded up along with the river

called Owasooag, in Indian, and soe np three score pooles above the

falls on one side, and on the other side bounded up along with the

northernmost river that draineth by the great bill of Abram Josclyn's

and goeth northward, bounding from the head of ye river southwest,

and soe to the aforesaid bounds, namely, three score pooles above the

Falls.

"'This aforesaid Uphanum doth declare that her mother and

brother and shee hath already in hand received full satisfaction of the

aforesaid Algers for the aforesayd, the land, from the beginning of the

world to this day, provided on (M>Ddition3 that for tyme to come from

year to year, yearly, the aforraaid Algers shall peaceably suffer Up-

hanum to plant in Andrew Alger's field soe long as Uphanum and her

mother, Negaosqua, doe both live, and alaoe one bushi of come for

acknowledgement every year soe long as they both shall live.

"' Uphanum dooth declare that ye bargain was made in the year

1651, unto which she doeth subscribe her mark of

(Signed) " ' Uphanum X.'

"Just previous to the breaking out of the Indian war of 1675,

when the war spirit began to show itself among the Indiana of this

eastern section, the Algers, thinking—we presume—that it might be

for the interest of peace in their then flourishing settlement, obtained

a third acknowledgment of ' the sayle, dated May the 27th, 1674.'

'^ They were now^-excepting the apprehension of Indian troubles

—

very pleasantly situated on their clearing. Three of Andrew's daugh-

ters were married, and with their husbands were residing on the par-

cbaee. Others had settled around them.

"Joanna Puncheon's deposition says, 'They made large improve-

ments on their farms, and sold considerable quantities of grain

yearly.' On the salt marshes they could ont hay for their cattle for

winter, and around them their cattle found feed in summer. They

had a ho'ise at the 'Neck' which they made their rendezvous in the

best season for fishing. The fish furnished them oil for their lamps,

and together with the products of the land, the dairy, and the abun-

dant supply of wild game, supplied them even to a degree of comfort-

able independence.

" We presume they were extremely anxious to maintain peace, but

notwithstanding the Indians acknowledged that they had received

full satisfaction of the aforesaid Algers from the beginning of the

world,—although from year to year, yearly, the aforesaid Algers had

peaceably suffered Uphanum to plant in Andrew Alger's fields, and

although for more than twenty years they bad been on terms of

friendship, and every year the 'bushel of oome' had been given as a

peace offering,—still, these settlers could not fail to see that an Indian

war, with all its horrors, was about to burst upon them.

" Early in the autumn of 1675 they were warned to assemble at the

garrison, and they removed their families to Sheldon's garrison, at

Black Point. Probably at the time of the removing of their families

they carried many of their goods with them, and again they went to

Dunstan with an escort of soldiers to guard them and assist them to

oarry off their goods.

"On the 12th of October, 1675, Andrew and Arthur, accompanied

by some relatives, went up to their cabins to get liome of their effects

46

that they had hitherto been unable to remove. They were attacked

by the Indians. It is quite impossible at this time to ascertain the

particulars concerning the attack. Tnidition among their descend-

ants says they were attacked when on their way back to the garrison,

—
* that Andrew was killed and Arthur was mortally wounded.' South-

gate, in the ' History of Scarborough/ says ' they were in their cabins

at the time of the attack.' However this may be, it is perhaps

enough for us to know that on the 12th of October, two hundred and

three years ago, the ' Enemy Indians made an attack upon these the

first settlers of Dunstan. The casualties were Andrew Alger killed,

and Arthur Alger mortally wounded.
"

' The deposition of Peter Witham, aged 72 years, testifieth that I,

about 52 or 3 years ago, then being in the country's service, under the

command of Capt. John Wincoll, and being posted with other soldiers

at Bine Poynt, at Mr. Foxwell's tiarrison, went up to Dunstan to guard

Andrew and Arthur Alger, and we assisted them to carry off their

grain. Some days after which the said Andrew and Arthur, with

some of their relatives, went from Shelton's Garrison to Dunstan to

bring off some of their good?, and were beset by the Indians, and

said Andrew was killed and said Arthur was mortaHy wounded.

And I did help to carry one off, and also to bury them both.'

" The deposition from Joanna Puncheon says, ' One Robert Nichols,

who lived on their land, was killed with his wife in the beginning of

the Indian war, in wheat harvest and some weeks after Andrew and

Arthur was killed in Indian harvest.' Arthur probably survived

long enough to make bis will, by which he gave his property to his

wife, Ann Alger.

" The relatives referred to in Witham's deposition might have been

the aons-in-Iaw of Andrew, or his son John, or other persons. Giles

Roberts, who resided in Scarboro' in 1662, speaks of Arthur Alger

as his loving brother-in-law. In an old deed, now more than two

hundred years old, we find the following: *I, Arthur Alger, for the

love and good-will which I have and do bear towards my loving

cousen, Abram Roberts, have given him one hundred acres of land,' etc.

"From these facts we learn they were not without relatives in the

settlement.

" They had much to do with the a^airs of the times in which they

lived. Andrew took an active part in opposition to Cleaves, who

claimed to have authority from Rigby to govern the province. He
was at different times one of the selectmen, constable, etc.

"Arthur was for several years attorney for the town, and held other

important positions.

' The deposition of John Boaden, 1730, says, ' They were persons of

note and good character.' There is not a word to indicate that they

were other than high-minded, honorable men, and much to confirm

our opinion that they were honest, fair-dealing pioneers.

"Their widows soon removed from the scenes of their afflictions.

The widow of Arthur removed to Marblehead, Mass. She had no

children.

" By the following, from the book of Eastern Claims, we infer that

she married again: 'Ann Walker, formerly relict of Arthur Alger,

claims a tract of land (here is copied the old Indian deed to the Algers)

which was conveyed by his last will and testament, dated 1675, to his

wife, Ann Alger.'

" The widow of Andrew removed to Boston. Probably at that time

all, or nearly all, of her children had become of age."

The Algers gave the name of Dunstan to their settlement

in commemoration of their native town in Somersetshire,

England.* It was at a later period transferred to the set-

tlement at the landing, and still later to the village.

In the division of the Alger estate, Arthur took the

northern part, which was separated from his brother's by a

brook. He died without issue. Andrew had six children,

—three sons, John, Andrew, and Matthew, and three daugh-

ters. Elizabeth married John Palmer ; Joanna married

first, Elias Oakman, and second, John Mills, who lived in

Boston, where she died ; and the third married John

Austin. John, the son of Andrew, had several daughters,

* Boaden's deposition. The town referred to was probably Diinster

or Dunstorre, in Somersetshire.— WtUi»,
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one of whom, Elizabeth, married John Milliken, house-

wright, first of Boston, then of Scarborough. The de-

scendants of the Millikens still reside at Dunstan, among

whom are J. A. Milliken, the present clerk of the town of

Scarborough, and Milliken, who has attained the age

of ninety-siz years.

Andrew Alger, Jr., was master of a vessel, and was

kiUed in Falmouth in 1690, leaving one daughter, wife of

Matthew Collins. Matthew Alger was master of one of

the transports in Sir William Phipps' expedition to Canada,

and died of the fleet-fever soon after his return. He was

the last surviving male of that race, and the name in this

branch is extinct in this coontiy. The widow of the first

Andrew married Samuel Walker. Several of Andrew's

children were married and settled near him before his

death : first, John, then Palmer ; the others followed,

fronting the marsh in the neighborhood of the Dr. South-

gate place, whose iarm was a part of the Alger estate.

The settlement at Black Point increased more rapidly

than the other two, and became one of the most flourishing

and important places on the coast. John Jocelyn (" Voy-

ages," page 200) thus speaks of it in 1671 :
" Six miles

to the westward of Saco, and forty miles from Gorgiana

(York), is seated the town of Black Point, consisting of

about fifty dwelling-houses, and a magazine or doffonne,

scatteringly built ; they have a store of neat [cattle] and

horses, of sheep near upon 700 or 800, much arable and

marsh land, salt and fresh, and a corn-mill. To the south-

ward of the Point (upon which are stages of fishermen) lie

two small islands; beyond the Point northeastward runs

the river Spnrwink.''

OABEEB OF HENBY JOCELTN.

Henry Jocelyn was for over forty years the principal man

in the town, and one of the most distinguished inhabitants

of the province. He was the son of Sir Thomas Jocelyn,

Knight, of Kent, England, whence he came to New Eng-

land as chief agent of Mason, at Piscataqua, in 1634, and

the following year removed to Black Point. He was one of

the counselors of the province of New Somersetshire upon

the organization of the government in 1635. His com-

mission was renewed under the patent of 1639, and he

was a member of the first court at Saco, June 25, 1640.

By this court John Wilkinson was sworn constable of

Black Point, and a similar o£Bcer was appointed for Fal-

mouth. This is the earliest record of the appointment of

a town officer for either of these towns. Upon the oi^ni-

zation of Rigby's government, in 1648, Mr. Jocelyn

was made one of the judges of Ligonia, the others being

George Cleaves and Robert Jordan.

Mr. Jocelyn was strongly opposed to the submission of

the province to Massachusetts. After the western settle-

ments had submitted, in 1653, Jocelyn and Jordan held

out against it for the next five years, being zealous and

consistent loyalists; and when summoned, in 1654, to

appear before the commissioners of that obtrusive colony

at York, they refused to recognize her authority and de-

clined to appear. During the same year Jordan (who was

an Episcopal clei^man) was arrested and imprisoned in

Boston for persisting in baptizing children according to

the forms of the church, although repeatedly forbidden to

do so by the authority of Massachusetts. He was released,

and in a short time he and Jocelyn were arrested and re-

quired to give bonds for their appearance before the

General Cotirt. They did not yield their opposition to

what they considered usurpation on the part of Mas-

sachusetts until convinced that they could do so without

the sacrifice of principle, or, at least, saw that a settlement

of the wearisome controversy would be for the best good

of the country, under existing circumstances. In 1657

they made their appearance before the General Court, and

were discharged from their bonds. In 1658, Black Point,

Richmond Island, and Casco submitted to the authority and

jurisdiction of Massachusetts before a court of commissioners

held at the house of Robert Jordan, near the month of the

Spurwink, in July of that year.

Twenty-eight persons signed the compact, of whom the

following fourteen were inhabitants of Scarborough : Henry

Jocelyn, Richard Foxwell, Henry Watts, Samuel Oakman,

Abraham Follen, Andrew Browne, Ambrose Boaden, Sr.,

Michael Moddiver, Thomas Hamweth, John Tenney, Arthur

Alger, Jr., Nicholas Edgecomb, Ambrose Boaden, Jr., and

George Taylor.

In these articles of submission it is provided :
" 7. That

those places which were formerly called Black Point, Blue

Point, and Stratton's Ishind, thereto adjacent, shall here-

after be called by the name of Scarborough.* The bounds

of which town, on the western side, beginneth where the

town of Saco endeth, and so runs along on the western side

of the river Spurwink, eight miles back into the country."

" 10. That the towns of Scarborough and Falmouth shall

have commission courts to try causes as high as fifty pounds.''

" 11. That those two towns of Scarborough and Falmouth

are to send one deputy yearly to the Court of Election, and

have liberty to send two deputies if they see cause."

Scarborough was named from the market-town of that

cognomen in the North Riding of Yorkshire, England.

Jocelyn and Watts were appointed commissioners for

Scarborough, under the 10th article of the agreement. Mr.

Jocelyn was also chosen one of the magistrates in 1658, in

September of which year a court was held in Scarborough

by the associates for the county. Henry Jocelyn, Robert

Jordan, Nicholas Shapleigh, Edward Rishworth, and Abra-

ham Preble were the judges present.

The government of Massachusetts was borne with pretty

good grace till the accession of Charles II. to the throne of

England, in 1660. This revived the hopes of the royalists

in the province, and Jocelyn and others were less careful to

conceal their ill-feeling towards the existing government, to

which necessity, for a time, had compelled them to submit.

Id 1662, Jocelyn and Shapleigh (of Kittery) refused to take

the oath of office as associates under Massachusetts. The
government sent a commissioner, Capt. Waldron, to see to the

enforcement of her authority. It was in vain : the recusant

associates protested, and refused to take the oath. At the

court, in 1663, not only Jocelyn and Jordan, who seem to

be the leading rebelt, but two strong reinforcements of their

• The Indian name of Scarborough was Oientcoag,—place of mnch
graes.
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party (Sliaplcigh and Chiinipernoon) were " presented" be-

fore the General Court for acting; against the authority of

Massachusetts. But these proceedings had no other effect

than to strengthen them in their opposition. The govern-

ment, however, modified its policy, so that a temporary

or partial reconciliation was effected, and the next year

Scarborough made her returns to the General Court, which

accepted Mr. Jocelyn as one of the commissioners. His

remarkable political career closed in 1676, in which year,

or soon after, he removed to Plymouth.

INDIAN HOSTILITIES.

Hostilities in the first Indian war commenced in Massa-

chusetts in June, 1675. The news of the first outbreak

most have soon found way to the settlements along the

coast. Then (we imagine) the settlers congregated here

and there to talk of the prospects, some doubting whether

war would come, some fearing it might, and all hoping for

a continuation of peace.

The emissaries of King Philip were soon among the

different tribes, where they probably found willing listeners,

especially among the Indians (then living) who could re-

member the time when no white man had an habitation in

all the land. Envy and hatred with the wildest infatuations

of war soon prevailed in all their councils, and powerful

bands of hostile savages might properly enough be imag-

ined anywhere in the depth of the wilderness, ready to fall

upon and destroy the weakest and most defenseless settle-

ments.

Among the first acts of hostility on the Maine frontier

was the attack upon Saco, and the killing of Robert

Nichols and his wife, at their homes on the south side of

Dunstan, in time of wheat harvest (middle of September),

1675. About the same time the news of the inhuman

murder of the Wakely family on the eastern side of the

" Presumpscot," spread among the settlements. (Lieut.

George IngersoU, of " Casco," who was the first to visit

that scene of horror, had during these troublesome times

frequent communication with Black Point.) October 12tli.

Andrew Alger, of Dunstan, was killed, and his brother Ar-

thur was mortally wounded. One deposition says, " Their

families, and their children and their families, were drove

off, their houses and bams were burnt, their cattle killed,

and the chief of all they had was destroyed." During

the later part of the autumn of 1675, news of savage

attacks upon the settlements, east and west, came in rapid

succession.

We learn from Scottovoi Journal that, about the last of

October, forty Boston soldiers were added to the force at

Black Point. Capt. Joshua Scottow was in command, and

Black Point garrison was the headquarters of " ye Maine

Guard." October 31st, Capt. John WincoU with sixty

men was sent up to Dunstan to save corn and fight the In-

dians. November 2d, in the afternoon, twenty-nine of the

inhabitants, while threshing grain, were nearly surrounded

by seventy or eighty Indians. They were relieved by a

force under Sergt. Tippin. At this time Capt. Scottow

seemed to have been extremely anxious to destroy the

" barbarous enemy," and evidently expected a fight with a

large force of Indians near Andrew Brown's house (across

the marsh from Dunstan). But the Indians, choosing a

different mode of warfare, " fell to burning houses, barns,

hay-stack.s, and all before them," thus leaving nothing for

the soldiers to defend. November 6th, Capt. Wincoll with

a force " went up the Nonesuch" to secure corn left in the

deserted Louses and barns on the northeast side of the town.

They had two skirmishes with the enemy. Samuel Ryall,

one of the Boston soldiers, was mortally wounded. Early

on Sunday morning, November 7th, the enemy burned

houses and barns ; they ventured near Sheldon's garrison

and burned eight or nine houses. As soon as the fires were

discovered the soldiers and inhabitants at Black Point gar-

rison hastened towards Sheldon's garrison, which was above

musket-shot of the burning houses. Their advance was

hindered by the tide, which had overflowed the road and

bridge. As soon as they could pass they " scour" the town

towards the northeast. On their way they met Lieut. In-

gersoU with twelve Casco men who came to "joyn" them,

but they found no enemy. Early next morning Lieut.

IngersoU, with 60 men, went up to Saco Falls, but they

found no enemy in that direction. Probably the main

force of the Indians left this vicinity immediately after

firing the houses on Sunday morning. That was the clos-

ing scene of the Indian depredations for the season. They

had burned nearly all the buildings in the town, had feasted

upon the crops and cattle of the provident settlers, and

now that cold weather was upon them they hastened away.

In the spring of 1676 the settlers had hopes of peace
;

the Boston soldiers no longer needed were " put to march-

ing home by land.'" The death of King Philip and the

conclusion of peace between the settlers and Indians in

Massachusetts, in August, encouraged their hopes, but

about the same time came the sad news of fresh outbreaks

tn the eastward. August 11th, a messenger from Falmouth

came to Black Point begging for assistance. He brought

a brief letter from Mr. Burroughs, the minister, which

gave an account of 32 killed and carried away by the

Indians. August 12th, Mr. Jocelyn sent the letter to

Brian Pendleton at Saco. So all the settlements were again

alarmed.

In October a strong force of the enemy, led by " Mugg,"

laid siege to Black Point garrison. Jocelyn parleyed with

Mugg ; the inhabitants retreated in boats, and left Jocelyn

and the garrison in possession of the enemy. So on Oct.

12, 1676 (just one year from the attack on the Algers),

Old Scarboro', that previous to the troubles was a flourish-

ing town, with various settlements, several hundred -inhab-

itants, quite a number of farms, 100 houses, 1000 head of

cattle, etc., was entirely abandoned, its buildings burned,

and its farms desolate.

During the winter of 1676-77, Mugg was constrained

to make a treaty, and peace was considered certain. The

settlers retiirned to Black Point. But peace with these

savages was only a treacherous name for war. 'Early in

May a large force of Indians, commanded by the same

" Mugg," laid siege to Black Point garrison. Three of

the defenders were killed, and one, more unfortunate still,

was taken prisoner. May 16th, Mugg was shot by Lieut.

Tippin, and immediately the enemy " drew off."

A little more than a month passed by and Black Point
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was a scene of a most fearful coDflict. A force of ninety

men, under Capt. Benjamin Sweet, was drawn into an

ambush, about two miles from the garrison, by an over-

whelming number of savages. The struggle that followed

was one of the most desperate recorded in the annals of

those trying times. We might have known more concern-

ing it but for the fact that Capt. Sweet and two-thirds of

his force were numbered among the dead that laid along

the line of their retreat. Thus was the killing of Mugg,

May 16th, terribly revenged on Tuesday morning, June

29th.

Soon after this event some settlers at Pemaquid con-

cluded a peace with the Eastern Indians. This peace was

ratified at Casco, April 12, 1678. Thus ended the first

Indian war.

The peace that followed, however, was continually brooded

over by apprehensions of war. We find the settlers at

Scarboro', in 1681, building a strong fortification between

Moor's Brook and the soatbeastern end of the great pond.

(The transactions concerning this fortification can be seen

in the town record of that date.) In 1683 the General

Court ordered the establishment of strong garrisons in all

the towns. In 1685 no person was allowed to leave the

town without permit from the commander of the militia.

Confidence, and consequent prosperity, had hardly begun

to return when the poor settlers were again alarmed by the

threatenings of war.

The first Indian war was a war against the settlers. The

second had its origin in. the courts of France and England.

Blind religious zeal,

"In hope to merit heaven by making earth a hell,"

found its way into the wilderness to encourage savages to

deeds of horrid- cruelty, that were described by one French

writer of those times as " actions brave and beautiful."

The first act of hostility of this war fell upon North

Yarmouth in September, 1689. Several were killed,

—

among them Walter Gendall, previously of Spurwink. A
few days afterwards occurred Col. Church's fight at Fal-

mouth. In this action Andrew Alger, Jr., of Dunstan,

was killed.

In May, 1690, 500 French and Indians came against

Falmouth, and it was entirely destroyed. Immediately the

occupants of the garrisons at Black Point and Blue Point

drew off. So Scarboro' was again entirely abandoned.

The Peace of Ryswick in 1677 ended the war in Europe,

but the news, unread by the savages and unrelished by their

allies, brought no peace to Maine until January, 1699.

Five years of peace and the " alarum" of war again aroused

the settlements. Queen Anne's war commenced in 1702.

Again the French and English were ready to destroy each

other. In June, 1703, the assembled chiefs made most

solemn pledges of friendship, but in less than two months

500 French and Indians were laying waste the settlements

and attacking garrison after garrison from Casco to Wells.

Twenty-five were killed or carried away fi«m Purpooduck

;

22 were killed at Spurwink ; at Winter Harbor 1 1 were

killed, the garrison was captured, and 24 were taken pris-

oners. Under Beaubasin, a Frenchman, they besieged the

old garrison at Black Point, but a few brave men under

Capt. John Larrabee, from whom one word of command

was worth a score of men, held the fort. In 1707, Col.

Hilton, with a considerable force, landed at Black Point

and succeeded in killing 22 Indians without the loss of a

man. About the time of the close of the war (1713),

Lieut. Hnnniwell and 19 others were ambushed by

200 Indians, near the Great Pond, and only one of their

number escaped. Williamson says, " The Indians imme-

diately beset the garrison, in which remained a small party

of defenders, who maintained a gallant defense until they

found an opportunity to escape to a vessel in the harbor

;

then the triumphant enemy set the garrison on fire.

The peace which followed brought new life to the settle-

ments, and the frontier was extended into the wilderness.

In 1719 the town records, that were carried to Boston

thirty-one years before for safe-keeping, were brought back

to the town and the town government was reorganized.

Subsequent Indian troubles did not drive off the settlers.

They had come to stay. In 1722, Massachusetts declared

war against the Eastern Indians. Col. Westbrook, then a

resident of Scarboro', was placed in command of the forces.

Some skulking bands of Indians committed depredations in

the town, and in the old records we find the following

:

" The dath of Thomas Lereby and his son, Anthony

Lereby, who were killed by the Ingons April 19, 1723 ;"

also, " The dath of Sarah Deering, the wife of Mr. Roger

Deering, who was killed by the Ingons June the 26th day,

anno. 1723."

The destruction of the French and Indian settlements at

Norridgewock (in which Scarboro' soldiers took an active

part) put an end to the French influence, and the Indians

and their wars, after the lesser troubles of 1745, gradually

fell back westward.

"A list of the inhabitants at Black Point Garrison, Oct. 12, 1676.

In ye
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pointed president of Maine. Tlie new government con-

sisted of a president, deputy president, a Council and a Gen-

eral Assemblj, the latter made up of the people's represen-

tatives. The first Council consisted of eight members, of

whom Capt. Joshua Scottow, of Scarborough, was one. In

1681, the General Court empowered the President of Maine

to confirm the titles of the inhabitants to their lands in the

province. Accordingly the president conveyed to Capt.

Scottow, Walter Gendall, Richard Hunnewell, William

Barridge, Andrew Browne, Ambrose Boaden, and John

Tenny, Trustees, the township of Scarborough. The con-

veyance b dated July 26, 168-i. From this time all lands

were conveyed by a vote of the town, or by a committee ap-

pointed for that purpose.

SECOND SETTLEMENT OF THE TOWN.

After the destruction of Falmouth by the French and In-

dians, in 1690, the inhabitants of this town wisely decided

to save themselves by flight. They drew off immediately

to Saco, and from Saco, in a few days, to Wells, and from

Wells many went to Portsmouth. In this manner the

settlements in this town and vicinity were entirely broken

up. The precise date of the second settlement of the town

is not known. In 1702 a little band of seven persons ar-

rived from Lynn in a sloop. They were John Larrabee,

Henry Libby, and his three sons, and two men by the name

of Pine and Blood. Tlrey erected a small fort for their pro-

tection. The next year five hundred French and Indians

attacked the fort. There were in it only eight persons able

to fight, but fortunately they had in Capt. Larrabee a brave

and resolute commander. He refused to surrender or ca-

pitulate upon any terms. The enemy undertook to under-

mine the fort, but there came a drenching rain and filled

up the ditch, so that in digging they became exposed to

the shots of the little band inside, and were so harassed

that they became discouraged and went off in search of

other prey. Thus the brave settlers escaped.

The fear of the Indians kept back settlers, so that the

town for some time increased very slowly in population,

and there was no organization of a town government till

1720.

Pine Point received its name from Charles Pine, a famous

hunter.' Newbury Point was so named from William New-

bury, also a hunter.

In 1723 the Indians ^ain attacked all the settlements

along the sea-board. In April they suddenly fell upon the

inhabitants at Black Point, killed Sergeant Chubb, of the

fort, Thomas Larrabee, and his son Anthony. On the 26th

of June they attacked the garrison-house of Roger Bear-

ing, killed his wife, took captive two of his children, and

Mary Scamman, of Saco, who was visiting there. The same

day they took John Hunnewell, of Black Point, a prisoner.

The only other person killed in this town during the war

was a Mr. Mitchell, of Black Point, whom they waylaid

and murdered near Spurwink, in 1724.

In 1747 the Indians appeared at Scarborough on the 14th

of April. They had secreted themselves in the woods near

the garrison on Scottow's Hill, intending to take it at night.

Nathaniel Dresser, a young man residing at the garrison,

going out to work on the west side of the hill, discovered

the Indians, and started to run back with all speed. He
was pursued and fired upon, and falling dead upon his face.

one of the Indians came up and hastily took off his scalp.

As he turned to go, Capt. Daniel Harvey, the only man left

in the garrison at the time, fired upon him and shattered

his right arm. Having thus shown themselves, the Indians

made no attempt upon the garrison, but went off towards

Falmouth.

LOUISBOURG, JUNE 7, 1745.

One hundred and sixty of the men of Scarborough were

enlisted in Col. Waldo's regiment during the campaign for

the capture of Louisbourg,' the French stronghold in North

America. The fort was taken June 17, 1745. It does not

appear how many of the men of this town were actually

engaged in the capture, excepting Samuel Milliken, Roger

Hunnewell, and Seth Fogg. Milliken was lost on his return

trip, and Hunnewell had an arm shot off in the engage-

ment. Richard King, afterwards an eminent citizen of

Scarborough, was commissary, and Joseph Prout acted as

local commissary of the town. The following from this

town are a few out of many who enlisted in the war

:

Capt. George Berry's Company.—Daniel Moody, Jo.sepli

Hunnewell, John Libby, Thomas Foss, Robert Munson,

Alex. Roberts, Lieut. John Libby, Noah Libby, Samuel

. Larrabee, Richard Hunnewell, Jethro Starbird, Richard

Carter, Theod. Moses, Robert Muuson, James Libby, David

Sawyer, Lieut. Daniel Field, Walter Fcss, Timothy Haines,

Daniel Moody.

Capt. Thomas Perldns Company.—Isaac MacKene,

James Libby, Thomas Larrabee, Ephraim Andrews, Sam-

uel Fickett, Elijah Bragdon, John Myrick.

Among the inhabitants of the town at the second settle-

ment were the following: Jonathan Andrews, 1732 ; Amos
Andrews, later ; John and Nathaniel Babb, Dunstan ; Dr.

Abram Bacon, 1799 ; Moses Banks, before the Revolution
;

Capt. Elias Bonks, ship-carpenter; Joseph Berry, 1720;

Arthur Bragdon, 1725 ; Solomon and Gideon Bragdon,

later ; Joseph Calef, 1725 ; John Coolbroth, 1730 ; Roger

Dearing (from Kittery), 1716 ; Henry Dresser, 1729 ; Jo-

seph Emerson (merchant at Dunstan), 1796 ; James Fly,

1716; Daniel Fogg, 1720; Caleb Graffam, 1714; Daniel

Hasty, 1735 ; Samuel Harrison, 1726 ; Fergus Higgins,

1750; George Hight, 1780; Roger Hunnewell (died),

1720 ; Aaron Jewett (Dunstan), 1727 ; John Jones, 1736
;

Martin Jose, 1729 ; Ivory Kilborn, 1777 ; Richard King,

1745. The remainder of Mr. King's life was spent in

Scarborough in agricultural and mercantile pursuits. He
died at his residence near Dunstan Landing, March 27, 1875,

aged fifty-seven. Mr. King married Isabella Bragdon, of

York, by whom he had the following children : Rufus, born

1755 ; died April 29, 1829. Mary, born 1757 ; married Dr.

Robert Southgate, June 23, 1773 ; died March 30, 1824.

Paulina, married Dr. Aaron Porter, April 13, 1777. Isa-

bella, the mother, died Oct. 19, 1759. The second wife of

Richard King was Mary, daughter of Samuel Black, of

York, born Oct. 8, 1736 ; married Jan. 31, 1762. Children

by the second marriage : Richard, born Dec. 22, 1762,

married Hannah Larrabee, Jan. 14, 1790 ; Isabella, born

Sept. 8, 1764, died Sept. 12, 1770 ; Dorcas, born May 20,
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1766, married Joseph Leland, Dec. 28, 1786; William,

bom Feb. 9, 1768, died June 17, 1825 ; Betsey, born Jan.

7, 1770; Cyrus, born Sept. 6, 1772, married Hannah
Storer, Oct. 1797, died April 25, 1817. Mary, second wife

of Richard King, died May 25, 1816. Mr. King had three

brothers,—David, Josiah, and William. David was a

merchant in Saco ; William was a sea-captain. They were

descended from the Kings of Kittery. Rufns King, the

eldest son of Richard, was a native of Scarborough
;
grada-

nated at Harvard College, 1777 ; studied law at Newbury-
port with Judge Parsons, where he resided. His career as

a lawyer, Senator in Congress, and Minister of State is well

known, and reflects lasting honor upon the place of his

birth. Ex-Governor William King, of Bath (deceased),

the first Governor of Maine, was the third son of Richard

King, bom in Scarborough, Feb. 9, 1768. Cyrus, the

fourth son, and youngest of Ihe children, distinguished

himself at the bar and in the halb of Congress. Died at

Saco, April 25, 1817.

Capt. Alexander Kirkwood lived at Prout's Neck, which,

during his residence there, was called " Kirkwood's Neck."

He was a Scotchman from the English navy, and married

Mary, daughter of Timothy Prout, Esq. The Libbys,

among whose heirs Prout's or Libby's has recently been

divided, are descendants of Henry Libby, who, with his

three sons, Capt. Larrabee, and others, came from Lynn in

a sloop in 1702. They had a numerous o&pring in the

town.

Other settlers were Capt. Timothy McDaniel, 1765;

John McKenney, 1670; John Milliken, 1719 ; John J.,

Samnel, and Nathaniel Milliken, 1730 ; Clement Meserve,

1725; Daniel Moody, 1724; George Moses, 1754; Daniel

Moulton, son of John Moulton, 1720 ; Robert Munson

(Dunstan), 1726 ; William Newbry, 1720; Morris O'Brien,

1740 ; Joseph and Jonathan Pillsbary, before 1800 ; Aaron

Plummer, 1720 ; Timothy Prout, from Boston (purchased

the Cammock patent of the heirs of Capt. Scottow, 1828) ;

David King, prior to . 1728 ; Ebenezer Sevey (Blue

Point), 1717; David Sawyer, previous to 1728; Robert

Southgate, M.D., June 29, 1771 (see Cumberland Bench

and Bar in this work) ; Paul Thompson (Blue Point),

1727; James Tyler (Blue Point), 1718; ElUot Vaughan,

1742 ; Walter Wanen, 1750 ; Joseph Waterhouse, 1730
;

William Wataon (Hig^ns' farm), 1748 ; Dr. Daniel Wins-

low (from Falmouth), 1728.

REVOLtTTIONARY SOLDIERS.

The following list of Scarborough men who were engaged

in the war of the Revolution is taken from Southgate's

history of the town, the rank of the officers being given and

the names of places where longest stationed in parenthesis.

THE MACHIAS COLONY.

The census of Scarborough in 1761, previous to the re-

moval of the colony to Machias, showed 310 taxable polls,

190 houses, 448 oxen, 633 cows, 1067 sheep, 257 swine,

6613 bushels of grain, 907 tons of English hay, 426 tons

of meadow hay, 1467 tons of salt hay. The following

year the crops were almost wholly out off by an unusual

drought. This was one cause of the removal of so large a

colony to Machias, who became the founders of that town.

An association for that purpose was formed in 1762, con-

sisting of the following named persons : Samuel and Syl-

vanus Scott (brothers), Timothy, David, and George Libby

(brothers), Solomon and John Stone (brothers), Daniel and

Japheth Hill (brothers), Isaiah Foster, Westbrook Perry,

Isaac Larrabee, and Daniel Fogg, of this town; and

Thomas Buck, of Plymouth, captain of a coaster, Jonathan

Carlton, of Sheepscot, and William Jones, of Portsmouth,

16 in all. This company began the settlement of Machias

in 1763 ; Joel Bonny, a millwright, and Wooden Foster,

a blacksmith, of Scarborough, went with them. In 1765

the following persons from Scarborough also joined the col-

ony at Machias ; Morris O'Brien, and his two sons,—Gideon

and Jeremiah ; Daniel Elliot, Joseph Holmes, Joseph and

Ebenezer Libby, Benjamin Frost, Joseph Sevey, Joseph

Munson, Balch, Ezekiel Foster, Joseph Getchell, and

Benjamin Foss. Of the names upon the petition to whom

the township of Machias was granted, in 1770, there ap-

pear no less than 54 from Scarborough.

CHURCHES.

TOWN MINISTET.

In accordance with the usual early custom in New Eng-

land, ministers w^re called and settled by the town, and

supported by the town-tax, until parishes were set off. The

first minister at Black Point whose name appears in the

records was Rev. John Thorpe, who was complained of to

the Court by Jocelyn and Jordan, in 1659, for " preaching

unsound doctrine." Nothing further is recorded concerning

him, but probably he did not remain long after that. An-

other minister is referred to, but not named, in the record

of 1665, where an entry is made of the fining of Christopher

Collins and Sarah Mills " for not paying the minister his

stipend." These persons were Quakers, and declined to

support the minister on account of their conscientious

sqruples. But the laws of Massachusetts strictly required

all persons to support the clergy of a certain order, whether

their consciences allowed them to do so or not.* Sarah

Mills afterwards received twenty stripes for Quakerism.f

In 1680, Rev. Benjamin Blackman settled in Scar-

borough. He was induced to become the town minister

through the influence of Capt. Scottow, who gave him 2U

acres of land near the Ferry Rocks. He preached one year

for the town, being employed by the selectmen, and also

represented the town in the Court at York, in 1682. He
had graduated at Harvard College in 1663. He married

Rebecca, daughter of Capt. Scottow. In 1683 he removed

to Saco, where he became the proprietor of nearly one-fourth

of that town.

In 1686 the celebrated George Burroughs, of witchcraft

memory, was obtained to preach for the town. He had

formerly preached at Falmouth, beginning there in 1674,

and was driven from there by the Indians in 1675, but re-

turned in 1683. It is not known how long he remained at

Black Point. He was put to death in Salem, Aug. 19,

1692, for the alleged crime of witchcraft.

• Acts and Laws of the Prorince of Maasachnsette Bay, pp. 16, 34,

141, edition of 1759.

t Maine Hist. Coll., vol. lii. p. 1S4.
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The first meeting-house in the town was built upon a

plain, a short distance from Jocelyn's, which stood near the

Ferry Rocks.

Rev. Hugh Campbell was the first minister of the town

under the new organization of 1720. He had been preach-

ing some time, when the inhabitants at the first town-meet-

ing voted him a "salary of £50 for the year ensuing,

besides his meat and drink, washing and lodging." Under

this arrangement he preached one year, when he left the

town. Rev. Hugh Henry was next settled for a short time,

and then the town was without a minister till 1728, when

Rev. William Tompson began to preach. At this time a

church was formed, which was the first regularly organized

religious body in the town. The next year Mr. Tompson

was ordained and installed pastor. His salury was fixed at

£100 for the first year, £110 for the second, £120 for the

third, and so on, according to the ability of the inhabitants.

It .seems that the first meeting-housa had prior to this

been destroyed, probably in the Indian wars ; for Mr.

Tompson began to preach in the house of Arthur Brag-

don, who lived on the plains near the Black Point burying-

ground. In March, following, the town voted to build a

meeting-house, of the following dimensions : 40 by 35 and

20 feet high. It was erected in 1731, and stood on the north-

west corner of the Black Point burying-ground lot. Soon

after another was built on the common at Dunstan, and Mr.

Tompson officiated alternately in each of these divisions

of the town, until the second society was formed in Dunstan,

in 1744, by setting off fifteen males and as many females

from the Black Point Society. Mr. Tompson continued

his labors until his death, in February, 1759. He was held

in high esteem, and his loss was deeply deplored. At his

death the town voted his " funeral expenses" and " a suit

of mourning for the widow."*

Parson Smith's journal, under date of Feb. 13, 1745,

makes the following allusion to Mr. Tompson and to

Whitefield's preaching here

:

'•' Mr. Whitfield has gone to Dunstan." 21at, " Mr. W. preached a.u.

at Biddeford, and returned to Scarboro' and preached for Mr. Tomp-

son." 26th, " I heard Mr. Whitfield A.u. at Mr. Allen's, and p.m. at

Mr. Tompson's,"

After Mr. Tompson's death. Rev. Mr. Hill supplied the

pulpit for three months, and was succeeded by Rev. Mr.

Ward, who remained but a short time.

In 1762 the society, consenting to adopt Presbyterian

usages, settled Rev. Thomas Pierce, who remained in the

service of the parish till Jan. 26, 1775, the time of liis

death. He wa.s born in Newbury, Out. 11, 1737, and

graduated at Harvard Coliei:e in 175!).

Rev. Thomas Lancaster was ordained and took charge

of the parish in 1775, and continued in the pasitursliip a

period of fifty-six years. In the church record is the fol-

lowing entry :

" Voted ye Rev. Mr. Thodiaa Lancaster Five 7'houianti Four Hun-

dred Puttnda in the present old paper ourrencj to make good his

salary of Sixti/ Potindg."

Rev. Mr. Lancaster died Jan. 12, 1831.

^ Rev. Mr. Tompson was the son of Rev. Edward Tompson, or-

dained at Murshfield in 1696, and was the father of Justice Tompson,

of Scarborough, and of Rev. John Tompson, of Berwick.

Rev. Thomas Jameson was ordained as his colleague in

1825. His health foiling in 1840, Rev. Daniel Sewall was

installed August 26th of that year, and continued two years.

He was followed by Rev. Albert W. Fisk till 1848. Rev.

William Tobey was settled Sept. 20, 1848, and died Sept.

10, 1849.

Rev. James Brown Thornton was ordained pastor of the

church June 4, 1851.

The meeting-house upon Oak Hill was built in 1799,

and was subsequently taken down, and the present neat and

comfortable edifice erected.

DUNSTAN, SECOND PARISH.

Dunstan was incorporated as a parish in 1758, and from

that time the clergymen ceased to be support-ed by the town

as such, each parish supporting its own. Previously to the

division of the town into parishes. Rev. Richard Elvins

had been settled over the church at Dunstan, and was min-

ister at the time of the separation. He was ordained in

November, 1744, and continued in the ministry there till

Aug. 12, 1776, the time of his death. His wife was the

widow of Rev. Samuel Willard, of Biddeford, whose son

Joseph, the distinguished president of Harvard College, was

educated and trained for his future greatness under the

paternal direction of Mr. Elvins. Eunice, the youngest

stepdaughter of Mr. Elvins, was married to Rev. Benjamin

Chadwick, his successor in the second parish. Mr. Chad-

wick was ordained Dec. 19, 1776, and was minister of the

parish about eighteen years. He died in November, 1819.

After his retirement the parish- was without a minister five

years. Dec. 10, 1800, Rev. Nathan Tilton was settled, and

continued pastor till 1827. He died in the town Oct. 4,

1851. Mr. Tilton was a graduate of Harvard in 1796, and

had served the church acceptably for twenty-seven years.

In September, 1829, Rev. Moses Sawyer was installed.

He remained eighteen months, and was the last minister of

the parish. The large church of this parish was built in

1800. After Mr. Sawyer's time, no regular services were

kept up, and several years ago the edifice was torn down.

METHODIST CHURCH.

The first Methodist meeting in town was held at the

house of Samuel Harmon, in January, 1802. Rev. Mr.

Taylor preached to a small, but interested audience. The

next year Mr. Timothy Waterhouse petitioned the General

Court for the incorporation of a Methodist Society, to be

collected out of Scarborough, Buxton, and Saco. Their

first house of worship was at that time erected in Dunstan,

and Rev. Asa Heath was appointed the minister. Hi.s

congregation consisted of about 200 persons, of whom 4il

were communicants. In 1839 the pr&tcnt neat house i>f

woi-sliip was erected.

BIOGKAPHIOAL SKETCHES.

JOHNSON LIBBY,

son of Joshua Libby, was born in the town of Scarborough,

Cumberland Co., Me., July 4, 1824. He received the ad-

vantages of the common school only in obtaining an educa-

tion, and spent his minority at home.



368 HISTORY OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

He married Catherine Skillen, by whom he had one

daughter, Mary C, who married H. Libby. After the

decease of his first wife he married Miss Lydia Moulton,

by whom he had two sons and one daughter,—Edna, Eu-
gene H., and Moulton C.

JOHNSON LIBBT.

Mr. Libby has taken an active part in the local affairs of

his town for many years. In 1863 he was elected town

treasurer, and served until 1865. He was elected collector,

1866-67, and the same year was elected selectman, which

office he has held continuously since. He is a member of

the Democratic party.

ASA M. SYLVESTER,

son of Asa Sylvester, of Northampton, was bom July 8,

1820, in the town of Etna, Penobscot Co., Me., and re-

ASA H. SYLVESTEB.

mained there until 1864, when he came to Cumberland

County, and settled in Scarborough. During his early

manhood he learned the trade of a carpenter and joiner and

a millwright, and followed this business for twelve years.

He then engaged in farming, and continued it until he came

to this county. After coming to Scarborough he engaged

in millwrighting, and helped build the rolling-mills at Li-

gonia. In 1866 he commenced trade as a merchant at Scar-

borough Station ; was appointed postmaster of Oak Hill

post-office, and continues to hold that office and carry on

his mercantile business. For four years he was engaged on

a sailing vessel in the coasting trade near Cape Cod. Mr.

Sylvester is prominently identified with the Masonic irater-

nity, has been a Master Mason for thirty-five years, and has

been instmmental in organizing several lodges. He is a

Republican in politics, and was never married.

JOHN MOULTON,

son of Daniel Moulton, was bom in the town ofScarborough,

Jane 24, 1793. His father was a native of the same town,

and his ancestors were among the first settlers. His boy-

hood was spent in agricultural pursuits. At the age of

eighteen he went to sea, and was a common sailor for two

years, visiting the West Indies and important seaports in

this country. Returning home, he engaged in farming and

lumbering. At the age of twenty-two he settled in Hart-

ford, Oxford Co., Me., purchased a farm, and two years

later, Dec. 25, 18.17, married Sophia Barrow, of Hebron.

Their children are Gratia, Cyrus F., John, William, Allen

B. For twenty years, Mr. Moulton remained in Oxford

County, and then retumed to his native town, where he has

since resided. In 1867 he was elected selectman for one

term. Mrs. Moulton died June 27, 1877. His son Wil-

liam resides with his father on the farm, and is a civil en-

gineer. Mr. Moulton is a Democrat in politics, and has

been honored with the offices of treasurer and collector of

his town, and is now an acting justice of the peace. In

1874 he was elected to the Legislature, and re-elected in

1875.

CYRUS F. MOULTON,

son of John Moulton, was bom in the town of Scarborough,

Dec. 20, 1823. He resided at home until the age of twenty,

when he went on board a sailing vessel,—^the brig " Elmira,"

—making three trips; then as able seaman, serving one

year ; second mate for two voyages, when he was promoted

to captain, and followed the sea for eighteen years, principally

engaged in the West India trade, but made trips to Eng-

land, Spain, Holland, and South America. In 1850 he

married Olive M. Foss, of Saoo, Me. They have five

children,—Frank F., Gratia, Alice J., Albion F., Hattie A.

In 1857, Mr. Moulton was elected on the Democratic

ticket to the Legislature, and served One term. In 1862

he was elected collector, and remained in office for two years.

In 1872 he was again elected collector, and in 1878 treas-

urer, and remains in office.
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JORDON L. LAllRABEE,

son of Benjamin Larrabee, was born in the town of Scar-

borough, June 4, 1818. His boyhood was spent in the

routine of farm work and attending school. His father

died in 1833, and soon afterwards he went to Portland and

became an apprentice to learn the carpentera' and joiners'

trade, which after he had learned, he followed for a number

of years, and then gave his attention to agricultural pur-

suits. He is now the owner of one of the finest and best

producing farms in Scarborough. In 1849 he married

Caroline F. Beats. They have two sons,—Allen, born Aug.

20, 1852, a practicing physician of prominence ; Seth, born

July 22, 1855, a lawyer in Portland.

Mr. Larrabee is well known for his industry, integrity,

and good judgment. He is a Republican in politics.

JOHN LARRABEE,

son of Benjamin Larrabee, was born March 19, 1808, in

the town of Scarborough. His minority was spent on the

farm and attending school. In ld33 his father died, and

he has continued to carry on the farm occupied by him.

He married, July 4, 1832, Aseoath, daughter of Demericus

McKenney, of Livingston, York Co., Me. They have five

children,—Wm. H., born July 15, 1834; Mary H., born

Aug. 2, 1838 ; Benjamin Scott, born Sept. 2, 1840 ; Har-

riet S., born Jan. 14, 1842. Mr. Larrabee received his

familiar title of captain when connected with the State

militia, many years ago. He has been somewhat active in

politics, and is a Republican. In 1851 he was elected to

the Legislature, re-elected in 1852-53, and was appointed

two terms to fill vacancies.

BENJAMIN LARRABEE,

son of Joseph Larrabee, was born on the farm where he

now resides, in the town of Scarborough, Dec. 8, 1829.

This farm was settled by his great-grandfather about one

hundred and fifty years ago, and has remained in the family

since. His great-grandfather, Benjamin, was a soldier of

the Revolutionary war, and his father was a soldier in the

war of 1812-14.

He received a common-school education during his boy-

hood, and from early manhood has been a farmer. In all

his business relations he is known for his integrity, and for

his liberal and hearty support of church and charitable

interests. In politics he is a member of the Republican

party. He married, June 3, 1869, Mahala R. Hunt, of

Troy, N. Y. They have two children,—Joseph' S., born

July 22, 1870, and Susie E., born May 20, 1373.

SEBAGO.

DESCRIPTlOJf AND BOUNDARIES.

Sebaoo, which is low and level near Sebago Lake, is

rough and broken, rising in the high, bare peaks of Tiger,

Peaked, and Saddleback Mountains, in the northeast and

couth. The centre and western parts are diversified by

valleys, ridges, and small lakes. Among these are Brown's,

formerly called Sabbath-Day Pond, Perley, Fitch's, south-

east. Tobacco or Hancock, and on the north border, Pea-

body and Great Hancock Ponds. The soil is sand and

clay, and is susceptible of cultivation to near the mountain

tops. Nearly the whole town is visible from the top of

Saddleback Mountain, which rises near the south line.

The town of Sebago was incorporated Feb. 10, 1826, and

was originally a part of Baldwin. A part of Denmark was

added in 1830, a part of Baldwin subsequently, and a part

of Naples was taken off in 1851. It is bounded on the

north by Naples and Bridgton, on the east by Sebago

Lake, on the south by Baldwin, and on the west by Hiram

and Denmark, in Oxford Coanty.

EABLY SETTLEMENT.

The first settlement of Sebago was induced by the heavy

pine forests which covered its lands, and the. easy access to

47

market by way of Northwest River and Sebago Lake. For

upwards of fifty years from the first settlement, in 1790,

men chopped and sawed, hallooed at their oxen, rolled logs,

and camped "among the fallen tree-tops, disappearing with

the first giant growth of pine, and leaving no record but

the ruin they had wrought. A few remained, and their

grandsons inherit productive farming lands, surrounded by

beautiful groves which have grown since the memory of the

oldest inhabitant.

Joseph Lakin and Jacob Howe were the fii-st settlers in

the town. Mr. Howe carried the first mail from Bridgton

to Portland, making the trip once a week on horseback,

before the roads were opened. Joseph Lakin came from

Groton, Mass., and built his cabin on " the ridge ;" return-

ing for his family and goods, crossed Sebago Lake in a

boat, and made his way through the difficult path to where

he hoped the public road would soon be built. George

P. Lakin, of Harrison, is his son. Deacon Daniel Hill,

father of Daniel J. and Charles' Hill, then a young man of

twenty-seven, married Mr. Lakin's daughter, Polly, in 1799,

settled himself on the same land, and left it to his sons, the

present occupants. His sons, John, Loran, Thomas, and
Charles, H. Hill, are residents of Harrison. Joseph Fitch
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settled near the Jewell place, where he was joined by David

Potter, in 1802. In 1808, Edward Dike, from Massachu-

setts, moved with his family to the north side of Saddleback

Mountain, near the highest peak. Oliver D. Dike and Kim-

ball W. Dike, his sons, are the present occupants. From

this point nearly the whole town can be seen, with its eight

ponds and lakes.

Capt. James Babb came from Gorham in 1817, and with

two workmen opened a cooper-shop near Joseph Fitche's

place, and a store, the first in town, where he kept West

India goods, cotton for spinning, and a few of the most

needful articles of trade. His goods were kept in a lean-to

at one end of the cooper-shop. Capt. Babb was first ser-

geant in Capt. Robie's company, at Portland, in the war of

1812, and rode all night to alarm the company.when called

out.

John B. Brown settled first near Brown's Pond, pre-

viously known as Sabbath Day Pond. Jonathan Sanborn

settled on Tiger Hill, in the north. To the east, on Peaked

Mountain, was James Gray. Beniah Davis joined Capt.

Babb on the ridge. John Douglass, father of Rufus and

Andrew Douglass, settled near Northwest Lake in 1825.

Robert McDonald was an early settler south of Sebago. A
road was opened from the landing northward past Perley

Pond in 1821, and a hugh pine trough built in between

two trees was made the feeding-place for teams hauling

freight. Near the pond is the scene of an attempt to con-

struct a log " drive" or chute, which failing to work, after

much expense, received the name of Pingree's Folly, by

which it is still known. In the busy days of lumbering as

many as 11,000 legs have been discharged from Southwest

River in a single drive. The best pine was often sold for

$2 per thousand feet, and §3 was an exorbitant price.

Many of the early purchasers bought the land for the tim-

ber alone, and it was not until that was exhausted it Was

believed to be valuable for farms. Daniel and Josiah Mc-

Kenney built a mill on the Northwest River above the pond,

in 1830, and commenced sawing the hemlock, which was

previously considered worthless. About 1835 a large town-

house was erected in the centre of the town, where, alone in

the woods, it has been the scene of semi-annual political

gatherings until the present day.

BTJEYING-GEOUNDS.

The old cemetery, a short distance south of the farm first

settled by Joseph Lakin, contains a beautiful statue, sur-

mounting a monument to the Potter family. Conspicuous

^* amon" the names it bears are those of Col. David Potter,

one of Sebao'o's most prominent and useful citizens, who

died in 1830, aged sixty-four; and Capt. Amos Storer, who
"" died in 1863. The flag of our country surmounts the name

of Charles W. Cole, Company K, 25th Maine Regiment-

Here rests also Rev. Samuel Tyler, who died' Oct. 13,

1867 after a life of usefulness as a Christian teacher and

citizen.

At New Limington the graves of Deacon William Haley,

Robart Libby, Seth and John Pugsley, William Whitney,

and Dennis Johnson, all of them old pioneers, attach a

historic interest to the little burying-grounds of their

families.

VILLAGES AND HAMLETS.

NEW LIMINGTON

is a scattered hamlet near South East Pond, thirteen miles

from Bridgton Centre, containing fifteen scattered resi-

dences, a school-house, the first church built in the town,

and the grange supply-store and assembly-room. There

are here two small and well laid out burying-grounds, con-

taining the remains of the early pioneers and their families.

EAST SEBAGO,

a quarter of a mile from Sebago Lake, was originally set-

tled by William Fitch, Esq., who built the first saw-mill

on the site of the present grist-mill, on North West River.

The mills now include saw, stave, planing, and general

wood-work. In 1873 the sons of Luther Fitch formed

the present management, under the style of Fitch Brothers.

The first store, built in 1829, and occupied by Elijah Ful-

ton for the accommodation of lumbermen, was burned in

1855. There is a steamboat-landing here, for transfer of

goods and shipment of lumber. Mails are tri-weekly.

John P. Fitch, postmaster. Post-office established 1876.

Haskell's landing,

a mile north, was formerly a shipping point for wood and

timber.

SEBAGO,

lying upon the northern slope of Saddleback Mountain,

overlooking'" the Pond," is the old Fitch homestead. The

stave-mill occupies the site of the first saw-mill built by

William Fitch, Esq. The first grist-mill was built at the

outlet of the pond in 1798. Luther Fitch opened a store

here in 1830 ; afterwards burned, with all the town records,

previous to 1864. The only lawyer of the town, E. L.

Poor, has done business since 1806. The Union church,

school-house, and half dozen residences complete the set-

tlement.

FIRST TOWN-MEETING.

The first meeting to elect town officers was held at the

school-house, formerly the 5th district of Baldwin, March

13, 1826. The petition for this election was signed by

Oliver M. Pike, Samuel McOrrison, Samuel Dike, Edward

Dike, Reuben Cook, William Norton, George Whitney,

William Irish, James Gray, ScoUy G. Usher, William

Sanborn, James Cook, and George W. Dillingno. There

were 89 votes polled. Owing to the destruction of the town

records by fire, in 1864, it is impossible to present a com-

plete list of town officers.

CIVIL LIST.

SELECTMEN.

1826-27.—Will iam Fitch, Oliver M. Pike, Joseph Leavitt.

1S28.—Oliver M. Pilie, David Potter, Jr., Joseph LeavitL

1829.—William Fitch, Joseph Leavitt, John Kingsley.

1830.—Oliver M. Pike, David Potter, Robert Staple.

1831.—Oliver M. Pike, Joseph Leavitt, John Pngsley.

1832.—David Potter, John G. Cannell, Timothy Goodwin.

1833.—David Potter, Nathan Parker, David Brown.

1834-35.—David Potter, Lnther Fitch, William Haley.

1836.—Oliver M. Pike, Samuel Dyer, Robert Staples.

1837.—David Potter, Joseph Brown, Reuben Whitney.

1838.—David Potter, Joseph Brown, John Langley.

1839-41.—David Potter, Robert McDonald, William Haley.
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1842-43.—David Potter, William Haloy, Richard Larrabeo.

1S44.—William Ilalcy, Samuel Tyler, Thomas W. Larrabee.

1845.—William Haley, Luther Fitch, William Bickford.

1848.— Uoliert McDonald, John Libby, William Ward.

1847.—David Potter, William Ward, James Weed.

1843.—Robert McDonald, James Weed, Moses K. Dyer.

1849.-William Fitch, Jr., William Ward, Oliver D. Dike.

ISoO.—Elijah Fulton, William B. Pike, Seth Douglass.

1861.—Robert McDonald, Elijah Fulton, William Haley.

1852.—William Fitch, Jr., William B. Pike, Elijah Fultun.

ISo.'J.—Robert McDbnald, William B. Pike, John D. Martin.

1854.—David Potter, William Whitney.

1855.—William B. Pike, J. E. McDonald, William Haley, Jr.

1856.—William B. Pike, John E. McDonald, Amos Ward.

1857.—William B. Pike, J. E. Brown, William Haley, Jr.

1858.—David Potter, Amos Ward, William Haley, Jr.

1859^—William B. Pike, Stephen R. Potter, Arthur Boothby.

I860.—Edwin h. Pike, Moses R. Dyer.

1861.—Moses R. Dyer, John D. Martin, William Haley, Jr.

1862.—John D. Martin, William Haley, Jr., Almon Young.

1863.—William B. Pike, Moses R. Dyer, Charles A. McKenney.

1864 John D. Martin, Charles A. McKenney, Almoo Young.

1865.—John D. Martin, Charles A. McKenney, Peter B. Young.

1866.—Almon Young, Charles A. McKenney, A. F. Richardson.

1867.—John D. Martin, Charles A. McKenney, A. F. Richardson.

1868.—John D. Martin, James S. Martin.

1869.-Oliver D. Dike, William Haley, Jr., J. P. Flint.

1870-71.—John D. Martin, Wm. W. Fitch, George W. McKenney.

1872.—William W. Fitch, John P. Fitch, James C. Babb.

1873.—John D. Martin, Charles A. McKenney.

1374.—James C. Babb, Albert D. Sanborn, Charles A. McKenney.

1875.—John D. Martin, James C. Babb, E. L. Poor.

1876.—James C. Babb, John P. Fitch, Charles Davis.

1877.—William B. Pike, Amos Ward, Oeorge W. McKenney.

1878.—William B. Pike, E. L. Poor, Albion P. Fickett.

1879.—John D. Martin, Joseph B. Brown, Reuben Sanborn.

COLLECTORS.

Scully G. Usher, 1826 ; Nicholas Davis, 1827 ; John Pugsley, 1828-35

;

Joseph Brown, 1836; William Fitch, Jr., 1837-38; James Weed,

1839; John E. McDonald, 1840; James Babb, 1841; James Weed,

1342-46; Elijah Fulton, 1847-48; John D. Martin, 1849; Edwin

L. Poor, 1850; William W.. Fitch, 1851; Elijah Fulton, 1852;

James Brown, 1853; Almon Young, 1854; James Brown, 1855

-58; Almon Young, 1859; James C. Babb, I860-; Charles A.

McKenney, 1861; Peter B.Young, 1862; Almon Young, 1863;

Silas B. McKenney, 1364; Almon B.Young, 1865; Peter B.

Young, 1866; Edwin L. Poor, 1867; Amos Ward, 1868; Charles

A. McKenney, 1869; Albert H. Sanborn, 1370-73; Edwin L.

Poor, 1874; William Haley, Jr., 1875-77; Albert H. Sanborn,

1378-79.

TOWN CLERKS.

The first town clerk was William Fiteh, Esq.; Rev. Samuel Tyler;

John D. Martin; Charles H. Young, 1864; Peter W. Sawyer,

1865; Peter B.Young, 1866; Stephen R. Porter, 1867-68; Ho-

ratio H. Cole, 1869; James C. Babb, 1870-71; Luther H. Fitch,

1872; Oliver D. Dike, 1873; Luther H. Fitch, 1874; James C.

Babb, 1875-76; Orestes W. Brown, 1377-79.

TREASURERS.

William Fitch, 1826; William Fitch, Jr., 1837; James Weed, 1842

-46; Elijah Fulton, 1352; William W. Fitch, 1857; William W.

Fitch, 1866 : Daniel J. Hill, 1867 ; Silos B. McKenney, 1868

;

Reuben Sanborn, 1869; Daniel J. Hill, 1870-71; L. H. Ficoh,

1872; Reuben Sanborn, 1873-74; Daniel J. Hill, 1875; John D.

Martin, 1876-78; Reuben Sanborn, 1879.

CHURCHES.

THE FREE-WILL BAPTIST CHURCH OF SEBAQO

was organized by Revs. James Libby, Jeremiah Bullock,

and John Stevens, Nov. 19, 1826. 3Ir. Stevens, who was

the first pastor, preached his first sermon in the little schooi-

house near the old church. Among the first members wore

William Haley, who was chosen deacon ;
Mrs. Haley, James

Weed, Mrs. Thomas Butler, Plia'be, wife of Rev. Reuben

Whitney ; Isaac Ridlon, and John Moody and wife. James

Weed was made clerk. Rev. Mr. Stevens was succeeded

by Revs. John Pike, Samuel Tyler, and Rev. Reuben Whit-

ney, who remained until his death in 1837. Rev. Naum

Foss preached here in 1845, and was succeeded in 1847 by

Rev. J. Buzzel, througjh whose efforts the General Provis-

ional Baptist Church was formed with twenty of the

members. Paine Kesser was chosen second deacon, and

Lemuel Dyer clerk. Rev. Walker B. Parker has been

settled pastor since 1866. A meeting-house was built at

New Limington, in 1844, by Deacon William Haley, John

Pugsley, and William Whitney, trustees. There are 42

members. John D. Martin is deacon and church clerk.

The Scbago village church wsis built in 1856 by a com-

pany of ten, styled the Sebago Meeting-house Corporation,

each of whom paid in SI 00. They were Oliver D. Dike,

Stephen P. Douglass, Nathan S. Chadbourne, Reuben San-

born, John Fitch, Luther Fitch, Joseph Ridlon, Charles

Hill, Abram Tyler, and Kimball J. Dike. Under a war-

rant issued by David Potter, Esq., they met ]March 24,

1856. Oliver D. Dike was made chairman, and Reuben

Sanborn secretary. The land was donated at Sebago vil-

lage by William Fitch. This church was dedicated by

Revs. Cyril Pearl and William P. Merrill, June 25, 1857.

At a council held at this house May 18, 1858, a Free-Wiil

Baptist Church was organized.. Oliver D. Dike was made

clerk, and Joseph Merrill deacon. Mrs. Dike, James

Weed, James Gray and wife, Daniel Young, and Nathaniel

Bolter were admitted at this time. Rev. Charles Bean

was the first regular minister, making many additions to

their number during the year. Rev. J. M. Perkins, the next

Baptist preacher, came in 1868, and continued to preach

until 1872. The meeting-house has been shared with the

Congregationalist Church since 1876, the two congregations

joining in the support of the different ministers alternately.

The receipts from the old parish fund of Baldwin, amount-

ing to 86400, is divided between the two towns, and ap-

propriated to the payment of the ministers' salaries by a

committee elected annually by the parish at town-meeting.

THE CONGREGATIONALIST SOCIETY OP SEBAGO

is a part of the Baldwin Church, comprising about 30

members, who are partially supplied with preaching in the

Sebago church by the Baldwin pastor.

SCHOOLS.

The first school-teacher of Sebago was Miss Rebecca

Hale, who Uught previous to 1708. On its organization,

in 1830, Sebago contained 271 school children, in six dis-

tricts, arawing $176.50 for the support of schools. In

1848 there were ten districts and 341 scholars. There are

now nine districts, five having good school-houses, and 263

school children, 239 of whom have attended school during

the year. The school property is valued at $1600. There

have been 81103 expended for schools in 1878, with an

expense of $23 for supervising. There have been $743

voted by the town, and $459 received from the State. The
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average wages for teachers has been $13.25 for female and

$22.60 for male teachers. School supervisor for 1879,

James C. Babb. Dr. Joseph F. Potter, a prominent phy-

sician of Cincinnati, Ohio, a native of Sebago, and son of

Daniel Potter, who was for years a prominent citizen, fur-

nished the Sunday-schools of Sebago with books and papers,

and at his death left a bequest of $30,000 to establish a

free high school on the death of his wife, the school to be

located within one mile of the present Sebago village.

ASSOCIATIONS.

PATBONS OF HDSBANDBT.

Maple Grove Grange, No. 148, was organized April

19,1875. The first officers were Joseph Brown, Master;

Charles Davis, Sec. ; Mary Davis, Ceres. A branch of

the State grange store was established at New Limiogton

in 1876, with Charles Davis agent for this grange. Mr.

Davis jias been Master since 1876. Present membership,

34.

A charitable anti-tobacco and temperance society was

organized in 1840, which exercised a commendable influence

for some years, until the spirit of reform became general.

PKOMINENT MEN.

William Fitch, Esq., who settled at Sebago in 1792, was

the first postmaster, town cleric, and first representative of

Sebago in the Legislature. He was one of the most ener-

getic business men, and for many years a leading citizen,

serving several terms as magistrate.

Oliver D. Dike, a prominent citizen, represented his dis-

trict in the Legislature in 1857.

John D. Martin, for many years selectman, was elected

to the Legislature in 1873, and again in 1876.

James C. Babb, the present school commissioner, has

been for some years a leading citizen.

The merchants of the town have been James C. Babb,

John E. McDonald, David Brown, William Bickford, pre-

vious to 1840. Present, Fitch Brothers, East Sebago;

John P. Fitch, Sebago ; Charles Davis, New Limington.

MANUFACTURES.

Fitch Brothers, staves and general wood-working material,

established 1829. George C. Dow, smith, established 1877.

E. L. Poor, a young man of energy, resident at Sebago,

is the only lawyer of the town.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

WILLIAM FITCH

was born in Groton, Mass., in 1792. His father, William,

a native of the same place, came to the town of Sebago in

1793, purchased and settled the farm now owned and occu-

pied by the subject of this narrative, and was appointed

the first postmaster in the town. William Fitch, Jr., had

limited opportunities for an education, and from early man-

hood to the close of his active business life was a farmer

and lumberman.

In 1821 he married Betsey S. Usher, of Massachusetts.

Their children are William, Lydia, Lizzie, Charles (de-

ceased), John, Ellis, Emma (deceased), Mary, and Luther.

He now resides in the house built by his father in 1811,

a view of which, with his portrait, may be seen in this

work. He is a member of the Republican party, was the

first treasurer of the town, and for many years postmaster.

He is liberal in the promotion of all worthy enterprises,

and especially in contributions to church and school inter-

ests. His daughter Lydia resides with him on the old

homestead, and cares for him in his declining years. His

wife died Oct. 18, 1855.

STANDISH.

INCORPORATION AND BOUNBARIES.

Thb town of Standish was incorporated Nov. 30, 1785,

and named in honor of Miles Standish. , It is indented in

the north by Sebago Lake ; bounded on the east by Wind-

ham and Gorham ; on the south by Buxton, in York County

;

on the west by the Saco River ; and on the north By Bald-

win and Seb^o. The land is low and sandy in the north-

em part, rocky and more elevated towards the south and

east with a mixture of clay towards the Saco River ; the

north is timbered plains, and uninhabited. The Portland

and Ogdensburg Railroad runs through the town, and the

Cumberland and Oxford Canal formerly connected with

Sefcago Lake at the eastern point. The Portland Water-

Works Company take their water for the city from the

lake, at South Bay.

The first election was held at the meeting-house, March

27, 1786. John Deane, Esq., was chosen moderator; be-

sides the principal officers, there were elected surveyors of

highways, tithing-men, f^nce-viewers, field-drivers, pound-

keeper, an informer of deer, a sealer of leather, cullers of

hoops and staves,.sealer of weights and measures, wardens,

a committee for examining accounts, a minister to preach

three months, and an appropiiation of £25 voted for his

salary.

EARLT SETTLEMENT.

Ebenezer Shaw, the original settler of Standish, came

from Hampton, N. H., in response to an offer,. made him
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by Moses Pearson, of 200 acres of land and a saw-mill, if

lie would build the mill, and move to the place with his

family. Mr. Shaw came in 17C3, and built the mill in

nine days' time. A fort, sixty feet square, had previously

been erected of heavy, hewn timbers by the proprietors, in

the present crossing of the roads, at Standish Corner, and

lots laid out. Mr. Shaw was followed, the same year, by

Daniel Cram, Daniel Sanborn, John Sanborn, Jonathan

Sanborn, Michael Pliilbrick, Jonathan Philbrick, John

Pierce, Moses Lowel, Caleb Rowe, Worthy Moulton, Jon-

athan Bean, and Jabez Dow, from New Hampshire, most

of them having families. Judith, daughter of Jonathan

Philbrick, born Aug. 27, 1763, was the first white child

born in Standish. Samuel Warren settled at Bonny Eagle

in 1768. The first baptism recorded was that of Mary

Freeman, in 1769. Daniel Harmon, John Hall, James

Moody, Moses Richardson, and Dominions Mitchell came

previous to 1776. Joseph Paine came from Cape Cod,

Mass., in 1780. James Moody opened a blacksmith-shop

near Standish Corner, in 1775.; Josiah Shaw kept a tavern.

In 1783, Aaron Parker purchased 200 acres of land on

" the Neck," where his grandson Charles Parker now lives,

for £150, and occupied it with his family.

In 1782, Thomas Shaw built a windmill to grind corn.

This was the first corn-mill in the town, and, with good

wind, would grind fifty bushels of corn a day. In 1788 it

was turned into an ashery, as the result of public enterprise

at town-meeting. At this time there were forty voters in

the town. Ashes were collected in a sail-boat, which

traversed Sebago Lake, and brought sixpence a bushel.

Eliakim Wescott settled on the Neck, near Wescott Falls,

in 1795.

Sergeant Shaw and Annie Tompson, the first couple

joined in marriage, were united by John Deane, Esq.,

Sept. 14, 1786. The first few years the settlement was sur-

rounded with hardships and dangers. When threatened by

Indians, the little colony sought refuge in the fort. Be-

coming nearly starved on one occasion, two of the bravest

ventured forth into the deep woods and shot a moose.

Cutting off a quarter, they hastened into the ibrt, and re-

turned with help for the remainder, only to find that the

Indians had taken their game. John McGill, a hunter,

lived in the fort for some years, until it was torn down to

make room for the first church, which was erected in its

place in 1769, and which was in turn torn down, after re-

peated efforts to have it removed. One dark night in 1805,

Edward Tompson, Esq., magistrate, who kept a tavern

joining the corner, was aroused by the crash of tearing

shingles and clapboards. Taking his perforated tin lantern

in one hand, and "the riot act" in the other, he sallied

forth and commenced to read ; before he had proceeded far,

the destroyers threw shingles and put out his light; by

this time, Dr. Howe, who kept the tavern where I. D. Saw-

yer's coat-factory stands, had come to his assistance,—but

in vain. The morning sun rose only upon ruins, which

were afterwards built into a school-house, and the street was

clear.

PLACES OF HISTORIC INTEREST.

The old home of Elliot Hammond, built by him in 1778,

is the oldest building in the town. It stands overlooking

the lake across the lower bay, a short distance to llic east

of the ground where, upon a grassy knoll, .sleep the rLniiaiii.s

of Josiah Closes and the Waterhouse and Harmon fntu-

ilies.

The large weather-beaten house standing with its eaves

to the road, and overlooking the lake from the bluff oppo-

site Indian Isle, was built by Wm. Cummings in 1785,

John Cummings, grandfiUher of Hiram T. Cumuiings^ set-

tling near by. The great willow in front has grown from

a twig planted eight years after, and before breaking down

spread over a diameter of 160 feet. Much of the tim-

bered lands surrounding it were the cultivated fields of the

pioneers. John Smith bought the old Cummings house

of Dr. Howe, in 1825. Indian Isle, a wooded knoll of

100 acres, was a rendezvous of Indians, and it is here, tra-

dition says, white prisoners were secreted in the early wai-s.

Stone implements are still sometimes found upon the island.

A boat capsizing years ago near this island, with five men,

who were never found afterwards, attaches a weird interest

to the place. It is said this lake never gives up its dead.

On the road leading from Standish Corner to the lake is

the home of the poet Shaw, built in 1774, where the first

settlement was made by Ebenezer Shaw. The ballads of

Thomas Shaw, the son, were well known along the coast of

Maine for many years, and date back to the Revolutionary

war. Conspicuous among his productions was the " Ship-

wreck of the Schooner Charles,'' on Richmond's Island,

July 12, 1807. The ballad was headed by sixteen black

coffins, to represent the number, of victims, and surrounded

with a heavy border. Thomas Shaw, his son, occupies the

old homestead, which contains many relics of early days.

The old church at Standish Corner is pointed out to the

stranger as a monument to the religious energy of sires and

grandsires, who rest in the cemetery across the street and

in various parts of the town.

BURYING-GROUNDS.

In 1772, Moses Pearson deeded to the town one-half

acre of land at Standish Corner for a buryiug-ground. This

is the oldest cemetery in the town, and contains the remains

of Rev. Jonathan Gould, Isaac Snow Tompson, whose epi-

taph is " First Physician of Standish ;" John Deane, Esq.,

Deacon Jonathan Philbrick, and others equally venerated.

There is a fine large cemetery at Steep Falls, inclosed with

iron and granite and regularly laid out. The Bonny Eagle,

containing the Warren, Davis, and Sturgis pioneers, and

Peltiah McDonald, " a soldier of the Revolution ;" the

Harding Ground, on the Neck, where rest Rev. Ellas F.

Blake and Rev. Joseph White, are the principal burying-

grounds in Standish, besides which there are thirty private

and family burying-places in various parts of the town.

VILLAGES AND HAMLETS.

STANDISH CORNER.

the point of original settlement, was for many years the

business centre of Standish and the country to the north-

west, which furnished a busy trade for two tanneries, .six

stores, and three hotels. The opening of the Portland and

Ogdensburg Railroad transferred the business to Sebago
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Lake Station, which also absorbed that of the old landiti"

where the Portland water-works connect with that lake.

The business of the place consists of two coat manufacto-

ries, a general merchandise store, ladies' goods, hotel, harness-

shop, marble- and blacksmith-shops, law-office, and two
physicians. There are three churches, school-house, town
farm and buildings,—established 1867,—and sixtydwellings.

This is the oldest post-office in the town. Mails twice

daily by stage, from Sebago Lake.

SEBAQO LAKE,

on the lower bay of the lake, contains a depot, twenty-five

dwellings, three stores, hotel, grist- and wood-mill, two
clothing manufactories, carriage-shop, and the store-rooms

of the Sebago Lake Ice Company of Portland. There was

but one store on the opening of the railroad. A steam-

boat line was opened between Sebago Lake Station, Naples,

Bridgton, and Harrison in 1867. Post-office established

-Jan. 1, 1872 ; Nathaniel Lane was first postmaster. Bonny
Eagle is a post-office hamlet, of which twelve houses, the

school-house, and the Methodist Episcopal church extend

along the road from Bonny Eagle Island in Saco River to

York's Corner, where there is a store and several shops.

STEEP PALLS

is the principal village of Standish ; is a station on the

Portland and Ogdensburg Railroad, and contains five stores,

a post-office, hotel, church, saw-mill, and wood-working

machinery, and is a shipping-point for lumber. There are

thirty-eight residences in Standish, and some on the oppo-

site side of the Saco River. The fii'st settlement here was

made by Capt. Benjamin Poland, who built a mill a mile

below the falls in 1826. James Foss opened the first store

in 1829. Tobias Lord erected a grist-mill in 1836. Wil-

liam Pierce established the first hotel here in 1826. The

place is finely located on high land and surrounded by

beautiful groves.

RICHVILLE

is a flag station near Rich's mill, in the north part of the

town.

CIVIL LIST.

SELECTMEN.

1786.—Caleb Rowe, Daniel Hasty, John Deane.

1787.—Josiah Shaw, Peter Moulton, Enoch Linnel.

1788.—Isaac S. Tompson, Josiah Shaw, George Freeman.

1789.—Peter Moalton, Josiah Shaw, Thomas Shaw.

1790 John Deane, Daniel Hasty, Job Eastman.

1791.—Peter Houlton, Enoch Linnel, Qeorge Freeman.

1792.—Peter Houlton, Theodore Mussey, Oeorge Freeman.

1793.—Joseph C. RaokliS', Dominicus Mitchell, James D. Tucker.

1794.—Peter Moulton, Daniel Lowell, Dominions lUitohell.

1795.—James D. Tucker, Dominions Mitchell, Peter Moulton.

1796.—James D. Tucker, Dominicus Mitchell, Qeorge Freeman.

1797, Dominicus Mitchell, Enoch Linnel, Peter Moulton.

1798.—Dominicus Mitchell, James D. Tucker, Enoch Linnel.

1799-1800.—James D. Tncker, Edmond Massey, Joseph Dow.

1801.—Peter Moulton, John Deane, Josiah Shaw, Daniel Hasty, Levi

Gram.

1802.—Peter Moulton, Levi Cram, Joseph Dow.

1803.—Levi Cram, William Tompson, Jonathan Philbrick.

1804.—Peter Moulton, James D. Tucker, John Sanborn.

1805.—Levi Cram, William Tompson, Wm. Higgins.

1806.—William Tompson, John Lowell, William Higgins.

1807.—William Tompson, William Higgins, James Hasty.

1808.—Peter Moulton, Daniel Hasty, Sorgent Shaw.

1809.—Simeon Moulton, Peter Rowe, James D. Tucker.

1810.—Simeon Moulton, Daniel Hasty, Jr., Samuel Dcnnet.

ISl 1.—Simeon Moulton, Moses Rich, John Sanborn.

1812.—Simeon Moulton, Moses Rich, William Gmfiam.

1S13.—Simeon Moulton, Daniel Hasty, Jr., Wm. Hasty, Jr.

1814.—Simeon Moulton, William Hasty, Jr., Jonathan Dow.

1815-16.—Edmund Mussey, Daniel Hasty, Jr., John Spring.

1817-18.—Simeon Moulton, Mark White, Timothy Higgins, Jr.

1819.—Simeon Moulton, Daniel Hasty, Enowles Higgins.

1820.—Simeon Moulton, Col. John Spring, Mark White.

1821.—Mark White, William Tompson, William Hasty, Jr.

1822.—William Tompson, Benjamin Haskell, Jr., James Hasty, Jr.

1823.—William Tompson, Knowles Higgins, Jonathan Dow.

1824.—Isaac S. Spring, Sargent Shaw, Jonathan Dow.

1825.—William Tompson, Mark White, John Cummings, Jr.

1826-27.—Wm. Tompson, John Cummings, Jr., Enoch F. Higgins.

1828 John Gnmmings, Jr., William Tompson, Enoch F. Higgins.

1829.—William Hasty, Sargent Shaw, Jabei Dow.

1830-32.—Benjamin Poland, Benjamin Cbadboume, Jabei Dow.

1833-35.—Benjamin Chadbourne, Edmund Mayo; Lemuel Rich.

1336-37.—Benjamin Chadbourne, Lemuel Rich, Jabez Dow.
'1838.—Benjamin Chadbourne, Daniel Davis, Tobias Lord.

1839.—Tobias Lord, Daniel Daris, Peter Shaw.

1840.—Lemuel Rich, Daniel Davis, Peter Shaw.

1841.—Lemuel Rich, Samuel Phinney, Joseph Sanborn.

1842.—Samuel Pbinney, Joseph Sanborn, Lemuel Rich,

1843.—Lemuel Rich, Samuel Phinney, John Enapp.

1844^45.—Joseph Sanborn, Ebenezer Moulton, Eliakim Wescott.

1346-47 Joseph Sanborn, Wm. T. Chadbourne, Frederick Lowell.

1848.—William T. Chadbourne, Frederick Lowell, Joshua Paine, Jr.

1849.—Joseph Sanborn, Joseph S. Tompson, James Foss.

1851.—Joseph Sanborn, Joseph S. Tompson, Josiah Moulton.

1852.—Joseph S. Tompson, Lemuel Rich (3d), Wilson Dow.
1853.—Joseph S. Tompson, Seth Higgins, Eliakim Wescott.

1854.—Joseph S. Tompson, Jonathan Moore, Amos Boulter.

1855.—Joseph S. Tompson, -Henry M. Chadbourne, Joseph Sanborn.

1856.—Henry M. Chadbourne, Seth Higgins, Peter Paine.

1857.—Joseph Sanborn, Frederick Lowell, Eliakim Wescott.

1858.—William Paine, Josiah L. Swett, Samuel L. Davis.

1859-60.—Samuel 0. Paine, Lemuel Rich (3d), Arza Mayo.

1861 John H. Philbrick, Lemuel Rich (3d), William Wingate.

1862.—Lemuel Rich (3d), Eiisha B. Mitchell, Harvey Wescott.

1863.—Joseph Sanborn, Ebenezer Moulton, Asa Berry.

1864.—Joseph S. Tompson, Samuel 0. Paine, Amos Boulter.

1865.—Ebenezer Moulton, Joseph Sanborn, Asa Berry.

1866.—Ebenezer Aloulton, William Freeman, Samuel 0. Paine.

1867.—Samuel 0. Paine, James E. Emery, Merritt I. Paine.

1868.—Merritt I. Paine, Wm. D. Freeman, Daniel S. Davis.

1869.—Wilson Dow, William H. Dresser, Eliakim Wescott.

1870-71.—William H. Dresser, Eliakim Wescott, Wilson Dow.
1872.—Wilson Dow, Ambrose Cram, William Rich.

1873.—Ambrose Cram, Eiisha B. Mitchell, Augustus Y. Staples.

1874..—Henry M. Chadbourne, Oris R. Phinney, A. S. Hutchinson.

1875.—John D. Higgins, Samnel Dingley, Augustus S. Hutchinson.

1876.—Henry M. Chadbourne, Wm. H. Libby, Orville S. Sanborn.

1877.—Henry M. Chadbourne, Seth Higgins, Almon H. Cressey.

1878.—Orville S. Sanborn, Tobias Lord, Jr., Ichabod Cousins.

1879.—Almon H. Cressey, Winthrop B. Di«sser, John H. Davis.

TOWN CLERKS.

Theodore Mussey, 1786-89; Dominicus Mitchell, 1790; Theodore

Mussey, 1791-95; James D. Tncker, 1796; Theodore Mussey,

1797-1803; William Tompson, 1804-7; Daniel Hasty, 1808;

Daniel Hasty, Jr., 1809-10; Isaac S. Spring, 1811-12; Theodore

Mussey, 1813-16; James Hasty, Jr., 1817-29; Oliver Frost,

1830-32 ; Phineas Ingalls, 1833-43 ; Horatio J. Swagey, 1844-48
;

John H. Philbrick, 1849-56; Theodore M. Bradbury, 1857-58;

Joseph S. Tompson, 1859-60; James E. Emery, 1861 ; Joseph S.

Tompson, 1862; Theodore M. Bradbury, 1863 ; William B. Cobb,

1864; Theodore M. Bradbury, 1865 ; William H. Dresser, 1866-67

;

William Paine, 1868 ; Joseph S. Tompson, 1869^72 ; to fill va-

cancy, John D. Higgins, 1872; John D. Higgins, 1873-74; Wil-

liam H. Libby, 1875; Orin E. Phinney, 1876-77; William H.
Libby, 1878 ; Isaac D. Sawyer, 1879.





WILLIAM RICH.

( WOTOS. BY WMSON )

MRS. WILLIAM RICH.

residence: OF WILLIAM RICH.STANDISH, ML.



TOWN OF STANDISH. o I

TREASURERS.

Jofiiih Shuw, 17S6: Jonathan Philbrick, 17SS: Theodore Jlusscy,

17S9; Dominious Mitchell, 1T90: Theodore Jlussej-, 1791-

1S03; WiUiom Tompson, 1S04; Theodore Mussey, 1805; Wil-

liam Thomson, 1806-7; James Phillirlck. 1808; Samuel Den-
net, 1809-11; Isaac S. Spring, 1812; Theodore Mussey, 1813-

17; James Hasty, Jr., 1818-29; OliTcr Frost, 1830-32; Phincas

Ingnlls, 1833-43; Horatio J. Swasey, 1844-48; John Philbrick,

18-I9-56; Theodore M. Bradbury, 1857-68; Joseph S. Tompson,
1859-60; James K. Emery, 1S6I ; Joseph S. Tompson, 1862;

Theodore M. Bradbury, 1863; William B. Cobb, 1864; Theo-

dore M. Bradbury, 1865: William 11. Dresser, 1866-67; Wil-

liam Pain, 1868; Joseph S. Tompson, 1869-72; to fill vacancy,

John D. Higgios, 1872; John D. Higgins, 1873-74; William

H. Libby, 1875 ; Orin K. Phinney, 1876-77; William H. Libby,

1878; Isaac D. Sawyer, 1879.

CONSTABLES AND COLLECTORS.

Sargent Shaw, 1786; Dominicus Mitchell, 1787; Israel Thorn, 1788

Daniel Hasty, 1789; Josiah Shaw, 1790; Daniel Hnsty, 1791

Simeon. Sanborn, 1792; John Peirce, Peter Moulton, 1793

James Moody, 1794; Daniel Lowell, 1795-96; Edward Mussey,

1797; James Moody, 1798; Joseph Dow, 1799-1800; Edward
Tompson, Joseph Dow, cons., James Harty, col., 1£01 ; Edward
Tompson, 1802; Robert Rowe, 1803; Joseph Dow, 1804-5;

Dnniel Hasty, 1806; Silas Lowell, col., Bryan Martin, coos.,

1807; Thomas Shaw, 1808; Richard Pierce, 1809-10; Joseph C.

Rnckliff, 1811; Levi Sanborn, cons., Peter Sunborn, col., 1812;

John Philbrick, 1813; Daniel Freeman, 1314; Caleb P. Phil-

brick, 1815-16; William Butler, 1817; Ciileb P. Philbrick, 1818-

21; Joseph Bailey, 1822; Edward Thompson, 1823-26; James
Hasty, Jr., cons, and col., Edward Tompson, cons., 1327;

Edward Tompson, cons., James Ha^ty, Jr., col., 1S2S; Daniel

Hasty, 1829-30 ; Samuel Phinney, 1831-35 ; Peter Shaw, 1336-38

;

William Paine, cons., 1838 ; Lemuel Rich, 1839; Charles Tomp-
son, 1840; Arza Mayo, cons., 1840; Arza Mayo,' cons., Charles

Thompson, col., 1841 ; Charles Thompson, 1842-44; Arza Mayoi

cons., 1844; Joslyn C. Robinson, 1845-47; Jonathan Moore,

1848-50; Lorenzo H. Moore, 1851; Alvah Weeks, 1852-54;

Samuel L. Daris, 1855-57; Ebenezcr C. Hamblin, 1858; Lyman
Sanborn, 1859; Lyman Sanborn, Robert Ridlin, cons., 1860;

Lyman Sanborn, 1861, Alvah Weeks, 1862 ; Ebenezcr Shaw, Jr.,

Ebenezer C. Hamlin, cons., 1863 ; Alvah Weeks, William H. Dres-

ser, cons., 1864; Uriah A. Berry, 1365; Ephraim Higgins, 1866;

John L. Chase, 1867^9; Merritt I. Paine, 1870; Walter Brug-

don, Alfred S. Cousins, cons., 1871 ; Alfred S. Cousins, 1872-73
;

Dnniel A. Paine, 1874-75; John E. Tompson, 1876; John P.

Moulton, 1877 ; Alfred S. Cousins, 1878 ; James Moody, 1879.

John Deane, 1786-90; Josiah Thatcher, 1791; John Deane, 1795-

1803; Thomas Mussey, 1804; John Deane, 1808; William

Tompson, 1809; Theodore Mussey, 1812; William Tompson,

1820; B. Chadbourne, 1834; James Hasty, Jr., 1335; E. Mayo,

1836; Horatio J. Swasey, 1839; James Hasty, 1339-41 ; Benja-

min Chadbourne, 1845; Phineas Ingalls, H.J. Swasey, 1845-48;

Charles Tompson, 1845 ;• Pbincas Ingalls, H. A. Swasey, 1846;

Joseph Sanborn, William C. Lowell, 1847; T. M. Bradbury,

1848; H. J. Swasey, J. H. Philbrick, Caleb Hodsdon, 1849; John

Sawyer, 1849 ; Phineas Ingalls, 1861 ; H. J. Swasey, Oeorge M.

Small, Lemuel Rich (3d), 1852; Joseph Sanborn, 1866 ; Ebenezer

Moulton, 1857 ; H. J. Swasey, 1858.

CHURCHES.

The " Records of the Church of Christ in Standbh"

recite that the first religious organization in the town

was formed May 11, 1769, under the patronage of the

original proprietors of the land, who erected a church on

the site of the old fort at Standish Comer in that year,

and John Tompson, who was ordained at Portland, Oct.

25, 1768, was settled by them as pastor. The salary was

payable in " one-third each, cash, East India gooil.-f, and

produce." There were seven luouibers, John Touipsmi,

John Pierce, George Freeman, Michnel Philbrick, Josiuh

Sliaw, David Sanborn, and Peter Moulton. Mary, wife of

Josiah Shaw, Jonathan Philbrick and wife, and JIbcnezcr

Shaw and wife joined the church during that year. Jona^

than Philbrick was the first deacon. Rev. Jonathan

Gould was ordained Sept. 16, 1793, and became pastor at

once, retaining charge until his death in 1795. He was

succeeded by Rev. Daniel' JMarrett, who was ordained for

that purpose, and also died at Standish, after a pastorate of

thirty-three years. The present " Old Church" was erected

in 1805, and dedicated by him in 1806. Thomas Church

was one of the main contributors. Rev. Thomas Teniiy

was ordained in 18:i0, and was pastor until 1829. In 183-1

a dissension occurred, taking away many of the members.

After the reorganization of the Evangelical Church, as

the new S(x;iety was named, the Unitarian Church

Covenant was drawn up by Rev. Amos D. Wheeler, a

young minister just ordained, and was adopted April 14,

1835. He was pastor until 1840, and was succeeded in turn

by A. M. Bridge in 1843 ; E. J. Gerry, 1846 ; Geo. Osgood,

1854; Jacob Caldwell, 1855; Rev. Mr. Nickei-son, 1862.

THE EVANGELICAL CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH

was organized Feb. 5, 1834, by Rev. D. Merritt, with 73

members. The officers were Rev. Thomas Tenny, Pastor

and Clerk ; Enoch Moody and Joshua Paine, Deacons.

Revs. Clark Perry, Silas Baker, Isaac Weston, William

Rand, and D. Han-is succeeded as pastors. Mr. Harris

died at this charge, June 9, 1850, and was succeeded by

Rev. James P. Hadley, who made many converts to the

church. Rev. Mark Gould became pastor in 1858
;
Charles

Soule, 1802; Calvin Chapman, 1 863 ; Samuel Hopkiii.s,

1866; Stephen H. Robinson, 1873; and John P. Trow-

bridge, the present pastor, in 1873. A fine building was

erected in 1834 by Josiah Davis, Thomas Teuny, Joshua

Paine, Committee. Present membership, 37.

FREEWILL BAPTIST CHURCH.

Baptist meetings were held as early as 1793. In 1803

there was an effort made to obtain from the town that part;

of tlie church tax which came from Baptist citizens, but

without success. Meetings were held at the house of John

Plaistead, on Standish Neck, until the erection of the church

in 1806, through the efforts of Simeon Moulton. Clement

Phinney, a young school-teacher, who was converted at this

time, became afterwaids a prominent minister. Sargeant

Shaw was an early minister. In 1816, Miss Almira Wes-

cott was ordained, and became a leading preacher. Rev.

Joseph White died here. Rev. Zachariah Leach, 1816;

Clement Phinney, 1816-25 ; John Buzzell, Christopher

Bullock, Jeremiah Bullock, Thomas Strout, and Walker

Parker have since supplied them.

May 4, 1861, the Free-Will Baptist Provisional Church

was organized by Rev. James Buzzel, who had been a reg-

ularly ordained minister of the Free-Will Baptist Church.

Clark Cannel was chosen clerk. Rev. Thomas Strout suc-

ceeded to the pastorate in 1869, when George Maybery

was chosen clerk, and Melvin Shaw deacon. Meetings are
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held in a school-house, the old church having been torn

down in 1875. Present membership, 28.

The Free-Will Baptist Church atSteep Falls was organ-

ized Feb. 21, 1847, by Rev. Andrew Hobson. Among the

first members were Irva Norton, Peter Graffam and wife,

Peltiah Hobson, Statera Hobson, and Lyman Fisher, who
was chosen clerk. Their building was erected in 1851, and

dedicated by Rev. Mr. Peck, of Portland, July 31st of that

year. Pastors: Andrew Hobson, L. Purker, 1859-71
; E.

C. Cook, 1872-74
J
A. G. Hill, 1874-76 ; Peltiah Hobson,

present pasior. Present membership, 104, of whom 28

are non-residents. Officere : Israel SniaU, Deacon and

Clerk ; John Rnnd, Deacon ; S. H. Cnusins, Treasurer; Is-

rael Small, Robert Ri'ilou, Evans Ihiruion, Committee.

METHODIST EPISCOPAI. CnURCH.

The first Methodist class was funned under the preaching

of Revs. Alfred Motcalf and Daniel Berry in 1802. Early

meetings were held iu Capt. Jon.uthau Moore's house, the

room-partitions being removed fur that purpose. Thomas

Shaw, Jonathan Muore, Ann Warren, and George Thomas,

who was class-leader until 1821, were among the first mem-

bers. Revs. Ebenczer Blake, Philip Ayer, and Joel Wick

preceded Joseph Dennet, who came in 1816, and was fol-

lowed by James Jaynes. Rev. Mr. Aiines, who died in

Gorham, Juhn Paine, Jonathan Whiting, Philip and John

S. Ayer, Melville B. Cox, and John Shaw also preached on

this circuit. Rev. Mr. Shaw died in Gorliam while a

young man. Through ihe exertions of Rev. Green G.

Moore a church was erected in 1826 at York's Corner.

Revs. Nathaniel Morris, Samuel Jewett, Philip Munger,

1832 ; M. Wright, 1834 ; James Harrington, Daniel Crock-

ett, David Copeland were pastors to 1838
;

Nathaniel

Pride succeeded in 1839 ; John Hatch, 1840 ;
Isaac Lord,

1841 ; Orlando H. Jasper, 1842; George S. Davis, George

D. Strout, 1843; O. H. Jasper, 1845; Edward A. Stuff-

man, 1848; Luther B. Knight, 1856; Benjamin Free-

man, 1858 ; John E Baxter, 1860; S. V. Gerry, 1862

;

Nathan Andrews, 1863 ; H. H. Martin, 1864 ; William C.

St-evens, 1867; Ezra Sanborn. 1869; Alva Cook, 1871;

Benjamin F. Pease, 1874; W. S. Mclntirc, 1877; W. F.

Berry, 1878: George Hoyt^ 1879. Present trustees:

Charles F. Brown, A. Boulton, David L. W^arren, A.

TTslier. Recording steward and class-leader, Aaron S.

Nasou. Membership, 82.

A church was organized at Standish Corner in 1 849

;

Jonathan Moore, Joseph Moody, Freeman Pauie, John

and Daniel Rich, and others, to the number of 29, joining

iu application for a charter. A building was erected by

Jonathan Moore, Joseph Moody, Freeman Paine, and Leon-

ard Chase, trustees, and dedicated by Rev. Joseph Jennie,

presiding elder, Dec. 4, 1849. The pastors have been

John C. Perry, 1849 ; Daniel Waterhouse, N. D. Centre,

C. C. Mason, Alpha Turner, 8. S. Ranks, J. Rice, Marcus

Wright. Present steward, Freeman Paine. Trustees,

Freeman Paine, William Dollif, Daniel B. Jackson. Mem-

bership, 28.
*

THE STANDISH ACADEMY

was incorporated by act of Legislature, in 1848, with Rev.

Ichabod Nichols, Rufus P. Cutler, John T. G. Nichols,

Andrew Hobson, Jonathan Moore, Wm. H. Lowell, Edwin

J. Gerry, Geo. H. Nichols, Green Cram, Gardner Dennett,

Theodore M. Bradbury, Thomas Cram, Joshua Payne, Jr.,

James W. Emery, trustees. Rev. Ichabod Nichols was

made President; William H. Lowell, Vice-President ; T.

M. Bradbury, Secretary ; and Gardner Dennett, Treasurer.

The upper floor of the First Parish church was filled by

them, and occupied as academy rooms. In August, 1849,

the Legislature of Maine conveyed to the trustees one-half

township of land ; their committee effected a sale to Wm.

T. Chadbourne, for $4350.

The principals have been Thomas Talbott, 1848-49;

Richard Gardner. Lincoln F. Emerson, 1851 ; George

Sennot, 1852; D. L. Lane, 1853; Lucien Hunt, 1853

-54; Henry Dunlap, 1856. The academy declined for

want of sufficient patronage. The last meeting of the di

rectors was held July 14, 1857.

ASSOCIATION'S.

There is a lodge of F. A. M., Standish Centre.

Lodges of 1. 0. of G. T. : Sebago Lake, No. 90 ; Steep

Falls, No. 77 ; Bonny Eagle, No. 21.

Patrons of Husbandry, Standish, No. 122.

Cornet Baud, Steep Falls, established 1879, Andrew F.

Sanborn, leader.

Merchants: Theodore Mussey, Robert Rowe, Standish

Corner, 1803 ; Benj. Chadbourne, Joseph Webster, Old

Landing, 1825; Wm. Foss, Wm. Wingate, Steep Falls,

1826 ; Cousins & Banks, Wingate & Hobson, Tobias

Lord, Jr., Steep Falls, 1878 ; Nancy W. Trafton, ladies'

goods, W. Paine, postmaster, 1878; J. S. Webster, Lemuel

Rich & Son, Sebago Lake, 1878 ; J. P. Warren, Bonny

Eagle, 1878.

Manufacturers: Archambeau & Decormier, grist-mill,

established 1874 ; G. M. & S. C. Rich, lumber and stones
;

J. C. Dyer, staves; F. A. Radou, F. Harmon, W. S.

Hanscom, carriages ; Waterhouse & Plummer, boots and

shoes ; Irvin & E. T. Libby, smiths ; W^. H. Bacon & Co.,

clothing, Sebago Lake ; Wingate & Hobson, clothing

;

Tobias Lord, box-lumber, plaster, and grist-mill ; Coolbroth

& Tucker, grist- and stave-mill ; W. D. & Leroy S. Mayo,

coopers; C.N. Shaw, smith. Steep Falls; Isaac D.Sawyer,

established 1877 ; Evans & Libby, clothing ; D. B. Jack-

son, marble ; Bryant Paine, D. U. Paine, A. Rand, N.

Rund, coopers ; S. Higgins, Freeman Paine, smiths.

SCHOOLS AND ACADEMIES.

The first school was organized in the western district

previous to 1787, in which year a proposition was pre-

sented for building a school-house. The next year, £60

were voted to build a school-house. The first school com-

mittee were Bryan Martin, Peter Moulton, Joseph Case,

and William Cummings. Mrs. Cummings taught school

in her house in 1793, giving the children their lessons

while working at her loom. In 1821 the town was regu-

larly organized into 10 school districts, and in 1836 in-

creased to 15. The town now comprises 13 school dis-

tricts. Whole number of school children, 607. For the

year ending March, 1879, moneys raised by the town were

$2100, of which $50 is assigned to Fry's Island, an island
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William H. Dresser, eldest son of Joseph and

Olive (Dennett) Dresser, was born in Hollis, York

Co., Me., Jan. 1, 1832. His father was a native of

Buxton, and died about 1837. His mother was a

daughter of the late John Dennett, of Hollis, one

of the early settlers of that town, a farmer and

tanner by occupation, a prominent citizen of the

town and county, and who, for twenty years in suc-

cession, was a representative in the Legislature of

Massachusetts prior to Maine becoming an inde-

pendent State.

William H. received his education in the common

school and Standish Academy. For ten years he

was a teacher during winter terms, working on the

farm in summers. In 1867 he opened a general

store in Standisii, having become a resident of that

town when only two years of age by the removal of

his parents, who settled there from Hollis in 1834.

He continued his mercantile business for three years.

In 1870 he was appointed deputy sheriff, which

office he held until 1876, when he was elected on

the Republican ticket sheriff of Cumberland County,

and by re-election, in the fall of 1878, is now serving

his second term.

In early manhood Mr. Dresser began to take an

interest in local politics and a general interest in the

affairs of town and county, and as a citizen of Staudish

represented his town in various official places of trust.

For three years he was a member of the scliool

board; was collector and treasurer of the town,

and for three years selectman, assessor, and over-

seer of the poor. The other children of his father's

family are Daniel R. and Angeline, wife of James

W. Brown, principal of the State Reform School,

Minnesota.

He married, April 27, 1861, Cassendana, youngest

daughter in a family of ten children of Wear and

Mercy (Sanborn) Cram, of Standish. Her grand-

father, Daniel Cram, was one of the early settlers

of the town. Mrs. Dresser was born February,

1830. Their children are Walter H., Alvin C,

Maud 6., and Mabel.
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in Sebago Lake, containing 1000 acres, and occupied by

one family. The balance is divided among the various

districts. There are good wood school-houses in each dis-

trict, except that in No. 4, at Sebago Lake, which is of

brick.

LAWYERS.
Simon Greeoleaf, late Professor of Law in Harvard Uni-

versity, and author of " Greenleaf on Evidence," 1833

;

Randolph S. Codman, William Boyd, Nathan Appleton,

Daniel C. Pool, Henry Lowell, Fitz-Henry Mussey. Present

—Horatio J. Swasey, who commenced practice at Standish

Comer, in 1833.
PHTSICIANS.

Dr. Isaac Snow Tompson, Dr. Ebenezer Howe, who died

in 1841, Dr. Phineas Ingalls, Dr. Toles, Dr. Whitney, Dr.

William Westcott. Present—Dr. William Cobb, from

1864, Dr. A. V. Thompson, 1874 to 1879.

cepted Scottish bodies to the thirty-second degree, and

has been installed Chancellor Commander of the first lodge

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

TOBIAS LORD,

son of Tobias and Susan (Deering) Lord, natives of Ken-

nebunk, York Co., was born in Hollis, York Co., Dec. 30,

1803. His early life was spent on the farm and in assist-

ing his fiither in lumbering. The remainder of his life,

after reaching his majority, has been spent in farming, lum-

bering, and as a merchant.

He married Adeline, daughter of Joseph Hobson, of

Buxton, Me. Of this union were bom five children, four

of whom are living, viz., John, Jeremiah, Abbie, wife of

Dr. William S. Cobb, of Standish, Tobias, Jr. Politically

he was originally a Democrat, but became a Republican

upon the formation of that party. He was a representa-

tive from Buxton in the State Legislature of 1836. In

the spring of 1836 he removed from Buxton to Standish,

and has been a representative since he resided in Cumber-

land County, and has also held the local offices of assessor

and selectmen.

TOBIAS LORD, Jr.,

youngest son of Tobias Lord, was born in the town of

Standish, Cumberland Co., Me., Dec. 2, 1846. His pa^

rents removed from Buxton some forty years ago, and set-

tled at Steep Falls, where his father has been largely

engaged in the lumber business, and during his residence

there he has been instrumental in building up the village.

Tobias Lord, Jr., received a good common-school and aca-

demical education, and at the age of sixteen was appointed

derk in the Provost-Marshal General's Bureau, Washing-

ton, D. C. After one year he resigned and became a

clerk for his father. In 1875 he succeeded his father in

the general store, and has since carried on a successful

business at Steep Falls, Standish. Mr. Lord is an inter-

ested, active, and influential member of the Republican

party, and represented the district of Standish and Bald-

win in the Legislature of 1879 and 1880. He has been a

member of the Masonic fraternity since he reached his

majority, passing through the York and Ancient and Ac-

48
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of Knights of Pythias instituted in Standish. He is a

man of great perseverance, of strict integrity in all his busi-

ness relations, and performs his official duties with zeal and

fidelity.

COL. LEMUEL RICH (3d),

son of Israel and Rhoda (Smith) Rich, was born in the

town of Standish, Aug. 25, 1804. His father was born
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in Grorham ia 1776, and his ancestors were from England,

settled in Truro, Mass., from which place the family re-

moved to Cumberland County.

Col. Rich received his education in the common school

and in Gorham Academy. His early life was spent in

agricultural pursuits, teaching school, and in the cooper

business. In 1831 he b^an selling general merchandise

in the town of Standish, and in the same year, December

2d, he married Esther, daughter of James Bangs, of Gor-

ham. They have an adopted son, John H., who is a mem-

ber of the firm of L. Rich & Son, of Standish. Politically,

he was originally a Democrat, but became a member of the

Republican party during President Pierce's adminiatration.

He was a representative in the State Legislature in 1840

and 1841 ; county commissioner in 1842, '44, '45, and '46

;

and has held the office of justice of the peace since 1831,

—

a period of nearly one-half a century.

He is a member of the Baptist Charoh of Standish. He
joined the State militia in 1823, was commissioned lieuten-

ant in 1826, and resigned with the rank of colonel. His

wife died March, 1874.

WILLIAM RICH,
son of Col. Lemuel and Betsey (Smith) Rich, was born in

the town of Standish, Oct. 15, 1809. His education was

received in the common school and at Parsonsfield Academy.

His life has been spent on the farm and in the manufacture

of lumber. He married, Oct. 19, 1837, Hannah, daughter

of Joshua Emery, of Gorham. She was bom in that

town. May 16, 1816. Of this union were born six chil-

dren,—^Lyman H., bom July 19, 1839, and died Dec. 13,

1857 ; Samuel C, bom Sept. 12, 1841, and resides with

his father ; W. E. Cbanning, born April 10, 1843, princi-

pal of Lameree Grammar School at South Boston ; Cyras

H., born March 18, 1845, resides in Lowell; Eugene, born

April 10, 1847 ; Emery, bora Nov. 7, 1850. The mother

of these children died Nov. 17, 1850.

Mr. Rich married, June 26, 1853, Lucy, daughter of

Daniel Freeman-, of Standish. She was bora Dec. 8, 1821.

Of this union was bom one daughter,—Hannah E., born

July 25, 1857. He is a respectable farmer, and has held

the office of selectman in his town. He is a member of

the church, and a promoter of kindred interests.

WESTBEOOK AND DEERING.

BOUNDARIES AND PHYSICAL FEATUKES.

The towns of Westbrook and Deering, formerly West-

brook, are bounded by Falmouth on the north, Casco Bay

on the east, Portland, Cape Elizabeth, and part of Scar-

borough on the south, and Gorham and Windham on the

west. The principal streams in the towns are the Presump-

scot, which enters Westbrook from Gorham, running nearly

southeast to the falls at Saccarappa, where it makes a bend

to the eastward and northward, and forming the dividing

line between Westbrook and Deering, flows in a northeasterly

course into the town of Falmouth, whence by an easterly

course it empties into Casco Bay ; the Stroudwater, which

crosses the southern part of the towns, flowing southeast-

ward into Fore River, which it enters at Stroudwater vil-

lage, the old landing-place for vessels at tide-water; and

Fore River, which takes its rise in Deering, and flows south

into Portland Harbor. Duck Pond Creek, flowing from

the north, enters the Presumpscot River in Westbrook.

The sor&ce of these towns is flat or rolling, and in some

places moderately hilly. Along the coast it is agreeably

diversified, presenting many points of beautifTil scenery, in

which the cultivated landscape and bright waters of the

bay mingle in the view. Northward of Portland or Back

Cove sandy plains prevail to a considerable extent. This

section of Deering, being traversed by railroads and horse-

cars, forms a suburban adjunct to the city of Portland,

and is adoraed by many country-seats and villas. The

horse-cars run every half-hour during the day to Wood-

ford's and MorriU's Corners, Evergreen Cemetery, and

Westbrook Seminary, in Deering.

FIRST PARISH OF WESTBROOK.

Westbrook, with Falmouth, Cape Elizabeth, Portland,

and Deering, was originally included in the settlement b^un
in 1632, known first as Casco, and after the submission to

Massachusetts, in 1658, as Falmouth. That part known

as the town of Westbrook (including Deering) was set o£F

and incorporated in 1814. Previous to this it had a long

history as part of the general territory, and then as a parish

in Falmouth, organized for a purpose which lies close to the

root of New England society, the support of public wor-

ship and the institutions of religion. When we go back

ia the history of a New England town we draw to a focus

around the old meeting-house.

The original town of Falmouth was one parish up to 1733,

when the territory of Cape Elizabeth was formed into the

Second Parish, called Purpooduck till the incorporation of

the district of Cape Elizabeth, in 1765. The First Parish

was that which now has its meeting-house on Congress

Street, Portland, and dates from 1727. In 1753 that por-

tion of Falmouth called New Casco, now Falmouth Cor-

ner, was set off into the Third Parish, on account of the

distance from the Neck, and the difficulties of attending re-

ligious services there, the people having to cross from
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Martin's Point to the point where the Murine Hospital

now standa or boat over to what is now East Deering.*

On the 28th of March, 1764, the inhabitants residing

in what are now Westbrook and Deering obtained the

consent of the First Parish for a separate organization, and

were accordingly set off as the Fourth Parish in Falmouth.

This designation they bore till the incorporation of Cape

Elizabeth, the year following, when, the society in that

town having taken the name of the First Parish of Cape

Elizabeth, the parish in Westbrook became the Third

Parish of Falmouth. When Westbrook was incorporated

it became the First Parish of Westbrook, and so when

Deering was set off it became the First Parish of Deering,

besides being known by such familiar names as " Parson

Browne's," " Parson Bradley's," and " Old South."

The authority to organize the new parish was granted by

the General Court ; the old parish held a meeting at which

there appears to have been two chairmen, William Slemons

and Peter Noyes ; Stephen Longfellow was clerk, and Jo-

seph Noyes, surveyor, to lay out the new parish, which was

done in due time. The parish immediately took active

measures for their religious edification. A meeting was

called at the house of Mr. Joseph Riggs, Sept. 10, 1764,

to " agree to settell the Gospell" among them. John

Johnson was moderator, and James Bailey clerk.f Mr.

Riggs was instructed " to go and get a good minister to

preach the Gospel to them as soon as he could conveniently

allow."

" Mr. Riggs was evidently a prompt man in those days

when tel^raph poles were wanting and mails went only slowly

over the king's highway to Boston and beyond ; for on the

3d of October we find that the Rev. Thomas Browne

bad come all the way from Marshfield, Mass., and after

resting a day or two, and calling upon a few of the scat-

tered parishioners. Parson Browne preached on the 7th

of October, which was Sunday, and on Monday, the next

day, the people met at Mr. Jeremiah Riggs', and afler

adding two to the committee to make it more imposing,

they were ' empowered to make a contract with the said

Rev. Thomas Browne for him to preach three or five months,

and also to agree with the minister for his boarding.' Hav-

ing now a parish and a preacher, a meeting-house was next

in order. The same working committee was ordered ' to

gitt a frame 40 foot long and 35 feett wide, one story high,

to be sitt near where the meeting-house is to be built, near

* Willis records the Suet that " in 1751 a monthly meeting waa estab-

lished for the Qaakers residing in Falmouth and Harpswell.^' The

male members were James Winslow, James Qoddard, and Benjamin

Winslow, of Falmouth. It is supposed that these people met at a

prirate house. Mr. James Winslow some years before had a grant of

land on Back Core, near Fall Brook, near the place now owned by

Mr. John Warren. The grant was made to him in 1729 for a prir-

ilege to ereot a corn-mill. He afterwards moved with his effects to a

place near the Maine Central Uailroad crossing of the Presumpscot

Kiver. It would appear that the Friends had the first organiza-

tion for religious worship in the country northward of Portland,

and that the parish at Falmouth Corner was the next. The earliest

mentioned me«ting-house of the Friends was bnilt near where the

old Gray road crosses the Presumpscot Kiver, in Falmouth. The

building was used in 1815, and how much later we are not informed.

t Mr. Johnson lived at the place known as " Johnson's neighbor-

hood ;" Mr. Bailey probably at " Bailey's Hill."

the County road, above Mr. Anthony Brackett, Jr.'s house,

to be for the meeting-house for the present.' This is the

lot used for the present church edifice. No mention is

made of any stoves, for they had none ; nor were lights

used excepting near the desk."

Parson Browne was an educated man. He had been pre-

viously settled at Marshfield, Mass. His preaching pleased

the people so well that, in April, 1765, they concluded to

settle him as a permanent minister. The contract was that

he should receive £100 a year and £120 for a " settle-

ment,'' as the tertn was,—probably a kind of bonus paid

by the people, as ministers were scarce, and had to be moved

at expense to themselves for long distances. This last

amount of £120 was to be paid in installments of £40 a

year.

"June 12, 1765, a committee was raised to hunt up

entertainment for man and beast when the ministers and

delegates should arrive to settle Parson Browne. A meet-

ing of this kind was an imposing affair in those days. The

clergy appeared in their gowns, and quite likely in wigs.

The examination of the candidate was conducted at great

length into all the hair-splitting shades of theology. At

some time during the day (for a whole day was thus sacri-

ficed) their attention was directed to the lighter mattera of

an installation dinner, which was generally served at the

residence of the best parishioner, and was apt to be pro-

longed so as to encroach upon more solemn duties. The

prohibitory law was not then in force, and the various kinds

of rum, gin, and brandy, from the choice coUectiong of the

'squires and sea-captains, were brought into full service to

fortify the venerable preachers for their further duties.

The records show that Mr. Joseph Riggs reported that he

had spent nine pounds eight pence for the installing ser-

vices, and the parish thought it a fair charge and voted to

gay the bill."

" There is an amusing incident that will bear recital in

connection with Mr. Browne's leaving Marshfield. It

seems that his ministry in that town came to an abrupt

termination. The pulpit in those days was perched up high

in the air ; the preachers and the deacons wore wigs ; the

deacons sat in special seats provided for them directly under

the pulpit and facing the people. Now, into the meeting-

house at Marshfield one Sunday came a jolly old sailor, who

did not know the laws of seating, and desiring to get as

good a seat as he could, he strolled up to the deacon's seat

and placed himself between the venerable occupants.

Pretty soon the sailor began to tire of the sermon, and

fumbling round in his pocket he pulled out a rope-yarn, and

in a waggish way tied the said yarn to the pig-tails of the

wigs of the deacons. Then, as Pareon Browne was ' long

preaching,' the deacons followed tiie example of the young

man in the Acts, and ' fell asleep.' And as they nodded

and pitched forward their heads, our jolly sailor pulled on

his rope yarn and pulled off their wigs. Parson Browne

looked down and saw it all at a glance. He laughed out-

right: he could not help it, but his laugh cost him his

pulpit in Marshfield.";];

Seven years ran along with no marked event, until 1772.

j: Manuscript discourse of William E. Glonld, Esq.
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The records show that a dispute had arisen between this

and the First Parish respecting sundry lines of division

between them. Probably some wealthy people lived near

the borders whose tax each parish desired to secure. At
all events, Mr. William Slemons, who lived over beyond

Strondwater, on the Buxton road, was del^ated to go to

Boston to represent the interests of the Third Parish at the

General Court ; but from some cause the affair took a dif-

ferent turn, for in December, of the same year, the parish

was called to decide if they would unite with the other

party in leaving the matter to the arbitration of Dr. Edwin

Russell and John Lewis, of North Yarmouth, and Mr.

William Hasty, of Scarborough, or other three good men.

In 1773, Joseph Riggs and William Slemons were

chosen a committee to build a new meeting-house, upon the

understanding that the old parishioners should have their

rights in the new building. Although it does not appear

upon the records, it is the current tradition that the house

was erected in 1774. In consequence of the depreciation

of the currency (Continental money) from 1776 to 1779,

the parish voted to raise Mr. Browne's salary to £240. In

the latter year the parish received a grant of 60 acres of

land, and Capt. Pride, from Pride's Corner, Lieut. Wilson,

from Frost's Woods, and Maj. James Johnson, from beyond

the Strondwater, were appointed a committee to find said

land and to " pitch it," and then to " report as soon as may

be." The year 1779 seems to have been a hard one in

money matters, and Parson Browne preferred to ti; pro-

duce for his salary that year. William Frost, parish clerk,

enters the following contract upon the records :

*' Vottdf That one-fifth part of Rer. Thomas Browne's salary for

the present year be paid in Indian Corn, rye, and wheat, in the month

of January next, at the following prices, viz. : Indian Com, the natotal

growth of this coantry, at foar shillings, rye at id. 8:, and wheat at 6a.

per bushel. That the remaining four-fifths of bis salary be stated

and proportioned agreeable to the current price of beef in the afore-

said parish In the month of November next ; allowing two pence and

f of a penny per fi>, to be the original price, and that the asses-

sors and the Her. Thomas Browne be vested with full power to deter-

mine the price of beef* as proportioned above, and to proportion the

salary accordingly."

" The next year it was no better, although paper money

was abundant. The salary was paid in 1780 in corn, rye,

and wheat, with the addition of good cord-wood, delivered

at his house in Back Cove, at 1U«. a cord, beef at 2d. S/ar.,

or Spanish milled dollars at 6«., or, if people preferred, they

might pay—even in those days of primeval greenbacks

—

at forty-five paper dollars for one Spanish milled dollar.

Subsequently the records show that a price in paper money

was fixed for com for all that year, viz., tixty dollars of

paper earreney for every bushel of com. ' The next year

Ruth Pennell was voted iSx. for being the woman sexton,

yet she got $45, such as it was."*

In the following vote, taken at a parish-meeting in 1785,

there appears the dawn of a change from the old-tashioned

method of " lining out" hymns, which were usually drawled

by one of the deacons

:

" Voted, That the singers are desired to sit in the singers' seats, and

have liberty to sing thelast time on eaoh day of public wonhip with-

out reading, and to sing such tunes as are agreeable to them."

* Manuscript disoonrse of Mr. Gould.

At the same meeting there was a bill presented by Joshua

Stevens " for making a christening stand, one pound ten."

In 1797 commenced the illness of Parson Browne which

terminated his earthly labors. The parish, in addition to

the usual salary, voted £50 to supply preaching by another

when the minister was sick. Mr. Browne died that year,

and his widow was paid £75 in full settlement of his claim.

Mr. Browne lived in a house which stood near Wood-

ford's Comer, a rod or two south of the present residence

of Mr. George Rackleff. His bam stood where Capt. Jor-

dan's house now stands, and we are told that his well was

some years since filled up with stones. Mr. Sawyer's house,

on the comer, is about where the old well was. He owned

all the land from Brighton Comer to the salt water,

—

%.e.,

the woods on High Street, and thence down Spring, Me-

chanic and Lincoln Streets, including Mr. Sparrow's place.

f

We are not informed what Mr. Browne paid for this land,

but it is said that when Mr. Chandler Racleff bought of

Mr. Browne he paid only $2200 for the entire tract.

Aiter Mr. Browne's death, Rev. Mr. Wright supplied the

pulpit till June, 1798. A meeting was then held to see if

Rev. Mr. Parker should be called : the parish voted against

it. In June, 1799, Rev. Caleb Bradley was called, and

accepted the invitation of the parish. He was then a young

man, and had been studying theology with Rev. Dr. Cum-

mings, at Bilierica. Dr. Cummings preached the sermon

on the occasion of his ordination, Oct. 9, 1799. Dr. Deane,

of the First Parish in Portland, made the ordaining prayer.

The affairs of the pariah went on smoothly, with nothing

special to note, except the death of Mr. Daniel Dole, in

1815, who had for many years served the parish as clerk.

But the trial came in 1821. " The preaching, or the prac-

tice, or both, of Mr. Bradley, together with the growing

doctrines of Universalism and of other liberal teachings,

and possibly the outgrowing of the old parish taxing sys-

tem, led a very great number of the parishioners to give

formal, legal notice to the clerk that they were no longer

to be considered as contributors to the salary paid to Rev.

Caleb Bradley.'' A large number of those who withdrew

formed the Universalist Society, now worshiping at Ste-

vens' Plains,! while several who withdrew were again voted

in as members of the old parish. Of course the "Old
South" Society was weakened by the withdrawal of so many
worthy men ; the finances shrank ; even as far back as 1823
Parson Bradley concluded that he was himself the best tax

collector in the parish, and actually undertook the task, and

was allowed six per cent, commission oh the collection of

his own salary. By continual increase of their debt to the

preacher the parish became largely in arrears, and, afrer

much consultation, it was finally settled by the release to

Mr. Bradley of a very considerable property then owned

by the parish, being the estate so long occupied by himself,

as well as much land ranning along the road eastward from

his house, back to Brighton. In 18:24 the parish was told,

in very plain English, that if they did not propose to pay

their bills he should stop his preaching ; but he made a

proposition to abandon the old system of parish taxes and

accept voluntary contributions, which appears to have been

t Manuscript discourse.

X See History of the Universalist Church.
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Hon. Leandeb Yalentinx was born in the village of

Saccarappa, town of Westbrook (then Strondwater), March

14, 1814. His first ancestor in this country was John

Yalentine, who descended from an ancient family in the

parish of Eccles, England, and who is mentioned in the

Boston Becorda as having been made a freeman May 12,

1675. Married, April 16, 1702, to Mary Lynde. They

had seven childrea. Their son, Thomas, Leander's great-

grandfather, removed to Hopkinton, Mass., about 1730.

Was married, July 17, 1735, to Elizabeth Grooch, whose

parents lived upon a street in Boston which now bears their

name. They had six bods and five daughters. Their son,

William Yalentine, bom Nov. 2, 1750, at Hopkinton, Mass.,

married, aboat 1770, Elizabeth Jones, by whom he had

fifteen children,—deven sons and four daughters. Their

son, William, Leander's father, was bom April 14, 1773.

Married Abigail Spring, of Northboro', Mass., and in 1803

removed to Westbrook (then Falmouth), where he engaged

in the manufacture of nails. At the same time he carried

on a grocery trade in the building now occupied by L. W.

Edwards. In 1815 he gave up all other business and

tumed his attention to farming. He was for several year£(

selectman of the town, and was one of the original trustees

of the Saccarappa Grammar School Association. He died

in Westbrook, April 16, 1845. His wife died Jan. 27,

1861. They had eleven children, three of whom are still

living, viz., Albert, Leander, and Caroline, the latter the

wife of Moses B. Walker, of Poland, Me.

Leander Yalentine received his education in the common

school at Saccarappa village, supplemented by two terms

at Westbrook Seminary. He taught school from 1835 to

1854, nineteen years, mostly in the town of Westbrook.

He was for a number of years engaged in the grocery trade

at Saccarappa, first with T. B. Edwards as partner, subse-

quently with the firms of Yalentine, Hardy & Co., and

Yalentine & Pennell. He was married Aug. 28, 1842, to

Margaret S. Coolbroth, daughter of Joseph W. and Alice

Coolbroth. Mrs. Yalentine was bom April 21, 1822, in

the town of Gorham. They have had one child, Marcena

Adriana, bora May 16, 1845; died April 1, 1846.

In politics Mr. Yalentine was identified with the Demo-
cratic party up to the time of the repeal of the Missouri

Compromise. Regarding slavery and its extension as the

paramount evil of the land, he united with the Republican

party, and from the time of its organization has been one

of its staunch supporters. He has held various ofBces of

public trust; was school commissioner twelve years, and

one of the selectmen two years ; represented the town in

the Legislature in 1847-48 ; was a member of the Senate

in 1849 ; a member of the Executive Council in 1850-52

;

and has been connected .with the custom-house in Port-

land from May, 1861, to September, 1877,—six years as

weigher and ganger, one year as assistant appraiser, and

nine years as appraiser. At the end of this long term of

service he resigned the position on account of ill health.

In religion Mr. Yalentine has entertained IJniversalist

views. He has always resided near the place where he

was bora, and the places of honor and trust he has held

are of themselves sufficient evidence of the esteem in which
he is held by his townsmen and the public.
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WILLIAM L. PENNELL

was born in the town of Gray, Cumberland Co., Me.,

April 15, 1821. The family descends from Clement Pen-

nell, one of three brothers who emigrated from the Isle of

Jersey and settled in the town of Deering (then Falmouth).

He married Ruth Riggs, Jan. 10, 1742. Their son Joseph,

grandfather to William L., married for his first wife

Hannah Ward, by whom he had, eight children. His

second wife was Charlotte Nash, by whom he also had eight

children. Joseph Pennell, W. L. Pcnnell's father, was

the second child by the first wife. He was bom in the town

of Gray, Aug. 7, 177fi. He married Elizabeth Stone, of

Ecnnebunk, Me., Oct. 29, 1779. Their children were

Dixey S., Susannah, Jeremiah, Robert B., Hannah W.,

Luther, James, William L., and Luther. The first five were

bom in Minot, Androscoggin Co., the four latter in Gray.

All are deceased, except Luther, James, and William L.

The father died March, 1826 ; the mother, June, 1828.

William L. lived at the homestead in Gray until twenty-

one years of age. His education was limited to the com-

mon school. When of age, with fifteen dollars in money,

and a trunk for which he gave his note for five dollars, he

started out for himself. The note and trunk have been

preserved as relics. The first year he worked at brick-

mnking in Summerville, Mass., at sixteen dollars per month.^

The next two seasons he was employed by Geo. Lotham,

on a farm in Gray. In 1844 he came to Saccarappa,

where for two seasons he engaged in brick-making, in com-

pany with his brothers, Luther and James. In 1847 he

was employed in the cutlery works of Mr. Ropes, at Sacca-

rappa. In the fall of 1848, in company with James Pen-

nell, he engaged in the manufacture of coopers' heading, in

which business he continued up to 1854. For the next

thirteen years, chiefly in company with Leander Valentine,

he carried on the grocery trade in Saccarappa. On account

of poor health, and with a view to recruit it, he sold out his

interest, went to Canada, and entered into the oil speculation.

Lost money, but recovered his health.

Mr. Pennell, in politics, was first a Whig, and a Repub-

lican since the organization of the latter party. In 1861-62

was clerk and treasurer of the town of Westbrook (then

including Deering). In that capacity he paid the first

soldiers' bounty for the town. In 1867-68 was one of the

selectmen of the town. In 1867 was appointed deputy

sherifi^, which position he held for five years. In 1872

was elected sherifiF, and held the oflSce four years.

In the spring of 1878 he purchased his residence and

store at Cumberland Mills, where he still resides, and

carries on the leading grocery trade of the place.

He was married, May 25, 1848, to Sophia J. Pennell,

daughter of Thomas and Sarah Pennell. Mrs. Pennell was

born March 10, 1821, in the town of Buxton, York Co.,

Me. They have had six children, viz. : Sarah, born Feb.

V^9, 1849
J
died June 21, 1853. Joseph Henry, born July

27, 1852 ; died Sept. 29, 1870. Addie Louisa, born Dec.

11, 1853; married, Jan. 27, 1876, Frank Hale Boody

;

one child, Jennie Ethelyn, born June 30, 1877. William

Jones, born Sept. 7, 1855 ; married, May 14, 1879, Abbie

F. Quinby. Hattie Jane, bora July 21, 1857 ; died June

22, 1863. Nettie Sophia, born Nov. 11, 1859
; living at

home.
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LEWIS P. WARREN

was born in the town of Westbrook, Cumberland

Co., Me., Aug. 11, 1817, the youngest child of John

and Eleanor (Lamb) Warren.

John Warren, his grandfather, was born in Ber-

wick, York Co., Me., March 5, 1731, and before

marriage settled in Westbrook. He married Jane

Johnson, who was born in Westbrook, June 15, 1740.

They had twelve children, six sons and six daughters.

John Warren, his father, was their fourth sou.

He was bom in Westbrook, May 23, 1776 ; married

Eleanor Lamb, daughter of William Lamb, Nov.

29, 1810. Mrs. Warren was born July 5, 1785.

Their children were George, whose biography ap-

pears on another page of th'ia volume ; William G.,

bom Dec. 17, 1814, killed April 14, 1835, while

employed in rolling logs ; and Lewis P., the subject

of this sketch. John Warren was an extensive manu-

facturer and dealer in lumber, and was one of West-

brook's most enterprising and active business men.

He died Sept. 10, 1845. His wife died Jan. 13,

1835.

Lewis P. Warren received his education in the

common school at Saccarappa, with two years' attend-

ance at the academy, Parsonsfield, York Co., Me.

At the age of eighteen he engaged in the dry-goods

trade at Saccarappa, in company with Cyrus King,

a partnership which continued five years. He then

took the management of the homestead farm. Upon

the death of their father his landed estate, mill, and

mercantile interests came into the joint possession of

George and Lewis P., which thereafter, until 1876,

were kept undivided, George taking charge of the mill

and mercantile interests, the conduct of the farm

devolving upon Lewis P. In addition to the exten-

sive lumbering interests in which, in company with

his brother George and others, under different firm-

names, he was engaged, he had a joint interest with

his brother in the manufacture of wire—firm, War-
ren & Pennell ; in milling—firm, S. T. Raymond &
Co. ; in the manufacture of moccasins—firm, W. H.
Neal & Co. ; and in the manufacture of weavers'

harnesses—firm, Warren, Pennell & Co. On the first

day of April, 1876, a division of property was made
between himself and his brother George, since which

time Mr. Warren has devoted himself to the care of

his farm and in settling up the business of the firm.

In politics Mr. Warren has been identified with

the Whig and Republican parties. He has been a

member of the Congregational Church at Saccarappa

since 1843. He was married, Feb. 20, 1844, to

Sarah Turner, daughter of Henry and Sarah Turner,

of Otisfield. Mrs. Warren was bora May 21, 1818.

They have five children, viz. : John W., born Jan.

16, 1847; Albert F., born March 4, 1850; Lelia

A., born Dec. 28, 1852; Edna A., born Feb. 25,

1857 ; and Cora B., bom Dec. 26, 1858.
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accepted, and from that time acted upon. In 1829, Mr.

Bradley resigned the pastorate, having been minister of the

parish about thirty years.

" The ministry of Mr. Bradley was marked by charac-

teristics differing from those of many of his contemporaries.

He was frequently in controversy with the neighboring

clergymen on matters of doctrine, and for some years was

not in fellowship with the more orthodox and evangelical

wing of his denomination."

Mr. Gould relates the following incident illustrative of

the peculiarities of Mr. Bradley, which was told him by an

eye-witness. The scene was at Gorham Corner, in March,

1847. The Congregational Church had been for some little

time destitute of a settled pastor, and the people were desir-

ing to be free from the " candidate fever," so much so that

several meetings had been held for prayer and consulta-

tion. The regular quarterly fast of the church was held,

and the attendance was quite general. Several of the

brethren had prayed, and others had bewailed their wicked

state, when up jumped Mr. Bradley, who had come from

the Codman Flats, and in his quick and nervous way said,

" Let us pray." His prayer was at first a general descrip-

tion of Gorham ; the wickedness of the people ; their needs

;

then what was desired if they had their own way. Then

he paused, and placing himself as erect as his form would

allow, he continued nearly as follows :
" Lord, have

mercy on this people ! Thou knowest, Lord, that they

are a very difficult people,—a people hard to suit. Thou

knowest that they have had good men sent to them, but they

did not suit ; some were too tall, some were too short, and

some they could not have. Thou knowest that they are a

difficult people." Then Mr. B. paused, and once more he

b^an : ''And now, Lord, if thou hast in all thy wide

universe a man suited to this people, we pray, Lord, that

thou wouldst find him, and then send him along. Amen,''

—quick and short. It is needless to say that the meeting

was soon closed. The result was that in a very short time

the Bev. John B. Adams came, and a happy pastorate of

fourteen years followed.

The good people of Gorham had one other surprise

from Mr. Bradley at an earlier day. When Bev. Asa Band

was the pastor in that town, be exchanged once with Mr.

Bradley, as etiquette required, but for many years the Gor-

ham pulpit was closed to the Westbrook minister, as Mr.

Band, Mr. Payson, and some others had declared Mr.

Bradley hardly sound in the iiiith. But in 1822, Bev. Mr.

Pomeroy came to Gorham, and etiquette required an ex-

change. It was a bright Sabbath morning in summer, the

congregation was large, and Mr. Bradley was in his best

mood. The opening services passed along nicely, while the

older people were counting how many years it had been

since the good brother had stood in their pulpit. It was

time for the sermon. Mr. Bradley stood up with his pecu-

liar expression, his straight form, and looked all over the

audience. Every eye was upon him ; everybody feared

that something was about to happen. Then with his sharp,

quick voice, he exclaimed so that all the people heard, " It

is 2, be not a/raid!" When the smile had passed away

from the faces of the congregation, he added in his most

serene and quiet tone, " Matt. xiv. 27."

Some of the old people in Gorham may remember t^e

time that he visited the .school iti the Codman District. In

his fatherly way he told the boys that by real hard study

they might probably be ministers, or lawyers, or doctors

;

" but," added the parson, " any of you can be a James K.

Polk !"

After a very short interval Bev. Henry Jewett was called

to the pastorate. He was settled for u term of five years,

and was a devoted and genial minister, who left behind him

memories still cherished and an abiding influence for good.

His ministry began in 1829 and terminated in 1835. At

a parish-meeting held this year, it was decided to .settle

Bev. Joseph Lane as pastor, and to take down the old meet-

ing-house and erect a more suitable and modern edifice

upon the same site. Mr. Lane at first declined, but after-

wards, upon the importunate pressing of the invitation, be

accepted, and was ordained Dec. 19, 1836. The new church

was also built, and is familiar to many as the white church

still standing.

Mr. Lane remained two years. He subsequently re-

moved to the West, and died there in 1850. Rev. Jotham

Sewall, Jr., was the next pastor, who was ordained in Oc-

tober, 1839, three months after his call. He came of a

famous preaching ancestry, and has a goodly number of

sons who honor the profession. Mr. Sewall was employed

for $550 a year and a house to live in, the house belonging

to John Haskell, and rented for $60 a year with the lot.

He ministered to the parish two years and a half, and was

succeeded by the following-named clergymen, who success-

ively supplied the pulpit for several years : Bev. Stephen

Men-ill, Rev. Charles E. Lovel, and Rev. Calvin N. Ran-

som.

Bev. John B. Wheelwright received a call in July, 1855
;

he was installed by a council in April, 1856, and minis-

tered with profit till April, 1859, when he was called to

Bethel, Me. Rev. George S. Gray came in 1860, and

preached two years. Rev. Francis Southworth followed

from 1862 to 1864 ; then Bev. Wm. H. Haskell for a

short time after.

The Congregational Parish at Woodford's Corner was

formed, and the house of worship erected, in 1872; since

which time the services of the denomination for this sec-

tion of the town have been held in the new edifice, although

occasional preaching by different persons has been main-

tained at the old parish.

CONQBEOATIONAL CHUBCH AT SACCABAFPA.

This church was the offspring of the First Parish of

Westbrook, and was formed into a separate parish under

the ministry of Rev. Mr. Jewett in 1832. Previous to

this time the minister of the old parish had divided his

time equally between the two places. But the people in

Saccarappa and in the upper part of the town had become

tired of going so far as the old meeting-house to worship

;

the minister also had got tired of encountering the mud
and slush and snow and wind during the inclement season,

and desired a change. Besides, Saccarappa had become

an important growing centre of population and business,

and needed a church of her own, as well as for the accom-

modatioii of those farther ofi' still from the old parish
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chtirch. Accordingly, on Jan. 17, 1832, the second cLurch

was formed, and after sixteen months Rev. Joseph Searle

was installed pastor.

Among the successors of Rev. Mr. Searle in this parish

have been Rev. John H. Mordoagh and John H. Ashley,

who remained longest, and in more recent days Rev.

Messrs. Danielson, Thwing, and Rev. Henry B. Mead.

CONQBEGATIONAL CHURCH AT CUMBERLAND MILLS.

The chnrch in this growing and prosperous village be-

came a fixed organization Sept. 30, 1869.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, WOODFORD'S CORNER.

In the year 1855 the Methodist Episcopal Society of this

part of the town was formed, consisting of 20 members,

and worshiping in the chapel on the comer of Pleasant

Street and Forest Avenue. The chapel was erected in

1855-56, and dedicated in the latter year. Rev. William

McDonald was the first pastor. Rev. W. N. Richardson

followed, and, with the exception of an interval of about

four years (1870-75), there have been preachers in charge

of the society. Rev. John A. Stroat is the present minister.

UNIVERSALIST CHURCH, STETENs' PLAINS.

The settlement of Rev. Russell Streater at Portland in

1821, and the dissemination of Universalist views at that

period through the pulpit and the press, had much to do

with the origin of this society. There were also influences

at work in the First Congregational Parish of Westbrook,

with which most of the original founders of this society

were connected, which favored the movement for the estab-

lishment of a more independent organization. The 40 or

50 persons alluded to in the history of that parish, who

in 1821 notified the clerk that they were no longer to be

considered its supporters, mostly united to form the Uni-

versalist Society in 1829. In that year they petitioned

Moses Quimby, Esq., one of the justices of the town, who

granted a warrant for the organization of the society.

Among the founders of this society whose names were

familiar in the past afiairs of the old parish, two are still

living,—Jona. Smith and Albert Stevens.

Upon the formation of the society measures were early

taken to secure a place of worship. Several meetings were

held in the school-house at Stroudwater, and it was finally

decided that the lot offered by John Jones, Esq., was the

most eligible site on which to build. The house was ac-

cordingly erected on the rock at Brighton (now the town-

house of Deering), and was dedicated by Rev. Mr. Reese,

of Portland, in September, 1830. In October of the same

year. Rev. Samuel Brimblecom was settled as pastor, at a

saUry of $400 a year.

COL. THOKAS WESTBROOK.

Of Col. Thomas Westbrook, from whom the town de-

rives its name, we have been able to obtain materials only

for a meagre sketch. Neither the place nor the date of his

birth is given by any authority which we have been able thus

&r to discover. From the fact that he named the place of

his settlement here Stroudwater, it. has been inferred that

he came from Stroudwater in Gloucestershire, England.

But that is only conjecture. His ancestors may have come

from there, but he himself may have been bom in this

country. His early residence was in Portsmouth, N. H.,

where be was well known and held in high esteem by the

authorities of that province. He first appears in the his-

tory of Maine as commander of an expedition sent to

Norridgewock, in 1721, for the purpose of capturing Father

Rale, the Jesuit priest, who was supposed to have incited

the Indians to renewed hostilities. The priest made his

escape, but important papers were discovered, implicating

the French in a plot to let loose the savages upon the de-

fenseless settlers. When the war broke out, in 1723, Gov-

ernor Dummer appointed Westbrook commander of the

forces on the eastern frontier.

Willis, in speaking of the second settlement of Falmouth,

says, " Some, who in that day filled a large space in the

annals of the town, have left no living memorial to perpet-

uate their memory. Of these was Col. Thomas Westbrook,

who had been commander of the forces in the late war ; he

came from Portsmouth,' N. H., in 1727, and was admitted

a proprietor on the payment of ten pounds. He was a

very active and useful man, became a large proprietor of

land, built mills, employed many men, and by his activity

and capital essentially promoted the welfare of the town.

He fixed his residence at Stroudwater, in the neighborhood

of which his estates were situated. Unfortunately, he en-

tered into large speculations in eastern lands, with Gen.

Waldo and others, by which he was effectually ruined. In

1743, Waldo recovered judgment against him for ten thou-

sand five hundred pounds, which he levied upon his prop-

erty, and swept it nearly all away. He died in February,

1744 ; the fragments of his estate sold at auction, by Enoch

Freeman, his administrator, amounted to six thousand four

hundred and six pounds eighteen shillings and nine pence,

old tenor, equal to eight hundred and fifty pounds lawful

money."*

He first lived on the hill beyond Stroudwater Bridge,

and subsequently built his seat, called " Harrow House,"

on the other side of Stroudwater River, near where the

tannery now stands, or stood recently.

In 1735, Col. Westbrook and Samuel Waldo built a dam
and saw-mill at the lower falls of the Presnmpscot River.

Among the estates which Col. Westbrook owned here

were half of Great and Little Chebeagne Ishmds. Half
of the former had been conveyed to Richard Wharton, and

his title was confirmed by the government of Massachusetts

in 1683. After his death his administrator, Ephraim Sav-

age, conveyed his share of the island to the deacons of the

First Church, in Boston, for the benefit of the poor. In

1743 it was owned by the First Church of Boston and Col.

Westbrook, for in that year Westbrook's half was set off

upon execution to Samuel and Cornelius Waldo. We are

not informed how Westbrook came into possession of his

part of Great Chebeague Island, but Willis tells us that he

and Waldo derived their title jointly to Little Chebeague

from the l^atees of Silvanus Davis, and that it was taken

by Waldo on execution at the same time that his property

in the other island was taken. It was only the year before

• History of PortUmd, p. 354.
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Hon. George Warren was born in the town of West-

brook, Cumberland Co., Me., Oct. 6, 1811. He was eldest

son of John and Eleanor Warren, and from boyhood to the

week of his death, July 29, 1876, his life was one of un-

tiring activity. While a mere boy he became valuable in

the service of his father, whose lumbering enterprises

promised a field for the exercise of his early desire for

business life. He was clerk and treasurer of the Sacca-

rappa Manufacturing Company, formerly occupying what is

known as the island at Saccarappa. His first business

venture for himself was in forming a copartnership with the

late B. M. Edwards (Edwards & Warren), about the year

1830, a general store, groceries, etc. Daring this partner-

ship he attended school at Gardiner, Me., and had previously

attended school at Bridgton, Parsonsfield, and Gorham.

His next business connection was with Bufus and Cyrus

King and his brother, Lewis P. Warren. After the death

of his father he took the leading part in carrying on the

extensive lumber manufacturing interest which had been

built up by his father and uncle. He also, in company with

his brother, Lewis P., was associated with different firms in

the manufacture ofweavers' harnesses, wire, and moccasins.

He became interested in the building of the York and

Cumberland Bailroad (now the Portland and Rochester),

and was one of its directors. Having ownership, on the

death of his father, in lands in Pennsylvania and in Aroos-

took, Me., he made frequent trips both to the West and

East in looking after these interests. A Bepublican since

the organization of the party (formeriy a Whig), he never

sought oflSce, but accepted a place on the staff of the Gov-

ernor's council, which came to him, unsought, through the

influence of friends who knew his worth.

His valued services in this position were appreciated by

both Governor Dingley and Governor Connor. It was im-

possible for him to be otherwise than active. His nature

and long-continued practice required of him continual labor,

and not till 1875, when he became a councilor, was there any

relaxation. In 1876, having determined to close up the

lumber business entirely, and desirous of making a business

for his sons, he commenced the improvement of the island

water-power, which, by a division of real estate between

him and his brother, Lewis P., April 1, 1876, became his,

and arranged to erect a mill for the manu&ctnre of woolen

goods. This enterprise he did not live to carry out. The
bridge and foundation for the mill were but just completed,

when, having recently returned from a visit to the Centen-

{

nial Exposition at Philadelphia with his wife, he took a

violent cold at the seaside, whither he had gone to spend

the Sabbath with his brother, and forced to take his bed at

home on Monday morning, died on the following Saturday.

His frineral was largely attended. Governor Connor and his

council paying their last respects to the deceased by their

presence.

Mr. Warren always manifested a strong interest in Free-

masonry, studied its beauties, and lived up to its teachings.

He was Past Master of Temple Lodge, No. 86, Past High
Priest of Eagle Chapter, No. 11, and member of council

and commandeiy at Portland. In the old militia times he
was lieutenant and captain. At the time of his death he
was trustee of the grammar school frind and of the Sacca-

rappa Savings Bank.
Mr. Warren was a close student of the Bible, and in re-

ligion entertained liberal views. Though he had withdrawn
from membership in the orthodox church, he continued a

constant attendant at divine service. Firmly supporting

and maintaining his own belief, he was an earnest laborer in

the cause of truth. He married, in 1842, Catharine B.
Palmer, of Hampton, N. H., who survives him.

Their children' are William L., bom May 12, 1843, mar-
ried Isa L. Cummings, of Paris, Me. ; George L., born
Oct. 11, 1847, married Jennie L. Duncan, of Danvers,
Mass. ; Ellen L., wife of Hebron Mayhew ; George, Jr.

(deceased); Charles F., born March 29, 1851; Bufus
King (drowned) ; Fred. E.
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his death that Col. Westbrook was stripped of these estates.

Who knows by how much intrigue and overreaching by

his associates in business this ruin may have been accom-

plished, and what effect these misfortunes may have had in

hastening their victim to an untimely grave ? He was a

man evidently of large abilities, and one who had proved

himself worthy of exalted trusts by the government. In

the fourth Indian and French war he was appointed to the

command of the eastern forces ; and there is no evidence

that his duty was not faithfully discharged. He was the

government agent for procuring masts for the navy, and

when that interest was removed from Portsmouth to Fal-

mouth, in 1726, he was sent early the next spring to take

charge of it here.

The New England Weekly Journal, May 8, 1727, printed

at Boston, observes

:

"Weha^eaD account that the ninst busineflu, which has for some time

been so much the benefit of the neighbor province of Ifew-Hampshire,

is removed farther eastward, where it has been carried on the last win-

ter with sach "Bnocess as could hardly have been expected, considering

the very little seasonable weather for it. Capt. Farles, in one of the

mast ships, now lies in Casco Bay, who, we hear, is not a little pleased

with the peculiar commodionsness of that fine harbour to carry on

the said business. And as this most tend very much to encourage

the settlements of those parts of the coantry, espeoially the flourish-

ing bay that will be the centre of it, so there is no reason to fear but

that our government will, in their wisdom, look upon it very much to

their interest to protect and encourage it."

Col. Westbrook married a daughter of John Sherburne,

mariner, of Portsmouth, N. H. His only child, Elizabeth,

married Richard Waldron, of Portsmouth, a grandson of

Col. Richard Waldron, whom the Indians killed at Dover

in 1689. They left issue, and Maj. Waldron, of the United

States Marine Corps (1851), was her grandson.* Rich-

ard Waldron, who married Elizabeth Westbrook, was born

Feb. 21, 1694, and died Aug. 23, 1753.

Col. Westbrook was clerk of the town of Falmouth in

1736. Sonthgate, in his history of Scarborough, says,

" Col. Thomas Westbrook was residing in Scarborough in

1719. At this time he, with his lumbermen and John

Milliken, Jr., were the only persons living at Dunstan.

He was at that time a shipper of masts, and continued

here a long time in the pursuit of that btisiness. In 1728

we find him assisting in the organization of the Black Point

Church." He had settled at Stroudwater previous to this,

but his interests extended to all the lumbering regions

of this section ; and Dunstan was no doubt one of his

stations for operating in masts.

EAKLY SETTLERS OF WESTBROOK AND DEER-
ING.

The following notices of early settlers of Westbrook

have been compiled chiefly from memoranda iiirnished by

Fabius M. Ray, Esq., who has devoted much patient labor

to the genealogy of many of the early families of this por-

tion of Old Falmouth.

At Saccarappa the first settler was Joseph Conant (who

is said to have gone up the Presumpscot River in a canoe).

He built his house on the northerly side of the river, at

the falls, where he probably lived for a considerable time.

^ Genealogical Record, v. 182.

He deeded this house to Thomas Haskell, husbandman, of

Falmouth, May 13, 1762. It is described in the deed as

" my dwelling-house that stands on the northerly side of

Presumpscot River at Saccarappa Falls." We learn from

this deed also that Joseph Conant was a husbandman

;

although he owned a mill-site at Saccarappa Falls, it does

not appear that he ever built a mill upon it. We find that,

on February 5, 1730, land was laid out to Joseph Conant

on Fore River, and also at the mouth of the Presumpscot

River, Aug. 10, 1734.

Bartholomew Conant lived at Duck Pond, in Westbrook,

and was probably a son of the first Joseph Conant. Bar-

tholomew and Joseph Conant deeded to Daniel Conant,

Oct. 17, 1792, one-half part of the mill-privilege which

their late father, Joseph Conant, purchased of the Rev.

Thomas Smith.

These Conants are doubtless descendants of Roger Co-

nant, one of the first settlers in Salem, in 1628. Samuel

Conant was a son of Joseph, the first settler in Westbrook

and the descendants of Samuel are still living in the town

Samuel married Mary Peabody, who was born Aug. 10

1718. Their children were Daniel, born in 1761 ; Eliza

beth, married to William Babb ; William, married, Sept,

23, 1779, to Ruth Chapman, who was his widow June 11

1808, at which time there were three children,—Ruth, Sam-

uel, and Edward, who united with the widow, their mother

in conveying their house to William Webb. Daniel, son

of Samuel and Mary (Peabody) Conant, and brother of

William, married Anna, daughter of Solomon Haskell, Sr.,

of Saccarappa, Oct. 26, 1786. Among their children were

Daniel, who died unmarried in 1874; Nathaniel, unmar-

ried ;
Solomon, who married Susan S. Libby, of Gray;

and Betsey, who married Jeremiah Clements, and has sev-

eral sons living in the town. The children of Solomon and

Susan (Libby) are Mary E., married to Henry S. McLel-

lan ; Daniel and Hattie L. Solomon died in 1869, aged

sixty-eight years.

The Babbs were among the early settlers in Westbrook.

They came from Scarborough and intermarried with the

Haskells and Conants. Peter Babb married Anna Haskell,

Jan. 24, 1760. She was probably the daughter of Thomas

Haskell, born in 1737, which would make her twenty-three

years old at the time of her marriage. William Babb

married Elizabeth, daughter of Samuel and Mary (Peabody)

Conant. He was a son of James Babb, who had other

children,—Solomon, Elizabeth, Alexander, and Daniel.

Tradition says that some of the Thompsons lived at an

early time at Ammoncongan Falls. A family by this name

were buried in the old burying-ground on the Lewis place.

The graves were there when Mr. Lewis settled on the

farm in 1774, and the occupants are said to have been

driven fi-om Salem by the witchcraft persecution. They

were connected with the family of Peter G. Winslow.

When the graves were plowed, one of them, a large man,

was found turned over on the face.

There was laid out to John Tyng 100 acres of land on

the southerly side of Presumpscot River, beginning at

Saccarappa Falls and running down the river one hundred

and twenty-six and a half rods to a stake, and from the

stake one hundred and twenty-six and a half rods back
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from the river, by the proprietors of Falmouth, March 31,

1732. John Tyng was a descendant of Edward Tyng,

who with bis brother William came from England in 1630.

William settled in Braintree, and died, leaving no male

descendants, about 1653. Edward, who was a merchant

and brewer in Boston, married Miss Sears, and had ten

children, the third of whom, the oldest son, Jonathan,

settled in Wobum, and married for his second wife Widow
Davis, and fur his third wife Judith, widow of Rev. Jabez

Fox, and daughter of Rev. John Rajner. He died June

19, 1724. His son William, the fifth child, bom April 22,

1679, was the father of Rev. Thomas Smith's first wife,

Sarah, and, according to the beet authority, of John Tyng,

the grantee above mentioned. If this be true, and it prob-

ably is, this ancient proprietor at Saccarappa was bom in

Tyngsborough, Mass., in 1705, giHduated at Harvard Col-

1^ in 1725, was judge of the Common Pleas of Middlesex

County from 1763 to 1786, married Mary, daughter o'

Benjamin Morse, and had two daughtersj—Mary, who

married John Pitts, and Elizabeth, the wife of Robert

Brinley.

The WiUia Manuscripts, Book N, page 240, contain the

following statement of James Means, of Stroudwater, in

1830 : " I am seventy-seven years of age, grandson of Rob-

ert Means. Robert came here a young man from Ireland,

by way of Massachusetts, with John* (?) Armstrong. He
married Armstrong's daughter. He lived five years upon

the Neck, one or two years in a log house near Stroud-

water meeting-house, then at the ferry on Purpooduck

about ten years. He then moved to Saco, where he died,

with his wife, who was aged about one hundred years, and

my father. They came here in 1717, not direct from Ire-

land. Robert had two sons, John and Thomas. My
father's name was John.f Thomas lived at Freeport ; he

was- killed by the Indians,| leaving one son. Secretary

Armstrong was descended from one of the Armstrongs that

came here, who moved to Pennsylvania. Armstrong, of

Boston,' was from another. . . . My grandfather, Robert,

was fifteen or sixteen years old when he came from Ireland.

Before he moved to Falmouth he had married Miss Arm-

strong." . John Means died at Old Orchard Beach, March

16, 1776, leaving five sons,—John, Robert, James, Thomas,

and George, the third of whom commanded a company

during the four last years of the Revolution, and after-

wards settled at Stroudwater, where he was living at the

time he wrote the above communication, aged seventy-seven

years. Robert, who died in Saco, as well as his son John,

was buried at Old Orchard Beach, and their gravestones

may still be seen, bearing their respective inscriptions, in

the burying-ground between the station and the Sea-shore

House.

Among the early men of Saccarappa was Timothy Pike,

son of Timothy Pike, of Newbury, a blacksmith, and a

well-to-do citizen. The firat Timothy Pike died in 1767,

leaving a will by which it appears that he left two chil-

dren, ^Timothy Pike, Jr., and Mary Coffin. He left a wife

* Jama Armstrong ; John was a •on of James,

•f
John Heana, of Biddeford, married Eleanor Johnson, Dec. 25,

1748.

—

Falmouth Reeordi, 1, 441.

% Killed, nbi.—FoUom.

whom he made his executrix, and to whom he bequeathed

most of his property. He gave to his son Timothy his

negro man, Harry, his blacksmith, tools, various household

goods, his gun and sword, the family clock, £50 in money,

the whole of his land in Windham, and the third of his

house and land in Newburyport after his wife's decease.

Timothy Pike, Jr., married first Hannah Kingsbury, of

Newbury, by whom he bad children,—Timothy, Hope, and

Sally. His second wife was p]lizabeth, daughter of Ephraim

Jones, whom he married -in 1774. In 1775 he moved to

Saccarappa, where he erected a saw-mill, and set up a forge.

He was an enterprising and useful citizen. His sons were

William, Robert, Samuel, George, and Charles, and his

daughters, Hope and Pully. V/illiam settled in Calais, and

was the father of Jamus S. and Hon. Frederick A. Pike.

Samuel was a blacksmith in Westbrook, where he died

leaving a largo family. Robert married a daughter of

William Vance, and had children,—Charles, Polly, and

George, deceased. He died in Saccarappa. Timothy Pike,

the ancestor of the family in Westbrook, died in August,

1818.

In 1774, Archelaus Lewis settled at Saccarappa and

opened a tailor-shop in the rear of where L. W. Edwards'

store now stands. In 1776 he entered the Continental

army, and served five years in the service. He was with

Washington's army at Valley Foi^, and held the commis-

sion of a lieutenant. When he returned from the army he

went to live at Stroudwater; The settlers on the Cooper

or Munjoy claim, being disturbed in their possession by the

Waldo heirs, Mr. Lewis was employed by the Smalls,

Grants, Baileys, and others to buy them off. The lands at

Ammoncongan and Rocky Hill not being claimed, Mr.

Lewis settled upon them and built the residence at Cumber-

land Mills now occupied by John Wheeler. He was for

many years a prominent citizen and held many public offices.

He was the son of a Welsh sea-captain, and a nephew of

Francis Lewis, one of the signers of the Declaration of In-

dependence. He was 'several times married, and has a son,

Archelaus, now living in Falmouth. Mr. Lewis was born at

Berwick, Me., and came to Saccarappa at the age of twenty-

one. He was familiarly known as " 'Squire Lewis.'' He
died Jan. 21, 1834, aged eighty-one years.

Thomas Haskell was an early settler of the town. He
came from Gloucester, Mass., to Falmouth Neck in 1726,

being then thirty-seven years old. He was bora in 1689,

He had in all ten children, some of whom were born before

he came here. Among his children born here were William,

Sarah, John, and Anna. At the time of his death, Feb.

10, 1785, in his ninety-seventh year, he had 79 grandchil-

dren and 58 great-grandchildren. He was dismissed from

the First Church about 1743 to help form the church at

New Marblehead (now Windham), having removed to the

vicinity, though he still lived within the limits of the First

Parish.

The Falmouth proprietors laid out to him 33 acres of

land, on the back line of Joseph Conant's 47 acres, on the

northerly side of the Presumpscot below Cumberland Mills,

July 12, 1738. He had a grist-mill at Saccarappa, on the

northeast side of the river, one-quarter part of which he

conveyed to Solomon Haskell, March 3, 1758.
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Benjamin Haskell deeded to Ebenezer Mayo, April 1,

1769, 30 acres of land laid out by Thomas Haskell, June

12, 1738. Solomon and Benjamin Haskell were brothei-s.

John Haskell was a son of Thomas. His father conveyed

to him one-fourth of the grist-mill March 4, 1758 -, he sold

it to Benjamin Haskell and purchased the land of the latter

in Grorham.

Thomas Haskell bought of Joseph Conant his house on

the northeast side of the river at Saccarappa June 10, 1740.

Solomon and Benjamin Haskell purchased of Thomas and

Hannah Flucker 100 acres at Saccarappa, on the south

side of the river, July 14, 1768. This deed was to dis-

charge a mortgage given to Samuel Waldo, assignee of

John Tyngi to whom this tract was first laid out.

Daniel Grodfrej owned considerable land in the neigh-

borhood of Saccarappa at an early time, as the proprietors'

records show. There was laid out to him, Deo. 4, 1730, 30

acres above Saccarappa Falls; Sept. 26, 1732, 70 acres

adjoining the above; Nov. 24, 1738, 1 acre for house-lot,

on the comer of 30 acres ; Nov. 28, 1738, 3 acres on 30-

acre lot ; Dec. 27, 1738, 4 acres below the above, and a

grant in 1738 of 48 acres somewhere in that vicinity. The

southerly corner of the 70 acres laid out to Godfrey in 1732,

including 12 acre3,'was sold to G-eorge Johnson, Jr., by the

proprietors in 1775.

In 1802, Edmund March kept a hotel at Saccarappa, and

Eiias Merrill kept a store. Mr. March was a descendant

of Peltiah March, bom in Amesbury, Mass., April 7, 1741,

and who bought a house and lot in Portland of John Proctor,

Dec. 1, 1772. He inarried for his second wife Widow Mary

Brackett, daughter of Joseph Fabyan, of Scarborough. He
was one of the Committee of Safety in Falmouth, and died

in 1813. By his first vrife he had eleven children, of

whom the oldest was Edmund, who married a Woodbury.

There was another Edmund, the son of John, and grand-

son of Peltiah, but whether it was the first or the second

Edmund who kept the hotel at Saccarappa we have no

means of knowing. The descendants of this family were

numerous, and several of them have occupied prominent

positions.

Samuel Peabody lived on the Almon Hanscom farm in

Gorham, and was a brother of the wives of David Webb

and Daniel Conant, Sr. Joseph Peabody, who was formerly

a distinguished merchant in Salem, lived at Saccarappa (in

what business we are not informed), but he removed from

there in 1785. Joseph and Samuel were sons of Francis

Peabody.

Daniel Dole was an early settler. He married Sarah, a

daughter of Moses Pearson. He was probably a brother

of Deacon Richard Dole, of Windham. Daniel Dole, and

Sarah, his wife, in a deed bearing date August 8, 1780,

conveyed land at Saccarappa to Archelaus Lewis. It is

described as " on the northerly side of the road that leads

from Falmouth to Gorham, and in the northerly side line

of one hundred acres of land laid out to John Tyng and

now in possession of Solomon Haskell * ' ' the same

divided to me, the said Sarah, from my late father, Moses

Pearson, Esq." Lewis deeded one-half the above to Wil-

liam Conant, Oct. 12, 1803, the other half belonging

already to Daniel Conant.

49

Among the early settlers of the town were Joseph and

Benjamin Quinby and their families. Joseph Quinby was

a shipwright by occupation, and came to Portland previous

to 1740, in which year he married Mary, daughter of Capt.

Haskell. At the time of his death ho owned a house and

lot on Middle Street, in Portland, a pew in the First Parish

church, 25 acres adjoining the Tate place in Stroudwater, a

quantity of land at Ammoncongan (Cumberland Mills), and

a privilege for a grist-mill, on the northeast side of the

Presumpscot River, at Saccarappa, on which a mill then

stood, " called Haskell's mill." Captain Haskell had died

in 1776,* and probably left this mill property to his daugh-

ter, Mrs. Quinby. On the 5th of February, 1791, all this

property of " the late Joseph Quinby" was divided be-

tween bis widow, his son John, and three daughters, who

were then living. Two of his sons, Thomas and Levi, were

deceased. John was the only remaining one. His daughters

then living were Rebecca Peirce, a widow ; Mary, the wife

of William Slemmons; and Eunice, the wife of William

Webb, of Portland.f

Thomas Quinby, of Stroudwater, is a son of Moses

Quinby, who was probably a son of John, the surviving

son of Joseph, in 1791. If so, he is the great-grandson of

the original proprietor in Falmouth. There are several

families of Quinbys now living at Saccarappa, prominent

among whom is Capt. Isaac F. Quinby. He is a descend-

ant, probably great-grandson, of Benjamin Quinby, who

came from Sowersworth, N. H., as early as 1779, and

started clothing-works on the island at Saccarappa, being a

ftiUer and clothier by occupation. We find this record:

" May 6, 1779, Benjamin Quinby and Elenor Starbird were

united in marriage by William Gorham." We find the

death of Benjamin Quinby recorded Nov. 6, 1810, at the

age of sixty-four. If this was the Benjamin the clothier,

at Saccarappa, he was born in 1746.

HONOEABLE ilENTION.

Mr. Gould, in his lecture, has mentioned the names of

Henry B. Smith, LL.D., the eminent scholar and man of

letters; Paul Akers, the gifled artist; and Anna Louisa

Cary, the singer, as former distinguished residents of West-

brook and Deering. He has also spoken of " Esquire

Archelaus Lewis, deacon of the old church in Parson

Browne's day, a leading man of the town, who has had

scores of children named in his honor;" and the other

deacon, James Bailey, father of Mr. Alexander Bailey, "so

well known as the oldest and smartest man for his age" in

the town. He does not forget the Warrens, of Saccarappa

;

John and Nathaniel, the enterprising manufacturers; nor

those who preceded them as leading lumbermen,—Joshua

Webb and Noah Nason. Benjamin Quinby, also of Sac-

carappa, and William Valentine, are mentioned among the

active citizens; and " Bryce M. Edwards, who lived and

died an honored and respected man. Many a young man

in this region has found in this honest trader a true friend,

both in his counsels and by his helping hand."

At Stroudwater the old block-house was built to protect

the people against the Indians. This also is where " the

• Smith's Journal.

f Records of Deeds, toI. 18, p. 58.
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big bam was built, whose timbers were bo near together that

old Mr. Broad could not squeeze through between them.

Here is where Admiral Tate lived. Whether he actually

loaded a swivel to shoot a tramp, and killed his mother

(as the legend has it), we cannot say. At any rate, we

know that here lived the Tate family, honored by all."

Near Stroudwater was the old Broad place, with its big

tree, well remembered by many as the scene of sport ; and

joat beyond, " about where the Reform School now stands,

lived the Lobdells ; and farther eastward the Seals. Capt.

Thomas Seal is remembered as commander of the largest

ship which in those days sailed out of Portland,—the ship

' Eunice.' There lived the Doles, and Capt. John and

Moses Quinby."

Proceeding eastward, we come to the place known as the

Brewer House. 'Squire Pepperell Frost built his house

here. And farther west we come to the residence of Capt.-

John Jones, now called the Fowler place. At the comer

of the road is Parson Bradley's, and Jeremiah Biggs lived

where the Chenerys now reside. Across the road lived

Capt. Isaac Mason.
*

Mr. Charles Bartlett once built large ships at the old

wharf now rotting away at Stroudwater. Old Dr. Jacob

Hunt once harnessed his horse here to answer calls by day

and by night for the whole region of country around. At
this old village there was formerly a vast amount of trade.

Teams would come down from the country loaded with farm

produce and cooperage to be loaded at the old wharf, and

the teams went back.loaded with West India goods and rum.

Beyond Stroudwater lived the Johnsons, Slemons, and

Porterfields, all famous in their day in town and parish af-

fairs. Near the present site of the Marine Hospital, at the

eastern edge of Deering, there was once a block-house for

protection against the Indians, who made much trouble by

continual skirmishing and fighting across the Presumpscot

River, particularly at the falls near the mouth. There was

another block-house at Stroudwater, at the top of the hill

on the north bank of the Capisic stream, where now stands

a large elm beside the main road as you go to the Reform

School. The positions of these two wooden forts were com-

manding, and the custom was for the infirm or the women to

keep a lookout for the Indians while the men were at work.

The firing of a gun was the signal of danger. Sometimes,

when the men were to be away for a whole day, the women

and children and the old people would spend the day in

these block-houses.

The estate of Capt. James Deering, for whom the town

of Deering was named, was once the old Brackett farm,

where, in a hollow on the edge of the oaks, occurred the

fight with the Indians on the 11th of August, 1676,—one

hundred years before the Revolution. Nathaniel Mitten, a

brother of Brackett's wife, was killed in cold blood. Brack-

ett and his wife, and five children, and negro servant, were

taken captive. The Indians proceeded round Back Cove to

the Presumpscot River, where they killed Robert Corbin,

Humphrey Durham, and Benjamin Atwell. They then

entered the settlement on the Neck, and shot John Munjoy

and Isaac Wakely. Another party shot Thomas Brackett,

a son of Anthony, and took his wife and children captive.

There was a garrison on Munjoy Hill, to which many fled

after the work of slaughter began, but feeling unsafe there

they retired to Bang's Island, where they were secure from

further attacks. Thirty-four persons were killed and taken

captive.

David Winslow, the Friend, who built the lai^e house

near Deering Bridge, was a justice and a highly-esteemed

citizen.

The Woodfords have left a memorial of their character and

enterprise in the village which they founded. Ebenezer D.

Woodford was for many years an enterprising manufacturer

of combs and other wares. He built up the Corners which

bears his name in its interests, and wa? an active and useiiil

citizen, a man of zealous care for the interests of education

and religion, and noted for his beneficence towards many

who were dependent upon him. Samuel Jordan, Esq., was

latterly associated with him in business relations.

Mr. Jordan's house is on the site of Parson Browne's

bam. Parson Browne sold a large tract of land (a hun-

dred acres or so), extending from the Brighton woods to

the shore, or near it, to Chandler Rackleff for $2200.

The Stevens family were the settlers upon the plains

which bear their name. The first was Capt. Isaac Stevens,

who kept the early hotel ; then Zachariah B. Stevens, Esq.,

and then his son, Samuel B. Stevens. These are among

the best of the honored names in the town. Through the

different generations may be traced an honorable business

record, and a high-minded and gentlemanly bearing.

George Bishop* was an early resident at " Bishop's Cor-

ner," where also resided the Morrills,—Levi and Rufus,

—

who contributed in no small degree to the prosperity and

honor of the town, and for whom the " Corner" is named.

Beyond Morrill's Corner lived Silas Ester, a very sub-

stantial and worthy member of the Society of Friends.

Dr. Solomon Allen lived at the corner which bears his

name, and for many years performed a &ithful professional

service. In the upper edge of the town, near Duck Pond,

lived Mr. James Gowin, who was a gentleman of character

and influence in his day.

Mention may be made here of John B. Russwurm, the

son of a gentleman who owned a large tract of land in

Deering, running from Ocean Street to Morrill's Corner.

This man was a negro, who 'graduated with honor at Bow-

doin Collie. At one time he was editor 'of a paper in

New York. In 1829 he went to Liberia as a merchant;

he there established a paper, and for sixteen years was the

honored Governor of a colony at Cape Palmas, under ap-

pointment of the Maryland State Colonization Society. He
died June 17, 1851.

* This George Bishop was the mad who had charge of the small

box in the east porch of the old Bradley church—the box with a glass

front—that so many anxious yoaog men and maidens looked into on

a Sabbath morning or between meetings, and wondered when Mr.

Bishop would publish their intention of marriage. For be it known that

getting married in those days was much more of a solemn thing than

to step round to the parson's and in five minutes' time have that yoke
and cord put on that love ought to make light and easy to be worn.

Then the people had to know all about it, and although It might be no-

body's business, yet everybody was at liberty to discuss the matter for

two full weeks in advance. We can well understand how the subject

was discussed. The girls felt certain that the bride was not to make
much of a wife, and as for the man—why, of course, every girl had
refused him a dozen times. Good enough for him.
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CIVIL LIST.

SELECTMEN.
1815.—Randall Johnson, Joseph Valentino, Peter Lunt.

1816.—Joseph Valentine, Randall Johnson, Peter Lant.

ISIT.—Silas Ester, Luther Fitoh, Randall Johnson.

1318.—Lather Fitch, Silos Ester, Randall Johnson.

1819.—Silas Ester, Randall Johnson, Benjamin Quinby.

1820.—George Frost, Randall Johnson, Nath. Warren.

1821.—George Frost, Nath. Warren, William Siemens.

1822.—George Frost, William Siemens, Benjamin Quinby.

1823.—William Slemons, Benjamin Qninby, Z. B. Stevens.

1824.—William Slemons, Zach. B. Stevens, Benjamin Qninby.

1825.—Benjamin Qninby, William Slemons, Zaoh. B. Stevens.

1826.—William Slemons, Zach. B. Stevens, Benjamin Quinby.

1327.—Zach. B. Stevens, William Slemons, William Valentine.

1828.—George Frost, William Slemons, William Valentine.

1829.—Oliver Buckley, Charles Bartlett, Benjamin Quinby.

1830.—Beqjamin Quinby, Oliver Buckley, Charles Bartlett.

1831.—Charles Bartlett, Benjamin Quinby, Oliver Buckley.

1832.—George Bishop, Isaac Mason, Benjamin- Quinby.

1833.—George Bishop, Isaac Mason, Charles Pratt.

1334.—George Bishop, Benjamin Quinby, Isaac Mason.

1335.—Henry C. Babb, Cyrus Cummings, Isaac Mason.

1336.—Benjamin Quinby, Samuel Blake, Isaac Mason.

1337.—Isaac Walker, Samuel Blake, Isaac Mason.

1833.—Isaac Walker, George Bishop, Isaac Mason.

1839.—William Roberts, Rufus Morrill, Isaac Mason.

1840.—William Roberts, Rufus Morrill, Isaac Johnson,

1341.—William Roberts, Joseph Cox, Isaac Johnson.

1842.—H. S. Babb, Rufus Morrill, Isaac Mason.

1843.—H. S. Babb, Rufus Morrill, Isaac Morrill.

1844.—Moses Hall, James Johnson, Isaac G. Walker.

1845.—Moses Hall, George Libby, Isaac G. Walker.

1846.—Benjamin Gordan, George Libby, Isaac G. Walker.

1347.—Aaron Quinby, George Libby, Cyrus Cummings.

1348-49.—Aaron Quimby, George Libby, Walter Goodrich.

1850.—Gerry Cook, George Libby, Leander Valentine.

1851.—James Johnson, Lewis Hardy, Leander Valentine.

1852.—John Read, Solomon Conant, George Libby.

1353-54.—John Read, Solomon Conant, Daniel Fowler.

1855.—Samuel North, William Kimball, John Haskell.

1856.—William Coz, Joseph Moulton, John Haskell.

1857.—William Cox, Joseph Moulton, George Slemons.

1858-59.—Rufus King, Charles Cobb, James Babb.

1860.—H. B. Walker, Jonas Raymond, Edwin Payson.

1861-62.—George Johnson, Joseph Haws, Solomon L. Libby.

1863-66.—Jonas Raymond, Henry B. Boody, Charles Stevens.

1867-68.—George C. Codman, Daniel Dole, William Penuell.

1869.—H. B. Walker, Jonas Raymond, Freeman Porter.

1870.—H. B. Walker, Jonas Raymond, John R. Sawyer.

1871.—H. B. Walker, J. Cloadman, James Babb.

1872.—H. B. Walker,* James Fennell, George W. Harmond.

1873.- H. B. Walker, J. Pennell, G. W. Harmon, J. L. Best, J. F. Bean.

1374.—Alonzo Libby, W. W. Lamb, Jason Leighton.

1875.—Clement P. Maxwell, Henry Walker, John F. Bean.

1876.—W. M. Neal, Clement Maxwell, Charles E. Boody.

1877.—Alonzo Libby, Stephen Caldwell, C. E. Boody.

1873.—H. B. (Talker, Dwinal Pride, William Gilmore.

1879.—Henry B. Walker, Daniel Pride, William Gilmore.

TOWN CLERKS.

Alpheos Shaw, 1815; George Bishop, 1816-38; John C. Blake, 1338;

George Bishop, 1839-42 ; Aaron Quinby, 1842-44; George Blake,

1844-46; Aaron Quinby, 1846-48; W. S. Chadboume, 1848-51;

George Bishop, 1851-55; Benjamin Freeman, 1855-58; H. .7.

Bradbury, 1358-61; William L. Pennell, 1861-63; Fabius M.

Ray,1363-67; George CT Codman, 1868; Blbridge Huston, 1869
;

Rufus M. Pinkham, 1870; James M. Webb, 1371-79.

WATER-POWER AND MANUFACTURES.

The water-power of Westbrook affords greater manufac-

turing facilities than are to be found in any other portion

* In connection with others, George Warren, Samuel Raymond.

of Cumberland County. The Presumpscot River, fed by

its 45 lakes and ponds, whose aggregate surface is about

100 square miles, is twenty-two miles in length from Sebago

Lake to tide-water. The estimated volume of water dis-

charged by this river is 20,400,000,000 cubic feet per

year. The volume employed at Cumberland Mills, esti-

mated from the statement of the superintendent, George

W. Hammond, Esq., is about 50,000 cubic feet per minute.

This run, continued throughout the working-days of the

year, for ten hours a day, would carry off about 9.5 billion

cubic feet. The water of this river, naturally remarkably

uniform in its flow, is controlled by artificial means, so that

for the practical purposes of extensive manufacturing it is

constant throughout the year. There is a dam eight feet

high at the outlet of Sebago Lake, by which a head of four

feet is now commanded over the whole surface. It is capable

of being raised four feet more without incurring more than

trifling damage for flowage. The capacity of this immense

and constant flow of water for hydraulic purposes is thus

estimated

:

" A head of six feet, giving a volume of 8,363,520,000

cubic feet, would supply 44,600 cubic feet per minute for

the ordinary working hours of the year. This, which in-

cludes the storage alone, would yield, on a fall of twenty feet,

as at Cumberland Mills, a gross power of 1 688 horse for

the time specified. It would yield, in its fall of 247 feet

to the tide, a gross power of 20,846 -horse, 833,840 spin-

dles throughout the year. To this requires to be added

the power due to the natural low-run volume of the river,

to arrive at the constant aggregate of its manufacturing

power from Sebago Lake to the sea. ... Of the 20,000

to 30,000 horse-power available upon this river, and unsur-

passed in all respects, but a small portion is yet in use.

The absolute immunity of the power from dearth or freshet,

the superiority of the natural sites for improvement, the

proximity to market, conspire to give this river unusual

attractions to the manufacturer."f

There are three important water-powers in use on the

Presumpscot River, which have built up around them two

thriving villages: one at Cumberland Mills village, five

miles from Portland, on the Portland and Rochester Rail-

road, and two in the village of Saccarappa, six miles from

Portland, on the same railroad.

CUSIBEKLAND MILLS.

The Cumberland Mills power has a fall of 20 feet, con-

taining 14 mill-powers, or 2013 horse-powers, of which

about one-half is now in use in the manufacture of paper.

The mean velocity of the stream is 1.52 feet per second,

or 18} inches, taken from five observations; the mean depth

of the stream, taken five hundred feet above the falls, is 3.31

feet, the widtji of the stream being one hundred and seventy-

six feet.

" The mills are owned by S. D. Warren, Esq., and are

worked the whole year. They give employment to 125

men and 100 women, and produce an annual manufacture

of over 81,000,000. The improvement of the power has

increased the population and wealth of the village to a

very large extent, there being from 1854 to 1867 an in-

j" Water-power of Maine.
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crease of ' resident families from 16 to 66, and of dwelling-

honses for the same period from 16 to 48. Besides the

extensive paper-mill of S. D. Warren & Co., there are the

following manufacturers and tradesmen: J. 0. Harmon,
boots and shoes ; George W. Brown, razor-strops ; W. H.
P. Files, painter ; E. R. Howard, carpenter; physician, Dr.

J. L. Horr.

SACCARAPPA.
The upper power at the village of Saccarappa has a fall

of 12 feet, and the lower power of 19 feet. These powers
contain, respectively, 13 and 8 mill-powers, making a total

of 21 mill-powers, of which number 13 are now in use.

The cross-section of the upper M is about 10 feet, and
that of the lower 8 feet, taken 15 feet above the falls.

The mills at these falls are those of the Westbrook
Manufacturing Company, Prank Haskell, agent, engaged

in the production of cottons and duck, employing 75 men,
175 women, and producing $300,600 worth of goods

annually ; W. K. Dana, manufacturer of cotton yam, em-
ploying 20 men and 40 women, and producing $100,000
worth annually; Westbrook Ponndiy Company, employ-

ing 10 men, and producing annually $20,000 worth of

work ; Enowlton Brothers, machine-shop, annual product

$4000; J. W. Warren, cotton-warps, $50,000; Harkell

Silk Company, machine-twist and sewing-silk, $75,000;
George E. Davis, leather-board ; S. H. List, N. Weston &
Co., flour- and grist-mills. Li addition to these the follow-

ing are manufacturers and tradesmen: Poster & Brown,

machinery ; John Adams, carriages ; J. W. Libby, C. S.

Ritchie, harness ; P. B. Wiley, B. D. Hanson, C. E. Lewis,

boots and shoes ; Lord, Haskell, Neal & Co., moccasins

;

Dana A. Brackett, tailor; James Fennell, Temple H.

Snow, tinware; Loudon, Hanson & Co., S. E. McLellaa

& Co., smiths; J. P. Ayer, brickmaker; Presumpscot

MiDs Dye-House, dyers ; Warren & Towle, wooden boxes.

Saccarappa has a brass band and an excellent circulating

library ; C. E. Paine, librarian.

Phyticians.—S. E. Boot, A. H. Burroughs, C. W. Bailey,

and N. R. Martin.

Lawyer.—Pabius M. Ray, Esq.

Hold.—Presumpscot House, Mrs. E. M. Pratt.

Postmasters.—J. M. Webb, Saccarappa; D. P. Horr,

Cumberland Mills ; Albert Dingley, Duck Pond.

ASSOCIATIONS.

Masons.—Saccarappa Temple, Wednesday of week of

ftill moon ; Eayle Royal Arch Chapter, Monday of week

of full moon.

Independent Oedee of Odd-Pellows, Pridays;

Cwmminffs Encampment, second and fourth Tuesdays.

Refoeh Clitb, S. H. Mayberry, President, meets Pri-

days, Cumberland Mills.

Knights of Pythias.—Presumpscot Valley, No. 4,

meets Thursdays, Pride's Comer.

Pateons of Husbandet.— Westbrook, No. 87, D. H.

Gowen, Master.

Independent Oedee of (Jood Templaes.— Pre-

sumpscot River, meets Tuesdays, Duck Pond. Union,

meets Pridays.

Patrons of Husbandry, H. H. B. Hawes, Master.

DUCK POND.

This pond is over 3 square miles in extent, and about

20 in average depth. It is 171 feet above tide, and is sup-

plied chiefly from small ponds and springs. The stream

which forms its outlet is 10 miles in length from the pond

to Pride's Bridge, where it joins the Presumpscot, and has

a fall in this distance of 161 feet. The average width of

the stream is about 40 feet.

At the outlet of the pond there is an improved water-

power of 50 horse upon a fall of 17 feet, which is owned

by the Cumberland Bone Manufacturing Company, and

employed in the manufacture of bone manure and of pails

and tubs. This establishment gives employment to 25

men, and produces in the manufacture of bone manure

about ^25,000 annually, and in that of pails and tubs

about $20,000. The latter is known as the Portland

Woodenware Company, C. P. Maxwell, Superintendent.

They also deal in lumber of all kinds, of which Kendall

& Whitney, of Portland, are agents. Thayer & Elder

have a steam-mill ; Edward P. Thayer, Joseph Elder, and

William Elder, dealers in shook and long and short lumber.

W. H. Jordan and Albert Dingley & Co. have stores of

general merchandise at this place. There are a post-office,

a Good Templars' lodge, and a lodge of Patrons of Hus-

bandry.

SCHOOLS.

westbeook seminaey.

" The Westbrook Seminary had its birth in a resolution

passed by the Kennebec Association of Universalists, in its

annual session at Greene, Sept. 29, 1830."

—

Rev. Wm. A.

Drew, in Gospel Banner of April, 1870.

" This convention provided for a meeting at Westbrook,

to take into consideration the matter of a classical school or

seminary, ' digest a plan for the same,' and taking measures

for accomplishing the object. Revs. W. A. Drew, of Au-
gusta ; S. Brimblecom, of Norridgewock ; W. I. Reese, of

Portland ; Hons. C. Holland, of Canton ; J. Dunn, Jr., of

Poland ; S. Grardiner, of Bowdoinham ; Elisha Harding, of

Union; Maj. J. Russ, of Parmington ; Dr. A. Pierce,

of Greene ; (Jens. Thomas Todd, of Portland, and J. Her-

rick, of Hampden, were appointed to address the public upon

the subject. There was considerable discussion in this con-

vention as to location. Waterville, Winthrop, and West-

brook were named ; but finally, as there was no similar in-

stitution in New England (or indeed, as far as known, in

the world), it was thought to make the school as accessible

as might be to Massachusetts and New Hampshire, and it

was established at Westbrook. According to appointment,

a meeting was holden at Stevens' Plains, Oct. 27, 1830.

Daniel Reed, of Lewistown, was chosen president, and

Daniel Winslow, of Portland, secretary. It was voted to

adopt a constitution, and petition the next L^islature for

an act of incorporation. This was obtained, and the West-

brook Seminary incorporated, and the following trustees

appointed : J. C. Churchill, P. O. J. Smith, Daniel Wins-

low, Nathan Nutter, William Slemmons, Moses Quinby,

Josiah Dunn, W. A. Drew, D. MoCobb, G. W. Tinker,

Alfred Pierce. These, with others allowed by the charter,

met the following May, and oi^nized as follows : Hon. J.
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HON. SAMUEL JORDAN.

Hon. Samuel Jordan was born in the town of Eaynaond

(nowCasco), Cumberland Co., Me., Jane 6, 1805. He descends,

the sixth generation, from the Rev. Robert Jordan , of the Eng-

lish Episcopal Church, who emigrated from England about the

year 1640, and settled at Richmond's Island, Cape Elizabeth,

and married Sarah, the only daugh'ter of Capt. John "Winter,

who had occupied the island for fur-trading with the Indians.

Of this union there were six sons, from whom the Jordans

in this country have chiefly descended.

The Rev. Robert Jordan was persecuted by the Puritans of

Massachusetts, driven away by the Indians, and died in Ports-

mouth, N. H., in 1679. His third son, Dominicus, married

Hannah Tristram, of Saco, by whom he had three sons and

three daughters. He settled and lived in Spurwink.

Dominicus, his eldest son, married Catharine Maxwell

;

lived for a time at Cape Elizabeth ; then, about 1774, moved

to Raymond. Their children were "William, Ezekiel, Na-

thaniel, Hannah, Mary, Elizabeth, and Martha. He died

at Raymond, March 18, 1823 ; his wife, at the same place,

Sept. 26, 1826.

His eldest son, "William Jordan, married Anna Leach, and

settled, lived, and died in the northern part of Raymond.

Their children were Mark, Catharine, Peggy, Dominicus,

"William, Peter, Martha, Asa, Samuel, Elizabeth, and Asa

(2d), all deceased except Samuel Jordan, the subject of this

sketch.

Upon the death of his father, at the age of fifteen, he came

to the town of Westbrook (now Deering), where for two years

he was in the employ of Elisha North. The next two years

were spent at Hebron Academy, where he pursued a course of

study with a view of entering "West Point. His design in

this respect was given up in deference to the wishes of his

mother. He then came to Woodford's Corners, and became

agent for the sale of combs manufactured by E. D. "Wood-

ford. The agency extended through the New England States

and the Provinces, and as far south as Baltimore, Md. In

1832 entered into partnership with his employer, under the

firm- name of "Woodford & Jordan. This partnership continued

about six years, having in the mean time added to their busi-

ngs the manufacture of tinware. 'Upon the dissolution of this

partnership Mr. Jordan continued in the manufacture of tin-

ware with Gerry Cook, firm-name Cook & Jordan. These

partnerships were both successful. The latter continued three

years. Mr. Jordan then purchased the farm formerly owned

by Capt. Thomas Seal, his father-in-law, situated in Deering,

and has since devoted his attention principally to its manage-

ment. He was president of the "Westbrook Bank for six years.

Mr. Jordan has been one of the leaders in his locality of

the Democratic party. He has filled the following offices :

selectman, one year; representative in the Legislature in

1848-49
; trustee of the Westbrook Seminary a number of

years ; director in the Atlantic and St. Lawrence Railroad

(now Grand Trunk) ; and postmaster of Portland from 1857

to 1861.

Mr. Jordan was married, Nov. 7, 1832, to Eunice Quinby

Seal, daughter of Capt. Thomas and Ann (Frost) Seal. Mrs.

Jordan was bom in Westbrook, Feb. 4, 1808. Their children

are as follows : Dominicus, born Aug. 17,1838, died an infant;

Emily -F., born July 17, 1836, living at home ; Horace M.,

born Dec. 10, 1837, journalist, connected with the Boston

Traveler; Jane Elizabeth, bom Jan. 17, 1840, wife of J. W.
Thompson, of Deering ; Arthur W., born Jan. 26, 1842, mar-

ried Helen A. Warren, of Deering; Henry I., born Jan. 31,

1844, physician and surgeon, died Oct. 16, 1870, in Stillwater,

Minn. ; Edward C, born March 17, 1846, civil engineer, mar-

ried Eliza P. Thomas, daughter of Hofi. W. W. Thomas, of

Portland (his wife died March 4, 1876); Isabella F., born

Aug. 4, 1849, wife of F. W. Sewall, cashier of First National

Bank, Wiscasset, Me. Mrs. Jordan died May 28, 1863.

It is not too much to say of Mr. Jordan that few men still

living have been more closely identified with all interests of

his adopted town. He took an active part and was largely

instrumental in securing the division of the town. He ha«

contributed liberally of his means towards the building and

support of its churches and other public institutions. A kind

husband, a devoted father, an obliging neighbor, and a stead-

fast friend, Mr. Jordan's declining years are deservedly

brightened by the loving attention and devoted aft'ection of

his children, and the good-will and respect of the entire com-

munity in which he has passed a busy life.
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JAMES M. BUZZ EM., M.D.

James JI. Buzzell, M.D. , was the seventh son of the Rev.

John Buzzell, of Parsonfleld, Jle., and was born in that town

Nov. 4, 1812; and, as his father was a firm friend and sup-

porter of President Madison's administration, his birth occur-

ring about the time of his re-electiun, he was honored by being

named after this great patriot and statesman. Receiving an

academical education as preparatory to the study of the medical

profession, this being the profession ofhiscboice,hewas favored

with the opportunity of commencing his studies under the pre-

ceptorship of the family physician, who was one of the most

scientific, skillful, and deservedly popular surgeons in New
England, the Hon. Moses Sweat, M.D., and who afforded him

every facility and aid to qualify him for the practice of the

profession. His first course of medical lectures was at the

Bowdoin Medical College, Brunswick, Me., in 1834.

Prof. R. D. Mussey, M.D., who lectured at the Bowdoin

College at thia^time, gave Dr. Buzzell a kind invitation to

spend the summer of 1835 at Hanover, N. H., and attend liis

private lectures upon surgery, which invitation was gladly

accepted aa Dr. Buzzell desired to avail himself of every op-

portunity and means to qualify himself for the practice of

surgery. While under Prof. Mussey's instruction. Dr. Buz-

zell carved a model of the sphenoid bone five times the natu-

ral size, and which Prof. Mussey pronounced to be, before

the class, a perfect model.

Dr. Buzzell's second course of lectures was at Hanover, in

the fall of 1835, where he was dissector and assistant in all

the operations before the class. He attended his third course

of medical lectures at Hanover, and graduated in the fall of

1836.

His practice has been confined, with the exception of four

years at Springfield , Mass. , where he had the charge of a private

surgical hospital, and six years spent in Philadelphia, in con-

nection with two colleges as professor of surgery, to the

counties of Cumberland and York, in Limerick and Gorliam,

etc. He represented the classed towns of Limerick, Cornish,

and Newfield in the Maine Legislature in 1851-52,—the session

when the original Maine Liquor Law was enacted; was on

the special committee to whom it was referred, and did

what he could in favor of its passage and to sustain it against

;ill opiKisition. He also represented the town of Gorliam in

180U

Dr. liuz:^ell edited the Maine Free-Will Baptist Rejmsiicry

eight years, and the Watch Tower two years, wliicli wcie iii

the iiilcrest of what nre now called General Kniitists in thi^

State.

That ne Imd his full share of surgical jirnclice will iiii|i(':ii-

from the 1'iirt tliat he has amputated the le<; seventeen times,

—twelve times above the knee,—the arm and forearm tine,

times, the iirni at the shoulder-joint twice, amputated th

female brea.st thirty-seven times, removed the parotid gluml.

operated for itone in the bladder, removed an o\'arian tiniiot

weighing flfty-si.'c pounds, made a resection of the thigli-bmi

for non-unioti of fracture, the first time it was performed ii:

New England, etc.

Entertnining always a kind and liberal spirit towards all

medical patliies, and ready to meet them cordially as fellow-

servants of the people in the treatLnent of disease, and be-

lieving that tlie several systems of medical treatment hav"

added essentially to the fund of medical knowledge, and man-

ifestly modified what is usually called the regular system ni

treatment, he regarded as the right and province of the honest

seeker after medical truth to " prove all things and hold fast

to that which i.s good,'" and to practice medicine according {•

the true principles ot physiology and good common sense. En-

tertaining these liberal views, when the Eclectic Medical Col-

lege of Massachusetts was chartered Dr. Buzzell accepted the

chair of anatomy and .surgery in that institution. He nis >

received an appointment to the chair of surgery in the Eclecti.

Medical College ot I'ennsylvania, and while he resided i i

Philadelphia he filled the chair of surgery in the Pennsyl-

vania Medical University, the institution that first opened it>

doors for the education of female students.

Dr. Buzzell is now Ijciitcd at Morrill's Corners, Deerints

where he expects to spend the lemainder of his days, and !•,

the practice of his profession as far as he is able. And al-

though he is now in his sixty-seventh year, he is still health,-

and vigorous, having a firm uei ve and steady hand, and read;,

to perform any surgical opcrnti-jn that may be required ir.

his practice.
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C. Churchill, President ; Daniel Winslow, Vice-President

and Secretary ; Hon. F. 0. J. Smith, Treasurer. The
Universalist convention, which met in June, at Farmington

Falls, indorsed the plan and purpose, and appointed Rev.

Messrs. Drew and Brimblecom to address ' our religious

public' on the subject. Mr. Brimblecom was at that time

in charge of the parish at Stevens' Plains, and was one ofthe

most earnest workers in collecting funds and pushing the

matters ofthe seminary towards completion. He was at that

time associate editor of the Christian Pilot, and mentions,

in the issue of May 23, 1833, ' that the building is now in

progress.' In the spring of 1834, ' a brick building, 37 by

70, two stories high, with a cnpola,' was erected on land

generously given by Z. B. Stevens and 0. Buckley, Esq.

;

cost of building, about $7000.

" The first term commenced June 9, 1834, with Rev.

Samuel Brimblecom, Principal ; Rev. Alvin Dinsmore, As-

sistant. Board was secured in private families in the

neighborhood, at $1.25 to 81.75 per week. Mr. Brimble-

com resigned in the fall of 1836. Between this time and

1839, Mr. Furbush had charge of the school a portion of

the time. In 1839, John K. True was chosen principal,

and remained until December, 1842 ; to him the following

principals succeeded : 1843, Moses B. Walker and George

W. True; 1844, E. P. Hines ; 1846, a. W. Bradford;

1849, Rev. L. L. Record; 1851, Mr. Nathaniel Hatch.

Rev. J. P. Weston came to the charge in March, 1853.

The school had been closed for several terms, and was in a

very low state. Mr. Weston gave it new life, and it began,

to show permanent strength.

" Chiefly through Mr. Weston's untiring efforts, money

was raised for building and furnishing Goddard Hall. He
resigned in the fall of 1859. From that time the school

was under the charge successively of Messrs. C. S. Fobes,

S. B. Rawson, and G. B. Ames, until Rev. 8. H. McCollis-

ter took charge in the spring of 1861. Under his care the

institution continued to prosper.

" Rev. J. C. Snow was called in 1869, and under his

wise and energetic administration the school was established

upon its present basis. Hersey Hall and the new dining-

hall were built, new steam apparatus put in, and other im-

provements made, to the total amount of $40,000. Mr.

William A. Post came in 1872, and administered affairs

ably until his resignation, in the fall of 1873.

" G. M. Bodge, A.M., was called to take charge in the

spring of 1874, and the school greatly prospered under his

care." He continued to occupy the position four years.

In August, 1878, Rev. J. P. Weston, D.D., was called

to take charge of the school the second time. He is a

man eminently fitted to give dignity, character, and success

to such an institution.

Dr. Weston was born in Bristol, Maine, July 14, 1815,

and graduated at Bowdoin College, in the class of 1840.

He entered the ministry at Gardiner, Me., in 1843. For

thirteen years—from 1859 to 1872—he was president of

Lombard University, at Galesburg, 111., which position he

resigned in 1872, and was called to take charge of Dean

Academy, at Franklin, Mass., where he remained till 1877,

and after a year's rest, at the urgent solicitation of the

trustees and his former students and patrons, he took charge

of Westbrook Seminary. The school already exhibits the

good effects of his superior management and ripe experience

as an educator.

" The institution provides two courses in the collegiate

department, and confers the degree of Laureate of Arts

upon all young ladies who successfully pass examination in

a classical course, and Laureate of Science in the scientific

course. In the academic department diplomas are granted

in two courses, English and college preparatory.

The following table gives the names of the schools in

Westbrook, the teachers, and the salaries paid per month for

the year ending March 1, 1879 :

Saco Street.—Annie Sawyer, $32.

iWatii Street.—Annie Sawyer, $32. High school : L. B. Shehan, S125

;

Miss TouDg, assistant, $125. Intermediate : George F. Johnson,

$40. Primary: Emma C. Pittee, $32; K. H. Hosmer, ?32i El-

len Winslow, assistant, $24.

^riice Street Jennie Pennell, $24.

Cumberland MilU.—Jennie Pennell, $24. Grammar : H. H. B. Hawes,

$40. Primary : Ida E. Griggs, $32.

Rochy Hin.—C\a.va, F. Woodman, S32.

North Street.—Emily F. Maxfleld, S40.

Duck Pond.—Hattie F. Waterman, $32.

Pride'e Corner.—A. D. Holmes, $40. High school : J. F. Keene, .<40.

Primary : Mrs. S. L. Chubbnck, $40 ; Nellie S. Pennell, *24.

REVENUE.

Raised for common schools $2500.00
" " high school 500.00

From State mill tax 1060.18
" " sohoolfund 663.47
" " for high schools 500.00
" town of Falmouth, order - 20.25
" " " Deering 52.58

$5296.48

EXPEXDITURES.

Summer term for teaching $1309.10

Fall " " " 1345.77

Winter " " " 1384.58

Fuel and incidentals 277.24

Kepairs, ten per cent, of school money 429.64

Amount overdrawn March 1, 1878 349.00

Balance in favor of schools, March 1, 1879 201.15

$5290.48

Whole number of scholars in town. 1053

Increase over last year IS

Whole number attending school in summer 548
" " " " fall 550
" " " " winter 557

Average " " " summer 456
" " " fall 464

" " " " winter 445

The superintending committee report that the schools of

the town during the past year have shown decisive im-

provement.

" Teachers have labored faithfully, and excited an interest

in pupils to progress which deserves our warmest praise.

The attendance compares favorably with previous years.

The average attendance for the three terms has been 455,

showing an increase over last year of 22.

" Believing that the scholars would be greatly benefited

by a change of reading-books, those in use having been in

our schools for more than fifleen years, after a careful ex-

amination we decided to adopt ' Monroe's Readers,' and

introduced them into all the lower schools at a trifling ex-

pense by exchanging the new books for the old ones. As

the ' Sixth Reader' of this series was used in our high

schools, we now have a uniformity of reading-books.

" Mr. Robins having resigned his position as teacher of
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the high school, we engaged Mr. L. B. Shehan. He was

assisted by Miss Yonng, both comiDg highly recommeDded,

have done good service and proved themselves competent

and efficient teachers.

' The high school at Pride's Comer has been in session

ten weeks this winter, nnder the taition of Mr. J. F. Keene.

The school, although small, has been exceedingly interest-

ing and the work accomplished satisfactory and pleasing.

" The school at the Dack Fond has been for several years

nnder the instruction of a female teacher. In the school

are several large scholars not sufficiently advanced to enter

the high school. We believed that the interest of the

school would be better promoted by employing a male

teacher. We placed Mr. A. D. Holmes, of Brunswick, in

charge. The wisdom of our decision is apparent in the

wholesome discipline and progress of the school.

" We are happy to report that the citiiens and parents

are becoming more deeply interested in the progress of our

schools, as manifested in all parte of the town." . . .

During the year " the outlay for repairs has been un-

usually large,—ten per cent, of the school money having

been devoted to that purpose. The school-rooms on Main

Street, Saccarappa, have been altered and improved, being

changed into one room, furnished with modem furniture

of the latest and most approved style, making it one of the

most pleasant and commodious school-rooms in town, with

accommodations for 112 scholars. The change made it

necessary to remove the intermediate school to Saco Street.

There is much need of more room in the village, as there

are not accommodations for more than two-thirds of the

scholars in this locality."

DEEEING.

The town of Deering was set off from Westbrook, and

incorporated by act of the L^slature, approved Feb. 16,

1871, to take effect March 21st following. The boun-

daries were defined by the act, as follows

:

" Commencing at the Presumpscot River, at the line of

the town of Falmouth ; thence up said river to the wes-

terly comer of the Hunt farm ; thence along the westerly

line of said farm to the Portland and Rochester Railroad

;

thence along the southeasterly line of the Larrabee &rm to

the Congin road ; thence, along the dividing line between

the said Larrabee farm and the widow Lamb's farm, to the

land of the heirs of Moses Quinby ; thence, along the east-

erly and southeriy line of the land of the heiis of Moses

Quinby, to the Stroudwater Road at the Canal bridge

;

thence by the Cumberland and Oxford Canal, westerly,

about ten rods to the line between the farm of the heirs of

the late Zebulon Trickey, and the lands of George Johnson

and Isaac Johnson ; thence by said last-described line

southwesterly to the easterly line of the Slemons farm,

being the dividing line between said Slemons farm and the

land of G^eorge Johnson, southeasterly about twenty rods

to the lands of W. D. Boothby ; thence southwesterly, by

the dividing line between said Boothby's land and the

Siemens farm, to the Cape Elizabeth town line."

These boundaries included a portion of the former town

of Westbrook considered equal to about two-thirds of its

value ; hence the law required the town of Deering to pay

two-thirds of all the debte and liabilities of the town of

Westbrook existing at the time of separation, or that

might occur from any pending lawsnito. A board of com-

missioners was provided for by the act, whose duty it was

to settle all questions arising out of the division, and in case

of any matter which they could not adjust, to bring it

before the commissioners of the county. They were suc-

cessful in settling all matters between the two towns in a

satisfactory manner, except some expenditures for roads

and bridges, which were settled by the county commis-

sioners. The town-house and ground, the poor-house and

farm, belonging to the town of Westbrook, and situated in

Deering, were purchased by the latter town.

TOWN OFFICERS.

The following have been town clerks of Deering:

Thomas J. Riggs, 1872; D. F. Small, 1873; Thomas J.

Riggs, 1874-79.

The treasurers have been J. S. Ricker, 1872 ; D. F.

Small, 1873 ; D. D. Chenery, 1874-78 ; George B. Leavitt,

1879.
SELECTUEX.

1872.—Andrew Hawes, David Torrey, Cyras Thnrlow.

1873.—Smith Barber, B. C. W. Wimlow, G. D. York.

1874.—Darid Torrey, Francis Porinton, Solomon Stuart.

1875-76.—David Torrey, Solomon Stuart, Jonathan Fogg.

1877.—John C. Pheniz, Oilman Q. Lane, Oeorge W. Johnson.

1878.—Oeorge H. Croclter, John C. Phenix, Solomon Stuart.

1879.—Solomon Stuart, Isaiah Elder, Charles Cobb.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

HENRY B. WALKER
was bom in Charlestown, Mass., Jan. 15, 1819. His father,

Edward S. Walker, was bom in Fryeburg, Me., in 1776.

Some time prior to 1800 he removed to Charlestown, Mass.,

where he married Peisis Phipps, and by whom he had nine

children, all bom in Charlestown. Henry B. was their eightb

child. His father was a brickmaker by trade. Both the

father and mother died in Charlestown, and are buried

there.

Heniy B. received hb education in the common school,

and at Dodge's Academy, at Charlestown. When eighteen

years of age he entered the navy as carpenter's yeoman.

After one year's service in that capacity, he became assist-

ant paymaster. His first service was on the ship-of-the-line

" Ohio," Commodore Isaac HuU, on the Mediterranean Sta-

tion. The next on the frigate " Congress," Commodore

Joseph Smith, on the Mediterranean and Brazil Stations.

In 1846, in company with Purser Edward Bissell, he sailed

from New York, as passenger, on the sloop-of-war "Boston"

for the purpose of joining the Gulf Squadron. The vessel

was wrecked on the island Eleuthera, one of the Bahama

Islands, Nov. 16, 1846. He subsequently joined the war-

ship " Potomac," belonging to the blockading squadron off

Vera Cruz. He left her at Pensacola in 1847, the last of

his naval service. During his naval experience he visited

all places of interest on the Mediterranean, also the Holy

Land. He retumed to Charlestown, and engaged in the
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provisioD business there two years. He married, April

22, 18-17, Mary A. Luot, daughter of George W. Luut, of

Westbrook, Me. In January, 1849, he sailed for California

via Cape Horn. Upon arrival at San Francisco, in com-

pany with eleven others, with a boat brought with him

from Massachusetts, he ytex\t to Stockton, one hundred and

twenty miles in the interior from San Francisco. Owing

to the illness of his wife, he returned to Massachusetts,

has since lived. In 1861 he made another trip to Cali-

fornia, and was absent two years, visiting Oregon, Wash-

ington, and Idaho Territories. He returned in March,

1863. Mr. Walker has followed farming and brick-making

during his residence in Westbrook.

In politics he is a Democrat. He has been chairman of

the board of selectmen eight years
;
justice of the peace

since 1873 ; town auditor two years, and has filled other

Photo, by LaiuBoo, Portlaud.

crossing Mexico on the return. Reached home Jan. 29,

1851. His wife died May 6, 1851.

On the 13th of June following he started for Califomii

by way of the Isthmus. Remaining there about two years,

he returned via Nicaragua, arriving in Charlestown August,

1853. He was again married, May 11, 1854, to Zelia A.

Lunt, sister of his first wife. Mrs. Walker was bom in

Westbrook, May 13, 1825. The same year he purchased

of his wife's father the farm, in Westbrook, upon which he

f'^a^^^

minor offices of trust in his town. Was candidate of his

party for representative in 1871.

By his first wife he had one child, who died in infancy.

By his present wife he has five children,—Calvin S., born

Sept. 28, 1855 ; Edward S., born Aug. 12, 1857 ; Henry

Percy, born Nov. 17, 1859; Charies B., born Jan. 6,

1864; and Ernest W., bom April 17, 1866. The two

latter were drowned in the Presnmpscot River, March 30,

1872.

CHARLES ROBERTS

was bora in the town of Westbrook (then Falmouth) Jan.

20, 1804, the eldest child of William and Betsey (Hatch)

Roberts. His grandfather, Benjamin Roberts, lived in the

town of Cape Elizabeth (then Falmouth), where his father

was born in 1774, and when the latter was a boy the family

moved to the town of Gorham. Both his grandfather and

father were ship-carpenters, and besides carrying on a farm,

worked at their trade. After marriage, his father, in 1805,

purchased a farm in Westbrook, on the Saco road, one mile

and a half south of the village of Saccarappa. In company

with Daniel Trickey he purchased timber lands in the town

of Sebago, and under the firm of Roberts & Trickey carried

on a lumber trade in connection with farming for many

years. His father died Oct. 24, 1868, aged ninety-three

years. Charles Roberts has always lived near the spot

where he was born. The house in which he still lives was

built by his father in 1816.

In early life he was much employed in driving team con-

nected with his father's lumber business. When but eight

years of age he drove a team to Portland. He worked eight

seasons after he was eighteen years old in his father's log-

ging swamp. His education was limited to the common

schools of Westbrook. He was married May 6, 1832, to
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Eleanor J. Chenery, daughter of Joseph and Rebecca

Cheneiy. Mrs. Roberta was bom April 26, 1810, in West-

brook. They have had seven children, viz. : Frances E.,

bom Feb. 20, 1833; wife of Randall J. Elder; they have

five children. Marrietta B., bora March 27, 1835 ; died

May 17, 1871. John, bom Oct. 21, 1837; married

Martha Roberts, danghter of Joshua D. Roberts ; four

children. Annie R., born Oct. 4, 1840 ; wife of George

A. Hunt, of Portland; four children. William, bora

March 29, 1843 ; living at home. Charles E., bora July

27, 1848; married Ella M. Whitney; two children.

Eddie, bom May 28, 1853 ; died Dec. 3, 1858.

With the exception of the time employed in lumbering,

as above named, Mr. Roberts has followed fiirming, and few

men in the town of Westbrook with better success. In

politics, Mr. Roberts was a Democrat up to the organisation

of the Republican party, since which time he has acted

with the latter. Though the life of a farmer is one of toil,

and in this respect Mr. Roberts has been no exception, yet,

inheriting a vigorous constitution, kept unimpaired by a

temperate life, few men can be found upon whom seventy-

five years sit more lightly.

A representation of their home, together with the por-

traits of Mr. and Mrs. Roberts, appear on another page of

this work.

JAMES PENNELL
was bora in the toiwn.of Gray, Cumberland Co., Me., July

4, 1818, the seventh child of Joseph and Elizabeth (Stone)

Pennell. (For a more extended account of the genealogy

of the family see biography of William H. Pennell, on

another page of this volume.)

At the age of fifteen James Pennell commenced to learn

the shoemaker's trade, of his brother, Dixey S. Pennell,

with whom he remained three years, attending school winters.

He worked thereafter at his trade for two years. In 1838

he opened a boot- and shoe-store in New Gloucester, which

he carried on for six years. He then moved to Saccarappa,

where for several years he engaged in the manufacture of

brick. For one year thereafter he traveled through Maine,

New Hampshire, and New York as agent for a patent carriage

spring. In 1849, for about two years, he engaged iu the

manufacture, at Saccarappa, of Yogel's patent loom harness

;

and for ten years thereafter, in company with Henry

Smith, G. & L. P. Warren, under the firm-name of Warren,

Pennell & Co., continued in the manufacture ofloom harness.

In this copartnership Mr. Pennell had the management of

the business. For the next twelve years he engaged with

G. & L. P. Warren in the manufacture of wire, at Sacca-

rappa. In April, 1875, purchased the store known as the

Brackett stand, in Saccarappa, where he now carries on the

stove and hardware trade.

In politics Mr. Pennell is Republican. Was county com-

missioner from 1866. to 1869; two years selectman; was

commissioner with Samuel T. Raymond, from the town of

Westbrook, in the settlement of the business of the town at

the time of setting off from it the town of Deering.

Mr. Pennell has been twice married. His first wife was

Mary A. Taylor, of New GMfccester, by whom he had four

children, all deceased. His second wife was Jane M.

Haskell, of Saccarappa. They have six children, viz.,

Frank H., Anna S., Jennie F., Maroia W., Bertha M., and

Mary E.

WILLIAM GILMOUR
was bora in Distan, near Sterling Castle, Scotland, July 25,

1839, the fourth child of James and Annie (Mithven)

Gilmour. The family emigrated to America in 1842, and

settled in Lowell, Mass., where, for seventeen years, his

father was master machinist in the Lowell Machine-Shop

Company. In 1859 the family moved to New York City,

where the father died, Nov. 4, 1869. His mother died in

Lowell, May 11, 1855. Mr. Gilmour received his educa-

tion in the public schools of Lowell. At the age of six-

teen he went before the mast on the whale-ship " Eshcol,"

and returned to Lowell after a thirteen months' voyage,

with $45 as his share of the profit. He then learned the

machinist trade of his fiither. At the age of twenty he

was foreman in the cotton-machinery department of the

Lowell Machine Company. In 1861 he enlisted as private

in the 1st New Hampshire Regiment for three months;

was detailed with others from the regiment for the defense

of Fort Constitution, off Portsmouth. He received an

honorable discharge at the end of his term of enlistment.

He was thereafter employed as machinist on government

work in New York City and Portland, and in the navy-

yard at Portsmouth. In 1867 he went to San Fi-ancisco,

Cal., where for one year he was employed in the Union

Iron-Works Company, and for three years thereafter had

charge of the construction-shops of the Central Pacific

Railroad at Sacramento. While at Portsmouth he volun-

teered as engineer on the war-ship " Agawam," sent in

pursuit of the steamer "Chesapeake," which had been

captured by the rebels. In 1871 settled at Cumberland

Mills, where for five years he engaged in general mer-

chandising. Since 1876 has dealt in real estate. He was

married Feb. 21, 1867, to Georgie S. Jack, daughter of

Edward and Sarah Jack. Mrs. Gilmour was bom in Port-

land, May 26, 1843. They have had three children, viz.:

Nellie F., bora Aug. 2, 1868, died Oct. 6, 1877 ; Alice

A., born May 8, 1871 ; Annie M., bora Sept. 29, 1872.

Mr. GUmour voted with the Republican party up to the

second nomination of Grant, when he cast his vot« for

Horace Greeley, since which time he has been identified

with the Democratic and Greenback parties. He was

elected by them in 1878 a school commissioner and one of

the selectmen of the town of Westbrook. The latter

position he still holds.

JAMES M. WEBB
was bora in the town of St. Alban's, Me., Dec. 14, 1835.

He lived with his grandparents until he was sixteen years

of age. His education was limited to attendance at the

common school of his native town, with two terms at the

St. Alban's Academy. After working for two years on a

farm for Isaac Pierce, at Somerset, Mass., and the same
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length of time in the carpet-factory of Moses Bailey, at

Winthrop, Me., he commenced to learn carriage-making of

Lemuel Stilson, at Waterville, Me., where he also remained

two years. In October, 1857, after working at his trade

in a number of places in Maine, he settled in October,

1857, at Saccarappa. In 1862 he enlisted, as private, in

Company H, 17th Maine Regiment of Infantry. The
regiment was attached to the 3d Brigade, Kearney's Divi-

sion, of the Army of the Potomac. Though Mr. Webb
was in all the great battles, and many skirmishes in which

that army was engaged, and often in the thickest of the

fight, he escaped, unharmed, to within two days of the sur-

render of Lee's army. On the 6th of July, 1865, while fol-

lowing up and skirmishing with the rear of the retreating

rebel army, he was wounded with a minie-ball in the upper

third of the thigh, making a compound fracture of the thigh-

bone, necessitating amputation of the leg. From the time

of receiving the wound to July following, he was in the

hospitals at Annapolis and Philadelphia. During his term

of service he received a number of promotions. His first

was after the battle of Gettysburg, to sergeant, and soon

after to orderly-sergeant ; in 1864 to second lieutenant,

Company K, and the same year to first lieutenant. Company

D, both of the 17th Regiment. He commanded Company

C in the engagement before Petersburg. He returned to

his home at Saccarappa in July, 1865, and was mustered

out of service Sept. 18, 1865. He was laid up eighteen

months on account of his wound. In 1867 he was ap-

pointed postmaster at Saccarappa, and the' same year was

appointed trial justice. Was chosen town clerk in 1871,

and town treasurer in 1874. He still holds these different

offices. He was elected county treasurer in 1879. Mr.

Webb has always been a Republican, and an active man in

his party. He has been twice married. His first wife was

Charlotte Hodsdon, by whom he had three children, viz.,

Geoi^ F., Frank Elmer, and Lottie ; the latter is deceased.

His second wife is Emma Hodsdon, sister of his first.

Their children are Willie W., Lena Blanche, and Isa

Maud ; the two latter twins.

GEORGE JOHNSON
was born in the town of Westbrook (now Deering), Nov.

7, 1820. The family descends from James Johnson, who

emigrated from Ireland in 1733, and settled in what is now

the town of Scarborough or Cape Elizabeth. His occupa-

tion was a ferryman over the Spurwink River, afterwards

between Old Orchard and Prout's Neck beaches. He died

in 1740. His ancestors emigrated from Scotland to Ire-

land during the McGregor war. He had two sons. James

and John. James was born in 1690 and died in 1774.

His wife's name was Jane, and she lived to be ninety-four

years of age. Their children were George, Flora, Eleanor,

James, John, and Margaret. Their son John, grandfather

to George, was born May 14, 1737 ; died May, 1833, aged

ninety-six years. He married Eleanor Lamb, March, 1764.

They had ten children. Alexander Johnson, father to

George, was their seventh child, born April, 1777 ; mar-

ried Sarah Johnson, daughter of Randall Johnson, who

was also a descendant of James Johnson, the line of

descent being James, John, Robert, and Randall. Mrs.

Johnson was born in Westbrook (now Deering), Feb. 18,

1793. Their children were Jane, born Dec. 4, 1818, wife

of John Trickey, a farmer in Westbrook ; George, subject

of our sketch ; Dorcas, born Dec. 8, 1822, living at the

homestead ; and Joseph, born Oct. 7, 1824, married Dec.

22, 1852, Maria Cloyes, of Framingham, Mass., died Nov.

25, 1872. The father died May 13, 1840 ; the mother,

June 3, 1876.

In 1749, James Johpson, great-grandfather to George,

settled in Deering, on the place which has since been held

in the family. His father built their present residence in

1784. Mr. Johnson has always lived at the old homestead.

He received his education in the common schools of his

native town. In politics, a Democrat up to the time of the

organization of the Republican party, and has since been

identified with the latter. He was selectman of the town

in 1861 and 1862. A representation of the homestead,

with portraits of Mr. Johnson and sister, appear on another

page of this work.

WINDHAM.
ORIGIN OF THE TOWN.

On the 20th of November, 1734, a petition was pre-

sented to the General Court of Massachusetts by Abraham

Howard and Joseph Blaney, representatives of the town of

Marblehcad, " shewing that the said town is of very small

extent, and the inhabitants more numerous than in most

towns in the province, so that they are much straitened in

their accommodations, and therefore praying for a tract of

land for a township for such persons belonging t« the said

town of Marblehead as will settle thereon." This petition

was granted, and in December, 1735, John Wainwright,

John Hobson, and Daniel Epes were appointed a committee

50

on the part of the House of Representatives, and William

Dudley and Ebenezer Barrill on the part of the council, to

admit sixty inhabitants of the town of Marblehead to be-

come grantees, to lay out the township and the first division

of the home-lots.

The conditions of the grant were, that the home-lots

should be sixty-three in number, should be laid out in as

defensible a manner as convenient, and all future divisions

should be in equal proportions. Three of the lots or rights

were to be disposed of as follows : one for the first settled

minister, one for the ministry, and one for the support of
schools. The grantees were to build a dwelling-house eigh-
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teen feet square, and seven-feet posts ; to have seven acres

of land brought to English grass, and fit for mowing : to

settle a learned, orthodox minister ; to build a convenient

meeting-house for the public worship of God within five

years after their admission ; and each grantee, upon his ad-

mission, should pay five pounds to the committee.

The sixty persons specified in the grant, and admitted

Jan. 17, 1735, were the following named : Jeremiah Allen,

Micah Bowden, Robert Bull, Nathaniel Bartlette, John
Bailey, Thomas Bartlette, Nathan Bowen, Francis Bowden,
Jedediah Blaney, Samuel Bmnblecom, Jos. Blaney, Thomas
Chute, Peter Coleman, Mosea Calley, Nathaniel Cogswell,

Richard Dana, Benjamin Dodge, Humphrey Devereauz,

Nicholas EdgeCome, Nathaniel Evans, John Gelton, Thos.

Fiothingham, Joseph Oallison, Joseph Griffin, William

Goodwin, Robert Hooper, Ebenezer Hawkes, Jr., Abraham
Howard, Benjamin Hendley, Edward Holyoke, Joseph

Howard, John Homan, Ebenezer Hawkes, Benjamin James,

Willam Ingalls, Giles Iremy, Samuel Lee, Joseph Majory,

Isaac Maxfield, William Mayberry, John Oulton, Robert

Paramore, George Pigot, John Palmer, Jonathan Proctor,

James .Perrimon, James Pierson, John Reed, Richard

Reed, Samuel Stacy (3d), James Sharrar, John Stacy,

Ebenezer Stacy, James Skinner, Joseph Swett, Joseph

Smithnist, Andrew Tucker, Isaac Turner, Calley Wright,

Thomas Wood.

Several of them held a meeting at Marblehead, and ap-

pointed Ebenezer Hawkes, Thomas Chute, and William

Goodwin a committee, on the part of the grantees, to accom-

pany, assist, and advise the committee appointed by the

General Court to locate the township and lay out the first

division of lots. The committee, with Rowland Houghton,

a surveyor, proceeded to the site of Windham, April 19,

1735, and began its location, running out and est^iblishing

the home-lots according to the terms of the grant, the lots

containing ten acres each. They made a plan or map of

the same, which was accepted by both branches of the Gen-

eral Court, June 7, 1735, and the lands described therein

confirmed to the grantees, provided they fulfilled the speci-

fied conditions. At a meeting of the committee at Marble-

head, June 27, 1735, the 63 home-lots were drawn and

disposed of to the proprietors.

The town was called New Marblehead ; as originally laid

out it embraced six miles square and 25,600 acres. The

first division of home-lots was located on the main road

from Westbrook to Raymond, running parallel with and

one-half mile from the Presumpscot River, being the first

publio road laid out in Windham. They extended irom

the road back to the river, beginning opposite the dwelling-

house now occupied by John Webb, Esq., and terminating

a few rods below the dwelling-house of Josiah Elder, thus

extending along the road a distance of two miles.

In order to comply as strictly as possible with the terms

of the grant in r^ard to making the settlement defensible,

these lots were located with narrow fronts of 10 rods each,

so as to bring the houses into nearer proximity with each

other, while each lot was half a mile long in the other

direction. The General Court was induced to make this a

condition in all the grants made at that time from their

extreme carefulness to protect the settlers from the ravages

of the Indians, to which all the frontier settlements in

Maine were exposed for more than a hundred years from

the time the first settlements began. The settlements on

the coast passed through several successive bloody and

destructive Indian wars before settlements were begun in

the interior, but no part of the country was safe from the

attacks of the savage tomahawk and scalping-knife till

Canada was taken from the French, in 1760.

The town, as originally laid out, extended down the Pre-

sumpscot River to Saccarappa Falls, and the boundary-line

between it and Falmouth (now Westbrook) was in dispute

for a period of twenty-seven yeara. It was finally settled by

ac act of the General Court, passed Nov. 27, 1761, when

the eastern boundary was establbhed as it is at present.

The boundary-line between this town and Gray (then New
Boston) was also undecided for a considerable time. The

claim of the Pejcpscot proprietors on the northeast of New
Gloucester encroaching upon that town as originally laid

out, caused it to crowd upon New Boston, which in turn

crowded upon New Marblehead, causing a disturbance which

almost resulted in a local war. The difference in dispute was

about two miles of territory, which no amount of pushing

and jostling could create for the benefit of either town. The

difficulty was settled by the proprietors of New Gloucester

petitioning the General Court, in 1761, for a committee to

run out New Marblehead, New Boston, and New Gloucester,

and establish their bounds, which was granted. The com-

mittee, in the exercise of its powers, changed the original

boundaries of the several towns.*

PREPARATIONS VOR SETTLEMENT.

On the 4tli of July, 1735, the grantees, at a meeting in

Marblehead, voted that " each home-lot have ten acres more

added to it on the other side of the main road at the front

of said lots," which were subsequently laid out directly op-

posite the home-lots, and corresponding with them in quan-

tity and form. The grantees, prior to the commencement

of actual settlement, held various meetings, and expended

coflsiderable sums of money in the way of improvements.

Tliey built a bridge across the Presumpscot River, imme-

diately above Saccarappa Falls, and bridges over Inkhorn

and Colley Wright's Brooks ; they laid out considerable

money in opening roads and in preparing the township for

the habitation of civilized man, as yet unknown within its

wilderness limits. And to have everything in readiness

for a fair start in the race of subduing the forest and plant-

ing a civilized, well-ordered community, it was proposed by

the grantees to build a meeting-house for public worship in

advance of the arrival of the first pioneer.. Accordingly,

on the 9th of June, 1737, a committee was appointed to

report a plan for such an edifice. They reported at an

adjourned meeting, July 23d, that it was their " opinion

that a meeting-house suitable for said township at present

be about forty feet long and thirty feet wide and ten feet

high." The report was accepted, and a vote taken to build

the meeting-house accordingly.

" Kofetil, That the meeting-hoase be bailt on the wefltemmost comer
of the ten-aore lot, to be laid oat and belonging to the uiniaterial lot

* See biatoiy of New Olonoester in thia work. Alro Isaac Parfooa,

in Maine Historical Collectiona.
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(home-lot No. 33), and that £120 be aaseaaed on the several rights to

defray the expense of building the house."

Who ever heard before of a people taxiog their unoccu-

pied wilderness land to build a plain temple in the forest

in which to worship their Creator? But the ruthless pagans

of the forest interfered with their work of Christian devo-

tion, claiming the land and menacing the workmen, so that

the house was not finished till 1740. This was the first

meeting-house built in the town of Windham. It stood a

few rods north of the dwelling-house occupied in latter

years by Col. Edward Anderson,* the younger.

FIRST SETTLEMENTS.

The first settlement was begun in this town by Capt.

Thomas Chute, July 30, 1737. Mr. Chute was born in

1690, and was therefore a man of forty-seven years of age

when he entered the wilderness and began a new home for

himself and family. He had emigrated to Marblehead,

Mass., and in the spring previous to his settlement in

Windham had come to Falmouth Neck. He was one of

the grantees, and drew home-lot No. 12, on which he set-

tled, about thirty rods from the Presumpscot River. Here

the first trees were felled and the first habitation erected

within the town,—a rude cabin, such as sheltered most of

the early pioneers. This cabin stood on the farm occupied

in the third generation by John Chute, a grandson of Capt.

Thomas Chute.

We find the following items respecting the Chute family

in the records of births, baptisms, marriages, and deaths

kept by Rev. Peter Thacher Smith, during his pastorate of

the First Church of Windham :

Deacon Thomas Chute, died in 1771.

Mary, wife of Thomas Chute, died July 30, 1762, aged

seventy years. The brief record adds :
" and is greatly

lamented not only in her own family, but by all who had

any acquaintance with her."

Curtis Chute, married Miriam Carr, March 21, 1754.

CHILDREN.

Ruth, bom Jan. 13, 1755.

James, bom April 7, 1757.

Josiah, bom June 4, 1759.

Thomas, bom Feb. 19, 1762.

Curtis Chute admitted to communion March 11, 1753.

Killed by lightning June 4, 1767.

BAPTISMS.

Curtis and David, sons of Josiah and Mary Chute, Jan-

uary, 1785.

Elizabeth, daughter of John and Elizabeth Chute, Feb.

24, 1799.

Mary, daughter of Thomas and Mary Chute, June 16,

1799.

Dorcas, daughter of Josiah and Mary Chute, Aug. 4,

1799.

William Mayberry was the second settler in the town.

He was also from Marblehead, and one of the grantees.

* Smith's History of Windham.

He settled on house-lot No. 27, on the place near the river

lately owned by Frederic Smith. We find in the records

above referred to the following records of the Mayberrys

:

BIRTHS.

William Mayberry, son of Thomas and Bcthiah, Feb. 1,

1744-45.

William Mayberry,f son of Thomas and Bethiah, April

12, 1746.

John Mayberry, son of Thomas and Bethiah, March 28,

1748.

Sarah Mayberry, daughter of Thomas and Bethiah, July

12, 1749.

Thomas Mayberry, son of Thomas and Bethiah, July

17, 1751.

Bethsheba Mayberry, daughter of Thomas and Bethiah,

July 14, 1753.

David Mayberry, son of Thomas and Bethiah, March 8,

1756.

Charity Mayberry, daughter of John and Elizabeth,

August 30, 1755.

BAPTISMS.

Mary Mayberry, daughter of Thomas and Bethiah, Oct.

3, 1762.

Bethsheba Mayberry, daughter of Richard and Martha,

Nov. 13, 1763.

John Mayberry, son of William and Jane, April 15, 1764.

Richard Mayberry, son of Thomas and Bethiah.

James Mayberry, son of William and Jane, Sept. 8,

1765.

Anne Mayberry, daughter of Richard and Martha,

March, 1766.

Richard Mayberry, son of William and Jane, April 8,

1767.

Richard Mayberry, son of Richard and Martha, April

26, 1767.

Margaret Mayberry, daughter of Thomas and Margaret,

Deo. 8, 1771.

David Spear Mayberry, son of William, Jr., and Rose,

May 10, 1772.

Jenny Mayberry, daughter of William and Jenny, June

14, 1772.

Samuel Mayberry, son of William and Jane, June, 1774.

Robert Mayberry, son of William and Rose, November,

1774.

Josiah Mayberry, son of Thoilias, Jr., and Mary, Feb-

ruary, 1775.

Edward Mayberry, son of Richard and Martha, Jan-

uary, 1776.

Thomas Mayberry, son of William and Rose, July, 1776.

Lovina Mayberry, daughter of Thomas and Mary, June,

1780.

Joseph Mayberry, son of David and Jemima, April 13,

1783.

Miriam Mayberry, daughter of Thomas and Mary, April

20, 1783.

Martha Mayberry, daughter of William and Rebecca,

Oct. 17, 1784.

t The Brst William died aged fire months, April 26, 1745.
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Francis Mayberry, son of Thomas and Mary, January,

1785.

John Mayberry, son of James and Bethsheba, Nov. 18,

1787.

William Mayberry, son of William and Maiy, June 16,

1799.

MARRIAGES.

Thomas Mayberry and Mrs. Bethiah Spear, both of

Windham, Jan. 17, 1744-45.

TKomas Mayberry and Ann Sweat, Dec. 3, 1767.

William Mayberry and Rose Waldon, Feb. 4, 1768.

James Mayberry and Bethsheba Mayberry, Dec. 1, 1785.

John Mayberry and Rachel Wilson, Oct. 9, 1788.

DEATHS.

William Mayberry, son of Thomas and Bethiah, April

26, 1745.

John Mayberry, son of Thomas and Bethiah, Aug. 27,

1748, aged five months.

William Mayberry, March 15, 1764.

Anne Mayberry, wife of Thomas, April 6, 1770.

Bethiah Mayberry, wife of Thomas, June 14, 1807.

William Knight, from Marblehead, was one of the first

settlers of New Marblehead, now Windham, Me. Married

Mary Haskell. Second wife, Hannah Roberts.

CHILDREN BT FIRST WIFE.

William, married Mary Knight.

Joseph, married Lucy Libby.

Abigail, married Uriah Nason.

William and Joseph were carried off by the Indians,

April 14, 1747, but soon after escaped and returned home.

Joseph was again taken April 14, 1756, but escaped and

returned in May following.

CHILDREN BT SECOND WIFE.

Rnthama, married William Whitmore.

Sarah, married Sargent Shaw.

Wintbrop, died in the Revolution.

John, married Mercy Gregg.

Betsey, died single.

Joanna, married Eliakim Wescott.

William, son of William and Hannah Knight, married

Mary Knight, and settled on the homestead of his father, in

Windham ; owned, in 1867, by William Silla, Esq.

CHILDREN.

George, married Rebecca Davis.

William, married Elizabeth Osgood.

Hannah, married Enoch Waite.

Eunice, married William Motley.

Martha, married Elkanah Harding.

Nathaniel, married Nancy Johnson ; second wife, Han-

nah Mugford.

Nathaniel, son of William Knight, settled first on the

homestead of his father, in Windham ; thence to Otisfield
;

thence to Sebago, where he died in 1832, aged fifty-six.

CHILDREN BT FIRST WIFE.

David, died single, aged fifty-six.

Martha, married Thomas Fagan.

Harriet, drowned with her mother, at Little Falls, Wind-

ham, Feb. 19, 1807, aged twenty months.

CHILDREN BT SECOND WIFE.

Nancy, married Joseph D. Roberts.

Eunice, died in infancy.

Major W., married Lydia Bean ; second wife, Caroline

Jackson ; third wife, Lucy Scribner.

Harrison 0., married Susan Weston.

Eunice D., unmarried.

Henry, married Sophia S. Hicks.

Franklin F., married Eliza Bailey.

Lois G., unmarried.

Mary E., married Stephen Sawyer.

George W., married Hannah Davis.

Henry, son of Nathaniel and Hannah Knight, married

Sophia S. Hicks, and settled in Portland.

CHILDREN.

Frances A., married Reuben H. Prince.

Charles Emmons, died in childhood, aged two years.

Mary Isabella, died in childhood.

Harriet Olivia.

Edward E., died in childhood.

Carrie Ella.

Harrison Sherman.

The following were heads of families in the first parish

of Windham, in 1762: Abraham Anderson, James Bailey,

John Bodge, Thomas Bolton, William Bolton, Eleazer

Chase, William Campbell, Thomas Chute, Curtis Chute,

Hugh Crague, Nathaniel Evins, William Elder, Isaac

Elder, John Farrar, Caleb Graffam, Zerubbabel Hunnewell,

Eliot Hall, William Knight, William Knight, Jr., Ste-

phen Lowell, John Mayberry, William Mayberry, Richard

Mayberry, Thomas Mayberry, Thomas Mugford, Stephen

Manchester, John Manchester, William Maxfield, Robert

Miller, Simon Noyes, John Stevens, William Stinchfield,

Joseph Starling, Thomas Trott, Samuel Webb, Eli Webb,
Ephraim Winship, Gershom Winship, Micah Walker,

Thomas Haskell, of Falmouth, Seth Webb, of Gorham.

We find in this little book of records the following entry

:

"Dee. 2.3, 1750.—Voted, that Edmund Phinney, some time since

being admitted to fall communion in this oharch, be dismissed there-

from to be joined vith (or embodied with) the church speedily to be
gathered at a plantation called Oorham Town, near to us. Near the

oouolusion of the public serrice the foregoing rote was taken.

" Edhchd Finst."

Another of the early settlers was Dr. Caleb Rea. He
was the son of Dr. Caleb Rea, Sr., and was bom in Dan-

vers, Mass., March 8, 1758. He married Sarah White,

daughter of Capt. John and Abigail (Blaney) White, of

Salem, Oct. 4, 1781, and had children : Thomas, who died

in Ohio, in 1860 ; Sarah (Sally), who married Dr. Jacob

Hunt, and died at Stroudwater, in 1870 ; Mary, who died

in Portland, in 1849; Caleb, bom April 11, 1790, died

Sept. 11, 1849, in Windham; Aaron Porter, who died in

Nashville, Tenn. ; Albus, M.D. (first named John White),

who died in Portland, 1848.

Dr. Rea was descended from Daniel Rea, of Plymouth
(1631). The descendants in the regular line from the
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first Duniel were Joshua, Daniel, Zerubbabel, Dr. Caleb

Rea, Sr., and Dr. Caleb Kea, Jr. The latter died at Wind-

ham, Dec. 29, 1796, and was buried on his farm, consisting

of lot No. 1, in the first division of 100-acre lots. His

widow died in 1836.

Samuel Webb, the first schoolmaster and blacksmith

in Windham, was the son of Samuel Webb, a native of

London, England, who was poisoned by neuroes in Africa.

He was born in Enjjlund on Christmas Day, 1696, and,

after emigrating to Rhode Island, learned the blacksmith's

trade of one Mclntyre, whose daughter, Mary, he married

on Christmas Day, 1718, by whom he had children, Samuel

and Thomas. His second wife was Mrs. Bathia Spear,

widow of Capt. David Spear, and fifth daughter of John

Farrar and Percy his wife, an early settler of Windham.

Mrs. Spear was a maiden, a widow, and a mother before she

was sixteen years of age. By the latter marriage Mr. Webb
had eight children: David, born July 17, 1727, in Wey-

mouth, Mass., married Dorothy Peabody ; Ezekiel ; John
;

Seth ; Eli, bom at Tiverton, R. I., Nov. 7, 1737 ; James;

Susannah, married William Maxfield, 1753 ;* and Eliza-

beth.

In 1744, Samuel Webb moved to Boston, whence he

came to Falmouth Neck, then to Saccarappa, and then to

Windham. From Windham he moved to Deer Isle, with

his son Seth, in 1766. His wife died Nov. 30, 1770, aged

sixty-two years. He died Feb. 15, 1785. David Webb,

the oldest of his second family of children, lived in Wind-

ham at the time he married Dorothy Peabody, of Falmouth,

July 25, 1745.f John, the third son, married Elizabeth,

daughter of Benjamin and Amy (Pride) Larrabee, of Back

Cove, in 1753, and had three sons and four daughters. Eli

Webb, after his settlement in Windham, lived on the 100-

acre lot No. 1 (afterwards the Red Farm) until 1777, when

he mQved to lot No. 101 in Gorham, near the Powder

Mills. He married Sarah Clontman, daughter of Edward

and Anna Cloutman. She was bom near Stroudwater,

April 25, 1742, and her father was the Edward Cloutman

whom the Indians carried oflF in 1746. Her mother after-

wards married Abraham Anderson, of Windham. By her

first marriage she had Timothy, ancestor of all the Clout-

mans in this vicinity, Sarah, above named, and Mary, who

was never married.

James Webb lived in Windham, and married Elizabeth

Mayberry, Aug. 19, 1762. They had one son and one

daughter, who were baptized May 10, 1765, and may have

had other children.

We find a John Webb (whether related to the above or

not we do not know), bom in 1750, died in Windham, in

1835, aged eighty-five. He married Susannah Sweat, July

27, 1779, and had six children, viz., Thomas, John, Stephen,

Polly, Betsey, and Hannah. Thomas married Lydia Bick-

ford, and had children ; John married, and lives in Auburn,

Me. ; Stephen married Mary Padden ; Polly married John

Goodell, of Windham, and died, aged eighty, in 1861;

Betsey married Josiah Freeman, of Windham, who died,

aged eighty-seven or eighty-eight ; five children,—Stephen

* William Maxfield married again, Mary Westcott, March, ITfiS.

t See marriage reoorda of John Wight, pastor.

W., of Windham, Benjamin, of Washington, D. C., Tliomns

W., of Denmark, Elizabeth, wife of Jonathan Sanborn, of

Windham, and Lois, unmarried. Hannah married Isaac

Gibbs Walker, of Saccarappa, and died in 1878, leaving

three children.

Aaron Silla, son of Benjamin and Judith Silla, of Salis-

bury, born in 1746, and died in 1805 ; married Elizabeth

Dodge, in Windham, Nov. 3, 1767. She was born in Bev-

erly, Mass., in 1743, and died Dec. 8, 1824. He was a

brother of William Silla, who settled in Gorham, and had

a large family. The daughters are married into the Riggs,

Bolton, and Cook families.

Col. William Silla is the only descendant bearing the

name now residing in Windham. He has been a leading

citizen, and has held various town ofBccs. He was born in

Gorham in 1800, has been twice manicd, but has no chil-

dren living.

Windham was the birthplace of Hon. John A. Andrew,

the famous war Governor of Massachusetts during the late

Rebellion. His family was of English origin, descending, in

America, from Robert Andrew, who died in Rowley, Mass.,

in 1668. Governor Andrew was born on the 13th of May,

1818, graduated at Bowdoin College in 1837, studied law

in Boston, and was admitted to the bar in 1840. In 1850

he opposed the Fugitive Slave Law. He resided iu Boston,

where he was the law-partner of Theophilus P. Chandler,

Esq. In November, 1860, he was elected the twenty-first

Governor of Massachusetts, and in that capacity during the

war displayed an ability and patriotism which attracted

universal attention. He was one of the most brilliant and

accomplished statesmen of his time.

Hon. John Anderson, well known as mayor of Portland

and member of Congress from this district, was born in

Windham. He was son of Abraham and Lucy (Smith)

Anderson, and grandson of Abraham Anderson, one of the

first settlers.

FIRST SAW-MILL.

At a meeting of the proprietors, held Jan. 19, 1738, a

vote was passed granting to Ebenezer Hawkes, William

Goodwin, Isaac Turner, and Ebenezer Stacy, all their right

to any one of the falls of water on the Presumpscot, with

10 acres of land adjoining, upon condition of their erecting

and putting in operation a saw-mill. The mill was accord-

ingly built on the falls called Horse-beef, and accepted by

the proprietors Dec. 13, 1740. This was the first mill of

any kind erected within the limits of the town.|

DIVISION OP THE LANDS.

On the 22d of October, 1740, 63 one-hundred-acre lots

were laid out by vote of the proprietors, and constituted the

second division of the common lands of the township. By
a subsequent vote a third division was made Jan. 26, 1763,

consisting of 126 one-hundred-acre lots. A fourth division,

including all the remaining common lands, was made into

63 seventy-three-acre lots, Oct. 3, 1801. This last was ac-

cepted and confirmed Feb. 16, 1804. In these several

divisions each one of the 63 original rights drew 393 acres

of land.

^ Smith's History of Windham.
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INDIAN TROUBLES.

The few early settlera of Windham had not long been in

possession of their territory when they began to experience

trouble with the Indians, conseqaent upon the breaking out

of the war between England and Prance. In anticipation

of this war Massachusetts deternjined to put her eastern

frontiers in as defensible a position as practicable, and
accordingly the Legislature, in 174;J, made an appropriation

of £1280, to be expended among the eastern settlements

for their defense. One hundred pounds of this money was
assigned to New Marblehead, and expended in building a

fort. -We take the following description of thb fort from

Smith's History of Windham

:

" This fort was built on lot No. 33, in the centre of the

' Ancient Domiiiiou,' or home-lots, on the most elevated and

beautiful site iu iho ' two mile territory,' a few rods south

of the dwelling-house of the late Peter Thacher Smith. It

stood partly on the road and partly on land occupied by Col.

Anderson for a garden.. The fort was 50 feet square, 2
stories high, with walls one foot thick, of hewn hemlock

timber, the upper story jutting one foot over the lower,

with a tier of port-holes. There were 2 watch-boxes at

diagonal corners, 2 stories high, 12 feet square, with walls

1 foot thick, each watch-box having a swivel gun, furnished

by the proprietors, and so placed as to defend two sides of

the fort. The fort was surrounded with a stockade, about

25 or 30 feet from it, made by setting posts, 10 or 12 inches

in diameter, 12 feet long, perpendicularly in the ground,

and so near together that the Indians could not pass between

them. The fort was provided with an iron ' nine-pounder

gun' by the State [Province], which was placed before the

fort for the purpose of firing alarms and giving the neigh-

boring settlements notice of the approach of Indians. The

fort was built during the spring of 1744, and was the only

one ever erected in this town."

William IVlayberry had been active and had purchased

at his own expense one half-barrel (50 pounds) of powder,

ctlsting £20 9s. The proprietors, at a meeting in Marble-

head, July 30, 1744, voted to pay Mr. Mayberry, and " that

the said powder be put into the hands of William Mayberry,

he supplying the inhabitants (who want it) to the value of

half a pound each man, and the remainder of said powder

to be kept in the block-house for the use thereof in time of

action, in case the same be attacked by the Indians or any

other enemies, and no otherwise whatsoever." " Voted,

That the present company be, and hereby are, directed, at

the public charge of the proprietors, to purchase two swivel

guns and send them to said township for the use of the pro-

prietors, to be placed in the block-house for the defense

thereof."

The inhabitants, encouraged by such assistance on the

part of the province and the proprietors, bestowed upon

their fort a great amount of labor and made it a place of

considerable safety. The war which had been anticipated

was declared in March, 1744, and formally communicated

to the Governor of Massachusetts in June following.*

The troubled and perilous condition of a frontier settle-

ment during an Indian war can be too vividly conceived to

• See hiatory of the Indian wars in the general part of this work.

need much description. The savage foe would suddenly

emerge from his hidden haunts in the forest, do his work

of destruction and death, perhaps at the midnight hour

while the defenseless inhabitants were unconsciously sleep-

ing, and as suddenly disappear in the impenetrable fast-

nesses of the wilderness, beyond the reach of pursuit or

discovery. All that would be heard or seen would be the

savage yell, the gleam of the tomahawk or scalping-knife,

the glare of the blazing brand, or the tall, naked bodies of

the savages mingling in the horrid slaughter,—then all

would be silent : the enemy having disappeared as mysteri- ' i

ously as he came. Such well-known traits of Indian war-

fare kept the early settlers constantly on the alert, day and

night, to guard against surprises. When at labor in the

field they were oflen obliged, in a sudden emergency, to re-

pel an attack or make a hazardous retreat to a place of

safety. By reason of the danger to which they were con-

stantly exposed, they were unable to cultivate their lands

to any advantage. They were obliged to go armed to public

worship on the Sabbath, and usually when at work posted a

sentinel in some conspicuous place to keep watch. Even

these precautions did not always prevent surprise. Indians

lurking behind stumps or trees or hidden in the bushes would

watch the husbandman at work in the field, and when he

was off his guard for a moment, get between him and his

gun, or steal it and carry it off. In short, the distressed

people were afraid even to milk their cows, although they

took the precaution to keep them pastured as near as pos-

sible to the fort.. Whole families were frequently shut up

for months together in a state of wretched anxiety. This

state of things continued till the close of the war, in 1751.

The first outrage committed by the Indians on the in-

habitants of Windham was on the 14th of April, 1747,

when they took as prisoners William and Joseph Knight,

two sons of William Knight, one of the pioneers of the

town, who came from Manchester, Mass. They were un-

armed and taken by surprise at Saccarappa, but were well

treated by the Indians and soon returned home. On the

27th of August, following, a party of some twenty or

thirty Indians entered the town, and made an attempt to

capture two young men who were out of the fort, William,

son of Thomas Bolton, and William Maxfield, who lived

with William Mayberry. They were both well armed
with muskets and made a brave resistance. Bolton dis-

charged his musket upon his assailants, but before he could

reload the Indians rushed upon him and made him a

prisoner. Maxfield retreated, walking backwards towards

the fort, and occasionally menacing the Indians with his

guo, till he was rescued by a band of armed men from the

garrison, but not till he had been seriously, though not

fatally, wounded by a shot from the Indians, having an

arm broken. Bolton was carried captive to Canada, where

he was purchased by a French naval officer, and taken on

board a French frigate as a servant. The French frigate

was soon after captured by an English vessel and taken to

Boston, and Bolton became the servant of Lieut. Wallace,

of the English, frigate. But his situation becoming known
to the captain of a coasting vessel belonging to Falmouth,

he was released on application to the Governor, and brought

home to the great joy of his parents.
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On the 22d of August, 1750, a party of Indians sur-

prised and captured Seth Webb, son of Samuel Webb,

formerly of Falmouth, who settled in Windham, March 15,

1742, making a prisoner of him and carrying him to Canada,

whence he returned after the war.

During the interval between this and the next war the

settlement in Windham prospered both in its general im-

provements and in additions to its population.

The next war (known as the last French and Indian

war) broke out in 1754. The inhabitants of this town

spared no pains to put the settlement in a good state of

defense. Three dwelling-houses were converted into gar-

risons: Majberry's, on home-lot No. 18; Bolton's, on

home-lot No. 52; and Grafium's, on home-lot No. 61.

They had attached to them " watch-boxes" two stories

high, and were surrounded by stockades of heavy posts

planted in the ground.

In February, 1756, the Indians again surprised and

captured Joseph Knight. Having been a long time pris-

oner among them during the preceding war, he had suffi-

ciently learned their language to understand them, and

became aware of their intention to attack the frontier towns

from Brunswick to Saco, and he determined on making his

escape and alarming the settlements. The Indians had

taken him to the Androscoggin River, and to prevent his

escape compelled him to sleep at night between two war-

riors pledged to keep him securely. He watched his oppor-

tunity, and while they were both asleep withdrew himself

quietly and walked away. He came to North Yarmouth,

and there gave warning of the intentions of the Indians.*

On the morning of May 14, 1756, Ezra Brown and

Ephraim Winship, while on their way with a guard of four

men and four boys to work on Brown's farm, were attacked

by fifleen or twenty Indians, who lay concealed in a thick

woods through which the party had to pass. Brown and

Winship were in advance, and had entered the woods before

the others came up. The Indians Gred upon them. Brown

was shot dead on the spot; Winship received two bullets

—

one in the eye and the other in the arm—and fell. Both

were immediately scalped by the Indians. Part of the

guard, viz., Abraham Anderson, Stephen Manchester and

two lads, Timothy Cloudman and Gershom Winship, hear-

ing the firing, rushed on to the scene of action, determined,

if their companions had been killed, to avenge their blood.

The rest of the guard retreated to the fort. When the

brave little band, encouraged by Anderson, who called out,

" Come on, my lads," had reached their fallen companions,

the Indians had hardly finished their bloody work, and seeing

the white men coming they hastily concealed themselves

behind trees. Poland, the noted leader of the band, was

the first to fire from his' covert, discharging his gun at

Manchester. In his haste to reload he exposed his body

to Manchester's sure and steady aim, and was in an instant

shot dead. The Indians gathered around their fallen chief,

and in a few moments two more of them were killed or

* " May 10.—This morning we were alarmed with young Enight,

who escaped from the Indians three days ngo, end got to North Yar-

Inouth this morning, who bring news of 120 Indians coming upon the

frontiers, who are to spread themselves in small scouts from Bruns-

wick to Saco."

—

Smith*i Jonntal, p. 64.

mortally wounded, when the rest fled from the scene, carry-

ing with them the body of their leader. The garrison

being by this time alarmed, a small body of armed men

started in pursuit. Among them was Seth Webb, who had

been taken prisoner in the previous war. At a place called

" The Meadows," between Canada Hill and the Westbrook

line, they discovered an Indian carrying a quarter of beef

on his shoulder, and two of the party fired upon him.

They did not, apparently, hit him, for he continued on his

course, making his beat possible exertions to escape with

his plunder, which had probably been taken from a slaugh-

tered animal belonging to the settlers. His pertinacity,

however, cost him his life, for Seth Webb, who was an

unerring marksman, leveled his gun upon him and brought

him to the ground. He died of his wound the following

night, and the next night one who had been mortally

wounded by the other party died. Thus were the murder

of Brown and Winship doubly avenged, for four Indians

had perished at the hands of the whites. The death of

Poland put an end to all trouble with the Indians in this

quarter.f

REVOLUTIONARY PERIOD.

This town was among the earliest to manifest its pa-

triotic spirit under the series of oppressions by the Brit-

ish government which led to the final separation of the

colonies from the mother country. A town-meeting was

held at the meeting-house, Feb. 16, 1773, "to choose a

committee to act on anything the town may think proper,

in answer to a letter of correspondence sent by the town

of Boston to this town, concerning the infringements

which are made upon the rights and privileges that we

ought to enjoy, and to do anything the town may think

proper in answer to said letter." Capt. Caleb GrafFam -

was chosen moderator ; Thomas Mayberry, Richard May-

berry, Z. Hunnewell, Caleb Graffam, Thomas Trott, Wil-

liam Knight, and Hugh Crague were chosen a committee

of correspondence, etc. We have not space here to insert

the letter to the Boston committee and the series of emi-

nently fitting and patriotic resolutions adopted by the

meeting. They will be found in the town records. At a

subsequent meeting, held in January, 1774, the committee

of correspondence were instructed to answer a further

communication from Boston, which they did in bold and

energetic language^ declaring their determination to adhere

to and support their brethren in every measure touching

the rights and liberties of the country. When the famous

Cumberland County resolves were passed at Falmouth,

Sept. 21, 1774, Zerubbabel Hunnewell, Thomas Trott, and

David Baker were there to represent the town of Windham-

In pursuance of the action of this convention, a meeting

was called, Nov. 7, 1774, " to choose three officers to in-

struct those who are inclined in the military art." Richard

Mayberry was chosen captain, David Baker lieutenant, and

Edward Anderson ensign. In March, 1775, it was voted

that William Knight be captain for the militia of this towoj

David Baker, lieutenant, and Richard Dole ensign.

From the commencement of hostilities to the close of

f This engagement where Poland was slain was on lot No. 21, first

division of hundred-acre lots.

—

Smith's Hiitury of Windham.
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the war the calls upon the town for men, money, clothiDg,

and provisions were incessant. From statements furnished

by Mr. Smith in his history, we foot up over 100 men from

this town, called into the service as recruits and otherwise,

not in any oi^nized local companies. Besides these a con-

siderable number served for different periods, and some

through nearly the whole of the war, in- addition to those

belonging to Capt. Mayberry's company.

In November, 1776, Capt. Richard Mayberry, of this

town, enlisted a company of 64 men, including officers and

privates, into the Continental service for three years. The
captain and eleven of the number belonged to Windham.

They were in most of the great actions during their period

of service,—Burgoyne's surrender, Monmouth, and Hub-

bardstown, where they suffered severely.

In the war of 1812-14, Windham was not called upon

to fumbh any for the United States armies, the men for

that service being raised by voluntary enlistments. But

near the close of the war one company of militia was de-

tached, under command of Capt. Nathan Goold, of Wind-

ham,, mustered in at Portland, Sept. 10, 1814, and m'ns-

tered out Sept. 22, 1814. The detachments were only for

a short time and were not under fire.

In the war with Mexico, Joseph C. Chute, Augustus

Hall, and Charles Rand, from Windham, were in the army,

and the last-named died in the service.

INCORPORATION OF THE TOWN.

The town was incorporated under the name of Windham

(derived from the English Windham, county of Norfolk),

Jnne 12, 1762. At this time it contained thirty-nine fam-

ilies. Two years later it was estimated to contain 250 in-

habitants. Up to 1760 all the settlements had been con-

fined to the home-lots. The first town-meeting after the

incorporation was held at the old fort, July 5, 1762. Abra-

ham Anderson was chosen moderator; Thomas Chute, town

clerk ; Caleb Graffam, Thomas Mayberry, and John Farrar,

selectmen ; and Abraham Anderson, town treasurer. We
give below a list of the chief town officers and representa-

tives from the incorporation to the present time

:

CIVIL LIST.

TOWN CLERKS.

Thomas Chute, 1762-66; Abraham Anderaon, 1766-70; Richard

Hiijrberry, 1770-71; Micah Walker, 1771-74; Richard Dole,

1774-S7; Edward Anderson, 1777-83; Richard Dole, 1783-89;

Abraham Osgood, 1789-92; Caleb Rea, 1792-93; Richard Dole,

1793-1804 ; Josiah Chnte, 1804-5 ; John Qallisoo, 1805-21 ; John

Collins, 1821-22; William Brown, 1822-23; John Ereleth,

1823-42 ; William Silla, 1842-43 ; John Eveleth, 1843-45 ; Sam-

uel Freeman, 1845-46 ; John Eveleth, 1846-49 ; Samuel Freeman,

1849-50; John Eveleth, 1850-55; Howard C. Freeman, 1855-63;

Peter R. Hall, 186.3-65; Georce E. Hawkes, 1865-68; John C.

Cobb, 1868-71 ; Alphens A. Goold, 1871-72 ; Fred. S. Hawkes,

1872-79.

SELEOTUEN.

1762.—Caleb GraiBun, Thomas Mayberry, John Farrar.

17{3. John Bodge, Thomas Mayberry, Abraham Anderson.

17(4. William Knight, Caleb GraSam, Riehard Mayberry.

1765-66.—James Bailey, Thomas Chnte, Isaao Elder.

1767.—Curtis Chute, William Enigbt, Thomas Maybeny.

1 768-69.—Caleb Graffam, Thomas Mayberry, Abraham Anderson.

1770.—Caleb Graffam, Hugh Grague, William Enigkt.

1771. William Copprian, William Knight, William Elder.

1772.—William Knight, William Copprian, Zebulon Hunnewell.

1773.—Caleb Graffam, Thomas Mayberry, Richard Mayberry.

1774.—lohabod Hanson, Hugh Crague, Thomas Trott.

1775-76.—Thomas Trott, Ichabod Hanson, David Baker.

1777.—William Knight, Abraham Osgood, Daniel PettengilL

1778.—Abraham Osgood, Timothy Pike, Thomas Trott.

1779.—Timothy Pike, Paul Little, Caleb Graffam.

1780.—Caleb Graffam, Jonathan Loveitt, Thomas Trott.

1731.-Paul Little, Jonathan Loveitt, Edward Anderson.

1782.—Daniel Pettengill, William Knight, Abraham Osgood.

1783.—Gershom Rogers, Ezra Brown, Daniel Pettengill.

1784.—Gershom Rogers, Ezra Brown, Joseph Hooper.

1785.—Ezra Brown, David Purrington, Gershom Rogers.

1786-87.—Edward Anderson, Ezra Brown, David Purrington.

1 788.—Josiah Chute, Ezra Brown, David Purrington.

1739.—David Purrington, Paul Little, Joseph Hooper.

1790.—Ezra Brown, Paul Little, David Purrington.

1791.—Winelow Hall, Josiah Chute, Ezra Brown.

1792-94.—David Purrington, Josiah Chute, Ezra Brown.

1795-96 Ezra Brown, Josiah Chute, Abraham Anderson.

1797.—David Purrington, Ezra Brown, Thomas Crague.

1798.—Josiah Chute, Ezra Brown, David Purrington.

1799.—William Hall, Thomas Crague, Edward Anderson.

1800.—Ezra Brown, Josiah Chute, Thomas Crague.

1801.—Ezra Brown, David Purrington, Elijah Kennard.

1802-4.—David Purrington, Paul Little, Josiah Chute.

1805.—David Purrington, Josiah Webb, John Swett.

1806.—David Purrington, Josiah Webb, John Chute.

1807.—Josiah Chute, Ezra Brown, William Hall.

1808.—Josiah Chute, William Hall, Xoah Read.

1809-11.-Josiah Chute, Josiah Webb, William Hall.

1812-13.—Nathan Goold, Josiah Webb, William Hall.

1814-15.—Nathan Goold, Stephen Hall, Josiah Chute.

1816.—Nathan Goold, William Brown, Josiah Chute.

1817.—Niithan Goold, William Brown, Timothy Hanson.

1818.—Nathan Goold, William Brown, Josiali Webb.

1819.—William Brown, Josiah Webb, Stephen Hall.

1820.—William Brown, Joseph Staples, Stephen Hall.

1821.—Nathan Goold, Thomas Little, Josiah Webb.

1822.—William Brown, Ebenezer Hawkes, John Gallison.

1823.—John Eveleth, William Brown, Ebenezer Hawkes (3d).

1824.—William Brown, Ebenezer Hawkes (3d), Stephen Webb.

1825.—Stephen Webb, Daniel Hall, Joseph Staples.

1326.—William Brown, Joseph Staples, Edmund Boody.

1827.—William Brown, Ebenezer Hawkes (3d), Timothy Hanson.

1828.—William Brown, Elias Baker, Solomon Hawkes.

1829.—Elias Baker, Stephen Webb, Edward Anderson.

1830.—William Brown, Thomas Mayberry, Jr., John Read.

1831-32.—Thomas Mayberry, Jr., John Read, John Waterman.

1833.—Thomas Mayberry, Jr., Elias Baker, John Webb.

1834.—Thomas Mayberry, Jr., Edward Anderson, James Mcintosh.

1835.—Thomas Mayberry, Jr., EdwardUnderson, Thomas Vamey.
1836.—Stephen Webb, Allen Hamblen, Asa Legrow.

1837.—William Brown, Thomas Hawkes, Asa Legrow.

1838.—Levi Tobie, Asa Legrow, Lewis Hardy.

1839.—Thomas Hawkes, Levi Tobie, Lucius Whipple.

1840-41.—Thomas Hawkes, Lucius Whipple, William E. Brown.

1842.—William Silla, Edward Anderson, Josiah Fogg.

1843.—Lucius Whipple, Thomas Hawkes, Thomas L. Smith.

1844.—Lucius Whipple, Enoch Mayberry, Thomas L. Smith.

1845.—Lucius Whipple, Enoch Mayberry, Ezra Brown, Jr.

1846.—Enoch Mayberry, Ezra Brown, Jr , Edward Anderson.

1847-48.—Edward Anderson, Mark Knight, Thomas Hawkes.
1849-50.—Ezra Brown, Jr., Samuel Freeman, David P. Baker.

1851-53.—Thomas Mayberry, Ephraim Legrow, Thomas Hawkes.
1854.—Thomas Hawkes, Ephraim Legrow, Edward Anderson.

1855-56.—William Silla, Elisba Jones, Jason Hanson,

1857.—Thomas Mayberry, Thomas L. Smith, Jason Hanson.

1858.—Thomas Mayberry, Charles Jones, Charles Rogers.

18S9-.60.—Oliver Pope, Jason Hanson, William S. Cobb.

1861.—Samuel Freeman, William Silla, Abijah H. Purrington.

1862.—Samuel Freeman, Abijah H. Purrington, Charles Hunnewell.

1863-64.—Abijah H. Purrington, Charles Hunnewell, Isaiah Elder.

1865.—William Silla, Charles Jones, Charles Rogers.

1866.—Thomas L. Smith, William H. Smith, Andrew J. Morrill.
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1867-69.—Charles Jones, Charles Rogers, WilliBm M. Smith.

1870-71.—William H. Varncy, Joshua Tukoy, William S. Cobb.

1872-73.—William H. Varney, Charles JoDes, William M. Smith.

1874.—B.M. Baker, Joel Rand, Charles A. Haskell.

1875.—Joel Rand, Charles A. Haskell, John T. Fellows.

1876. -John T. Fellows, Urban Lowell, Charles R. Goodell.

1877.—Charles R. Goodell, Urban Lowell, Thomas L. Allen.

1878.—Charles R. Ooodell, Thomas L. Allen, F. H. Boody.

1879.—Thomas L. Allen, F. H. Boody, Urban Lowell.

BEPRESENTATITES IN THE OENERAL COURT OF MASSA-
CHUSETTS FROM 1762 TO 1820.

1767-68, Abraham Anderson ; 1797, Ezra Brown ; 1803, Peter T.

Smith
J
1805-12, Josiah Chute; 1813-15, Stephen Hall; 1816,

Nathan Ooold; 1817-20, Josiah Chnte.

TOWN PROPERTY.

The property beloagiag to the town coDsists chiefly of a

poor-house and farm, and of a brick town-house. The

buildings for the accommodation of the poor are large and

convenient, and reflect credit upon the town. The town-

house is a building 40 by 50 feet, with walls of 13 feet

elevation, containing a safe for the deposit of "the town of

the best construction, and convenient offices for business.

It was erected in 1833.

CENTENNIAL OF THE FIKST SETTLEMENT.

On the 4th of July, 1839, was held the centennial of the

first settlement of the town of Windham. The day was

ushered in with an artillery salute at sunrise. At six o'clock

a procession was formed at the hotel of James Greenough,

under the direction of Gren. Elias Baker, chief marshal,

and Daniel 'W. Dole and Ezra Brown, Esqs., assistant mar-

shals, which, for numbers, is seldom equaled in any place.

A large number of the old citizens of Windham came from

a distance to pay tribute to the memory of their fathers.

Hon. John Anderson presided, and Moses Little and Lucius

Whipple, Esqs., officiated as vice-presidents. The occasion

was one long to be remembered by those who participated

in it A full report of this grand celebration would occupy

too much space to be embodied in this history, but many

copies of it have been preserved in the excellent historical

sketch of the town prepared by Thomas L. Smith, Esq.,

and published in 1873.

SELIttlOUS DENOMINATIONS.

CONOREOATIONAL.

The church established by the proprietors of the town

was of the Congregational order. The first meeting-house

was erected in 1740. Two years elapsed before a church

was formed and an effort made to secure a minister. At a

meeting of the proprietors, held March 3, 1742, it was voted

to " settle an orthodox minister as soon as may be,'' to pay

him " forty-five pounds for his settlement" out of the pro-

prietors' treasury, and " thirty pounds per annum" for his

salary, " until the township be incorporated as a town."

James Skinner, Nathan Brown, and Jonathan Proctor were

chosen a committee to settle Mr. John Wight, who duly

ordained and entered upon his labors, with a church mem-

bership of seven persons, in September, 1743, seven pounds

ten shillings being voted by the proprietors to pay his ordi-

nation expenses. We give a brief summary, as follows, of

the pastors of this church

:

51

1. Rev. John Wight, graduated at Harvard College in

1721 ;
came from Dedham, Mass. ;

ordained Dec. 14, 1743
;

preached in Windham till his death, May 8, 1753, aged

fifty-five years.

2. Rev. Peter Thaoher Smith, son of Rev. Thomas

Smith, born in Portland, June 14, 1731
;
graduated at Har-

vard College in 1753 ; ordained Sept. 22, 1762 ; dismissed

Nov. 26, 1790 ; died Oct. 26, 1826, in the ninety-sixth

year of his age, having preached twenty-eight years and

two months.

3. Rev. Nathaniel Stone, graduated at Harvard College

in 1795 ; came from Provincetown, Mass.; ordained Oct. 1,

1798; dismissed Feb. 3, 1805.

4. Rev. Asa Lyman, born at Lebanon, Conn., about 1777
;

graduated at Yale CoU^e in 1802 or 1803, installed Nov.

3,1809; dismissdd June 1,1810; died in the State of New
York, in 1836, aged fifty-nine years.

5. Rev. Grardner Kellogg, installed April 25, 1811 ; con

tinned pastor till his death, Nov. 29, 1826, aged sixty-one

years.

6. Rev. William Gragg, ordained Oct. 15, 1828; dis-

missed Aug. 31, 1831.

7. Rev. Jonathan Lee Hale, ordained Sept. 12, 1832

;

continued pastor till his death, Jan. 15, 1835, aged forty-

five years.

8. Rev. John W. Shepard, ordained Aug. 3, 1836 ; dis-

missed July 19, 1839.

9. Rev. William Warren,* ordained February, 1840 ; dis-

missed November, 1849.

10. Rev. John Perham, ordained Jan. 21, 1851 ; dis-

missed Sept. 19, 1854.

11. Rev. Luther Wiswall, installed Sept. 20, 1854 ; and

is the present pastor of the church.

Besides the meeting-house already spoken of, erected in

1740, two other meeting-house frames were erected in the

south part of the town prior to 1795, but neither of them

was ever finished, and both were subsequently taken down.

The fourth Congregational meeting-house was erected in

1795, and stood opposite Thomas L. Smith's dwelling-house.

It was taken down in 1861. The first Congregational meet-

ing-house at Windham Hill was built in 1834, and is the

one now occupied by the society. It is a convenient, well-

finished church, with steeple and bell, being the first bell in

any church in Windham.

The proceeds of the ministerial right in the town-grant

have been converted into a fund, the income of which is

about $225 a year, for the benefit of the church.

friends' society.

The Friends' society is next to the oldest religious organ-

ization in the town of Windham. At a town-meeting held

October 13, 1774, it was voted to excuse eight persons of

this society from paying the ministerial taxes,—a decidedly

just and liberal act on the part of the people of the town.

The Friends built their first meeting-house in 1779, estab-

» Mr. Warren was educated at Bowdoin College, and prepared for

the ministry at Bangor Theological Seminary. He received the de-

gree of D.D. from Bowdoin College. Daring his residence in Wind-

ham he was also engaged in teaching, and was the author of a geog-

raphy which was extensively used in the sohoola of Maine.
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lished a " preparative" meeting in 1793, a quarterly meet-

ing in 1801, and a monthly meeting in 1802. Their

present hoase of worship—a large and commodious one,

near the centre of the town—was erected in 1849. They

are the only society in town that has sustained a regular

meeting irom the first to the present without a suspension

of public worship. They provide for the needs of the leas

favored among them, none of their society being allowed,

on account of poverty or misfortune, to become chargeable

to the town for assistance or support. They had at an

early time an academy for the instruction of youth, which

was the only one ever established in the town.

. METHODIST CHtTBCH.

The first Methodist sermon preached in Maine was at

Saco, Sept. 10, 1793, by Elder Jesse Lee, of Viiginia.

He had been principally instrumental in forming societies

of this order in the New England Stat«8, which he com-

menced io Connecticut in 1789. At a conference held in

Lynn, in 1793, this zealous disciple of Wesley was ap-

pointed to travel through Maine. In a tour of several

months through the State he went as far east as Castine.

A circuit was formed on the Kennebec called " Readfield's

Circuit," and Elder Wager was appointed preacher. He
was no doubt the first Methodist circuit preacher in Maine.

The Portland circuit was established in 1794, and a class

formed there in 1795, in December of which year the first

quarterly meeting ever held in this State assembled at Port-

land. It was probably about this time, or soon after, that

the Methodists built a church edifice at Windham, that

being included in Portland circuit, although we find it

stated by Mr. Smith, in his history of Windham, that it

was built in 1792. Probably Elder Wi^er, when he was

on the Portland circuit in 1795-96, was the first preacher

of Methodism in Windham. Rev. Joshua Taylor, very

likely, preached here also after he came upon the circuit in

1804. At all events the early meetings here did not prosper.

The church was abandoned, and taken down many years

ago. They also subsequently built a meeting-house in the

south part of the town, which was removed and used for a

school-house. At present they have no denominational

house of worship, but hold services in the free meeting-

house at Windham Upper Comer.

BA7TI8TS.

The Baptists of this town are all of the Free-Will order.

A large society was gathered, and a meeting-house erected

on the Little farm, near Mallison Falb, in 1822, mainly

under the ministry of Elder Clement Phinney, an able and

popular preacher. For some time the congregations were

large and enthusiastic, but they ultimately dwindled away,

woiship was suspended, and the meeting-house, after re-

maining unoccupied for several years, was taken down. A
free meeting-house was erected in the south part of the

town in 1870, and is occupied by the General Baptists and

Second Adventists.

UNITEBSALISTS.

" Fifty years ago there was scarcely a Universalist in the

town. At present they are more numerous than any other

society." A Universalist society was first oiganized June

8, 1840. On the 15th of that month it was voted to

build a meeting-house ftiriy-ei^ht feet long, thirty-eight

wide, with posts seventeen feut liifih. lo have a suitable bel-

fry, dome, and spire. The building was accordingly erected

that fall, and dedicated May 12, 1841. Rev. George Bates

preached the dedicatory sei-mon. Rev. Leander Hussey

was the first settled pastor. For several years after the

church was built they had large congr^ations and constant

meetings. But in procpss of time the meetings were sus-

pended, and the church remained unoccupied for several

years. In 1871 the society was revived under the preach-

ing of Rev. S. S. Fletcher.

There is a fnse meeting-house at Windham Centre,

erected in 1846.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

HON. WILLIAM GOOLD,

of Windham, whose portrait accompanies this sketch, is

emphatically a Maine man. The ancestors of both of his

grandfathers were early settled at Kittery, in that part now

Elliott. Only the width of the road separates the two farms,

which are yet owned and occupied by the descendants of

the two families. Family tradition says that two brothers

came ftvm England, and both settled in the vicinity of the

Piscataqua. One of them was named Benjamin Goold.

He was the great-great-grandfather of him whose name

stands at the head of this sketch. He purchased his farm

in 1717. His will names five sons and two married daugh-

ters. The homestead he bequeathed to his son Benjamin,

who died in 1806. He had four sons and three (married)

daughters. Alexander, the second son, had the home farm,

and cared for his parents. He was a soldier at the battle

of Bunk«r Hill, and was on board the ship which carried

Dr. Benjamin Franklin to France, in 1776. He was a

military pensioner, and died about 1850, at the age of

ninety-two ; at which time he had in the house, separate

from all other money, all of his pension which he had

drawn, amounting to sixteen hundred dollars. With all

his American ancestors, he is buried in a private incloaure

on the old &rm, which is now owned by his son James.

He was the granduncle of the present William Gtwld.

Benjamin, the youngest son of the second Benjamin, and

brother to Alexander, was bom at Kittery, in 1749. At

the age of nineteen he went to Falmouth, Me., and worked

six years for Daniel Hall, a farmer ; afler which, in 1774,

he went to Windham, and built a log house on a lot of wild

land, which he purchased with his six years' eamings and his

scanty patrimony, and the same year he married Phoebe,

the daughter of Nathan Noble, of New Boston, now Gray,

who was the son of John Noble, the founder of the beau-

tiful town of New Milford, Conn., where he was bom Feb.

4, 1722. Nathan Noble served in the French war ; was at

the siege and surrender of Lonisbonrg, in 1745. He after-

wards enlisted for three years in the army of the Revolu-

tion, in 1775, leaving his family at Gray. He was in the

battles of Stillwater, Hubbardston, and Saratoga, where

G«n. Burgoyne surrendered his army, Oct. 17, 1777. In
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this memorable battle Mr. Noble was killed by a musket-

ball while entering the enemy's works. He was William

Groold's paternal great-grandfather,

Benjamin Goold, the third of the name of successive

generations, and Phoebe Noble, his wife, from their lot of

wild land made a fruitful farm, and a frame house, yet

standing, took the place of the one of logs. In these

houses, within the space of seventeen years, were born to

them five sods and two daughters, of whom none are now
living.

Nathan Groold, the second son of the third Benjamin,

and his wife, Phoebe Noble, was bom at their homestead in

Windham, April 10, 1778. In 1800, being then twenty-two,

he purchased the farm nearly opposite his father's, on which

he spent the remainder of his busy life. His second wife.

Ho died of consumption, in 1823, aged forty-five. His

widow died in 18t)6, aged eighty-five.

Nathan and Betsey (Gowen) Goold were the parents of

William Goold, whose name and portrait heads this sketch.

He was born at the family residence in Windham, April

13, 1809. He was fourteen years old at the death of his

father, with only what education he acquired at the brief

terms of the district school, which has been his only school-

ing. The same year, at the age of fourteen, he commenced

as an apprentice in a cloth- and clothing-store in Portland,

where, during the six succeeding years, he acquired the me-

chanical and mercantile skill requisite for the management

of the business, in which he became a partner with his

employer in 1830, who finally left the business to him two

years after. In 1834, Mr. Goold married the only dangh-
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whom he married in 1807, was Betsey, the oldest child of

James Gowen, of Westbrook, to which town he came from

Blittery, where he was bom, in 1754. His father, William

Gowen, died in the Provincial army in Canada in 1760,

and he was reared by his uncle and godfather, the Hon.

James Gowen, of Kittery, who was one of the three Massa-

chusetts Councilors from Maine from 1770 to 1774. He
was the grandson of William Gowen, who was a fi-eeholder

in Kittery in 1675. Nathan Goold and his wife, Betsey

Gowen, had two sons and one daughter ; only the sons are

now living. He was a farmer and trader. He was elected

chairman of the board of selectmen in 1812, and re-

elected to that office eight successive years. He repre-

sented his native town in the Legislature of Massachusetts

in 1815. He was a justice of the peace, and was a captain

in the militia, called for the defense of Portland, in 1814.

^Z

ter of his first employer, Mr. Seth Clark. He continued

in business until 1837, when his health became impaired,

and he left the business and removed to the home farm,

which he had always retained. After spending seven years

on the farm, and having regained his health, he returned to

the clothing business, with his brother, in Portland, to whom
he sold out two years after, and went into the manufacture and

sale of fur goods. At the commencement of the war, in

1861, Mr. Goold again removed to the old homestead,—to

the same house in which he was born, built in 1775. In

1867 he represented the district composed of Windham

and Scarborough in the Legislature, and was elected to the

State Senate in 1874, and re-elected the next year. He
has always been interested in historical research, especially

in the history of his native State, ;ind has written several

lengthy papers on that subject. Some of them have been pub-
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lished in the " New England Historic Grenealogical Register,"

and others are in the " Archives of the Maine Historical

Society," before which they have been read, and of which

he is a member, elected in 1873. He is an enthusiastic and

indostrioos historical student, and his initials are familiar

to the readers of the Portland newspapers.

Mr. Groold has four sons and three daughters, one of

whom, Mrs. Abba Ooold Woolson, the wife of Mr. Moses

Woolson, a teacher of Concord, N. H., is well known by her

lectures on English literature and other subjects, and from

her published works, the best known of which is " Women
in American Society," published by Roberts Brothers, of

Boston, in 1873. She was one year employed as essayist

on the Botton Journal. One daughter is the wife of

Mr. George H. Harding, of Windham, and the youngest

has been five years a teacher in the public schools of Port-

land. Of the sons, the two oldest are watchmakers in Bos-

ton and Portland ; the third is a book-keeper at the Portland

Locomotive Works, in whose employ, as machinist and book-

keeper, he has been fifteen years. The youngest is a sales-

man in a Pordand clothing-store. Daring the second year

of the Rebellion the oldest son left his watch-making, and

enlisted on board the steam sloop-of-war " Housatonic" with-

out bounty, and served fifteen months on the Charleston

blockade, where he was often under fire on shipboard and

in armed boat service. AAer his discharge he volunteered

in the disastrous night boat attack on Fort Sumter. At
the expiration of his term of service he resumed the watch

business. The family are Episcopalians.

The Arms of Goold are thus recorded in the Herald's

Office, London :
" Per Saltire or. and az a Lion Rampt,

Counterchanged. Orest on- a Mount vert an Ermine pas-

sant proper." Motto, " Dum Spiro Spero."

THOMAS LAURENS SMITH

was bom in Windham, Cumberland Co., Me., Nov. 3,

1797. He descendi) (the fourth generation) fi-om the Rev.

Thomas Smith, who was the first regularly ordained minis-

ter in Falmouth (now Portland), and who was bom in

Boston, March 10, 1702, a memoir of whose life was pub-

lished in Portland, by William Willis, in 1849. He mar-

ried, Sept. 12, 1728, Sarah Tyng, by whom he had eight

children. The Rev. Peter Thacher Smith (grandfather to

Thomas L.) was their second chUd. He was bom in Port-

land, June 14, 1731
;

graduated from Harvard College

1753, and settled as pastor of the Congregational Church

at Windham, Sept. 22, 1762, their second pastor, the

Rev. John Wight being the first. He was twice married.

His. first wife, by whom he had all his children, eleven in

number, was Elizabeth Wendell, of Boston, to whom he was

married Oct. 8, 1765.

Thomas Smith, their fourth child, and father to Thomas

L., was bom in Windham, Oct. 2, 1770. Married Mary

Barker, by whom he had four children, viz., Tyng, Eliza

Wendell, Thomas L., and Mary Ann, all deceased except

Thomas L. His father died Feb. 27, 1802 ; his mother,

Jan. 12, 1846. After the death of his father, Mr. Smith

went to live with his uncle, John Tyng Smith, in Qorham,

where he remained eight years. He subsequently leamed

of his brother, Tyng, the clothier's trade, and followed it

for seven years in the town of Westbrook. His education

was limited to the common schools of Gorham and Wind-

ham. With the exception of three years in which, from

1832 to 1835, he was engaged in the lumber trade in the
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town of Standish, Mr. Smith, since his marriage, has

lived and carried on a farm in the town of Windham, and

since 1835 on the same place where he still lives. He
married, March 18, 1821, Eliza Chamberlain, daughter of

Joseph and Abigail Chamberlain. Mrs. Smith was bora

Aug. 3, 1801. They have had five children, viz., Mary

Ann, bom Dec. 10, 1823, died in Natick, Mass., Oct. 26,

1867 ; Edward Tyng, bom Feb. 26, 1826, married Eliza

Marston, of North Yarmouth ; is a carriage manufacturer at

Little Falls, South Windham ; Wendell Thomas, bom July

17, 1835, a private in Company F, 1st Maine Cavalry,

died on David's Island, N. Y., whUe in service, July 21,

1864; Frances Elizabeth, bom Aug. 23, 1837, living at

home ; Eliza Wendell, bom May 26, 1842, wife of G. C.

Hathaway, of Natick, Mass.

In politics, Mr. Smith has been identified with the Whig
and Republican parties. In religion he has entertained

Universalist views. He has filled the office of justice of

the peace, in Windham, from 1823 to 1874. A loiter

continued term of office will be hard to find. He has

fiUed at different times the offices of town treasurer, town

agent, selectman, and superintendent of the town school

committee. In 1829 he was elected county coroner; in

1830, deputy sheriff. He was president of the first tem-

perance society in Windham. In 1861 he was elected

representative for Windham and Scarborough. In 1874 he

was elected trial justice, which position he still holds. In

1873 he published a history of Windham. Having been

a resident of the town twenty-thtee years, while it was a
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part of the province of Massachusetts, and for more than a

half-ceotury after the province had become the State of

Maine, and having filled nearly every office within the £;ift

of its people, Mr. Smith could fittingly appropriate to him-

self the language of ^neas of old : "... quaeque ipse

. . . vidi, et quorum pars magna fui."

RICHARD MAYBERRY
was born in Windham, Cumberland Co., Me., May 19,

1814. William Mayberry, the second settler in the town

of Windham, had three sons,—Thomas, Richard, and John.

William Mayberry, the only son of the latter, was Richard's

grandfather. Josiah Maybeny, his father, was the youngest

of six sons, and the youngest but one in a family of nine

children. He married Eunice Miller for his first wife, by

whom he had five children, of whom Richard was the

youngest, and the only one now living. In 1820 the family

moved from the old homestead, in South Windham, and

settled on the Presumpscot River road, in that part of

Windham known as the Mayberry neighborhood, in which

locality Mr. Mayberry has ever since lived. Farming has

been his life-long occupation. His education was received

in the common schools of Windham. He was married,

March 30, 1842, to Mary Jane Mayberry, daughter of

Thomas and Mary Mayberry, of Windham. Mrs. May-

berry was bom Jan. 9, 1821. They have had four children,

viz.: Almeda Ellen, born Dec. 14, 1848. Mary Abby,

bom Aug. 30, 1852; married, Jan. 1, 1874, to John

C. Mayberry ; they have two children,—Mabel May, and

Richard Lcroy. Francis Newhall, born Oct. 22, 1857.

Fred. Eugene, born April 27, 1865.

In politics, Mr. Mayberry was a Democrat until the for-

mation of the Republican party, since which time he has

been identified with that party. He was elected represen-

tative for the town of Windham in 1872, serving in the

Legislature of 1873.

A thorough farmer, a good citizen, of a genial, social dis-

position, Mr. Mayberry well deserves the esteem in which

he is held by the community in which be has always lived.

D. P. B. PRIDE.

This gentleman was bom in Windham, April 22, 1852,

the second child of Edmund B. and Hannah M. (Baker)

Pride. His father was born in the town of Cumberland,

and was a sea-captain for twelve years. After his marriage

he settled on a farm in Cumberland. In 1850 he moved

to North Windham, where he has since carried on farming.

Their children are Frank 0., D. P. B., and Lizzie M.

The eldest was born in Cumberland, married Abbie Hunt,

and has one child, Leoniel Hersey. He is superintendent of

the North Windham Manufacturing Company. D. P. B.

Pride received his education in the common schools of

Windham, with two years and a half at Westbrook Sem-

inary, from which he graduated in 1869. He subsequently

pursued a classical course, under the instruction of Professor

James Furbish, of Portland, for two and a half years.

Studied law for the same period in the office of Howard &

Cleaves, Portland ; was admitt«d to the bar Dec. 12, 1873
;

opened a law-office at North Windham, in 1874, and has

practiced his profession there since. Mr. Pride is a Re-

publican in politics, and takes an active part in political

campaigns. In religion he is a Universalist in sentiment.

He is a prominent member of the order of Good Tem-

plars, and is at the head of that organization of the Cumber-

land district.

In June, 1873, he was elected first lieutenant of Com-

pany A, 1st Regiment Maine Volunteer Militia.

GEORGE T. PRATT
was born in the town of Yarmouth, Cumberland Co., Me.,

July 23, 1847, the fourth child of Thomas and Mary
(Buckuam) Pratt. His father followed lumbering and

farming, and lived and died in Yarmouth. His mother is

still living at the old homestead there. George T. lived at

home until he was twenty-one years of age. He received

his education in the common schools of his native town.

Though brought up on a farm, he early showed a prefer-

ence for mechanical pursuits, possessing almost an intuitive

knowledge of machinery. Following this natural bent of

his mind, when of age he left the farm and engaged in the

paper-mill of Dennison & Brown at Yarmouth, where he

remained till the mill burned in 1871. He was next em-

ployed in the paper-mill of L. L. Brown & Co., at South

Adams, Mass. In 1875 he was employed in setting up and

running the paper-board mill of Pollard & Gray, at East

Dover, Me. He also started a mill of the same kind at

South Paris. He next took charge of a wood-pulp mill on

the Presumpscot River, in North Gorham. In the fall of

1876 he was employed as superintendent of the Sebago

Wood Board Company's works, situated at Little Falls, on

the Presumpscot River, in South Windham, which position

he still holds.

Mr. Pratt in whatever position he has occupied has shown

himself a thorough master of the situation. Of strictly

temperate habits, using neither tobacco nor ardent spirits in

any form, thoroughly self-reliant, he has always enjoyed in

the fullest measure the confidence of his employers and the

respect of all who have known him.

J. M. WHITE.

His grandfather, Peter, born in Dedham, Mass., in 1748,

removed from Buckfield to Standish, in 1788. Married

Alice Wescott, of Westbrook. She was born in 1752, and

died Oct. 7, 1812. He died June 2, 1804. Their children

were Peter. Mary W., wife of John Trickey, born Nov. 11,

1776 ; died June, 1817. Annie W., wife of Abraham

Nabery. Elder Joseph White. Captain John White,

bom 1784 ; died April 4, 1838. Captain Mark White, bora

January, 1781 ; died December, 1832. Solomon White,

born January, 1792 ; died 1817. Nathaniel White, born

March, 1798 ; died Jan. 31, 1853.

His father, Capt. John White, married, in 1819, Huldah,

daughter of Eben aud Sarah H. Morrill, of Windham.

She was the daughter of Elijah Hanson, one of the first

settlers in Windham, and was born Dec. 19, 1790, aud

died Jan. 15, 1879. Their children are Ann W., born
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Aug. 5, 1820. John M., born May 19, 1828. Ellen, bora

Sept. 29, 1830. These children were born at Great Falls,

Windham, in the same house, now the residence of and

owned by J. M. White. This homestead was purchased

by Capt. John White from the heirs of John Trickey, in

1832, and had been deeded to John Trickey by Zebulon

Trickey, in 1800, and deeded to him by Samuel Sewell,

of Marblefaead.

ALLEY HAWKES

was bora in Windham, Cumberland Co., Me., Dec. 3, 1809.

The first progenitor of the family in this country was Adam
Hawkes, who, at the age of twenty-two, with seventeen

hundred emigrants, under Ooveraor John Winthrop, in a

fleet of eleven vessels, landed at Salem, Mass., June 12,

1630.

He built a log house in the town of Saugus, on the

Saugus River, on an eminence which has always borne the

name of " Close Hill." This house was subsequently

burned in midwinter, the family barely escaping with their

lives. One of the bricks brought from England and used

in the construction of the chimney was shown the writer by

a son of Mr. Hawkes.

The line of descent is as follows: (1) Adam Hawkes,

(2) John Hawkes, (3) Ebenezer Hawkes, Sr., (4) Ebenezer

Hawkes, Jr., (5) James Hawkes, (6) James Hawkes, (7)

Alley Hawkes.

In 1712, Ebenezer Hawkes, Sr., moved to Marblehead,

Mass., and was one of the committee appointed to locate

and survey the town of New Marblehead (now Windham),

and though he never moved there, he was one of its most

active proprietors, ^e was on the committee to build a

bridge over the Presumpscot River, at Horse-beef (now

Mallison) Falls, in 1735, and in company with three others

built a saw-mill there. He died in 1766.

His son, Ebenezer, Jr., had four sons: Amos, Ebenezer,

Nathaniel, and James. The latter (grandfather of Alley

Hawkes) was twice married. By his first wife he had one

son and two daughters. James Hawkes, the son, married

Rebecca Robinson, by whom he had seven children, viz.

:

Samuel, Solomon, Betsey, Daniel, Lydia, James, and Alley

;

all deceased, except Betsey, James, and Alley. The father

built and carried on a carding-mill at Duck Pond, and also

dealt in ship-timber. He was for a number of years en-

gaged in the grocery trade, at Windham Hill, in company

with his eldest son.

Alley Hawkes lived at home until twenty years of age.

His education was limited to the common schools of Wind-

ham. He learaed the shoemaker's trade of Joshua L.

Brown, of Great Falls. Working for other parties for about

three years, in 1833 he bought out his employers, Messrs.

Reed & Hawkes, and carried on the shoemaking business

until 1845. In the same year he purchased of William.

Goold the store at the coraer of Windham Centre, which

he still occupies as a grocery store. Mr. Hawkes married,

Feb. 28, 1838, Charlotte, daughter of Abraham Mayberry,

of Standish. His wife died Oct. 28, 1842. He again

married, Oct. 18, 1843, Ann Louisa, daughter of James H.

Morris. Mrs. Hawkes was bora in Scarborough, Oct. 4,

1822. They have had three children, viz.: William A.,

deceased ; Fred S., in trade with his father at Windham

Centre ; he has been town clerk for eight years, and town

treasurer for three years ; and Frank N., at home. Mr.

Hawkes, with the exception of the short time named above

at Gorham, has been a life-long resident of Windham. His

present residence at the centre of the town was formerly

known as the Hausen Tavera stand, and was kept as a

public-house for nearly a century. In politics Mr. Hawkes

is a Republican. He has been postmaster at the Centre

since 1872.

DR. B. P. DUNN

was born in the town of Oxford, county of Androscoggin,

Me., Jan. 9, 1844, the fourth child of James and Ruth

(Strout) Dunn. The family are of Scotch descent. His

father was a native of Poland, Me., and is a farmer by oc-

cupation. There were eight children in his father's family,

five sons and three daughters, ail but one living. His

mother died in August, 1863, at East Poland. The doc-

tor's early years were spent on the farm at home. He at-

tended the high school at Minot Coraer, town of Minot;

several terms at Edward Little Institute, at Auburn, War-

ren T. Webster, Principal ; and two years at the Maine

Wesleyan Seminary, at Kent's Hill, in the town of Read-

field. At the age of eighteen he enlisted as a private in

Company G, Twenty-third Maine, a nine months' regi-

ment; was honorably discharged at the end of term of ser-

vice. He taught two terms of school at West Poland, and

for a time at the State Reform School. He commenced

the study of medicine in the office of Dr. Hersey, of Ox-

ford, with whom he remained six months. For the next

two years and a half he studied with Dr. S. C. Gordon, of

Portland, Me. His first course of lectures was at Bowdoin

Medical College ; his second course, at the Harvard Medical

Collie ; his third, at Bowdoin, from which he took his di-

ploma, June, 1868. He temporarily opened an office with

his old preceptor in Portland, where he remained four

months. His next practice was in the town of Harrison,

where he remained one year. He opened an office at Wind-

ham Hill in the fall of 1869, and has remained here since,

and has built up a large practice in the town of Windham
and vicinity. The doctor married, Jan. 9, 1869, Clara A.

Towle, daughter of Lorenzo and Harriet Towle, of West-

brtx>k. Mrs. Dunn was born in Westbrook, Feb. 13, 1843.

In politics the doctor is Republican. Both the doctor and

Mrs. Dunn are members of the First Congregational Churoh

of Windham.

CHARLES ROGERS

was bora in Windham, Cumberland Co., Me., May 12,

1826, the eldest child of Isaiah and Lydia (Gray) Rogers.

Gershom Rogers, who was selectman of Windham in 1783
and 1784, was his great-grandfather. His grandfather,

Isaac Rogers, and his father, Isaiah, were bora in North

Windham, on the place now owned by Lewis Libby. They
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were farroeni. His mother was the daufjhter of James and

Lydia Gray, of the town of Standish.

There were in his father's family eight children, viz.

:

Charles, Marshall, Orin N., Cummings, Sarah K., Annette,

Isaac R., and Albert T., all living except Marshall and

Orin N. His father died Nov. 20, 1878 ; his mother, Dec.

3, 1878. Mr. Rogers lived at home till he was eight years

of age ; he then went to live with his uncle, Daniel Rogers,

and remained till he was twenty-one years of age. His

education was received in the common schools of Wind-

ham. For four years after his majority he worked at lum-

bering on the Northwest River, Sebago. In 1851 he

returned to Windham, where, in company with Charles and

J. A. Parsons, he purchased what is known as the Narrows

Milb. In 1859 he sold his interest in the mill, and in thd

spring of 1860 engaged in mercantile trade in North

Windham. In 1861 he also engaged in the manufacture

of clothing. In 1875 he became again interested in the

lumber business, as a partner in the North Windham Man-

ufacturing Company, building a new mill on the site of

the old Narrows Mills. These several interests he still

retains.

He married, May 27, 1853, Rebecca Knight, daughter

of Reuben and Sarah (Rogers) Knight. Mrs. Rogers was

bom in Windham, Sept. 17, 1829. They have had four

children, as follows : Orin N., born June 23, 1854, died

May 24, 1855; L. Ella, born May 23, 1856; Charles D.,

bom Jan. 16, 1859, died April 16, 1862; Hattie P., born

April 26, 1862.

In politics Mr. Rogers was first a Whig, and a Republi-

can since the formation of the party. He was selectman

in 1865, 1867, 1868, and 1869; representative in 1874-

75 ; town agent in 1878-79 ; and trial justice since 1872.

BENJAMIN M. BAKER
was born in Windham, Cumberland Co., Me., Oct. 23,

1817, the eldest child of Elias and Margaret (Morrill)

Baker. His grandfather, Josiiih Baker, born in Falmouth,

July 5, 1761. married Elizabeth Legrow, Nov. 13, 1783.

Soon after his marriage he settled in East Windham, where

all of his children, seven in number, were born. He died

Oct. 24, 1829.

Gen. Elias Baker, his father, repi'esented the town in the

Legislature two years, and was selectman a number of years.

He died March 8, 1872. His mother is still living, at the

advanced age of eighty-seven years, with her son, Benjamin

M. Their children were Benjamin M., David P., Han-

nah M., and Elizabeth L. David P. is deceased.

Mr. Baker lived on the place where he was born, now

owned by John L. Morrill, till January, 1857, when he

moved on to the farai in East Windham where he now

resides. His education was limited to the common schools

of Windham. He married, June 21, 1840, Hannah A.

Baker, daughter of Benjamin and Mary Baker. JNIrs.

Baker was born in Windham, Sept. 23, 1818. They have

had nine children, viz.: Cordelia J., born Dec. 26, 1841
;

wife of Joseph E. Maxfield ; they have three children,

Ina B., Mabel, and Herold Blinn. Ann Mary, born April

21 , 1843, wife of Rufus A. Maxfield, brother of Joseph E.

;

one child, Iva N. Elias L., born Jan. 11, 1847, died July

8, 1854. Ella L., born Dec. 25, 1848, wife of Calvin

Morrill. Margaret V., born April 3, 1851. Frank P.,

born Oct. 3, 1854. Elias L., born Dec. 2, 1855. Lizzie

B., born March 10, 1857, died May 14, 1863. Eugene B.,

born Dec. 9, 1862.

In politics Mr. Baker has been a life-long Democrat, and

is one of the leading men of that party in the town of

Windham. He has been called to fill various offices of

public trust. Was deputy sheriff from 1848 to 1856

;

coroner from 1 852 to 1856 ; representative in 1865 and

1872; selectman in 1874; and State senator in 1876.

In the discharge of all public duties, and as a private

citizen, Mr. Baker has always commanded the respect of

the entire community in which his whole life lias been

spent.

YARMOUTH.
INCORPORATION AND BOUNDARIES.

Thb town of Yarmouth was incorporated Aug. 8, 1849,

and comprised the southern half of the town of North

Yarmouth. It is bounded on the north by North Yar-

mouth, on the east by Pownal and Freeport, on the south

by Casco Bay, and on the west by Cumberland. It com-

prises the greater portion of the early settlements fornrerly

called Wescustogo, and taken possession of by Walter

(Jendall, George Pearson, and Lieut. Anthony Brackett,

under an order issued July 13, 1681, by Hon. Thomas

Danforth. The islands belonging to the town are Cousins',

Little Johns, Great and Little Moges, Lane's, and Crab

Islands. Royall's River, passing to the southward through

the centre of the town, furnishes three magnificent water-

powers, 500 yards apart, the lower of which is at the head

of steamboat navigation.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

The beautiful bay, abounding with fish and fowl, dotted

with verdant islands, the bountiful supply of timber upon

its shores, and the immense profits of trade with the Indians,

were allurements not to be resisted by the hardy sons of

the Pilgrim Fathers of New England. The extensive mud

flats along the shores abounded in clams, the shells of which

had accumulated in immense heaps through many genera-

tions of the red men.
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In 1629, William Royall, a cleaver of timber, came from

England, and settled in 1636 between Cuusin River and

the stream bearing bis name. He purchased a tract of land

here of Thomas Gorges, in 1643. In 1637, John Cousins

bought of bim and moved on to the land between the two

branches of Cousin River, afterwards occupied by Mr. Lane.

In 1645 he became the owner of Cousins' Island. In 1647,

Richard Bray purchased of Mr. Cousins one-half of his

island, and with William Wise settled thereon. Richard

Carter, St., settled on the Foreside.* In 1652 he sold

" his sixty acres of lands, with fenced fields," to John Mayne
(or Maine), from whom the western end took the name of

Maine's Point Hugh Mosier settled on Mosier's Island in

1647 ; Nicholas White came the same year. John Holman
settled on Prince's Point, near Mr. Mayne. In 1658 a fort

or stronghold was erected on Mr. Royall's place, a saw-

mill was built at the lower falls by Heniy Saward, and a

grist-mill partially completed.

G«oi^e Felt, Francis Neal, and Jenk Williams bought a

large tract of land from some Indians, but were opposed by

other Indians, who claimed that the first had no title to the

land, which was theirs.

Thomas Blashfield settled in that part of the town now

Freeport, and Benjamin Larrabee on the old " Staples farm."

Great care was exercised in selecting defensive localities

for dwellings. Every man's house was his castle. Forts

or strongholds of timbers were erected singly, if alone ; while

near neighbors joined in a more substantial place of retreat

and defense against Indian incursions, and in this one of

the families lived.

In June, 1675, the Indians began a war of extermina-

tion against the settlers, who were fast encroacfaing upon

their favorite fishing-grounds. Lane's Island had been

their council-ground, and its western end their burial-place.

Another burial-place was at Maine's Point. The large

piles of shells and many stone implements scattered over

these flats attest their long occupancy. James Lane was

killed. Two of the sons of a Mr. Hazelton, who had re-

cently bought the remaining half of Cousins' Island, were

killed while hunting their cows in the woods. The panic-

stricken settlers abandoned their homes in haste. Royall's

fort was destroyed, the mills burned, and the dwellings

and improvements destroyed. After three years peace was

made, and the inhabitants returned to their desolate homes.

September, 1680, the name was changed to North Yar-

mouth. A committee, appointed by Governor Danforth to

determine the most defensible place for laying oat a town,

fixed upon the neck or flat south of Royall's River, for-

merly occupied by John Maine and John Holman, and

comprising all the lands south of the Meeting-House Ledge.

The former owners were awarded lands elsewhere in ex-

change for their old titles, on condition of actual settle-

ment. The mill was rebuilt by Capt. Gendall. Capt.

Walter Gendall (of Cumberland), Lieut. Anthony Brackett,

and Geoige Pearson, surveyor,—committee,—measured and

staked out a square of 10 acres of the plains land on the flat

below for a meeting-house, minister's house, market-place,

school, and burial-plat, surrounded by a street four rods wide.

* Fureaida,—tfaa loosl name applied to the peninsula extending into

Casoo Bay.

I

The outer side of the street was laid out in dwelling-house

! lots, five on eaeh side, eight rods front and ten rods deep.

A common field, comprising 6 acres for each house-lot, was

also laid out. Each inhabitant was required to build a

dwelling-house upon his lot within one year's time, under

penalty of forfeiture of his lot and 40«. fine, unless the

committee saw fit to release the fine only.

June 28, 1684, John York, John Royall,t John Harris,

and Capt. Walter Gendall were appointed trustees and com-

mittee,—any two of whom, with the selectmen of the town,

might grant lands.

At a meeting, held at the house of Thomas Blashfell

Feb. 24, 1685, the committee declared themselves empow-

ered to deed a grant of land to every man who was an in-

habitant of the town. John Royall, William Ashfell,

Isaac Larrabee, and Roger Edwards each received 10 acres

of land and 4 acres of marsh ; and Nov. 15th, Henry

Coombs, Samuel Larrabee, and John Harris, each 10 acres

of land and 4 acres of marsh, on the west side of Royall's

River and along the shore.

By 1686, 36 families were settled along the shores of

North Yarmouth, most of whom were in the present town

of Yarmouth.

In July, 1686, an Indian named Joseph was arrested by

Constable Henry Coombs, for abusing the Lanes in (now)

Freeport. He plead drunkenness, having had " eight

quarts of rum of John Royall the day before, and four

this day I" Mr. Royall denied selling to him,;^ and testi-

fied to his previous bad conduct. The Indian was fined,

and Mr. Royall remanded to' Boston, to appear before the

Governor.

The Indians were soon engaged in a general war.

William Scales was killed and his family taken captive.

John Royall was taken prisoner.

A number of Indians met the whites at Royall's River,

as they were going from the Royall garrison near the west

end of the lower bridge to their work upon a stockade on

the east bank in the morning. They were impudent, and

one of them finally pushed one of the Larrabees, who in-

stantly shot him dead. Another Indian who attempted to

interfere was cut down by a broad-axe in the hands of

Benedict Pulsifer. The fight then became general. The

whites, inferior in numbers, retreated below the bank of

the river. The garrison, perceiving that their ammunition

was about exhausted, Capt. Gendall went in a boat with an

attendant to supply them. As the boat neared the shore

the savages fired. Throwing the ammunition to the shore,

he exclaimed, "I have lost my life in your service!" and

fell dead in the boat. William Harris was captured, but

escaped. John Royall was taken prisoner. A garrison

was established in his house by Col. Tyng, but two months

later we find Mrs. Loyall petitioning the Governor for good

soldiers. William Scales was killed, and his family taken

away. The mills were again burned, and the inhabitants

of Lane's Island butchered. Their bodies were found,

t This name was also spelled Rial, Ryall, and Riall, in the earl;

records. He made his mark, to official papers, thns : " John R.

Ryal."

I Hr. Rojall vas an Indian trader. At this time a fine of 20<.

was exacted for eaoh pint of intoxicating drink sold to an Indian.
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JAMES BATES, M.D.,

'(<l^^t^-^-<^^ ^^ ^--X^:^:^

was the eldest son of Solomon Bates and Mary Macomber, and was born in
the town of Greene, County of Lincoln (now Kennebec), District of Maine.
Sept. 24, 1739. At the age of seven hia father moved to Fayette, in same
county, where the subject of this sketch remained till he became of age, ac-
quiring in the mean time a common education, such as the times afforded.
At the age of twenty-one he began the study of medicine, aa the pupil

of Dr. Charles Smith, of Fayette, and Dr. Ariel Mann, of Hallowell, Me.,
the latter one of the most accomplished physicians and surgeons which
Maine has ever possessed. After attending the usual course of medical
iostruction at Harvard Medical University at Boston, he was appointed
'•surgeon's-mate" of Col. Denny McCobb's regiment of volunteer infantry
in 1813. In 1814 be was appointed '* hospital surgeon's-mate," served on
the Niagara frontier until the close of the war in Gen. (then Col.) Winfield
Scott's brigade; was present at the surrender of Fort Erie, and at the bat-
tles of Chippewa and Bridgewater. At the close of the war, in 1815, he
was left in charge of the general military hospital near Buffalo, with seven
hundred sick and wounded, and was the ranking medical oflScer at that
time remaining in the service. He left the army in May, 1815, and entered
into a copartnership with his former preceptor, Dr. Mann, of Hallowell,
Me., for the practice of bis profession.

On the 27th of Jaly, 1S15, he married Mary Jones, daughter of Capt.
Sylvester Jones, of Fayette, with whom he lived happily for si-xty years,
and by whom he had five children, two sons and three daughters. One sou,
James M. Bates, M.D., and one daughter, Mrs. William Jewell, for many
years a resident of Bangor, now of Berlin, N. H., a(-e still living. His
oldest daughter, Mary A. C, married Edward C. Selden, of Xorridgewock,
Me., and died in April, 1847. His second daughter, Lydia C. J., married
James B. Farnsworth, son of Judge Drummond Farnsworth, of Norridge-
wock, Me., and died in January, 1860, at Tomah, Wis. His oldest son,

Charles A., ^^arried Margaret Farnsworth, sister of James B., who died in

1845; and ue married, for his second wife, Ellen A. Drew, since deceased.
Charles A. himself died since the war of the Rebellion, in which he served

as captain.

In 1819 he removed from Hallowell to Norridgewock, Somerset Co., Me.,

where for twenty-six yeara he was engaged in an extensive practice of

medicine and surgery, which included several counties of the State. Has
performed what are termed capital operations in surgery in ten of the six-

teen coanties. In 1830 was elected a member of the Thirty-second Congress,

representing the counties of Somerset, Penobscot, and Piscataquis. In
1845 was appointed superintendent of the Maine Insane Hospital, at

Augusta, in which capacity he served six years, until thnt institution was
destroyed by fire, when he was commissioned by the Governor to visit all

the public institutions of note aa far south as Virginia, with a view to

obtain information as to the best modes of heating and ventilating, pre-

paratory to rebuilding the hospital. He made an elaborate report on his

return, containing much valuable material, whicb was made use of by the

State.

Next, after spending one year in Gardiner, Me., he removed to the town
of Fairfield, where- he entered into practice, and remained until 1858, when
at the solicitation of many citizens of Yarmouth, Cumberland Co., Me., he
removed to that town, where he was fcfr ten years or more engaged in the

active duties of hia profession, and where he now lives in retirement, after

fifty-five years of professional duty, at the age of ninety, in the full enjoy-

ment of his mental faculties.

He is a man of strong points of character, always holding a leading

position and influence in the communities in which he has lived. He
has always felt a strong interest in agriculture and horticulture, and for

many years, while living at Norridgewock, cultivated and beautified an

extensive farm, and waa a large stock-raiser. In those years delivered

many addresses at county and State fairs, being actively engaged in pro-

moting the interests of agriculture throughout the State. Has been con-

nected with the Masonic order since 1817, and was one of the charter mem-

bers in organizing Somerset Lodge of F. and A. M., in 1820, at XoiriJ^'cuo.^k.
of which he was for several years Master. Has been a member" nf the
Congregational Society for more than fifty years, and for the last twenty u
member of the Central Congregational Church at Yarmouth. The most
important and interesting fact in connection with this biographical sketch
is, that whatever record he has made during his long and eventful life has
been the result of an inherent force of character, and in spite uf extreinely
limited early advantages. Born and reared in the wilds of .Maine. hi"s

character acquired a vigor which enabled him to encounter the battle of
life vigorously, manfully, and successfully.

JAMES M.- BATES, M.D.,

youn^jeat son of James and Mary Bates, was born in Norridgewock, Somer-
set Co., Me., May 31, 1827, where bis boyhood days were^passed, a lari^e
part of the time at school, with exception of two years or so at \Vator\ ille
Institute, pursuing academical studies.

In 1345 his father, being appointed superintendent of the State Insane
Asylum, moved to Augusta, where the son continued his studies, and en-
gaged somewhat in teaching, until in 1848 he began the study of'medicinn
and was a pupil of hia father and Dr. H. 11. Hill, of Augusta. In lS4'.f-.Tii

attended the Medical School of Maine at Brunswick, and in I8J1 cumpleteil
his medical course at Philadelphia, where he graduated in March, 1S51, at
the Jefferson Medical College.

Began practice in Kennebec County, where he remained eight years, the
lost five of which at Sidney, doing an extensive business, where in OeCober
1355, he married Miss H. Ann R. Sawtelle, daughter of Calvin San telle-
wife still living. Has had four children ; three still living, as follow^
Edward C, has followed the sea for three years—foreign voyages, now in
Europe, aged twenty-one; George F., now a member of the°sonhom.ite
class in Bowdoin College, aged nineteen; and Hattie L., aged nine. Their
oldest child, Lottie M. C, died July 3, 1868, aged eleven.
He removed to Yarmouth, Cumberiand Co., in August, 1S59, and engaged

in the practice of medicine and surgery, in company with his fatherruutil
the breakingoutofthe Rebellion in 1861, when, after passing an examinatiun
before the State Medical Examining Board, he was commissioned by Gov-
ernor Washburn surgeon of the 13th Regiment Maine Infantry Volunteers,
Dec. 5, 1861, with which regiment he served in that capacity throughout
its whole term of three years' service,—going to Gulf of Mexico with the
Butler Expedition; thence up the Mississippi to the "Forts" and Neu
Orleans; thence in the Banks Expedition to Texas, and in 1864 in the
Red River Expedition; thence north to AVashington, and into Maryland,
joining Sheridan's forces in the Shenandoah Valley, during part of wbieli
campaign he was medical director at Martiosburg, W, Va. After the clo.^e
of the above campaign the regiment was ordered home, its term of service
having expired, arriving at Augusta, Me., Dec. 31, 1864, and he was mus-
tered out of the service Jan. 6, 1865.
Immediately thereafter he resumed the practice of his profession at

Yarmouth, where he is now actively engaged in an extensive practice of
medicine and surgery.

For many years he has been an active member of the Cumberland
County Medical Society, of which he was president in 1869, au<l of the
State Medical Association, of which he was president in 1875.

In Masonry he is a Knight Templar, and a member of St. Alban Coui-
mandery of Portland; also of Cumberland Royal Arch Chapter, and
Casco Lodge, at Yarmouth. Has served on school committees, and as
supervisor of schools for several years in oa«h town in which he has been
in business. He is at present a member of the board of trustees of the
State Reform School by appointment of the Governor.
During more than two years of his three years' service in the army Jio

was in active field service, and thrown into extensive surgical practice
amoDg thf wounded in the different battles in which the regiment was en-
gaged, as well as among those wounded in other organizations with wliich
hi.s regiment served.
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together with that of a stranger they had tortured there,

and buried. Forced to abandon their homes, the settlers

removed to Jewell's Island and built a fort there to protect

themselves until they could return to Massachusetts. Here
they were again attacked by a large party, whom they de-

feated with great los.s.

Joseph Felt made the first resettlement on his father's

place, on Royall's River, in 1715, and James Parker, at

Parker's Point, opposite Lane's Island, in 1717. Capt.

Nathaniel Weare, afterwards son-in-law of Joseph Felt, re-

built the saw-mill in 1715, to encourage settlement under

the Gediiey claim. The inhabitants and their descendants

soon began to return to their old homes, now covered with

a second growth of young trees. Through all the destruc-

tion the Indians had preserved only the barn of Mr. Say-

ward. Five soldiers were sent to garrison the town. In

1723 there were living near Stephen Larrabee and Capt.

Parker's garrison, John Downer, John Brock, Isaac, Ste-

phen, and Benjamin Larrabee, James Parker, Thomas
Lawerthy, and Joseph Harris.*

A meeting was held at James Parker's inn, September

14th, to complete settlement. Capt. Jeremiah Moultun

and Benjamin Flagg, with John Stevens and Phinehas

Jones, chainmen, laid out 50 lots of 10 acres each, on

Maine's Neck, and 50 more on the west side of Royall's

River. Stevens, Jones, and Parker were each awarded a

house-lot for watching timber through the past winter, and

Capt. Moulton, the lot between the wharves, south, for sur-

veying. 4- printed circular advertised the meeting which

assembled at James Parker's Inn, May 18, 1727, for the

first drawing of lota. Each proprietor was required to clear

5 acres and build a house before June, 1729. A space of

three rods wide was to be kept open on the water front for-

ever. A meeting-house was commenced near the head of

lot No. 101, in 1727, on an unsurveyed lot permanently

reserved for a burying-place, training-field, and pound. By
March, 1730, there were 41 houses and 12 frames erected.

Samuel Seabnry and Jacob Mitchell built a saw- and grist-

mill at the lower falls, for which they were given 120 acres

of land and 10 acres at the mill-site.

May 14, 1733, the first election of town officers for the

old town of North Yarmouth was held in the meeting-

house. A second drawing of land was had June 20th,

embracing the north part of the town.f

Capt. Solomon Loring and Cushing Prince built a block-

house west of the meeting-house.J A second was occupied

by the minister, a hundred feet to the east.

Aug. 9, 1746, Ebenezer Eaton was wounded and scalped

* Joseph Drinkwater waa a part of this garrison in \7'i5.

f This comprised a part of " two miles on each side of the Wesen-

Btogo River from the first falls to the hf;ad of the river, and every

branch and creek thereunto belonging," purchased of Rubin Hood

and other Ragamores, in 1673, and sold to B. Gedney, of Salem, Mass.,

and Henry Saward, of York, Oct. 12, M7i. They began to erect a

mill with two saws and u. corn-mill, which were burned by the In-

dians. Mr. Gedney became sole proprietor. Capt. Geodall purchased

the mill-site of Mr. Gedney, to whom it reverted in IdSl, together

with a saw- and grist-mill, house, and 4 acres of cleared land on each

side of the river. After Gedney's death, Nathaniel Weare, who had

a one-third claim, built the third mill.

{ Mary Loring, mother of Ciipr. John Young, was born in this

house in August, 1753, and lived there until June, 1843.

52

alive by Indians. Philip Greely was killed. David True

was killed by a party about to surprise Capt. Weare's giir-

rison, and their object defeated by the barking of his dog.

Jacob, afterwards Deacon Mitchell, was pursued while re-

turning from an evening visit to his lady, and barely es-

caped by dashing inside the stockade enclosure of the

Whitcomb house, on hor»eback,§ June 20, 1748. Joe, son

of Capt. Weare, became famous as a scout and Indian-

fighter during this war.

In 1739, Uriah Mason opened a tannery at Larrabee's

Landing, on Royall's River, and a grant of G 120-acre lots

was given to John Powell, to encourage the erection of a

refinery and forge, for the manufacture of iron from ores

obtained on Toddy Brook, near Walnut Hill, North Yar-

mouth. The refinery and forge were immediately erected

near the present furnace of Mr. Weston, and were in opera-

tion subsequent to 1753.||

June 20, 1748, Mr. Eaton was killed on the old road

south of the ledge, after dragging an Indian who clung to

him down the hill, and refusing to surretider, and Benja-

min Lake was captured. Three others were pursued, one

killed, and another wounded. Joseph Chandler, Solomon

and Daniel Mitchell, boys, were captured while after their

cows, below the meeting-house, in 1751. Daniel Mitchell

remained a prisoner ten years ; the others, three. It was

not until after 1760 that it was sufficiently safe for settlers

to venture back into the woods more than an hour's walk

from salt water. The settlement increased more rapidly

afterwards. In 1769, Richard Bray bought and settled

on one-half of Cousins' Island.

In 1774 the town's people took a firm stand against

the British Government. Garrisons were repaired, muni-

tions of war secreted, and troops early furnished for

both land and sea. Great excitement was occasioned by

the appearance of a vessel at the entrance of the harbor,

one Sunday in autumn of 1775. The sentries about the

meeting-house discharged their guns. The services were

suspended, and women fainted, while the ringing voices of

Capt. Mitchell and Lieut. John Drinkwater were heard

calling their men from among the congregation, and form-

ing them for action. Marching to Gray's wharf, they

found her to be a privateer, sent by Gen. Washington, in

quest of spruce, for the medical department of the army.

The people turned out en masse, and soon supplied them

J The Whitcomb house is still standing a short distance below the

Riverside Cemetery. It was erected in 1728-29, and is the oldest

building in Yarmouth.

II
Dr. JocksoD, in report of Geological Survey of Maine, says,

"Specimens of magnetic iron ore from Davis' Hill, in Raymond, hav-

ing been sent me for analysis, ... at my request several gentlemen

accompanied me to the spot, which is a mountain situated in the

northeast part of Raymond, six miles from Sebago Lake, and three-

fourths of a mile from the head of Great Rattlesnake Pond. The hill

is an abrupt, precipitous mass of rocks, covered with a scanty soil,

bearing a few small forest trees, and attains an elevation of 371 feet

above the level of Rattlesnake Pond. The rock which contains the

iron ore is a huge bed of green epidote rock, containing also many

scattered crystals of black hornblende, and the iron ore occurs in

sheets or veins, closely implanted, measuring from one to four inches

in thickness. Owing to its being very closely attached to the rock, it

is ditficult to quarry without taking out large portions of the matri.i

within which it is inclosed." He estimates it as yielding 50 per cent,

if wrought in a blast furnace.
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with a cargo. A redoabt was erected on Prince's Point,

and mounted with a ship's gun, for a coast defense.*

After the war, population and business increased. A pot-

ash-factory was opened by Mr. Shepard ; hat-factories, by

Nathan Spafford and others; salt-works, by Nathaniel Jenks;

a cloth-carding and fulling-mill, in 1790, by Jonathan

True ; a scythe- and axe-factory, by Joseph C. Batchelder

;

a paper-mill, by Hawes & Cox, succeeded by a mahogany-

mill, by Mr. Kimball ; brick-making, morocco- and leather-

dressing, carding-machinery, by Solomon Winslow; and

the famous " Grandfather's" clocks, by Lebbeus Bailey.

A Mr. Tailor walled in a rock-bound cove, on the north

side of Prince's Point, to catch the tide, and evaporate salt

water on a gigantic scale, but only succeeded in giving to

the locality the name of " Tailor's Folly." The channel of

Cousins River was changed, to facilitate navigation, in 1794.

By 1820, ship-building had become a leading enterprise.

The two villages were busy with traffic in hay, wood, pota-

toes, lumber, and produce, for export in the coasting-vessels

which crowded the wharves. The business then comprised

six stores, saw, grist, fulling, carding, and paper mills, jew-

elry, clock, cabinet, saddle, chaise, and wagon, and three

blacksmith-shops, two tanneries, a brick-yard, a ship-yard,

two taverns, and a busy stage-line.

The Pilot, a Universalist weekly paper, was published in

Yarmouth,! by Capt. James C. Hill & Son, in 1835-36,

and printed on paper made in the village.

On the re-incorporation of the town in 1859 a farm was

purchased for the support of the town poor, the fire-engine

repaired and placed in a tiew building, and the schools re-

organized. The manufacture of oil from porgies was com-

menced on a large scale in 18(59, but abandoned in 1871.

This industry has been profitable for fishermen with small

pii^sses for many years. In 1877 the old engine was sold

and the proceeds used to erect street-lamps, which were first

lighted November 1st of that year. The Maine Central

crosses the Grand Trunk Railway a mile north of the vil-

lage, where is also the Maine Central Depot. Ship-build-

ing has been a leading enterprise. In 1874 eight vessels,

with an aggregate of 4618 tons burden, were launched.

YABMOUTH VILLAGE,

a seaport and station on the Grand .Trunk Railway, orig-

inally comprised two separate hamlets, a mile apart, known

as the Upper and Lower village. These have since grown

to one continuous village, still known by the old local

names. The place contains over 200 dwellings, 4 churches,

the town-house, 2 school-houses, the academy buildings.

Masonic Hall, and the following

MANUPACTOEIES AND BUSINESS HOUSES.

Machine-shops : C. H. Weston, manufacturer of leather-

working machinery, water-wheels, Weston's anti-friction

screw baliug-presses ; established in 1876, near the site of

the old foundry and smelting-works established by John

Powell in 1739.'

* This earthwork, oreaoeDt-shaped, and now on the extreme edge of

the bluff, \a still plainly defined. It is some 30 feet between points,

and 30 inches above the inclosed surface. It did good service at one

time, rescuing a sloop belonging to Capt. Drinlcwater, b; causing

the captors to run it aground on Cousins' Island.

Royal River Manufacturing Company, Freeman & Shaw :

seamless bags, warp-yarn, and twine; established in 1869

by Barnabas Freeman, Esq. ; employs about 50 operatives,

and makes about 1000 bags per day. Formeriy F. O. and

H. J. Libby's cotton-factory.

Flouring- and Plaster-Mill, A. J. Loring : merchant and

custom, six run of stones; established in 1863 at the

upper falls, burned in 1870, and rebuilt on the site of the

first mill, built by Capt. Walter Gendall, in 1681.

Forest Paper Company: paper pulp; established in

1870 ; conducted since 1877 by Wilfred Barnes, agent.

Ship-Yards : Blanchard Bros., Union Wharf; Giles Lo-

ring ; Hutchings & Stubbs.

Boat-Building: W. C. & B. Seabury; established 1849

Corn-Canning: J. Winslow Jones; established in 1870.

Granite-Works : C. P. Jones & Taylor, 1879; estab-

lished by Joseph W. Jones in 1855.

Wagons and Carriages: P. L. Allen, established in

1864 ; W. Scott Brown, established in 1868 ; Wm. Lunt,

established in 1855.

Harness : Greorge H. Jefferds ; established by Benjamin

Jefferds in 1837.

Custom Shoes: H. D. Brackett, Thaxter P. Gooding;

established in 1879, T. G. Cleaves.

CofiBns and Cabinet Work : Gad Hitchcock ; established

in 1834.

Printer : Lewis Gurney.

Publication : Old Times, a historical magazine, quarterly,

by Capt. Corliss, 8th U. S. Infantry ; established in 1876.

Dealers in General Merchandise : James R. Hopkins,

since 1879 ; Rogers & Co., established by Sumner Sea-

bury in 1869 ; Wm. C. Sweetser, 1879, established by R.

R. York, 1842 ; Richards & Corliss, established by Wm.
Richards, 1876 ; Gooch Bros., established in 1866.

Dry-Goods and Clothing: Wm. H. Marston, established

1863.

Groceries : J. Parsons & Son, established in 1874 ; Wright

Bros., established 1876 ; J. N. Merrill, established 1878.

Drugs: M. C. Merrill, established in 1872 ; L. R. Cook,

established in 1878.

Jewelry : W. M. Walker, since 1876, established by

Elbridge Thoit, 1859 ; Artimus Felt, established in 1877.

Tailors : Augustus D. Storer, established in 1859 ; Brad-

bury True, established in 1856.

Stoves and Tinware : J. Y. R. Coombs, established 1854.

Lumber Dealer : J. L. Craige.

Paint-Shops : Henry B. Hitchcock, established in 1839
;

Gkd Hitchcock, established in 1834.

Coal : S. & L. P. Walker, established in 1873.

Fancy Goods : Geo. H. Lovell, established in 1876.

Saloon and Barber-Shop : C. L. Blake.

Hotel : Baker House, D. S. Moody.

Coal : Lyman Walker & Son.

Blacksmiths : Alexander Grover, L. Dennison.

Mails are daily by railroad; postmistress, Lucy Groves.

BURTING-GBOUNDS.

The old Chapel Burying-place, laid out on the church

common in 1727, was used also as a training-field. Here

were erected the stocks and whipping-post, in obedience to



CAPT. WJLLIAM BUCKNAM

was. born at North Yarmouth, Dec. 22, 1806. He

was the oldest in a family of six children of Samuel

and Phoebe (Chandler) Bucknara.

He spent his youth at sea with his father, aud at

an early age became master of a vessel, which posi-

tion he filled for several years.

Feb. 19, 1835, he was married to Mary, daugh-

ter of Edward and Elisabeth True, of Yarmouth.

Of this union five children were born to them, as

follows: Horace, born June 2, 1836. Alvan F., born

Nov. 27, 1837, wlio graduated at Bowdoin College

in 1860, and is now practicing medicine in Warren,

111. Lizzie T., born Aug. 3, 1840 ; died Nov. 10,

1858. William E., born Feb. 17, 1844. Mary

Ellen, born Marcli 1, 1846.

After his marriage he purchased a farm in Yar

nioutli, upon which he resided till iiis death, which

occurred .July 12, 1851. About twelve years pre-

vious to his death he united with the Baptist Cluucli

of Yarmouth, and his subsequeut life provetl the

siucerity of his faith, aud adorned the profession he

had made. In youth and early manhood he had

gained many friends, and won the esteem of all by

his qualities as a man and citizen. In his latter

years, blessed with a competence, enjoying the society

of an affectionate companion and interesting children,

dwelling in the midst of a circle made up of beloved

parents, brothers, sisters, Christian and other friends,

the ties which bound him to earth were numerous

and strong; but faith taught him that to die w;is

gain, and sustained by a cheerful hope in Christ he

has gone to a blissful and eternal reward.
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a law which, in this case, was unnecessary. Among the

dim, dark, weather-beaten old slates marking the graves of

the hardy pioneers no modern white stone has intruded.

Here are the graves of Cupt. James Parker, the first to

resettle upou the foreside, who died in " 1732i" (so reads

the inscription)
; Ebenezer Eaton, Capt. Peter Weare, Cupt.

Stephen Larrabee, Ensign Benj. Ingersoll, and many whose

names are connected with the early history of the town.

The ground also contains eighteen unmarked graves.

Two hundred yards to the west a larger and later ground,

still unfilled, dates back to the death of John Powell and

Jesse Soule, who died in 1742. Rev. Ammi R. Cutter,

the first minister, died 1746, aged forty-four, and Stephen

Moulton, who died in 1769.

An old burying-ground on Cousins' Island was enlarged

in 1879.

The Baptist church-yard, at the upper village, contains

the early dead of the more northern part of the town, many
of whom have unmarked graves, and date back to the last

century. Near the town farm in the east a family ground

contains early members of the Davis, Grant, and Lawrence

families.

RIVERSIDE CEMETERY,

near the village, was purchased by the town in 1869, and

tastefully laid out with granite borders and shrubbery. It

contains many fine monuments. A beautiful pavilion over-

looks the river, and near the entrance a monument " In

Memobt of OUR Fallen Comrades" commemorates the

heroes of Yarmouth in the war of 1861.

PLACES OP HISTORIC INTEREST.

Among the places of interest are the old redoubt on

Prince's Point, behind which the grass-covered lawn is suc-

ceeded by a beautiful grove, the annual resort of Indians

in early days. The high bank to the lefl of the redoubt is

for many rods composed of shells intermixed with the soil,

the accumulation of these annual feasts. To the right the

falling banks occasionally disclose an Indian skeleton.

The oldest house in the town stands just below the River-

side Cemetery. It was built at the same time with the old

church. It was into this house Deacon Mitchell rode to

escape from his savage pursuers. An old house south of

the road, near Prince's Point, long known as the " Granny

Millet house," was built by Mr. Ring some years before

the Revolution, and purchased by Capt. Millett with prize-

money obtained from privateering. The Corliss house, at

the upper village, was built by Jotham Byrom, in 1776-77.

The Gooding house, now owned by E. P. Gurney, is sup-

posed to conceal within its modern finish the walls of one

of the old garrison-houses from whence Qapt. Gendall went

forth to meet his death.

LIST OF TOWN OFFICERS.

The first regular election was held at the meeting-hotise

of the First Parish, Aug. 20, 1849. Dr. B. Burbank was

chosen moderator. Rev. David Shepley opened the meeting

by prayer, and the following officers were elected : Dr. Sam-

uel W. Blanchard, Town Clerk ; Edward H. Smith, Treas-

urer ;
Jeremiah Baker, J. G. Loring, David Seabury, Se-

lectmen, Assessors, and Overseers of the Poor ; Rev, D^vjd

Shepley, S. W. Blanchard, A. W. Burbank, School Com-

mittee
; James C. Hill, Town Agent; Jacob B. Lufkin,

Collector; B. Freeman, Philip Young, Daniel L. Mitchell,

Police Officers ; Isaac G. Loring, Clerk of the Market

;

Jos. Gooding, Edward Bachelder, Charles Moxey, Jos.

Drenhabe, Thomas Pratt, William Roberts, Jos. G. Davis,

Reuben Hayes, Edward Preble, Survej-ors of Highways,

Fence-Viewers, and Hog- Reeves.

selectmen.

1849-51.—Jeremiah Baker, Jacob G. Loring, David Seabary.

1852.—Capt. Tbaxter Prince, Jeremiah Brown, John Young.

1853.—Jeremiah Baker, John Young, Samuel W. Blanchard.

1854.—John Young, S. W. Blanchard, Daniel L. Mitchell.

1855.—Elbridge O. Wagg, James M. Bueknam, Thomas Pratt.

1856-58.—Elbridge G. Wpgg, Jamea M. Bueknam, Thou. J. Bronn.

1859.—Sylranus 0. Blanchard, Stephen Pratt, Nicholas Drinkwater.

1860.—Nathaniel Goooh, Nicholas Drinkwater, Octavius A. Hill.

1861-6.3.—Nathaniel Goocb, Nicholas Drinkwater, Albion Seabury.

1864-65.—Perez N. Blanchard, Perez B. Loring, Elkanah H. Walker.

1866-68.—Perez N. Blanchard, Daniel L. Mitchell, Samuel Baker.

1869.—Joseph R. Curtis, Daniel L. Mitchell, Jeremiah Bu.tton, Jr.

1870.—Joseph R. Curtis, Henry Hutching, Henry C. Greenlenf.

1871-73.—Perez N. Blonohard, Elbridge G. Wagg, James M. Buek-

nam,

1874 75.—Perez N. Blanchard, Elbridge G. Wagg, Henry C. Green-

leaf.

1876-79.—Perez N. Blanchard, Charles T. Grant, Edward J. Stubbs.

TOWN CLERKS.

Samuel W. Blanchard, 1849-54; A. H. Burbank, 1855: Saniuel W.
Burbank, 1856; Benj. Goooh, Jr., 1857-58; Rufus M. Tbaxter,

1859; Chariee Humphrey, 1800; Reuben Cutter, 1861-64; R.

Harding, 1865-66; Elbridge Thoits, 1867-72; Richard Harding,

1873-75; George E. Thoits, 1876-78; E. P. Gurney, 1379.

TREASURERS.

Edward H. Smith, 1849-51 ; S. W. Blanchard, 1852 ; Jacob Loring,

1853 ; Capt. Jacob G, Loring, 1854-55 ; Ferdinand Ingraham,

1856-58; Reuben Cutter, 1859-63;. Elbridge Thoits, 1861-65;

Samuel Fogg, 1866-67; Chariea Humphrey, 1868-79.

COLLECTORS.

Jacob B. Lufkin, 1849; Perez B. Loring, 1350-51; Giles Loring,

1852; Jonathan P. Rowe, 1853; Nathaniel Baker, 1854; Gushing

Prince, 1855-56 ; cons, and col., 1357 ; Charles Humphreys, 1858
;

George A. Humphrey, 1359-61 ; Benjamin R. Goooh, 1362

;

Daniel L. Mitchell, 1863-78; David M. Lawrence, 1879.

CONSTABLES.

1349.-B. Freeman, Philip Young, Daniel L. Mitchell.

1850,—Philip Toney, B. Freeman, Daniel L. Mitchell.

1851-53.—Ammi M. Loring, Perez B. Loring, George Lewis.

1854.—Charles Humphrey, Joel Brooks, Perez B. Loring.

1855.—George Lewis, Joel Brooks, Reuben Hayes.

1856.—George Lewis, Joel Brooks, Ammi M. Loring.

1857.—Ammi M. Loring, Joel Brooks, Gushing Prince.

1858.—Ammi M. Loring, Joel Brooks, Charles Humphreys.

1859-61.—Ammi M. Loring, Robert E. Corliss, George A. Humphreys.

1862.—Ammi M. Loring, Robert E. Corliss, Benjamin R. Gooeh.

1863.—George A. Humphrey, William T. Baker, J. G. Skillin, Daniel

L. Mitchell.

1864.—George A. Humphrey, Ammi M. Loring, Robert E. Corliss,

Daniel L. Mitchell.

1865-68 Joel Brooks, Ammi M. Luring, Robert E. Corliss, Daniel

L. Mitchell.

1869.—Joel Brooks, Robert £. Corliss, Daniel L. Mitchell.

1870-73.—Daniel L. Mitchell, Robert E. Corliss, Giles Loring.

1874.—Daniel L. Mitchell, Robert E. Corliss, Perez B. Loring.

1875-79.—Daniel L. Mitchell, Robert E. Corliss, Charies T. Grant.
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KEIilGIOUS.

CONQBEOATIONALIST CHtTRCH.

The first niinister of Yarmouth was Rev. Samnel Sea-

bary, who preached from 1727 to November, 1729. The

meetiog-honse was commenced in 1727, and accepted April,

1729. It was finished six years later, by a tax of £312,

by Richard Honghton, Joseph Jones, and John Owen,

carpenters. This honse, 40 by 50 feet in size, and 22 feet

high at the eaves, was strongly built of oak, with ceiled

walls, plastered overhead, clapboarded outside, and sur-

mounted by a steeple and copper vane. The entrance was

by three doors, with " shells" over them. There were two

seats apiece in the side galleries, and three in the front gal-

lery, reached by two pairs of stairs. Twenty-four of the

pews were drawn with the lands, a'nd the rest went to the

minister. Two seats were afterwards added, near the pulpit,

for deaf people. In 1762 forty feet were added to its

length, a porch added, and the interior arrangements

changed. Capt. John Young's house now occupies the site

of the western end, while the stone step of the eastern en-

trance remains in his garden, surrounded by a cedar hedge.

Messengers from the churches of Wells, Falmouth, Scar-

borough, and Biddeford met at the meeting-house, Nov. 18,

1730, and the Church of North Yarmouth was.there incor-

porated, with Samuel Seabury, Jacob Mitchell, and Jede-

diah Sonthworth, deacons ; and Joseph Chandler, Ebene-

zer Eaton, Samuel Fisher, Samuel Totman, and Benjamin

Price, members. Rev. Ammi Rahamah Outter became the

first settled minister, Oct. 21, 1730, remaining five years,

and receiving the ministerial lot, besides his salary of 120

ounces of silver a year, or its equivalent in bills of credit.

He lived in a house ninety feet east of the meeting-house,

built in 1734, of hewn timbers of hard wood, loop-holed,

surrounded by a wall of hard timber ten feet high, sixty

feet wide, and eighty feet long, with two watch-boxes for

rifles on ita walls, and called the Cutter fort. One hun-

dred and ninety feet to the west was the Loring fort. Am-
munition was stored in the loft of the meeting-house. The

men came armed, and took seats at the outer end of their

pews. During service armed sentinels were posted on the

ledge, on Oilman Rock, and on the bluff to the northward.

There was no bell. A bass-drum was beaten from the

ledge every Sunday morning and noon. Fires were carried

in foot-stoves in cold weather. The building was never

warmed nor lighted. Rev. Mr. Cutter was dismissed Dec.

12, 1735, practiced medicine until 1742, and removed to

Saco River. The parish was supplied by Rev. Ephraim

Keith, of Bridgewater, until the settlement of Rev. Nich-

olas Loring, Nov. 10, 1736. He remained until his death,

July 13, 1763. Rev. Edward Brooks was ordained with

great rejoicing, July 4, 1764, at an expense of $116 for

the ordination dinner. He was succeeded by Rev. Tris-

tram Oilman, who was pastor from his ordination in Novem-

ber, 1769, until his death, in 1809. Rev. Francis Brown

was ordained January, 1810, succeeded by Joseph Waite

Curtis, ordained June, 1816, resigned in 1817 ; Rev.

Samuel Woodbury, the last settled pastor, installed Nov. 5,

1817, died July 6, 1819. The church became divided

over the erection of a new house, and a new one was erected

at the village. Rev. Asa Cummings was ordained in the

new house, in February, 1821, and remained pastor until

1824, when he became editor of the Chrittian Mirror.

Rev. Noah Cressy succeeded as pastor of the old meeting-

house, where the old members continued to worship under

the name of the Chapel Church, until the fall of 1829,

when he left them. The members nnited with the village

church in 1833. The last great gathering in the old meet-

ing-house was May 14, 1833, the anniversary of the first

town election, when Gen. Edward Russell, one of the lead-

ing citizens of the county, delivered an address to his towns-

men. The building was torn down by the town authorities

in 1836, and its timbers built into three ships, which were

all lost at sea. The old vane, thirty feet in height, stands

upon the granite ledge where Seth Mitchell beat the drum

for meeting a hundred and fifty years ago.

The succeeding ministers have been Revs. David Shepley,

ordained April 18, 1849; Edward P. Allen, settled Feb-

ruary, 1850 ; Rev. Charies A. Aikin, settled October, 1854

;

George A. Pinkham, 1860, discharged 1870 ; Leavitt Bart-

lett, installed 1871, discharged 1875; Joseph Torrey, in-

stalled March, 1875.

The deacons have been Samnel Seabury, appointed 1730,

died 1763; Jacob Mitchell, appointed 1730, died 1744;

Jedediuh Southworth, appointed 1730, died 1741 ; Jonas

Mason, appointed 1737, died 1801 ; Jacob Mitchell, ap-

pointed 1745, died 1784; Jacob Mitchell, appointed 1796,

died 1848; John White, appointed 1745, died 1747; John

Lewis, appointed 1796, died 1803 ; Thomas Scales, ap-

pointed 1770, died 1786 ; David Mitchell, appointed 1770,

died 1796; John Southworth, appoiined 1786, died 1814;

Ammi R. Mitchell, appointed 1803, died 1824 ; John

Hayes, 1803-4, died 1820; John Webster, appointed

1824, died 1838; Thomas Chase, appointed 1837; Allen

H. Weld, removed 1846 ; Philip Greely was killed by In-

dians Aug. 9, 1746, and Ebenezer Eaton was killed on the

ledge near the old spire June 20, 1748,—both were mem-

bers of this church.

A new church was embodied under the name of the Cen-

tral Congregationulist Church, at a meeting held by some of

the members at the Academy Hall, April 4, 1859. Cnsh-

ing Prince was chosen Moderator; Barnabas Freeman,

Scribe ; and Rev. Charles A. Aikin was invited to preach

an organization sermon. The organization comprised 20

members; a house of worship was immediately erected.

Rev. John G. Butger was chosen pastor in 1860. Rev.

J. J. Abbott, in September, 1865 ; Rev. R. W. Jenkins,

1876-78 ; Rev. F. W. Sanborn, settled 1878-79. Present

membership, 60. Officers : E. D. Freeman, Society Clerk
;

Geo. Lovell, Treasurer ; Dr. J. M. Bates, Parish Treasurer.

BAPTIST CHDECH.

Rev. Hezekiah Smith preached in Yarmouth, in 1780,

on invitation of Capt. Davis, a coaster, who took him to his

home on Davis' Island, and was baptized by him soon after.

Elder James Potter preached at the Falls in 1793, and bap-

tized Jeremiah Stubbs, Mrs. Judith Winslow, John Drink-

water, and Samuel York. A church was organized by

Elder Thomas Green, who became the first pastor, at his

house, Jan. 18, 1797. Sylvanos Soule was one of the first

members. The church was incorporated in that year, and
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became a part of the Bowdoin AssociatioD. The meeting-

house on the hill was erected in 1798-99. In 1799 mis-

sionary work was commenced. Three missionaries have been

sent ont, of whom Miss Sarah Cummings, the first, died in

Burmah, Aug. 1, 1833. Rev. Sjlvaous Boardman became

the colleague of Mr. Green in 1810, and pastor in 1816.

Rev. Otis Briggs was pastor, 1817-18; Rev. Stephen

Chapin, 1819, leaving to become professor of theology in

Waterville College in 1822 ; Rev. Alonzo King, 1826-29
;

John Butler, 1831-35 ; Zabdiel Bradford, ordained May,

1837, created an interest in 1841 which added to the num-

bers of the church, and caused the house to be rebuilt. He
was succeeded by Rev. Charles W. Reding in 1845 ; Wm.
B.Jacobs, 1848; L. B. Allen, 1850; Wm. B. Hobden,

1857; Charles Foster, 1861 ; H. A. Hart, 1865; N. Mel-

cher, 1869 ; George B. Ilsley, present pastor, in July,

1873.

The following-named have entered the ministry : Ben-

jamin Titcomb, ordained May 31, 1800; Silas Stevens,

ordained Oct. 22, 1805 ; Arthur Drinkwater, Oct. 6, 1813
;

Edward Warren, May 6, 1833; Zaham P. Byram, May 9,

1833 ; Samuel W. Field, Dec. 17, 1836 ; John C. Stock-

bridfre, March 21, 1841 ; Cyrus A. Craft, Jan. 16, 1845
;

Wm. H. Humphrey, July 2, 1851 ; Washington G. Hum-
phrey, Sept. 1, 1855. Present membership, 169. John

Cobb, Clerk ; Nathaniel Jordan, Wm. P. Hutchinson,

Deacons.

A Universalist society was organized at the house of

Amos Storer, May 24, 1834, and. a chapel erected, through

the efforts of Rev. Zenas Thompson. Allen Drinkwater

was first clerk. James C. Hill, William Rose, and Robert

E. Corliss, standing committee. The subsequent ministers

have been Revs. R. B. Tasker, George W. Quinby, James

Whittier, Henry R. Walworth, to 1848 ; Rev. Mr. Fletcher,

1871-74 ; Rev. J. Bradbury and Rev. George W. Hamil-

ton since 1877.

SCHOOLS AND ACADEMIES.

In 1804 a daughter of William Martin, of Portland,

taught the first high school. A fund of $1375 was raised

in 1810, with which to erect an academy building. The

chie^ contributors were Ammi R, Mitchell, Nathaniel

Jenks, and Hannah and Edward Russell, who donated the

land required. Rev. Francis Brown was first president of

the board of trustees ; Edward Russell, secretary, and Na-

thaniel Jenks, treasurer. A building was erected in 1811,

and Rev. Daniel Meanbec Mitchell was engaged as first

preceptor. An act of incorporation was passed Feb. 14,

1814. Half a township of land was granted by the Legis-

lature in 1825. An additional building was erected in

1841. A new academy building was erected in 1847.

The principals have been Joseph Sherman, Samuel H.

Shepley, Nathan Dole, Allan H. Weld, Daniel Lane,

Samuel W. Blanchard, and George Woods. It is now

conducted as a high school, and is under the management

of the town. There were appropriated 81000 for this

school, and $1500 for common schools, in 1879. Of the

618 school children, 405 are registered as attending school,

the greater number during the summer. The school

properly in the nine districts is valued at $6000.

ASSOCIATIOXS.

MASONS.

Casco Lodge, F. A. M., No. 36, was chartered Oct. 24,

1821. The first officers were George Pierce, W. M.

;

Lebbeus Bailey, Jr., S. W. ; John W. Mellon, J. W.

;

Nathan Oakes, Treas. ; Samuel Gilman, Sec. ;
James

C. Hill, S. D. ; Nathaniel True, J. D. ; John Worthley,

Tyler ; Amos Storer, Sr., Steward. Calvin Stockbridge,

Hiram Hatch, William Hawes, and Robert E. Corliss were

also charter members. Membership, 1870, 151. 33 mem-

bers entered the army of 1861.

Cumberland Royal Arch Chapter was organized at

Yarmouth, Sept. 14, 1870, on application from 25 Master

Masons. The first officers were James J. Humphrey,

High Priest ; Henry C. Greenleaf, King ; John P. Cars-

well. Scribe ; Frederick E. Mitchell, Captain of Host

;

Joseph Raynes, R. A. Cap. ; Ansel L. Loring, Treas.

;

James M. Bates, Sec. A fine building and hall was

erected by this chapter and Casco Lodge, and dedicated

Jan. 28, 1873. The present officers are Lorenzo L. Shaw,

H. P. ; Hermon Seabury, K. ; Thomas L. Curtis, Sc.

;

John Smith, C. of H. ; Joseph Haynes, R. A. C. ; Richard

Harding, Tr. ; James M. Bates, Sec.

TAEMOUTH BRASS BAND

was organized in 1866 by six veteran musicians from the

volunteer army, with Samuel Chadbourne leader, and E.

A. Blanchard director. It still retains nine of its original

members. E. Raynes is its, leader ; E. A. Blanchard,

director.

PROFESSIONAL.

PHYSICIANS.

The physicians of the town have been Rev. Dr. Ammi
R. Cutter, from 1735-42; Gilbert Winslow, 1743-79;

John Bartlett, 1747-58 ; William Chase, 1760-98 ; Ed-

ward Russell, 1765-85
;
David Jones, a surgeon of the

Continental army, 1785-1800; Ammi R. Mitchell, 1725,

to his death in 1824 ; Daniel Clark, 1810-21
; Jacob

Mitchell, to 1831; Gad Hitchcock, 1810-38; Wm. B.

Gooch, to 1844 ; Elbridge Kimball, to 1845 ; Eleazer Bur-

bank, 1837-67; Greenfield Thompson, 1843-79; Lewis

Whitney, to 1857 ; James Bates, Wm. and Amos Osgood,

Samuel W. Blanchard, to 1857 ; Augustus H. Burbank,

1847-79 ; W. W. Thomas, 1870-79 ; James Bates, James

M. Bates.

G. T. Merriman, dentist, 1877-79.

LAWYERS.

Hon. David Mitchell graduated at Harvard College in

1751, and began to practice law in Yarmouth in 1754. He
was associate justice of Common Pleas from 1778 to 1786

;

member of the Massachusetts convention to ratify the Con-

stitution of the United States, in 1788 ; member of the first

board of trustees of Bowdoin College; senator to Massachu-

setts, 1791-95. He died in 1796, aged sixty-seven. Grenville

Mellon was a prominent lawyer from 1815 to 1824. William

Barrows was a leading member of the bar until his death, in

1821. Philip Eastman was a prominent citizen and lawyer

for some years. Barnabas Freeman, graduate of Waterville

College, admitted to the bar in 1843, and has since prac-
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ticed law in Freeport. E. Dadley Freeman, his son, grad-

natikl at Amherst College in 1875, and began practice in

Freeport in 1879.

Among the more prominent men of Yarmouth have

been John York ; Gen. Edward Russell ; Rev. Ammi R.

Cutter, the first cotton-spinner; Capt. Samuel Mason, Jr.,

first customs officer of Yarmouth, who served thirty-six

yeaiB under George III., and was recommissioned by Gen.

Washington; Silvanus C. Blanchard; Nathaniel Gooch

;

Dr. Ammi R. Mitchell, senator to Massachusetts in 1808

;

Cornelius Soule, the first representative.

BIOGARPHICAL SKETCHES.

DR. ELBAZER BURBANK
was bom in Scarborough, Sept. 17, 1793. The early part

of his life was spent in labor which gave to him a vigorous

constitution and habits of industry and economy. When
he attained his majority, having determined to become a

physician, he traveled on foot one hundred miles to Han-

over, N. H., to avail himself of the best advantages of Dart-

mouth College. Having completed his studies, he settled

in Poland, Me., about tlie year 1818, where he practiced

with much success. His circuit extended to many of the

surrounding towns. On the death of Dr. Gad Hitchcock,

in Yarmouth, Dr. Burbank was invited by a committee of

the citizens, chosen to select a physician, to remove to that

place. Thence he removed, in 1838, where he passed the

last twenty-nine years of his life, having all the time a very

large practice, extending to many of the adjoining towns.

He had a high reputation as an intelligent, faithful, and

successful physician, and was a man of sound judgment,

close observation, and patient investigation. In his practice,

as well as on other subjects, he did not form his opinions

till he had carefully examined the facts. His reputation as

a physician was founded on true merit, and not on any

groundless pretension. He had a mind capable of applying

judiciously what he read, and was possessed of strong com-

mon sense. Seldom did consulting physicians have occa-

sion to change his treatment. In his practice he was kind,

having a tender regard for the sufferings of the afflicted.

But it was not as a physician alone that he was known.

As a man and a citizen he was engaged in many of the on-

ward movements of the day. Although he did not have

the advantages for study in his early life now enjoyed by

the young, he had industry, energy, and patient thought,

read carefully on the important subjects of th^ day ; and

what he professed to know he knew thoroughly. He took

an active and prominent part in town aflatrs, and was often

called to preside at public town-meetings. In the educa-

tional affairs of the town he took much interest. His firm-

ness and decision of character fitted him to carry into execu-

tion the plans he had formed, and this he did pcrseveringly.

The Christian experience of Dr. Burbank began in Po-

land, March 6, 1836, and the following year, November

IStb, he was elected deacon of the church at that place.

His membership in the Congr^ational Church of Yar-

mouth commenced in 1840, and he held the office of deacon

from 1856 to the close of his life. Two years of this time

he was superintendent of the Sabbath-school. At the time

of his death in 1867 he held six distinct offices in the church.

When convinced he was right, opposition from whatever

source did not swerve him from the path of duty. His

strong will enabled him to overcome great difficulties, and

he ofien had occasion to test his decision.

He was a Republican—intelligent and decided. In 1857-

58 he served in the State Senate with fidelity and honor.

He united heartily with all the lovers of truth and free

government to suppress treason and rebellion. He sought

in all ways to strengthen the government, rejoicing in suc-

cess, and sorrowing in our defeats.

His success in life affords encouragement to young men

who see difficulties before them. His industry and enci^y

are worthy of imitation. He, under a kind Providence,

made himself. May the memory of what he accomplished

under so many discouragements, through a long and suc-

cessful life, incite others to industry, virtue, and piety, that

they, too, may live in the hearts of the good, that their

end may be peace and their memory blessed.

AUGUSTUS HANNIBAL BURBANK, M.D.,

physician and surgeon of Yarmouth, and only son of Eleazer

and Sophronia (Ricker) Burbank, was born Jan. 24, 1823,

in Poland, Me.- His boyhood was spent in Poland until

the age of fifteen. He prepared tor college at North Yar-

mouth Academy, graduated at Bowdoin College in the year

1843, and received his medical degree at Harvard Col-

lege in 1847. He immediately commenced the practice of

medicine at Yarmouth, where he has since remained con-

tinuously in the duties of his profession.

Dr. Burbank is recognized by the fraternity as a safe

counselor in complicated cases, ready in their diagnosis,

skillful in practice, and conversant with the latest and most

successful treatment of all forms of diseases. His large

experience and wide range of practice have made his name

familiar in Cumberland County, and he enjoys the con-

fidence and esteem of both rich and poor to whose necessi-

ties he has administered.

Notwithstanding the onerous duties of his profession, he

has steadily advanced in the knowledge of the most modem
medical literature, and ranks among the beat-read of medical

men. He has never been active in politics, or solicitous of

political preferment. He was formerly a member of the

Whig party, and is now a Republican.

He has been twice married: first to Elizabeth R.,

daughter of Dr. Elias and Lucretia P. Banks, of Portland,

Nov. 25, 1850. Of this union was bora one daughter,

—

Annie. His wife died Jan. 4, 1868. For his second wife

he married Alice N., daughter of Greenfield and Nancy W.
Thompson, of Yarmouth. The children of this marriage

are Elizabeth R. (deceased), Hugh, Eleazer, and Marjorie.

Dr. Burbank and his wife are members of the First

Congregational Church of Yarmouth, and promoters of

social, educational, and religious interests, and he has been

for many years a deacon of the ehurch.
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ROSTER OF SOLDIERS
IN THE

WAR OF THE REBELLION FROM CDMBERLAND COUNTY.

PORTLAND.
7IBST UAIVB VOIVBIXEB UrTABTBT.

Moilerpd Into the United Statu aerrlce for ttam montbl, from Hajr 23, 1861

;

diKbargwl Aug. 6, 1861. Cumpaniea B, C, £, F, 0, H, I, and K wero or-

ganls*Kl as a portion of tho lOtb Infantry.

COMPANT A.

SergMntB, John M. B«al, Alex. Bell, Perei B. Bumham, Simeon Anggini; cor-

poral!, Chaa. A. Chellla, Chaa. H. Scott, Jas. Berry, BenJ. F. Witham ; musi-

cian, Wm. H. Sewall
; privates, John B. Begg, Davis C. Bowker, John G.

Barnard, John B. Bowie, John F. Copp, Benjamin F. Uuskman, Tliaddens

W. Colbroth, John Green, Bufni W. Hyde, Weiib Hall, Kiles A. Hiinson,

Edvrard J. Hockley, Edward B. Lincoln, John H. Munaey, George H.
McKenney, Angus McDonald, Charles P. Norton, Cliarles U. Newell,

John B. Pike, Albert H. Pnrinton, Frank G. Bich, George H. Boas,

Edward Boach, Albert W. Smith, Thomas W. Soule, George Strong,

George W. Stockman, Daniel W. Stackpole, John B. Swett, Albert H.
Swett, George B. W. Thaiter, Samnel 0. Waterhonae, Edward P. Ayer,

Oliver G. Whitten, Benjamin P. Whitten, Alvan S. Wilson.

COMPANY B.

Sergeants, Charlea W. Boborts, Alfred L. Tnmer, Woodbury S. Bonnell, C3mrlee

H. Llbby ; corporals, Blchard T. Beaaley, Alfred D. F. Farley, Charles H.
Colley, Jr., Cbas. Cushman ; musician, Samuel T. Dyer

;
privates, Chas. F.

Allen, O. L. Ausbey, Chaa. B. Berry, Ang. Bowie, Cyrus W. Buck, Daniel

H. Brown, Charles H. (Rahman, Franklin S. Cnmminga, Chas. H. Colley,

Beuel D. Chase, Marcos Delano, Samuel P. Foisom, William H. Folaom,

William H. Fagan, Charlea H. Frost, Joseph M. Green, John 0. Glen-

dening, Edward W. Gralliun, Charles T. Hntd, Benjamin G. Hoyt, Dana
Hall, Mosea S. Hodsdon, David N. Uall, Charles D. Jones, Walter Johnson,

George D. Jost, Simeon Knight, Thomas Kelly, John S. Libby, George W.
Lemont, Edward W. Loveitt, Daniel E. Mountfort, James G. Marahall,

George T. Mahan, Alfred L. Moaea, Bufns W. Noble, James N. Newall,

Stephen Noyes, Jr., John P. Peterson, Daniel M. Pote, Charles H. Paine,

Charlea 0. Qnlmby, Lincoln Bobie, David H. Bines, Francis Seed, John
Searle, John F. Totman, George H. Thurston, John Trowbridge,

Charlea J. Trowbridge, Benjamin F. Yerriil, Blchard Wescott, John C.

Wllley, Cyrus T. Waterhouse.

COMPANY C.

Sergeanta, Edward N. Greely, George W. Graifam, Daniel C. Hark, James M.

Safford; corporals, Charles S. Jordan, Henry A. Burnliam, Simeon H.

Merrill, Charles E. Howard; musician, David Jones; privates, Oaborn B.

Berry, John Burns, Edward W. Bonney, Edwin BIckiiell, Henry B.

Golesworthy, Thomaa Cnrtan, Edward J. Dolan, John M. Dodge, Wm. 0.

Foy, Jamea M. C. Furbish. John M. Gonid, Bansseiaer Greely (2d;, Al-

berton P. Haines, John B. Hndaon, Jr., Goorge H. Hurd, Charles B.

Hamilton, William P. Hamilton, John H. Hatch, George S. Holt, Edward

J. Hlller, Elien. Hilton, Charles P. Kennard, Charles T. Knowlton, Chas.

0. Lamson, Jamea W. Leslie, Edward R, Lincoln, Edward K. More,

Thomas Monroe, James P. Miller, Joseph M. Mills, Eben M. Mitchell,

James E. Mitchell. George HcGlnley, Henry A. Plummer, Levi M.

Prince, William H. Bred, Manhall H. Bleb, Frank A. Smith, Henry M.

Smith, Peter W. Stoneham, John A. Sargent, George W. Sawyer, James

Smith, Frederick H. Thompson, George F. Tnisk, Bobert M. Weeks,

J. Henry Whittier, Archibald Wilson.

COMPANY D.

Capt. Charlea H. Meaerve.

Sergeants, William W. Davis, Charles H. Bradford, Augustus Fox, Otis O.

Newhall ; corponOs, George C. Ham, Thomaa H. Poor, Jacob F. Knight,

Francis £. Emery; musicians, Albert P. Ward, Frank H. Butler; pri-

vates, Henry O. Bradish, Bichard BIrchill, John H. Blake, William

Brine, George E. Conley, George H. Cammett, John Conway, Benjamin

F. Cobb, John Campbell, Bobert Curran, John W. G. Downs, John H.

Doody, Duatin Damren, Leonard Eustice, Frank F. Enstice, George For-

salth, Jotham Grant, Watson B. Oribbin, Bobert M. Hunt, Sylvanus

Harmon, William L. Ham, John H. Hart, Robert Hamilton, George H-

Jewett, Frank Leo, Charles Lllll^fleld, Alfred 8. Moore, Patrick Mc-
Dermott, Patrick Maloney, John E. Monntfort, Timothy McCarthy,
Andrew D. Newbold, Abmm Newcomb, Heniy N. Phelps, Thomas C.

Bidden, Charlea Sawyer, Charlea J. II. Smith, George W. Smellage, David
Weslcott, Hiram Wii.slow, Samuel A. Walker.

COMPANY B.

Sergeanta, Cyme Latham, Sylvester C. Moody, William Bi.ife, Herbert E. Sar-

gent
; corporals, Joseph Thompson, Jr., Hliam T.Cook, WIHhm L.L. Gill,

Jamea 8. Boberts; mnsiclans, Charles T. Morse, Turner Gary ; privates,
Jesse B. Allen, Orrin Bent, Flavins 0. Beal, Alonzo O. B<.nney, Charles
W. M. Bragdon, Charles H. Blake, George A. Card, George Chamberlin,
Andrew C. Clomlman, Charles Cooll>rolh, George W. ColBn, Cornelius B.

Coe, Joseph C. Colosworlhy, Jesse H. Crowell, Samuel C. Davis, John H.
Dennison, Martin T.Dnnn, Willliim Frazer, Edmond D. Field, William
C. Googlns, Charles B. Green, William 8. Hiiskeil, George W. Jones,

Frederick M. Knight. Theodore H. Lombard, Samuel B. Libby, Joae|Jh

F. Macklo, Wiillnm S. McChaiming, Joseph H. Perley, Benjamin C.

Pennell, Alonzo H. Quimby, John F. Bandall, John H. Bitter, Charies H.
Bonnds, Henry T. Simpson, Charies D. Skillln, George A. Soule, Har-
rison W. Smith, Henry F. Smith, George A. Smith, WillUm E. St. John,
Lewis L. Thurston, Edwin L. B. Thompeon, Samnel Townley,' Charlea

8. Trowbridge, Clifford 8. Trefelhen, Daniel Willard.

COMPANY I.

Sergeant, John T. Simpson; privates, Hezeklah Atwood, Jolin C. Bakemnn,
James M. Oapp, Frank A. Calkin's, Peter Clnsky, Daniel Delaud, Jr.,

Charles T. Dnun, Alonzo Davis, Samuel H. Fohter, Leonard F. Gill,

David H. Leighton, William H. Murphy, Nathaniel D. Bipley, Albert B.

BIchardaon, Charles I. Stanford, Albion Sawyer, Stephen Terhune,
William Welch.

SECOND nrFANTBT.

Austin, Samuel, Co. A ; must. July 16, 1861 ; disch. fur disability, March 19,

1863.

HIckey, James, Co. A ; must. July 12, 1861 ; trans, to 20th Maine Vols. May 20,

1803.

Brown, George B., Co. B ; must. Ang. 31, 1861 ; disch. Oct. 20, 1861.

Damrell, John, Co. B ; must. Aug. 31, 1861 ; disch. Nov. It, 1861.

O'Neill, Andrew, Co. B ; must. Aug. 31, 1861 ; trans, to 20th Maine Vols.

Swellage, Augustus, Co. B ; must. Aug, 31, 1861.

Connolley, John, Co. D ; must. May 28, 1861 ; disch. for disability, Feb. 18,

1863.

McCullam, Jamea, Co. E ; must. July 1, 1861 ; disch. Oct. 13, 1861.

Smart, Benjamin F., Co. G; must May 28, lb61; pro. to Istsergt. ; killed at

Hanover Court-House, Va.

Chase, George a, Co. C; muat. A,ig. 25, 1862; disch, for disabUlty, Feb. IS,

1863.

O'Connell, John, Co, I ; must. Jnly 5, 1861 ; pro. to corp. ; disch. Oct. 3, 1861.

Walsh, William, Co. I; must July 6, 1861; disch. Aug. 14, 1861,

Carllo. Patrick, Co. 1 ; must. July 5, 1861 ; dropped from rolls, Oct. 3, 1861.

Kenney, Michael, Co, I ; must. July 3, 1861 ; dropped from rolls, Oct. 3, 1861.

Murray, John, Co. I; must. July 6, 1861 ; trans, to 20th Maine Vol, Inf.

Leavitt, Burnett, Co, I; must. July 1, 1861.

Farrell, Charles, Co. I ; must. July 10, 1861 ; wounded at Hanover Court-House
;

discharged.

Stok es, Thomas, Co. I ; must. July 16, 1861 ;
prls. at Gaines* Mill ; exchanged .

trans, to 20th Maine Vol. Inf.

Murphy, Jere., Co. I ; must. July 10, 1861 ;
prls. at Gaines' Mill ; exchanged

;

trans, to 20lh Maine Vol. Inf.

Collins, John, Co. I: must. Jnly 16, 1861 ; dropped from rolls, Oct. 3, 1861.

Dougherty, Wtlllam, Co. I; must. Jnly 10, 1861; disch. for dUablllty, Jan. 1,

1863.

Deehan, Michael, Co. I ; must. July 16, 1861 ; wounded at Gaines' Hill ; trans.

to 20th Maine Vols.

Kearse, Michael, Co. I; must May 28,1861 ; wounded at Manassas; disch.

June 4, 1863.

Sullivan, Jerry, Co. I; must July 1, 1861; trans, to Co. H; disch. Jun3 4,

1863.

Hogan, Michael, Co, I ; must May 28, 1861 ; disch. June 4, 1863.

Smith, Samnel B., Co. H : must Nov. 26, 1861 ; died.

415
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THIRD DTFANTBT.
Levia, William, Co. A; miut. Aug. 12, 18(!3; alck in hoapiul; traoa. to ITth

Maine Begt.

DuUn, Patrick, Co. B ; moat Ang. 19, 1863 ; ttsna. to I7tb Maine R«gt.

Beadlrj, Cbariea, Co. C; mnat. Sept. 29, 1863; trana. to 17th Maine Begt.

Coolry, Daniel, Co. C ; mtiat. Aug. 20, 1883 ; miaalog in action.

Cliaas, Fnuiklln, Co. C ; moat. Ang. 21, 1863; trana. to ITtb Maine Begt.
Dnnlap, SaniUfl, Co. C; mnat Aug. 21, lgG;j ; trana. to 17th Maine Brgt.

SaTia, Daiid, Co. C ; mnat. July 2H, 186.1 ; miaeing in action.

Greearr, George, Co. C; mnat Sept 21, 1863; trwia. to 17lh Mnine Begt
Orant, Daniel W., Co. C; mnat Sept 26, 1863; trana. to 17tli Maine Brgt
Knighta, Ouiel, Co. ; mnat Ang. 18, 1863 ; trana. lo 17th Maine Begt.

lAngilon, Jamaa, Co. C; mnat Aug. 20, 1863; trana. tu 17tli Maine llegt.

Thomaa, Benjamin, Co. C; mnat 3«pt .30, 186.1 ; trana. to ITth Maine Begt
Welch, Thomaa W., Co. C; must Ang. 2i, 186:1; trana. tu Nary, April U, 1864.

COKSCEIPTH.

GslTin, William, C». D; ninst. Ang. 18,1862; trana. t<> I7th Maine Regt
Lxona, Patrick, Co D; mnat Ang. 2U, 186:1 ; Inina. tu ITth Mniue Begt.

Lefly, John, Ci>. O; mtut Uct 6, 1863 ; trana. t» 17th Maine Begt
Millar, William B , Co. D; inn>t Oct S, 186:1 ; tiaiiK. to 17th Maine Begt
Perkina, Thomaa B, Co. D; mnat. H<-|it 30, 186.1; tram, tu 17th Maine Begt.

Shehao, Wiiliam, Co. D; mnat Oct. S, 18(CI; miaaing.

Tork, George W., Co. D ; mnat Oct A, 186:1; Irana. to ITth Maine Brgt
Brown. John B„ Co. S; mnat Ang. 25, 186:1; diach. Apr.l U, 1861.

Cooper, John, Co. F; mnat Aug. 2i, 1863.

DaTia, Charlea, Co. F; mnat. Ang. 2S, 1863.

Foreat, Bdwin, Co. F ; muat Aug. 24, 186:1; diach. fur diaabiilty, Aug. 24, 1863.

Famll, William, Co. F; mnat. Ang. 24, 186:1.

Harria, Chiirlea S. Co. F; muat Aug. 2S, 1863.

Kane, Henry, Co. F ; muat. Aug. 25, 1863.

Allrrtou, Frederick, Co. G ; mnat Oct 2, I8(i3 ; trana. to 17th Maine Brgt
Carry, Shrphard, Co. O; mnat Oct 2, 1863 ; tiana. to 17tli Maine Brgt.

Culpman, George, Co. G; mnat Sept 28, 186:1 ; trana. to 17th Maine Brgt
D 'uariu, John, Co. 0; muat Oct 1, 186:1; trana. to 17th Maine Begt
HIggiua, Ciiarlea S., Co. G ; muat Ang. 24, 1863; trana. to 17th Maine Begt
Hatch, Joahnai, Co. G ; mnat Ang. 29, 186:<.

Hnlctiina, Jonathan, Jr., Co. G; mnat Ang. 21, 1863; trana. to 17lh Maine
Brgt

Auatin, Samuel, Co. H ; mnat Sept 23, 1863 ; trana. to lat Bhode Island Art.,

Oct 21, 1863.

Foater, Charlea, Co. H ; mnat Ang. 20, 1863; trans, to 17th Maine Brgt.

Jewatt, Elbridgr, Co. H ; muat. Ang. 7, 1863 ; trana. to 17th Maine Brgt.

Primrose, John, Co. H ; mnat. Aug 21, 1863 ; trana. to 17th Maine Begt.

Tovie, Christantlnr, Co. H : mnat Srpt 19, 18G3 ; trana. to 17th Maine Begt
Fatten, Thomaa, Co. I ; muat. Ang. 20, 1863 ; trana. to 17th Maine Brgt
Kane, John, Co. K ; mnat. Aug. 24, 1863 ; trana. to 17th Miiine Brgt
Townaeud, Lyasnder P., Co. E ; must July 14, 1863 ; trana. to 17th Maine Brgt

FOTTBTH nrFAHTBT.
Brown, William, Co. A ; mnat Sept 1, 1863 ; trana. to gnnboat, April 13, 1864.

Baker, George, Co. A ; mnat. Sept 1, 1862 ; trana. tu 19th Maine Brgt
Clark, A. J., Co. A; muat Sept. 1, 1862; trans, to 19th Maine Begt
Callagtuui, John, Co. A ; must. Sept 1, 1862 ; trans, to 19th Maine Begt
Canull, William, Co. A ; mnat Sept 2, 1862.

Clark, John, Co. A ; mnat Srpt 1, 1862 ; trana. tu 19tli Maine Begt
Daily, Jamea, Co. A ; muat. Sept 1, 1862 : trana. to 19th Maine Begt
Pratt, Jofrph B., Cu. B ; mnat June IS, 1861.

Wakely, Thomaa C, Co. C ; mnat June IS, 1861 ; diach. for dlsahiUty, Dec. 14,

1863.

Murphy, AlTin, Co. C; muat. Aug. 2, 1863, trana. to igih Maine Begt.

O'Neal, Patrick, Co. D; mnat. Sept 2, 1863.

Pierce, Jamea, Co. D; mnat Sept 1, 1863; trana. to I9th Maine Begt.

Buaa, John F., muat Sept 2, 1863 ; tnna. to 19lh Maine Begt
Burton, George, Co. F ; mnat. Ang. 22, 1863.

Manton, George O., Co. F.; mnat Aug. 29, 1863; trana. to 19tli Maine Begt
Wheaton, Lnther, Co. F: muat Sept 2, 1863; trans, to 19th Maine Begt
Dolan, Andrew J., Co. ; mnat. Aug. 27, 1863.

DunleaTy, Bngene, Co. G; mnat Ang. 28, 1863.

DsTia, Benry C, Co. G ; muat. Aug. 24, 1863; trana. to 19th Maine Begt.

GiUaon, William, Co. G; must Ang. 27, 1863.

Meal, Hiram J., Co. G; muat. Ang. 31, 1863.

Fatteraon, Henry W, Co. G ; must Aug. 27> 1803.

Beed, Patrick, Co. G; mnat Ang. 28, 1863.

gylreater, William a, Co. K ; mnat Dec. 30, 1863 ; tnna. to 19th Maine Bagt
Clanay, Matthew, Co. H ; mnat Aug. 28, 1863.

Harold, William, Co. H ; must. Ang. 21, 1863.

Henderson, William, Co. H ; mnat. Aug. 27, 1863.

King, Edward, Co. H ; muat. Ang. 27, 1863.

Wight, John D., Co. K ; draAed ; must Ang. 14, 1863 ; trans, lo Nary, April 20,

1864.

WInslow, Temon F., mnat Jan. 4, 1864; trans, to 19th Maine Begt.

FIFTH HfFAHTBT.

The regimental band was mnsterrd into aerrice June 24, 1861, and waa dia-

cbarged, under act of Congrera, Ang. 7, 1862 : Jonathan Cole, leader; Edward

M. Cobb, Jamrs A. Lravitt Edward M. Gammon, Clurles D. Barrett, Ciiarlea G.

Tonng (died July 26, 1861).

Cnmn, Patrick, Co. A ; mnat Dec. 18, 1801 ; discb. fur disability, April 1, 1862.

Downes, Georgr, Co. A ; moat Dec. 23, 1861 ; dropped from the rolls per Order

No. 162, Dec. 12, 1862.

Olaaaon, Patrick, Co. A; muat Jan. 18, 1862; detachrd at Waahington, 1863.

Tenson, LrTi, Co. A ; mnat Jan. 22, 1862 ; trana. tu 2d U. 8. Art in 186:1.

Wilber, Bnfna A.,Co. A; mnat Jan.3, 186'i; diarli. June 11, 1862.

Juhnaon, Charlea W., Co. A ; mnat Not. 22, 1861 ; repeal. ; trana. to 1st Maine

Tetrrana.

Lowell, Alfred O., Co. A ; mnat. June 24, 18C1 ; diach. July 27, 1864.

Brady, Joaiah B,Co. A; muat Sept 20, 1862; pro. to llent; disch. Feb. 14,

1862.

Brown, George, Jr., Co. A ; mnat. Dec. 9, 1861 ; diach. for diaabillty, Mareli 4,

1862.

Cnomba. Charira R., Co. B; mnat Oct. 2, 1861 ; enl. aa hospital steward In the

U. S. Army ; diach. July 27, 1864.

Crowley, John A., Co. B ; mnat Not. 29, 1861 ; diach. fur diaabillty, May 19, 1862.

Day, Jamea A., Co. B; mnat. Not. 15, 1861 ; wounded May 7, 1862; diaciuuged.

Knlght,Henry, Co. B; mnat Jan. 1, 1862; diwh. by Order No. 162.

SteTena, William S., Co. B ; must June 24, 1861 ; pro. to lat lient Co. E.

Hngliea, Martin L., Co. C; mnat July 15, 1861 ; pro. to aetgt. ; wunnded May 10,

1864; diaeh. Jnly 27, 1864.

Alexander, W. H., Co. C; mnat June 24, 1861 ; detached to gnnboat

Berry, DaTld, Co. C ; mnat July 5, 1861 ; diach. by General Order No. 162.

Kelly, Jamea, Go. C ; muat. Jnna 24, 1861 ; diach. from wounda racrlTed Not.

13, 1862.

Waterhonae, Charlea A., Co. C; mnst from Co. O, and pro. to lat lient.

Greenier, J. Angnatlnr, Co. C; mnst from Co. I, and pro. to 2d lient

DaTia, Jacob, Co. D; mnat Jnna 24, 1861.

Aapral, Thomaa, Co. D ; mnat. Jnne 24, 1861 ; tnna. to InTalid Curpa.

Godfrey, Jamea, Co. D ; mnat. Jnne 24, 1861 : trana. to Invalid Corps, 1864.

Stowell, George U., Co. D; mnat Jnne 24, 1861; detached at hoapital.

COMPANY F.

Mnatered in Jnnr 24, 1861.

Thomaa E. Winslow, corp., died July 7, 1862.

Jamea Byan, Corp., diach. Not. 7, 1861.

Maratin, L. Cobb, diach. Not. 7, 1861.

F. C. Kimball, mnaician; trana. to reg>I band, Jnne 24, 1861 ; returned to com-

pany In 1863 ; diach. Jnly 27, 1864.

Adama, Eb«n, died Not. 11, 1862.

Boothby, Ixaac T., diach. Oct. 22, 1862.

Brennan, Timothy,

Braden, John, missing in action. May 10, 1864.

Conatable, William, diacharged.

Cannon, Patrick, taken prisoner. May 3, 1862.

aancey, Jamea, diach. for diaabillty, March 5, 1862.

Dow, Henry A., diach. Jnly 30, 1861.

Early, Comellna, killed Jnne 26, 1861.

Greene, Andraw J., diach. Oct 3, 1861.

Higgins, Lawrence.

Hayea, William, pro. to Corp.; reduced; wounded at Rappahannock Station,

Ta.; diach. Jnly 27, 1864.

Kelley, John, trana. to lat Maine Yeterana.

Kelley, Peter, diach. Jnly 27, 1864.

Kelley, Timothy, trana. to Co. O.

Kerrigan, Jubn, muat. Srpt 9, 1862 ; trans, to lat Maine Yeterana.

Kelly, Bobert, pro. to corp. ; died of wounda. Not. 8, 1863.

Logan, John, taken prisoner Jnly 21 ; discb. Sept. 2, 1862.

McKenney, Orrin, missing in battle. May 10, 1864.

McPhilllney, James, killed May 3, 1863.

McMilty, Patrick, trana. to luTalid Corpa, Jan. 21, 1864. '

Moiae, Loranio D , killed May 3, 1863.

Morria, John, mnat Dec. 11, 1861 ; died from wounda, Jnne 7, 1863.

Manley, John L., mnst March 6, 1862 ; wonnded May 3, 1863 ; tians. to luTalld

Corpa, Jan. IS, 1864.

McCullom, Grorge, moat Sept. 9, 1862; trana. to let Maine Yeterana.

McSiinauy, Michael, must Dec. 28, 1801 ; trana. to let Maine Yeterana.

McKay, Comellna, mnat Sept 9, 1862 ; diach. Ibr diaabillty, Dec. 29, 1863.

Morgan, Theopbilna, muat Sept 9, 1862 ; trans, to NaTy, April T, 1864.

Monia, Ottn, mnat. Sept 9, 18»2; ttana. to lat Maine Yeterana.

Nelaon, Frederick, muat Dre. 11, 1861 ; trans, to NaTy, April 7, 1864.

Norton, Benjamin A., pro. to Corp., to aergt; died from wonnda receiTed at

Bappahannock Station, Ya.

O'Cunneil, Michael, mnat Sept 9, 1862.

Boger, Joaepfa F., must. Dea 2:1, 1861 ;
pro. to corp. ; trans, to InTalid Corpa,

Not. 27, 1863.

Thompson, Joseph W., mnat. Sept 9, 1862 ; diach. for diaabillty, April 14, 1863.

Turner, Edward, mnat Jnne 24,1861: taken priaoner. May 3, 1862; paroled;

r«.enL; tiana to lat Maine Yeterana.

Paradiae, Joaeph C, mnat. July 16, 1861 ; pro. to aergt. ; clerk at headqnartera
;

died of wonnda rrcrlTed July 3, 1864.

Godftey, Jubn, mnst July 16, 1861 ; wonnded Sept 14, 18C2, and May 3, 1863 ;

trana to lat Maine Yeterana.

Pettia, Charlea, diach. Feb. 20, 1862.
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Patrick, George W., re-enl. ; tram to lit tlxiue Teterans.

Pollys, Juho, taken prisoner, July 21, 1861 ;
paroled ; never reported.

Tieling, Cliarles, pro. to corp. ; wouudail JlAy 3, 1803.

Timmoi.ey, Julin, disch. July 27, 18G4.

Toby, William, wounded May 3, 186:1; discli. July 27, 1864.

Woodsuni, Ezra B., disch. Feb. 2U, 1862.

FltzalmmonR, James, wounded May 10; diicli. July 27, 1804.

Cufthnian, Cornelius, re-enl.; trans, to 1st Maine Veterans.

McDonald, John, woanded May 10; discli. July 27, 1804.

McGoverao, Tiioroas, pro. to Corp. ; killed in battle. May 3, 1861.

Smitli, James, wounded May 3, 1803; trans, to Inralld Corps.

Pride, Orlando 8., mnst. July 16, 1861 ;
pro. to corp. Nov. 8.

McGuire, James, most. July 16, 1861 ; disch. March 10, 1802.

Murphy, Mlchiiel J., must July 16,1801; wounded at Gaines' Mllij; pro. to Corp.;

pro. to sergt. ; killed at Bappahannock Station, Va.

Feanuns, Cliariea H., must July 16, 1861 ;
pro. to corp. Mot. 16 ; detached on

gnnboat, 1802.

Driscoll, Daniel, must. Dec 20, 1802 ; dropped by General Order No. 162 ; re-

stored in 1803.

Goruley, Michael, must. Sept. 9, 1802 ; traus. to 1st Maine Veterans.

COMPANY O.

Mustered in June 23, 1801.

Cliarles A. Walerhonse, sergt., pro. to 2d lieut.

Frank O. Patterson, sergt, pro. to 1st sergt. Jnly, 1802; to 2d lient. April, 1803.

Bubert J. McPlieison, Corp., pro. to 1st llent. Aug. 20.

Alfred H. Whitmore, corp., disch. Sept. 12, 1801.

Daniel W. Mason, musician, dropped from roili* under Order No. 102.

Stephen C. Stanford, wagoner, dropped from rolls under Onler No. 102.

Adams, William J.

Allen, George M., disch. fur disability, March 5, 1862.

Cox, Francis P., dropped from the rolls (Order No. 162).

ColUum, WUiiam H., disch. Sept. 16, 1802.

Coiley, James A., wonnded at Crampton Gap; disch. April 5, 1803.

CoTell, Edgar C, taken prisoner July 21, 1861; trans, to Invalid Corps, 1803.

Devine, George, wounded at Crampton Gap ; taken pris. May 3, 1863 ;
parolrd.

Donevan, Dennis.

Drinkwater, Philip F., disch. July 27, 1864.

Dudley, Michael, mudt. Nov. 24, 1801; trans, to lat Maine Veterans.

Fisher, Nehemiah W., dropped under Order No. 162, Nov. 19, 1802.

Giimiin, Charles H., disch. Dec. 18, 1801.

llager, Martin 0., captured on picket, Sept. 8, 1861.

Ham, John H., re-enlisted ; trans, to 1st Maiue Veterans.

Hooper, Franklin, disch. Sept. 8, 1801.

Hickuck, William W^ pro. to Corp.; dropped under Order No. 102.

Killer, James B., disch. Oct. 1, 1801.

Irwin, William.

Jewell, David.

Jordan, Charles W., disch. July 27, 1864.

Kennedy, Edward J.

KlUen, James, dropped by Order No. 162.

Latham, Charles V., died In hospital, Feb. 15, 1803.

Leavitt, Joseph, re-enlisted ; trans, to 1st Maine Veterans.

Mone, Alpheus, wounded at West Point, Va. ; died May 8, 1862.

McAnow, Hugh, dropped by Order No. 102.

Beardon, Michael.

Beed, William, mnst. Dec 2, 1861 ; detached to gnnboat ; trans. Feb. 14, 1802.

Bichardson, William, captured on picket at Boll Bun ; died Nov. 5, 1802.

Shaw, John M., disch. Sept 5, 1801 ; re-enl. Nov. 9, 1802 ; trans, to Invalid Corps,

Fab. 24, 1804.

Townsend, Lysander P., disch. May IS, 1802.

Webster, Charles T., clerk at division headquarters ; trans, to 1st Maine Veterans.

Welch, William A. S., wounded and captured at Games' Mills; exchanged;

disch. Jnly 27, 1804.

Clark, Edward L., prisoner
;
paroled 1802 ; exchanged ; disch. July 27, 1804.

Harris, Album P., pro. to Ist lleut October 10.

Clark, Daniel C, must. Dec. 7, 1801 ;
pro. to lient

Danfortli, Lorestin, must Dec. 21, 1801 ; appointed wagoner 1803 ; trans, to let

Maine Veterans.

Dolan, Edward J., miutered Sept 24, 1802 ; wonnded at Crampton Gap
;
pro. to

Corp. ; re-enlisted ; traiu. to tst Maine Veterans.

Beed, James O., mnst Dec. 2, 1861 ; dropped per General Order 102.

Beed, William, must Dec. 2, 1801 ; trans, to gnnboat, 1803.

Sawyer, Franklin, mnst Oct 22, 1802; trans, to gnnboat.

TItcomb, Isaac N., mnst Jan. 24, 1802; dropped per Gen. Ord. 102, Feb. 2, 1803.

Wilson, Archibald, must Sept 24, 1801 ;
pro. to sergt; wounded at Crampton

Gap
;
pro. to 1st sergt.

Kelley, Timothy, trans, from Co F, 1803 ; wounded May 10, 1804; disch. Jnly

27, 1804; re-enlisted; trans, to 1st Maine Veterans.

COMPANY H.

Mustered in June 24, 1801.

George E. Brown, sergt., pro. to capt Oct 3, 1801.

Bichard E. Shannon, sergt, pro. to Ist lleut Oct. 3, 1801.

Alonio P. SUnson, sergt., killed at Bull Bun, July 21, 1801.

Crawford Dunn, Corp., lost an arm at Bull Bun ; dlscli. Nov. 14, 1801.

James Crowley, Corp., pro. to sergt. Oct 3 ; disch. June 21, 1862.
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James O. Siinborn, Corp., pro. to sergt.; disch. July 27, 1864.

George H. B. Howe, Corp., reduced Oct. 3 ; rilsch. March 12, 1802.

David Mayberry, wagoner, disch. Sept 4, 1801.

Bluctteld, Simon, disch. Oct 1, 1864.

Conlln, James, wounded In battle nt Spottsylviinia, Va., Mny 10, 1804.

Eastman, J. W., pro. to Corp. ; dIsch. for disability, Jan. 3, 1863.

Freeman, Edward, discli. Oct 1, 1801.

Hannaford, Joseph S., disch. Oct. 1, 1801.

Homn, Peter, captured at Bull Bun ; iliach. Ang. 0, 1802.

H<irach, A. B., disch. Feb. 9, 1863.

Kelley, John, captured Nov. 3, 1801.

Lawnnce, Thomas E., pro. to corp. Oct 3; to sergt. Oct 1, 1862 ; killed at Spott-

sytvanhi. May 10, 1801.

Mulloy, Daniel, disch. May 30, 1802.

Newell, Lindall R., wonnded at Spottsylvania; disch. July 27, 1804.

Prideham, James H., re-enll)«ted ; trims, to 1st Mitine Veterans.

Pettengill, Orrin F., dropped by Order No. 102 ; disch. May 5, 1802.

Sastroi^ Charles H., disch. fur disHbility.

Sturgiss, George B., disch. July 27, 1804.

Tappan, George W
, pro. to corp. Oct 3; disch. July 27, 1804.

Tracy, William, wounded June 27 ; disch. Jnly '27, 1804.

Tyler, Jacob E., wonndad at Antietani; disch. Oct. 20, 1802.

White, Henry W., prisoner at Bull Bun; exchanged.

Woodbury, Edwanl H.

Brennan, Martin, must. July 21, 1801; taken prisoner Nov. 12; missing in ac-

tion. Hay 3, 1803.

Skillings, Otis H., must July 21. 1801; disch. July 27, 1804.

Moody, Charles F., bugler, must Dec. 17, 1801; re-eul. Jan. 3, 1801; trans, to

1st Maine Veterans.

Winch, Benjamin M., must Dec. 17 1801 ; disch. May 25, 1802.

Ryan, William H., must Jnly 24, 1801 ; disch. fur disability, April 19, 1802.

Wilder, Samuel, must. Nov. 21, 1862; trans, to 1st Maine Veterans.

COMPANY I.

Mustered in June 24, 1801.

Augustus J.Grenier, Corp., must. June 24, 1861 ;
pro. to sergt, to 1st lieut In 1802.

Smith, John H. F., must. June 24, 1801 ; disch. Sept 27, 1801.

Towie, Levi N., must June 24, 1801 ; taken prisoner July 21, 1801.

FoUey, Patrick, must Dec. 15, 1802; re-eul. In United States Navy, 1804.

Farren, Patrick, must. Jan. 10, 1803; trans, to 1st Maine Veterans.

Lemont, Daniel, must Dec. 25, 1862 ; trans, to 1st Maine Veterans.

Smith, John, must. Dec. 15, 1862 ; disch. iur disability, 1863.

SIXTH nrFABTEY.
Frank Exhom, regimental band; must. July 15, 1861 ; must, out Aug. 9, 1862.

George Welden, regimental band ; must. Oct 24, 1861 ; must, out Ang. 9, 1862.

Downing, Amos, Co F ; must. July 15, 1801 ; disch. for disability, June 30, 1862.

Kelly, William, Co. F; must. July 15, 1861.

King, Richard, Co. F ; must July W, 1861 ; disch. for disability, Oct. 6, 1862.

O'Keefe, Dennis, Co F; must July 15, 1801; died at Flilladelphla, Jan. 22,

1863.

Qnlnn, Thomas, Co. F; must July 15, 1861; disch. In hospital, July 20, 1803.

Sweeney, John,.Co. F ; must July 15, 1801 ; missing in battle at Spottsylvania.

Bailey, Robert, wagoner, Co. G ; must. Jnly 15, 1301 ; disch. .^ug. 15, 1804.

Klngsley, Paul, Co. G ; must July 15, 1801 ; disch. Jan. 14, 1864.

Lobden, Theodore, Co. G ; must July 15, 1801 ; died Sept. 12, 1861,

O'Hare, Mlcliael, Co. O; mnst July 15, 1861.

Bobinette, Joseph, Co. G; must. July 15,1861; pro. to Corp. 1863; disch. Aug.

IS, 1864.

Wheeler, Patrick, Co. 6; must. July 15, 1861; re-enlisted; trans, to 1st Maine

Veterans.

Whalen, John T., Co. G. ; must July 15, 1861 ; re-enlisted ; trans, to 1st Maine

Veterans.

SEVEirTH IITFAirTBY.

COMPANY B.

Fllsman, Samuel, must Dec. 4, 1862.

Givens, Thomas, must. Oct 20, 1862 ; trans, to 1st Maine Veterans.

Jackson, Robert, must. Oct 20, 1802; traus. to Ist Maine Veterans.

Thompson, Abraham, mnst Dec. 23, 1802 ; trans, to 1st Maine Veterans.

COMPANY 0.

Cole, Bichard, must Oct 29, 1802; trans, to U. S. Army, Jan. 27, 1803.

Hart, John W., must Dec. 9, 1802 ; trans, to U. 3. Army, Jan. 27, 1863. ,

COMPANY D.

Mustered in Aug. 21, 1861.

Ayer, Caleb B., must. Sept 7, 1801 ;
pro. sergt. ; disch. Oct 22, 1862.

Edgerly, John M., must Dec. 20, 1801; died at Alexandria, Va.

Fox, Thomas, must Ang. 22, 1801 ; disch. Dec. 31, 1801.

McNeills, Thomas, must Aug. 22, 1801 ; died' at Alexandria, Va., March 28,

1802.

Montee, Charles, must Aug. 22, 1801 ; disch. at Camp Griffin, Dec. 31, 1861.

Norton, Joseph, Jr., wagoner, must Aug. 22, 1801 ; disch. for disability, July

23, 1803.

Smith, James, must. Aug. 22, 1801; pro. sergt. fur good conduct at Antletam;

trans, to U. S. Army, Jan. 26, 1863.
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Bacon, WlllUm, trana. ftom Co. F; taken priloner at Frederickaburg, Va.;
exchanged

; trans, to 1st Maine Yeteimns.

Ben7, Bicbard, trans, from Co. F; wonnded at Torktown.
Brown, Charles, trans, from Co. V ; disch. for diaaliUlty, 1863.

Coolbroth, George F., trana. bom Co. F; dlsch. SepUmker, 1864.

Doody, Johq H., trans, from Co. F ; disch. June T, 1862.

Itoaglass, William, trans, from Co. F.

Forrin, William H., trana from Co. F.

Faster, James K., trans, from Co. F; re.«nL in 1864.

Holbrook, John H., trans, from Co. F.

Jordan, Frank B., mnst. Jan. S, 1863; re-enl. in U. S. Army, 1863.

King, Bichard, mnst. Jan. 21, 1863 ; tnna. to lat Maine Yeterana.
Knight, Simeon, trans, from Co. V ; trans, to lat Maine Veterans.
Kngent, James, trans, from Co. F ; trans, to 1st Maine Veterans.
Smith, Jubn, most. Jan. S, 1863.

gpellman, Jeremiaf^ trans, flrom Co. F ; paroled prisoner, sxclianged ; disch.

September, 1864.

SnlUran, Daniel.

Bonnda, Charles H., mnst. Aug. 21, 1861 ; disefa. September, 1864.

ninnton, Lewis U, must. Ang. 21 ; ttken prisoner, Maj 4, 1863 ; exchanged

;

diach. September, 1864.

Wall, Jamea, most. Jan. i, 1863 ; le-enL in V. S. Arm/, Jan. 26, 1863.

COMPAKT K.

Solan, Thomas, mnat. Jan. 1, 1862; trana. to Co. K.
lilnnel), Timottaj, mnat. Jan. 1, 1862; trans, to Co. F.

- Spanlding, Merrill 8., mnst. Jan. 1, 1862 ; discharged 1863.

OOMPANT F.

Hnstered in Ang. 21, 1861.

Armatrong, Jolin H., trans, tram Co. G.

Bngdon, Dennis L., trans, from Co. O ; died 1863.

Brown, Bobert, must. Feb. 18, 1863.

Binefleld, Simon, mnst. April T, 1863; wonnded Majr 12, 1864; trans, to lat

Maine Yeterana.

Begg, John B., timns. from Co. O; re^enl. in 1st Maine Veterans.

Berry, Bichard, wonnded at Yorktown, Ya. ; trana. to Co. D.

Bacon, William, trans, to Co. D.

Cbolbroth, George F., trans, to Co. D.

Glapp, Jamas M., timns. from Co. O.

Colfee, Dennis, must. Jan. 12, 1862 ; tnna. from Co. G.

Cam, James IL, trana. from Co. O; disch. May 13, 1863.

Doian, Thomas, must. Jan. 1, 1862 ; detached as clerk.

Detlne, James, muit. April 14, 1863.

Eiekiel, Henry I., mnst. April 6, 1863.

Doody, John H., trans, to Co. D; disch. Jnne T, 1862.

Farrin, William H., trans, to Co. D ; disch. Jan. 13, 1862.

Fueter, Jamea E., trans, to Co. D.

Kngent, James, trans, to Co. D.

Spellman, Jatvmiab, trana. to Co. D ; taken prisoner.

DongUuB, William, trana to Co. D.

Holbrook, John H., trana to Co. D.

Brown, Charles, trana. to Co. D.

Foster, larael A., must. Ang. 20, 1862; trana tQ Inralid Corps, 1864.

O'Brien, Patrick S.^ mnst Ang. 1&, 1862.

Green, George A., mnat. April 16, 1863.

Hanacomb, Stephen, trana. from Co. G; wonnded May 3; detached at Fort

Knox, Me.

Hart, John, trans, from Co. G
;
pro. to corp. and sergt. ; traus. to 1st Maine

Veterans.

Hayea, John, trana. from Co. G; miasing. May 18, 18G4.

Hooper, I«wrenca P., trana. from Co. 6 ; diaeb. April 9, 1863.

Jones, Charles W, trans, from Co. O ; re-enl. in V. S. Navy, 1864.

Morpby, Edward, trans. fh>ni Co. O ; wonnded at Antietam ; diach. Not. 1864.

Stanford, Charles, tiana from Co. O ; died 1863.

Sterens, Charie* B., trans, from Co. G ; killed in battle. May 6, 1864.

Smellay, Aipfaonso B., moat. May 16, 1863 ; detached in proroet gnard.

Tmndy, William T., trana. from Co. G : disch. NoTember, 1864.

COMPANY O.

Mnstared in July 21, 1861.

George McGinley, sergt., pro. to lat lient.

Thomas P. Beala, sergt., dlsch. for disability, March 1, 1862.

Jobn K. Proctor, sergt., pro. to 1st sergL; tians. to Maine, 1863.

LeTl L. Thnnton, sergt., trans, to Co. F.

H. Motley, oorp^ pro. to sergt.; trana to Maine, 1863.

H. H. Gnshraan, oorp., pro. to aergt. ; trana. to U. S. Veteran Beserre.

J. T. Follett, corp, pro. to aergt. ; trana to Maine, 1863.

Jamee Clapp, oorp., ledncad December, 1861 ; trans, to Co. F.

Henry greieth, died at Baltimore, Md.

Jobea P. Ereietli, mnaician, trans, to regimental band ; ratnmed Angnst, 1862

;

trana. to Co. F In 1863.

J. T. Skillins, wagoner, at brigade beadiinatten, 1863; re-«nl. 1864.

Annatrong, J. H., pro. to carp. ; to aergt. ; wonnded at Antietam ; tfuia. to Co.

F,1863.

Adams, William, pro, to corp. ; trana to Co. F, 1863.

Begg, John R., wounded at Antietam ; trans, to Co. K.

Bragdon, D. L., pro. to corp. ; tu lat aergt. ; trans, tu Co. F.

Brackett, Georgo W., died Feb. 28, 18G2.

Blake, S. B., disch. fi>r disability.

Drake, Pbarea S., died Sept. 24, 1862.

Goddard, J. H., dropped from the rolls, 1862 ; nerer mnst in.

Hooper, Lawrvnce K., tiana. to Co, K, 1803.

Hart, John, detached; treua to Co. F.

Meaaer, Alvln, died Sept 24, 1862.

Melody, Thomas, tnna. to Co. K.

Spencer, A. C, diach. for disability, March 5, 1862.

Siuith,Cliarl«s J. B., missing at Antietam; trans, to Co. K in 1863.

Stanford, Charles U., trans, to Co. K.
'

Tmndy, William T., trans, to Co. F.

Witlay, Albert C, disch. for disability, March 5, 1862.

Bonnda, Edward, dropped from the rolls, 1862 ; nerer must in.

Maxwell, William, dropped from the rolls, 1862.

Lewis, Alouio B., dlsch. for disobiilly, Jan. 3, 1862.

Chase, A. K., demched ; trana tu Co. K, 1863.

Lnnt, James, diach. fur disability, Jan. 3, 1862.

Watcrbuuse, Cbai les H., Corp., traos. to Co. F, 1863 ; wonnded and misaing. Hay
4,186:1.

Clement Charles, trans, to Co. K.

Coifee, Dennis, mast Jan. 15, 1862 ; trans, to Co. F, 1863.

Cass, James H., roust. Jan. IS, 1862; trans, tu Co. F, 1863.

Hayes, John, mnst. Jan. 15, 1862 ; trana. to Co. F, 1863.

Abbott, Andrew J., must June 16, 1861 ; sent to Furt Knox. Me.

Dunacomb, Thomas G., must Jane 29, 1863; sent to Fort Knox, Me.

Fergnsou, John, mnst Jnne 16.

Hammond, Cherles, must June 16, 1863 ; detached at Fort Knox, Me.

Hanaelpecker, James H., must May 17, 1863 ; detached at Furt Knox, Me.

McMain, John, mnat. June 29, 1863 ; detached at Fort Knox, Me.
Milcbrll, Frank, mast. Jnne 29, 1863; detached at Furt Knox, Me.

Buunda, Charles B., mnat Aug. 21, 1861; trans, to Co. D.

Sniallen, Philip, must July 6, 1863.

Taylor, Wllllani, must Jnne 16, 1863 ; detached at Fort Knox, Me.

COMPANY 1.

Drew, George, Jr., must Ang. 21, 1862 ; trana. to loTalid Corps, 1864.

Landy, Cbarlee, muat Feb. 16, 1862.

Armatrong, Jamee F., must. Feb. 18, 1863.

Morria, Jubn C, muat Jan. 1, 1863.

Palln, Thomas, must Jan. 10, 1863.

Booney, Peter, muat Nov. 3, 1802.

Boi, Jobn, trana from Co. F.

Smith, Thomaa, muat Jiin. 10, 1863.

Wuif, Thomaa, must. Jan. 10, 1863.

COMPANY K.

Cbaae, Albanua B., trana. from Co. G ; disch. by war order of May 20, 1864.

Clements, Charles, trana. from Co. G ; re-enl. la lat Maine Veterans.

Llttleliaie, Isaac M., mnst Sept 22, 1862; miasiag in action. May 4, 1863.

Melody, Thomas, trans, from Co. G ; diach. by war order uf May 20, 1864.

Murray, William, muat Dec. 22, 1862 ; trana to C. S. NaTy.
Smith, John W., trana. from Co. O; taken priaoner, June 1, 1864.

Smith, Charles J. B., trana from Co. G ; misaing.

Watts, Alfred A. ¥., trans, from Co. A ; diach. by ciTil authority, Jan. 10, 1863.

SIOHTH IH7AHTBT.

Cbanncey B. Webster, sergt, Co. E ; must Sept. 7, 1861 ; pro. to 1st sergt

Bonny, Alonio O., Co. E; mnst Sept 7, 1861.

Sawyer, Charles M., Co. E; must Sept 7, 1861 ; detached in 1863.

Pute, Jamea M., Co. B ; mnat Sept 7, 1861 ; pro. to corp. ; to sergt., 1862 ; re-

dncwl.1864.

Buberts,CharieaH., Co. E; must. Sept 24, 1802 ;
pro. to corp. 1863.

HcLellan, John, Co. E ; must Oct 6, 1803 ; trans, to Nary, 1866.

Knights, John K., Co. I; moat. Sept 7, 1861 ; re^enllsted, 1863; detached to

Amlmlance Corpe, 1864.

Feeney, Martin, Co. I; most Oct 8, 1863; disch. Jan. 18, 1866.

Hngheo, John, Co. I ; muat Oct 13, 1863 ; died of wound*, July 19, 1864.

Kelrran, Jamea, Co. I ; mnst Oct 14, 1863 ; detached aa sharpshooter.

Bateman, Enoa, Co. B ; mnst. Match 26, 1863 ; trana. to Vet Bes. Corps, 1864.

Smart, Bubert. Co. E; most Nor. 12, 18»L
Foley, Francis, Co. I ; most Oct 7, 1863 ; pro. to sergt ; dlsch. Jan. 18, 1806.

HodgUns, Joseph O., Co. D; mnat Sept 10, 1862; kiUed In batUe, May 20,

1864.

Bussell, Joseph S., Co. E ; most March 27, 1862; missing Ang. 28, 18C4.

Jameson, George W., Co. E ; must Sept 7, 1861.

Chaae, Beuel D., Co. F; must Sept iS, 1862; trans, to Co. D.
PhlUps, Samnel F., Co. G ; muat. Jan. 2, 1864 ; diacb. Not. 8, 1866.

Perkins, George W., Co. H; most Sept 3, 1862; diach. Not. 4, 1866.

Perkins, George H., Co. H ; mnat Not. 5, 1862; wounded Hay 16, 1864 ; a4ju-
tant'a clerk.

Freeman, James, Co. F; mnat Ang. 7, 1863; mliaing In battle, Oct 27, 1864.

Brown, Charles, Co. O ; mnat Feb. 29, 18S3.

Dougherty, Thomas, Co. G; mnat Oct 9, 1863; taken prisoner, Jane 18, 1863.
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Harrington, Curnelliu, Co. Gj mast Oct 10, 180*; labatltote; dtach. Jau. 18,

18M.

Hall, John, Co. G; mint. Oct. 10, 18S4. ai lubstltnte; mining.
King, Tliomav Co. O; maat. Oct. 9, 1863; di»cli. for disability, Jnly 8, 1864.

Morris, Tllomas, Co. O; must. Oct. 9, 1863; discliarged, 1863.

Smitli, Cliarin, Co. 0; must. Oct 12, 186:1; disch. Jau. 18, 1866.

Oalciir, Ihomu O, Co. H ; must. Oct 10, 1863 ; trans, to Navy, April 27, 1864.

Dodgs, Abnrr, Co. H; must Sept 20, 1864; disch. 1885.

Jones, William E., Co. K; most. Feb. 6, 1864; dlsch. Jan. 18, 1868.

HcHarra, Hugli, Co. I; must Oct 10, 1863 ; disch. Jan. 18, 1866.

Ueysfr, Louis, Co, I ; mut. Oct 10, 1863.

Perry, L«Ti &., Co. I ; must Oct 6, 1863 ; discharged In hospital.

Biley, Patrick, Co. I; must. Oct 4, 1863.

ShaTor, Edward P, Co. I ; must Oct 13, 1863 ; vonnded May 28, 1864 ; pro. to

sergt

Wallter, James, Co. I; must. Oct 13, 1863 ; disch. from hospital, 1868.

Wallman, Jacob, Co. I ; must Oct 1, 1863 ; trans, to Nary.
Wilaon, William, Co. I; must March 16, 1884; trans, to Nary.

HIHTH ISTASTBT.
COMPANY A.

Baker, Ernest, mnst Oct. 24, 1863.

Beancbamp, Edward, must. Sept 15, 1864.

Brackett, William C, must Sept 18, 1864.

Babb, Albert A., most Sept 19, 1864.

Bums, John, must Sept 19, 1864.

Bums, William, must Sept 18, 1864.

Barry, Thomas, must. Sept 22, 1864.

Brooks, Jamea, moat Oct 4, 1884.

Brooks, Charles A., tlaos. (h>m Co. K; wounded Jnly 18, 1863; detached, 1864.

Canoil, Thomas, must. Sept 23, 1884.

Coig, John, must. Sept 20, 1864.

Carroll, Joseph, must Oct 6, 1884.

Doherty, John, must Sept 21, 1864.

Deverix, James, most Sept 24, 1864.

Ouuacomb, Peter, mnst Oct 4, 1864.

Deardon, Daniel, miut. Oct 4, 1864.

Pox, James, must Sept 22, 1884.

Trancis, Charles, mnst. Oct 27, 1884; wounded June 1, 1885.

Gillnwn, Charles, must Sept 23, 1884.

McMnlty, Frank, mnst. Sept. 29, 1864.

Searey, Ora, must Sept 24, 1864.

Tork, John, must. Sept 23, 1864.

COMPANY B.

Ham, William L., must Sept 22, 1881 ; re-enl. Jan. 1, 1884.

Walker, Nelson F., mnst Sept 22, 1881 ; died at Hilton Head, Jan. 24, 1862.

Boach, John A. J., must March IS, 1864; pro. to chief musician, Oct 22, 1884.

COMPANY C.

Benton, Joseph F., must Sept 19, 1884.

COMPANY D.

Hoyt, John, must. Sept 22, 1861.

Benford, Charles, most Sept. 28, 1884.

COMPANY E.

Pomlon, James, mnst Oct 19, 1863.

Beedy, Thomas, mnst. Oct. 23, 1864.

COMPANY F.

Connard, Washington, must Jnly 14, 1863; killed In battle. May 20, 1884.

WInsluw, Boacoe, most Ang. 20, 1883.

COMPANY O,

Cnahing, John >., mnst Sept 20, 1881; pro. to Corp.; re.enl. Jan. 1, 1864;

wounded Sept 29, 18W.

Uden, John, must Sept 21, 1861.

Mangan, John, must Sept 21, 1861 ; wounded Aug. 30, 1863.

Smitb, James, must Sept 21, 1861 ; taken prisoner, June 21, 1882 ; disch. Sept

27,1884.

Folley, Jerry, mnst Jan. 1, 1864 ; missing In battle, Aug. 18, 1864.

Forsyth, Juhn A., must Deo. 12, 1864 ; died of wounds recelTed June 30, 1884.

Llden, John, mnst Sept 21, 1861 ; re-enl. Jan. 1, 1884 ; wounded May 18, 1864.

Magnan, John, must. Sept 22, 1881 ; disch. Sept 27, 1864.

Chase, Albanns M., must Aug. 11, 1863.

Weeks, Charles F, pro. to 1st Ueut from Co. F, Oct 26, 1864.

COMPANY H.

Chadboume, SinMon, most Sept 23, 1882; died Oct 4, 1863.

Webb, Edward W., must Sept 28, 1862.

Brown, Thomas, must Sept. 28, 1884.

McDonald, William, most Sept 28, 1864.

Page, Buhert, must. Sept. 28, 1864.

Beed, Joseph, must. Sept 30, 1864.

COMPANY L

Brainard, Thomas, must Oct 14, 1883.

Hagerty, Peter, must Oct 17, 1883.

Williams, John, drafted, mnst. Sept 11, 1863; killed in bailie, Aug. 16, 1884.

TEBTH INFiNTEY,
Daniel H. Cliandler, leader of liaud, must out under order of War Dept., Sept

1, 1882.

Nathaniel K. Walker, Co. A ; must. Oct. 15, 1861 ;
pro. to sergt Oct. 20; re-

duced in 18G2 ; disch. Feb. 4, 1803.

COMPANY B.

Mustered In Oct 4, 1881 ; discharged May 7, 1863.

Charles H. Cushman, sertt, disch. for disability, April 17, 1862.

Charles H. Culley, Jr., sergt., pro. to 2d Ueut Aug. 9 ; died Sept 20.

Stephen Noyes, Jr., sergt., returned to the ranks by request, Jan. 14, 1882.

Edward W. Loreitt, Corp., pro. to sergt; wounded Aug. 9, IBG2.

Frank Seed, corp, reduced ; taken prisoner Blay 25, 1S62; exchanged, 1682.

Juhn G. Qlendenoing, Corp., reduced Not. 21; wounded at Antietam; disch.

Jan. 15, 1863.

DxTld N. Hall, Corp., disch. for disability, Dec. 24, 1862.

Daniel E. Monntfort, Corp., died at Harper's Ferry, April 7, 1882.

Henry N. Greene, muslchtn, disch. fur disability, March 11, 1882.

Alpliens L. Greene, musician, pro. to fife-niajor.

Allen, Charles F., prisoner May 25, 1862 ;
paroled.

Bussel, George F., disch. for disability, July 28, 1862.

Blackwood, Benjamin, wounded at Antietam; pro. to corp.

Cushman, Benjamin J., died at Front Boyal, July 9, 1882.

Oarey, Peter W., pro. to corp.

Cbipmaa, George W, ; Delano, Theodore Y.; Downes, Joseph S.

Davey, Samuel F., pro. to corp. Co. B.

Enstis, Frank F., pro. to corp.

Eustis, Leonani, prisoner. May 25 ; exchanged
;
pro. to sergt.

Farley, Alfred D. F, disch. May 23, 1882.

Oraffam, Edwin W.; OlII, George H.

Hoyt Benjamin G., pro. to corp. December, 1862.

Johnson, Alexander, disch. fur disability, Jan. 9, 1883.

Jordan, James E., wounded at Antietam ; died.

Loring, William H. H., disch. for disability, Jan. 13, 1863.

Lovett, Simon A., disch. for disability, Jan. 8, 1883.

Miiiigan, James.

Miles, Benjanilu C, wounded at Cedar Mountain; disch. Nov. 8, 1862.

Fenny, Augustus, wounded on -picket; disch. April 11, 1862.

Powers, James ; Band, George H.

Boberts, Daniel S., prisoner at Winchester ; died at Lynchburg, Va., Au>;. 3,

1882.

Byan, John ; Smith, Charles tx.

Smith, Almado B., wounded at Cedar Mountain.

Stone, John, wounded at Cedar Mountain.

Spaulding, Albert S. ; Swett, James W.
Swett, John, Jr., taken prisoner at Winchester, Ya. ; exchanged.

Sweetser, Bichmond, dlscb. for disability, Aug. 20, 1862.

Sawyer, Thorudyke H., disch. for disability, June 5, 1882.

Trowbridge, John, killed at battle of Antietam, Sept 17, 1862.

Tewksbury, James N., prisoner at Winchester; exchanged.

Traak, Charles H. ; Trask, George F. ; Terrill, Benjamin F.

Varoey, Oliver F., pro. to Corp. in 1863.

Westcott, Bichmond F., pro. to corp. in 1863.

Wllley, John C, pro. to corp. Nov. 21, to sergt. 1802, to 1st sergt 1883.

Weeks, Joseph, taken prisoner at Winchester; died at Lynchburg, Va,

Wlnslow, Hiram.

Campbell, Bobert H., must Oct 27, 1881.

Newell, James N.

Watertaouse, Peter B., disch. for disability, March 11, 1862.

Budge, William, must. Aug. 23, 1862 ; transferred.

Drett John F., must Aug. 23, 1882 ; transferred.

Bean, William, must Aug, 6, 1882 ; V.lled at Antietam.

Bumell, Edward A., must Aug. 2, i862 ; transferred.

Cobb, Martin L., must Aug. 28, 1862 ; transferred.

DInsmore, John, must Aug, 22, 1862 ; transferred.

Emery, David, must. Aug. 8, 1882; transferred.

Flanders, Daniel, must Aug. 20, 1862 ; transferred.

Fllnn, John, mnst. Sept. 3, 1862; transferred.

Fuss, David, must. Aug. 18, 1862 ; transferred.

Foster, Tbumiis, mnst Aug. 6, 1862 ; transferred.

OrlfBn, Thomas, mnst Ang. 18, 1882 ; disch. for disability, Dec. 7, 1862.

Hanson, Ezekiel H., must Aug. 17, 1862 ; transferred.

Hoyt, George A., must Aug. 17, 1862 ; transferred.

Ilsley, Enoch B., must Aug. 8, 1862.

Jones, Oliver, must Aug. 18, 1862 ; transferred.

Kerrigan, Andrew, must March 6, 1882; wounded at Cedar Mountain; disch.

Oct 7, 1802.

Knight, Storer S,, must Ang. 18, 1862; transferred.

HcGiuty, John, must Ang. 6, 1862 ; killed at Antietam, Sept 17, 1862.

McGuire, Terrence, must. March 6,1862; taken prisoner at Winchester; ex-

changed; transferred.

McKenzie, William, must Aug. 18, 1862; disch. for disability, Dec, 6, 1882.

O'Uara, WillUm, must Aug. 6, 1862; transferred.

Parker, Nathaniel W., must Ang. 18, 1882 ; disch. for disability, March 21, 1863.

Plummer, Arthur, mnst Aug. 2,3, 1862; disch, for disability, Feb, 7, 1863.

Sawyer, Edward H,, must Aug, 18, 1882; transferred.

Stewart, Hiram S., must Aug. 23, 1862.
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TmiQer, Jamn, mnit. March 6, 1862.

Wella, John F^ miMt. Aug. 6, 1862 ; trani. 1863.

Hall, Daoa, trana. to dodkioiii. staff aa q.m. Mrgt., 1863.

Mahan, George T.. pro. to corp.

Meal, Ansel, muit. Aug. 26, 1862 ; tranilemd.

COMPAMT C.

Mastered in Oct. S, 1861 ; dtacharged Ma; 8, 1863.

Charles X. Jordan, sergt., taken prisoner at Frederick, Md.; paruled.

George H. Hard, sergt., killed at Cedar Mountain.

Henrj A. Bnmham, sergt.

Bobert M. Weeks, sergt., taken prisoner at Cedar Honntain; ezcbangrd;

trans, as com. sergt., 1863.

Henry M. Smith, Corp., wounded at Antietam ; discb. Feb. 6, 1863.

William P. Hamilton, Corp., wounded at Winchester and at Cedar Monntaiu

;

trans. 1863.

Henry A. Plummer, Corp., taken prisoner at Winchester; exdianged ; pro. to

sergt. ; disch. May 8, 1863.

Valentine B. Jaclcson, Corp., taken prisoner at Winchester; reduced.

I>aTid O. Warner, musician, taken prisoner May 29 ; dIsch. June 18, 1862.

Frederick W. Stone, mnsidan.

Bumham, Charies, discb. June 18.

Cobb, Beojamin F., discb. Not. 27, 1862.

Conway, John ; Downea, John W. G.

DeTine, Antliony, taken prisoner Msy 25; exchanged.

Olendennlng, Thomas M., discb. June 18, 1862.

Knight, William W., pro. to coip.; taken prisoner Ang. 18, 1862; exchanged;

pro. to sergt., 1863.

Knight, George E., pro. to corm 1863.

Koowles, John, trans, to Co. H,

Lane, Solomon, tiana. to Co. H.

Mone, William.

Moore, Edward K., must Aug. 6, 1862 ; trsos. 1863.

Pennell, Edwin W. ; Bider, Albert S.

Bider, Mark, pro. to Corp., 1862.

Bussell, William 0. ; Sterens, Charles W. ; Smellage, Charles E.

Boule, George A., wounded Ang. 9, 1862.

Spring, F. A.

Tighe, Dennis, wounded at Cedar Monntaln.

Newbold, Andrew D., taken prisoner May 2S ; paroled ; diich. Ang. 10, 1862.

Atchorsott, John, pro. to Corp., 1863.

LoTe, William H., taken prisoner May 28, 1862.

Hanson, Nlles A., wounded at Antietam ; transferred.

Boody,FnuiciaG., must. Not. 27,1861; Uken prisoner May 26, 1862; exchanged;

dlsch. Febmaty, 1863.

Farr, Darid, most. 27, 1861 ; wounded at Antietam.

Williams, John A., must. Nor. 27, 1861 ; dlsch. July 2, 1862.

WInslow, William A., musL Not. 27, 1861 ; taken prisoner at Winchester, Ta.

;

exchanged.

Boss, William B., must. Not. 27, 1861.

Goodhue, John, must. Not. 27, 1861.

Chickering, Sabine C, must. Oct. 16, 1861 ; dlich. Jan. 23, 1862.

Ballon, Adin, most. Aug. 13, 1862.

Bonney, Edwin W., mnet. Aug. S, 1862 ; killed at Antietam, Sept. 7, 1862.

Boody, Leonard G., must. Ang. 9, 1862.

Buck, Daniel F., mnst. March 20, 1862.

Bockman, Amoa, must. March 20, 1862.

Doody, John H., most. July 3, 1862 ; wounded at Antietam ; transferred.

Fenell, William B., must. Aug. 11, 1862; transferred 1863.

Green, Charles A., must. Ang. 23, 1862; transferred.

Gumey, Dexter, must. Aug. 23, 1862.

Jordan, Leonard G., must. Aug. 22, 1862; transferred.

Muore, Edward SL, mast. Aug. 6, 1862.

Sheridan, Jamea, must. Aug. 2, 1862 ; timosferred.

Small, Joseph B., mnst. Ang. 6, 1862; tiwisferred.

Stackpole, Daniel W., mnst March 21, 1862.

Ballon, Adin, must Ang. 13, 1862 ; transferred.

COMPANY D.

Hnstered in Oct. 4, 1861.

Chariea Keboe, musician, trans, to 10th Battalion and 2gth Maine Inf.

McNnlty, John, wounded at Cedar Mountain ; dlsch. March 16, 1863.

McNally, Patrick, killed at Cedar Mountain.

Smith, James, disch. for disability. Not. 22, 1862.

McGowsn, Michael, must. Not. IS, 1861; taken prisoner Ang. 20, 1862; ex-

changed ; trans, to 29th Maine Inf.

Flnmmer, Daniel, must Nor. 16, 1801 ; killed at Cedar Mountain.

Peabody, William D., must. Not. 16, 1861 ; trans, to Co. A.

Manhall, George, mast Not. 15, 1861 ; trans, to Co. A, October 26.

COMPANY E.

Mustered in Oct 4, 1861; discharged May 8, 1863.

Joseph Periey, sergt., pro. to 2d lleut

Herbert B. Sargent, sergt., pro. to 2d lient, to 1st lleut., and to capt. ; wounded

Aug. 9, 1862.

Chariea S. Trjwbriilge, sergt.

Theodora H. Lombard, sergt.

Asa S. Cox, coip.

George A. Smith, Corp., pro. to sergt. ; wonnded at Antietam ;
pro. to Ist sergt.

December, 1802.

Joseph F. Mackin, Corp., wounded at Slaughter Mountain, Aug. 9, 1862; re-

duced by request

Tumey Carey, mnslciaa.

Jcohna B. King, wagoner.

Bamtow, Samuel B. ; Bragdon, Chariea W. M. ; Chase, Wilber F.

Douglass, Jeremiah S., pro. to corp. ; pro. to sergt. December, 1862.

DaTis, William E., pro. to cool sergt,

Goold, Joslah.

Green, Chariea B., ditch.' for disability, Jane 20, 1862.

Hayes, John O. ; Haskell, William T.

Johnson, Thomas, taken prisoner May 25, 1862; exchanged,

Simpson, George W., drowned at Sandy Hook, Md., Blay 3, 1862.

Smith, Harrison W., wounded Ang. 9; pro. to corp. May 3, 1862.

SI. John, William E.

Trefethen, Clifford J., pro. to corp. Jan. 7, 1863.

Boach, Edward, died at Barperl Ferry, Ta., May 13, 1862,

Hartsbome, Frederick A., must Oct, 26, 1861.

Heft-on, Thomas, mnst Oct 16, 1861,

Lowry, Wllltam, mast Oct 16, 1861 ; taken prisoner Bby 25, 1862; exchanged,

Howe, James B., most Oct 16, 1861.

Cook, DaTid W., must, Oct, 16, 1861.

Damren, Dasten, mnst. Oct. 16, 186L

Cook, HIrmm T., must Oct. 16, 1861 ;
pro. to corp. ; taken prisoner Msy 25, 1862

;

exchanged ; pro. to sergt. December, 1862.

Chase, Samuel B., mnst Oct 16, 1861 ; taken prisoner.

Chase, Edward E., must Not. 27, 1861,

Coolbroth, William, must Oct 16, 1861 ; disch, for disability, Aug, 1, 1862.

Barbour, Joseph H., must Sept 18, 1862 ; died Jan, 9, 1863.

Gould, John M., mast. Oct 6, 1862 ; pro. to sergt-m%J. and llent

COMPANY I,

Mustered in Oct. 4, 1864 ; discharged May 7, 1864.

Benjamin T. WItliam, sergt., disch. for disability, March 11, 1862.

Heieklab Atwood, sergt., pro. to Ist sergt. ; discharged Hay 7, 1863.

Nathaniel D. Bipley, corp,

Cobb, Cliarles.

Clnskey, Peter, pro. to corp. ; woanded at Antietam.

Delaud, Daniel, Jr., dlsch. for disability. May 19, 1862,

Dunn, Charles F., dlsch. Feb. 2, 1862,

Foster, Samuel H.

JobusAn, Andrew J., woanded at Cedar Monntaln.

Murphy, William H., pro. to corp. July, 1862.

Bolf, Benjamin F.

Scammon, Isaac W., disch. for disability, May 30, 1862.

Tamer, Moses, taken prisoner May 25, 1862 ; exchanged.

Terfaane, Stephen.

Thomas, Walter H., trans, to band ; must out of serTlce with bond, September,

1862.

Littlefleld, Charles, disch. for disability, June 2, 1862.

Arnold, William P., mnst Oct. 16, 1861.

Golden, William P., must Oct 16,1861 ; taken prisoner May 25, 1862; exchanged.

Murphy, James, must Oct 16, 1861 ; dlsch. Feb. 21, 1862,

Moultun, Matthias, must Aug, 18, 1862 ; transferred.

Murphy, Thomas, must, Ang. 5, 1862; disch. for disability, March 17, 1863.

Walker, Ferdinand F., must Ang. 12, 1862; disch. for disability, Jan. 31, 1863.

COMPANY K,

Mustered in Oct 4, 1861.

Eaton, James D. ; killed at Antietam, Sept 17, 1862.

Plo, Jamea H., wounded at Cedar Mountain.

Beynolds, George W.
Duston, William H., must Ang. 21, 1862.

MISCELLANEOUS.

William W. Sewall, musician, Co. F ; mnst Oct 4, 1861; dlsch. May 7, 1863.

Sidney, Philip, Co. F ; must Oct 4, 1861.

DeTlae, Anthony, Jr., Co. F ; mnst Oct 4, 1801 ; trans, to Co. C.

O'Neil, Lanty, Co. F ; must Oct. 4, 1861 ; disch. May 7, 1863.

Pots, Isaac J., Co. F ; mnst Oct 4, 1861 ; disch. Hay 7, 1863,

Smellage, George W., Co, F ; must Oct 4, 1861 ; dlsch. Hay 7, 1863.

Prindall, Edward L., Co. F; must. Sept 2, 1863; transferred.

Oaitley, Blartin, Co. F ; mnst Sept 9, 1862 ; transferred.

Turner. John F., Co. F ; must Oct 4, 1861 ; transferred.

Veaile, Edwin B., Co, F ; must Oct, 4, 1861 ; dhnh, for disability, April 30,

1863.

UcGoTerin, Dennis, Co, F ; mnst Aug. 18, 1862 ; transferred.

Bobert H,JIurphy, mnstclan, Co, G ; mnst, Oct 4, 1861 ; disch. May 8, 1863.

Kieatard, Luke, Co. G ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; wounded at Antietam ; died Sept.

18, 1862.

Field, AlTin, Co. H ; mnst Oct 4, 1861 ; killed at Cedar Mountain, Ang. 9, 1862.

ELKVKHTE IirFAHTBT.

COMPANY A.

Sylrester C. Moody, flre.maior, disch. October, 1862.

Thomas K. Jones, musician, ragimentai band ; dlsch. Ang. 12, 1862, with the

band.
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Brnjamin F. Brown, musician, regimentHi Uod ; dl»ch. Aug. 12, 1861, with th«
band.

'William H. Kaler, sergt., detached to Signal Curps, Deo. IS, 18(3.1.

George A. aikeman, Corp., wounded at Fair Oake; detached to Artillery on
Monia Island, 8. C, 186:).

Le«, William 6., pro. to sergt. and detached to Ambulance Corpe ; reduced to
Corp. May, 1863 ; dlach. Nov. 18, IS64.

Ljrnch, George, trans, to Artillery on Morris Island, 18Ca ; disch. Not. 18, 1864.
Leiand, Thomas, died at Baltimore, June 3, 1862.

Osborne, George F., acting hospital steward, 4th South Carolina Vols., 1863.
Bears, John E., must. Not. 7, 1861 ; disch. for disabililj, March 14, 1803.

COMPANY C.

Ames, Benry, must Oct 11, 1864; detached to headquarters let Division, 24th
Amiy Corps.

Donaliue, Thomas, must. Oct 12, 1864.

Ford, Bartholomew, must Oct. 11, 1864.

Hanlan, Thomas, must Oct 18, 1864.

Hanson, Peter, must Oct 12, 1864; sick at end of war.

Jones, Edward, must Oct 13, 1864 ; in liospital Feb. 2, I86«.

Johnson, Thomas, must Oct 11, 1863; prisoner at end of war.

Kelly, John, most Oct 11, 1864.

Lucas, David, must Oct. 11, 1864.

McGinnesa, James K., mnst July 28, 1863.

Bandall, James, must Oct. 11, 1864.

Sonlhwick, Morris, mnst Oct. 11, 1864.

Stinson, Jajnes, must July 14, 1863.

COMPANY D.

Cannavan, John, must Oct. 11, 1864.

Geary, George, must. Oct 18, 1864.

Lane, Otis, must. Nor. 10, 1803; leg broken May 21, 1861.

Von Siebold, Alexander, regimental dark, must Aug. 28, 1863.

COMPANY B.

Arent, William, mnst. Oct. 18, 18C4.

Famfaam, George U., must Oct fi, 1864.

Kincald, William B., mnst Aug. 8, 1863 ; lost an arm Aug. 14, 1864.

McMannuB, Thomas, must Sept 30, 1864.

Smith, George E., mnst Oct 19, 1864.

Simmons, Charles, must Oct 18, 1864.

Walker, John, must. Oct 13, 1864.

COMPANY F.

Charles H. Scott, sergt., mnst Nov. T, 1861 ; pro. to 1st sergt. Oct 1863; rs-

enl. Jan. IS, 1864.

John C. Boss, Corp., must Nov. 7, 1861 ; disch. for disability. May 28, 1862.

Grlbbin, Wesley, must Nov. 7, 1861 ; disch. Oct 22, 1862.

Uribbin, Watson B., must Nov. 7, 1861 ; disch. Oct 22, 1862.

Lemont, John F., must Nov. 7, 1861 ; disch. by War Depc. order.

Smith, George 8., must Nov. 12, 1861 ; disch. for disability, Sept. 27, 1862.

Walsh, Ambrose F., must Nov. 7, 1861 ; pro. to corp. May 20, 1863; disch. Nov.

18, 1864.

Wyer, Eleaser, must Nov. 7,1861; taken prisoner at Fair Oaks; exchanged;

died Nov. 13, 1863.

Beam, John A., mnst Oct 14, 1864.

Hall, William, must. Jnly 11, 1864.

Meservey, John, must. Aug. 26, 186.1.

Witham, John B., must. Aug. 7, 1863.

COMPANY K.

Conlin, Martin, mnst. Oct 12, 1864.

Chirk, John, must. Oct 3, 1864.

Coakll, William, mnst. Oct 12, 1864.

Hunter, John, must. Oct 11, 1864.

Jones, James, mnst. Oct. 12, 1864.

Welch, John, mnst Oct 12, 1864.

TWELFTH nrFABTBT.

John W. Dana, 8ergt.'mi^., pro. to 2d lient

Charles D. Webb, q.m. sergt., pro. to lleut Co. A, Nov. 21, 1861.

Julius A. Drake, com. sergt., died July 27, 1863.

Sargent 8. P. Coe, hosp. steward ; disch. for disability, July 17, 1862.

COMPANY A.

George F. McDonald, sergt, must. Nov. 21, 1861 ;
pro. to Ist sergt. Sept 6, 1863.

Abbott, Charles H., mnst Nov. IS, 1861 ; disch. for disability.

Cochran, John, mnst Nov. IS, 1861 ; trans, to U. S. Army by request

Mitchell, Joshua, mnst. Nov. IS, 1861 ; re-enlisted ; trans, to 12tli Maine Art.

Libby, Edmund P., must Nov. IS, 1861; re.enUstcd; taken prisoner Sept 19,

1864; trans, to 12th Maine Bat

Baymond, Angnstna H., must Dee. 9, 1861 ; re^nl. in 12lh Maine Bat

Whittier, Oliver O., most Nov. IS, 1861 ; disch. for disability, June 17, 1862.

Willard, Daniel, most. Nov. IS, 1861 ; detached to U. S. Signal Corps.

Allen, Jesse B., trans, ftom Co. B, must Nov. 16, 1861.

Carter, Henry T., trans, from Co. B; pro. to 1st Uent Ist Louisiaiut Vols.

Libby, George H., trans, from Co. B.

Melody, Patrick, trans, from Co. B; rcenllsted; trans, to 12th Maine But.

COMPANY B.

Mustered in Nov. 16, 1861.

Edward P. Wyer, sergt., mu-t. Nov. 2(1, 1861 ;
pro. to 1st sergt. Oct. 25, 1S62.

Stephen H. Guptil, sergt., re-enllsteil ; reduced; trans, to 12th Maine Bat.

jHmes Berry, itergt., detached ; trans, to 12tli Mnirte Bat.

John D. Williams, sergt., must. Nov. 20,1801; disch. for disability, Feb. 2,1802.

Freeman N. Boynton, corp., pro. to sergt. ; missing In battle, Oct. 19, ISOt.

Itobert I. Files, Corp., trans, lo 12lh Mnine Bat.; discli. for disability, March

12, 1862.

Willlnm Fraser, Corp., pro. to sergt. April, 186:1 ; tian*. lo 12th Maine Bat.

Charle.^ H. Blake, Corp., pro. to sergt ; disch, Dec. 7, 18C4.

Leander Holmes, corp., dii^ch. Dec. 7, 1864.

A. George Bonny, Corp., re.«nli8tud ; trans, to 12th 3Ialiie Bat.

John Orlffln, musician, disch. Dec. 7, 1864.

A. G. Bobbins, WHgoner, died at New Orleans, July 22, 1862.

Addison, Henry, must. Dec. 11, 1861 : disch. April 4, 1862.

Allen, Jesse B., trans, to Co. A.

Stake, Isaac W., pro. to corp. ; detached in 186.1; disch. Nov. 16, 18(>4.

Brooks, William E., drowned at Ship Island, April 5, 1862.

Castle, l.awrence, re-enllstfd ; taken prisoner, Sept. 10, 1864.

Chapman, Bufus G., must. Nov. 20, 1861 ; trans, to Co. K.

Dinlun, Simon, mu>t Nov. 20, 1861 ; sent to SIlip Island, Nov. 14, 1863.

Enright, John, must Nov. 20, 1861 ; disch. for diiabillty, Sept. 9, 1863.

Elder, Samuel I!., disch. for disnbillty. Sept 2U, 1862.

Frazier, John, detached as orderly at brigade lieadq'rs, 1863; disch. May, 1861.

Gould, Lncleii II., re.enlisted ; trans, to 12th Maine Bat.

Hunt, Hlbbnrd, must Nov. 20, 1861 ; left at Camp Chase, Lowell, Mass., Jan. 2,

1862 ; disch. for disnbillt]-, Jan. 2, 1862.

Keenan, Francis, trans, to Ship Island by court-martial.

Libby, George H., must Nov. 20, 1861 ; trans, to Co. A.

Lombard, Blanchard, must. Nov. 20, 1801 ; wounded Sept 19, 1864.

Lizotte, Franfoid, killed in action, June 19, 1863.

Lane, Ivory, must. Nov. 20, 1861 ; disch. for disability, Aug. 26, 1862.

Locke, Joseph I., most. Nov. 20, 1861 ; trans, to Co. K.

Morse, Melville W., drowned at Ship Island, April 5, 1862.

McLellau, Charles E., pro. to corp. ; died June 11, 1863.

Mack, George H., mnst Nov. 20, 1861.

Melody, Patrick, must. Nov. 20, 1861 ; trans, to Co. A.

Merrill, John It., must. Nov. 20, 1861 ; disch. Dec..7, 1864.

Furinton, Albert H., must. Nov. 20, 1661 ; disch. to be officer In Corps d'Afrique.

Parker, Arthur, must. Nov. 20, 1861 ; trans, to Co. E.

Robinson, James, disch. for disability.
,

Smith, Gustavus, pro, to Corp.; re-enllsted; pro. to 1st sergt.; trans, to 12th

Maine Bat.

Swett, John B., must. Nov, 20, 1861,

Strong, George, must Dec. 6, 1861 ; killed in battle, Miiy 27, 1863.

Tibbets, Harrison, re-enlisted ; trans, to 12th Maine Bat.

Welch, Bobert B., died April 10, 186:1.

Wood, James 3., disch. Dec 7, 1864.

Dana, John W., must Nov. 16, 1861 ;
pro. to 2d lleut. on signal service, 1862.

COMPANY C.

Mustered In Nov. 15, 1861.

John Mulvey, sergt., wounded and taken prisoner at Ponchntoula.

Green, Samuel C, must Dec S, 1661 ; re-enlisted
; pro. to corp. ; trans, to 12th

Maine Bat
Williams, Samuel, must Dec. 25, 1861 ; disch. March 13, 1863.

COMPANY G.

Dana, John W., capt., mnst Nov. 16, 1861 ; trans, to 12th Maine Bat

Bider, Moses A., must Feb. 19, 1862; trans, to 12th Maine Bat,

Wllley, William C, must. May 26, 1864.

COMPANY H.

Doyle, John, mnst Nov, 16, 1861 ; re-enl. in V. 8. Army, 1863.

Bragdnn, Gideon, must Jan, S, 1804.

Clark, William, must May 28, 1864; trans, to 12th Maine Bat,

Smith, George W., must Nov. 18, 1863.

Bleseth, Lewis P., musician, Co. I ; must Feb, 28, 1861; wounded Oct, 19, 1864

;

trans, to 12th Maine Bat

COMPANY K.

Samuel H, Femald, sergt. Injured by a fall on board the " Constitution," 1862

;

sent to Portland, 1862.

William A. Cliase, sergt., disch. for disability, April 14, 1862.

Brick, Benjamin F.

O'Neill, WiUhun, must March 14, 1864; trans, to 12th Maine Bat

THTBTEZHTH INFiHTItT.

George H. Dow, com. sergt., must Dec. 10, 1861 ; disch. for disability, July 26,

1862.

Burrett, H. Beale, com. sergt,, must. Sept 13, 1863 ; re-enlisted ; transferred.

COMPANY A,

Mustered Nov. 20, 1861.

Thomas J. Fish, sergt., reduced by conrt-martlsl ; disch. for promotion in Corps

d'Afrique, 1863.
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COMPAMT E.

Uatteriid Dec. 10, 18S1.

Vetlejr Gribbia, corp., n>-«nliate<l ; transferred.

Cma, Albion P., died at Ship Iiland, Jane 25, 1862.

Orabam, Nelaon V., pro. to corp. April 25, 1863; re^enliated.

Onot, Jottamm P., repeal. Feb. 29, 1864; tnuieremd.
Hall, Kdwaid 8., re^nL fob. 29, I8C4 ; tnuMferred.

Lemont, John F, re<nl. Feb. 29, 1864; Irtnirerred.

Lockhut, Daniel P. H, mnat. Ju. 29, 1862 ; re-enl. Feb. 29, 1864 ; pro. to corp.
transferred.

COMPANY F.

Mostrred In D c. 10, 1861.

Bragdon, John F., most Jan. 23, 18»2( rs^nllsted; misiing In action, April 9,

1864.

Bonu, John, most. Jan. 2S, 1862 ; recent. Feb. 29, 1864 ; transferred.

Carnithera, Edwin J, most. Jan. 23, 1862; re-euL Feb. 29, 1864; tmniferred.
Ranben T. Jordan, sergt, piu. to 1st Usnt 1862.

Samnel O. Waterboow, sernt., disch. for disability, April 10, 1862.
- William Freeman, aer^t , pro. to 1st sen^t. aiid al Kent, in 1862.

Franklin E. Holmes, sergt, pro. to Isl serp. Not. 18S2; re-enL Feb. 29, 1804;
bmnsferred.

William R. Mllla, corp., dlseb. Ang. 29, 18C2.

Otis Wjer, wagoner, sick at Near Urieaos on iunster.ont of company.
Beale, Barrett H., pro. to q.m. spr^t. 1863.

DaWs, John H., disch. witli companjr, Jan. 6, I86S.

Flahertj, Patrick H., trans, to Tet Bea. Corps.

Gill, Leonard F., killed In baltl^ April 9, 1864.

Harmon, Phlneas F., disch. for drsaUlitj, Aug. 26, 1862.

Hartford, Solomon, disch. with company, Jan. 6, 1863.

Jordan, Albas B.

Jackson, Chariea A., re.enL Feb. 29, 1864.

Libby, Arthar, diacb. with company, Jan. 6, 1864.

Libby, Frank O , missing In battle, April 9, 1864.

Tranily, Albert C, pro. to cum. sergt.

Whittier, Charles F., disch. for dIaabUity, April 2, 1862.

COMPANT O.

Mastered in Dec 12, 1861.

FlaTtna 0. Seal, arrgt., diach. by Sapreme Conrt of Maine, Feb. T, 1862.

diaries H. Thomaa, aergt., pro. to lat aergt., Dec. 12, 1861 ; dIach. with company,
Jan. 6, 1865.

Lorenso Merrill, sergt., disch. for disability, April 2, 1862.

John Bnddeu, Jr., Corp., died Feb. U, 1863.

John H. F. Smith, corp., disch. for disability, April 1, 1862.

Bleb, Manball H., Corp., most. Dec. 25, 1861 ; recent. Feb. 29, 1864 ; transferred.

Oreeniief T. Berry, oorp., re-enl. Feb. 29, 1864; pro. to aergt.; transferred.

William H. Clereland, corp., mast. Dec 25, 1861 ; teaigned ; aick aince Not. 13,

1 864 ; disch. at end of war.

Elislia T. F. Bobiuaon, mnsidan, most. Dec 28, 1861 ; disch. for disaliillty, Jane
22,186:1.

Bams, Eban S., pro. to corp., April, 1862; re-enl. Feb. 29, 1864; transferred.

Doherty, William, diach. with company, Jan. 6, 1866.
'
Hasty, Perry, disch. for disability, Oct. 27, 1862.

Harrington, Benjamin, disch. &r disability, April 11, 1862.

Hammon, John A., disch. for disability, April 11, 1862.

Hart, Thomaa A., re-enl. Feb. 29, 1864 ; tranaferred.

Johnston, Bichaid B., re-enl. Feb. 29, 1864; tranaferred.

Jobnaton, Chariea A., r^^nL Feb. 29, 1864 ; pro. to corp. ; tmuferred.

Lodd, Cynu J., disch. Jan. 6, 1865.

SkllUngs, William H., died at Fort Jackson, Ang. 9, 1862.

Wilcox, George, detached as buspilal Dnrsa, 1863.

Haskell, Gsocge W., disch. Jan. 6, 1865.

Fine, Thomas H., re-enl. Feb. 29, 1864; transferred.

Fonaith, George, most. Dec 28, 1861; detached at Ship bUnd, In 1862.

BeiL George M., most. Jan. 16, 1862.

Wilcox, George, most. Feb 29, 186^; detached ; transferred.

Fotaalth, George, moat. Dec. 28, 1861 ; pro. to Corps d'Afriqae.

Bell, George, drammer, mast Jan. 16, 1862 ; re-eoL Feb. 29, 1861 ; tranaferred.

Rich, Marshall H., mast. Dec 25, 1861 ; pro. to corp., Dec 1, 1862 ; re^nL Feb.

29, 1864; transferred.

Sargent, William H., moat. Jan. 25, 1862 ;
pro. to sergt. and 1st Ueat In 1862.

COMPANY a.

Mastered in Dec 12, 1861.

Beattte, Frederick A., mast Jan. 23, 1862 ;
pro. to corp , Ang. 28, 1863.

George W. Sawyer, sergt, rednced 1863; pro. to aergt; re.enL Feb. 29, 1864;

transferred.

Henry N. Phslpa, Corp., rednced 1862; re-enil. Feb. 29, 1864 ; transferred.

Bacon, George W., re-enl. Feb. 29, 1864; transferred.

Graflsm, Peter A-, disch. with company, Jan. 6, 1865.

Phelps, WUIIam H., re-enl. Feb. 29, 1864; transferred.

Thntstoo, Charles B., pro. t» sergt., Aog. 3, 1863 ; disch. Jan. 6, 1863.

Twitebell, Llewellyn B., re-enl.; died Ang. 20, 1864.

TIef; Nlculoos, re-eoL Feb. 29, 1804 ; transferred.

Webster, Otis J., detached ; disch. Jan. 6, 1863.

Brown, Daniel A., mut Sept 19, 1864 ; transferred.

Danahne, John, mnst Sept 19, 1864.

Phelpa, John H., most. Sept 19, 1864; transferred.

Whitney, Cbarirs U., mnat Sept 22, 1864; tranaferred.

Wataon, William, mnat Jane 15, 1864.

Denniaon, John H.,Co. I; mnst Dec 31, 1861: pro. to rorp.; re-eni. Feb. 29,

1864; transferred.

Ooaid, Ciiarles F, Co. I; mnst Jan. 9, 1862 ; trans. Feb. 29, 1864.

Styles, Chariea, Co. I; mast Jan. 9. 1862; re^nl. Feb. 29, 1864; transferred.

Baker, Albert T., On. K ; mnst Bee. 13, 1861 ; died at Fort M»comb, Ang. 29,

1862.

nrrzetrm TSVisntY.
COMPANY A.

Debray, Warren T., most Dec 31, 1861 ; trans, to Co. D.

Jordan, Daniel, mnat Dec 31, 1861 ; died at Oorrolltoo, Jane 21, 1862.

COMPANY D.

Crowlty, John, mnat Dec. 10, 1861.

De Creney, Warren T., mnst Dee. 10, 1861 ; re-enL Jan. 25, 1864.

Ellsworth, Ha'niy, mast Dec 10, 1861.

GUss, John, mnst Dec. 10^ 186L

Haggett, John, mnst Dec lU, 1861 ; pro. to corp. ; reduced; detached.

Johnson, Nathaniel, mnst Dec 10, 1861.

Keinstead, Samnel, mast Dec. 10, 1861.

Lais, John, most Dec 10, 1861.

Lnis, Haien, moat Dec 10, 1861 ; trans, from Oo. A ; disch. Oct IT, 1863.

Pearsons, Henry, mnst. Dec. 23, 1861; re.enL Jan. 25, 1864.

WInslow, Oriando, mnst Dm. 10, 1861 ; re-enl. Jan. 25, 1864.

Bay, George B., mnst April 6, 1862; re-enl. Jan. 25, 1864.

Bailey, aarence, Co. K; most March 5, 1862; disch. for diaabllity. May 17,

1864.

Wilaon, Bichard B., Co. I; mnat Jan. 16, 1862 ; diach. Jan. 19, 1865.

Locke, John, Co. C ; moat Feb. 26, 1862 ; q.m. aergt., Oct. 1, 1863 : retnmed to

company, 1864.

McFayden, Alexander, Co. C; most Feb. 26, 1862; detached 1863.

Crowell, Jeaac H., Co. G; moat. Jan. .1, 1862 ; pn. to lat aergt., Oct 1, 1862.

Walker, James, Oo. G; most Jan, 27, 1862; became Insane; confined at Gar-

rollton. La.

DeTlln, John, mnaidan, Co. I; mnat Jan.-25, 1864; tnms. January, 1863.

Greely, Charles, Co. I; mnst Jan. 16, 1862.

SIZTEOrTH rN7ASTBY.

COMPANY A.

Barrett, William, mnst Ang. 1, 1863; trans, to NaTy.

BoTard, John, mnat Ang. 4, 1863 ; trana. to Co. I, Not. 15, 1864.

Blacklock, Archibald, mnat Ang. 8, 1863; trana. to Co. H, 1864.

Dolan, Patrick, anb., mnat Ang. 7, 1863; trana. to Co. G, 1864.

Eldridge, Albert, mnat Not. 16, 1864; trana. to 20th Maine Begt, Jane, 1865.

COMPANY B.

Minnick, John, most Feb. 21, 1864 ; trana. to NaTy.

Kttowlton, Frank, mnst Sept 7, 1864.

Brown, Daniel B., mnat. Oct 7, 1804 ; trana. to 20th Maine Begt, June, 1865.

Beal,Sewall G., mnat Sept 18, 1863; trana. to 20th Maine Begt, June, 1863.

Boyd, John, mnat Oct 7, 1864 ; died Dec IT, 1864.

COMPANY C.

McGowell, William, mnat. Aag. 4, 1863 ; trana. to NaTy.
Alkinaon, Alouo P., mnat Sept 5, 1864 : died Nor. 7, 1864.

EngUah, William J., most Jan. 13, 1864; ttan*. to 20th Maine Begt, Jnne,
1865.

Grant John, mnat Oct 5, 1864; trans, to aoth Maine Begt.

SeaTey, John, mnst Not. 2, 1864; trans, to 20th Maine Begt

COMPANY D.

Townsend, Lyaander P., mnst Joly 14, 1863; diach. Jnne 17, 1865.

Morrill, William, most Oct 9, 1864; disch. Jnne 6, 1865.

Bronghton, William, mnst Ang. 14, 1862; pro. to 2d lient Co. L
Bowie, Edwin B., mnat Aag. 14, 1862 ; pro. to oorp. and aergt ; diach. with the

company, Jnne 6, 1865.

Holt, George 8., mnitt Ang. 14, 1862; wounded at Frederickabnrg, Dec 13,

1862; diach. Jane 5, 1866.

Lanning, Michael S., mnat Ang. 14, 1862; diseh. Fab. 27, 1863.

Mason, James 8., must Aug. 14, 1862 ; discb. March 10, 1863.

Mnrphy, Jainea, must Aug. 14, 1862.

Brown, Chariea, mnat July 31, 1863; died at Washingtoa, D. C, May 3, 1864.

Brown, George, mnst Jnly 28, 1863; wounded; trans, to 2Uth Maine Begt.,

June, 1865.

Bodson, William, must Aug. 8, 1863; prisoner; exchanged; died June T, 1865.

Bums, DaTld, moot Aug. T, 1863; trana. to InTolld Corpa, April 20, 1864.

Blake, William, mnst Aug; 10, 1863; trana. to 20th Maine Begt, Jnne, 1865.

Leaker, George, must Sept 11, 1863; taken priaoner; trans, to 20th Maine
Begt : sick, Jnne, 1865.

MaUyhao, Thomas, must Ang. 18, 1863; wounded May 6, 1864; trans, to Co. D,
13th Tet Bea. Corps.

Pray, George B., must Aug. 8, 1863 ; trans, to 20th Maine Begt, June, 1863.
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Thompjnn, Amos S., miwt. July 30, 1863 j dlacb. for dinblllty, Dec. 19, 1863.
Beluugejr, Horrii, mnfl. Nov. II, 1864; trans, to 2Uth Maiue Regt.

COMPANY E.

Baron, Airtvd, moat. Ang. 1, 1863.

Blodgett, Lorenzo D., mnst. Aug. 1, 1863 ; died Nov. 1, 1863.

Blodgctt, Uanilln L., must. July 13, 1863 ; died Mny 15, 1865.

Gotten, Cbarles, muet. Aug. B, 1863.

Davis, Henry L., must. Sept. 17, 1863; trans, to 20th Maine Hogt., Jnne, 1865.
Downs, Eieliiel C, must. Aug. 6, 1863 ; trans, to 20tli Maine Begt.
K«y, John M., must July 31, 1863 ; trans, to 20tb Maine Begt.
Keefe, John, must. July 28, 186:<.

HcElllop, Douild, mnst. July 31, 1863; tnins. to 20th Maine Regt.
McNulty, George, must. July 29, 1863; wounded April 1, 1885 ; disch. May 30

1866.

O'Dea, Thomas, mnst. Sept. 19, 1863; trans, to 20tb Maine Begt.
Peten, John, must July 29, 1863.

WestAU, William, must Aug. 1, 1863.

Getchell, Andrew, must Aug. 18, 1863 ; trans, to 20th Maine Regt
Newell, Albert U., must Oct. 6, 1861; disch. June 6, 1865.

Newell, Jame* N., mu>t Oct 6, 1864 ; killed Veb. 6, 1865.

Bowe, Charles A., must. Oct T, 1864; tlans. to 20lh Maine Begt , Jnne, 1865.

COMPANY r.

Blake, Frederic W. C, must Sept 12, 1863 ; died at Washington, D. C, Teb. 1,

1865.

Wilson, Charles, mnst. Oct T, 1864; trans, to 201h Maine Begt, Jnne, 1865.

COMPANY G.

Boyle, Barney, must Aug. 5, 1863; disch. 1865.

Collins, George, must Aug. 4, 1863 ; lians. to Tet. Bes. Corps, March 15, 1865.

Green, James, must. Aug. T, 1863; disch. April, 1864.

Mnilin, John, mnst Aug. 8, 1863; disch. April 19, 1864, to enter the Navy.
Piper, Merrill J., must Sept. 3, 1863; disch. for disability, Dec. 22, 1863.

Sanders, Bichard, must Aug. 7, 1863; taken prisoner; exchanged; trans to

20th Maine Begt, June, 1865.

Shair, Charles P., mnst July 1, 1883 ; trans, to 20th Maine Begt., June, 1866.

Sidney, John, must Aug. 3, 1863 ; disch. to enter Navy, April 19.

81aviu, John, must Ang. 5, 1863; disch. May 18, 1865.

Smith, James A., mnst July 28, 1863 ; dUch. for disability, Jan. T, 1865.

Smith, Jamea, must Ang. 6, 1863 ;
prisoner

; paroled, and trans, to 2Uth Mains
Begt

Smith, William, must Ang. 3, 1863 ; disch. for disability, Nov. 12, 1863.

COHPANY H.

Crampton, Charles, most. July 31, 1863; taken prisoner Aug. 18; trans, to

20th Maine Begt
Garrow, Solomon, must, July 31, 1863 ; tnins. to 20th Maine Begt.

Gammon, Balph, most. Aug. 10, 1863 ; trans, to 20th Maine Regt
Gilbert, Lewis, must July 30, 1863 ; disch. June S, 1865.

Graham, John B., must July 10, 1863 ; trans, to 20th Maine Begt
Gould, Charles H., must Sept 15, 1863 ; taken prisoner ; exclianged ; trans, to

20tb Maine Begt
Haley, John, must. July 29, 1863 ; disch. 1805.

Hartnett, William, most July 31, 1863; trans, to 20th Maine Regt.

Hoyt, Lemuel T., must July 14, 1863; prisoner; died April 1, 1865.

Jones, Frank, mnst Aug. 3, 1863; trans, to 20th Maine Regt
Johnson, George, must. Aug. 10, 1863 ; trans, to Navy, April, 1865.

Knapp, Walter, mnst. Aug. 3, 1863.

Nason, William D., most Aug. 5, 1863; disch. Jan. 6, 1865.

Winn, Bradford, must Sept 15, 1863 ; pro. to cotp. ; trans, to 20th Maine Begt.,

Jnne 5, 1865.

Leslie, Jamea W., must Nov.22, 1864 ; disch. Jan. 25, 1865.

COMPANY I.

Carr, George, mnst Ang. 4, 1863.

CliHord, Hermon, must Aug. 3, 1863 ; wounded May 8, 1865 ; trans, to 20th

Maine Begt
Carson, Joseph, must July 28, 1863: trans, to 20th Maine Begt

Campbell, Thomas, mnst July 31, 1863.

Dunn, John, must July 31, 1863 ; pro. to corp. ; trans, to 20th Maine Begt.

Troop, Andrew, must Sept 20,1863.

Walksr, Goorge H., must Aug. 10, 1863 ; trans, to 2Uth Maine Begt

COMPANY K.

Carney, James, must. Ang. 1, 1863.

Joseph, Angel, mnst Ang. 3, 1863.

Logan, John, must July 31, 1863 ; disch. for disability, Jan. 10, 1866.

McGuire, James, must July 28, 1863 ; disch. for disability, April 21 , 1865.

Moflatt, Hudson, must Jnly 29, 1863 ; disch. to enter Navy, April 22, 1865.

Olscamp, Joseph, must July 29, 1863; taken prisoner; paroled ; trans, to 20th

Maine Begt.

Paxxie, George, must Ang. 3, 1863.

Petenon, Hans, must. Aug. 5, 1863 ; disch. to enter Navy, April 22, 1865.

Quirk, John, must July 28, 1863 ; taken prisoner
;
paroled ; trans, to 20th Maine

Uegt
Rankin, Albert, mnst. Jnly 30, 1863.

Baiikin, Joseph, must Aug. 30, 1863; disch. for disability, April 1, 1865.

St John, William, must Ang. 10, 1863 ; trans, to 20tta Maine.

WInslow, Hiram, must Ang. 3, 1863 ; died at Portland, Feb. 23, 1865.

SZTEHTEZHTE INFANTBT.

Mustered in Aug. 18, 1862; discharged June 4, 1865.

Henry L. Biiriets, sorgt-m«Jor,niusl. Ang. 4, 1862; disch. 1863.

Charies W. BIchardson, q.m.sergt., must. July Zi, 1862 ; disch. for disability,

Oct. 15, 1862.

Josiah Bemick, com. sergt., must, July 15,1862; pro. to 1st lieut and q.m.

sergt., of regiment

Nathaniel B. Coleman, hoepital steward, must Aug. 15, 1862 ; disch. June 4,

1865.

COMPANY A.

Edwin B. Honghton, sergt, pro. to 2d lieut and capt Co. H, Nov. 10, 1863.

John Yeaton, Jr., sergt, pro to q.m. sergt ; disch. for disability, Jan. 24, 1865.

Greenville F. Sparrow, sergt,, pro. to 2d lieut. May 3, 1863.

Albert H. Andrews, Jr., corp. ; reduced by request.

Jesse A. Stone, Corp., pro. to sergt., 1863; died Feb. 11, 1864.

Alvln F. Blake, corp., pro. to sergt. for bravery ; wounded at Gettysburg ; died

Ang. 2, 1863.

Anson T. Ward, corp., pro. to q.m. sergt, 1864.

Joseph F. Lake, Corp., pro. to sergt ; wounded Nov. 27, 1864.

Henry B. Berry, musician, trans, to Vet Bes. Corps, 1864.

Samuel D. Roberts, musician, detached to N. Y. Independent Battery.

Armstrong, Jacob L., wounded June 12, 1864 ; dlitch. June 4, 1865.

Bent, Orrin, pro. to corp. ; disch. for disability, October, 1863.

Bodkin, Peter P., disch. Jnne 4, 1865.

Bums, Michael, killed Nov. 27, 1863.

Bradley, Charles H., mnst Sept 29, 1803 ; trans, to 1st Maine H. Art. Regt

Bums, Hugh, must. Feb. 25, 1864 ; re-enlisted ; disch. May, 1865.

Cooly, Daniel, ninat Aug. 29, 186:1 ; missing in action. May 6, 1865.

Kelley, Henry, must. Feb. 4, 1864 ; transferred.

Lowe, John, must. Jan. 12, 1864; trans, to 1st Maine H. Art. Regt.

Pollis, John, must Dec. 8, 1863 ; died Jan. 23, 1864,

Taylor, Henry P,, must. Dec. 1, 1863; trans, to Ist Maine H. Art. Begt

Bruwn, Jacob C, killed July 2, 1803.

Boyle, CuraeliuB, disch. June 4, 1865.

Berford, Benjamin ; Berkley, James.

Boswurtb, Frederick W., q.m. clerk, wounded ; died August, 1S63.

Cloudman, John W., pro. to corp. ; taken prisoner at Chanceilorsville,

Crie, Edward H,, pro, to Corp. itod aergt-maj
;
pro. to 2d lieut Co. £; discli.

June, 1865.

Delihanty, TUomafl, pro, to corp,; wounded May 5, 1S64; trans, to Vet. Res,

Corps.

Fabyan, Edward, trans, to Vet Bes. Corps, Aug. 5, 1865.

Hamilton, Robert, disch. May 29, 1865.

Hale, Charles B., detached us wagoner; disch. June 4, 1805,

Ingralmiu, Octavius C, pro. to corp, 1863,

James, John W., kllieii May 12, 1864.

MlUiken, Charles, wounded July 2, 1864 ; trans, to Vet Res. Corps.

McGratb, Patrick, wounded Dec. 13, 1862; dlacb. June 3, 1864,

McGurk, Peter.

Pettengill, Leonard A., wounded Dec. 13, 1862; disch. May 16, 1803.

Pettenglli, Albion C, wounded Nov, 27, 1863 ; trans, to Vet, Res. Corps.

Robinson, Samuel.

Skillings, Franklin, killed in action. May 0.

Sawyer, Mark H., detailed as chief wagoner ; discli. June 4, 1865.

Taylor, George H. M., diach. June 4, 1865.

Totman, John F,, wounded June 16, 1864 ;
pro. to corp. ; di^ch. June 4, 1805.

Todd, Charles R., pro. to Corp.; wounded May 3, 1863 ; discharged.

Waterhouse, Robert, killed May 7, 1865.

Wentworth, Charles.

Yeaton, Joseph N,, pro, and trans, to acting master's mate in U. S. Navy.

COMPANY B.

William H. Green, pro. to 1st lieut, Dec. 1, 1862.

James S. Roberts, sergt, pro. to 2d lieut., 1863.

Horace A. Smith, sergt., pro. to 1st sergt. ; wounded July 1, 1863 ; disch, March

20, 1865.

Edwin J. Hawks, Corp., pro. to sergt.

Bennett T. Tnieworthy, Corp., reduced and trans, to Livingston's Battery.

Samuel C. Davis, Corp., wounded at Gettysburg ; died July 4, 1863.

Gyms M. Hall, Corp., pro. to sergt ; killed at Gettysburg.

Charles E. Carmthers, Corp., wounded at Gettysburg; died July 9, 1863.

James F. Bartlett, musician, wounded Sept. 4, 1864.

WlUlam H. Golley, musldan, discb. for disability, Oct. 8, 1864.

George S. Mllliken, wagoner, killed at Gbancellorsvllle.

Abbott, Aldrich R., pro. to oorp. ;
pro. to sergt. ; disch. Juno 4, 1865.

Bishop, Sitmnel, pro. to Corp.
;
pro. to sergt.

Buraham, Samnel, trans, to Invalid Corps, 1865.

Buxton, Samnel, wounded June 18, 1865.

Chamberiln, Henry, trans, to Vet. Res. Corps, 1865.

Chariton, John, disch. for disability, Maroh 11, 1864.

Doughty, John, Jr., wounded July 3, Nov, 27, 1863, May 5, 1865; pro. to corp.

Drew, Joseph.

Duiaii, George E, H., pro. to corp. ; killed March 25, 1885.

Elliott, William S., disch. May 28, 1884.

Elliott, Moses A., died Jan. 10, 1863.
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FabTun, Cbariea H^ pro. to oorp. ; woonded 0<^ (, 1881.

Vbtnnegan, JusM, wounded Jul/ 2, VtSi.

Gronr, Alpkeui, pro. to Corp.; pro. to lergt.; wounded April 9, 1863.

Hooper, Orlando, detMbed to Ambniiuice Corpi; wounded Maj 12, 186S.

Jon«e, George W., pro. to oorp. ; wounded at Oettyibarg; died July 23, 1863.

Jonee, Eugene E., wounded and taken priioner, Hajr 3, 1863.

Keller, WllllalD, wonndad Ha/ 13, 1863.

Kelley, Edward.

Kimball, Anguatna A., wounded BCay 10, 1863 ; pro. to Corp.

Lebane, John, pro. to Corp.; died of woanda, June 18,1861.

Libbj, Siunnel B., trani. to Llringston'a Batter; ; diach. Dee. IS, 1864.

LIM17, Seth B.

Hclnnli, Daniel, ttMU. to Uringiton'l Battair ; taken pflMner ; diacti. June 29,

186S.

HacKeuaie, Uathew, wounded Ha/ 6.

Merrill, Cbariea H., pro. to corp. ; pro. to lergt., 1863.

Monltoo, George r., killed Jane 16, 1864.

Melwn, Henrjr h.

Nuyea, AlTln A., pro. to corp; wounded Julj 2, 1863.

Bice, Jotao O., dbcfa. June 6, 1866.

Boacfa, George W. H., pro. to corp.

Boberta, Jamea B. 8, diacfa. fbr diaability, June 3, 1863.

Boberta, Bdwwd A., pro. to coip.; mlaring In action, Haj 6, 1864.

Saatrutr, Stephen 0. 8., died Jan. 3, 1863.

SUflbjr, ijamael S., unaccounted fbr.

Thome, Edwin O., tnna. to 4th N. T. Art.

Trickey, Henrj S., trana. to Inralid Corpo.

Whitham, John, pro. to Corp.; wounded May 13, 1864.

Winn, Andrew, killed at Oak Grora, Not. ZT, 1863.

Woodaum, Frealhe 8., diach. May 2, 1864.

Bryan, Frank, mnat. Feb. 4, 1864; dlich. June T, I86S.

Cuoke, William, mnit. Aug. 24, 1863 ; wounded ; trana. to lit H. Art.

Snowman, Thomas, must. Dec. 3, 1863; pro. to Corp. and tergt.; woonded

June 16; pro. to 2d lient. Co. I.

Worcealer, Horace L., mnat. July 14,1863; tnni. to 1ft H. Art.

McNnlty, Patrick, moat. Dec. 11, 1863.

<X)MPANT. a
Bailey, Darid, mnat. Feb. 29, 1864 ; trani. to let Maine H. Art.

Gt«aaer, George, must Sept. 26, 1863; died June II, 1864.

Hall, Jordan HL, mnaL Mareb 16, 1865 ; diacbarged.

COMPANT D.

Stephen Gralbm, lergt, pro. to 2d lieut.. May 29, 1863; wounded July 3, 1863.

Jamea W. Lnlla, iergt., diaefa. for diankllity, Dec. 29, 1862.

Nelaon Whltten, Corp., trans, aa qjn. clerk; pro. to 2d lieut. and 1st lieut.;

wounded July 3, 1863.

G«orge S. W. Moses, Corp., pro. to musician, 1863; trans, to Yet. Bee. Gorpa.

Joel M. Sawyer, muaiclan, disch. for disability, Dw. 3,1862.

Edmond Q, Goodhue, mualdan, diach. for disability, Feb. 6, 1862.

Burvhill, BIcliard, wounded May 12 ; disch. Aug. 4, 1864.

Campbell, John ; Dennett, Thomaa.

Flebl, Edmond D., wounded May 6.

Gammon, Samuel H., pro. to Corp.; detached.

Oillis, Andrew.

Hanna, George F., woonded at Gettysburg.

Hayes, Charies H., wagoner ; trana. to Tek Bas. Corps.

Jordan, John S., diach. for disability, Dec 2, 1862.

McCarty, Cbariea, trana. to Tek Bes. Corps.

McOuar, Thomaa, died at Portland, Oct 30, 1864.

McMaater, William, taken prisoner. May 3, 1863.

Mender, John, disch. Ibr disability, Aug. 26, 1864.

Mllla, Joaeph N., miasingin battle. May li, 1862.

Moses, Andrew J., disch. ibr disability, Feb. 19, 1863.

Newman, John E., teamster.

Sawyer, Alonxo W., pro. to musician ; detached in 1864.

Skiilln, Hiram B., wagoner.

Small, Charles B., disch. for disability, Febmary 18.

Small, William B., wounded May 3 ; diach. Dec. 24, 1863.

Whittemore, FtaakUn I., pro. to Corp.; killed in battle. May 6, 1864.

Biackatt, Chatlea K., disch. May 30, 1865.

COMPANT E.

John 8. White, sergt, diach. tor disability, Febroary, 1863.

Fivdarie A. Sawyer, sergt, pro. to 1st sergt, 2d lieuf:fand tit lieut.; wounded

Not. 27, 1883, and May 6, 1864; disch. for disablUty, Sept. 24, 1864.

Hemaa Q. Maaon, sergt, diach. Dm. 31, 1863.

Peter D. Demater, corp, tnuu. to Inralid Oorpa, 1863.

Oharlea F. Van Horn, corp, pro. to sergt. ; wounded May 6; died May 8, 1864.

Lewia W. Lombard, wagoner.

Pride, Frederic M, died in hospital, Dec 21, 1862.

PuUea, DaTid P, tiana. to Nafy, April 14, 1863.

Kllgure, iModer A, mnat. Sept. 29, 1864.

McCuUoBgh, Andrew J, moat. Oct. 10, 1864.

Merrill, Joaeph, mnsL Feb. 18, 1866.

COMPANT F.

George B. FIckett, coip, pro. to sergt. ; disch. for disability, Oct. IS, 1864.

COMPANT H.

Cummings, Horace B, pro. to corp, sorgt, and 2d lieut.

Morton, John H, trans, to Vet. Bes. Corps, 1864.

Morton, Chariea, most. Not. 2, 1861; trans, to 1st Maine H. Art.

Fowle, Peter, mnat. Oct 3, 1864; tnuu. to 1st Maine H. Art.

COMPANT I.

Abbott, SylTestor, most Jan. 4, 1864; trans, to Nary.

Brown. Daniel, must Jan. 14, 1864; kUiad May 6, I8S4.

Loring, Fred. H, must. Non 3U^ 1863; wounded May 5 ; died June 6, 1864.

Oigond, Jamea, most Dec 29, 1863 ; trans, to 1st Maine H. Art
Stackpole, Lowell B, moat Jan. 4, 1864; wounded May 21 ; trans, to 1st Maine

H.Art.

Walte, Edward F, must Jan. 1, 1864 ; wounded IHay 12 ; trans, to 1st MHina

H.Art

VnrEXZESTH niTAHTBT.
Bbtke, William, Co. A; must Aug. 3, 1863; trans, to 1st Maine H. Art
Hurley, Thomas, Co. A ; must. July 16, 1863 ; wounded May 10, 1864 ; trana. to

1st H. Art
Pickering, Thomas, Co. A; must Sept 24, 1863; disch. Fsb. 28, 1864.

Qninby, Alunco H, Co. A ; must Sept 10, 1863 ; wounded May 6 ; disch. May
12,1866.

Somner, Bobert, Co. A; must Ang. 11, 1863; woonded Blay 10; trans, to 1st

H.Art
SleTens, Geo. E, Co. A; must Sept 4, 1863; wounded May 10; trans, to Art.

ColUna, Wlllbim, Ca. B; must Aug. 17, 18«l; disch. Jan. 11, 1864.

Dwinnell, Geo. W., Co. B; must Ang. 14, 1863; wounded May 30, 1864; trans,

to 1st H. Art.

milmao, Joaeph, CV). B; must Sept 21, 1863; trans, to NaTy, April 16, 1804.

Marr, John, Co. B; must. Aug. 7, 1863; wounded May 6, 1864; trans, to Vet.

Bes. Corps.

Muiphy, Jeremiah, Cc B; must Aug. 17, 1863; diach. Deo. 14, 1863.

Bohnn, Adulph, Co. D; must Ang. 13, 1863; wounded May 10, 1864; disch.

Feb. 6, 1865.

Jones, John, Co. D; must. Aug. 12, 1863; discii. April 7, 1865.

Petonou, Peter, Co. D; must Sept 21, 1863; trans, to NaTy, 1864.

Clark, Henry, Co. E ; must Ang. 12, 1863 ; trans, to NaTy, April 15.

Chtdc, John, Co. E; must Ang. 12, 1863; trans, to 1st H. Art
Carr, John, CO. B; mnat Aug. 12, 1863; died in rebel prison. Sept 15, 18C4.

Jones, William, Co. E; must. Aug. 12, 1863; died in prison, Aug. 15, 1864.

Tysaar, Henry N, Co. E; must July 13, 1863; trans, to 1st Maine H. Art.

Higgins, Dennis, Co. F; must Ang. 22, 1863; trans, to let Maine H. Art.

Heffemn, Thomas, Co. F; most Aug. 4, 1863; wounded Oct. 14; missing.

Johnston, Rosroe, Co. F; must Ang. 19, 1863,

Johnston, William, Co. F; most Ang. 19, 186 <.

McCabe, Jamea, Co. F; must Aug. 19, 186:1.

Brown, William, Co. G; must Aug. 14, 1863; trans, to 1st H. Art.

Cain, D»niel, Co. G; must July 14, 1863 ; tisns. to Ist H. Art.

Knights, Nathaniel, Co. G; must Sept 17, 1863; trans, to 1st Maine H. Art
Bandail, Albert T, Co. O; must. July 10, 1863; pro. to Corp.; trans, to lat

Maine H. Art
Anderson, John, Co. I ; most Ang. 13, 1863 ; died in prison, June 28, 1864.

Brady, George, Co. I ; must Sept 21, 1863; trans, to 1st H. Art.

Clary, Dennis, Co. I ; must. Aug. 17, 1863 ; missing in battle, D.ec. 4, 1863.

Cummings, John, Co. I; must Aug. 15, 1863.

Dixon, John H, Co. I; most. Ang. 10, 1861; killed M;ty 10, 1863.

Dudley, Henry G,Co. I; must Aug. 12, 1863; trans, to NaTy.

Hunter, John G, Co. I; must. Aug. 17, 1863.

Lang, John L, Co. I ; must Aug. 16, 1863 ; supposed to Iw prisoner.

MniilgHn, Francis, Co. I ; mnst Aug. 12, 1863 ; trans, to Artillery Begt.

Beed, John, Co. I ; must Aug. 15.

BIley, John, Co. I; mnst Aug. 16.

Blley, Michael, Co. I ; must. Ang. 11, 1863 ; died Dec. 26, 1863.

Smith, John, Co. I; must Sept 10, 1863.

Worley, George, Co. I ; most Aug. 11.

Helfren, Thomaa, Co. K ; mnst Aug. 14, 1863 ; trans, to Co. F.

Klllfedder, Bobert, Co. K ; must Aug. 11, 1863 ; pro. to corp. ; wounded May 6;

trans, to Artillery.

McDonald, Angus, Co. K; must Aug. 14, 1863; taken prisoner. Not. 3, 1863.

Potter, Samuel, Co. K ; mnat Sept 23.

Huberts, Henry, Co. K; must Sept 23.

Gerrlsh, William M, Co. A ; must Oct 6, 1864.

Smith, William H, Co. A; must Oct 3, 1861 ; trans, to 1st H. Art
Montlne, Charies, Co. B; mnst July 30, 1863 ; trana. to 1st H. Art
Lamphen, Alfred, Co. C; must Mareh 21, 1864; disoh. June 8, 1866.

Anderson, Christian, Co. D ; mnst May 3, 1864 ; taken prisoner, Ang. 26, 1864;
trans, to Ut H. Ait

Welch, Thomas, Co. D ; must Feb. 2, 1864 ; killed June 3, 1864.

Carr, Patrick, Co. H ; must Mareh 17, 1866 ; trans, to Ist Maine H. Art
Clark, John, Co. I; mnat April 19^ 1864 ; died June 26, 1864.

IWJUITLICIH nrFAHTST.
Hainea, John F, coip. Co. D.; mnat Ang. 29, 1862; disch. July 16, 1866.

Merrill, Edward P, corp, Co. D ; mnst Ang. 29, 1 86:t ; reduced Jannaiy, 1863

;

diach. July 16, 1866.

Hunnewell, Franklin 8, Co. D; must Aug. 29, 1862; disch. July 16, 1865.
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Blank, Cieaar, Co. A ; must. March 2«, 18M; discb. July 16, 186.5.

Grwn, Joaeph W., Co. B ; mutt, March 13, 1865 ; diich. May W, 18«5.

Byrne, Michael F., Co. D; must. March 10, 1864; wounded May 6; diach. Jan.

1, 186S.

Burke, Thomas, Co. D; must. March 18, 1864; killed May 5, 1864.

Caraidy, Edward, Co. D; must. March 10, 1864; wounded May 8; discharged.

Cook, Charles F., Co. D; mnst. Feb. 28, 1865.

Goodwin, DaTid L., Co. D ; mnst. Dec. 3, 1864.

GroTer, Amos O., Co. D ; mnst. Feb. 28, 1863.

Hutchinson, GrsnTllle H., Co. D ; must. Jan. 28, 186S.

Higgins, James, Co. D; must. March 10, 1864.

Ilogan, Martin, Co. D ; must. March 10, 1864; discharged.

Moran, Michael, Co. D ; muit. March 10, 1864; disch. June 13, 1865.

Tully, Tbomai, Co. D ; must March 10, 1864; pro. to Corp., 1864.

Cobum,^illiam H., Co. E; must. March 8, 1866; disch. June 2, 1865.

Osgood, George, Co. B; must March 7, 1868 ; died May 22, 1866.

Small, Howard M., Co. E; mnst March 6, 1865; disch. July 7, 1866.

Keith, James, Co. F ; mnst March 8, 1864 ; wonnded May 8 ; discharged.

Lalghton, James, Co. F ; mnst March 3, 1864 ; wonnded May 8 ; discharged.

Watarfaonaa, Nathaniel F., Co. F ; moat March 3, 1864; trans, to Co. G, July,

1866
;
pro. to Corp. and sergt.

Cole, Osgood, Co. G ; must Sept 2S, 1862 ; wonnded Not. 15, 1864.

Deering, Arnold J., Co. H ; most March 4, 1864 ; wonnded May 9 ; disch. Jan. 6,

1886.

Fottea, Benjamin F., Co. H ; must Feb. 26, 18G4 ; wonnded May 6; died June
1,1864.

Hopkins, George IL, Co. H ; most March 20, 1866.

McElroy, Mattbew'K., Co. H ; must Feb. 26, 1864.

Wood, Fred. B., Co. H; must March 20, 1865 ; died June 19, 1866.

Tbompaon, Thomas, Co. H; mnst March 16, 1864 ; disch. by Order No. 77.

Townsend, Lysander, mast. July 14, 1863 ; dbich. by Order No. 77.

Wood, Fred. B., Co. H ; most March 20, 1866 ; died Jnne 19, 1866.

Walker, Orrin EL, Co. H; must March 9, 1864; wonnded Sept. 30, 1864.

Walker, Charles H., Co. H ; most March 9, 1864 ; killed In battle. May 8.

Carey, Michael, Co. K; mnst Aug. 30, 1864; disch. 1864.

Gonzales, Manuel, Co. K ; must Ang. 30, 1864; disch. June 9, 1865.

Knight, Augustus S., Co. K ; must March 15, 1865 ; pro. to corp.

Wallace, Franklin, Co. K; mnst Jan. 5, 1865; disch. by Order No. 77.

TWEBTT-FIFTH IH7ABTBT.
Mustered in Sept 29, 1862 ; discharged July 10, 1863.

Edward B. Furbish, cbaplain.

George 0. Goes, sergt-ro^j.

Freeman E. Clark, qjn. seigt

Charles F. Gtstss, band ; mnst Sept 30, 1862.

, Charles G. Milner, band ; must Sept 29, 1862.

COMPANY A.

Sergeants, Edward C. Swett, Charles £. Shaw; corporals, Charles 0. Cole,

Chas. E. Somerby, George P. Gross, Luther W. Dana, George W. Lowell,

Frederick A. Prince, Albert H. Gale; musicianB, Charles FlemmlngB,

Horace 0. DaTls; privates, Charles C. Akerman, Frank B. Allen, Egbert

Andrews, John W. Babb, Hiram H. Bass, Granville Batchelder, Joseph

H. Bond, Nicholas E. Boyd (pro. to Corp.), James E. Brackett, Joseph E.

Bryant, Joslah Bnmham, Benjamin F. Gary, Francis E. Chase (detached

in q ra. dept), Howard B. Chase, George Chamberlain, Francis H.

Coffin (q.m. dept clerk), George H. DaTis, John C. Dennis, Henry M.

Dodge, Frank H. Eaton (q.m. dept), John A. Emery (q.m. dept), Geo.

L. Fickett, John T. Foster. William A. Hall, William M. Hanson, George

F. Harding, Hanson M. Hart, Joshna B. Hobbs, Bichanl Jones, Edward

S. Kimball, Bradford D. Kimball, Edgar B. Kimball, Daniel F. Knights,

Claudius Lane, John W. Lane, William H. LoTell, Samuel M. Marston,

Frederic McCuUoeh, Nelson A. Merrill, Alonzo M. Mnllett, John H. B.

Morrill, Frederick A. Motley, John L. Motley, Thomas Mayo, Henry I.

Nelson, Wm. L. Newton, Woodin G. Norris, Frank M. Ordway, Francis

S. Oxnard, George H. Pearson, Leonard Perry, Albert 8. Qnincy, Charles

BIch, Lewis O. Bobinson, Walter S. Bowe, Samuel D. Safford, John F.

Sheehan, Edward P. Staples, Bobert Storey, Edward H. Tobey, Lawrence

P. Vamnm, Harrison T. Whipple, Thomas L. Wills, John Williamson

(detached at Camp A. Lincoln Hospital).

COMPANY B.

Sergeants, Edward O. Schoonmaker, George H. McKenney (wagon-master), John

D. Hademan, Charles B. Strout, Charles K. Waterhonse ; corporals, Jas.

A. Tracy, Byron Leighton, Benjamin Bishop, George F. Coe, Amos Libby

(died Not. 26, 1862), Frederick W. Hatch, Angnatns H. FrinctT; musidan,

Charlea A. BIng; priTates, Cyras W. Bnck, John W. Chsmberlin, George

W. Crosby, Charlea 0. Douglass, Edward W. Ellis, George M. Floyd, Chas.

B. Hall, William Hall, Obadlah Lauretta, Jonathan B. Leighton, Alonzo

E. Long (must. Oct 9, 1862), James E. Marshall, Charles T. Moven, Alonio

M. Turner, Emery 0. Walker

COMPANY F.

Musician, Horace M. Davis; Frank W. Bhinchard (not mustered), John W.
Downing (not mustered).

COMPANY H.

Sergeants, William S. Brooks, Alfted H. Whltmore, Charles S. Jordan, Alnioo

L. Chase; corporals, Henry H. Wescott, William A, Steele, Joseph Mann,

54

George F. Hitchings, Jr., John McLeod ;
privates, Charles W. Burnham,

Edward Burnliaiii, William Burnham, Charles W. Bond (must Oct. 7,

1862), Henry Bowman (must. Oct. 8, 18621, John W. Chlckerlng, Judson

K. Clark, James H. Curtla, Frank Deosier, Ralph H. Gammon, Andrew
Goodwin, George F. Henderson, John Henderson (must. Oct 8, 1862 ; enl.

in U. S. Army, Nov. 24, 1862), James R. Hiller, William Howard, John B.

Hughes, Charlea G. Jackson, George H. Jewett, George W. Kelly, Jnstln

Libby, Charles McDnffee (disch. Oct. 14, 1862), James Megqulre, James

Meoli (must Oct 11, 1862), Jefferson H. Menow, Charles G. Milner (trans,

to regimental band), Joseph B. Parsons, Joseph Partington (must. Oct 6,

1862), William Ray, William H. Richards (disch. for disability, Feb. 7,

1862), Joseph B. Russell (most. Oct. 2, 1862), Joseph E. Sawyer, Edward

Shields (must Oct. 15, 1862), Moses C. Smith.

COMPANY I.

Privates, Elisha Dyer, Franklin E. Emery, John Harrington, John McCuen,

Paschal M. Sawyer, David Smith, Jr., Heniy N. Smith, William St. John,

George A. Thompson.

COMPANY K.

Sergeant, John H. Frasier; privates, George C. Davis, Henry Forest, Martin

Hyer (must Oct 4, 1862), James B. Williams.

TWBNTY-8EVHJTH IHTAIITRY.

March, Owen A., Co. C : mnst. Sept 30, 1862 ; disch. Jnly 7, 1862.

Steadfast, Thomas S., Co. 0; mnst. Oct. 14, 1862 ; disch. July 7, 1863.

Skillings, Daniel, mnsician, Co. C ; must. Sept 30, 1862; disch. Jnly 7, 1863.

TWEHTT-KIHTH mFANTBT—TSTEBANS.
Mustered in Dec. 17, 1863 ; discharged Jnne 21, 1866.

Alpheus L. Green, sergt.-maj.
;
pro. to 2d lieut Co. K.

Cornelius D.-Maynord, q.m. aergt., disch. with the regiment at the end of the

war.

COMPANY A.

Hoyt, George H., must Aug. 17, 1862; disch. for disability, June 25, 1864.

Wilkinson, William W., must. Aug. 18, 1862 ; reported killed at Antietam.

COMPANY B.

Smith, Henry M., trans, from Co. C; pro. to Ist sergt.; pro. to lieut and trans.

Warner, David G., mnst. Sept 18, 1864; disch. with regiment.

COMPANY C.

Charles E. Jordan, James E. Mitchell, sergts.

Henry M. Smith, sergt., pro. to 2d lieut, 1865.

William A. Sanborn, corp., trans, to Tet Bes. Corporals.

Niles A. Hanson, Corp., detached.

Charles W. Stevens, George W. Libby, corps.

Jacob J. Hammond, musician, pro. to chief musician of regiment.

Anois, Horace W.

Boothby, Isaac T., disch. for disability. May 30, 1866.

Brown, John J., downed May 5, 1864.

Brown, Charles L., wounded Oct 19, 1864.

Baker, Charles P., wounded Oct 19, 1864.

Cobnm, George E. ; Cluskey, Peter.

Devine, Anthony, wounded Oct 19, 1864.

Gibson, Robert, must Nov. 17, 1863.

Hall, Daniel E., missing in battle, April 19. 1864.

Ball, Stewart B., disch. for disability, April 20, 1864.

Haskell, Frederick O., wounded Oct 19.

Button, Spencer F., wonnded Oct 19 ; died Oct 30, 1864.

Knight, George B., trans, to Navy, 1866.

Lee, William A, must Nov. 17, 1863.

Libby, William S., must, Nov. 17 ; dlscb. for disability, April 5, 1866.

McGee, James D., must Nov. 17 ; disch. Oct. 7, 1866.

Mason, Edwin, must Nov. 17 ; died at Philadelphia Bospltal, Nov. 14, 18G4.

Morse, William, must Nov. 17.

Bobbins, Aniasa B.

Bowe, Edmund, wounded Sept. 19, 1864.

Sweat, Alonio F. ; Smith, John A.

Scott, John A, pro. to sergt., 1865.

St John, William E, trans, to commissary department

Warren, William B.

Young, John, disch. for disability, June 30, 1864.

Knight, George B., must Feb. 10, 1865 ; disoh. Jan. 18, 1866.

COMPANY B.

Mustered in Nov, 13, 1863.

Henry A. Plnmmer, sergt., died Sept 29, 1864.

Simon A. Loveitt, sergt, pro. to 1st sergt

Frank E. Brown, sergt, reduced.

George C. Kennedy, corp,, disch. for disability. May 13, 1864.

William T. Haskell, Corp., wounded Oct 19, 1864.

Charles H. Sastroff, corp,, reduced, 1864,

Edwin M. Locke, musician ; detached as h. q. orderly.

Aldrldge, Hanson ; Bisbee, Elisha T. ; Bnmham, Lorenw T. ; Cnrtis, James C;

Chase, Isaac C. ; Clark, WllUam.
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Colle7, JoMph F., pro. to Corp. ; dropped from rolla, Harch 1, 18M.
Dyor, FrmnkUn, pro. to corp.

Hopkins, Jonathan C; Hukell, William T.; Hoyt, Baqjamln G.; HodidoD,

Darid T.; Hodidon, Hahlon 8.

Hntcbinga, William H., died Maj 20, 18M.

Jenklni, George F., trana. to Yet. Bea. Gorpa, 1861.

Lynda, George W., taken pilioner, April 19, 1864 ; exchanged.

lArrabee, Alfred H., wonnded Oct. 19, 1864.

Idwi7, William.

Haaon, Samnel S., detached.

Mflllken, John 8., wonnded at Cedar Creek; died Oct 20, 1864.

Moore, Alfred 8., pro. to Corp. and aergt., 1864.

O'Brien, Timothy, dropped, March 1, 1866.

Peanon, Chartes H., wonnded Oct 10, 1864.

Poor, George H.

Shaw, William U., detached, dlrliion headqnarters.

Smith, Charlea O., taken prtaoner April 8, 1864.

SteTCDi, Jamea BL, pro. to Corp., 1865.

Soola, Benben H.

Insk, Charles H., diaoh. Ibr disability. Hay 16, 1866.

Webber, George T.; Wlnslow, Cbaries F. .

Winslow, Joseph, pro. to aergt

OOMPANT F.

Mastered in Not. 13, 1863.

Joseph W. Morse, oorp, dlsch. May T, 1866.

Lewis X. Pearson, Corp., pro. to aergt

Bnrke, Edward.

Burks, William T., died Aug. 31, 1864.

Oarey, Turner; Clancey, James ; Dnston, William 0.

Mder, Samuel, taken prisoner April 10, 1864.

Gliea, John M.; Gibaon, Bobert ; Lee, William A.; Mulcahy, William ; Martin,

Washington ; O'Neil, Lanty ; Smellage, George W.

COMPANY O.

Green, William H., died May 30, 1864.

Locke, Frederick A., detached 1864.

COMPANT H.

Fox, Thomas, taken prisoner, Aug. 12, 1864; nerer retnmed.

COMPANT I.

Smith, Harriaon W., aergt ; must. Deo. 16, 1863 ; diacb. May 21, 1866.

Glendenning, John O., must Dec. 16, 1863.

Glenn, William, must. Dec. 16, 1863.

Ball, Lewis L., must. Dec 12, 1863.

Hall, Enoch L., must. Dec. 12, 1863 ; dlsch. for disability, April 2, 1866.

Snow, Isnel T., must Sept 18, 1862 ;
pro. to carp. ; wounded Oct 19, 1864.

COMPANT K.

Dana, Woodbnry K., must. Not. 13, 1863 ; detached as ordnance clerk.

TEISTIEIE IHFAirrSY.

Mustered out Aug. 20, 1866.

Charim F. Larrabee, 9ergt.-nii^|or, must Jan. 9, 1864.

Edward' M. Gammon, Teteran, chief musician ; muat. Jan. 9,1864.

COMPANT 0.

Mustered in Deo. 19, 1863.

Cobb, Edward 8., Teteran.

Fowler, Edwin, trans. 1864f wounded.

Meloi, James, Teteran.

Nason, William H.

OriiBn, miliam, mnat Sept 24, 1864.

Hennssssy, Daniel, most Sept 23, 1864.

Moor, Sleaser, prisoner; died June 16, 1864.

COMPANT D.

Deane, Frederick A., must. Jan. 9, 1864; pro. to aergt

Hopkins, Aaron, must Sept U, 1864.

Kelley, Lawrence, must Sept 14, 1864.

Mullina, John, must Sept. 6, 1864; disch. Jnne 1, 1866.

Mniphy, Patrick, muat Sept 6, 1864; dlach. June 1, 1666.

Boberts, John, mnat Aug. 2, 1864.

Shiriey, Henry M., mnat Oct 6, 1864.

Welch, WlUlam, must. Oct S, 1864.

COMPANT E.

Brown, Eiaklel, Teteran; must Deo. 12, 1863; killed April 23, 1864.

BemanI, Charlea, must July 20, 1864.

Doughty, Julius H., most Oot. 8, 1864.

Le^ Charles H., must Aug. 18, 1864.

Searies, William, must Aug. 6, 1864.

Watson, John, must Sept 13, 1864.

OOMPANT F.

Mustered in Dec 29, 1863.

John N. Tyler, sergt. ; Teteran ; reduced, 1864.

Emery 0. Walker, sergt; wounded April 23 ; pro. 1st sergt, 18114.

IluBas W. Barks, aergt

Charlea W. Bond, Corp.

Angiin, Wiliftim ; Bowman, Henry.

Bradin, Patrick, diaoh. Jnne 6, 1865.

Emery, William, died March 5, 1865, while on the niarcb.

Fowler, (niariea,S.

Lown, John E., killed April, 8, 1864.

Lamphin, Gilman H., Teteran ; died In rebel prison, April 15, 1864.

McGregor, Morton, dlsch. June 10, 1865.

McLeese, DaTid, disch. Sept 11, 1865.

Manh, Janiee.

Palmer, Eugene S., pro. musician.

Smith, Henry N., wounded April 23, 1864.

Chamberlain, John W., must. Sept. 5, 1864 ; dlsch. June 1, 1865.

Floyd, George M., must. Ang. 6, 1864.

Tirrell, John A., must May IS, 1864 ; died Feb. 5, 1869.

COMPANT O.

Currier, Charies K., must. Ang. 1, 1864.

Gorman, Michael, most July 21, 1864.

St Jnllen, Eli, must Sept 26, 1864.

COMPANY L

Mastered in Jan. 6, 1864.

Sergeant, Martin Hyer (must. Jan. 18, 1864); corporola, William Bowles (must

Jan. 12, 1864), William Constable, Cyme B. Winslow, John McCune,

Henry L. Alien; musicians, Fred. A. Motley, Daniel Skillings; prirates,

William C. Blades, William Butler, Junes Brenneu, John Bowles,

Stephen D. Delande, William GnlliTer, William W. Garinnd, Charles

Gilman, Horatio B. Hadly, James A. Haley, John H. Jones, Llewellyn

Jones, John Shehan, Charlea A. Tbompaon, Michael 0. Welch, Thomaa

Wood (must Jan. 12, 1864), Edwin Fowler, George W. Ham, John

McBlroy (must Oct 12, 1864), John Quirk (mnat Sept. 8, 1864).

COMPANT K.
Partington, Joeepb.

Pyrett, Henry, must Jan. 12; trans, to Yet Res. Corpe.

Bolfe, Benjamin F., must Jan. 14, 1864.

THISTY-FIB8T IRFAHTBT.
Discharged July 15, 1865.

OOMPANT C.

Abbott, CUrence L., must March 23, 1864.

CUnghiin, Bartholomew, must. March 23, 1864.

Cole, FiHucia, mnat March 23, 1864.

Doran, Michael, muat March 23, 1864; priaoner; exchanged.

Dodge, John H„ muat Maroh 23, 1864; wounded May 12, 1864; diacli. March

24,1865.

Horlaton, Henry C, muat March 23, 1864 ; wounded June 3, 1864 ; diach. Feb.

20, 1865.

lOitley, John, must Man:ta 23, 1864; wonnded May 18; dlsch. March 23, 1865.

McGuire, John, must March 23, 1864.

Rafter, Edward, must. March 23, 1864 ; wonnded May 12 ; dlach. June 16, 1863.

Sargent, William H., mnat April 21, 1864; pro. to corp. and aergt.

Wtaeelock, George I. J., muat April 21, 1864.

Work, John, mnat March 23,1864; wounded and taken priaoner; disch. June

6, 1866.
COMPANT H.

Carl, Charles E., muat. April 21, 1864 ;
pro. to Corp. and aergt.

Daley, James, muat April 21, 1864.

Hynee, Michael, muat April 21, 1864; disch. April 22, 1865.

Hughes, William, must. April 21, 1864.

COMPANY K.

Mackln, Joseph F., must April 21, 1864, ss Teteran.

Fansll, Edward, must May 6, 1864.

Jones, Edward, muat May 6, 1864; wonnded.

Boaa, Samnel C, muat. May 6, 1864.

THIBTT-SECOBD IHTAHTBT.

ConaoUdated with 31at Maine by order of Dec. 1, 1864.

COMPANY A.

Norwood, Chester, mnst Mareh 3, 1864.

Bnnnsia, Frederick O., muat Maroh 3, 1864.

Biohards, George W., mnst March 3, 1864.

SnIliTao, John, mnst Maroh 3, 1864.

COMPANY C.

BesJs, Thomas P., mnst Mareh 23, 1864; Tet aergt ; pro. to 1st lieut. C!o. H.

Abbott, Clarence L., muat. Maroh 23, 1864; wounded May 12, 1864.

Cole, Francis C, must Mareh 23, 1864.

Cnrran, John, must Mareh 23, 1864.

Chamberlain, Preacott, must Mareh 23, 1864; wounded May 18, 1864.

Childs, Thomas, muat Mareh 23, 1864.

Doran, Michael, must. May 23, 1864; woundsd and taken prisoner. May 12,

1864.

Dodge, John H., must March 23, 1864 ; wounded and taken priaoner. May 12,

1864.
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Hussey, Henry A,, niuat March ii, 1864; killed un picket, Juno 20, 1864.

Ilcrrick, Rufin W., mu»t. Jlarcli il, 18(54.

Mitley, Julin, must. March 211, ISM; wonmletJ .luly 18, 1864.

McGuire, Cha<., must. March 2:t, 1S64 ; wounded Slay 18, 1804 ; died nf wouuds.

McGuire, John, must. March 23, 1864.

Rafter, Edward, must. March 2:1, 1864; wounded May 12, 1864.

Shaw, Edwanl H., must. March 23, 1864; died at Philadelphia, April 25, 1864.

Work, Jno., must March 2:i, 1864 ; wounded and taken prisoner. May 12, 1864.

Sargent, William H., muat. April 21, 1864.

Wheelock, George I. J., mn-t. April 21, 1864.

COMPANY I.

Tyler, Jacob E., sergt., must, .\pril 21, 1864; disch. Dec. 12, 1864.

Earle, Cliarles E., Corp., mnst. April 21, 1864.

Hackett, Samuel W., corp., must. April 21, 1864; disch. Dec. 12, 1804.

Mackim, Joseph F., veteran, Corp., must. April 21, 1864.

Daly, Thomas, must. April 21, 1864.

Holbrook, James 0., must. May lu, 1864.

HughM, William, must. April 21, 1864.

COMPANY K.

Flannegan, Jamea, must May 6, 1864 ; killed at Petereburg, July 30, 1804.

Farrell, Edward, must May 6, 1864; taken prisoner.

Jones, Edward, must. Hay 6, 1864 ; wonnded Jane 20, 1864.

Lee, Qeorge H., mnst. May 6, 1804; disch. Sept. 22, 1864.

Boss, Samuel C, must. May 6, 1864; taken prisoner, Jnly 30, 1804.

SH&SF8H00TERS.
COMPANY A.

Afterwards Ist Maine, Co. D of 2d United States Sharpshooters. Disbanded

Feb. 18, 1865.

Chandler, Reuben, Jr., mmit. Not. 2, 1861 ; dIsch. for wounds, June 1, 1862.

Piatt, Frank H., must. Not. 2, 1861; disch. June 24, 1862.

Boonds, John H., must. Not. 2, 1861 ; pro. to Corp.; trans, to 2d U. S. Sharp-

shooters, Dec. 25, 1863.

Cumminga, Daniel L., must. Not. 7, 1861; pro. to Corp., sergt., and 2d lieut. In

1862.

Hanuegan, David D., must. Feb. 22, 1864; wounded May 6, 1864.

Keenan, John, mnst Feb. 22, 1864.

Landers, James, must. Feb. 22, 1864.

O'Donnell, John, most. Feb. 22, 1864.

FIRST HAUTE CAVALST.

Mustered out Nov. 25, 1664 ; recmita and men from 1st District of Columbia

Cavalry ; mustered out Aug. 1, 1865.

Eustice C. BIgelow, qjn. sergt., must. Oct. 31, 1861 ; pro. to 2d lieut. Co. F ; to

rank ftom Oct. 31, 1862.

COMPANY B.

Sargent, John A., mnst. Oct. 19, 1861 ; disch. for disability, Jnly 19, 1862.

Cobb, Charles U., mnst. July 25, 1862 ;
prisoner May 2, 1863 ; exchanged

;

wounded Aug. 16, 1864.

Colley, Charles H., sergt, must Feb. 20, 1864 ; trans, from District of Columbia

CaTalry.

Brackett, James W., corp., must Feb. 20, 1864 ; trans, ftom District of Columbia

CaTalry.

Lansom, Edwin B., Corp., from District of Columbia Cavalry ; must Feb. 20, 1864.

Moore, Thomas, Corp., must Feb. 20, 1864, from District of ColuuibU Cavalry.

Rues, George H., Corp., most Feb. 20, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Cappers, Osgood, corp., most. Feb. 20, 1864, from District of Ctplumbla Cavalry.

Newbold, Andrew D., must Feb. 2U, 1864, from District of Columbbi Cavalry.

Noyes, Clarence, must Feb. 20, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Pottle, William, bngler, r».enilBted Jan. 4, 1864.

Robinson, Lewis O., must Feb. 20, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry

Small, Clement P.. must Feb. 20, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Silver, John E., must Feb. 20, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

York, Charles, mnst Feb. 20, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

COMPANY C.

Patten, Stephen W., must. Oct 20, 1861 ; disch. July 9, 1862.

Hardinbrook, Charles W., must. Feb. 8, 1864, from Dhilrict of Columbia Cav-

airy ; wounded.

COMPANY D.

Latham, Charles F., corp., must March 1, 1864, from District of Columbia Cav-

alry ; taken prisoner.

Pierce, George A., must Jan. 12, 1864 ;
prisoner ; District of Columbia Cavalry.

Richards, Willhun II., must. March 8,1864; prisoner; District of Columbia

Cavalry.

Scale, George A., must. March 8, 1864; prisoner; District of Columbia Cavalry.

TImraons, Chariss E., mnst. March 10, 1864; prisoner; District of Columbia

Cavalry.

Merrill, E. P., Ist lieut, prisoner ; from District of Columbia Cavalry.

COMPANY B.

Scott, Hiram, must Oct 19, 1861 ; died at Back Creek, Va., April 24, 1862.

Goddard, Charles, must Aug. 18, 186;> ; disch. for disability, Jan. 6, 1862.

Hicks, BenJ. C, must Aug. 21, 1802; taken prisoner Jnne 9, 1863 ; exchanged.

list. Feb. 8, 1864, from District uf Columbin

to sergt; killc.l Oct.

Wiiltmore, Alfred H., sergt., mus
Cavalry.

Richardson, Osco, mnst . Aug. liO, ISti'i
;
pro. to curp.

;
pro,

27, 1864.

Green, Frank W., sergt.. District of Coliiniliiii Cavalry, must. Feb. 2, 18G4;

wounded Oct 27, 1864.

Hall, Dana M., sergt., must Jan. '28, 1864, from District of Coluuibia Cavalry.

True, George W., sergt., must. Feb. 12, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Thayer, John D., sergt., must Feb. 12, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

HIII, Joseph C, Corp., must. Fob. 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry ; miss-

ing in battle, June 28, 1864.

Brennan, Patrick, must. Feb. 10, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalr}'.

Blake, Horace P., must. Dec. 10, 186:), from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Chase, Samuel S., must. Jan. 30, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Capen, Charles W., must. Dec. 18, 1863, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Davis, Charles N., must Feb. 3, 1804, from District of Columbia CaTalry.

Elliott, John 6., mnst. Feb. 4, 1804, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Goo, Peter G., must. Feb. 1, 1804, from District of Columbia Cavalrj-.

Howard, William, must Feb. 10, 1804, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Horrie, Thomas L., must Jan. 10, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Herbert, James, must. Feb. 10, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry'.

Hermann, Christian S., must. Jan. 25, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Jones, John, must Feb. 12, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Leslie, Henry U., must. Feb. 1, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavair}*.

McKenney, William H., must Feb. 4, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Mesarve, James U., must Feb. 6, 1864, from District ofColumbia Cavalry ; miss-

ing in action, Sept 16, 1864.

McDuffle, Charles, must. Feb. 8, 1804, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Merritt, James 11., must. Feb. 12, 1804, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Marks, Augustus, saddler, luust. Feb. 12, 1804, from District of Columbia Cav-

alry ; missing in action, June 28, 1864.

Wilber, Bufus A., must Jan. 20, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

COMPANY F.

Mustered In Oct. 19, 1861.

Eveloth, Melvlu N., must. July 30, 1862 ; pro. to corp. July 1, 186:) ; trans, to

brigade headquarters.

Merrill, John H., must Ani^. 4, 1862; pro. to corp. July 1, 1863; taken prisoner

June 21 ; exchanged,

Paine, Richard H., must. Aug. 11, 1862 ; detached 1864.

Harris, William, sergt.
;
pro. to 1st sergt.^and 2d lieut in 1862.

Lowell, Albert, Corp. ; reduced; disch. for disability, Nov. 30, 1862.

Johnson, Walter, Corp. ; reduced.

Hallowell, H. F., wagoner; reduced; detached 1863; re-enlisted; detached at

brigade headquarters.

Dam, Charles F., appointed bugler, 1862 ; detached.

Dodge, R. L., disch. for disability, Dec. 31, 1862.

Harris, Elisha De Wolf, pro. to corp.
;
pro. to sergt. ; re-enl. Dec. 31, 1863.

Heald, Edwin, disch. for disability, Jan. 9, 1862.

Jackson, Samuel H.

Jackson, John B., discli. for disability, Jan. 15, 1863.

Jordan, Hiram C, disch. for disability, Nov. 11, 1862.

Mason, J. W., died at Washington, Jan. 16, 1864.

Plummer, Jere S., disch. for disability. May 9, 186^.

Phelps, George W., wounded Sept 14 ; died Sept 22, 1862.

Skillings, Albert C, appointed bugler July 1, 1863; disch. Nov. 13, 18frl.

Sklllings, C. W., pro. to Corp. January, 1863; missing in battle, Oct. 12, 180:1.

Sylvester, Charles H., trans, to Vet. Res. Corps.

Shaw, Daniel W., detached to Invalid Corps.

Tewksbury, George D., disch. Nov. 25, 186k

Curling, Michael, must. Dec. 5, 1863 ."rom District of Columbia Cavalry ; taken

prisoner March 1, 1864.

Smith, Wendell T.,must. Sept 4, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry; died

at David's Island, N. Y.

COMPANY G.

Fessenden, Nathaniel 3., must. Nov, 13, 1863.

McKay, John, must Jan. 18, 1864.

Piper, Nathaniel, must Nov. 12, 1863.

COMPANY H.

Crosby, George W., must Feb. 2:!, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

Dow, Albion K. P., must. Marcli 8, 1864, from District of Columbhi Cavalry

MciiuBick, Beivjamiu F., must Mnroh 8, 1864, from District of Columbia Cav.

Winslow, William A., musician, must March 8, 1864, from District of Colum-

bia Cavalry.

COMPANY I.

Kimball, aiarles A., must. Dec. 20, 1863; missing Sept. 24, 1864.

Moulton, Charles E., must Feb. 3, 1864, from District of Columbia Cavalry.

TILbetts, Byron T., must. Feb. 16, 1864.

Webber, Thomas C, capt, must. Feb. 23, 1864, from District of Columbia Cav.

COMPANY K.

Hamilton, Charles E., must Aug. 23, 1862; trans, as orderly to Gen. Punl

;

wounded and taken prisoner; exchanged; discharged.

Smith, Windsor B., must. Aug. 23, 1862; pro. to corp. July 1, 186:); pro. to

sergt. and q.m. sergt ; taken prisoner.
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Aluudar, Chelii A., must Feb. 16, 1864, from District of Calombia Cavalry.
Cnnby, DsTld, muat. Jan. 16, 1864, frum District of Columbia CaTalty ; missing

in baUls, Sept. 16, 1864.

Cobb, George, bugler, musL Jan. 16, 1864, from District of Columbia Caralr;

)

talcen prisoner.

IhkTls, Horace 0., must. Feb. 16, 1864, from District of Colombia Caralry.
Dyer, Storer O, mast. Jan. 16, 1864, from District of ColumbU C^Talry.
GIlpMrick, Jesse L, most. Fob. 16, 1864, from District of Columbia Caralry.
Jong, Thomas J, must. Feb. 16, 18M, from District of Columbia OiTalry.

COMPANY L.

Banion, Elbridge M., wagoner, must. Fob. 10, 1864, from District of Columbia
Caralry.

COMFAinr H.

Albert 0. Dam, sergt., must Feb. IB, 1864, from District of Colombia Caralry.
Hiram T. Coolc, sergt, must. Feb. 16, 1864, flrom District of Columbia Caralry.
Jeremiah a Donglasa, sergt, must Feb. 16, 1864, lh>m District of Columbia

Caralry.

Uvsnl B. Chase, corp, most Feb. 16, 1864, tirom District of Columbia Ckr.
Oeorg* a SaUna, Corp., must Feb. 16, 1864, from District of Columbia Ckr.;

prisoner.

Cotter, Ihomaa, must Jan. 25, 1864, from District of Columbia Caralry.

Kobinson, KUJah, most Feb. IS, 1864, from District of Columbia Ciralry.

SECOHS UAXSB CATALBT.
Cables, Bobsrt B., Co. A ; must Oct IT, 1864 ; dlsch. Aug. 2«, 1864

.

Sawyec Jonea W., Oo. B ; must Nor. 30, 1863 ; diseh. Deo. 6, 186S.

Warner, Ftanlt, Co. B ; must Nor. 30, 1863. -
Burke, Abel, Oo. B ; must Nor. 30, 1864.

Hall, William H., Oo. B ; must Nor. 30^ 1863 ; disoh. June 13, 1864.

Andrews, Frank, Oo.D ; must Deo. 9, 1863 ; diach. Dec. 6, 186S.

Barker, Daniel W., Oo. D ; must Dec. 8, 1863 ; died Sept 20, 1863.

Bums, Charles, Co. D ; must Deo. 8, 1863.

Donahoe, Peter, Oo. D ; must Deo. 8, 1883 ; dlsch. for disability, Oct. 8, 1864.

Orinnell, Williston, Co. D; muat Deo. 8, 1863 ; pro. corp. ; dlsch. Dec. 6, 1663.

O'Neal, Henry, Co. D ; must Dec. 8, 1863 ; dlsch. Sept 18, 1(64.

Wilson, John, Co. D ; must Dec. 8, 1863.

Braokett, George, Go. O ; muat Dec. U, 1863 ; trans, to Nary.
Trowbridge, Charles S., Co. O ; most. Deo. 11, 1863 ; trans, to Nary.
Bolton, James K., Co. L ; must. Dec. 24, 1863 ; died In hoepltal. Sept 25, 1864.

XOiniTES ABTIXLEBT.
FIBST BAITEBT.

Mustered In Dec 18, 1861, for three years.

H. A. M. Quinn, sergt, died at New Orleans, Aug. 10, 18S2.

Mosea Clongfa, corp.

H. 3. McDonald, Corp., reduced ; dlsch. for disability In 1862.

Comellns B. Cooe, corp.

James Huntress, corp., died at New Orleans, Aug. 20, 1862.

Thomas Curran, corp., re^euL Jan. 1, 1866.

Newman, Andrew P., made artlflcer in 1862 ; dlsch. for disability, Feb. 1, 1863.

Hnrphy, Jeremiah, made artiflcsr In 1862 ; dlsch. for disability, April 9, 1863.

Andenon, Andrew.

Berg, Henry 0., dlsch. for disability, Aug. 15, 1862 ; re-«nl. Jan. 1, 1864.

Conway, Joseph, disoh. for disability, April 9, 1863,

OnmmingB, Stephen ; Donald, P. 0.

Johnson, Ghariee, re-enl. Jan. 1, 1864.

Johnson, John, re-enL Jan. 1, 1864; killed In battle, Oct. 19, 1864.

McCarty, Timothy, pro. to sergt

McOaan, Daniel, re-enL Jan. 1, 1864 ; pro. corp.

Mynnlng^ Jamos, killed on the Boston and Lowell Ballroad In 1862.

Mathews, Jamea.

Nugent John, r»4nL Jan. 1, 1864.

BlasdeM, Simon, disoh. for disability, Aug. 16, 1862.

Bobinsou, John.

SnlUran, Daniel, killed on the Boston and Lowell Ballroad In 1862.

Shields, Edward, disoh. for disability, Aug. 15, 1862.

Sellar, William, r«-enL Jan. 1, 1864; wounded Oct 19, 1864.

Dnral, Clauds.

Chase, James N., must Jan. 1, 1864.

Hoaey, Gaorge B., musician, must. Deo. 18, 1862.

Smith, John.

Thompeon, John, appointed bugler in 1862 ; re-enl. Jan. 1, 1864.

Heldlsman, Bobert died at New Orteans, Nor. 2, 1862.

GotTny, James B.

Bond, Edwin F., pro. to sergt. Sept. 20, 1862.

Fuller, Beqjamin C, must Jan. 1, 1864.

Gillespie, John, muat Jan. 1, 1864.

Hall, Frederick, must Jan. 1, 1864.

McGonnldc, Maarice, must Jan. 1, 1864.

McDonald, Peter, re-enl. Jan. 1, 1864.

MoNaniara, Joaeph, re-enl. Jan. 1, 1864.

Norton, William, re-enl. Jan. 1, 1884.

Prentice, L. M., re-enl. Jan. 1, 1864.

Whitlock, Henry J., re-enL Jan. 1, 1864.

Tansio, John, r»4nL Jan. 1, 1864.

Ackermau. Charles C, muAt. Feb. 29, 1864.

Burnhum, Charles N., must Feb. 25, 1864.

Black, Tliomas, must April 7, 1864.

Boyce, Patrick H., must. Feb. 16, 1864.

Curran, Michael, must Feb. 10, 1864.

Cumniings, Blchard F., must Feb. 10, 1864.

Cragin, Jeremiah, must. Feb. 29, 1864.

Daly, Michael B., must Feb. 10, 1864.

Doherty, Francia J., muat Maroh 2, 1864; wounded Oct 19, 1864.

Doherty, James, muat Feb. 10, 1864 ; wounded Oct IS, 1864.

Derlne, Thomaa M., must April 12, 1864 ; wounded Oct 19, 1864.

Fisher, William, moat Jan. 1, 1864.

Kennard, Charles 0., must Aug. 28, 1862 ; pro. artificer in 1863.

Thompson, Thomas M.
English, John, must March 29, 1864.

Francis, Horatio N., must Feb. 24, 1864.

Fuller, Benjamin C, must Jan. 1, 1864.

Golden, Philip E., muat Feb. 1, 1864.

Hall, Stlllman, must Feb. 29, 1864.

Kerrigan, Patrick, must Feb. 25, 1864.

Leriit, Chariea, must. April IS, 1864.

McEoan, Patrick, must February, 1864; wounded Sept 19, 1864.

Monchan, Jon.

Nellls, Jamee, must March 29, 1864; taken prisoner Oct 19, 1864.

Netson, William E., must Feb. 27, 1864 ; wounded Oct. 19, 1864.

Pratt, James, must Feb. 17, 1864.

Qnlnby, Olirer B., must Feb. 24, 1864.

Bafferty, Thomaa, must Feb. 24, 1864.

Thompeon, Joseph, must April 6, 1664.

SECOND BATTEBT.
Mustered out July 15, 1866.

Banks, William S., must Dec. 28, 1861 ; died Maroh 7, 1862.

Lorell, Henry C, most. Dec. 14, 1861 ; dlsch. for wounds, April 8, 1863.

McDonald, Ambrose, muat Dec. 28, 1861.

Chamberlain, Charlee B., must Jan. 20, 1864.

Stinson, Nathaniel, muat Jan. 25, 1864.

FOUBTH BATTEBT.
Mustered out June 17, 1865.

Brown, James, must Oct. 10, 1864.

Cornell, Qninlon, most Dec. 21, 1864; wounded September 28.

Donaldson, Thomas, must Oct 10, 1864.

'

French, Thomas F., must Sept 20, 1864.

Frlan, Barney, must Oct 10, 1864.

Goodwin, James H., must Sept 20, 1864.

Henry, Hugh, must. Oct 7, 1864.

McKay, Alexander, muat Jan. 15, 1864.

Moore, John, muat Dec. 28, 1863.

Maxwell, William A., must Nor. 21, 1863 ; trans, to Nary.

Bogers, Flumty, most Dec. IS, 1863.

Seabot, John H., muat Jan. 21, 1364; trona. to Nary.

FIFTH BATTEBT.
Muatered Dec. 4, 1861 ; diacharged July 6, 18G6.

George E. Freeman, sergt., wounded at Manaaaaa ; died.

Annis Kimball, wagouer.

Brown, John A., corp., must. Dec 21, 1861 ; pro. to aergt, 1862 ; trans, to Invalid

Corpe.

Clapp, Andrew J., re-enl. Jan. 4, 1864.

Dennlson, George, wounded at Ghanceilororille, Ya., May 3, 1863.

Gammon, William W., dlsch. <br disability, Dec 16, 1862.

Harmon, Algernon S., re-enL Jan. 4, 1864; detached.

Maraton, Joseph L., appointed forage-master, 1862, wagon-master, 1863.

McBae, Andrew, corp., pro. to sergt. ; dlsch. for disability, Feb. 18, 1864.

Murphy, John, artificer, re-enl. Jan. 4, 1864.

Seymour, Henry D., pro. to sergt.; taken prisoner; exchanged.

Smith, Thomas J., dlsch. 1862.

Tboiiipeon, E. B. L., pro. to corp.

Woods, John, must Jan. 10, 1862 ; appointed guidon, 1862.

Thompson, Elwu, re-enl. Feb. 20, 1864.

Walker, Archibald I. C, muat March 3, 1864 ; wounded Oct 19.

Woods, Daniel, muat. Feb. 23, 1864.

Berry, WlllUm, muat Sept 18, 1862.

Casey, Jamee, muat Aug. 28, 1862.

Kelly, Patrick, must Aug. 28, 1862.

Kennard, Charles 0., must Aug. 28, 1862.

McGafferty, John, muat Sept 18, 1862.

Oleson, Charles W., most Aug. 28, 1862 ; detached as hospital steward.

O'Neil, ComelluB, muat. Sept. 18, 1862; wounded at Chanceilorsrille.

Spaulding, Edward, muat Sept 18, 1862; detached at Alexandria, Ya., 1862.

Wittuun, Chariea C, muat Aug. 28, 1862; appointed bugler, 1863.

Wooda, Jeaeph, moat Sept, 18, 1862.

SIXTH BATTEBT.

Mastered Jan. 11, 1862 ; discharged June 17, 1866.

OrriUe W. Merrill, aergt, pro. to 2d lient in 19th Inf., 18S2.

Gardner, Jeremiah, pro. to q.m. sergt, 1862 ; re-enL Feb. 8, 1864, as artificer.



ROSTER OF SOLDIERS. 429

McCue, Peter, taken prisoner at Manassas ; exchanged ; re-enl. Felt. 8, 1S64.

Trefethen, Epps A.; Horr, Henry J.

GftUiBOO, W. H., pro. to lat »ergt.: must, aa 2d Heut, Jutie 22, 1863.

Charles B. Stubba, cook, must. Jan. 25. 1862 ; dlach. for disability, Feb. 17, 1863.

Thunby, Samuel, must Sept 23, 1862 ;
pro. to Heat ; wounded May 14, and died

June 18, 1804.

Dow, Sterling, must Sept. 25, 1862; pro. to corp., 1S62, to q.m. Bergt, 1863.

Lucas, William, must. Feb. 24, 1864.

SaztoD, Peter, must Teb. 19, 1864; wounded at Wilderaeas.

Dean, John 6., moat Sept 3, 1862.

Hodgdon, Robert, most January, 1862; disch. March 31, 1862.

SEVENTH BATTERY.

CummingB, Robert, must Sept 28, 1864.

Cram, Andrew L., must. Sept. 30, 1864.

Haskell, Alfred J., moat Oct. 4, 1864.

Utohfleld, Oscar W., must Oct 4, 1864.

PoUey, Isaao F., must Aug. 13,1864.

Sarage, John T., must Aug. 5, 1864.

JTSJTED STATES 5AVT.
William H. Alexander, Nathaniel P. Alien, John Alex, C. Angello, E. Aiken,

Horace W. Annis, Andrew Alien, John Albion Andrews, Wm. Adams,
Francis P. Andrews, William Abbott, Wm. Anderson, John Aral, Peter

Andrew, Oeo^e O. Batcfaelder, Warren Badger, George Bailey, Miles J.

n^e, John F. Blankingburg, Edward Burke, Amos Beveridge, Hiram
Brown, Chas. Bowman, H. Bridman, Joseph Baker, John H. Blake, Geo.

Brown, Thomas Burns, Darid Black. J. B Briggs, Charles Brown, Patrick

Bums, Thomas Brady, George E. Burbank, William Beebe, Henry C.

Btanchaid, James Bell, Cyrus H. Brown, John F. Brown, H. A. Brown,

D. H. Brogdon, Lewis Bellows, John Broda, James P. Brown, E. R. Bow-
man, Horace Brewer, Robert M. Blair, Ab^jah Brown, James W.
Bragg, Frederick B. Baxter, James Bright, D. M. Bond, Thomas Black,

John P. Brown, William Beebe, Joel £. Brewer, Albert L. Boutelle,

Eben Blake, Frank S. Butler, Sylvanua Bailey, Fred. B. Buxtan, Pat-

rick Brennan, John Cane, John W. Carey, Elcbard Caruey, George
Chaney, Samuel B. Clark, Albert W. Colby, George H. Cole, John Conley,

David W. Cook, John Crowley, Stephen Cummings, Thomas Calllgau,

William Chambers, William Calson, James Collen, Charles H. Cobb, Jotiu

Campbell, William Cannan, Andrew 0. Chick, James Casey, George L.

Caswell, Nelson Crockett, Lyman Curtis, Francis Coasins, Thos. Clarlc,

Samuel Cllheff, James H. Crossman, Frederick Columbia, James Curtis,

John G. Cartis, Warren C. Cammett, J. W. Campbell, J. H. Cooper, H. M.

Carr, CharlM H. Conant, William H. Caley, George Chadsey, Michael

Cunningham, John R. Caten, Sanford Crawford, Edmund Coffin, John P.

Coffin, William Cook, James Carlic, William H. Chadsey, Daniel Camell,

John Campbell, Thomas Coghlln, Samuel H. Chase, Charles Curran, J.

Curran, Lyman Curtis, Nelson Crockett, S. F. Chaplin, Francis Cai-son,

Frands A. Cobb, John Cavenaugh, William H. Colby, Aug. W. Chandler,

William Churchill, Jas. Corcoran, Michael Connelly, Peter Dailey, Jere-

miah DeuaTan, John Denniaoo, James Deering, Thomas Donnelly, Pat-

rick Dongher, G. P. Dodge, John Downey, John Damon, DaTid Davis,

Charles Deaneke, Watson G. Drinkwatar, Charles Doberty, Edward Do-

herty, Joseph Davis, James Dunn, J. M. Dillingham, William H. W. G.

Davis, James Dunn, William Dudley, John Doarty, Patrick Deven, John

Dameron, Samuel Dutch, William C. Douglass, Sewell S. Day, Patrick

Doherty, Thomas Dixon, Wm. Dowling, Horace £ste8,Jobn B. Eaton,

Thomas Emery, George S. T. Ellis, Christian P. Emgfer, G. Emmons, John

Edwards, Charles E. Edwards, John Edaon, Alvin Eastman, Josiah EUett,

William F. Elliot John Errlcson, James Farmer, Joseph Francis, James

B. Fickett, John A. Flint, Horace B. Fogg, John Foster, Abner L. Foote,

Richard Fuller, W. W. Furlong, Thomas Foye, Thomas Farity, George W,

Frost, Ebeneser T. Foote, Wm. H. Frost, Rodger Faughty, Joseph 8. Fin-

ley, Joseph Q. Francis, Thomas Fox, Mayhew C. Foss, P. M. Fuller, Ed-

mund Freeman, Simon N. Frost, James Forest, Frederick 0. Fales, Wil-

liam A. Foraaith, Frederick Fenderson, Thomas Flore, William M. Gage,

Frank C. Gould, Edward A. Gove, Lawrence Griffin, Joseph Griffin, John

Gannett, James Geeman, H. W. Garland, Michael Gllleu, John A. Griffin,

James Gowan, Hiram 0. Gage, Parfcman Gardner, E. B. Greenleaf, James

Greein, James W. Growy, Patrick Gitlen, Octavius Garney, David S.

Goodwin, Charles H. Hanson, Albert J. Haley, John B. Horten, John M.

Herbert, John Hickey, Dennis Hlckey, Edward Hiiler, James E. Hodg-

klns, Charles B. Hodgktns, Joseph H. Hodgkins, Wm. H. Hubbs, Robert

Hudson, Harvey E. Hutchinson, Frank Hoffman, Henry 0. Hare, Wood-

bury Hill, Thomas Hayes, Washburn Hurd, Frederick W. Henderson,

John A. Hyde, J. F. Haggett, Thomas Hodgdon, P. Harris, G, W. Horse-

ford, George H. B. Howe, George Hamons, David Hennisun, Thos. Hard-

ing, Thos. Hayden, Joseph H. Hilton, John Harrington, Eben Higgins,

Allen Hawkins, Thomas Hayes, Albert J. Hlght, James T. Hatch, Wm.
H. Huntington, William Harmon, Martin Halligan, David Henry, Gar-

rett 0. Heron, Deering Heard, Fred. E. Hutchlns, John Jenkins, John

Johnson, Charles Johnson, David H. Jones, Eleazer Jones, Joshua W.

Johnson, Samael Johuson, Charles G. Jones, Walter S. Jones, John J.

Jones, John Jameson, Henry Johnson, James Jenkins, William Jones,

J. W. 0. Jackson, Daniel W. Jackson, Nathaniel Johnson, Jno. 0. James,

Frederick Jordan, John Kane, Richard Kearney, Paul Klngsley, Thomas

Klrby, James Karman, Thomas Kelly, William Kelly, Edward Kelly,

Jubn Kelly, Z. T. Knight, John Kerrigan, Snniuel Kimball, Rolit Keatori,

James Keeley, John Kcefe. John KeuIIen, David Keeley, Bernard Kelly,

William King, Isaac Kilpatrick, T. 0. Kiel, E. S. KIiuUiU, William Kalen,

Henry Knight, Jas. Kee, William Larkin, Benj. Larrabee, Jno. F. Long,

Timothy J. Looney, John E. Loring, John Lowrj", John Lowry, Jr., Jas.

Lowry, Jas. Lowry, Jr., Chas. Lowry, Chas. Lowry, Jr., Wm. B. Lyons,

Wm. Lovetl, J. G. Lewis, Jno. Lyon, Rufus B. Ladtl, F. H. Libbey, Horace

Littlefield, Thos. Laken, Decatur Leach, Jno. Lansing, Charles Leighton,

Thos. Leonard, Wm. Lee, PhiL Livingston, Wm. Laurence, Geo. Lee, Sol.

H. Mann, Jno. G. Marston, Robt Moore, And. McGilvery, Jas. H. Mc3Iann,
Henry Munroe, J. T. Marshall, Alex. Murray, Thomas Mername, Fred-

erick Mark, James Morrison, John C. Mayberry, William SIcGmth,

John Mullen, Edward Murray, John Madden, John B. Murphy, John

Murphy, John McMillan, W. McMaster, Edward R. Mitchell, Thomas
Mitchell, Edward Marsh, Thomas McLaughlin, Alden Moulton, Solo-

mon W. Marr, John McGuire, William McKay, Ellsha D. Morse, Luke
W. Morang, Nicholas Murphy, Patrick McGowan, James Mahan,

George W. Moody, James McKay, Daniel McLair, John McMaster, Asa

T. Merrill, Geoige Morang, Bailey Mitchell, Ambrose Motts, Dennis

McCarty, John McCullum, Frederick Martu, George C. Mayberry, James

McCordle, John Morrissy, Wilder McMitchell, Lawrence Marshal, Mer-

ritt Marstun, John W. Minot, John McDonald, John Morgan, George

Morgan, Daniel McClain, William H. McKenney, Ezekiel F. Millett,

James McEIdee, Thomas McGlinchy, William Nelson, John Nich-

olas, T. K. Norris, 0. Nelson, Andrew Nelson, Herman Nowell, Eugene
Newbegin, Theodore Nelson, Charles G. Nichols, William B. Niles,

John W. North, Patrick O'Connor, John O'Brien, Samuel Orr, George

W. R. Pollock, Patrick Parkin, Richard Parkin, George T. Patten,

William J. Patterson, David Peterson, Peter Peterson, Jesse K. Pierce,

Daniel M. Pote, Henry 0. Proctor, Matthew Packer, Alonzo M. Pinney,

Benjamin Palmer, W. B. Poole, George Peters, William Pries, G. W. Paul,

Joseph Pratt, George Patterson, William Powers, George W. Parlin,

Charles E. Parlln, John A. Pellett, A. P. Pinney, George A. Polllster, 0.

M. Pute, James H. Pierce, Wllliani Poor, Charles H. Furkins, Enoch Per-

kins, Alfred A. Ramsdell, John M. Reynolds, Oscar M. Reed, Thomas
Rice, Charles H. Rice, Wentworth R. Richardson, George H. Roberts,

Rufus D. Rogers, Charles H. Rolfe, John H. L. Ross, William C. Ross,

Michael Ruoney, George Roman, Andrew Roman, Harold A. Ranspach,

Henry Reese, E. Rowe, C. P. Rowe, Francis Remas, F. J. Rogers, Charles

Rolfe, John Rooney, T. L. Reed, John Roundy, John Robinson, T. J. Rod-

gers, T. C. Bounds, Sylvanus Robblns, Robert H. Robinson, James G.

Samples, John Sawyer, Janres Sqanla^, Artemas Small, Charles Staples,

Theodoie Spear, Neptune Stephenson, Henry Stewart Henry A. Simpson,

John A. Simpson, Charles D. Sklllings, John M. Skillioga, Albert J.

V Smith, Michael Smitb, Charles 0. Soule, William Sloan, John Snowden,

Henry B. Sturgess, R. Sedgly, S. B. Sanborne, William St John, Robert

Steele, George T. Spencer, Samuel Stanwood, Robert Small, J. C. Smith,

Walter S. Smitb, Andrew J. Steele, Alonzo Smiley, George Stinchfield,

Thomas Shephard, Charles F. Shennard, William Stevenson, John Smitli,

John P. Staunton, George R. Spear, John Salvador, Henry W. Smith,

Peter Scammel, Edward Stmmonds, Daniel Shields, William H. Stock-

bridge, James Shankas, George Scott, G. H. Stinchfield, James Simpson,

Peter Scanlan, J. Sullivan, Timothy 0. Sullivan, Chas. Squire, II. Smith,

J. M. Smith, H. A. Sampson, Robert Steele, H. M. Sweetser, Moses Smith,

Jas. L. Shackley, Wm. L. Shackley, Wm. Smith, Jas. T. Smitli, Samuel
Smith, George Sweetser, Thos. Studley, J. M. Trefethen, J. M. Tuoniy,

Fred. Toomly, Antliouy Tarring, Charles Turner, John Tucker, Daniel

Toothaker, Alfred C. Thompson, Job H. Trott, John Thoniaa, David

Thompson, James Thomas, Henry Thomas, Charles Upton, D, M.Yaughan,
Charles Vanschaick, Francis J. Ylaunah, Josiah Yeazie, Nathaniel B.

Walker, Daniel Ward, John Ward, Thomas F. Welch, Francis Witham,

John White, William J. Whitehall, Phineaa Whitney, Henry Whittier,

Alexander Wyman, H. Wegmire, L. Woodbury, J. Williams, Wm. White,

William Whiscomb, A. H. Whlttemore, John Wlialey, Jobn Wilson, Eben

Watt, Robert Williamson, Walter West, Charles Wallace, Charles L,

West, Thomas Welch, Joseph Wilson, John G. Weeks, Joseph Wren,

Joseph Wilson (2d), John Williams, Walter H. West, Thomas Wbaley,

John Walker, Peter Wilson, J. Wright, Michael Waters, George Wilson,

John Weed, James T. Wlltiums, F. P. Ward, Joseph Wilson, Joseph

Wentworth, Stephen Warren, Benjamin Waters, Rutiert Wliite, Morris

Welch, Charles Williams, David Wharton, William Yates.

FOBEIGir ENUSTiCENTS.

Badger, Abner, 11th Mass. Inf.

Baker, David, Jr., 1st Nebraska Cav.

Black, Peter W., 9th Mass. Inf.

Bradbury, Edward, 52d Mass. Inf.

Bean, William A., 13th Moss. Inf.

Beard, James, 38th Mass. Inf.

Beckett, William U., 45th Mass. Inf.

Byron, Franklin, 2d Mass. Inf.

Barry, Anthony, U. 3. Array.

Curran, John, U. S. Army.

Cameron, Robert, New York Cav.

Conley, Martin, 14th Mass. Inf.

Conroy, liranciB, N. Y. Cav.

Crosby, Mark, Mass. Regt
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Currin, Ulchael, 23d Maaa. Inf.

Day, Julian, 0. S. Engineora.

Onraa, Peter A., 9tli Slaas. Inf.

Orinkwater, David, 50ch N. Y. Begt.

Dnwian, William, 32d Haas. Inf.

Emery, Frederick W., 7th Kansas Inf.

Fesaenden, Jamee D., on Gen. Howard's ataiT.

Femald, William L., U. S. Engineers.

Floyd, Oharles B., 22d Mass. Inf.

Frost, James H., N. H. Sharpshooters.

Flynn, John,— Haas. Bsgt
Orian, WllUun. XJ. 8. Engineers.

Hogan, Patrick H., N. T. Car.

Lane, Samuel M., 10th N. T. Car.

Marston, Andrew J., V. S. Engineers.

Manning, WlUiam U., 1st Maaa. Bsgt.

Margan, Charles F. 1st Mass. Begt.

Hargan, Robert B., 6th N. Y. Vols.

Marshall, William H., N. Y. Begt
McClaskey, Joseph, 13tb Msss. lit
MoOnire, Arthnr 8., Fremonl's Oorrs, in BHssonri.

Mcf^nghlip, Micbaai, Gen, Corcoran's Brigade.

Miller, James F., aast adjt-gen. on staff of Gen. ghepley.

Mllllken, Frank J., 6th Mass. Inf.

Monohan, John, N. T. Begt,

Morse, Aionco F., 6th N. Y. Begt.

March, George W., 12th Mass. Inf.

Murphy, Daniel, Maaa. Begt.

Noyas, George F., N. T, Begt.

Noyes, Charles H., lat. Mass. Begt.

Noyes, Frank, N, T. Begt,

Matter, Joseph E., 1st Mass. Begt,_

Osgood, Charles H., U. 3. Engineers.

O'Neal, Michael, B. I. Ttegt.

Perkins, Henry W., U. 8. Engineers.

Pearson, Edward H., 23d Haaa. Inf.

Pettenglll, George A, N. Y. Begt.

Bhlne, David H., N. T. Car.

Bnaaell, Frank A., TL Ust.

Shaw, Abnor 0.,—- N. Y. Begt
Shaw, WUIiam B., 6th Haai. Begt
Slater, Bobert, Gen. Corcoran's Brigade.

Simmons, George C, 35th Mass. Inf.

Smith, Amaaa O., 1st Maaa. Begt.

Smith, HoUis B., 40th N. Y. Inf.

Tanner, William H., 12th Mass. Inf.

Tanner, George, 12th Mass. Inf.

Tanner, James, 12th Mass. Inf.

Tamer, Henry K., U. 3. Eaglneera.

BALDWIN.
Bntterfleld, Justin 3., Co. E, 30th Inf. ; man. Dec. 12, 1863 ; disch. at end of war.

Bomell, Thomas A., Co. E, 30th Inf.; must. Dec. 12, 1863; died Sept 18, 1864.

Bamell, Aaron, Co. E, 30tb In£ ; must Dec, 12, 1863 ; disch. at end of war.

Burnell, Appleton N., Co. E, 30th Int ; must Dec. 12, 1863 ; dlach. at end of war.

Brown, Daniel W., Co. A I'^th luf. ; moat. Aug. 18, 1862; q.m, clerk ; missing

in battle. May 12, 1864 : killed at Spottsylvania.

Bnmell, Alpheua, Co. E, 9th Inf, ; must Sept 22, 1861 ; died at Fernandina,

Fla., Jane 2B, 1862.

Bamell, Henry U, Co. I, 8th Inf.; most Sept T, 1861.

Bamell, Melrille C, carp., Co. C, 9th Inf. ; must Sept 2, 1861.

Binford, Thomas G., Co. E, 9th Inf. ; must Sept 22, 1861,

Bnmell, John P,, Co, K, 12tb Inf,; must Sot. 16, 1861; died at New Orleans,

June 26, 1862.

Bachelder, Joeeph S., Co. 1, 17th Inf. ; most. Jan. 16, 1864 ; dlach, Oct 20, 1864.

Bachelder, Sylvanua J., Co. K, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862.

Bachelder, Edward F., Co, I, 30th Inf, ; mnat Jan. 6, 1864 ; died March 25, 1864.

Cousins, William, Co. I, Slat Inf. ; must April 14, 1861 ; died Aug, 26, 1864.

Cram, LeanderE., Co. E, 9th Inf.; must Sept 22, 1861 ; muat. in 30tb Inf. Dec.

12, 1863.

Cram, Andrew P., Co. K, 25th Inl ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch, with company.

Dyer, Osborne, Co, K, 2Sth Inf. ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; discb. with company.

Dearborn, William H., Co. E, 30th Inf.; muat Dec. 12, 1863,

Flint, John W,, Co, A, 17tb Int; muat Aug. 18,1862; pro. oorp. and setgt.

;

disch. Jane 4, 1866.

Flint, Edgar L., Co. E, 30th Inf. ; must. Dec. 12, 1863.

Flint, John C Jr^ Co. E, 30th Inf.; muat Dec. 29, 1863; died at Winchester,

Ta., Jan. 30, 1866.

Foes, Albert M., Co. E, 30th Inf. ; must Dec. 12, 1863.

Garaey, George N., Co. K, 26th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company,

July 10, 1863.

Gnptil, Wlllbim, Co. K, 2fith Inf. ; mast Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company,

licit, Thomas J., Co. D, 9th Inf. ; died at Fortress Monroe, Feb. 23, 1865.

Harding, Henry, Co. K, 21st Inf.; most. Sept 29, 1882; disch. with company.

Mllllken, Nathan S.,Oo. K; 12tb Inf.; must. Nor. 16,1861; died ut New Or-

K^ns, Oct 11, 186:;.

Murch, Alfred B., bugler, (X F, IslC.iv ; ULiiat.lKt. 19, 1861.

Newcomb, Elishs D., Co. D, 9tli liif. ; ili.it at Wiluii gtmi, N. C, Mjircli 27, 1S65.

O^iliorne, Dyer, Co. D, 9t1i Inf. ; died ut Baldwin, Me., .\ug. 2, 1865.

Parkrr, Arthur O, Co.. E, 12th Inf.; must Nor. 20, 1861; disch. Aug. T, 18C2.

Parker, Alexander, Co. D, 2d Inf.; enl. July 2, 1S61.

Parker, James M., Co. H, 5tb Inf.; must June 24, 1861.

Parker, Alonzo F., Co. I, 5th Inf.: must. June 24, 1861.

Pease, Daniel C, Co. B, lat Vet Inf. ; died near Blchmond from wounds, April

2,1865.

Pierce, Alfred, bugler, Co. F, lat Car. ; must Oct. 19, 1861.

Pease, George M., 7th Bat Mounted Art; must. Nor. 15, 1864; disch. with

uominny.

Rounds, Daniel, musician, Co. £, 9tb Inf.; uiiist. Sept 22, 1861.

Boonda, James C, Co. E, 91b Inf. : must. Sept 22, 1861 ; rt^nl. in Co. K, 25th

Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with conipimy.

Bowe, DaTld, Co. E, 9th Inf. ; must Sept 22, 1861.

Bicbardsuu, Aaron, Co. E, 12tli Inf.; must Nov. 15, 1861 ; wounded at Port

Hudson ; died May 28, 1863.

Bichardson, Howard T., Co. E,25tb Inf.; must Sept 20, 1862; disch. with com-

pany.

Bichardson, Amol, Co. E, 30th Inf.; must Jan. 12, 1864.

Bichardson, Albion 8., Co. E, 30th lut; must. Dec. 12, 1863.

Bounds, James A., Co. E, 30th Inf. ; must Dec. 13, 18(13.

Bowe, Frank S., Co. B, 3uth Inf. ; must Dec. 29, 1863 : died Dec. 6, 1864.

Sbaun, WIntbrop H., Co. F, 17lh Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1862; disch. June 16, 1865.

Sawyer, Charloa F., Co. I, 17th Inf. ; must Aug, 18, 1862 ; wounded Nor. 17,

1863 ; dlach. with company.

Sawyer, Onarille, Co. K, 25th Inf. ; muat Sept. 29, 1S62 ; diach. with company.

S|)encer, laaac F., Co. K, 25tb Inf. ; muat. Sept. 29, 1862 ; diach. wltli company.

Stront, Sylreater S., corp., Co. E, 30tb Inf. ; must. Dec. 12, 1863.

Sanborn, Benben, Co. I, 3uth Inf. ; muat. Jan. 6, 1864.

Thomas, Isaac, Cc. K, 25th Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862.

Thora, Bartholomew, Co, K, 25th Inf. ; must Sept, 29, 1862 ; disch. with com-

pany.

Tasmus, Orrin D., Co. F, 11th Int ; must Oct. 27, 1864 ; diach. Oct 26, 1865.

Wentworth; James A., Co. K, 25th Int; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with com-

pany.

Walker, Charles L., Co, I, .SOth Int ; must. Jan. 6, 1864 ; died at Montanza,

La.,Junel9„1864,

Wentworth, Charles N,, most, April 14, 1864 ; wounded May 12..

Wentwortli, Benjamin 0., Co. E, 12th Int ; wounded ; died at Winchester, Va.,

Oct. 20, 1864.

Yates, Cyras, Co. I, 3Ut Int ; died at David's IsUnd, N. Y., Aug. 30, 1864.

FOBEIGV EBUSTHXHTS.
Cram, Ehenezer W., 1st aargt., Co. H, 11th Maaa. Int

Foas, Albert M., 8th Maaa. Int

Gammon, John P., Co, H, 40th N, Y. Int ; died at Alexandria, Va., Feb. 9, 1862.

Lowell, James E., Co. C, 17th Maaa. lut ; died at Baltimore, Md., Feb. 1, 18C2.

Ordway, Daniel, New Hampahire Begt.

Parker, Gardner M., 2d Maaa. Begt.

Bichardson, Almon, 50tb Maaa. Inf.

Bobinson, George, 3d Vermont Begt.

Sanborn, Almou, 50tb Maaa. Inf.

Storer, Johu, Maaa. Kegt.

Wormwood, Samuel, 2d Rhode laland Begt

BRIDGTON.
Bodge, Henry W., musician, Co. 0, 1st Battalion Int ; must. April 5, 1865 ; disch.

Sept 25, 1865.

Bennett, Joseiih L„7th Bat. Mounted Art; must Nov. 15, 1864; dlacli. with

company.

Brown, Oliver, Co. C, 3Ist Int ; must March 23, 1864 ; disch. July 16, 1865.

Brown, Thomas M., Co. B, 33d Int ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. April 24, 1863.

Blake, William J., Co. B, 23d Int; must Sept 29, 1862; diach, with company.
Brackett, Forester C, Co. B, 23d Int ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; died in Maryland,

Dec. 26, 1862.

Barnard, Lnther P., Co. B, 23d Inf.; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; died in Maryland,
Dec. 26, 1862.

Bacon, Marshall A., Co. B, 23d Int ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company,
July 16, 1863 ; re-enl. in Co, F, 30th Inf., as sargt, Jan. 4, 1864 ; disch.

Aug. 20, 1866.

Bennett, J. Loneville, Corp., Co. B, 23d Int; muat. Sept 29, 1862; disch, April

6,1883,

Bennett, Charles, Corp., Co. B, 23d Int; must Sept 29, 1862; reduced, 1862;

disch. with reglmont

Bennett, Charles, Co. D, 19th Int; must. Oct 5, 1864; pro. to 1st Heat; transt

Boston, Nathan P., Co. 1, 1st Int; must May 3, 1861,

Boston, Nathan P,, saddler, Co, I, 2d Cav. ; must Dec, 24, 1863,

Boyd, James, Co. I, 5th Int ; must. Jane 24, 1861.

Bailey, BIchard T., regimental band, 10th Int; mnst Oct. 5, 1861 ; disch. Sep-

tember, 1862,

Buraham, Charles B ., Co, E, 10th Int ; mastOct,4,18Cl,
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BunihiuH, James H., Co. E, 10th Inf.; muat. Oct. 4, 1891.

BIjbee, Robert, Co. I, loth Inf. ; mint. Oct. 4, 1861.

Bacon, MelrilU C, Co. E, 12th Inf.; must. Not. 15, 1861.

Bacon, Charles H., Co. E, 12th Inf.; must. Nov. 15, 1861 ; diach. Nov. 27, 1862.

Bacon, Granville B^Co. E, 12th Inf. ; must. Nov. 15, 1861 ; re-enl. In 12th Me. Bat.

Bnckett, Orin T, Co. E, 12th Inf. ; must. Nov. 15, 1861 ; ilisch. on a writ.

Bailer, George H, Co. H, 10th Inf ; must. Aug. 12, 1862 ; trans, to 29th Slaine

Regt. ; wounded Oct. 19, 1864.

Bailey, Hanhall, Co. H, loth Inf. ; must. .\ug. 12, 1862 ; wounded at Antietam

;

died Sept 28, 1862.

Buswall, Willinm H., Co. 1, 11th Inf. ; must. Aug. 15, 1862 ; disch. Dec. 18, 186:!.

Bumell, Samuel P., Corp., Co. F, 16th Inf. ; must. Aug. 14, 1862 ; wounded June
2, 1864; disch. March 1, 1865.

Barker, Larkin E., Co. F, 16th Inf. ; must. Aug. 14, 1862 ; disch. June, 1865.

Blabee, Robert, Co. F, 30th Inf ; mast. Dec. 29, 1863 ; disch. with company, Aug.

20. 1865.

Bacon, Albert G., Co. F, 30th Inf. ; must. Dec. 29, 1863 ; disch. with company,
Aug. 20, 1865.

Brown, Rufus, 5tb Bat. Mounted Art. ; must Feb. 20, 1864 ; disch. with company.

Btidgham, Daniel C, corp., Co. H, 12th Inf. ; must Match 13, 1866 ; disch. March
16,1866.

Bailey, Alonzo D., Co. B, 12th Inf. ; must. March 13, 1 865 : disch. March 16, 1866.

Bailey, Francis H., Co. H, 12th Inf.; must. March 13, 1865 ; disch. May IS, 186S.

Cross, John B., Co. H, 12th InC ; must. March 13, I860 ; disch. with company.

Clinrcfaill, Algernon H., Co. E, 1st Inf. ; must. May 3, 1861.

Chaplin, Caleb A.^ Co. E, 12th Inf. ; must. Nov. 15, 1861 ; disch. July 15, 1862.

Cross, Moses, Co. G, 12th Inf. ; must. Nov. IS, 1861.

Carter, Edwin, Co. G, 12th Inf.; must. Nov. 15, 1861 ; taken pris. Oct. 19; trans.

to 12th Battalion.

Cobb, Edwin, Co. H, luth Inf; mast. Aug. 13, 1862; wounded at Antietam;

tmi>s. to 29th Begt.

Cleaves, Boyal, Co. F, 16th Inf.; must. Aug. 14, 1862; pro. to hosp. steward,

1864; disch. 1865.

Cross, Aaron, Co. F, 16th Inf ; must. Aug. 14, 1862 ; disch. June 5, 1866.

Cleaves, Henry B., jergt, Co. B, 23d Inf ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ;
pro. to 1st lieut.

Careley, Francis B., Co. B, 2:td Inf; must. Sept. 29, 1362; disch. with company.

Corser, Darwin L., Co. B, 23d Inf ; must. Sept. 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Cole, John H., Ist Bat. Mounted Art.; must. Jan. 4, 1864; disch. with company.

Cole, Levi, Go. E, 12th Inf ; mnst- March 21, 1865 ; disch. with company, March

17. 1866.

Chase, Charles H., Co. H, 31st Inf; must. April 21, 1864; dfsch. Aug. 7, 1865.

Dunn, Charles, Co. B, 23d Inf ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. April ', 18U3.

Damon, Joseph B., Co. I, llth Inf.; must. Aug. 15, 1862.

DougbMS, Richard D., Co. B, 12th Inf ; must. Nov. 15, 1861 ; discli. Oct 11, 1 862.

Dodge, Boyal L., Co. E, 12th Inf ; must Nov. 15, 1861 ; disch. April 11, 1862.

Dodge, Lorenjio, hosp. steward, 15th Inf ; must. Dec. 18, 1861 ;
pro. to asst. surg.

in 1863.

Dalton, Benjamin, Co. F, 16th Inf; must April 14, 1862; wounded Aug. 18,

1864; pro. to Corp. ; disch. June 6, 1865.

Dyer, Christopher B., Co. B, 23d Inf ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Davis, Edward, Corp., Co. F, 30th Inf ; must Dec. 29, 1863 ; disch. Aug. 20, 1865.

Dodge, Charles B., maat. Dec. 29. 1863 ;
pro. to corp.; diach. Aug. 20, 1865.

Dodge, Benjamin, Jr., Co. G, 12th Inf ; muat March 10, 1863 ; trans, to But 10th

Me. Inf

Emerson, Joshua, Co. C, 31at Inf ; muat Match 23, 1864 ;
^Isch. July 15, 1866.

Frye, Albion K. P., 4th Bat. Mounted Art. ; muat Dec. 21, 1891 ; disch. Dec. 311,

1864.

Fitch, Edwin, Co. I, lat Inf ; muat May 3, 1861 ; taken pria. May 25, 1892 ;
pro.

to aergt.

Fitch, Edwin, Co. MOtli Inf; must. Oct 4, 1861.

Fitch, Anaell S, Co. I, 10th Inf; must Oct 4, 1861 ;
pro. to Corp.

Follett, William, Co. 1, 10th Inf ; must Oct 4, 1861.

Fitch, Richard, aergt, Co. H, 12th Inf ; must March 16, 1865 ; disch. with com-

pany. Match 16, 1866.

Gibson, John H., corp., Co. H, 12th Inf; must March 13, 1865; disch. with

company.

GraBam, Charles H., Co. E, 12th Inf ; must Nov. 15, 1861 ; discli. (minor) Nov.

16, 1861.

Grover, Almon, Co. B, 12th Inf ; must Nov. 15, 1861 ; disch. Oct 7. 1862.

Gould, Ass S., Co. I, llth Inf ; must. Aug. 15, 1882 ; pro. to corp. ; died at Mor-

ris Island, Dec. 19, 1863.

Green, George 8., Co. C, 16th Inf. ; must. Sept. 20, 1864 ; disch. June, 1865.

Gammon, Joseph B., Co. B, 23d Inf ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Gibbs, Alvin, Co. B, 23d lut ; most Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with compiiny.

Glinea, Preston M., Co. B, 23d Inf ; muat Sept 29, 1862 : died at Edwarda' Ferry,

Feb. 10, 1S63.

Grover, Almon, Co. F, 30th Inf; veteran ; moat. Dec. 29, 186:1; disch. June 13,

1865.

Grover, Alpheus, Co. F, 30th Inf ; veteran ; must. Dec. 29, 1863 ;
died in rebel

prison, June 18, 1864.

Goidthwalt, Co. C, 31st Inf ; must May 23, 1864 ; disch. July 15, 1866.

Hall, Walter S., Co. H, 12th Inf ; must. March 13, 1865 ; disch. with company.

Harmon, George A., C^. H, 12th Inf ; must. March 13, 18C5 ; disch. with com-

pany.

Harmon, William U, Co. H, 12th Inf ; must March 13, 1865 ; dlach. with com-

pany.

Hale, David, Co. B, 23d lof ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. Jan. 6, 1863.

Harmon, Daniel, Co. B, 23d Inf ; must. Sept, 29, 1892; dlach. witli compuny.

Henry, Benjamin F., Co. B, 9th Inf. ; must. Sept. 4 ; disch. June :4", I^^Oo.

Uolmea, George, Co. H, 5tli Inf; must. June 24, 18GI
;
pro. to hospitiil steward,

1863.

Hanacomb, Cyrua, Co. —, 5th Inf ; must. June 24, 1861.

Hamlin, Algernon H., Co. E, 12tli Inf; must. Nov. 16, 1861 ; disch. April 11,

1862; re-enl. In Co. F, 30tli Inf, Dec. 29, IsCi ; .Il«ch. Oct. 25, 1864.

Hamblln, Molvin, Co. I, llth luf ; mu.it Aug. 10, 1862.

Hilton, Oram, Co. E, 29th Inf ; must Nov. 13, 1863 ; disch. Aug. 22, 1866.

Harmon, George W., Co. I, llth Inf ; must. Aug. 15, 1862.

Hibbard, Orrin B., llth Inf; must .Vug. 15, 1862.

Hazen, Nathan W., 4th Bat Mounted Art. ; uLU.st. Dec. 3, 1864; pro. to corp.

;

disch. with company.

Hughey, Owen, Co. C, 15th Inf ; must Feb. 9, 1863.

Irish, Nathan P., Co. 0, 10th Inf ; must Oct. 5, 1861

.

Ingala, Abel, Co. B, 12th Inf ; muat. Dec. 20, 1861 ; wagoner ; detached 1864.

Jackaon, Isaac N., Co. G, 5th Inf ; muat June 2:1, 1861.

Jordan, Jamea, Co. 0, loth Inf ; muat Oct 4, 1801 ; re-enl. In Co. F, 30th Inf,

Dec. 29, 1863; dbK;h. Aug. 28, 1865.

Johnson, Alvab, Co. 1, 10th Inf ; must Oct. 4, 1861.

Johnson, Daniel, Co. 1, 10th Inf ; must Oct 4, 1861.

Jewett, Oliver D., Co. E, 12th Inf; must Nov. 15, 1861 ; re-«ullsted ; trans, to

Bat 12tli Maine.

Jewett, William H., Co. B, 12lh Inf; must. Nov. 15, 1861 ; disch. March 10,

1863 ; re-enl. in Co. F, 3«th Inf., Dec 29, 1863 ; pro. to corp. ; wounded

AprU 23, 1864; dlach. Aug. 20, 1866.

Johnson, Daniel C, Co. H, 12th Inf; must. March 13, 186.3; diach. with com-

pany.

Johnaon, Alva, aergt., Co. H, 12th Inf. ; must. Miirch 13, 1863; disch. with com-

pany, March 16, 1866.

Jordan, Charles D., Co. H, 12tb Iiif; muat March 13,1866; disch. with com-

pany, March 10, 1860.

Kimball, Stephen E., Co. H. I2tli Iiil.; mnat March 13, 1865; diach. witli com-

pany, March 16, 1866.

Klinball, Robert A., Co. H, 12tli Inf ; must March 13, 1866; dlach. with com-

pany, March 19, 1899.

KimlMll, Abraham, Co. B, 3l8t Inf; must. March 10,1864; disch. Jan. 26,

1866.

Kimball, Frederick A., Co. B, 31st Inf. ; must March 10, 1864 ; dlach. witli com-

pany.

Keen, John A., Co. B, 30tli Inf ; must. March In, 1864 ; disch. May 31, 1866.

Kendall, Robert B., musician, Co. H, 5th Inf. ; muat. June 24, 1891.

Kendall, Joseph F., On. H, 5th Inf.; must. June 24, 1861.

Knight, Samuel, aergt, Co. E, 12th Inf ; must. Nov. 15, 1861.

Kennlatou, Melville, Co. E, 12th Inf; must Nov. IS, 1861.

Kendall, Nathan W., Co. B, 12th Inf; must. Nmv. 15, 1861; pra. to Corp.;

wounded ; trans, to Bat. I2th Maine.

Knight, Joseph, 1st Bat. Mounted Art.; must May 3, 1864.

Knight, John P., lat Bat Mounted Art. ; must May 3, 1864.

Lawrence, Charles W., Co. K, llth Inf; muat. July 30, 1863; died Aug. 6, 1864.

Lamson, Charles 0., Co. C, lat Inf ; must. May .3, 1801 ; discharged ; muat. In

Co. I, llth Inf, Aug. 15, 1802 ; pro. to Corp., aergt., and 2d lieut. ; wouudeil

at Drury's BIuiT, 1864.

Lll.by, William S., Co. C, 10th Inf. ; muat Oct 5, 1S61 ; discharge<l ; must. Aug.

15, 1862, in Co. I, llth Inf
;
pro. to Corp. ; wounded Oct 7, 1864.

Llbby, Elijah, Co. C, 10th Inf ; must. Oct 5, 1861 ; ttan.H. to Co. H.

Lane, Solomon, Co. C, lOtli Inf ; must. Oct. 5, 1861 ; trans, to Co. F.

Llbby, Nathan G., Co. E, 12th Inf ; must. Nov. 16, 1806; died Jan. 2, 1864.

Llttlefleld, Alexander, Co. E, 12th Inf; must Nov. 15, 1865 ; disch. Oct 12,

1866.

Llttlefleld, David M., Co. G, 14tli Inf ; muat Jan. :iO, 1862 ; dlach. for diaability,

1864.

Lord, Charles M., Co. F, 30th Inf ; must Dec. 29, 1863 ; died July 11, 1864.

Lewis, Nelson, Co. F, 30th Inf ; muat Dec. 29, 1863 ; died In rebel priaon, June

12, 1864.

Lewis, Royal B., Co. F, 30th Inf ; must Dec. 29, 1863 ; dlach. May 17, 1865.

Lakln, Parker, Co. 0, 31st Inf ; nmst March 11, 1864 ; dUch. May 18, 1895.

Lane, Jonathan B., 4th Bat. Mounted Art.; must Dec. 3, 1863; dlach. with

company.

Llbby, William 8., Co. C, 29th Inf ; must. Dec. 17, 1863.

McKenney, Charles H., sergt, Co. F, 16th Inf; muat. Aug. 14, 1862; disch.

June 6, 1885.

Morton, George B., 5th Inf ; must June 24, 1861.

Murch, Albert W., Co. I, 10th Inf ; must Oct 4, 1861 ; disch. May 14, 1862.

Merrill, George W^ llth Inf ; mnat October, 1881.

McQee, Jamea D., Co. E, 13lh Inf; must Nov. 15, 1801 ; disch. October, 1864

;

re-enl. Deo. 17, 1865, in Co. C, 29th Inf : diach. Oct. 7, 1865.

McWain, David B., Corp., Co. G, 14th Inf ; must. Dec. 12, 1891.

Martin, Johnaon M., Co. 1, 11th Inf, must. Aug. lo, 1862 ; died at Yorktown,

Nov. 12, 1862.

Mead, John, Co. D, 15th Inf; must Jan. :ll, 1861; pro. to 2d lieut., June 10,

1862.

March, John D., Co. F, ICth Inf.; muat Aug. 14, 1802; disch. June 6, 1866.

Mayo, Gardner D., Co. F, 10th Inf ;
must. Aug. 14, 1862.

McKlnuey, Jamea E., Co. F, 30th Inf; must Dec. 29, 1863; reclaimed by

5th Maine.

March, Joseph N., Co. C, 31at Inf ; muat May 23, 1864 ; disch. July 16, 1866.



432 HISTORY OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

March, John M., Co. H, 12th Inf. ; miut. March 13, 1865 ; diKh. March 16,

18fi«.

Marble, Frederick, Co. H, 31st Inf.; mnit. April 21, 18M; dlich. vltb com-

pany.

Millllun, Edwin C, Co. H,31st lot; mast. Aprtl 21, 18M ; diach. with com-

pany.

Mniiken, Benjamin T., Co.' H, 31>t Inf. ; mnit. April 21, 1864 ; pro. to carp.;

diach. with company.

Newcomb, Lewii S., Co. B, 23d Int; mnst Sept. 29, 1862.

Osborne, Ihomaa, Co. H, 2fith Inf.; mnat. Sept 29, 1862; diich. Jnly 10, 1863,

with company.

Pendextar, Oeorge H., Co. B, 23d Inf ; mnat. Sept. 29, 1862 ; diach. with com-

pany.

Feudexter, Albion W., Co. I, Uth Inf; muat Ang, 16, 1862; pro. to Corp.;

wounded Ang. 16, 1864.

Poor, Bnaaell S., Co. B, 2d Inf ; mna.t. May 28, 1861 ; re-anL in lat Bat. Mounted
Art.

PInmmer, Alphaua, Co. D, 10th Inf; mnat Oct 4, 1861.

Fhelpa, Alrah B., Co. B, 12th Inf ; mnat Not, 15, 1861 ; killed Oct 19, 1864.

Fowen, William B., Co. K, 13th Inf ; mnat. Dec. 28, 1861.

Pike, Chariea E, 6th Bat Mounted Art; muat Dec. 4, 1861 ; diach. with com-

pany.

Poor, Lorenm D., coip., Co. H, 12th Inf ; moat Ibrch 13, 1864 ; dlich. with

company.

Pratt, Albert H., Co. M, 3l8t Inf; muat Oct 18, 1864; diach. June 22, 1866.

Pendexter, Nathan H., Co. C, 9th Inf; muat Sept 20, 1864; diach. June 30,

1866.

Phelpa, Angnatua L., Co. C, 9th Inf ; mnat Sept 20, 1864 ; diach. Feb. 9, I86S,

by ftamiahing a aubatitnte.

Qolncy, Nathaniel H.. Co. C, 9th Inf; mnat Sept 20, 1864; diach. June 30,

1866.

Qnlncy, William S., Co. 0, 9th Inf; mnat Sept. 20, 1864; diach. June 30, 1866.

Qnincy, Nathaniel B., Co. B, 23d Inf ; must Sept 29, 1862; diadi. with com-

pany.

Bobinaon, Stephen, Co. T, 30th Inf ; must. Dec. 29, 1863 ; Teteran ; diach. with

company.

Bonnda, Edward O., Co. B, 23d Inf ; muat Sept 29, 1863 ; disch, with company.

Bobinaon, Stephen, Co. G, 5th Inf ; mnst June 23, 1861.

Band, Ellslia P., 5th Inf ; muat June 24, 1861 ; died at PhiUdelphia, Pa.,

March, 1862.

Band, John, 6th Inf ; mnat. June 24, 1861 ; diach. Jane IT, 1862.

Biley, Ephraim B., Co. E, 12th Inf ; muat Not. 15, 1861 ; pro. to corp.

Bldlon, Almon B., Co. F,30th Inf; muat Dec. 29, 1863; died Not 11, 1864.

Biley, Beuben M., Co. 0, 29th Inf ; mast Jan. 1, 1864 ;
pro. to 1st sergt.

Biley, Charles K., Co. C, 29th Inf ; mast Jan. 5, 1884 ; disch. June 16, 1865.

Bidlon,Thomae,Co. B, Slat Inf. ; must April 21, 1864; prisoner in 1864 ; disch.

June 16, 1866.

Shaw, John, Co. 0, 12th Inf; mnat March 10, 1864; trans, to Bat 12th Maine.

Sawyer, James S., Co. V, 30th Inf ; must. Dec. 29, 1863 ; died In rebel prison,

Ang. 8, 1864.

SteTena, Banaom S., Co. F, 30th Inf; must. Dec. 29, 1863; died of wounds,

April 24, 1864.

SteTena, John, Co. F, 30th Inf; must Deo. 29, 1863; died Aug. 27, 1864.

Simpson, Albion L., Co. E, 12th Inf; mast Not. 15; 1861; trana. to Bat 12th

Maine.

Scott, SUaa, Co. I, 5th Inf ; mnat Deo. 9, 1861 ; disch. March 7, 1862.

Scrlbner, Francia W., Co. 1, 11th Inf; mast Ang. 15, 1862.

Spiller, Qeoige B., Co. I, Uth Inf ; muat Ang. IS, 1862 ; killed July 23, 1864.

Stone, Maxahall B., Co. 1, 11th Inf. ; muat Ang. 16, 1862 ;
pro. to corp. ; wounded

May 17, 1884.

Small, Edgar W., Co. B, 23d Inf ; muat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Simpaon, Benjamin, Co. B, 23d Inf ; muat Sept 29, 1862.

SteTena, Bimaom A, Co. B, 23d luf ; moat Sept. 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

SteTena, Bufua A, Co. B, 23d Inf ; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

StoTer, Albion K. P., lat Bat Mounted Art.; muat Jan. 4, 1864; taken pris-

oner In 1864.

StoTcr, Samaon B., lat Bat. Mounted Art. ; must March 3, 1864 ; diach. with

company.

Stone, MelTille C, lat Bat Mounted Art. ; muat Jan. 4, 1864; diach. with

company.

Sanborn, William B., Co. B, lat Inf; muat. Hay 3, 1861.

Sanborn, William B., Co. E, 10th Inf ; mnat Oct. 4, 1861.

Thorn, John O., Co. 1, 10th Inf; muat Oct 4, 1861; taken prlaoner at Cedar

Mountain ; exchanged ; re-enl. in Co. F, 30th Maine, Dec. 29, 1863

;

wounded April IS, 1864 ; trana. to Vet Bea. Curpa.

Thome, William B., Co. F, 17th Inf; muat Aug. 18, 1862; disch. June 4, 1866.

Thorn, Edwiii, Co. F, 30th Inf.; mnat Deo. 29, 1863; taken prisoner in 1864;

exchanged.

Tmmble, Sliaa B., Co. C, Slat luf ; must March 23, 1864; diach. for wounds,

Jas 11, 1865.

Wiley, John K, Co. 0, 1st Int; muat.May 3, 1861.

Webb, Oagood B., regimental band,. 10th Inf ; mnat. Oct. 4, 1861 ; diach. Sep*

tember, 1862.

Webb, Edward C, regimental band, 10th Inf ; muat Oct 5, 1861 ; diach. Sep-

tember, 1862.

Webb, John T., regimental band, 10th Inf; muat Oct 5, 1861; diach. Sep- .

tember, 1862.

Wiley, John N., wagoner, Co. C, 10th Inf ; mnat Oct 5, 1861.

Weymouth, Samuel, Co. C, 10th Inf; muat Oct 6, 1861.

Weymouth, George, Co. C, 10th Inf ; muat Oct 6, 1861.

Winn, Francia, Co. I, Uth Inf ; muat Aug. 16,1862; wounded June 2, 1864;

detached In Maine.

Willlama, John, Co. O, leth Inf; mnat Not. 2, 1864.

Winn, John A., Co. B, 23d Inf; mnst Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company;

re-enl. In Co. F, 3ath InC ; pro. to corp. ; disch. Aug. 20, 1866.

Warren, CalTln, lat Bat Mounted Art. ; muat Jan. 4, 1864 ; diach. May 26, 1864.

Warren, George A., musician, 1st Bat. Mounted Art ; must Jan. 4, 1864 ; disch.

with company.

Webb, Edward S., Co. I, %th Inf ; mnst. Dec. 1 8, 1863 ; disch. with company.

Webb, laaiah S., Co. I, 30th Inf; mnat Dec. 19, 1863; diach. with company.

Webb, John T., Co. I, 30th Inf ; mnat Dec. 19, 1863 ; disob. with company.

FOBEIOK EHLMTlCeirTB.

Brown, Samuel H., U. S. NaTy.

Carter, Anatin, Uth Masa. InC

Clondmas, John,— Maaa. Re£t
DaTia, Alonxo, -— Maaa. Begt
Bichardson, Albion P., -<— N. B. Begt
Olbha, John 8., V. S. Amy.
Stone, HelTlile O, 9th aiaas. Int

BRUNSWICK.
Alexander, Lonnio, Co. K, 12th Inf ; must Not. 16, 1861.

Alexander, Asa J., Co. B, 9th Inf ; mnat Sept 22, 1861 ; re-enl. Jan. 1, 1864.

AUen, WiUiam B., Co. K, 6th Inf ; mnat July 16, 1861.

Allen, Benry, 4tta Mounted Art. ; muat Dec. 21, 1861.

Alexander, William H., 4th Mounted Art: muat. Dec. 21, 1861.

Allen, William, Co. F, Uth Inf; must. Dec. 12, 1861 ; died at Penaacola, Fla.,

Blarch 12,-1863.

Allen, Charlea, Co. G, Uth Inf ; must Jan. 21, 1862.

Allen, Charlea, Co. K, 20th Inf; most Ang. 29, 1862; pro. to corp., to aergt,

and lat aergt ; disch. 1864.

Allen, Hoees, Jr., Co. K, 20th Inf ; must Aug. 29, 1862 ; died March 13, 1863.

Adama, Alphonzo A., Co. D, 25th Int; mnat Sept 29, 1862.

Alexander, Martin, Co. D, 26th Int; mnat. Sept 29, 1862.

Andrews, John, Co. D, 25th Int; muat.,Sept 29, 1862.

Berry, Charlea S., Co. D, 25th Int; muat Sept 29, 1862.

Bishop, Isaac M., Jr., Co. O, 25th Inf ; most Sept 29, 1862.

Bickford, George B., trana. to Inralld Corps, 1863.

Blckford, John F., Co. K, 20th Inf; must Aug. 29, 1862; died at Behiy Bouse,

Md., Not. 1, 1862.

Bailey, Jamea B., Corp., Co. F, 15th Int; must. Dec 12, 1861.

Bailey, Stephen J., Co. F, I5th InC ; must Dec. 12, 1861 ;
pro. to corp. ; taken

prisoner, April 23, 1864.

Bennett, George E., Co. B, 9th Inf ; mnst Sept 22, 1861 ; disch. June 31, 1864.

Bennett, James B., Co. B, 9th Inf ; must Sept 22, 1861 ; disch. Sept 22, 1864.

Berry, Emery, Co. B, 9th Inf ; mnat Sept 22, 1861 ; diach. Sept 22, 1864.

Bhuden, Andrew M., Co. B, 9th Inf ; muat Sept 22, 1861 ; diach. April 23, 1862.

Blaiadell, James, Corp., Co. D, 5th Inf ; mnat. June 24, 1861 ; diach. 1864.

Bailey, Jamea B., Co. E, 6th Inf ; muat June 24, 1861 ; disch. Oct 3, 1861.

Barnea, William, Co. K, let CaT. ; mnat Not. 2, 1861.

Blaiadell, Amos, sergt, Co. B, 30th Int; must Jan. 12, 1864; Teteran; trana. to

Co. 0.

Brown, William A., mnaidan, Co. D, Tth Int ; mnst Aug. 22, 1861.

Brown, Franklin, Co. I, 8th Inf ; muat Sept 7, 1861 ; taken on habeas corpus.

Sept 9, 1861.

Brown, William A., mnaidan, 1st Tet Int ; most Dec 14, 1863; disch. Ang. 7,

1864.

Benton, Joseph, 1st Yet Int; must. Jan. 14, 1666; dropped from rolls.

Cnshman, George W., Co. K, Uth Int ; must Aug. 26, 1862.

Crockett, Bichard, 1st aergt, Co. K, 19th Int; must Aug. 26, 1862; pro. to 2d

lient and lat lleut.. May 31, 1863.

Corbett, Jamea B., Co. F, Uth Int ; muat Jan. 21, 1862 ; re-enl. Jan. 26, 1864.

Collin, Thomaa F., Cu. F, Uth Int ; mnat Jan. 12, 1862 ; t«-enl. Jan. 26, 1864.

Coffin, Simeon CCo.'F, Uth Int; mnat Jan. 22, 1862; pro. to Corp.; diach.

Feb. 6, 1862.

Contson, Beuben C, Co. B, 9th Int; must Sept 22, 1861 ; re-enL Jan. 1, 1864

;

pro. to aergt

Card, Lewia B., Co. B, 3d Int ; muat June 4, 1861.

Cram, Nelaon P., aergt, Co. K, Uth Int ; mnat. Not. 2, 1861.

Corbett, Alfted, Corp., Co. F, Uth Int ; must Dec. 26, 1861 ; pro. to aergt ; re-enl.

January, 1864.

Corbett Bobert B., Co. F, Uth Int ; mnat Deo. 17, 1861 ; re-enl. January,

1864; diach. for disabiUty.

Coombs, Benjamin F., Co. F, Uth Int ; must. Dec 19, 1861, drummer ; died at

Brazca, Texas, Not. 16, 1663.

Cobom, Enoch, Co. F, Uth Inf ; mnat Dec. 12, 1861 ; pro. to carp., 1863 ; re-

enl. January, 1864.

Couraon, John L., Go. F, Uth Int ; mnat Dec 12, 1861 ; pro. to. Corp. ; died at

Bimsos, Texas, Deo. 11, 1863.

Cooper, CalTln, Co. F, Uth Int ; must Dec 12 1861 ; diseh. for disability, 1864.
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CulBn, John, Co. F, llth Inf.; innst. Dik:.12, 1801.

Cliirk, George H., Co. K, Tth Inf. ; iiiiiat. Aug. 21, 1801.

Coffin, llcilry B., Co. B, OtU Inf.; must. SBpt.2i, 1801 ; re-eul. Jan. 1, 1861; pro.

to Corp.

Colby, Corni-lius, Co. B, 9th Inf.; nitut. Sept. 22,1861.

Coombs, David E., Corp., Co. B, »th Inf.; must. Sept. 22, 1801
;
pro. to sergt. and

latMrgt., 1803; diwh. Sept. 2-1, 1804.

Corbett, George L., muaiolan, Co. B, 9th Inf.; mnat. Sept. 22, 1801 ; re-«nl. Jan.
1, 1304.

Cobbett, Alfred L, Co. D, 5th Inf. ; must. Juno 24, 1801 ; disoh. Oct. .1, 1601.

Colby, John P., Co. D, 5th Inf.; must. June 24, 1801 ; dl«ch. with company.
Coffin, Simeon, Co. D, 6th Inf.; must June 24, 1801 ; diach. Sept. 8, 180i.
Coffin, Jamea W., Co. D, 5lh Inf.; must. June 24, 1801.

Croswell, Jiimes, Co. D, 6th luf. ; must. June 24, 1801.

Clarlt, ainton G., Co. F, 5th Inf. ; must. Juno 24, 1801.

Cobb, Joaeph, Co. D, 25th Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1802 ; died Jan. 20, 1803.
Colby, HarriaoD, Co. D, 2Jth Inf. ; iiiu.it. Sept 29, 1802.

Cooniba, Joseph E., Co. D, 25th Inf.; must. Sept. 29, 1862.

Colby, Amos H., Co. H, 3Utb Inf. ; must. Jan. 6, 18*4 ; died at Uorganzia, La.,

June 24, 1864.

Cooper, Calvin, Co. H, 30th Inf. ; must Jan. 6, 1864 ; dlacli. June 10, 1864.

Colby, Cornelius, Co. F, 1st Car.; must. Oct. 2U, 1864.

Cuaaeli, Bobsrt, Co. D, JiX Sharpahootera; must. Feb. 22, 1864; trans, to 17th
Maine Begt.

Doughty, Isaac, Oo. D, 5th luf.; nmat. June 24, 1861 ; killed in battle. May 10,

1864.

Dunhtp, Charles L., Co. D, 5th Inf. ; muat. June 24, 1861.

Dunning, OrUndo, Co. D, Dth Inf.; must. June 24,1801; re-enl. 1802; dlsch.

with company.

Donney, Joaeph, Co. B, 9th luf. ; must Sept. 22, 1861 ; taken prisoner, Jnly 11,

1863.

Doughty, Oliver, Corp., Co. B, 9th Inf.; muat. Sept. 2-2, 1861; diach. June 3,

1864.

DougUtey, Harvey M., Co. B, 9th Inf.; must. Sept. 22, 1861 ; re-enl.
;

pro. to

sergt.

Doughtey, G«orge E., Co. B, 9th Inf.; must. Sept. 22, 1861; re-enl.; taken

prisoner, July 30, 1864.

Duolap, Martin, Co. B, Tth luC; must. Aug. 21, 1801.

Dunning, Bobert A., Co. K, Tth Inf. ; must. Aug. 21, 1361.

Dunning, Horace, Co. D, Tth Inf. ; must. Aug. 22, 1861.

Dyer, George M., Co. K, 0th luf.; must. July 15, 1861; diach. witli company,

Aug. 15, 1864.

Dunning, Henry P., sergt, Co. F, 15th Inf.; must. Dec, 12, 1861; reduced by

request to be acting hospital steward ; disch. Jan. 19, 1865.

Dunning, Edward U., Corp., Co. U, 13th Inf. ; must. Dec. 10, 1861.

Dnrgin, James T., Co. F, 15th Inf. ; must. Feb. 4, 1862; re-enlisted ; disch. for

disabiilly.

Dennison, Benjamin L., sergt , Co. D, 25th Inf.; must. Sept. 29, 1802 ; diach.

April 21, 1863.

Dana, Victor, Co. D, 25th Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862.

Denoiaon, John, Co. D, 25th lot; must. Sept 29, 186i.

Drummond, Charles W., Co. D, 25th Inf. ; muat Sept 29, 1862.

Dunning, Alfred J., Co. D, 25th Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1802.

Dolley, George M., Co. E, 30th Inf.; must Dec. 12, 1863; died April 30, 1364.

Dunning, Horace E., Co. E, 30th Inf. ; must Dec. 12, 1863.

Dana, Victor, Co. E, 30th Inf. ; mnat Dec. 12, 1863.

Doughty, John H., Co. H, 30th Inf. ; inuat Jan. 0, 1864; trana to Co. 6.

DeCoven, Joaeph S., Co. D, 2d Begt Sliarpahootera ; must Feb. 22, 1864 ; trans.

to ITth Maine Begt

Eaton, Alfred I., Co. U, 30th Inf. ; must Jan. 6, 1864; prisoner, April 20; trans.

to Co. D.

Eaton, Alfred, Co. D, 30th Inf. ; must Jan. 6, 1804 ; taken prisoner April 9, 1864

;

exchanged,

Eaatbrook, George S , Co. D, 20th Inf.; miut Sept 29, 1862.

Eaton, Alouzo J., Co. 0, 15tb Inf. ; must. Jiin. 14, 1862 ; dlsch. Jan. 19, 1865.

Eaatrrbrook, George S., Co. I, 8th Inf. ; must. Oct 10, 1863 ; wounded May 20,

1864.

Eaton, Edward B., Co. B, 9th Inf. ; muat Sept. 22, 1801.

Eaton, George L., Co. D, Tth Inf. ; muat Aug. 22, 1861 ; diach. April 10, 1864
;

re-enl. In 29th Veterans.

Eaton, Alfred J., Co. F, 5th Inf. ; muat. June 24, 1864.

French, John U., Corp., Co. D, 5th Inf. ; must June 24, 1S04.

Few, Bobert, Co. D, 5th Inf. ; must June 24, 1801 ;
pro. to Corp., Sept 1 ; disch.

with company.

Fuller, Joseph, Co. F, 5th Inf. ; must June 24, 1861; pro. to Corp., Nov. 8, 1861.

Fuller, Alfred, Co. O, 6tli Inf. ; must July 16, 1861.

Field, Charles W., Co. C, 9lh Inf. ; muat Sept. 22, 1861.

Foy, Edwin, Co. B, 9th Art. ; muat Sept. 22, 1861 ; diach. A|iril 11, 1862.

Foy, Edwin, Co. K, 20th Inf.; must Aug. 29, 1862
;
pro. to Corp.

Freeman, Willbun E., Co. B,9th Inf.; must. Sept. 22, 1861 ; disch. Sept. IT, 1864.

Fuller, Darid, Co. B, 9th Inf. ; muat. Sept. 22, 1861 ; re-enl. ; pro. to corp.

Fuller, Alonzo H., Co. D, 6th Inf. ; must. Sept. 16, 1862
;
pro. to corp. ; dlsch.

April 10, 1864.

Fuller, Joaeph D., Corp., Co. K, 20th Inf. ; mnat. Aug. 29, 1862; pro. to aergt. and

to 2d lient.

Fuller, Alfred A., Co. E, lat Vet. Inf. ; muat Dec. 23, 1363; diach. for disability,

Jan. 20, 18G4.
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Gerrish, EdivarJ F., Co. D, 2olli Int.; muat. Sept. 29, 1862.

Goud, Charlea, Co. E, 30tli Inf. ; nimt. Dec. 12, 1861.

Goldaniith, Charles B., veteran, .loth Inf. ; niiiat. Dec. 12, 180-1.

Gnmt, Miirehall, Co. H, Snth Inf.; must. Jan. 0, 1SC4; trans, to Co. G.

Graves, Alplieiia M., must. Aiig.2.i, 1602.

Getchell, JoliTi E., Co. F, 15th Inf. ; must. Dec. 31, ISO! ; trana. from Co. I ;
pro.

to Corp.; left aick at Fortress Moni-oe wlien company wua discharged.

Getchell, E.T., Co, K, lat Cav. ; muat. Nov. 2, 1801.

Getchell, Joslah, Co. K, 1st Cav. ; must. Nov. 2, 1861,

Griffin, Charles II., 4tll Mounted Art; muat Dec. 21, 1801;di.?cb. Dec, 21, 1804.

Getchell, Joalina, Corp., Co. P, loth Inf. ; muat Dec. 12, 1801.

Getchell, Roawell, Co, F, 15th Inf; must, Dec, 12, 1801; died at Ship Island,

May 21, 1802,

Griffin, Timothy, Co, F, 15th Inf,; mu.st Dec, 12, 1801.

Growse, George Thomas, wagoner, C '. F, loth Inf.; must Dec. 17, 1801 ; discli.

Jan. 19, 1865.

Getcliell, Jesse H,, musician, Co. B, 9lh Inf. ; must Sept 22, 1801 ; disch. Feb.

8, 1802.

Goldsmitli, Charles B., Co. D, 5th Inf ; must. Juna 24, 1801.

Hutchinson, Albion D., sergt., Co. D, otii Inf. : must Juno 24, 1801,

Harmon, Ge<irge L,, musician, Co, D, 5th Inf. ; must. June 24, 18G3 ; diach, June
27, 1803,

Hodadon, Daniel B,, Co, D, 5th Inf, ; muat, June 24, 1801 ;
pro, to corp,, June 23,

Hammond, George L,, muaician, 5th Inf.

Hoole, Th.imas G., Co, I, 8th Inf, ; must. Sept, 1, 1861.

Hodadon, William B., Co, D, Tth Inf. ; must. Aug. 22, 1861

,

Hammond, Henry W,, Co, F, 15th Inf, ; must Dec, 12, 1661
;
pro. to corp,; pro.

to aergt. ; disch, Jan. 19, 1366,

Harmon, Albert, Co, F, lotli Inf, ; mu.st Dec, 1 2, 1801 ; disch, for disability ; died

at home,

Hyde, Bobert, Co, B, 3d Inf, ; must, Octoljer, 1661 ; wouuded ut Fair Oaks; disch.

Feb, 15, I80;<,

Howes, J. F., Co. K, 1st Cav. ; must Nov. 2, 1801.

Hammond, David N., Co. F, 15tb Inf.; must. Dec. 31, 1801; trans, from Co, I;

disch, July 19, 1805,

Harmon, Joaeph, Co. F, 1.5th Inf. ; muat. Dec. 31, 1>S01 ; trana. from Co. I ; re-cni.

Jan. 25, 1664
;
pro. to coi-p.

Hinkinson, Algernon W., Corp., Co. K, 20th Inf; must Aug. 29, 1S62; disch.

March 13, 1803.

Harding, Charles W., Co. D, 25th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862.

Harmon, George A., Co. D, 2.5tli Inf. ; muat Sept 29, 1802.

Harmon, John,' Co. D, 25th Inf. ; muat. Sept 29, 1802.

Haskell, George W., Co. D, 2.'ith Inf. ; must. Sept 29, 1802.

Hiiskell, George F., Co. D, 25th Inf. ; must. Sept 29, 1802.

Hill, Charles H., Co. D, 26tll Inf. ; muat Sept. 29, 1662.

House, Lorenzo D, Co. D, 25tli Inf. ; most. Sept 29, 1862.

Hunt Benjamin S , Co. D, -ISth Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862.

Hersey, Hiram D., Co. F, 29th Inf ; never mustered.

Hodsdon, Daniel B., Corp., Co. F. 29th Inf. ; must Dec. 12, 1863 ; trana. to Navy
May 1, 1864.

Harmon, George A., Co. F, 29th Inf.; must Dec. 12, 1863.

Harmon, John, Co. F, 29tli Inf. ; muat Dec. 12, 1863.

Harmon, William C, Co. F, 29tli Inf.; muat Doc. 12, 1803.

Haskell. George W., Co. P, 29lh Inf. ; muat. Dec. 12, 1803.

Johnson, Cluirles B , Co. K, lat Cav. ; must Nov. 2. 1801.

Joyce, Lawrence S , capt., Co. F, 15th Inf. ; muat. Dec. IT, 1861.

Johnaon, Samuel L., Co. D, 5th Inf.; must. June 24, 1S61.

Keay, John H., Co. D, 5th Inf.; must June 24, 1861.

Lunt, William H., Co. I, 8th Inf. ; muat Sept T, 1861.

Lyons, John E. M., Corp., Co. F, 15th Inf. ; muat Dec. 12, 1861 ; disch. Aug. 17,

1662; died at New fork.

Loe, Charles, Co. F, 15th Inf.; muat. Dec. 12, 1S61 ; disch. July 21, 1862.

Lake, Osborne, Co. F, 15th Inf.; must, Dec. 12, 1861.

Lemont, Adam, Co, K, 3d Inf. ; must, June 4, 1861.

Luber, John, Co. F, 15th Inf. ; must, Jan, 1, 1802 ; dlsch. Jan, 19, 1865,

Lewis, James II,, Co, K, 19th Inf,; must, Aug, 25, 1862; killed at Gettysburg,

Liliby, A. J,, Co, D, 25tU Inf, ; must Sopt 29, 1862.

Lunt, William H., Co, D, 23th Inf, ; must Sept, 29, 1862.

Lubee, Levi, Co, H, 30th Inf, ; must, Jan, 6, 1664 ; trans, to Co. O.

LInscott, Jas, E., Co. H, 3Utli Inf.; muat Jan. 6, 1664; died June 22, 1864.

Lunt Lowia H., sergt., Co. D, 5th Inf. ; must June 24, 1361.

Lubee, William, Co. D, 5tU Inf. ; muat. June 24, 1861 ; diach, with company,

McAllister, William B., Corp., Co. B, 5th Inf, ; must, June 24, 1361.

Moody, William C, Corp., Co. D, 5th Inf,; muat June 24, 1864,

McClay, Thomas, Co, D. 5th Inf,; muat, June 24, 1861.

Manning, Stephen H., q.m. aergt., lat Inf.; muat. May 3, 1861.

Miller, Samuel, Co. D, 5th Inf.; muat June 24, 1361 ; diach. Aug. 1, 1861.

Morrill, James W., Co. K, lat Cav. ; must Nov. 2, 1861.

Merrill, Albert 0., Co. K, lat Cav. ; must Nov, 2, 1861,

McDonald, Michael, must Deo. 12, 1661 ; died at New Orieans, Oct, 17, 1863.

Moony, Nicholas, Co. C, 31st Inf.; must March 23, 1864; disch. May 19, 1865.

Mitchell, Cbas. B., Co. F, 15tb Inf. ; must Feb. 24, 1862 ; diach. Sept 21, 1864.

Moody, Jamea, Co. B, 7tli Inf.; must. Aug. 21, 1861.

Moody, Alonzo, Co. B, 9th Inf.; must. Oct 6, 1861.

Malidy, Jus., Co. F, 15lh Inf. ; muat Dec. 17, 1861 ; re-euL Jan. 26, 1864.

Miigee, Joseph, Co. F, 15th Inf. ; muat. Dec. 12, 1861.

Miller, Samuel, Co. F, 15th Inf.; must Deo. 12, 1861.
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ililchrll, Charlea B., Co. F, loth InC ; must. Deo. 12, I86I ; disch. Sept. 21, 1864.

McDonougta, Micharl, Co. F, 15tli Inf. ; miut. Dec. 12, 1801.

Mocrr, Geo. W., 4th Mounted Art. ; mnaL Dec. 21, 1861.

Morae, John, Co. B, Ist Cut. ; miut. Ang. 18, 1862 ; detached 1364 ; dlach. Dec.

20,1864.

McLain, Thomaa B., Co. K, 20th Int ; Diaat Ang. 29, 1862 ; pro. to corp.

Miller, William, Co. D, 2Sth Inf. ; moat. Sept 29, 1862.

Nada, Daniel H., wagoner, Co. D, 25th Inf.; miiat. Sept. 20, 1862.

Noyea, Charles J., aergt., Co. D, 25th Inf. ; miut. Sept 29, 1862.

Neall, Enoch F., Co. K, 20th In t. ; most Aug. 29, 1862 ; pro. to Corp. and aergt

;

dlach. 1864.

Nojres, Charles F., coip.. Go. A, 11th Inf.; maat Not. T, 1861.

Noyea, Frank, Co. A, 11th Inf.; mnst Not. 7, 18G1.

Owen, Jirea -W., Jr., aergt., Cu. D, 5th Inf. ; must. June 24, 18G1 ; discb. Aug.

20, 1861.

Owen, Jeremiah, Jr., 4th Uonnted Art; most Dec. 21, 1861.

Prindle, William, Co. F, 10th Inf. ; must Oct 4, 1861.

Pollan], Joseph H., Co. I, 8th In£ ; mnst Sept. 7, 1861.

Potter, William S., Co. B, 9th Inf.; must. Sept 22, 1861 ;
pro. to Corp.; killed

JnlJ 23, 1804.

Proctor, Warren, Co. K, 19th lot; must Ang 25,1862; wounded at Gettys-

burg.

Perkins, Charles J., oorp., Co. D, 25th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1863; pto. to aergt

Parker, anataTna, Co. D, 2Sth Inf.; mnst Sept 29, 1863.

Pollard, William P., Co. D, 25th luf. ; most Sept 29, 1863.

Prince, Henry K., Co. D, 25th Inf. ; mnat. Sept 29, 1863.

Pierce, EliHS D., Corp., Co. D, 25th Inf. ; mnat Sept 29, 1863.

Pollard, William P., Co. E, 30tb Inf.; mnst Dec. 12, 1863 ; died July 2, 1864.

Pollard, Nathaniel, Co. E, 30th Inf.; mnst Dec. 12, 1863; wonnded April 9,

1864 ; died a prisoner in April.

Polfatrd, Bliaha, Co. £, 30tb Inf.

Pierce, Eliaa D., Te;eran, Co. £, 30th Inf.; pro. to com. aergt

Blcliitcds, Joseph 0., carp., Co. D, 25th Inf. ; mnst gept 29, 1862.

Boberts, Charles C, musician, Co. B, 7tb Inf. ; must Aug. 21, 1S61.

Backliffe, Nathaniel, Co. D, 5th Inf. ; mnat June 24, 1861.

Bobinaun, John A., Co. H, 301b Inf. ; muat Jan. 6, 18G4 ; killed in action, April

23,1864.

Stanwood, Franklin, Co. D, 2d Sharpahooteis ; mnst Feb. 24, 1864; missing in

battle. May 6, 1864.

Stanwood, DaTid A., Co. D, 25lh Inf.; mnat Sept. 29, 1862.

Swett, Eben, Co. D, 2Sth Inf. ; muat Sept 29, 18G2 ; discb. Dec. 10, 1862.

Swett, Samuel, Co. D, 25th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862.

Stone, George E., Co. D, 26tb Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862.

Stone, George E., sergt., Co. E, 30th Inf. ; mnst Dec. 12, 1863; wounded J^pril

23, 1861; trans, to Vet Bee. Corps.

Snwyer, George A., Corp., Co. E, 30th Inf.; mnat Dec. 29, 1863 ; died Dec. 26,

1864.

Sawyer, James, Co. E, 30th Inf.; mnst Dec. 29, 1863; died March 24, 1864.

Sawyer, James S., Co. E, 30th Inf. ; mnat Dec 29, 1863; died May 18, 1B64.

Strout, Joseph W., Co. H, 30th Inf.; mnst Jan. 6, 1864: trans, to Co. A.

Smith, Henry 3. B., Co. C, 32d Inf. ; must. March 23, 1864 ;
pro. to asst surgeon.

May 6, 1864.

Strout, Charles W., Co. D, 5lh Inf. ; mnst June 24, 1861 ; trans, to InTilid

Corps, September, 1862.

Stone, Charles E., Co. D, 5tb Inf.; mnat June 24, 1861 ; dlach. Oct 3, 1861.

Smith, Jefferaon, Co. D, 5th Inf ; mnst. Jnne 24, 1861 ; trans, to InTalid Corps,

Feb. 16, 1864.

Stimpaon, Warren, Co. I, 8th Inf. ; muat Sept 7, 1861 ; disch. 1861.

Stluchfleid, Charles E.. Co. I, 8th Inf.: mnst. Sept 7, 1861.

Small, Lemuel C, Corp., Co. B, 7th Inf.; mnst Aug. 21, 1861 ; pro. to selgt

Smith, MelTille,.Co. K, 19th Inf. ; mnst Aug. 25, 1862 ; disch. Jnne 6, 1865.

Stilkey, Andrew J, Co. A, 20th Inf.; must. Feb. 10, 1865; disch. July, 1865.

Stinison, William B., sergt, Co. D, 25th Inf.; muat Sept 29, 1862.

Sawyer, George A., aergt, Co. D, 25th Inf. ; must. Sep*. 29, 1862.

Sawyer, WlUijim H., Co. D, 25th Inf.; most. Sept 29, 1862.

Simpeon, Willhim B., Co, D,2Sth lat; must Sept 29, 1862.

Snow, MrlTln S., Co. D, 26th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862.

Snow, Ablier F... musician, Co. D, 25th luf., mnst Sept. 29, 1862.

Shepherd, Marcellns N., Co. D, 3d Inf. ; must Ang. 18, 1863 ; trans, to 17th luf,

1864.

Smith, James, 4th Mounted Art. ; mnst Dec. 21, 1861.

Smith, Jeremiah, Co. F, 15th Inf.; mnat. Dec. 12, 1861 ; dlach. for disability;

died at New Orleana, Feb. 19, 1864.

Strout, Bobert P., Co. F, 16tb Inf. ; mnst Dec 12, 1861 ; dlach. July 21, 1862.

Tarr, John, Cu. F, l^th Int.; muat Dec. 12, 1861; died at Brazos Island,

Texas, Not. 1, 1883.

Thompson, Simon B., Co. F, ISth Inf. ; mnst Dec 17, 1861.

Thayer, Fhinney H., Co. B, 9th Inf.; mnst Sept 22, 1861 ; sent to Fort Pnlasid,

1863.

Thompson, Albert V., 4th Mounted Art. ; most Dec. 21, 1861.

Toothaker, Iiert, Co. F, 1st CaT. ; must Oct 19, 1861 ; pro. to Corp. ; detached,

1863.

Toothaker, Seih, Co. F, loth Inf. ; mnst.Jan. 1, 1862; re.enllste<l.

Toothaker, George A , Co. K, 20th Inf; mnnt. Ang. 29, 1862.

Toothaker, William U., Co. D, 25lh Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862.

Thum, John F., Co. K, 20th Inf. ; mnst Ang 29, 1862 ; discb. Jnne 15, 1865.

Town, A. M., Co. K, 20th Inf. ; must. Aug. 29, 1862 ; died In prison at Richmond.

Thoniaa, Benjamin C, Co. H, 31st Inf. ; muat April 21, 18M ; disch. July 31,

186.5

Thomas, William B., Co. B, 31st Inf. ; mnst April 21, 1864.

Tickery, Albert, Co. D, Sth Inf.; must. June 24, 1861 ; dlach. with company.

Ylckery, Charles B., Co. D,5lhlnf:; must Jnne 24, 1861 ; disch. with company.

Whitney, Durham, Co. O, Sth Int; mnat Jnne 24, 1861 ;
pro. to Corp.; discb.

July 27, 1863.

Willey, Samuel, Sth Inf.

Willialon, George, Jr., Co. F, 1st Car. ; must Oct 19, 1861.

WanI, Geo. C, Co. F, 15th Inf. ; must Jan. S, 1862 ; died in Louisiaiu, March

21, 1864.

Waid, Albion, Co. F, ISIh Inf.; mnst Dec. 12, 1861 ; diaoh. Jan. 19, 1865.

Ward, Joel, Co. F, ISth Inf. ; must. Dec. 12, 1861 ; disch. Jan. 19, 1865.

Weutwortli, Alfred, Co. K, 7th Inf.; ronst Aug. 21, 1861.

Welch, Milton W., Co. B, 9lh Inf. ; must Sept 22, 1861 ; killed May 18, 1864.

Whitney, William H., Co. K, 20tb Inf. ; must Aug. 29, 1862 ; wounded Sept. ;iO,

1864; disch. Jnne 7, 1865.

Wentwortb, Franklin, Co. D, 25th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862.

Winslow, Stephen, Co. D, 25th Inf.; must. Sept 29, 1862.

White, DaTid C, Co. E, 1st H. Art; mnst Aug. 27,1863, from 19tb Blaine Begt

Willlstun, George, Jr., 7tb Bat Mounted Art ; must Dec. 30, 1863 ; disch. with

company, June 1, 1865.

York, Cliarles D., Co. B, 9th lof. ; must Sept 22, 1861.

York, Ablier, Co. F, ISth Inf. ; mnst Dec. 12, 1861 ; re-enl. Feb. 1, 1864.

Tork, Charles, L., Co. D, 2Stb Inf. ; must. Sept 29, 1862.

FOBEIOH EHUSTUEHTS.
Craig, Winchester D., 11th Mass. Inf.

Ctebli, Dexter, 24th Mass. Inf. -

Craig, Joseph, Sth N. H. Begt

Field, Albert C, Co. B, N. T. Mounted BlSemen.

Field, George P., U. S. Engineers.

Baskell, Isaac L., 22d Moss. Inf.

Kuowlilon, C, 22d Mass. Inf.

Scott, Edwin, Maes. Kegt

BOWDOIN COLLEGE ROLL OF HONOR.
Lnther V. Bell, class 1823, brigaiie snrgeon and medical director in Gen.

Hooker's dlTlsion ; died at Budd's F>erTy, February, 1862.

Franklin Pierce, Hillaborongb, N. II., class 1824 ; member of Congress, 1833;

U. 8. senator, 1837 ; attomey.generalof the United States; 1845; general

in the Mexican war; President of the Unit<-d States, 1852-56.

Saufnrd A. Kingsbniy, class 1828, chaplain of on Illinois regiment,

Jamea Meana, ciaas 1833, superintendent of contrabands under Gen. Foster;

died of typhoid feTer while making proTiaion for his charge.

William Flye, cUss 1835, pruf. of mathematics, U. S. NaTy, 183S-51 ; lient, com-

manding the "B. B. Forbes ;" trans, to the " Monitor" after her battle

with the " Merrimac ;" lieut., commanding the '* Underwriter," " Ken-

aington," "Benton" (iron-clad), and Sth DIt. Miaaiaalppi Squadron ; com-

mander of the ** Lexington" in 1866; honorably discharged, with tlianks

of the department

Lnke Hill, class 1835, asst snrg. ; died from disease contracted in the army.

Alonzo Garcelon, claaa 1836, MJ>., hosp. and dlT. aurg. ; aerTed three yean and

aix montha.

Jonathan Donnell, class 1836, snrg., I5th Maine Begt

J. W. T. Gardiner, class 1836; West Point ; miO. 2d U. S. Dragoons; acting asst

proTust-oiarsbal of Maine; breTet col., U. S. A.

Thomas F. Perley, Bridgton, class 1837, med. inspector-general, U.S. A.

Gideon S. Palmer, class 1838, brigade aurg. ; dlT. med. director; med. director,

lioapltal, Annapolis.

Alfn^l Fletclier, class 1839, capt 24th Maine Kegt
Frederick Boble, G<irham, class 1841; M.D., Med. College, Phila.; serTed

during the war as paymaster; breTet liout.-coi.

Chas. M. Blake, clasa 1842, capt, U. S. Col. Troops; hosp. and regimental chap-

lain.

Edmund A. Chodwick, cbias 1842, acting assist paymaster, U. S. NaTy.

William L. Hyde, class 1842, capt, 112th N. Y. Vols.

J. W. Page, class 1842, M.D., UniTenity of Matyhind, 1848 ; sanitary inspector

during the war.

Abemethy GroTer, class 1843, chaplain and mi^J'. I3tb Maine Begt; prorost-

manhal at Donaldaville.

William H. Famham, claaa 1844, priTate, 3d Califumia Inf. ; three years.

DaTid B. Hastings, ciaas 1844, miyj., I2lh Maine Begt ; resigned.

George Freeman Noyes, ciaas 1644, capt on staff of Gen. Doubleday ; pro. to

col. ; author of " The BlTouac and the Battle-field," 1864.

Willtiun Wirt Virgin, cbua 1844, lawyer, Portbind ; col., 23d Maine Begt., for

nine months' serrlce.

Lewis L. Becord, class 1845, DniTersallst clergyman ; chaplain, 22d Massachu-

setts Begt.; May to October, 1864.

O'Niel W. Robinson, class 184S, lawyer. Bethel ; capt, 4th Maine Battery ; chief

of Art, 3d Corps; pro. to miO.; died July, 1864.

William B. Snell, claaa 1845, lawyer, Fairfield ; capt, 13th Maine Begt ; honor-

ably disch. NoTember, 1864.

Frederic A. Dean, cUsa 1846, 1st California CaT.; lient in 30th Maine Begt;
must, out August, 1865,
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Frederic D. Scwall, claa* 1846, lawyer, Bath; awt. ndj.-gon^ 1801; cul., 19th

MHtneRegt^ July, 1862; dlsch. fur dlutility. February, 180 >; inaj.,yet.

Res. Corps., June, 186:J; col.,3a Regt.; brevet bHg.-gon., July, 1865 ; In-

spector under Gen. Uowiird, Freedmiio's Bureau.
Thomm II. TallKjt, cla^ 1846, lawyer, Portland; lleHt.-coL. 18th Slalne Begt.
ChHries R P. Danlap^, class 1846, Brunswick; acting nsst. surg^ U. S. Vols.

Charles R Merrill, class 1847, lawyer. Portland; lleut-col., I7th MiUoe Regt.;

honoralily disch. October, 18G4.

Isaac W. CHse, clan 1848, capt., Co. H, 22d Maine Regt.; served under Gen.
Banks at Port Hudson.

Geo. W. Dyer, class of 1848 (did not finish his course), payinaster, rank of iuhJ.

Andrew J. Fitch, chus 1848, Portland; M.D., 1851; siirg., 79th N. T. Vols.

William F. GiK>dwln, class 1848, studied law and graduated LL.B., Harvard,

1854; let tieut., 16th Inf., U. S. A., June, 1861; JndgenulTOcate; acting

adj. of the regt. ; wounded at Chickaniauga; brevetted capt. and placed

OQ the Iht of retired offlcert, January, 1865.

Thomas H. Marahatl, class 1848, maj., 4th Maine RegC; pro. to lleut-col. and
then to col. of the 7th Midne Regt.

Zable) Buylston Adanu, class 1849, surg., 32d Massachusetts lt(>gt. May, 1862

;

1st Heat., Koveub^r, I86;i; capt., December, 1863, 36tb Miissachusetts

Regt; pro. to maj. Jane 14, 186:1.

Aagustos L Barbaak, class 1840, capt., 1st Maine Cav.; resigned after a few

montlu.

WUIiitra Hulwn, class 1849, StanJlsh; dm^j. and Ileat.-cul., 17th Maine Regt.

Bobvrc R. Thomp-«on, class 1849, Ist Ifeut, 13th New dampshlre Rt^gt.; killed

in action at Fort Hunison, Ya., 3ept. 10. 1b64.

FreeUnd S. Holmes, cUas 1850, surg., 6Ui Blaine Regt. : died of diphtheria,

June, 186:{.

OlirerO. Howard, cbiss 1850, graduated West Puiut, 1854; Ileut. of ordiiancu;

wounded Ht Fair Onks, losing Ids right ariu; pro. to msj.-gen. NuTem>>er,

1862; appointed chief of the Freedman's Bureau at the close of the war.

John S. Sewell, class 1830, ch.iplaiu in 8th M iss. Vols.

Daniel L. Eatun, class 1851, lawyer, PurtUnd; payniastor on Gen. Heintzel-

mau's st»ff, rank of m Oi olao at Wanhiagtoa: brevetted Ueut-col.

U. S. Army.

Angnstns C. Hamlin, class 1851, M.D., Har^'a^l, 1855; assist-siirg , 2d Regt;
brig, and div. sarg. and medical Inspector, rank or lieut-col. ; brevetted

col. ; author of ** Mariyria," » work on Anderaonvllle prison.

Bliam Hayee, cbiss 1851, chief q.nt. 4[b Corps, rank of lieut.-col.

William H. Owen, class 1851 ; served us 1st Ileut., 3d Maine ; assist q.m., capt.,

lieut-<ol., and col.; chief q.m. 5ch Anny Corps.

Charles W. Roberts, class 1851, iieut-col., 2d Maine
;
pro. to cul. ; commanded a

brigade, 5tb Army Corps ; brevetted brig.-gOD.

Joshua L. Chamberlain, class 1852, prof, of rhetoric and oratory, Bowdoin Col-

lege, 1856; lieat.>col. and col.,2Uth Maine
;
pro. tu brig.-gon. on the field

by Gen. Grant In front of Petersburg; wounded; president of court-

martial ; brevetted maj.-gen.; ted the advance la tlie last action, and

was designated tu receive the formni surrender of Gen. Lee.

James D. Fe^senden, class 1852, lawyer, Portland; capt, 2d Begt U. S. Sharp-

shooters; col. U. S. Col. Tr<>ops; col. on maj.-gen. Hunter's staff; on

Hooker's staff In campaign of Atlanta ; commanded a brigaile under Gen.

Shoridan ; brevetted maj.-gen. " for gallaat and distlugnlslied serviced."

N. C. Goodenow, class 1862, capt^ 16th IlL Cav. ; on Gen. Stoni*man's staff In

army under Gen. bhorman from Chattanooga to Atlanta; Ueut-col.;

served tliree years.

Henry Stone, class 1852, graduated at Hur^-ard Divinity School ; lieut in Wis-

consin regt; assist adjt-gen. in provost-marshars office, Wasliington,

rank of capt.

Zpbraim C. Cummings, cla-«s 1853, chaplain 15th Vt Regt.

George S. Kimball, chiss 1863; Ileut, 1st Maine Cav.; killed In charge at Aldle,

Va., June, 1863.

Joseph McKeen, clan 1853, M.D., Brunswick ; served as vol. surg.

William McArthur, class 1853, capt, 8th Maine ;
pruvuat-marshal, Hilton Head,

S.C.; pro. to maj., Iteut^wl., and col.; wounded at Cold Harbor; bre-

vetted brig.-gen., March, 1865.

George W. Bartlett, class 1854, chiiplain of 14th Maine Regt.

Charies P. Chandler, class 1654, Uwyer, Boston ; mnj., Ist Moss. Regt. ; killed at

batUe of Malvern Hill.

John A. Doughiss, class 1854, M.D., College of P. and G., N. T., 1861 ; surg , 11th

Mass. Regt., 1803 ; dlach. October, 1864.

Jeremiah H. Gllman, class 1854, left college In sophomore year; Cdpt, 14th

n. S. Inf. ; inspector of artillery on stuff uf Gen. Buell and Gen. Roae-

craus ; brevetted maj. U. S. Army.

Henry Clay Wood, cla»B 1854, 2d liont, 1st Inf., U. S. Army ; served on frontier

of Texas and Indian Tvrritiir}-; pro. 1st Ileut; wounded at Wilson's Creek,

Mo.
;
pro. to capt ;

pro. to m«j. and assist, adjt-gen. U. S. A., Jane, 1864

;

pro. to lieut'CoL, March, 1865; brevetted col., March, 1865, " for gallant,

faithful, and meritorious services In the adjt.-gen.'s dept during the

war."

Samuel R. Crocker, class 1855, q.m. sergt., 23d Maine Regt.

Stephen M. Eaton, class 1855, Portbind ; 2d Itetit., lat Ileut., and capt in Signal

Service, U. S. Army; on staff of M^J.-Gen. Canby.

Benjamin B. Foster, class 1855, lawyer, Liuoulu ; mi^.; assist a^Jt-gen. on Gen.

Peck's staff; capt., N. C. loyal regt.

Thomas A. Henderson, class 1855, graduated LL.B., Harvard, 1861; adjt., 7th

N. H. Begt.; m^j., Ueut-col., and provost-marshal of Florida; n^ort**U/

wounded at Deep Bottom, Va., August, 1864.

O.Brown Howelt, class I8j.=>, Idt Ileut., 2d Nebraska Cht., nine months' si nice.

Cliarii^ E. Shaw, class 18.», Portland; limit.-col., 25th Maine Re^t.

Thomas L. Andrews, clas.i 1850, chnp. I2th X. H. Itegt ; studied tlieulujry ut

Union Theological School, X. Y.

Isaac D. Balch, class 18'i6, enl. In Mas^. Rogt.

Frank C. Davis, class 1856, lieut, '.id Pa. Cav.

Rowland Bailey Howard, class 1850, served in U. S. Chris. Coin.

Enos T.'Luce, class 1850, lit^ut.-col., 2til Mtiine Regt.

James F. Miller, class 1856, lawyer, Portland ; ald-de-camp to Governor Waah-
bum, 1861 ; commanded for a time the 7tb Maine Regt, at Baltimore

;

assist adjt.-gon., with rank of capt, 18G2; assi-t. ndjt.-gen. mid acting

Sec. of Slate of Louisiana under Gen. Shcptey; acting mayor of Xew
Orleanft, 1863; resigned July, 1864.

Edwin B. Palmer, 1850, cltHplahi of 19th Maine Begt.

Moses M. Robinson, 1850, ciipt, 12th Main^ Begt; some time on detached ser-

vice in the State.

William H. Smyth, 1850, Brnnnwick ; engineer in Kansai ; member first Kansas

Legislature; Ist lieut., 10th Regt., U. S. Army; diatlngiUshed hlmeelf in

the advance on Muifreesboro'; taken prisoner at Chickamauga; pro. to

capt.; brevetted major " for meritorious services at Chickamauga.''

Edward W. Thompson, 1850, cnpt., 5th Maine Regt. (Sea oth Maine Regiment.)

George A. Wheeler, 1856, M.D., 1859, surgeon U. S. Vol«.; In ciiarge of bosp.

Oth Army Corps; brevetted l:eut.-col.

Isaac H. Wing, 1850, studied law ; served as Ut lieut. of Wisconsin Regt.

William H. Anderson, 1857, asst. paymaster, U. S. Xuvy.

Samuel C. Belcher, 1857, capt, 16tli Maine, June, 18G2; taken prisoner at Get-

tysburg; discharged on account of wound received in action near Spott-

sylvania Court-Uouso, Miy, 1804; pro. t) mifor, Juno 22.

Louis U. Barstow, 1857, served as chaplain of the 14th Vt Regt

Edward T. Chapman, 1857, entered the Navy as asst. piiymuster on the gunboat

" Commodore Jones," and was killed when she was blown up by a tor-

pedo in James River, in 1864.

John N. Fuller, 1857, served In the Uth 111. Regt.

Henry S. Hagar, 1857, was Ist lieut 7th Maine Regt, tiien adjt ; resigned.

John B. Hasetton, 1857, asst. paymanter, IJ. 9. Nnvy.

Charles Hamlin, 1857, major, 18th Blaine Regt.; reorganized into the Ut U.

Art., rank, Jnly, 1862, asst. adjt-gen., U. S. VoU., on staff of Mivj.-Gen .

Berry, 3d Army Corps; nsst inspector of artillery ; lieut.-col., by brevet;

brevet brig.-gen.; commended by Miij.-Gen. Humphrey, for services at

Gettysburg.

John B. Uubbanl, 1857, Ut lieut., Ut Bat Mounted Art; served under Banks;

appointed asstailjt.-gen., reserve brigade, under Gen. Weitzel; fellleading

a storming-party at Port Hudson, Miiy, 1863.

Thomas H. Hubbard, 1857. adjt, 2otli Maine Regt.; lieut.-coI., 30th Maine

RoKt.; pro. to col.; brevetted brig.-gen.

Thomas F. Mosei, 1857, M.D. at Jefferson Meilical CoUege, 1800; asst surgeon

in transport and hospital service, U. S. Vols.

Nathaniel A. Robbins, 1857, private, 4th Maine Begt; q.m. aergt, Decemlwr,

1861; pro. to 2d Ileut, April, l8Gi; wounded at Cliancellorsville; taken

prtrtoner at Gettysburg: eleven months In Southern prisons.

Gustavus A. Stanley, 1857, com. .lergt, 8th lU. cav.; capt, 28th Maine Rogt,

Octolier, 1862; capt, 2d Maine Cav., December, 1863; served under Gen.

Banks, Department of the Gulf.

Lyman S.Strickland, 1857, Ist lieut, 16th U. S. Inf.; pro. to capt.; resigned.

James C.Strout, 1857, private, 32d Mo-hb. Begt.

George A. Bright, 1858, left during his course; 5I.D., Harvard, 1800; nsst sur-

geon, U. S. Navy.

Samuel Brown. 1858, capt, 16th Conn. Regt; killed in action at South Moun-

tain, Md., Sept. 22, 1802.

Daniel C. Burleigh, 1858, asst surgeon, U. S. Navy.

Sewall C. Charies, 1858, graduated with first honors; studied law; ehl. private,

12th Maine Begt.; died of com" .mptlon.

JonaUian P. Cilley, 1858, capt, 1st Maine Cav.; maj., April, 1862; Ueut-col.,

1804; wounded at Winchester; taken prisoner; paroled; wounded at

WTiite House Landing; brevetted coL and brig.-gen. for distinguished

services at Five Forks and Appom-ittoic Court-House.

Franklin M. Drew, 1858, studied law; private, 15th Maine Regt; capt, De-

cember, 1801; maj., September, 1802; aervod in Louisiana and Florida

;

pres. court-martial, N. Y.; brevetted lleut-col. and col.

Fr.ncis Fessenden, 1858, Portland; studied law; began practice in New York
;

capt, lUth U. S. luf.; joined, witli the regt.. Gen. BuoU's army, Tenn.,

January, 1862; wounded in action at Shlloh, April, 1802; col. 25tb Maine

Regt., September, 1862; col. 30th BUine Regt.; served In Department of

the Gulf; lost a Hmb in battlaon Cane River. La.; pro. to brig.-gen. vols.

;

brevetted m^|., U. S. Army, for gallantry at Shiloh : then lleut-coL, U.

S. Army, for gallantry at Mounett's Bluff; November, pro. to mi^.-gen. of

ToU., and brevetted col., U. S. Army, for meritorious services during the

war; was member of the " WIrz" court-martial, Washington ; brevetted

maj.-gen , U.S. Army; afterwards made asst commissioner Freedman's

Bureau, State of MaryUud. He earned the reputation of a thorough

and gallant officer.

George F. Granger, 1858, left before completing his course ; Ut llent
;
capt, Oth

Maine Regt. ; nwj.. July, 1863 ; wounded at Drury's Bluff; pro. to lleut-

col., then coU Septomlier, 1864 ; brevetted brig.-gen., 1805,

Leander Hill. 1868, Uwyer, Rockland ; capt., *20th Maine Regt. ;
disch. for disab.

Charies K. Hutchins, 1858, capt., lOth Maine Regt. ; killed in action at Freder-

icksburg, December, 1862.
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William H. SaT&ge, 1858, capt., 17th Maine Regt; resigned on ncconnt of iin-

pftired health ; re-enl. as 2(1 lieiit^ 7th Maine Sogt.
; pro. to lat Heat., Ist

Vet. Vole. ; brer. i«pt. for gallant conduce before Hetershnrg, April, 1865.

Elllt) Spear, 1858, cMpt., 2uth Maine Regt.
;
pro. to maj. ; wounded at North Anna

;

brev. lieut.-col. for meritoriona servicefl near Poplar Gmre Charch, when
placed in cooiDiand of a brigade, and cul., for galluntrj at Quaker Road,
March, 1865; chief of atalT nnder Gen. CbaniberUin ; brer. bng.-geQ.

James K. Tallman, 1856, 2d lleut., 3i1 Uiiioe Begt.
;
qnartennaster ; brigude q.m.,

rank of cupt.

Henr7 G. Thumas, 1858, Portland
;
graduate Amlient College, 1859 ; capt., 5th

Maine Regt ; capt., 11th U. S. Inf. ; col. commanding brig. U. S. Colored

Troops, Ferroe'8 DIv., 9th Corps; brig.-gen.; brev. maj.-gen. vols. ; brer.

col., U. S. Army.
Andrew J. Thompson, 1858 ; M.D., Harvard, 1862 ; snrg., 8th N. H. Regt ; med-

ical director on Maj.-Gen. DiiTidson's stafT.

John B. Anderson, 1859, Gray ; Ist lient. in Wisconsin Battery.

Charles H. Butterfield, 1859, maj. and lieut-col., 91st Ind. Regt.

JubD C. Cliamlierloln, 1859, chaplain, 14th Maine Regt.; serred on Christian

Comniirifjon.

Heuiy M. Folaom, 1859, did not finish his course; 2d lient., 7lh Maine Regt;

iPRigned.

Charles U. Howard, 1859, lient, 3d Btalne Regt. ; abl-de-camp to Gen. Howard ;

pro. to capt ; brvT. maj. and lleut.-col. ; cul., U. S. Col. Troops ; breT. brig -

gen.; as^t. com., Fn-edroen's iturean.

Charles Wintbrop Lowell, 1859, capt., 80£li U. S. Out Troops
;
pro. to bmJ. ; brev.

lient-col. Tols. "for faithful and meritorious serrices during the war;"

proTuflt^narsha], Louisiana.

George W. Merrill, New Gloncester, 1859 ; capt., U. S. Cot Troops ; miij., GOtb

Illinois Regt
Alfred Mitchi-ll, Yarmouth, 1859; M.D., College of Fhysicians and Surgeons,

New York, 1865; asst sui^., 0th Maine Regt.

Edward M. Rand, Portland, 1859 ; studied law; adj., 27lh Maine Regt.

HowarU H. Bund, 1859, as^t. surg., &4tb N. Y. Regt ; appointed asst surg., U.

S. Navy, March, 1864.

Francis W. Sabioe, 1659, 1st lient and 2d lient, llth Maine Regt; pro. to capt

for gallant conduct ; wounded at Deep Bottum ; died September, 1804.

Caleb Saunders, 1659, studied law; enl. as private, 6th Mhu. Inf.; 1st lieut,

14th Mass. U. Art.

George Weloter, 1859, 1st and 2d lieut and capt, 12th Maiue Regt.; pro. to

maj., 77th U. S. Col. Truops.

Albert P. Whittemore, 1859, private In iieo. Rosecrans' department ; died at

Vicltsburg.

Henry P. Worcester, 1859, lieut and cnpt, 3d Maine Bogt. ; wounded in battle

of WildemesP, May, 1864.

John F. Appleton, 1860, capt; 12th Maine Regt ; distiugnfshed at the siege of

Port Httilf^on ; col., U. 3. Col. Troops, June, 180:) ; brev. brig -^fen.

Nicholas B. Boyd, Portland ; enl. as private, 25th Maine Regt., August, 1862;

detached on V. 3. Coast Survey near Washington ; rejoined his regiment.

Albert W. Bradbury, 2d lieut, Ist Bat, 1st Mounted Art.; pro. to maj , Ist Maine

Lt Art, Sfptember, 1864; chief of art on ^taff of Miij.-Gens. Kmory and

Torbert: brev. lieut.-col. "for conapicuouH gallantry at Winchester and

Cedar Creek ;" brev. col.

Harlan P. Brown, 2d lieut , 7th Maine Regt.; pro. to capt ; killed while cheer-

ing on his men at Antiotam.

John M. Brown, Portland ; read law; adjt, 25th Maine Regt ; asst adj.-gen. on

stair of Gen. Ames, rank of capt.; pro. to Itent-col., 32d Maine Regt;

brev. col. for gallant conduct at Gettysburg; brev. brig.-gen.

Alvan F. Bumbiim, Yarmouth ; M.D., 1864; 2d lieut., 25tb Maine Regt ; asst

surg., Mass. Car.

Horace H. Bnrbank, private, 27th Maine Kegt.; q.m. sergt., December, 1862;

capt, 32d Maine Regt., July, 1863 ; taken pris. In front of Petersburg ; es-

caped and joined his regiment ; capt, Jlst Maine Kegt, by consttlldatlon.

George Cory, 1st lieut, Ist Maine Cav. ; detailed to command Gen. Ord's escort

;

pro. to capt., December, 1B6£; rettigned ou account of ill health.

Fuller O. Clifford, private, 28th Maine Rfgt. ; served one year.

Simon A. Evans, M.D., 1865, hospital steward, 13th Maine Regt; asst surg.,

14th Maine Regt, March, 1863.

Seth C. Farriugton, began the study of Uw ; must in November, 1863, cnpt.,

12tb Maine Regt.; jndg(;-«dviicata ou the staff of Gen. Reynolds, with

ronkof m^J.; brev. lleut-col.

Woodbury G. Fnjat, Brunswick ; appointed acting asst surgeon, U. 3. Navy,

June, 1864.

Charies W. Gardiner, corp., 3d Maine Regt. ; became captain ; was on the staff

of Brig.-G«n. Ullmiui, New Orleans; engineer-in-uhlef at Port Hudson;

piDVust-maisbal district StBomanl and Plaquemiue; wounded in action

at Fair Oaks ; taken prisoner at 2d Bull Run, and exchanged, Nuvemlior,

1662.

William A. Gornsey, did not complete bis college course; sergt, 12^ Maine

Begt. ; capt, 2d Louisiana Begt.

David Hole, Bridgtoii, lawyer; served a few mouths in the 23d Maine; discb.

on account of 111 health.

Wm. D.Haley, 2d lient, 3d Maine Regt ; subsequently qm.; res. August 1861.

Bdwln A. Harlow, gradnate Bangor TheoL Seminary ; settled as minister In

Kansas ; served tn Kansas 4th Militia Begt., to repel tlie invasion of

Mi^souri by Gen. Price.

William L. Haskell, Ist lleut, 7th Maine Regt.; acting adjutant in the bottle

of Antietam, where he was wounded; died Oct. 18, 1862.

Granville P. Ilawes, lat llrut, 128tli N. Y. Rogt.; commissary of staff of Gen.

Emoi7, 8tb Corps ; attached to the staff of M«j.-Gen. Gntver, after tb«

sif-ge of Pi>rt Hudson, then reported to MaJ.-Geii. Herron, Texas ; res. in

spring of 1865.

Frederic A. Kendall, private in 11th Indiana Xouavea; 2d lleut, 4th N. H.

Begt.; pro. bi Ist lient. and capt. ; in 1665, A. C. M., staff of Brig.-Geu.

B. H. Jackson, 25tii Corps, Texas expedition.

James Henry Hitbbs Hewett private, 8tli Maine Regt.; promiited snccesstrely

to q.ro. sergt., 2d lieut., 1st lieut, at^'t, capt.; wounded in action ut

Rice's Sbition, Vn.; disch. for dlsaldlity.

Ezekiel R. Mnyo, 1st lieut, 3d Maine Bat. ; assigned to cav. brigade of Gen.

Bayard ; In the force of Gen. Fremont ; pro. to capt, 3d Malue Bat, June,

1863; in 9ih Army Corps, under Bumside.

Cliarlee S. McCoiib, hosp. steward, 4th Maine Regt.; taken prisoner at Ist Bull

Run ; paroled from Libby prisiin ; 2d lleut , January, 1663 ; shot through

the lungn at Gettysburg, and died in two boura.

James W. North, graduated M.D., 1864; nset. surg., 107th V. S. Cul. Troopn, at

Louisville, Ky.; honorably disch. June, 1865.

Walter S. Poor, private, 10th N. Y. Regt., 18CI ; pro. to 2d lleut, Ist lleut,

capt In 1st N. Y. Rifles, and to lient-od, N. C. Loyal Vols.; pruvust-

marshal of Beaufort; lieut.-col. U. 8. Cul.-Art

Thomas B. Reeil, Portland ; appointed acting asMt paymaster, D. S. Navy, April,

16'i4.

Abram N. Bowe, N. Yarmouth ; nine months in 25tb Maine R^.; Ist and 2d

lleut, 3Utb Maine Regt ; died of typhoid fever at Winchester, Vn.

Adirll>ert B. Twitchell. q.m. sergt, 6th Maine Begt.; 2d lieut 5th Bat, 1st

Mounted Alt; wounded In action at Cliancellursville, May, 186^1; com-

capt; uutborizod to raise 7tb Maine Bat ; bruvetted moj. for meritorious

services before Petersburg.

Francis W. Webster, private, 18th Maine Regt.; detailed clerk of military com-

mission, Washington; dipt 3d U. S. Col. Troops ; military governor of

Florida.

1861.—Wendall A. Anderson, Gray ;. medical cadet, U. S. Army ; surg. 3d Mary-

land Begt.

Etlward L. Appleton, Ist lient., V. S. Art. ; did not complete college course.

Nelson P. Cram, Bridgton ; entered llth Maine Begt., immed.ately after gradu-

ating, as sergt.; died October, 1862, of dbease of the lungs, caused by

measles taken in camp at Washington.

Williitni W. £aton, Branswiuk ; M.D., New York, 1864; enl. 16tb Muine Rt'gt.

;

husp. steward, February, 1863 ; asit surg., then surg., December, 186:t

Edwiu Emery, principal of high school, Gardiner and Belfast; enL 17tli Maine

as HubMtitute for a friend; colur-soi^., April, 1864; twice wounded in

Wilderness; com. 2d lleut

Loris Farr, sergt, 19th Maine Begt ;
pro. to 2d lieut., to 1st licut^ and capt.

;

wounded at Cold Harbor; res. from effect:* of wounds.

Samuel Fesaenden, Portland, began study of law ; 2d lieut., 2d Bat, Ifit Mounted

Art.; pro. to Ist lleut; ald-de-camp to BrIg.-Gi-n. Tower, July, 1863;

severely wounded at 2d Bull Run, August 30; died next morulug. (See

Adj.-Gen.'s Report, 1863.)

Albion Howe, 2d tieut, 14tli N. Y. H. Art, 0th Army Corps; aid-de-canip to

Brig.-Gen. Howe: inspector of artillery, U. 8. Army; niHJ., 14th N. Y.

Art.; brevettod lient-col.

Charles O. Hunt, Gurbam, 5th Maine Bat., q.m. sergt.
;

pro to 2d lleut May
1863; wounded at Gettysburg; taken prisoner, June 18; pro. to 1st lieut.

Thomas W. U>de, capt; pro. to maj., 7th Muine Begt.; won distinction in

Peninsula campaign ; insiiector-general under Gen.Smith,186:{; on staff

of Gen. Sedgwick, aid-de-camp and pt ovost-marshal ; »n staff of Gen
Wright, in succensive ctuupHlgus to Pelersbui^ and Shenandoah; Ueut-

col. December, 1863; col., 1st Maine Ytst Tula. ; commiuided 3d Brigade,

2d Div., 6th Army Corps, during last year of war; military governor at

Danville, Ya.; brevetted brlg.-gi*n. July, 1865, ** for conspicuous gallan-

try before Petersburg.'*

Samuel Jordan, asst. paymaster, U. B. Navy, on 8loop-of-<war ** Vinceaues," ou
" Wanwntta," off South Carulinaond Georgbi, and Gulf Squadron, 1863

;

died at home, of consumption, August, 1865.

George B. Keninston, Ist lleut., dtb Maine R^t.; taken prisoner at 1st Bull

Run; r^oined his r«gt Febnmry, 1863 ; disch, for disability; returned

to Washington, November, 1863, and conuuiasiuned capt, 2d U. S. Cul.

Troops,

Edward P. Loring, 1st lieut, 13th Maine Regt.; August, 1863, pro. to capt,

lat Louisiana H. Art (colored); pro. to ni^J., U. S. Cul. Troops; brevet

lieut.-col.

Augustus N. Lufkin, enl. 2d Maine Regt; served two yeare; trans, to 2Utb

Maine Begt, corp.; commissioned capt, regt colored troops; served in

Army of the Putoumc, Jumes, and Texas expedition.

Stephen H. Manning, q.m., 1st Molae Begt. ; let lleut. and regt. q.m., 5lh Maine
Begt, August, 1862, 1st Div., 6th Corps; capt and asst q.m.; division

q.m,; chief q m. of the corps ; brev. maj , October, 1864 ; brev. lient-col.

"for folthf^ and meritorious services during tlie war;^ lleut-coL and
chief q.m., 6th Army Curps; chief, q.m., ProvlsiuuHl Corps, Army of the

Putomac; August, 1865, col. and chief q.m., brevet brig.-gen.

Wm. W. Morrell, began study of law ; 2d lleut, August, 1662 ; 1st lleut, Janu-

ary, 1663 ; pro. to capt, October 29 ; shot through the breast and instantly

killed while leading his company at Spottsylvania, 1804.

Atpheus S. Packard, Jr., Brunswick ; M.D., 1864; Cambridge sclentlflo depart-

ment, under Prof. Agitsslx, two years; aast surg., 1st Maine Vols., GtU

Corps, in Grant's last campaign.
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Chfts. B. Rounds, entered SOth Maine Kegt., July. 1863 ; lieut, 2iid Maine Eegt.

;

wounded In action
; pro. to oipt. June, 1865.

Edward SImonton, 33d 3Iawtnhusei ts Regt., 18C2; entered 20th Miiine Begt.;

l8t 8eigt.,2d lieut.,Ut lieut, finally capt., Idt U. S. Ci>l. Troops ; wounded
in fint assault on Petersburg ; hrev. maj. Hud Ueut.*col. " fur (rallunt and
meritoiiua^ conduct during the war;" appidnted 2d llout., 4th U. S. Inf.,

and tliea 1st Heut.

H. S. B. Smith, Bridgtnn
;
private, 32d Maine Regt.; comniisaioned asat. surg.

April to, 1864.

George E. Slubln, M.D., Ilarvani, 186:1; ns^t. surg., U. S. Vuls., 1864; brevet,

capt^ V. S. Vols., January, 1866, *• for faithful and meritorious serTices."

Joseph B. Upham, 3d aaar. engineer, U. S. Navy, Novi-mber, 1862; pro. to 2d

asat. engineer, JuJy, 1866.

SylvanuB D. Waternian, :td Massachusettd Regt. ; nine months on duty In North
Carolina.

1862.—Frederic H. Beccher, Ifith Maine Regt , 2d lifut., 1st lieut.; wounded
sflvereiy at Freilerickaburg and Gettyeiburg; pro. to capt., but compelled

to leave by hi.-i injuries; afterwanls latiieut., Yet. Res., and 2d lieut, U.S.

Inf.

Merrille A. Cochrane, aipt, 16th U. S. Inf.; s^-vcnteen months in rebel prison,

escaping twice, and retaken ; rejoin**d his regt March, 1865 ; brevet mnj.

William E. Donuell, Portland; adj., 21)th Maine Regt., September, 186:1; brevet

capt, July, 1864, **for giilUnC and distinguished services at battle of

North Anna,** etc.; wounded at Bethesda Church; brevet major U. S.

Yuls. ; ald-de<camp, provost-marshal, and chief of ordnance to Gen.

Chamberlain, Ist Div^ 5th corps.

George W. Edwards, entered service August, lS<i2, 2d lient.; pro. tn Ist lient.

;

judge-advocate brigade court-mnrilal; killed inaction nt Fredericksburg,

. December, 1862, gallantly leading his men In a liayonet charge.

James D. Enklne, must In June, 1861, 1st Heut, 4th Maine Rfgt.; capt Nov.

1, 1861 ; compelled to leave after neiirly a year's service on account of

sickness ; died at home January, 1863.

Almon Goodwin, Baldwin ; 2d lieut., 19th Maine Regt ; resigned on account of

severe illnes-'t; honorably discharged.

Thomas H. Green, capt.; on »taff ofGen. Prince, aast adj.-gen.; killed at battle

of Cedar Mountain, In attempting to rescue liis commander, Gen, Prince.

M'ill.am A. Hobbie, Ititlt Iowa Regt. ; in Army of the Tenuessee under Gen.

Sherman.

Henry H. Unnt, Gorham ; enl. 5th Maine Bat. Aug. 21, 1862 ; confined with se-

vere illDess in hospital two months; 1863, appointed hospital steward,

Artillery Brigade, Ist Army Corps, in action at Gettyabuig; rejoined

5th Battery ua private; served in Grant's cauipiiign from the Rjipldan

to the James, and in Shenandoah Valley.

Frederic N. HnstuD, 2d lieut.. 21st Maine Begt, September,1862 ; 1st lieut., June,

1863 ; capt. at siege of Purt Hudson, La.

Willard M. Jenklnx, Ist lieut., 17th Muiue Regt ; died of bilious fever at Pools-

ville, Md., November, 1862.

Angnstus N. Liuscott, capt., 21at Maine; nine months' regiment

Charles P. Mattocki>, Baldwin (now lawyer In Portland) ; must. Augtiat, 1862;

Ist lient, 17th Maine B* gt. ; pro. to capt., December, 1862; especially cum-

mended for giillant conduct nt Chancellorsville
;
pro. to major, December

186:1 ; commanded the lat U. S. Sharpahooten ; com. lient-cot. of the 17th

Begt, a position reserved for him till January, 1^65, but never filled by

him, as be liad been taken prisoner at the battle of the Wilderness; in

different prisons ten months; brevet col. U. S. Vols. ; a double brevet for

services at Amelia Springs, brevet brig.-gen.

George E. Moulton, Weatltrook ; did not complete his college course ; must. 2d

lieut, 13th Maine Regt., November, 1861 ; xerved in LouiMiana, Texas,

and Virginia: com. aaccesslvely lat lient. andca]>t; trans, to liUtb Maine

Begt. as cnpt. ;
jndge-advocate in Winchester, Va.

Joseph Noble, left college t>efore completing bU course; miist. 2d Heut., 9th

Maine ; pro. to let lient. and capt. ; served in Southern Dt-partment and

in Virginia; com. major, June, 1864; lieut. -col., October, 1864.

John M. Pease, pursued theological course in New Hampton, N. H. ; enl. la

25th Maine Begt for nine months.

Juho E. Pierce, enl. Id 39th Wisconsin Regt., as orderly sergt., one-hnudred-

day Vols., then lu 1st Wisconsin H. Art., and served till close nf war.

Howard L. Prince, Cumberland, q.m. sergt., 20th Maine Regt. ; lieut., February,

1864 ; wounded iu action, Spotrsylvania C.-H. ; ald-de-camp on Brig.-Gen.

Bartlett's staff; brev. capt. IT. 3. Vols., for gallant aud nieritorioua aer-

vifws at battle of Peeble's Farm, Sept 1864; Judge-advocate on Geu.

Chamberlain's staff, 1st Div., 5th Corps, Man-b, 1865; served from An-
~

tietltm through the war.

Isaac W. Starbird, capt. 19th Maine Regt.; brigade inspector, 1864, on staff of

Gen. Mott, lat Brig., 4th Div., 2d Army Corps ; October, 1864, pro. to maj.

;

November 8, pro. to Iieut.-col.,and col., November 16; wounded severely

at High Bridge ; brev. brig.-gen. for good services, April, 1805.

F. A. Stevena, capt., 13th Maine Regt ; served on MISHiaslppi and Red Rivera.

Joaiah A. Temple, began study of law ; enl. 17th Maine Regt., August, 18C3

;

wounded at Mine Run ; after some months In hospital rejoined hia regi-

ment; contluued till disch. for disability, June, 1865.

Almon L. Vamey, Windham; must 1st lient., 13th Maine Regt., December,

1861 ;
pro. to capt. August, 1862; served under Gen. Butler; appolnteit

by the President lieut In Ordnance Dept., U.S. Army, February, 1865.

Henry Warrea, left college near close ofjunior year; must lat lieut., 7tli Maine

Regt, August, 1861 ; twice wounded on the first day of battle of Wllder-

neaa ;
pro. to capt. ; Instantly kllleil on last day of the battle. May, 18G4.

Williiim W, Webster, did not prosecute liis college course; enlisted in Califor-

nlii Regt.

Marcu-t Wigh*, enl. in 20th Miiine Reyt.; served in Louisiana; com. lieut., 4th

U. S. Cav., U. S. CI. Trooiis.

Arthur B. Arey, 186:1, U. S. Navy ; did not prosecute his college course.

Delon A. Abbott, did not prosecute his college course ; hospJt:il steward, August,

1862; pro. to aasUt furg. in 0th Maine Regt.

John Le B. Andrews, enl. in Otb Maine Regt.; did not complete bis college

course.

Charles U. Bell, enl. In 42d Mass., one-hundred-day men.
George E. Brown, must, sergt., 22d Maine Regt., October, 1P02; pro. to 1st lieut

;

served on the Mlsaisaippj, In Gen. Grover's Div.; volunteered witli Capt
Case (clasaori848)aiid five men to form asturniing-iniriyat Port Iltnlson.

John W. Dixbury, attached to tlie Telegraph Corps, Gen. Foster's Department.

James M. Howe, left college in Junior year; must. September, 1SC2; cum. 2d

lieut, 23d Maine Regt.

Hamilton S. I.rf>well, Windliam ; left ctillege in sophomore year; com. 2d lieut.,

pro. to 1st lieut. ; capt, 12th Maine Regt. ; wounded in battle at Winches-

ter, Va.

George M. Pease, Bridgtnn
;
private, 7th Maine Bat.

Daniel M. Phillips, Gorham ; did not finish his college course ; com, 1st lient,

12th Maloe Regt., then capt; killed in action at Winchester, Va.

Adonimm J. Pickard, com. Ist lieut, 2d Maine Cav.

Evans S. PiUabury, did not complete Ills college course; must. Oct. 1861 ;
pro.

-Ist lieut., 1st Maine Cav. ; disch. for disability.

Horace L. Pifter, did not complete his college course; 1st lieut., U. S. Col.

Troops.

James W. Poor, did not complete his college course ; sergt. and 1st lieut., Maine

Cav.

Frank G, Remick, enl. ns private one hundred days.

John H. Roberts, did no complete bis college course ; enl. as private, 15th N. H.

Regt
Andrew It. G. Smith, Bridgton ; hoap. Rteward, 2d Blaine Cav. ; assist, surg.

S. P. Newman Smyth, Brm.swlck ; began a theological course nt Bangor ; ap-

pointed assist, librarian and instructor, Normal Academy, Newport, B. I.

;

Ifftto join tlie aimy ; Ist lieut ,16th Maine Regt., 5ih Corps; cunmianded

bis company in advance on the Weldon Rnilroiid and at Hatcher's Run ;

acting q.m. of the regt.

Edward L.Stuitevant, must October, 1862; Ibt lieut., 24th Maine Regt.; pro. to

capt.

1864.—Charles Bennett, Bridgton ; sergt., 23d Maine Regt.; left college, then

returned and fluitiheil hia college courae; 2d Heut; 1st lit-ut., lOth Maine

Regt.
;
participated In the operations near Pfteral>urg.

Samuel 3. Caswell, must Aug. 18G3, Ut N. H. H. Art. ; returned and finished

his ('o)lfge course
; pro. to l&t lieut., 18th N. H. Vols., November, 18G4

;

adjt of the r^nme.

Owen W. Davis, served in Rhode Island Cav. (three montiis).

John Deering, enl. in l:itii Maine Regt., Jan. 1862; did not complete bis col-

lege course ; disch. for disability, in Augu'-t

Enoch M. Deering, Harrison ; did not o mplete his college course ; must. De-

cember, 1861 ; dieil at home, June, 1862.

Frederick R. Eslabrouk, did not prosecute bis colb ge course; assist, surg., 24th

Maine Regt., 1862; died in the service, Ftb. 24, 180:1.

Enoch Foster, must. December, 1861 ; cum. 2d lieut.; pro. 1st lieut., I3ih Ma'ne

Rfgt. ; resigned.

Sandford 0. Frye, acting assist, paymnstcr's clerk. V. S. monitor "Montauk;"

died of fever at Hilton Head, Dec. 18G4.

Williiim M. Gerrish, Portland ; sergt., 19th Maine Regt.
;
pro. 2d lieut, acting

adjt.; died of congestion of the bruin, February, 186.'i.

Calvin L. Hayes, ^ergt.-maj., 27th Maine Regt.; adjt, 3'i£d Maine Regt, Sep-

tember, 1862.

Myron M. Hovey, acting ass'st. paymaster U. S. Navy.

Henry N. W. Hqyt, Portland ; served three months in Rhode Island Cav.

James H. Maxwell, Portland; enl. as private la 20th Maine Regt.; iu Geu.

Grant's last campaign ; died nt Waahlngton, April, 1865.

Charles A. Bobbins, Brunawick; acting aasi'^t. paymaster U.S. Nsvy, on mon-

itor " Montauk."

Joseph N. Whitney, Raymond ; left in the midst of his college course; enl. for

three months In Rhoile Island Cav, 2d lieut; taken prisoner in the

Louisiana campaign, and confined in reliel pr.sons twenty-two months.

John G. Wight, Oorhum ; left at end of sophomore year; returned and finished

his college course; U. S. Novy one year.

1865.—William H. H. Andrews, did not complete his course
;
q.m. sergt, Sep-

tember, 1802; pro. to q.m.

Edwin 0. Barrows, sergt., 2d Maine Cav.; did not complete college course.

Prince A. Gatchel, must. Auguat, 1602, 1st Maine H. Art (course uncompleted)

;

aergt. on recruiting service lu Maine; pro. to 2d lieut., to lat lieut, and

capt.

E. S. Keyes, capt., 32d Maine Regt; brevet mHJ.; college course uncompleted.

Harlan P. Knight, left college at end of freshman year; enl. In a New Hamp-

shire regt. ; killed at Frederickaburjr, December, 18G2.

Leander 0. Merrlman, left college in junior year; flniahml course iu next

class; sergt.-DUij., 31st Maine; wounded.

Edwin S. Rogers, leit In junior year; 2d lieut, Co. E, Slst Maine Regt; fell in

battle of Cold Harbor, June, 1861.

Horatio F. Smith, Gorham, let sergt, 31at Maine Rogt. ; died at home of dbease

omtnicted in the army, August, 1864.
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Arthur T. Steama, left at end of fmhiuiin year; sergt., 23d Maine Begt
1866.—Jamee A. Bedell, did not pro^ecate his college course; at once entered

the army and died in the aerrlce.

Joeeph L. Bennett. Bridgton ; left college at the beginning of sophomore year;

Corp., 23d Maine Maine Begt.; priTste, 7th Maine Bat., Army of the

Potomac.

Hiram K. Colby, left college at close ofsophomore year, and returned at end of
bis year's serrice ; entered service as 2d aergt, igth Maine Begt.

Kseliiel U. Cook, left college at end of sophomoie year; returned at the end of
ills service to flulsh his course

;
q.nL.s«rgt, 1st Maine Bat.

Pliny F. Drew, did not prosecute his course; joined the army, and died in the
service.

Xdwatd B. Jones, left in the midst of his college course; privats in 3d Maine
Begt.

Oeorge T. Sumner, entered service Immediately after matriculation ; returned

and resumed his course; sergt, 28th Maine Begt.; disch. fur disability,

March, 18S3.

Melvin C. Wadsworth, examined two days before bis chlas, was admitted to

college, and immedtaiely left to join the regiment; 2d lieut, April, 1863.

1867.—Melvin F. Arey, admitted, and after a year's service, returned and fell

beck a year in his oourae; private and corp., 22d Maine Begtl

Thomas WUIIam Lord, did not pmaecuts his course ; must. August, 1862 ; 3d
sergt.; pro. to 2d lleut.; severely wounded at Chancslloravllle, May,
1864 ; adjutant in Yermont Bea. Ooipa, on Oen. Howaid's staH; with tank
of lieutenant.

William P. Hndgett, 2d llent., 11th Maine Begt.; resigned.

Stanley Adeltwrt Plummer, one year in "unasslgned infantiy."

1868.—fleorge VL B>idge, Bridgton ; fltt-major, 7th Maine Begt
J. S. Bums, qjn.H]ept., 1st Div., lOth Army Corps.

S. Vogg, Jr., 2d lieut , V. S Col. Troops.

1868.—Oscar Fits-Allen Greene, 1st Maine Cav., Anny of the Potomac, three

years.

James Bunter Kennedy, sergt., 24th Maine Begt. ; under Gen. Banlu, depart-

ment of the Gulf, one year.

1870.—De Alva Stanwood Alexander, served three yearn in 128tb Ohio Begt.,

Anny of the Ohio.

William Kdward Frost, Corp., 23d Maine Begt.

OrviUe fioardman Grant, marine, U. S. Navy, one year.

James Arthur Boberts, 7th Maine Bat, Army of the Potomac.

CAPE ELIZABETH.
Alexander, Beuben, sergt. Co. B, 10th Inf ; most. Sept 28, 1861 ; wounded at

Cedar Mountain ; pro. to 2d iieut

Autolne, Jns. W., Co. E, 17th Inf.; most Aug. 18,1862; wounded May S, 1864.

Anioine, Kdwln G., Co. E, I7tb Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; wounded Nov. 27,

1863; wounded May 12 ; died May 14, 1864.

Alexander, Beuben, Co. B, 1st Inf. ; must. May 3, 1861 ; company disch. Aug.

6, 18GI.

Boyntun, Freeman N., Co. B^ 1st Inf ; must May 3, 1861 ; company disch. Aug.

5,1861.

Barry, Thomaa, Co. A, 1st Inf. ; mnst Hay 3, 1861.

Boston, Henry, Co. H, 19th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1863; wounded May 6; dlscli.

Dec. 16, 1864.

Berry, Thomas It, corp , 2d Bat Mounted Art ; mnst. Dec. 14, 1861.

Plilabury, Tobias (2d), Co. A, 1st Inf. ; must May 3, 1861 ; company disch. Aug.

6, 1861.

Barbee, B. J., Co. H, 6tb Inf. ; mnst June 24, 1861.

Brshart, Peter, Sth Inf.

Brown, Hibbard, Co. B, ililh Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Buck, James, Co. B, 31st InC; must. May 28, 1864; disch. June 16, 1866.

Brown, Jubn N., Co. E, 17th Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; wounded at Gettysburg

;

diach. Dee. 23, 1863.

Burhank, George B, Co. E, 17th Inf. ; must. Aug. 18, 1862 ; wounded May 2

;

disch. Aug. 17, 1863.

Barker, James, Co. E, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; disch. Feb. 4, 1863.

Brackett, Joshua, Corp., Co. I, 2Sth Inf.; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with com-

pany.

Burbank, Gideon, coip., Co. 1, 2Sth Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with com-

pany.

Brown, George E., sergt, Co. I, 2Bth Inf. ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with

company.

Baiiy, James, Co. I, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Brastow, Betherly, Co. B, 12th Inf. ; must Nov. 20, 1861 ; disch. Dec. 26, 1861.

Cksh, Chariea E, Co. C, 12th Int; must Nov. 15,1861.

Clark, Samuel, Cu. G, 13tlt Iu£ ; must I>eal2,1861 ; died at Fort.Jackson, Aug.

. 20, 1862.

Caah, Andrew J., Co. I, 25th Inf. ; mnst Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Cobb, Isaac, Jr., Co. I, 2fith Inf. ; mnst. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Crockett John, Go. I, 26th Inf. ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; di>ch. with company.

Curran, Patrick, Co. I, 26th Inf.; munt Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Cusbman, Charles O., Co. H, 3Ist Inf. ; must April 21, 1864 ; taken prisoner

;

exchanged ; disch. Hay 29, 1806.

Cash, Andrew J., 5th Inf.

Chamberlain, Chariea B., Co. A, 1st Inf. ; must May 3, 1861 ; company disch.

Ang. 6, 1861.

Dyer, Walter, 2d Bat Mounted Art; must Dec. 14, 1861.

Davis, Benjamin F, Co. 1, 10th Inf. ; must Oct 4, I86I.

Darling, Joseph T., Co. F, 1st Cav. ; must Oct. 19, 1801 ;
prisoner June 30, 1861.

Dyer, Alvtn S., Corp., Co. E, I7th Inf.; mult Ang. 18, 18C2; pro. to sergt., 186.1

;

pro. to llent, March, 1865.

Dyer, Charles A., musician, Co. E, 17tb Inf.; must. Aug. 18, 1862; taken pris-

oner May 3, 1863; exchanged.

Doughty, George W., Co. B, I7th Inf. ; mnst Aug. 18, 1862 ; wounded Nov. 27,

1863.

Duncan, Charles C, C«. E, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; disch. December,

1862.

Dyer, George S., Co. E, 17th Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; wounded May 3; died

Ang. 16, 1863.

Day, Thomas, Co. C, 29th Inf. ; must, Nov. 17, 1863; missing Aug. 12, 1864.

Damren, Charles M., Co. C, 29th Inf. ; must Dec. 17, 1863.

Dyer, Edmund W., Co. A, 1st Inf. : must May 3, 1861.

Elllugwood, John N., corp. Cu. H, 23th Inf. ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with

company.

Fowler, SewaU T., Co. B, let Inf.; must May 3, 1861 ; company diich. Ang. 5,

1861.

Fogg, George B, Co. H, I3th Inf.; mnst Doe. 12, 1861.

Fields, Horace L., Cu. 6, Sth Inf.; must June 23, 1861.

Fowler, Boyal, Co. H, Sth lut ; must. July 21, 1861.

Fowler, Charles, Co. H, ISth Int; must July, 1861.

Ounu, James, Co. D, 14th InC ; must Feb. 23, 1865.

Gearrey, Patrick, Co. I, luih Inf.; must Oct. 4, 1861.

GuilfonI, George S., Co. H, 25tb Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862: disch. with company.

OrilBn, Joseph D., Co. I, 26lli Int.; must Sept. 29, 1862; dbch. with company
;

re-euL April 21, 1864, ill 31st Inf.

GralTam, Joshua P., Co. I, 2Sth Inf.; mnst Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Oridley. Joseph W., Co. H, 19th Inf.; mnst. Ang. 17, 1863; wounded May 24,

1864; trans, to Tet Bes. Corps.

Ouiirurd, John S., Co. C, '.^tb Inf.; mnst Sept 9, 186.3.

GralTam, John P., 1st District of Columbia Cavalry ; must Feb. 1, 1864.

Baskell, Edward O., Co. B, 25lh Inf. : must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Hudgdon, Burbank, Co. 1, 23th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1802 ; discii. with company

;

re-enl. 1863.

Bnnnewell, Sumner, Co. I, 2Sth Inf. ; mnst. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Benley, HamioivT., Co. F, 1st Cav.; must Oct 19, 1862; pro. to Corp.; missing

in battle, Oct 12, 1864.

Hannah, Arthur A., Co. G, 17th Inf. ; mnst Aug. 18, 1862 ; killed at Gettysburg,

July 2, 1863.

Hratley, Joseph B., Co E, ITth Inf. ; must. Aug, 18, 1862, taken prisoner May
3, 1864; exchanged.

Barmon, Charles L., 29tb Inf.; must. April 26, 1865.

Higgins, Bnrus W., Co. I, lOth InC ; must Oct 4, 1861 ; wuunded at Cedar

Mountain.

Hatcli, Woodbury D., Co. G, 7th Inf ; mnst Nov. 11, 1861 ; pro. tu corp.

Hatch, Christopher C, Co. A, 5th Inf. ; must June 24, 1861.

Hariman, Charles, Co. G, Sth Inf. ; mnst June 24, 18G1 ; detached on gunboat.

Bayes, Thomas, Co. B, 6tb Inf. ; must. June 24, 1861; disch. April, 1862.

Baycs,Jumes E., Co. B, Sth Int; must. June 24, 1861; detached to gunboat;

disch. with company.

Jordan, John W.,Co. B, Sth Inf; must July 21, 1861.

Jordan, Simeon F., Co. H, 25th Inf.; mnst. Sept 20, 1862; disch. Jan. 22, 180:1.

Jordan, Willhim T., Co. U, 25tli Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with company,

July 10, 1873.

Jordan, Alonzo, Co. C, I2tb Inf.; must Nov. IS, 1861.

Jordan, And. B.,Co. A,1st Inf.; mu«t Hay 3, 1861 ; company disch. Aug. 6,1801.

Jordan, Geo. S., Co. A, 1st lut; must. Hay 3,1861; company disch. Aug. 6, 186 1.

Juldan, Cliaa. S., Co. 1, 1st InC ; mnst May 3, 1861 ; company disch. Aug. 6,1801.

Joidan, Jaa. W., Co. 1, 1st InC ; must May 3, 1861 ; company disch. Aug. 5, 1861.

Jordan, Wm. B., Co. 1, 1st InC ; must Kay 3, 1861 ; company disch. Ang. 5, 1861

.

Jordan, WilUam, Co. 1, 1st Int; must. May 3, 1861.

Jordan, Eben, Go. B, 17lh InC ; must. Aug. 18, 1862.

Jordan, Oliver E., Co. E, 17tb Inf. ; must. Aug. 18, 1862 ;
pro. to corp. and sergt.

;

wounded July 2, 1863 ; missing in battle. May 12, 1864.

Jordan, Andrew W., Co. E, 17th luC; must Aug. 18, 1862; wounded Nov. 27,

1863; died.

Jordan, Lewis B., Co. E, 17th InC; must Ang. 18, 1862; died June 6, 1863.

Jordan, Simon, Co. E, 17th Int ; muat Aug. 18, 186*2 ; disch. May 11, 1865.

Jordan, John W., Co. B, 1st Yet InC; must Dec 28, 1863; pro. to sergt.; trans.

Jordan, Alonzo, Co. C, 12th InC; must Jan. 2, 1864; wounded September 10.

Jordan, Sylvester F., Co. B, Coast Guard'. H. Art ; muat Oct 29, 1861 ; pro. to corp.

Jansen, Peter, Co. B, 3d Inf ; must Aug. 28, 1863 ; disch. 1864 to enter U. S. Navy.
Kenney, Chariea B., muslcbin, Co. H, 25th InC ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with

company.

Kenney, Charles B., 1st District of Columbia Cav. ; must Jan. 18, 1864.

Knight, Noah B., Co. E, 17th InC; must Aug. 18, 1863; trans, to Yet Ees.

Corps, 1864.

Lovoltt Wllihun, Co. I, 2Sth InC; mnst Sept 29, 1862; pro. to oocp.; disch.

with company.

Lovitt, Jamea, Co. A, 1st InC ; must. May 3, 1861 ; company disch. Aug. 6, 1861.

Lovltt, Wm , Co. A, 1st luC ; mnst Hay 3, 1861 ; company disch. Ang. S, 1861.

Lee, John F., Co. G, 7th InC ; must Nov. 11, 1861.

LIbby, Sumner C, Co. C, 12th ItaC; must March 15, 1864; died In rebel prison

Dec. 30, 1864.
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Lnpei, Antonio, Co. G, 13lh Inf. ; must. Fob. 2, 1865.
Lee, John T., Co. G, 7tli Inf. ; must. KoT. 11, 1861.
Lonilmrd, John T, Co. E, 17th Inf.; mn.t. Au|t. 18, 1862; wounded Nov. 17,

1803; tranK. to Kavy, llHy, 186*.
Libby, Georgo D., Co. H, 26th Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1802 ; disch. with company.
Libby, Jamei S., Co. C, 6th luf. ; moat. July 15, 1861.
Bloore, George, lat Bat Mounted Art. ; mint. Doc. 3, 1864.
Manny, Enoch, 2d Bat. Mounted Art.; muit. Dec. 28, 1861.
Maaon, James G., Co. H, 5th Inf.j must. June 24, 1861.
McKenney, Moles N., Co. E, 17th Inf.; umst. Aug. 18, 1862; Imns. to Vet. Bes.

Cuipa, 1864.

Millikeu, Samuel, Co. E, 17th Inf.; must. Aug. 18, 1862; died of wounds, April
6, 1866.

Moody. Johns S., Co. I, 25th Inf.; must. Sept. 2fl, 1862; dlsch. with company.
HcKenoey, Henry H., Co. I, 25th Inf.; must Sept. 29, 1862; disch. with com-

pany.

Miller, Willlajn P, Co. I, 26th Inf.; must. Sept. 29,1862; disch. with company.
Miller, Jacob W., Co. I, 25lh Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.
Miller, Henry P., corp., Co. I, 25lh Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. witli com-

pany.

Mann, Sewell T., Co. H, 2Sth Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.
Murray, Thoma>, Co. H, 23th Inf.; must. Sept. 29, 1862; disch. with company.
Noble, Chaa. W., Co. D, 25th Inf. ; »iu«. Sept 29, 1802; diich. with company.
O'Brien, James, Co. K, 14th Inf.; must Feb. 2:1, 1805.

O'Neil, Jame*, Co. A, 3d Cay.; must Aug. 30, 1863.

Oakea, John, Co. G, 7tli Inf. ; must. Not. 11, 1861
;
pro. to cnrp.

Osborne, Woodbridge G., Co. E, 17th Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; disch. April 18,

1863.

O'Brien, James, Co. K, I4th Inf. ; must. Feb. 23, 1865.

Palmer, John F, Co. H, 13th Inf ; must. Dec. 12, 1801 ; disch. July 8, 1862.

Pettengill, William H, Co. H, 6th Inf.; must July 15, 1861 ;
pro. to Corp.

Palmer, Eugene S., musician, Co. I, 25lh Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1802; disch. with
company.

Palmer, All.ert S., Co. G, 9th Inf.; must Sept. 21, 1801.

Pillsbury, John A, Co. E, 9th Inf.; must. Sept 22, 1861.

Phelps, AbDsrK., Co. H, 25th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1802; disch. with compiny.
Pillsbury, Tobiaa, Corp., Co. E, 17th Int ; must. Ang. 18, 1862; wounded May

3; disch. Dec 7, 1863.

Parrott, LeTi S., Co. 0, 29th Inf. ; must Dec. 17, 1863.

Phelps, Abner K., retetan, Co. C, 3l8t Inf. ; must March 23, 1864

Bobinson, William H., Co. H, 5th Inf; must June 24, 1861 ; disch. March 9,

1862.

Boberta, Eilwln, Corp., Co. I, 25th Inf. ; most Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with com-
pany.

Band, Bradbury, Co. 1, 25th Inf.; must. Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.
Boyer, Walter J, Co. I, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29,1862; disch. with company.
Bnberts, Major F., Co. I, 25th Inf. ; must Jan. 2, 1863.

Boberts, William F., wagoner, Co E, I7th Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1862.

Stewart, Clark, Co. C, I2th Inf ; must. Not. 15, 1861.

Sbaw, Edward, Co. B, 10th Inf.; must Oct. 4, 1861.

Sawyer, Nathan I., Co. H, 25th Inf; muBtSept29, 1862; disch. with cnmp.iny.

Sawyer, Melrilie F, Co. H, 25th Inf. ; most Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with com-
pany.

Staples, Clement E., Co. H, 25lh Inf.; must Sept29, 1S62; disch. with com-

pany.

Staples, Augustus S., sergt, Co. I, 25th Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with

company.

Smitli, George M., Co. I, 25th Inf ; must. Sept 29. 1862; disch. with company;
re-enl. lat District of Columbia Cay., Feb. 20, 1864.

Sweglsir, Benjamin T., Co. I, 25th Inf.; must Sept. 29, 1862; disch. with com-

pany.

SUpIes, Hiram, 2d Corp., Co. 1, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with com-

pany.

Small, George F., corp., Co. E, 17th Inf.; must. Aug. 18, 1862; pro. to sergt.;

wounded July 2, 1863 ;
pro. to 1st sergt., 1864.

Stacey, Geo. W., Co. E, 17th Inf ( mnst Aug. 18, 1862; trans, to InTaiid Corps,

186.^.

Stereos, George, 1st District of Columbia Car.; must. Feb. 1, 1864.

Smith, George H., 1st District of Columbia Cat. ; must Jan. 26, 1864.

Stanton, Alphonzo, Co. H, 31st Inf. ; mnst April 21, 1864.

Stewart, Clark, Co. C, 12th Inf.^ must. Jan. 29, 1864 ; disch. Aug. 25, 1865.

Staples, William D., Co. B, Coast Guards B. Art. ; mnst Oct 29, 1861.

Staples, Ashbey, 2d Bat. Mounted Art. ; mnst. Dec. 3, 1864.

Shaw, Edward B., Co. B, 1st Inf. ; must May 3, 1861 ; company disch. Aug. 5,

1861.

Tyrell, Willbim B., Co. A, 1st Inf. ; must. May 3, 1861 ; company disch. Aug. 5,

1861.

Tibbets, Charles A., Co. E, loth Inf.; must. Oct. 4, 1861.

Tibbets, I. Vianklin, Co. E, 10th Inf ; must. Oct. 4, 1861 ; taken prisoner, 1862

;

ctchanged.

Taylor, Charles R., Co. F. 5th Inf. ; must. June 24, 1861 ; trans, to Cu. D.

Taylor, James H., Co. H, 5th Inf.; must. June 24, 1861 ; disch. with company,

Jan. 27, 1804.

Terring, Walter, Co. I, 25th Inf; must Sept. 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Thompeou, Elbha B., Co. I, 26tb Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with com-

pany.

Taillncourt, Celestin, 29lh Co. lut; must April 25,1865.

Walls, Franklin, Co. E, loth Inf.; must Oct. 4, 1861.

Woodbury, Edward 1., strgt., Co. I, 25tli Inf; must Sept. 20, 1862; dUMi. with
comp:(iiy.

Woodbury, Joseph H., Co. I, 25lh Inf.; must. Sept. 29, 1802; disch. with com-
pany.

Webster, John h. S., Co. I, 25th Inf ; must. Se|it. 29, ISC2 ; disch. with company.
Webster, Joseph H., Co. I, 25th Inf; must. Sept 29, 1S62; disch, with company.
Wright, John S., wiig..ner, Co. I; must. Sept. 29, 1802; disch. with company.
Waterhouse, Juhu L., Co. G, 7th Inf; must. Aug, 21, 1861 ; trans. I80i,

Williams, John (2d), Co. U, lotli Inf ; must Feb. 21, 1805.
Woodbury, Edward I., Co. B, Coast Guard* H. Art, ; must. Oct. 29, 1801.

Wateriiouso, I. D., sergt., Co. G, 7th Inf ; ma,t. Aug. 21, 1801 ; reduced by his
own ri'quest, 1882.

Waterhou«e, C, H., Co. G, 7th inf; must. Aug. 21, 1801
;
pro. to corp.

Waterhouse, Charles H., sergt, Co. E,17tb Inf; must Aug. 18, 1802; died Dec.
26, 1862.

Wiieeler, William, Co. E, 17lh Inf; must. Aug. 18, 1862; disch. Sept 12, 1803.

Wlllard, Henry E., Co. A, 1st Inf ; must Mjiy 3, 1861 ; com|iany disch. Aug. 5,

1861.

York, Jus. B , Co. B, Isl Inf; must. May 3, 1861; company disch. Aug. 5, 1861.

FOBEIOK EiniSTKEirrS.
Anihon, John, l:lth Illinois Inf
Bolton, Charles D., U. S. Navy.

Chambers, Wlili.m, V. 8. Nayy.

Dyer, Willliim, Washini^n, D. C. Cut.

Farreu, Anthony, V. S. Naiy.

Hayes, James E , U. S. Nayy.
Hartmaii, Stephen, ITtli U. 8. Inf
Johnson, Lovler N,, 99tli PeonsylTanla Inf
Knight, Noah B,, 17th n, S. Inf.

Lindsay, William U., 54th Peunsylyania Inf
Pool, William, C. S. Nayy.

Tinker, John, U. S, Na»y.

York, James, 33d Pennsylyania Inf

CASCO.
Archibald, Amos C, Co. D, 15th Inf.; must Dec, 10, 1801 ; trans, to Vet. Kes.

Corps, April 30, 1804.

Brown, George L., Co. E, 8th Inf; must. Sept. 7, 1861.

Berry, Jeremiah, Co. C, 18th Inf; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; died at Washington,

Jan, 4, 1863.

Brackett, Charies E, Co. C, 17lh Inf; must. Aug. 18, 1802; disch, Jan. 28, 1803.

Dyer, Addison F., 27th Inf; must April 11, 1804.

Dyer, .lohn, Co. C, nth Inf; must. Aug. 18, 1802; disch. March 10, 1S03.

Dayid, Thomas J., Co. D, 15th Inf ; must Dec. 10, 1801 ; died Nov. 24, 1803.

Davis, Eben, Co. D, 15th Inf; must Dec. 10, 1801 ; disch. at New Orleans, July

15, 1862.

Emery, Charles C, Co. D, 5th Inf; must. Deo. 10, 1861 ; re-enl. Jan. 25, 1864.

Edwards, Ablal H., Co. K,bth Inf.; must. Oct. 4, 1861.

Quimby, Charies H., Co. 1, 9th Inf; must. Oct. 4, 1861.

Graffam, Henry, Co. C, 17th Inf ; must Aug. 18, 186i ;
pro, to corp, ; wounded

May 5, 1864.

Holden, Samuel M,, Co, B, 1st Cay, ; must October, 1861.

Hall, Jordan M., sergt., Co. C, 17th Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1802
;
pro. to 1st sergt.

and 2d lieut, Co. F.

Hois, John, lleul., Co. C, 29tb Inf ; must Feb. 7, 1865 ; disch. Feb. 7, 1806.

Lord, John, Co. E, 13th Inf.: must, March 24, 1866.

MaxBeld, Levi C, Co. C, I3th Inf - must. Dec. 19, 1861; disch. with company.

Meserve, Alnozo, Co. D, 16lh Inf. ; must. Dec. 10, 1861 ; died at Ship Isiaud,

May 24, 1862.

MaxOeld, John T., Co. G, 14th Inf ; must. Dec. 12, 1861.

McLeiian, John Corp., Co. K, 5th Inf.; must June 24, 1801 ;
pro. to 2d lieut

May 1, 1863.

McLellan, William, Co. K, 6th Inf ; must Nov. 9, 1861.

Meserve, John, Co. K, 5th Inf ; must Nov. 9, 1861.

Noble, George W., Co. F, 5tli Inf ; must. June 24, 1861.

Pinkham, William L., musician, Co. II, 11th Inf ; must Nov. 12, 1861.

Plnkham, Albert M., 27th un&osigned company of Inf. ; must. April 0, 1805.

B'»K, Cyrus L., Co, H, 10th Inf; must Dec. 30, 1863; missing in battle, Aug.

25, 1804.

Bing, Seth C, 28th Co. Inf.; must April 11, 1865.

Spiller, Alpheus, 27th Inf; must April 11, 1865.

Symonds, Orasmus, Cu. Q, 17th Inf ; must Aug. 18, 1802.

Spiller, Orrin B., Co. C, 17tli Inf; must Aug. 18, 1862; disch. March 10, 1803.

Spiller, Josiah G. M., sergt, Co. C, 17th Inf.; must. Aug. 18, 1802; reduced, 1863

;

trans, to Vet lies. Corps, 1804.

Skinner, George F., Co. H, 6th Inf ; ma-it July 15, 1861.

Spiller, Joshua S., Cu. K, 5th Inf; must, Nov. 9, 1861.

Stewart, Talbot G., Corp., Co. K, 6th Inf ; must. June 24, 1861; reduced; de-

tached

Thurston, Jacob, Co. D, 15th Inf ; must. Dec. 10, 1861.

Tubba, Harlan B., Co. C, 13th Inf; must Jan. 19, 1864; disch. from hospital,

Juno 12, 1865.
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Whitney, Janiea, Co. E, Ut Inf. ; must. Mny 3, ISet.

Welch, William A., Co. H, l»t Inf. ; must. Mny 3, 1861.

Wigiit, Hpzekiali C, Co. F, Slli Irif : moat. Sept. 7, 1861.

Whitney, Janus, sprgt., Co. B, 11th Inf.; must. Not. 8, 1861.

Welch, William A., sergt., Co. D, 19th Inf. ; must. Bee. 10, 1861 ; reduced, 1862

;

diarh. Jan. 19, 186S.

Welch, Ro(>ert B., Co. D, 15th Inf.; mn<t. Dec. 13, 1861 ; pro. to Corp.. 1863; re-

enl. Jan. 25,1864; pro, to sprgt.

WInalov, Josish, Co. A, Sth Inf ; most. June 24, 1861.

Welch, Stephen 8., Co. 0, ITtli luf. ; mnat. Ang. 18, 1862 ; pro. to corp. and aergt.

;

diMch. with company.

Witham, Henry, Co. G, ITIh Inf.; muat. Ang. 18, 1862; killed at Gfttyalmrg,

July 3.

WInatow, Vernon F., Co. E, lOth Inf ; mnit. Jan. 4, 1864 ; Irana. to lat Mains

B. Art.

Wiglit, Uarciia O., Co. C, 1:1th Inf. ; mn^t Dec. 29, 1863 ; died Feb. IS, 1863, on

paaaage to New Orleuria.

Whitney, William, Co. H,.<>lh Inf.; mnat. Dec. 17, 1861; wonnded at Antietiim

;

trans, to Ixt Maine Vetenina In 1864.

FDBEI3N ENLISIUEITTS.

Hall, Cbarlra B., 7lh Man. Inf.

PInkham,' AI|i1ii>u7.o H., 6tli Miiai*. Inf.

Flnkham, Fernando P., 6tb Maas. Inf.

CUMBERLAND.
Adklna, Moses, Co. 6,25tl) Inf.; must Sept. 29, 1802 ; diach. with company, July

10, 18»l.

BaTston,'jerpmiah B., Co. E, I7th Inf.; muat. Ang. 18, 1862; miaaing May 12,

1864.

Bluncliard, Solomon L., Co. E, 17th Inf.-; muat. Aug. 18, 1862; tmna. to Inralid

Corps, 1864.

BInncbard, Homer E., Co. E, I7th Inf. ; muat. Ang. 18, 1862 ; died Dec. 1, 1862.

Blanchard, Joseph H., Co. B, 2£tb Inf.; muat. Sept. 29, 1862; died Dec. 7, 1802.

Bianrhanl. David L., regimental band ; must. Oct. 6, 1861 ; diach. In September,

1862, under order muateriiig out reg' mental bands; re.^nliHted.

Cullla, BufuH, Co. G, I3th Inf.; must. Jan. 16, 1862; pro. to Corp.; trana. Jan.

6, 1865.

Qough, Simon L., Co. B, 25lh Inf.: muat. Sept. 29, 1862; dlnch. with company.

Doughty, Grorge H., Co. B, 25th Inf. ; muat. Sept. 29, 1862; dlech. with company.

Doughty, George S , Corp., Co. F, 3Uth Inf. ; must. Dec. 29, 1863 ; disch. Aug. 20,

186.5.

Eaton, Cyi-us H., Co. B, 25th Inf.; muat. Sept. 29, 1862; di^ch. with company.

Farwell, Francia O., Co. B,25lh Inf.; mu4l. Sept. 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Farwell, Simon L., Co. B, 25th Inf ; must. Sept. 29, 1862°; disch. with company.

Greeley, Horatio, Corp., Co. B, 2dth Inf.; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ; diach. with com-

pany.

Gteeley, Cliarles,Co. E, nth Inf.; muat. Ang. 18, 1862; wounded May .% 1864.

Gould, Samuel, Co. G, 2d Inf. ; muat. Dec. 21, 1861 ; disch. Jim. 17, 1802.

Greeley, Horace B., sergt., Co. C, 13tii Inf.; must. Dec. 12, 1862; diach. Jan. 6,

1866.

Uanley, Thomaa, Co. A, 1st Inf. ; muat. May 3, 1861.

Hall, William T., Co. B, 25th Inf. ; muat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Heron, Daniel, Co. A, 2Uth Inf. ; muit Feb. 8, 1865 ; disch. June 6, 1865.

Hanby, Thomas, sergt. Go. E, 29th Inf.; muat. Kot. 13, 1863.

Latham, Seward M., Co. O, Sth Int ; must Ang. 30, 1862 ; trans, to lat Maine

Yeta., 1864; pro. to Corp.

Latham, James F., Co. B, 26th Inf. ; mu<t. Sept 29, 1862 ;
pro. to sergt. ; disch.

with company.

Leighlon, Ellas F., Co. B, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; diwh. with company.

Leighton, Moses W., Cu. B, 25th Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Leighton, Patrick H., Co. B, 2Sth luf. ; muat Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with com-

pany.

Heaerre, Yincent, Co. E, 17th Inf.; mnat Ang. 18, 1863; diach. March 27, 1864.

Morrlaon, John T., Co. C, 12th Inf. ; must. Nor. 15, 1861.

MuuntCirt, Hollls B., aergt., Co. B, 25th Inf. ; muit Sept 29, 1802 ;
pro. to 2d

lieut.

Merrill, William H. C, Co. B, 36lh Inf.; muat Sept 29, 1862; diach. with com-

pany.

Merrill, Joalnh, Jr., Cu. B, 25th Inf. ; mnat Sept 29, 1802 ; diach. with company.

Mann'.furt, Daniel H., Co. B, 2Sth Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862; dbch. with com-

pany.

Monntfurt, James W., Co. B. 2Slh Inf.; must. Sept. 29, 1862.

Honnlfort, Oils A., Co. B, 26th Inf.; must. Sept. 29, 1862; dlnch.wilh company.

Prince, Frederick C, 1st aergt., Co. C, 2d Car. ; mnat Dec. 3, 186:1.

Prince, William B., Co. B, lat Car. ; muat. Feb. 20, 1864 ; dle<l.

Prince, Howard L, Co. A, 20th Inf. ; Joined aa capt., Aug. 29, 1862 ; wounded

May 8, 1864.

Phalon. William, Co. A, 20th Inf. ; must Feb. 7, 1866.

Bideout, Reuben, Co. B, 17lh Inf. ; must Ang. 18, 1862 ; died at Wasliington,

Oct. 17, 1862.

Bideout, Joseph M., Co. B, 17th Inf. ; mnat Aug. 18, 1862 ; wounded May 5,

1864; dieii.

Bines, Charles F., Co. B, 26th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1802; disch. with company.

Smith, William, Cu. A, 2()th Inf.; muit Feb. 7, 1865.

Stuliba, Daniel M., 5th Mounted Art; must Dec. 4, 1361.

Sanborn, James, Co. B, 25th Inf.; muit. Sept. 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Sanlwm, Joalah, Co. B, 26th Inf.; muat Sept. 29, 1802 ; diacll. witli company.

Sliaw, Ellas B., Co. B, 26th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Thompson, George L., Co. B,25lh Inf.; must Sept. 29, 1862; disch. with com-

pany.

Taylor, Warren, Co. O, 25th Inf.; must Oct. 14, 1862; di-ch. with compmy.

Wilson, Edward H., sergt.-mi^j ., mnst December, 1861.

Wyman, Charles W., &•. F, 1st Car. ; miut. Oct 19, 1801.

FOBZIOR EirUSTUEHTS.

Blanrhaid, Ferdinand C, tat Missouri L. Art.

Blanchard, Horatio F., U. 8. Nary.

Blanchard, Ciiarles A., U. S. Nary.

Borry, James H., officer in n. S. Nary.

Farwell, Frederick, 6th Hasaachiisetts Inf.

Greely, EUplialet, 47th Massachusetts Int

Gales, John, U. 3. Gulf Sqnadron.

Johnson, Jnhn, V. S. Qulf Squadron.

KenloD, Bobsrt H. V. S. Nary.

Pote, Orthemlai M., U. 8. Nary.

Btmli, William 8., 13th Maasachnaotts Inf.

Sweetaer, Henry, U. 8. Nary.

FALMOUTH.
Abbott, John S., sergt., Co. C, 12th Inf. ; muat Nor. 15, 1801 ; color-sergt of

the.regt,1802.

Allen, Daniel A, Co. C, 12th Inf.; mnat. Nor. 16, 1861.

Allen, (ieorge, Co. B, 25th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company, July

10, 1861.

Allen, Leander, Co. B, 25th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company,

July 10, 1863.

Allen, Hodman, Co. B, 25th Inf. ; muit Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company,

July 10, 186.3.

Brown, Kzeklel, C!o. B, 25th Inf. ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Bnrrill, Henty T., Co. B, 25th Inf. ; mnst. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Buxton, Stillman, 2d Inf. ; muat July 21, 1861 ; trans, to Co. 1, 20th Inf., 1863

;

diach. Sept 6,1864.

Baxter, Elijah, Co. H, 13th Inf. ; muat. Oct. 7, 186-3.

Field, Ephralm B, Co. H, 25th Inf. ; muat. Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. Oct l4, 1862.

Foster, George G., Co. B, 2oth Inf.; muat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Fletcher, George C, Co. I, 12th Inf. ; must. Oct 4, 1861.

Gammon, Mark, Co. 1, 12th Inf. ; muat. Oct 4, 1801.

Galliaon, Charlea, Co. E, 25th Inf. ; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Haakell, Juahna, Co. B, 25th Inf.; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. witli company.

Rodgdon, Moses S.,Co. B.2'>thlnf.; must Sept 29, 1802; disch. with company.

Huston, Wm. M., Co. B, ^'ith Inf. ; muat Sept 29, 1802 ; disch. with company.

Knight, Edwin P., Co. B, 25th Inf. ; must Oct 4, 1861.

Knight, Joseph F., Co. H, 31at Inf. ; mu^t April 21, 1804 ; miasing in battle.

Knight, Osmond W., Co. E, lat Inf. ; must May 3, 1861.

Libby, George H., Co. C, I2tb Inf.; must Nor. 16, 1861 ; died at Ship Island,

March 16, 1862.

Libby, Femald, Co. C, 12th Inf. Coast Guards ; must Oct 29, 1861 ; disch. Sept

9, 1862.

Lambert, John W., Co. B, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29,1862 ; disch. with company.

Leighton, Mark L., Co. B, 26lh Inf. ; muat. Sept. 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Libby, Darius S., Co. H, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; missing in battle.

May 0, 1864.

Marstoii, James E., Co. B, 25th Inf. ; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with compa'iy.

Merrill, Harian P., Co. B, 2.5th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Merrill, Horatio, Co. B, 25th InC ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Merrill, William P., Co. B, 25th Inf. ; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Merrill, William P., Corp., Cu. F, 30th Inf. ; mnat Dec. 29, 1863.

MItcliell, James E., sergt, Co. C, 29th Inf. ; must. Dec. 17, 1863 : disch. with

company, June 21, 1866.

Merrill, William A., Cu. C, 31st lot. ; must March 23, 1864 ; trans, to Co. C, 31sl

Inf., in 1864.

Morton, John F., Co. B, 26th Inf.; mnat Sept 29, 1862; diach. with company.

Oabome, Andrew P., Co. B, 26th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Osborne, James H., Co. H, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862.

Pease, Jolin M., Co. H, 25th Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Pnrinton, William G. W., Co. B, 25th Inf ; muat Sept 29, 1862; diach. Jan.

29, 1863.

Fettengill, Wlllhun H. H., Co. B, 26th Inf. ; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with
company.

Pratt, Aretua E., Corp., Co. H, Sth Inf.; mnat June 24, 1861.

Boberta, Charles H., Co. 1, 1st Inf.; must. May 3, 18AI.

Bamsdell, Eben H., Co. B, 2Sth Inf. ; mnst Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Bublnson, Luther, Co. B, 2Sth Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Buberts, Charlea H., Co. I ; mnat Oct. 4, 1801 ; diach. June 10, 1862.

Scott, Alonzo H., Co. I; mnst Oct 4, 1801.

Swetl, Alonzo F., Co. I ; muat Oct. 4, 1801 ; re-enl. in Co. 0, 29lh Inf.

Smellldge, Anguatua, Co. D. ; must Dec. 10, 1861.
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SauDdera, Stillman H^ Co. G, 6th Inf. : must June 23, 1861.
Sonle, Henry, Co. G, 5th Inf.; must. Juno 23, 18(.l.

Saunders, Samuel, Co. B, 2ith Inf. ; must. Sept. 20, 1862 ; dlscL. with compan.v.
Shapley, Levi, Co. B, 12th Inf.; must. Not. 20, 1861.
Wilson, Nathaniel B., musician, Co. B, 25th Inf.; must. Sept. 29, 1862; disch.

with company, July 10, 1863.

Walker, Emery 0, Corp., Co. B, 25th Inf.; must. Sept. 29,1862; dlsch. with
company.

Woodbury, Bbeneier, Co. B, 25th Inf.; must. Sept. 29, 1862; discb. with com-
pany.

Wlswell, Charles A. D., Co. H., 25tli Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with
company.

Waile, John A., Co. E, 8th Inf.; must July 13, 1863; died at Fortress Monroe,
Ang. 30,1864.

Wilsdu, George W., Co. C, 37th Inf.; missing May 27, 1864.

FOaSIOK ENLISTHEHTS.
Fletcher, Charles H, 15th Mass. Inf.

Field, Alden, U. S. Army.
Lelghton, James G., Mass. Sharpshooters.

Libby, Fernald, V. S. Army,
Merrill, Ale-rander P, U. S. Nary.
Merrill, Charlea J., U. S. Englneen.
Merrill, Paul E., C. S. Engineera.

Marston, Andrew J., U. S. Engineers.

Pool, aiarlea B., Mass. CaT.

FREEPORT,
Andrews, Edward P. S., Corp., Co. G, 25th Inf. ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with

company.

Adderton, William, Co. 0, 25th Inf. ; mast. Sept. 29, 1862 ; died at Georgetown,
D. C, April 20, 1863.

Anderson, Aiidrew, Co. A, 12th Inf. ; must. Feb. 10, 1865.

Allen, Albion, Co. E, 17th Inf. ; most. Aug. 18, 1662 ; discb. with company, June
4, 1866.

Andrews, Tristram, Co D, Ist Inf. ; must May 3, 1861.

Banks, James H., Co. E, 13th Inf.; mnst. Dec. 10, 1861 ;
pro. to Corp. 1362;

wounded May 15, 1864; arm amputated ; disch. for disability.

BragdoD, Joseph, Co. E, 13th In£ ; must. Deo. 10, 1861 ; disch. April 21, 1864.

Bailey, Maciah A., Co. B, 30th Inf.; must. Feb. 2, 1864 ; trans, from Co.K ; pro.

to Corp.; disch. with company.

Bennett, Wm. F , Co. B, 30th Inf. ; must. March 24, 1865 ; disch. with company.

Brewer, Henry C, 1st sergt., Co. G, 25th Inf. ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with

company, July 10, 1863.

Brewer, Anderaon J., Co. K, 20th Inf. ; must. Aug. 29, 1862; died at Antietam,

Md., Oct. 28, 1862.

Brewer, Isaac D., Co. K, 20th Inf. ; must. Aug. 29, 1862 ; disch. June 19, 1863.

Brewer, Charles U., Co. G, 5lh laL ; must June 21, 1861 ; wounded Sept' 14,

1862
;
pro. to Corp.

Coffin, John W., Co. 0, 12th Inf. ; must March 1, 1866.

Cnshing, James E., Co. K, 12th Int ; must. Not. 16, 1861 ;
pro. to corp.

Coffin, Ansyl B., Co. E, 13tk Inil ; must. Dec. 10, 1861 ; dlsch. Jan. 6, 1864.

Coffin, Otis L., Co. £, 13th In£; must Dec. 10, 1861 ;
pro. to corp. ; re-enlisted ;

transferred, 1864.

Cliase, Charles M., Co. K, 20th Inf. ; must Ang. 29, 1862
;
pro. to Corp., to sergt,

and chief musician, 1864.

Cross, Eugene F., Co. D, 14th lat ; must March 13, 1865.

Day, James H., Co. K, 12th Inf.; must. Not. 16, 1861; re-enl. Jan. 1, 1864;

trans, to battalion 1st Maine Begt.

Dennison, Emeraon, Co. E, 13lh Inf. ; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; died at Ft St Philip,

Ang. 28, 1862.

Dennison, George W., Co. E, 13th Ini: ; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; disch. Jan. 19, 1863.

Donlhue, George L,, Co. 1, 29th Inf. ; must Aug. 11, 1862 ; trans, from battalion,

10th Maine Begt, 1864.

Field, Bnel N., Corp., Co. G, 7th Inf. ; must Aug. 21, 1861 ;
pro. to sergt. ; trans.

to Ambulance Corps, 1862.

Field, Albion, Co. B, 30tb laL ; must Dec. 18, 1863 ; died April 20, 1864.

Grant, Enoch F., Co. K, 20th Inf. ; must Aug. 29, 1862 ; dlsch. 1864.

Grant, Walter S., Co. K, 20th Inf.; mnst. Ang. 29, 1862; died March 1, 1864.

Gould, Floris E., Co. G, 32d iQf. ; must May 6,1864; trans. toCo.I, 31st Maine

Begt., Dee. 1, 1864.

Greenwood, Joseph, Co. E, 11th Int. ; must Dec 1, 1864 ; disch. May 2S, 1865.

Griffin, James H., Co. B, 30th Inf. ; mnst Oec. 18, 1863 ; trans, to Co. 1, 1864.

Grant, Daniel W., Co. D, 17th Inl; must Sept 2, 1863 ; trans, to lat H. Art., In

1864.

Gumey, Thomas J.. Co. G, 5th Inf. ; must June 21, 1861 ; wonnded at battle of

Gaines' Mills; died.

Greene, James W., Co. K, 12th Inf.; must Not. 16, 1861; pro. to corp. 1863;

re-enl. Jan. 1, 1864; trans, to batulion Ist Mrtlne Begt.

Grant Joseph A., Co. E, 13th Inf.; must. Oec. 10, 1861.

Grant, Marshall, Co. E, 13th Inf ; must Dec. 10, 1861.

Gregg, William, Co. E, 13th Inf. ; must. Deo. 10, 1861.

Holhrook, Jamea H., Corp., Co. E, 13th Inf. ; mnst. Dec. 10, 1861.

HUl, Wellington, Co. H, 30th Inf. ; must Dec. 29, 1863 ; dlsch. with company.
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Haskell, John I., 1st Army Corps ; must March 31, 1865.

Hall, Levi, Ist Army Corps; must. March 31, 1865.

Hanson, Thomas, lat Army O^rps ; must. March 31, 1866.

Haskell, Augustus M., Co. K, 12tli Inf.; must Sot. 16, 1861
;

pro. to corp. ; de-

tached, 1863.

Johnson, George W., Co. F, 10th Inf. ; must Oct 4, 1861 ; dlsch. June 6, 1862.

Johnson, Albert A., Co. E, ITtii Inf. ; must. Ang. 18, 1862 ; wounded at Gettys-

burg ; dlsch. April 11, 1864.

Johnson, Cyrus, Co. B, 17tli Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; wounded May 2, 1863
;

missing Sept 15, 1863.

Jordan, Eleazer W., Co. K, 12th Inf. ; must Not. 16, 1861.

Jordan, DaTid J., Co. B, 30th Inf. ; must Dec. 19, 1863.

Kendall, John C, Co. E, 30Ih Inf. ; must. Sept 1, 1864 ;
Joined as capt. ; dlsch.

by order, Jan. 4, 1866.

Libby, Greenlenf B., Co. K, 12th Inf.; must Dec. 13, 1861; pro. to Corp., 1862
;

re-enl. Jan. 1, 1864 ; trans, to battalion 12th Maine Begt.

Lincoln, Clinton, Co. E, 17th Inf ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; disch. Feb. 13, 1863.

Lane, Peter, Co. K, 12th Inf. ; must Not. 16, 1861 ; detached at headqnarters, 2d
DlT., 19th Army Corps.

Libby, Greenleaf E., Co. K, 12th Int ; mnst Not. 16, 1861 ;
pro. to sergt.

;

re-enl. Jan. 1, 1864; trans, to battalion 12th Maine Begt.

Means, John P., Co. K, 12th Inf. ; mnst. Dec. 9, 1861.

Merrill, Moses, Jr., Co. K, 12th Inf. ; must Not. 16, 1861; re-enl. Jan. 1, 1864

;

wounded Oct 19, 1864; trans, to battalion, 1st Maine Begt.

Mitchell, Alonzo, Co. G, 5th Inf. ; must June 21, 1861 ;
pro. to sergt., Jan. 16,

1862.

Mitchell, James E., Co. E, 17th Inf. ; mnst Ang. 18, 1862 ; wonnded May 2, 1863 ;

trans, to Vet Res. Corps.

Merrill, Wm. F., Co. K, 20th Inf. ; must Aug. 29, 1862 ; killed at Gettysburg.

McFariand, Robert, Co. E, 13th Inf. ; must. Dec. 10, 1861 ; disch. with company.
McFarland, Robert H., Co. E, 13th Inf. ; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; disch. in Elaine.

Mann, John D., sergt., Co. G, 25th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with com-

pany.

Mitchell, Mark M., Corp., Co. G, 26th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with

company.

McFarlHnd, Wm., Co. G, 26th Inf.; must, Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Means, William N., Cu. G, 25th Inf. ; muat. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Means, Daniel M., Co. 0, 25th Inf.; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with company.

Merrill, Gilman, Co. 0, 26th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Metcalf, George W., Co. G, 25th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Metcalf, Ansel L., Co. G, 25th Inf.; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Mitchell, Parmenas, Co. G, 29th Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ; discb. with company.

Merrill, Henry F., Co. E, 30th Inf. ; must. Dec. 12, 1863 ; taken prisoner ; ex-

changed; disch. for disability, 1864.

Moulton, Frederick, Co. D, 20th Inf. ; must Feb. 18, 1865 ; disch. June 12, 1865.

Mutter, Alonzo, Co. D, 29th Inf. ; must. Aug. 6, 1862.

Nason, Lewis, Co. G, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

NeTons, Hiram, Co. G, 25th Inf. ; mnst. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Palmer, Darius L., Co. K, 12th Int ; mnst Nov. 16, 1861.

Patterson, Eben M., Co. K, 12th Inf. ; must Not. 16, 1861 ; re-enl. Jan. 1, 1864

;

trans, to Bat 12th Maine.

Prescott, Charles E, Bat. L, Ist H. Art.; must. Jan. 1, 1864; dledof wounds, Juue

18, 1864.

Plnkham, George L., Co. H, loth Inf. ; must Aug. 6, 1862 ; died at Berlin, Md.

,

Oct. 14, 1862.

Polllster, Joseph M., Diet, of Columbia, CaT.; must March 4, 1864.

Pike, James Henry, Co. D, let Bat Inf. ; must April 6, 1865.

Plnmmer, John H., Co. K, 30th Inf.; must. Feb. 2, 1864; died Aug. 13, 1864.

Pratt, Thonma C, Co. 0, 2Sth Inf ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with company.

Pratt, Thomas 0., Co. E, 30th Inf. ; must Dec. 12, 1863 ; wounded April 9, 1864

;

pro. to Corp. ; disch. as supernumerary corp.

Bandall, Alonzo, Co. O, 25th Inf ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; wounded April 9, 1864.

Reed, Frank S., Co. G, 26th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862 ; wounded April 9, 1864.

Sogers, Albert, Co. G, 25th Inf. ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; wounded April 9, 1864.

Sogers, Eli B., Co. G, 25th Inf ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; wonnded April 9, 1864.

Bogen, Seth 0., Co. C, 31st Inf.; must March 23, 1864; Teteran.

Randall, Albert, Co. D, 1st Inf. ; must May 3, 1801.

Roberts, W.H. H., Co. K, I2th Inf. ; must Not. 16, 1861 ; detached 1863; re-enl.

Jan. 1, 1863 ; wounded Sept, 19, 1864 ; trans, to battalion Ist Maine.

Sonle, Edwin A., mnalcian, Co, K, 12th Int ; must Nov. 16, 1861 ; re-euL Jan 1,

1864 ; trans, to Bat 1st Maine.

Sherman, Bobert W., sergt., Co. G, 25th Inf. ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with

company.

Smalley, Jamea M., Co. 0, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862; dlsch. with company.

Sonle, George W.,Co. 0, 26th Int; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Sonle, Benjamin F., Co. G, 25th Int ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Soule, Enoch C, Co. B., 30th Inf. ; must Deo. 18, 1863 ; dlsch. Oct 8, 1864.

Stack, William, Co. F, 16th Int ; must March 24, 1868 ;
pro. corp.

Sawyer, Joshua L., Co. E, 13th Int ; must. Dec. 10, 1861 ; died Sept 1, 1884.

Soule, Charles H., Co. E, 13th Int ; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; pro. to sergt ; re-enl.

1864; transferred.

SUples, George H, Co. E, 13th Int ; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; disch. with company.

Talbot, Josiah, Co. E, 13eh Int; must. Deo. 10, 1861.

Tenuey, George F., Co. E, 17th Int; must. Aug. 18, 1862 ; died Dec. 5, 1862.

Tedford, John S., Co. E, 17th Int ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; disch. Feb. 23, 186 i.

Towusend, Joseph H., Co. G, 26th Int; must Sept 29, 1862; diech. with com-

pany.
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TowDMnd, Ranben, Co. Q, 25th Inf. ; muat. Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch: with oompany.
Towiuend, Walter S., Co. B, 30th Init, muiit. Dee. 18, 18«3 ; train, to Co. 1, 1864.

Towiuend, GnuiTille M., Co. C, 30th Int; matt. Dec. 18, 1863; tram, tu Co. B,

1864.

Trae, Lather, Co. E, 30th Inf. ; molt. Dec. 12, 1863 ; died from wonndi, Ang.

9,1864.

Thomaa, WUUam H., Co. K, 12th Inf. ; mnit Not. 16, 1861 ; re^llL Jan. 1, 1864

;

tiaiu. to Bat. let Ualna.

Tme, Beaben S., Co. T, lOth Inf.; moat Aug. 18, 1862; mlaatng, Aug. 24, 1862.

Wyman, Jomph O., Co. B, 13th Int ; mnet. Dec. 10, 1861 ; died Joly 29, 1864.

Wllaon, StillDian, Co. H, lOth Inf.; must. Ang. 12, 1862; traoK 1863.

Wyman, Spencer H., Corp., Co. K, 20th Int ; mart. Ang. 29, 1862 ; pro. to sergt.

and 2d lient.

Ward, Albion, corp, Co. 0, 2Sth Int ; mnit. Sept 29, 1862 ; di«ch with company.
Walker, Timoth; 3., Co. 0, 2Sth Int ; mnet. Sept. 29, 1862 : diKh. with company.

Walker, Albert, Co. O, 26th Int ; mnit Sept. 29, 1862; diioh. with company.

Ward, Harriion, Co. 0, 25th Int ; mnet. Sept 29, 1862; dlech. Feb. IT, 1862.

Ward, Henry, Co. 0, 26tb Int; mort. Sept 29, 1862 ; dlKh. Feb. 2T, 1862.

Wanl, Joaeph 0., Go. 0, 25th Int ; mnit Sept 29, 186! ; dlaoh. with company.

WiUon, Ellaa S., Co. O, 25th Int ; mnat Sept. 29, 1862 ; dtach. with company.

Webber, AiaW.,Oo.K, 30th Int; muat Deo. 30, 1863 ; died Hay 8, 1864.

Webber, Charlei B., Co. 0, 31rt Int ; mnat March 23, 1864 ; died In rebel priaon,

Oct 1864.

Wooda, Sdward W, DIat. of Columbia Oar. ; mnat Tab. 8, 1864.

Welch, laaao 0, Co. D, ISth Int; mnat Jan. 26, 1864; pro. to corp.

FOBBieir ENUBTHEIITS.
Brewer, Joel, TT. 3. Naty.

Chadaey, George, U. 8. Navy.

Chadaey, William, V. 8. Navy.

DUIIngham, John M., V. 8. Navy.

Field, George, Haia.

Farwall, Joaeph, Jr., IT. 8. Aimy.

Hyde, John A., U. 8. NaTy.

Bogen, William P., U. 8. NaTy.

Bogera, John J., U. 8. NaTy.

Stookbtldge, Cnahlng H., V. 8. NaTy.

Bogen, Seth 0., New York Sire Zouares.

Tripp, Charlee, ITth D. 8. Int

GORHAM.
Andrewa, Abiam S., Co. F, 16th Int ; mnat Aug. 14, 1862; taken prisoner July

1, 1863 ; died in primn. Not. 2, 1863.

Bradbury, Chariea H., Co. K, 3d Int; muat June 4, 1861.

Beck, George D., aergt., Co. A, 5th Int; mast June 24, 1861.

Boyd, William H., mualdan, Co. A ; muat June 24, 1861.

Bnmell, Jamea B., Co. A, 5th Int ; muat. June 24, 1861 ; diach. Oct 23, 1861.

Banga, Edwin O., Co. O; muat Dec. 26, 1861.

Bracket!, Hiram E., Co. A, lat CaT. ; mnat Feb. 19, 1864; diach. Hay 8,1866.

Bond, Benjamin F., Co. H, 17tb Int ; muat Ang. 18, 1862 ; pro. to corp. ; diach.

with company.

Bailey, John P., wagoner, Co. E, 13th Int ; muat. Dec. 10, 1861 ; re^nl. Febru-

ary, 1864; txanaArred.

Boyd, William H., musician, Co. A, 6th Int ; must Dec 28, 1863, aa Tateian

;

trana. to lat Maine Begt

Buck, Theodon E., Co. I, 30th Int ; muat Jan. 6, 1864.

Blair, Samuel S., Co. F, 16lh Int ; must. Aug. 14, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Brown, Jamea B., Co. I, ITth Int; muat Aug. 18, 1862; died Aug. 1, 1863.

Brown, Freeman, Co. K, ITth Int ; muat Sept. 6, 1863.

Biagdon, Wm. H., Co. F, 26th Int; muat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Baker, Andraw, Co. K, 25th Int; mnat Sept 29, 1862.

Otoak, John, Co. 0, 14th Int ; must. Jan. 8, 1862.

Cannell, Heman, Go. K, 9th Int; muat Sept 21, 1861; diach. May 10, 1863.

Cannell, Lot, Co. K, 9tb Int ; mnrt. Sept 21, 1861 ; taken prisoner ; exchanged

;

on proToat duty at Baltimore, Md., in 1863 ; re-enlisted.

Cannell, William, Corp., Go. F, 16th Int ; must. Ang. 14, 1862 ; taken prisoner

;

killed July 1, 1863.

CoUey, William W., sergt, Co. F, 26th Int; must Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with

company.

Oknnell, Bamabaa, Go. F, 26th Int; muat 3ept 29, 1862; diach. with company.

CUineU, John W, Co. F, 26th Int : mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Copp, Jamea F., Co. K, 26th Int; muat. Sept 29, 1862; diach. with company.

Cllley, OllTer, Co. A, 5th Int; muat. June 24, 1861 ; diach. with company.

Connell, Samuel A., Go. D, 20th Int; mnat Feb. 14, 1865.

Carter, Dendua F, Co. C, 29th Int; mnat Feb. T, 1866.

Olondman, Edwin H., Co. B, 2d CaT. ; mnat Sept 30, 1864 ; diach. Sept 16, 1865.

Ghapman, B. G, corp, Co. K, 12th Int; muat Not. 20, 1861 ; trans, to Co. B.

Colby, Joaeph, Jr, Co. B, 12th Int; muat. Not. 20, 1861.

Dooglasa, Eliaha, oorp., Co. K, 26th Int; muat Sept 29, 1862.

DIngley, Samuel, corp., Co. K, 2&th Int; mnrt. Sept 29, 1862; pro. to sergt,

March 1, 1863.

DaTis, Daniel W., Go. K, 25fh Int ; muat Sept 29, 1862.

Douglaii, Edw. K.,Co. K, 26th Int ; murt. Sept 29, 1862.

Darling, Geo. L., Co. A, 6th Int ; mast Dec. 28, 1863 ; taken pris., Oct 19, 1864

;

axcbanged; re^nlisted; tiana. to Irt MaIno Yst Int

DulTey, Peter, Co. A, 6th Int ; muat. Dec. 28, 1863 ; died of wounda, June 20, 1864.

Devine, Ainbonzo, Go. C, 9th Int; muat 3ept 26, 1864.

Day, George L , Co. K, 29th Int ; muat. Feb. IT, 1866.

Day, Albert F., Co. K, 29tb Int ; mnat Feb. 21, 1864.

Eaton, Chariea P., Co. K, 12th Int ; muat Not. 16, 1861 ; detached to Signal

Corpa, 1863.

Edwarda, Chariea M., Corp., Co. A, 5th Int; muat June 1,1861; diach. with

comiwny.

Elder, Alouzo 8 , Co. A, 5th Int ; murt. June 24, 1861 ; died of wounds, Not. 9,

186.3.

Edwarda, Blchmood, Co. A, 5tb Int ; must June 24, 1861; pro. to Corp., July 30.

Elwell, Chariea H., Co. A, 6th Int ; mnat June 24, 1861 ; disch. Sept 29, 1861.

Files, Joaeph, Jr., corp., Co. K, 26th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862.

Files, Albion P., Co. K, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862.

Farwell, Walter H., Co. A, 6th Inf. ; muat June 24, 1861 ; disch. with company.

Ftink, Isaac M., Co. A, 5th Int ; must June 24, 1861.

Files, Wm. H. P., Co. C, 32d Int ; muat May 23, 1864 ; trana. to Slat Me. Begt.

Graffam, Albert, Go K, 9th Int ; mnat Jan. 12, 1864 ; pro. to corp. ; taken pria-

oner, 1864; diach. Ang. 8, 1865.

Gilbert, Albert, Co. A, Sth Int; mnat Feb. T, 1864, in Irt Maine Tet. Int

Gilbert Emery, Co. D, 2d CaT. ; must Dec. 8, 1863 ; detached to band.

Oilman, John F., mnat Sept 29, 1862.

Oilman, Edward O, Co A, Sth Int; mnat. June 24, 1861.

Green, William F., Co. F, 16th Int ; mnat Aug. 14, 1862, aa teamater.

Gilbert Albert, Co. A, lat Vet Int ; mnat. Feb. 14, 1864 ; wonnded May 10, 1864

Gilpatrick. William, Co. C, 30th Int ; mnat Dec. 19, 1863 ; taken priaoner ; ex.

changed ; diach. with company.

Heald, Joeiab, capt, Co. A, 6th Int ; moat June 24, 1861.

Haakell, John L., aergt., Co. A, Sth Int; mnat June 24, 1861.

Haaty, Thomaa J., Co. C, 9th Int; mnat Not. 4, 1863 ; diacb. with company.

Haaty, William, Co. D, lat Int ; maat. May 3, 1861.

Hunt, Charles 0., q.m. aergt, 4th Mounted Art; mnat Dec. 21, 1861.

Hall, LeTi, Co. A, 6th Int ; mnat Jnne 24, 1861 ; diach. with company.

Harmon, James F, Co. A, Sth Int; mnat Dec. 28, 1863; trana. to let Vet Int

Haakell, John H., sergt., 6tb Int; mnrt. Jnne 24, 1861 ; diach. with company,

July 27, 1864.

Harmon, Sherley, Jr., Co. M, 2d CaT.; muat Jan. 2, 1864.

Harmon, Joeepb A., Co. K, 9th lot; muat Sept 21, 1861; taken priaoner ; ex-

changed, 1863.

Harding, George, Go. F,16th Int ; mnat Aug. 14, 1862; diach. Feb. 1, 1863.

Howard, Eliaa B., Corp., Co. F, 26th Int; mnat Sept 29, 1862
;
pro. to sergt

;

diach. with company.

Hale, Enos B., Corp., Co. F, 25th Int ; muat. Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with com-

pany, Jnly 10, 1863.

Hale, Woahiogtou, Co. F, 2^th Int ; muat Sept 29, 1862 ; re-enl. as Teteran.

Hunt, George A., aergt., Co. K, 2Sth Int; must Sept 29, 1862 ;
pro. to 2d lieut.,

March 1,1863.

Harding, Edwaril, corp., Co. E, 25th Int; mast Sept. 29, 1862.

Hanson, Theodore H., Co. K, 25th Int ; muat Sept. 29, 1862 ; diach. Ang. 20,

1863.

IriHh, MelTille, Co. I, ITtb Int; mnrt. Ang. 18, 1862.

Johnson, A. H., Co. F, Irt CaT. ; muat. Jan. 6, 1864 ; trana. to NaTy.

Johnaou, WilUam H., sergt, Co. K, 9th Int ; ninat Sept 21, 1861.

Johnson, Oeorge W., corp, Co. K, 0th Int ; must Sept 21, 1361.

Johnaou, Albion, Co. F, 16th Int ; must Aug. 14, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Johoaon, Daniel, Co. K, 25th Int ; muat. Sept 29, 1862.

Kelley, William, Co. C, 30th Int; mnat Dec. 19, 1863 ; died in rebel priaon.

Kemp, Chariea E., C«. F, 25lh Int; mnrt. 3ept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Knowiton, Chariea T., Co. 0, lat Int ; mast May 3, 1861.

Kellogg, Chariea F., Go. L, lat Cht. ; mnat Not. 1, 1861.

Libby, Frank B., Co. K, 9th Int ; must Sept 21, 1861 ; diaoh. Sept 2T, 1864.

Lucas, J.C Co. O, Tth Int; mnat Ang. 21, 1861.

Lombard, Blanchard, Co. B, 12th Int ; mnat Nor. 20, 1861.

Larry, Daniel P., Co. C, Stb Int ; muat June 24, 1861 ; trana. 'to regimental

band.

Llbby, Alphonso E., Co. C, Sth Int; muat June 24, 1861; trana. to regimental

band.

Lowe, William L., Co. K, 9th Int; muat Sept 21, 1861.

Lowell, OllTer A., Co. D, letk Int; muat Aug. 14, 1862; pro. to capt; killed

at Gettysburg.

Libby, Stephen P. Co. F, 26th Int ; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Libby, Aaa, Co. K, 26th Int ; muat Sept. 29, 1862.

Libby, Tyng, Co. A, Irt Vet Int; muat Dec. 31, 1861 ; re-enllated.

Ladd, Noah, Co. A, 6th Int; mnat Jnne 24, 1861.

Libby, Cyroa H., Go. A, 5tb Int ; muat June 24, 1861 ; diaoh. with company.

Lord, Frank, Go. A, Sth Inf.; muat Jnne 24, 1861 ; trana. to Tet Bea. Corpa.

Moaher, Marahall N., Co. 0, 1st Int; must May 3, 1861.

Moulton, Chariea I., etb Bat. Mounted Art; mnat. 3ept 28, 1864.

Moulton, Mattblaa, Co.' A, 10th Int ; muat Ang. 18, 1862 ; trana. to Co. K, 29th

Inf., May 31, 1864.

Moulton, Mathiaa, Co. B, lat Bat 10th Int ; muat Aug. 18, 1861 ; tiana. to Co. H.
McPhee, John, Corp., On. F, 16tli Int ; must Aug. 14, 1862 ; pro. to aergt. ; taken

priaoner, July 1, 1863 ; exchanged ; killed in battle, April 1, 1865.

Harr, William W., Co. K, 25th Int ; mnat Sept 29, 1862.

Martin, Joaeph P., Co. D, 16th Int; muat Dec. 23, 1861 ; pro. to corp, 1865.

Meaeray, John, Go. K, 3d Int; muat Aug. 25, 1863; trana. to NaTy, April IS,

1864.
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Mrrrilt, Georfto H., Oo. a, 3tli Inf. ; must. Jiini- 2t, 1861 ; Irans. to Navy, March
21, 18fi2.

Mayborry, Randall F., Co. G, lOtli Inf.; miiat. No». 15, 1861; di»ch. December,
1864, with company.

Martin, Ma tahall, Co. C, 32d Inf, Tstaran ; taken prisoner, Sept. 30, 1864 ; tram.
to 31lt Maine Beict.

Nlnu, Edmnnd A., Co. D, lit Bat Inf. ; moat. April 5, 1865.

Newell, Henry H., Co. A ; muat June 24, 1881 ;
pro. to Corp., July 26; died Not.

28, 1881.

Paul, Frank, Co. F, 16th Inf ; must. Aug. 2«, 1863; killed May 10, 1864.

Patrick, Charlea H, lergt., Co. A, 5th Inf. ; moet. June 1, 1861 ; die<i In Waah-
Ington hoapltal, June, 1884.

Pike, William (J, Co. K, 9th Inf. ; muat. Sept 21, 1861 ; diach. Jan. 2, 1863.
Parkhnnt, Alpheoa C, corp^ Co. 1, 17th Inf. ; muat. Aug. 18, 1862 ; dlach. 1863.
Powen, William, Co. 1, 17th Int; muat. Aug. 18, 1862 ; died Jan. 11, 1863.

PhilUpa,lTory, corp, Co. F, 25lh Inf. ; muat. Sept. 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.
Phlnnay, Jamea (2d), wagoner, Co. K, 25th Int ; muat Si-pL 29, 1862.

Phinney, Frank, Co. K, 2£th Inf.; muat. Oct. 14, 1883.

Parker, WlnSeld 8, 30th Inf. ; muat. April 14, 1866 ; dlsoh. May 19, 1885.

Flummer, Raaaall C, Co. B, 2d Car. ; muat. Sept. 30, 1864.

Pike, William I., Co. K, gth Inf.; muat. Sept. 21, 1881.

Phinaey, Edward B., Co. A ; muat June 24, 1861.

Plnmmer, Bobert, Co. A, Sth InC ; must June 24, 1861 ; pro. to Corp., July 30,

Qnlglejr, Michael, Co. D, 20th In f. ; muat Oct 27, 1864 ; diach. May 17, 1865.

B«d, Oaorge S., Oo. A ; muat. June 24, 1861 ;
pro. to Corp., July 28.

Bolfe, Emery, Co. A ; muat June 24, 1881.

Sich, Thoniaa H., Oo. Q, I4th Int; muat Jan. 8, 1862; detached to Signal
Corpa,1883.

Bobarts, John H., Co. 1, 17th Int; muat Aug. 18, 1882 ; wounded Not. 27, 1863.

Boberta, Daniel L., Corp., Co. K, 12th Inf. ; mutt Nor. 18, 1881.

Bolfe, Daniel P, aergt, Co. D, 15th Inf. ; muat Dec. 10, 1861 ; illaoh. Sept. 29,

1883.

BIgga, Chariea F., 6th Bat Mounted Art. ; must. Oct. 5, 1884.

Bounda, Wm. H, Co. K, 30th Inf.; muat. June 24, 1864; discli. with company.
Bice, Arthur, Co. K, 12th Inl; must Not. 16, 1861.

Spanlding, William H., lat Mounted Art.; must 1861.

Smith, Edwin B., mualclan, Co. C, 9th Int.; must Jau. 1, 1884.

Smith, Sllaa M., Co. R, I7th Inf. ; muat. July 20, 1883 ; died May 24, 1865.

Small, Beqjamin, Co. K, 3lBt Inf. ; must May 6, 1864.

Smith, Jamra A., Co. K, 12th Int ; muat Not. 16, 1861.

Sturgla, Manhall C. corp, Oo. C, 12th Int ; must. Not. 15, 1881.

Swett, Mark D., Co. K, 9th luf.; must Sept. 21, 1861.

Sturgia, William H., Co. K, 9th Int ; muat Sept 21, 1861 ; disch. Sept 27, 1864,

with company.

Sturgis, William T., Co. K, 9th Int ; muat Sept 21, 1861.

Stroat, William E., Co. I, ITth Int ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; pro. to corp. ; diach. to

Join Corpa d'Afrique.

Sweatt Joseph S. K., Corp., Co. F, 25th Int ; muat Sept 29, 1862 ; pro. to 1st

aergt; diarh. with company.

Shaw, Carlyle W., corp., Co. F, 25th Int ; muat. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with

company.

Spinney, John D., Go. K, 26th Int; muat Sept. 29, 1862.

Sweatt, Joseph S. E., aergt., Co. K, 30th Int ; must Jan. 9, 1864.

Sweatt George W., sergt., Co. K, 30th Int ; muat Jan. 9, 1864.

Spanlding, William H., let Ba'. Mounted Art. ; must Dec. 16, 1861.

Shackleford, Theodore, Corp., Co. A, 5th Int; must June 24, 1861 ; diach. with

company.

Stackpole, Angustua J., Co. A, 5th Int ; muat. June 24, 1861 ; dlacb. with com-

pany.

Shaw, Chauncey M., Oo. A, 6th Int ; muat June 24, 1861 ; dlach. with company

;

pro. to Corp.

Siaa, HoiBce, Oo. A, 5th Int ; muat June 24, 1881 ; mlaaing Sept. 17, 1862.

SteTens, John 0., Co. 0, 6th Int ; muat June 24, 1881.

Smith, Frank W., Corp., Co. A ; mu^t June 24, 1881 ; disch. Sept 6, 1861.

Speed, Frederick, Oo. A, 5th Int ; muat June 24, 1861 : pro. to 2d lleut, Aug.

27 ; rea. Not. 16, 1861.

Sttmmeraidea, John C, corp., Co. A, 5th Int ; muat June 24, 1861 ; let aergt.,

July 28.

Smith, DaTid, musician, Co. A, 5th Inf.; muat June 24; trans, to nonH»>m. staff.

Thomas, Jamea, moaician, Co. G, 16th Int ; muat. Aug. 14, 1862.

Twombly, WUson M., l!o. F, 25th Int ; muat. Sept 29, 1862 ; dlach. with com-

p»>>y.

Tyler, James E., Co. K, 25th Int ; must. Sept. 29, 1862.

Wilson, Joel, Corp., Co. F, Ist Car. ; must Oct. 19, 1861.

Wentworth, Horatio, Oo. A, 5th Int ; muat June 24, 1881.

Wescott, William F., Co. A, 6th Int ; muat June 24, 1861 ; made drummer Co.

A-; trana. to lat Tet Beserve.

Williams, Charles, Co. F, 11th Int ; muat Not. 7, 1861.

Whittier, Edward N., aergt, 4th Mounted Art ; muat. Dec. 21, 1861.

Wight, Joaepli, Co. E, 5tb Int ; must. June 24, 1861 ; pro. to i^t lleut ; dlacb.

with company.

Ward, William W., Co. F, 16th Int ; muat Aug. 14, 1882 ; died Oct 20, 1863.

Whitney, Alonzo M., Co. F, 16th Int ; muat. Aug. 14, 1882 ; killed ut Frederlcka-

burg, Dec. 1.3, 1862.

Wald, laaac, Oo. F, 26th Int ; muat Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Wallace, John C, Oo. K, 25th Int ; muat Sept. 29, 1862.

Wamn, Henry A., Oo. K, 25th Int; muat. Sept 29, 1862.

Whitney, .K. E., ('... K, 2')tli Inf. ; must. Sept. W, 1862.

Wiilliici!, John C, Co. I, :i()tli Inf.; nuist. Jan. 0, ISM.ai a velenili.

Willis, John E., sergt, 7th Bat. Mounted .\rt. ; must. Deo. 30, 1863.

Ward, Charles U., Corp., Co. A, 6th Int; mu<t. June 21, 1861 ; died of w.iun.ls,

May 12, 1864.

FOBEION Ein,ISTM£NTS.
Adams, A. E., Bhode laland Batterj-.

Blake, Frank H., 11th U. S. Int
Oary, William U., 13th Mass. Inf.

Cary, Samuel B., 13th Mass. Int
Cannell, Manhall, escort to Ms«j..Gen. B. F. Butler.

Conley, James B., U. S. Navy.

Day, James H., Mass. Begt
Dyer, Charles F., Mass. Begt
Bates, Albert S., 13th Mass. Int
Estes, OliTer D., 1:1th Mass. Int
Howe, Warren, U. S. Army.
Jackaon, Eliphalet W., U. S. Army.
Mann, Jamea, paymaater, TJ. S. Army.
Parkburat Alpheua C, 17tb U. S. Int
Fbillips, Jamea L,, Maaa. Begt.

Suckpole, Theodore, N. Y. Begt.

Wormwood, Samuel P., B. I. Regt.

Waten, William G., Maaa. Begt
Waterhouae, Horace F., Mass. Begt.

GRAY.
Allen, William, drum-major, lOth Inf. ; must Oct. 1, 1861 ; disch. Sept 20, 1862.

Adams, John, Co. K, 7th Int ; must. Aug. 21, 1881.

Blake, Ozbu O., Co. K, 30tb Int ; must. Jan. 9, 1864; transferred.

Benson, Eilward, Co. K, :i0th Inf. ; muat Jan. 9, 1864 ; died Oct 13, 1864.

Benson, George W., Co. K, 30th Int ; must. Jan. 9, 1364 ; died Sept 6, 1864.

Brackett, Thomas, Co. E, 13th Int ; muat Dec. 10, 1861 ; re-enl. Feb. 29, 1864

;

diach. with company, Jan. 6, 1865.

Burgeaa, John F., Co. E, 17th Int ; must Feb. 22, 1864 ; trana. from 2d U. S.

Sharpshooters.

Cobb, Chariea G., Co. H, lltb Int ; muat Not. 12, 1861.

Colley, William H., Co. B, 10th Int ; must Oct 4, 1861 ; pro. to sergt.

Culley, Chariea H., aergt., Co. B, 10th Inf. ; must Oct 4, 1861.

Cumminga, Samuel P., sergt., Co. G, 25th Int; must Sept 29, 1862; pro. to

sergt.-maj., Jan. 1, 1863.

Cobb, SylTester B., Co. C, 25th Int; must. Sept 29, 1962; disch. with company.

Carey, GustaTns N., Co. K, 30th Int ; must Jan. 9, 1864 ; died July 18, 1864.

Colley, Orrin B., Co. C, 31st Int ; must March 23, 1864 ; disch. July 9, 1865.

Colley, Albert F., Co. B, 10th Int ; muat Aug. 23, 1862 ; trana. 1863.

Dill, Daniel M., corp., Co. H, 11th Int ; muat Nov. 12, 1861 ; pro. to c»pt. and

trana. 1863.

Dill, William H., Co. H, llth Int ; muat Not. 12, 1861.

Doughty, Joaepb W., Co. 0, 25th Int; muat Sept 29, 1862; trana. to brigade

band, Jan. 7, 1865.

Doughty, Daniel, Co. 0, 25th Int; muat Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Doughty, Albert H., Co. C, 2&th Int ; muat Sept 29, 1862; pro. to Corp.; disch.

with company.

Dolley, Daniel H., Co. 0, 25th Int; muat Sept. 29, 1862; dlach. with company.

Dickey, William L., Co. 0, 25th Int ; muat Sept. 29, 1882 ; dlach. with company.

Dickey, William C, Corp., Co. C,2Sth Int ; must. Sept. 29, 1862; pro. lo sergt

;

dlach. with company.

Dolley, Jeremiah P., Oo. E, 17th Int ; muat Aug. 18, 1862 ; died April 14, 186.3.

Durun, Bufna, Corp., Co. G., 5th Ir .. ; muat June 23, 1881.

Dolley, Thomaa W., Corp., Co. K, 30th Int; must. Jan. 9, 1884; wounded April

9; disch. Not. 22, 1884.

Dickey, Williaro L., lat aergt., Co. 0, 30th Vet Int ; muat Dec. 19, 1863 ; disoh.

with company.

Davia, William S., Co. 0, 31at lut; must. March. 23, 1864; wounded May 12;

disch. Not. 29, 1884.

ETana, Eleozer, Co. 0, 26th Int ; muat Sept 29, 1882 ; disch. with company.

Faster, Jamea D., Corp., Co. G, lat CaT. ; must. Oct. 31, 1861.

Foster, John A., Co. 0, 16th Int; muat Aug. 14, 1862; miaaing July 1, 1883;

dbch. September, 1884.

Frank, John W., Co. 0, 25th Int; muat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Ferguson, Nathan, Co. K, 30th Int; must Jan. 9, 1864; dlach. April 18, 1864.

Foalar, LeTi S., Co. K, 3llth Int ; muat Jan. 9, 1884 ; trana. to Co. F.

Fualer, Samuel H., Ou. K, 30th Int ; must Jan. 9, 1864 ; trans, to Co. F.

Farwell, James E., Co. D, 16th Int ; muat March 7, 1865; died Oct 22, 1866.

Gilbert, George, Co. 1, 10th Int ; muat Oct. 4, 1861.

Ooff, Lindaay 0., Co. C, 8th Int ; muat Sept. 7, 1881.

Goodenow, Charles, Co. A, 17th Int; muat Aug. 18, 1862; wounded Nov. 27,

1863; diach. with company.

Goff, Lucius S., Co. E, 17th Inf. ; muat. Aug. 18, 1862 ; wounded at Gettysburg

;

tnins. to Vet Bee. Ourpe.

Gore, William H., Co. E, 17th Inf. ; muat. Aug. 18, 1362 ; pro. to corp. and

aergt.; dlach. with company.

Goir, Joaepb H., Corp., Co. C, 26tli Int ; muat Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with com-

pany.
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Gofl, JoMph, Go. C, 31rt InC ; muat. March 23, 1864 ; pro. to coip. aad wrgt.

;

dlich. with compADy.

G«a; Eliu r^ Co. 1, 12th lor.; mut. Much 17, 186S.

OoB, LindMT A., Co. B, lat laf.; moft. Haf 3, IMl.

HodgUni, Jamea, Co. E, 13th Inf. ; mult. Sec. 10, 1861.

Hodgkiu, Jonia B., Co. K, 30th Inf.; mrut. Jan. 9, IBM; tiaiuferrad.

HodcklD, Jamia, Co. E, 13th lot; muat Doc. lU, 1861 ; re.eDL Feb. 29, 1861.

Hodgkin, Whitman, Co. X, 13th Int ; mnrt. Deo. 10, 1861 ; died Doc. 17, 1863.

Balnea, John C, Co. K, 12th Int ; muat. March 1, 1865.

Hainea, Charlea D, Oo. X, 12th Int ; ranat. March 1, 1866.

Harrick, Oreenleaf O, Oo. K, 10th Inf. ; mnat. Oct 1, 1861 ; died Dec 22, 1861,

at Belay House, Md.
King, Joaeph P., Co. 0, 12th Int; mnat Not. 15, 1861.

lAwrence, Luther, Co. H, Uth Int ; must Not. 12, 1861.

Latham. Porter, Co. K, 10th Int ; must Oct i, 1861.

I«tham, Otia L., mnaidan, Co. C, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with

company.

I«ne, AlTin A., Co. 0, 26th Int; mnat Sept 29, 1862; discb. with company.

Legrow, Xdwin, Co. 0, 26th Int ; muat. Sept 29, 1862 ; discb. with company.

Lalgfaton, Joshua O, Co. C, 25th Int; must Sept 29, 1862; discb. with com-

ply.
Libby, Woodbury 8., Oo. 0, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; trans, to brigade

band, Jan. 27, 1863.

Legfow, ICdwin, Oo. 0, 30th Int ; mnat Dec. 19; 1863 ; died May 17, 1861.

Ubby, baae a, Oo. K, 30tb Int ; muat Jan. 9, 1861 ; tranafemd.

Kayberry, Ibomaa J., Co. K, 30th Int ; must Jan. 9, 1861; taken prisoner, April

9,1861.

Hayberry, Daniel, Jr., Co. K, 30th Int; mnat Jan. 9, 1861 ; died of wounds,

April 30, 1861.

Hay, BolVlB L., Co. K, 30tta Int ; must Jan. 8, 1861.

Marr, Edward A., Co. K, 30th Int ; mnat Jan. 9, 1861.

Maxwell, Hoaes, Co. 0, 25th Int muat Sept 29, 1862 ; discb. with company.

Mayberry, Cliartea I., Oo. 0, 26th Int ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; discb. with com-

pany.

Nash, James, Co. 0, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862; discta. with company.

Naah , James, corpi, Co. K, 30th Int ; must. Jan. 9, 1861 ; transferred.

Nash, Daniel, wagoner, Co. K, 30th Int ; muat Jan. 9, 1861; transferred.

Naah, Joebua U., Co. 0, Slat Int ; mnat March 23, 1861 ; diaoh. with company.

Ome, Charlea L., Co. 0, 25th Int; must Sept 29, 1862; discb. with company.

Fennell, William H., Co. B, 1st Int ; must May 3, 1861 ; discb. Jan. 8, 1863.

Perisy, Boaooe, Co. C, 25th Int ; mnat Sept. 29, 1862 ; pro. to corp. ; diacb. with

company.

Banudell, Seth A., Co. H, Uth Int ; must Not. 12, 1861.

Bicker, HelTlUe, Oo. H,'llth lot; must Not. 12,1861; re-enl. Jan. 16,18ft(:

pro. to Corp., July 13, 1866.

Bobelts, Casaina 0., Co. 1, 10th Int ; must Oct. 1, 1861 ; pro. to Corp., 1862, and

2d llent in Ooips d'Afrlque In 1863.

Bnssell, Hiram, Co. 0, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Boss, Qeorge B., Co. E, 17th Int : must Aug. 18, 1862 ; dlsch. with company.

Simpaon, Lewia A., Co. X, 17tb Int ; must Ang. 18, 1862 ; kiUed May 6, 1861.

Simpaon, Henry C, sergt., Co. C, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; pro to 2d llent

Smith, John, Corp., Co. C, 25tb Int ; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; diacb. with company.

Simpson, Samuel I*., Co. C, 26th Int ; mnat. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Skillin, Thomas J., Co. C, 26th Int ; most Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with company.

Small, Edmund B., Co. C, 26th lot; muat Sept. 29, 1862 ; diacb. with company.

Sttpies, DaTid H., Co. C, 26tb Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Sawyer, John D., Oo. 0, 25tb Int; most Sept 29, 1862; diacb. with company.

Simpaon, Samuel F., Corp., Co. C, 30th Inf. ; pro. to sergt ; diacb. with company.

Snow, Joahna S., sargt, Co. 1, 30th Int ; muat Jan. 9, 1861 ; disch. with com-

pany.

Smith, Daniel N., Co. 1, 12tb Int ; must March 17, 1866.

StUea, Stephen, Co. H, 11th Int ; must Not. 12, 1861 ; dlsch. Dec. 26, 1862.

SIblay, Haniy 0., Co. 0, 6tb Int ; must June 23, 1861.

Simpaon, William K, oorp., Co. 1, 10th Int ; must Oct 1, 1861.

Thompson, JamaaM., Co. I, lat Int; must May 3, 1861.

Turner, Chariea E., Co. O, 6th Int ; must June 23, 1861.

ThompaoQ, Augustus T., Oo. H, 11th Int ; mnat Not. 12, 1861 ; disch. Not. 18,

1863, with company.

Thompson, James H., sergt, Co. H, 11th Int ; must Not. 12, 1861 ; pro. 2d llent.

May 1, 1863.

Thompson, Charlea H., Co. E, 17tb Int; muat. Ang. 18, 1862; pro, to. corp.;

disob. with company.

Tnmer, Joalab U., On. E, ITth Int ; mnat Aug. 18, 1862 ; died Feb. 21, 1863.

Thayer, Frank W., Co. C, 25tb Int ; muat Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with company.

Thayer, Frank W., Co. C, 30th Int; muat Dw:. 19, 1863 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1865.

Tan Bnakirk, Charlea, Co. C, 26th Int; must Sept 29, 1862; pro. to corp. ; discb.

with company.

Whitten, Loranio D., Co. 0, 25tb Int ; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with com-

pany.

White, Jamea L., Co. C, 30tb Int ; must Dec. 29, 1863 ; died of wounds, Aug. 1,

1861, in hands of the enemy.

Webster, Armstrong, corp, Co. K, 30th Int ; must Jan. 9, 1861 ; died June 17,

1861.

White, John Lu, Co. K, 30th Int ; must Jan. 9, 1861 ; died June 6, 1861.

Whitten, Jamea K. P., Co. C, 3Ut Int ; must March 23, 1861 ; died in rebel

prison, Ang. 1861.

Waahbnm, Edwin J., Oo. B, 13th Int ; mast Ang. 30, 1862.

FOBEIOR EHLISTUEIITS.

Anderson, John D., l8t Minnesota Battery.

Anderson, Wendell A., cadet, U. S. NaTy.

Hunt, Edwin F., 112th Illinois Tola. ; enl. August, 1861 ; drowned in Clinch

BlTer, East Tennessee.

Tnttle, Daniel Y., 19tb Mass. Int

Wood, Henry, V. S. Army.

HARPSWELL.
Alexander, Andrew D., priTate, Co. K, 20th Bagt ; enl. Ang. 29, 1862 ; wounded

Hay 6, 1861; discharged.

Allen, Joseph, priTate, Co. D, 8th Begt ; enL Oct 8, 1863 ; must out Jan. 18,

1866.

Aiken, Edmund, U. 8. NaTy, enl. Sept 6, 1861; three years' substitute.

Ahrens, William, U. 8. NaTy ; enl. Sept 16, 1861 ; three years' snbstltate.

Brown, Thomas, priTate, Oo. A, 1st Vela. ; enL Jan. 1, 1866 ; mnat out June 28,

1866.

Blake, Peter, U. B. NaTy ; enl. Sept 10, 1861; three years' substltnte.

Coffln, John P, n. S. NaTy; enL 1862.

Coffin, Edmund, V. 8. NaTy ; enl. 1862 ; re-enL Sept 16, 1861, for two yean.

Coombs, Wflllam, priTate, Oo. D, 26th Begt; enL Sept 29, 1862; must, out

July 10, 1863.

Cnttia, Clement 8., priTate, Co. D, 26th Begt.; enl. Sept 29, 1862; mnat out

July 10, 1863.

Curtis, OllTer G, priTate, Co. F, 17th Begt ; enL Ang. 18, 1862 ; pro. to corp.

;

wounded ; must out Jane 1, 1866.

CatUn, William H., priTate, Co. E, 20th Begt ; enl. Ang. 28, 1862.

Courson, DaTid H., priTate, Co. K, 20th Begt ; enL Aug. 28, 1862 ; died In rebel

prison, Sept. 9, 1861.

Curtis, Stephen P., priTate, Co. E, 20th Bagt ; enl. Aug. 29, 1862 ; diacb. in 1861.

Card, Oeorge W., priTate, Co. D, 26th Begt; enL Sept 29, 1862; must out July

10, 1863.

Cole, Bobert, priTate, Co. D, 26th Begt; enL Sept 29, 1862; must, out July,

10, 1863.

Coombs, Joseph E., priTate, Oo. D, 26th Begt ; enL Sept 29, 1862 ; pro. to corp.

;

must out July 10, 1863.

Dresser, Oilman L., V. 8. Nary; enl. 1862.

Eastman, John B., U. S. NaTy ; enL 1862.

Field, Seward, priTate, Oo. K, 20th Begt ; enl. Aug. 29, 1862 ; wounded at Fred-

ericksburg ; dlach. Maroh 11, 1863.

GetcbeH, William H., priTate, Oo. O, 20th Begt ; enl. Aug. 29, 1862 ; disch. by

Order No. 91.

Gray, Edward, priTate, Co. F, 16th Begt. ; enL March 7, 1865 ; disch. by order,

Oct 16, 1865.

Green, Albert, U. S. Navy enl. Feb. 23, 1866; three years' substitute.

Holbrook, Israel, C. S. NaTy ; euL 1862.

Holbrook, Jamee B., XJ. 8. Nary ; enL 1862.

Johnson, Jamea L, priTate, Co. D,26thBegt; enLSept. 29, 1862; must. out July

10, 1863.

Leavitt, Abijah, priTate, Co. D, 3d Begt ; enl. June 1, 1861 ; dlach. for disa-

biUty, Not. 23, 1862.

Leeman, Thomas 0., priTate, Co. D, 25tb Begt ; enl. Sept 29, 1802 ; must out

Jnly 10, 1863.

McFarland, F. W., priTate, Co. K, 20th Begt. ; euL Aug. 29, 1862.

Matthews, Joseph, priTate, Co. D, 25th Begt. ; enl. Aug. 29, 1862 ; not acconnted

for on muaterK>nt rolls.

Heniman, Hngh, priTate, Oo. D, 26tta Begt.; enl. Aug. 20, 1862; moat out

July 10, 1863.

Meniman, James, priTate, Co. D, 25th Begt. ; enl. Aug. 29, 1862; must, out July

10, 1863.

McCarthy, Dennis, priTate, Co. F, 15tb Begt ; enL March 9, 1865; must out

Jnly 6, 1866.

Mann, Sdomnn W., XJ. 8. NaTy ; enL 1862.

Newton, William F., priTate, Co. K, 20th Begt ; enL Aug. 29, 1862 ; wounded
Sept. 30, 1861 ; discharged.

Fennell, William B., priTate, Co. K, 20th Begt; enl. Ang. 29, 1862; accident-

ally killed, Feb. 25, 1861.

PenneM, DaTid, 1st llent., Oo. D, 26th Begt ; enL Sept 29, 1862 ; must out July

10, 1863.

Fettigrew, Andrew W., priTate, Co. D, 26tb Begt ; enl. Sept 29, 1862 ; died Feb.

8, 1863.

I>urinton, Woodbury S., V. S. NaTy ; enl. 1862.

Boblnson, Thomas, U. S. NaTy ; enL Feb. 23, 1866 ; three years' substitute.

BusseU, Charles Edward, priTate, Co. B, 9th Begt; enL Sept 22, 1861; re-en-

listed ; wounded May 18, 1861; diaeh. by order, Ang. 9, 1866.

Bandall, George L., Corp., Co. D, 25th Begt. ; enl. Sept. 29, 1862 ; muat. out July
10, 1863.

Bidley, Isaac H., priTate, Co. D, 26th Begt. ; enl. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. for dia-

abiUty, Jan. 12, 1863.

BnaseU, George G., priTate, Co. E, 3d Begt ; enl. Not. 13, 1861 ; trans, to 17th
Maine ; discb. April 7, 1865.

Bogers, Frank H., priTate, Co. O, 17tb Begt; enl. Feb. 28, 1866; mnat out
June 1, 18*6.

BusseU, Henry, priTate, Co. F, Uth Begt ; enL May 11, 1865 ; must out July
6,1866.
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Roderick, Antonio, private, Co. G, 15th Rogt.; enl. Fab. 1, 1865; died Aug. 26,

1S65.

Soothatd, Joel, private, Co. K, liOUi Begt. ; enl. Aug. 29, 1862 ; dlscli. In 1864.

Southard, Janiea, private, Co. D, 26tL Kegt. ; enl. Sept 29, 1862 ; must, out July
10, 1863.

Shea, John, private, Co. T, 15th Begt. ; enl. March 9, 1865.

Sawyer, John, U. S. Navy ; enl. 1862.

Smith, Janiea 0, U. S. Navy j enL Sept 16, 1864 ; two years' volunteer.
Slieridan, Philip, U. S. Navy; enl. Sept 10, ISM; three yeare' subeUtnte.
Smith, Henry, U. 3. Navy; enl. Sept.' 16, 1864 ; three yeare' substitute.

Thomas, Beqjamln C, private, Co. D, 26th Begt.; enl. Sept 29, 1862; must, out
July 10, 1863.

Wilson, Edmund, sergt, Co. K, 20th Begt. ; enl. Aug. 29, 1862 ; dlsch. for disa-

bility, Feb. 16, 186.'!.

Worthington, William A., private, Co. K, 20th Begt. ; enl. Aug.29,1862; disch.

In 1864 or 1865.

Watlon, James F, U. S. Navy ; enl. Feb. 27, 1865 ; three yean' snhatitnte.

HARRISON.
Backnell, Charlea H., Co. H, 5th Inf. ; must June 24, 1861.

Bicknell, Icbabod, Co. a,29th Inf. ; must. Sec. 16,18«<; died June 3,1864.

Barrows, William, Co. D, I6th InC ; mnst Dec. 18, 1861 ;
pro. to sergt ; died

Dec 30, 1864.

Bamws, George, Corp., Co. H, 17th lof. ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; killed ut Get-

tysburg.

Brackett, Horace N., Co. H, 17tli Int ; must Aug. 18, 1862
;

pro. to corp.

;

wounded Hay 6, 1864; dlacb. April 1, 1865.

Bumham, John, Co. H, 17th Inf. ; most Auk. 18, 1862; died Jan. 15, 1863.

Backett, Levis O., Co. B, 23d In£ ; must. Sept. -^9, 1862 ; dlsch. with company.

BiBokett, Llewellyn K., Co. 1, 12th Inf. ; must MHrcb 17, 1866.

Cummings, George H., sergt., Co. D, I6th Inf. ; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; disch. June
17, 1862.

Canley, George F., Co. D, loth Inf. ; must Dec. 13, 1861 ; disch. In 1862.

Cottar, Patrick, Co. C, IStb Int ; mast March 1, 1865.

Deviue, John A., Co. F, 17tb Inf. ; must Sept 1, 1863.

Edwards, Clark S., Co. K, 23d Inf. ; must Oct 10, 1862 ; died Dec. 9, 1862.

Eastman, John C, Co. B, 29tb Inf. ; must Jan. 6, 1864 ; died Feb. 'n, 1864.

Edson, Charles H., Co.G, 12th Inf.; must. Nov. 16, 1861.

Emenon, William, Co. S, 10th Int ; must Oct. 4, 1861.

Emerson, William, Co. U, 11th Inf. ; must Nov. 12, 1861.

Edwards, J. McClellan, Co. 0, 14th Inf. ; must Dec. 12, 1861.

Foley, John W., sergt., Co. G, 14th Inf. ; mnst Dec. 12, 1861.

Freeborn, Frank H., Co. H, 11th Inf. ; must Nov. 12, 1861.

Green, WUIiam H., Co. G, 23th Int ; must Deo. 16, 1863 ; died May 30, 1864.

Gllky, Edward K., Corp., Co. D, 16th Inf. ; mqst Dec. 10, 1861 ; died Jan. 7, 1862.

Gray, Charlea H., Co. G, 29th Inf. ; mnst Dec. 16, 1863.

HaakelJ, Merrill W., wagoner, Co. G, 12tk Inf. ; must. Nov. 15, 1861 ; detached

in 1863.

Harmon, Joseph P., Co. K, 6th Inf. ; must June 24, 1861 ; dropped ftom rolls

in 1862.

Howarth, Alexander, Co. H, 2d Cav. ; must Sept 27, 1864.

Foley, John W., Co. B, 14th Int ; must Jan. 1, 1864.

Hill, Joseph, Co. 1, 12th Int ; must. March 17, 1865 ; pro. to corp.

Haskell, George A., Co. B, 31st Int ; must March 10, 1864.

Hall, Luther E., Co. H, 17th Int ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; dlsch. July 3, 1865.

Haskell, Daniel W., Co. H, 17th Int ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; detached for provost-

guaid In 1863 ; killed ct7,1864.

HUl, George B., Co. 1, 10th Inf. ; must Oct 4, 1861; disch. March 10, 1863.

Hill, Benjamin L., Co. B, 23d Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Harmon, William 8., musician, Co. U, 10th Int ; must Oct 14, 1861 ; dlsch. Nov.

2,1863.

Harrington, WUllam H., musician, Co. K, 10th Int ; must Oct. 14, 1861 ; dlsch.

Nov. 2, 1863.

Hamlin, Bufus K., Co. 1, 12th Int ; mnst March 17, 1865.

Harrington, WllUam H., sergt, Co. G, 29th Int ; must Dec. 16, 1863 ; pro. tu

capt; transferred.

Harmon, John A., Co. 0, 12th Int ; mnst Nov. 16, 1861.

Hanson, Horace F., Co. G, 2d Int ; must. May 28, 1862 ; pro. to corp. in 1862.

nisley, Charles E., Co. A, 1st Int ; must May 3, 1861.

Jordan, Peter, Co. 0, 23th Int ; must Dec. 16, 1863 ; detached in 1864.

Jordan, Peter, Co. I, lOtb Int ; mnst Oct 4, 1861 ; detached in 1863.

Keene, James L., Co. D, 15th Int ; must Deo. 10, 1861 ; disch. 1861 ; re-enl. in

27th Co. Inf., April 6, 1865.

Keene, Moses BL, Co. D, 16th Int ; must Deo. 10, 1861 ; dlsch. 1861 ; re-enl. in

Z7th Co. Int, April 6, 1866.

Eneeland, Chas. C, Co. D, 16th Int; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; disch. May 22, 1861.

Kilbum, Andrew W., Co. G, 29th Inf.; must Dec. lb, 1863 ; died May 12, 1864.

Keene, Seth M., Co. 1, 10th Int ; must. Oct. 4, 1861 ; pro. to Corp., 1862.

Kneeland, Ira A., Co. H, 10th Int ; must Oct. 4, 1861.

Kneehind, Ezra, Co. H, 29th Int; must Jan. 24, 1864; died May 19, 1864.

Lewis, OUrk, Co. D, 16th Int ; must Dec 10, 1861 ;
pro. to corp. and sergt

;

re-enl. Jan. 26, 1864.

Lewis, Henry W., Co. B, 23d Int; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with company.

Llbby, Alfred, Co. B, 23d Int; mnst Sept 29, 1862; dlsch. with company.

LittloSeld, John 3., Co. B, 29th Int; must Jan. 6, 1864; trans, to Vet B»s.

Corps, 1866.

McAlIisti-r, Co. B, 29th Int ; must. Jan. 6, 1864
;
pro. to corp.

Mathews, Albert L., Co. I, 12th Int; must Marcli 17,1865; disch. June 26,

1866.

Morrow, Lorenzo, Co. E, 10th Inf.; must. Oct. 4, 1861.

Newcomb, Eleazer, Co. B, 23d Int ; must. Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.
O'Connell, Henry, Co. H, 2d Cav.; must Sept. 30, 1864.

Potter, Charles H., Co. A, 31st Int; must May 3, 1864 ; disch. June 12, 1865.

Perley, David F., Co. B, 23d Int ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. Dec. 13, 1862.

Pierce, Frederick B., musician, Co. F, 1st Int; must May 3, 1861.

Pike, William H., Co. Q, 10th Int ; must. Oct 4, 1861 ; taken prisoner ut Win-
chester, Va. ; died at Lynchburg, in 1862.

Elley, Beuben M., corp., Co. C, 10th Int; must Oct 5, 1861.

Byan, Thomas, Co. M, 2d Cav. ; must Sept 27, 1863.

Russell, Perry, 7tU Bat. Mounted Art. ; must Sept 6, 1864.

Rogers, Joseph B., Co. C, 31st Int ; must. March 23, 1864.

Bogets, Cyrus L., Co. B, 23d Int ; must Sept 29, 1862; dlsch. with company.
Bowe, Alfred H., Co. B, 23d Inf ; must. Oct 13, 1862; disch. with company.
Bowe, Asbury T., Co. B, 23d Int ; mnst Sept. 29, 1862 ; pro. to corp.; dlsch. with

company.

Bowe, Charles A., Co. E, 20th Int ; must Oct 7, 1864 ; disch. .Inly 16, 1865.

Stone, William, Co. C, 15th Int ; must Feli. 6, 1864.

Staler, Silas B., Co. G, 12th Int ; must Nov. 16, 1861.

Steler, William H., Co. G,12th Int; must Nov. 16, 1861.

Smith, Francis, Co. F, 2Uth Int ; must Oct 6, 1864 ; dlsch. 1866.

Smith, John M., Co. D, 16th Int ; must. Jan. 31, 1862.

Scribner, Bourdon, Co. H, 17th Int; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; killed, Nov. 27, 1863.

SUles, Stephen W., Co. H, 17th Int ; must. Aug. 18, 1862 ; died, Jan. 16, 1863.

Stnart, Wentworth, Co. H, 17tli Int ; must Aug. 18, 1862; dlsch. April 2, 1863.

Sampson, Ed ward, wagoner, Co. B, 23d Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ;
pro. to sergt.

1863.

Scribner, Eri, Co. B, 23d Int ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; discb. with company.

Stanley, Benjamin, Co. G, 29th Int ; must. Dec. 16, 1863 ; drowned, 1864.

Spears, Samuel, Co. B, 29th Int ; must Jan. 6, 1864.

Spears, Aaron, Co. B, 29th Int ; must Jan. 6, 1864.

Seavey, Nathaniel H., Corp., Co. D, 15th Int; must Dec. 10, 1861.

Sealand, Stephen S., Co. B, 10th Int ; must. Jan. 6, 1864; disch. 1865, with com-

pany.

TIbbetts, Marshall S., Co. B, 23d Int ; must. Sept. 29, 1863 ; disch. April 22, 1864.

Watker, Frankliu (2d), Co. B, 23d Int ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; diacli. with comp.

Witham, Moses, Co. B, 23d lot ; must Sept 29, 18(J2 ; discii. Feb. 24, 1863.

Wbltney, Theodore, Co. G, 29th Int ; must Dec. 16, 1863 ; disch. with company.

Woodsum, Silas B., Corp., Co. G, 12tb Inf. ; must Nov. 15. 1861 ; died Aug. 22, '63.

Wood, Daniel, Co. F, 11th Inf. ; must Nov. 7, 1861.

Wetherby, William, Co. B, Bat 10th Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; trans. 1864.

FOBEION ENLISIMEinS.
Bumham, Sumner, must 104th Illinois Int

Fogg, James A., 2d New York Begt

Howard, Brazllla P., 8th Vermont Int

Thomas, Mallin, 2d Wisconsin Vols.

Woodsum, John E., 8th Vermont Int

Smith, John M., U. S. Navy.

NAPLES.
Ajcbabald, John, Co. A, 25th Int ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; dlscii. with company,

July 10, 1863.

Ayera, George W., Co. C. 4th Inf. ; died In hospital, July 15, 1864.

Archabald, John, Co. G, 8th Int ; must Sept 21, 1864 ; taken prisoner at Fair

Oaks ; died at Blchmond, Va., Feb. 28, 1866.

Ballard, Samnel F., Co. I, loth Int ; must Aug. 11, 1862 ; trans. 1863.

Barry, Jamas, Co. C, 17th Int ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; discli. with company.

Burnett, Samuel E., Co. I, 8th Int ; must. Aug. 16, 1862.

Brackett, Samuel L., Co. C, 26th Inf.; must. Sept 29, 1862; wounded May 16,

1864 ; disch. with company.

Brackett, Daniel, Co. C, 25th Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 : died June 20, 1864.

Bennett, George, Co. C, 2d Int; died June 26, 1864.

Bartlett, Isaac H., Co. 1, 8tb Int ; must Aug. 27, 1862 ; killed in battle at Drury's

Bluff, 1864.

Berry, Bichard, Co. C, 30th Int ; must Dec. 19, 1863.

Btennerville, John, 1st Maine Cav.

Blake, Charles A., Co. C, 2d Inf. ; must Dec. 21, 1863 ; died June 10, 1804.

Bodge, (jieorge M., musician.

Bennett, Joseph F., Co. C, 2d Cav, ; must Dec. 21, 1863.

Barker, Walter E., Co. 0, 30th Int ; must Deo. 19, 1863.

Brackett, Albert A., 1st District of Columbia Cav. ; must. Jan. 27, 1864.

Brown, Daniel B., must. Oct 7, 1864.

Chaplin, Cyrus, Co. H, 17th Int ; must. Aug. IB, 1862; wounded; disch. May 9,

1866.

Cash, Nathaniel, Co. E, lOtb Int ; must. Aug. 18, 1864 ; trans. 1864.

Chuta, Watson, Co. C, 25th Int ; most Sept 29, 1862 ; pro. to sergt ; disch. with

company.

ChapUn, Alonzo C, Co. A, 26th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862; dlsch. with company.

Chaplin, Henry J., Co. C, 13th Inf. ; died Oct 16, 1866.
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Ctante, Edward P., Co. I, loth Inf. ; muBt. Oct. 1, 1861 ; died June 19, IWt.

Cole, Corrdon C, Co. E. 17tb Inf. ; muat Oct 6, ISU; tranxfemd.

Cole, Clurlea C, Cu. E, ITth Inf. ; mnst. Oct. 6, 1864 ; traiufemd.

Canaell, John S., Co. E, 17th Int; muM. Oct. 6, 1864; tmurerred.

Crowley, John, miut Not. 21, 1864.

Clark, Charley mut. Not. 29, 1864.

Cox, George, muat Jan. 3, 1866.

Cheat, Charlea, Co. E, 26th Inf. ; muit. Bept. 29, 1862.

Chaplin, John, Co. E, lOth In£; mnat Oct 4, 1861; diach. with company.

Ch^llu, Henry, Co. JT, 30th Inf. ; mnit Dec. 29, 1863.

Cole,WynianLl,Co.—, 9thln£; mnat Oct 6, 1864.

CUlea, John, Co. B, ITth Int ; mnat Oct 8, 1864; diach. 1864.

Dory, Lewis H., Go. C, ITth Inf. ; most Ang. 18, 1862.

DaTia, William, Co. K, 29th Inf. ; mnat Not. 13, 1864 ; died at New Orleans, Jan.

23,1866.

Dnnacomb, Peter, mnit Oct 4, 1864.

DaTia, Jcaeph IL, mnat Oct 1, 1863.

Foster, Charles V.,— Bat, let Art; nmst Oct 6, 1864.

IMss, George, mnst Dec 6, 1864.

TniUah, George W, mnst Oct 18, 1864.

Goodrich, Lewis O., Co. 1, 10th Inf.; mnst Ang. 18, 1862.

Goodrich, WOliamW, Co. 0, 25th InfL; mnst Sept 29,1862; disch. with comp.

Green, Jidm W, Co. E, ISth Inf. ; died Ang. 23, 1866.

Gammon, WQliam, Co. F, 8th InC ; mnst Sept 21, 1864.

Gkllagar, Jsramiah, mnat Nor. U, 1864.

Gray, Blchard, most Not. U, 1864.

Gammon, Thomaa J., Co. C, 26th In£; mnst Oct 1, 1862 ; pro. to Corp.; diach.

with company.

Hoyt, George, Co. 0, 26th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; died at Washington, D. C.

Hsseltlne, John, Co. A, 26th Int; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Hall, Albert E., Co. C, 26th Int; mnst Sept 29, 1862; pro. to seigt and to 1st

ergt; diach. with company.

Hall, Daniel E., Co. C, 29th Inf.; most Dec. IT, 1863; taken prisoner at New
Orleaoa, April 9, 1864.

Hoyt, George W., Co. G, 26th Int ; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; died Feb. 20, 1863.

Hill, George W., Co. H, 8th Int ; mnst April 24, 186i ; died Feb. 6, 1866.

Hnrahell, John, mnst Dec. 16, 1864.

HOI, Iiorenzo D, 3d Art ; mnst Jan. 4, 1864.

Hatch, Henry C, Co. H, ITth Int ; mnst. Aug. 18, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Harmon, Frederick J., mnst Sept 29, 1864.

Hardy, Sidney, Co. C, 9th Inf. ; died Jnly 21, 1864.

Hnmpbrey, Henry P., 3d Art ; mnst Jan. 4, 1864.

Hill, Applaton I., Co. 1, 10th Inf. ; mnst Oct 4, 1861 ; disch. with company.

Hill, Francis J., Co. 1, 10th Inf. ; mnst Oct 4, 1861 ; disch. with company.

Jackson, Almon, mnst April 14, 1866 ; died at Angnsta, 6a., May 20, 1865.

Jones, William, mnat. Dec. 1, 1864.

Johnson, Peter H., mnst. Dec. 3, 1864.

Jackson, Robert H., Co. 0, 30th Int; mnst. Dec 19, 1863; died at Mt. Pleasant,

Ang. 4, 1864.

Johnson, Thomas, mnst. Oct 11, 1864.

Knapp, Joaaph P., Co. C, 25th Int ; moat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Knapp, Jcaeph, Co. I, lOtk Int

Knapp, Joaeph P., Co. O, 8th Int ; mnst Sept 21, 1865.

Lakln, Benjamin C, Co. I, luth Int ; most Ang. 18, 1862 ; killed at Boonabor-

ongh. Sept 22, 1862.

Libby, Frank B., Co. C, 2eth Int ; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Lord, Cnrtii J., Co. C, 26th lot ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Lawler, William, moat Dec. 1, 1864.

Mellen, Green, mnatdan, Co. E, 10th Int; mnst. Oct 4, 1861 ; diach. May,

1863.

Mayberry, Enoch, Co. C, ITth Int; mnst Ang. 10, 1862; killed at Petersbotg,

Ta, Oct 11, 1864.

MlUer, Charles, mnat Not. 16, 1864.

Matching, 0«>rga, ITth Int

Marsh, John W., mnat Sept 4, 1863.

Moody, Charies H, Co. F, SOth Int ; mnst. Dec 29, 1863 ; died Aug. 23, 1864.

Morey, George M., Co. E, 3ath Int ; mnst Jan. 12, 1864.

Morris, John, mnat Oct. 18, 1864.

McCarthy, John, mnat Oct 19, 1864.

Mazfleld, Jcstah C, Co. E, lOlh Int ; mnat. Oct 4, 1861 ; discb. with company.

Ptnl, CalTin, mnst April 14, 1866.

pinmmer, Daniel, Co. D, lOth Int ; killed at South Mountain, Md., Ang. 9, 1862.

Proctor, DaTid, Oct 4, 1804.

Pinmmer, Samuel M., Co. K, 9th (nt; mnat Dec 31, 1863.

Qnimby, Marahall, Co. E, 13th Int ; died Jnly IT, 1864.

Qnimby, Orrin, Co. F, 10th Int ; muat. Oct 4, 1861 ; died June 14, 1864.

Bogera, Wilaon D, Co. C, 26th Int; mnst Oct 1. 1862 ; pro. to carp. ; diich.

with company.

BIchatdson, John M., Co. C, 30th Int ; mnst Dec 29, 1863.

Bobinson, John, Co. F, 30th Int; mnst Dec. 29, 1863.

Bandall, James, mnat Oct. 11, 1864.

Shaw, John F., Co. 1, 10th Int; must Ang. 12, 1862; died Sept 22, 1862.

tenbom, DaTid, Co. A, 26th Int ; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

StSTsns, James B., Co. E, 10th Int ; mnat Oct 4, 1861 ; disch. with company.

Slaplea, Charlaa M., 1st HaaTy Art.; mnat Jan. 4, 1864.

Tappan, George W., mnat Dec IS, 1864.

TnadweU, Nathan, wounded; discharged; re^nLIn Massachusetts.

Wood, Charies, Co. C, ITth Int ; mnst . Ang. 18, 1862 ; died Jan. 12, 1863.

Wetherbee, Williiua, Co. 1, 10th Inf. ; mnst. Ang. 12, 1862.

Walker, Freelan, Co. C, 25th Inf.; nin-t Sept. 27, 1862; disch. with company

;

lv«nl.in8thInr.,Sept21,l864; diicb. with compnny.

Walker, Elliot B., Co. B, 26th Int; mnst Sept. 29, 1862; pro. to corp.; disch.

with company; re-enl. Oct 4, 1864, in 2d Art.

Wlllard, ETat, Co. C, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862.

Wetherbee, William H., Co. D, 29th Inf.; mnat Ang. 12,1862; killed at Cedar

Creek, Oct 19, 1864.

Wood, Frederick, Ctf. H, 20th Int; died June 12, 1866.

Woodward, Solomon, mnst Oct T, 1864.

Wethetbea, Charies F., Co. F, 8tli Int ; mnst Sept 21, 1864.

Weymouth, Blcbard, must Dec. 1, 1864.

White, Charles, mnst Sept 4, 1863.

Wlllard, ETat, Co. C, 30th Int ; mnst Dec. 19, 1863 ; died Ang. 22, 1866.

Wilkins, Charlea B., mnst. 3ept. 30, 1864.

Whitney, Henry C, Co. E., 10th Int; mnst Oct 4, 1861 ; disch. with company.

F0BEI6H EHUSTKZirrS.

Clark, Orrin, PennsylTania Tolnnteen.

DaTia, John F., Maaiiachuaetts.

Hardy, Charles A., 2d Diatrict of Columbia Tola.

Hall, Eben, P., llent, 1st Conneellcnt Heary Art. ; killrd at Petersbnrg, Ta.

NEW GLOUCESTER,
ATerill, Jamea H., Cu. B. 3d Inf.; mnst Ang. 26, 1863; disch. April 14, 1864.

Atkins, Wallace F., Co. I, 26th Int ; must. Srpt 29, 1862 ; disch. with company,

Jnly 20, 1863.

Allison, William, Co. B, 9th Int; mnst Oct 3, 1864; disch. with company, Jnly

13, 1866.

Allen, Henry C, Co. F, lat CaT.; mnat Oct 19, 1861.

Burgess, Oark P., Co. B, 9th Int; mnst. Oct 4, 1864 ; diach. 1869.

Bailey, Tlllisfor, sergt, Co. I, 25th Int; mnst Bept 29, 1862; diach. with com-

pany; re-enl. in Co. K, 30th Int, Jan. 9, 1864; died March 21, 1864.

Blake, WiUlam E., Co. 1, 26th Int ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Bntler, Edward C, Co. I, 26th Int; mnat Sept 29, 1862; trans, to 22d Maine

Int

Cnmmlngs, Cbaries H., Co. H, 11th Int; must Not. 12, 1861; pro. to sergt.

;

disch. Jnly 12, 1866.

Carney, Joaeph, Co. C, 10th Int ; must Oct. 5, 1861 ; re-enllsted
;
pro. to corp.

;

'

re-enl. Jan. 9, 1864; wounded Oct T, 1864.

Cnnnin^iam, John, Co. 1, 25th Int ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Daris, Adomitam A., Co. D, 16th Int ; must Dec 10, 1861.

Dawes, Alrin, Co. H, loth Int ; must Oct 4, 1861.

DaTia, Leauder F., Co. C, ITth Int ; muat Ang. 18, 1862 ; disch. Jan. 29, 1864.

Dunn, Cheater J., drummer, Co. C, ITth Int; must Aug. 18, 1862; wounded
May 5 ; died May 20, 1864.

Field, George D., Corp., Co. 1, 12th Int ; must March T, 1865 ; detached ; te-enl.

March IT, 1865, In Co. 1, 12th Int
Fields, Horace N., Co. O, 5lh Int ; must June 24, 1801.

Fogg, John S., Co. U, lltb Int ; must Not. 1 2, 1861 ;
pro. to corp. ; disch. Mareh

18,1864.

Fogg, John S., lat sergl., Co. 1, 12th Int; mnst March IT, 1865.

Fogg, Charlea N., Co. 1, 12th Int ; mnst May T, 1866.

Fairfield, Payson E., Co. K, 16th Int; mnat Dec 16, 1861.

Greely, Bobert P. M., Co. I, 26th Int; mnat Sept 29, 1862; disch. with com-
pany.

Gowsll, WillUm C Co. 1,26th Int; mnst Sept. 29, 1862; diach. with company.
Gower, Francia L., Co. H, 11th Int ; must Not. 12, 1861 ; disch. Not. 18, 1864.

Gowsr, Francis G., Co. 1, 12th Int ; mnst. March IT, 1865.

Qrean, George A., Co. H, 10th Int ; mnst Oct 4, 1861 ;
pro. to sergt, Co. E, Uth

Inf., 1863.

Oonld, Elijah G., Co. K, loth Int ; mnst Oct 4, 1861.

Green, George A., Co. H, 13th Int; mnst aa 2d llent Jnly 1, 1864.

Gould, Anthony B., Co. H, 6th Int; mnat Jnne 24, 1861.

HibbKrd,Orrin B.,Co.I,llthInt; muat Ang. 16,1882; dlsch.by order ofJune
6,1865.

Hammond, Joseph P., Co. D, 32d Inf. ; most Not. 10, 1864; pro. to capt; re-

signed.

Haggett, SnlllTan H., Co. 1, 25th Inf. ; mnst Oct 6, 1862 ; disch. with company.
HIggins, George S., Co. I, 25th Inf. ; must Oct 6, 1862 : dlscli. with company.
Hall, William H , musician, Co. D, 5th Int; mnat June 24, 1861; pro. to tlfe-

mti.; diach. October, 1862.

Harmon, Edward P., mnatdan, Co. E, 5th Int ; muat Jnne 24, 1861 ; t»4nl. De-
cember, U63, In let Maine VetetMls.

Hartman, Charles, Co. G, 5th Int; mnst June 23, 1861; detached to gunboat
1863.

Holman, Emery A., Co. H, 10th Int; mnst July 24, 1862 ; trans. 1864.

Hsskell, Thomaa H , sergt, Co. I, 26th Inf ; must. Sept 29, 1862; disch. with
company.

Harmon, George L., musician, Co. G, 12th Int ; must March 1, 1866.

Harmon, Edward, Co. B, 'J9th Int ; mnst Dec 16, 1863 ; killed Oct 19, 1864.
Hlggtns, William C, Co. K, 29th Int ; must Not. 13, 1863 ; disch. Ang. 22, 1866.
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Holman, Am, Co. C, 2d Cav.; nirat. Dec. 3, 1863.
Holt, Milton W., Corp., Cki. 1, 12th Int; maat. May 17, 1866.

Hilton, JoHph M., Mrgt, Ck). 6, Irt Car. ; muat Oct. 18, 1861.

Jordan, Rojcoe G., Co. C, 17th Int; mnit. Aug. 18, 1862; dlich. Jnna 4, 1863.

Jnmpar, John Q. A., Co. 1, 25th Inf.; mnst. Sept 2«, 1862 ; disch. with company

;

Teteran mallHsirier, 1863
;
pro. to corp, 1865.

Jenkina, John, Co. 6, lit CaT. ; mnsL Jan. 2.\ 1864 ; dlich. June 19, 1868.

Jnmper, Oeoigo B., let sorgt., Co. F, let Cay. ; must. Deo. 31, 1863; pro. to 2d
lieiit., 186S.

Jordan, Charlea T., Co. D, let Inf.; muat. May 3, 1861.

Jnmper, George, Co. K.lat Car.; mnsl. May 3, 1861.

Keene, Joalnli F, Co. H, 11th Inf. ; muat Jan. 19, 1864, aa 2d lient.

Lnnt, M. William, Co. H, 10th Inf.; muat. Oct. 4, 1862; n^ai. Dec. 16, 1863;
pro. to Corp. ; died Oct 7, 1864.

Low, Michael, Co. 1, 9th Int ; muat Sept. 28, 1864 ; dlach. June 30, 1864.

Lyon, Andrew S, aergt, Co. K, 6th Int ; moat Jan. 24, 1861 ; lat aorgt., Sept.

23; pro. to lat lient

Lambee, Charlea 8., Co. B, 8th Int ; moat Sept 7, 1861.

Lambee, Fred., Co. E, 8th Int'; muat Sept 7, 1861.

Morriaon, Peter, Co. B, 9th Int ; must Sept 16, 1864.

Merrill, Amoa G., do. B, 29th Int ; muat Jan. 12, 1864.

Markett, John, Co. H, 2Sth Int ; mnat. Sept 29, 1862 ; diacb. with company.
Merrill, David N., Co. K, 6tb Int; muat. Dec. 22, 1861 ; re.«nl. In lat Maine Yet-

enUB, Jan 4, 1864.

McGllnch, Jeremiah, Co. O, Uth Inf.; muat Not. 8, 1861; re^nliated; diach.

Aug. 28, 1864.

Mclntire, BeqJ., Jr., Co. 1, 23th Int ; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company

;

re-enl. Jan. 9, 1864: diaoh. 1866.

Mclntoah, Edward K., Co. 1, 26th Int ; muat Sept. 29, 1862 ; dlscb. with company.
Mclntire, Lerl, Co. E, 13tb Int ; muat Dec. 12, 1863.

Merchant William H., Co. H, &th Int ; mnat July 4, 1861.

Merrill, Benjamin B., aergt, Co. G, 6th Int ; muat June 2.3, 1861.

Merrill, DaTla W., Co. G, &th Int ; muat June 23, 1861.

Meader, John, Co. H, 29th Int; muat. Dec. 29, 1863; diach. Aug. 12, 1864.

Peterson, Orion L, Co. E, 6th Int ; mnat. July 16, 1861.

Plant Charlea F., Co. H, 10th Int ; muat. July 21, 1862.

Potter, Hanaon B., Co. O, llth Int ; mnat Not. 8, 1862 ; dIacb. Not. 22, 1863.

Qnimby, John F., Co. B, 29tb Int; muat. Jan. 9, 1864; pro, to corp.

Buaaeil, William 0.,.Co. H, 17th Int; mnat Aug. 20, 1863; diacb. Sept 11, 1363.

Bicharda, Jnatua H., Co. 1, 25th Int ; muat Sept. 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.
Band, John, Co. E, Uth lot; mnat Dec. 10, 1861 ; dlach. April 11, 1863.

Band, Dayid, Co. E, 13th Int; muat Dec. 10, 1861.

Bowe, Stephen, Co. D., leth Int ;'mnat Dec. 10, 1861.

Smith, Angnatna, Co. H, 6th Int; muat July 21, 1861.

Smith, Jamea, 0>. F, lat CaT. ; mnat. Oct 19, 1861 ; re^enl. Dec. 31, 1863
;
pro. to

Corp.; diach. with company, Aug. 1, 1865.

Smith, Sllaa M., Co. I, 3d Int; mnat July 20, 1863; trana. to 17th Maine Begt.
1864.

Smith, Albert P., Co. H, 10th Tnt ; muat Jnly 31, 1862.

Smith, LouTiil, Co. H, 10th Int ; mnat Jnly 24, 1862.

Stinchfleld, Samuel E., Co. H, lOtb Int ; mnat July 26, 1862.

SteTena, Joaepb F., Co. H, llth Int ; muat. Aug. 12, 1861 ; re.«nliated ; wounded
Ang. 16, 1864; pro. to aergt, Jnly 13, 1866.

Snow, DaTid M., mnat March 21, 1866 ; died June 24, 1865. ^
Sweetaer, William, Co. H, llth Int ; mnat. Not. 12, 1861.

Stnbba, Charlea E., Corp., 2d Bat., lat CaT.; muiit Dee. 28, ISbl.

Thorn, lanel, Co. H, 10th Int ; mnat. Jnly 24, 1862 ; diach. Dec. 6, 1862.

Thnrlow, Rlctuu-d, Co. O, Uth Int ; mnat Dec. 12, 1861 ; traua. to luTHlid

Coipe, 1864.

yincent Jnlina, Co. E, 9th Int; muat. Sept. 24, 1864.

Watta, Albert S., Co. E, 13th Int ; muat Jan. 6, 1864.

Watta, DsTld, Co. O, 25th Int ; muat. Sept 29, 1862; diach. with company.

Watta, Al&nd T., Co. G, Ttb Int ; mnat. Ang. 21, 1861 ; diach. April 4, 1864.

Whitman, George E., Co. H, 10th Int ; mnat Oct 4, 1861.

Woodbury, Charlea F., Co. 6, 13th Int ; muat Jan. 26, 1862 ; re^enl. Feb. 9, 1864;

pro. to Corp. ; tranaferred.

Watta, Alt T., aergt., Co. K, lat Car. ; mnat. Feb. 16, 1864 ; diach. Jnne 20, 1865.

Wormwood, Arthur, corp., Co. E, 8th Int ; muat. Feb. 29, 1864 ; miaaing in bat-

tle, Sept 27, 1864.

Wormwood, Alfred B., Co. E, 8th Int ; must Feb. 29, 1864 ; wounded May 16,

1864; dlach. Aug. 28, 1865.

FOBEIOH EKLISTKEHTS.

Denniaon, William E., n. S. Nary.

Potter, Silaa H., I7th U. S. Int

Sawyer, Andrew H., Maaa.

Wormwood, A. Lorenzo, 19th Wia. Int

NORTH YARMOUTH.
Adderton, Joaiah M., Co. E, 17th Int ; muat Aug. 18, 1862 ; wounded May 6,

1864.

Blake, EUjab, Corp., Co. E, 17tli Int ; mnat Aug. 18, 1862.

Buxton, Wlllard, Co. S, 20tb Int; muat Aug. 29, 1862; wounded July 2; died

Jnly 10, 1863.

Boaton, George H., Co. G, 25tli Int; muat Sept. 29, 1862; dlach. with company,
July 10, 1863.

Bucknam, Charlea W., lat Corp., U. S. Vet; must. Jan. 25, 1865.

Bodaon, WiUinm.

Byram, WilllHm C, Co. E, 30tli Inf. ; muBt. Dec. 15, 1803 ; died June 10, 1864.

Butler, Daniel, musician, Co. F, 12lh Inf.; muat. J.in. 2, 1864; diacli. April 18,

1866.

Bradley, John, Co. K, 20th Int; muat Feb. 1, 1865.

Cary, William, Co. K, 20th Int; muat. Feb. 1, 1866.

Colley, Charles L., Co. E, 17th Int ; must Ang. 18, 1862 ;
pro. to corp. ; wounded

May 12, 1864; dlach. Feb. 27, 1805.

Cusbing, Charlea B., Co. G, 25th lut ; muat Sept. 29, 1862 ; diach. with com-
pany.

Dunn, Cyrus, Co. A, .Wth Int ; muat. Jan. 12, 1664 ; died July 4, 1864.

Dexter, William B., 16th Int ; must Feb. 27, 1865.

Freeman, Thomna, Uth R. I. II. Ait. (colored) ; muat March 8, 1865.

Froat, Leander S., Co. E, 30th Int Vet ; mnst Dec. 12, 1863 ; wounded April

23, 1664; pro. to Corp. and aorgt.

Froat, John L., Co. E, 30th Int Vet. ; mnat. Dec. 29, 1863 ; wounded April 23,

1864.

Ooodlng, Albert J., sergt, Co. G, 26th Int; mnst Sept 29, 1862; diach. with

company.

Growa, Dana B., Co. E, 30lh Int; mnat. Jan. 6, 1864; died July 27, 1864.

Holmea, John, Co. 6, 20th Int ; must Aug. T, 1863 ; transferred.

Hayee, DaTid P., Co. E, 17tb Int; muat Aug. 18, 1862; trana. to Yet Bea.

Corpa.

Hayea, Fiuncia E., Co. E, 17th Int ; muat. Aug. 18, 1862; wounded at Gettya-

burg; dlach. June 4, 1866.

Hamilton, Joaeph, corp., Co. D, 16th lot; must. Ang. U, 1862; pro. to sergt.;

wounded at SpottaylTania and taken piisoner. May 8, 1864.

Harris, Edwin B., Co. B, 12th Int; muat Dec. 6, 1861; re-enl. Jan. 1,1864;

wounded Oct. 19, 1864; prii. to corp. ; tranaferred ; diach. April 18, 1866.

Herrick, Henry P., 2d lient., Co. i>, 16tli Int ; mnat. Aug. 14, 1862; killed at

Frederlckaburg, Va.

Ilult, Wm. T., aergt., Co. F, 1st Car. ; must. Oct 18, 1861 ; dlscb. March 22, 1862.

Hamilton, Benjamin F., muaician, Co. G, 26th lot ; mnat Sept 29, 1862.

Hamilton, Edward, Co. G, 25th Int; muat Sept 29, 1862.

Harrla, DaWd T., Corp., Co. H, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; dlscb. with com-

pany.

iTea, John J., 1st Bat. Mounted Art; must Dec. 31, 1861.

Johnson, Charlea H., <}o. G, 25th Int; must Sept. 29, 1863 ; dlscb. with com-

pany.

Johnson, Nathaniel, C!o. A, 15th Int; must Dec. 6, 1861.

Jackson, James, 30th Int ; must April 6, 1866.

Eelley, Jeremiah, Co. I, 4th Int ; must Aug. 25, 1863 ; transferred.

Kenney, Stephen B., hoapltal steward, 23d Int; must Sept. 18, 1862; disch.

with regt.

LoTell, Daniel K., Corp., Co. F, 1st CaT. ; muat. Oct 19, 1861 ; trans, to Yet Bea.

Corps.

Lawrence, James, lltU Int ; must. Maroh 23, 1865.

Leighton, Gardiner, Co. B, 25th Int ; must Sept. 29, 1862.

Lowe, Boliert, mnslcian, Co, 6, 12th Int; must. Not. 16, 1861; diach. April 9,

1862.

Loring, William W., Co. 6, 12th Int ; moat Not, 15, 1861 ; disch. May 29, 1863.

Le Blond, Anguste, Co. K, 20th Int; must Jan. 16, 1865.

Mone, WinAeld S., Co. K, 2Ulh Int; muat Aug. 29, 1862; pro. to corp. and

sergt. ; died Jan. 2, 1864.

Maraton, George W,, corp., Co. 1, 12tli Int ; muat, March 17, 1865 ; diach. March

17, 1866.

Morrill, Mark 0., Co. O, 26lh Int ; muat Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Mitchell, Lewla, Co. 0, 12th Int; mnat. Nov. 16, 1861; diach, with company.

Merohant, Joel O., Co. G, 12lh Int : uuat Not. 15, 1861.

Mono, John, Co. K, lat II. Art ; muat Sept 4, 1863.

McGarrigal, John, 12th Int; muat. April 6, 1865.

McEIwain, George N., unaasigned Int ; muat Feb. 28, 1865,

Maraton, (Tharlea L., D. C. Cav. ; muat May 20, 1864; pro. to sergt.; trana-

ferred.

Noad, James, Co. B, 12th Inf ; muat. March 13, 1865; disch. with company,

April 18, 1866.

North, Charlea A., Co. G, 25th lut; mnst Sept 29, 1862; re-enl. 1864; pro. to

corp. and sergt. in Co. K, 1st D. 0, Ckt,

Noyea, WllllHm S,, Corp., Co. E, loth Int; must. Oct 4, 1861 ; wounded at

Slaughter Mountain; dlach. with company.

Noyea, Clinton, Co. E, lOth Int ; muat Oct. 4, 1861 ; diach. with company.

Prince, Albert F., Co. 0, 26th Int ; muat Sept 29, 1862 ; re-enl. In Co. K, lat D.

C. CaT.; muat. Feb. 20, 1864 ; tranaferred
;
pro. to corp. and aergt

Porter, Nehemlah, Co. R, 10th Int; mnat. Oct 4, 1861 ; diaoh. with company.

Porter, Charlea C, Co. E, 10th Int ; mnat Oct. 4, 1861 ; drowned in Schuylkill

BiTer, Dec. T, 1862.

Paraona, Albert L., Co. E, 10th Int ; muat Oct. 4, 1861 ; dlscb. with company.

Phillips, WilUam H., Co. G, 2Stb Int ; muat Sept. 29, 1862.

Pagoide, Cheri, Co. E, 17th Int ; muat Ang. 18, 1862 ; pro. to aergt

Philllpa, Edward L., Co. A, 5th Int ; must Jan, 3, 1862 ; disch. May 27, 1862.

King, Benjamin T,, Co. K, 20th Int ; muat. Ang. 29, 1862; wounded at Geltya-

burg, Jnly 1, 1863; died May 6, 1864.

Bider, Charles D, Co. D, 16tb Int ; muat Aug. 14, 1862 ; wounded at Gettyaburg,

July 1, 1863; diacb. June 5, 1865.
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Bo«, Honca 6^ coip^ Co. E, Wth Inf.; mut. Dec. 12, 1863 ; Tetenn.

Bowe, Abntham N., coip-. Co. B, 2Sth Inf. ; mait. S«pL 20, 1862 : pro. to 2d

Ueut. and Itt Ueat. ; died Nor. 21, 18M.

BMa, Albert, Co. E, 30tb Inf. ; mnit. Dec. 12, 1863.

Boh, DuHl B., Co. E, 30th Inf. ; mnit. Dec. 12, 1863 ; wouoded April 23, 1864

;

pro. to sergt. ; Tetenn.

Boee, Thomu W., Co. E, SOth Int ; Tetersn ; mnst. Jan. 6, 1864 ; died Jnlr 16,

1864.

SkilUn, Jowiph K^ Co. A, 30th Inf.; mnit Jan. 12, 1864; dlMlh. April 10, 1864.

Sweeteer, Chariea 8, Co. Q, 26th Int ; mmt. Oct. 6, 1862.

Sweetier, Fiancta E., Oo. O, 2Sth Inf.; mut. 8ept 20, 1862.

Sweeteer, Nathaniel W. F., MrgL, Co. 0, 2Sth InC: muet. Sept. 2S, 1862.

Swortnr, WUIiam H., Co. F, let Car. ; mn«t Oct. 19, 1861 ; died Dec. 22, 1862.

SkUlin, William B., 2d lieut., Co. 0, 12th Inf. ; mnat. Mot. U, 1861 ; pro. to let

lient; redgned July 4, 1864.

Sargent, John J., Co. K, 2d Int ; moat. Majr 28, 1861 ; dlach. Jane 4, 1863.

Stackpole, Edwin, Co. A, 6th Inf.; mut. Jnne 24, 1861 ; died Ang. 19, 1861.

Sinclair, Jamea, 20th InC ; mut. April 8, 1866.

Staekpoir, Engene, Oo. I, ITth Inf. ; mut. Ang. 12, I8«3 ; died. Ang. 24, 1864.

Tne, Benrj, Co. B, Coaat Onard ; mut. Oct. 29, 1861 ; diieh. Sept. 9, 1862.

Titcomb, Chariee W., Co. E, 30(h InC ; mut. Dw. 12, 1866 ; died Jxdj t, 1864.

niGomb, Ammi 0., Co. B, 30th Inl; mut. Jan. 6, 1864; wonnded April 9;

died In the haoda of tbe enemy, April 14, 1864.

Tme, Cfaariea F., Co. C, 31lt Int; mut March 23, 1864; dlach. Jnne 12, 1866.

nteomb, Frank, Co. 0, S2d Int ; mut Hatch 23, 1864; died in Hatne.

Titcomb, Boacoe, Oo. O, 2&th Int ; mut. Sept 29, 1862 ; djich. with company.

WUaon, John.

Wbitnej, William J., Co. IS,lTth Int; mut Aog 18,1862; wonnded at 6et-

tTBbnrg; killed in batUe, Hay 5, 1864.

Tonng, Charlea H., Oo. H, Stb Int ; mut Sept 9, 1861 ; re-enl. Feb. 29, 1864

;

pro. to Corp. and aergt; diecb. with company, Jan. 18, 1866.

Tonng, Eleaaer K., Co. E, 30th Inf. , mut. Dec. 12, 1863 ; Tetenn ; wonnded

April 23, 1864.

UKITED STATES BAVT.

Bayea, Thomas H. ; Hayee, Frederick ; Harrla, Chariee H. ; Loring, Oharlee B.

;

Ome, Chariea S.; Pierce, David T. ; Sweetslr, William F.; Stackpole,

Chariea; Imc, William H.

OTISFIELD.
Atwood, Oeorge H., Co. F, IGtfa Int ; most. Aug. 14, 1861 ; diwh. with coifipany,

AndrewB, William W., Co. A, 29th Int ; mnst. Sept. 9, 1862 ; trau. 1861.

Andiewa, Wallace O, Co. O, 29th Int ; mut. Ang. 29, 1862 ; wonnded, Oct. 19,

1864; dlich. April 20, 1866.

Briggs, William 0., Co. 0, 25tb Int ; mut Sept 29, 1862 ; pro. to Corp. ; dlsch.

with company.

Caldwell, Chariea B., Co. E, 10th Int ; muet Oct 4, 1861.

Caldwell, laaiafa A., mut Ang. 24, 1862 ; trans. 18S3.

Chnte, Cnrtia, Co. H, ITth Int; mut Ang. 16, 1862; disch. Feb. 26, 1863.

Conlllard, Bmlo, Co. C, 9th Int : mut Sept 26, 1864.

Ohnte, William A., Co. S, 29th Int ; mut Dec 16, 1863 ; taken prisoner, Oct

19,1864.

Edwards, Alonio, Corp., Co. D, I6th Int ; mut Dec. 10, 1861.

Edwards, Bryoe BL; Co. I, 6th Int ; mnst Jnly 28, 1862 ; dlsch. Hay, 1864.

Edwards, Abner, Oo. C, 2Tth lot ; mut April 11, 1866.

Edwards, Bobinson O., Co. 0, 26th Int ; mnst Sept 29, 1862; disch. witb com-

pany.

Edwards, Silaa B, Oo 0, 26th Int; mut Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Edwards, Bewail A., Oo. 0, 26th Int ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with com-

pany.

Edwards, HeFarlaad, Co. 0, 14th Int; mnst Dec. 21, 1861.

Edwarda, Sidney D., Co. 0, 30th Int ; mnst. Dec 28, 1863 ; trans. 1864.

Orcenleat; Zebnlon D., Co. 0, 30th Int ; mnst Dec 19, 1883 ; died Jnly 21, 1864.

Onsly.John W.,Co.8, 29tblnt; mut Dec 19, 1863 ; killed, April 8, 1864.

aa0, William, Oc 0, 26th Int ; mut Sept. 29, 1862 ; dbreh. with company.

Greene, Edmoad M., Oo. C, 26th Int ; mut Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with com-

pany ; te^nL in 2Tth Co. Inf., AprQ 6, 1866.

Green, Ireson, Oo. 0, 2Sth Int ; mut Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Greene, James L., Go. 0, 26th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Oage, Oeorge M., Co. F, 10th Int ; mut Oct 4, ISOL

Henley, John 8., Oo. 0, 10th Int ; mnst. Oct 4, 1861.

Holden, Anion J., Corp., Co. 0, 26th Int ; mut Sept 29, 1862; died Deo. 19,

18C2.

Hendemn, Hiram W., Co. 0, 26th Inl ; mut Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with com-

pany.

Hamlin, Frank K., Oo. 1, 12th Int ; mut March IT, 1866.

Huton, John, Oo. D, 16tb Int; mut Dec 10, 1861 ; diich. Ang. 1, 1866.

Henley, FUny B., Oo. 0, 10th Int; mut. Oct 4, 1861.

Julian, Martin T. B, Oo. 0, 26tb Int ; mut. Sept 29, 1863; dlich. with com-

pany.

Jones, Oiarlei, Oo. O, 9th Int ; mut Sept. 29, 1864 ; dlich. with company.

Knight, Johnson, 2Tth Co. Inf. ; mut . April 11, 1866.

Knigfat, Joieph L., Co. A, 12th Int; mut Sept 27, 1864; disch. July 22, 1866.

Knight Joseph, Op. G, 10th Int ; mut. Oct. 4, 1861.

Keens, William H., Oo. E, 10th Inl; mut Oct 4, 1861.

Knight, George H., Co. E, 10th Inl ; mut Oct. 4, 1861.

Knight, Zebnlon, Co. F, 1st Cay. ; mut Oct. 19, 1861.

LoTsU, Heniy H., Co. D, 16lh Int ; mnst Dec. lU, 1861.

LoTell, Lowell, Co. D, 16th Int; mnst Dec. 10, 1861.

LoTell, DaWd K., Co. 0, 26th Int; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; dlach. with company.

Lewis, Jamea, Co. G, 9th Int; mut Sept 29, 1864.

Lane, William B., Co. E, 16th Int ; mut Manh 6 ; dlich. Hay 14, 1866.

Horse, Franklin X., Oo. H, ITth Inl; rout Ang. 18, 1862; wonnded Hay 12,

1863.

Haybeny, Elbridge 0., Z7th Co. Int ; mut April 6, 1866.

Hone, Hark K., sergt., Co. 0| i6th Inl ; mut Sept 29, 1862 ; redaced ; dlsch.

with company.

Potter, Gilbert F., Oo. 0, 12th Int ; mnst Jan. 1, 1864 ; wonnded September 19

;

trans, to 12th Battalion Inbntry.

Pitti, Naaon A., 2Tth Oo. Int ; mnat. April 11, 1866.

Feabody, William, Co. 0, 30th Int; mut Dec. IS, 1863; dlach. with company.

Piper, Comellna, Co. 1, 3d Int , mut. Ang. 14, 1863 ; trans, to 17th Maine Begt,

1864.

Bandall, Isaiah, 27th Oo. Int ; mut April B, 1866.

Boas, Thomas, Co. 0, gth Int ; mut Sept 26, 1864 ; disch. with company.

Bobinson, David H., Oo. H, ITth Int; mast. Ang. U, 1862; dlsch. 1864.

Bobbins, Wm. H, Co. C, 26th Inl ; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. vrith company.

BobUni, Wwley C, Co. C,26tb Inl ; mnst. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Bicker, Jamas M., Co. 0, 30th Int: mut Deo. 19, 1863; pro. to Corp., 1364;

dlich. with company.

Spnrr, Llewellyn, 2Tth Co. nusalgned Inl; mnat April 11, 1866.

Stone, John F., 27th Oo. nnasslgned Int; mnst April 11, 1866.

Scribner, Fletcher, 27th Co. nnasslgned Inl ; mnst April 11, 1866.

Scribner, John F., 2Tlh Co. nnasslgned Int: mut April 11, 1866.

Scribner, Jamee A., 27th Co. nnmlgned Int ; mut. April 11, 1866.

Spnrr, Bnmner, 2Tth Co. unaasigned Int ; mnst April 11, 1876.

Smith, Nathan, Co. G, 10th Int; mnst Oct 4, 1861.

Smith, Jonathan, Co. 0, 10th Int; mnst. Oct 4, 1861 ; ra-enl. in 2Tth Co. Inf., April

6, 1866.

Smith, In N., Co. F, 17th Int ; mut Sept. 1 , 1883 ; wounded Sept 14 ; trau.

to Tet B«. Corpe..

Sanborn, Charles W., Oo. H, 17th Int ; mnst Ang. 18, 1862 ; wonnded at Q*t-

tysbnrg.

Smith, Xli N., Co. H, 17th Int ; mnst Ang. U, 1862 ; disch. April 24, 1863.

Spnrr, Llewellyn, Co. H, 17th Int ; most Ang. 18, 1862 ; wonnded Jnly 2 ; disch.

Sept 26,1863.

Scribner, Algernon H, Oo. 0, 2Sth lot ;mut Sept 20, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Scribner, Simon, Co. C, 26th Int ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; dlach. with company.

Smith, Nathan, Co. 0, 26th Int ; mut Sept. 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with company.

Smith, Lyman, Co. 0, 2Sth Int ; mut Sept. 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with co mpany.

Scribner, Jackson, Co. C, 30th Int ; mut Dec 19, 1863 ; died Hay 2, 1864.

Shedd, William, Co. D, 12th Int; mnat Sept 27, 1864.

Tnrner, Eliaha, Co. C, 26tb Int ; mut 29, 1862 ; dlach. with company.

Thnnton, DaTid W., Oo. H ; mut Jnne 24, 1861.

Upton, John A., Co. G, mnat Oct 4, 1861.

Weaton, Edward F., Co. H, 17th Int; mnat Aug. 18, 1862; trana. to InTaiid

Corpe, 1864.

Wight, Hannibal H., Co. H, 17th Int ; mnst Ang. 18, 1862 ; tnu. to H. Art,

1864.

Wl^t, Elbridge, wagoner, Co. 0, 26th Int ; mut Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with

company.

Whlttnm, Samuel, Oo. 0, 25th Inl ; mnst. Sept 29, 1863; disch. with company.

Wiulow, Caleb E., Co. 0, 26th Int; mnat Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Wiulow, Oyru B., Co. 0, 26th Inf. ; mut. Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with company.

Wight, Albert L., Co. 0, 12th Int; mnat. Jan. 1, 1864; trans, to 1st Bat 12th

Hatne Inl

Webb, Walter, Oo. G, 29th Inl ; mnst Feb. 27, 1864 ; died Not. 10, 1864.

Warran, Nathaniel S., On. 0, 29th Inl ; mut. Dec 16, 1863.

Warren James L., Z7th Inl ; mnst April 11, 1866.

Wight, Chariee F., 27th Inf. ; mnst April II, 1866.

FOBZIOH EKLISTKEHTS.

Bean, Albert C, 20th Haas. Inl
Bean, Ansel, 20th Hsia. Inl

Edwards, Dexter, 17th U. 8. Int
Stone, John F., Haas. Begt

POWNAL.
AUen, William P., Oo. I, 2eth Int; mut. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with oomisny,

Jnly 20, 1863.

Allen, Chariea W., Co. 1, 26th Int ; mnat Sept 29, 1862; dlsch. with company,
Jnly 20, 1863.

Blackitone, Charles 0., Go. A, ITth Inl; mnst. Ang.U, 1862; wonnded ; died

May 9, 1863.

Bnrr, Chariee F., Co. F, lOOi Int; mut. Oct. 4, 1861; taken prisoner at Win-
chester, Ya. ; exchanged.

Blaekstone, Benjamin W., Co. 0, 12th Inl ; mnit Not. 16, 1861 ; n^nl. 1864

;

trans, to Bat 12th Maine Int

Blair, William H., Co. Q, 12th Int; must Not. 16, 1861 ; dlich. Ang. 26, 1862.
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Barke, Charles F., 10th Inf. Best.
Blake, Henry \v., Co, I, 2aih Inf. ; mint. Sept. 29, 1802 ; dlscli. with company.
Brown, Joseph, Jr., Co. I, 25th Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.
Blake, George, Co. C, 31st Inf. ; must. JIarcli 2:), 18M; dlsch. July 15, 1865.

Cliaae, Thomas R., Co. H, .5tli Inf.; must. June 24, 1861; dl<ch. irtth company.
Cushing, Samiel E., s8rgl.,Ci. F, Wth Inr.; mut. Oct. 4, 1861; discU. Oct 25,

1862.

Clongh, John Y., Co. G, 12tli Inf.; must. Nov. 15, 1801 ; disch. Oct. 27, 1863.

Chase, Joseph A., Co. K, 5th Inf ; mint. .\ug. 18, 1862 ; wounded June 9, 1864

;

trans, to 1st Miiine Vet. Begt. ; re-enl. in Co. B, 2d Vet. Inf.

Connor, Buhert W., Co. H, 30th Inf. ; must. Feb. 22, 1865.

Dresser, .Mblon K. P., Co. A, 17th Inf ; nmst. Aug. 18, 1862 ;
pro. to Corp., 1864;

disch. with company, June, 1865.

Este«, Sfth TV., Co. I, 23th Inf. ; mmt. Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.
Foss, Frederick, Bat. 0, Ist U. Art.; must Sept. «, 1864; disch. June 11, 1865.

Francis, Joseph, Co. E, 15th Inf ; must Feb. 10 ; died Oct 2, 1805.

Gilbert, James M., Co. E, 10th Inf; must. Aug. 18, 1862.

Gilbert, William, Co. D, .SOth Inf; must. Sept 23, 18i)i; diach. Aug. 39, 1865.

Hodidun, Charles H., Co. B, Coast Guards H. Art. ; must. Oct 29, 1861 ; disch.

Sept. 6, 1862.

Hodsdon, Benben T., Co. B, Coast Oiurds H. Art ; must Oct 29. 1801 ; disch.

Aug. 23, 1862.

HodsdoD, Jamn A., Co. B, Coast Guards H. Art ; must Oct 29, 1861 ; diwh

.

Sept 6, 1862.

Hntchlngs, Elbildge T., Co. B, Coast Guards H. Art ; must Oct 29, 1801 ; disch.

Sept. 6, 1862.

Haskell, Charles H., lergt., loth Infantry.

Hayes, James, Co. B, 20th Inf.; must March 9, 18S5 ; disch. July 25, 1865.

Harris, DaWd, Co. D, 2nth Inf. ; must Feb. 9. 1865.

Knox, Charles, Co. K, 20th Inf. ; must. Uarch 13, 1865.

Kimball, William H., Co. I, 8th Inf.; mast. Oct 6, 1863; disch. with company,
1865.

Knight, Joseph, Co. I, 25th Inf ; must Sept 29, 1862.

Knight, Freeman, Co. F, 10th Inf ; must Oct 4, 1861 ; disch. Jan. 4, 1862.

Miliikeo, EdaoD H., Co. F, 5th Inf ; must March 6, 1862 ; pro. to corp. ; wounded
May 3, 1863 ; trans, to luTaiid Corps, April 9, 1864.

Llhby, Lewis J., Co. F, 10th Inf ; must Oct 4, 1861 ; taken prisoner at Win-
chester; exchauged.

Low, Bobert M., Co. A, 17th lof ; mast Aug. 18, 1862 ; wounded Nov. 27, 1863

;

killed June 16, 1864.

Loring, Andrew J., Co. I, 25th Inf; must. Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Loriug, George W., Co. I, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with compiny.

Libby, Lendall A., Co. C, 31st Inf.; must May 6, 1864; di^ch. with comp Kaj .

Nason, Howard, Co. F, 5th Inf; mait March 6, 1862 ; dropped.

Noyes, Darid, Co. B, 7th Inf ; must. Aug. 21, 1861 ; detached, 1862.

Noyes, George 3., Co. B, Coast Guards H. Art ; mist. Oct 29, 1861.

Ordway, Benjamin, 1st D. C. Cav.; must Jan. 18, 1864.

Phinney, George W., Co. G, 13th Inf; must Dec. 12, 1861 ; died Dec. 11, 1862.

Page, Edgar F., Co. G, 9th Inf; must Sept 21, 1861 ; wounded and missing,

July 11, 1863.

Paine, Junius D., Co. E, 10th luf ; mu^t Oct 4, 1861 ; dUch. with company ;

re-enl. Not. 13, 186:1, in 29th lufantry.

Beed, Herbert L^ Co. K, 20th Inf ; most. Aug. 29, 1862 ; trans, to Kary, May 3,

1864.

Blder, Solomon C, Co. C, -'list Ciif ; m<ist March 2 1, 1864 ; disch. with comp:iny .

Bider, Mo4ea A., Co. E, 10th Inf ; muit Oct. 4, 1801 ; diach. with company.

Boyal, Andrew J., 1st Car.

Boyal, George S., I^ Cav.

Boyal, William F., 1st Car.

Sawyer, James W., Co. F, 10th Inf ; miut Oct. 4, 1861 ; trans. 186:1.

Snell, John E., Co. E, loth Inf; must Oct 4, 1861 ; disch. with company.

Tholta, C. B., 7th Int ; must Aug. 21, 1861 ; miesing at battle of Antletam.

Taylor, John L., Corp., 8th Inf.

Tnttle, Albion, Oo. t, loth Int.; must Oct 4, 1361.

Tme, Hollli, Co. E, 17th lof ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ;
pro. to Corp., 1863 ; wounded

June 16, 1864 ; disch. with company.

West, Lewis F., Co. F, lOtb Inf; must Oct 4, 1861.

FOBEIGH ENLISTUZNTS.

Brown, Henry C, 11th Mass. Inf.

CofBn, Ephraim, 11th Mass. Inf

Lobdell, Prentiss, 17th 0. 3. Inf

RAYMOND.
Adams, Fisncia F., Co. K, 5th Inf; must Not. 9, 1861 ; disch. Not. 22, 1862;

re-enl. in U. S. Art

Adams, William B., Co. K, 5th Inf; must Nor. 9, 1861 ; missing at battle of

Fredericksburg.

Bryant, John M., 7th Bat Mounted Art. ; must. Dec. 30, 1863.

Berry Timothy, Co. K, 30th Inf ; muit Jan. 9, 1865 ; pro. to corp. ; trans, to

Co. D.

Bartlett, Ellas, Co. C, 25th Inf ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; pro. to Corp.; disch. with

company, July 10, 1863.
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Brackett, Albert S., Co. C, 25th Inf ; mu.it. Sept. 20, 1862; diach. with compuny.
Bryant, John M. (2d), Co. C, 2oth Inf.; must. Sept. 29, 1502; diacli. with com-

pany.

Bartlett, William K., Co. C, 25tli Inf; mmt. Sept 29, 1S02; died M.iy 31, 1863.

Cash, Hiram M., Co. K, otll Inf.; muit. June 24, ISOl ; diach. Oct. 12, ISOa.

Ciish, Washington, Corp., Co. 0, 2Dth Int; mu«t Sept 20,1802; disch. witli

company,

dffln, Charles H,, Co, K, 30th Inf ; must. Jan, 9, 1864; transferred,

Duran, Samuel D, S., Co, K, 5th Inf,
;
pro, to corm 18G2 ; wounded and missing

in battle. May 10, ISM.

Duron, William P,, Co, E, 13th Inf ; must Feb, 7, 1802 ; died Jan, 1, 1804,

Davis, Thomas M,, Co. C, 25th Inf; must, Sept. 29, 1802; disch. with coiniKiny.

Duran, Moses D., Co. C, 25th Inf ; must Sept. 29, 1802 ; discli, with company,

Davis, Thomas M., corp,, Co, C,30th luf ; must. Dec, 19, 186:1; died July 1, 1S04,

Edwards, Wyatt T„ Co, C, 25tll Inf; must. Sept, 29, 1802; disch, with company.

Edwaida, Richard C, Co. K, 30th Inf; must, Dec, 9, 1804,

Farewell, Jolin, Co, K, 30th Inf : must Dec, 9, 1864.

Holden, Anson J., Corp., Co. C, 25tb luf ; must Sept. 29, 1802 ; disch. with com-

pany.

Jones, George A., Co. E, 13th Inf ; must Dec. 10, 1801 ; re-enl. Feb. 29, 18C4

;

transferred.

Jordan, James M., Corp., Co. C, 25th luf; must Sept 29, 1802 ; died Dec. 19,

1862.

Jackson, Azariah, Co. C, 25th Inf ; must Sept, 29, 1802; disch. with company.

Jordan, James M. (2d), Co. C, 25th Inf; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; dlscb. with com-

pany.

Jordan, James E., Co. D, 15th Inf ; must Dec. 31, 1801.

Keene, Joalah F., Co. K, 5th Inf ; must Nov. 9, 1801.

Leavitt, Libbeus H., Co. H, 31st Inf ; must. April 21, 1S64 ; disch. with com-

pany.

Latham, Charles H., Co. H, 31st Inf; must. April 21, 1804; disch. with com-

pany.

Libby, Tyng, Co. K, 5th Inf

Leach, William, Co, G, 13th Inf; must Dec, 12, 1861 ; disch, Feb, 11, 1802,

Lib^, Ebenezer H,, Co, C, 25th Inf; must. Sept 29, 1862; disch, with com-

pany,

Leavitt, Daniel W,, Co, C, 3l8t lof ; must May 2.3, 1804 ; wounded May 12

;

trans, to Vet. Bes. Corps,

Meserve, Amos, wagoner, Co, B, 10th Inf ; must, Oct, 4, 1861,

Mains, John, Co. C, 25th Inf ; must. Sept. 20, 1802 ; disch. with company,

McLellan, Jordan, Co. C, 25th Inf ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Meaerve, Merlin, Co. C, 30th Inf; must, Dec, 19, 1803; wounded .\pril 23;

disch. June 3, 1864,

May, Silas, Co, K, 30th Inf ; must Dec, 29, 1864,

Mains, Ivory, Ist District of Columbia Cav, ; must Jan, 20, 1804,

Morrill, Asa P., 6lh Bat, Mounted Art ; must Feb, 11 ; disch, June 10, 1804,

Moyant, Guzzle, Co, A, Ist Vet, Inf ; must Jan, 10, 1865,

McCullough, Frank, Co, C, 30th Inf ; must Dec, 18, 1863 ; disch. May 5, 1864.

Plummer, Clement P,, musician, Co, E, 13th Inf; must, Dec. 10, 1801 ; diach,

Aug, 21, 186i.

Flunmler, Clement P,, District of Columbia Cav, ; must Feb. 20, 1864,

Plummor, Alvin K,, District of Columbia Cav. ; must. Feb. 20, 1804,

Eobinson, Levi S., Co, K, 6th Int ; must Nov, 9, 1801 ; miaaing May 10, 1864.

Bicker, Samuel F., Co. K, 5th Inf ; must. Aug. 13, 1802 ; wounded May 10, 1804;

trane. to 1st Maine Vet Inf

Bolfe, Jamea, Co. C, 25th Inf ; muat Sept 29, 1802.

Bolfe, Johu, Co. C, 25th Inf; must Sept 29, 1802 ; disch. with company.

Bolfe, Jordan, Co. C, 25th Int ; muat Sept 20, 1862 ; diach. with company,

Bolfe, Lemuel, Co, C, 25th Inf ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch, with company,

Stevens, James E,, Co. E, 29th Inf ; must Nov. 13, 1863 ; detached 1803 ; diach.

with company, 1866,

Staples, John M., Bat, M, 1st H. Art.; must Jan. 4, 1864.

Small, Slmeou, sergt, IM. D, 16th Vet Inf. ; muat Jan. 25, 1864 ; disch. July 5,

1866.

Smith, Ambrose 6., Co. E, 1st Inf, muat May 1, 1861 ; for throe months.

S trout, George A., Co. I ; must. May 1, 1861, for three months.

Sawyer, J, C, Co, I, 5th Inf ; muat June 24, 1861 ; pro, to corp,, 1862 ;
pro. to

sergt ; killed May 3, 1803,

SpiUer, Joseph, Co, K, 5th Int ; must Nov. 9, 1861 ; disch. May 29, 1862,

Small, Levi, Co,- K, 5th Inf ; must, Nov, 22, 1861 ; dlsoh, Oct, 23, 1662.

Skililn, Alvin, Co, C, 12th Inf ; must, Nov. 15, 1801 ; disch. March 13, 1863,

Small, Alonzo, Co. Q, 14th Inf ; muat Dec. 12, 1861 ; disch. 1802.

Strout, Oyrua T., Co. G, 14th Int; must Dec. 12, 1801; diach. on requisition,

1861.

Spiller, Joseph, sergt, Co. C, 25th Inf; must Sept 29, 1802; diach. with com-

pany, July 10, 1863.

Small, Enoch 8., Co. 0, 30th lut ; must. Deo. 19, 1863 ;
taken prisoner ; exchanged

1864 ; diach. with company.

Tenney, Jwnes F, Co. C, 30th Inf.; muat Dec. 19, 1863 ; killed April 23, 1804.

Tenney, Nelson, Co. 1 ^^^ I**^*

Tenney, Ambrose, Co. C, 25th Inf.; must. Sept 29, 1802 ; disch. with company.

Tripp, Jeremiah, Jr., Co. 0, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Tripp! Levi A., Co. C, 25th Int; muat Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company;

must Co. C, 30th Inf., Dec. 19, 1803.

Verrill, Sidney, Oo. D, 15th Inf ; muat. Dec. 31, 1861.

Verrill, Edward P., Corp., Co. B, 29th Inf. ; muat Aug. 18, 1862 ; diach. Feb. 28,

1863,
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Bnrom, Alonio G^ 12th Mass. lot
HcQuillan, Bufan, U. S. Army.
Nason, William H, V. S. Army.
Plummer, Charles A^ V. S. Navy.

Spiller. James F., Tth Maaa. IdC

Whitney, Joseph M., Bluide Island CaTulry.

SCARBOROUGH,
Berry, Hiram, Co. C, 12th Inf.; mast March 15, 1864.

Beat, Patrick, Co. B, 12lh Inf. ; must. Not. 20, 1861 ; discb. Jan. 2, 1862.

Brackett, Bubert A., Co. 1, 25th In£ ; moat. Sept. 29, 1E62 ; disch. with company.
Coolbiuth, Ashbary, Co. F, 6th Inf. ; mait. Jnly IS, 1861 ; trans, to Inralld

COrpa, 1864.

Cook, Williara, Co. E, 251b Inf. ; ronst Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with company, Jniy
10, 1863.

BaTis, Enos M., Co. E, 25tb Inf. ; mnst. Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.
ford, John, Co. C, 12th Inf.; most. Jan. 4, 1864; transferred.

Fogg, Alphens, Corp., Co. E, 2Stb Inf.; most. Sept. 29, 1862; disch. with com-
ply.

Gnsttn, Uinm, Co. K, 9th Inf ; mnst Sept. 21, 18eL

Gnatin, George B., Co. K, 9tb Inf.; mnst. Sept 21,1861; deUcbed at Hilton

Head, 1863.

Gnstio, Charles B., Co. K, 9th Inf. :'mnst. Sept 21, 1861 ; died Ang. 10, 1863.

Gero. Alexander, Co. A, lOlfa Inf.; mnst Oct 15, 1861.

Graifam, Ezra P., Co. C, 12th Inf.; must Sept. 15, 1864; transferred.

Graflim, John, Co. C, 12th Inf.; most Sept. 5, 1864 ; transferred.

Biggins, Alexander, Co. D, L-t Infl; mnst. May 3, 1861.

Higbt Leny, com.^ergt, 9th Inf.; mnst September, 1861.

Hayes, William, Co. C, lOlh Inf. ; mnst Oct 15, 1861.

Harkjn, John, Co.—, 10th Inf. ; mnst. October, 1861.

Harmon, Loring, sergt, Co. C, 12th luf. ; mnst Sept 16, 1861 ; died at Cartollton,

La., March 16, 1863.

Harford, Albion S., Co. C, 12th Inf. ; mnst Sept 15, 1861.

Higgins, Alexander, cor])., Co. I, 26tb Inf.; mnst Sept. 29,1862; disch. Jan.

12, 1863.

Hanson, James L., Co. I, 25th Inf.; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Knight, Zebnlon, Co. C, 12lh Inf.; must Sept 27, 1864; transferred.

Libby, Ellison, Co. r, llfh Inf.; mnst Not. T, 1861 ; missing May, 1862.

Libby, Jelfenon W., Co. C, 12th Inf. ; mnst Not. 15, 1861 ; discb. with company.

LeaTitt Scott L., Co. C, 12th Inf. ; mnst Not. 15, 1861 ; re-enlisted ; (nuis-

ferred.

Libby, Thomas J., Co. C, 12th Int ; mnst Not. 16, 1861 ; taken prisoner Oct
19, 1863; transferred.

Lathrop, Joseph P., Co. C, 12lh Inf.; mnst. Not. 16, 1861; re-enlisted; died

Jnly 26, 1864.

Lnnt, George C, veteran, Co. C, 12th Inf.; mnst. Sept. 17, 1864; transferred.

Merrill, William H. H., corp. Go. K, 9th Inf. ; mnst Sept 21, 1861 ; discb. Sept

27,1863.

Milliken, MelTillo L, sergt, Co. C, 12th Inf. ; mnst. Not. 15, 1861 ; re-enl. March

6, 1864; transferred.

Merrill, MelTile S., Co. C, 12th Inf. ; mnst Not. 16, 1861 ; disch. with company.

Moses, Simon M., wagoner, Co. C, 12th Inf.; mnst Not. 16, 1861 ; disch. with

company.

Moore, Horace W., Co. C, 12th Inf.; must Sept 15, 1861 ; re-enl. 1864; trans-

ferred.

Meaanre, Eleaier 6., Co. E, 26th In£; mnst. Sept 29, 1862; dlsclt with com-

pany.

Moody, Edwin. Co. E, 25th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Moody, Sainnel E., Go. E, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Newcomb, Darid L., Co. E, 25th Inf; mnst. Sept 29, 1862; dlseh. with com-

pany.

Newcomb, Joseph L., Co. E, 26th Inf ; mnst Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with com-

pany.

Pillabnry, George W., sergt, Co. C, 12th Inf.; mnst. Not. 16, 1861 ; disrh. with

company.

Potter, Eleaxer, Go. C, 12tb Int; mnst. Not. 15, 1861 ; wonnded ; pro. to Corp.

;

re-onlisted ; transferred.

Flllsbnry, Noah, Co. E, 25th Inf.; mnst Sept 29, 1862; discb. March 21, 1863.

Boyal, Tbeo. A., Co. 0, 12tfa Inf ; mnst Not. 15, 1861 ; trans, to Ship Islsnd.

Ronnds, Charles, Co. E, 25th Inf ; mnst Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. Jan. 12, 1863.

Smith, George W., Co. D, 29th Inf^ must July 26, 1862 ; re-enl. 1864 ; trans-

ferred.

SteTena, William C, corp, Co. K, 25th Inf.; mnst Sept 29, 1862; disch. with

company.

Tripp, Moaea B., Co. K, 9th Inf. ; mnst Sept 21, 186L

Tripp, George B , Co. X, 2oth Inf; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Watarhoose, Gardiner J., Co. O, 7th Inf. ; mnst Ang. 21, 1861 ; trans. 1863.

Walker, Winfleld S., Co. B, 9th Inf. ; miut Sept 22, 1861 ; wonnded June 30,

1863.

Walker, Alonio, Co. C, 12th Inf ; mnst Jan. 2, 1864 ; wunnded Sopt 19 ; trans-

ferred.

Waterhonse, Bartlett, Co. C, 12th Inf ; mnst. Not. 15, 1864; diach. with cnmpany.

Whittaker, Wm. H, Co. C, 12lh Inf ; mu»t Not. 15, 1864 ; re-enl. 1864 ; trans-

ferred.

Tonng, John, Co. C, 12th Inf ; mnst Jan. 21, 1864.

FOBEIOV ENLISTKEBTS.
Gnstin, Lorenzo D., Ma^sHchnsslts.

Lemon], John, U. S. NaTy.

Milliken, S. Woodman, 44th Maaaacbnsetts InC

Pillsbory, Francis, Massachusetts.

Wiilker, Dennis, Massachusetts.

SEBAGO.
Blnke, ainrles A., Co. K, 9th Inf; mnst Sept 21, 1861.

Brown, Sidney F., Co. K, 25th Inf.; mnst Sept. 29, 1862;dlsch. with company,

July 10, 1863.

Brown, William 8., Co. K, 26th Inf ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company,

July 10, 186:).

Cook, Benjamin F., Co. I, loth Inf.; mnst Oct 4, 1861.

Cole, Charles, Co. K, 25tb Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ; died Dec. 17, 1862.

Cook, Alouso 8., Co. K, 25lh Inf: must. Sept 29, 1862; disch. from hoapibil.

Cma, Lewis C, District of Columbia CaT. ; mnst. Feb. 19, 1864.

Songlasa, George, Jr, Co. K, 25th Inf; must. Sept 29, 1862; discb. with com-

pany.

Dyer, Benben M., Co. E, 25th Inf; must. Sept. 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Dunn, Thomas, Co. K, 1st H. Art. ; mnst Sept 18, 1863 ; disch. Sept 1865.

Foes, Ambrose, Co., 10th Inf

Haley, DaWd H., D. C. CaT. ; most. Feb. 19, 1864.

Hatch, Henry C, Co. H, 17th Inf ; most. Ang. 18, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Haley, Im H., Co. E, 26th Inf ; mnst Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Hill, William H., Co. K, 25th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Johnson, Charles, Co. G, 2Ulh Inf. ; mnst Not. 14, 1864 ; trans, from 16th Inf ;

disch. Jnly, 1865.

McKenney, James, Co. A, 5th luf

Martin, Daniel D., Co. C, 12th luf ; mnst Not. 16, 1861 ; leg shot off Sept 15,

1862.

Martiii, John, Co. K, 12th Inf ; mnst Not. 16,1861 ; re-enl. Jan. 1, 1864 ; trans,

to Co. D, Bat 12th Maine Inf ; dlsdi. with company.

Martin, William H., Co. C, 12th Inf ; must. Not. 16, 180L

Mariner, Greenlraf T., Co: I, lUth Inf; mnst July 21, 1862; trans. 1863.

Martin, Ira L., Co. U, ITth Inf ; must Aug. 18,1862; wounded Jnly 2; died

Ang. 19, 1863.

Meserre, Johii, Corp., Co. £,25th Inf; must Sept 29. 1862; disch. with com-

pany.

Martin, Jitson, Co. K,26th Inf ; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Phinney, William S-, sergt, Co. K, 25tb Inf ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with

company.

Pendexter, Noah J., Co. K, 26th Inf ; mnst Sept 29, 1862.

Pierce, Henry M., Co. K,2Stb Inf; must Sept 29, 1862; died May 11, 1863.

Kicbardfon, Washington, Co. C, 12tb Inf ; must Not. 15, 1861 ; wounded and
prisoner, 1862.

Blchardson, Isaac, Co. D, 2d Bharpsfaooten ; mnst. Feb. 22, 1864 ; trans, to 17th

Inf., 1865.

Bobinson, Bobert B., Co. D, 2d Sharpshooters ; must. Feb. 22, 1864.

Bodgers, John, Co. 0, 2d Sliarpahooten ; must Feb. 22, 1864.

Sanndera, Andrew, Co. H, ITtb Inf; must Ang. 18, 1862; wounded July 2,

1862 ; trans, to 3d Bhode Ishud Bat
Storer, Thomas T., Corp., Co. K, 23th Inf ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disrh. with com-

pany.

Shaw, Beqjamin, musician, Co. K, 25th Inf; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with
company.

Usher, Joshua L., Co. H, lUth Inf; mnst Aug. 19, 1862; trans. 1863.

Weeman,' William H. U., Ut Bat Monnted Ait. ; must Jan. 1, 1864 ; disch. with
company, Jnly 16, 1866.

Weeman, Samnel H., 1st Bat. Monnted Art. ; mnst March 3, 1864 ; disch. with
company,

Wright, James, Co. 0, lOtb Inf; mnst. Not. 3, 1864 ; trans, to 20th Inf
Whitney, Alfred, Co. A, 6th Int

Wentworth, Edward E., Corp., Co. K, 25th Inf; must Sept 29,1862; disch.

with company.

Wentworth, William, Co. K, 25th Inf.; must. Sept 29, 1862; trans, to Co. B,
15th Inf, Oct IS, 1862.

Ward, Eben, Co. K, 25th Inf ; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.
Ward, DaTid, Co. K, 2Ath Inf ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.
Witham, Jacob, Jr., Co. K, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

STANDISH.
Atchlnson, Joseph H., Co. E, 13th Int; must. 1861 ; r»«nl. Febmary, 18*4;

transferred.

Bumbam, John O., sergt, Co. I, 30th Inf; mnst. June 8, 1864; disch. July 31
1885.

Doraelt, Thomas, Co. K, 12th Inf ; mnst. Not. 20, 1861.
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Davl«, Albert H., Co. H, ITth Inf. ; mint. Aog. 18, 1862 : pro. to corp. and sergt.;

diich. witli company.
Dow, Bonjaniiu A, Co. H, ITtll Inf.; must. Ang.18, 1862; dijch. with company.
EIIwfII, Mnrqula G., Co. I, 30th Inf. ; nmst. Jan. H, 1864 ; kllleil April 9, 1864.
Gray, Jiudm S., lit Dhtrict of Columbia Cuv. j must. Jan. 19, i»64.

Unnicomli, Strphen, Co. G, 7tU Inf.: must. Aug. 21, 1861 ; trans. 1863.
Howe, Fraur-is o. S., sfrgt, Co. A, 15th Inf.; mnst. Dee. 6, 1361 ;

pro. to Ist

ssrgt., 18«2; pro. to lleut., August, 1802.

Hobaon, William A., Co. I, 3(lth Inf. ; must Jan. 6, 1804 ; disch. S«pt. 11, 1865.
Hobson, Jei emiah, Co. I, 30th Inf. j mnat. Jan. 6, 1864 j killed April 23, 1884.
Harmon, Wllllitm, Co. I, 30th Inf. ; must. Jan. 6, 1664; discb. June 26, 1885.
Ha«ly, William, Co. D, 17th Inf.; must. Feb. 20, 1865; disch. April 28, 1865.
Ki-mp, Charles B, Co. B, Ist Cay.; must. Feb. 20, 1801 ; disch. with company.
Libby, WiilluDi D., Co. K, 12tb Inf. ; must. Dec. 13, 1861 ; re-eul. Jan. 1, 1864

;

trans, to Bat 12th Maine luf.

Libby, Henry T., Corp., Co. F, 1st Car.; must. Oct. 19, 1861 ;
pro. to 1st sergt.,

Nov. 1, 1862.

Libby, Major J., Co. H, 17lh Inf. ; must. Aug. 18, 1882 ; trans, to lat H. Art. 1864.
LeavitI, GtanTille A, Co. I, 30tli Inf. ; must. Jan. 6, 1864 ; disch. with company.
Mesene, Mark JI, arliacer, 51h Bat. Mounted Art ; must. Dec. 4, 1861 ; diach.

Srpt. 22, 1802.

Moses, Alonzo, Co. H, 17th Inf. ; mast. Aug. 18, 1802 ; disch. with company.
Marr, Willbuu B, Co. I, 30th luf. ; must. Jan. 6, 1864 ; disch. May 18, 1864.

McDonald, A. Fessenden, Co. I, 3oth Int ; must Jan. 12, 1861 ; wounded April

21 ; disch. uith company.
Paine, John H, regimental band, lUh Inf. ; must. Oct 19, 1861 ; died at Wasli-

Ingtim, D. C, Jan. 8, 1862.

Penae, John M., regimentnl baud, lltU Inf.; must Oct 19, 1801; dlach. with
band, Aug. 12, 1862.

Presoitt, Hiram 3., must Not. 12, 1861.

Bidlon, Isaac, Co. I, 301h luf. ; must Jan. 6, 1864 ; disch. May 31, 1863.

Bidlon, Franklin D., Co. I, 30th Inf.; mast. Jan. 6, 1864; disch. with company.
Bidlon, Andrew, Co. I, .30th Inf. ; must Jan. 14, 1804 ; wonnded April 23 ; disch.

March 20, 1865.

Shaw, Clinton D. W., 29th Inf. ; must April 24, 1865.

Sawyer, Francis A., Co. K, 32d Inf. ; must May 6, 1864 ; trans, to Co. K, 31st

Maine Begt
Sturgis, William H^ sergt., Co. H, 17th Inf.; must. Aug. 18, 1862

;
pro. to 2d

lieut., 1363.

Sands, Thomas, Co. H, 17th Inf.; must. Aug. 18, 1862 ; pro. to corp. and sergt.

;

dipch. with CTinipuny.

Spear, Alphonzo A., Co. H, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; disch. with com-
pany.

Sanborn, Orrille S., Co. K, 12th Inf.; must. Not. l6, 1861 ; detached to Signal

Corps, 18C2.

Strout, Frank, Co. G, 13tli IiiC; mUMt Dec. 31, 1361.

Simpson, Frank L., Co. I, 20tli Inf. ; must. Oct. 21, 1864.

Smith, LeoiiHrd B., Co. C, alst Inf.; mu.st. March :i3, 1864; discli. May 22, 1865.

Smith, Frank O. J., Co. H, 31st Inf.; mnat April 21, 1801; disch. 1865.

Tripp, William A., must Starch 12, 1862.

Warren, £>! a ard B., Co. E, luth Inf.; must Oct 4, 1861 ; wounded atAntietam;

pro. to Corp.; disch. with company.

Ward, William H., Co. E, Kith luf. ; must Oct. 4, 1361 ; disch. with company.
Whitney, Natlun T., C». E, lUth Int. ; must Oct 4, 1861 ; killed at Slaughter

Mountain, Aug. 9. 1862.

Whitcomb, Bobert B., Corp., Oo. H, 17th Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; disch. with

company.

Warren, Charles A., Co. H, 17th Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; wonnded May 6

;

diwh. May 16. 1865.

Watson, John, Co. I, 20th Int; must Oct 21, 1364; disch. with company.

White, Charles W., Co. I, 30th luf. ; mun. Jan. 6, 1804 ; disch. with company.

Welch, John W., Co. C, 31st Inf. ; must. April 23, 1864; disch. fur wounds, Jan.

11, 1805.

Welch, Thomas, Jr., Co. II, 31at Inf. ; must April 21, 1864 ; disch. with com-

pany.

Whitney, William 6., 29th lat. ; must. April 26, 1865.

Whitney, Henry C, District of Columbia CaT. ; must Feb. 19, 1804; transferred.

WESTBROOK.
Anderson, Edward A., Corp., Co. E, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1802 ; reduced by

his own request; disch. with company, July 10, 1803.

Abbott, Sewall L., Co. £, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; dlach. with company.

Adams, Joshua, Co. E, 2Sth Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Andrews, Martin B., Co. E, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Atkins, Joaepb B., Co. B, 1st CaT. ; must. Oct 18, 1364 ; disch. May 31, 1865.

Adams, Irving D., Co. 1, 1st Int. ; must May 3, 1861 ; re-enl. in Co. 1, 10th Inf.,

Oct 4, 1801; missing, 1802.

Allen, William, musician, Co. 1, 1st Int ; must May 3, I3tii ; re-enlisted.

Adams, George M., Co. A, 1st Int ; must. May 3, 1861, for three months.

Arnold, James B., Co. K, 2d Inf.; must July 11, 1801; disch. for wounds, Oct.

25,1862.

Adams, Joseph, Co. H, 5th Int ; must. June 24, 1801.

Adams, David, Co. 0, 7th lot; must Aug. 21, 1861.

Austin, Benjamin, Co. K, 9th lut ; must Sept. 21, 1861.

Austin, Moses, Co. K, 9th Inf. ; must. Sept 21, ISOl.

Adams, Boyol L., Co. B, litli Inf. ; must. Xu%-. 10, Islil ; trans, to U. S. .\rtlllery,

1803.

Allen, William C, Co. C, 12th lot; must. Xov. 13, 1861 ; wounded at P.jit Hud-
son, 1803 ; disch. with company.

Adams, Frank, Co. H, I'th Inf. ; miLst. .Vug. 18, 1802
;
pro. Corp., 1864 ; dUch.

with company.

Allen, Leonard, Co. H, ITth Int ; must Aug. IS, 1802 ; disch. Oct 31, 1304.
Barry, Thomas, Co. B, Ist Int ; must Stay 3, 1861.

Barber, Lorenzo, Co. 1, 1st Int; must May 3, 1861.
Babb, Henry, Co. 1, 1st Int ; must May 3, 1861.

Babb, Henry S., corp, Co. I, loth lut ; must 0>:t 4, 1861; pro. to lit sergt., July
10, 1862.

Bolton, William, Co. I, loth Int ; must. Oct i, 1861
;
pro. to 1st. sergt., July 10,

1362.

Babb, Joseph H., Co. B, 6th Int ; must. June 24, 1861; dropped from rulU, 1S02.

Bicknell, George W., 5th Inf. ; must. June 24, 1861.

Brackett, Bichord 0, Co. A, 5th Int ; must June 24, 1861 ; droppeil, 1362.

Berry, Ellas B., Co. C, 12th lut ; must Nov. 15, 1861 ; disch. with company.
Brown, Horace T., Co. E, 13th Int ; must Dec. 10, 1801 ; died at Fort St Philip,

Oct 13, 1362.

Bacon, John M, Co. E, 13th Int; must Dec. 31, 1861; re-cni. 1864; transferred.

Bicknell, George W., Co. H, 5th Int ; must June 24, 1861 ;
pro. to 1st lleut Co.

E, June 15, 1862.

Babb, Josiah P., Co. H, 17th Int ; must. Aug. 18, 1802 ; disch. 1805.

Barber, William, Co. H, 17th Int ; must Aug. 18, 1802 ; died Sept 29, 1801.

Biiby, Benjamin F., corp., Co. E, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1802 ; disch. with com-
pany.

Babb, Herbert L., Co. E, 25th Int; must. Sept 29, 1802; disch. with conipauj-.

Best Martin W., Co. E, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.
Bailey, William, Co. E, 25th Int: nmst Sept 29, 1802; disch. with company.
Bennett, Erastiu B., Co. E, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1802 ; disch. with company.
Babeon, Washington, Co. E, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1802 ; disch. with com-

pany.

Burke, William T, Co. E, 25th Int ; must Sept. 29, 1802 ; disch. with company.
Brennan, James, Co. E, 25th Int ; must. Sept. 29, 1802 ; disch. with company.

Buchenbacher, George, Co. D, 3d Int ; must. Aug. 20, 1863 ; killed May 23,

1864.

Babb, Herbert L., Co. B, 30th Inf. ; must Feb. 27, 1865.

Babb, North L., Co. H, 31at Int ; must April 21, 1864 ; disch. with company,
July 15, 1865.

Barney, Blase, Co. A, 15th Int ; maaf. Feb. 9, 1865 ; disch. June 26, 1803.

Belleau, Ferdinand, Co. A, 15th lut ; must Feb. 10, 1805.

Curran, Michael, Co. E, 25th Int; must Oct 4, 1802; disch. with company.

Crediford, Charles H., Co. E, 2oth Int ; must Sept 29, 1802 ; disch. with com-

pany.

Credifurd, Christopher C, Co. E, 25th Int; must. Sept 29, 1802; disch. with com-

pany.

Cram, Silos H., Corp., Co. E, 25th Int; must. Sept 29, 1S62; discii. with com-

pany.

Cram, Silos H., Co. B, Coast Guards ; must Oct 29, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 9, l.«i2.

Crockett Henry C, musician, Co. F, 16th Int; must Aug. 14, 1862; dutch, with

company.

Cliute, Charles A., Co. H, 17th Int ; must. Aug. 18, 1862
;
pro. to Corp. ; wounded

May 6 : disch. April 19, 1865.

Cobb, Solomon, Co. H, 17th Int ; mnst Aug. 18, 1862 ; wounded July 2 ; disch.

Oct 10, 1863.

Cl-oeby, Leonard E., Co. H, 17th Int ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; died March 6, 1806.

Crane, Algernon S., Co. B, 25th Int : must. Sept 29, 1862; dlscli. with conipuuy.

Card, William B., Co. H, 17th Int ; must Sept 4, 1803 ; trans, to 1st H. Art.,

1864.

Cobb, James H, Co. G, 14th Int ; must. March 19, 1364 ; killed July 30, 1S64.

Clouser, John, Co. F, Ist Cu<' , must Oct 18, 1864 ; disch. with company.

Collin, William, Co. B, Ist Int; must May 3, 1861.

Carey, Martin, Co. H, 5th Int ; must. June 24, 1861 ; disch. Oct. 27, 1862.

Cobb, Edwin B., Co. H, 5th Int ; must. June 24, 1861 ; disch. Jan. 13, 1862.

Crockett, DaTld S., Co. A, 5th Int ; must June 24, 1801 ; disch. Sept 14, 1863.

Crockett, Daniel M., Co. 0, 12th Int ; must. Nov. 16, 1861 ; wounded and prisoner

at Poncliatoula, Ark.

Cobb, J. H., Co. G, 7th Int ; must Aug. 21, 1301.

Cobb, Levi B., Co. G, 7th Int ; must Sept 24, 1801.

Coffln, WilUam H., Corp., Co. C, 10th Int ; must. Oct 5, 1361.

Crockett, Horace, Co. E, 13th Int ; must Dec. 31, 1361 ; re-enl. Feb. 9, 1864
;

transferrvd.

Dodge, William T., Co. B, Ist Inf.; must. May 3, 1861 ; trans, to Co. A, 10th Vet

Int, 1863.

Dresser, James L, Co. —, 5th Int; must June, 1801.

Duran, James, Co. D, 10th Inf. ; must. Oct. 4, 1801.

Day, William, Co. K, 10th Inf.; must Oct 4, 1804.

Davis, Charles K., Co. B, Coast Guards ; must. Oct. 29, 1861 ; disch. Sept 9, 1362.

Day, Balph H, sergt, Co. H, I7th Int; must Aug. 18, 1362; pro. to 2d lleut;

disch. May 21, 1864.

Dyer, Charles M., sergt., Co. A, 25th Int ; must Sept. 29, 1802 ; disch. with com-

pany, July 10, 1863. '

Dow, Frank L., Co. A, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. vrtth company.

Davis, Am(« S., Co. E, 25th Int : must. Sept 29, 1862 : disch. with company.

Drown, Washington I., Co. G. 7th Int ; must June 29, 1863.



452 HISTORY OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

Elwell, Hezekiah, Co. 1, 1st Inf.; must. Ua; 3, 1861 ; re^eol. Id Co. 1, 10th Inf.

Oct. 4, 1861.

Emeraon, Fred A., Co. H., 5th luf. ; mast. Jone 21, 1861 ; drupped, 1863.

Emery, Cephas, Co. B, 12th Inf. ; must. Nor. 16, 1861 ; disch. July 29, 1863.

Fellows, James L., Co. 1, 1st Inf.; must. May 3, 1861.

Fogg, Albert B., Co. 1, 1st lof.; most. May 3, 1861.

Foye, Charles W., Corp., Co. 1, 1st Inf.; must. May 3, 1861.

Forbes, Andrew J., sergt, Co. F, 7th Inf. ; mnst. Aug. 21, 1861 ; diach. Jane 28,

1862.

Fellows, James L., corp., Co. 1, 10th Inf. ; mnst Oct 4, 1861 ; disch. May 31, 1862.

Frost, Aaron T., 1st sergt., Co. A, 12th Inf. ; m ust. Not. 16, 1861 ; trans, to Nary,

1863.

ritzpatrick, James, Co. E, 25th Inf. ; most. Sept 20, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Fogg, Albert R., Co. E, 1st Car. ; must. Feb. 16, 1864 ; disch. with company.

Orant, Albion K. P., Co. E, 25th Inf.; mnst. Sept 29, 1862 ; trans, to baud ; disch.

with company.

Orant, Edwin L., Co. E, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Gore, Charles H., Corp., Co. 1, 1st lot ; must May 3, 1861 : re-enl. in Co. F, 1st

OaT., Oct 19, 1861.

don, Horaca, Co. I, l>t Inf. ; most May 3, 1861.

Orafaam, Charles C, Co. 1, 1st Int ; mnst May 3, 1861 ; pro. to 2d Ueut, Sept 17,

1862.

Greeley, John W., Go. 1, 1st Ini: ; mnst May 3, 1861.

Greeley, John W., Corp. Go. I, 10th Inf. ; mnst. Oct 4, 1861 ; prisoner May 25,

1862; exchanged.

Goodrich, Charles H., Co. 1, 1st Inf. ; must May 3, 1861.

Grant, Daniel, Co. D, 6th In£ ; must Jnly 15, 1861.

Grant Samnel, Co. F, 7th Inf. ; moat Aug. 21, 1861.

Graflam, J. F., Co. O, 7th Inf. ; moat Sept 10, 1861.

GnUlTer, Franklin, Co. O, 7th Inf. ; mnst Sept 10, 1861.

Graham, Charles C, sergt, Co. 1, 10th Inf. ; must Oct 4, 1861.

Gore, Nathan, Co. E, 13th Inf. ; mnst Dec. 10, 1861; re-enl. 1864 ; transferred.

Gray, John H., Co. H, 13th Inf.; mnst Dec. 12, 1861 ; discharged with company.

Goodridge, Charles H., carp., Co. F, 16th Inf. ; mnst Aug. 14, 1862 ; reduced, 1S63

;

pro. to Corp., 1864 ; diach. June 23, 1866.

Graffam, Francis A., Co. B, 10th Inf. ; mnst Aug. 12, 1862 ; died Feb. 7, 1863.

Graham, Peter S., Co. D, 20th Inf.; must Feb. 22, 1865 ; transferred.

Holland, Charles, Co. I, 2d Car.

Howard, Alonzo, Co. A, 15th Inf. ; must Feb. 6, 1866.

Haskell, Foster M-, Co. I, 1st Inf. ; must May 3, 1861 ; re.eul. in company I,

10th Inf., Oct 4, 1861.

Hazen, John B., Co. B, 1st Inf. ; must May 3, 1861.

Hazen, John B., corp., Co, F, Ist Car. ; mnst. Oct 19, 1861 ; disch. May 25, 1862.

Houston, John S., Co. I, Ist Car. ; must Oct 19, 1861 ; discharged.

Houston, Ithamer, Co. 1, 1st Car. ; must. Oct 10, 1861 ; discharged.

Hodgdon, Charles A., Co. 1, 1st Car. ; must Oct. 19, 1861 ; discharged ; re-enl.

in Co. 1, 10th Inf., Oct 4, 1801.

Hanly, Fiancis E., Co. A, 5th Inf. ; most. June 24, 1861 ; disch. with company,

July 27, 1864.

Harris, William F., Co. F, 7th Inf. ; mnst Aug. 21, 1861 ; died at Cape Griffln,

1862.

Hunt, G. F., Co. G, 7th Inf.; must Aug. 21, 1861.

Hodsdon, Andrew J., Co. 1, 10th Inf. ; must Oct 4, 1861.

Hodgdon, William P., Co. C, 12th In£, mnst Not. U, 1861 ;
pro. to com. sergt

1863.

Hale, Lorenzo D., Co. C, 12th Inf. ; must Not. 15, 1861.

Hall, Lorenzo D., Co. C, 12th Inf: ; must Not. 15, 1861.

Howard, Simeon, Co. B, 10th Yet Begt ; must Aug. 28, 1862 ; trans, to 29th Inf.

Hart, Stephen P., sergt., Co. H, 17th Inf. ; must Aug. 16, 1862 ; pro. to 1st sergt.

;

wounded Jnly 2, 1863 ; trans, to Tet Bes. Corps, 1864.

Horr, Daniel P., corp., Co. H, 17th Inf. ; mnst Aug. 16, 1862 ; wounded at Freder-

icksburg, Dec. 13, 1862 ; disch. May 11, 1863.

Hatch, Boyal S., Co.'H, I7th Inf. ; mnst Aug. 16, 1862 ; killed Apnl 6, 1865.

Horr, GranTille C, Co. E, 2Stli, Inf. ; molt Sept 29, 1862 ; pro. to. corp. ; disch.

with company.

Hlbba, James, Co. E, 26th lat ; mnst Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Hayes, Manball, Co. E, 25th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 : disch. with company.

Hill, Charles H., Co. E, 26tfa Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Harmon, Warren, Co. E, 25th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Harmon, Albert F., Co. £, 26th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862
;
pro. to corp. ; disch.

with company.

Harmon, John O., Co. E, 25th InC ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Harmon, Edward B., flfer, Co. E, 2Sth Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862.

Hnaton, Nathaniel L., Co. E, 26th Inf. ; mnst. Sept 29, 1862 ; pro. to coip.

Harmon, Howard, Co. A, 20th Inf. ; most Mareh 16, 1866 ; transferred.

Hawkes, Joseph C, Co. A, 2Dth Inf. ; most Feb. 6, 1866 ; transfeired.

Hanson, William T- Co. B, 30th Inf.; mnst. Feb. 27, 1866.

lUsley, Enoch B., Co. B, Ist Inf. ; must May 3, 1861.

Jameson, George W., Co. E. let Inf ; must May 3, 1861.

Jewett William W., Co. I, lat Inf.; mnst Blay 3, 1861 ; re-enl. in Co. 1, 10th Inf.,

Oct 4, 1861.

Jameson, George W., sergt., Co. E, 8th Inf. ; mnst Sept 7, 1861.

Johnson, Albert H., seigt, Co. 1, 10th Inf. ; mnst Oct 4, 1861 ; pro. to lat Ueut.,

Sept 17, 1862.

Jones, Edwin W, Co. 1, 10th Inf. ; mnst Oct 4, 1861.

Johnaon, Bartholomew, Co. E, 13th Inf.; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; died in Maine.

Jones, Matthew T., Co. E, 13th Inf. ; mnat Dec. 10, 1861 ; trans. 1863.

Jack, Harrison J^ Co. F, 1st CaT. ; mnst. Oct. 19, 1861 ; pro. to Corp., 1862.

Jordan, Leonard, musician, Co. E, 26th Inf. ; must. Sett. 20, 1S62 ; trans, to Com-

missary Depai tment

Jonlan, William H., Co. E, 25th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Jewett, Orren F., Co. £, 25th Inf.; must Sept. 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Jack, Charles E., Co. K, 1st Car. ; must. Feb. 16, 1864 ; trans. Aug. 1, 1865.

Knight, LcTl O., Co. C, 5th Inf. ; mnst. June 24, 1861.

Kal lock, Boyal T., sergt, Co. E, 13th Inf.; must. Dec. 10, 1861; reduced 1863;

re-enL 1864 ; transferred.

Knight, Charles, Corp., Co. C, 12th Inf.; mnst Not. 16, 1861; died Jnly 24, 1864.

Knight, Storer S., Co. B, 10th Bat Inf. ; must. Aug. 18, 1862 ; trans. 1864.

Kollock, Edward K., sergt., Co. £, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 20, 1862 ; disch. with

company.
*

K eenan, John, Co. E, 25tb Inf. ; must Oct. 4, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Kollock, Horace T., Co. B, 30th Inf. ; must Mareh 3, 1866.

Larrabee, Darid, Co. E, 26th Inf. ; must. Sept 29, 1864 ; disch. with company.

Lewis, George P., Co. E, 25th Inf.; mnst. Sept. 29, 1864 ; disch. with company.

Legrow, Bichaid P., Co. E, 25th Inf. ; mnst. Sept 29, 1864; disch. with company.

Legrow, Cyrus, Co. E, 25th Inf.; most. Sept 29, 1864; disch. with company.

Lapuint, Lewis, Co. B, 3d Inf. ; mnst. Aug. 21, 1863.

Leighton, Eben, Co. D, 20th Inf.; must Feb. 22, 1866; transferred.

Littleaeld, Charles, Co. H, 31st Inf. ; mnst April 21, 1864; disch. with company.

Libbey, Alonxo, Co. 1, 1st Inf. ; mnst May 3, 1861

.

Lewis, George P., O). 1, 1st Inf. ; mnst. May 3, 1861.

Leighton, Adrlal, Co.—, 2d Int ; mnst. Jnly 16, 1861 ; tians. 1863.

Leighton, William W., Co. B, 12th Inf. ; mnst. Not. 16, 1861 ; re-enL 1864 ; trans-

ferred.

Leighton, Chss. H., Co. B, 12th Inf. ; mnst Not. 16, 1861 ; disch. with company.

Lord, Cyrus E., Co. C, 12tb Inf. ; mnst Not. 15, 1861 ; re-enl. 1864; transferred.

Larrabee, Andrew J., Co. H, 17th Inf. ; must. Aug. 18, 1862 ; pro. to Corp., 1864;

disch. with company.

Loring, Jamea H., Co. H, 17th Inf. ; mnst Aug. 18, 1862 ; pro. to sergt. ; killed

Jnly 2, 1863.

Lewis, Augustus J., Co. H, 17th Inf. ; mnst Aug. 18, 1862 ; disch. March 17, 1863.

Llbby, Edwin D., Co. B, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 18G2 ; disch. with company.

Mariner, Thomas B., Co. I, Ist Inf. ; mnst May 3, 1861.

Mason, Edwin, Co. B, 1st Inf. ; must May 3, 1861.

Mayhew, Hebron, ensign.

MeserTe, Amos, Co. B, 1st Inf. ; must. May 3, 1861.

MulTey, John, Co. 1, 1st Inf. ; must May 3, 1861.

Murray, AlTin, Co. A, 1st Inf.; mnst May 3, 1861.

Mariner, George F., sergt., Co. £, 13th Inf. ; mnst Dec. 10, 1861 ; .pro. to Corps

d'Atrique, 1863.

Mitchellson, A. T., sergt., Co. 6, 13th Inf. ; must Dec. 12, 1861 ; pro. in Corps

d*Afrique In 1863 ; detached at Ship Island In charge of ordnance.

Merrill, George B., Co. B, Coast Guards ; must Oct 29, 1861 ; disch. Aug. 23, 1862.

Milliken, Asa H., Co. B, Coast Guards ; must Oct 20, 1861 ; disch. Sept 9, 1862.

Mariner, Jabez, Co. H, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; commissary clerk, 1863;

disch. Not. 20, 1864.

Morton, Van B., Co. H, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; wounded at Fredericks-

burg. Dec. 13, 1862 ; detached to DiTlsion ProTost Guard ; disch. with com-

pany.

Merrill, Freeman T., corp., Co. E, 25th Inf.; mnst Sept 29, 1862; appointed

wagoner ; disch. with company.

MeserTe, John, wagoner, Co. E, 25th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862; returned to

ranks ; disch. with company.

Morria, James, Co. A, 20th Inf.; must Feb. 9, 1865; transferred.

Merrill, Lemuel O., Co. K, 1st CaT. ; must. Sept 20, 1864; disch. May 28, 1866.

Merrill, Thomas H., Co. K, 3d Inf. ; must Jnly 15, 1863 ; trans, to 17th Inf., 1864.

Marr, Snmner I., Co. E, 26th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Morton, Abraham B., Co. E, 2Sth Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with com-
pany.

Morton, Charles W., Co. E, 26th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.
McCuUongh, Samuel G., Co. E, 25th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; trans, to Ist H.

Art ; wounded June, 1864.

McOrath, Joseph, Co. B, 3d Int ; mnst Aug. 19, 1863; trans. 1864.

Newton, John W., sergt, Co. B, 3d Inf.; mnst. Aug. 19, 1863; disch. with com-
pany.

Noson, William P., Co. H, 7th Int; must Aug. 21, 1861; pro. to Corp., 1862.

Noble, Thadeus J., Co. H., 17th Inf.; mnat Ang. 18, 1862; detached to Livings-

ton's Bat, 1862.

Noyes, Charlea W., Co. H, 11th Inf.; mnst Ang. 18, 1862; disch. Oct 7, 1862.

O'Donnell, John, Co. E, 26th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.
Plalstead, Frederick S., Co. E, 26th InC; must Sept 29, 1802; disch. with com-

pany.

Fhilbrook, James A., Co. TL, 26th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with com-
pany.

Pratt Bobert B., Co. E, 25th Inf. ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Pblnney, Augustus, Co. E, 26th Inl; mnst Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.
Peachy, John B., Co. E, 2&th Inf.; mnst Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.
Partridge, Charles A., Co. K, 1st CaT. ; must Jan. 23, 1864; pro. to Corp., 1865;

disch. with company.

Phinney, WUIIam O, Co. F, 1st Yet. Inf. ; must Jan. 6, 1866, as 1st lient

Proctor, Boyal.B., lat sergt, Co. E, 13th Inf ; must Dec 10, 1861 ; pro. to Ueut,
1862.

PenneU, George A., Co. H, 17th Int; must Ang. 18, 1862; disch. Feb. 26, 1863.

Plalstead, Joseph M., Co: H, 17th Int ; must Ang. 18, 1862 ; disch. Oct 14, 1862.
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Plairtead, Trafton S., Co. H, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; wounded Juno 16,

1864; diach. May 18, 1805.

Pride, Leonard, Co. H, 17th Inf. ; murt. Aug. 18, 1862 ;
pro. to corp. ; died of

wounds, June 23, 1864.

Packud, John A. A., sergt., Co. H, 6th Inf. ; must June 24, 1861.

Phluney, Willlaiu C, Co. G, 6th Inf. ; must June 24, 1861 ; pro. to aergt ; made
brigade blacksmith ; n-enl. 1864 ; trans, to Ist Maine YeteraDS.

Pennell, Qeorge A, Co. 1, 1st Inf. ; must May 3, 1861.

Pennell, John W., Co. I, 1st Inf.; must May 3, 1861; r»-on). Co. 1, 10th Inf.,

Oct. 4, 1861.

Pratt, Thomas C, Co. C, 13th In£ ; must Sot. 17, 1861 ; pro. to corp. ; dlsch. with
company.

Pride, Francis 0. J. S., Co. E, 13th Inf.; must Dec. 16, 1861 ; re-enlisted
; pro. to

Corp.; transferred.

Qulmby, Charles H., Co. F, 8th Inf. ; must. April 4, 1664 ; missing In battle at

Drury's Bluff, May 16, 1864.

Quimby, 'William A, Co. 1, 1st In£ ; must May 3, 1861 ; re.«nl. corp, Co. 1, 10th

Inf., Oct 4, 1861; pro. to sergt, 1862.

Quirk, John, Co. F, Uth Int ; must Noi. 7, 1861 ; diach. Nor. 21, 1862.

Qulmby, Marshall H, corp, Co. B, 13th Inf. ; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; died July 18,

1862.

Quimby, John O., musician, Co. E, 2Stta Int; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with
company.

Bicker, Melville, Co. B, 1st Inf. ; must May 3, 1861.

Bobinaon, Elliot 0., Corp., Co. I, 8th InC; must Sept 7, 1861 ; twlnced.

Boberta, Moses O., sergt, Co. E, 2Sth Inf. ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with com-
p»ny.

Backliffe, Charles A., corp., Co. E, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; reduced by
his own request ; disch. May 21, 1863.

Backliffe, Olirer S., Co. E, 26th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.
Boberts, William, Co. E, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with company.

Boberts, John, Co. E, 2Sth Int ; must Sept 29, 1862; dlsch. with company.
Bichards, William, Co. G, 9tU Int ; must Oct 4, 1864 ; dlsch. with company.
Bayden, Michael, Co. C, 30th Int ; must Sept 27, 1864.

SpUn, James T., Co. E, Uth Int ; must. Dec. 31, 1861 ; disch. Aug. 31, 1862.

Scott John O., Co. H, 17th Int ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; trans, to 4th Bat Art.,

1864.

Swett William H., Co. H, 17th Int; must Aug. 18, 1862; wounded June 16;

disch. Dec. 6, 1864.

Staples, Jeremiah, Co. H, 17th Int ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; dlsch. Apiil 7, 1863.

SteTens, Frank G., sergt, Co. E, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862
;
pro. to 2d lleut

;

disch. with company.

Sylvester, Alaoson A., Co. E, 26th Int ; must Sept. 1862 ;
pro. to corp. ; disch.

with company.

Sawyer, Nathaniel, Co. E, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; detached; dlsch. with

company.

Sawyer, George F., Co. E, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Sawyer, Charles E., Co. E, 26th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Stevens, Orrtn B., Co. F, 6th Inf. ; must Nov. 22, 1862, as 2d lleut ; wounded
May 3, 1864.

Sarpied, Joseph, Co. B, 30th Int ; must Feb. 6, 1866.

Snow, Charles H., Co. H, 31st Int ; must April 21, 1864 ; dlsch. July 27, 1865.

Stevens, Franklin W., Co. D, 1st Bat Int ; must. April 6, 1866.

Smith, Estil 0., Corp., Co. E, Uth Int ; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; disch. July 7, 1862.

Swett BolUnd H., musician, 13th Inf. ; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; disch. with com-

pany.

Sawyer, Frederic A., Co. B, 1st Int ; must May 3, 1861.

Sawyer, William B., Co. B, 1st Int; must May 3, 1861.

Stanford, James W., Co. B, Ist Int ; must. May 3, 1861.

Sweetsir, Frank C, sergt, Co. 1, 1st Int ; must May 3, 1861.

Stevens, George L., Co. A, 1st lut ; must. May 3, 1861.

Sawyer, John (2d), Co. C, 3d Int ; must. June 4, 1861.

Stevens, Orrin W., Corp., Co. H, 6th Int ; must June 24, 1861 ; pro. to 2d lleut,

1863.

Stevens, Alfred A., Co. F, 7th Int ; must Aug. 21, 1861 ; dlsch. Sept 5, 1864.

Stevens, George L., Co. U, 10th Int; must Oct 5, 1861 ; missing, 1861.

Stevens, Charles L., Co. B, 12th Int ; must. Nov. 16, 1861 ; dlsch. Nov. 27, 1862.

Sturges, Eben, sergt., Co. C, 12tb Inf. ; must Nov. 16, 1861 ; trans, to commissary

department, 1863.

Towie, Arad H., Co. 1, 1st Inf. ; must May 3, 1861 ; re-euL Co. 1, 10th Inf., Oct

4, 1861 ; pro. to drummer.

True, Eben, Corp., Co. F, 7th Int ; must Aug. 21, 1861 ;
pro. to sergt ; trans.

1862; re.enl. 1861.

Tmndy, Charles A., Co. O, 7th Int ; must Aug. 21, 1861 ; djsch. May 26, 1862.

Tola, Andrew J., mnsiciBii, Co. 1, 10th Int ; must. Oct 4, 1861.

Tole, Joseph H., musician, Co. H, 17th Int ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; dlsch. Feb. 9,

1864.

Thomas, Charles W., Co. H, 17th Int ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; wounded June 18

;

disch. Dec. 14, 1866.

Thnnborg, Charles, Co. E, 25th Int ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Trask, Winiam K, Co. E, 25th Int ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; sick ; unfit for duty.

Tullis, James, Co. C, 30th Int; must Oct 6, 1864; disch. with company.

Valentine, Leonard, Co. E, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Wade, William, sergt, Co. 1, 1st Int ; must May 3, 1861.

Wads, WilUam, 1st sergt., Co. 1, 10th Int ; must. Oct 4, 1861 ; pro. to 2d lieut

;

killed at Antietam.

Waterfaouse, Peter B., musician, Co. B, loth Int ; must Oct 4, 1861.

Welch, Robert B., Co. I, loth Int ; must. Oct 4. 1861.

Weacott, Enoch, corp., Co. I, loth Int; must, Oct. 4, 1861.

Welch, Albion F., Co. 1, 10th Int ; must. Oct. 4, 1801.

Welch, .Mvan F., Co. I, lOth Int ; must. Oct. 4, 1861.

Whidden, George D., Co. I, loth Int; must Oct. 4, 1861; dlsch. 1864.

Webb, George, Co. F, 7th Int ; must. Aug. 21, 1861 ; trans. 1862.

Webb, Ell, Co. I, lOth Int; must. Oct. 4, 1861.

Weber, Benjamin, Co. E, 13th Int; must Doc. 10, 1801; re-enl. 1864; trans-

ferred.

Winslow, George M., Co. B, Coast Guards ; must. Oct 20, 1801 ; disch. Sept. 9,

1882.

Whidden, George A., sergt., Co. H, 17th luf. ; must. Aug. 16, 1802 ; pro. to 1st

sergt ; and 2d lieut.. May 4, 1863.

Winslow, Sumner, corp., Co. H, 17th Int ; must. Aug. 16, 1862 ; wounded at

Fredericksburg, Dec., 1862 ; killed July 2, 1863.

Webb, James M., Corp., Co. H, 17th Int ; must Aug. 16, 1862 ;
pro. to sergt,

1863
;
pro. to 1st sergt. and 2d lieut., Co. K, 1864.

Winslow, Nathaniel P., Co. H, 17th Int ; must Aug. 16, 1862 ; dlsch. May 29,

186S.

Ward, John, Co. 1, 19th Int ; must Aug. 16, 1863 ; killed May 6, 1864.

Walker, Orzo F., Corp., Co. K, 1st Cav. ; must Feb. 23, 1864; missing in battle,

Sept 16, 1864.

Winsor, John, Co. C, 30th Int ; must Oct 6, 1864.

Watson, Edward E., Co. D, 1st Cav. ; must. Sept 26, 1864 ; dlsch. with company.
Wakefield, Dominicus C, sergt., Co. £, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862

;
pro. to

1st sergt. ; dlsch. with company.

Waterman, Mark P., Corp., Co. E, 26th Int; must Sept 29, 1862; dlsch. with

company.

Woodbury, Joel S, Corp., Co. B; 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ;
pro. to sergt.

;

disch. with company.

Walden, John C, corp., Co. E, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; reduced by own
request; disch. with company.

Woodford, Charles A., Co. E, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with com-

pany.

Warren, George, Co. E, 25th Int; must Sept. 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Walker, Bichard, Co. E, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862.

WINDHAM.
Antoiue, Ambrose, Co. G, 5th Int ; must June 23, 1861 ;

pro. to Corp., 1862 ; to

sergt, 1S63 ; re-enlisted ; trons.'to Ist Maine Vet Int, 1864.

Antoine, John G., Co. G, 5th Int ; must. June 23, 1861 ; disch. Feb. 15, 1863.

Austin, William E., .5th Int; must June, 1861 ; re-enl. Feb. 10,1866; killed

March 3, 1866.

Bragdon, Levi, Co. B, 2d Cav.; must Sept 30, 1864; diach. June 10, 1865.

Brazier, Harrison, Co. A, 20th lot

Brown, William H., Co. D, Ist Int ; must May 3, 1861 ; for three months.

Boud, Charles J., sergt., Co. H, 17th Int ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; returned to ranka,

1864; disch. with company.

Bolton, Sumner C, aergt., Co. F, 26th Int; must Sept. 29, 1862; reduced; iliach.

with company.

Bradbury, Cotton M., Co. F, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Bodge, William, Co. B, lat Bat, 10th Vet lot ; must Aug. 23, 18G2 ; trans. 1S64.

Brockett John T., Co. I, 30th Int; must. Jan. 6, 1864; disch. with company,

Aug. 20, 1866.

Cook, James M., Co. H, 3l8t Int ; must April 21, 1864 ; dlsch. June 21, 1865.

Cobb, George W., Co. U, 3l8t Int ; must April 21, 1864 ; dlsch. with company.

Clondman, Francis, Co. F, 5th Int ; must. June 24, 1864.

Cobb, Daniel, Co. D, 17th Int; must Aug. 18, 1862; wounded at Gettysburg;

trans, lo Vet. Bea. Corps, 1864.

Cobb, Uriah, Co. H, 17th Int; must Aug. 18, 1862; wounded May 10, 1864;

dlsch. with company.

Cobb, George L., Corp., Co. F, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with com-

pany, July 10, 1863.

Cobb, Isaac, Co. F, 25th Int; muat Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company ; re-en-

listed; trans, to 29tb Inf., 1863 ; pro. to Corp., 1866.

Cobb, Charles A., Co. F, 26th Int; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company,

July 10, 1863.

Cash, James B., Co. D, 20th Int ; must Feb. 15 ; died March 27, 1865.

Doughty, Joseph M., Co. A, 5th Int ; must June 24, 1861 ; disch. with company.

Dial, Charlea H., Co. F, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 20, 1866.

Dole, Daniel H., Co. F, 26th lut; must Sept 29, 1862; dlsch. Aug. 20, 1866.

Dolley, Nathan D., Co. F, 25th lut; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 20, 1866.

Dophiis, Leon, Co. A, 3d lut ; must Aug. 22, 1863.

Doughty, J. J., regimental band, 25th lut ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. July 11,

1863.

Elder, Joseph O., Co. H, 17th Int ; must. Aug. 18, 1862; dlsch. May 31, 1866.

Emery, Charles E., wagoner, Co. F, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862; dlsch. with

company.

Elder, Stephen W., Co. F, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with company.

Estes, Robert, Co. F, 26th Int; must Sept 29, 1862 ;
disch. with company.

Fairbanks, Willotd A., Co. F, 25th Inf. ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with company.

Felker, Ezra D., Co. F, 25th Int ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ; dlsch. with company.

Field, William W., Co. F, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Freeman, Sargent S., Corp., Co. K, 9th Int; must Sept 21, 1861 ; died at Fortress

Monroe, Nov. 1, 1861.
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Field, Ebon, Co. —, 7th Inf.; mnst Sept 30, 1861; tr»n«. 1863.

Gixffiun, Joseph A., Co. —, Ttb luf. ; miuL Aug. iil, 1861 ; re-enllsted ; diKh. Jane
23, I860.

Oraffam, Boliert, Co. K, 9tb Inf. ; miut SepL 21, 1861 ; miaing on fnrlongh. Stay

17, 1863.

Graflun, Albert, Co. K, 9th Inf.; must Sept 21, 1861; died Aag. 10, 1863.

OaiiiKin, Oliver R., Co. H, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; r»enlisted; disch.

April 25, 1865.

Oraffam, John N., Co. F, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with company.
Hanson, Jason, Co. F, 2Sth Inf.; rnnat Sept 2, 1862; disch. with company.

Hanson, Franklin, Corp., Co. F, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with com-
pany.

Hooper, Clinton B., sergt, Co. F, 25th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with
company.

Hall, Webb, sergt, Co. F, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; reduced ; disch. with

company.

Hanacomb, WUliam S., Co. H., 17th lot; must Aug. 18, 1862; disch. June 16,

1865.

Hanson, Amos H. musician, Co. I, Ist Inf.; must Hay 3, 1861 ; re-enlisted in

Co. K, »th Inf., ou Sept 21, 1861 ; killed by shell, Jnly 17, 1863.

Hooper, Clinton B., Co. A, 5th InC ; must Jnne 24, 1861.

Howe, Warren, Co. K, 9tb Inf. ; must Sept 21, 1861 ; re-enlisted in 1863 ; pro.

to Corp.; trans, in 186i.

Hont, Hoaea, Co.—, 13th Inf.

Hanson, Jason, Co. D, 15th Int ; must Dec. 9, 1861 ; disch. Feb. 27, 1862.

Hanson, Lyman W., Co. 0, 15th Inf.; most Dec. 9, 1861 ;
pro. to musician; re-

enlisted 18M.

Haskell, Samuel T., Co. D, 1.5th Inf. ; must Dec. 9, 1861 ; disch. with company.

Hatch, David A., Co. D, 15th Int; must Dec. 9, 1861.

Hawkea, William H., Co. D, 15th Inf. ; must Dec. 9, 1861.

Hill, Joseph, Co. D, 16th Int. ; must Dec. 9, 1861 ; pro. to coip. ; disch. with com-

pany.

Hodsdon, George D., Co. C, 30th In£ ; must. Dec. 19, 1863 ;
pro. to Corp. ; died on

transport, Jnly 16, 1861.

Irish, WiUhun H., Co. F, 25th Inf.; must. Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Jordan, Thomas H., Corp., Co. H, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; pro. to sergt;

wounded May 6, 1864 ; discii. with company.

Johnson, George, Co. H, 4th Inf.; most. Jnne 15, 1861.

Johnson, George F., 4th Inf. ; must June, 1861.

Knight, William P., Co. 6, 7th Inf. ; must Aug. 21, 1861 ; missing in battle. Sept

17,1862.

Knight John A., Co. A, 20th Inf. ; must Oct 10, 1864; disch. with company.
Lowell, Albert Co. C, 1st Inf. ; must Hay 3, 1861.

Libby, Elbiidge, Co. K, 9th Inf. ; must Sept 21, 1861 ; detached, 1863 ; re-eullsted.

Libby, Stephen, Co. K, 9th Inf.; mnst Sept 21, ;L861 ; missing in a<:tion, July 11,

1863.-

Little, James W., Co. F, Uth Inf. ; must Not. 7, 1861; wounded at Fair Oaks;

pro. Corp. and sergt, 1864 ; disch. Nor. 18, 1864.

Lombard, John W., oorp., Co. G, 12th Inf.; must Not. 16, 1861
;
pro. sergt., 1863;

wounded Sept 19, 1864; disch. with company.

Le Grow, Ephraim, Co. D, Uth Int ; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; re-enl. in U. S. Art.,

1863.

Libby, Lorenio D., Co. F, Uth Inf.; must Aug. 14, 1862; disch. with company.
Larry, Meshach P., Co. H, 17th Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; missing in battle. Hay

6,1864.

Libby, Ellas H., Co. H, 17th In£; must Aug. 18, 1862; died Feb. 16, 1863.

Little, Paul E., Co. H, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; wounded May 3; died

July 24, 1863.

Libby, Bela P., Co. F, 25th Int; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Libby, Joseph, Go. F, 25th lut ; must Sept 29, 1866; disch. with company.

Lombard, Charles, Co. F, 2Sth Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Little, Hoses, Co. 1, 10th Int ; must Oct 4, 1861 ; disch. Hay 7, 1863.

Libby, Daniel, Co. E, 29th Int; must Nut. 13, 1863; wounded Sept 22, 1864;

disch.>ng. 22, 1866.

Larry, Jamea, Co. C, 30th Int ; mnst Dec. 29, 1863 ; died July 6, 1864.

Leighton, Adrla, Co. E, 9th Int; most Jan. 1, 1864; disch. with company.

Lakin, John,' Co. A, 20th Int ; must Feb. 10 ; disch. Jane 15, 1866.

Hathews, Albert L., Co. G, 7th Int ; must. Aug. 21. 1861 ; disch. Jan. 8, 1862.

Mayberry, Nelson, regimental band, 8th Inf. ; mnst Sept 7, 1861 ; disch. with

band, 1862.

Manchester, Joseph K., Co. K, 9th Inf.; mnst Sept 21, 1861 ; died of wounds,

1863.

Horton, Frank, Co. K, 9th Int; must Sept 21, 1861; re-enlisted; detached,

1864.

Horton, Charles E., Co. K, 9th Int ; mnst Sept 21, 1861 ; re-enlisted ; killed at

Petersburg, 1864.

Maxwell, E. J., sergt., Co. D, Uth Int; must Dec 10, 1861; trans, to Corps

d'Afrique, 1863.

Horah, John, Co. D, Uth Int ; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; re-enl. January, 1864.

Uayberry, James L., Co. D, Uth Int ; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; disch. 1862.

Horton, Stephen T., Co. B, 17th Int; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; died Jan. 6, 1864.

Haybeny, Samuel, Co. F, 25th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Hurphy, James, Co. A, 3d Int ; mnst Aug. 20, 1863 ; trans, to 17th Int
Mayberry, William B., Co. C, 10th Int; must Oct 5, 1861; diach. for wounds,

Jan. 7, 1863.

Mayberry, William B., Co. D, 2d Car. ; must Sept 30, 1864 ; disch. Aug. 29, 1869.

Hsson, Nathan, Co. A, 20th Int ; must. Feb. 10; disch. June 28, 1865.

Nash, Charles, Co. K, 2.'ith Int ; must Sept 29, 1862.

Powers, Albert Co. F, 16th Int; must Aug. 14, 1862; prisoner; exchanged;

retaken Aug. 19, 1864.

Pride, Jason N., Co. F, 25th Int : must Sept 29, 1362 ; disch. with company.

Paine, Frank, Co. 1, 10th Int ; must Aug. 9, 1862 ; trans. 1863.

Pettengill, John, Co. H, 3d Int ; must July 31, 1862; missing Dec. 20, 1862.

Qnimby, Alonzo H., Co. 1, 10th Int ; must Aug. 22, 1862 ; disch. Dec. 5, 1862.

Bogei-8, Osgood W., Corp., Co. A, 5th Int ; must Jnne 24, 1861 ; taken prisooer.

May 3, 1863 ; exchanged ; disch. with company.

Bogen, John A., Co. A, 5th Int; must June 24, 1861; disch. July 3, 1862.

BackUffe, George W., Co. H, 17th Int; most Aug. 18, 1862; disch. July U, 1863.

Band, Boyal, Co. H, 17th Int ; mnst Aug. 18, 1862 ; wounded July 2 ; died July

3,1863.

Boach, Jeremiah P. W., Co. I, lOth lot; must Aug. 12, 1862; trans. 1863; pro.

sergt

Bobinton, Benben, Co. H, 31st Int; mnst April 21, 1864; disch. June 16, 1866.

Shaw, Almon, Co. A, 6th Int; must June 24, 1861.

Stront, Nathan A., Co. K, 9tb Int ; must Sept 21, 1861 ; re-enllsted ; trans, to

Co. E, 29th Int ; wonnded May 18, 1864 ; disch. with company.
Small, James L., Co. K, 9th Int; mnst Sept 21, 1881; re-enlisted; disch. with

company.

Stront, Estea, Co. K, 9th Int ; mnst Sept 21, 1861 ; re-enlisted ; wonnded Sept
29, 1864; disch. with company.

Stewart, Peter, sergt., Co. F, 26th Int ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Smith, Aloniu, Co. F, 29th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; died Dec. 19, 1862.

Smith, Joshua W., Co. F, 25th lot ; moat Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.
SteTens, DaTid, Co. F, 25th Int ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; discb. with company.
Sylvester, Blchard I., Co. F, 25th Int ; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.
Shaw, John T., Co. C, 30th Int ; most Dec. 19, 1863 ;

pria. April 8, 1864 ; died.

Swett, Mark D., Co. E, 9th Int ; must. Jan. 1, 1864; sick.

Tyler, David, Co. D, Uth Int ; mnst Dec. 10, 1861.

Thomas, Emanuel, Co. H, 17th Int ; mnst Aug. 18, 1862 ; diach. with company.

Tukey, Daniel B., Co. F, 23tb Int; most Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.
Tamey, Mark 8., Co. I, Ist Int ; mnst May 3, 1861.

Ward, Joeiah B., carp., Co. C, 30th Int ; must Dec. 19, 1863 ; died March 29, 1864.

Wallace, Glisha W., Co. G, 5th Int; must June 23, 1861 ; killed Hay 12, 1864.

Wescott, Daniel M., Co. K, 2d Cav.; must Sept 30, 1864; discb. Sept 15, 1865.

Whitney, Benjamin F., Co. C, Ist Int ; mnst May 3, 1861.

Whitney, Isaac B., Co. C, 1st Int ; most May 3, 1861 ; re-enl. in Co. F, 16th Int,

1862 ; pro to sergt and to 1st sergt, 1863; to 2d lleut., 1864.

Wheeler, Charles H., Co. A, 5th Int ; must June 24, 1861 ; missing July 26, 1861.

Wiswell, Luther, Jr., Co. A, 5th lut; must June 24, 1861; re-enl. in 13th Inf,

Jan. 9, 1864.

Watson, Beitjamin C, Co, G,9th Int; must June 23, 1861 ; disch. June 20,1862.

Westcott D. M., Co. C, 6th Int; must June 23, 1861.

Wescott Joseph, Co. B, 17th Int; must Aug. 18, 1862; detached to Ambulance
Corps, 1862.

Walker, Edwin H., Co. F, 25th Int ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch, with company.
Wheeler, George N., Co. F, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

FOBEIOir ENLISTHEinS.

Anderson, Charles, U. S. Army.
DuUey, Samnel, U. S. Army.

Elliott Ellas, U. S. Navy.

GrafTam, Charles, Massachusetts.

Graifam, Enoch, Hassachusetts.

Hudson, Josephus, U. S. Army.
Lary, John, Hassachusetts.

Little, Joelah F., Hassachusetts.

Little, William H., U. S. Navy.

Libby, Arthur, Vermont Volunteers.

HertUl, Alphonzo, U. S. Navy.

Parker, Isaac W., C. 3. Engineers.

Bead, George W., U. S. Navy.

Trickey, Edward H., Hassachusetts.

YARMOUTH.
Andrews, Thomas J., 20th Int ; mnst Feb. 17, 1866.

Adams, Thomas J., Co. K, 30th Int ; must Harch 1, 1865.

Adams, Thomas J., Co. K, 30th Int ; mnst Jan. 20, 1864 ; died Sept 1, 1864.

Anderson, Stephen ; Brown, Thomas.
Brown, George, must in NaTy, Sept 29, 1864.

Barrows, George P, Co. A, 30th Int ; must Feb. 23, 1866.

Brown, George W., 20th lut ; must Harch 15, 1866.

Bucknam, Alvin F., 2d lient, Co. 0, 29th Int; mnst Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with
company, Jnly 10, 1863.

Bucknam, WUUam E., Co. G, 26th Int ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; diach. with com-
pany.

Brackett, Orrln, Co. G, 29th Int ; most Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.
Baker, Albert 0., Co. E, 17th Inf ; must Aug. 18, 1862; pro. to corp, August,

1863; wounded at Gettysburg; trans, to Vet Bea. Corps.

Baker, Charlea W., Co. E, 17th Int ; must Aug. 18 , 1862 ; pn. to corp. ; wonnded

;

trans, to Vet Bes. Corps.

Bruce, Bofns T., Co. E, 17th Int; must Aug. 18, 1862; missing May 7, 1864.
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Baker, George 0., l8t Bat. Moiinte<l Art. ; must. Dec. 31, 1861 ; died May 3, 1863.

Brouks, JohD E, Co. H, 25th Inf. ; must. Sept. 29, 1862 ; dlKh. with company.
Bated, Janiei M., surgeon, 13th Inf. ; must. Dec. 5, 1861 j dtach. Jan. 6, 1860.

Brackett, Alvlu M., Co. F, 1st Cay.; must. Oct. 19, 1861; killed March 1, 1864.

Bond, Charles.

Carroll, John, Co. B, 9th Inf. ; must. Oct 4, 1864.

Clark, Patrick, Co. B, 9th Inf. ; must. Oct. 3, 1664.

Cobb, Edward, Co. G, 7th Inf. ; must. Aug. 21, 1861 ;
pro. to Corp., May 1, 1863.

Corliss, George L., must. May 3, 1861 ; re-«ul. u 1st sergt., Co. D, 7th Inf. ; must.

Aug. 21, 1861 ; euL in U. S. Army, Jan. 26, 1863.

Chase, George H^ Co. F, Ist Car. ; must. Oct 19, 1861 ;
pro. to corp. and to sergt.

;

dlsch. Not. 1, 1864.

Chambers, James, Co. K, 17th Inf. ; must Sept 3, 1863 ; missing in battle. May
10,1864.

Cushmun, William H,, sergt, Co. L, 1st Cav.

Corliss, Amos, Jr, Co. C, Bat U. S. Inf. ; died In prison at Salisbury, N. C, Not.
20,1804.

Cotton, Albert, Co. G, 2Sth Inf. ; must Oct 14, 1862 ; discb. with company.
Chutt*, Joesph W., Co. G, 30th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company,
Corliss, James H., Co. H, 2Sth Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1802 ; disch. with company.
Clark, John.

ChalUs, Henry E., 1st D. C. CaT. ; must Jan. 19, 1864.

Cummlngs, CaMn, Co. K, 30tli Inf. ; must Jan. 26, 1804 ; died Sept 1, 1804.

Corliss, AugostuB W., 1st lieut. and maj., 7th Squadron R. L CaT. ; mi^. and lient'

coL, 2d B. L Car. ; 2d llent and 1st lieut., 15th U. S. Inf., July 21, 1866

;

trans, to 33d U. 8. Inf, Sept 21, 1866 ; 8th V. S. Inf., May 3, 1869 ; capt,

8th U. 3. Inf., May 29, 1873.

Chambers, James, Co. E, 1st H. Art ; must Sept 16, 1863 ; missing June 16, 1864.

Doughty, James, sergt, Co. E, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; trans, to Invalid

Corps.

Dunbar, Charles A., Co. G, 25th Inf.; must Sept. 29, 1862.

Duw, Charles H., Corp., Co. H, 25th Inf.; must Sept. 29, 1862; disch. with com-

pany, July 10, 1863.

Dolly, Nathan D., Ist D. C. CaT. ; must Jan. 20, 1864.

Donghty, Julius H., Co. H, 23th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1B62 ; disch. with company.
Dunning, Albion K. P., Co. H, 5th Inf. ; must June 24, 1861.

Farewell, Honce A., Co. B, 25th Inf. ; must Sept. 29, 1862.

Fanning, Michael, 15th Xn£ ; must Jan. 4, 1864.

Frazer, Thomas, 30th Inf. ; must April 24, 1864.

Fountain, John A., unassigned Inf. ; must April 11, 1865.

Grant, John W., Co. H, 5tli Int ; must June 24, 1861 ; trans, to 1st Maine ; Tet-

eran ; re-enL Dec. 8, 1863.

Grant, OustaTus, Co. F, 1st Car.; must Oct 19, 1861; taken prisoner, March 1,

1864; died in prison, July 28, 1864.

Grant, Orrin L., sergt., Co. H, 5th Inf. ; must June 24, 1861 ; pro. to sergt., Oct

3, 1861 ; died June 4, 1862.

Gooch, Isaac A., Co. C, 17th Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1862 ; disch. Jan. 28, 1863.

Green, Mellen, musician, Co. H, 12th Inf. ; must March 16, 1865.

Gordon, Thomas B., Co. A, 20th In£ ; must Feb. 6, 1865 ; disch. July 16, 1865.

Green, John.

Or«eIy, Boewell P., Co. C, 3mh Inf. ; disch. with company.

Gooding, Edward I., Co. G, 25tb Inf. ; must. Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Grant, Herbert Co. G, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Gooding, Albert, sergt., Co. G, 25th Inf. ; must. Sept 29, 1862.

Holyoke, Charles G, Co. E, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; pro. to sergt.-maj.

of regiment

Hall, James H., Co. E, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; died Not. 21, 1864.

Hamilton, Andrew J., Co. 6, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862 ; died April 30, 1864.

Harris, Thomas.

Humphrey, Henry H., Co. C, 5th Inf. : must Sept 20, 1861.

Holyoke, Horace P., corp, Co. F, 1st CaT.; must Oct 19, 1861 ; dlsch. Dec. 12,

1863.

Hilton, Frank, Co. D, 20th In£; must Feb. 21, 1865.

Hancock, William D., Co. D, 20th Inf. ; must Feb. 23, 1865.

Hodgklna, Stacy, unasslgned Inf.; must March 17, 1865; disch. Aug. 3, 1866.

Hall, Winfield S., unasaigaed Int ; must March 10, 1865.

Ham, Freeman, unasslgned In£ ; must Jan. 8, 1864.

Jones, Henry IL, Co. F, 10th Inf. ; must Oct 4, 1861 ; dlsch. May 7, 1863 ; re-enl.

In lat U. S. Vet; must March 11, 1865.

Jones, Thomas, 1st Bat Mounted Art ; must Feb. 24, 1804.

Jones, Charles W, Co. G, 7th Inf.; must Nov. 1, 1862; trans.
;
pro. to Corp., 1st

Inf.; trans, to NaTy, 1804.

Johnson, Peter, mnst Sept 27, 1804.

Jotdon, Joseph, Co. H, 25th Inf. ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with company.

Kllbum, Franklin, Co. B, 29th Inf. ; must. Jan. 14, 1864 ; died June 27, 1864.

Lelghton, Andrew, Co. E, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; trans, to Vet Bes.

Corps, Dec. 1, 1863.

Loring, William, Co. E, 17th Inf. ; must. Aug. 18, 1802 ;
pro. to Corp., October,

1862; wonnded May 6, 1864.

LlTlngston, Charles H., Co. B, 9th Inf. ; must Oct 4, 1864.

Lane, Sidney H., Co. H, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862.

Loring, Albert H., Co. H, 25th Inf. ; must Sept 29, 1862.

Lufkln, Edward H., Co. H, 25th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862.

Lane, Alfred E., Co. M, 2d CaT.; must Jan. 2, 1864.

Lovell, Samuel W., Corp., Co. F, 10th Inf. ; must Oct 4, 1861.

McClauning, William 8 , Co. G, Ist CaT.; must Oct 19, 1884; re-enllsted; killed

at HalTem Hill, Va., July 1, 1862.

Mullen, John, Co. B, Dth Inf.; must Oct 4, 1804.

Mitchell, Orrin H., Co. E, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; trans, to Vet Res.

Corps, 1863.

Mitchell, Tristram P., Co. E, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862; disch. Aug. 17,

1864.

Moody, Benjamin, Co. B, 7th Inf.; must Oct. 20, 1802; re^nl. In U. S. Army,
Jan. 22, 1803.

Marshall, David, Co. I, 10th Inf. ; must Aug. 14, 1804 ; died Jan. 7, ISM.
Marston, Greely E., Co. E, 17th Inf.; must. Aug. IS, 1802; killed June 16, 1864.

Moore, George P., Co. A, 16th Inf.; must Aug. 14, 1802; missing ot battle of

Fredericksburg, Va., Dec. 13, 1862.

Monaghan, John, 4th Bat Art. ; mnst Jan. 16, 1801.

McQlinch, James, Co. F, 19th Inf. ; must. Nov. 13, 1803 ; disch. May 19, 1804.

Moran, John, Co. K, 10th Inf. ; mlsding in bat[le. May 10, 1804.

Mahoney, Timothy, corp., Co. A, 25th Inf. ; must Sept. 29, 1862 ; disch. with com-
pany.

Marston, Melvin S., Co. G, 25th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Maybur]', Thomas L., Co. B, 1st Bat Inf.; must. Aug. 18, 1802; disch. Aug. 25,

1803.

Mitchell, Sylvanns S., Corp., Co. E, 17th Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1802; died at Fort

Carroll, Md., Oct 1, 1E62.

Oaks, George P., Co. E, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1802; taken prisoner May 2,

1803; exchanged; wounded Not. 27, 1863 ; wounded May 27, 1864 ; disch.

for disalillity.

Parker, Snmnel, Co. E, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1862.

Pratt, Freeman, Co. G, 25th Inf.; must Sept. 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Perry, Frank, Co. B, 13th Inf. ; mnst Dec. 10, 1861 ; trans, to Vet Kes. Corps.

Porter, Charles D., Co. 1, 12th Inf.; must March 17, 1866.

Porter, George D., 18th unasslgned Inf. ; nmst March 7, 1865.

Prince, Albert F., Co. B, 1st Cav. ; must Feb. 20, 1864 ; trans, to D. C. Cav. ; died

In service.

Boberts, William, 2d lieut., Co. B, 17th Inf. ; must. Aug. 18, 1862 ; transferred.

Biordon, Michael, Co. G, 9th Inf. ; must Oct 3, 1864.

Beed, Standish, Co. E, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1861 ; transferred; wounded

May 3 ; disch. Dec. 27, 1864.

Bobbins, Benjamin B., Co. D, 20th Inf. ; must. Feb. 15 ; disch. July 31, 1866.

Stevens, James, Co. I, 9th Inf. : must Sept 27, 1864 ; disch. June 30, 1865.

Seabury, Ammi D., Co. E, 17th Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1861 ; dlsch. with company,

June 4, 1866.

Seabury, Frank, Co. E, 17th Inf. ; must Aug. 18, 1861 ; disch. Sept 12, 1803.

Soule, George D., Co. E, 17th Inf.; must Aug. 18, 1861 ; wounded May 15, 1864.

Small, Samuel W., 10th Inf.

Stevens, Isaiah L., sergt., Co. F, 10th Inf.; must. Oct. 4, 1861; reduced; disch.

with company.

Shapleigh, Levi J., Co. B, 12th Inf. ; must Nov, 20, 1861 ; transferred.

Shapleigh, Levi, Co, B, 12th Inf, ; must Not, 20, 1801 ; missing.

Small, Edwin B., Co. E, 13th Inf.; must Dec. 10, 1861 ; disch. with company.

Small, Nathaniel P., Co. E, 13th Inf.; must Dec. 10, 1861; discb. April 11, 1862.

Soule, Horatio B., Co. F, 1st Cav. ; must Oct 19, 1861 ; disch. Nov. 23, 1803.

Soule, Herbert, Corp., Co, E, 17th Inf. ; must, Aug, 18, 1862
;

pro, to sergeant

;

wounded May 5, 1864.

Stackpole, Edward F., Co. D, 16th Inf.; must Sept 10, 1863.

Sabine, George C, 1st D. C. Cav. ; must Feb. 0, 1804 ; trans, to Co. M, 1st Me. Cav.

Smith, Arthur W., 29th Inf.; must Feb. 23, 1805.

Stowe, Nathan, 1st D. C. Cav.; must. Jan. 19, 1804.

Stowe, Gardiner L., 1st D. C. Cav. ; must Jan. 19, 1864.

Stowe, Hartwell E,, 1st D. C, Cav, ; must Jan, 19, 1864,

Sparks, James E,, Co, B, 17th Inf. ; mnst Aug. 18, 1801 ; trans, to Vet Bes.

Corps.

Stackpole, Eugene, must. 1863.

Seabury, William A., Co. G, 25th Inf.; must. Sept 29, 1862; dlsch. with com-

pany.

Small, Isaac H., Co. G, 25th Inf.; d' .st. Sept 29, 1802; discb. with company.

Small, Daniel, Co, G, 25th Inf,; must. Sept, 29, 1862; disch. with company.

Stevens, James.

Twombley, Stephen, Co. B, 1st Cav. ; must Oct 19, 1861 ; missing in battle, Oct.

12, 1862.

Turner, Daniel, 1st Bat, 1st Mounted Art.; must Dec. 18, 1861; died at New
Orleans, Aug. 6, 1862.

Twombly, Bufus P., Co. H, 5th Inf. ; must June 24, 1861 ; killed May 3, 1803.

True, William W., sergt., Co. U, 5th Inf.; must June 24, 1801 ; disch. with com-

pany, July 27, 1864.

True, Frank W., Co. F, 1st Cav. ; must Oct. 19, 1801 ; dlsch. Nov. 21, 1862.

Thompson, James, Co. I, 20th Inf.; must Oct 1, 1804; ti-ansferred.

True, Charles H, Co. H, 6th Inf. ; must June 24 ; disch. Oct 1, 1861.

Verrlll, Abraham, Co, D, 20th Inf.; mnst Feb. 17, 1866.

Verrlll, Anson, Co. D, 20th Inf. ; must Feb. 17, 1866.

Verrill, William, Co. D, 20th Inf. ; must Feb. 17, 1805.

Walker, John, Co. 6, 25th Inf.; mnst Sept 29, 1802.

Williamson, Heniy C, 20th Inf.; mnst March 8, 1864.

Woods, William A., Co. E, 30th Inf.; must Deo. 12. 1863; veteran: wounded;

pro. to corporaL

White, George, Co. I, 9th Int ; must. Sept 28, 1864.

Winslow, Frederick D., Co. H, 26th Inf.; must. Sept 29, 1862.

Winslow, Frank, sergt, Co. H, 26th Inf.; must Sept 29, 1802.

Walker, Charles, corp, Co. F, 1st Cav.; must Oct 19, 1861; disch. Feb. 7, 1803.

Wllmoor, Charles, 1st CaT. ; must Jan. 5, 1804.
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456 HISTORY OP CUMBERLAND COUNTY, MAINE.

Wabfter, Channce]' B^ Co. E, lit Int
Tonog, Elmer K., Co. F, lUtb Inf. ; miuL Oct 1, 1861 ; djach. with compuij.

Tonng, Ctaaliea, Co. D, 30th Inf.; must Sept. 29, 1862; n-mL Sept 30, 1864;

pro. to corporml ; tnuuferred.

Tonng, Adin, Co. O, 23th Inf.; mniL Sept 29, 1862; dlach. with compur.
York, Am. 1*., Co. O, 25th Int ; mmt Sept 29, 1862 ; dlKh. with oompur.
Coomba, Jamea; Doe, LeW ; Hlckej, Flmnda W., IT. S. Navy.

Jacklon, Darlaa W^ 11th R. L E. Art; CoL Tioopa,

pajaa,CliarleaK.; Johnaon,CharIaa; Johnaan,Heni7; lIcCne,JaiBaa; Kaaon,

John; Nelaon, Peter; Nicholl, Antonio; Qnimbjr, Samnel; Scott^ Bobert;

Btawuil, WllUun.

FOBEIOH EHII8TKSHTS.
Baker, Albert T., V. 8. Navy.

Baker, Charlea H., 0. S. May;.

Baker, Sylnona, V. 8. Nary.

Baker, Bobert, IT. 8. :NaT7.

Brown, John I*., V. 8. Nary.

Brown, Edwin F., V. 8. NaTy.

Corlin, Amoa Jr., IT. 8. Anny.

CoUer, Edward, U. 8. Navy.

Cnrtla, Charlea, V. 8. Army.

CandloU; John, IT. 8. MaTy.

Drinkwatar, Wataon fi, U. 8. Navy.

Humphrey, William F., V. 8. Navy.

HcGntre, Bnftia, UaaaachnaettL'

Pendleton, Qeorse H., U. 8. Nary.

Pendleton, Balph J. C, V. 3. Nary.

Pratt, Edward C, V. 8. Navy.

Pratt, Henry, U. 8. Mary.

ERRATA.

On page 26, Chap. V., first line, for " James II." read Jarue^ I.

On page 40, second line of first note, for "Partneuf" read

Portneuf.

C?M
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